Laurence Zitvogel Guido Kroemer *Editors*

Oncoimmunology

A Practical Guide for Cancer Immunotherapy



Oncoimmunology

Laurence Zitvogel • Guido Kroemer Editors

Oncoimmunology

A Practical Guide for Cancer Immunotherapy



Editors Laurence Zitvogel Gustave Roussy Cancer Center Villejuif Cedex France

Guido Kroemer Gustave Roussy Cancer Center Villejuif Cedex France

ISBN 978-3-319-62430-3 ISBN 978-3-319-62431-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017961771

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Acknowledgements

On behalf of all of our authors and the European Academy of Tumor Immunology (EATI), we wanted to take this opportunity to thank the organizing team, our reviewers, and our generous funders. Without their efforts, this landmark textbook could not have been published.

KC Consulting LLC

KC Consulting served as the organizing team for the entire project. Their responsibilities ranged from securing funding, managing the publication process with Springer, and interacting with all of our authors. As the core of the project, their tireless efforts ensured that this significant undertaking could be successfully completed.

Our Reviewers

Pierre Galanaud, of Universite Paris-Saclay, and Francois Martin, of University of Burgundy, served as our independent review team. We wish to thank Pierre and Francois for their invaluable support in this important project.

Funders

Without the generous financial support from our funders, this project certainly could not have been completed. We are thankful for the unrestricted educational grants provided by Miltenyi Biotec GmbH, Incyte Corporation, SELLAS Life Sciences Group, Servier, Lytix Biopharma AS, and GlaxoSmithKline.

And finally, we are, of course, grateful to all of the chapter contributors to this comprehensive, groundbreaking textbook in the important emerging field of immuno-oncology.

> Laurence Zitvogel Guido Kroemer

Contents

1	Principles of Oncoimmunology 1 Laurence Zitvogel and Guido Kroemer 1
Par	t I Fundamentals in I-O
2	The Human Tumor Microenvironment5Yann Vano, Nicolas A. Giraldo, Wolf Herman Fridman,5and Catherine Sautès-Fridman
3	CD8+ T Cells in Immunotherapy, Radiotherapy,and Chemotherapy23Weimin Wang, Michael Green, J. Rebecca Liu,Theodore S. Lawrence, and Weiping Zou
4	Mutant Epitopes in Cancer41Martin Rao, Liu Zhenjiang, Qingda Meng, Georges Sinclair,41Ernest Dodoo, and Markus Maeurer41
5	The Secrets of T Cell Polarization .69Thaiz Rivera Vargas and Lionel Apetoh
6	Regulatory T Cells: Their Role, Mechanism of Action, and Impact on Cancer97Anthony R. Cillo and Dario A.A. Vignali
7	Purinergic Receptors: Novel Targets for CancerImmunotherapy.115Dipti Vijayan, Mark J. Smyth, and Michele W.L. Teng
8	Plasmacytoid DC/Regulatory T Cell Interactions at the Center of an Immunosuppressive Network in Breast and Ovarian Tumors.143N. Bendriss-Vermare, N. Gourdin, N. Vey, J. Faget, V. Sisirak, I. Labidi-Galy, I. Le Mercier, N. Goutagny, I. Puisieux, C. Ménétrier-Caux, and C. Caux
9	Cancer Immunosurveillance by Natural Killer Cells and Other Innate Lymphoid Cells. 163 Camille Guillerey and Mark J. Smyth

10	Biology of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Kevin Alicea-Torres and Dmitry I. Gabrilovich	181
11	Effect of Pharmaceutical Compounds on Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells	199
12	Immunogenic Stress and Death of Cancer Cells in Natural and Therapy-Induced Immunosurveillance Oliver Kepp, Jonathan Pol, Laurence Zitvogel, and Guido Kroemer	215
13	Genetics and Immunology: Tumor-Specific Genetic Alterations as a Target for Immune Modulating Therapies Anna S. Berghoff, Jakob Nikolas Kather, and Dirk Jäger	231
Par	t II Breakthrough Status	
14	Peptide-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines Cornelis J.M. Melief	249
15	Cancer Vaccines for HPV Malignancies Maria Agarwal and Cornelia Trimble	263
16	NK Cell-Based Therapies Laura Chiossone and Eric Vivier	275
17	IDO/TDO Inhibition in Cancer George C. Prendergast, William J. Malachowski, Arpita Mondal, Peggy Scherle, and Alexander J. Muller	289
Par	t III FDA-EMA Approval of I-O	
18	Tumor-Targeted Antibodies	311
19	PD1 Checkpoint Blockade in Melanoma: From Monotherapy to Combination Therapies Annette Paschen and Dirk Schadendorf	321
20	Immune Checkpoint Inhibition in Lung Cancer Daniel Morgensztern and Roy S. Herbst	333
21	PD-1 Blockade in Renal Cell Carcinoma Lisa Derosa and Bernard Escudier	345
22	BCG and Anti-PDL-1 Ab in Bladder Cancers Pernelle Lavaud and Yohann Loriot	357
23	PD-L1 and Other Immunological Diagnosis Tools Nicolas A. Giraldo and Janis M. Taube	371
24	Oncolytic Viruses: T-VEC and Others Rutika Mehta and Igor Puzanov	387

viii

Part IV Developing Fields		
25	Innate Immune Receptors in the Regulation of Tumor Immunity Sho Hangai, Yoshitaka Kimura, Tadatsugu Taniguchi, and Hideyuki Yanai	407
26	Co-stimulation Agonists via CD137, OX40, GITR, and CD27 for Immunotherapy of Cancer. Ignacio Melero, Elisabeth Pérez-Ruiz, Alfonso R. Sanchez-Paulete, Alvaro Teijeira, Angela Aznar, and Miguel F. Sanmamed	429
27	The Impact of the Intestinal Microbiota inTherapeutic Responses Against CancerMélodie Bonvalet, Romain Daillère, Maria P. Roberti, ConradRauber, and Laurence Zitvogel	447
28	Local Immunotherapies of Cancer	463
29	Strategies to Reduce Intratumoral Regulatory T Cells C. Maherzi, F. Onodi, E. Tartour, M. Terme, and C. Tanchot	483
30	Synergy Between Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy Sandra Demaria, Sophia Bornstein, and Silvia C. Formenti	507
31	Predictors of Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Miles C. Andrews and Jennifer A. Wargo	525
Part V Changes in Clinical Practice		
32	Immune Therapies in Phase 1 Trials Sophie Postel-Vinay and Jean-Charles Soria	547
33	Side Effects of Cancer Immunotherapy with Checkpoint Inhibitors. Lucia Festino and Paolo A. Ascierto	565
34	Melanoma: Immunotherapy in Advanced Melanoma and in the Adjuvant Setting Alexander M.M. Eggermont and Caroline Robert	579
35	Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer: An EvolvingLandscapeWendy Mao and Charles G. Drake	593
36	Challenges of Oncoimmunology for Ovarian and Breast Cancers. Mathilde Saint-Ghislain, Marie Bretagne, Marie-Paule Sablin, and Emanuela Romano	607
37	Challenges in Colorectal Cancer: From Vaccines to Macrophage Repolarization	621

Niels Halama

38	Current Status of Immuno-Oncology in Hematologic Cancers Bertrand Routy and David Ghez	641
39	Immunotherapy of Gliomas Michael Platten	657
40	Assessing T Cell Receptor Affinity and Avidity Against Tumor Antigens. Mathilde Allard, Michael Hebeisen, and Nathalie Rufer	665
41	Immune Monitoring of Blood and TumorMicroenvironment.Petra Baumgaertner, Kalliopi Ioannidou,and Daniel E. Speiser	681
42	Toward Engineered Cells as Transformational and Broadly Available Medicines for the Treatment of Cancer Cedrik M. Britten, Laura A. Johnson, Alfonso Quintás-Cardama, Neil C. Sheppard, and Axel Hoos	695
Par	t VI Concluding Remarks	
43	Concluding Remarks	721

Pedro Romero and Wolf H. Fridman

Principles of Oncoimmunology

Laurence Zitvogel and Guido Kroemer

The history of cancer research is marked by at least three phases that each are based on different methodologies and therapeutic strategies.

During the first phase that lasts from antiquity to the eighties of the twentieth century, cancer was considered as a cellular disease resulting from the invasion of tissues by abnormal cells. Hence, the main challenge consisted in excising the tumor with its margins to make sure that all cancer cells had been removed. In addition to mutilating surgical techniques, clinical oncologists have been applying cytotoxic agents to their patients, based on the consideration that proliferating cells had to be purged from the organism. Cancer drugs were identified by their capacity to kill cultured tumor cells in vitro and then administered to patients as "chemotherapies" at the maximum tolerated doses to obtain similar effects in vivo.

The second phase of cancer research is marked by the idea that malignant disease results from genetic and epigenetic aberrations affecting the cancer cell. This phase of research has been marked by the successful identification of tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes, the development of everrefined tools to measure gene expression and to identify mutations in the cancer genome, to classify malignancies into different molecular subcategories, and to follow the clonal evolution of cancers as they form, progress, and escape from therapy. Driven by the identification of druggable oncogene products, a myriad of 'targeted' anticancer agents

G. Kroemer (🖂) Gustave Roussy, Cancer Campus, Villejuif, France

Equipe 11 labellisée Ligue contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, INSERM U 1138, Paris, France

Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

Université Pierre & Marie Curie, Paris, France

Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Pôle de Biologie, Hôpital Européen Georges Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France

Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institute, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: kroemer@orange.fr

L. Zitvogel (🖂)

Gustave Roussy, Cancer Campus, Villejuif, France

INSERM U1015, Villejuif, France

Université Paris Sud-XI, Faculté de Médecine, Le Kremlin Bicêtre, France

Center of Clinical Investigations in Biotherapies of Cancer, Villejuif, France e-mail: Laurence.zitvogel@orange.fr

1

has been developed, heralding the era of "personalized" medicine. In this yet unattained utopia, identification of driver mutations in each patient's cancer would allow a tailor-made "precision" treatment.

The third phase of cancer research is based on the discovery that cancer is not just a genetic and epigenetic disease of aberrant cells, but that it also involves a constant struggle between malignant cells (and their precursors) with the immune system. The complex relationship between cancer and the immune system has been schematically condensed to the 3E hypothesis: initial elimination of malignant cells by innate or acquired immune effectors, later equilibrium between cancer cells and the local immune response within an often indolent neoplastic lesion, and the final and fatal escape of cancer cells from immune control. This latter event, which entails the clinical manifestation of the tumor involves the selection of non-immunogenic cancer cells (a process called "immunoselection" or "immunoediting") or active inhibition of the local immune response (a process called "immunosuppression" or "immunosubversion"). In this paradigm, it appears logical that anticancer treatments should be designed in a way that they reset the relationship between cancer and the immune system from escape to equilibrium or-ideallyelimination. Several events have lent support to this idea over the last decade. Thus, it has been discovered that the density, composition, architecture, and functional state of the immune infiltrate has a major prognostic and predictive impact on cancer. Multiple studies came to the conclusion that the relative success of chemotherapy and targeted therapy was based on the reinstatement of anticancer immunosurveillance, especially if the effects of therapy lasted beyond its discontinuation. Finally, a large panel of immunotherapies have been successfully developed and applied to patients, providing proof-ofconcept that reinstating immune control leads to tangible and often spectacular clinical benefits.

Of course, it is too early to proclaim that cancer research has become victorious due to its recent paradigm change. Future will tell whether the actual triumph of immunotherapies will allow us to win the war against cancer or whether we will simply obtain a pyrrhic victory. The Editors and the authors of this textbook are optimistic about the final issue of our collective adventure.

We take this opportunity to thank Professors Pierre Galanaud and François Martin for their invaluable help in editing this book. Without their patient and constant support, this textbook would not have been printed.

Part I

Fundamentals in I-O

The Human Tumor Microenvironment

Yann Vano, Nicolas A. Giraldo, Wolf Herman Fridman, and Catherine Sautès-Fridman

Contents

2.1	Introduction	6
2.2	Cancer's Natural History	7
2.3	The Tumor Immune Microenvironment	9
2.3.1	Tumor-Associated Macrophages	9
2.3.2	NK Cells	9
2.3.3	Dendritic Cells	9
2.3.4	Tertiary Lymphoid Structures	10
2.3.5	CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T Cells	11
2.3.6	B Lymphocytes	11
2.3.7	Spatiotemporal Dynamics of the Tumor	
	Immune Microenvironment	11
2.4	The TME Dictates Clinical Outcome	
	for the Patients	12
2.4.1	T Cells	12
2.4.2	B Cells	14
2.4.3	Macrophages	14
2.4.4	New Techniques to Estimate the Immune	
	Cell Populations in Tumors	14

Y. Vano

INSERM, UMR_S 1138, Team Cancer, Immune Control and Escape, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France

University Paris Descartes Paris 5, Sorbonne Paris Cite, UMR_S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France

UPMC University Paris 6, Sorbonne University, UMR_S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, 15 rue de l'ecole de médecine, F-75006 Paris, France

Department of Medical Oncology, Georges Pompidou European Hospital, University Paris 5 Descartes, Paris, France

2.5	TME as Predictors of Response	
	to Therapy	16
2.5.1	First Emerging Data from Checkpoint	
	Blockade Treated Patients	16
2.5.2	From the Molecular to the Immune	
	Signatures	17
Conclusion		18
Refere	ences	18

N.A. Giraldo INSERM, UMR_S 1138, Team Cancer, Immune Control and Escape, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France University Paris Descartes Paris 5, Sorbonne Paris Cite, UMR_S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France UPMC University Paris 6, Sorbonne University, UMR S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, 15 rue de l'ecole de médecine, F-75006 Paris, France Department of Dermatology, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA W.H. Fridman • C. Sautès-Fridman (🖂) INSERM, UMR_S 1138, Team Cancer, Immune Control and Escape, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France

University Paris Descartes Paris 5, Sorbonne Paris Cite, UMR_S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, F-75006 Paris, France

UPMC University Paris 6, Sorbonne University, UMR_S 1138, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, 15 rue de l'ecole de médecine, F-75006 Paris, France e-mail: catherine.fridman@crc.jussieu.fr

2.1 Introduction

For a long time, cancer therapy has had as its sole objective the direct elimination of tumor cells. In case of nonmetastatic disease, this is accomplished by surgery, which removes the primary tumor. Radiotherapy and conventional chemotherapies also aimed at targeting tumor cells preferentially. The high capacity of tumor cells to divide as compared to the normal cells makes them more sensitive to agents that physically, in the case of radiotherapy, or chemically, in the case of chemotherapy, attack DNA and lead to cell death. Targeted therapies targeting mutations in tumor cells such as BRAF have been developed as well. However, these approaches also destroy the nonmalignant cells and/or have systemic consequences. To increase specificity toward the tumor cells, cytotoxic agents have been coupled to antibodies that bind to the tumor cells in order to allow their specific targeting to the tumor and not to the normal cells. However, the entry of such constructs into tumors still remains a major issue.

The progresses that have been accomplished in the field of tumor immunology in these last 20 years have led to a drastic change in the representation of primary tumors and metastases and to cancer treatments. Tumors are not anymore represented as a simple accumulation of cells that have undergone oncogenic processes but as a complex and dynamic structure made of tumor cells and inflamed tissue. Tumors are infiltrated with blood vessels that bring nutriments and all kinds of leukocytes inside the tumor and at its periphery, in the so-called tumor stroma that also contains matrix proteins such as collagen fibers. The transformation of a normal cell into a clinically detectable tumor can last for decades such as in the case of breast or colon cancers. Thus, tumors are dynamic structures that derive from this long process of carcinogenesis occurring in an inflamed and reactive tissue microenvironment.

Importantly, the last 20 years of intense research in the tumor immunology field unraveled the proof of concept of the immunosurveillance theory that was brought by McFarlane and Lewis Thomas in the 1950s (reviewed in [1]). These two scientists anticipated that immunosurveillance is a physiological mechanism that protects against nascent tumors. The description of immune cells with effector and memory functions within primary tumors and their metastases and the discovery of the correlation between their density at the site of the primary tumor and patient's survival more than 10 years ago unambiguously demonstrated that the immune system is capable of recognizing and eliminating tumor cells. The immune system uses the same basic mechanisms to fight against cancer as those used to eliminate viruses such as the influenza virus. Both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system cooperate to mount an antitumor response leading to the development of effector CD4+ T cells that produce cytokines, of effector CD8⁺ T cells that kill the tumor cells and produce cytokines, and of B cells that differentiate into plasma cells that produce antibodies. Most importantly, so-called memory lymphocytes develop in parallel. All these cell types accumulate into tumors, and the memory lymphocytes circulate for a long time, with the possibility of transforming into effector lymphocytes very rapidly. They protect locally against tumor cells and systemically against metastatic cells that may escape from the primary tumor and circulate before nidation in distant organs, where they proliferate and become metastatic. An immune response is raised directed against tumor antigens. More than 15 years ago, it was proposed that tumors grow until an equilibrium is reached between tumor cells and the immune system. Only tumors, in which the tumor cell growth potential overcomes the pressure exerted by the adaptive immune response, can subsequently grow and metastasize into distant tissues. Indeed, tumor cells develop a series of mechanisms to evade the immune defenses including the downregulation of tumor antigens or the production of molecules that suppress immune functions. Therefore, tumor cells have long standing interactions with the immune system, especially in the microenvironment in the primary tumor and later in the metastases.

Finally, studies on the tumor microenvironment brought another major issue regarding the mounting and the regulation of the antitumor defenses. Immune cells were found to form aggregates at the tumor sites, mimicking those found in inflamed tissues that reflect local consequences of a chronic antigenic challenge. A large body of evidences suggests that these so-called tertiary lymphoid structures play an important role to mount, maintain, and control the local and systemic immune defenses.

This deep knowledge of the antitumor defenses and of the composition of the tumor microenvironment brought a new paradigm for cancer treatment. Instead of targeting the tumor cells by using radiotherapy or chemotherapy, drugs targeting the tumor microenvironment have been developed. This major step in cancer therapy has been accomplished these last years. Drugs aiming to alleviate the immune defenses by unlocking the effector functions of the T cells, such as anti-CTLA4 or anti-PD-1 antibodies, have been developed. Other drugs targeting the tumor vasculature such as antibodies against factors favoring the growth of cells lining the blood vessels (vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF) or molecules inhibiting the signaling pathways in the endothelial cells downstream VEGF (sunitinib) have been approved by the FDA for some cancers. Indeed the tumor microenvironment offers an array of potential new targets that can be used alone or in combination with the classical approaches preferentially targeting the tumor cells such as chemotherapy or radiotherapy which may also in some cases increase immune reactions to the tumors.

In this chapter, we will first describe the tumor natural history, how tumor cells progressively grow in a tissue that becomes inflamed, and how the tissue both facilitate the development of tumors and participate to their elimination. We will then describe the different cell types that are found in the tumor microenvironment, their function, their location, and their organization in human tumors. The prognostic impact of the different cell types of the tumor microenvironment will then be compared, and the immunotherapy approaches targeting the tumor microenvironment will be described.

Regarded for a long time as a genetic and cellular disease, cancer is now considered as a tissular and systemic disease whose outcome depends largely on interactions with the host, especially within the tumor microenvironment. The tumor microenvironment can promote or inhibit tumor invasion and metastasis. It changes during the course of the disease, and the understanding of this dynamic interaction makes it possible to identify new therapeutic prognostic factors and new therapeutic targets at all stages of the disease.

2.2 Cancer's Natural History

More than 40 year ago, Peter Nowell proposed that genetic alterations-induced by diverse mutagenic stimuli-could be responsible for the transformation of normal cells toward neoplastic states [2]. According to his theory, these random mutations confer cells with autonomous proliferative capacity and immortality. This concept has barely changed, and today we know that genetic instability is the hallmark initiating event of cancer cells. In fact, tumor cells acquire a series of mutations over time, and it is believed that the stepwise accumulation of genetic abnormalities eventually generate their malignant transformation. In average, a tumor cells exhibit 120 non-synonymous mutations [3] that not only confer them autonomous and uncontrolled proliferative capacities but also several other characteristics that allow them to survive in the hostile human body environment.

In 2011, Hanahan and Weinberg proposed the main hallmarks or essential characteristics that a cancer cells exhibit and allow them to selfsupport the development of a tumor mass [4]. With genetic instability and increased proliferative capacity leading the list, it is currently recognized that tumor cells also need to actively interact with surrounding endothelial, stromal, and immune cells, to guarantee their own survival. Thus, human cancers often promote angiogenesis and inflammation and commonly develop mechanisms to evade the immune system. While the stepwise acquisition of new mutations allows the development of these pro-tumoral functions, the pressure of the hostile environment leads to the selection of the more malignant and aggressive cell clones [5].

The cornerstone of tumor cell emergence and development is then genetic mutations, which can



Fig. 2.1 Major immunopathological and genetic events occurring during carcinogenesis. Upon chronic inflammatory stimuli exposure, normal cells undergo transformation into precancerous cells. Local inflammation induces recruitment of myeloid-derived cells that fuel

carcinogenesis via production of oxygen derivatives or cytokines. Later on, tumor growth and invasion into tissues are controlled by a balance between antitumor and immune escape mechanisms

be induced by diverse factors (Fig. 2.1). We are continuously exposed to mutagenic agent, such as UV light, pollution, or even viruses. Normal cells often possess efficient machineries that repair mutated DNA or intracellular cascades that promote cell death when the damages are irreparable [6]. Some hereditary diseases, such as xeroderma pigmentosum (associated with an extremely high risk of skin cancer at early ages due to defect in the DNA-repairing machinery), are examples of how important these proofreading systems are to prevent cancer development and how often we are exposed to mutagenic stimuli.

Inflammatory mediators are other well-known promoters of genetic alterations. In fact, many of the substances produced by the inflammatory immune cells (such as macrophages and neutrophils) can induce the direct damage of DNA in nonimmune cells. In the presence of noxious stimuli, chronic inflammation can both induce the development of driver tumorigenic mutations and promote the necessary genetic instability to allow other alterations to develop [7]. This process of cancer induced by chronic inflammation (Fig. 2.1) has been described in several pathologies, including gastric cancer in association with *Helicobacter pylori* infection, asbestos or cigarette smoke exposure and lung cancer, arsenic exposure and skin cancer, gastroesophageal reflux for cancer of the esophagus, inflammatory bowel disease for colorectal cancer, chronic pancreatitis for pancreatic cancer, and pelvic inflammatory disease for ovarian cancer [8].

Examples of inflammatory carcinogenic mediators include reactive oxygen species and matrix metalloproteinases, which can induce DNA damage and extracellular matrix disruption, respectively [9]. In addition, some cytokines can induce the growth of abnormal or preneoplastic cells, such as IL-1 β for gastric carcinoma and IL-8 for melanoma. The preneoplastic potential of many other cytokines has also been described (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-23, and TNF- α).

In virus-related cancers, aside from the inflammation induced by the infection itself, the virus genetic material can integrate into the host genome and induce cell transformation by altering diverse oncogenic pathways [10]. Virus-associated cancers represent roughly 20% of all cancer types and include cervical cancer (induced by HPV), B cell lymphoma (induced by EBV), Merkel cell carcinoma (induced by Merkel cell polyomavirus), hepatocellular carcinoma (induced by hepatitis B and C viruses), and some gastric cancer and H&N cancer (induced by EBV).

2.3 The Tumor Immune Microenvironment

As mentioned above, the tumor microenvironment is a very complex and dynamic ecosystem, where different cellular populations coexist. The major players include tumor, immune, and supporting cells (e.g., fibroblasts, stromal, and endothelial cells) [11]. Immune cells that circulate in the blood enter into tumors via transendothelial migration and are attracted by chemokines produced by tumor cells, fibroblasts, or inflammatory cells. Within the tumor mass, the immune cells locally proliferate, differentiate, exert their functions, and die, and some migrate back to the circulation. Within this population, one often can find cells related to acute inflammation (including neutrophils, basophils, and eosinophils), cells of the innate immune response (including macrophages, NK cells, and DC), and cells from the adaptive immune response (including cytotoxic CD8+ T cells, Th1-/Th2-skewed T cells and B cells). We focused this subchapter in the last two populations.

2.3.1 Tumor-Associated Macrophages

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) represent an abundant population, and in many tumors they outnumber other immune cells [12]. Although the majority of TAM are found in the invasive margin of the tumor, we can often find also elevated densities within the tumor core [13]. TAMs exhibit an extremely plastic phenotype and function, and two main subtypes have been described: M1 TAM (induced by Toll-like receptor ligands [e.g., lipopolysaccharide and IFN- γ]) which preferentially express pro-inflammatory cytokines and inducible nitric oxide synthase and M2 TAM (induced by IL-4 or IL-13) which express arginase 1, CD206, CD163, IL-4R, TGF- β 1, and PDGF [12]. Some works suggest that while M1 TAM potentiate the antitumoral Th1 response and antagonize the suppressive activities of regulatory immune cells, M2 promote angiogenesis, tumor growth, and metastasis [13].

2.3.2 NK Cells

Natural killer cells are cytotoxic effector lymphocytes of the innate immune system whose primary function is to help control infections and tumors [14]. Two major mechanisms of recognition of tumor cells by this population have been described: they can recognize cells which have downregulated major histocompatibility complex class I expression (an immunotolerance phenomenon widely described in many cancer types), or they can bind to stress-induced ligands expressed on tumor cells (e.g., MICA or MICB, which bind to NKG2D expressed on the NK cell) [14].

2.3.3 Dendritic Cells

The main function of dendritic cells (DC) is to establish a bridge between the innate and adaptive immune response. Under physiological circumstances, DC engulf and process nonselfantigens, and when they are exposed to danger or activation signals, they become activated and travel to secondary lymphoid structures in lymph nodes where they prime naïve B or T cells [15]. The DC phenotype is rather plastic, and they can produce a wide range of pro-inflammatory or immunosuppressive cytokines, as well as expressing a large series of activating or inhibition receptors, depending of the environment where they are embedded. The secondary lymphoid organs are protected environments and often provide an ideal milieu to promote a DC phenotype that effectively activates the adaptive immune response [16].

In many cancer types, tumor cells produce molecules that induce pro-inflammatory or tolerogenic DC and block their maturation at different stages. Often, intratumor DCs exhibit an immature and inhibitory phenotype [17]. Interestingly, in recent years, several works have described the presence of tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) in the invasive margin of many cancer types [18], where in theory the DCs are protected from tumor-produced inhibitory substances and from where they can effectively prime the antitumor immune response [19].

2.3.4 **Tertiary Lymphoid Structures**

TLS are highly organized lymphoid aggregates that develop in inflammatory pathologies. In cancer, TLS often develop in the invasive margin of the tumors and/or in the stroma and resemble

those arising in other chronic infectious or autoimmune diseases [19]. Figure 2.2A illustrates TLS found in clear cell renal cell cancer (ccRCC). Characteristically, TLS exhibit an organization similar to secondary lymphoid organs, including a T cell zone (Fig. 2.2Aa) and a B cell follicular zone (Fig. 2.2Ab), and are often surrounded by high endothelial venules [20]. B cells in TLS form germinal centers; they undergo active proliferative machinery and somatic hypermutation [19]. T cells have a CD62L⁺/CD45RO⁺ central memory or a naïve phenotype, and some can be found in contact with mature DC which expresses the DC-Lamp marker (Fig. 2.2Aa) or at the periphery of B cell follicles (Fig. 2.2Ac) [20]. Follicular dendritic cells are also detected

Tum C Fig. 2.2 The tumor microenvironment in human clear cell renal cell cancers as detected by IHC on paraffin sections. (**A**) Tertiary lymphoid structures: (a)





forming a network where immune complexes can form and be presented for selection of the high affinity B cells. Plasma cells that produce antibodies are located at the vicinity of TLS [21].

Primary tumors and metastases contain TLS at variable densities, depending on the tumor type and on the patient. As discussed below, it is assumed that TLS reflect the ongoing immune reaction within tumors. They allow the presentation of tumor antigens by mature dendritic cells to T cells leading to the differentiation of CD4⁺ Th1 cells as reflected by the expression of the T-bet marker and the T-B cell cooperation for B cell differentiation into plasma cells. All of these events can thus occur locally, within the tumor bed. To what extent TLS bypass the need of secondary lymphoid organs to mount or control the antitumor immune reaction remains an open issue.

2.3.5 CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T Cells

CD4+ T-helper cells are divided into different subtypes, including Th1, Th2, Th17, Tfh, and Treg; each subpopulation accomplishes specific roles in the antitumor immune response. Overall, a Th1-oriented response antagonizes the tumor growth and is often associated with good clinical outcome [22]. In fact, Th1-oriented cells potentiate in situ the antitumor function of cytotoxic T cells, through the production of several cytokines including IL-2 and IFN- γ . Tfh cells interact with B cells in TLS, helping antibody production.

The role of other subpopulations of tumorinfiltrating CD4⁺ T cells (Th2, Th17, and Treg) is less well understood but is often associated with poor prognosis in different tumors [22]. Many studies suggest that Treg in cancer can dampen the antitumor immune response by two main mechanisms: (1) production of inhibitory cytokines (e.g., IL-10, TGF- β , and IL-35) and (2) suppression of DC development and maturation [23].

CD8⁺ T cells exert a very import function in the antitumor immune response, as they are responsible of tumor cell recognition and elimination. Due to their genome instability, tumor cells often express mutant proteins at their surface. Many of these are neoantigens that can induce a tumor-specific immune response. The primed CD8⁺ T cells are in charge of the tumor cells recognition and lysis, by mechanisms well described in the literature including the release of cytotoxic granules [24]. Interestingly, in the majority of tumors, infiltrating cytotoxic T cells express inhibitory receptors (e.g., PD-1, Tim-3, and Lag-3), whose function under physiological situations is to contract the immune response upon biding to their ligands. Many tumor cells in fact can take advantage of this inhibitory mechanism and in fact express a wide arrange of ligands (e.g., PD-L1, PD-L2) that help them escape for the T cell attack [25].

2.3.6 B Lymphocytes

In inflammatory settings other than cancer, B cells enhance T cell responses by producing antibodies and stimulatory cytokines and chemokines, serving as local antigen presenting cells and organizing the formation of TLS that sustain the immune response. In cancer, B cell can exert all of these functions and overall have an antitumor effect. In addition, recent evidence suggests they can also play an immunomodulatory role through the production of IL-10, among other cytokines [26].

2.3.7 Spatiotemporal Dynamics of the Tumor Immune Microenvironment

Chemokines ensure the local migration of these different cell types and cytokines allow their cooperation. In addition, many tumors are surrounded by a stroma containing an extracellular matrix composed of fibroblasts that form collagen fibers and produce enzymes—such as metalloproteases—that facilitate local invasion within tissues and ultimately the release of tumor cells that egress to the circulation and migrate in other tissues.

A direct consequence of these processes is that the tumor microenvironment is a tissuedependent organized structure in which immune cells are common denominators. Figure 2.2B illustrates the presence of CD8⁺ T cells in the tumoral zone of clear cell renal cell cancer. A closer look into the organization of the immune microenvironment reveals that cells are not evenly distributed in the tumor area. Lymphocytes (T and B cells) are more abundant in the tissue border area called the invasive margin than in the center of the tumor [13]. They can be found dispersed or within aggregates, forming TLS in the invasive margin and/or in the stroma [18, 27]. Most of the T and B cells have a memory phenotype, CD8⁺ T, CD4⁺ Treg, Th1, Th2, Th17, and B cells being detected at variable densities, whereas naïve T cells and CD4+ Tfh are exclusively present within TLS. NK cells are detected in the tumor stroma. Some T cells are found in close contact with tumor cells in the center of the tumor. Myeloid cells such as macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, mast cells, and neutrophils are present at high densities, both in the invasive margin and the center of the tumor. Figure 2.2C illustrates the high density of CD163+ M2-oriented macrophages near the invasive margin of renal cell cancer. Immature dendritic cells are present at low densities, dispersed in the whole tumor area whereas mature dendritic cells are usually found within the TLS, in close contact with T cells (Fig. 2.2Aa). Importantly the immune composition of the tumor microenvironment evolves with the stages of tumor progression in a tumor-dependent manner. Thus, T cells are more numerous at the early stages of the disease in colorectal cancers and at their late stages in renal cell cancers [17, 28]. The density of B cells increases with tumor stage in colorectal cancers, as does that of the myeloid cells such as neutrophils, mast cells, immature dendritic cells, and macrophages. Thus, the tumor microenvironment is a complex structure, forming a tumordependent "immune landscape" that evolves during tumor progression.

2.4 The TME Dictates Clinical Outcome for the Patients

Quantification of immune infiltrates and its relationship with prognosis has been studied for more than 20 years. Following the observation that high T cell densities correlate with longer survival in ovarian cancer [29], the Galon, Pagès, and Fridman studies demonstrating for the first time in large cohorts of patients with colorectal cancers (CRC) the association between densities of memory T cells, early signs of metastasis, and patient's survival made a significant breakthrough in this field [28, 30]. Since then, important progresses in immunohistochemistry (IHC) with the multiplication of robust antibodies, the development of high through put technologies and of automated quantitative imaging has led to numerous studies on immune cell composition of the TME. This

real enthusiasm was even more pronounced during the last 5 years with the emergence of checkpoint blockade therapy (CBT), which aims at reversing T cell exhaustion. Thus, T cell abundance in the TME and its link with outcomes and/ or response to CBT is under intensive work by many teams worldwide.

2.4.1 T Cells

2.4.1.1 CD8+ T Cells

T cell abundance within the TME has been extensively studied across the majority of tumor types. Our group published in 2012 a comprehensive review of the number of original articles linking immune cell populations infiltrating the tumor and prognosis [11]. We reported that high densities of CD3⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, and CD45RO+ memory T cells were associated with a longer disease-free survival (DFS) and/or overall survival (OS) in most tumors (including melanoma, head and neck, breast, bladder, urothelial, ovarian, colorectal, and lung cancer) [1]. We noted at that time that clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) was one of the rare exceptions to the rule. We updated these data last year and found similar results. In addition, we reported new tumor types such as GIST, biliary tract, thyroid, or oropharyngeal cancers where CD8+ cell infiltration was associated with a good prognosis [22].

The poor prognostic value associated with CD8⁺ T cells in ccRCC was confirmed by our group, both in kidney primary tumors [17] and in ccRCC lung metastases [31]. Besides ccRCC, studies in lung adenocarcinoma [32] and in HCC [33] also reported a poor prognostic value

associated with increased CD8⁺ T cell infiltration, in contradiction with other published studies. In prostatic adenocarcinoma as well, CD8⁺ T cell densities correlate with poor outcome [34], consistent with our own data [35].

The "Classical" Case of CRC

Colorectal cancer is the archetype of tumors where high CD8⁺ T cell densities are associated with good prognosis. Indeed a high infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells, particularly effector memory subtypes (TEM), is correlated with a low probability of metastatic spread and prolonged PFS and OS [28], suggesting T cells may control local invasion in primary tumors and confer a long-term systemic protection against metastasis. Moreover, IHC studies showed that compartmentalization of T cells in the center and the invasive margin of the tumors does matter. An immunoscore (IS) measures the density of CD3+ and CD8+ T cells in the center, and the invasive margin of the tumors has been developed by Jerome Galon's team and has been validated in a worldwide collaboration approximately 4000 CRC patients [36, 37]. Even if a high T cell density was more frequent in smaller tumors and MSI-positive tumors, the prognostic value of IS was independent from TNM stages and MSI status. Moreover IS was more accurate to predict the prognosis of patients with early stage CRC [37, 38].

The Discordant Case of ccRCC

We recently reported a clear negative association between CD8+ T cell infiltration and outcomes in ccRCC [17]. Within a cohort of 135 patients with available primary RCC tumors, we found that a high density of CD8⁺ cells, as assessed by IHC, was associated with a shorter disease-free survival and OS. These results were validated for OS in an independent cohort of 51 patients with (resected) lung metastases of ccRCC. The underlying mechanism for this poor prognosis value of CD8⁺ T cells is not fully understood. We showed that most of the intratumoral T cells have an exhausted phenotype, which may reflect impaired antigen presentation due to the presence of dysfunctional DCs with an immature phenotype (Fig. 2.2Ad). They express the DC-Lamp marker of mature DC but lack the high levels of MHC class II molecules and CD83 expressed by mature DC. They may be involved in the impairment of T cell antitumor response [17]. Consistently, in patients who have a higher density of DC within TLS, a high density of CD8⁺ was associated with good prognosis. Thus, antigen presentation by mature DC in the TLS seems to be a crucial event to drive antitumor response in ccRCC, in accordance with our previous observations in lung cancers [39]. Moreover, we showed by immunofluorescence (IF) that CD8+ T cells express immunoregulatory receptors such as PD-1 and/or LAG-3, suggesting a highly exhausted phenotype and both associated with poor outcomes [17].

2.4.1.2 CD4⁺-, Th2-, and Th17-Oriented T Cells

Consistent with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration, an increased in Th1-oriented CD4 T cell infiltration has been associated with favorable prognosis in almost all tumor types studied including breast cancer [40] or CRC [41].

Prognostic value of other T cell subsets (Th2, Th17) has been far less investigated first because of a low frequency in the majority of the tumors and second because of technical challenges to specifically identify these subsets.

2.4.1.3 Regulatory T Cells (Tregs)

The example of Tregs is eloquent. A high Treg density has been first associated with poor prognosis in ovarian cancer, which has been then confirmed in a variety of tumors such as in breast, lung, melanoma, or colorectal cancers (reviewed in [42]). Nevertheless, other studies reported longer survival associated with high densities of Tregs in colorectal, bladder, head and neck, or ovarian cancers. One of the reasons for these opposite results is the difficulty to identify the Treg population. Tregs are a heterogeneous population that should be ideally identified by a combination of markers (CD4⁺, CD25⁺, Foxp3⁺, T cells). The development of multicolor fluorescence imaging allows to increase the number of cell surface markers for their detection. Beyond the technical challenges, these results highlight that the prognostic impact of immune cell populations depend on the tumor type and on the TME.

2.4.2 B Cells

The positive or negative role of B cells in antitumor immunity has been discussed for many years, mainly supported by mice studies. As compared to T cells, few clinical studies reported the prognostic role of intratumoral B cells. The majority of clinical studies have demonstrated that a high density of B cells within TME is associated with better prognosis including breast cancer [43], NSCLC [21], head and neck cancer [44], ovarian cancer [45], metastatic colorectal cancer [46], biliary tract cancer [47], and primary cutaneous melanoma [48]. Several nonexclusive mechanisms could explain the positive role of B cells in the antitumor immune response, some being antibody dependent by their capacity to trigger complement and antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (CDC and ADCC) or to form immune complexes able to activate DCs and others by acting as APC for CD4 [49] and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses [50]. Indeed, it has been shown that B cells play a major role during initial priming and expansion of CD4⁺ T cells [51], are able to cross-present antigens to CD8⁺ T cells [52], and can promote cytotoxic T lymphocyte survival and proliferation [53].

On the opposite, few clinical studies reported a pro-tumoral role of B cells within the TME [54, 55]. B cells may play a pro-tumor function by the maintenance of a chronic inflammation [56], by the promotion of neoangiogenesis [57], and/or by the direct inhibition of cytotoxic T cell responses [55]. Moreover, a subpopulation of immunoregulatory B cells called "Bregs" has been described and has been shown to favor the differentiation and the recruitment of Tregs, thus amplifying the immunosuppressive environment [58].

Beyond the density of B cells, an increasing number of studies reported that the spatial localization of these cells have an impact on patient's outcome. In particular the density of B cell follicles characteristic of TLS is positively associated with outcomes. M.C. Dieu-Nojean and col. showed that an increase in B cell density within the TLS is associated with prolonged survival in NSCLC patients [21]. Similar results were reported in CRC [59] and oral squamous carcinoma [60].

2.4.3 Macrophages

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) are a major component of the TME, found both at the tumor core and the invasive margin. The prognostic value of TAM seems to be dependent of the tumor type. Increased density of TAMs is associated with a good prognosis in CRC [61], HCC [62], prostate [63], and cervical cancer [64]. At the opposite an increased TAM density is associated with poor prognosis in endometrial [65], gastric [66], urothelial [67], HCC [68], melanoma [69], breast [70], ovarian [71], bladder [67], NSCLC [72], and primary CRC tumors [13]. These discrepancies might be explained by the plasticity of these cells since we know that they can switch from a pro-tumoral function (M2) to an antitumoral function (M1) and vice versa [12]. M2 TAMs are associated with a shorter survival and M1 TAMs with a longer survival [22]. Unfortunately, there are no specific or consensual markers to define M1/M2 TAMs. Most of the studies used CD11c or NOS2 for M1 TAMs and CD163, CD204, or CD206 for M2 TAMs, but the use of these markers is still debated.

Tumors contain another heterogeneous subset of cells of myeloid origin, the myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC). Such cells have an immature phenotype and exert profound immunosuppressive activities. Specific and robust tools are still needed for their identification in the human TME.

2.4.4 New Techniques to Estimate the Immune Cell Populations in Tumors

The most broadly used way to quantify tumorinfiltrating immune cells is to detect the protein expression of specific markers either by IHC or IF. These techniques have been improved in the last decade, allowing to detect multiple proteins (multiplex IHC or IF) and to quantify cells automatically. Nevertheless, they remain expensive and difficult to standardize across laboratories, and available antibodies could lack sensitivity or specificity to accurately detect some of immune cell populations.

Efforts have been made to use transcriptome to estimate the composition of the TME. Nevertheless, variability in the signal has limited its applicability until recently. New methods such as CIBERSORT [13] or MCP-counter [73] aim at providing very precise quantitative information about the cell content of heterogeneous samples. Using MCP-counter, we estimated the abundance of immune cells, fibroblasts, and endothelial cell infiltrates, in transcriptomes of 25 different cancers (n = 19,000). The results showed the relative heterogeneity of the cellular composition of the tumor microenvironment in different cancers and confirmed that the inferred density of CD8⁺ or cytotoxic T cells correlated with favorable prognosis in most cancer types [73] (Fig. 2.3).



Fig. 2.3 Estimation of the abundance of infiltrating immune and stromal cells and their prognostic significance across human solid tumors. *Left*, means of MCP-counter scores across malignant tissues (more than 19,000 tumors) in three transcriptomic platforms. *Right*, univariate prognostic values (overall survival) associated with

MCP-counter scores in human solid tumors. *Green* represents significant favorable prognostic impact and *purple* significant poor prognostic impact. *Gray* represents no significant prognostic impact. Adapted from Becht E et al., Genome Biol. (2016) [73]

2.5 TME as Predictors of Response to Therapy

After decades of having targeted on tumor cells and their molecular alterations, new immunooncology (IO) agents such as CBT have shed a light on the crucial role of the TME. The currently approved CBT targets are CTLA-4 (ipilimumab) or the PD-1/PD-L1 axis (nivolumab, pembrolizumab, atezolizumab avelumab) [74]. These mAb block the negative signal received by T cells after their interactions with APCs or with tumor cells, thus being able to reverse T cell exhaustion.

As the main target of these agents are T cell infiltrating the tumor, efforts to predict CBT efficacy have been focusing on their characterization in terms of density, localization, phenotype and functionality, before and/or during treatment.

Other well-known and debatable candidates are still investigated as a "biomarker of efficacy" such as PD-L1 expression by IHC or the neoantigen/mutational burden, but are outside the scope of this chapter [75].

2.5.1 First Emerging Data from Checkpoint Blockade Treated Patients

2.5.1.1 Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes

With the growing number of patients treated with anti-PD-1/PD-L1, translational data on the pharmacodynamics effect of these therapies on the TME are emerging. Tumeh et al. reported in patients with melanoma a higher density of CD8 TILs at baseline in responding patient to pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1) [76]. As with ipilimumab, serial biopsies on treatment showed an increased density of CD8⁺ TILs in the responding group. In another exploratory study 53 melanoma patients who first received ipilimumab and then anti-PD-1 (pembrolizumab) at progression were serially biopsied before and on treatment. IHC analyses of the TME revealed that the increase of CD8+ TIL density early on treatment was associated with response to ipilimumab, whereas baseline TIL density was not [77]. For the 46 patients who subsequently received anti-PD-1 after progression on ipilimumab, there was a statistically significant difference in the density of CD8+, CD3+, and CD45RO+ T cells in pretreatment samples of responders compared to nonresponders. In addition a very highly statistically significant difference in the expression of markers for T cell subsets-CD8, CD4, and CD3-and immunomodulatory molecules PD-1 and LAG3 was observed in early on-treatment tumor samples of responders versus nonresponders to therapy. Altogether these results highlight the unlocking effects of CBT on T cell response. In addition, the authors reported an increase in the ratio of CD8⁺ TIL in the tumor center (TC) vs the IM in early on-treatment biopsies within responders compared to nonresponders suggesting an infiltration of the TILs from the IM to TC as a consequence to therapy [77]. Finally, IHC results were confirmed by gene expression analyses.

Another group performed the phenotypic analyses of TILs (flow cytometry) at baseline from 40 patients (discovery cohort and validation of 20 patients each) with metastatic melanoma treated with an anti-PD-1 [78]. CTLA4 expression by TILs was the only parameter significantly associated with a clinical response in multivariate analysis. The response rate (RR) and PFS were significantly correlated with the relative abundance of CTLA-4^{hi}PD-1^{hi} CD8⁺ TILs.

In a multi-cohort phase I study of patients treated with atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1), both increased density of CD8 by IHC and high Teff signatures (genes regulated by interferon gamma (IFNg), including IFNg, CD8A, granzyme A, granzyme B, EOMES, and perforin) correlated with response in melanoma, but no association with clinical benefit was observed in RCC [79]. However, a higher ratio of Teff to Treg as revealed by gene expression was associated with atezolizumab response in RCC.

A translational study dedicated to investigate how VEGF blockade with bevacizumab could potentiate PD-L1 checkpoint inhibition with atezolizumab in mRCC was recently reported [80]. The authors showed that bevacizumab alone tends to increase the gene signatures associated with T-helper 1 (Th1) chemokines and CD8 T effectors, and the combination with atezolizumab further increases expression of these signatures. IHC showed similar results with an increase of CD8⁺ density following bevacizumab, which was more pronounced with the combination. Interestingly the increased density of CD8⁺ TILs seemed to reflect an increased trafficking into the tumor rather than an in situ increased proliferation (unchanged ratio of Ki67+/Ki67- among CD8⁺ TIL) [80].

2.5.2 From the Molecular to the Immune Signatures

Escape to the immune surveillance has been proposed as an important mechanism of resistance to a number of systemic therapies including targeted therapies such as antiangiogenic agents [81]. Indeed, immune escape is one of the main mechanisms of resistance to VEGFR-TKI in ccRCC [82]. It was recently reported that metastatic ccRCC treated with sunitinib (VEGFR-TKI) could be classified into four distinct molecular groups (ccrcc1 to 4) using transcriptomic analysis [83]. The four groups had significantly distinct prognosis with ccrrcc1 and 4 having the poorest survival and response to sunitinib. Interestingly we found that immune cell infiltrates were different according to molecular groups [84].

For instance ccrcc4 tumors were the most highly infiltrated in T cells and had the highest expression of immunosuppressive markers such as PD-L1, PD-1, LAG-3, TIM-3, suggesting exhaustion of T cells within these tumors. Conversely, ccrcc1 tumors, which were also associated with poor prognosis, had the poorest T cell infiltration and a low expression of T CB markers. As the density of CD8⁺ infiltrating the tumor has been associated with CBT efficacy, we made the hypothesis that ccrcc4 could respond to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade alone. In contrast an anti-PD-1/PD-L1 alone might not be fully efficient in ccrcc1 due to the lack of CD8 T cells in the tumor. Another therapy able to attract T cells in tumors such as an angiogenesis inhibitor (VEGFR-TKI or anti-VEGF mAb) or CTLA4 blockade could sensitize tumors to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy.

We therefore hypothesize that combination of molecular and immune signatures might be a better predictor of CBT efficacy than each signature alone. Figure 2.4 shows an example of an integrated view



Fig. 2.4 Integrative view of biomarker-driven treatment: example of ccRCC. Using a 35-gene classifier, molecular grouping according to Beuselinck et al. [83] identified four groups of patients (ccrcc1 to 4) with distinct response to sunitinib, ccrcc3 having the best response to sunitinib. The ccrcc molecular groups have different gene expression immune profiles: immune-desert (enriched in ccrcc1), immune-competent (enriched in ccrcc3), immune-high (enriched in ccrcc4), and mixed (enriched in ccrcc2) tumors. CD8⁺ T cell infiltration evaluated by immunohistochemistry confirmed these four phenotypes [83]. T cell inhibition signatures based on the gene expression of immunoregulatory checkpoints and their ligands refine the four immunophenotypes and provide additional information to drive patient and treatment selection. ccrcc1 tumors are immune-desert and patients may benefit from a T cell attractant-based therapy such as vaccine or CAR-T cell or adoptive T cell transfer; ccrcc4 tumors are immune-high with a high density of T cells and high expression of immunoregulatory checkpoints; ccrcc4 patients may benefit from anti-PD-(L)1 alone. ccrcc3 tumors are immune-competent with a high infiltration of T cells but low expression of immunoregulatory checkpoints; VEGFR-TKI alone provides excellent results in this ccrcc3 group of patients [83]. ccrcc2 tumors are mixed in terms of T cell infiltration as well as expression of immunoregulatory checkpoints; ccrcc2 patients may be treated according to T cell infiltration and expression of immunoregulatory checkpoints of how to combine multiple biomarkers to drive patient selection in ccRCC.

To confirm these hypotheses, we launched in March 2017 the first biomarker-driven trial to date in ccRCC called BIONIKK (BIOmarkerdriven trial with Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or VEGFR tKi in naïve metastatic Kidney cancer, NCT02960906) [85]. This trial randomizes mRCC patients to receive a first line of systemic therapy with nivolumab (anti-PD-1), ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4), the combination, or a TKI according to their molecular subgroup. The primary endpoint is the objective response rate according to therapy and molecular groups. Immune infiltrates and their correlation with outcome and molecular groups will be evaluated using IHC and gene expression analyses (MCP-counter).

Conclusion

The findings of complex interactions between tumor cells and the host has led to define the concept of the immune contexture which include organization, location, density, and functional orientation of immune cells in the TME. This immune contexture helps to understand pathophysiological mechanisms that support the clinical impact of various cells of the immune response [86].

The growing approval rate of CBT targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis through many tumor types stimulates research teams worldwide to go deeper in the comprehension of the immune contexture to better optimize the efficacy of these agents. In addition, the high number of IO agents currently evaluated in clinical trials provides a huge competition between companies which in turn force them to understand the importance of selecting patients and to make financial efforts to support translational studies.

Many efforts are currently done to find a way to select patients who will have a durable benefit from CBT. Characterization of the tumor-infiltrating immune cells may provide one of the most promising biomarkers of efficacy. Nevertheless, some technical challenges explain why such promising biomarkers are not reproducible or difficult to assess. One of these challenges is inherent to the technique of IHC or IF. Even if major advances have been made on this field, we have to deal with high intratumor heterogeneity and lack of specific markers and to interpret a static evaluation of a dynamic process. The first two points could be partially resolved by the progress in transcriptomic analyses and particularly in the immune signatures that were recently developed such as in MCP-counter. It provides a high accuracy in defining the proportion of immune cells, is reproducible, is less dependent to tumor heterogeneity, and finally allows to compare between tumor types.

Characterization of the immune TME together with the deep characterization of malignant cells using next-generation sequencing (NGS), RNA sequencing, as well as multiplex IF will allow to treat patients with the most appropriate precision medicine and to closely monitor the dynamic changes during CBT.

Acknowledgments The authors thank all colleagues from the Cremer/Teillaud team, pathologists, clinicians, and patients who participated in the studies on the human tumor microenvironment described in this chapter.

References

- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. Immunity. 2004;21(2):137–48.
- Nowell PC. The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science. 1976;194(4260):23–8.
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. Science. 2013;339(6127):1546–58.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- Greaves M, Maley CC. Clonal evolution in cancer. Nature. 2012;481(7381):306–13.
- Branzei D, Foiani M. Regulation of DNA repair throughout the cell cycle. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008;9(4):297–308.
- Elinav E, Nowarski R, Thaiss CA, Hu B, Jin C, Flavell RA. Inflammation-induced cancer: crosstalk between tumours, immune cells and microorganisms. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(11):759–71.
- Giraldo NA, Becht E, Vano Y, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman WH. The immune response in cancer: from immunology to pathology to immunotherapy. Virchows Arch Int J Pathol. 2015;467(2):127–35.

- Crusz SM, Balkwill FR. Inflammation and cancer: advances and new agents. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2015;12(10):584–96.
- Moore PS, Chang Y. Why do viruses cause cancer? Highlights of the first century of human tumour virology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10(12):878–89.
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298–306.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(10):889–96.
- Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Waldner M, Obenauf AC, et al. Spatiotemporal dynamics of intratumoral immune cells reveal the immune landscape in human cancer. Immunity. 2013;39(4):782–95.
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(5):503–10.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):265–77.
- Gardner A, Ruffell B. Dendritic cells and cancer immunity. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(12):855–65.
- Giraldo NA, Becht E, Pagès F, Skliris G, Verkarre V, Vano Y, et al. Orchestration and prognostic significance of immune checkpoints in the microenvironment of primary and metastatic renal cell cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(13):3031–40.
- Sautès-Fridman C, Lawand M, Giraldo NA, Kaplon H, Germain C, Fridman WH, et al. Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancers: prognostic value, regulation, and manipulation for therapeutic intervention. Front Immunol. 2016;7:407.
- Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Goc J, Giraldo NA, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman WH. Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancer and beyond. Trends Immunol. 2014;35(11):571–80.
- 20. de Chaisemartin L, Goc J, Damotte D, Validire P, Magdeleinat P, Alifano M, et al. Characterization of chemokines and adhesion molecules associated with T cell presence in tertiary lymphoid structures in human lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71(20):6391–9.
- 21. Germain C, Gnjatic S, Tamzalit F, Knockaert S, Remark R, Goc J, et al. Presence of B cells in tertiary lymphoid structures is associated with a protective immunity in patients with lung cancer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;189(7):832–44.
- 22. Becht E, Giraldo NA, Germain C, de Reyniès A, Laurent-Puig P, Zucman-Rossi J, et al. Immune contexture, immunoscore, and malignant cell molecular subgroups for prognostic and theranostic classifications of cancers. Adv Immunol. 2016;130:95–190.
- Vignali DAA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(7):523–32.
- Zhang N, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) T cells: foot soldiers of the immune system. Immunity. 2011;35(2):161–8.
- Speiser DE, Ho P-C, Verdeil G. Regulatory circuits of T cell function in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16(10):599–611.

- Balkwill F, Montfort A, Capasso M. B regulatory cells in cancer. Trends Immunol. 2013;34(4):169–73.
- 27. Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Antoine M, Danel C, Heudes D, Wislez M, Poulot V, et al. Long-term survival for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(27):4410–7.
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960–4.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13.
- Pagès F, Berger A, Camus M, Sanchez-Cabo F, Costes A, Molidor R, et al. Effector memory T cells, early metastasis, and survival in colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(25):2654–66.
- 31. Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, Lupo A, Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Riquet M, et al. Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(15):4079–91.
- 32. Tian C, Lu S, Fan Q, Zhang W, Jiao S, Zhao X, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ or CD3⁺ T lymphocytes and interleukin-2 expression in radically resected non-small cell lung cancer. Chin Med J. 2015;128(1):105–10.
- 33. Che Y-Q, Feng L, Rong W-Q, Shen D, Wang Q, Yang L, et al. Correlation analysis of peripheral blood T cell subgroups, immunoglobulin and prognosis of early hepatocellular carcinoma after hepatectomy. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7(11):4282–90.
- 34. Ness N, Andersen S, Valkov A, Nordby Y, Donnem T, Al-Saad S, et al. Infiltration of CD8+ lymphocytes is an independent prognostic factor of biochemical failure-free survival in prostate cancer. Prostate. 2014;74(14):1452–61.
- 35. Petitprez F, Fossati N, Vano Y, Freschi M, Becht E, Lucianò R, et al. European Urology Focus, 2017, ISSN 2405-4569, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. euf.2017.05.013. (http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405456917301517)
- 36. Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, Maby P, Angelova M, Tougeron D, et al. Integrative analyses of colorectal cancer show immunoscore is a stronger predictor of patient survival than microsatellite instability. Immunity. 2016;44(3):698–711.
- 37. Galon J, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Ou F-S, Bifulco CB, Lugli A, et al. Validation of the Immunoscore (IM) as a prognostic marker in stage I/II/III colon cancer: Results of a worldwide consortium-based analysis of 1,336 patients. J Clin Oncol. 2016 34:15_suppl, 3500–3500.
- Kirilovsky A, Marliot F, El Sissy C, Haicheur N, Galon J, Pagès F. Rational bases for the use of the immunoscore in routine clinical settings as a prog-

nostic and predictive biomarker in cancer patients. Int Immunol. 2016;28(8):373–82.

- Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Giraldo NA, Kaplon H, Germain C, Fridman WH, Sautès-Fridman C. Tertiary lymphoid structures, drivers of the anti-tumor responses in human cancers. Immunol Rev. 2016;271(1): 260–75.
- Gu-Trantien C, Loi S, Garaud S, Equeter C, Libin M, de Wind A, et al. CD4⁺ follicular helper T cell infiltration predicts breast cancer survival. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(7):2873–92.
- Boissière-Michot F, Lazennec G, Frugier H, Jarlier M, Roca L, Duffour J, et al. Characterization of an adaptive immune response in microsatellite-instable colorectal cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e29256.
- 42. Fridman WH, Remark R, Goc J, Giraldo NA, Becht E, Hammond SA, et al. The immune microenvironment: a major player in human cancers. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2014;164(1):13–26.
- 43. Mahmoud SMA, Lee AHS, Paish EC, Macmillan RD, Ellis IO, Green AR. The prognostic significance of B lymphocytes in invasive carcinoma of the breast. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;132(2):545–53.
- 44. van Herpen CML, van der Voort R, van der Laak JAWM, Klasen IS, de Graaf AO, van Kempen LCL, et al. Intratumoral rhIL-12 administration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients induces B cell activation. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(10):2354–61.
- 45. Santoiemma PP, Reyes C, Wang L-P, McLane MW, Feldman MD, Tanyi JL, et al. Systematic evaluation of multiple immune markers reveals prognostic factors in ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;143(1):120–7.
- 46. Berntsson J, Nodin B, Eberhard J, Micke P, Jirström K. Prognostic impact of tumour-infiltrating B cells and plasma cells in colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer. 2016;139(5):1129–39.
- 47. Goeppert B, Frauenschuh L, Zucknick M, Stenzinger A, Andrulis M, Klauschen F, et al. Prognostic impact of tumour-infiltrating immune cells on biliary tract cancer. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(10):2665–74.
- Garg K, Maurer M, Griss J, Brüggen M-C, Wolf IH, Wagner C, et al. Tumor-associated B cells in cutaneous primary melanoma and improved clinical outcome. Hum Pathol. 2016;54:157–64.
- Yuseff M-I, Pierobon P, Reversat A, Lennon-Duménil A-M. How B cells capture, process and present antigens: a crucial role for cell polarity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(7):475–86.
- Carmi Y, Spitzer MH, Linde IL, Burt BM, Prestwood TR, Perlman N, et al. Allogeneic IgG combined with dendritic cell stimuli induce antitumour T-cell immunity. Nature. 2015;521(7550):99–104.
- Silva NSD, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(3):137.
- 52. de Wit J, Souwer Y, Jorritsma T, Klaasse Bos H, ten Brinke A, Neefjes J, et al. Antigen-specific B cells reactivate an effective cytotoxic T cell response against phagocytosed Salmonella through crosspresentation. PLoS One. 2010;5(9):e13016.

- 53. Deola S, Panelli MC, Maric D, Selleri S, Dmitrieva NI, Voss CY, et al. Helper B cells promote cytotoxic T cell survival and proliferation independently of antigen presentation through CD27/CD70 interactions. J Immunol. 2008;180(3):1362–72.
- 54. Barbera-Guillem E, Nelson MB, Barr B, Nyhus JK, May KF, Feng L, et al. B lymphocyte pathology in human colorectal cancer. Experimental and clinical therapeutic effects of partial B cell depletion. Cancer Immunol Immunother (CII). 2000;48(10):541–9.
- DeNardo DG, Andreu P, Coussens LM. Interactions between lymphocytes and myeloid cells regulate proversus anti-tumor immunity. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2010;29(2):309–16.
- de Visser KE, Korets LV, Coussens LM. De novo carcinogenesis promoted by chronic inflammation is B lymphocyte dependent. Cancer Cell. 2005;7(5):411–23.
- Barbera-Guillem E, May KF, Nyhus JK, Nelson MB. Promotion of tumor invasion by cooperation of granulocytes and macrophages activated by antitumor antibodies. Neoplasia. 1999;1(5):453–60.
- Olkhanud PB, Damdinsuren B, Bodogai M, Gress RE, Sen R, Wejksza K, et al. Tumor-evoked regulatory B cells promote breast cancer metastasis by converting resting CD4⁺ T cells to T-regulatory cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71(10):3505–15.
- 59. Meshcheryakova A, Tamandl D, Bajna E, Stift J, Mittlboeck M, Svoboda M, et al. B cells and ectopic follicular structures: novel players in anti-tumor programming with prognostic power for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e99008.
- Wirsing AM, Rikardsen OG, Steigen SE, Uhlin-Hansen L, Hadler-Olsen E. Characterisation and prognostic value of tertiary lymphoid structures in oral squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Clin Pathol. 2014;14:38.
- Algars A, Irjala H, Vaittinen S, Huhtinen H, Sundström J, Salmi M, et al. Type and location of tumor-infiltrating macrophages and lymphatic vessels predict survival of colorectal cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 2012;131(4):864–73.
- 62. Shu Q-H, Ge Y-S, Ma H-X, Gao X-Q, Pan J-J, Liu D, et al. Prognostic value of polarized macrophages in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection. J Cell Mol Med. 2016;20(6):1024–35.
- 63. Shimura S, Yang G, Ebara S, Wheeler TM, Frolov A, Thompson TC. Reduced infiltration of tumorassociated macrophages in human prostate cancer: association with cancer progression. Cancer Res. 2000;60(20):5857–61.
- Heller DS, Hameed M, Cracchiolo B, Wiederkehr M, Scott D, Skurnick J, et al. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13(1):67–70.
- 65. Čermáková P, Melichar B, Tomšová M, Zoul Z, Kalábová H, Spaček J, et al. Prognostic significance of CD3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with endometrial carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(10):5555–61.

- 66. Wang XL, Jiang JT, Wu CP. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophage infiltration in gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Genet Mol Res (GMR). 2016;15(4) doi:10.4238/gmr15049040.
- 67. Sjödahl G, Lövgren K, Lauss M, Chebil G, Patschan O, Gudjonsson S, et al. Infiltration of CD3+ and CD68+ cells in bladder cancer is subtype specific and affects the outcome of patients with muscle-invasive tumors. Urol Oncol. 2014;32(6):791–7.
- 68. Dong P, Ma L, Liu L, Zhao G, Zhang S, Dong L, et al. CD86⁺/CD206⁺, diametrically polarized tumorassociated macrophages, predict hepatocellular carcinoma patient prognosis. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(3):320.
- 69. Jensen TO, Schmidt H, Møller HJ, Høyer M, Maniecki MB, Sjoegren P, et al. Macrophage markers in serum and tumor have prognostic impact in American Joint Committee on Cancer stage I/II melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(20):3330–7.
- Medrek C, Pontén F, Jirström K, Leandersson K. The presence of tumor associated macrophages in tumor stroma as a prognostic marker for breast cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:306.
- Colvin EK. Tumor-associated macrophages contribute to tumor progression in ovarian cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:137.
- Mei J, Xiao Z, Guo C, Pu Q, Ma L, Liu C, et al. Prognostic impact of tumor-associated macrophage infiltration in non-small cell lung cancer: a systemic review and metaanalysis. Oncotarget. 2016;7(23):34217–28.
- Becht E, Giraldo NA, Lacroix L, Buttard B, Elarouci N, Petitprez F, et al. Estimating the population abundance of tissue-infiltrating immune and stromal cell populations using gene expression. Genome Biol. 2016;17(1):218.
- Martin-Liberal J, de Olza MO, Hierro C, Gros A, Rodon J, Tabernero J. The expanding role of immunotherapy. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;54:74–86. doi:10.1016/j. ctrv.2017.01.008. Epub 2017 Feb 11. Review.
- Gibney GT, Weiner LM, Atkins MB. Predictive biomarkers for checkpoint inhibitor-based immunotherapy. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(12):e542–51.
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJM, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71.
- 77. Chen P-L, Roh W, Reuben A, Cooper ZA, Spencer CN, Prieto PA, et al. Analysis of immune signatures in longitudinal tumor samples yields insight into bio-

markers of response and mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint blockade. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(8):827–37.

- Daud AI, Loo K, Pauli ML, Sanchez-Rodriguez R, Sandoval PM, Taravati K, et al. Tumor immune profiling predicts response to anti-PD-1 therapy in human melanoma. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(9):3447–52.
- 79. McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Sznol M, Massard C, Gordon MS, Hamid O, et al. Atezolizumab, an antiprogrammed death-ligand 1 antibody, in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: long-term safety, clinical activity, and immune correlates from a phase IA study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(8):833–42.
- Wallin JJ, Bendell JC, Funke R, Sznol M, Korski K, Jones S, et al. Atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab enhances antigen-specific T-cell migration in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12624.
- Liu X-D, Hoang A, Zhou L, Kalra S, Yetil A, Sun M, et al. Resistance to antiangiogenic therapy is associated with an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(9):1017–29.
- Voron T, Colussi O, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Nizard M, Pointet A-L, et al. VEGF-A modulates expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. J Exp Med. 2015;212(2):139–48.
- Beuselinck B, Job S, Becht E, Karadimou A, Verkarre V, Couchy G, et al. Molecular subtypes of clear cell renal cell carcinoma are associated with sunitinib response in the metastatic setting. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(6):1329–39.
- 84. Becht E, Giraldo NA, Beuselinck B, Job S, Marisa L, Vano Y, et al. Prognostic and theranostic impact of molecular subtypes and immune classifications in renal cell cancer (RCC) and colorectal cancer (CRC). Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(12):e1049804.
- 85. A BIOmarker driven trial with Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or VEGFR tKi in Naïve Metastatic Kidney Cancer - full text view - ClinicalTrials. gov [Internet]. [cited 2017 Feb 28]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02960906
- 86. Fridman WH, Zitvogel L, Sautès-Fridman C, et al. The immune contexture in cancer prognosis and treatment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017 Jul 25. doi:10.1038/ nrclinonc.2017.101. [Epub ahead of print] Review.

CD8⁺ T Cells in Immunotherapy, Radiotherapy, and Chemotherapy

Weimin Wang, Michael Green, J. Rebecca Liu, Theodore S. Lawrence, and Weiping Zou

Contents

3.1	Introduction	23
3.2	CD8 ⁺ T Cells in Immunotherapy	25
3.2.1	Adoptive T-Cell Transfer	25
3.2.2	Checkpoint Blockade	26
3.2.3	Antibody-Based Targeted Therapy	28
3.3	CD8+ T Cells in Radiotherapy	29
3.3.1	Radiation Therapy Induces Immune	
	Responses	29
3.3.2	CD8+ T Cells in Radiotherapy	30
3.4	CD8+ T in Cytotoxic Chemotherapy	31
3.4.1	Chemotherapeutic Agents Activate	
	Immune Responses	31
3.4.2	Chemotherapy Enhances the Antitumor	
	Function of CD8+ T Cells	32
3.4.3	CD8+ T Cells Sensitize Tumor Cells	
	to Chemotherapy	33
3.5	Future Directions	33
Refer	ences	34

3.1 Introduction

Extensive studies have revealed that the infiltration of T cells, especially CD8+ T cells, into the tumor microenvironment is a favorable prognostic feature for numerous malignancies, including melanoma and head and neck, breast, ovarian, renal, bladder, urothelial, colorectal, prostatic, pancreatic, and lung cancers [1]. A high density of intratumor CD8+ T cells is associated with longer disease-free survival and overall survival. Interestingly, direct tumor contact by CD8+ T cells may not be required, as both intraepithelial and intrastromal CD8+ T cells are associated with a favorable prognosis in human breast and ovarian cancer [2–4].

CD8+ T cells are often referred to as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) because of their

W. Wang

Department of Surgery, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

M. Green Department of Surgery, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA J. Rebecca Liu Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

T.S. Lawrence Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

W. Zou (⊠) Department of Surgery, University of Michigan School of Medicine, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

Graduate Programs in Immunology and Tumor Biology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA e-mail: wzou@med.umich.edu ability to directly kill target cells. Upon antigenic stimulation, CD8+ T cells will progressively differentiate from naïve T cells into central memory T cells (T_{CM}) and effector memory T cells (T_{EM}). The effector function increases upon CD8+ T-cell differentiation, while memory function and proliferation decrease. Effector CD8+ T cells are characterized as CCR7- CD62L-CD45RO+CD95+IL-2Rb+, in addition to expressing killer cell lectin-like receptor G1 (KLRG-1) and programmed death 1 receptor (PD-1). They secrete high concentrations of IFN γ and TNF α but secrete minimal IL2. Trafficking of CD8+ T mediated cells is through chemokinechemokine receptor interaction, which, among others, includes the ligands CXCL9 and CXCL10 with their receptor CXCR3. Increased expression of CXCL9/10 is associated with increased number of CD8 T cells in tumor microenvironment [5, 6].

CD8+ T cells are a key component of antitumor immunity and execute tumor clearance by several mechanisms. First, CD8+ T cells recognize the specific tumor-associated antigen [7] expressed on tumor cells, release cytotoxic molecular granzyme B and perforin, which are delivered into tumor cells and induce caspase activation and ultimately apoptosis [8]. Secondly, CD8+ T cells can also induce cancer cell death through the Fas/ Fas ligand pathway. It has been demonstrated that the Fas ligand is essential for tumor regression mediated by CD8+ T cells in murine models of lung cancer and B-cell lymphoma [9, 10]. Finally, IFN γ and TNF α secreted by CD8+ T cells can have antitumor activity and control tumor growth. The combination of IFN γ and TNF α can drive cancer cell into senescence [11]. IFN γ is also known to be critical for cancer immunosurveillance by enhancing antigen presentation and limiting tumor angiogenesis [12].

Although tumor-reactive CD8 T cells are often found in the tumor biopsies, cancer can still progress. It has been revealed that the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment may drive CD8 T cells into senescence or exhaustion [13]. Senescent CD8+ T cells are characterized by short telomeres, activation of DNA damage response genes, and secretion of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) factors [14]. These cells phenotypically show downregulation of the co-stimulatory molecules CD27 and CD28 and high expression of CD57 and KLRG1. Although senescent T cells are irreversibly cell-cycle arrested, they may still retain their cytotoxic capacity [15]. Exhausted CD8+ T cells are described as cells that exhibit defects in proliferation and decreased cytokine production and cytotoxic functions, as well as display higher expression of co-inhibitory molecules, such as PD-1, CD244, CD160, CTLA-4, Lag-3, and Tim-3 [16, 17]. However, it is notable that CD8+ T cell exhaustion is reversible to some extent [18]. Blockade of CTLA-4 or PD-1 has been shown to improve CD8+ T-cell effector function, resulting in improved clinical response. In addition, adoptive transfusion of ex vivo-expanded tumor-specific T cells, especially CD8+ T cells, has achieved durable tumor remission and even cure of malignant disease. Interestingly, recent studies have revealed that antibody-based targeted therapy, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy may synergistically initiate or augment antitumor immune response. The antitumor efficacies of these therapies are at least partially dependent on CD8+ T-cell immunity.

This review focuses on the convergence of adoptive T-cell transfer, checkpoint blockade, antibody-based targeted therapy, radiotherapy, and cytotoxic chemotherapy on effector CD8+ T cells. We summarize the state of knowledge regarding how these therapies increase intratumor CD8+ T-cell infiltration, induce tumor antigenspecific CD8+ T-cell response, unleash CD8+ T-cell effector function, and sensitize tumor to CD8+ T cells. Finally, we discuss how to rationally combine immunotherapy with radiotherapy or/and chemotherapy to improve cancer patient outcomes.

3.2 CD8⁺ T Cells in Immunotherapy

3.2.1 Adoptive T-Cell Transfer

Adoptive T-cell therapy (ACT) for cancer is a form of transfusion therapy consisting of the infusion of various ex vivo-expanded T-cell populations. The first strategy of ACT, which has been the most extensively studied in clinical trials, is the adoptive transfer of autologous ex vivo-expanded tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). More recently, transfer of genetically modified T cells is being developed and clinically utilized. This approach includes the utilization of peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs)-derived T cells expressing TAAspecific T-cell receptor (TCR) or a so-called "chimeric antigen receptor" (CAR) T cells [19, 20].

CD8+ T in Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes **Therapy** The general protocol of ACT includes (1) collection of circulating or tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, (2) selection and expansion of tumor-specific T-cell populations ex vivo, and (3) re-administration of T cells to patients with a conditioning regimen of lymphodepletion and IL-2 administration. Thus far, ACT of ex vivo-expanded TILs is considered to be the best available treatment for patients with chemorefractory metastatic melanoma [21, 22]. Following the harvesting of TILs from the patient, long-term ex vivo IL-2 and CD3 stimulation are used to expand CD4+ and CD8+ $\alpha\beta$ TCR+ T cells [21]. As CD8 interacts with MHC class I expressed on tumor cells, CD8+ T cells are thought to effectuate the antitumor activity of ACT, although indirect CD4+ T-cell interaction with the tumor cannot be dismissed. A recent clinical study described three sequential trials on metastatic melanoma treated with the ACT of autologous TILs combined with lymphodepletion and IL-2. Objective response rates in the three trials using different lymphodepleting preparative regimens ranged from 47% to 72% [22]. Furthermore, the number of infused CD27+ CD8+ cells was found to correlate with objective response [22]. This corroborates other melanoma ACT trials that have also found a positive correlation between

a higher number of infused CD8+ T cells and clinical response [21, 23].

Nonselective expansion of polyclonal tumorinfiltrating T cells results in a population that recognizes multiple tumor-associated antigens. These antigens include cancer testis antigens that are expressed during development and reactivated in tumors, such as NY-ESO-1 and MAGE; melanocyte lineage antigens, such as gp100, MART-1, and tyrosinase; and mutational antigens generated from the low-fidelity replication present in cancer cells. A recent study analyzed the antigens recognized by clinically effective TILs from melanoma patients that experienced durable complete regressions beyond 5 years after ACT of TILs and identified both nonmutated and mutated antigens that could be recognized by autologous TILs [24]. More recently, neoantigen-specific T cells including CD8+ T cells were successfully isolated from the blood and primary tumor in patients with melanoma [25]. A recent case report demonstrated that ACT from TILs in a patient with metastatic KRAS mutant colorectal cancer could result in durable regression of all metastatic deposits. Correlative studies revealed that four different CD8+ T-cell clones that were specifically reactive to mutant KRAS G12D mediated this response [26]. This highlights an emerging strategy where cellular immunity can be harnessed to target conserved oncogenetic mutations, which have not been conducive to pharmacologic inhibition.

In addition to TAA specificity, emerging findings indicate that the differentiation state of T-cell populations is crucial to the antitumor efficacy of ACT [20, 27]. CD8+ T cells in ex vivo-expanded TILs are a mixture of mostly T_{EM} (less-differentiated effector memory T cells), T_{EFF} (more-differentiated effector T cells), and T_{TDE} (terminally differentiated effector T cells). Relatively, very few T_{CM} (central memory) are found in the ex vivo-cultured TILs, although in preclinical and clinical models T_{CM} cells have shown increased antitumor activity compared with effector T cells in mouse melanoma models [28, 29]. Currently, little is known on which state of differentiated CD8+ T cells is optimal for ACT of TILs in human. **Genetically Engineered T Cells** T cells can be genetically engineered to express a T-cell receptor (TCR) with a high affinity and specificity to target antigens. Introductions of such TCR genes are accomplished by retrovirus or lentivirusmediated transduction. Such TCR-modified T cells have specificity for tumor-associated antigens and can be rapidly expanded ex vivo and reinfused into patients for ACT. For example, TCR transduction has been used to target MART-1 and NY-ESO-1 in clinical trials for patients with melanoma. Tumor regression and durable objective responses were observed in a subset of patients [30, 31].

Chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) are another means for providing specificity to transduced T cells. CAR molecule is an artificial receptor composed of a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) derived from antibody, fused to transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains. The scFv fragment recognizes specific surface tumor antigens in an MHC-independent fashion. The cytoplasmic domains consist of a CD3 zeta activation domain and two co-stimulatory domains, CD28 and CD137/4-1BB. Upon antigen encounter, the CAR transduces the activation signals to T cells, resulting in T-cell proliferation and expansion with cytotoxic functions [32]. Clinical trials have shown excellent outcomes for CAR-Tcell adoptive transfer therapy in patients with hematologic malignancies [33]. Almost all B-cell malignancies, as well as normal B cells, express the CD19, which is absent in other cell types. Thus, anti-CD19-redirected CAR-T cells were designed to target CD19+ B cells and have achieved impressive response rates in 60-90% of patients with relapsed or refractory lymphoblastic leukemia [34-36]. CAR-T cell therapies are also being developed to target solid tumors in a number of disease sites [37, 38]; however, these efforts have been historically hindered by offtarget toxicity [39, 40].

In a manner similar to TILs, genetically modified T cells for ACT also contains both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell populations, which both confer an antitumor response. In a recent clinical trial on patients with B-cell malignances, CD19-CAR-T cells were generated from CD8+ and CD4 T-cell subsets that were separately ex vivo expanded and infused at a 1:1 ratio. This defined composition product showed remarkable antitumor activity as 93% patient achieved bone marrow remission [41]. In contrast to polyclonal TILs, genetically modified T cells have monoclonal specificity to a single target antigen, which may facilitate tumor immunoediting and allow the development and outgrowth of antigen escape tumor subclones.

3.2.2 Checkpoint Blockade

The immune system is characterized by compensatory inhibitory mechanisms to prevent the inflammatory response from precipitating autoimmunity. Tumor-infiltrating T cells that recognize and are poised to eliminate tumor cells are held in check by negative signals that reduce their activation and effector functions. Several molecules have been identified as negative regulators or checkpoints of T-cell activation, including cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4), PD-1, and PD-L1. Drugs interrupting these checkpoints can unleash the antitumor activity of T cells and mediate durable cancer regressions. Multiple therapeutic antibodies that block CTLA4, PD-1, or PD-L1 have been approved and have shown clinical benefits in a wide range of solid and liquid tumor types, including melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer, kidney cancer, and Hodgkin's lymphoma [42].

The Biology of the CTLA-4 Pathway CTLA-4 is a receptor that is expressed exclusively on T cells and primarily regulates the amplitude of the early stages of T-cell activation. The engagement of CTLA-4 downregulates the T-cell function, largely by counteracting the activity of the T-cell co-stimulatory receptor, CD28. The recognition of peptide-major histocompatibility complex (MHC) by the T-cell receptor (TCR) is insufficient for T-cell activation and must be amplified by the ligation of CD28 to its ligands, CD80 and CD86. CTLA-4 shares the same set of ligands with CD28 but with a much higher affinity; therefore, its expression on the surface of T cells dampens the activation of T cells by outcompeting CD28 with regard to binding CD80 and CD86, as well as actively delivering inhibitory signals to the T cell [43]. CTLA-4 also confers T-cell inhibition via depletion of CD80 and CD86 from the antigen-presenting cell (APC) surface [44]. The essential role of CTLA-4 for maintaining normal immunologic homeostasis is demonstrated by the lethal systemic immune hyperactivation phenotype in CTLA-4-deficient mice [45, 46].

On the basis of CTLA-4 biology, ipilimumab, a therapeutic antibody against CTLA-4, has been developed and approved for the treatment of patients with advanced melanoma. Ipilimumab binds to CTLA-4 and blocks ligation with CD80 and CD86, which prevents inhibitory signal transduction and results in increased CD28-mediated CTLA-4 co-stimulation. is predominantly expressed on CD4+ T cells, and CTLA-4 blockade has been demonstrated to mediate antitumor immune response through enhancement of effector CD4+ T-cell activity, as well as inhibition of regulatory T (Treg)-cell-dependent immunosuppressive activity. In Treg cells, CTLA-4 is regulated by the forkhead transcription factor FOXP3 and therefore constitutively expressed. It has been demonstrated that anti-CTLA-4 antibody can deplete Treg population in the tumor microenvironment in a Fc-mediated manner through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) [47].

CD8+ T Cells in CTLA-4 Blockade In addition to CD4+ T cells, CTLA-4 blockade enhances CD8+ T-cell response in the tumor microenvironment. Because CTLA-4 is also expressed on activated CD8+ effector T cells, CTLA-4 blockade is considered to directly regulate CD8+ T-cell activity. CTLA-4 regulates effector functions of CD8+ T cells through repressing the production of IFNy and eomesodermin in individual CD8+ T cells [48, 49]. CTLA-4 blockade was shown to directly enhance the proliferation and activation of specific CD8+ T cells in vitro and in vivo, in a manner independent of CD4+ T-cell help [50]. However, studusing different mouse tumor models ies demonstrated that CTLA-4 blockade could also reverse CD8+ T-cell tolerance and mediated antitumor immune response by a CD4+ T cell-dependent

mechanism [51, 52]. Regardless of which cell types are targeted by CTLA-4 blockade, the functional result of CTLA-4 blockade therapy is enhancement of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells and tumor regression. Ipilimumab treatment in melanoma patient results in clonal expansion of tumorspecific CD8+T cells in the tumormic roenvironment and systemic circulation, although it is related with ipilimumab-induced toxicities [53]. Ipilimumab also increases the absolute number of circulating CD8+ T cells, which correlated with improved clinical outcomes [54].

The Biology of PD-L1/PD-1 Pathway PD-1 is a cell surface receptor of the same immunoglobulin family as CD28 and CTLA-4. Similar to CTLA-4, PD-1 is absent on resting naive and memory T cells and is induced after T-cell activation. However, in contrast to CTLA-4, PD-1 expression on the surface of activated T cells is initiated at a transcriptional level and is therefore delayed [55]. Unlike CTLA-4, which primarily regulates T-cell activation at the earlier stage, PD-1 is believed to inhibit effector T-cell activity in the effector phase within peripheral tissue and tumors [56]. Ligand engagement of PD-1 results in activation of the inhibitory phosphatases SHP-2 and PP2A, which suppress the kinase signaling required for T-cell activation [55, 57].

The ligands for PD-1 are PD ligand 1 (PD-L1, B7-H1, CD274) and PD ligand 2 (PD-L2, B7-DC, CD273) [58, 59]. PD-L1 has immunomodulatory functions independent of PD-1 and can also bind CD80 on activated T cells and APCs to deliver inhibitory signals [60, 61]. The relevance of this interaction in antitumor immune resistance has yet to be determined. Additionally, PD-L1 engagement results in bidirectional signaling that "back" transmits signals into T cells and tumor cells to regulate their survival [62, 63]. Thus, PD-L1 could regulate tumor immunity by functioning as both a ligand and receptor. Similarly, PD-L2 can deliver suppressive signals through PD-1 and can also signal via repulsive guidance molecule b (RGMb) to promote respiratory tolerance [64]. The relevance of PD-L2 signaling to cancer immunity is unknown as it is not widely expressed by tumor or immune cells.

Clinically, the PD pathway blockade, including anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies, has demonstrated highly durable response rates with minimal toxicity across a spectrum of different tumor types, spanning both solid tumors and hematologic malignancies [65]. In theory, targeting PD-1 may result in different biologic effects than targeting PD-L1 because of the different cellular populations that express these two molecules. In addition to activated T cells, PD-1 expression was found on B cells and natural killer (NK) cells, and, therefore, PD-1 blockade may influence the function of these cells as well [66, 67]. PD-L1 was highly expressed on tumor cells and tumor-associated APCs, including dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, fibroblasts, and T cells [68–72]. PD-L1 on different types of cells may mediate immunoregulation through unique mechanisms. The comparative effectiveness between anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies cannot yet be performed because of clinical data that has not yet matured, and biological inferences from the clinical studies may be limited by the differing degrees of chimerism and different isotype subgroups of the antibodies.

CD8+ T Cells in PD Blockade Although the cellular and molecular mechanisms are not completely defined, translational and clinical studies suggest that both PD-1 and PD-L1 blockades converge on tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells. In the tumor microenvironment, PD-1 is highly expressed on infiltrating lymphocytes, including tumor-specific CD8+ T cells, and engagement by PD-L1 on tumor cells or APCs results in CD8+ T-cell dysfunction. Analysis of melanoma patients treated with anti-PD-1 antibody (pembrolizumab) showed that the expansion of intratumoral CD8+ memory T cells was marked in those patients who responded to therapy [73, 74]. PD-1 blockade could enhance the proliferation of the effector memory CD8+ T cells with senescent phenotype [75]. Additionally, PD-L1 blockade was shown to reverse exhausted CD8+ T-cell function, and this could be synergized by anti-CD27 [76]. These studies suggest that both anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies can enhance CD8+ T-cell proliferation and improve effector

cytokine production to promote antitumor activity. Recent clinical studies on melanoma have further demonstrated that "inflamed" or "hot" tumors are highly responsive to PD pathway blockade [77]. An "inflamed" tumor is characterized by a Th1-type immune signature that includes Th1-type chemokines, CD8+ T cells, and a high level of PD-L1 expression [6, 65]. Tumor regression mediated by therapeutic PD blockade requires preexisting CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment [73].

3.2.3 Antibody-Based Targeted Therapy

Antibody-based therapy for cancer has been established for more than a decade. The fundamental basis for this therapy is the differential upregulation or mutation of cell surface antigens on cancer cells, compared to normal tissues. Receptor tyrosine kinases, such as EGFR and HER2 (ERBB2), have been found to be overexpressed or mutated in various cancer types, including breast, lung, brain, head and neck, and colon tumors. Aberrant tyrosine kinase activity of EGFR and HER2 can promote cancer cell proliferation and tumorigenesis [78, 79]. Monoclonal antibodies targeting HER2 and EGFR have been approved by the FDA and are currently being utilized in a variety of disease sites [80]. These antibodies antagonize these oncogenic receptors, leading to reduced proliferation and increased apoptosis [78]. Additionally, the antitumoral effect of these antibodies is also mediated by the Fc region of antibody, which can bind to Fc receptors (FcRs) on macrophages, neutrophils, and natural killer (NK) cells and induce cell death through activation of complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) and ADCC [80, 81].

Interestingly, recent studies suggested that adaptive immunity, including CD8+ T cells response, contributes to the efficacy of anti-HER2 and anti-EGFR antibodies. A murine HER2-overexpressing breast cancer model demonstrated that anti-HER2/neu antibody therapy required CD8+ T cells. Anti-HER2/neu antibody treatment increased CD8+ T-cell infiltration into tumor and induced memory T-cell responses [82]. This result was corroborated by another immunocompetent murine HER2 breast cancer model, which demonstrated that IFN γ -producing CD8+ T cells are required for efficacy of the antibody therapy [83]. Similarly, a study using a murine EGFR+ lung cancer model showed that anti-EGFR antibody cetuximab induced a tumor-specific CD8+ T-cell response, which is required for efficacy of antibody [84]. Additionally, cetux-imab was shown to promote dendritic cell maturation and CD8+ T-cell priming, leading to the activation of tumor-specific T cells in patients with head and neck cancer [84, 85].

Bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A), is used in the treatment of many malignancies, including colon cancer, lung cancer, glioblastoma multiforme, and renal cell carcinoma. VEGF-A is a secreted factor that is critical for tumor angiogenesis through binding to the VEGFR1 and VEGFR2 receptors. Bevacizumab binds to and neutralizes all human VEGF-A isoforms and thereby block angiogenesis [86]. Aside from its direct action on tumor vascularization, anti-VEGF-A antibody has been shown to modulate immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. Blockade of VEGF-A increased DCs maturation and inhibited infiltration of immunosuppressive cells, such as regulatory T cells and MDSCs [87]. In a mouse model of colorectal cancer, VEGF-A was reported to regulate CD8+ T-cell exhaustion by enhancing expression of PD-1 and other inhibitory checkpoints, and this phenotype could be abrogated by anti-VEGF-A antibody treatment [88]. an VEGF-A can also inhibit the infiltration of T cells by reducing adhesion molecule expression in endothelial cells. Modulation or normalization of tumor vasculature by anti-VEGF-A antibody can result in increased T-cell recruitment and infiltration into tumors [89, 90]. In patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma, bevacizumab therapy increased intratumoral CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell infiltration [91]. Increased intratumoral T cells were also observed in a combination therapy of bevacizumab with anti-PD-L1 antibody in renal cell carcinoma [92].

3.3 CD8+ T Cells in Radiotherapy

3.3.1 Radiation Therapy Induces Immune Responses

Radiotherapy is a highly effective treatment modality used for the curative and palliative management of almost all cancer histologies. It is frequently combined with other treatment modalities, including surgery, chemotherapy, and more recently immunotherapy, to maximize the chance of disease control [93]. Radiotherapy is a noninvasive localized therapy that applies ionizing radiation (IR) to a tumor. This induces single- and double-stranded DNA breaks in the irradiated tissue. As cancer cells are more sensitive to DNA damage-induced cell death than normal cells because of deficiencies in DNA repair pathways, ionizing radiotherapy can selectively damage cancerous cells [94].

Consistent with this, classical radiobiologic models have shown that radiotherapy induces tumor cell intrinsic mitotic catastrophe and cell death [95]. However, recent studies have highlighted the cell extrinsic mechanisms through which radiation modulates local or systemic immune responses and highlight the challenges and promise of combining radiotherapy with immunotherapy. Low-dose total body radiotherapy was used prior to hematopoietic stem cell transplant to create an immunosuppressed host with stem cell niche availability [96]. The hematopoietic compartment, which is comprised of hematopoietic stem cells, progenitor cells, and the vast majority of innate and adaptive immune cells, is vulnerable to radiation due to a rapid cycling time. Thus, even low doses of radiation are sufficient to induce cell death and damage in mature NK cells, T and B cells, as well as bone marrow stem cell precursors of monocytes and granulocytes. Low-dose radiotherapy was also historically used for the management of benign inflammatory conditions with moderate efficacy [97]. Finally, fractionated courses of radiotherapy had often been delivered in which small doses of radiotherapy are delivered on consecutive days for a duration up to 7 weeks to allow normal tissue healing and minimize treatment-
associated toxicity. When fractionated radiotherapy is given to a large area with concurrent chemotherapy, incidental lymphopenia can result for several months, which can compromise ongoing efforts to promote tumor immunity [98].

In contrast to low-dose total body irradiation, emerging evidence demonstrates that high-dose localized radiation often initiates or enhances antitumor immune response, and the efficacy of radiotherapy even relies, in part, on the host innate and adaptive immunity [99, 100]. Over the last decade, advances in diagnostic imaging and radiotherapy delivery allow for more conformal treatments to a smaller volume without compromising local control. Radiotherapy techniques, including intensity-modulated radiotherapy, have been shown to decrease the toxicity of treatment at many disease sites, including the risk of lymphopenia [95]. Further, hypofractionated approaches, including stereotactic body radiotherapy and stereotactic radiosurgery, which provide equivalent or superior outcomes in one to five total treatments, are increasingly utilized in a variety of disease sites. Biologically, radiation induces immunogenic cell death by causing the release of tumor antigens and danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as calreticulin, ATP, and high-mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1). DAMPs are endogenous molecules that induce immunostimulatory effects upon release or exposure during cell death and act by binding to pattern recognition receptors (PRR) expressed on innate immune cells. Simultaneously, radiation can create an inflammatory microenvironment by the induction of cytokine and chemokine production, which leads to infiltration of DCs, macrophages, cytotoxic T cells, and some immunosuppressive cells. Released DAMPs work on APCs through TLR4 signaling to promote efficient processing and cross-presentation of tumor antigens [101]. Mature APCs can migrate to the draining lymph node, where T-cell priming is augmented to initiate a systemic antitumor immune response.

3.3.2 CD8+T Cells in Radiotherapy

Emerging evidences have demonstrated that radiotherapy can induce tumor-specific CD8+ T cell responses that are critical for radiationmediated tumor reduction. Using a mouse B16 melanoma model, Lee et al. showed that ablative hypofractionated radiation induces significant tumor regression dependent on CD8+ T-cell activation and recruitment [102]. Radiation has also been shown to induce activation of tumorassociated DCs that support tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells. The efficacy of radiotherapy depends on DCs and CD8+ T cells, whereas CD4+ T cells or macrophages are dispensable [103, 104]. More recent study suggested that CD8+ T cells and IFNy contributed to radiationinduced tumor equilibrium in two animal models. Depletion of CD8+ T cells or neutralization of IFNy leads to tumor regrowth, and blockade of PD-L1 augments CD8+ T-cell response and leads to tumor rejection [105].

Concomitant with increased T-cell activation, radiotherapy can diversify the TCR repertoire of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells. Radiation increases the expression of MHC class I and the production of novel proteins to favor neoantigen presentation [106]. Another study has shown that radiation increases the expression of cancer testis antigens, which promotes the immunological recognition of cancer cells by T cells [107]. In a more recent study involving melanoma patients and a mouse melanoma model, TCR sequencing revealed that high-dose radiation increased diversity of TCR clonotypes of CD8+ TILs. The optimal antitumor response was achieved by the combination of the three treatment modalities: high-dose radiation, CTLA-4 blockade, and PD-L1 blockade [108].

Radiation could also promote tumor infiltration of CD8+ T cells through alterations in tumor vascularity and improved T-cell homing. Radiation induces a pro-inflammatory milieu including inductions of IFN γ as well as many other cytokines and chemokines. This leads to the infiltration of different immune cell subsets, including CD8+ T cells. Radiation-induced chemokines include CXC-motif chemokine 9 (CXCL9), CXCL10, CXCL11, and CXCL16, which binds to corresponding receptors on CD8+ effector T cells, resulting in migration of T cells into the tumor microenvironment. Moreover, type I IFNs were demonstrated to be required for the CXCL10 production within tumor after radiation treatment. Radiation-induced CXCL10 expression correlated with intratumor CD8+ T-cell numbers [109].

3.4 CD8+T in Cytotoxic Chemotherapy

3.4.1 Chemotherapeutic Agents Activate Immune Responses

Cytotoxic chemotherapy is another efficacious treatment modality used for the management of many advanced cancers. Cytotoxic chemotherapy functions by inducing tumor cell death or inhibiting tumor cell reproduction. Based on their principal mechanism of action, conventional chemotherapeutic agents can be organized as several categories:

- Alkylating agents or DNA-damage agents, which cause DNA strand cross-link by adding alkyl groups to the electronegative groups and result in DNA-damage-induced cell death (e.g., cyclophosphamide and cisplatin)
- 2. Antimetabolites, which function as the building blocks by imitating purine or pyrimidine to inhibit the synthesis of DNA and RNA (e.g., 5-fluorouracil)
- Spindle poisons, which interfere microtubule function and mitotic spindle assembly, resulting in cell-cycle arrest (e.g., paclitaxel and taxanes)
- 4. Topoisomerase inhibitors, which prevent the correct unwinding of DNA during replication, transcription, and repair (e.g., irinotecan and etoposide)

 Antitumor antibiotics, which are made from natural products of soil fungus *Streptomyces* and exert antineoplastic effects by various mechanisms, including DNA intercalation, altering membrane fluidity, and generation of oxygen radicals (e.g., doxorubicin and bleomycin) [95]

The integration of cytotoxic chemotherapy with immunotherapy is the subject of several ongoing clinical trials.

Similar to radiotherapy, cytotoxic chemotherapy has historically been considered immunosuppressive because most chemotherapeutic agents indiscriminately impair cellular division and thus impact tumor cells, effector lymphocytes, and homeostasis of innate leukocytes [110, 111]. Cytotoxic chemotherapy is now the main backbone for conditioning regiments to generate lymphodepletion prior to HSCT and ACT [20]. However, recent studies demonstrated that select chemotherapy agents might also augment tumor immunity [112, 113]. Chemotherapy can initiate or promote antitumor immune response through two major mechanisms. First, chemotherapy induces immunogenic cell death on tumor cells [114]. Similar to radiotherapy, chemotherapyinduced ICD involves the release of tumor antigens and the emission of DAMPs in the tumor microenvironment. Immunogenic chemotherapyassociated DAMPs include calreticulin (CRT), heat shock protein HSP70 and HSP90, ATP, annexin A1, and HMGB1, although different drugs may correlate with different DAMPs [115– 117]. For example, Obeid et al. reported that during anthracycline-induced cell death, CRT was exposed to the cellular surface and facilitates their engulfment by DCs, which leads to tumor antigen presentation and tumor-specific CTL response [115, 118]. The antitumor efficacy of many chemotherapy drugs has been demonstrated to partially rely on the induction of ICD. Secondly, chemotherapy agents could activate systemic immunity. Some chemotherapy drugs could directly stimulate the effector activity

of myeloid or lymphoid cells. Paclitaxel was shown to promote DC maturation and crosspriming in mouse breast cancer model [119] and enhance the infiltration of NK cells in a cohort of breast cancer patients [120]. Cyclophosphamide has been shown to favor Th17 and Th1 memory response through altering the composition of microbiota in the small intestine [121]. Gemcitabine resorted defective cross-presentation of tumor antigen in DCs [122]. Finally, cytotoxic chemotherapy may also preferentially target immunosuppressive cells to indirectly enhance antitumor immune response. Gemcitabine [123], 5-FU [124], docetaxel [125], oxaliplatin [126], and paclitaxel [127] have all been shown to deplete blood-borne or tumor-infiltrating Treg cells or MDSCs.

3.4.2 Chemotherapy Enhances the Antitumor Function of CD8+ T Cells

Among innate or adoptive immune cells associated with chemotherapy, cytotoxic CD8+ T lymphocytes are considered a crucial mediator for tumor regression. The antitumor efficacies of these agents even rely in part on CD8+ T cells. In a mouse sarcoma model, the depletion of CD8+ T cells using anti-CD8+ antibody abolished anthracycline-mediated tumor regression, suggesting CD8+ T cells are indispensable for the anticancer efficacy of anthracyclines [128]. Using lung adenocarcinoma mouse models, the chemotherapy of oxaliplatin combined with cyclophosphamide was shown to induce antitumor response relied on innate immune sensing through TLR4 signaling and ultimately depended on CD8+ T-cell immunity [129]. Tumor regression induced by paclitaxel combined with blockade of IL-10 receptor was dependent on CD8+ T cells in a mouse model of orthotopic PyMTderived tumors. Correlative studies in human breast cancer have found expression of CD8A to be predictive of pathological complete response [130] to neoadjuvant paclitaxel, and patients who achieve a pathological complete response (pCR) have improved clinical outcomes [131].

Additionally, chemotherapy induces tumor antigen-specific CTL response. When chemotherapy induces tumor cell death, tumorassociated antigens are released by dying cells and are taken up by APCs and presented to T cells, resulting in increased T-cell responsiveness and expansion of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. In an ovalbumin-expressed murine mesothelioma model, cisplatin and gemcitabine have been shown to enhance the presentation of specific epitopes and amplify the CTL response [132]. In a breast cancer patient treated with gemcitabine and radiotherapy, ex vivo analysis of the TCR-V β repertoire of TAA-specific T cells in blood and TILs revealed the expansion of TAA-specific CD8+ T [133]. Dacarbazine combined with peptide vaccination in melanoma patients increased the antigenic repertoire of T cells and induced greater tumor reactivity compared to the vaccine alone [134].

Chemotherapy can also increase the infiltration of CD8+ T cells. Increased tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes have been also observed after certain chemotherapy regimens, and this is explained by the induction of chemokine expression in cancer cells. Dacarbazine, temozolomide, and cisplatin were all able to induce expression of T-cellattracting chemokines, including CCL5, CXCL9, and CXCL10 in human melanoma cell lines in vitro. Using a genetically modified mouse model of melanoma, the authors demonstrated that chemotherapy-induced intratumoral expression of these chemokines increased T-cell infiltration into cutaneous tumors. In patients with melanoma, these chemokines were also increased in chemotherapy-sensitive lesions and correlated with T-cell infiltration and patient survival [135]. The antitumor effects of anthracyclines were known to partially rely on T-cell immune response. Anthracyclines rapidly stimulate the production of type I IFNs by malignant cells. Type I IFNs then trigger autocrine and paracrine signaling on cancer cells resulting in the release of CXCL10, a potent chemotactic factor for CD8+ T cells [136].

Finally, chemotherapy sensitizes tumor cells to the killing effect of CD8+ T cells. In an earlier study that combines vaccinia viral vaccine with conventional chemotherapy, the treatment with cisplatin or cyclophosphamide after vaccination led to complete regression of the established tumors. These chemotherapy drugs augment the antitumor effect of the tumor-specific CD8+ T cells that were induced by vaccinia virus [137]. Chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide was also shown to sensitize tumor cells to TRAILdependent CD8+ T-cell-mediated apoptosis in a mouse model of malignant mesothelioma [138]. Moreover, doxorubicin, cisplatin, and paclitaxel sensitized tumor cells to the cytotoxic effect of CD8+ T cells through increasing the permeability of tumor cells to granzyme B. This effect was mediated by chemotherapy-induced upregulation of mannose-6-phosphate receptors on the surface of tumor cells [139].

3.4.3 CD8+T Cells Sensitize Tumor Cells to Chemotherapy

While most studies have focused on the effects of chemotherapy on TILs, the reciprocal relationship may also be important. A recent study demonstrated that effector CD8+ T cells could abrogate fibroblast-mediated chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Fibroblasts in tumor microenvironment inhibit the therapeutic efficacy of cisplatin by release of cysteine and glutathione, which are both utilized by tumor cells to protect them from cisplatin-induced apoptosis. CD8+ T cells restore the cisplatin sensitivity by IFN_γ-mediated alterations of glutathione and cystine metabolism in fibroblasts. The presence of CD8+ T cells is positively associated with chemotherapy response and patient survival with ovarian cancer [4]. Also in ovarian cancer model, miR-424 was shown to directly regulate PD-L1 and CD80 expression in tumor cells and enhance the efficacy of chemotherapy by activating CD8+ T cells and reducing regulatory cytokine secretions [140].

3.5 Future Directions

Immunotherapies including adoptive T-cell transfer and checkpoint blockade are efficacious in a broad spectrum of cancers and can induce durable clinical responses. Unfortunately, this result is achieved in a minority of patients. No benefit has been seen in certain cancer histologies, including ovarian, mismatch intact colorectal cancer, and pancreatic cancer. Emerging evidence suggests that immunotherapy most benefits patients with preexisting tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells. A current challenge is to turn "non-inflamed" tumor to "inflamed" tumor to increase CD8 T-cell infiltration in hopes that this will augment antitumor efficacy. Scientists and clinicians are now looking for the optimal strategy to achieve this goal.

One promising strategy is to enhance effector T-cell trafficking through epigenetic reprogramming. Effector T-cell tumor infiltration correlates with the level of intratumoral Th1-type chemokines, CXCL9 and CXCL10, which are frequently epigenetically repressed by histone modification and DNA methylation in tumor cells. Treatment with epigenetic modulators can enhance tumor Th1-chemokine production, increasing CD8+ T-cell tumor infiltration and augmenting antitumor efficacy of PD-L1 blockade and adoptive T-cell transfer in preclinical models [7]. Moreover, DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-azacitidine was shown to increase immunostimulatory genes including interferon signaling, antigen presentation, and cytokines/ chemokines in several human epithelial cancers [141]. Another DNA methyltransferase inhibitor decitabine could also increase chemokine production and CD8+ T-cell infiltration in a murine ovarian cancer model [142]. Thus, epigenetic therapy may be able to increase Th-1-type chemokines, IFN signature genes, and CD8+ T-cell immunity and ultimately sensitize to checkpoint blockade therapy.

Another promising strategy is the merging immunotherapy with radiotherapy or chemotherapy. The basic scientific rationales of combining traditional cancer treatment modalities with immunotherapy have been demonstrated in many preclinical studies. Unfortunately, much of this work relies on immunocompetent murine models, and there are important distinctions between rodent and human immunology and cancer biology [143]. The successful combination of immunotherapy with traditional cancer modalities will require both empiric discernment and rational mechanistic administration. To thoroughly assess the combination with chemotherapy, optimization of the sequencing, timing, and chemotherapy agent selection will be required. From a radiotherapy standpoint, the dosage, target, and timing will need to be assessed and optimized. Additionally, rigorous preclinical models and clinical trials will be required to realize the hope of combining the efficacious therapies already in the clinic with ground-breaking immunotherapy to unleash CD8+ T cells and achieve the best disease control and cure for cancer patients.

References

- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298–306.
- Ali HR, Provenzano E, Dawson SJ, Blows FM, Liu B, Shah M, et al. Association between CD8+ T-cell infiltration and breast cancer survival in 12,439 patients. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(8):1536–43.
- Mahmoud SM, Paish EC, Powe DG, Macmillan RD, Grainge MJ, Lee AH, et al. Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):1949–55.
- Wang W, Kryczek I, Dostal L, Lin H, Tan L, Zhao L, et al. Effector T cells abrogate stromamediated chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Cell. 2016;165(5):1092–105.
- Nagarsheth N, Peng D, Kryczek I, Wu K, Li W, Zhao E, et al. PRC2 epigenetically silences Th1-type chemokines to suppress effector T-cell trafficking in colon cancer. Cancer Res. 2016;76(2):275–82.
- Peng D, Kryczek I, Nagarsheth N, Zhao L, Wei S, Wang W, et al. Epigenetic silencing of TH1-type chemokines shapes tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nature. 2015;527(7577):249–53.
- Sun X, Zhang M, El-Zataari M, Owyang SY, Eaton KA, Liu M, et al. TLR2 mediates helicobacter pyloriinduced tolerogenic immune response in mice. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e74595.
- Barry M, Bleackley RC. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes: all roads lead to death. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2(6):401–9.
- Afshar-Sterle S, Zotos D, Bernard NJ, Scherger AK, Rodling L, Alsop AE, et al. Fas ligand-mediated immune surveillance by T cells is essential for the

control of spontaneous B cell lymphomas. Nat Med. 2014;20(3):283–90.

- Caldwell SA, Ryan MH, McDuffie E, Abrams SI. The Fas/Fas ligand pathway is important for optimal tumor regression in a mouse model of CTL adoptive immunotherapy of experimental CMS4 lung metastases. J Immunol. 2003; 171(5):2402–12.
- Braumuller H, Wieder T, Brenner E, Assmann S, Hahn M, Alkhaled M, et al. T-helper-1-cell cytokines drive cancer into senescence. Nature. 2013; 494(7437):361–5.
- Zaidi MR, Merlino G. The two faces of interferongamma in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(19): 6118–24.
- Crespo J, Sun H, Welling TH, Tian Z, Zou W. T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(2):214–21.
- Vallejo AN, Weyand CM, Goronzy JJ. T-cell senescence: a culprit of immune abnormalities in chronic inflammation and persistent infection. Trends Mol Med. 2004;10(3):119–24.
- Akbar AN, Henson SM. Are senescence and exhaustion intertwined or unrelated processes that compromise immunity? Nat Rev Immunol. 2011; 11(4):289–95.
- 16. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):492–9.
- Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature. 2006;439(7077):682–7.
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore anti-tumor immunity. J Exp Med. 2010;207(10):2187–94.
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. Oncotarget. 2014;5(24):12472–508.
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):269–81.
- Wu R, Forget MA, Chacon J, Bernatchez C, Haymaker C, Chen JQ, et al. Adoptive T-cell therapy using autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes for metastatic melanoma: current status and future outlook. Cancer J. 2012;18(2):160–75.
- 22. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immuno-therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550–7.
- 23. Besser MJ, Shapira-Frommer R, Treves AJ, Zippel D, Itzhaki O, Hershkovitz L, et al. Clinical responses in a phase II study using adoptive transfer of short-term cultured tumor infiltration lymphocytes in

metastatic melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(9):2646–55.

- 24. Lu YC, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(13):3401–10.
- Cohen CJ, Gartner JJ, Horovitz-Fried M, Shamalov K, Trebska-McGowan K, Bliskovsky VV, et al. Isolation of neoantigen-specific T cells from tumor and peripheral lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(10):3981–91.
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(23):2255–62.
- Jackson SR, Yuan J, Teague RM. Targeting CD8+ T-cell tolerance for cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. 2014;6(7):833–52.
- Chapuis AG, Thompson JA, Margolin KA, Rodmyre R, Lai IP, Dowdy K, et al. Transferred melanomaspecific CD8+ T cells persist, mediate tumor regression, and acquire central memory phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(12):4592–7.
- Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Torabi-Parizi P, Kerstann K, Cardones AR, Finkelstein SE, et al. Central memory self/tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells confer superior antitumor immunity compared with effector memory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(27):9571–6.
- 30. Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):917–24.
- 31. Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. Blood. 2009;114(3):535–46.
- Golubovskaya V, Wu L. Different subsets of T cells, memory, effector functions, and CAR-T immunotherapy. Cancers. 2016;8(3):36.
- 33. Han S, Latchoumanin O, Wu G, Zhou G, Hebbard L, George J, et al. Recent clinical trials utilizing chimeric antigen receptor T cells therapies against solid tumors. Cancer Lett. 2017;390:188–200.
- 34. Porter DL, Hwang WT, Frey NV, Lacey SF, Shaw PA, Loren AW, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells persist and induce sustained remissions in relapsed refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(303):303–139.
- 35. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9967):517–28.

- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(16):1507–17.
- 37. Beatty GL, Haas AR, Maus MV, Torigian DA, Soulen MC, Plesa G, et al. Mesothelin-specific chimeric antigen receptor mRNA-engineered T cells induce anti-tumor activity in solid malignancies. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(2):112–20.
- Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dotti G, Pule M, Yvon E, Myers GD, et al. Antitumor activity and longterm fate of chimeric antigen receptor-positive T cells in patients with neuroblastoma. Blood. 2011;118(23):6050–6.
- 39. Lamers CH, Sleijfer S, van Steenbergen S, van Elzakker P, van Krimpen B, Groot C, et al. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with CAIX CAR-engineered T cells: clinical evaluation and management of on-target toxicity. Mol Ther. 2013;21(4):904–12.
- 40. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther. 2010;18(4):843–51.
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR-T cells of defined CD4+:CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(6):2123–38.
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Wolchok JD. Immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2015;33(17):1974–82.
- 43. Linsley PS, Greene JL, Brady W, Bajorath J, Ledbetter JA, Peach R. Human B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) bind with similar avidities but distinct kinetics to CD28 and CTLA-4 receptors. Immunity. 1994;1(9):793–801.
- 44. Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, Attridge K, Manzotti C, Schmidt EM, et al. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. Science. 2011;332(6029):600–3.
- 45. Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270(5238):985–8.
- 46. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity. 1995;3(5):541–7.
- 47. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells codefines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. J Exp Med. 2013;210(9):1695–710.
- Pandiyan P, Hegel JK, Krueger M, Quandt D, Brunner-Weinzierl MC. High IFN-gamma production of individual CD8 T lymphocytes is

controlled by CD152 (CTLA-4). J Immunol. 2007;178(4):2132–40.

- Hegel JK, Knieke K, Kolar P, Reiner SL, Brunner-Weinzierl MC. CD152 (CTLA-4) regulates effector functions of CD8+ T lymphocytes by repressing Eomesodermin. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(3):883–93.
- McCoy KD, Hermans IF, Fraser JH, Le Gros G, Ronchese F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) can regulate dendritic cellinduced activation and cytotoxicity of CD8(+) T cells independently of CD4(+) T cell help. J Exp Med. 1999;189(7):1157–62.
- Gattinoni L, Ranganathan A, Surman DR, Palmer DC, Antony PA, Theoret MR, et al. CTLA-4 dysregulation of self/tumor-reactive CD8+ T-cell function is CD4+ T-cell dependent. Blood. 2006;108(12):3818–23.
- Shrikant P, Khoruts A, Mescher MF. CTLA-4 blockade reverses CD8+ T cell tolerance to tumor by a CD4+ T cell- and IL-2-dependent mechanism. Immunity. 1999;11(4):483–93.
- 53. Subudhi SK, Aparicio A, Gao J, Zurita AJ, Araujo JC, Logothetis CJ, et al. Clonal expansion of CD8 T cells in the systemic circulation precedes development of ipilimumab-induced toxicities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(42):11919–24.
- 54. Martens A, Wistuba-Hamprecht K, Yuan J, Postow MA, Wong P, Capone M, et al. Increases in absolute lymphocytes and circulating CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are associated with positive clinical outcome of melanoma patients treated with Ipilimumab. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(19):4848–58.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(4):450–61.
- 56. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8(8):793–800.
- 57. Yokosuka T, Takamatsu M, Kobayashi-Imanishi W, Hashimoto-Tane A, Azuma M, Saito T. Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. J Exp Med. 2012;209(6):1201–17.
- Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(3):261–8.
- 59. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192(7):1027–34.
- Park JJ, Omiya R, Matsumura Y, Sakoda Y, Kuramasu A, Augustine MM, et al. B7-H1/CD80 interaction is required for the induction and maintenance of peripheral T-cell tolerance. Blood. 2010;116(8):1291–8.
- 61. Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 inter-

acts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity. 2007;27(1):111–22.

- 62. Dong H, Strome SE, Matteson EL, Moder KG, Flies DB, Zhu G, et al. Costimulating aberrant T cell responses by B7-H1 autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(3):363–70.
- Azuma T, Yao S, Zhu G, Flies AS, Flies SJ, Chen L. B7-H1 is a ubiquitous antiapoptotic receptor on cancer cells. Blood. 2008;111(7):3635–43.
- 64. Xiao Y, Yu S, Zhu B, Bedoret D, Bu X, Francisco LM, et al. RGMb is a novel binding partner for PD-L2 and its engagement with PD-L2 promotes respiratory tolerance. J Exp Med. 2014;211(5):943–59.
- 65. Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(328):328–4.
- 66. Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. Blood. 2010;116(13):2286–94.
- 67. Good-Jacobson KL, Szumilas CG, Chen L, Sharpe AH, Tomayko MM, Shlomchik MJ. PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(6):535–42.
- Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pacheco Y, et al. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. J Immunol. 2007;178(5):2763–9.
- 69. Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. J Exp Med. 2009;206(6):1327–37.
- Nazareth MR, Broderick L, Simpson-Abelson MR, Kelleher RJ Jr, Yokota SJ, Bankert RB. Characterization of human lung tumorassociated fibroblasts and their ability to modulate the activation of tumor-associated T cells. J Immunol. 2007;178(9):5552–62.
- 71. Thompson RH, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory B7-H1 in renal cell carcinoma patients: indicator of tumor aggressiveness and potential therapeutic target. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(49): 17174–9.
- 72. Brown JA, Dorfman DM, Ma FR, Sullivan EL, Munoz O, Wood CR, et al. Blockade of programmed death-1 ligands on dendritic cells enhances T cell activation and cytokine production. J Immunol. 2003;170(3):1257–66.
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71.

- Ribas A, Shin DS, Zaretsky J, Frederiksen J, Cornish A, Avramis E, et al. PD-1 blockade expands intratumoral memory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(3):194–203.
- Henson SM, Macaulay R, Riddell NE, Nunn CJ, Akbar AN. Blockade of PD-1 or p38 MAP kinase signaling enhances senescent human CD8(+) T-cell proliferation by distinct pathways. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45(5):1441–51.
- Buchan SL, Manzo T, Flutter B, Rogel A, Edwards N, Zhang L, et al. OX40- and CD27-mediated costimulation synergizes with anti-PD-L1 blockade by forcing exhausted CD8+ T cells to exit quiescence. J Immunol. 2015;194(1):125–33.
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515(7528):563–7.
- Peipp M, Dechant M, Valerius T. Effector mechanisms of therapeutic antibodies against ErbB receptors. Curr Opin Immunol. 2008;20(4):436–43.
- Yarden Y, Pines G. The ERBB network: at last, cancer therapy meets systems biology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(8):553–63.
- Scott AM, Wolchok JD, Old LJ. Antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):278–87.
- Tang Y, Lou J, Alpaugh RK, Robinson MK, Marks JD, Weiner LM. Regulation of antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity by IgG intrinsic and apparent affinity for target antigen. J Immunol. 2007;179(5):2815–23.
- Park S, Jiang Z, Mortenson ED, Deng L, Radkevich-Brown O, Yang X, et al. The therapeutic effect of anti-HER2/neu antibody depends on both innate and adaptive immunity. Cancer Cell. 2010;18(2):160–70.
- 83. Stagg J, Loi S, Divisekera U, Ngiow SF, Duret H, Yagita H, et al. Anti-ErbB-2 mAb therapy requires type I and II interferons and synergizes with anti-PD-1 or anti-CD137 mAb therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(17):7142–7.
- 84. Yang X, Zhang X, Mortenson ED, Radkevich-Brown O, Wang Y, Fu YX. Cetuximab-mediated tumor regression depends on innate and adaptive immune responses. Mol Ther. 2013;21(1):91–100.
- 85. Srivastava RM, Lee SC, Andrade Filho PA, Lord CA, Jie HB, Davidson HC, et al. Cetuximabactivated natural killer and dendritic cells collaborate to trigger tumor antigen-specific T-cell immunity in head and neck cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(7):1858–72.
- Ferrara N, Hillan KJ, Gerber HP, Novotny W. Discovery and development of bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF antibody for treating cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2004;3(5):391–400.
- Xu MM, Pu Y, Zhang Y, Fu YX. The role of adaptive immunity in the efficacy of targeted cancer therapies. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(2):141–53.
- Voron T, Colussi O, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Nizard M, Pointet AL, et al. VEGF-A modulates expression

of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. J Exp Med. 2015;212(2):139–48.

- Peske JD, Woods AB, Engelhard VH. Control of CD8 T-cell infiltration into tumors by vasculature and microenvironment. Adv Cancer Res. 2015;128:263–307.
- 90. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(15):6171–80.
- 91. Liu XD, Hoang A, Zhou L, Kalra S, Yetil A, Sun M, et al. Resistance to antiangiogenic therapy is associated with an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(9):1017–29.
- 92. Wallin JJ, Bendell JC, Funke R, Sznol M, Korski K, Jones S, et al. Atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab enhances antigen-specific T-cell migration in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12624.
- Weichselbaum RR, Liang H, Deng L, Fu YX. Radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a beneficial liaison? Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14(6):365–79.
- 94. De Ruysscher D, Reynders K, Van Limbergen E, Lambrecht M. Radiotherapy in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Curr Opin Oncol. 2017;29(2):105–11.
- DeVita VT, Lawrence TS, Rosenberg SA. Devita, Hellman, and Rosenberg's cancer: principles & practice of oncology, 10th ed.
- Gyurkocza B, Sandmaier BM. Conditioning regimens for hematopoietic cell transplantation: one size does not fit all. Blood. 2014;124(3):344–53.
- 97. Hare HF. Radiation treatment of benign and inflammatory conditions. Radiology. 1946;47:71–3.
- 98. Crocenzi T, Cottam B, Newell P, Wolf RF, Hansen PD, Hammill C, et al. A hypofractionated radiation regimen avoids the lymphopenia associated with neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy of borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic adeno-carcinoma. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:45.
- 99. Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, et al. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type i interferon-dependent innate and adaptive immunity. Cancer Res. 2011;71(7):2488–96.
- Deng L, Liang H, Fu S, Weichselbaum RR, Fu YX. From DNA damage to nucleic acid sensing: a strategy to enhance radiation therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(1):20–5.
- 101. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13(9):1050–9.
- 102. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114(3):589–95.

- 103. Gupta A, Probst HC, Vuong V, Landshammer A, Muth S, Yagita H, et al. Radiotherapy promotes tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells via dendritic cell activation. J Immunol. 2012;189(2):558–66.
- 104. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferondependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(5):843–52.
- 105. Liang H, Deng L, Chmura S, Burnette B, Liadis N, Darga T, et al. Radiation-induced equilibrium is a balance between tumor cell proliferation and T cellmediated killing. J Immunol. 2013;190(11):5874–81.
- 106. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203(5):1259–71.
- 107. Sharma A, Bode B, Wenger RH, Lehmann K, Sartori AA, Moch H, et al. Gamma-radiation promotes immunological recognition of cancer cells through increased expression of cancer-testis antigens in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e28217.
- 108. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate nonredundant immune mechanisms in cancer. Nature. 2015;520(7547):373–7.
- 109. Lim JY, Gerber SA, Murphy SP, Lord EM. Type I interferons induced by radiation therapy mediate recruitment and effector function of CD8(+) T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(3):259–71.
- Rasmussen L, Arvin A. Chemotherapy-induced immunosuppression. Environ Health Perspect. 1982;43:21–5.
- 111. Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Kroemer G. Immunological aspects of cancer chemotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(1):59–73.
- 112. Emens LA, Middleton G. The interplay of immunotherapy and chemotherapy: harnessing potential synergies. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(5):436–43.
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunological effects of conventional chemotherapy and targeted anticancer agents. Cancer Cell. 2015;28(6):690–714.
- 114. Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Michaud M, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30(1):61–9.
- 115. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007;13(1):54–61.
- 116. Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagydependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. Science. 2011;334(6062):1573–7.

- 117. Vacchelli E, Ma Y, Baracco EE, Sistigu A, Enot DP, Pietrocola F, et al. Chemotherapy-induced antitumor immunity requires formyl peptide receptor 1. Science. 2015;350(6263):972–8.
- 118. Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, et al. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. Cancer Res. 2011;71(14):4821–33.
- 119. Pfannenstiel LW, Lam SS, Emens LA, Jaffee EM, Armstrong TD. Paclitaxel enhances early dendritic cell maturation and function through TLR4 signaling in mice. Cell Immunol. 2010;263(1):79–87.
- 120. Demaria S, Volm MD, Shapiro RL, Yee HT, Oratz R, Formenti SC, et al. Development of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer after neoadjuvant paclitaxel chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(10):3025–30.
- 121. Viaud S, Saccheri F, Mignot G, Yamazaki T, Daillere R, Hannani D, et al. The intestinal microbiota modulates the anticancer immune effects of cyclophosphamide. Science. 2013;342(6161):971–6.
- 122. McDonnell AM, Lesterhuis WJ, Khong A, Nowak AK, Lake RA, Currie AJ, et al. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells exhibit defective cross-presentation of tumor antigens, but is reversed by chemotherapy. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45(1):49–59.
- 123. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumorbearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(18):6713–21.
- 124. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70(8):3052–61.
- 125. Li JY, Duan XF, Wang LP, Xu YJ, Huang L, Zhang TF, et al. Selective depletion of regulatory T cell subsets by docetaxel treatment in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer. J Immunol Res. 2014;2014:10. 286170
- 126. Gonzalez-Aparicio M, Alzuguren P, Mauleon I, Medina-Echeverz J, Hervas-Stubbs S, Mancheno U, et al. Oxaliplatin in combination with liver-specific expression of interleukin 12 reduces the immunosuppressive microenvironment of tumours and eradicates metastatic colorectal cancer in mice. Gut. 2011;60(3):341–9.
- 127. Sevko A, Michels T, Vrohlings M, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Kato M, et al. Antitumor effect of paclitaxel is mediated by inhibition of myeloidderived suppressor cells and chronic inflammation in the spontaneous melanoma model. J Immunol. 2013;190(5):2464–71.
- 128. Hannani D, Locher C, Yamazaki T, Colin-Minard V, Vetizou M, Aymeric L, et al. Contribution of humoral immune responses to the antitumor effects mediated by anthracyclines. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):50–8.

- 129. Pfirschke C, Engblom C, Rickelt S, Cortez-Retamozo V, Garris C, Pucci F, et al. Immunogenic chemotherapy sensitizes tumors to checkpoint blockade therapy. Immunity. 2016;44(2):343–54.
- 130. Kmieciak M, Worschech A, Nikizad H, Gowda M, Habibi M, Depcrynski A, et al. CD4+ T cells inhibit the neu-specific CD8+ T-cell exhaustion during the priming phase of immune responses against breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;126(2):385–94.
- 131. Ruffell B, Chang-Strachan D, Chan V, Rosenbusch A, Ho CM, Pryer N, et al. Macrophage IL-10 blocks CD8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing IL-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(5):623–37.
- 132. Jackaman C, Majewski D, Fox SA, Nowak AK, Nelson DJ. Chemotherapy broadens the range of tumor antigens seen by cytotoxic CD8(+) T cells in vivo. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(12):2343–56.
- 133. Bernal-Estevez D, Sanchez R, Tejada RE, Parra-Lopez C. Chemotherapy and radiation therapy elicits tumor specific T cell responses in a breast cancer patient. BMC Cancer. 2016;16:591.
- 134. Palermo B, Del Bello D, Sottini A, Serana F, Ghidini C, Gualtieri N, et al. Dacarbazine treatment before peptide vaccination enlarges T-cell repertoire diversity of melan-a-specific, tumor-reactive CTL in melanoma patients. Cancer Res. 2010;70(18):7084–92.
- 135. Hong M, Puaux AL, Huang C, Loumagne L, Tow C, Mackay C, et al. Chemotherapy induces intratumoral expression of chemokines in cutaneous melanoma, favoring T-cell infiltration and tumor control. Cancer Res. 2011;71(22):6997–7009.
- Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution

of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1301–9.

- 137. Song CK, Han HD, Noh KH, Kang TH, Park YS, Kim JH, et al. Chemotherapy enhances CD8(+) T cell-mediated antitumor immunity induced by vaccination with vaccinia virus. Mol Ther. 2007;15(8):1558–63.
- 138. van der Most RG, Currie AJ, Cleaver AL, Salmons J, Nowak AK, Mahendran S, et al. Cyclophosphamide chemotherapy sensitizes tumor cells to TRAILdependent CD8 T cell-mediated immune attack resulting in suppression of tumor growth. PLoS One. 2009;4(9):e6982.
- 139. Ramakrishnan R, Assudani D, Nagaraj S, Hunter T, Cho HI, Antonia S, et al. Chemotherapy enhances tumor cell susceptibility to CTL-mediated killing during cancer immunotherapy in mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(4):1111–24.
- 140. Xu S, Tao Z, Hai B, Liang H, Shi Y, Wang T, et al. miR-424(322) reverses chemoresistance via T-cell immune response activation by blocking the PD-L1 immune checkpoint. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11406.
- 141. Li H, Chiappinelli KB, Guzzetta AA, Easwaran H, Yen RW, Vatapalli R, et al. Immune regulation by low doses of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-azacitidine in common human epithelial cancers. Oncotarget 2014, 5(3): 587-98.
- 142. Wang L, Amoozgar Z, Huang J, Saleh MH, Xing D, Orsulic S, et al. Decitabine Enhances Lymphocyte Migration and Function and Synergizes with CTLA-4 Blockade in a Murine Ovarian Cancer Model. Cancer Immunol Res 2015, 3(9): 1030-41.
- 143. Mestas J, Hughes CC. Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology. J Immunol 2004, 172(5): 2731-8.

Mutant Epitopes in Cancer



Martin Rao, Liu Zhenjiang, Qingda Meng, Georges Sinclair, Ernest Dodoo, and Markus Maeurer

Contents

4.1	Introduction	41
4.2	Antigen Processing and Presentation in Cancer	42
4.3	Cancer Antigens and Epitopes: From Discovery to Therapeutic Application	48
4.4	Clinical Significance of Neoepitope Specific Immune Responses	52

M. Rao • L. Zhenjiang • Q. Meng Therapeutic Immunology Unit (TIM), Department of Laboratory Medicine (LABMED), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

G. Sinclair

Department of Neurosurgery, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

E. Dodoo

Therapeutic Immunology Unit (TIM), Department of Laboratory Medicine (LABMED), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Department of Neurosurgery, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

Center for Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation (CAST), Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: markus.maeurer@ki.se; markus.maeurer@gmail.com

4.5	Harnessing Basic Immunology	
	to Improve Clinical Immunotherapeutic	
	Approaches	53
Refe	erences	60

4.1 Introduction

Targeted immunotherapy in cancer is a rapidly expanding and evolving field with a developmental history spanning at least three decades. Beginning with the identification and characterisation of tumor-specific antigens (TSA)-protein molecules which are exclusively associated with transformed cells-and very recently the dawn of neoantigen-specific immune-cell reactivitychampioned by immune checkpoint blockade therapy-demonstrates that immune-based interventions will substantially shape the future of cancer therapy. Neoantigens arise from naturally processed mutated host protein molecules-eventually presented as immunogenic peptides to the immune system. However, a deeper understanding concerning the generation and recognition of neoantigens is indispensable in order to better understand the immunological and biological underpinnings in diagnostics and therapeutic applications to enhance healthcare for patients with cancer. We briefly introduce the reader to the antigen processing and presenting machinery in cancer, and provide a condensed history of cancer antigen discovery, touching upon seminal findings. Last but not least, we discuss the latest

M. Maeurer (🖂)

Therapeutic Immunology Unit (TIM), Department of Laboratory Medicine (LABMED), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

development in cancer immunotherapy—with a strong focus on neoantigen-directed strategies, which may be improved for the time to come in the context of clinical translation and therapy. We limit the focus in this chapter to active cellular therapy (ACT) for patients with cancer and the potential of using mutant epitopes in combination with cellular therapy.

Harnessing the potential of neoepitopespecific T-cell subsets is highly attractive, due to their ability to recognize and respond to tumor cells with limited off-target toxicity, superior efficiency, and with the capacity to provide durable and clinically meaningful outcome in patients with cancer [1]. This anti-cancer reactivity directed against transformed cells is in essence a targeted but productive autoimmune response and dependent on the presence of a T-cell receptor T-cell receptor (TCR) repertoire capable of recognising mutant targets. Some cancer antigens have been identified as 'cancer antigens' due to their selective tissue expression or overexpression in malignant/transformed cells, i.e. mesothelin, or cancer testis antigens (discussed later in this chapter). In other cases, mutations that occur in otherwise normally expressed and functional proteins may cause them to become cancer-inducing agents. These mutated host molecules may be involved in cancer initiation (oncogenesis), disease maintenance, or in metastasis. Since some mutations are crucial for malignant transformation and for tumor cell survival, they may also be instrumental in immune escape mechanisms, either by selecting tumor-promoting T-cell responses, or - not mutually exclusive, 'blinding' anti-cancer immune responses by inducing loss of immune - 'fitness'.

Recent findings in cancer research show that the success of immune - based therapies requires a T-cell receptor repertoire capable of recognizing mutant targets along with anti-cancer directed cellular immune responses (e.g. cytotoxicity, Th1 - type immune responses, see Fig. 4.1). In line with this, T-cell-based cancer immunotherapy is gaining momentum since the most successful novel interventions against solid tumors rely on cancer-specific T-cell activity

and their mobilisation to sites of disease, i.e. immune checkpoint inhibitors, chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) and T-cell receptor (TCR)modified T-cell products [2, 3]. Local activation of antigen-specific tumour-infiltrating T lymphocytes, known as TILs, allows for recirculation of cells, robust killing of tumour cells, reduction in tumour mass and orchestration of anti-tumour responses in tissue. Monoclonal antibodies targeting PD-1 and CTLA-4 have thus revolutionised cancer therapy, with signs of potential use in treating chronic infectious diseases such as viral hepatitis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, malaria and tuberculosis [4–7]. In particular, anti-PD-1 therapy has been shown to activate CD8 T cells specific for mutated antigens (neoantigens) associated with cancer progression in metastatic melanoma [3]. Patients showing durable responses following immunotherapy had increased numbers of neoantigen-specific T-cells in their blood, signifying the underlying mechanism of anti-PD-1 therapy.

4.2 Antigen Processing and Presentation in Cancer

In order to gain an understanding of the dynamics driving the generation and 'visibility' of antigens to the immune system, it is advantageous to provide an overview about antigen processing and presentation to immune effector cells. Antigens can be generally viewed as being either intrinsic or extrinsic in nature; they are biochemically processed within cells and presented to various T-cell subsets, B cells as well as natural killer (NK) cells [8]. The essential molecule associated with presenting antigens to the immune system is termed as the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), or specifically in humans, the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) [8]. The function of MHC/HLA system was discovered and first described by Rolf Zinkernagel and Peter Doherty in the early 1970s, the seminal work for which they were awarded the Nobel prize in Medicine and Physiology in 1996 [9–12].



Fig. 4.1 Strategies to identify mutant epitopes from transformed cells, CSF: cerebrospinal fluid

Antigens can derive from whole pathogens, i.e. bacteria, viruses and parasitic organisms, or by non-mutant, or mutant proteins associated by transformed cells. Intrinsic antigens, also called 'endogenous' antigens, are processed and presented to the immune system in the form of specific peptides called epitopes. This pathway is termed the MHC/HLA class I pathway (hereafter referred to as the 'HLA class I pathway'), and plays a crucial role in eliciting immune responses to viruses (viral components synthesised within the host cell), intracellular bacteria as well as to cancer - associated antigens - which relies on the immune system's capacity to recognized 'self' or 'mutant self' antigens [8]. All cells of the body (with the exception of erythrocytes) are capable of processing and presenting antigens via the HLA class I pathway. The processing of antigens in this pathway involves a crucial step, where the immunoproteasome (occurring in the cytosol) cuts up denatured (unfolded) protein structures into small peptide sequences between 8 and 10 amino acids long. The amino acid junctions at which the proteasome enzymatically cuts a protein decides on which peptide or epitopes are naturally presented to immune cells. Epitopes presented by HLA class I molecules are recognised by CD8+ T-cells, which can respond by i) proliferation, ii) cytokine production and / or iii) production of cytotoxic molecules, capable of killing transformed cells [8]. CD8+ T-cells may produce perforin, granzymes, and granulolysin (that can be easily measured using an CD107a induction assay), or - not mutually exclusive -IFN-gamma in response to transformed cells [13]. If (cancer) target epitopes are identified using the 'reverse immunology strategy', i.e. that epitopes are selected based on their predicted capacity to bind to MHC class I or class II molecules, it cannot be assumed with a very high degree of certainty that T-cells will also recognise the naturally processed and presented epitopes on tumour cells-a scenario which was described more than two decades ago [14]: T-cells that were shown to be peptide specific were not able to react against naturally processed and presented peptides on tumor cells. One of the reasons driving this phenomenon is that the specialised, or 'skewed' antigen processing and presentation machinery in transformed cells may be different compared to professional and non-professional antigen presenting cells [15] that are responsible for activating and expanding antigen-reactive T-cells. Alternatively, epitopes may have been created via post-translational modifications (such as phosphorylation) that could not be predicted from the primary structure of the wildtype and/or the mutant protein [16].

Antigens that are taken up from the external environment by professional antigen presenting cells or APCs (i.e. dendritic cells, macrophages), including B-cells, that have also professional APC functions, are usually processed and presented to the immune system via the HLA class II pathway. Whole pathogens, as well as proteins, e.g. generated via destruction of cancer cells by antibody-mediated mechanism, NK or CD8 T-cells, are actively taken up by APCs in endocytic vesicles called phagosomes, after which proteolytic enzymes contained within lysosomal compartments fuse with the phagosome to digest the antigen to yield smaller peptide sequences, usually 13-17 amino acids in length. These epitopes are then presented to CD4+ T-cells, which are also termed as helper T-cells (Th), and have an indispensable role in orchestrating immune responses mainly by producing effector cytokines, i.e. IFN- γ , tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), interleukin (IL)-2 (Th1 cells), IL-4, IL-10 (Th2 cells) and in some cases, IL-17 (Th17 cells). Cytotoxic activity is not exclusively attributed to CD8+ CTLs; cytotoxic CD4+ T-cells have also been reported to mediate biologically relevant immune responses in cancer as well as in viral infections [17–19].

The T-cell receptor (TCR) on the surface of T-cells binds to the HLA-epitope complex, along with co-receptors CD8 or CD4, to initiate an immune synapse. Interactions between T-cells and tumor cells are governed by HLA-restriction—the alleles encoding a person's HLA repertoire and matching TCRs available in the tissue microenvironment and/or in blood, which dictates the nature and strength of the immune response. HLA allelerestriction of epitopes and immune cross-reactivity thereof plays an indispensable role in dictating the nature of immune responses. For example, HLA-DQ variants have been associated with increased susceptibility to certain infectious diseases; mutations in the β 57 subunit of HLA-DQ may perpetrate progression to pulmonary disease [20]. Interestingly, mutations in HLA-DQ alleles have been attributed to susceptibility to contract type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). While HLA-DQ is highly prevalent among Caucasians in the Americas as well as Europe, East Asians and Africans are much less likely to express these alleles [21]. Indeed, individual HLA alleles may also favour certain immune-recognition profiles, independent of the peptide repertoire displayed by the nominal restricting MHC element, i.e. HLA-DQ0602 favours IL-17 production independent of binding peptides, as shown in the transgenic murine model of multiple sclerosis [22]. This IL-17-centric reactivity represents a doubleedged sword; it may more effectively contain certain bacterial infections [23, 24] and IL-17 may be beneficial to attract immune cells to the tumor site [25] while the chronic exposure to IL-17 may rather promote malignant transformation [26–28]. Therefore, the nature, quality and quantity of immune responses following vaccination appear to greatly depend on an individual's HLA profile, which shapes the quality and quantity of ensuing cellular immune responses, including increased or autoimmune decreased risk for infections, responses or the ability to present (neo) epitopes to T-cells dependent on the restrictions imposed by the MHC-peptide complex and the responding TCR repertoire. For instance, even if neoepitopes are generated during malignant transformation, they may not be visible to the cellular immune system, if they are not processed and ultimately complexed to the respective HLA molecule and presented to responding T-cells.

Th1–Th2 Responses and **MHC Restriction** Most studies use IFN-gamma as the readout of T-cells responding to wildtype and mutant epitopes provided from cancer cells, yet Th2 responses, with the signature cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 may also be present, either as an 'original' Th2 response or as a result of partial agonist peptides, imposed by the mutational event (see below) that may turn Th1 T-cells into Th2 cytokine-producing T-cells [29]. Th2-type T-cell responses may not per se signify an unproductive and potentially 'tolerizing' immune response; more recent reports indicate that Th2type immune responses may also be able to mediate clinically relevant anti-cancer immune reactivities [30]. In a preclinical model, antigenspecific Th2 cells eradicated myelomas without the help of CD8 T-cells, leading to massive inflammation at the tumor site [30]. Th2-mediated tumour destruction has been shown to be associated with IL-1, TNF-alpha (Th1) and Th2 cytokine (IL-4, IL-5, IL-13) production in situ, while passively transferred Th2 cells were able to confer long-lasting cellular anti-cancer directed immune responses. CD8-independent and antigen-specific T-cells in Th2-mediated immune responses were shown to be eotaxin- and STAT6dependent [31–36]. In general, Th2 infiltrates in human cancers have not been studied extensively and some studies even suggested a better outcome with Th2-type cytokines [36]. The nature of Th2 responses in recognising mutant epitopes is not well explored at this time. The more detailed association of CD4 Th2 responses may also benefit from closer association of T-cells with the restricting MHC class II elements. For instance, previous studies reported Th1/Th2 CD4+ T-cell responses against NY-ESO-1 in DPB1*0401/0402-positive patients with ovarian cancer [37]. Much more information is available concerning the nature of the cellular immune response directed against peptides presented by the rather less variant (as compared to HLA-DR) HLA-DP molecules from infectious pathogens, e.g. Hepatitis B or MHC class II molecules that pre-dispose humans to certain autoimmune diseases (e.g. gluten-associated colitis) [37-45]. The impact of variant epitopes in association with certain MHC alleles that are associated with certain cytokine production patterns (IL-17, Th1, Th2) is unexplored up to now. Table 4.1 provides an overview of wildtype and mutant target epitopes recognised in TIL from patients with glioma, demonstrating that Th2 responses exist in the TCR repertoire from individual patients directed against mutant epitopes.

Table 4.1 TIL reacting against wildtype and mutant epitopes—Th1 and Th2 patterns

ĺ																
ţ	Patient		IFN-γ	IFN-γ	TNF-α	TNF-α	IL-17A	IL-17A	IL-4	IL-4	IL-5	IL-5	IL-13	IL-13		f
E	code	Wildtype sequence	wildtype	mutant	wildtype	mutant	wildtype	mutant	wildtype	mutant	wildtype	mutant	wildtype	mutant	Mutated sequence	Gene ID
	GBM-1	ALYDICSKTLKLPTP	193.09	570.95	64.68			22.69			11.75	36.71	45.35	33.71	ALYDICSRTLKLPTP	TUBB8
0	GBM-1	SSGGCCGSSSGGCCS		63.38							4.92	9.07		3.96	SSGGCCGSSSGGCCS	LCE1F
ŝ	GBM-1	AKQTSNCVLEICAEQ									17.37	4.74		2.31	AKQTSNCILEICAEQ	ESPNP
4	GBM-1	REQEEKMWRQEEKIR					126.84	85.39			3.94	30.39	4.95	11.85	REQEEKMRRQEEKIR	NCKAPIL
S	GBM-1	REDAGGGEDVGAGG		88.74								37.28		1.98	REDAGAGEEDVGAGG	GOLGA6L1
9	GBM-1	IREQEEMLREQEAQR	105.48	754.23				35.73			18.34	53.61			IREQEEMIREQEAQR	GOLGA6L2
2	GBM-1	PPTWSGRRAPGDRDN		270.84						69.22				19.06	PPTWSGRHAPGDRDN	LOC645752
×	GBM-1	QFLIPTSLSVSSNSV		30.48											QFLIPTSFSVSSNSV	DSPP
6	GBM-2	WPSFSEAHGTSGSDE	428.21	747.66							76.27	86.03		28.36	WPSFSEARGTSGSDE	MSRB2
10	GBM-2	TATASSTQATAGTPH				196.06									TATASSTRATAGTPH	MUC5B
11	GBM-2	TATATTTGATGSVAT				31.21									TATATTTRATGSVAT	MUC5B
12	GBM-2	NLKEKCFLTQLAGFL					9.24								NLKEKCFVTQLAGFL	NBPF8
13	GBM-2	LLTPDEPDKSQGQDL					18.28	3.1	116.92						LLTPDEPEKSQGQDL	NBPF12
14	GBM-2	PDAVGKCRSAGIKVI	353.94	865.82							15.74	60.5		36.45	PDAVGKCGSAGIKVI	ATP1A2
15	GBM-2	ARCSSEDDDSKESTC		412.16			47.28				7.53	147.1		26.11	ARCSSEDSKESTCSP	PHOX2A
16	GBM-2	RWEEWNKRLEEVKRE					30.69								RWEEWNK	AK7
17	GBM-2	PGEGHGGEHLDSEGE					7.41								PGEGHGGDHLDSEGE	GOLGA8DP
18	GBM-2	PSDLRRHVRTHTGEK					81.47	24.61			42.07	30.96			PSDLRRHMRTHTGEK	ZNF764
19	GBM-2	EGGPAAPRLGSRTAP		288.05											EGGPAAPHLGSRTAP	LINC00273
20	GBM-2	NRPTSGPWQRHTRRS		495.14						19.38					NRPTSGPRQRHTRRS	LINC00273
21	GBM-2	ADPIPSGLSPGPCGA				31.21									ADPIPSGRSPGPCGA	LINC00273
22	GBM-2	MKDCQLRKQQNENVS					41.12								MKDCQLRRQQNENVS	SLFN12L
23	GBM-2	VKRNPPKTAKVSEPG	246.07	1275.82			9.24		60.58		84.52	169.86		49.05	VKRNPPKKAKVSEPG	HOXB1
24	GBM-2	SAFEPEGVLANVLGL								65.93				25.85	SAFEPEGGLANVLGL	CYB561
25	GBM-2	GSGPSCRRWEKKLAS	376.6								25.49				GSGPSCRQWEKKLAS	PIK3R5
26	GBM-2	DMYGTGQESLYS		472.45								69.15		31.08	DMYGTGQQSLYS	CDH7
27	GBM-2	QSYKNDFNAEYSEYR		385.13							37.04				QSYKNDFSAEYSEYR	ELL
28	GBM-2	ARKAKYNVHATVRYQ		376.14							3.01				ARKAKYNLHATVRYQ	NCAN
29	GBM-2	MRVMKFSVSPVVRVA			258.99										MRVMKFSISPVVRVA	EEF2
30	GBM-2	YAPCGDLSGMLQERG						23.08							YAPCGDLNGMLQERG	SBK3
31	GBM-2	GQLAVSKRLALEVTV			304.12		39.39								GQLAVSKCLALEVTV	SIRPG
32	GBM-2	QRAAAIARQKAEIAA		889.28			112.28								QRAAAIACQKAEIAA	JPH2

02			RD36C	RD36C	A	43	66	MTS2	A4	111		3	0	;
ELM	TTN	TTN	ANKI	ANKI	SCN5	TENN	CFAF	ADA	LAM	CAP	IRF5	PCSK	GPR5	•
ISPSRAACQLMERTQ	FARKLKDIHETLGFP	EPDNIK YMISEEKGS	DNHCEQLGVKIRKLK	LTELKDNLCEQLRVK	DFSVIIMVYVSENIK	GKGVMLAISQGRVQT	ESRGLLQHRAQAAQE	SRELCPGHWRAGPWS	WDLTDALWLAALSIE	SHLIAASSCHSLELQ	EDVKWPPPTLQPPTL	NGMEWNGIEWNRIES	AATSHPKHIKPATSH	
				34.27		53.48							33.29	
				80.89		69.23				33.34			109.23	:
20.34			184.5				14.08	52.66		46.98			34.72	
1							(4			-			-	
													4.03	:
													1	
						12								;
				72		702.		33	5		5			
				1759.7				1023.(423.5		682.5			
	410.66	361.16	>1864.49	561.95		676.71							1000.95	
606.87			>1864.49	495.5	669.42	328.34		467.9		993.08		343.39	307.31	:
IERTQ	ILGFP	EKGS	IRKLK	QLRVK	ENIK	GRVQT	QAAQE	AGPWS	ALSIE	LELQ	PPTLR	WNRIES	HIKP	
ARQLM	KDVHE	KYVISE	EQLRVK	DNHCE	MAYVSI	MLAVSQ	LQRRAC	PGRWR/	DALRLA	ASNCHS	VPPTLQ	WNGME	PKPTTG	,
ISPSRA	FARKL	EPDNI	DNHCI	LTELK	DFSVI	GKGVI	ESRGL	SRELC	WDLTI	SHLIA	EDVKV	NGME.	AATSH	•
GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	GBM-2	
33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	1

vidual mutant epitopes and the corresponding wildtype sequences, followed by detection of Th1 and Th2 cytokines by ELISA. Note a focused T-cell recognition pattern against a Nevertheless, TIL reactivity is detectable that falls into the categories that either the mutant epitope is exclusively recognized, or both the wildtype and the mutant epitope sequence TL were harvested from 2 patients with glioma (GBM1 and GBM2) using IL-2, IL-15 and IL-21 without restimulation with autologous tumor cells. TL were tested against indilow number of mutations in TLL from GBM1 versus a diverse spectrum of recognition in TLL from GBM2 exhibiting as well Th2-cytokine production against mutation epitopes. This test was performed with synthetic epitopes and does not necessarily imply that the wildtype or the mutant target is naturally processed and presented by tumor cells. are recognised. Numbers are picogram (pg) cytokine production 1×10^5 TIL.

Processing and presentation of neoantigens may yield mutant epitopes (neoepitopes) that are shared as well as patient-specific ('private'). This of course depends on the location of the mutation, i.e. point mutation which might disrupt the naturally occurring cleavage site and the nature of the mutation itself i.e. point mutation vs. chromosomal deletion vs. premature stop codons. A comprehensive analysis of somatic mutations in the HLA class I pathway, using DNA isolated from tumour and non-tumour tissue from patients representing 20 different cancer types, revealed a high likelihood for loss-of-function mutations occurring in the N-terminus of the HLA class I molecule, which abrogates transport of the peptide-HLA complex to the cell surface [46]. Furthermore, in all cancers tested, the most frequent mutations were found to occur in the $\alpha 3$ region of the HLA class I molecule, which is required for binding of the CD8 co-receptor on T-cells during an immune synapse for subsequent activation of the CD8- TCR complex [8].

4.3 Cancer Antigens and Epitopes: From Discovery to Therapeutic Application

Preclinical studies in the mouse model of human cancer, in particular melanoma, provided the first insights into cancer antigen discovery and functional characterisation, in the context of tumour rejection. Thierry Boon and colleagues had shown in the late 1980s that the tumor antigen P19A, heterologously expressed in mouse P815 tumour cells (isolated from DBA/2 mice bearing methylcholanthrene-induced sarcoma), contains an HLA class I epitope (within a 13-mer sequence harbouring a point mutation) capable of eliciting potent CTL responses and lysis of target cells [47].

Epitope mining in the human cancer setting was first performed using tumour tissue derived from human melanoma lesions, spearheaded by groups in Europe and the United States. Thierry Boon, Pierre Coulie and colleagues at the Ludwig Institute in Brussels, Belgium discovered the first tumour-associated antigen (TAA) in 1991, after in vitro characterisation of CTL responses using melanoma cell lines derived from an anonymous patient MZ2 who had metastatic disease [48]. This TAA, first annotated as MZ2-E and later renamed as melanoma-associated antigen 1 (MAGE-1, cancer testis antigen), was recognised by an autologous CTL line and induced lysis of the tumour cell line expressing the MAGE-1 DNA and restricted by HLA-A1 [48]. Further work with a cell line from the same patient led to the discovery of MZ2-F, or as it is known today, G antigen 1 (GAGE-1) [49]. Much of the ongoing work at the time focussed on discovering novel immunogenic HLA class I-restricted antigens that mediated CTL reactivity and lysis of melanoma cells from patients, with a strong interest to first understand and then to develop immune-based interventions; Melan-A (HLA-A2+ epitope) [50]; MAGE-3 (HLA-A1+ epitope)-specific CTL response in a patient vaccinated with MAGE-3.A1 peptide [51].

Simultaneous efforts by researchers in Europe and the United States revealed another important antigen, the cancer testis antigen cancer NY-ESO-1, which was discovered by serological analysis of expression cDNA libraries (SEREX) (indicating the presence of antibody responses), using cDNA prepared from human oesophageal squamous carcinoma cells [52]. NY-ESO-1 was later shown by Elke Jäger and co-workers (Frankfurt) to contain biologically functional CD8+ (HLA-A2/B51) and CD4+ (HLA-DRB*1) T-cell epitopes, based on seminal studies performed on human melanoma cells as well as transfected T2 cells as a model [53-56]. The afore-mentioned T2 cells harbour a defect in the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), which in turn inhibits them to present endogenous cytosolic cytosolic peptides (except for some leader peptide sequences loaded onto HLA-A2 molecules), but accommodates the introduction of exogenously added HLA class I epitopes for CTL recognition assays [57].

Steven Rosenberg and colleagues at the Surgery Branch, National Cancer Institute (NCI, National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, MD) made pivotal contributions to antigen discovery in human melanoma, in particular those that induce reactivity among TILs: the tyrosine related protein 1 (TRP-1) or gp75 restricted by the HLA-A31 molecule in 1995 [58]; HLA-A31-restricted TRP-2 peptide LLPGGRPYR, which was a major target of TILs infused into a patient with metastatic melanoma who thereafter showed disease regression [58]; epitopes from TRP-1 and TRP-2 (TRP₁₉₇₋₂₀₅) restricted by HLA-A31 as well as HLA-A33 [59]; a mutated epitope derived from triosephosphate isomerase restricted by HLA-DR1 and recognised by CD4+ TIL and cell division cycle protein 27 homolog (CDC27) epitope restricted by HLA-DR4 [60, 61]. Collectively, these early efforts (over a span of 15 years, from the late 1980s to early 2000s) provided an excellent foundation which lead to the expansion of the field of targeted cancer immunotherapy.

A whole series of other molecules were identified to be associated with transformed cells. For instance, mesothelin was discovered as a marker of several important solid cancers, i.e. mesothelioma, ovarian cancer, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma based on serological (a murine 'Ki antibody' recognising human mesothelin) and genetic analyses [62–64]. Further exploration of the clinical significance of this molecule in ovarian cancer, mesothelioma and squamous cell carcinomas, and in conjunction with measurable mesothelin as well as antibody responses in sera of patients, indicated the immunogenic potential of mesothelin and its designation as a legitimate cancer antigen [65, 66]. An experimental immunotoxin developed based on the mesothelin-binding region of the K1 antibody was among the earliest attempted targeted immune-based interventions, with preclinical studies performed in a murine model of human carcinoma xenografts [67].

Work implemented in the later part of the 1990s placed a greater focus on studying mutated proteins in human cancer cells, and the possibility of discovering mutated antigenic determinants (neoepitopes) presented by HLA restricting elements, with biological and clinical relevance in therapy. An early example is a neoepitope derived from melanoma ubiquitous mutated 1 protein (MUM-1, initially named LB33-B, after the patient from whom the melanoma tumour was obtained, LB33 [68]), which is restricted by the HLA-B*44*02 allele. This 9-mer neoepitope was identified following in vitro cytotoxicity studies directed against the autologous melanoma cell line LB33-MEL.A-1; the same cytolytic activity was not seen with the wildtype peptide sequence [69]. A 10-mer neoepitope (amino acids 23–32) from mutated cyclindependent kinase 4 (CDK4_{R24C}) protein, restricted by HLA-A*0201, was also shown to mediate cytolytic activity by autologous CTLs in a dosedependent manner, when exposed to T2 cells transfected with the CDK4_{R24C} cDNA [70]. A caspase 8-derived mutated peptide restricted by HLA-B*3503, which showed potent cytolytic activity against the autologous head and neck cancer cells as well as tumour cDNA-transfected B-cell lines [71] further strengthened the field of neoepitope mining from human cancer cells.

A high-throughput analysis of whole genomic as well as exomic DNA from clinical tumor samples representing thirty different human cancers revealed the unique mutational burden in each cancer type, in addition to specific mutational signatures characterising these cancers [72]. Although this provides an elegant view of the general landscape of mutational burden in human cancers, the mutational signature in each patient varies—thus giving rise to a 'compendium' of private mutational signatures involved not only in driving and maintaining malignant transformation, but also in the activation and expansion of immune effector cells.

The mutated form of the V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog, or known as KRAS in short, is a well-established neoantigen implicated in the pathogenesis of pancreatic, colorectal and lung cancers [73–76]. Native KRAS was discovered in 1982 following gene sequencing of human lung adenocarcinomas, and is a guanine triphosphatase involved in cellular signal transduction [77]; however, mutations at positions 12, 13 and 16 are associated with oncogenesis, thus making it a proto-oncogene in humans.

Steven Rosenberg and colleagues at the Surgery Branch, National Institutes of Health (Bethesda, MD) recently developed a cutting-edge approach to screen for neoepitope-specific T-cell responses for individual patients. This method has been termed the 'tandem minigene (TMG)' approach, which first requires whole-exome sequencing data of genomic DNA isolated from patients' tumor tissue samples. The sequencing data then yield all non-somatic mutations contained within genecoding DNA of the patient. This allows for constructing a personalised library of the patient's 'private' mutations that potentially code for neoepitopes. These short gene sequences are then put together, an artificial construct, and inserted into an expression plasmid, which is subsequently transfected into a lentiviral vector for infection of APCs, i.e. dendritic cells (DCs) from a patient. Autologous TILs (from the same patient) are then co-cultured with the TMG-bearing DCs to allow induction of immune-reactivity. A positive response, represented by IFN- γ production by the TILs, would signal that the co-cultured DCs harbour a TMG that includes a neoepitope-encoding sequence(s) that is/are naturally processed and presented to the immune system [78].

Mutations may lead to different, not mutually exclusive effects on the responding T-cell population based on the prerequisite that a mutant epitope is indeed processed and presented to T-cells: (1) a T-cell may be newly recruited that would exclusively recognize the mutant sequence, (2) potential T-cell receptor (TCR) cross-reactivity between wildtype and mutant epitope sequences (if both, the wildtype and the mutant epitopes are being processed and presented to T-cells). It is biologically relevant whether there is already a T-cell population expanded that recognizes the wildtype epitope and then, following malignant transformation, recognizes the mtuant target, since this situation may lead to differential TCR triggering and subsequently to differential T-cell effector functions.

Mutant Epitopes as the 'Biological Scalpel' Against Cancer Cells Increasing immune effector functions by recruiting T-cells that recognise mutant epitope sequences is a clinically attractive attempt to improve and broaden the TCR repertoire directed against mutations that exclusively exist in malignancies and would therefore represent the 'ideal' cancer-associated antigen - a 'biological scalpel' that would only target cancer cells and not harm non-transformed cells. One method is to modify peptides at residues that do not interact with the nominal MHC restricting molecule, yet with the TCR contact residues: these variants are called 'heteroclitic' analogues and are able to trigger the nominal TCR with differential T-cell effector functions, e.g. cytotoxicity, quality and quantity of cytokine production, as well as proliferation [79]. This approach has been used to induce T-cells that react to wildtype peptides, e.g. to p53, yet are elicited with a variant peptide. If single mutations occur in epitopes, it could yield peptides that are naturally processed and presented by tumour cells to TCRs. What could potentially happen if a T-cell response, directed against a wildtype target, will also be able to able to react to the corresponding mutant target epitope, presented by the identical, nominal HLA-restricting element?. The following scenarios may occur, which have been described already in the early 1990s from several groups: In general, a single ligand specificity for each individual TCR appears to be rare. In contrast, the TCR recognition has been shown to be flexible, induced by altered peptide ligands, grouped into antagonists, partial agonists and superagonists. Mutations within peptide targets can induce differential phosphorylation of the TCR/CD3 complex with a differential downstream signalling pathway configuration [80]. Mutations may therefore—in case the wildtype peptide is also recognized-lead to abrogation of T-cell recognition simply because the ligand is not processed and presented. Alternatively, the T-cell ligand may well be processed and presented, but the T-cell signal may be abrogated potentially due to cellular anergy [29]. Partial agonists, i.e. by inducing a single amino acid residue, will still be able to stimulate the T-cells directed against the wildtype peptide, even across a similar dose range of the nominal epitopes: as the T-cells with the wildtype TCR ligand react with proliferation, cytokine production and cytotoxicity, peptide variants may either induce cytotoxicity and/or cytokine production, in the absence of T-cell proliferation [81, 82]. Of note, a similar observation may be true for TCRs directed against the mutant epitope that would react with a qualitatively and quantitatively differential T-cell reactivity pattern. Single amino acid exchanges may also turn T-cell clones from a Th1 into a Th2 cytokine production pattern, or lead to T-cell clones with abrogated cytokine production, yet strong cytotoxic T-cell responses as shown for viral pathogens [81–83]. Mutations in nominal targets, associated with differential signalling events, may also be crucial for the differentiation status of T-cells reacting to wildtype as well as to mutant targets, first described in preclinical models of thymocyte differentiation and maturation [84, 85]. Differential triggering of the nominal TCR is associated with T-cell maturation and differentiation-a quality that is important for long-term immune memory, access to (tumor) tissue as well as for clinical efficacy of T-cell therapy. The passive transfer of immune cells directed to TAAs has been shown to be clinically relevant as the transfer of the T-cell product leads to the generation of central memory T-cells [86]. The biochemical signals that govern T-cell memory rely not only on the cytokine environment, yet also on the signal strength delivered by the TCRζ chain complex; the quality and quantity of T-cell responses including T-cell memory is strikingly shaped by the strength of the MHC/peptide-TCR interaction [87], which may in part be relevant for CD8+ T-cells. A decreasing potential model has been proposed, gauging the signal strength delivered by the target epitope to the corresponding TCR that is dictating whether the T-cell most likely enters the T-cell memory pool [88, 89]. This 'signal strength' model will need to take into account the locally produced cytokines and proinflammatory signals associated with moving T-cells into the diversity of the memory T-cell pool. In general, weaker TCR signals are sufficient in order to move T-cells into a memory T-cell program [90, 91]. Not mutually exclusive, the length of the TCR signalling (i.e. shortening the TCR stimulation) will also decide whether T-cells enter the memory T-cell pool [92, 93]. The observation that point mutations within peptides affect the contact with the nominal TCR also impairs CD8+ T-cell memory development, mediated in part by TCR-dependent NFkB signalling [94]. This may partly explain why T-cell clones targeting the identical (mutant) tumor epitope exist in heterogeneous differentiation states (see Fig. 4.2).



Fig. 4.2 Different T-cell clones (A: VB5.1, B-D: VB9) recognize a naturally processed and presented (mutant) target on autologous pancreatic cancer cells. Note that the cancer - directed T-cell clones expresses different T-cell homing and differentiation markers, defined by CD45RA and CCR7 expression, i.e. CD45RA+CCR7+ T-cells are precursor T-cells, CD45RA-CCR7+ central memory

T-cells, CD45RA-CCR7- T-cells memory effector T-cells and CD45RA+CCR7- T-cells represent terminally differentiated effector T-cells. Note that the majority of cells derived from clone B reside in the central memory T-cell subset that has been shown to be associated with increased responsiveness in the cellular therapy of cancer

The role of gamma-delta ($\gamma\delta$) T-cells in cancer is now also being revisited, due to their nonclassical recognition of antigens. γδ T-cells recognise non-peptide structures, i.e. phosphoantigens such as derivatives of the eukaryotic isoprenoid (mevalonate) pathway presented by the CD1d molecule [95]. The V γ 9V δ 2 (V δ 2+) subset of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, which are found in peripheral blood. They have also been described to express the CXCR3 surface marker which is crucial for tissue penetration, an important feature in accessing transformed cells or tissue-residing pathogens. An interesting feature of V δ 2+ $\gamma\delta$ T-cells is that they express the CD16 co-receptor, which can bind to FcyRIII present on tumour cells in addition to the killer receptor NKG2A [96]. Thus, like NK cells, γδ T-cells can also orchestrate antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), which is implicated in the therapeutic activity of several monoclonal antibody-based cancer drugs, i.e. rituximab, trastuzumab, ofatumumab and alemtuzumab [97–99]. An intermediate of the isoprenoid pathway, isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP), is strongly recognised by $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cells, as shown in the context of zoledronic acid-treated human cancer cells [100]. Zoledronic acid induces accumulation of IPP in cancer cells, thus stimulating the activity of V_γ9V82 T-cells, subsequently promoting the production of IFN- γ as well as cytotoxic molecules. This effect can be further enhanced in the presence of IL-2 and/or IL-15 conditioning. Although altered/mutated forms of IPP are yet to be reported, the significance of $\gamma\delta$ T-cells in targeted cellular therapy should be explored further. There have also been reports of the recognition and killing of overexpressed human heat shock protein 60/70 on cancer cells by $\gamma\delta$ T-cells, indicating that the overall T-cell repertoire in human which recognizes tumor antigens is rather generous [101, 102].

4.4 Clinical Significance of Neoepitope-specific Immune Responses

The clinical value of neoantigen-specific responses is most evident in immune checkpoint blockade therapy. Case reports of patients with melanoma or

non-small cell lung cancer treated with anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies showed that the repertoire of neoantigen-directed CD8+ T-cell responses (based on the diversity of TCRs recognizing mutated peptides) is is associated with clinical responses [103-108]. The most relevant examples are the T-cell responses from patients with metastatic melanoma or non-small cell lung cancer NSCLC, whereby the number of PD-1+ circulating T-cells directed against neoepitopes (visualised by flow cytometry) associates with clinical outcome in patients [105, 109, 110]. Furthermore, more recent clinical observations neoepitope-specific indicate that immune responses in peripheral blood can be used as a prognostic marker for several solid cancers [107, 110, 111].

Tissue scarring, arising from inflammatory processes processes, associated with infection(s), may lead to to genetic aberrations, which in time may perpetrate oncogenesis. Observations in patients with lung adenocarcinomas who had previously contracted M. tuberculosis infection in the lung showed that immune responses to mycobacterial antigens ('old' tuberculosis (TB) lesions) caused mutational changes to the gene encoding epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), in association with cancer development [112]. More strikingly, these patients had a worse 1-year survival prognosis compared to those who did not have 'old' TB lesions in the lung at cancer diagnosis. Patients presenting with 'old TB lesions' and adenocarcinomas in the same lung did not harbour the $\mathrm{EGFR}_{\mathrm{L858R}}$ mutation (occurring in exon 21 of the EGFR gene, which encodes the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain of the receptor), which is implicated in positive clinical outcomes in patients with lung cancer who are treated with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor gefitinib [113]. The EGFR $_{L858R}$ mutation has been shown to give rise to neoepitopes that induce antibody responses in patients with NSCLC who received gefitinib therapy [114]. Another EGFR-associated mutation, EGFR_{T790M}, which is found in approximately 60% of patients with NSCLC, yields HLA-A2-restricted neoepitopes that are linked to favourable anti-tumor immune responses that could be implemented for designing better immunotherapies [115, 116].

The agonistic activity of peptides, namely their ability to stimulate T-cell activation can in fact shape the cellular immune response milieu due to mutational changes in their molecular structure. Paul Allen and co-workers had elegantly shown in the mid-1990s that peptide analogues of staphylococcal enterotoxin A, derived from haemoglobin, can abrogate the effector functions while inhibiting the proliferation of T helper cells (CD4+ T-cells with a Th1 or Th2 phenotype) [117]. While some mutations in the haemoglobin peptides inhibited T-cell proliferation, other mutations did not have a deleterious effect on the T-cell. Further research showed that partial phosphorylation of the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM), which forms an indispensable component of the intracellular TCR zeta (ζ) chain, can either totally abrogate or even lead to T-cell death during an immune synapse [118]. Importantly, this phenomenon can be due to the binding of TCR with HLA molecules presenting mutated peptides, and more importantly, the nature of the mutation itself and the very position of the mutation within the epitope sequence. It is undeniable that the local inflammatory milieu in cancer lesions (such as those described in chronic infections [119]) may also contribute to chromosomal aberrations resulting in strong downregulation or loss of the TCR ζ chain. These seminal findings were first reported in a preclinical murine model of colon carcinoma and later in TILs from patients with renal cell carcinoma and peripheral blood T-cells from patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [120–122].

Preclinical studies of infectious disease models may provide an insight into TCR repertoire shaping in relation to neoepitope-specific immune responses. Analyses of splenic and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid-derived T-cells from mice primed with a wildtype strain of influenza A virus (HK/ PR8) by intraperitoneal infection showed that animals' CD8 TCRV β repertoire was shaped by primary viral challenge to efficiently recognize and respond to a secondary challenge with another wildtype strain but not a *mutated* version of either virus (HK/PR8-NPN3A) [123]. Also, while challenge with a wildtype virus strain provided a broader TCRV β repertoire, the mutant strain of

the virus induces a more focussed and narrow antigen-specific T-cell compartment, with subtle TCR re-arrangement patterns. Furthermore, an immunogenic epitope from the wildtype virus (NP₃₆₆, ASNENMETM) induced a measurable CD8+ T-cell response among mice primed and rechallenged with a mutated viral strain. Conversely, the mutated version of the NP₃₆₆ epitope, harbouring only a single amino acid change (NPN3A₃₆₆, ASAENMETM), did not promote strong binding between MHC and TCR among T-cells from mice challenged with a wildtype virus, exhibiting a high 'off-rate' (large percentage of mutated epitope-bearing tetramers dissociating from the TCR within minimal time), requiring greater dependence on the CD8 co-receptor binding to MHC to elicit an immune response. This is of relevance to immune responses in cancer; T-cell reactivity to neoepitopes may be subdued owing to poor binding kinetics between the HLA-restricting element and the TCR. However, vaccination with a broader array of personalised neoepitopes may help prime the immune system to either re-awaken the smaller populations of central memory T-cell that are tumor-reactive, or not mutually exclusive, generate a fresh pool of (as yet not activated) antigen-specific T-cells. [124].

4.5 Harnessing Basic Immunology to Improve Clinical Immunotherapeutic Approaches

The effect of gut commensal bacteria on shaping (and re-shaping) immune responses in health and disease has been at the heart of current immunological research. It was recently shown that induction of T-cell responses to select, 'immunogenic' intestinal bacteria (Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron and *B. fragilis*) driven by anti-CTLA-4 therapy correlates with clinically beneficial outcomes in patients with metastatic melanoma [125]. In a murine model highly susceptible to tumors, the introduction of Bifidobacterium sp. notably improved cytotoxic lymphocyte-dependent control of tumor burden [126]. Combination of *Bifidobacterium* inoculation and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody administration further enhanced tumor control in these animals, thereby underlining the critical role of gut microbiota in dictating anti-cancer immune responses. Thus, supplementing biologically active material from intestinal bacteria with immune blockade therapy or T-cell immunotherapy may potentially improve neoantigen-specific immune responses in patients with advanced cancer.

Small molecules and cytokines that target the activation of fatty acid oxidation (FAO) in CD8+ T-cells and promote maintenance of cellular memory can be used as an adjunct to mainstream therapeutic regimens in cancer and infectious diseases. For example, the antidiabetic drug metformin activates 5' adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase (AMPK) and improves FAO in memory CD8+ TILs, as shown in a proofof-concept study in a murine model of chemically induced skin cancer [127]. IL-15 also promotes lipid metabolism by upregulating mitochondrial biogenesis and inducing the expression of carnitine palmitoyl transferase, an enzyme that is critical for mitochondrial beta-oxidation [128]. This process has been shown to be upregulated in memory CD8+ T-cells in mice, and enhances their survival. In cancer therapy, IL-15 has already been evaluated as an instrumental adjuvant with pronounced effects on proliferation of TIL and enhanced cytotoxic activity of tumourantigen specific T-cells [129–134].

Although immunological tolerance of T-cells is necessary to prevent overt pathology, increased numbers of regulatory T-cells (Tregs) have significant implications for the success of cell-based immunotherapies. While infusion of mesenchymal stromal cells for downregulation of severe inflammation requires subsequent TGF- β production and Treg activation [135], T-cell products reinfused into patients with cancer are allowed to contain only minimal Treg populations in order to optimise anti-tumor activity mediated by cancer-specific T-cells [136]. In addition, IL-17 production in response to chronic inflammation in the tumor microenvironment can induce TGF-ß production and suppression of CD8+ T-cell responses [27]. Tregs could also be stimulated by TAAs, i.e. NY-ESO-1₁₅₇₋₁₇₀-specific Treg responses in

patients with melanoma given the NY-ESO-1/ ISCOMATRIXTM therapeutic vaccine [137]; NY-ESO-1₁₁₉₋₁₄₃ and TRAG-3₃₄₋₄₈ (derived from another cancer testis antigen, Cancer/Testis Antigen Family 24) can induce the expansion of both Th1 cells and FoxP3+ Tregs in patients with melanoma [138], and therefore contribute to immune evasion. More research is needed to better understand whether certain mutations would represent the nominal epitopes for Tregs directed specifically against cancer mutations.

New information arising from basic research needs to be considered for inclusion into preclinical (pre-GMP) evaluation of T-cell products. For example, analysis of BTB Domain and CNC Homolog 2 (BACH2), a transcription factor that promotes the generation and maintenance of regulatory as well as central memory T-cells in the host while repressing immune effector mechanisms could be a useful tool in characterising the T-cell populations which may persist in the patient to fight transformed cells [139]. Mice lacking BACH2 were able to mount a strong T-cell response in the tumor microenvironment (marked by CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell proliferation and IFN- γ production), concomitant with reduced numbers of FoxP3+ regulatory T-cells, which subsequently allowed for allowed for improved tumor control. BACH2 deficiency also increased gene transcription of cytotoxic molecules, i.e. granzymes and perforin. From a translational viewpoint, this finding has direct implications for enhancing the T-cell-mediated anti-tumor effect in targeted cellular immunotherapy. Regulating the expression of BACH2 in neoantigen-reactive T-cells in diseased tissue, i.e. TILs as well as peripheral blood T-cells may improve the quality and efficacy of immune cells for exploitation in clinical therapy [140].

Exploiting novel technology platforms to screen for TCR specificities in diseased tissue, i.e. deep (TCR) sequencing, peptide microarrays, cellular microarrays and TCR-epitope docking studies are contributing substantially to our current knowledge of disease mechanisms and immune dynamics. This may allow to characterise in greater detail the immune repertoires crucial for orchestrating long-term immunological protection against cancer. Combining mathematical knowledge and biological understanding of cancer dynamics and tumor development algorithms will benefit this field greatly. Furthermore, implementing comparative studies using these techniques with clinical samples from various anatomical sites of healthy individuals and patients will deliver new information for the development of next-generation biotherapeutics. The differential TCR repertoires in TIL versus PBMCs, in addition to the mutational load in a patient with cancer relate to the success of checkpoint inhibitors. This is evident in patients with metastatic melanoma and NSCLC, who have among the highest mutational burden and respond well to anti-PD-1 and/ or anti-CTLA-4 therapy [3, 103–105, 107]. 'Mining' biologically and clinically relevant TCRs targeting cancer mutations may lead to the generation of T-cell products for therapy by cloning and transferring specific TCRs to PBMCs; at present a viable and pursuable platform, as already shown in a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer [86, 141, 142]. These examples underline the importance of a topic that has been discussed for decades, e.g. in the field of cellulary immune responses directed against HIV: How much focus and how much diversity should a tailored immune response directed against mutant epitopes afford? How much diversity, with regard to focus on single epitopes, is biologically and clinically relevant taking into account the (1) similarity of mutations in primary tumors versus relapse, (2) the mutational diversity displayed by the primary tumour and distant metastasis as well as (3) the 'local' imprint of gene expression (bearing in mind that not all gene-encoding DNA may at all, or at some points be translated into RNA and then subsequently into protein), associated with the tissue environment (e.g. lung versus liver-metastases). These questions will represent a matter of clinically relevant research with impact on the design of biologically and clinically relevant studies. For instance, an educated decision will take into account the similarity and dissimilarity of the primary tumor versus the corresponding relapsed malignancy, if TIL would be immediately available from the primary tumor upon clinical detection of a relapse.

The humoral immune response to cancer antigens, and thus its significance in mediating clinirelevant and beneficial anti-tumour cally responses in patients calls for greater emphasis [114, 143–145]. Along these lines, peptide microarray studies possess the sensitivity and specificity to discover naturally presented epitopes recognised by circulating antibodies in serum as well as those derived from patients' B cells in culture. In serum derived from patients with cancer, disease-associated epitopes may include those belonging to neoantigens, and can be screened for using the high-content peptide microarray (HCPM) platform. The HCPM is a novel technology used for profiling antibodies in many research areas, which has been more recently been developed, including our research group, in order to visualize an unbiased view of serum reactivity to a wide range of epitopes. This sophisticated technology allows to display on each individual microarray slide 2.9 million peptide sequences (spots), corresponding to unique epitopes. Using only a small sample volume (i.e. 4 µL of biological fluid per slide), it is possible to identify immune-recognition patterns associated with relevant endpoints on a HCPM microarray chip containing the whole human proteome, at the highly detailed level of 16-mer peptides. Well-documented experience in the use of the HCPM platform with regard to chip design, pre-processing and methods of analysis as well as techniques [146-151], and different applications of HCPM in various clinical settings, i.e. bacterial infections [149, 152, 153], viral infections [154–156], sarcoidosis [157] and pertussis [151] (further references for readers: 146–157) strongly suggests that this platform is also able to pick up very specific serum reactivities directed against mutant versus wildtype target molecules. This technique can also be used to detect humoral immune responses to 'private' neoepitopes in the peripheral blood of patients with cancer [158]. Results from HCPM studies can contribute to developing novel antibodybased therapies including the identification of novel, clinically relevant cancer - associated targets for CARs, or augment cellular immune responses directed against (intracellular) mutant

antigens via ADCC. On the other hand, B celldependent immune responses in disease may aid to modulate a T-cell driven 'immunopathological' milieu, such as that observed in patients with post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) [159]. The early studies and identification of cancer-associated antigens supported the hypothesis that strong B-cell responses point to the existence of strong anti-cancer T-cell responses in patients with cancer. For instance, the cancer testis antigens MAGE or NY-ESO-1, which are clinically relevant T-cell targets, were identified via B-cell responses and are currently used in clinical protocols to induce disease-modifying T-cell responses targeting NY-ESO-1+ cancer lesions [132, 160–164].

Where Could Anti-Mutation-Reactive T-cells be Harvested? Immune cells from peripheral blood express tissue-specific homing markers of their surface (e.g. VLA-4 for the central nervous system, CXCR3 for the lung, CCR6 for the gut) that can be instrumental in gauging circulating T-cells among PBMCs that are travelling either from or to the respective target organ [165]. Enrichment, e.g. for VLA-4+ T-cells, will result in selecting T-cells trafficking to and from the tumor lesions in the patient, which can then be tested for their recognition of neoepitopes and potential immunoreactivity targeting transformed cells. Furthermore, some of the epitopes recognised in target organs overlap with the recognition patterns observed in PBMCs, while others do not and are either exclusively recognised in PBMCs or TILs [109]. In line with this, 15 out of 20 HLA-A2+ patients with breast cancer whose tumor and blood samples were analyzed were shown to harbor 18 TCR specificities shared between TILs and PBMC-derived T-cells [166]. Sim et al. reported in 2016 that the complementarity determining region (CDR) 3 of the TCR, the portion of the complex which binds to the HLA-peptide complex on targets cells, is greatly diverse between PBMCs and TILs among patients with glioma [167]. Importantly, this research consortium also found a unique TCR signature present in peripheral blood of the patients exhibiting a minimally divergent TIL TCR repertoire concomitant with low-grade glioma, while patients with glioblastoma showed a wider selection of TCRs. We have also noticed this among patients with glioblastoma, where some of the somatic mutations are recognized by PBMCs but not TILs, and vice versa (Liu et al., unpublished data). Thus, information arising from such studies is already translated into clinical products for patients with advanced cancer, i.e. genetically transferring the TCR repertoire associated with better prognosis into PBMCs, for re-infusion as adjunctive therapy, given the feasibility of using advanced gene transfer technologies [141, 142, 168]. Dr. Rosenberg's group at the NIH has in fact treated patients with advanced cancer harbouring particular mutations using autologous T-cell products expressing specific TCRs directed against neoepitopes. Pivotal examples include the treatment of a patient with metastatic cholangiocarcinoma with CD4+ IFN- γ + TILs reognizing an HLA-DQ*06-restricted neoepitope derived from the receptor tyrosineprotein kinase erbB-2 (ERBB2), or HER-2 interacting protein (ERBB2IP) [169], and a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer, who received a TCR-transferred T-cell product specific for the KRAS_{G12D} mutation (HLA-C*08*02-restricted) driver mutation, with subsequent regression of metastases expressing the KRAS_{G12D} mutation [86]. The latter strategy was initiated by a TMG screen performed on TILs isolated from tumour tissue samples obtained from 10 patients with metastatic gastrointestinal cancers, in the quest to detect neoepitope-specific reactivity [170]. Patients with the HLA-C*0802 allele had TIL responses to their tumor cells (directed to KRAS) underlining that the restricting HLA element in the patient may limit the therapeutic targeting of KRAS, as other (KRAS) mutations may not be visible to the cellular immune system, since these mutations may not be naturally processed and ultimately be presented to the patients cellular immune repertoire.

Identification and verification of clinically and biologically relevant neoepitopes remains a challenge, i.e. whether the epitopes are expressed in a representative fashion, whether they are processed and presented on tumour cells, and whether a 'fit' TCR repertoire is available and capable of reacting to it—leading to immune effector functions that will most likely facilitate a strong and long-lasting anti-tumor immune response. A possible way is to design and generate potential neoepitopes based on whole genome sequences from patients with cancer. Once these neoepitopes are chemically synthesised, they could be submitted for large-scale in vitro screening of T-cell cultures to carefully select for high quality, mutation-specific T-cells that could be expanded and reinfused into patients. In a nonmutually exclusive fashion, the TCRs exclusively targeting mutant TAAs, and not the wildtype peptide sequence, may be cloned and subsequently transferred into recipient target cells (T-cells) for the active cellular therapy of patients with cancer [86, 103]. PBMCs may serve as a very good starting point to screen for populations of neoepitope-specific T-cells circulating (and re-circulating) in the patient. The fact that peripheral T-cells are able to recognise mutant epitopes/neoepitopes has been heralded by the Rosenberg group, pointing to PD-1+ T-cell populations that are enriched for tumor neoantigen-specific T-cells that rather reflect the repertoire of antigen-experienced and not only 'exhausted' T-cells [109, 171]. This echoes earlier findings in TIL from patients with metastatic melanoma: PD1+ TIL recognize 'private' mutations presented by tumor cells. However, the heterogeneity of cancer lesions needs to be further investigated concerning the anatomy of the 'diversity of mutanomes' and the diversity of the corresponding immune effector cells that could be harvested from individual cancer lesions [140]. An essential point for TCR transfer targeting commonly shared or private mutations is that the HLA-restriction element presenting cancer epitopes differs from individual to individual. Thus, not all patients would benefit from a single TCR-HLA-matched T-cell product/ TCR transfer but rather a more personalized approach, taking into account the neoepitope structure, the corresponding TCR sequence(s) as well as the HLA-restricting element. An illustrative example in this regard is the occurrence of PTLD associated with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-induced inflammatory T-cell responses [159]. Individuals with an HLA- A2, A11, B5, B18, B21, Bw22 and B35 background suffer a greater risk of PTLD onset following solid organ transplantation compared to those an HLA-A03 or HLA-DR7 (CD4+ T helper cell response) genetic background, while individuals with an HLA-A1, B8 or DR8 appeared to be protected against PTLD [172-174]. Careful selection of specific TCRs and HLA restriction is also being pursued in targeted immunotherapy of patients with hepatitis B virus (HBV)-induced hepatocellular carcinoma, with a focus of HBVspecific epitopes and potentially, neoepitopes [175]. Ton Schumacher's research group at the Netherlands Cancer Institute in Amsterdam recently showed that since naturally occurring neoepitope-specific T-cell responses may be silenced in patients with cancer and that T-cells isolated from peripheral blood from healthy individuals may contain neoepitoperecognising TCRs [176], the latter option may represent the starting point of generating anti-mutant epitope reactive T-cells. Five different HLA-A2restricted neoepitopes were recognized by CTL lines, established from PBMCs obtained from different healthy donors, and produced IFN-y and/or CD107a in response to patient-derived melanoma cell lines that expresses the cognate (mutant) T-cell epitope. Also, T-cells which recognized the neoepitopes as well as the tumor cells expressed epitopes which exhibited strong peptide-HLA binding kinetics (half-life of MHC-class I-β₂ microglobulinepitope interaction) Specific TCRs could then be cloned and heterologously expressed in T-cells from an individual who is in need of an 'improved' TCR repertoire tailored to target mutation-specific T-cells. This has been shown in PBMCs from patients with cancer using T-cells from MHCmatched donors [176] and has been shown to be clinically feasible in the context of infectious diseases, i.e. by transferring CMV-specific T-cells from an allogeneic-donor matched for the HLA class I-restricting allele, to patients with CMV infection (and a non-functional immune system) after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation [177, 178]. Similar observations have been generated in our laboratory using HLA class I-matched TIL (see Table 4.2), that have been shown to react-i.e. without restimulation and expansion-to mutant target epitopes that are reognized on autologous tumor cells from an HLA-B*2705 matched patient, suggesting that precursor T-cells exist, even in TIL, following exposure to epitope arising from 'driver' mutations, i.e. KRAS, SMAD4, p53 or even commonly shared mutations among individuals [1, 86, 179].

Gene ID	Wildtype sequence from GBM-alpha	IFN-γ wildtype (GBM- alpha TILs)	IFN-γ mutant (GBM- alpha TILs)	IFN-γ wildtype (GBM- beta TILs)	IFN-γ mutant (GBM- beta TILs)	Mutated sequence from GBM-alpha
TUBB8	ALYDICSKTLKLPTP	193.09	570.95	4494.32	2791.76	ALYDICSRTLKLPTP
LCE1F	SSGGCCGSSSGGCCS		63.38			SSGGCCGSSSGGCCS
GOLGA6L1	REDAGAGGEDVGAGG		88.74			REDAGAGEEDVGAGG
GOLGA6L2	IREQEEMLREQEAQR	105.48	754.23	2568.97	1826.17	IREQEEMIREQEAQR
LOC645752	PPTWSGRRAPGDRDN		270.84		390.47	PPTWSGRHAPGDRDN
DSPP	QFLIPTSLSVSSNSV		30.48			QFLIPTSFSVSSNSV

Table 4.2 Shared recognition of mutant epitopes between MHC class I matched TIL from different patients

TIL were harvested after IL-2, IL-15 and IL-21 driven expansion from patients GBM alpha and GBM beta and epitopes were identified from the tumor from patient GBM alpha. TIL from patient GBM alpha were tested for recognition, defined by IFN gamma production, directed against the patient's own mutations (and corresponding wildtype sequences). The epitope mutant PPTWWSGRHAPGDRDN is exclusively recognized by TIL from patients GBM alpha—and not the wildtype sequence: a similar situation for TIL from patient GBMbeta that recognize the identical mutation which is restricted by HLA-B*2705. Numbers are picrogram (pg) cytokine production in 1×10^5 TIL.

Preparing the Ground: Enhancing the TCR **Repertoire to Mutant Targets** The activation of the innate immune compartment using standard anti-cancer drugs, i.e. gemcitabine, decitabine, cisplatin and doxorubicin can prompt the activation of APCs such as macrophages and dendritic cells, and facilitate antigen-processing and orchestrating pro-inflammatory immune response, i.e. IL-12 production [180]. In addition, chemoimmunotherapy with decitabine has also been shown to induce potent anti-cancer cytotoxic responses mediated by CD8+ T-cells [181], while its use in patients with pancreatic cancer along with cytokine-activated killer cells leads to improved progression-free survival compared to chemotherapy alone [182]. Increase in neoantigen-specific cellular immune responses following adjuvant cancer therapy has not been explored in depth, yet could be the focus of future evaluations - directed towards enhancing the 'visibility' of the patients' mutanome to their immune repertoire. Several approaches could be explored, which is beyond the scope of this overview. A strong argument that anti-cancer immune responses can be increased with 'standard therapeutic manipulations' is the observation that in patients with brain metastases who underwent whole-brain radiation therapy (WBRT), immune responses were activated that resulted in tumor regression at distant lesions [183]. Patients with advanced melanoma-

related brain metastases appear to have a greater survival advantage when they are treated with ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) in addition to WBRT [184]. Along these lines, preclinical evaluation of radiotherapy-induced CTL responses have shown that the mutational landscape shifts alongside modifications in HLA class I antigen processing and presentation, subsequently concomitant with enhanced control of the tumor burden [185]. In general terms, ionising radiation promotes immune stimulatory events such as (1) increased HLA molecule expression, MHC-I expression, (2) generation of specific peptides involved in cytotoxic T-cell recognition and (3) promotion of cytotoxic T-cell activity by the release of tumor associated antigens [186, 187]. The latter processes lead to the activation and trafficking of effector cells promoting in situ cellular immune responses, although distant (abscopal) responses may also occur [186-190]. In this particular context, dose and fractionation seem to play a determining role for eliciting anti-tumor immunological effects. The preclinical studies of the Demaria group on breast- and colon cancer models showed a clear indications of anti-tumor T-cell responses when combining local fractionated radiation schedules (8gy \times 3, 6gy \times 5) in addition to CTLA-4 blockade [186, 187, 191, 192]. Other preclinical/clinical studies lend support to the relevance of such combined approaches [186, 187,

193]. Considering the inhibitory effects of monoclonal antibodies on CTLA-4 and PD-1modulated immune suppressive actions taking place in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma and renal cancer, further studies aiming to identify the potential adjunctive effects of radiation on local and distant sites are certainly necessary [186]. Postow et al. reported a case of a patient diagnosed with metastatic melanoma treated with ipilimumab; at a stage, the patient underwent hypofractionated radiotherapy to treat a paraspinal metastasis; the patient was treated with 28.5 Gy delivered in three fractions over a period of 7 days. Four to five months later, the paraspinal mass and a group of previously identified distant hilar lymphadenopathies and splenic lesions (not targeted by radiation) had considerably diminished. CT-imaging 10 months after treatment still showed a stable condition [194]. Reproducing these latter described effects in a larger group of patients requires consideratino of many biological and clinical variables, among others mathematical models able to provide qualitative and quantitative predictive data on radiationinduced immune responses. Image analysis that may even reflect the 'mutational load' and T-cell infiltration may also provide a prognostic tool, yet also an instrument to gauge how 'focused' and narrow or broad a T-cell response directed against mutated antigens should be (see Fig. 4.3) in order to provide increased survival.

Although (limited) data suggests that a very focused immune recognition is clinically more favourable (as defined by survival), more basic and clinical research needs to be undertaken to visualize a link between mutational load, the number of targets recognized, the possibility to tailor the T-cell graft targeting mutations and, subsequently, clinical responsiveness. Thus, it is plausible that activation of neoepitope-specific T-cells in patients after a combination of radiotherapy and immune checkpoint blockade therapy is key to improved clinical outcomes, and thus warrants further exploration in well-controlled clinical settings. Full-scale analyses of surface tissue-homing markers as well as memory markers on neoantigen-reactive T-cells, the relationship between these readouts and the anatomical locations of metastasis in the patient as well as the functionality of the T-cells are of paramount importance to enrich our understanding of targeted cellular immunotherapies in cancer [195]. These immunological analyses can be performed on clinical samples obtained from patients undergoing therapy, i.e. peripheral blood drawn at various time points during 'standard' or immunological treatment strategies. Another major conundrum in further optimising targeted T-cell-based therapies lies in the lack of our understanding of antigen processing and presentation, i.e. which epitopes are naturally presented, what is their respective tissue expression pattern, their corresponding HLA restriction and their capacity to drive antigen-specific T-cell responses, based on the TCR repertoire capable of reacting to individual mutant target epitopes. Further research into the 'immunological fitness' of antigen-specific T-cell populations may impact on the quality of cell-based therapies and further aid to tailor T-cell products. For instance, recent advances in T-cell therapy for cancer, viral infections and autoimmune diseases highlight the broad therapeutic potential of T-cell engineering. Even as site-specific genetic manipulation in primary human T-cells remains challenging, they hold great clinical promise to tailor T-cell products, e.g. genome editing in T-cells using the CRISPR and TALEN approaches [196] along with the detailed analysis of asymmetric T-cell division in order to better understand and define the quality of mutational epitopes that would give rise to immediate immune effector cells, as well as to long-term memory T-cells [197]. New and clinically relevant insights as to how exposures to pathogens and 'environmental factors' may impact on TCR repertoires and ultimately disease susceptibility [198] will aid to decipher the molecular 'decisionmaking process' in adaptive cellular immune responses targeting mutant epitopes in patients with cancer [199, 200] and provide the necessary tools to enhance treatment decisions to offer more effective, multi-layered and long-term cellular immune responses for patients with malignancies.

Fig. 4.3 MRI scans of 4 patients with glioma (grade 4, WHO classification) with (i) survival time in days after surgery and (ii) the number of mutant epitopes recognized by the patients' TIL defined by IFN-gamma production in relation to the total number of mutations recognized. A focused TIL response appears to be associated with increased survival, an observation that needs to be followed up in larger studies



Patient A: 306 days (16/48)



Patient B: 447 days (9/22)



Patient C: 582 days (16/75)

Patient D: 770 days (4/92)

References

- Yarchoan M, Johnson BA 3rd, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17(4):209–22.
- Sharpe M, Mount N. Genetically modified T cells in cancer therapy: opportunities and challenges. Dis Model Mech. 2015;8(4):337–50.
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. Nature. 2014;515(7528):577–81.
- Gardiner D, Lalezari J, Lawitz E, DiMicco M, Ghalib R, Reddy KR, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled assessment of BMS-936558, a fully human monoclonal antibody to programmed

death-1 (PD-1), in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e63818.

- Trautmann L, Janbazian L, Chomont N, Said EA, Gimmig S, Bessette B, et al. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. Nat Med. 2006; 12(10):1198–202.
- Singh A, Dey AB, Mohan A, Mitra DK. Programmed death-1 receptor suppresses gamma-IFN producing NKT cells in human tuberculosis. Tuberculosis. 2014;94(3):197–206.
- Wykes MN, Horne-Debets JM, Leow CY, Karunarathne DS. Malaria drives T cells to exhaustion. Front Microbiol. 2014;5:249.
- Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pilai S. Basic immunology: functions and disorders of the immune system. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2014.

- 9. Hammerling GJ. The 1996 Nobel Prize to Rolf Zinkernagel and Peter Doherty. Cell Tissue Res. 1997;287(1):1–2.
- Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. Restriction of in vitro T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. Nature. 1974;248(5450):701–2.
- Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. Immunological surveillance against altered self components by sensitised T lymphocytes in lymphocytic choriomeningitis. Nature. 1974;251(5475):547–8.
- Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. The discovery of MHC restriction. Immunol Today. 1997;18(1):14–7.
- Brighenti S, Andersson J. Induction and regulation of CD8+ cytolytic T cells in human tuberculosis and HIV infection. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;396(1):50–7.
- 14. Zaks TZ, Rosenberg SA. Immunization with a peptide epitope (p369-377) from HER-2/neu leads to peptide-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes that fail to recognize HER-2/neu+ tumors. Cancer Res. 1998;58(21):4902–8.
- Valmori D, Fonteneau JF, Valitutti S, Gervois N, Dunbar R, Lienard D, et al. Optimal activation of tumor-reactive T cells by selected antigenic peptide analogues. Int Immunol. 1999;11(12):1971–80.
- Zarling AL, Ficarro SB, White FM, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Engelhard VH. Phosphorylated peptides are naturally processed and presented by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules in vivo. J Exp Med. 2000;192(12):1755–62.
- Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, et al. Tumor-reactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. J Exp Med. 2010;207(3):637–50.
- Tian Y, Sette A, Weiskopf D. Cytotoxic CD4 T cells: differentiation, function, and application to dengue virus infection. Front Immunol. 2016;7:531.
- 19. Gjertsen MK, Bjorheim J, Saeterdal I, Myklebust J, Gaudernack G. Cytotoxic CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes, generated by mutant p21-ras (12Val) peptide vaccination of a patient, recognize 12Valdependent nested epitopes present within the vaccine peptide and kill autologous tumour cells carrying this mutation. Int J Cancer. 1997;72(5):784–90.
- Delgado JC, Baena A, Thim S, Goldfeld AE. Aspartic acid homozygosity at codon 57 of HLA-DQ beta is associated with susceptibility to pulmonary tuberculosis in Cambodia. J Immunol. 2006;176(2):1090–7.
- Dorman JS, Bunker CH. HLA-DQ locus of the human leukocyte antigen complex and type 1 diabetes mellitus: a HuGE review. Epidemiol Rev. 2000;22(2):218–27.
- 22. Kaushansky N, Altmann DM, David CS, Lassmann H, Ben-Nun A. DQB1*0602 rather than DRB1*1501 confers susceptibility to multiple sclerosis-like disease induced by proteolipid protein (PLP). J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9:29.

- 23. Bandaru A, Devalraju KP, Paidipally P, Dhiman R, Venkatasubramanian S, Barnes PF, et al. Phosphorylated STAT3 and PD-1 regulate IL-17 production and IL-23 receptor expression in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(7):2013–24.
- Perreau M, Rozot V, Welles HC, Belluti-Enders F, Vigano S, Maillard M, et al. Lack of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific interleukin-17A-producing CD4+ T cells in active disease. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(4):939–48.
- Benchetrit F, Ciree A, Vives V, Warnier G, Gey A, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. Interleukin-17 inhibits tumor cell growth by means of a T-cell-dependent mechanism. Blood. 2002;99(6):2114–21.
- 26. Fabre J, Giustiniani J, Garbar C, Antonicelli F, Merrouche Y, Bensussan A, et al. Targeting the tumor microenvironment: the protumor effects of IL-17 related to cancer type. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(9):E1433.
- 27. Liang H, Yi L, Wang X, Zhou C, Xu L. Interleukin-17 facilitates the immune suppressor capacity of highgrade glioma-derived CD4 (+) CD25 (+) Foxp3 (+) T cells via releasing transforming growth factor beta. Scand J Immunol. 2014;80(2):144–50.
- Xiang T, Long H, He L, Han X, Lin K, Liang Z, et al. Interleukin-17 produced by tumor microenvironment promotes self-renewal of CD133+ cancer stem-like cells in ovarian cancer. Oncogene. 2015;34(2):165–76.
- Sloan-Lancaster J, Shaw AS, Rothbard JB, Allen PM. Partial T cell signaling: altered phospho-zeta and lack of zap70 recruitment in APL-induced T cell anergy. Cell. 1994;79(5):913–22.
- 30. Lorvik KB, Hammarstrom C, Fauskanger M, Haabeth OA, Zangani M, Haraldsen G, et al. Adoptive transfer of tumor-specific Th2 cells eradicates tumors by triggering an in situ inflammatory immune response. Cancer Res. 2016;76(23):6864–76.
- Nishimura T, Iwakabe K, Sekimoto M, Ohmi Y, Yahata T, Nakui M, et al. Distinct role of antigenspecific T helper type 1 (Th1) and Th2 cells in tumor eradication in vivo. J Exp Med. 1999;190(5):617–27.
- 32. Zhang L, Ge C, Zhao F, Zhang Y, Wang X, Yao M, et al. NRBP2 overexpression increases the chemosensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma cells via Akt signaling. Cancer Res. 2016;76(23):7059–71.
- Shen Y, Fujimoto S. A tumor-specific Th2 clone initiating tumor rejection via primed CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activation in mice. Cancer Res. 1996;56(21):5005–11.
- 34. Mattes J, Hulett M, Xie W, Hogan S, Rothenberg ME, Foster P, et al. Immunotherapy of cytotoxic T cell-resistant tumors by T helper 2 cells: an eotaxin and STAT6-dependent process. J Exp Med. 2003;197(3):387–93.
- Haabeth OA, Bogen B, Corthay A. A model for cancer-suppressive inflammation. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(7):1146–55.

- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298–306.
- 37. Qian F, Gnjatic S, Jager E, Santiago D, Jungbluth A, Grande C, et al. Th1/Th2 CD4+ T cell responses against NY-ESO-1 in HLA-DPB1*0401/0402 patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Immun. 2004;4:12.
- 38. Kamatani Y, Wattanapokayakit S, Ochi H, Kawaguchi T, Takahashi A, Hosono N, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies variants in the HLA-DP locus associated with chronic hepatitis B in Asians. Nat Genet. 2009;41(5):591–5.
- Wang P, Sidney J, Kim Y, Sette A, Lund O, Nielsen M, et al. Peptide binding predictions for HLA DR, DP and DQ molecules. BMC Bioinform. 2010;11:568.
- 40. Mandic M, Castelli F, Janjic B, Almunia C, Andrade P, Gillet D, et al. One NY-ESO-1-derived epitope that promiscuously binds to multiple HLA-DR and HLA-DP4 molecules and stimulates autologous CD4+ T cells from patients with NY-ESO-1-expressing melanoma. J Immunol. 2005;174(3):1751–9.
- 41. Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Hotta K, Berg-Larsen A, Kim CY, Sollid LM. Differences in the risk of celiac disease associated with HLA-DQ2.5 or HLA-DQ2.2 are related to sustained gluten antigen presentation. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(10):1096–101.
- 42. Sidney J, Steen A, Moore C, Ngo S, Chung J, Peters B, et al. Five HLA-DP molecules frequently expressed in the worldwide human population share a common HLA supertypic binding specificity. J Immunol. 2010;184(5):2492–503.
- 43. Hovhannisyan Z, Weiss A, Martin A, Wiesner M, Tollefsen S, Yoshida K, et al. The role of HLA-DQ8 beta57 polymorphism in the antigluten T-cell response in coeliac disease. Nature. 2008;456(7221):534–8.
- 44. Siebold C, Hansen BE, Wyer JR, Harlos K, Esnouf RE, Svejgaard A, et al. Crystal structure of HLA-DQ0602 that protects against type 1 diabetes and confers strong susceptibility to narcolepsy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(7):1999–2004.
- 45. Ettinger RA, Kwok WW. A peptide binding motif for HLA-DQA1*0102/DQB1*0602, the class II MHC molecule associated with dominant protection in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Immunol. 1998;160(5):2365–73.
- 46. Shukla SA, Rooney MS, Rajasagi M, Tiao G, Dixon PM, Lawrence MS, et al. Comprehensive analysis of cancer-associated somatic mutations in class I HLA genes. Nat Biotechnol. 2015;33(11):1152–8.
- 47. Lurquin C, Van Pel A, Mariame B, De Plaen E, Szikora JP, Janssens C, et al. Structure of the gene of tum- transplantation antigen P91A: the mutated exon encodes a peptide recognized with Ld by cytolytic T cells. Cell. 1989;58(2):293–303.
- 48. van der Bruggen P, Traversari C, Chomez P, Lurquin C, De Plaen E, Van den Eynde B, et al. A gene encoding

an antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. Science. 1991;254(5038):1643–7.

- 49. Van den Eynde B, Peeters O, De Backer O, Gaugler B, Lucas S, Boon T. A new family of genes coding for an antigen recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. J Exp Med. 1995;182(3):689–98.
- Coulie PG, Brichard V, Van Pel A, Wolfel T, Schneider J, Traversari C, et al. A new gene coding for a differentiation antigen recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on HLA-A2 melanomas. J Exp Med. 1994;180(1):35–42.
- 51. Coulie PG, Karanikas V, Colau D, Lurquin C, Landry C, Marchand M, et al. A monoclonal cytolytic T-lymphocyte response observed in a melanoma patient vaccinated with a tumor-specific antigenic peptide encoded by gene MAGE-3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(18):10290–5.
- 52. Chen YT, Scanlan MJ, Sahin U, Tureci O, Gure AO, Tsang S, et al. A testicular antigen aberrantly expressed in human cancers detected by autologous antibody screening. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94(5):1914–8.
- 53. Jager E, Chen YT, Drijfhout JW, Karbach J, Ringhoffer M, Jager D, et al. Simultaneous humoral and cellular immune response against cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO-1: definition of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2-binding peptide epitopes. J Exp Med. 1998;187(2):265–70.
- Neumann F, Wagner C, Kubuschok B, Stevanovic S, Rammensee HG, Pfreundschuh M. Identification of an antigenic peptide derived from the cancertestis antigen NY-ESO-1 binding to a broad range of HLA-DR subtypes. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2004;53(7):589–99.
- 55. Jager E, Karbach J, Gnjatic S, Jager D, Maeurer M, Atmaca A, et al. Identification of a naturally processed NY-ESO-1 peptide recognized by CD8+ T cells in the context of HLA-B51. Cancer Immun. 2002;2:12.
- Gnjatic S, Nishikawa H, Jungbluth AA, Gure AO, Ritter G, Jager E, et al. NY-ESO-1: review of an immunogenic tumor antigen. Adv Cancer Res. 2006;95:1–30.
- Hosken NA, Bevan MJ. Defective presentation of endogenous antigen by a cell line expressing class I molecules. Science. 1990;248(4953):367–70.
- Wang RF, Robbins PF, Kawakami Y, Kang XQ, Rosenberg SA. Identification of a gene encoding a melanoma tumor antigen recognized by HLA-A31restricted tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1995;181(2):799–804.
- 59. Wang RF, Johnston SL, Southwood S, Sette A, Rosenberg SA. Recognition of an antigenic peptide derived from tyrosinase-related protein-2 by CTL in the context of HLA-A31 and -A33. J Immunol. 1998;160(2):890–7.
- Wang RF, Wang X, Atwood AC, Topalian SL, Rosenberg SA. Cloning genes encoding MHC class II-restricted antigens: mutated CDC27 as a tumor antigen. Science. 1999;284(5418):1351–4.

- 61. Wang RF, Wang X, Rosenberg SA. Identification of a novel major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted tumor antigen resulting from a chromosomal rearrangement recognized by CD4(+) T cells. J Exp Med. 1999;189(10):1659–68.
- Chang K, Pastan I. Molecular cloning of mesothelin, a differentiation antigen present on mesothelium, mesotheliomas, and ovarian cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(1):136–40.
- 63. Argani P, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Ryu B, Rosty C, Goggins M, Wilentz RE, et al. Mesothelin is overexpressed in the vast majority of ductal adenocarcinomas of the pancreas: identification of a new pancreatic cancer marker by serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(12):3862–8.
- 64. Chang K, Pastan I. Molecular cloning and expression of a cDNA encoding a protein detected by the K1 antibody from an ovarian carcinoma (OVCAR-3) cell line. Int J Cancer. 1994;57(1):90–7.
- 65. Suarez-Alvarez B, Garcia Suarez MM, Arguelles ME, Sampedro A, Alvarez Marcos C, Mira E, et al. Circulating IgG response to stromelysin-3, collage-nase-3, galectin-3 and mesothelin in patients with pharynx/larynx squamous cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2001;21(5):3677–84.
- 66. Scholler N, Fu N, Yang Y, Ye Z, Goodman GE, Hellstrom KE, et al. Soluble member(s) of the mesothelin/megakaryocyte potentiating factor family are detectable in sera from patients with ovarian carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(20):11531–6.
- Hassan R, Viner JL, Wang QC, Margulies I, Kreitman RJ, Pastan I. Anti-tumor activity of K1-LysPE38QQR, an immunotoxin targeting mesothelin, a cell-surface antigen overexpressed in ovarian cancer and malignant mesothelioma. J Immunother. 2000;23(4):473–9.
- 68. Lehmann F, Marchand M, Hainaut P, Pouillart P, Sastre X, Ikeda H, et al. Differences in the antigens recognized by cytolytic T cells on two successive metastases of a melanoma patient are consistent with immune selection. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25(2):340–7.
- 69. Coulie PG, Lehmann F, Lethe B, Herman J, Lurquin C, Andrawiss M, et al. A mutated intron sequence codes for an antigenic peptide recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(17):7976–80.
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, et al. A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic Tlymphocytes in a human melanoma. Science. 1995;269(5228):1281–4.
- Mandruzzato S, Brasseur F, Andry G, Boon T, van der Bruggen P. A CASP-8 mutation recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human head and neck carcinoma. J Exp Med. 1997;186(5):785–93.
- AlexandrovLB,Nik-ZainalS,WedgeDC,AparicioSA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500(7463): 415–21.

- Burmer GC, Loeb LA. Mutations in the KRAS2 oncogene during progressive stages of human colon carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(7):2403–7.
- Chiosea SI, Sherer CK, Jelic T, Dacic S. KRAS mutant allele-specific imbalance in lung adenocarcinoma. Mod Pathol. 2011;24(12):1571–7.
- Hartman DJ, Davison JM, Foxwell TJ, Nikiforova MN, Chiosea SI. Mutant allele-specific imbalance modulates prognostic impact of KRAS mutations in colorectal adenocarcinoma and is associated with worse overall survival. Int J Cancer. 2012;131(8):1810–7.
- 76. Krasinskas AM, Moser AJ, Saka B, Adsay NV, Chiosea SI. KRAS mutant allele-specific imbalance is associated with worse prognosis in pancreatic cancer and progression to undifferentiated carcinoma of the pancreas. Mod Pathol. 2013;26(10):1346–54.
- Kranenburg O. The KRAS oncogene: past, present, and future. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005;1756(2):81–2.
- YC L, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. Clin Cancer Res. 2014; 20(13):3401–10.
- Hoffmann TK, Loftus DJ, Nakano K, Maeurer MJ, Chikamatsu K, Appella E, et al. The ability of variant peptides to reverse the nonresponsiveness of T lymphocytes to the wild-type sequence p53(264-272) epitope. J Immunol. 2002;168(3):1338–47.
- Jameson SC, Hogquist KA, Bevan MJ. Positive selection of thymocytes. Annu Rev Immunol. 1995;13:93–126.
- Evavold BD, Allen PM. Separation of IL-4 production from Th cell proliferation by an altered T cell receptor ligand. Science. 1991;252(5010):1308–10.
- Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Hsu BL, Allen PM. Separation of T helper 1 clone cytolysis from proliferation and lymphokine production using analog peptides. J Immunol. 1993;150(8 Pt 1):3131–40.
- Bertoletti A, Sette A, Chisari FV, Penna A, Levrero M, De Carli M, et al. Natural variants of cytotoxic epitopes are T-cell receptor antagonists for antiviral cytotoxic T cells. Nature. 1994;369(6479):407–10.
- Spain LM, Jorgensen JL, Davis MM, Berg LJ. A peptide antigen antagonist prevents the differentiation of T cell receptor transgenic thymocytes. J Immunol. 1994;152(4):1709–17.
- Sprent J, Tough DF. Lymphocyte life-span and memory. Science. 1994;265(5177):1395–400.
- Tran E, Robbins PF, YC L, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(23):2255–62.
- Daniels MA, Teixeiro E. TCR signaling in T cell memory. Front Immunol. 2015;6:617.
- Kaech SM, Cui W. Transcriptional control of effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(11):749–61.
- Restifo NP, Gattinoni L. Lineage relationship of effector and memory T cells. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(5):556–63.

- Zehn D, Lee SY, Bevan MJ. Complete but curtailed T-cell response to very low-affinity antigen. Nature. 2009;458(7235):211–4.
- Sabatino JJ Jr, Huang J, Zhu C, Evavold BD. High prevalence of low affinity peptide-MHC II tetramernegative effectors during polyclonal CD4+ T cell responses. J Exp Med. 2011;208(1):81–90.
- D'Souza WN, Hedrick SM. Cutting edge: latecomer CD8 T cells are imprinted with a unique differentiation program. J Immunol. 2006;177(2):777–81.
- 93. Knudson KM, Goplen NP, Cunningham CA, Daniels MA, Teixeiro E. Low-affinity T cells are programmed to maintain normal primary responses but are impaired in their recall to low-affinity ligands. Cell Rep. 2013;4(3):554–65.
- Teixeiro E, Daniels MA, Hamilton SE, Schrum AG, Bragado R, Jameson SC, et al. Different T cell receptor signals determine CD8+ memory versus effector development. Science. 2009;323(5913):502–5.
- 95. Morita CT, Jin C, Sarikonda G, Wang H. Nonpeptide antigens, presentation mechanisms, and immunological memory of human Vgamma2Vdelta2 T cells: discriminating friend from foe through the recognition of prenyl pyrophosphate antigens. Immunol Rev. 2007;215:59–76.
- 96. Gogoi D, Chiplunkar SV. Targeting gamma delta T cells for cancer immunotherapy: bench to bedside. Indian J Med Res. 2013;138(5):755–61.
- Gertner-Dardenne J, Bonnafous C, Bezombes C, Capietto AH, Scaglione V, Ingoure S, et al. Bromohydrin pyrophosphate enhances antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity induced by therapeutic antibodies. Blood. 2009;113(20):4875–84.
- Todaro M, D'Asaro M, Caccamo N, Iovino F, Francipane MG, Meraviglia S, et al. Efficient killing of human colon cancer stem cells by gammadelta T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2009;182(11):7287–96.
- 99. Gober HJ, Kistowska M, Angman L, Jeno P, Mori L, De Libero G. Human T cell receptor gammadelta cells recognize endogenous mevalonate metabolites in tumor cells. J Exp Med. 2003;197(2):163–8.
- 100. Nada MH, Wang H, Workalemahu G, Tanaka Y, Morita CT. Enhancing adoptive cancer immunotherapy with Vgamma2Vdelta2 T cells through pulse zoledronate stimulation. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5:9.
- 101. Zhang H, Hu H, Jiang X, He H, Cui L, He W. Membrane HSP70: the molecule triggering gammadelta T cells in the early stage of tumorigenesis. Immunol Investig. 2005;34(4):453–68.
- 102. Laad AD, Thomas ML, Fakih AR, Chiplunkar SV. Human gamma delta T cells recognize heat shock protein-60 on oral tumor cells. Int J Cancer. 1999;80(5):709–14.
- 103. Tran E, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. 'Final common pathway' of human cancer immunotherapy: targeting random somatic mutations. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(3):255–62.
- 104. Kvistborg P, Philips D, Kelderman S, Hageman L, Ottensmeier C, Joseph-Pietras D, et al. Anti-CTLA-4

therapy broadens the melanoma-reactive CD8+ T cell response. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(254):254ra128.

- 105. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):124–8.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):69–74.
- 107. van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(32):e439–42.
- 108. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(9):819–29.
- 109. Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. Nat Med. 2016;22:433.
- 110. McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351(6280):1463–9.
- 111. Kowalewski DJ, Stevanovic S, Rammensee HG, Stickel JS. Antileukemia T-cell responses in CLL we don't need no aberration. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(7):e1011527.
- 112. Luo YH, CH W, WS W, Huang CY, WJ S, Tsai CM, et al. Association between tumor epidermal growth factor receptor mutation and pulmonary tuberculosis in patients with adenocarcinoma of the lungs. J Thorac Oncol. 2012;7(2):299–305.
- 113. Tan CS, Gilligan D, Pacey S. Treatment approaches for EGFR-inhibitor-resistant patients with non-smallcell lung cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(9):e447–59.
- 114. Azuma K, Komatsu N, Hattori S, Matsueda S, Kawahara A, Sasada T, et al. Humoral immune responses to EGFR-derived peptides predict progression-free and overall survival of non-small cell lung cancer patients receiving gefitinib. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e86667.
- 115. Yamada T, Azuma K, Muta E, Kim J, Sugawara S, Zhang GL, et al. EGFR T790M mutation as a possible target for immunotherapy; identification of HLA-A*0201-restricted T cell epitopes derived from the EGFR T790M mutation. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e78389.
- 116. Sasada T, Azuma K, Ohtake J, Fujimoto Y. Immune responses to epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and their application for cancer treatment. Front Pharmacol. 2016;7:405.
- 117. Evavold BD, Sloan-Lancaster J, Allen PM. Antagonism of superantigen-stimulated helper T-cell clones and hybridomas by altered peptide ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(6):2300–4.

- Kersh EN, Kersh GJ, Allen PM. Partially phosphorylated T cell receptor zeta molecules can inhibit T cell activation. J Exp Med. 1999;190(11):1627–36.
- 119. Seitzer U, Kayser K, Hohn H, Entzian P, Wacker HH, Ploetz S, et al. Reduced T-cell receptor CD3zetachain protein and sustained CD3epsilon expression at the site of mycobacterial infection. Immunology. 2001;104(3):269–77.
- 120. Mizoguchi H, O'Shea JJ, Longo DL, Loeffler CM, McVicar DW, Ochoa AC. Alterations in signal transduction molecules in T lymphocytes from tumorbearing mice. Science. 1992;258(5089):1795–8.
- 121. Finke JH, Zea AH, Stanley J, Longo DL, Mizoguchi H, Tubbs RR, et al. Loss of T-cell receptor zeta chain and p56lck in T-cells infiltrating human renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 1993;53(23):5613–6.
- 122. Frydecka I, Kaczmarek P, Bocko D, Kosmaczewska A, Morilla R, Catovsky D. Expression of signaltransducing zeta chain in peripheral blood T cells and natural killer cells in patients with Hodgkin's disease in different phases of the disease. Leuk Lymphoma. 1999;35(5-6):545–54.
- 123. Valkenburg SA, Gras S, Guillonneau C, La Gruta NL, Thomas PG, Purcell AW, et al. Protective efficacy of cross-reactive CD8+ T cells recognising mutant viral epitopes depends on peptide-MHC-I structural interactions and T cell activation threshold. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(8):e1001039.
- 124. Tureci O, Vormehr M, Diken M, Kreiter S, Huber C, Sahin U. Targeting the heterogeneity of cancer with individualized neoepitope vaccines. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(8):1885–96.
- 125. Vetizou M, Pitt JM, Daillere R, Lepage P, Waldschmitt N, Flament C, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science. 2015;350:1079.
- 126. Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, Williams JB, Aquino-Michaels K, Earley ZM, et al. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science. 2015;350(6264):1084–9.
- 127. Eikawa S, Nishida M, Mizukami S, Yamazaki C, Nakayama E, Udono H. Immune-mediated antitumor effect by type 2 diabetes drug, metformin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(6):1809–14.
- 128. van der Windt GJ, Everts B, Chang CH, Curtis JD, Freitas TC, Amiel E, et al. Mitochondrial respiratory capacity is a critical regulator of CD8+ T cell memory development. Immunity. 2012;36(1):68–78.
- 129. Perna SK, De Angelis B, Pagliara D, Hasan ST, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, et al. Interleukin 15 provides relief to CTLs from regulatory T cell-mediated inhibition: implications for adoptive T cell-based therapies for lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(1):106–17.
- Waldmann TA. Interleukin-15 in the treatment of cancer. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2014;10(12):1689–701.
- Floros T, Tarhini AA. Anticancer cytokines: biology and clinical effects of interferon-alpha2, interleukin (IL)-2, IL-15, IL-21, and IL-12. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(4):539–48.

- 132. Meng Q, Liu Z, Rangelova E, Poiret T, Ambati A, Rane L, et al. Expansion of tumor-reactive T cells from patients with pancreatic cancer. J Immunother. 2016;39(2):81–9.
- 133. Rosario M, Liu B, Kong L, Collins LI, Schneider SE, Chen X, et al. The IL-15-based ALT-803 complex enhances FcgammaRIIIa-triggered NK cell responses and in vivo clearance of B cell lymphomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(3):596–608.
- 134. Weng J, Moriarty KE, Baio FE, Chu F, Kim S-D, He J, et al. IL-15 enhances the anti-tumor effect of human antigen-specific CD8 T cells by cellular senescence delay. Oncoimmunology. 2016. 5(12):e1237327.
- 135. English K, Ryan JM, Tobin L, Murphy MJ, Barry FP, Mahon BP. Cell contact, prostaglandin E(2) and transforming growth factor beta 1 play nonredundant roles in human mesenchymal stem cell induction of CD4+CD25(High) forkhead box P3+ regulatory T cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;156(1):149–60.
- Hinrichs CS, Rosenberg SA. Exploiting the curative potential of adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. Immunol Rev. 2014;257(1):56–71.
- 137. Ebert LM, MacRaild SE, Zanker D, Davis ID, Cebon J, Chen W. A cancer vaccine induces expansion of NY-ESO-1-specific regulatory T cells in patients with advanced melanoma. PLoS One. 2012;7(10):e48424.
- 138. Fourcade J, Sun Z, Kudela P, Janjic B, Kirkwood JM, El-Hafnawy T, et al. Human tumor antigenspecific helper and regulatory T cells share common epitope specificity but exhibit distinct T cell repertoire. J Immunol. 2010;184(12):6709–18.
- 139. Roychoudhuri R, Eil RL, Clever D, Klebanoff CA, Sukumar M, Grant FM, et al. The transcription factor BACH2 promotes tumor immunosuppression. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(2):599–604.
- 140. Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8(+) tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(5):2246–59.
- 141. de Witte MA, Coccoris M, Wolkers MC, van den Boom MD, Mesman EM, Song JY, et al. Targeting self-antigens through allogeneic TCR gene transfer. Blood. 2006;108(3):870–7.
- 142. Linnemann C, Heemskerk B, Kvistborg P, Kluin RJ, Bolotin DA, Chen X, et al. High-throughput identification of antigen-specific TCRs by TCR gene capture. Nat Med. 2013;19(11):1534–41.
- 143. Winograd EK, Ciesielski MJ, Fenstermaker RA. Novel vaccines for glioblastoma: clinical update and perspective. Immunotherapy. 2016;8(11):1293–308.
- 144. Fremd C, Schuetz F, Sohn C, Beckhove P, Domschke C. B cell-regulated immune responses in tumor models and cancer patients. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(7): e25443.
- 145. Chaudhary B, Khaled YS, Ammori BJ, Elkord E. Neuropilin 1: function and therapeutic potential in cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(2): 81–99.

- 146. Nahtman T, Jernberg A, Mahdavifar S, Zerweck J, Schutkowski M, Maeurer M, et al. Validation of peptide epitope microarray experiments and extraction of quality data. J Immunol Methods. 2007;328(1-2):1–13.
- 147. Ngo Y, Advani R, Valentini D, Gaseitsiwe S, Mahdavifar S, Maeurer M, et al. Identification and testing of control peptides for antigen microarrays. J Immunol Methods. 2009;343(2):68–78.
- Reilly M, Valentini D. Visualisation and preprocessing of peptide microarray data. Methods Mol Biol. 2009;570:373–89.
- 149. Valentini D, Rao M, Ferrara G, Perkins M, Dodoo E, Zumla A, et al. Immune recognition surface construction of Mycobacterium tuberculosis epitope-specific antibody responses in tuberculosis patients identified by peptide microarrays. Int J Infect Dis. 2017;56:155–66.
- 150. Valentini D, Gaseitsiwe S, Maeurer M. Humoral 'reactome' profiles using peptide microarray chips. Trends Immunol. 2010;31(11):399–400.
- 151. Valentini D, Ferrara G, Advani R, Hallander HO, Maeurer MJ. Serum reactome induced by Bordetella pertussis infection and pertussis vaccines: qualitative differences in serum antibody recognition patterns revealed by peptide microarray analysis. BMC Immunol. 2015;16:40.
- 152. Gaseitsiwe S, Valentini D, Mahdavifar S, Magalhaes I, Hoft DF, Zerweck J, et al. Pattern recognition in pulmonary tuberculosis defined by high content peptide microarray chip analysis representing 61 proteins from M. tuberculosis. PLoS One. 2008;3(12):e3840.
- 153. Gaseitsiwe S, Valentini D, Mahdavifar S, Reilly M, Ehrnst A, Maeurer M. Peptide microarray-based identification of Mycobacterium tuberculosis epitope binding to HLA-DRB1*0101, DRB1*1501, and DRB1*0401. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2010;17(1):168–75.
- 154. Ambati A, Valentini D, Montomoli E, Lapini G, Biuso F, Wenschuh H, et al. H1N1 viral proteome peptide microarray predicts individuals at risk for H1N1 infection and segregates infection versus Pandemrix vaccination. Immunology. 2015;145(3):357–66.
- 155. Perez-Bercoff L, Valentini D, Gaseitsiwe S, Mahdavifar S, Schutkowski M, Poiret T, et al. Whole CMV proteome pattern recognition analysis after HSCT identifies unique epitope targets associated with the CMV status. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e89648.
- 156. Gaseitsiwe S, Valentini D, Ahmed R, Mahdavifar S, Magalhaes I, Zerweck J, et al. Major histocompatibility complex class II molecule-human immunodeficiency virus peptide analysis using a microarray chip. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16(4): 567–73.
- 157. Ferrara G, Valentini D, Rao M, Wahlstrom J, Grunewald J, Larsson LO, et al. Humoral immune profiling of mycobacterial antigen recognition in sarcoidosis and Lofgren's syndrome using high-content peptide microarrays. Int J Infect Dis. 2017;56:167.

- WHO. World cancer report 2014. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, World Health Organisation; 2014.
- 159. Al-Mansour Z, Nelson BP, Evens AM. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD): risk factors, diagnosis, and current treatment strategies. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2013;8(3):173–83.
- 160. Karbach J, Gnjatic S, Pauligk C, Bender A, Maeurer M, Schultze JL, et al. Tumor-reactive CD8+ T-cell clones in patients after NY-ESO-1 peptide vaccination. Int J Cancer. 2007;121(9):2042–8.
- 161. Chen JL, Dawoodji A, Tarlton A, Gnjatic S, Tajar A, Karydis I, et al. NY-ESO-1 specific antibody and cellular responses in melanoma patients primed with NY-ESO-1 protein in ISCOMATRIX and boosted with recombinant NY-ESO-1 fowlpox virus. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(6):E590–601.
- 162. Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, et al. NY-ESO-1specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):914–21.
- 163. Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. A pilot trial using lymphocytes genetically engineered with an NY-ESO-1-reactive T-cell receptor: long-term follow-up and correlates with response. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(5):1019–27.
- 164. Fonteneau JF, Brilot F, Munz C, Gannage M. The tumor antigen NY-ESO-1 mediates direct recognition of melanoma cells by CD4+ T cells after intercellular antigen transfer. J Immunol. 2016;196(1):64–71.
- 165. Jacquelot N, Enot DP, Flament C, Vimond N, Blattner C, Pitt JM, et al. Chemokine receptor patterns in lymphocytes mirror metastatic spreading in melanoma. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(3):921–37.
- 166. Munson DJ, Egelston CA, Chiotti KE, Parra ZE, Bruno TC, Moore BL, et al. Identification of shared TCR sequences from T cells in human breast cancer using emulsion RT-PCR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(29):8272–7.
- 167. Sims JS, Grinshpun B, Feng Y, Ung TH, Neira JA, Samanamud JL, et al. Diversity and divergence of the glioma-infiltrating T-cell receptor repertoire. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(25):E3529–37.
- 168. Gilchuk P, Spencer CT, Conant SB, Hill T, Gray JJ, Niu X, et al. Discovering naturally processed antigenic determinants that confer protective T cell immunity. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(5): 1976–87.
- 169. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, YC L, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. Science. 2014;344(6184):641–5.
- 170. Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, YC L, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. Science. 2015;350(6266):1387–90.
- Cohen CJ, Gartner JJ, Horovitz-Fried M, Shamalov K. Trebska-McGowan K, Bliskovsky VV, et al.
Isolation of neoantigen-specific T cells from tumor and peripheral lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(10):3981–91.

- 172. Reshef R, Luskin MR, Kamoun M, Vardhanabhuti S, Tomaszewski JE, Stadtmauer EA, et al. Association of HLA polymorphisms with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid-organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(4):817–25.
- 173. Subklewe M, Marquis R, Choquet S, Leblond V, Garnier JL, Hetzer R, et al. Association of human leukocyte antigen haplotypes with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease after solid organ transplantation. Transplantation. 2006;82(8):1093–100.
- 174. Pourfarziani V, Einollahi B, Taheri S, Nemati E, Nafar M, Kalantar E. Associations of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) haplotypes with risk of developing lymphoproliferative disorders after renal transplantation. Ann Transplant. 2007;12(4):16–22.
- 175. Bertoletti A, Brunetto M, Maini MK, Bonino F, Qasim W, Stauss H. T cell receptor-therapy in HBVrelated hepatocellularcarcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(6):e1008354.
- 176. Stronen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. Science. 2016;352(6291):1337–41.
- 177. Dvorak CC, Gilman AL, Horn B, Jaroscak J, Dunn EA, Baxter-Lowe LA, et al. Clinical and immunologic outcomes following haplocompatible donor lymphocyte infusions. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;44(12):805–12.
- 178. Neuenhahn M, Albrecht J, Odendahl M, Schlott F, Dossinger G, Schiemann M, et al. Transfer of minimally manipulated CMV-specific T cells from stem cell or third-party donors to treat CMV infection after allo-HSCT. Leukemia. 2017.
- 179. Mennonna D, Maccalli C, Romano MC, Garavaglia C, Capocefalo F, Bordoni R, et al. T cell neoepitope discovery in colorectal cancer by high throughput profiling of somatic mutations in expressed genes. Gut. 2017;66(3):454–63.
- 180. Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immune-based mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationale-based combined treatments against cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):15–25.
- 181. Wang LX, Mei ZY, Zhou JH, Yao YS, Li YH, YH X, et al. Low dose decitabine treatment induces CD80 expression in cancer cells and stimulates tumor specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e62924.
- 182. Fan H, Lu X, Wang X, Liu Y, Guo B, Zhang Y, et al. Low-dose decitabine-based chemoimmunotherapy for patients with refractory advanced solid tumors: a phase I/II report. J Immunol Res. 2014;2014:371087.
- Siva S, MacManus MP, Martin RF, Martin OA. Abscopal effects of radiation therapy: a clinical review for the radiobiologist. Cancer Lett. 2015;356(1):82–90.
- 184. Silk AW, Bassetti MF, West BT, Tsien CI, Lao CD. Ipilimumab and radiation therapy

for melanoma brain metastases. Cancer Med. 2013;2(6):899–906.

- 185. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203(5):1259–71.
- Formenti SC, Demaria S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer immunotherapy: a paradigm shift. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(4):256–65.
- 187. D'Souza NM, Fang P, Logan J, Yang J, Jiang W, Li J. Combining radiation therapy with immune checkpoint blockade for central nervous system malignancies. Front Oncol. 2016;6:212.
- 188. Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, Rose RC, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol. 2005;174(12):7516–23.
- 189. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, Braunstein S, Badura M, Cameron TO, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181(5):3099–107.
- 190. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114(3):589–95.
- 191. Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert JK, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(17):5379–88.
- 192. Kang J, Demaria S, Formenti S. Current clinical trials testing the combination of immunotherapy with radiotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:51.
- 193. Cohen JV, Kluger HM. Systemic immunotherapy for the treatment of brain metastases. Front Oncol. 2016;6:49.
- 194. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(10):925–31.
- 195. Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):62–8.
- 196. Chen YY. Efficient gene editing in primary human T cells. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(11):667–9.
- 197. Arsenio J, Metz PJ, Chang JT. Asymmetric cell division in T lymphocyte fate diversification. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(11):670–83.
- Gollwitzer ES, Marsland BJ. Impact of early-life exposures on immune maturation and susceptibility to disease. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(11):684–96.
- Wertek F, Xu C. Digital response in T cells: to be or not to be. Cell Res. 2014;24(3):265–6.
- 200. Huang J, Brameshuber M, Zeng X, Xie J, Li QJ, Chien YH, et al. A single peptide-major histocompatibility complex ligand triggers digital cytokine secretion in CD4(+) T cells. Immunity. 2013;39(5):846–57.

The Secrets of T Cell Polarization

Thaiz Rivera Vargas and Lionel Apetoh

Contents

5.1	Introduction	69
5.2	Transcriptional and Epigenetic Regulation of T Cell	
	Differentiation	71
5.2.1	A Network of Pioneer and Master	
	Regulators, Transcription Factors, Governs	
	CD4 ⁺ T Cell Differentiation	71
5.2.2	An Expression Gradient of Multiple	
	Factors to Control the Balance Between	
	Effector-Like and Memory-Like T Cell	
	Differentiation	74
5.2.3	ncRNAs in the Epigenetic Control of T	
	Cell Differentiation	15
5.3	Metabolic State and T Lymphocyte	
	Differentiation	77
5.3.1	Metabolic Reprogramming During T Cell	
	Activation	77
5.3.2	Metabolic Checkpoints and Pathways	
	Controlling T Cell Differentiation	77
5.3.3	Metabolic State and T Cell	
	Differentiation	80
5.4	T Cell Transcriptional Plasticity	80

T. Rivera Vargas INSERM, U1231, Dijon, France

Université de Bourgogne Franche Comté, Dijon, France

L. Apetoh (🖂) INSERM, U1231, Dijon, France

Université de Bourgogne Franche Comté, Dijon, France

Centre Georges François Leclerc, Dijon, France e-mail: lionel.apetoh@inserm.fr

5.4.1	Cytokines, the Master Regulators	
	of Plasticity	81
5.4.2	Transcriptional and Epigenetic Modulation	
	of T Cell Plasticity	82
5.4.3	Metabolic Regulation of Plasticity	83
5.5	T Cell Differentiation Defects	
	and Human Diseases	83
5.6	Concluding Thoughts	84
Refer	ences	85

5.1 Introduction

Genetic mutations can trigger cell transformation, possibly leading to the development of a tumor. However, the immune system, as initially postulated by Burnet in 1957, usually prevents the formation of clinically detectable tumors. Actors involved in the so-called immunosurveillance process, which is discussed elsewhere in this guide, include innate effectors and innate molecules such as gamma delta T-cells [1], natural killer cells (NK) [2], dendritic cells (DCs) [3], natural killer T-cells (NKT) [4], TRAIL [5], perforin/granzyme [6] as well as members of adaptive immune responses (B- and T-cells) [7]. Accordingly, mice lacking the recombinationactivating gene 2 (RAG2), which is essential for B and T cell generation, are more prone to develop spontaneous and chemically induced tumors compared to wild-type mice. T cells, which are essential for clearing viral, protozoan, and intracellular bacterial infections [8], are

indeed key actors in the immunosurveillance of cancer. In preclinical cancer models, antibodies against CD8 were shown to effectively block the spontaneous rejection of transplantable tumors [9]. Subsequently, adaptive immune responses were demonstrated to be crucial to limit growth of mutagen-induced spontaneous tumors [7, 10]. Interestingly, depletion of CD4 and CD8 T cells during the equilibrium phase of cancer growth, where cancer cells persist but are kept in check by the immune system [11], reinstates cancer progression, underscoring the importance of T cells in controlling cancer growth over long time periods [12].

T cells have also been shown to be essential effector cells in the context of anticancer therapies. We and others have shown that the anticancer efficacy of various anticancer agents relies on their ability to not only kill cancer cells but also induce T cell-dependent anticancer responses [13–17]. Thus, an interesting feature of anticancer treatments is their potential ability to induce anticancer immune responses targeted to tumor antigens. Indeed, while radiotherapy and chemotherapy regimens induce potent direct tumor cell death, the release of cellular components from dying cells such as "damage-associated molecular patterns" [18] has previously been shown to elicit T cell dependent immune responses and contribute to tumor elimination [19-21]. The induction of T cell responses relies on a close cooperation between innate and adaptive immune cells. First, the capture of tumor antigens by dendritic cells (DC) is indispensable for the subsequent antigen processing in late endosomes by DC. Second, upon activation DCs migrate from tumor beds to draining lymph nodes and become fully mature [22]. This then results in the presentation of antigenic peptides on DC major histocompatibility (MHC) class I and II molecules to antigen specific CD4 and CD8 T-cells and triggers their activation (signal 1). The recognition of co-stimulatory molecules (signal 2) and the production of cytokines by mature DC (signal 3) lead to the polarization and full activation of T cells [23, 24]. Finally, DC drive the expression of chemokine receptors on T cells, thereby enabling their migration to the tumor bed, leading to tumor eradication [25, 26].

One of the ways to categorize T cell subsets is to study their expression of CD62L and CCR7 [27, 28]. T cells strongly expressing these two markers home to secondary lymphoid organs and possibly become activated after encountering DC. Naive T cells (T_N) , which have not yet been activated by antigen, belong to this category as well as two other T cell subsets that have already met their antigen, central memory cells (T_{CM}), and T memory stem cells (T_{SCM}). These cells preferentially locate in lymphoid organs and feature strong proliferative abilities. By contrast, other T cell subsets, including effector memory (T_{EM}) and effector T cells (T_{EFF}) locate in peripheral tissues where they execute their effector functions. These cells, which have strongly downregulated CD62L and CCR7 expression, harbor potent and rapid secretion of proinflammatory cytokines following activation and can exhibit cytotoxic activity against antigen-expressing targets. The role of these different cell subsets in a cancer setting has been reviewed [16, 29].

Naive CD4 T cells differentiate into several subsets, which express distinct transcription factors, secrete different cytokine panels, and exert various immune functions. This has led to the concept of functional heterogeneity among different CD4 T cells. Th1 cells secrete IFN-γ and limit infections caused by intracellular bacteria while Th2 cells secrete IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13, and skew the immune response toward humoral immunity [30]. Since the initial description of the Th1/Th2 dichotomy, novel subsets of effector and regulatory CD4 T cells have been characterized such as Th17 cells, which secrete IL-17 and promote inflammation, Foxp3 regulatory T cells (Tregs), which express the Foxp3 transcription factor and suppress immune responses, and IL-10secreting Tr1 cells that also regulate immune responses and rely on the transcription factors c-Maf and AhR for their development [31]. Th9 cells, which can be differentiated from naive CD4 T cells in the presence of TGF- β and IL-4, were next characterized as CD4 T cells expressing the PU.1 transcription factor and secreting the cytokine IL-9. While Th9 cells were originally shown to promote inflammation in colitis, asthma, and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE),

in the mouse model for multiple sclerosis, we and others have recently shown that these cells exhibit potent anticancer properties upon adoptive transfer in vivo [32–34]. Overall, the ability of T cells to differentiate into different types of effector cells will shape the quality and magnitude of adaptive immune responses with a clear relevance to a vast number of diseases. Here, we will review the regulation of T cell differentiation with a focus on the molecular mechanisms that dictate T cell fate. The direct exploitation of T cell properties for the treatment of cancer will not be discussed here as this segment is dedicated to presenting the molecular bases of T cell differentiation. The relevance of T cell manipulation to treat cancer will be abundantly discussed in segments 2, 3, 4, and 5. We will however conclude this chapter by presenting the pathological consequences of defective T cell differentiation for human diseases.

5.2 Transcriptional and Epigenetic Regulation of T Cell Differentiation

5.2.1 A Network of Pioneer and Master Regulators, Transcription Factors, Governs CD4⁺ T Cell Differentiation

Differentiation of T helper (T_H) and regulatory T (Treg) cells from CD4+ T cells represents a relatively late-stage of differentiation. Antigens and cytokines are key extracellular signals sensed by T cells through T cell receptors (TCRs) and cytokine receptors. Ligation of antigens to TCRs activates transcription factors (TFs) such as nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), and activator protein 1 (AP-1), whereas cytokines binding to their cognate cytokine receptors leads to activation of factors such as signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) [35–40]. The affinity of a TCR for its cognate antigen on MHC molecules, combined with co-stimulatory receptor-ligand interactions, generates variable intensities of cytosolic signals that govern the activities of downstream pioneer TFs. Variations in TCR signaling intensities

influence the differentiation of CD4+ T cell subsets by tuning their response to different cytokines, inducing the expression of specific cytokine receptors or by impinging on the activation of specific STATs [41, 42]. In general, a strong TCR signal is known to favor T_H1, T_H17, and T_{FH} cell differentiation, while weak TCR signal promotes development of T_H2 cells and induced Treg cells (*i*Treg) [43–46] (Fig. 5.1a). The cytokines signal through type I/II cytokine receptor superfamily that uses Janus kinase (JAK)–STAT signaling pathway to convert environmental signals into intrinsic signals that initiate specific gene expression programs [122]. STATs are DNA-binding regulatory proteins able to drive selective gene expression program that determines specification of a relevant T_H-cell subset [123, 124]. Sensing of the extracellular environment through TCR and cytokine receptor signaling activates a coordinated network of pioneer TFs that regulate global chromatin state and the expression of $T_{\rm H}$ specific master regulators. Notably, AP-1, interferon regulatory factors (IRFs), STATs and NFAT, among other factors, recruit co-activators such as chromatin remodelers, histone acetyltransferases, like p300, and enzymes responsible for histones methylation, like H3K4me1. These chromatin-modifying factors act to increase accessibility of regulatory elements [125, 126]. Finally, this activated network of pioneer factors builds a specific epigenetic landscape essential for CD4+ T cells master regulators subsequent binding to mediate lineagespecific gene expression programs (Fig. 5.1a).

Initially, CD4⁺ T cell master regulators were described as TFs associated with different functional lineages essential and sufficient for driving specific cell fates. T-bet is the master regulator for T_{H1} cells, GATA3 for T_{H2} cells, PU.1 for T_{H9} cells, ROR γ t for T_{H17} cells, BCL-6 for T_{FH} cells, and FOXP3 for T_{reg} cells [127] (Fig. 5.1a). Interestingly, several groups showed that the epigenetic signature of T_{H1} cells or T_{H2} cells is perturbed by deletion of T-bet or GATA3, respectively, although transcription of mRNA encoding the lineage defining cytokines is reduced in cells deficient for T-bet and GATA3 [128, 129]. These data indicate that while TFs



Fig. 5.1 T cell differentiation. (a) CD4⁺T cell differentiation: $T_H l$: Coupled with a strong TCR activation IL-12 initiates T_H1 cell differentiation through phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of STAT4, which then binds the regulatory elements of target genes such as IRF1 and IFNy. IFNy induces phosphorylation of STAT1 and activates the transcription of the T_H1 master regulator T-bet (Tbx21) that in turn acts in a positive feedback loop to amplify the T_H1 differentiation. STAT4 further promotes specification in T_H1 cell lineage by negatively regulating the genes favoring T_{H2} cell differentiation [47–49] while T-bet stimulates transcription of Ifng by establishing a positive feedback loop and further potentiates the IL-12 signaling [50, 51]. However, STAT4 is required for T-bet to achieve IL-12-dependent specification of T_H1 cell lineage [52]. Moreover, T-bet interacts with other transcriptional regulators of T_H-cell differentiation, for instance with the members of Ets, and Hlx families, RUNX3,

BCL-6 [53, 54], GATA3 [55, 56], RUNX1 [57, 58], and IRF4 [59] to oppose the alternative cell lineages by negatively regulating the expression of their lineage defining genes. At the later stage of T_H1 cell differentiation, T-bet-BCL-6 complex represses Ifng transcription to keep the production of IFNy in control as excessive production of IFN γ could cause autoimmunity [60]. T_{H2} : Coupled with a weak TCR activation IL-4 initiates T_H2 cell differentiation by phosphorylating STAT6, which then translocates to the nucleus and activates transcription of Il4 and Gata3 the key cytokine and TF, respectively, needed for T_H2 cell lineage specification. GATA3 is the master regulator of T_H2 cell differentiation that auto-regulates its own expression by binding to its regulatory elements to further amplify T_H2 differentiation [61]. GATA3 promotes T_H2 differentiation and maintains the cellular identity through distinct mechanisms. GATA3 induces transcription of T_H2-specific cytokine genes (II4, II5, and II13 genes) through interacting with co-factors, and by inducing epigenetic modifications [62, 63]. Recent reports on genomewide mapping of GATA3-binding sites suggested that GATA3 directly controls the expression of a large number of genes involved in $T_{\rm H}^2$ differentiation [64, 65]. For instance, GATA3 cooperates with STAT6 for its binding to regulatory sites of its target genes in $T_{\rm H}2$ cells [65]. GATA3 also acts as repressor of transcription of genes important for lineage specification and commitment of the alternative Th-cell lineages [66]. For example, GATA3 interacts with T-bet and RUNX3 to repress T_H1 differentiation [55, 66, 67]. $T_H 9$: A combination of TGF- β and IL-4 cytokines coupled with TCR activation initiates T_H9 cell differentiation in naive CD4+ T cells by inducing the expression of PU.1 (purine-rich box 1) and IRF4 directly regulating the transcription of the *Il9* gene through direct binding to its regulatory elements [68]. In $T_{\rm H}9$ cells, IL-4 activates Stat6 and Irf4 expression, while TGF-β stimulates the expression of PU.1, which is the master regulator of $T_{\rm H}9$ cells. PU.1 inhibits the transcription of Tbx21 and Gata3 while induces IL-9 expression [69]. Enforced expression of PU.1 in CD4⁺ T cells greatly enhanced T_H9 cell development by TGF-B and IL-4, while deficiency of PU.1 aborted $T_{\rm H}9$ cell differentiation [70]. Similar experimental approach revealed that IRF4 had a similar effect on T_H9 development as PU.1 [71]. Both PU.1 and IRF4 bind to the Il9 promoter to induce transcription of Il9 gene [70, 71]. Computational analysis of regulatory sites at *Il9* locus has identified binding sites for several other TFs, such as AP-1, NF-KB, NFAT, GATA3, GATA1, STATs, SMADs, and NOTCH [69]. Moreover, studies have indicated the role of NF-kB, Notch receptors, BATF, and Smad2/Smad3 in regulating T_H9 responses [72, 73]. However, the mechanisms by which these TFs regulate $T_{\rm H}9$ development remain to be further studied. $T_{\rm H}17$: Strong TCR activation and cytokines (IL-6, IL-23, TGF-β and IL-1B) stimulation induce pioneer and lineage-specific and other TFs that control the specification and commitment of developing T_H17 cells. STAT3 initiates lineage specification by directly regulating the transcription of several target genes required for T_H17 development including lineage-specific TFs, RORa, and RORyt [74, 75]. ROR γ t is the master regulator of T_H17 cells [76–78]. However, several other TFs expressed in T_H17 cells were shown to positively or negatively regulate T_H17 cell differentiation. For example, TFs including RORα, RUNX1,

BATF, IRF4, and HIF1 α promote T_H17 differentiation through various signaling pathways [68, 77-87]. TFs that suppress T_H17 development include T-bet, FOXP3, and IRF8 [40, 88–98]. T_{FH} : Differentiation of T_{FH} cells is induced by a strong TCR activation, IL-6 and IL-21. T_{FH} cells express BCL-6 as their master regulator [99-103]. Depletion of BCL-6 in CD4+ T cells results in a failure to produce T_{FH} cells, whereas BCL-6 overexpression promotes T_{FH} cell development indicating that BCL-6 is necessary and sufficient for T_{FH} cell differentiation [39, 104, 105]. Furthermore, BCL-6 is a transcriptional repressor acting on the transcription of lineage-specific TFs of alternative T_H cell lineages, such as Tbx21, Roryt, and Gata3 [106]. However, expression of BCL-6 is not restricted to T_{FH} cells, but expressed in other T_H lineages as well [107]. Other regulators of T_{FH} cell differentiation include STAT3/5, IRF4, c-MAF, and BATF. STAT3 depletion significantly reduced the CXCR5+ T_{FH} cells as well as caused defective germinal center responses and B cell helps both in human and mouse [108, 109] T_{reg} : FOXP3 is a master regulator important for the development and homeostasis of T_{reg} cell. FOXP3 expression is required for T_{reg}-mediated tolerance both in mice and human because FOXP3-deficient T_{reg} cells have been linked with severe autoimmunity [110-112]. Global mapping of FOXP3-binding sites in Treg cells revealed that FOXP3 is actually only partly accountable for T_{reg} signatures [113–117] suggesting the role of other TFs in the regulation of Treg cell development [113, 118]. In fact, FOXP3 interacts with other nuclear factors to cooperate in determining the Treg signature and functions [119]. TFs, such as EOS, IRF4, SATB1, LEF1, and GATA1, can work together with FOXP3 to form a transcriptional network governing T_{reg} cell differentiation [120]. Moreover, TCR signaling induced TFs such as NF-KB, NFAT, AP-1, and FOXO1 were shown to regulate development and function of T_{reg} [119, 121]. A dashed arrow represents a strong TCR signal and a thin arrow a weak TCR signal. (b) TFs in the terminal-effector versus memory CD8+ T lymphocyte fate decision: Prominent examples of factors that can promote effectorlike or memory-like differentiation. For instance, the amounts of TFs pairs T-bet-Eomes, Id2-Id3, and Blimp-1-BCL-6 are key, and a gradient effect in which increasing amounts of T-bet, Id2, and Blimp-1 favors increasing differentiation into terminal effector cells

Туре	Polarizing cytokine in vitro	Transcription factor	References
Tc1	IL-2, IL-12	T-bet, Blim-1, Id2, IRF4	[133–135]
Tc2	IL-4	GATA3	[136–138]
Tc9	TGF-β, IL-4	IRF4	[139–141]
Tc17	TGF-β, IL-6, IL-21	RORγt, RORα, IRF4	[142–144]
CD8 ⁺ Treg	TGF-β	FOXP3	[145–147]

Table 5.1 Overview of effector CD8⁺T-cell subpopulations, their polarizing cytokines and the transcription factors important for their differentiation

such as T-bet and GATA3 control expression of some of the key genes associated with $T_H 1$ and $T_{\rm H}2$ cells, the fundamental identity of these lineages is established by other transcriptional events, directed by upstream pioneering factors that regulate accessibility of the entire transcriptional network to key sites of gene regulation. However, despite the relatively small regulatory footprint of master regulators factors, in vivo loss-of-function studies support the importance of master regulators in heritable maintenance of cellular phenotype, environmental responsiveness, and plasticity. For instance, in vivo, FOXP3 is critical for T_{reg} cell identity and loss of FOXP3 in mature T_{reg} cells results in their dedifferentiation, acquisition of alternative T-cell subset phenotype and extensive immunopathologies [130, 131]. In addition, master regulators engage in positive feedback loops for core lineage TFs expression and augment expression of cooperatively regulated genes, thereby adapting and stabilizing the transcriptional program. Master regulators simultaneously inhibit the expression of genes instructing alternative lineages such as other master regulators factors or cytokines instructing opposing lineages.

5.2.2 An Expression Gradient of Multiple Factors to Control the Balance Between Effector-Like and Memory-Like T Cell Differentiation

An activated CD8⁺ T cell is exposed to a myriad array of signals, such as cytokines, growth factors, and environmental cues. How these signals are transmitted into cells and translated into gene expression patterns that promote effector differentiation yet also preserve a long-lived and multipotent pool of cells that can self-renew is an important question. Despite the fact that CD8⁺ T lymphocytes exhibit less functional diversity than CD4⁺ T, TFs specifying CD8⁺ T cell decision into Tc1, Tc2, Tc9, Tc17 or CD8⁺ T regulatory fate were described. Indeed a growing list of TFs has been linked to various aspects of effector or memory T cell biology. For Tc1 differentiation, the expression of BCL-6, Blimp-1, Eomes, Id2, Id3, TCF-7, Foxo1 and T-bet is decisive for the effector versus memory fate. Additionally, IRF4 has been shown to be crucial for effector and memory Tc1 differentiation. Similar to its function in CD4⁺ T cells, IRF4 is essential for the differentiation of CD8⁺ T cells to Tc9 and Tc17 cells while only a minority of CD8⁺ Treg cells express the lineage-specific factor Foxp3 [132] (Table 5.1).

An important conceptual model in the transcriptional regulation of CD8+ T cell differentiation is that pairs of transcription factors operate in opposing ways to facilitate the terminal-effector versus memory CD8+ T lymphocyte fates (Fig. 5.1b). For instance, T-bet expression is induced initially by TCR signaling and augmented by IL-12 signals in activated CD8⁺ T cells [148, 149]. In virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells, T-bet expression was found to be elevated in the KLRG1^{hi}IL-7R^{lo}shorter lived effector CD8⁺T cells relative to the KLRG1^{lo}IL-7R^{hi} memory precursor effector CD8⁺ T cells [148, 150]. This finding suggests that an expression gradient of T-bet acted like a rheostat to control the balance between terminal effector CD8+ T-cell differentiation and memory cell potential in effector CD8⁺ T cells. Higher amounts of T-bet instructed KLRG1^{hi}IL-7R^{lo} terminal effector cell formation, but lower amounts appeared to permit normal memory cell formation. Eomesodermin (Eomes), another T-box factor expressed in activated CD8+ T cells, is also important for CD122 and perforin expression in CD8+ T cells [148, 150, 151]. On one hand, T-bet and Eomes appear to cooperate in cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) function and memory T-cell homeostasis. T-bet and Eomes coordinate the expression of CD122 in memory CD8⁺ T cells [148, 150] and CD8⁺ T cells that are doubly deficient in both genes are incapable of generating CTLs during lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection. Instead, Tbx21-/-Eomes-/-CD8+ T cells abnormally differentiated into IL-17-producing CD8⁺ T cells that caused excessive neutrophil infiltration and a lethal inflammatory syndrome [152, 153]. On the other hand, in contrast to T-bet, IL-12 paradoxically suppresses Eomes expression and Eomes expression preferentially increases relative to T-bet as memory CD8+ T cells form and mature [149]. This counterbalance also applies to the transcription factor pair Id2 and Id3 [154, 155] and the pair Blimp-1 and BCL-6 [156-159] and perhaps other pairs (Fig. 5.1b). While the paradigm described above has been mainly characterized in CD8⁺ T cells, this same system also seems to control CD4+ T cell memory. Indeed, the pair Blimp-1 and BCL-6 has been reported to influence effector versus memory subsets of CD4+ T cells [157–159].

The classic notion that a single TF or pair of TFs can control a whole differentiation program is clearly an oversimplification. Key TFs such as those described above actually operate with numerous locally bound cofactors [160, 161]. The mapping of combinatorial interactions among known TFs and the correlation with tissue-specific expression led to the estimation that tissue-type specification would be accomplished by networks of approximately 15 TFs [162]. Thus a particular TF may be expressed in multiple tissues, but only the coexpression and colocalization of a specific set of TFs in a given tissue enables their interaction and the specification of a unique fate. Indeed, like in CD4⁺ T cells [35, 79, 163], BATF and IRF4 act as pioneer factors in CD8⁺ T cells [164]. Loss of either BATF [164–166] or IRF4 [133, 165, 167–169] greatly perturbs the early phases of the CD8⁺ T cell

immune response, which results in collapse of the effector phase after initial proliferation. Interestingly, this is accompanied by disrupted regulation of a large percentage of genes associated with CD8⁺ T cell activation, including genes encoding key TFs and molecules that control metabolism, as well as molecules associated with effector functions [164]. However, additional work in deciphering the roles of BATF and IRF4 in regulating chromatin accessibility during the CD8⁺T cell response is crucial to elucidate how the activation of a naive T cell establishes a chromatin landscape suitable for lineage-specific gene expression. There is robust evidence that cells with strong memory potential are established very early in the immune response, how this may be influenced by early modifications to gene accessibility is a key question. Another important component of understanding how heterogeneity arises in the effector population and contributes to memory formation will probably include a description of the enhancers and regulatory regions of different CD8+ T cell subsets, as well as their accessibility at different stages of the immune response, and identification of the many factors that bind those regions [64, 170-172]. A major challenge for the field will be to integrate this information with data on TFs such as those described above, microRNAs and long noncoding RNAs, to generate comprehensive understanding of the events that determine heterogeneous lymphocyte fates.

5.2.3 ncRNAs in the Epigenetic Control of T Cell Differentiation

Non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are classified into two major categories [173]. For instance, miR-NAs belong to the small ncRNAs category and regulate gene expression by binding to the coding or untranslated regions (UTRs) of target mRNA transcripts and resulting in either mRNA degradation or inhibition of translation [174]. Long ncRNAs show high degree of tissue and speciesspecific expression and there are reports on their role in gene regulation [175]. Depletion of microRNA-processing endonucleases *Drosha* and *Dicer* genes caused disturbances in the stability and function of T_H cells, indicating a role of regulatory ncRNAs in T-cell differentiation [176–178]. Different studies build a "microRNome" or "lncRNome" to categorize a set of microRNAs and lncRNAs regulating lineage commitment during T_H -cell differentiation both in mouse and human lymphocytes [179, 180]. Several other studies have focused on identifying unique miRNAs that regulate the development and function of the T_H cells (Table 5.2). IncRNAs use a range of different molecular mechanisms to modulate gene expression. Several lncRNAs have been associated with T cell differentiation and function. For instance, NRON lncRNA regulates NFAT function [208], lncRNA, GAS5 halts T cell growth [209], and NeST lncRNA is selectively expressed in T_H1 cells and drives *Ifnγ* expression [210, 211]. Global analysis of lncRNAs in mouse CD8⁺ T cells identified several lncRNAs that potentially regulate their activation and differentiation [211].

MicroRNAs	Target genes	Function	References
miR-17-92	Bim, Pten, Pd1, Btla	Modulates DN to DP transition. Skews differentiation toward short-lived terminal effector cells by increasing mTOR signaling, promotes effector CD8 ⁺ T-cell expansion. Controls T_H1 differentiation	[174, 181–183]
miR-10a	Bcl-6	Regulates the flexibility of T _H cells	[184]
miR-21	Ifng	Regulates $T_{\rm H}$ 17differentiation Highly expressed in effector and memory CD8 ⁺ T cells	[185–187]
miR-125	Ifng, Il2R β, Il10Rα, Blimp1	Maintains the naive state of T-cell. Involved in T_{reg} differentiation	[188, 189]
miR-125b	Ifng, Il2R β, Il10Rα, Prdm1	CD4 ⁺ naive T-cell–specific microRNA with a crucial role in the process of naive T-cell differentiation	[177]
miR-126	?	Modulates T _H 2 responses	[190]
miR-142-3p	Rac1, Rock2	Repressed by FOXP3 leading to increased suppressor function of T_{reg} cells. Highly expressed in CD8 ⁺ T-cells	[187, 191–193]
miR-146a	Irak1, Traf6 Stat1	Highly expressed in T_{reg} and T_{H1} cells Plays a role in Treg cell-mediated T_{H1} responses	[174, 194, 195]
miR-146b	?	Regulates T _H 17differentiation	[185]
miR-147	?	Modulates T _H 1 differentiation	[196]
miR-150	Notch3	Modulates maturation from DP to SP stage of thymocyte	[174, 197–199]
miR-155	c-Maf, IfnγRα Socs1	Knockout mice have increased $T_H 2$ cell generation and reduced $T_H 17$ and $T_H 1$ cells Regulates the development of T_{reg}	[197, 200, 201]
miR-181a	SHP2, PTPN22 DUSP5, DUSP6 Bcl-2, CD69 TCR alpha	Increases TCR signaling in thymocytes and peripheral T-cells, modulates T cell sensitivity in response to antigens, and regulates T cell and B cell development positive selection in thymocyte	[183, 202, 203]
miR-181c	112	Negatively regulates CD4+ T-cell activation	[204]
miR-182	Foxol	Increases clonal expansion of activated T _H	[205]
miR-210	Hif1-α	Regulates T _H 17 cell differentiation	[206]
miR-301a	Pias3	Contributes to the development of the $T_{\rm H}17$ subset via targeting the IL-6/23–STAT3 pathway	[186]
miR-326	Ets-1	Promotes T _H 17 differentiation	[207]

Table 5.2 Overview of microRNAs relevant to T-lymphocyte differentiation

5.3 Metabolic State and T Lymphocyte Differentiation

T cell lineage differentiation is closely linked to changes in their cellular metabolic programs. Key metabolic processes such as glycolysis, fatty acid, and mitochondrial metabolism are crucial players in T cell activation and differentiation, and their modulation can differentially affect their fate and function.

5.3.1 Metabolic Reprogramming During T Cell Activation

In terms of metabolic activity, naive T cells are in a quiescent state [212, 213]. Upon antigen recognition, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ naive T cells become highly proliferative and differentiate. Upon TCR stimulation the expression of glycolysisassociated genes is upregulated, including the expression of transporters for extracellular nutrients, leading to a metabolic reprogramming during which the cell strongly increases the uptake of nutrients, especially glucose [214-216]. This metabolic reprogramming is under the control of the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) complex [216-220]. mTOR is a protein kinase that acts as a central integrator of various environmental cues and is able to regulate multiple cellular processes accordingly [221-225] (Fig. 5.2a). Among them are autophagy, glucose uptake and consumption (glycolysis), and the control of protein and lipid synthesis, all key processes during T cell activation [226, 227]. Activated T cells engage aerobic glycolysis. Intriguingly, in T cells, glycolysis is important for the regulation of GAPDH that functions as a metabolic checkpoint by linking T cell effector function to glucose availability. Indeed, in the absence of its substrate, GAPDH interferes with the translation of IFN γ in T_H1 cells. Importantly, most enzymes involved in glycolysis can enter the nucleus, like GAPDH, and appear to exert alternative functions that can directly affect the transcription and stability of factors associated with cell proliferation [228]. Fatty acid synthesis is also essential for T cell proliferation and differentiation by providing lipid supply [216, 229-231]. Fatty acid synthesis also participates in post-translational modification of proteins implicated in T cell activation [232-234]. For instance, myristoylation, a process that affects protein-lipid interactions and influences the cellular localization of proteins, is necessary for the events downstream of TCR signaling [232]. Thus it is possible that lipid-dependent modifications of, for example, TFs also influence their cellular localization, such as nuclear translocation, where they can initiate specific transcriptional programs. Despite the fact that T effector cells are highly glycolytic, Sena et al. demonstrated that their activation and proliferation can be sustained entirely by a functional mitochondrial metabolism [235]. Mitochondria also supports T cell activation by regulating its cytosolic calcium (Ca2+) uptake upon TCR engagement [236-240]. It was also shown that mitochondrial biogenesis is upregulated upon T cell activation [241]. Thus, mitochondrial remodeling and the increase of mitochondrial metabolism may actively support cell growth and proliferation following T cell activation.

5.3.2 Metabolic Checkpoints and Pathways Controlling T Cell Differentiation

T cells must meet certain metabolic criteria in order to properly differentiate. Accordingly, key metabolic regulators such as mTOR and AMPK help the cell to sense its metabolic state, controlling if and how activation and differentiation takes place. Additionally, the modulation of lipid metabolism also plays an important role in T cell differentiation (Fig. 5.2a).

The mTOR protein integrates signals that indicate the presence of nutrients and essential factors for cell growth and division, and links them to the appropriate metabolic processes [221–225, 242]. Importantly, genetic or pharmacological mTOR inhibition impairs effector T cell differentiation [243–245]. Indeed, mTOR activity seems to support $T_H 17$ development by the expression of S6 K2, which binds RORyt and



facilitates its transport inside the nucleus [246, 247]. Most studies so far confirm mTOR as a prerequisite for $T_H 17$ differentiation, however, its impact on other T lineages is less clear, and may strongly depend on the experimental model [248, 249]. While in vitro, naive T cells lacking mTOR expression spontaneously develop into T_{regs} even in the absence of exogenous TGF- β [250], in vivo, mice lacking mTOR develop general autoimmune responses [251]. This paradox was clarified by observations that T_{regs} proliferation needs transient mTOR inhibition [252]. In vitro, T_{regs} are exposed to a medium rich in nutrients and cytokines, which results in constant mTOR activation, leading to defective T_{regs} proliferation. In vivo, exposure to constantly changing conditions in the microenvironment might correlate with changing mTOR activity thus enabling T_{regs} proliferation [252, 253]. This result suggests that environmental signals that shape mTOR activity modulate the metabolic profile of T_{regs} in vivo [254]. Additionally, autophagy, a self-degradative intracellular process initiated under nutrient stress conditions, was shown to support the stability and survival fitness of T_{regs} by influencing the mTOR signaling [255]. T_{regs} that were unable to perform autophagy due to their Atg7-deficiency exhibit decreased lineage stability as compared to autophagy-competent Tregs. Upon adoptive transfer, Atg7-deficient T_{regs} lost FOXP3 expression and upregulated IFN γ or IL-17-production.

These defects were associated with mTOR hyperactivation after TCR signaling, c-Myc activation and upregulation of the glycolytic metabolism, together resulting in a shift towards effector T cell differentiation. Importantly, inhibition of mTOR by exposing the cells to rapamycin restored their lack of stability upon adoptive transfer [256]. Interestingly, data from our group show that, in T_H9 cells, genetic and pharmacological inhibition of autophagy enhance T_H9 cell differentiation in an mTOR independent fashion. Indeed, the absence of autophagy leads to an increased stabilization of T_H9 master regulator PU.1. mTOR also influences cell fate decisions during short-lived effector and long-lived memory CD4⁺T and CD8⁺T cell differentiation. Asymmetric mTOR activity in T_H cells that replicate resulted in lower mTORC1, a member of the mTOR complex, activity in one of the daughter cells, which was associated with a memory-like phenotype such as higher longevity. Hence, these findings indicate that the levels of mTOR activity can determine whether a cell will proceed to develop into an effector or memory phenotype already at an early time point after TCR stimulation and cell division [257].

AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated in response to nutrient shortage or other physiological stress, making AMPK an important sensor of the cellular energy levels [258, 259] (Fig. 5.2a). Studies using metformin, an activator

also function as an RNA-binding protein and regulate mRNA translation, GAPDH has been shown to regulate the translation of mRNA encoding effector molecules such as IFNy. GAPDH is engaged as a metabolic enzyme during glycolysis; however, when not engaged in glycolysis and when the cell generates ATP via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), GAPDH can bind the 3' untranslated region of cytokine-encoding mRNA and diminish translation. (b) Different T cell subsets and their main metabolic characteristics: T_{regs} and naive T cells have similar metabolic profiles, with most glucose and fatty acids being fully oxidized in the mitochondria for the generation of ATP. During the transition from naive to effector, there is a major upregulation of glucose uptake. Glutamine uptake also increases and fatty acid synthesis is engaged to nourish activation. In memory T cells, the mitochondrial mass is increased and a futile cycle of fatty acid synthesis and oxidation has been reported

Fig. 5.2 Metabolic state and T cell differentiation. (a) Integration of metabolic state and gene expression: mTOR is activated by environmental cues and signaling via receptors (TCRs, costimulatory receptors, and cytokine receptors) in T cells via kinase-dependent pathways. mTOR regulates cell growth, survival, and metabolism via multiple mechanisms, such as the induction of glycolysis through the stabilization of HIF1 α , as well as lipid and protein biosynthesis. mTOR promotes translation initiation and protein synthesis. The AMPK complex is activated when cellular energy levels decrease (ATP:AMP) and suppresses cell growth by blocking biosynthetic pathways and inhibiting mTOR. AMPK can induce fatty acid oxidation and suppress glycolysis. mTOR can induce activity of HIF1 α transcription factor that coordinates the cellular response to low oxygen tension, including induction of the expression of many molecules required for glycolysis. As an example of a metabolic enzyme that can

of AMPK, showed that $T_H 1/T_H 17$ differentiation was impaired after exposure to this compound [260, 261]. Despite these findings, AMPK appears to be dispensable for T cell differentiation under normal metabolic conditions, since T cells which lack a functional AMPK are still able to acquire effector functions [262, 263]. Considering that T cells are exposed to highly variable microenvironments, these findings suggest that AMPK works as a shield against suboptimal environmental conditions [264–266]. Additionally, generation of memory T cells is dependent on AMPK since AMPK-deficient CD8⁺ T cells, after a second exposure to antigen, are defective in their ability to undergo population expansion [267].

Lipid biosynthesis pathways also influence T-cell differentiation. During glycolysis the generated acetyl-coA gives rise to de novo FAS. While FAS is an anabolic process that supports cell proliferation, fatty acids can also be used by a catabolic process designated as fatty acid β -oxidation (FAO). Following activation, T cells switch from FAO to FAS [216, 229-231]. Accordingly, CD4+ T and CD8+ T cell proliferation was impaired by inhibition of FAS [230, 268, 269]. While inhibition of de novo FAS in T cells impaired $T_{\rm H}17$ and $T_{\rm H}1$ differentiation, $T_{\rm regs}$ development was enhanced. Moreover, blocking FAS even induced a shift from $T_H 17$ towards T_{reg} induction under $T_H 17$ culture conditions [230, 268, 270]. It was further shown that inhibition of FAS in T_H17 cells resulted in changed nuclear localization of RORyt and a decreased binding of this TF to enhancer regions in the *Il17a* locus [270]. Interestingly, the fatty acid and cholesterol composition of the cell was shown to modulate RORyt binding to different gene promoters such as *Il17* and *Il10* [271, 272].

5.3.3 Metabolic State and T Cell Differentiation

 T_{regs} and memory T cells have metabolic phenotypes close to naive T cells. In vitro differentiated T_{regs} have been reported to be less glycolytic and more reliant on FAO and oxidative phosphorylation (Oxphos) when compared to effector T cells [230, 273, 274] (Fig. 5.2a, b). Unlike effector T cells, memory T cells do not proliferate and produce little or no cytokines and display in general a catabolic metabolism, relying essentially on oxidation of glucose and fatty acids [231, 275]. However, memory T cells have several characteristics, which distinguish them metabolically from naive T cells. For example, CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ memory T cells possess an increased mitochondrial mass [276, 277] with the CD4+ T subset also displaying an enhanced spare glycolytic capacity such as higher cytosolic concentration of GAPDH [277]. Interestingly, memory CD8⁺ T cells simultaneously engaged FAS and FAO [278]. In general, the engagement of such a futile cycle is prevented to prevent waste of energy. Memory T cells may activate both processes likely to ensure immediate metabolic fitness in the event of restimulation [279]. Complementary studies have shown that manipulation of the effector CD8⁺ T cell metabolic profile also affects the differentiation of effector and memory subsets during the CD8⁺ T cell response. Inhibition of mTOR activity in effector CD8⁺ T can impair the production of effector molecules such as IFNy, granzyme B, and perforin [218, 280–282]. BCL-6, a memory T cell-associated transcription factor, has been shown to repress glycolytic molecule-encoding genes in CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ effector T cells [283], which provides a transcriptional link to the metabolic changes observed during memory formation. Thus, in multiple contexts, promoting mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation or suppressing glycolysis favors the emergence of antigenexperienced CD8⁺T cells with prolonged survival and antigen recall; conversely, driving glycolysis supports a more effector-like fate (Fig. 5.2b).

5.4 T Cell Transcriptional Plasticity

Lineage-tracing systems in mice have shown that endogenously polarized CD4⁺ T cells from many subsets change their phenotype during their lifespan [284–287] while CD8⁺ T cells studies have demonstrated that a single naive CD8⁺ T lymphocyte is able to give rise to both effector and memory lymphocytes [288, 289]. Subsequent studies showed that individual CD8⁺ T lymphocytes exhibit highly disparate tendencies to yield effector progeny heterogeneous in their proliferative capacity, cytokine production, and expression of phenotypic markers, including KLRG1 and IL-7R [290–293]. Curiously, the degree of heterogeneity appears to be somewhat tissue specific [290]. In humans, the combination of phenotypic analyses and sequencing of TCRs of clonal descendants of single cells reveals a high degree of heterogeneity in the type of T cell response generated from single T cells [294, 295]. All these observations revealed that during the course of its life cycle the phenotype of a single T cell is not stable. Indeed, a single T cell has the ability to take on characteristics of many T cell subsets simultaneously or at different times giving rise to the concept of T cell plasticity [132, 296–298]. Importantly, the ability to generate many various functional T cells associated with different T cell subsets from individual T cells seems advantageous for host immunity.

The prevalence of phenotypic plasticity in T cell immunity is well exemplified by T_{reg} cells, which, in response to different contexts, can polarize similar to other inflammatory T cell subsets. The phenotypic plasticity of T_{regs} that mirrors each T helper cell subset supports the hypothesis of an inherent flexibility of T cells, both inflammatory and regulatory, to adapt their function to changing environments. Similar to CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells also show some lineage plasticity. Indeed, Tc1 and CD8⁺T_{reg} cells seem to possess relatively stable fates while Tc2, Tc9, and Tc17 cells tend to acquire qualities of other subpopulations. Tc2 and Tc17 cells maintain their cytokine profile, but acquire additional characteristics of Tc1 cells. Tc9 cells appear to be relatively unstable in vivo with plasticity toward the Tc1 or Tc1/Tc2 fates [132].

5.4.1 Cytokines, the Master Regulators of Plasticity

Cytokines have a dominant role in driving the plasticity between CD4⁺ T cell subsets [299]. $T_{\rm H}$ 1 cells cultured with IL-4 or in the context of helminth infection in vivo repolarize the cells to produce IL-4 and to extinguish the expression of

IFN γ [300, 301]. T_H2 cells express T_H1-type cytokines when incubated with IL-12, IFNy, and type I IFNs [302, 303]. The discovery of $T_{\rm H}9$ cells further illustrates the plasticity among CD4⁺ T cells. Veldohen et al. showed that TGF- β was able to reprogram the differentiation of $T_{\rm H}2$ cells into IL-9 producing T cells while Dardalhon et al. demonstrated that IL-4 is able to block FOXP3 induction in T_{regs}, thereby inducing a population of T helper cells that predominantly produce IL-9 [68, 304]. Importantly, members of the IRF family are able to regulate $T_{\rm H}9$ cell plasticity. We actually show that IL-1 β , besides increasing IL-9 secretion from T_H9 cells, also enhances IL-21 secretion levels from differentiating $T_{\rm H}9$ cells [34]. The underlying mechanism involves STAT1-dependent activation of IRF1 and further illustrates the plasticity of the $T_{\rm H}9$ program. Intriguingly, adoptive transfer experiments indicated that the IL-1 β -induced $T_{\rm H}9$ cells maintained their transcriptional program in vivo, suggesting that the IL-1 β -induced expression of IRF1 contributes to stabilize the $T_{\rm H}9$ cell transcriptional program. The capacity of the $T_H 17$ cell subset to gain IFN γ expression or convert fully to T_H1 cells by losing the expression of IL-17 and RORyt requires the cytokines IL-12 or IL-23, both of which can activate STAT4 [286, 305, 306]. Polarized T_{FH} cells from mice can be induced to make T_H1-, T_H2-, or $T_{\rm H}$ 17-type cytokines, in addition to IL-21, by culturing them in the presence of IL-12, IL-4 or IL-6 and TGF- β , respectively, whereas T_H1, $T_{\rm H}2$, and $T_{\rm H}17$ cells can express IL-21, CXCR5, and programmed cell death 1 (PD-1) by culturing in T_{FH} cell conditions with IL-21 and IL-6 [307]. Finally, these reprogramming effects can be mimicked by specific deficiencies in suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) genes that oppose the activity of specific STATs through various mechanisms, highlighting the importance of cytokine signals in driving plasticity [308]. Importantly, the cytokine environment can even influence plasticity between inflammatory and regulatory programs. For instance, TGF- β is crucial for the conversion of T_H17 cells towards a regulatory phenotype through the promotion of FOXP3 or IL-10 expression [309–311] (Fig. 5.3).



5.4.2 Transcriptional and Epigenetic Modulation of T Cell Plasticity

Following the importance of cytokines in tuning T cell plasticity, STATs drive T_H cell plasticity in direct response to the binding of cytokines to receptors. Moreover, the observation that T cell master regulators have a substantial, but often incomplete, role in setting the transcriptional programs is also crucial to enable a plastic system [129, 312–314]. Nevertheless, the expression of specific STATs and master transcription factors is not sufficient for polarization or plasticity of T helper cell subsets [120, 315]. Additional transcription factors, such as the nuclear receptor 4A (NR4A) family, transcription regulator protein BACH2, RUNX proteins, retinoic acid receptors, and aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), clearly have essential roles in the maintenance of polarized states, as the disruption of these transcription factors leads to enhanced plasticity between subsets [31, 316-319]. Epigenetic modulation of chromatin can also influence T cell plasticity. For instance, in the absence of HATs, Tregs cells lose FOXP3 expression and gain IL-17 expression [320]. Importantly, once the polarized functions of effector T cells are established relaxed methylation allows for substantial plasticity following restimulation in the quiescent memory phase [321, 322]. The generation of heterochromatin by complexes, such as HDACs and the H3K27me3-associated polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1), also has a central role in preventing phenotypic plasticity between the polarized subsets [323, 324]. For example, PRC1 is crucial for T_H2 cell function and for limiting their plasticity towards $T_{\rm H}1$ cell phenotypes [323]. Global analyses of histone modifications associated with transcriptionally accessible (H3K4me3) or repressed (H3K27me3) loci in different polarized T cell subsets provide further information into how T cells can both acquire specific functions and retain plasticity. Whereas the cytokine loci of different T cell subsets exhibit either H3K4me3 or H3K27me3 marks, the chromatin structure at most polarizing transcription factor loci contains both marks, indicative of a permissive chromatin state, allowing for the induction of transcription factors from opposing subsets to initiate cellular reprogramming [172]. Thus chromatin- and DNA-modifying enzymes have important roles in T cell plasticity, often through cooperation with the polarizing transcription factors or lncRNAs in each subset. Finally, T cell plasticity is also regulated by microRNA-mediated post-transcriptional regulation of a wide variety of genes such as those involved in cytokine signaling, TCR and co-stimulatory signaling, and transcriptional regulatory pathways (reviewed in [325]).

5.4.3 Metabolic Regulation of Plasticity

T cell plasticity can be controlled by the metabolic programs of the cell that respond dynamically to fluctuations in the nutrients, oxygen levels, and energy sources present in the environment. Such factors are likely to be important when T cells migrate between distinct microenvironments during immune responses, such as between lymphoid organs and tissue sites or tumor microenvironments [326]. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) AKT-mTOR pathway has a central role in the regulation of plasticity by environmental cues. For example, AKT function is blunted in T_{reg} cells by the activity of phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) [327-329]. PTEN deficiency results in severely compromised T_{reg} cell stability and in their conversion into $T_{\rm H}1$ and $T_{\rm H}17$ cells [330, 331]. In addition, although a requirement for some mTORC1 activity in T_{reg} cells has been demonstrated [251], rapamycin treatment actually promotes T_{reg} cell stability [332, 333], and hyperactivation of mTORC1 in T_{reg} cells drives IL-17 production and loss of FOXP3 expression [334]. Interestingly, glutamine is an important biosynthetic precursor that tips the balance between $T_{\rm H} 1$ and $T_{\rm reg}$ cell polarization in an mTORC1-dependent manner [335]. Finally, HIF1 α activity in T_{reg} cells leads to ectopic IFN γ production and reduced FOXP3 expression [220, 336, 337].

5.5 T Cell Differentiation Defects and Human Diseases

As discussed above, differentiated T cell subsets are essential to maintain host integrity and fight against infections. This concept is further exemplified in humans harboring genetic defects resulting in defective T cell differentiation. Activated T cells express CD40L, which engages CD40 present on macrophages and dendritic cells, resulting in their IL-12 secretion and Th1-skewing [338, 339]. Mutations in the gene encoding CD40 ligand not only result in the development of hyper IgM syndrome [340], where B cells are severely compromised in their ability to secrete all antibody isotypes expect IgM, but also impair Th1 immunity to infections by pathogens [341]. In line with these observations, patients with mutations in the gene encoding IKK γ , which regulates NF-κB activation following CD40 engagement, presented with monocytes with impaired IL-12 secretion and thus reduced IFN-gamma secretion by T cells [342]. Importantly, these patients featured susceptibility to mycobacterial diseases, thereby establishing a direct molecular link between defective induction of Th1 cell differentiation and susceptibility to disease [342].

Another example of disease that is linked to defective T cell differentiation is the hyper-IgE syndrome (HIES). This disease manifests with recurrent skin and pulmonary infections triggered by bacteria, candidiasis caused by fungi as well as high concentration of IgE in the serum. The pathogenesis of HIES was shown to rely on dominant-negative mutations in the STAT3 gene [343]. As discussed above, the TF STAT3, whose expression can be induced by IL-6, IL-22, and IL-23, is central for Th17 cell differentiation. Defective Th17 cell polarization results in reduced secretion of IL-17A and IL-22, which respectively favors neutrophil recruitment and the secretion of microbial peptides from epithelial cells. The enhanced levels of IgE might be explained by augmented Th2 responses that occur in the absence of functional Th17 cells. Altogether, the HIES illustrates how defective Th17 cell polarization results in disease development. These observations are in line with early findings pointing to the crucial role of IL-17A and F signaling in chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis disease (CMCD), which is triggered by Candida albicans and presents with recurrent or persistent infections of the skin, nails, and oral and genital muco-[344]. Interestingly, sae gain-of-function mutations of STAT1 leading to reduced Th17 cell polarization in response to STAT3-activating

cytokines were also associated with CMCD [345]. Overall, these two diseases illustrate that the dysregulation of CD4 T cell polarization can be highly relevant in a clinical situation.

The relevance of Th2 cell polarization in asthma development has been documented in several preclinical studies. Th2-driven IL-4 secretion indeed promotes B cell class-switching to IgE, an event that supports the development of asthma [346]. These findings are relevant in clinical situations. In this regard, candidate susceptibility genes for asthma that are directly related to Th2 cell biology have been identified. These include genes encoding the β subunit of the high affinity IgE receptor FceR1 and IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13, and GM-CSF. Interestingly, all the later cytokines enhance IgE class switching, eosinophil survival, and mast-cell proliferation, thereby supporting the development and the maintenance of an IgE-driven allergic response. Accordingly, genetic variation in the promoter region of the gene encoding IL-4 favors enhanced IgE levels in atopic individuals. In addition, functional variations of the IL-4 receptor have been associated with asthma [347]. These findings altogether demonstrate that enhanced Th2 cell polarization can contribute to asthma development and/or exacerbate this disease.

Regulatory T cells are central to the maintenance of tolerance. Thus, defects in Treg cell differentiation have profound consequences in living organisms. As discussed before, the TF Foxp3 is central for Treg cell biology. Accordingly, mice carrying the scurfy mutation, which results in the loss of the DNA-binding domain of Foxp3 [348], die within a few weeks after birth because of massive lymphoproliferation and autoimmune response. The human relevance of these mouse results has been underscored in individuals suffering from the IPEX (immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked) syndrome. This autoimmune disease, which can be fatal, is caused by mutations in the FOXP3 gene [348, 349]. Interestingly, individuals with IPEX do not present with reduced circulating Treg numbers compared to healthy individuals. However, their suppressive ability is

compromised, explaining the development of autoimmunity.

Defects in the execution of effector CD8 T cell functions can also result in disease development. For instance, the hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytic (HLH) syndrome is a life-threatening disease that is caused by defective release of cytotoxic granules by CD8 T cells and NK cells. However, cytokine secretion from these two cell types is preserved in patients with HLH and actually contributes to enhance disease severity because of an increased release of proinflammatory cytokines [350]. Variants of HLH have also been characterized and are named familial hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (FHL). Interestingly, these variants all affect specific proteins in the CD8 T cell cytolytic pathway. In this regard, inherited deficiencies of the cytolytic granule perforin, which forms a pore in the target cell thereby enabling its killing, are associated with FHL2 [351]. Likewise, defects in the proteins syntaxin 11 and Munc18-2, which are required for the fusion of the vesicles containing the cytotoxic granules and the plasma membrane, are respectively associated with FHL4 and FHL5. Defects in CD8 T cell cytotoxic activity also manifest in the Chediak-Higashi syndrome (CHS), which is caused by mutations in the gene encoding LYST protein. CTLs from patients with CHS have cytotoxic granules unable to degranulate [352]. Abnormal granules accumulate in T lymphocytes, which have a defective cytolytic activity. Affected individuals suffer from severe bacteria and fungi infections. Overall, defects in CD8 T cell cytotoxicity are directly linked to several diseases in humans.

5.6 Concluding Thoughts

T cells differentiate into various effector and regulatory subsets that harbor specialized functions. The high degree of plasticity of some T cell subsets is also important not only to protect the host integrity against a diverse range of infections but also during the course of a given disease. An illustrative example is the infection course of Salmonella, which initially colonizes the intestinal epithelium, thereby eliciting Th17dependent responses specific for bacterial flagellin that results in IL-22-dependent release of antimicrobial proteins that restrain bacterial growth. Flagellin-specific Th1 cells are also detected during this phase of the infection and may arise from ex-Th17 cells. Bacteria subsequently downregulate flagellin expression to evade killing by IFNy-activated macrophages and spread systemically. However, during the systemic phase of the infection, there is an adaptation of the T cell response towards the bacterial antigens that enable survival within macrophages, resulting in Th1 cell polarization and bacterial clearance [353]. This time and contextdependent adaptation of the immune response underscores the importance of understanding the key processes responsible for the differentiation of immune effector and regulatory T cell subsets. In this regard, kinetic functional genomic analyses and single cell analyses of differentiating T cell subsets will surely permit the identification of novel druggable targets for therapeutic purposes [35, 271, 354–357].

Acknowledgements The authors are supported by grants from the Fondation de France (L.A. and T.R.V.), the Fondation ARC pour la recherche sur le cancer (L.A.), the Ligue Régionale contre le cancer comité grand est. (L.A.), the Institut Mérieux (L.A.), the Conseil Régional de Bourgogne and FEDER (L.A.), the Agence Nationale de la Recherche [ANR-13-JSV3-0001] (L.A.) and [ANR-11-LABX-0021]. L.A. has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement N°677251).

Conflict of Interest Lionel Apetoh is a consultant for Roche and Merck.

References

- Gao Y, et al. Gamma delta T cells provide an early source of interferon gamma in tumor immunity. J Exp Med. 2003;198:433–42.
- Borg C, et al. Novel mode of action of c-kit tyrosine kinase inhibitors leading to NK cell-dependent antitumor effects. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:379–88.
- Taieb J, et al. A novel dendritic cell subset involved in tumor immunosurveillance. Nat Med. 2006;12:214–9.

- Crowe NY, Smyth MJ, Godfrey DI. A critical role for natural killer T cells in immunosurveillance of methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas. J Exp Med. 2002;196:119–27.
- 5. Wiley SR, et al. Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. Immunity. 1995;3:673–82.
- Trapani JA, Smyth MJ. Functional significance of the perforin/granzyme cell death pathway. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:735–47.
- Shankaran V, et al. IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. Nature. 2001;410:1107–11.
- 8. Harty JT, Tvinnereim AR, White DW. CD8+ T cell effector mechanisms in resistance to infection. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:275–308.
- Nakayama E, Uenaka A. Effect of in vivo administration of Lyt antibodies. Lyt phenotype of T cells in lymphoid tissues and blocking of tumor rejection. J Exp Med. 1985;161:345–55.
- Smyth MJ, et al. Perforin-mediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. J Exp Med. 2000;192:755–60.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:991–8.
- Koebel CM, et al. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature. 2007;450: 903–7.
- Ghiringhelli F, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15:1170–8.
- Mattarollo SR, et al. Pivotal role of innate and adaptive immunity in anthracycline chemotherapy of established tumors. Cancer Res. 2011;71:4809–20.
- Apetoh L, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13: 1050–9.
- Apetoh L, et al. Consensus nomenclature for CD8 T cell phenotypes in cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e998538.
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunological effects of conventional chemotherapy and targeted anticancer agents. Cancer Cell. 2015;28:690–714.
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol. 1994;12:991–1045.
- Basu S, Binder RJ, Suto R, Anderson KM, Srivastava PK. Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-kappa B pathway. Int Immunol. 2000;12:1539–46.
- Todryk S, et al. Heat shock protein 70 induced during tumor cell killing induces Th1 cytokines and targets immature dendritic cell precursors to enhance antigen uptake. J Immunol. 1999;163:1398–408.
- Zitvogel L, et al. Immune response against dying tumor cells. Adv Immunol. 2004;84:131–79.

- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998;392:245–52.
- Albert ML, Sauter B, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I-restricted CTLs. Nature. 1998;392:86–9.
- Ronchetti A, et al. Role of antigen-presenting cells in cross-priming of cytotoxic T lymphocytes by apoptotic cells. J Leukoc Biol. 1999;66:247–51.
- Lang KS, et al. Immunoprivileged status of the liver is controlled by Toll-like receptor 3 signaling. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2456–63.
- Colonna M. Toll-like receptors and IFN-alpha: partners in autoimmunity. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2319–22.
- Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature. 1999;401:708–12.
- Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Restifo NP. Sorting through subsets: which T-cell populations mediate highly effective adoptive immunotherapy? J Immunother. 2012;35:651–60.
- Crompton JG, Sukumar M, Restifo NP. Uncoupling T-cell expansion from effector differentiation in cell-based immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2014;257:264–76.
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol. 1986;136:2348–57.
- Apetoh L, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor interacts with c-Maf to promote the differentiation of type 1 regulatory T cells induced by IL-27. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:854–61.
- Lu Y, et al. Th9 cells promote antitumor immune responses in vivo. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:4160–71.
- Purwar R, et al. Robust tumor immunity to melanoma mediated by interleukin-9-producing T cells. Nat Med. 2012;18:1248–53.
- Vegran F, et al. The transcription factor IRF1 dictates the IL-21-dependent anticancer functions of TH9 cells. Nat Immunol. 2014;15:758–66.
- Ciofani M, et al. A validated regulatory network for Th17 cell specification. Cell. 2012;151:289–303.
- Durant L, et al. Diverse targets of the transcription factor STAT3 contribute to T cell pathogenicity and homeostasis. Immunity. 2010;32:605–15.
- Elo LL, et al. Genome-wide profiling of interleukin-4 and STAT6 transcription factor regulation of human Th2 cell programming. Immunity. 2010;32:852–62.
- Wei L, et al. Discrete roles of STAT4 and STAT6 transcription factors in tuning epigenetic modifications and transcription during T helper cell differentiation. Immunity. 2010;32:840–51.
- Yu D, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. Immunity. 2009;31:457–68.
- Zheng Y, et al. Genome-wide analysis of Foxp3 target genes in developing and mature regulatory T cells. Nature. 2007;445:936–40.

- van Panhuys N, Klauschen F, Germain RN. T-cellreceptor-dependent signal intensity dominantly controls CD4(+) T cell polarization in vivo. Immunity. 2014;41:63–74.
- Yamane H, Paul WE. Early signaling events that underlie fate decisions of naive CD4(+) T cells toward distinct T-helper cell subsets. Immunol Rev. 2013;252:12–23.
- Fazilleau N, McHeyzer-Williams LJ, Rosen H, McHeyzer-Williams MG. The function of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the strength of T cell antigen receptor binding. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:375–84.
- 44. Iezzi G, et al. CD40-CD40L cross-talk integrates strong antigenic signals and microbial stimuli to induce development of IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:876–81.
- 45. Tao X, Constant S, Jorritsma P, Bottomly K. Strength of TCR signal determines the costimulatory requirements for Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell differentiation. J Immunol. 1997;159:5956–63.
- Rulifson IC, Sperling AI, Fields PE, Fitch FW, Bluestone JA. CD28 costimulation promotes the production of Th2 cytokines. J Immunol. 1997;158:658–65.
- Ylikoski E, et al. IL-12 up-regulates T-bet independently of IFN-gamma in human CD4+ T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2005;35:3297–306.
- Murphy KM, Reiner SL. The lineage decisions of helper T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:933–44.
- Ouyang W, et al. Inhibition of Th1 development mediated by GATA-3 through an IL-4-independent mechanism. Immunity. 1998;9:745–55.
- Usui T, et al. T-bet regulates Th1 responses through essential effects on GATA-3 function rather than on IFNG gene acetylation and transcription. J Exp Med. 2006;203:755–66.
- 51. Usui T, Nishikomori R, Kitani A, Strober W. GATA-3 suppresses Th1 development by downregulation of Stat4 and not through effects on IL-12Rbeta2 chain or T-bet. Immunity. 2003;18:415–28.
- Thieu VT, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 is required for the transcription factor T-bet to promote T helper 1 cell-fate determination. Immunity. 2008;29:679–90.
- Djuretic IM, et al. Transcription factors T-bet and Runx3 cooperate to activate Ifng and silence II4 in T helper type 1 cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:145–53.
- Mullen AC, et al. Hlx is induced by and genetically interacts with T-bet to promote heritable T(H)1 gene induction. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:652–8.
- Hwang ES, Szabo SJ, Schwartzberg PL, Glimcher LH. T helper cell fate specified by kinase-mediated interaction of T-bet with GATA-3. Science. 2005; 307:430–3.
- Szabo SJ, et al. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell. 2000;100: 655–69.
- Lazarevic V, et al. T-bet represses T(H)17 differentiation by preventing Runx1-mediated activation of the gene encoding RORgammat. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:96–104.

- Villarino AV, Gallo E, Abbas AK. STAT1-activating cytokines limit Th17 responses through both T-bet-dependent and -independent mechanisms. J Immunol. 2010;185:6461–71.
- Gokmen MR, et al. Genome-wide regulatory analysis reveals that T-bet controls Th17 lineage differentiation through direct suppression of IRF4. J Immunol. 2013;191:5925–32.
- Oestreich KJ, Huang AC, Weinmann AS. The lineage-defining factors T-bet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1001–13.
- Zhu J, et al. Conditional deletion of Gata3 shows its essential function in T(H)1-T(H)2 responses. Nat Immunol. 2004;5:1157–65.
- 62. Tanaka S, et al. The enhancer HS2 critically regulates GATA-3-mediated II4 transcription in T(H)2 cells. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:77–85.
- Zhang DH, Yang L, Ray A. Differential responsiveness of the IL-5 and IL-4 genes to transcription factor GATA-3. J Immunol. 1998;161:3817–21.
- Wei G, et al. Genome-wide analyses of transcription factor GATA3-mediated gene regulation in distinct T cell types. Immunity. 2011;35:299–311.
- Horiuchi S, et al. Genome-wide analysis reveals unique regulation of transcription of Th2-specific genes by GATA3. J Immunol. 2011;186:6378–89.
- 66. Jenner RG, et al. The transcription factors T-bet and GATA-3 control alternative pathways of T-cell differentiation through a shared set of target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:17876–81.
- Ansel KM, et al. Deletion of a conserved Il4 silencer impairs T helper type 1-mediated immunity. Nat Immunol. 2004;5:1251–9.
- Veldhoen M, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:1341–6.
- Perumal NB, Kaplan MH. Regulating II9 transcription in T helper cells. Trends Immunol. 2011;32: 146–50.
- Chang HC, et al. The transcription factor PU.1 is required for the development of IL-9-producing T cells and allergic inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:527–34.
- Staudt V, et al. Interferon-regulatory factor 4 is essential for the developmental program of T helper 9 cells. Immunity. 2010;33:192–202.
- Jabeen R, et al. Th9 cell development requires a BATF-regulated transcriptional network. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:4641–53.
- Xiao X, et al. OX40 signaling favors the induction of T(H)9 cells and airway inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:981–90.
- Laurence A, et al. Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. Immunity. 2007;26:371–81.
- Yang XO, et al. STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:9358–63.

- Ueda A, Zhou L, Stein PL. Fyn promotes Th17 differentiation by regulating the kinetics of RORgammat and Foxp3 expression. J Immunol. 2012;188:5247–56.
- Yang XO, et al. T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. Immunity. 2008;28:29–39.
- Ivanov II, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell. 2006;126:1121–33.
- Li P, et al. BATF-JUN is critical for IRF4-mediated transcription in T cells. Nature. 2012;490:543–6.
- Wong LY, Hatfield JK, Brown MA. Ikaros sets the potential for Th17 lineage gene expression through effects on chromatin state in early T cell development. J Biol Chem. 2013;288:35170–9.
- Quintana FJ, et al. Aiolos promotes TH17 differentiation by directly silencing II2 expression. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:770–7.
- Rutz S, et al. Transcription factor c-Maf mediates the TGF-beta-dependent suppression of IL-22 production in T(H)17 cells. Nat Immunol. 2011;12: 1238–45.
- Dang EV, et al. Control of T(H)17/T(reg) balance by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Cell. 2011;146:772–84.
- Keerthivasan S, et al. Notch signaling regulates mouse and human Th17 differentiation. J Immunol. 2011;187:692–701.
- Okamoto K, et al. IkappaBzeta regulates T(H)17 development by cooperating with ROR nuclear receptors. Nature. 2010;464:1381–5.
- Schraml BU, et al. The AP-1 transcription factor Batf controls T(H)17 differentiation. Nature. 2009;460:405–9.
- Brustle A, et al. The development of inflammatory T(H)-17 cells requires interferon-regulatory factor 4. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:958–66.
- 88. Pham D, et al. The transcription factor Twist1 limits T helper 17 and T follicular helper cell development by repressing the gene encoding the interleukin-6 receptor alpha chain. J Biol Chem. 2013;288:27423–33.
- Kanhere A, et al. T-bet and GATA3 orchestrate Th1 and Th2 differentiation through lineage-specific targeting of distal regulatory elements. Nat Commun. 2012;3:1268.
- Miao T, et al. Early growth response gene-2 controls IL-17 expression and Th17 differentiation by negatively regulating Batf. J Immunol. 2013;190:58–65.
- Engel I, Zhao M, Kappes D, Taniuchi I, Kronenberg M. The transcription factor Th-POK negatively regulates Th17 differentiation in Valpha14i NKT cells. Blood. 2012;120:4524–32.
- Chalmin F, et al. Stat3 and Gfi-1 transcription factors control Th17 cell immunosuppressive activity via the regulation of ectonucleotidase expression. Immunity. 2012;36:362–73.
- 93. Joshi S, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) ameliorates Th17 autoimmunity via transcriptional

modulation of interleukin-17A. Mol Cell Biol. 2011;31:3653–69.

- Ouyang X, et al. Transcription factor IRF8 directs a silencing programme for TH17 cell differentiation. Nat Commun. 2011;2:314.
- 95. Maruyama T, et al. Control of the differentiation of regulatory T cells and T(H)17 cells by the DNA-binding inhibitor Id3. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:86–95.
- Lebson L, et al. Cutting edge: the transcription factor Kruppel-like factor 4 regulates the differentiation of Th17 cells independently of RORgammat. J Immunol. 2010;185:7161–4.
- 97. Klotz L, et al. The nuclear receptor PPAR gamma selectively inhibits Th17 differentiation in a T cellintrinsic fashion and suppresses CNS autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2009;206:2079–89.
- Moisan J, Grenningloh R, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Ho IC. Ets-1 is a negative regulator of Th17 differentiation. J Exp Med. 2007;204:2825–35.
- Tellier J, Nutt SL. The unique features of follicular T cell subsets. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2013;70:4771–84.
- Heissmeyer V, Vogel KU. Molecular control of Tfh-cell differentiation by Roquin family proteins. Immunol Rev. 2013;253:273–89.
- Liu X, Nurieva RI, Dong C. Transcriptional regulation of follicular T-helper (Tfh) cells. Immunol Rev. 2013;252:139–45.
- 102. Poholek AC, et al. In vivo regulation of Bcl6 and T follicular helper cell development. J Immunol. 2010;185:313–26.
- Duckrow RB. Effect of hemodilution on regional cerebral blood flow during chronic hyperglycemia in rats. Stroke. 1990;21:1072–6.
- 104. Baumjohann D, Okada T, Ansel KM. Cutting edge: distinct waves of BCL6 expression during T follicular helper cell development. J Immunol. 2011;187:2089–92.
- 105. Nurieva RI, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. Science. 2009;325:1001–5.
- 106. Luthje K, et al. The development and fate of follicular helper T cells defined by an IL-21 reporter mouse. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:491–8.
- 107. Huang C, Hatzi K, Melnick A. Lineage-specific functions of Bcl-6 in immunity and inflammation are mediated by distinct biochemical mechanisms. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:380–8.
- Ma CS, et al. Functional STAT3 deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. Blood. 2012;119:3997–4008.
- 109. Nurieva RI, et al. Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages. Immunity. 2008;29:138–49.
- 110. Lin W, et al. Regulatory T cell development in the absence of functional Foxp3. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:359–68.
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:330–6.

- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science. 2003;299:1057–61.
- 113. Rudra D, et al. Transcription factor Foxp3 and its protein partners form a complex regulatory network. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:1010–9.
- 114. Birzele F, et al. Next-generation insights into regulatory T cells: expression profiling and FoxP3 occupancy in human. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011;39:7946–60.
- 115. Hill JA, et al. Foxp3 transcription-factor-dependent and -independent regulation of the regulatory T cell transcriptional signature. Immunity. 2007;27:786–800.
- Marson A, et al. Foxp3 occupancy and regulation of key target genes during T-cell stimulation. Nature. 2007;445:931–5.
- 117. Gavin MA, et al. Foxp3-dependent programme of regulatory T-cell differentiation. Nature. 2007;445:771–5.
- Delgoffe GM, Bettini ML, Vignali DA. Identity crisis: it's not just Foxp3 anymore. Immunity. 2012;37:759–61.
- Kim HP, Leonard WJ. CREB/ATF-dependent T cell receptor-induced FoxP3 gene expression: a role for DNA methylation. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1543–51.
- 120. Fu W, et al. A multiply redundant genetic switch 'locks in' the transcriptional signature of regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:972–80.
- 121. Bettelli E, Dastrange M, Oukka M. Foxp3 interacts with nuclear factor of activated T cells and NF-kappa B to repress cytokine gene expression and effector functions of T helper cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:5138–43.
- O'Shea JJ, Plenge R. JAK and STAT signaling molecules in immunoregulation and immune-mediated disease. Immunity. 2012;36:542–50.
- 123. O'Shea JJ, Lahesmaa R, Vahedi G, Laurence A, Kanno Y. Genomic views of STAT function in CD4+ T helper cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:239–50.
- Adamson AS, Collins K, Laurence A, O'Shea JJ. The current STATus of lymphocyte signaling: new roles for old players. Curr Opin Immunol. 2009;21:161–6.
- 125. Nguyen ML, Jones SA, Prier JE, Russ BE. Transcriptional enhancers in the regulation of T cell differentiation. Front Immunol. 2015;6:462.
- Tripathi SK, Lahesmaa R. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of T-helper lineage specification. Immunol Rev. 2014;261:62–83.
- 127. Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). Annu Rev Immunol. 2010;28:445–89.
- Ostuni R, et al. Latent enhancers activated by stimulation in differentiated cells. Cell. 2013;152:157–71.
- Vahedi G, et al. STATs shape the active enhancer landscape of T cell populations. Cell. 2012;151:981–93.
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:531–64.

- 131. Williams LM, Rudensky AY. Maintenance of the Foxp3-dependent developmental program in mature regulatory T cells requires continued expression of Foxp3. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:277–84.
- 132. Mittrucker HW, Visekruna A, Huber M. Heterogeneity in the differentiation and function of CD8(+) T cells. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. 2014;62:449–58.
- 133. Man K, et al. The transcription factor IRF4 is essential for TCR affinity-mediated metabolic programming and clonal expansion of T cells. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:1155–65.
- 134. Kim MV, Ouyang W, Liao W, Zhang MQ, Li MO. The transcription factor Foxo1 controls central-memory CD8+ T cell responses to infection. Immunity. 2013;39:286–97.
- Kaech SM, Cui W. Transcriptional control of effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:749–61.
- 136. Tang Y, et al. Antigen-specific effector CD8 T cells regulate allergic responses via IFN-gamma and dendritic cell function. J Aller Clin Immunol. 2012;129:1611–20, e1614.
- 137. Cho BA, et al. Characterization of effector memory CD8+ T cells in the synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Immunol. 2012;32:709–20.
- 138. Omori M, et al. CD8 T cell-specific downregulation of histone hyperacetylation and gene activation of the IL-4 gene locus by ROG, repressor of GATA. Immunity. 2003;19:281–94.
- 139. Lu Y, et al. Tumor-specific IL-9-producing CD8+ Tc9 cells are superior effector than type-I cytotoxic Tc1 cells for adoptive immunotherapy of cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:2265–70.
- 140. Visekruna A, et al. Tc9 cells, a new subset of CD8(+) T cells, support Th2-mediated airway inflammation. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43:606–18.
- Chang SY, et al. Circulatory antigen processing by mucosal dendritic cells controls CD8(+) T cell activation. Immunity. 2013;38:153–65.
- 142. Huber M, et al. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:247–60.
- 143. Hinrichs CS, et al. Type 17 CD8+ T cells display enhanced antitumor immunity. Blood. 2009;114: 596–9.
- 144. Hamada H, et al. Tc17, a unique subset of CD8 T cells that can protect against lethal influenza challenge. J Immunol. 2009;182:3469–81.
- 145. Robb RJ, et al. Identification and expansion of highly suppressive CD8(+)FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells after experimental allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 2012;119:5898–908.
- 146. Kim HJ, Cantor H. Regulation of self-tolerance by Qa-1-restricted CD8(+) regulatory T cells. Semin Immunol. 2011;23:446–52.
- 147. Tsai S, et al. Reversal of autoimmunity by boosting memory-like autoregulatory T cells. Immunity. 2010;32:568–80.
- Joshi NS, et al. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via

the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. Immunity. 2007;27:281–95.

- 149. Takemoto N, Intlekofer AM, Northrup JT, Wherry EJ, Reiner SL. Cutting edge: IL-12 inversely regulates T-bet and eomesodermin expression during pathogen-induced CD8+ T cell differentiation. J Immunol. 2006;177:7515–9.
- 150. Intlekofer AM, et al. Requirement for T-bet in the aberrant differentiation of unhelped memory CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med. 2007;204:2015–21.
- Pipkin ME, et al. Interleukin-2 and inflammation induce distinct transcriptional programs that promote the differentiation of effector cytolytic T cells. Immunity. 2010;32:79–90.
- 152. Intlekofer AM, et al. Anomalous type 17 response to viral infection by CD8+ T cells lacking T-bet and eomesodermin. Science. 2008;321:408–11.
- 153. Intlekofer AM, et al. Effector and memory CD8+ T cell fate coupled by T-bet and eomesodermin. Nat Immunol. 2005;6:1236–44.
- 154. Yang CY, et al. The transcriptional regulators Id2 and Id3 control the formation of distinct memory CD8+ T cell subsets. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:1221–9.
- 155. Cannarile MA, et al. Transcriptional regulator Id2 mediates CD8+ T cell immunity. Nat Immunol. 2006;7:1317–25.
- 156. Cui W, Liu Y, Weinstein JS, Craft J, Kaech SM. An interleukin-21-interleukin-10-STAT3 pathway is critical for functional maturation of memory CD8+ T cells. Immunity. 2011;35:792–805.
- 157. Shin H, et al. A role for the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 in CD8(+) T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. Immunity. 2009;31:309–20.
- Kallies A, Xin A, Belz GT, Nutt SL. Blimp-1 transcription factor is required for the differentiation of effector CD8(+) T cells and memory responses. Immunity. 2009;31:283–95.
- 159. Rutishauser RL, et al. Transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 promotes CD8(+) T cell terminal differentiation and represses the acquisition of central memory T cell properties. Immunity. 2009;31:296–308.
- Lam MT, et al. Rev-Erbs repress macrophage gene expression by inhibiting enhancer-directed transcription. Nature. 2013;498:511–5.
- Tata JR. Signalling through nuclear receptors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2002;3:702–10.
- 162. Ravasi T, et al. An atlas of combinatorial transcriptional regulation in mouse and man. Cell. 2010;140:744–52.
- 163. Glasmacher E, et al. A genomic regulatory element that directs assembly and function of immune-specific AP-1-IRF complexes. Science. 2012;338:975–80.
- 164. Kurachi M, et al. The transcription factor BATF operates as an essential differentiation checkpoint in early effector CD8+T cells. Nat Immunol. 2014;15:373–83.
- 165. Grusdat M, et al. IRF4 and BATF are critical for CD8(+) T-cell function following infection with LCMV. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21:1050–60.
- 166. Kuroda S, et al. Basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF) regulates epigenetically

and energetically effector CD8 T-cell differentiation via Sirt1 expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:14885–9.

- 167. Nayar R, et al. Graded levels of IRF4 regulate CD8+ T cell differentiation and expansion, but not attrition, in response to acute virus infection. J Immunol. 2014;192:5881–93.
- 168. Yao S, et al. Interferon regulatory factor 4 sustains CD8(+) T cell expansion and effector differentiation. Immunity. 2013;39:833–45.
- 169. Raczkowski F, et al. The transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 4 is required for the generation of protective effector CD8+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:15019–24.
- 170. Youngblood B, et al. Chronic virus infection enforces demethylation of the locus that encodes PD-1 in antigen-specific CD8(+) T cells. Immunity. 2011;35: 400–12.
- 171. Zediak VP, Johnnidis JB, Wherry EJ, Berger SL. Cutting edge: persistently open chromatin at effector gene loci in resting memory CD8+ T cells independent of transcriptional status. J Immunol. 2011;186:2705–9.
- 172. Wei G, et al. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. Immunity. 2009;30:155–67.
- Costa FF. Non-coding RNAs: new players in eukaryotic biology. Gene. 2005;357:83–94.
- 174. Baltimore D, Boldin MP, O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Taganov KD. MicroRNAs: new regulators of immune cell development and function. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:839–45.
- 175. Shi X, Sun M, Liu H, Yao Y, Song Y. Long noncoding RNAs: a new frontier in the study of human diseases. Cancer Lett. 2013;339:159–66.
- Monticelli S. MicroRNAs in T helper cell differentiation and plasticity. Semin Immunol. 2013;25:291–8.
- 177. Pagani M, et al. Role of microRNAs and longnon-coding RNAs in CD4(+) T-cell differentiation. Immunol Rev. 2013;253:82–96.
- 178. Zhou X, et al. Selective miRNA disruption in T reg cells leads to uncontrolled autoimmunity. J Exp Med. 2008;205:1983–91.
- 179. Hu G, et al. Expression and regulation of intergenic long noncoding RNAs during T cell development and differentiation. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:1190–8.
- Hu R, et al. MicroRNA-155 confers encephalogenic potential to Th17 cells by promoting effector gene expression. J Immunol. 2013;190:5972–80.
- 181. Wu T, et al. Temporal expression of microRNA cluster miR-17-92 regulates effector and memory CD8+ T-cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:9965–70.
- 182. Jiang S, et al. Molecular dissection of the miR-17-92 cluster's critical dual roles in promoting Th1 responses and preventing inducible Treg differentiation. Blood. 2011;118:5487–97.

- Navarro F, Lieberman J. Small RNAs guide hematopoietic cell differentiation and function. J Immunol. 2010;184:5939–47.
- 184. Takahashi H, et al. TGF-beta and retinoic acid induce the microRNA miR-10a, which targets Bcl-6 and constrains the plasticity of helper T cells. Nat Immunol. 2012;13:587–95.
- 185. Liu YL, et al. MicroRNA-21 and -146b are involved in the pathogenesis of murine viral myocarditis by regulating TH-17 differentiation. Arch Virol. 2013;158:1953–63.
- 186. Mycko MP, et al. MicroRNA-301a regulation of a T-helper 17 immune response controls autoimmune demyelination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:E1248–57.
- Wu H, et al. miRNA profiling of naive, effector and memory CD8 T cells. PloS One. 2007;2:e1020.
- 188. Rossi RL, et al. Distinct microRNA signatures in human lymphocyte subsets and enforcement of the naive state in CD4+ T cells by the microRNA miR-125b. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:796–803.
- 189. Bellon M, Lepelletier Y, Hermine O, Nicot C. Deregulation of microRNA involved in hematopoiesis and the immune response in HTLV-I adult T-cell leukemia. Blood. 2009;113:4914–7.
- Belver L, Papavasiliou FN, Ramiro AR. MicroRNA control of lymphocyte differentiation and function. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011;23:368–73.
- 191. Liu J, et al. MiR-142-3p attenuates the migration of CD4(+) T cells through regulating actin cytoskeleton via RAC1 and ROCK2 in arteriosclerosis obliterans. PLoS One. 2014;9:e95514.
- 192. Salaun B, et al. Differentiation associated regulation of microRNA expression in vivo in human CD8+ T cell subsets. J Transl Med. 2011;9:44.
- 193. Huang B, et al. miR-142-3p restricts cAMP production in CD4+CD25- T cells and CD4+CD25+ TREG cells by targeting AC9 mRNA. EMBO Rep. 2009;10:180–5.
- 194. Starczynowski DT, et al. MicroRNA-146a disrupts hematopoietic differentiation and survival. Exp Hematol. 2011;39:167–78, e164.
- 195. Lu LF, et al. Function of miR-146a in controlling Treg cell-mediated regulation of Th1 responses. Cell. 2010;142:914–29.
- Kuchen S, et al. Regulation of microRNA expression and abundance during lymphopoiesis. Immunity. 2010;32:828–39.
- 197. Ghisi M, et al. Modulation of microRNA expression in human T-cell development: targeting of NOTCH3 by miR-150. Blood. 2011;117:7053–62.
- 198. Zhou B, Wang S, Mayr C, Bartel DP, Lodish HF. miR-150, a microRNA expressed in mature B and T cells, blocks early B cell development when expressed prematurely. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:7080–5.
- Monticelli S, et al. MicroRNA profiling of the murine hematopoietic system. Genome Biol. 2005;6:R71.

- 200. Banerjee A, Schambach F, DeJong CS, Hammond SM, Reiner SL. Micro-RNA-155 inhibits IFNgamma signaling in CD4+ T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:225–31.
- Tsitsiou E, Lindsay MA. microRNAs and the immune response. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9:514–20.
- 202. O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Chaudhuri AA, Baltimore D. Physiological and pathological roles for microR-NAs in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:111–22.
- Laufer TM. T-cell sensitivity: a microRNA regulates the sensitivity of the T-cell receptor. Immunol Cell Biol. 2007;85:346–7.
- 204. Xue Q, et al. Human activated CD4(+) T lymphocytes increase IL-2 expression by downregulating microRNA-181c. Mol Immunol. 2011;48:592–9.
- 205. Stittrich AB, et al. The microRNA miR-182 is induced by IL-2 and promotes clonal expansion of activated helper T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:1057–62.
- 206. Wang H, et al. Negative regulation of Hif1a expression and TH17 differentiation by the hypoxiaregulated microRNA miR-210. Nat Immunol. 2014;15:393–401.
- 207. Du C, et al. MicroRNA miR-326 regulates TH-17 differentiation and is associated with the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:1252–9.
- 208. Sharma S, et al. Dephosphorylation of the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) transcription factor is regulated by an RNA-protein scaffold complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:11381–6.
- 209. Mourtada-Maarabouni M, Hedge VL, Kirkham L, Farzaneh F, Williams GT. Growth arrest in human T-cells is controlled by the non-coding RNA growtharrest-specific transcript 5 (GAS5). J Cell Sci. 2008;121:939–46.
- 210. Collier SP, Collins PL, Williams CL, Boothby MR, Aune TM. Cutting edge: influence of Tmevpg1, a long intergenic noncoding RNA, on the expression of Ifng by Th1 cells. J Immunol. 2012;189:2084–8.
- 211. Vigneau S, Rohrlich PS, Brahic M, Bureau JF. Tmevpg1, a candidate gene for the control of Theiler's virus persistence, could be implicated in the regulation of gamma interferon. J Virol. 2003;77:5632–8.
- 212. Vivien L, Benoist C, Mathis D. T lymphocytes need IL-7 but not IL-4 or IL-6 to survive in vivo. Int Immunol. 2001;13:763–8.
- 213. Schluns KS, Kieper WC, Jameson SC, Lefrancois L. Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2000;1:426–32.
- 214. Macintyre AN, et al. The glucose transporter Glut1 is selectively essential for CD4 T cell activation and effector function. Cell Metab. 2014;20:61–72.
- 215. Sinclair LV, et al. Control of amino-acid transport by antigen receptors coordinates the metabolic repro-

gramming essential for T cell differentiation. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:500–8.

- Wang R, et al. The transcription factor Myc controls metabolic reprogramming upon T lymphocyte activation. Immunity. 2011;35:871–82.
- Hatziapostolou M, Polytarchou C, Iliopoulos D. miRNAs link metabolic reprogramming to oncogenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2013;24:361–73.
- 218. Finlay DK, et al. PDK1 regulation of mTOR and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 integrate metabolism and migration of CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med. 2012;209:2441–53.
- Waickman AT, Powell JD. mTOR, metabolism, and the regulation of T-cell differentiation and function. Immunol Rev. 2012;249:43–58.
- 220. Shi LZ, et al. HIF1alpha-dependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Treg cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1367–76.
- 221. Waickman AT, Powell JD. Mammalian target of rapamycin integrates diverse inputs to guide the outcome of antigen recognition in T cells. J Immunol. 2012;188:4721–9.
- 222. Pollizzi KN, Powell JD. Regulation of T cells by mTOR: the known knowns and the known unknowns. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:13–20.
- 223. Kim SG, Buel GR, Blenis J. Nutrient regulation of the mTOR complex 1 signaling pathway. Mol Cells. 2013;35:463–73.
- 224. Chen L, et al. Hydrogen peroxide inhibits mTOR signaling by activation of AMPKalpha leading to apoptosis of neuronal cells. Lab Invest. 2010;90:762–73.
- 225. Chantranupong L, et al. The CASTOR proteins are arginine sensors for the mTORC1 pathway. Cell. 2016;165:153–64.
- 226. Fernandez-Ramos AA, Poindessous V, Marchetti-Laurent C, Pallet N, Loriot MA. The effect of immunosuppressive molecules on T-cell metabolic reprogramming. Biochimie. 2016;127:23–36.
- Inoki K, Kim J, Guan KL. AMPK and mTOR in cellular energy homeostasis and drug targets. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2012;52:381–400.
- 228. Boukouris AE, Zervopoulos SD, Michelakis ED. Metabolic enzymes moonlighting in the nucleus: metabolic regulation of Gene transcription. Trends Biochem Sci. 2016;41:712–30.
- 229. Lochner M, Berod L, Sparwasser T. Fatty acid metabolism in the regulation of T cell function. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:81–91.
- 230. Berod L, et al. De novo fatty acid synthesis controls the fate between regulatory T and T helper 17 cells. Nat Med. 2014;20:1327–33.
- 231. Fox CJ, Hammerman PS, Thompson CB. Fuel feeds function: energy metabolism and the T-cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5:844–52.
- Rampoldi F, et al. Immunosuppression and aberrant T cell development in the absence of N-Myristoylation. J Immunol. 2015;195:4228–43.

- 233. Resh MD. Covalent lipid modifications of proteins. Curr Biol. 2013;23:R431–5.
- Rubio I, et al. TCR-induced activation of Ras proceeds at the plasma membrane and requires palmitoylation of N-Ras. J Immunol. 2010;185:3536–43.
- 235. Sena LA, et al. Mitochondria are required for antigenspecific T cell activation through reactive oxygen species signaling. Immunity. 2013;38:225–36.
- 236. Fracchia KM, Pai CY, Walsh CM. Modulation of T cell metabolism and function through calcium Signaling. Front Immunol. 2013;4:324.
- Junger WG. Immune cell regulation by autocrine purinergic signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:201–12.
- 238. Santo-Domingo J, Demaurex N. Calcium uptake mechanisms of mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1797:907–12.
- Schwindling C, Quintana A, Krause E, Hoth M. Mitochondria positioning controls local calcium influx in T cells. J Immunol. 2010;184:184–90.
- 240. Quintana A, et al. T cell activation requires mitochondrial translocation to the immunological synapse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:14418–23.
- 241. Ron-Harel N, et al. Mitochondrial biogenesis and proteome Remodeling promote one-carbon metabolism for T cell activation. Cell Metab. 2016;24:104–17.
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM. mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell. 2012;149:274–93.
- Delgoffe GM, et al. The mTOR kinase differentially regulates effector and regulatory T cell lineage commitment. Immunity. 2009;30:832–44.
- 244. Battaglia M, et al. Rapamycin promotes expansion of functional CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells of both healthy subjects and type 1 diabetic patients. J Immunol. 2006;177:8338–47.
- 245. Battaglia M, Stabilini A, Roncarolo MG. Rapamycin selectively expands CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. Blood. 2005;105:4743–8.
- 246. Sasaki CY, et al. P((7)(0)S(6)K(1)) in the TORC1 pathway is essential for the differentiation of Th17 cells, but not Th1, Th2, or Treg cells in mice. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46:212–22.
- 247. Kurebayashi Y, et al. PI3K-Akt-mTORC1-S6K1/2 axis controls Th17 differentiation by regulating Gfi1 expression and nuclear translocation of RORgamma. Cell Rep. 2012;1:360–73.
- 248. Wu X, et al. Arctigenin exerts anti-colitis efficacy through inhibiting the differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells via an mTORC1-dependent pathway. Biochem Pharmacol. 2015;96:323–36.
- Yang K, et al. T cell exit from quiescence and differentiation into Th2 cells depend on raptor-mTORC1mediated metabolic reprogramming. Immunity. 2013;39:1043–56.
- 250. Delgoffe GM, et al. The kinase mTOR regulates the differentiation of helper T cells through the selective activation of signaling by mTORC1 and mTORC2. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:295–303.

- Zeng H, et al. mTORC1 couples immune signals and metabolic programming to establish T(reg)-cell function. Nature. 2013;499:485–90.
- 252. Procaccini C, et al. An oscillatory switch in mTOR kinase activity sets regulatory T cell responsiveness. Immunity. 2010;33:929–41.
- 253. De Rosa V, et al. A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation. Immunity. 2007;26:241–55.
- 254. Wallin JD, et al. Intravenous nicardipine for the treatment of severe hypertension. A double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter trial. Arch Intern Med. 1989;149:2662–9.
- 255. Wei J, et al. Autophagy enforces functional integrity of regulatory T cells by coupling environmental cues and metabolic homeostasis. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:277–85.
- 256. Yu L, et al. Termination of autophagy and reformation of lysosomes regulated by mTOR. Nature. 2010;465:942–6.
- 257. Pollizzi KN, et al. Asymmetric inheritance of mTORC1 kinase activity during division dictates CD8(+) T cell differentiation. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:704–11.
- Hardie DG. Minireview: the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade: the key sensor of cellular energy status. Endocrinology. 2003;144:5179–83.
- 259. Hardie DG, Scott JW, Pan DA, Hudson ER. Management of cellular energy by the AMPactivated protein kinase system. FEBS Lett. 2003;546:113–20.
- 260. Zhao D, et al. Metformin decreases IL-22 secretion to suppress tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:2556–65.
- Kang KY, et al. Metformin downregulates Th17 cells differentiation and attenuates murine autoimmune arthritis. Int Immunopharmacol. 2013;16:85–92.
- 262. Blagih J, et al. The energy sensor AMPK regulates T cell metabolic adaptation and effector responses in vivo. Immunity. 2015;42:41–54.
- 263. Mayer A, Denanglaire S, Viollet B, Leo O, Andris F. AMP-activated protein kinase regulates lymphocyte responses to metabolic stress but is largely dispensable for immune cell development and function. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38:948–56.
- 264. Chang CH, et al. Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. Cell. 2015;162:1229–41.
- 265. Navratilova J, Hankeova T, Benes P, Smarda J. Lowglucose conditions of tumor microenvironment enhance cytotoxicity of tetrathiomolybdate to neuroblastoma cells. Nutr Cancer. 2013;65:702–10.
- 266. Kim Y, Lin Q, Glazer PM, Yun Z. Hypoxic tumor microenvironment and cancer cell differentiation. Curr Mol Med. 2009;9:425–34.
- Rolf J, et al. AMPKalpha1: a glucose sensor that controls CD8 T-cell memory. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43: 889–96.

- Raha S, et al. Disruption of de novo fatty acid synthesis via acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1 inhibition prevents acute graft-versus-host disease. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46:2233–8.
- 269. Lee J, et al. Regulator of fatty acid metabolism, acetyl coenzyme a carboxylase 1, controls T cell immunity. J Immunol. 2014;192:3190–9.
- 270. Endo Y, et al. Obesity drives Th17 cell differentiation by inducing the lipid metabolic kinase, ACC1. Cell Rep. 2015;12:1042–55.
- 271. Wang C, et al. CD5L/AIM regulates lipid biosynthesis and restrains Th17 cell pathogenicity. Cell. 2015;163:1413–27.
- 272. Hu X, et al. Sterol metabolism controls T(H)17 differentiation by generating endogenous RORgamma agonists. Nat Chem Biol. 2015;11:141–7.
- 273. Beier UH, et al. Essential role of mitochondrial energy metabolism in Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cell function and allograft survival. FASEB J. 2015;29:2315–26.
- 274. Michalek RD, et al. Cutting edge: distinct glycolytic and lipid oxidative metabolic programs are essential for effector and regulatory CD4+ T cell subsets. J Immunol. 2011;186:3299–303.
- 275. Yusuf I, Fruman DA. Regulation of quiescence in lymphocytes. Trends Immunol. 2003;24:380–6.
- 276. Buck MD, et al. Mitochondrial dynamics controls T cell fate through metabolic programming. Cell. 2016;166:63–76.
- 277. Dimeloe S, et al. The immune-metabolic basis of effector memory CD4+ T cell function under hypoxic conditions. J Immunol. 2016;196:106–14.
- 278. O'Sullivan D, et al. Memory CD8(+) T cells use cell-intrinsic lipolysis to support the metabolic programming necessary for development. Immunity. 2014;41:75–88.
- 279. van der Windt GJ, et al. CD8 memory T cells have a bioenergetic advantage that underlies their rapid recall ability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:14336–41.
- Doedens AL, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factors enhance the effector responses of CD8(+) T cells to persistent antigen. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:1173–82.
- 281. Cham CM, Driessens G, O'Keefe JP, Gajewski TF. Glucose deprivation inhibits multiple key gene expression events and effector functions in CD8+ T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38:2438–50.
- Cham CM, Gajewski TF. Glucose availability regulates IFN-gamma production and p70S6 kinase activation in CD8+ effector T cells. J Immunol. 2005;174:4670–7.
- 283. Oestreich KJ, et al. Bcl-6 directly represses the gene program of the glycolysis pathway. Nat Immunol. 2014;15:957–64.
- 284. Ahlfors H, et al. IL-22 fate reporter reveals origin and control of IL-22 production in homeostasis and infection. J Immunol. 2014;193:4602–13.
- 285. Wilhelm C, et al. An IL-9 fate reporter demonstrates the induction of an innate IL-9 response in lung inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:1071–7.

- 286. Hirota K, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:255–63.
- 287. Zhou X, et al. Instability of the transcription factor Foxp3 leads to the generation of pathogenic memory T cells in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:1000–7.
- 288. Gerlach C, et al. One naive T cell, multiple fates in CD8+ T cell differentiation. J Exp Med. 2010;207:1235–46.
- Stemberger C, et al. A single naive CD8+ T cell precursor can develop into diverse effector and memory subsets. Immunity. 2007;27:985–97.
- 290. Plumlee CR, Sheridan BS, Cicek BB, Lefrancois L. Environmental cues dictate the fate of individual CD8+ T cells responding to infection. Immunity. 2013;39:347–56.
- 291. Tubo NJ, et al. Single naive CD4+ T cells from a diverse repertoire produce different effector cell types during infection. Cell. 2013;153:785–96.
- Gerlach C, et al. Heterogeneous differentiation patterns of individual CD8+ T cells. Science. 2013;340:635–9.
- Buchholz VR, et al. Disparate individual fates compose robust CD8+T cell immunity. Science. 2013;340:630–5.
- 294. Becattini S, et al. T cell immunity. Functional heterogeneity of human memory CD4(+) T cell clones primed by pathogens or vaccines. Science. 2015;347:400–6.
- 295. Han A, Glanville J, Hansmann L, Davis MM. Linking T-cell receptor sequence to functional phenotype at the single-cell level. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32:684–92.
- 296. Malmhall C, et al. Immunophenotyping of circulating T helper cells argues for multiple functions and plasticity of T cells in vivo in humans–possible role in asthma. PLoS One. 2012;7:e40012.
- 297. Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. Nat Med. 2011;17:673–5.
- 298. Wang YH, et al. A novel subset of CD4(+) T(H)2 memory/effector cells that produce inflammatory IL-17 cytokine and promote the exacerbation of chronic allergic asthma. J Exp Med. 2010;207:2479–91.
- 299. O'Shea JJ, et al. The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. Annu Rev Med. 2015;66:311–28.
- 300. Panzer M, et al. Rapid in vivo conversion of effector T cells into Th2 cells during helminth infection. J Immunol. 2012;188:615–23.
- 301. Perez VL, Lederer JA, Lichtman AH, Abbas AK. Stability of Th1 and Th2 populations. Int Immunol. 1995;7:869–75.
- Murphy KM, Stockinger B. Effector T cell plasticity: flexibility in the face of changing circumstances. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:674–80.
- 303. Hegazy AN, et al. Interferons direct Th2 cell reprogramming to generate a stable GATA-3(+)T-bet(+) cell subset with combined Th2 and Th1 cell functions. Immunity. 2010;32:116–28.

- 304. Dardalhon V, et al. IL-4 inhibits TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGF-beta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(–) effector T cells. Nat Immunol 9, 1347-1355 (2008).
- 305. Bending D, et al. Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119:565–72.
- 306. Lee YK, et al. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity. 2009;30:92–107.
- 307. Lu KT, et al. Functional and epigenetic studies reveal multistep differentiation and plasticity of in vitro-generated and in vivo-derived follicular T helper cells. Immunity. 2011;35:622–32.
- Knosp CA, Johnston JA. Regulation of CD4+ T-cell polarization by suppressor of cytokine signalling proteins. Immunology. 2012;135:101–11.
- 309. Zhou L, et al. TGF-beta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. Nature. 2008;453:236–40.
- Gagliani N, et al. Th17 cells transdifferentiate into regulatory T cells during resolution of inflammation. Nature. 2015;523:221–5.
- 311. Bettelli E, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature. 2006;441:235–8.
- 312. Ohkura N, et al. T cell receptor stimulation-induced epigenetic changes and Foxp3 expression are independent and complementary events required for Treg cell development. Immunity. 2012;37:785–99.
- 313. Samstein RM, et al. Foxp3 exploits a pre-existent enhancer landscape for regulatory T cell lineage specification. Cell. 2012;151:153–66.
- Goswami R, et al. STAT6-dependent regulation of Th9 development. J Immunol. 2012;188:968–75.
- 315. Lee TI, Young RA. Transcriptional regulation and its misregulation in disease. Cell. 2013;152: 1237–51.
- Park BV, Pan F. The role of nuclear receptors in regulation of Th17/Treg biology and its implications for diseases. Cell Mol Immunol. 2015;12:533–42.
- 317. Brown CC, et al. Retinoic acid is essential for Th1 cell lineage stability and prevents transition to a Th17 cell program. Immunity. 2015;42:499–511.
- 318. Wang Y, et al. The transcription factors T-bet and Runx are required for the ontogeny of pathogenic interferon-gamma-producing T helper 17 cells. Immunity. 2014;40:355–66.
- Roychoudhuri R, et al. BACH2 represses effector programs to stabilize T(reg)-mediated immune homeostasis. Nature. 2013;498:506–10.
- 320. Liu Y, et al. Two histone/protein acetyltransferases, CBP and p300, are indispensable for Foxp3+ T-regulatory cell development and function. Mol Cell Biol. 2014;34:3993–4007.
- 321. Williams CL, et al. STAT4 and T-bet are required for the plasticity of IFN-gamma expression across Th2 ontogeny and influence changes in Ifng promoter DNA methylation. J Immunol. 2013;191:678–87.

- 322. van den Ham HJ, de Boer RJ. Cell division curtails helper phenotype plasticity and expedites helper T-cell differentiation. Immunol Cell Biol. 2012;90:860–8.
- 323. Onodera A, Nakayama T. Epigenetics of T cells regulated by Polycomb/Trithorax molecules. Trends Mol Med. 2015;21:330–40.
- Busslinger M, Tarakhovsky A. Epigenetic control of immunity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2014;6:a019307.
- 325. Badeaux AI, Shi Y. Emerging roles for chromatin as a signal integration and storage platform. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14:211–24.
- 326. Pearce EL, Poffenberger MC, Chang CH, Jones RG. Fueling immunity: insights into metabolism and lymphocyte function. Science. 2013;342:1242454.
- 327. Patterson SJ, et al. Cutting edge: PHLPP regulates the development, function, and molecular signaling pathways of regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2011;186:5533–7.
- 328. Crellin NK, Garcia RV, Levings MK. Altered activation of AKT is required for the suppressive function of human CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. Blood. 2007;109:2014–22.
- 329. Walsh PT, et al. PTEN inhibits IL-2 receptormediated expansion of CD4+ CD25+ Tregs. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2521–31.
- 330. Shrestha S, et al. Treg cells require the phosphatase PTEN to restrain TH1 and TFH cell responses. Nat Immunol. 2015;16:178–87.
- 331. Huynh A, et al. Control of PI(3) kinase in Treg cells maintains homeostasis and lineage stability. Nat Immunol. 2015;16:188–96.
- 332. Yurchenko E, et al. Inflammation-driven reprogramming of CD4+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells into pathogenic Th1/Th17 T effectors is abrogated by mTOR inhibition in vivo. PLoS One. 2012;7:e35572.
- 333. Sauer S, et al. T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:7797–802.
- 334. Park Y, et al. TSC1 regulates the balance between effector and regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:5165–78.
- 335. Klysz D, et al. Glutamine-dependent alphaketoglutarate production regulates the balance between T helper 1 cell and regulatory T cell generation. Sci Signal. 2015;8:ra97.
- 336. Lee JH, Elly C, Park Y, Liu YC. E3 ubiquitin ligase VHL regulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha to maintain regulatory T cell stability and suppressive capacity. Immunity. 2015;42:1062–74.
- 337. Nakamura H, et al. TCR engagement increases hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha protein synthesis via rapamycin-sensitive pathway under hypoxic conditions in human peripheral T cells. J Immunol. 2005;174:7592–9.
- 338. Shu U, et al. Activated T cells induce interleukin-12 production by monocytes via CD40-CD40 ligand interaction. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:1125–8.

- 339. Kennedy MK, et al. CD40/CD40 ligand interactions are required for T cell-dependent production of interleukin-12 by mouse macrophages. Eur J Immunol. 1996;26:370–8.
- 340. Ferrari S, et al. Mutations of CD40 gene cause an autosomal recessive form of immunodeficiency with hyper IgM. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98: 12614–9.
- 341. Subauste CS, Wessendarp M, Sorensen RU, Leiva LE. CD40-CD40 ligand interaction is central to cell-mediated immunity against toxoplasma gondii: patients with hyper IgM syndrome have a defective type 1 immune response that can be restored by soluble CD40 ligand trimer. J Immunol. 1999;162:6690–700.
- 342. Filipe-Santos O, et al. X-linked susceptibility to mycobacteria is caused by mutations in NEMO impairing CD40-dependent IL-12 production. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1745–59.
- 343. Minegishi Y, et al. Dominant-negative mutations in the DNA-binding domain of STAT3 cause hyper-IgE syndrome. Nature. 2007;448:1058–62.
- 344. Puel A, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. Science. 2011;332:65–8.
- 345. Liu L, et al. Gain-of-function human STAT1 mutations impair IL-17 immunity and underlie chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. J Exp Med. 2011;208: 1635–48.
- 346. Fahy JV. Type 2 inflammation in asthma–present in most, absent in many. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015; 15:57–65.
- 347. Risma KA, et al. V75R576 IL-4 receptor alpha is associated with allergic asthma and enhanced IL-4 receptor function. J Immunol. 2002;169:1604–10.

- 348. Wildin RS, et al. X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. Nat Genet. 2001;27:18–20.
- Bennett CL, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet. 2001;27:20–1.
- 350. de Saint Basile G, Menasche G, Fischer A. Molecular mechanisms of biogenesis and exocytosis of cytotoxic granules. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:568–79.
- 351. Suga N, et al. Perforin defects of primary haemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis in Japan. Br J Haematol. 2002;116:346–9.
- 352. Sepulveda FE, et al. LYST controls the biogenesis of the endosomal compartment required for secretory lysosome function. Traffic. 2015;16:191–203.
- 353. Lee SJ, et al. Temporal expression of bacterial proteins instructs host CD4 T cell expansion and Th17 development. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8:e1002499.
- 354. Karwacz K, et al. Critical role of IRF1 and BATF in forming chromatin landscape during type 1 regulatory cell differentiation. Nat Immunol. 2017;18:412–21.
- 355. Yosef N, et al. Dynamic regulatory network controlling TH17 cell differentiation. Nature. 2013;496:461–8.
- 356. Gaublomme JT, et al. Single-cell genomics unveils critical regulators of Th17 cell pathogenicity. Cell. 2015;163:1400–12.
- 357. Xiao S, et al. Small-molecule RORgammat antagonists inhibit T helper 17 cell transcriptional network by divergent mechanisms. Immunity. 2014;40: 477–89.

Regulatory T Cells: Their Role, Mechanism of Action, and Impact on Cancer



Anthony R. Cillo and Dario A.A. Vignali

Contents

6.1	Introduction	97
6.2	Discovery of a T Cell Population that	
	Regulates Autoimmunity	98
6.2.1	Suppression of Autoimmunity by CD4+	
	T Cells	98
6.2.2	Markers of Regulatory T Cells	99
6.2.3	Regulatory T Cell Origins: Thymus	
	Versus Periphery	100
6.3	Regulatory T Cell Suppressive	
	Mechanisms	101
6.3.1	Contact-Dependent Suppression	
	of Immune Responses	101
6.3.2	Suppression of Immune Responses	
	via Soluble Factors	102
6.3.3	Potentiation of Suppression and Survival	104
6.4	Relationship Between Regulatory	
	T Cells and Cancer	104
6.4.1	Role of Regulatory T Cells in Suppression	
	of Antitumor Immunity	105
6.4.2	Local Expansion of Regulatory T Cells	
	in Tumors	105
6.4.3	Regulatory T Cell Trafficking to Tumor	
	Tissues	106
6.4.4	Regulatory T Cells and Prognosis	106

A.R. Cillo • D.A.A. Vignali (🖂)

Department of Immunology, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA

Tumor Microenvironment Center, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Pittsburgh, PA 15232, USA e-mail: dvignali@pitt.edu

6.5	Immunotherapeutics and Regulatory
	T Cells
6.5.1	Altering the Balance Between Regulation
	and Inflammation
6.5.2	Potential Direct Effects of Therapeutics
	on Regulatory T Cells
6.6	Perspectives on the Importance
	of Regulatory T Cells in Immuno-
	Oncology
Refer	ences

6.1 Introduction

Generating antitumor immunity by using therapeutic monoclonal antibodies to block immune checkpoint receptors expressed on the surface of T cells has led to a revolution in the treatment of several solid tumors and hematologic malignancies [1]. T cells upregulate expression of immune checkpoint receptors following prolonged antigen stimulation, and expression of these receptors is associated with T cell dysfunction. Monoclonal antibodies targeting cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated protein 4 (CTLA-4), programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), or programmed deathligand 1 (PD-L1) have been successful in the clinic. These advances in immuno-oncology have led to prolonged survival in some patients with aggressive cancers, such as metastatic melanoma and non-small cell lung carcinoma [2]. Despite the success of immuno-oncology, there are still many patients that do not derive benefits from

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_6



Fig. 6.1 Regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) limit self-directed immune responses but also suppress antitumor immunity and clearance of chronic viral infections. T_{regs} are essential for the maintenance of peripheral tolerance and control immune homeostasis through suppression of autoimmunity, limiting

blockade of inhibitory receptors, suggesting that additional immune mechanisms may need to be targeted to elicit an effective antitumor response. Regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) maintain peripheral tolerance by limiting inflammation and autoimmunity. However, T_{regs} also inadvertently limit the clearance of chronic viral infections and lead to tumor tolerance because of their homeostatic role in limiting tissue damage (Fig. 6.1). In this chapter, we discuss T_{regs} in the context of immunooncology, beginning with the discovery of T_{regs} and T_{reg} -specific cell markers, describing the immunosuppressive mechanisms of T_{regs} , and presenting evidence for the roles T_{regs} play in limiting antitumor immunity.

6.2 Discovery of a T Cell Population that Regulates Autoimmunity

 T_{regs} were first discovered as a subpopulation of CD4⁺ T cells that were responsible for preventing autoimmunity. Subsequent work over several decades has elucidated molecular pathways and

allergic immune responses and preventing damaging immune responses to pathogens. However, because of these normal immunosuppressive functions, T_{regs} also have negative consequences in that they can prevent effective antitumor immunity and limit clearance of chronic viral infections

surface receptors associated with T_{regs} and has led to an appreciation for the central role they play in maintaining peripheral tolerance *in vivo*. As such, research into the role of T_{regs} in cancer continues to expand, especially in the context of immunotherapeutic targeting. An initial discussion of the discovery and elucidation of surface markers for the identification of this T cell population is warranted to establish a basic understanding of the role of T_{regs} in immune homeostasis.

6.2.1 Suppression of Autoimmunity by CD4⁺ T Cells

The importance of T_{regs} was first described in studies of autoimmunity in animal model systems dating back to the mid-1960s. These early studies showed that removal of the thymus from neonatal mice led to severe autoimmunity in many organs, including hematological disorders, endocrinopathies, gastritis, and oophoritis/orchitis [3]. These studies demonstrated an important role for T cells derived from the thymus in suppressing immune responses in a variety of tissues.



Fig. 6.2 Discovery of a T cell population that suppresses autoimmunity. (**a**) When the thymus is removed from neonatal mice within 3 days of birth, overt autoimmunity occurs in diverse organ systems such as the ovaries and pancreas. However, this autoimmunity can be prevented when CD4⁺CD8⁻ thymocytes are used to reconstitute these athymic mice. (**b**) Subsequent work showed that autoimmunity

occurred in multiple organ systems when naturally athymic nude mice were reconstituted with splenic cells depleted of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells. Conversely, reconstitution of nude mice with splenic CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells led to the suppression of autoimmunity. Collectively, these experiments demonstrated that thymus-derived CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells that develop soon after birth are responsible for the suppression of autoimmunity

Importantly, these early studies also demonstrated that a T cell subpopulation was required to prevent autoimmunity as the transfer of CD4⁺CD8⁻, but not CD4⁻CD8⁺, thymocytes was sufficient to abrogate autoimmunity (Fig. 6.2a).

6.2.2 Markers of Regulatory T Cells

Subsequent studies sought to define cell-intrinsic markers of this suppressive cell population. Studies to identify markers of T_{regs} first focused on the observation that T_{regs} appeared to be an activated T cell population. A cell surface marker that is associated with T cell activation and function is the high-affinity IL-2 receptor α -chain (IL2R α or CD25). The importance of CD25 in T_{reg} biology was discovered by comparing reconstitution of athymic nude mice with CD4⁺CD25⁺ versus CD4⁺CD25⁻ splenocytes. Reconstitution of nude mice with the CD4⁺CD25⁺ subpopulation led to suppression of autoimmunity, while the CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cell-reconstituted mice succumbed to autoimmunity (Fig. 6.2b) [4]. This study was the first to highlight the importance of CD25 as a marker of T_{regs} .

Advancing these observations demonstrated that both CD25 and IL-2 are essential for T_{reg} development and survival [5]. Although IL-2 contributes to survival and function of all T cells via CD25, it is critically important for T_{regs} , so much so that CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells are highly enriched for T_{regs} . Importantly, T_{regs} do not secrete IL-2 themselves and therefore require paracrine production of IL-2 by other cell types to exert their effector function. Following the identification of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells as a suppressive cell population, additional studies sought to further define markers of T_{regs} .

The discovery of a genetic mutation that led to a severe autoimmune disease in mice (known as scurfy), and a similar disease in humans (known as immunodysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked syndrome or IPEX), led investigators to consider the role of this gene in T_{regs}. This single X-linked gene (now known as *Foxp3*) was found to encode a key transcription factor (FOXP3) that directs the formation and function of T_{regs} [6]. FOXP3 has been shown to be critical in driving the development and suppressive function of T_{regs} by controlling the transcription of key genes required for the maintenance and function of Trees. FOXP3 drives or enhances the transcription of genes associated with suppression, such as CD25 and CTLA-4, while simultaneously suppressing the transcription of inflammatory genes, such as IFN- γ and IL-2. Expression of FOXP3 itself is driven by the epigenetic hypomethylation of the Foxp3 promoter, which is considered a hallmark of T_{regs} [7]. While FOXP3 is a specific marker for T_{regs} , it should be noted that FOXP3 can also be transiently expressed in activated human CD4⁺ T cells [8]. This transient expression of FOXP3 following activation can cause some effector T cells to appear to be FOXP3+ Tregs, and therefore phenotypic identification of human T_{regs} should rely on a combination of markers (i.e., coexpression of CD25 and FOXP3 or the absence of CD127, as described below). Additionally, FOXP3 cannot be used to sort T_{regs} from unmanipulated samples from mouse or human donors, as it is a transcription factor that is expressed in the nucleus. Consequently, murine studies in which FOXP3⁺ cells are purified routinely rely on the use of genetic reporters.

More recently, the absence of the interleukin-7 (IL-7) receptor (CD127) on CD4+CD25+ T cells has been described as a population that is enriched for FOXP3⁺ T_{regs}. Conventional memory T cells require signals from IL-7 for their maintenance and as such express high levels of CD127 [9]. Conversely, T_{regs} do not express CD127 because FOXP3 suppresses transcription of the ll7r gene, leading to the absence of CD127 on cells that express FOXP3 [10]. In addition to being enriched for expression of FOXP3, cells that are CD4+CD25+CD127- are highly suppressive in vitro, demonstrating that this population is functionally T_{regs}. Collectively, these markers have facilitated the purification and analysis of T_{regs}. However, identification of additional markers would be beneficial.

6.2.3 Regulatory T Cell Origins: Thymus Versus Periphery

The role of T_{regs} in preventing autoimmunity was described using thymus-derived T_{regs} (tT_{regs}). However, populations of suppressive CD4+FOXP3+ T cells can also be generated outside of the thymus [11]. T_{regs} that develop *in vivo* outside of the thymus are known as peripheral Tregs (pTregs). pTregs differentiate from naïve CD4+ T cells in the periphery following activation of naïve CD4+ T cells with suboptimal doses of antigen in the presence of transforming growth factor β (TGF- β). Activation of naïve CD4+ T cells under these conditions leads to the induction of FOXP3, the inability to secrete the effector cytokines IFN- γ and IL-2, and the ability to suppress proliferation of effector T cells in vitro. While tT_{regs} clearly limit autoimmunity *in vivo*, the role that pT_{regs} play is less clear [12]. One proposed function of pT_{regs} is to suppress immune responses to potentially damaging antigens, such as the gut microbiota, that are not recognized by the self-directed T cell receptor repertoire of tT_{regs}. Alternatively, pT_{regs} may be important for controlling immune responses in specific situations, such as in response to mucosal inflammation [13] or in controlling fetal-maternal tolerance [14]. It is clear that pT_{regs} can be induced in specific situations or to specific antigens in vivo, but their contribution relative to tT_{regs} in controlling autoimmunity and ultimately their role in cancer immunology requires further investigation. Taken together, tT_{regs} are indispensable for limiting autoimmunity in vivo, while pTregs most likely play a role in controlling immune activation in specific scenarios where exogenous antigen-specific T_{regs} are required.

The identification of a CD4⁺ T cell population that is essential to the prevention of autoimmunity has led to an entire branch of immunology dedicated to their study. Progress over several decades has led to substantial insight into the role of T_{regs} in suppressing autoimmunity, the origin and development of T_{regs} , and the appreciation for the essential role that FOXP3 plays in driving T_{reg} development and function. Identification of cell surface markers for T_{regs} has also accelerated their analysis *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

6.3 Regulatory T Cell Suppressive Mechanisms

Considerable attention has been devoted to understanding the mechanisms by which T_{regs} suppress immune responses. Broadly speaking, this can be broken down into two classes: mechanisms that are contact dependent and mechanisms that are mediated by soluble factors (Fig. 6.3) [15]. Contact-dependent mechanisms rely on direct interaction of T_{regs} with the cell types that are being actively suppressed. Soluble suppression mechanisms depend on either T_{reg} secretion of cytokines or metabolic inhibition of effector cells by T_{regs} . Both types of suppressive mechanisms can also be modulated and potentiated by the local microenvironment and cellextrinsic pathways, as discussed below.

6.3.1 Contact-Dependent Suppression of Immune Responses

Early studies suggested that T_{regs} required direct contact with effector T cells or antigen-presenting cells to mediate suppression [16, 17]. Through physical interaction with either conventional CD4+ CD25- T cells or antigen-presenting cells, T_{regs} limited the production of IL-2 from effector T cells and prevented co-stimulation of effector T cells by antigen-presenting cells. T_{reg} -mediated suppression was lost following the addition of IL-2 or anti-CD28, underscoring that suppression by T_{regs} relied on deprivation of IL-2 and co-stimulation. These initial studies laid the framework for more in-depth analysis of the contact-dependent mechanisms used by T_{regs} to suppress immune responses.



Fig. 6.3 Immunosuppressive mechanisms used by T_{regs} . T_{regs} suppress immune responses through either contactdependent mechanisms or soluble mediators. Contactdependent inhibition is achieved through interaction of CTLA-4 on T_{regs} with CD80/CD86 on dendritic cells or through interaction of LAG-3 on T_{regs} with major histocompatibility complex II on dendritic cells. The interaction of CTLA-4 with CD80/CD86 on dendritic cells prevents costimulation of CD28 on effector T cells with CD80/CD86, while LAG-3 prevents TCR/CD3-mediated activation of effector T cells. Expression of granzyme B and perforin in

 T_{regs} can lead to the suppression of immune responses through contact-dependent direct cytolysis of effector T cells. T_{regs} also can suppress effector T cells through soluble cytokines, such as IL-10, IL-35, and TGF- β . Alternatively, T_{reg} suppression with soluble mediators also occurs through metabolic disruption of effector T cells. This occurs through preferential uptake of IL-2 by T_{regs} due to high expression levels of CD25 (IL2R α). The presence of the ectoenzymes CD39 and CD73 on the surface of T_{regs} can catalyze the breakdown of ATP into adenosine, which then can suppress effector T cells or dendritic cells

One surface molecule expressed by T_{regs} that mediates contact-dependent suppression is cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4). CTLA-4 is required to prevent systemic autoimmunity, and knockout of this gene in mice leads to fatal autoimmune-mediated destruction of multiple tissues [18]. CTLA-4 competes with CD28 for binding to the dendritic cell-expressed co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86. Compared with CD28, CTLA-4 binds to CD80/ CD86 with a higher affinity, effectively depriving conventional cells of Т co-stimulation. Importantly, CTLA-4 is constituteively expressed by T_{regs} and mediates one form of contact-dependent suppression. Tregs can also further deprive effector T cells of co-stimulation through transendocytosis and subsequent degradation of CD80/CD86 from antigen-presenting cells [19]. In head and neck cancer patients, treatment with targeted chemotherapy led to an increase in intratumoral CTLA-4⁺ T_{regs} , which was associated with poor clinical outcome [20]. Contactdependent immunosuppression by CTLA-4⁺ T_{regs} is necessary to maintain immune homeostasis, and CTLA-4⁺ T_{regs} are likely to play a role in suppressing antitumor immunity.

Another molecule expressed on T_{regs} that contributes to contact-dependent suppression is lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3) [21]. In addition to expression on T_{regs}, LAG-3 is upregulated on the surface of conventional T cells following activation. LAG-3 is associated with the T cell receptor (TCR) on the surface of T cells and binds major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II) molecules. This interaction between LAG-3 and MHC-II leads to inhibition of TCR/ CD3-mediated T cell activation. LAG-3 can also directly modulate dendritic cell function by interacting with MHC-II and preventing dendritic cell maturation by depriving them of activating signals from conventional CD4+ T cells. Consistent with a role for LAG-3 in contact-dependent suppression by Tregs, in vitro or in vivo blockade of LAG-3 reduces suppression by T_{regs} [22]. Further, genetic deletion of Lag3 in mice also led to reduced suppressive activity [23]. In melanoma and colorectal cancer patients, LAG-3⁺ T_{regs} are expanded in peripheral blood compared with

healthy donors and are present at a higher frequency within lymph nodes containing tumor metastases compared with normal lymph nodes [24]. Furthermore, FOXP3⁺LAG-3⁺ cells were found to secrete IL-10 and TGF- β and to potently suppress proliferation in a contact-dependent manner *in vitro*.

A separate contact-dependent mechanism by which T_{regs} can exert effector function is through the release of cytolytic granules containing granzyme and perforin. Although this is a feature that is normally restricted to CD8⁺ T cells, T_{regs} can express granzyme and perforin and can eliminate autologous cells through a perforin-dependent pathway [25]. T_{regs} expressing granzyme and perforin are therefore able to suppress immune responses through the direct elimination of effector T cells. Finally, one study demonstrated the importance of granzyme and perforin in the suppression of antitumor immunity in a murine cancer model, underscoring the importance of this contact-dependent mechanism in promoting tumor growth [26].

6.3.2 Suppression of Immune Responses via Soluble Factors

The second general mechanism by which T_{regs} can exert their suppressive function is either by secretion, uptake, or generation of soluble molecules. As discussed earlier, T_{regs} are characterized by constitutive expression of the IL-2 receptor CD25. This high expression of CD25 causes T_{regs} to preferentially bind IL-2, depriving conventional T cells of this important stimulatory cytokine. Effector T cell deprivation of IL-2 at inflammatory sites subsequently leads to loss of their effector function and apoptosis [27].

A second soluble mechanism used by T_{regs} to suppress immune responses is the secretion of cytokines, such as interleukin-10 (IL-10) [28]. In particular, IL-10 production by T_{regs} plays a role in controlling inflammation at mucosal sites, and mice that lack the *Il10* gene in T_{regs} develop spontaneous colitis and inflammation of the skin and lungs [29]. IL-10 can directly inhibit effector T cells through interaction with the hetero-tetrameric IL-10 receptor complex, leading to activation of STAT3 and transcription of anti-inflammatory genes [30]. In addition to direct suppression of effector T cells, IL-10 can also suppress immune responses by limiting the ability of macrophages to produce inflammatory cytokines [31]. Similarly, IL-10 also prevents the maturation of dendritic cells and inhibits their expression of co-stimulatory molecules [32]. While T_{regs} are noted for their ability to secrete IL-10, other cell types, such as macrophages under certain conditions, also secrete IL-10 [28]. Although IL-10 is a highly pleiotropic cytokine, it has a clear role in suppression of immune responses by T_{regs} .

Another important cytokine produced by T_{regs} that has been shown to play a broad and important role in the immune system is TGF- β [33]. Unlike other cytokines, TGF- β is initially translated as an inactive protein that requires proteolysis for activation. Inactive TGF-\beta is non-covalently bound to latency-associated peptide (LAP) through an association with GARP on the surface of T_{regs} [34]. This membrane-bound form of TGF- β is then activated through several possible proteolytic pathways, allowing the activated form of TGF- β to perform its immunosuppressive function [35]. One of the first descriptions of a connection between TGF- β and T_{regs} was in a model of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) in mice, where oral tolerance was induced by feeding mice myelin basic protein [36]. Analysis of the CD4⁺ T cells that infiltrated the nervous system to facilitate tolerance revealed that these cells produced TGF- β and prevented EAE. As with other Treg molecules, knockout of TGF- β from murine T_{regs} leads to induction of autoimmune disease, underscoring the importance of TGF- β in immune homeostasis [37]. TGF- β suppresses effector T cell responses in several ways, including inhibiting IL-2 production and IFN- γ and perform production in CD8+ T cells [38]. In head and neck cancer patients, an important role of TGF- β secreting T_{regs} has been described [39]. Taken together, secretion of TGF- β by T_{regs} plays an important role in maintaining immune homeostasis and can inhibit antitumor immunity.

Another important cytokine produced by T_{regs} to facilitate immunosuppression in murine models is interleukin-35 (IL-35) [40]. IL-35 is a member of the IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines and consists of one IL-12 α subunit and one IL-27 β /Ebi3 (Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3) subunit [41]. These cytokine genes are constitutively expressed in a subpopulation of murine Tregs, but not conventional T cells, and are upregulated following T_{reg} activation. IL-35 confers suppressive activity on naïve CD4+ T cells and directly suppresses division of conventional cells. Like other inhibitory cytokines, IL-35 can also drive the development of an induced T_{reg} population, called iTr35, that can suppress effector T cells via IL-35 [42]. IL-35 mediates signaling via a unique IL12r β 2:gp130 receptor heterodimer and a STAT1:STAT4 heterodimer [43]. In murine cancer models, IL-35 has recently been shown to play an important role in promoting tumor growth by contributing to T cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment [44]. Consistent with increased IL-35 production from highly activated T_{regs} , an IL-35 reporter mouse revealed enrichment of IL-35⁺ T_{regs} in the tumor microenvironment, and neutralization of IL-35 or T_{reg}-specific genetic deletion of Ebi3 led to enhanced antitumor immunity, which was mediated via enhanced cell proliferation and effector function and improved memory cell generation of effector T cells. T_{reg}restricted deletion of Ebi3 also led to reduced expression of the inhibitory receptors PD-1, LAG-3, and TIM-3, suggesting that IL-35 may promote exhaustion through upregulation of multiple inhibitory receptors [44].

Finally, T_{regs} can also mediate immunosuppression via the generation of adenosine, a labile, highly suppressive molecule [45]. Extracellular adenosine accumulates at sites of ischemia and inflammation *in vivo*. In the extracellular space, adenosine is generated by T_{regs} via breakdown of ATP. The extracellular ectoenzymes CD39 and CD73 on T_{regs} , or cells in close proximity, in tandem catalyze the breakdown of ATP to adenosine. While CD73 is broadly expressed on activated T cells and other cell types, CD39 expression is largely restricted to T_{regs} . Increased levels of adenosine at sites of inflammation inhibit immune responses through interaction with either the adenosine A_{2A} receptor on effector T cells or the adenosine A_{2B} receptor on antigenpresenting cells. The interaction of extracellular adenosine with either receptor leads to increased intracellular levels of cAMP and limits the release of inflammatory cytokines from both effector T cells and antigen-presenting cells. T_{regs} can therefore limit the production of inflammatory cytokines locally by breaking down ATP into adenosine through extracellular ectoenzymes.

As described in this section, T_{regs} use multiple contact-dependent and contact-independent/ contact-soluble mechanisms to suppress effector T cell responses and antigen-presenting cell development and function. Given the detrimental effects of autoimmunity and excessive immune responses and the diversity of cell populations and effector mechanisms they need to control, T_{regs} likely have evolved multiple immunosuppressive mechanisms to adequately control autoimmunity and inflammation in a variety of settings. An important question is whether certain mechanisms are more dominantly or preferentially utilized by T_{regs} in tumors and thus may be targeted therapeutically without substantially impacting the ability of T_{regs} to maintain immune homeostasis and peripheral tolerance.

6.3.3 Potentiation of Suppression and Survival

T_{regs} function in diverse environments and suppress a variety of cell types. Consequently, their function and survival are likely modulated or potentiated by a variety of environmental cues, many of which are likely poorly understood or have yet to be defined. Early studies suggested that T_{reg} suppression was contact dependent [16, 17]. However, this notion was inconsistent with the growing appreciation of the importance of cytokines in mediating T_{reg}-dependent suppression. This conundrum was resolved when a more recent study showed that it was not suppression by T_{regs} per se that was exclusively contact dependent but rather the boosting/potentiation of their suppressive activity that was contact dependent [46]. This

study found that co-culture of T_{regs} with fixed or live conventional CD4⁺ T cells or antigen-presenting cells was sufficient to boost the capacity of T_{regs} to suppress effector T cells across a permeable transwell membrane via IL-10 and IL-35.

The potentiation of T_{reg} function and survival was found to be mediated by neuropilin-1 (Nrp1) on the surface of T_{regs} via interaction with Sema4a [47]. Nrp1 is involved in normal neural and vascular development and also plays a role in tumor angiogenesis [48]. Signaling through the Nrp1/ Sema4a interaction is necessary for T_{reg} suppression by soluble cytokines in vitro [47]. Nrp1 on T_{regs} limits Akt (protein kinase B [PKB]) activity via phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), which in turn stabilizes the T_{reg} phenotype and enhances their survival and function. Consistent with a requirement for Nrp1 to mediate T_{reg} potentiation, genetic ablation of Nrp1 in murine T_{regs} led to a significant enhancement of antitumor immunity in vivo but did not lead to overt autoimmunity or peripheral inflammation [47, 49]. These observations highlighted the unique role of Nrp1 in stabilizing and potentiating the survival and suppressive function of T_{regs} in the tumor microenvironment. However, it remains to be determined if the Nrp1 pathway is only utilized in the tumor microenvironment and if so why and if there are other mechanisms that regulate T_{reg} fate and function.

6.4 Relationship Between Regulatory T Cells and Cancer

 T_{regs} are indispensable *in vivo* for their control of immune homeostasis through suppression of autoreactive T cells. Tumor tissue originates from healthy tissue, and as such T_{reg} suppression of autoreactive immune responses likely limits antitumor immune responses because of their normal role in protecting tissue from damage caused by overt inflammation. Experimental evidence from murine models has highlighted the importance of T_{regs} in suppressing antitumor immunity, while the presence of T_{regs} in human tumors correlates with poor prognosis.
6.4.1 Role of Regulatory T Cells in Suppression of Antitumor Immunity

The role that T_{regs} play in the suppression of antitumor immunity has been demonstrated in several mouse models. Mutation or elimination of the Foxp3 gene in mice and humans leads to fatal autoimmunity, so germline deletion of Foxp3 in mice cannot be used to study antitumor immunity. While T_{regs} can be limited or depleted in adult mice with antibodies targeting CD4 or CD25 or drugs such as cyclophosphamide, these treatments also impact activated effector T cells, confounding experimental interpretation [50]. Instead, inducible T_{reg}-targeting genetic systems have been used to transiently deplete T_{regs} in adult mice to study their role in suppressing antitumor immunity. One model that has been utilized in mice is insertion of the human diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR) under control of the Foxp3 locus (*Foxp3*^{DTR}) [51, 52]. Following the administration of diphtheria toxin, all cells expressing FOXP3 are depleted, allowing for a direct assessment of the role of T_{regs} in suppressing antitumor immunity.

Using the $Foxp3^{DTR}$ mice, depletion of FOXP3⁺ T_{regs} has been performed in mice with a variety of implanted tumors. Following depletion of T_{regs} ,

mice had reduced tumor growth and prolonged survival compared with littermates that did not have their T_{regs} depleted [47, 53]. These mechanistic studies in mice have demonstrated that Tregs play an important role in suppressing antitumor immunity and that specific depletion of T_{regs} is sufficient to prevent tumor growth and prolong survival in mice. However, depletion of T_{regs} following administration of diphtheria toxin in the $Foxp3^{DTR}$ mice is not specific for T_{regs} in the tumor microenvironment, and these mice quickly succumb to autoimmune disease despite their antitumor immune responses. This once again highlights the importance of T_{regs} in maintaining peripheral tolerance throughout life and suggests that systemic depletion of Tregs may not be a viable treatment option for cancer patients.

6.4.2 Local Expansion of Regulatory T Cells in Tumors

 T_{regs} are present in many healthy tissues, and as tumors grow, T_{regs} can possibly expand locally through increased antigenic stimulation and subsequent proliferation (Fig. 6.4a). In the context of a tumor, tissue-resident T_{regs} specific for self-peptides presented on MHC receive additional anti-



Fig. 6.4 Origins of T_{regs} in the tumor microenvironment. T_{regs} can increase in frequency within the tumor microenvironment as the tumor grows by increased self-antigen presentation and subsequent proliferation of T_{regs} . Enhanced recruitment of T_{regs} to the tumor microenvironment from the periphery can also occur through interaction of chemokine receptors on T_{regs} with chemokines produced by tumor cells, tumor-associated macrophages, or CD8⁺ effector T cells within the tumor microenvironment. This chemokine signaling leads to the preferential accumulation of T_{regs} within the tumor genic stimulation as the tumor grows, leading to expansion of local T_{regs} . In support of this concept, studies have found that T_{regs} within tumors have a distinct T cell receptor repertoire from conventional CD4⁺ T cells [54] and that the T cell receptor repertoire of T_{regs} is largely skewed toward a few clonally expanded populations [55]. Also, T_{regs} are often the most proliferative immune cell type in tumors [47]. Expansion of T_{regs} specific for antigens present in normal tissue may partially explain the increased presence of T_{regs} within tumors, although this mechanism could exist in conjunction with enhanced trafficking of T_{regs} to tumors.

6.4.3 Regulatory T Cell Trafficking to Tumor Tissues

To perform their effector function, activated T_{regs} need to traffic to sites of inflammation within tissues. Trafficking of leukocytes is generally controlled via chemotactic cytokines known as chemokines. These chemokines interact with a specific array of cell surface transmembrane G protein-coupled receptors. For example, under normal physiologic conditions in the lymph node, expression of the chemokine receptor CCR7 on T_{regs} leads to their recruitment to T cell zones, where they have access to abundant IL-2 [56]. The recruitment of T_{regs} to T cell zones within lymph nodes highlights the function of chemokine receptors and ligands to target trafficking to specific anatomical locations. Similarly, secretion of specific chemokines by tumors or other immune cells within the tumor microenvironment can actively recruit Tregs through interaction with specific homing receptors on T_{regs} .

In cancer, specific chemokine/receptor interactions that recruit T_{regs} to the tumor are dependent on the tissue origin of the tumor and the cytokine milieu produced in the tumor microenvironment. The most commonly reported mechanism by which T_{regs} are recruited to the tumor microenvironment is through interaction of the chemokine CCL22 with CCR4 expressed on T_{regs} . First described in breast cancer, this pathway has been found to play an important role in recruiting activated T_{regs} to other tumor types including ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, and head and neck cancer [57]. While tumor cells may actively secrete chemokines, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) are another major source of chemokines. TAMs were shown to be the major source of chemokines responsible for the recruitment of T_{regs} in ovarian cancer [58]. CCL22 secretion by tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells can also drive T_{reg} recruitment into the tumor [59].

In the normal setting of inflammation, T_{regs} are recruited to limit tissue damage from the ensuing immune response. This is analogous to recruitment of T_{regs} to tumors via local expansion or chemokine-mediated recruitment. This highlights the co-opting of a normal biological process to promote tumor-induced tolerance. Studies in a wide variety of murine tumor models have demonstrated that T_{regs} play a central role in preventing antitumor immunity.

6.4.4 Regulatory T Cells and Prognosis

Many studies have evaluated associations between the frequency of T_{regs} in the tumor microenvironment and clinical outcome, including in head and neck [60], ovarian [58, 62], breast [63], pancreatic [64, 65], gastric [66, 67], lung [68], renal [69, 70], and liver cancers [71] and melanoma [61]. Studies assessing the frequency of Trees within tumors have generally used tissue sections and have looked for FOXP3+ cells in the presence or absence of additional markers. Other studies have looked at the frequency of T_{regs} within tumors as a ratio of CD8+ T cells to T_{regs} [72–75]. A recent meta-analysis of 17 different types of cancer across more than 15,500 cancer cases found that a higher frequency of Tregs in tumors was associated with poorer overall survival when considering all cancer types [76] (Fig. 6.5). Many of these studies used histology of tissue sections and have relied on identifying T_{regs} using staining for FOXP3 alone or with one or two other markers.

However, studies looking at the frequency of T_{regs} and their association with outcome have occasionally yielded conflicting results, with



Fig. 6.5 Higher frequency of T_{regs} in tumors is associated with poorer prognosis. High absolute counts of FOXP3⁺ T_{regs} within tumors or a low ratio of CD8⁺ T cells to

FOXP3⁺ T_{regs} in tumors is associated with poorer outcomes (i.e., shorter overall survival) compared with low counts of FOXP3⁺ T_{regs} or a high ratio of CD8⁺ T cells to T_{regs}

some studies concluding that a higher frequency of T_{regs} is associated with poor clinical outcome and others showing that a higher frequency of T_{regs} is associated with better clinical outcome. These conflicting results have been found in studies looking at colorectal [77, 78], breast [79, 80], ovarian [81], and gastric [82] cancers.

Given the lack of clarity in the relationship between the frequency of T_{regs} in tumors and prognosis, recent work has attempted to further elucidate the role of FOXP3+ T_{regs} in tumors. As discussed above, FOXP3 is predominantly expressed by T_{regs} but is also transiently expressed at lower levels in activated T cells. Given that human CD4+FOXP3+ T cells can contain both T_{regs} and activated effector T cells, studies that rely on FOXP3 histological analysis using no additional markers can have difficulty in accurately identifying Trees. Erroneous identification of effector T cells as T_{regs} could underlie the variable conclusions reported. A recent study evaluating the role of CD4+FOXP3+ Tregs in colorectal cancer has sought to evaluate the role of FOXP3⁺ T_{regs} versus

FOXP3⁺ effector T cells in controlling the prognosis in colorectal cancer [83]. These authors found that there were two distinct classes of colorectal cancer immune infiltrates: inflammatory and suppressive. Intriguingly, the authors found the role of FOXP3 expression was critically dependent on the class of immune infiltrate. In patients with suppressive tumors, a high frequency of FOXP3⁺ $T_{\mbox{\scriptsize regs}}$ was observed, and in this group, higher expression of FOXP3 was associated with poorer clinical outcome. In the second group of patients, with inflammatory tumors, a higher frequency of FOXP3+ effector T cells was found. In this inflammatory group, higher expression levels of FOXP3 was associated with better overall survival. This important study highlights that not all human CD4+ T cells that express FOXP3 are T_{regs} and that studies aimed at assessing the role of T_{regs} in tumors need to carefully classify FOXP3⁺ cells as T_{regs} versus activated effector T cells. Additional studies in other cancer types are needed to fully understand the prognostic significance of T_{regs} in human cancer.

6.5 Immunotherapeutics and Regulatory T Cells

6.5.1 Altering the Balance Between Regulation and Inflammation

A hallmark of immunotherapy is the reinvigoration of the immune response against tumors. Exhausted CD8⁺ T cells in the tumor microenvironment bear transcriptional hallmarks of dysfunction. CD8+ T cells expressing inhibitory receptors exist on a spectrum of dysfunction, with higher levels of PD-1 expression, in conjunction with expression of additional inhibitory receptors such as LAG-3, TIM-3, and TIGIT, associated with the most dysfunctional cells [84]. Blockade of inhibitory receptors results in either partial or full functional reinvigoration of previously exhausted cells or a prevention of further exhaustion. However, not all patients respond to checkpoint inhibition. One potential explanation for the failure of patients who express PD-L1 within tumors to respond to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade is that their tumors may be enriched for T_{regs}. Increased frequencies of T_{regs} in PD-L1⁺ tumors could lead to the failure of exhausted cells to be converted to effector cells due to the presence of suppressive cytokines, lack of co-stimulation, or inability to access presented antigens. Also, secretion of IL-35 by T_{regs} leads to expression of multiple inhibitory receptors on CD8⁺ T cells, potentially rendering CD8⁺ T cells unresponsive even in the presence of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. Expression of multiple inhibitory receptors on CD8+ T cells could significantly contribute to the lack of response following immunotherapy in patients, and many clinical trials are now currently investigating simultaneous blockade of multiple inhibitory receptors.

6.5.2 Potential Direct Effects of Therapeutics on Regulatory T Cells

Antitumor immunity is enhanced in some patients following blockade of CTLA-4 or PD-1/PD-L1. Much focus has been devoted to understanding the molecular dysfunction of effector CD8⁺ T cells that express the inhibitory receptors CTLA-4 and PD-1 and the ways in which blockade of these inhibitory receptors improves the function of these effector cells. However, CD8⁺ effector T cells are not the only cells that express these inhibitory receptors. Both effector CD4+ T cells and $T_{\mbox{\scriptsize regs}}$ can express inhibitory receptors, and their blockade, particularly on T_{regs} , may affect their frequency and function. While the most well-understood mechanisms governing immunotherapy are those that are controlled by effector CD8⁺ T cells, potential effects of blockade of inhibitory receptors on T_{regs} are also an area of highly active research. PD-1 can be expressed on T_{regs} , but the effect of PD-1 signaling in T_{regs} is still unclear. CTLA-4 is also expressed on T_{regs} , and the role played by CTLA-4 in suppressing immune responses by T_{regs} is well described. However, the relative role that blockade of CTLA-4 on T_{regs} versus effector T cells has on antitumor immunity is an area of active research.

CTLA-4 is constitutively expressed by T_{regs} and is one of their key contact-dependent immunosuppressive mechanisms. Despite the appreciation of the role that CTLA-4+ Trees play in mediating immunosuppression, the enhancement of antitumor immunity has largely been attributed to the effects of blockade of CTLA-4 on conventional CD8⁺ T cells [85]. The notion that the efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade is largely achieved through CD8+ T cells is consistent with findings demonstrating that ligation of CTLA-4 limits activation of T cells in a cell-intrinsic manner. However, it is also possible that administration of anti-CTLA-4 may either deplete or alter the function CD4+FOXP3+CTLA-4+ T_{regs}, leading to enhanced antitumor immunity.

Experimental evidence in support of the depletion of T_{regs} by CTLA-4 blockade comes from a mouse model in which the Fc receptor (FcR) portion of the antibody (the portion of the antibody that mediates antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity) of the CTLA-4 blocking antibody was mutated. In the absence of FcR binding, the effect of CTLA-4 blockade on tumor growth was largely lost, suggesting that antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxic elimination of T_{regs} may contribute to the efficacy of CTLA-4 therapy [86, 87]. Secondly, emerging studies in humans have suggested that the efficacy of CTLA-4 therapy is dependent on the elimination of T_{regs} within the tumor microenvironment [88]. These studies in mice and humans demonstrate that depletion of CTLA-4⁺ T_{regs} may play a role in the response following blockade of CTLA-4, but it is also possible that blocking this ligand on T_{regs} may affect their function. For example, CTLA-4 on Tregs interacts with CD80/ CD86 on dendritic cells, leading to expression of 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). IDOindoleamine expressing DCs potently suppress T cell activation [89]. However, if CTLA-4 is blocked or CTLA-4+ T_{regs} are depleted, this may prevent upregulation of IDO on DCs, leading to enhanced antitumor immunity. Overall, the mechanisms of action by which CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade enhanced antitumor immunity are areas of active investigation. It will be important to fully assess the impact of checkpoint inhibition of T_{reg} frequency and function.

6.6 Perspectives on the Importance of Regulatory T Cells in Immuno-Oncology

T_{regs} are an essential CD4⁺ T cell subpopulation that control peripheral tolerance and immune homeostasis. However, Tregs can also limit antitumor immunity as demonstrated in a wide variety of mouse cancer models. There is also growing support for the importance of T_{regs} in limiting antitumor immunity in a broad range of human cancers. Consequently, effective therapeutic targeting of T_{regs} in cancer will likely be restricted to mechanisms that are selectively or preferentially utilized by intratumoral T_{regs}, without inducing detrimental autoimmune or inflammatory consequences. While new potential therapeutic targets for the selective modulation of intratumoral T_{regs} have recently been described, further T_{reg}-focused discovery efforts are clearly warranted. Whether T_{regs} limit the efficacy of checkpoint blockade (i.e., PD-1/PD-L1 or CTLA-4 blockade) is another important question that remains unresolved. The central role that T_{regs} play in normal physiology and cancer immunology suggests that future immunotherapeutics must carefully consider their impact on T_{reg} function in tumors and in the periphery.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank Tullia Bruno, Creg Workman, Lawrence Andrews, Abigail Overacre, Deepali Sawant, Kathleen Vignali, and all the members of the Vignali Lab for constructive comments on the manuscript. This work is supported by National Institutes of Health (P01 AI108545, R01 CA203689, and P50 CA097190) and NCI Comprehensive Cancer Support CORE grant (CA047904).

References

- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, Powderly JD, Carvajal RD, Sosman JA, Atkins MB, Leming PD, Spigel DR, Antonia SJ, Horn L, Drake CG, Pardoll DM, Chen L, Sharfman WH, Anders RA, Taube JM, McMiller TL, Xu H, Korman AJ, Jure-Kunkel M, Agrawal S, McDonald D, Kollia GD, Gupta A, Wigginton JM, Sznol M. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443– 54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690.
- Sakaguchi S, Wing K, Miyara M. Regulatory T cells - a brief history and perspective. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37(Suppl 1):S116–23. doi:10.1002/ eji.200737593.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of selftolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. 1995;155(3):1151–64.
- Malek TR, Bayer AL. Tolerance, not immunity, crucially depends on IL-2. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(9):665–74. doi:10.1038/nri1435.
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self. Nat Immunol. 2005;6(4):345–52. doi:10.1038/ni1178.
- Huehn J, Polansky JK, Hamann A. Epigenetic control of FOXP3 expression: the key to a stable regulatory T-cell lineage? Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(2):83–9. doi:10.1038/nri2474.
- Wang J, Ioan-Facsinay A, van der Voort EI, Huizinga TW, Toes RE. Transient expression of FOXP3 in human activated nonregulatory CD4+ T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37(1):129–38. doi:10.1002/ eji.200636435.

- Huster KM, Busch V, Schiemann M, Linkemann K, Kerksiek KM, Wagner H, Busch DH. Selective expression of IL-7 receptor on memory T cells identifies early CD40L-dependent generation of distinct CD8+ memory T cell subsets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(15):5610–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308054101.
- Liu W, Putnam AL, Xu-Yu Z, Szot GL, Lee MR, Zhu S, Gottlieb PA, Kapranov P, Gingeras TR, Fazekas de St Groth B, Clayberger C, Soper DM, Ziegler SF, Bluestone JA. CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. J Exp Med. 2006;203(7):1701–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20060772.
- Abbas AK, Benoist C, Bluestone JA, Campbell DJ, Ghosh S, Hori S, Jiang S, Kuchroo VK, Mathis D, Roncarolo MG, Rudensky A, Sakaguchi S, Shevach EM, Vignali DA, Ziegler SF. Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(4):307–8. doi:10.1038/ ni.2554.
- Tanoue T, Atarashi K, Honda K. Development and maintenance of intestinal regulatory T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16(5):295–309. doi:10.1038/ nri.2016.36.
- Josefowicz SZ, Niec RE, Kim HY, Treuting P, Chinen T, Zheng Y, Umetsu DT, Rudensky AY. Extrathymically generated regulatory T cells control mucosal TH2 inflammation. Nature. 2012;482(7385):395–9. doi:10.1038/nature10772.
- Samstein RM, Josefowicz SZ, Arvey A, Treuting PM, Rudensky AY. Extrathymic generation of regulatory T cells in placental mammals mitigates maternalfetal conflict. Cell. 2012;150(1):29–38. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2012.05.031.
- Vignali DA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(7):523– 32. doi:10.1038/nri2343.
- Thornton AM, Shevach EM. CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. J Exp Med. 1998;188(2):287–96.
- Takahashi T, Kuniyasu Y, Toda M, Sakaguchi N, Itoh M, Iwata M, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi S. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. Int Immunol. 1998;10(12):1969–80.
- Walker LS, Sansom DM. Confusing signals: recent progress in CTLA-4 biology. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(2):63–70. doi:10.1016/j.it.2014.12.001.
- Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, Attridge K, Manzotti C, Schmidt EM, Baker J, Jeffery LE, Kaur S, Briggs Z, Hou TZ, Futter CE, Anderson G, Walker LS, Sansom DM. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. Science. 2011;332(6029):600–3. doi:10.1126/science.1202947.

- 20. Jie HB, Schuler PJ, Lee SC, Srivastava RM, Argiris A, Ferrone S, Whiteside TL, Ferris RL. CTLA-4(+) regulatory T cells increased in Cetuximab-treated head and neck cancer patients suppress NK cell cytotoxicity and correlate with poor prognosis. Cancer Res. 2015;75(11):2200–10. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. can-14-2788.
- Andrews LP, Marciscano AE, Drake CG, Vignali DA. LAG3 (CD223) as a cancer immunotherapy target. Immunol Rev. 2017;276(1):80–96. doi:10.1111/ imr.12519.
- Huang CT, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, Hipkiss EL, Ravi S, Kowalski J, Levitsky HI, Powell JD, Pardoll DM, Drake CG, Vignali DA. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21(4):503–13. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.08.010.
- Workman CJ, Vignali DA. Negative regulation of T cell homeostasis by lymphocyte activation gene-3 (CD223). J Immunol. 2005;174(2):688–95.
- 24. Camisaschi C, Casati C, Rini F, Perego M, De Filippo A, Triebel F, Parmiani G, Belli F, Rivoltini L, Castelli C. LAG-3 expression defines a subset of CD4(+)CD25(high)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells that are expanded at tumor sites. J Immunol. 2010;184(11):6545–51. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0903879.
- 25. Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. Immunity. 2004;21(4):589–601. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.09.002.
- 26. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, Ley TJ. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. Immunity. 2007;27(4):635– 46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.014.
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(12):1353–62. doi:10.1038/ni1536.
- Dennis KL, Blatner NR, Gounari F, Khazaie K. Current status of interleukin-10 and regulatory T-cells in cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2013;25(6):637–45. doi:10.1097/cco.000000000000006.
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(3):170–81. doi:10.1038/nri2711.
- 30. Shouval DS, Ouahed J, Biswas A, Goettel JA, Horwitz BH, Klein C, Muise AM, Snapper SB. Interleukin 10 receptor signaling: master regulator of intestinal mucosal homeostasis in mice and humans. Adv Immunol. 2014;122:177–210. doi:10.1016/ b978-0-12-800267-4.00005-5.
- Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J Immunol. 1991;147(11):3815–22.

- Steinbrink K, Wolfl M, Jonuleit H, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. J Immunol. 1997;159(10):4772–80.
- Wan YY, Flavell RA. 'Yin-Yang' functions of transforming growth factor-beta and T regulatory cells in immune regulation. Immunol Rev. 2007;220:199– 213. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00565.x.
- 34. Tran DQ, Andersson J, Wang R, Ramsey H, Unutmaz D, Shevach EM. GARP (LRRC32) is essential for the surface expression of latent TGF-beta on platelets and activated FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(32):13445–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.0901944106.
- 35. Lawrence DA. Latent-TGF-beta: an overview. Mol Cell Biochem. 2001;219(1–2):163–70.
- 36. Miller A, Lider O, Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Weiner HL. Suppressor T cells generated by oral tolerization to myelin basic protein suppress both in vitro and in vivo immune responses by the release of transforming growth factor beta after antigen-specific triggering. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(1):421–5.
- 37. Marie JC, Liggitt D, Rudensky AY. Cellular mechanisms of fatal early-onset autoimmunity in mice with the T cell-specific targeting of transforming growth factor-beta receptor. Immunity. 2006;25(3):441–54. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.012.
- Wrzesinski SH, Wan YY, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta and the immune response: implications for anticancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(18 Pt 1):5262–70. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. ccr-07-1157.
- 39. Strauss L, Bergmann C, Szczepanski M, Gooding W, Johnson JT, Whiteside TL. A unique subset of CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T cells secreting interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(15 Pt 1):4345–54. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-0472.
- Vignali DA, Kuchroo VK. IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(8):722–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2366.
- Collison LW, Vignali DA. Interleukin-35: odd one out or part of the family? Immunol Rev. 2008;226:248– 62. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00704.x.
- 42. Collison LW, Chaturvedi V, Henderson AL, Giacomin PR, Guy C, Bankoti J, Finkelstein D, Forbes K, Workman CJ, Brown SA, Rehg JE, Jones ML, Ni HT, Artis D, Turk MJ, Vignali DA. IL-35-mediated induction of a potent regulatory T cell population. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(12):1093–101. doi:10.1038/ni.1952.
- 43. Collison LW, Delgoffe GM, Guy CS, Vignali KM, Chaturvedi V, Fairweather D, Satoskar AR, Garcia KC, Hunter CA, Drake CG, Murray PJ, Vignali DA. The composition and signaling of the IL-35 receptor are unconventional. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(3):290–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2227.
- Turnis ME, Sawant DV, Szymczak-Workman AL, Andrews LP, Delgoffe GM, Yano H, Beres AJ, Vogel

P, Workman CJ, Vignali DA. Interleukin-35 limits anti-tumor immunity. Immunity. 2016;44(2):316–29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.013.

- Ernst PB, Garrison JC, Thompson LF. Much ado about adenosine: adenosine synthesis and function in regulatory T cell biology. J Immunol. 2010;185(4):1993– 8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000108.
- Collison LW, Pillai MR, Chaturvedi V, Vignali DA. Regulatory T cell suppression is potentiated by target T cells in a cell contact, IL-35- and IL-10-dependent manner. J Immunol. 2009;182(10):6121–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803646.
- 47. Delgoffe GM, Woo SR, Turnis ME, Gravano DM, Guy C, Overacre AE, Bettini ML, Vogel P, Finkelstein D, Bonnevier J, Workman CJ, Vignali DA. Stability and function of regulatory T cells is maintained by a neuropilin-1-semaphorin-4a axis. Nature. 2013;501(7466):252–6. doi:10.1038/nature12428.
- Prud'homme GJ, Glinka Y. Neuropilins are multifunctional coreceptors involved in tumor initiation, growth, metastasis and immunity. Oncotarget. 2012;3(9):921–39. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.626.
- 49. Hansen W, Hutzler M, Abel S, Alter C, Stockmann C, Kliche S, Albert J, Sparwasser T, Sakaguchi S, Westendorf AM, Schadendorf D, Buer J, Helfrich I. Neuropilin 1 deficiency on CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells impairs mouse melanoma growth. J Exp Med. 2012;209(11):2001–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20111497.
- Turk MJ, Wolchok JD, Guevara-Patino JA, Goldberg SM, Houghton AN. Multiple pathways to tumor immunity and concomitant autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2002;188:122–35.
- Kim JM, Rasmussen JP, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(2):191–7. doi:10.1038/ni1428.
- 52. Mayer CT, Lahl K, Milanez-Almeida P, Watts D, Dittmer U, Fyhrquist N, Huehn J, Kopf M, Kretschmer K, Rouse B, Sparwasser T. Advantages of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cell depletion using DEREG mice. Immun Inflamm Dis. 2014;2(3):162–5. doi:10.1002/iid3.33.
- Bos PD, Plitas G, Rudra D, Lee SY, Rudensky AY. Transient regulatory T cell ablation deters oncogene-driven breast cancer and enhances radiotherapy. J Exp Med. 2013;210(11):2435–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20130762.
- 54. Hindley JP, Ferreira C, Jones E, Lauder SN, Ladell K, Wynn KK, Betts GJ, Singh Y, Price DA, Godkin AJ, Dyson J, Gallimore A. Analysis of the T-cell receptor repertoires of tumor-infiltrating conventional and regulatory T cells reveals no evidence for conversion in carcinogen-induced tumors. Cancer Res. 2011;71(3):736–46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. can-10-1797.
- 55. Sainz-Perez A, Lim A, Lemercier B, Leclerc C. The T-cell receptor repertoire of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T lymphocytes is skewed toward public sequences. Cancer Res. 2012;72(14):3557–69. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-12-0277.

- 56. Smigiel KS, Richards E, Srivastava S, Thomas KR, Dudda JC, Klonowski KD, Campbell DJ. CCR7 provides localized access to IL-2 and defines homeostatically distinct regulatory T cell subsets. J Exp Med. 2014;211(1):121–36. doi:10.1084/jem.20131142.
- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol. 2016;28(8):401–9. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxw025.
- 58. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, Evdemon-Hogan M, Conejo-Garcia JR, Zhang L, Burow M, Zhu Y, Wei S, Kryczek I, Daniel B, Gordon A, Myers L, Lackner A, Disis ML, Knutson KL, Chen L, Zou W. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093.
- 59. Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, Gajewski TF. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(200):200ra116. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3006504.
- 60. Mandal R, Senbabaoglu Y, Desrichard A, Havel JJ, Dalin MG, Riaz N, Lee KW, Ganly I, Hakimi AA, Chan TA, Morris LG. The head and neck cancer immune landscape and its immunotherapeutic implications. JCI Insight. 2016;1(17):e89829. doi:10.1172/ jci.insight.89829.
- 61. Jacobs JF, Nierkens S, Figdor CG, de Vries IJ, Adema GJ. Regulatory T cells in melanoma: the final hurdle towards effective immunotherapy? Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(1):e32–42. doi:10.1016/ s1470-2045(11)70155-3.
- Wolf AM, Wolf D, Steurer M, Gastl G, Gunsilius E, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Increase of regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(2):606–12.
- Bates GJ, Fox SB, Han C, Leek RD, Garcia JF, Harris AL, Banham AH. Quantification of regulatory T cells enables the identification of high-risk breast cancer patients and those at risk of late relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(34):5373–80. doi:10.1200/ jco.2006.05.9584.
- 64. Jiang Y, Du Z, Yang F, Di Y, Li J, Zhou Z, Pillarisetty VG, Fu D. FOXP3+ lymphocyte density in pancreatic cancer correlates with lymph node metastasis. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e106741. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0106741.
- 65. Tang Y, Xu X, Guo S, Zhang C, Tang Y, Tian Y, Ni B, Lu B, Wang H. An increased abundance of tumorinfiltrating regulatory T cells is correlated with the progression and prognosis of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e91551. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091551.
- 66. Li Q, Li Q, Chen J, Liu Y, Zhao X, Tan B, Ai J, Zhang Z, Song J, Shan B. Prevalence of Th17 and Treg cells in gastric cancer patients and its correlation with clinical parameters. Oncol Rep. 2013;30(3):1215–22. doi:10.3892/or.2013.2570.

- 67. Shen Z, Zhou S, Wang Y, Li RL, Zhong C, Liang C, Sun Y. Higher intratumoral infiltrated Foxp3+ Treg numbers and Foxp3+/CD8+ ratio are associated with adverse prognosis in resectable gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2010;136(10):1585–95. doi:10.1007/s00432-010-0816-9.
- Hasegawa T, Suzuki H, Yamaura T, Muto S, Okabe N, Osugi J, Hoshino M, Higuchi M, Ise K, Gotoh M. Prognostic value of peripheral and local forkhead box P3+ regulatory T cells in patients with non-smallcell lung cancer. Mol Clin Oncol. 2014;2(5):685–94. doi:10.3892/mco.2014.299.
- 69. Griffiths RW, Elkord E, Gilham DE, Ramani V, Clarke N, Stern PL, Hawkins RE. Frequency of regulatory T cells in renal cell carcinoma patients and investigation of correlation with survival. Cancer Immunol. Immunotherapy. 2007;56(11):1743–53. doi:10.1007/ s00262-007-0318-z.
- 70. Li JF, Chu YW, Wang GM, Zhu TY, Rong RM, Hou J, Xu M. The prognostic value of peritumoral regulatory T cells and its correlation with intratumoral cyclooxygenase-2 expression in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. BJU Int. 2009;103(3):399–405. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.08151.x.
- Chen KJ, Lin SZ, Zhou L, Xie HY, Zhou WH, Taki-Eldin A, Zheng SS. Selective recruitment of regulatory T cell through CCR6-CCL20 in hepatocellular carcinoma fosters tumor progression and predicts poor prognosis. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):e24671. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024671.
- Preston CC, Maurer MJ, Oberg AL, Visscher DW, Kalli KR, Hartmann LC, Goode EL, Knutson KL. The ratios of CD8+ T cells to CD4+CD25+ FOXP3+ and FOXP3- T cells correlate with poor clinical outcome in human serous ovarian cancer. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e80063. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0080063.
- 73. Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, Bundy B, Nishikawa H, Qian F, Jungbluth AA, Frosina D, Gnjatic S, Ambrosone C, Kepner J, Odunsi T, Ritter G, Lele S, Chen YT, Ohtani H, Old LJ, Odunsi K. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(51):18538–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509182102.
- 74. Liu F, Lang R, Zhao J, Zhang X, Pringle GA, Fan Y, Yin D, Gu F, Yao Z, Fu L. CD8(+) cytotoxic T cell and FOXP3(+) regulatory T cell infiltration in relation to breast cancer survival and molecular subtypes. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130(2):645–55. doi:10.1007/ s10549-011-1647-3.
- Sasada T, Kimura M, Yoshida Y, Kanai M, Takabayashi A. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: possible involvement of regulatory T cells in disease progression. Cancer. 2003;98(5):1089–99. doi:10.1002/cncr.11618.
- 76. Shang B, Liu Y, Jiang SJ, Liu Y. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in

cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2015;5:15179. doi:10.1038/srep15179.

- 77. Frey DM, Droeser RA, Viehl CT, Zlobec I, Lugli A, Zingg U, Oertli D, Kettelhack C, Terracciano L, Tornillo L. High frequency of tumor-infiltrating FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells predicts improved survival in mismatch repair-proficient colorectal cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 2010;126(11):2635–43. doi:10.1002/ijc.24989.
- Salama P, Phillips M, Grieu F, Morris M, Zeps N, Joseph D, Platell C, Iacopetta B. Tumor-infiltrating FOXP3+ T regulatory cells show strong prognostic significance in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(2):186–92. doi:10.1200/jco.2008.18.7229.
- 79. de Kruijf EM, van Nes JG, Sajet A, Tummers QR, Putter H, Osanto S, Speetjens FM, Smit VT, Liefers GJ, van de Velde CJ, Kuppen PJ. The predictive value of HLA class I tumor cell expression and presence of intratumoral Tregs for chemotherapy in patients with early breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(4):1272– 80. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-1844.
- 80. Ladoire S, Arnould L, Mignot G, Coudert B, Rebe C, Chalmin F, Vincent J, Bruchard M, Chauffert B, Martin F, Fumoleau P, Ghiringhelli F. Presence of Foxp3 expression in tumor cells predicts better survival in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;125(1):65–72. doi:10.1007/ s10549-010-0831-1.
- Milne K, Kobel M, Kalloger SE, Barnes RO, Gao D, Gilks CB, Watson PH, Nelson BH. Systematic analysis of immune infiltrates in high-grade serous ovarian cancer reveals CD20, FoxP3 and TIA-1 as positive prognostic factors. PLoS One. 2009;4(7):e6412. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006412.
- 82. Wang B, Xu D, Yu X, Ding T, Rao H, Zhan Y, Zheng L, Li L. Association of intra-tumoral infiltrating macrophages and regulatory T cells is an independent prognostic factor in gastric cancer after radical resection.

Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(9):2585–93. doi:10.1245/ s10434-011-1609-3.

- 83. Saito T, Nishikawa H, Wada H, Nagano Y, Sugiyama D, Atarashi K, Maeda Y, Hamaguchi M, Ohkura N, Sato E, Nagase H, Nishimura J, Yamamoto H, Takiguchi S, Tanoue T, Suda W, Morita H, Hattori M, Honda K, Mori M, Doki Y, Sakaguchi S. Two FOXP3(+)CD4(+) T cell subpopulations distinctly control the prognosis of colorectal cancers. Nat Med. 2016;22(6):679–84. doi:10.1038/nm.4086.
- Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(6):492–9.
- Walker LS, Sansom DM. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cell-extrinsic regulator of T cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(12):852–63. doi:10.1038/ nri3108.
- Bulliard Y, Jolicoeur R, Windman M, Rue SM, Ettenberg S, Knee DA, Wilson NS, Dranoff G, Brogdon JL. Activating Fc gamma receptors contribute to the antitumor activities of immunoregulatory receptor-targeting antibodies. J Exp Med. 2013;210(9):1685–93. doi:10.1084/jem.20130573.
- 87. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, Roddie C, Henry JY, Yagita H, Wolchok JD, Peggs KS, Ravetch JV, Allison JP, Quezada SA. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. J Exp Med. 2013;210(9):1695–710. doi:10.1084/ jem.20130579.
- Selby MJ, Engelhardt JJ, Quigley M, Henning KA, Chen T, Srinivasan M, Korman AJ. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(1):32–42. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.cir-13-0013.
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):762–74. doi:10.1038/nri1457.

Purinergic Receptors: Novel Targets for Cancer Immunotherapy



Dipti Vijayan, Mark J. Smyth, and Michele W.L. Teng

Contents

7.1	Introduction	116
7.2	Extracellular ATP and Adenosine in Cancer	117
7.3	Purinergic Receptors in Immunity	
	and Cancer	118
7.3.1	Effect on Tumor Cells	118
7.3.2	Effects on Immune Cells	123
7.4	Pre-clinical Evidence for Purinergic	
	Signaling in Cancer	127
7.4.1	Extracellular ATP in Cancer	127
7.4.2	Adenosine Receptors in Cancer	
	Progression and Metastasis	129

D. Vijayan

Immunology in Cancer and Infection Laboratory, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston 4006, QLD, Australia

M.J. Smyth

Immunology in Cancer and Infection Laboratory, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston 4006, QLD, Australia

School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Herston 4006, QLD, Australia

M.W.L. Teng (🖂)

Cancer Immunoregulation and Immunotherapy Laboratory, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston 4006, QLD, Australia

School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Herston 4006, QLD, Australia e-mail: Michele.Teng@qimrberghofer.edu.au

7.5	Combination Therapies	131		
7.6	Ongoing Clinical Trials	132		
Conclu	usions	132		
References				

Key Points

- Solid tumors display regions of hypoxia, and this triggers cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME) to release ATP and adenosine. ATP through its action on P2 purinergic receptors (P2R) predominantly exerts pro-inflammatory signals to inhibit tumor cell growth. By contrast, activation of the P1 purinergic receptors (P1R) by adenosine favors pro-tumor and antiinflammatory immune functions.
- Of the known P2 receptors, the pre-clinical and clinical role of P2X7R is most extensively studied. P2X7R exhibits bifunctional phenotype; depending on the concentration of extracellular ATP and cell type it can either promote or inhibit tumor growth.
- Activation of adenosine receptors A2AR and A2BR is known to promote tumor growth and metastases via distinct immune and non-immune cell mechanisms. In the TME, the pro-tumor effects of A2AR are largely mediated

through its activation on immune cells, while expression of A2BR on tumor cell is demonstrated to be critical for tumor progression and metastases.

• Ecto-nucleotidases (CD39 and CD73) are the major source of extracellular adenosine in the TME. Increased expression of CD39 and CD73 is associated with poor prognosis in patients with cancers. They are ubiquitously expressed on tumors and immune cells, and have been identified to mediate immunosuppression through pathways acting on both these cell types.

7.1 Introduction

Tumor hypoxia has been a topic of immense interest to oncologists ever since its discovery by Thomlinson and Gray in 1955. In their study, the authors observed that tumors from human lung cancer patients were radio-resistant and upon histological analysis, exhibited a non-uniform distribution of oxygen [1]. In 1977, Reinhold et al. extended on these initial findings and concluded that the architecture of blood vasculature encapsulating tumors was disordered, which subsequently led to fluctuations in oxygen levels [2]. Currently, we know that a hypoxic tumor microenvironment (TME) is genetically unstable [3] and undergoes constant metabolic re-wiring [4, 5]. This hypoxic environment triggers cells in the TME to release the pro-inflammatory adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which is subsequently dephosphorylated by Ecto-nucleotidases (CD39 and CD73) to immunosuppressive adenosine [4]. Work by Geoffrey Burnstock was instrumental in demonstrating that extracellular ATP and adenosine were able to associate with plasma membrane-bound purinergic receptors in an autocrine/paracrine manner. In 1978, his team classified purinergic receptors into two sub-groups, one selective for ATP/adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (called the P2 receptors) and the other selective for adenosine (called the P1 receptors) [6]. In the last decade, the P2 and P1 purinergic receptors (P2R, P1R) have been demonstrated to influence tumor development via multiple non-redundant, immune and non-immune mediated mechanisms. Seminal work has now conclusively demonstrated that the activation of several of these purinergic receptors on immune cells as well as on tumors can promote tumor growth and metastasis [7–9]. Particularly, hypoxia and adenosine can downregulate the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules and other co-stimulatory molecules on antigen presenting cells (APC). This impairs the activation and effector functions of T cells, which are central for the immune control of many cancers [10]. Our group and others have further demonstrated that expression of some of these purinergic receptors may directly or indirectly suppress T cell and natural killer (NK) cell effector functions, thereby hampering immune responses against both primary tumors and their metastases [11, 12]. Adenosine can also promote the proliferation and immunosuppressive function of regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) and myeloid cell populations [13, 14]. Besides its role in immune cells, several of these ATP and adenosine receptors are overexpressed in human cancers, and their activation promotes tumor cell proliferation, invasion, migration, and angiogenesis [9, 10]. Currently, two of these purinergic receptors (CD73 and A2AR) are in clinical trials as targets for blockade in the treatment of solid cancers (www.clinicaltrials.gov), thus highlighting the importance of this pathway in tumor progression. This chapter therefore, describes the mechanisms by which ATP and adenosine change the dynamics of a TME to influence tumor growth and development. Importantly, we outline therapies that target various receptors in the purinergic pathway and have also demonstrated synergistic effects in combination with current approved immune checkpoint inhibitors, such as anti-PD-1/ PD-L1 and anti-CTLA-4. Overall, evidence from mouse and human studies suggests the merit in developing agents that can specifically target various aspects of the purinergic pathway as a new avenue for cancer treatment.

7.2 Extracellular ATP and Adenosine in Cancer

Oxygen is a microenvironmental factor that is essential in regulating cellular metabolism, as well as in the maintenance of normal tissue homeostasis. The diffusion of oxygen from blood vessels into any given tissue and the proximity to these vessels determine the level of oxygenation in that tissue. Typically, the diffusion limit for oxygen is approximately 100-200 µm and tissues residing beyond this radius are classified as hypoxic [15]. In solid tumors, the poor architecture of the tumor vasculature coupled with uncontrolled proliferation of transformed cells often results in uneven oxygen availability. As a result, areas of hypoxia exist in most solid tumors, occurring either acutely or chronically. For example, in patients with squamous cell carcinoma, up to 30% of the tumor mass was identified to be hypoxic [16]. Tumors adapt to hypoxia by initiating a series of response mechanisms that favor tumor cell angiogenesis, invasion, and metabolic reprogramming [4]. Hypoxic tumors are genetically unstable and show increased frequencies of DNA breaks and DNA replication errors [3]. In addition, hypoxia modulates the expression of several genes including the multidrug resistance gene 1 (MDR1) and multidrug resistance associated proteins 1 (MRP1). This makes these tumors refractory to radiotherapy and chemotherapy [17], and therefore in the clinic, hypoxia is a negative prognostic factor [18].

Hypoxia activates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) that in turn induces the upregulation of several biosynthetic intermediates necessary for energy (ATP) generation [4]. In tumors, extracellular ATP can be released by necrotic or inflammatory cells as well as from cancer cells themselves through mechanisms involving either the ATP-binding cassette transporters, pannexins, or connexins (outlined in Fig. 7.1) [19]. ATP being highly unstable is rapidly catabolized to ADP or adenosine monophosphate (AMP) and finally to adenosine (Fig. 7.1). Increased levels of hypoxia can therefore induce elevated levels of adenosine in the TME. This observation was first reported by Busse and Vaupel in 1996 where levels of adenosine in the TME correlated with tumor mass [20]. Since then, several studies have confirmed elevated adenosine levels in many mouse and human tumors. As an example, Zhang et al. showed that hypoxia promoted the development of tumor promoting M2-type macrophages through activation of the signaling molecule, extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). This resulted in increased vascularization and enhanced progression of 3LL Lewis Lung Carcinoma growth in mice [21]. Likewise, extracellular levels of adenosine were found to be increased manyfold in various human solid adenocarcinomas such as human colon (T-84 and HT-29) and lung (A549) carcinoma as well as in mouse MC38 colon cancer compared to surrounding normal tissue [22].

During neoplasia, extracellular adenosine is generated predominantly via the sequential activation of two Ecto-nucleotidases. These include CD39, which hydrolyzes ATP and ADP to AMP, and CD73 that dephosphorylates AMP further to adenosine (Fig. 7.1). Transcription factors Sp-1 and HIF-1 α mediate the upregulation of CD39 and CD73 expression, [23]. Besides CD39 and CD73, alkaline phosphatases (ALP) and several members of the nucleotide pyrophosphatase and phosphodiester family including NPP1/CD203a can also contribute to the production of extracellular adenosine. However, the involvement of this pathway in cancers is poorly understood, although it has been reported to be activated in gliomas, melanoma, prostate cancer [24], and multiple myeloma [25]. Importantly, adenosine can be further degraded to inosine in the presence of adenosine deaminase (ADA) through its association with CD26 (Fig. 7.1). A study by Tan et al., however, showed that elevated levels of adenosine itself could potently inhibit the activities of ADA and CD26 on HT-29 colorectal cancer cells [26]. It remains to be determined whether ADA is critical during cancer development.



Fig. 7.1 Generation of extracellular ATP and adenosine in the tumor microenvironment (TME). (*1*) In response to hypoxia, cells in the TME release ATP through either ATP-binding casettes, Pannexin-1 or connexins. (*2*) In addition, the purinergic receptor, P2X7R can also contribute towards the secretion of ATP in the TME. (*3*) Accumulation of ATP in the milieu stimulates the P2 purinergic receptors; P2XR and P2YR. (*4*) The sequential action of CD39 and CD73 degrade ATP to ADP/AMP and adenosine (Ado) respectively, thus

contributing majorly to the generation of an immunosuppressive TME. (*3*) Some P2YR including, P2Y1R, P2Y12R and P2Y13R are able to bind ADP and trigger downstream signaling. Ado modulate tumor growth by acting through P1 receptors, A1R, A2AR, A2BR and A3R. (*5*) The accumulated adenosine can be subsequently catabolized to inosine in the presence of adenosine deaminase (ADA) and its receptor CD26. *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, *ADP* adenosine diphosphate, *AMP* adenosine monophosphate

7.3 Purinergic Receptors in Immunity and Cancer

The biological actions of ATP and adenosine rely on the activation of purinergic receptors that are expressed abundantly on both tumors and the infiltrating immune and non-immune cells. ATP binds to P2Rs while adenosine binds P1Rs. The P2Rs can be further classified into seven P2X (P2X1-P2X7) and eight P2Y (P2Y1-2, P2Y4, P2Y6, P2Y11-14) receptor subtypes. P1Rs bind adenosine and comprise of four G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), namely A1R, A2AR, A2BR, and A3R [10]. Importantly, the concerted action of the two Ecto-nucleotidases, CD39 and CD73 constitute the major source of extracellular adenosine in the TME. In this section, therefore, we discuss how activation of the purinergic receptors as well as Ecto-nucleotidases on tumor cells and immune cells influences cancer growth and metastasis.

7.3.1 Effect on Tumor Cells

7.3.1.1 ATP Sensing P2 Receptors: P2XR and P2YRs

The high ATP concentration in the TME can directly affect the expression and function of

P2Rs during tumor development. This is evident by the differential expression of P2Rs on several human and mouse cancer cell lines (summarized in Table 7.1). Typically, the expression of P2XRs on tumor cells is associated with anti-tumor functions (see Table 7.1). However, P2X7R has seemingly opposite effects on the growth and survival of tumor cells. For example, activation of P2X7R facilitated the migration of PC9 lung carcinoma and T47D breast cancer cells and siRNA knockdown of P2X7R in these cells reversed their migration ability [38]. Conversely, exogenous addition of ATP to P2X7R overexpressing acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cells repressed its expression and resulted in the inhibition of cellcycle genes, migration, and adhesion molecules [71]. Likewise, activation of P2X7R on B16F10 melanoma cells resulted in reduced proliferation and survival of these cells [72]. A possible explanation for the disparities in these findings could be attributed to the levels of ATP used for in vitro stimulation in these studies. This contention was supported by Giannuzzo et al., who found the concentration of ATP could have opposite effects on P2X7R activity. Specifically, high levels of ATP activated P2X7R on human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells (PDAC) resulting in their reduced proliferation and survival. By

Table 7.1 Ex _l	pression of	purinergic receptors on cancer cells			
Type of purinergic receptor	Receptor	Human cancer cells	Mouse cancer cells	Functions	References
P2XR	P2X3	Colon carcinoma (SW480)		- Inhibition of apoptosis	[27]
	P2X4	Mammary carcinoma (MDA-MB-231), non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patient tumors	Mammary carcinoma (4T1.2)	- Activation of autophagy and ICD	[28, 29]
	P2X5	Lymphoid malignancies, melanoma (A431)		 - P2X5R⁺ lymphoid tumors are easily lysed by Lrh-1⁺ CTLs - Inhibition of cell proliferation 	[30]
	P2X7	Mammary tumors (MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, MCF-10A, T47D) NSCLC patient tumors Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) Mesothelioma Prostate cancer Lumo cancer cells (nc-9, H292)	Mammary carcinoma (471.2) Melanoma (B16F10) Colon carcinoma (MCA38)	 Activation of autophagy and ICD Increased cell migration and invasion Promotes proliferation Promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) Promotes cell death Increases Ca⁺² levels 	[28, 29, 31–39]
		Pancreatic cancer (Panc-1, MIA PaCa-1) Ovarian cancer (SK-OV3, Caov-3, MM14.0v)			
P2YR	P2Y1	Prostate cancer (PC-3)		 Increase in cell number Increase migration through ERK pathway 	[30, 40]
	P2Y2	Melanoma (A431), Mammary tumors (MDA-Mb-231, MCF-7) Prostate cancer (pc-3 M) Ovarian cancer (SK-OV3) Lung epithelial carcinoma (A549)		 Increase in cell number Increase migration through ERK pathway Increased IL-8 and invasion Activation of EGFR and induction of EMT Increase expression of adhesion molecules 	[30, 40–43]
	P2Y6	Mammary carcinoma (MDA-MB-231)		- Invasion and cancer migration	[39]

Table 7.1 (coi	ntinued)				
Type of purinergic receptor	Receptor	Human cancer cells	Mouse cancer cells	Functions	References
Ecto- nucleotidase	CD39	B cell lymphoma (BL-41, B104, Ramos) Melanoma (SK-Mel-5, SK-Mel-28) B CLL (EHEB, MEC2) Ovarian cancer (OAW-42, Sk-OV3)		 Increased ATPase activity Inhibition of CD4*T cell and CD8*T cell proliferation Inhibition of NK cell cytotoxicity 	[42, 44]
	CD73	Endometrial cancer (G1 EEC, HEC-1A, HEC-1B) Breast cancers (MDA-Mb-231, LM3)	Melanoma (SM1WT1, B16F10°) Mammary tumors (4T1.2)	 Increased expression on tumor core in A2AR-deficient mice In endometrial cancers CD73 is essential to prevent tumor cell migration and invasion In B16F10 cells, CD73 inhibited cell migration and adhesion Promotes extravasation and colonization in breast cancer cells 	[11, 45–48]
Adenosine receptor	AIR	Endometrial cancer (G1 EEC, HEC-1A, HEC-1B) Glioblastoma patients Colon cancer (CW2) Breast cancer (MCF-7)	Glioblastoma (Gl261)	 In endometrial cancers, CD73 is essential to prevent turnor cell migration and invasion via A1R Reduced turnor cell proliferation and induction of glioma cell death Regulates expression of estrogen receptor-α on MCF-7 cells and induces turnor proliferation 	[48–51]
	A2AR	Ovarian cancer (OVCAR-3, Caov-4, SCOV-3) NSCLC cell lines Melanoma (A375)		- cAMP induction - Induction of tumor cell proliferation	[52–54]
	A2BR	Mammary cancer (MDA-MB-231) Gastric cancer (HGC-27) Ovarian cancer (OVCAR-3, Caov-4) Prostate cancer (PC-3, DU145, LnCaP)	Melanoma (B16F10) Mammary tumor (4T1.2, E0771)	 Induces FGF-2 and B16F10 cell proliferation A2BR is a target of Fos-related antigen-1 (Fra-1) and mediates metastasis Promotes proliferation, migration, and invasion 	[55–60]
	A3R	Ovarian cancer (OVCAR-3, Caov-4) Melanoma (A375) Colon cancer (HCT 116, HT-29) Renal cell carcinoma (RCC4-VHL, ACHN) Glioma cells (A172) Bladder cancer cells (253 J and 5637, T24) Breast cancer (MCF-7, MDA-Mb-231) Prostate cancer (DU-145, PC3, LNCap-FGC-10)	Colon cancer (CT-26) Melanoma (B16-BL6) Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) Leukemia (HL60)	 Inhibition of tumor growth Promote tumor cell apoptosis via caspase-3 and caspase-9 Majorly inhibits but is shown to promote growth of HT29 cells Inhibition of renal cell carcinoma growth Increased tumor death via increased ROS production and intracellular Ca⁴² Reduced tumor cell migration 	[61-70]

contrast, low or basal levels of ATP promoted their cell migratory and invasive properties [37]. Such opposing P2X7R effects were also noted in cancer patients, whereby expression of P2X7R correlated favorably to overall survival in patients with gliomas, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The reverse was, however, seen in patients with renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (Table 7.2).

Expression of P2YRs on tumors largely favors tumor growth, migration, and survival (Table 7.1). P2Y2Rs were detected on the human breast cancer cell line MCF-7 and its activation potentiated migration and proliferative capability [40]. Similarly, the activation of P2Y2R on MDA-MB-231 cells increased the expression of adhesion molecules intercellular adhesion molecule-1(ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM). This subsequently resulted in increased adhesion of tumor cells to endothelial cells, thereby facilitating tumor cell migration and invasion [92]. By contrast, the migration of AML cells in response to the chemokine CXCL12 was blunted following incubation with P2Y2R and P2Y6R agonists [71].

7.3.1.2 Adenosine Generating Ectonucleotidases: CD39 and CD73

Co- or differential expression of CD39 and CD73 has been reported on many human cancers of

solid and hematological origins, as summarized in Table 7.1. Accumulating evidence now suggests that the expression of CD39 and CD73 on tumor cells can potently trigger tumor cell growth and survival. It is hence not surprising that cancer patients with high expression of CD39 and/or CD73 show poor survival and recurrence-free survival outcomes across several cancer types (Table 7.2). In pre-clinical experiments, coculture of human CD39+CD73+ SK-MEL5 melanoma cells with human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) impaired the proliferation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as hampered the cytolytic activity of CD8⁺ T cells. Pre-treatment of cancer cells with a CD39 inhibitor rescued this suppressive phenotype and increased the effector functions of CD8+ T cells and NK cells [42]. Similarly, CD39 expression on human ovarian cancer cells was reported to suppress T and NK cell effector functions [93]. CD73 expressing ID8 mouse ovarian cancer cells also inhibited the proliferation of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells and the production of the effector cytokine IFN- γ [94]. Exosomes isolated from mesothelioma patients were also found to express CD39 and CD73, which exhibited potent enzymatic activity leading to production of local adenosine. Functionally, these exosomes suppressed human CD4+ and CD8+ T cell proliferation and cytokine

Type of purinergic receptor	Receptor	Cancer type	Major finding	References	
ATP receptors	P2X3	Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)	- Low expression of P2X3R was associated with increased OS and RFS in these patients $(n = 188)$	[73]	
	P2X7	Non small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)	- No association between P2X7R expression and survival in these patients $(n = 93)$	[74]	
	P2X7	NSCLC	- High expression was associated with better RFS and OS $(n = 96)$	[75]	
	P2X7	Glioma	- High expression of P2X7 was associated with longer survival and increased sensitivity to radiotherapy ($n = 343$)	[76]	
	P2X7	HCC	- Increased peritumor P2X7 was associated with favorable prognosis in patients after surgical resection ($n = 273$)	[77]	
	P2X7	Renal cell carcinoma	- Low intratumoral P2X7R was associated with better RFS in patients ($n = 273$)	[78]	
	P2Y13	HCC	- High expression was associated with increased OS and RFS ($n = 188$)	[73]	

 Table 7.2
 Role of purinergic receptors in human cancers

Type of purinergic receptor	Receptor	Cancer type	Major finding	References
Ecto- nucleotidase	CD39	High-grade serous (HGS) ovarian cancer	- High CD39 expression showed a trend $(p = 0.0507)$ towards poor OS (meta-analysis)	[79]
	CD39	НСС	- High CD39 expression in HCC tumors from 326 patients correlated with poor OS and RFS	[80]
	CD39	Gastric cancer	 Overexpression of CD39 in tumor but not peritumor was associated with poor prognosis in these patients Similarly high CD39 expression on CD8⁺T cells was associated with poor survival outcomes (<i>n</i> = 84) 	[81]
	CD39	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLLL)	- Patients with high CD39 expression on T cells but not B cells showed poor survival (<i>n</i> = 68)	[82]
	CD73	Breast cancer	- High CD73 expression was correlated with poor OS and DFS ($n = 136$)	[83]
	CD73	Gastric cancer	- High CD73 expression was associated with poor prognosis in these patients ($n = 68$)	[84]
	CD73	Triple negative breast cancer (TNBC)	- High CD73 expression was associated with poor prognosis in TNBC patients but no association was identified in patients with HER2+ tumors or luminal breast cancers	[85]
	CD73	NSCLC	- High CD73 expression was associated with poor prognosis (<i>n</i> = 653)	[86]
	CD73	Human rectal adenocarcinoma	- High tumoral CD73 was associated with worse outcomes (<i>n</i> = 90)	[87]
	CD73	Ovarian cancer	 High CD73 expression was a poor prognostic marker in these patients This correlated with increased infiltration of CD73⁺CD8⁺T cells in the tumor (meta-analysis) 	[79]
	CD73	Prostate cancer	 High expression was associated with shorter RFS and shorter bone-metastasis free survival in these patients (n = 285) These observations correlated with increased CD73 expression on tumor infiltrating CD8⁺T cells 	[88]
	CD73	Oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC)	- High CD73 expression was associated with poor RFS and overall survival in patients with OSCC $(n = 113)$	[89]
	CD73	Head and neck squamous carcinoma (HNSC)	- High CD73 impacted OS in these patients (<i>n</i> = 162) and was associated with high lymph node metastasis	[90]
	CD73	Urothelial bladder cancer	- High CD73 expression reduced the rate of progression of cancer in these patients ($n = 174$)	[91]
Adenosine receptor	A2AR	NSCLC	- Better OS and RFS was observed in patients with high A2AR expression ($n = 653$)	[86]
	A2BR	TNBC	- High A2BR expression was associated with poor survival in TNBC patients but not in HER2+ or luminal breast cancer patients (meta-analysis)	[59]

Table 7.2 (continued)

OS Overall survival, RFS recurrence-free survival

release [95]. While CD73 is well characterized for its pro-tumor role, interestingly, a group recently identified an anti-tumor role for CD73 on human endometrial carcinoma. In this study, loss of CD73 on these tumors impaired actin polymerization, thus hampering cell-cell adhesion and loss of endometrial epithelial cell integrity. As a result, these tumors became highly migratory and invasive [48].

7.3.1.3 Adenosine Binding P1 Receptors: A1, A2a, A2b, and A3

P1Rs, similar to the P2YRs are widely expressed by tumor cells in mouse and humans (Table 7.1). Under physiological conditions, adenosine activates the high affinity A1, A2A, and A3 receptors. In contrast, activation of A2BR, a low affinity receptor occurs in conditions when adenosine concentration is high, which is frequently seen under pathological conditions such as the TME. Signaling via A1R and A3R inhibits intracellular cyclic AMP (cAMP), while A2AR and A2BR activate adenylyl cyclase and protein kinase A, leading to increased levels of (cAMP). High levels of cAMP is generally associated with profound immunosuppression and therefore A2AR and A2BR are viewed as tumor promoting adenosinergic receptors [96].

The suppressive function of A2AR has largely been investigated in the context of immune cells within the TME, and there exists limited understanding on how A2AR expression on tumors might influence tumor cell functions. A recent study reported that high expression of A2AR tumor biopsies of in adenocarcinoma patients correlated favorably with survival [86]. Paradoxical to this observation, inhibition of A2AR in human A375 melanoma cells reduced cell survival and proliferation in these tumors [10, 86]. Hence, the precise reason underlying these opposing results is presently unknown. A2BR, on the other hand, largely exerts its suppressive functions on tumor rather than immune cells. This receptor is detected in human and mouse triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) cells and its expression increased survival of these cells. In line with these findings, overexpression of A2BR was associated with poor survival in patients with TNBC, multiple myeloma, AML, and liposarcoma [59]. Wang et al. recently showed that microRNA-128b repressed the expression of A2BR. In patients with gastric cancer, microRNA-128b is downregulated leading to increased expression of A2BR, and this consequently increased tumor cell proliferation, migration, and survival [58].

Activation of A1R increases estrogen receptor- α (ER- α) expression on breast cancer cells and subsequently supports cancer growth [50]. The expression of A3R on tumor cells has contrasting effects. A3R is observed in primary human glioblastoma and prostate cancer, and in vitro stimulation inhibits proliferation of PC3 prostate carcinoma, HCT-116 colon carcinoma, and MIA-PaCa pancreatic carcinoma cells [97]. Paradoxically, activation of A3R on HT29 and CaCo2 colon cancer cells induces tumor cell proliferation [98]. Similarly, treatment with an A3R agonist CI-IB-MECA on human A375 melanoma cells induced the secretion of an angiogenic factor, Angiopoeitin-2 (Ang-2) [99].

7.3.2 Effects on Immune Cells

7.3.2.1 ATP/ADP Binding P2 Receptors

P2XRs mediate the transport of Na⁺, K⁺, and Ca²⁺ ions across the plasma membrane [10]. As a result, it was assumed that these receptors were not involved in the regulation of anti-tumor immunity. Therefore, although P2XRs and P2YRs were identified around the same time, the role of P2XRs in immune regulation is only now becoming apparent [10]. The expression of individual P2XRs on various immune cell types is outlined in Table 7.3. Of the known P2XRs, the expression and function of P2X7R has been most comprehensively investigated, in both immune and tumor cells. Cockcroft and Gomperts were the first to identify P2X7R expression in mast cells from rats [142]. They initially termed P2X7R as "ATP⁴⁻ receptor," because of its

Type of purinergic		Human immune	Mouse immune		
receptor	Receptor	cell subsets	cell subsets	Function(s)	References
P2XR	P2X1R	B cells neutrophils, DC	ND	- Chemotaxis - DC maturation	[100–104]
	P2X4R	B cells, T cells, Dc, Monocytes Macrophages	Macrophages	 T cell activation DC maturation Calcium mobilization Induction of autophagy 	[100–106]
	P2X5R	T cells B cells	ND	- T cell activation	[107]
	P2X7R	B cells CD4⁺ T cells CD8⁺T cells Macrophages DC T _{regs}	Macrophages CD4 ⁺ T cells CD8 ⁺ T cells T _{regs} B cells	 CD62L shedding on T cells Inflammasome activation T_{regs} proliferation T cell homeostasis Shedding of CD23 on B cells 	[102, 108–113]
P2YR	P2Y2R	Neutrophils Macrophages T cells	Macrophages Neutrophils DC Inflammatory monocytes	 Release of granules, activation of neutrophils Neutrophil migration, release of inflammatory mediators T cell activation ROS production 	[114–119]
	P2Y6R	Monocytes, Macrophages, Neutrophils	Eosinophils	 Neutrophil migration Release of pro- inflammatory cytokines Increases responsiveness of leucocytes to CCL2 Induce chronic allergic inflammation 	[118, 120–122]
	P2Y11R	Neutrophils NK cells DC	Only present in humans	 Activation marker NK cell cytotoxicity and chemotaxis Inhibition of IL-12 	[123–125]
	P2Y14R	Neutrophils	T cells Neutrophils	 Chemotaxis Inhibition of T cell proliferation 	[126, 127]
Ecto- nucleotidase	CD39	Neutrophils T _{regs} B cells Tr-1 cells CD8 ⁺ T cells	B cells T _{regs} MDSC NKT cells T cells	 Inhibition of IL-8 Induction of local immunosuppression T cell exhaustion Survival and cytokine release by NKT cells 	[128–133]
	CD73	T _{regs} B cells Tr-1 cells Monocytes NK cells	B cells T _{regs} CD8 ⁺ T cells MDSC T cells NK cells	 Induction of local immunosuppression Polarization to M2 macrophages Inhibition of T cell cytokines Inhibition of NK cell cytotoxicity 	[131, 132, 134, 135]

Table 7.3 Expression of purinergic receptors on human and mouse immune cells

(continued)

Type of purinergic receptor	Receptor	Human immune cell subsets	Mouse immune cell subsets	Function(s)	References
Adenosine receptor	A1R	Monocytes neutrophils		 Secretion of VEGF by monocytes Chemotaxis 	[136, 137]
	A2AR	Monocytes neutrophils	Macrophages CD4 ⁺ T cells CD8 ⁺ T cells NK cells	 M2-macrophage polarization Inhibition of T effector functions Chemotaxis Inhibition of NK cell cytotoxicity 	[11, 137–139]
	A2BR	Monocytes DC CD4 ⁺ T cells CD8 ⁺ T cells	MDSC DC	 M2-macrophage polarization T_H2 polarization Deactivation of T cells 	[63, 139, 140]
	A3R	B cells neutrophils		 Inhibit B cell proliferation Reduce neutrophil chemotaxis 	[108, 141]

Table 7.3 (continued)

association to fully dissociated ATP (ATP^{4–}) [142]. In 1996, this "ATP^{4–} receptor" was cloned by Surprenant et al. and subsequently re-named as P2X7R, owing to its homology to other P2XRs [143]. P2YRs, by contrast, are G-protein coupled receptors that respond to ATP/ADP or even uridine 5′-phosphate (UTP) and influence the activation of (cAMP), which can either have pro- or anti-inflammatory functions [10]. Similar to P2XRs, P2YRs are also expressed in mouse and human immune cells, with the P2Y6R subtype being investigated more thoroughly than the others [10] (Table 7.3).

Similar to the effects on tumors, the activities of P2 receptors are largely modulated by the levels of extracellular ATP (Table 7.3) (Fig. 7.2). For example, low to moderate levels of ATP triggered mouse dendritic cell (DC) maturation and induction of T helper 2 (T_H2) cells via the activation of P2Y11R [144]. High levels of ATP, by contrast, activated P2X7R on human alveolar macrophages and this interaction resulted in the release of the inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β [115]. Vishva Dixit's group later showed that activation of the inflammasome was responsible for the P2X7R-mediated IL-1 β secretion [145]. Signaling via P2X7R can also activate several key macrophage function including production of reactive oxygen

species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO), induction of phagocytosis, and formation of multinucleated giant cell formation [146]. Similar induction of migratory and chemotactic functions has been reported for P2Y2R, P2Y11R, and P2Y14R signaling on human and mouse neutrophils [147], and P2Y2R and P2Y6R on human monocytes, mouse macrophages, and DC [19]. On human NK cells, engagement of P2Y11R suppresses NK cell responsiveness to the chemokine CX3CL1, by abolishing their migratory and cytotoxic functions [124]. T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation can also trigger ATP release from T cells, which then mediates autocrine activation of P2X1R, P2X7R, and P2X4R to augment T cell proliferation and signaling [148]. Importantly, signaling via the P2YRs on human endothelial cells promotes angiogenesis through transactivation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) [149, 150].

7.3.2.2 Adenosine Generating Ectonucleotidases: CD39 and CD73

Gregory et al. were the first to describe CD39 expression on B cells. In their study, CD39 was identified as an activation marker on tonsillar B cells from patients with Burkitt's Lymphoma [151]. Since then, expression of CD39 has been



Fig. 7.2 The ecto-nucleotidase activities of CD39 and CD73 shifts the tumor dynamics from an ATP-driven inflammatory niche to an adenosine-rich immunosuppressive TME. ATP released from tumors and tumor infiltrating cells activates the P2 purinergic receptors. This primarily induces anti-tumor effects through the activation of the inflammasome, autophagy, increased cytokine release and activation of the immunogenic cell death (as shown in *left*). In contrast, the generation of adenosine through the CD39-CD73 axis negatively influences the

found to be constitutively expressed in spleen, thymus, lung, as well as on primary tumors (Table 7.3). Cytokines, oxidative stress, and hypoxia-induced transcription factors such as Sp-1, STAT3, and zinc finger protein growth factor independent-1 transcription factors (Gfi1) can all upregulate CD39 expression [24]. The expression pattern of the other ecto-nucleotidase, CD73 on immune cells and tissues also closely resembles that of CD39 [9, 24] (Table 7.3).

The immunosuppressive effects of CD39 and CD73 can be attributed to the relatively high expression of these receptors on antiinflammatory cells including tumor-associated macrophages (TAM), T_{regs} , type-1 regulatory (Tr-1) cells, and suppressive myeloid populations (Table 7.3). In the TME, the major functions of

TME and promotes tumor growth and metastasis via mechanisms such as increased angiogenesis, expansion of immunosuppressive immune populations (MDSC and Treg) and impaired cytotoxic functions of NK cells and CD8+ T cells (shown in *right*). *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, *DC* dendritic cell, *NK* natural killer, *ROS* reactive oxgen species, *MDSC* myeloid-derived suppressor cells, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *TGF-b* transforming growth factor, *IDO* indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase, *Treg* regulatory T cell

CD39 and CD73 lie in triggering the rapid catabolism of ATP to immunosuppressive adenosine to prevent the desensitization of P2 receptors and promote tumor development. Indeed, when coincubated with CD4+ T cells, CD73+CD39+ TAM significantly suppressed the proliferation of T cells through production of adenosine. Blocking the activity of either CD39 or CD73 on TAM was sufficient to rescue this T cell effect [152]. Similarly, co-culture of CD39⁺ Tr-1 cells with CD73⁺CD4⁺ T cells further contributes to the suppressive activity of these cells [131]. The CD39/CD73 axis is also essential for efficient activation, adhesion, and chemotaxis of neutrophils, which have been reported to have tumor promoting functions [24]. The majority of human Tregs are CD39⁺ but CD73⁻, however; CD73 in these cells is abundantly present in the intracytoplasmic granules [131]. The expression and activity of CD73 on T_{regs} is enhanced following TCR engagement [131].

7.3.2.3 Adenosine Binding P1 Receptors: A1, A2a, A2b, and A3

P1Rs are widely expressed by immune cells of both the myeloid and lymphoid lineage in mouse and humans (Table 7.3). Amongst the P1 receptors, A1R and A2BR expression is more restricted to myeloid cells, while A2AR and A3R are more ubiquitously expressed on both myeloid and lymphocyte populations [19, 96].

Expression of A1R and A3R on immune cells primarily activates anti-tumor immune responses. For example, pre-treatment of mice with CPA, an A1R agonist resulted in enhanced proliferation of splenic CD4⁺ T cells and increased production of IL-2 [153]. Similarly, activation of A3R using the agonist Cl-IB-MECA, enhanced NK cell functions, and improved anti-tumor immunity in mice [154].

The anti-inflammatory role of A2AR was first demonstrated by Sitkovky's group in 2001. In their study, A2AR-deficient mice demonstrated exacerbated hepatitis and more severe tissue damage compared to their wild type (WT) counterparts [155]. Currently, we understand that A2AR signaling in both myeloid and lymphoid cells can participate in mediating local immunosuppression in the TME (Fig. 7.2). A2AR signalsuppresses macrophage differentiation, ing maturation, and activation [156]. Furthermore, Cekic et al. showed that the expression of A2AR on myeloid cells can increase anti-inflammatory IL-10 cytokine production by TAM and tumorassociated DC (TADC) in the TME. Additionally, conditional deletion of A2AR on myeloid cells significantly enhanced infiltration, activation, and effector functions of CD8+ T cells and NK cells in the tumor [12]. Likewise, the activation of A2AR on NK cells inhibits their ability to produce IFN- γ [157], while activation with A2AR agonist CGS21680 increased the proportions of T_{regs} in mixed lymphocyte cultures [158].

A2BR stimulation also promotes immunosuppression, but primarily on myeloid cells. Specifically, A2BR inhibits the differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells into mature myeloid cells and results in the increased accumulation of immature cells. These cells exhibit immunosuppressive functions through the production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), IL-8, TGF- β , and indolamine 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO) [13]. Similarly, treatment of mice with an A2BR agonist, Bay60-6583 increased the frequencies of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) infiltrating the B16F10 melanoma primary tumor, while depletion of these suppressor cells promoted anti-tumor effects in these mice, thus implying that A2BR signaling on MDSC promotes tumor progression [159].

7.4 Pre-clinical Evidence for Purinergic Signaling in Cancer

7.4.1 Extracellular ATP in Cancer

Given the extremely high concentration of extracellular ATP within the TME coupled with increased expression of P2 receptors on tumors and immune cells, it is not surprising that the purinergic pathway plays important roles in directly modulating tumor growth and anti-tumor immune responses. Interestingly, the P2X7R can have direct and opposite effects on cancer growth. Several lines of studies indicate that the engagement of P2X7R directly on tumor cells potentiates their growth whereas the same engagement on host cells such as DC, macrophages, and T cells activate potent anti-tumor responses. The pro-tumor effects of P2X7R include stimulating tumor cell growth, release of immunosuppressive factors and cytokines by MDSC, as well as stimulation of factors including VEGF to mediate tumor neovascularization [146]. To this end, P2X7R silencing in prostate cancer cells downmodulates genes that are involved in epithelial/ mesenchymal transition including Snail, E-cadherin, Claudin-1, IL-8, and matrixmetalloproteases (MMP-3) [33]. Similarly, mice inoculated with mouse melanoma or human neuroblastoma cells and knocked down for P2X7R had slower tumor growth and significant reduction in metastases [33]. Inhibition of P2X7R using the selective inhibitor, AZ10606120 also caused a strong inhibition of tumor growth and reduction in VEGF production in B16F10 inoculated mice, compared to untreated controls [160].

By contrast to the above-mentioned studies, activation of P2X7R on DCs can promote antitumor activity. P2X7R has long been known for its role in the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and IL-1β release. Virgilio's group demonstrated that P2X7R knockout mice exhibited accelerated B16F10 melanoma growth and lung metastases over their WT littermates. These effects were attributed, in part, to the low intratumor IL-1 β that led to inefficient recruitment and infiltration of anti-tumor immune cells into the tumor [161]. Thereafter, studies confirmed that in the TME, the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in DC through P2X7R positively influenced its antigen presenting capacity, and enhanced anti-tumor immunity in mice [162]. Additionally, IL-1 β production through the inflammasome axis can, in conjunction with IL-23, promote IL-17 release by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This further promotes the release of IFN- γ by CD8⁺ T cells [162, 163]. Importantly, binding of ATP to P2X7R or P2Y2R triggers an immunogenic signal such that dying cancer cells are able to exert a potent anticancer vaccine effect [164]. This was elegantly demonstrated by Zitvogel and Kroemer, where they showed that chemotherapeutic drugs such as mitoxantrone or oxaliplatin induce release of ATP from dying tumor cells. This resulted in an enhanced infiltration of DC and T cells, which promoted potent anti-tumor immunity. Importantly, this immunogenic cell death (ICD) was abrogated in mice deficient in P2X7R and these mice were unable to mount tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses [162]. Similarly, clinical observations corroborated this finding whereby loss-of-function polymorphism in P2X7R negatively affected disease outcome in breast cancer patients undergoing treatment with anthracycline-based chemotherapy [162].

Similar to P2X7R, P2Y2R can have direct pro-tumor effects. P2Y2R activation on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells increased their

proliferation, ability to adhere to endothelial cells, and their production of MMP-9 and VEGF [92]. This study further showed that knockdown of P2Y2R suppressed invasion and migration of prostate cancer cells [165]. Interestingly, patients with NSCLC harboring mutations in the anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) are often treated with ALK inhibitors, such as crizotinib. The overall response rate in these patients was 74% and progression free survival was a median of 10.9 months. Despite initial responses, resistance to crizotinib occurs in the majority of these patients [166]. Crizotinib resistant-NSCLC cell line, H3122 demonstrated an increased expression of the P2YR subtypes (P2Y1R, P2Y2R, and P2Y6R). These P2YRs upon activation led to increased protein kinase C (PKC) activity and production of endothelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) [167]. Overall, these findings suggest that P2YR inhibitors could be putative anticancer drug in the treatment of ALK-dependent NSCLC patients who develop resistance to ALK inhibitors.

7.4.1.1 Adenosine Generating Ectonucleotidases in Cancer Progression

Feng et al. demonstrated a role for CD39 in promoting tumor growth using mice lacking CD39. In this study, B16F10 melanoma growth and metastasis were markedly reduced in CD39 knockout mice compared with their corresponding WT littermates. In addition, endothelial cells in the CD39 knockout mice were impaired and were unable to influence tumor cell proliferation [72]. A similar observation was also reported by Sun et al. where they showed loss of host CD39 abrogated experimental liver metastases of B16F10 melanomas and MC38 colon tumors. Mechanistically, they showed using elegant adoptive T cell transfer setup experiments that CD39 expression on T_{regs} was a critical determinant in tumor rejection. Particularly, transfer of T_{regs} from WT donors into host CD39 KO mice but not vice versa resulted in the suppression of NK cell cytotoxic functions. This study also provided proof-of-principle that targeting CD39 activity could ameliorate tumor growth and

metastases. Indeed, POM-1, a pharmacological inhibitor for CD39, prevented B16 melanoma and MC38 colon tumor growth. Importantly, the anti-tumor effect of POM-1 was similar to those observed with the CD39 knockout mice [168]. Given the short half-life of POM-1 in the circulation, several groups have now developed CD39blocking monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). Human anti-CD39 mAb (clone 9-8B) has shown promising activity in inhibiting the enzymatic function of CD39 and improving survival in a lethal metastatic patient-derived sarcoma xenograft model [169]. Similarly, Bastid and co-workers recently described another anti-human CD39 mAb (clone BY40) that showed inhibition of CD39 enzymatic activity in SK-MEL5 human melanoma cells. Addition of this mAb to SK-MEL5 and T cell co-cultures resulted in efficient blocking of CD39 activity and increased the proliferation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. The therapeutic efficacy of this anti-CD39 mAb, however, remains to be tested in vivo [42]. In mice overexpressing CD39 and challenged with MC-26 colon cancer, significantly larger metastatic tumors compared with WT or heterozygous controls were observed [170]. Thus, CD39-blocking antibodies are potentially useful in alleviating immunosuppression and restoring immunity to cancers. By contrast to these encouraging observations, aged CD39 deficient mice were reported to spontaneously develop hepatocellular carcinoma owing to high accumulation of ATP and mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) signal activation [171].

Similar to CD39, the importance of CD73 in promoting tumor growth through several host and tumor mediated pathways is also well understood. Using CD73 knockout mice, Stagg et al. demonstrated that the loss of host CD73 conferred resistance to B16F10 primary subcutaneous growth and experimental lung metastases. Such protection in the absence of CD73 was also seen with other tumor models including MC38 colon cancer, EG7 lymphoma, AT-3 mammary, EL4 lymphoma, and ID8 ovarian tumors. The effect of host CD73 loss was found to be dependent on the infiltration and activation of CD8⁺ T cells [14]. Additionally, two independent studies in 2011 observed that T_{regs} from CD73 knockout

mice compared to WT mice were functionally inefficient in suppressing IFN-y production from effector T cells [14, 172]. In the transgenic adenocarcinoma mouse prostate (TRAMP) model, absence of host CD73 protected these mice from de novo prostate cancer development; IFN- γ , NK cells, and CD8+ T cells were required for this protective effect [173]. Interestingly, increased protection to primary tumor was seen with the EG7 lymphoma model (over the parental EL4 lymphoma) and B16F10-SIY (over the parental B16F10) when inoculated into CD73 deficient mice, indicating a role for tumor immunogenicity in mediating optimal anti-tumor effects [172]. By contrast, the anti-metastatic effect seen in CD73deficient mice is mediated independently of hematopoietic cells and possibly through endothelial cells. In vivo pharmacological blockade of CD73 with a selective inhibitor, APCP, or anti-CD73 mAb (clone TY/23) significantly reduced lung metastases [14]. Terp et al. demonstrated that anti-human CD73 mAb (cloneAD2) reduced the number of human breast cancer MDA-MB-231 and LM3 metastases by inducing the internalization of surface CD73. Importantly, the antimetastatic effect was independent of CD73 catalytic function [46]. Furthermore, we now understand that the optimal protection to metastasis by the anti-CD73 mAb is largely dependent on the activation of Fc receptors by the host and the expression of CD73 on tumors, as recently demonstrated by Young and colleagues [45].

7.4.2 Adenosine Receptors in Cancer Progression and Metastasis

The effect of A1R on tumor cells has been mostly investigated in vitro with limited data in vivo investigating the role of this receptor in cancer progression and metastasis. One study by Synowitz et al. showed that adenosine acting via A1R on microglial cells impaired GL261 glioblastoma growth [49]. Treating mice with the A1R agonist, N6-cyclopentyladenosine (CPA) significantly decreased tumor size, and reduced MMP-2 levels. Given that MMP-2 is associated with promoting glioblastoma invasiveness, this study concluded that A1R signaling on microglia was essential in optimum inhibition of glioblastoma tumor development [49].

Antagonists to A2AR as putative anti-tumor therapy has attracted attention since 2006, whereby Ohta et al. observed complete rejection of the CL8-1 melanoma and RMA T cell lymphoma cell lines, in a large proportion of A2AR gene-targeted mice [174]. Using synthetic (ZM241385) and natural ((1,3,7 trimethylxanthine (caffeine)) A2AR antagonist, this study revealed that the anti-tumor efficacy in the A2AR-deficient mice was attributed to the increased IFN- γ production by T cells, and the inhibition of angiogenesis in these mice, altogether leading to tumor cell apoptosis [174]. Similar observations were seen with the rejection of EL4 lymphoma grown in the A2AR-deficient mice [175]. A recent study has also demonstrated that A2AR-deficient mice showed increased suppression of primary subcutaneous tumors-SM1WT1 melanoma and AT-3 mammary tumor growth, in a CD8⁺ T cell-dependent fashion. Absence of A2AR in host was crucial for mediating protection to LWT1 melanoma lung metastases compared to WT controls [45]. Importantly, loss of host A2AR improved memory T cell responses, as shown by Waickman et al. In this study, subcutaneous inoculation with a low-dose of EL4 lymphoma cells led to tumor rejection in both A2AR-deficient mice and WT mice, however, a subsequent re-challenge with a lethal dose of the same tumor resulted in tumor rejection only in the A2AR-deficient mice, but not WT mice [175]. Furthermore, incubation of tumorspecific CD8⁺ T cells with the A2AR inhibitor ZM-241385 prior to adoptive transfer into tumor bearing mice enhanced their ability to mediate tumor rejection. Similarly, siRNA gene-targeted knockdown of A2AR on T cells resulted in better suppression of lung metastases and prolonged survival in RMA-inoculated mice [174]. In a number of studies, A2AR inhibitors were shown to be effective in reducing metastasis in CD73overexpressing B16F10 melanoma with NK cells shown to play a dominant role in limiting metastatic growth in these mice [11, 45, 176].

Similar to A2AR, Morello's group showed that activation of A2BR using the A2BR agonist BAY60-6583 promoted growth of B16F10 melanoma [159]. Extending on these initial findings, this group further demonstrated that A2BR stimulation with agonistic BAY60-6583 induced expression of fibroblast-associated protein (FAP) and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) by host melanoma-associated fibroblasts. These FAP+ fibroblasts triggered angiogenesis by releasing the chemokine CXCL12 which subsequently increased the number of CD31⁺ endothelial cells within the tumor [60]. Similarly, administration of the A2BR inhibitor, PSB1115 arrested tumor growth and these effects were primarily mediated by the reduced accumulation of MDSC in the tumor [177]. Linden's group showed that blockade of A2BR with a selective antagonist ATL801 slowed in vivo growth of MB49 bladder and 4T1 mammary carcinomas, and this was due to increased adaptive immune response through the IFN-γ-CXCR3 axis [178]. Likewise, A2BRdeficient mice showed delayed tumor growth and prolonged survival in a mouse model of Lewis lung carcinoma, compared to WT control mice. This suppression was mediated due to the inability of A2BR-deficient mice to secrete VEGF, thus preventing angiogenesis [179]. In a similar in vitro experiment, knockdown of A2BR by siRNA in human A375 melanoma cells inhibited the release of the pro-angiogenic growth cytokine IL-8 [180]. Recent work by Mittal et al. demonstrated that the expression of A2BR on tumor cells, specifically the mouse triple negative mammary carcinomas, E0771 and 4T1.2, and human triple negative breast carcinoma, MDA-MB-231, was critical for promoting lung metastases and siRNA knockdown of A2BR in these tumors significantly reduced metastases. By contrast, in these studies host A2BR was without significant effect [59].

A3R, as distinct from A2AR and A2BR has been reported to have tumor suppressing function. This was demonstrated in xenograft models, where mice treated with the A3R agonist LJ-529 showed enhanced anti-tumor effect by inducing apoptosis and downregulation of the Wnt signaling molecules Akt, Cyclin D1, and GSK-1^β. Interestingly, an A3R agonist was also able to downregulate the expression of ER- α on ER⁺ breast cancer tumors including MCF7 and T47D [181]. In another study, when mice were treated with the A3R agonist CF101, prior to chemotherapy, increased numbers of neutrophils and other leukocytes were observed and this enhanced the therapeutic efficacy of chemotherapy in the human colon carcinoma model [182]. Lastly, A3R activation using agonistic CI-IB-MECA inhibited B16F10 melanoma growth and increased serum IL-12, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, essential for the activation of NK cells. Additionally, when splenocytes derived from CI-IB-MECAtreated mice were adoptively transferred; a significant reduction in metastases was observed, implying an anti-tumor role for A3R in this model [183].

7.5 Combination Therapies

Clinical data together with results from preclinical mouse tumor models have demonstrated that multiple immunosuppressive pathways exist in tumors and that their co-targeting increases the efficacy of host anti-tumor immunity. The emerging role for the purinergic pathway in driving cancer growth and metastasis makes it an attractive new target for cancer immunotherapy. We now discuss some pre-clinical studies demonstrating how targeting of this pathway synergizes with either chemotherapy or other immune checkpoint molecules.

Allard et al. found that anti-CD73 mAb (clone TY/23) significantly enhanced the activity of both anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 mAbs against mice bearing subcutaneous MC38-OVA (colon) or RM-1 (prostate) tumors, as well as in mice bearing the spontaneously metastatic 4T1.2 mammary carcinoma cells. This effect was mediated by activation of CD8⁺ T cells and IFN- γ [184]. Similar findings were reported by two other groups. Lannone et al. reported that co-treatment with the CD73-specific inhibitor, APCP, and anti-CTLA-4 mAb significantly retarded B16F10 melanoma growth compared

with monotherapy alone [185]. Hay et al. also showed that treatment with a mouse/human cross-reactive anti-CD73 mAb, MEDI9447, and anti-PD-1 retarded CT26 colon adenocarcinoma growth and prolonged survival of these mice [186].

Studies by Stagg have shown the effectiveness of combining CD73 or A2AR blockade with cytotoxic chemotherapy. Mice receiving a combination of anti-CD73 mAb and doxorubicin demonstrated enhanced anti-tumor immune response in 4T1.2 mammary cancers over monotherapy. A similar effect was observed when a specific A2AR blocking inhibitor, SCH58261, was used in combination with doxorubicin [85]. Similarly, co-treating mice with the A2BR inhibitor, PSB1115, and chemotherapeutic agents dacarbazine or gemcitabine significantly suppressed B16F10 melanoma growth, through reducing the accumulation of MDSC within the TME [177]. A prolonged tumor-free survival and overall survival was seen in A2AR-deficient mice compared to WT mice when treated with a soluble B7-DC/Fc fusion protein, which specifically targeted the PD-1 receptor, expressed on dendritic cells resulting in T cell activation. In mice bearing experimental lung metastases, Mittal et al. reported that co-treatment with SCH58261 and anti-PD-1 resulted in significantly lower levels of metastases compared to monotherapy alone [176]. Interestingly, a recent study by Beavis et al. showed that a combination of anti-PD-1 with either A2A-deficient chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells, or treatment of WT CAR T cells with the antagonist SCH58261, significantly improved the anti-tumor efficacy of these T cells against HER2-expressing mouse tumors [187]. Similarly, Iannone et al. showed that pharmacological blockade with the A2AR antagonist ZM241365 improved the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy in B16F10 melanoma models. In this study, the authors also reported that the A3 agonist, CI-IB-MECA synergized with anti-CTLA-4 to suppress tumor growth in these melanoma-bearing mice, compared to monotherapy alone [185]. Lastly, Young et al. recently showed that co-inhibiting A2AR with anti-CD73 mAb significantly reduced tumor growth and

lung metastases in mice compared to monotherapy alone [45]. This improved anti-metastatic efficacy upon co-targeting molecules within the purinergic pathway suggests the non-redundant nature of these molecules in mediating antitumor immunity.

7.6 Ongoing Clinical Trials

One of the simplest approaches to reduce microenvironmental hypoxia within tumors is to increase oxygen levels. Early experimental studies demonstrated that tumor-bearing mice that were allowed to breathe in air containing high levels of oxygen (95% oxygen +5% carbon dioxide), before and during irradiation, displayed significantly enhanced response to radiotherapy compared to mice that received 100% oxygen or air alone [188]. However, recent studies have shown that high concentration of supplemental oxygen can cause oxygen toxicity as well as nonspecific inflammatory responses [189]. Sitkovsky's group showed that supplementing mice with 60% oxygen, to induce respiratory hyperoxia, significantly reduced the number of pulmonary MCA205, B16F10, and 4T1 tumor metastases in these mice. As respiratory hyperoxia is widely applied in the clinical settings, the authors in this study concluded that supplementing 60% oxygen with other available immunotherapies could represent a new strategy for treatment of cancers [190].

In addition to hypoxia, there is immense interest in the clinic to target the purinergic receptors that influence the generation of extracellular ATP and adenosine. Currently, several studies have assessed the expression levels of purinergic receptors in human cancers and this expression has been correlated with recurrence-free survival (RFS) and overall survival (OS) in these patients (Table 7.2). These association studies coupled with strong pre-clinical studies have resulted in the initiation of many clinical trials to investigate the anti-tumor efficacy of targeting the purinergic pathway in human cancers (www.clinicaltrials. gov.au). Specifically, a phase I clinical trial using polyclonal sheep anti-P2X7 Ab (BIL010t) was completed in 2014 (NCT02587819). Topical administration with BIL010t in 21 patients with basal cell carcinoma for 28 days resulted in reduction in lesion area in 65% of these patients. Histopathology of the excised lesion revealed complete response in 2 patients, partial responses in 9, and no response in 8 patients [191]. Additionally, MedImmune Inc. recently reported the development of MEDI9447, a mouse/human cross-reactive anti-CD73 mAb to enhance antitumor immunity in pre-clinical tumor models [186]. A phase I trial using MEDI9447 in combination with MEDI4736 (anti-PD-1) is currently underway (NCT02503774). Lastly, Corvus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Palobiofarma have developed A2AR inhibitors, namely CPI-444 (NCT02655822) and PBF-509 (NCT02403193) for the treatment of cancers. Importantly, CPI-444 will be co-administered with Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1) in patients with advanced tumors, while Palobiofarma aims to test the combinatorial blockade of PBF-509 with anti-PD-1 treatment in patients with NSCLC.

Conclusions

It is now becoming apparent that ATP and adenosine are fundamental components of the TME that can affect tumor growth and immune cell activation. Current strategies to target the purinergic receptors involve mechanisms that not only can inhibit tumor cell growth, but importantly can also boost host anti-tumor response. In addition to the purinergic receptors, the enzymatic activities of ecto-nucleotidases (CD39, CD73) contribute equally, or perhaps, even more towards the generation of an immunosuppressive TME, by switching tumor dynamics away from inflammatory ATP and towards an immunosuppressive adenosine-rich microenvironment. Importantly, the non-redundancy of the purinergic receptor signaling as seen with co-targeting A2AR and CD73 indicates that targeting multiple pathways involved in adenosine receptor signaling could be more efficacious than targeting an individual molecule or pathway within the same pathway. Furthermore, because P1Rs are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR), and thus

a difficult target for immunization, no therapeutic antibodies have yet been reported that can effectively block the functions of these receptors. To circumvent this, Jaakola et al. showed that binding of A2AR antagonist, ZM241385 to the A2AR hinders the activation of A2AR through competitive inhibition [192]. Similar studies have been conducted to define the binding pocket of the A1R inhibitor, DU172 to A1R [193]. Such understanding is expected to provide valuable insights to allow the design of more selective agonists and antagonists that could be used in cancer immunotherapy. To date, A2AR inhibitors demonstrated good safety profiles and were well-tolerated in the clinical trials for neurodegenerative diseases [194], thus showing promise for its use in cancer immunotherapies. There have also been no reports of immune related adverse events being enhanced by A2AR inhibitors in combination with immune checkpoint blockade in mice. Overall, targeting of the purinergic pathway represents a very promising approach to use in combination cancer immunotherapies.

Acknowledgements M.W.L. Teng is supported by National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (NH&MRC) project grants. M.J. Smyth is supported by a NH&MRC Project and Program Grants, an NH&MRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship, the Susan Komen for the Cure, and the Cancer Council of Queensland (CCQ).

Competing Interest MJS has scientific research agreements with Bristol Myers Squibb, Corvus Pharmaceuticals, and Aduro Biotech. MJS is also on the scientific advisory boards of F-star, Kymab, and Arcus Biosciences. All other authors declare that they have no competing interest.

References

- Thomlinson RH, Gray LH. The histological structure of some human lung cancers and the possible implications for radiotherapy. Br J Cancer. 1955;9(4):539–49.
- Reinhold HS, Blachiwiecz B, Blok A. Oxygenation and reoxygenation in 'sandwich' tumours. Bibl Anat. 1977;15(Pt 1):270–2.

- Bristow RG, Hill RP. Hypoxia and metabolism. Hypoxia, DNA repair and genetic instability. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(3):180–92.
- Eales KL, Hollinshead KE, Tennant DA. Hypoxia and metabolic adaptation of cancer cells. Oncogene. 2016;5:e190.
- Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factors: coupling glucose metabolism and redox regulation with induction of the breast cancer stem cell phenotype. EMBO J. 2017;36:252–9.
- Burnstock G, Kennedy C. Is there a basis for distinguishing two types of P2-purinoceptor? Gen Pharmacol. 1985;16(5):433–40.
- Allard B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Stagg J. Immunosuppressive activities of adenosine in cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2016;29:7–16.
- Ohta A. A metabolic immune checkpoint: adenosine in tumor microenvironment. Front Immunol. 2016;7:109.
- Young A, Mittal D, Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Targeting cancer-derived adenosine: new therapeutic approaches. Cancer Discov. 2014;4(8):879–88.
 - Di Virgilio F, Adinolfi E. Extracellular purines, purinergic receptors and tumor growth. Oncogene. 2017;36(3):293–303.
 - Beavis PA, Divisekera U, Paget C, Chow MT, John LB, Devaud C, Dwyer K, Stagg J, Smyth MJ, Darcy PK. Blockade of A2A receptors potently suppresses the metastasis of CD73+ tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(36):14711–6.
 - Cekic C, Day YJ, Sag D, Linden J. Myeloid expression of adenosine A2A receptor suppresses T and NK cell responses in the solid tumor microenvironment. Cancer Res. 2014;74(24):7250–9.
 - Novitskiy SV, Ryzhov S, Zaynagetdinov R, Goldstein AE, Huang Y, Tikhomirov OY, Blackburn MR, Biaggioni I, Carbone DP, Feoktistov I, Dikov MM. Adenosine receptors in regulation of dendritic cell differentiation and function. Blood. 2008;112(5):1822–31.
 - 14. Stagg J, Divisekera U, Duret H, Sparwasser T, Teng MW, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. CD73-deficient mice have increased antitumor immunity and are resistant to experimental metastasis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(8):2892–900.
 - Grimes DR, Kelly C, Bloch K, Partridge M. A method for estimating the oxygen consumption rate in multicellular tumour spheroids. J R Soc Interface. 2014;11(92):20131124.
 - 16. Raleigh JA, Calkins-Adams DP, Rinker LH, Ballenger CA, Weissler MC, Fowler WC Jr, Novotny DB, Varia MA. Hypoxia and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human squamous cell carcinomas using pimonidazole as a hypoxia marker. Cancer Res. 1998;58(17):3765–8.
 - Cosse JP, Michiels C. Tumour hypoxia affects the responsiveness of cancer cells to chemotherapy and promotes cancer progression. Anti Cancer Agents Med Chem. 2008;8(7):790–7.
 - Vaupel P. Hypoxia and aggressive tumor phenotype: implications for therapy and prognosis. Oncologist. 2008;13(Suppl 3):21–6.

- Burnstock G, Boeynaems JM. Purinergic signalling and immune cells. Purinergic Signal. 2014;10(4):529–64.
- Busse M, Vaupel P. Accumulation of purine catabolites in solid tumors exposed to therapeutic hyperthermia. Experientia. 1996;52(5):469–73.
- 21. Zhang J, Cao J, Ma S, Dong R, Meng W, Ying M, Weng Q, Chen Z, Ma J, Fang Q, He Q, Yang B. Tumor hypoxia enhances non-small cell lung Cancer Metastasis by selectively promoting macrophage M2 polarization through the activation of ERK signaling. Oncotarget. 2014;5(20):9664–77.
- Blay J, White TD, Hoskin DW. The extracellular fluid of solid carcinomas contains immunosuppressive concentrations of adenosine. Cancer Res. 1997;57(13):2602–5.
- Poth JM, Brodsky K, Ehrentraut H, Grenz A, Eltzschig HK. Transcriptional control of adenosine signaling by hypoxia-inducible transcription factors during ischemic or inflammatory disease. J Mol Med (Berl). 2013;91(2):183–93.
- Antonioli L, Pacher P, Vizi ES, Hasko G. CD39 and CD73 in immunity and inflammation. Trends Mol Med. 2013;19(6):355–67.
- 25. Horenstein AL, Chillemi A, Quarona V, Zito A, Roato I, Morandi F, Marimpietri D, Bolzoni M, Toscani D, Oldham RJ, Cuccioloni M, Sasser AK, Pistoia V, Giuliani N, Malavasi F. NAD(+)-metabolizing Ectoenzymes in Remodeling tumor-host interactions: the human myeloma model. Cell. 2015;4(3):520–37.
- 26. Tan EY, Mujoomdar M, Blay J. Adenosine downregulates the surface expression of dipeptidyl peptidase IV on HT-29 human colorectal carcinoma cells: implications for cancer cell behavior. Am J Pathol. 2004;165(1):319–30.
- Cortier M, Boina-Ali R, Racoeur C, Paul C, Solary E, Jeannin JF, Bettaieb A. H89 enhances the sensitivity of cancer cells to glyceryl trinitrate through a purinergic receptor-dependent pathway. Oncotarget. 2015;6(9):6877–86.
- 28. Draganov D, Gopalakrishna-Pillai S, Chen YR, Zuckerman N, Moeller S, Wang C, Ann D, Lee PP. Modulation of P2X4/P2X7/Pannexin-1 sensitivity to extracellular ATP via Ivermectin induces a non-apoptotic and inflammatory form of cancer cell death. Sci Rep. 2015;5:16222.
- 29. Schmid S, Kubler M, Korcan Ayata C, Lazar Z, Haager B, Hossfeld M, Meyer A, Cicko S, Elze M, Wiesemann S, Zissel G, Passlick B, Idzko M. Altered purinergic signaling in the tumor associated immunologic microenvironment in metastasized non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2015;90(3):516–21.
- Overes IM, de Rijke B, van Horssen-Zoetbrood A, Fredrix H, de Graaf AO, Jansen JH, van Krieken JH, Raymakers RA, van der Voort R, de Witte TM, Dolstra H. Expression of P2X5 in lymphoid malignancies results in LRH-1-specific cytotoxic T-cell-mediated lysis. Br J Haematol. 2008;141(6):799–807.
- Mistafa O, Stenius U. Statins inhibit Akt/PKB signaling via P2X7 receptor in pancreatic cancer cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 2009;78(9):1115–26.

- 32. Bian S, Sun X, Bai A, Zhang C, Li L, Enjyoji K, Junger WG, Robson SC, Wu Y. P2X7 integrates PI3K/AKT and AMPK-PRAS40-mTOR signaling pathways to mediate tumor cell death. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e60184.
- 33. Qiu Y, Li WH, Zhang HQ, Liu Y, Tian XX, Fang WG. P2X7 mediates ATP-driven invasiveness in prostate cancer cells. PLoS One. 2014;9(12): e114371.
- 34. Takai E, Tsukimoto M, Harada H, Kojima S. Autocrine signaling via release of ATP and activation of P2X7 receptor influences motile activity of human lung cancer cells. Purinergic Signal. 2014;10(3):487–97.
- 35. Vazquez-Cuevas FG, Martinez-Ramirez AS, Robles-Martinez L, Garay E, Garcia-Carranca A, Perez-Montiel D, Castaneda-Garcia C, Arellano RO. Paracrine stimulation of P2X7 receptor by ATP activates a proliferative pathway in ovarian carcinoma cells. J Cell Biochem. 2014;115(11):1955–66.
- 36. Zheng L, Zhang X, Yang F, Zhu J, Zhou P, Yu F, Hou L, Xiao L, He Q, Wang B. Regulation of the P2X7R by microRNA-216b in human breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;452(1):197–204.
- Giannuzzo A, Pedersen SF, Novak I. The P2X7 receptor regulates cell survival, migration and invasion of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells. Mol Cancer. 2015;14:203.
- Xia J, Yu X, Tang L, Li G, He T. P2X7 receptor stimulates breast cancer cell invasion and migration via the AKT pathway. Oncol Rep. 2015;34(1):103–10.
- 39. Amoroso F, Salaro E, Falzoni S, Chiozzi P, Giuliani AL, Cavallesco G, Maniscalco P, Puozzo A, Bononi I, Martini F, Tognon M, Di Virgilio F. P2X7 targeting inhibits growth of human mesothelioma. Oncotarget. 2016;7(31):49664–76.
- 40. Chadet S, Jelassi B, Wannous R, Angoulvant D, Chevalier S, Besson P, Roger S. The activation of P2Y2 receptors increases MCF-7 breast cancer cells migration through the MEK-ERK1/2 signalling pathway. Carcinogenesis. 2014;35(6):1238–47.
- Schafer R, Sedehizade F, Welte T, Reiser G. ATPand UTP-activated P2Y receptors differently regulate proliferation of human lung epithelial tumor cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2003;285(2):L376–85.
- 42. Bastid J, Regairaz A, Bonnefoy N, Dejou C, Giustiniani J, Laheurte C, Cochaud S, Laprevotte E, Funck-Brentano E, Hemon P, Gros L, Bec N, Larroque C, Alberici G, Bensussan A, Eliaou JF. Inhibition of CD39 enzymatic function at the surface of tumor cells alleviates their immunosuppressive activity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(3):254–65.
- 43. Martinez-Ramirez AS, Garay E, Garcia-Carranca A, Vazquez-Cuevas FG. The P2RY2 receptor induces carcinoma cell migration and EMT through crosstalk with epidermal growth factor receptor. J Cell Biochem. 2016;117(4):1016–26.
- Hausler SF, Del Barrio IM, Diessner J, Stein RG, Strohschein J, Honig A, Dietl J, Wischhusen J. Anti-CD39 and anti-CD73 antibodies A1 and 7G2

improve targeted therapy in ovarian cancer by blocking adenosine-dependent immune evasion. Am J Transl Res. 2014;6(2):129–39.

- 45. Young A, Ngiow SF, Barkauskas DS, Sult E, Hay C, Blake SJ, Huang Q, Liu J, Takeda K, Teng MW, Sachsenmeier K, Smyth MJ. Co-inhibition of CD73 and A2AR adenosine Signaling improves anti-tumor immune responses. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(3):391–403.
- 46. Terp MG, Olesen KA, Arnspang EC, Lund RR, Lagerholm BC, Ditzel HJ, Leth-Larsen R. Antihuman CD73 monoclonal antibody inhibits metastasis formation in human breast cancer by inducing clustering and internalization of CD73 expressed on the surface of cancer cells. J Immunol. 2013;191(8):4165–73.
- 47. Koszalka P, Pryszlak A, Golunska M, Kolasa J, Stasilojc G, Skladanowski AC, Bigda JJ. Inhibition of CD73 stimulates the migration and invasion of B16F10 melanoma cells in vitro, but results in impaired angiogenesis and reduced melanoma growth in vivo. Oncol Rep. 2014;31(2):819–27.
- Bowser JL, Blackburn MR, Shipley GL, Molina JG, Dunner K Jr, Broaddus RR. Loss of CD73-mediated actin polymerization promotes endometrial tumor progression. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(1):220–38.
- 49. Synowitz M, Glass R, Farber K, Markovic D, Kronenberg G, Herrmann K, Schnermann J, Nolte C, van Rooijen N, Kiwit J, Kettenmann H. A1 adenosine receptors in microglia control glioblastoma-host interaction. Cancer Res. 2006;66(17):8550–7.
- 50. Lin Z, Yin P, Reierstad S, O'Halloran M, Coon VJ, Pearson EK, Mutlu GM, Bulun SE. Adenosine A1 receptor, a target and regulator of estrogen receptoralpha action, mediates the proliferative effects of estradiol in breast cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29(8):1114–22.
- Saito M, Yaguchi T, Yasuda Y, Nakano T, Nishizaki T. Adenosine suppresses CW2 human colonic cancer growth by inducing apoptosis via a(1) adenosine receptors. Cancer Lett. 2010;290(2):211–5.
- 52. Merighi S, Mirandola P, Milani D, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA. Adenosine receptors as mediators of both cell proliferation and cell death of cultured human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol. 2002;119(4):923–33.
- 53. Mediavilla-Varela M, Luddy K, Noyes D, Khalil FK, Neuger AM, Soliman H, Antonia SJ. Antagonism of adenosine A2A receptor expressed by lung adenocarcinoma tumor cells and cancer associated fibroblasts inhibits their growth. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14(9):860–8.
- Hajiahmadi S, Panjehpour M, Aghaei M, Mousavi S. Molecular expression of adenosine receptors in OVCAR-3, Caov-4 and SKOV-3 human ovarian cancer cell lines. Res Pharm Sci. 2015;10(1):43–51.
- 55. Desmet CJ, Gallenne T, Prieur A, Reyal F, Visser NL, Wittner BS, Smit MA, Geiger TR, Laoukili J, Iskit S, Rodenko B, Zwart W, Evers B, Horlings H, Ajouaou A, Zevenhoven J, van Vliet M, Ramaswamy S, Wessels LF, Peeper DS. Identification of a phar-

macologically tractable Fra-1/ADORA2B axis promoting breast cancer metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(13):5139–44.

- Wei Q, Costanzi S, Balasubramanian R, Gao ZG, Jacobson KA. A2B adenosine receptor blockade inhibits growth of prostate cancer cells. Purinergic Signal. 2013;9(2):271–80.
- Hajiahmadi S, Panjehpour M, Aghaei M, Shabani M. Activation of A2b adenosine receptor regulates ovarian cancer cell growth: involvement of Bax/Bcl-2 and caspase-3. Biochem Cell Biol. 2015;93(4):321–9.
- 58. Wang P, Guo X, Zong W, Song B, Liu G, He S. MicroRNA-128b suppresses tumor growth and promotes apoptosis by targeting A2bR in gastric cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;467(4):798–804.
- 59. Mittal D, Sinha D, Barkauskas D, Young A, Kalimutho M, Stannard K, Caramia F, Haibe-Kains B, Stagg J, Khanna KK, Loi S, Smyth MJ. Adenosine 2B receptor expression on cancer cells promotes metastasis. Cancer Res. 2016;76(15):4372–82.
- 60. Sorrentino C, Miele L, Porta A, Pinto A, Morello S. Activation of the A2B adenosine receptor in B16 melanomas induces CXCL12 expression in FAP-positive tumor stromal cells, enhancing tumor progression. Oncotarget. 2016;7(39):64274–88.
- 61. Ohana G, Bar-Yehuda S, Arich A, Madi L, Dreznick Z, Rath-Wolfson L, Silberman D, Slosman G, Fishman P. Inhibition of primary colon carcinoma growth and liver metastasis by the A3 adenosine receptor agonist CF101. Br J Cancer. 2003;89(8):1552–8.
- 62. Yoshikawa N, Yamada S, Takeuchi C, Kagota S, Shinozuka K, Kunitomo M, Nakamura K. Cordycepin (3'-deoxyadenosine) inhibits the growth of B16-BL6 mouse melanoma cells through the stimulation of adenosine A3 receptor followed by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta activation and cyclin D1 suppression. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 2008;377(4–6):591–5.
- 63. Kim H, Kang JW, Lee S, Choi WJ, Jeong LS, Yang Y, Hong JT, Yoon DY. A3 adenosine receptor antagonist, truncated Thio-cl-IB-MECA, induces apoptosis in T24 human bladder cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 2010;30(7):2823–30.
- 64. Aghaei M, Panjehpour M, Karami-Tehrani F, Salami S. Molecular mechanisms of A3 adenosine receptor-induced G1 cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in androgen-dependent and independent prostate cancer cell lines: involvement of intrinsic pathway. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2011;137(10): 1511–23.
- 65. Kim TH, Kim YK, Woo JS. The adenosine A3 receptor agonist cl-IB-MECA induces cell death through ca(2)(+)/ROS-dependent down regulation of ERK and Akt in A172 human glioma cells. Neurochem Res. 2012;37(12):2667–77.
- 66. Nagaya H, Gotoh A, Kanno T, Nishizaki T. A3 adenosine receptor mediates apoptosis in in vitro RCC4-VHL human renal cancer cells by up-regulating AMID expression. J Urol. 2013;189(1):321–8.

- 67. Sakowicz-Burkiewicz M, Kitowska A, Grden M, Maciejewska I, Szutowicz A, Pawelczyk T. Differential effect of adenosine receptors on growth of human colon cancer HCT 116 and HT-29 cell lines. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2013;533(1–2):47–54.
- Abedi H, Aghaei M, Panjehpour M, Hajiahmadi S. Mitochondrial and caspase pathways are involved in the induction of apoptosis by IB-MECA in ovarian cancer cell lines. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(11):11027–39.
- 69. Soares AS, Costa VM, Diniz C, Fresco P. Combination of CIIBMECA with paclitaxel is a highly effective cytotoxic therapy causing mTORdependent autophagy and mitotic catastrophe on human melanoma cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2014;140(6):921–35.
- Ledderose C, Hefti MM, Chen Y, Bao Y, Seier T, Li L, Woehrle T, Zhang J, Junger WG. Adenosine arrests breast cancer cell motility by A3 receptor stimulation. Purinergic Signal. 2016;12(4):673–85.
- 71. Salvestrini V, Zini R, Rossi L, Gulinelli S, Manfredini R, Bianchi E, Piacibello W, Caione L, Migliardi G, Ricciardi MR, Tafuri A, Romano M, Salati S, Di Virgilio F, Ferrari S, Baccarani M, Ferrari D, Lemoli RM. Purinergic signaling inhibits human acute myeloblastic leukemia cell proliferation, migration, and engraftment in immunodeficient mice. Blood. 2012;119(1):217–26.
- 72. Feng L, Sun X, Csizmadia E, Han L, Bian S, Murakami T, Wang X, Robson SC, Wu Y. Vascular CD39/ENTPD1 directly promotes tumor cell growth by scavenging extracellular adenosine triphosphate. Neoplasia. 2011;13(3):206–16.
- 73. Maynard JP, Lee JS, Sohn BH, Yu X, Lopez-Terrada D, Finegold MJ, Goss JA, Thevananther S. P2X3 purinergic receptor overexpression is associated with poor recurrence-free survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. Oncotarget. 2015;6(38):41162–79.
- 74. Boldrini L, Giordano M, Ali G, Servadio A, Pelliccioni S, Niccoli C, Mussi A, Fontanini G. P2X7 protein expression and polymorphism in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Negat Results Biomed. 2014;13:16.
- Boldrini L, Giordano M, Ali G, Melfi F, Romano G, Lucchi M, Fontanini G. P2X7 mRNA expression in non-small cell lung cancer: MicroRNA regulation and prognostic value. Oncol Lett. 2015;9(1):449–53.
- 76. Gehring MP, Kipper F, Nicoletti NF, Sperotto ND, Zanin R, Tamajusuku AS, Flores DG, Meurer L, Roesler R, Filho AB, Lenz G, Campos MM, Morrone FB. P2X7 receptor as predictor gene for glioma radiosensitivity and median survival. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2015;68:92–100.
- Liu H, Liu W, Liu Z, Liu Y, Zhang W, Xu L, Xu J. Prognostic value of purinergic P2X7 receptor expression in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after curative resection. Tumour Biol. 2015;36(7):5039–49.
- Liu Z, Liu Y, Xu L, An H, Chang Y, Yang Y, Zhang W, Xu J. P2X7 receptor predicts postoperative cancer-

specific survival of patients with clear-cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Sci. 2015;106(9):1224–31.

- 79. Turcotte M, Spring K, Pommey S, Chouinard G, Cousineau I, George J, Chen GM, Gendoo DM, Haibe-Kains B, Karn T, Rahimi K, Le Page C, Provencher D, Mes-Masson AM, Stagg J. CD73 is associated with poor prognosis in high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75(21):4494–503.
- Cai XY, Ni XC, Yi Y, He HW, Wang JX, Fu YP, Sun J, Zhou J, Cheng YF, Jin JJ, Fan J, Qiu SJ. Overexpression of CD39 in hepatocellular carcinoma is an independent indicator of poor outcome after radical resection. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(40):e4989.
- 81. Cai XY, Wang XF, Li J, Dong JN, Liu JQ, Li NP, Yun B, Xia RL. Overexpression of CD39 and high tumoral CD39(+)/CD8(+) ratio are associated with adverse prognosis in resectable gastric cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015;8(11):14757–64.
- 82. Abousamra NK, Salah El-Din M, Hamza Elzahaf E, Esmael ME. Ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase-1 (E-NTPDase1/CD39) as a new prognostic marker in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015;56(1):113–9.
- Supernat A, Markiewicz A, Welnicka-Jaskiewicz M, Seroczynska B, Skokowski J, Sejda A, Szade J, Czapiewski P, Biernat W, Zaczek A. CD73 expression as a potential marker of good prognosis in breast carcinoma. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2012;20(2):103–7.
- 84. Lu XX, Chen YT, Feng B, Mao XB, Yu B, Chu XY. Expression and clinical significance of CD73 and hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha in gastric carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(12): 1912–8.
- 85. Loi S, Pommey S, Haibe-Kains B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ, Stagg J. CD73 promotes anthracycline resistance and poor prognosis in triple negative breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(27):11091–6.
- 86. Inoue Y, Yoshimura K, Kurabe N, Kahyo T, Kawase A, Tanahashi M, Ogawa H, Inui N, Funai K, Shinmura K, Niwa H, Suda T, Sugimura H. Prognostic impact of CD73 and A2A adenosine receptor expression in non-small-cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(5):8738–51.
- Zhang B, Song B, Wang X, Chang XS, Pang T, Zhang X, Yin K, Fang GE. The expression and clinical significance of CD73 molecule in human rectal adenocarcinoma. Tumour Biol. 2015;36(7):5459–66.
- Leclerc BG, Charlebois R, Chouinard G, Allard B, Pommey S, Saad F, Stagg J. CD73 expression is an independent prognostic factor in prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(1):158–66.
- Ren ZH, Yuan YX, Ji T, Zhang CP. CD73 as a novel marker for poor prognosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oncol Lett. 2016;12(1):556–62.
- 90. Ren ZH, Lin CZ, Cao W, Yang R, Lu W, Liu ZQ, Chen YM, Yang X, Tian Z, Wang LZ, Li J, Wang X, Chen WT, Ji T, Zhang CP. CD73 is associ-

ated with poor prognosis in HNSCC. Oncotarget. 2016;7(38):61690–702.

- 91. Wettstein MS, Buser L, Hermanns T, Roudnicky F, Eberli D, Baumeister P, Sulser T, Wild P, Poyet C. CD73 predicts Favorable prognosis in patients with Nonmuscle-invasive urothelial bladder cancer. Dis Markers. 2015;2015:785461.
- 92. Jin H, Eun SY, Lee JS, Park SW, Lee JH, Chang KC, Kim HJ. P2Y2 receptor activation by nucleotides released from highly metastatic breast cancer cells increases tumor growth and invasion via crosstalk with endothelial cells. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(5):R77.
- 93. Hausler SF, Montalban del Barrio I, Strohschein J, Chandran PA, Engel JB, Honig A, Ossadnik M, Horn E, Fischer B, Krockenberger M, Heuer S, Seida AA, Junker M, Kneitz H, Kloor D, Klotz KN, Dietl J, Wischhusen J. Ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 on OvCA cells are potent adenosine-generating enzymes responsible for adenosine receptor 2A-dependent suppression of T cell function and NK cell cytotoxicity. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(10):1405–18.
- 94. Jin D, Fan J, Wang L, Thompson LF, Liu A, Daniel BJ, Shin T, Curiel TJ, Zhang B. CD73 on tumor cells impairs antitumor T-cell responses: a novel mechanism of tumor-induced immune suppression. Cancer Res. 2010;70(6):2245–55.
- Clayton A, Al-Taei S, Webber J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Cancer exosomes express CD39 and CD73, which suppress T cells through adenosine production. J Immunol. 2011;187(2):676–83.
- Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Extracellular adenosine triphosphate and adenosine in cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29(39):5346–58.
- 97. Jajoo S, Mukherjea D, Watabe K, Ramkumar V. Adenosine a(3) receptor suppresses prostate cancer metastasis by inhibiting NADPH oxidase activity. Neoplasia. 2009;11(11):1132–45.
- 98. Gessi S, Merighi S, Varani K, Cattabriga E, Benini A, Mirandola P, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Feo C, Baraldi S, Borea PA. Adenosine receptors in colon carcinoma tissues and colon tumoral cell lines: focus on the a(3) adenosine subtype. J Cell Physiol. 2007;211(3):826–36.
- 99. Merighi S, Benini A, Mirandola P, Gessi S, Varani K, Leung E, MacLennan S, Baraldi PG, Borea PA. A3 adenosine receptors modulate hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha expression in human A375 melanoma cells. Neoplasia. 2005;7(10):894–903.
- 100. Berchtold S, Ogilvie AL, Bogdan C, Muhl-Zurbes P, Ogilvie A, Schuler G, Steinkasserer A. Human monocyte derived dendritic cells express functional P2X and P2Y receptors as well as ecto-nucleotidases. FEBS Lett. 1999;458(3):424–8.
- 101. Ferrari D, La Sala A, Chiozzi P, Morelli A, Falzoni S, Girolomoni G, Idzko M, Dichmann S, Norgauer J, Di Virgilio F. The P2 purinergic receptors of human dendritic cells: identification and coupling to cytokine release. FASEB J. 2000;14(15):2466–76.

- 102. Sluyter R, Barden JA, Wiley JS. Detection of P2X purinergic receptors on human B lymphocytes. Cell Tissue Res. 2001;304(2):231–6.
- 103. Wang L, Jacobsen SE, Bengtsson A, Erlinge D. P2 receptor mRNA expression profiles in human lymphocytes, monocytes and CD34+ stem and progenitor cells. BMC Immunol. 2004;5:16.
- 104. Lecut C, Frederix K, Johnson DM, Deroanne C, Thiry M, Faccinetto C, Maree R, Evans RJ, Volders PG, Bours V, Oury C. P2X1 ion channels promote neutrophil chemotaxis through rho kinase activation. J Immunol. 2009;183(4):2801–9.
- 105. Bowler JW, Bailey RJ, North RA, Surprenant A. P2X4, P2Y1 and P2Y2 receptors on rat alveolar macrophages. Br J Pharmacol. 2003;140(3):567–75.
- 106. Kawano A, Tsukimoto M, Noguchi T, Hotta N, Harada H, Takenouchi T, Kitani H, Kojima S. Involvement of P2X4 receptor in P2X7 receptor-dependent cell death of mouse macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;419(2):374–80.
- 107. Abramowski P, Ogrodowczyk C, Martin R, Pongs O. A truncation variant of the cation channel P2RX5 is upregulated during T cell activation. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e104692.
- 108. Chen Y, Corriden R, Inoue Y, Yip L, Hashiguchi N, Zinkernagel A, Nizet V, Insel PA, Junger WG. ATP release guides neutrophil chemotaxis via P2Y2 and A3 receptors. Science. 2006;314(5806):1792–5.
- 109. Qu Y, Franchi L, Nunez G, Dubyak GR. Nonclassical IL-1 beta secretion stimulated by P2X7 receptors is dependent on inflammasome activation and correlated with exosome release in murine macrophages. J Immunol. 2007;179(3):1913–25.
- 110. Gicquel T, Robert S, Loyer P, Victoni T, Bodin A, Ribault C, Gleonnec F, Couillin I, Boichot E, Lagente V. IL-1beta production is dependent on the activation of purinergic receptors and NLRP3 pathway in human macrophages. FASEB J. 2015;29(10):4162–73.
- 111. Pupovac A, Geraghty NJ, Watson D, Sluyter R. Activation of the P2X7 receptor induces the rapid shedding of CD23 from human and murine B cells. Immunol Cell Biol. 2015;93(1):77–85.
- 112. Rissiek B, Haag F, Boyer O, Koch-Nolte F, Adriouch S. P2X7 on mouse T cells: one channel, many functions. Front Immunol. 2015;6:204.
- 113. Cortes-Garcia JD, Lopez-Lopez C, Cortez-Espinosa N, Garcia-Hernandez MH, Guzman-Flores JM, Layseca-Espinosa E, Portales-Cervantes L, Portales-Perez DP. Evaluation of the expression and function of the P2X7 receptor and ART1 in human regulatory T-cell subsets. Immunobiology. 2016;221(1):84–93.
- 114. Meshki J, Tuluc F, Bredetean O, Ding Z, Kunapuli SP. Molecular mechanism of nucleotide-induced primary granule release in human neutrophils: role for the P2Y2 receptor. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2004;286(2):C264–71.
- 115. Myrtek D, Muller T, Geyer V, Derr N, Ferrari D, Zissel G, Durk T, Sorichter S, Luttmann W, Kuepper M, Norgauer J, Di Virgilio F, Virchow JC

Jr, Idzko M. Activation of human alveolar macrophages via P2 receptors: coupling to intracellular Ca2+ increases and cytokine secretion. J Immunol. 2008;181(3):2181–8.

- 116. Chen Y, Yao Y, Sumi Y, Li A, To UK, Elkhal A, Inoue Y, Woehrle T, Zhang Q, Hauser C, Junger WG. Purinergic signaling: a fundamental mechanism in neutrophil activation. Sci Signal. 2010;3(125):ra45.
- 117. Muller T, Robaye B, Vieira RP, Ferrari D, Grimm M, Jakob T, Martin SF, Di Virgilio F, Boeynaems JM, Virchow JC, Idzko M. The purinergic receptor P2Y2 receptor mediates chemotaxis of dendritic cells and eosinophils in allergic lung inflammation. Allergy. 2010;65(12):1545–53.
- 118. Chen J, Zhao Y, Liu Y. The role of nucleotides and purinergic signaling in apoptotic cell clearance – implications for chronic inflammatory diseases. Front Immunol. 2014;5:656.
- 119. Klambt V, Wohlfeil SA, Schwab L, Hulsdunker J, Ayata K, Apostolova P, Schmitt-Graeff A, Dierbach H, Prinz G, Follo M, Prinz M, Idzko M, Zeiser R. A novel function for P2Y2 in myeloid recipientderived cells during graft-versus-host disease. J Immunol. 2015;195(12):5795–804.
- 120. Kukulski F, Ben Yebdri F, Lecka J, Kauffenstein G, Levesque SA, Martin-Satue M, Sevigny J. Extracellular ATP and P2 receptors are required for IL-8 to induce neutrophil migration. Cytokine. 2009;46(2):166–70.
- 121. Campwala H, Sexton DW, Crossman DC, Fountain SJ. P2Y(6) receptor inhibition perturbs CCL2evoked signalling in human monocytic and peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Cell Sci. 2014;127(Pt 22):4964–73.
- 122. Garcia RA, Yan M, Search D, Zhang R, Carson NL, Ryan CS, Smith-Monroy C, Zheng J, Chen J, Kong Y, Tang H, Hellings SE, Wardwell-Swanson J, Dinchuk JE, Psaltis GC, Gordon DA, Glunz PW, Gargalovic PS. P2Y6 receptor potentiates pro-inflammatory responses in macrophages and exhibits differential roles in atherosclerotic lesion development. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e111385.
- 123. Moreschi I, Bruzzone S, Bodrato N, Usai C, Guida L, Nicholas RA, Kassack MU, Zocchi E, De Flora A. NAADP+ is an agonist of the human P2Y11 purinergic receptor. Cell Calcium. 2008;43(4):344–55.
- 124. Gorini S, Callegari G, Romagnoli G, Mammi C, Mavilio D, Rosano G, Fini M, Di Virgilio F, Gulinelli S, Falzoni S, Cavani A, Ferrari D, la Sala A. ATP secreted by endothelial cells blocks CX(3) CL 1-elicited natural killer cell chemotaxis and cytotoxicity via P2Y(1)(1) receptor activation. Blood. 2010;116(22):4492–500.
- 125. Chadet S, Ivanes F, Benoist L, Salmon-Gandonniere C, Guibon R, Velge-Roussel F, Babuty D, Baron C, Roger S, Angoulvant D. Hypoxia/Reoxygenation inhibits P2Y11 receptor expression and its immunosuppressive activity in human dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2015;195(2):651–60.

- 126. Scrivens M, Dickenson JM. Functional expression of the P2Y14 receptor in murine T-lymphocytes. Br J Pharmacol. 2005;146(3):435–44.
- 127. Barrett MO, Sesma JI, Ball CB, Jayasekara PS, Jacobson KA, Lazarowski ER, Harden TK. A selective high-affinity antagonist of the P2Y14 receptor inhibits UDP-glucose-stimulated chemotaxis of human neutrophils. Mol Pharmacol. 2013;84(1):41–9.
- 128. Beldi G, Wu Y, Banz Y, Nowak M, Miller L, Enjyoji K, Haschemi A, Yegutkin GG, Candinas D, Exley M, Robson SC. Natural killer T cell dysfunction in CD39-null mice protects against concanavalin A-induced hepatitis. Hepatology. 2008;48(3):841–52.
- 129. Kukulski F, Bahrami F, Ben Yebdri F, Lecka J, Martin-Satue M, Levesque SA, Sevigny J. NTPDase1 controls IL-8 production by human neutrophils. J Immunol. 2011;187(2):644–53.
- 130. Ryzhov SV, Pickup MW, Chytil A, Gorska AE, Zhang Q, Owens P, Feoktistov I, Moses HL, Novitskiy SV. Role of TGF-beta signaling in generation of CD39+CD73+ myeloid cells in tumors. J Immunol. 2014;193(6):3155–64.
- 131. Schuler PJ, Saze Z, Hong CS, Muller L, Gillespie DG, Cheng D, Harasymczuk M, Mandapathil M, Lang S, Jackson EK, Whiteside TL. Human CD4+ CD39+ regulatory T cells produce adenosine upon co-expression of surface CD73 or contact with CD73+ exosomes or CD73+ cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;177(2):531–43.
- 132. Bono MR, Fernandez D, Flores-Santibanez F, Rosemblatt M, Sauma D. CD73 and CD39 ectonucleotidases in T cell differentiation: beyond immunosuppression. FEBS Lett. 2015;589(22):3454–60.
- 133. Gupta PK, Godec J, Wolski D, Adland E, Yates K, Pauken KE, Cosgrove C, Ledderose C, Junger WG, Robson SC, Wherry EJ, Alter G, Goulder PJ, Klenerman P, Sharpe AH, Lauer GM, Haining WN. CD39 expression identifies terminally exhausted CD8+ T cells. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11(10):e1005177.
- 134. Chatterjee D, Tufa DM, Baehre H, Hass R, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. Natural killer cells acquire CD73 expression upon exposure to mesenchymal stem cells. Blood. 2014;123(4):594–5.
- 135. Eichin D, Laurila JP, Jalkanen S, Salmi M. CD73 activity is dispensable for the polarization of M2 macrophages. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0134721.
- 136. Clark AN, Youkey R, Liu X, Jia L, Blatt R, Day YJ, Sullivan GW, Linden J, Tucker AL. A1 adenosine receptor activation promotes angiogenesis and release of VEGF from monocytes. Circ Res. 2007;101(11):1130–8.
- 137. Barletta KE, Ley K, Mehrad B. Regulation of neutrophil function by adenosine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32(4):856–64.
- 138. Ohta A, Ohta A, Madasu M, Kini R, Subramanian M, Goel N, Sitkovsky M. A2A adenosine receptor may allow expansion of T cells lacking effector

functions in extracellular adenosine-rich microenvironments. J Immunol. 2009;183(9):5487–93.

- 139. Sciaraffia E, Riccomi A, Lindstedt R, Gesa V, Cirelli E, Patrizio M, De Magistris MT, Vendetti S. Human monocytes respond to extracellular cAMP through A2A and A2B adenosine receptors. J Leukoc Biol. 2014;96(1):113–22.
- 140. Mirabet M, Herrera C, Cordero OJ, Mallol J, Lluis C, Franco R. Expression of A2B adenosine receptors in human lymphocytes: their role in T cell activation. J Cell Sci. 1999;112(Pt 4):491–502.
- 141. Saze Z, Schuler PJ, Hong CS, Cheng D, Jackson EK, Whiteside TL. Adenosine production by human B cells and B cell-mediated suppression of activated T cells. Blood. 2013;122(1):9–18.
- 142. Cockcroft S, Gomperts BD. The ATP4- receptor of rat mast cells. Biochem J. 1980;188(3):789–98.
- 143. Surprenant A, Rassendren F, Kawashima E, North RA, Buell G. The cytolytic P2Z receptor for extracellular ATP identified as a P2X receptor (P2X7). Science. 1996;272(5262):735–8.
- 144. Jacob F, Perez Novo C, Bachert C, Van Crombruggen K. Purinergic signaling in inflammatory cells: P2 receptor expression, functional effects, and modulation of inflammatory responses. Purinergic Signal. 2013;9(3):285–306.
- 145. Mariathasan S, Weiss DS, Newton K, McBride J, O'Rourke K, Roose-Girma M, Lee WP, Weinrauch Y, Monack DM, Dixit VM. Cryopyrin activates the inflammasome in response to toxins and ATP. Nature. 2006;440(7081):228–32.
- Di Virgilio F. Purines, purinergic receptors, and cancer. Cancer Res. 2012;72(21):5441–7.
- 147. Idzko M, Ferrari D, Eltzschig HK. Nucleotide signalling during inflammation. Nature. 2014;509(7500):310–7.
- 148. Woehrle T, Yip L, Manohar M, Sumi Y, Yao Y, Chen Y, Junger WG. Hypertonic stress regulates T cell function via pannexin-1 hemichannels and P2X receptors. J Leukoc Biol. 2010;88(6):1181–9.
- 149. Rumjahn SM, Baldwin KA, Buxton IL. P2y receptor-mediated angiogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 signaling. Proc West Pharmacol Soc. 2007;50:58–60.
- Rumjahn SM, Yokdang N, Baldwin KA, Thai J, Buxton IL. Purinergic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor signaling in angiogenesis. Br J Cancer. 2009;100(9):1465–70.
- 151. Gregory CD, Edwards CF, Milner A, Wiels J, Lipinski M, Rowe M, Tursz T, Rickinson AB. Isolation of a normal B cell subset with a Burkitt-like phenotype and transformation in vitro with Epstein-Barr virus. Int J Cancer. 1988;42(2):213–20.
- 152. Montalban Del Barrio I, Penski C, Schlahsa L, Stein RG, Diessner J, Wockel A, Dietl J, Lutz MB, Mittelbronn M, Wischhusen J, Hausler SF. Adenosine-generating ovarian cancer cells attract myeloid cells which differentiate into adenosinegenerating tumor associated macrophages - a selfamplifying, CD39- and CD73-dependent mechanism

for tumor immune escape. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:49.

- 153. Yang A, Mucsi AD, Desrosiers MD, Chen JF, Schnermann JB, Blackburn MR, Shi Y. Adenosine mediated desensitization of cAMP signaling enhances T-cell responses. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(2): 449–59.
- 154. Morello S, Sorrentino R, Montinaro A, Luciano A, Maiolino P, Ngkelo A, Arra C, Adcock IM, Pinto A. NK1.1 cells and CD8 T cells mediate the antitumor activity of cl-IB-MECA in a mouse melanoma model. Neoplasia. 2011;13(4):365–73.
- 155. Ohta A, Sitkovsky M. Role of G-protein-coupled adenosine receptors in downregulation of inflammation and protection from tissue damage. Nature. 2001;414(6866):916–20.
- Hasko G, Pacher P. Regulation of macrophage function by adenosine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32(4):865–9.
- 157. Leone RD, Lo YC, Powell JD. A2aR antagonists: next generation checkpoint blockade for cancer immunotherapy. Comput Struct Biotechnol J. 2015;13:265–72.
- 158. Ohta A, Kini R, Ohta A, Subramanian M, Madasu M, Sitkovsky M. The development and immunosuppressive functions of CD4(+) CD25(+) FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells are under influence of the adenosine-A2A adenosine receptor pathway. Front Immunol. 2012;3:190.
- 159. Sorrentino C, Miele L, Porta A, Pinto A, Morello S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells contribute to A2B adenosine receptor-induced VEGF production and angiogenesis in a mouse melanoma model. Oncotarget. 2015;6(29):27478–89.
- 160. Adinolfi E, Raffaghello L, Giuliani AL, Cavazzini L, Capece M, Chiozzi P, Bianchi G, Kroemer G, Pistoia V, Di Virgilio F. Expression of P2X7 receptor increases in vivo tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2012;72(12):2957–69.
- 161. Adinolfi E, Capece M, Franceschini A, Falzoni S, Giuliani AL, Rotondo A, Sarti AC, Bonora M, Syberg S, Corigliano D, Pinton P, Jorgensen NR, Abelli L, Emionite L, Raffaghello L, Pistoia V, Di Virgilio F. Accelerated tumor progression in mice lacking the ATP receptor P2X7. Cancer Res. 2015;75(4):635–44.
- 162. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, Vermaelen K, Panaretakis T, Mignot G, Ullrich E, Perfettini JL, Schlemmer F, Tasdemir E, Uhl M, Genin P, Civas A, Ryffel B, Kanellopoulos J, Tschopp J, Andre F, Lidereau R, McLaughlin NM, Haynes NM, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Activation of the NLRP3 inflamma-some in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15(10):1170–8.
- 163. Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Inflammasomes in carcinogenesis and anticancer immune responses. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(4):343–51.

- 164. Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, Park D, Woodson RI, Ostankovich M, Sharma P, Lysiak JJ, Harden TK, Leitinger N, Ravichandran KS. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. Nature. 2009;461(7261):282–6.
- 165. Li WH, Qiu Y, Zhang HQ, Liu Y, You JF, Tian XX, Fang WG. P2Y2 receptor promotes cell invasion and metastasis in prostate cancer cells. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(6):1666–75.
- 166. Sullivan I, Planchard D. ALK inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer: the latest evidence and developments. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2016;8(1):32–47.
- 167. Wilson FH, Johannessen CM, Piccioni F, Tamayo P, Kim JW, Van Allen EM, Corsello SM, Capelletti M, Calles A, Butaney M, Sharifnia T, Gabriel SB, Mesirov JP, Hahn WC, Engelman JA, Meyerson M, Root DE, Janne PA, Garraway LA. A functional landscape of resistance to ALK inhibition in lung cancer. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(3):397–408.
- 168. Sun X, Wu Y, Gao W, Enjyoji K, Csizmadia E, Muller CE, Murakami T, Robson SC. CD39/ ENTPD1 expression by CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells promotes hepatic metastatic tumor growth in mice. Gastroenterology. 2010;139(3):1030–40.
- 169. Hayes GM, Cairns B, Levashova Z, Chinn L, Perez M, Theunissen JW, Liao-Chan S, Bermudez A, Flory MR, Schweighofer KJ, van der Horst HE. CD39 is a promising therapeutic antibody target for the treatment of soft tissue sarcoma. Am J Transl Res. 2015;7(6):1181–8.
- 170. Kunzli BM, Bernlochner MI, Rath S, Kaser S, Csizmadia E, Enjyoji K, Cowan P, d'Apice A, Dwyer K, Rosenberg R, Perren A, Friess H, Maurer CA, Robson SC. Impact of CD39 and purinergic signalling on the growth and metastasis of colorectal cancer. Purinergic Signal. 2011;7(2):231–41.
- 171. Sun X, Han L, Seth P, Bian S, Li L, Csizmadia E, Junger WG, Schmelzle M, Usheva A, Tapper EB, Baffy G, Sukhatme VP, Wu Y, Robson SC. Disordered purinergic signaling and abnormal cellular metabolism are associated with development of liver cancer in Cd39/ENTPD1 null mice. Hepatology. 2013;57(1):205–16.
- 172. Wang L, Fan J, Thompson LF, Zhang Y, Shin T, Curiel TJ, Zhang B. CD73 has distinct roles in nonhematopoietic and hematopoietic cells to promote tumor growth in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(6):2371–82.
- 173. Stagg J, Beavis PA, Divisekera U, Liu MC, Moller A, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. CD73-deficient mice are resistant to carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 2012;72(9):2190–6.
- 174. Ohta A, Gorelik E, Prasad SJ, Ronchese F, Lukashev D, Wong MK, Huang X, Caldwell S, Liu K, Smith P, Chen JF, Jackson EK, Apasov S, Abrams S, Sitkovsky M. A2A adenosine receptor protects tumors from antitumor T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(35):13132–7.

- 175. Waickman AT, Alme A, Senaldi L, Zarek PE, Horton M, Powell JD. Enhancement of tumor immunotherapy by deletion of the A2A adenosine receptor. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(6):917–26.
- 176. Mittal D, Young A, Stannard K, Yong M, Teng MW, Allard B, Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Antimetastatic effects of blocking PD-1 and the adenosine A2A receptor. Cancer Res. 2014;74(14):3652–8.
- 177. Iannone R, Miele L, Maiolino P, Pinto A, Morello S. Blockade of A2b adenosine receptor reduces tumor growth and immune suppression mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a mouse model of melanoma. Neoplasia. 2013;15(12):1400–9.
- 178. Cekic C, Sag D, Li Y, Theodorescu D, Strieter RM, Linden J. Adenosine A2B receptor blockade slows growth of bladder and breast tumors. J Immunol. 2012;188(1):198–205.
- 179. Ryzhov S, Novitskiy SV, Zaynagetdinov R, Goldstein AE, Carbone DP, Biaggioni I, Dikov MM, Feoktistov I. Host a(2B) adenosine receptors promote carcinoma growth. Neoplasia. 2008;10(9):987–95.
- 180. Merighi S, Simioni C, Gessi S, Varani K, Mirandola P, Tabrizi MA, Baraldi PG, Borea PA. A(2B) and a(3) adenosine receptors modulate vascular endothelial growth factor and interleukin-8 expression in human melanoma cells treated with etoposide and doxorubicin. Neoplasia. 2009;11(10):1064–73.
- 181. Chung H, Jung JY, Cho SD, Hong KA, Kim HJ, Shin DH, Kim H, Kim HO, Shin DH, Lee HW, Jeong LS, Kong G. The antitumor effect of LJ-529, a novel agonist to A3 adenosine receptor, in both estrogen receptor-positive and estrogen receptornegative human breast cancers. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006;5(3):685–92.
- 182. Bar-Yehuda S, Madi L, Silberman D, Gery S, Shkapenuk M, Fishman P. CF101, an agonist to the A3 adenosine receptor, enhances the chemotherapeutic effect of 5-fluorouracil in a colon carcinoma murine model. Neoplasia. 2005;7(1):85–90.
- 183. Harish A, Hohana G, Fishman P, Arnon O, Bar-Yehuda S. A3 adenosine receptor agonist potentiates natural killer cell activity. Int J Oncol. 2003;23(4):1245–9.
- 184. Allard B, Pommey S, Smyth MJ, Stagg J. Targeting CD73 enhances the antitumor activity of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 mAbs. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(20):5626–35.
- 185. Iannone R, Miele L, Maiolino P, Pinto A, Morello S. Adenosine limits the therapeutic effectiveness of anti-CTLA4 mAb in a mouse melanoma model. Am J Cancer Res. 2014;4(2):172–81.
- 186. Hay CM, Sult E, Huang Q, Mulgrew K, Fuhrmann SR, McGlinchey KA, Hammond SA, Rothstein R, Rios-Doria J, Poon E, Holoweckyj N, Durham NM, Leow CC, Diedrich G, Damschroder M, Herbst R, Hollingsworth RE, Sachsenmeier KF. Targeting CD73 in the tumor microenvironment with MEDI9447. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(8):e1208875.

- 187. Beavis PA, Henderson MA, Giuffrida L, Mills JK, Sek K, Cross RS, Davenport AJ, John LB, Mardiana S, Slaney CY, Johnstone RW, Trapani JA, Stagg J, Loi S, Kats L, Gyorki D, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Targeting the adenosine 2A receptor enhances chimeric antigen receptor T cell efficacy. J Clin Invest. 2017;127:929–41.
- Inch WR, McCredie JA, Sutherland RM. Effect of duration of breathing 95 percent oxygen plus 5 percent carbon dioxide before x-irradiation on cure of C3H mammary tumor. Cancer. 1970;25(4):926–31.
- 189. Mach WJ, Thimmesch AR, Pierce JT, Pierce JD. Consequences of hyperoxia and the toxicity of oxygen in the lung. Nurs Res Pract. 2011;2011:260482.
- 190. Hatfield SM, Kjaergaard J, Lukashev D, Schreiber TH, Belikoff B, Abbott R, Sethumadhavan S, Philbrook P, Ko K, Cannici R, Thayer M, Rodig S, Kutok JL, Jackson EK, Karger B, Podack ER, Ohta A, Sitkovsky MV. Immunological mechanisms of the antitumor effects of supplemental oxygenation. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(277):277ra230.

- 191. Gilbert SM, Gidley Baird A, Glazer S, Barden JA, Glazer A, Teh LC, King J. A phase 1 clinical trial demonstrates nfP2X7 targeted antibodies provide a novel, safe and tolerable topical therapy for BCC. Br J Dermatol. 2017; doi:10.1111/bjd.15364.
- 192. Jaakola VP, Griffith MT, Hanson MA, Cherezov V, Chien EY, Lane JR, Ijzerman AP, Stevens RC. The 2.6 angstrom crystal structure of a human A2A adenosine receptor bound to an antagonist. Science. 2008;322(5905):1211–7.
- 193. Glukhova A, Thal DM, Nguyen AT, Vecchio EA, Jorg M, Scammells PJ, May LT, Sexton PM, Christopoulos A. Structure of the adenosine A1 receptor reveals the basis for subtype selectivity. Cell. 2017;168(5):867–77. e813
- 194. Pinna A. Adenosine A2A receptor antagonists in Parkinson's disease: progress in clinical trials from the newly approved istradefylline to drugs in early development and those already discontinued. CNS Drugs. 2014;28(5):455–74.
Plasmacytoid DC/Regulatory T Cell Interactions at the Center of an Immunosuppressive Network in Breast and Ovarian Tumors

N. Bendriss-Vermare, N. Gourdin, N. Vey, J. Faget, V. Sisirak, I. Labidi-Galy, I. Le Mercier, N. Goutagny, I. Puisieux, C. Ménétrier-Caux, and C. Caux

Contents

8.1	pDC Are Deficient for IFN-α Production	
	in Primary Tumor Environments	143
8.1.1	pDC Are Specialized in Type-I IFN	
	Production	143
8.1.2	Evidence for a Role of Type-I IFN	
	in Cancer Immunosurveillance	144
8.1.3	pDCs in Breast Tumors	145
8.1.4	pDCs in Ovarian Tumors	146
8.1.5	Mechanisms Leading to TApDC	
	Functional Defect	146
8.2	Treg in Breast Tumors	148
8.2.1	Treg Recruitment	148
8.2.2	pDC-Mediated Treg Expansion	149
8.2.3	Treg-Mediated Suppression	152
8.3	Therapeutic Strategies	153
8.3.1	Strategies to Neutralize Treg Function	
	Based on pDC/Treg Interaction	153

C. Ménétrier-Caux and C. Caux are Co-last authors.

N. Bendriss-Vermare • N. Gourdin • N. Vey

J. Faget • V. Sisirak • I. Labidi-Galy • I. Le Mercier N. Goutagny • I. Puisieux • C. Ménétrier-Caux C. Caux (🖂)

Team 11, INSERM U1052, Cancer Research Center of Lyon, F-69000 Lyon, France

Université de Lyon, F-69000 Lyon, France

Centre Léon Bérard, Lyon, F-69008, France e-mail: christophe.caux@lyon.unicancer.fr

Conclusion		156
01012	Depletion	156
8.3.2	Other Strategies Based on Treg Targeting/	

8.1 pDC Are Deficient for IFN-α Production in Primary Tumor Environment

8.1.1 pDC Are Specialized in Type-I IFN Production

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) are a unique population of bone marrow-derived immune cells that bridge the innate and adaptive immune systems ([1]). They serve two professional roles, one as type-I interferon (IFN-I)-producing cells and the other as antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Although accounting for only 0.3-0.5% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells, pDCs are responsible for over 95% of IFN-I (IFN- $\alpha/\beta/\omega$) produced by circulating lymphocytes. Activation of pDCs and the subsequent production of IFN-I occur as the result of a signaling cascade that ini-

8

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_8

tiates through pattern recognition receptors, such as toll-like receptors (TLRs). pDCs are primarily activated through the engagement of endosomal TLR7 and TLR9, by ssRNA or nonmethylated CpG DNA, respectively, which are common to microbial genomes, such as viruses or their replicative intermediates. TLR7 and TLR9 utilize the universal adapter protein MyD88, which acts via the transcription factor IRF7 and the inflammatory transcription factor NF-kB, thereby initiating transcription of type-I and -III IFN, or inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, respectively [2, 3]. Upon activation, pDCs also undergo phenotypic changes resulting in the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (CD40, CD86) [4]. They ultimately develop into more "conventional" dendritic cells with classical DC (cDC) morphology and the ability to present antigens to activate naïve and memory T cells. When dysregulated, pDCs can drive autoimmunity, since complexes of self-nucleic acids with autoantibodies also trigger sustained production of IFN-I, exacerbating autoimmune flairs and B cell proliferation [5]. In this pathophysiological context, HMBG1, a nuclear DNA-binding protein and LL37, a cationic anti-microbial peptide, both released by dying cells, work in concert with circulating anti-DNA autoantibodies to deliver self-

nucleic acids inside pDC, leading to IFN-I production in a TLR7/9-dependent manner. However, in the right context, such as airway or oral antigen delivery, pDC can also potentially contribute to peripheral tolerance [6] by favoring regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation and expansion (for review [7]) (Fig. 8.1). The duality of pDC in immune responses likely depends on their IFN-I production and their activation by interferogenic stimuli.

pDCs are essential for recognition of altered self and thus may contribute to immune responses directed towards transformed cells. It would, therefore, be expected that an increased presence of pDCs in tumor tissues should promote activation, immune recognition of tumor antigens and, in turn, lead to tumor rejection.

8.1.2 Evidence for a Role of Type-I IFN in Cancer Immunosurveillance

Although type-II IFN has emerged early as a key mediator of tumor immunosurveillance, it is only very recently that the role of IFN-I has been discovered [8–10]. Indeed, gene-targeted mice lacking the type-I IFN receptor (IFNAR1)



Fig. 8.1 pDC plasticity. During viral infection and certain autoimmune diseases (Lupus, Psoriasis) pDCs contribute to immune response through TLR-7/9 engagement by viral or endogenous nucleic acid leading to their production of

IFN-I and phenotypic maturation. However, in other contexts, such as airway or oral antigen delivery, in absence of TLR-7/9 engagement, pDC can also contribute to peripheral tolerance by favoring Treg differentiation and expansion

develop more carcinogen-induced primary tumors than WT control mice [9, 11] and antibody-mediated blockade of the IFN α/β receptor in WT hosts abrogated rejection of immunogenic transplanted tumors [9]. Several recent reports have shown that host-derived IFN-I responses are critical in early steps of tumor immunosurveillance [8–10, 12] as well as in the efficacy of radiotherapy [13] or of certain chemotherapeutic treatments [14].

Moreover, in humans, exogenous administration of recombinant IFN- α has shown efficacy in the treatment of cancer patients [15] and high intratumor expression of IFN-I responsive genes has a positive prognostic value in cancers [16-18]. In line with this observation, it has been shown recently that downregulation of IFNAR1 in tumor stroma stimulates tumor development and growth, playing a key role in the formation of an immune-privileged niche, and predicting poor prognosis in human colorectal cancer patients [19].

In a mechanistic view, recent studies in mouse models have shown that IFNs contribute to antitumor immunity via stimulating specific CD8 α^+ DCs to cross-present tumor-derived antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) [8, 9]. In addition, IFN-I provides a signal to stimulate the clonal expansion of CTLs [20] and increase their viability [21]. Furthermore, recent studies have identified the cGAS/STING pathway of DNA sensing as a critical route for type-I IFN induction during cell transformation and chemo or radiotherapy treatment (for review [22]). STING agonists are currently in clinical trial aiming at increasing IFN-I production in the tumor to limit neoplastic growth and promote specific antitumoral immune responses. However, the nature of the IFN-I-secreting cells in most cancer models remains undetermined and other tumor-derived ligands and innate sensors are likely to contribute to induction of endogenous IFN-I. In this perspective, pDCs represent prime suspects with regard to their presence in the diseased tissue, their ability to sense host-derived factors through TLR7/9, and their IFN-I producing specialization.

8.1.3 pDCs in Breast Tumors

Breast cancers are the most common malignant tumors and the first leading cause of cancer death in women. Among several types of breast cancers, the so-called triple negative (non-amplified Her2neu, ER^{neg} and PR^{neg}) (TN) is the most aggressive one. Breast cancers are considered as immunogenic tumors as (1) CD8⁺T cell responses as well as humoral responses against TAA (Her2neu, p53, Muc1) have been demonstrated [23–27] and (2) CD8⁺ T cell infiltration has been recently reported to correlate with better prognosis [28–30]. Moreover we recently demonstrated that primary breast tumors (BT) are largely infiltrated by immune cells involved in innate sensing, i.e., NK cells, dendritic cells (DC), and macrophages (M Φ) that display an activated phenotype [31, 32] suggesting their stimulation within the BT environment. We and others also reported the presence of strong CD4⁺ [33] and CD8⁺ [24-27] T lymphocytes infiltrates in BT suggesting that all the players required to set up an efficient anti-tumor response are present within the BT environment. However, when tumors are clinically detected, this immune response is, in most cases, unable to counteract cancer development because tumors have developed immunosubversion processes.

Several studies have pinpointed that the tumor microenvironment subverts the function of immune cells and favors immunosuppression, avoiding the establishment of anti-tumor immunity. Recent works including from our group [32, 34] have also shown that pDC accumulate in several types of solid cancers, but very limited studies analyzed their function within the tumor microenvironment.

In this context, we have observed that BT infiltration by pDC is associated with an adverse clinical outcome [32], suggesting that they might contribute to the tumor immune evasion and ultimately to its outgrowth.

In a prospective study analyzing 79 newly diagnosed breast cancer patients, we observed a preferential accumulation of pDC in aggressive BT with a high mitotic index and a TN phenotype [35]. These results strengthen our previous observation on the deleterious impact of TApDC on breast cancer patients' outcome [32]. Such tumor-associated (TA)-pDC exhibited a partially activated phenotype (CD40, CD83, CD86, and HLA-DR intermediate levels) when compared to patients' associated blood pDC. This partially activated phenotype may be related to the local action of GM-CSF on TApDC [36] or to endogenous nucleic acid as TLR7/9 ligands. Of note, the concomitant increase of GM-CSF and pDC was significantly associated with relatively more aggressive breast cancer subtypes. In addition, similarly to tonsil pDC, TApDC activated in vitro by TLR7 and 9 agonists retain their capacity to mature and induce the proliferation of naïve CD4+ T cells and their secretion of IL-10 and IFN- γ . In contrast, TApDC were strongly impaired in their ability to secrete IFN- α upon TLR7/9 stimulation in vitro. This functional defect was specific to IFN- α and occurred selectively at the tumor site. Indeed, the production of [1] inflammatory molecules such as CXCL10 in TApDC [35] as well as [2] IFN- α in patients' blood pDC was not affected [35, 37].

8.1.4 pDCs in Ovarian Tumors

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the most frequent and aggressive gynecologic cancer. This is due, at least in part, to its diagnosis at advanced stages (III/IV) in the majority of patients with peritoneal carcinosis and malignant ascites [38, 39]. We investigated the clinical significance of the presence of pDC in tumor mass and malignant ascites by conducting a systematic comparison of pDC number, phenotype, and function in blood, tumor, and ascites. We observed an accumulation of pDC in most of malignant ascites and their presence at high frequency in 36% of primary tumors. Importantly, as in breast tumors, accumulation of pDC in tumors was an independent prognostic factor associated with early relapse.

These results obtained on 33 OC patients in whom pDC were identified by flow cytometry as CD4⁺BDCA2⁺CD123⁺ cells [38] were confirmed on a larger series of OC patients (n = 97) by

immunohistochemistry (IHC) [39]. In this study, TApDC were identified as BDCA2+ cells on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissues using tissue microarray (TMA) allowing the analysis of the impact of the presence of pDC in both cancer epithelium and lymphoid aggregates present in cancer stroma. BDCA2+ TApDC were present in only 18/97 tumors (18%). In univariate analysis, the presence of TApDC within cancer epithelium was associated with early relapse and shorter median overall survival. In multivariate analysis, in addition to clinical prognostic factors (advanced stage, debulking surgery, and residual tumor), the presence of TApDC remains an independent prognostic factor associated with shorter PFS [39].

Thus, using two different and complementary methods (flow cytometry and IHC) on two independent cohorts, we observed a deleterious impact of the presence of TApDC within OC tumors on patient's outcome. These data corroborate our findings in breast cancer [32] and others in melanoma [34] showing that TApDC accumulation correlates with poor prognosis. Collectively, these results suggest that TApDC may contribute to immune tolerance and tumor progression.

Like in breast tumors, we showed that, unlike ascites pDC, TApDC from ovarian cancer (1) expressed a semi-mature phenotype as evidenced by high levels of CD40 and CD86 and (2) were strongly impaired for their IFN- α production in response to CpG-A (TLR9 ligand) known to induce huge amounts of type-I IFNs [38]. These results suggest that TApDC respond to endogenous signals delivered by the tumor microenvironment by maturing rather than by producing IFN- α , suggesting a preferential activation of NF κ B rather than IRF7 pathway [40, 41].

8.1.5 Mechanisms Leading to TApDC Functional Defect

The similarity in the biology of TApDC between breast [32, 35, 42] [5] and ovarian [38, 39] tumors strengthens the importance of our work and indicates that common inhibitory mechanisms could occur between epithelial cancers with different localizations.

In both breast and ovarian cancers, we demonstrate that besides IFN- α , the production of IFN- β and TNF-a but not CXCL10 nor MIP1-a/CCL3 by TLR-activated healthy pDC is impaired by the breast and ovarian tumor environments [38, 42]. Importantly, we identified TGF- β and TNF- α as major soluble factors involved in TApDC functional alteration (Fig. 8.2). Indeed, recombinant TGF- β 1 and TNF- α synergistically blocked IFN- α production of TLR-activated pDC, and neutralization of TGF- β and TNF- α in tumorderived supernatants restored pDCs' IFN-a pro-[38, 42]. The involvement duction of tumor-derived TGF-B was further confirmed in situ by the detection of phosphorylated Smad2 in the nuclei of TApDC in breast tumor tissues [42]. Mechanisms of type-I IFN inhibition did not involve TLR downregulation but the inhibition of IRF-7 expression and nuclear translocation in pDC after their exposure to tumor-derived supernatants or recombinant TGF- β 1 and TNF- α .

Recently, E. Gatti and collaborators (CIML) showed that the molecule BAD-LAMP (LAMP5) is uniquely expressed by non-activated human pDCs among hematopoietic cells [43] and that BAD-LAMP controls TLR9 trafficking to LAMP1+ late endosomes, reducing IFN-I production in pDCs activated by CpG DNA and favoring TNF- α . Conversely, BAD-LAMP silencing allows spontaneous TLR9 activation in



Fig. 8.2 TApDC inhibition of type-I IFN production through TGF- β . (a) TGF- β produced in breast and ovarian tumor environment potently suppressed type-I IFN production

by pDC. (b) In situ TApDC expressed nuclear phosphorylated-Smad2 demonstrating their exposition to TGF- β , and leading to blockade of IRF7 nuclear translocation

absence of exogenous TLR agonists. Together, we further demonstrated that breast TApDCs display increased BAD-LAMP expression that contributes inability to their to produce IFN-I. BAD-LAMP expression therefore limits IFN-I expression in pDCs by promoting TLR9 sorting to late endosomes at steady state and in response to TME (Combes, under revision). "BAD-LAMP controls TLR9 trafficking and signaling in human plasmacytoïd dendritic cells" by Alexis Combes, Voahirana Camosseto, Prudence N'Guessan, Rafael Argüello, Julie Mussard, Christophe Caux, Nathalie Bendriss-Vermare, Philippe Pierre, and Evelina Gatti

Nat Com, in press

As IFN-I plays important anti-tumor functions, either directly or through immunosurveillance activation [44], our work suggests that the inhibition of TApDCs' IFN-I production by BT might confer a selective advantage to tumor cells and represent a novel escape mechanism.

The alteration of IFN- α production by pDC in response to TLR ligands has been previously described in chronic viral infections such as HIV and HCV contributing to the failure of an efficient immune response [45]. In the context of cancer, previous works have also reported this alteration in breast [35], lung [46], and head and neck [47] cancers, and chronic myeloid leukemia [48].

Our findings indicate that targeting TApDC to restore their IFN- α production, by combining TLR7/9-based immunotherapy with TGF- β antagonist, might be an achievable strategy to induce anti-tumor immunity in breast cancer.

8.2 Treg in Breast Tumors

The presence of regulatory T cells (Treg) has been described in a large panel of solid tumors. However, their impact on tumor progression differs according to the tumor type analyzed [49]. We recently obtained evidence in breast carcinoma that Treg localized within lymphoid aggregates, but not in the tumor bed, have a negative impact on patients' survival [33]. The poor impact of Tregs has been confirmed by others in invasive breast carcinoma [50] and the reduction of Treg during neoadjuvant chemotherapy correlates with improved prognosis [51]. Moreover, we showed selective Treg recruitment through CCR4/CCL22 in the lymphoid aggregates upon contact with mature DC, where they became strongly and selectively activated (HLA-DR^{high}, inducible co-stimulatory molecule (ICOS)^{high}) and block conventional T-cell response.

8.2.1 Treg Recruitment

Several studies including from our group demonstrated the infiltration of BT by immune subsets involved in immune tolerance, i.e., pDC [32] and CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{neg}FoxP3+ Treg [30, 33, 52] and type-2 MΦ [for review, see [53], Ramos RN et al. submitted] that are all of poor prognosis for overall survival (OS) in primary BT.

An in-depth ex vivo analysis demonstrated that tumor-associated Treg (TATreg) (1) are activated as they express ICOS, HLA-DR, GITR, and CTLA-4, (2) are functional as they suppress CD4⁺ T cells proliferation and IFN γ secretion, (3) proliferate in situ in contrast to the resting non regulatory CD4⁺ memory T cells and CD8⁺ T cells detected within BT [33].

In contrast to associated patients' blood Treg, TATreg present a selective loss of membrane CCR4, consecutive to an active recruitment through CCL22 secreted within the BT environment [33]. In line with this, (1) CCL22, but not CCL17 induced the CCR4 downregulation and (2) BT lacking CCL22 expression are not infiltrated by TATreg independently of their production of CCL17, the other CCR4 ligand.

In primary BT context, independently of the molecular subtype of the tumor, CCL22 expression is strongly increased compared to peritumoral breast tissue as assessed not only by IHC but also by ELISA within the BT dilacerations supernatants [31].

Interestingly, at the systemic level, we observed a gradual increase in CCL22 plasmatic levels from healthy subjects, patients with primary BT, first metastatic relapse or with more advanced BT [54] that could reflect the tumor burden.

Using BT epithelial cell lines but also primary BT specimens, we demonstrated the major role of immune infiltrate in the selective induction of CCL22 but not CCL17 by tumor epithelial cells [31]. In vitro experiments using (1) inhibitory antibodies against cytokine receptors and/or cytokines or (2) exogenous recombinant cytokines demonstrate the preponderant role of a dialogue between epithelial tumor cells and tumor-infiltrating NK cells and M Φ for this CCL22 production [31]. Through these studies we propose the following sequence of events (Fig. 8.3): (1) NK cells detecting tumor cells secrete IFN γ , (2) IFN γ activates M Φ favoring their secretion of IL-1 β and TNF α , (3) these 3 cytokines act together to increase CCL22 production by epithelial tumor cells. This was further confirmed in ex vivo experiments using primary BT specimens demonstrating the coop-



Fig. 8.3 IFN γ , TNF α , and IL-1 β secretion by NK and M Φ leads to CCL22 secretion by transformed cells attracting CCR4⁺ Treg in breast tumor. Healthy breast epithelial cells secrete low levels of CCL22 in a polarized manner within the luminal acini, their transformation favor their recognition by infiltrating NK cells leading to IFN γ secretion. IFN γ promoted M Φ activation that will secrete TNF α and IL-1 β after interaction with breast epithelial tumor cells. Combined action of IFN γ , IL-1 β , and TNF α will induce strong CCL22 non polarized secretion by tumor cells that will induce the recruitment of CCR4⁺ Treg from periphery, leading to CCR4 internalization

eration of M Φ and NK cells to favor CCL22 production by freshly purified tumor cells [31].

This illustrates a mechanism allowing the transformed breast epithelial cells to counteract the local inflammation involving NK and M Φ to favor Treg recruitment through CCL22 secretion as previously described in chronically inflamed colon [55]. In turn, TATreg may also favor tumor progression via (1) the inhibition of NK cytolytic functions (for review [56]) (2) the conversion, as recently demonstrated in HIV context [57] of type-1 M Φ into type-2 M Φ that have pro-tumor functions through production of factors promoting angiogenesis, tumor cell proliferation, and favoring immunosuppression (for review [53, 58]).

All together, these data strongly indicate that CCL22 participates to the immunosubversion in BT and will favor disease progression. In this context, CCR4 antagonists (small molecule (AF-399)) have been validated to block in vitro and in vivo CCL22-mediated recruitment of human Treg and Th2 cells [59].

8.2.2 pDC-Mediated Treg Expansion

High numbers of TATreg is an independent factor of poor prognosis for BT patient's survival. Furthermore, BT infiltrating CD4+FoxP3neg T cells (TATconv) are of memory phenotype (CD45RO⁺) and very few are activated contrasting with highly activated TATreg (ICOShigh, CTLA-4⁺, GITR⁺, HLA-DR⁺), that proliferate in situ (Ki67⁺) and display suppressive activity in vitro [33]. Furthermore, ICOS, belonging to the CD28 family is highly expressed by TATreg as reported in melanoma [60] and ovarian tumors [61]. Despite their Ki67 expression in situ, TATreg did not proliferate in vitro under classical stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 agonist Ab coated beads, in the presence of exogenous IL-2, in contrast to blood Treg or Tconv either from BT or blood that proliferated strongly. Of importance, infiltration of BT by pDC, also of poor prognosis for patients' survival [32], correlates with Treg infiltration and both cell subsets co-localized within tumor [62] and especially within TNBT [35]. We thus wondered whether TApDC might contribute to TATreg expansion within the BT microenvironment. We observed that TApDC as well as healthy donors pDC preconditioned with BT-derived supernatants were very potent in inducing [1] the selective expansion of Foxp3⁺ Treg and [2] the differentiation of IL-10-secreting CD4⁺ T cells [62]. Interestingly, exogenous IFN- α reverted immunosuppressive CD4⁺ T cell responses induced by TApDC and BT environment [35], indicating that such TApDC tumor-promoting capacity is strongly amplified in tumors as a result of their impaired IFN- α production.

In order to understand the negative impact of TApDC, we developed an orthotopic murine mammary tumor model that closely mimics the human pathology, including pDC and Treg infiltration [63]. We showed that TApDC are mostly immature and maintain their ability to internalize antigens in vivo and to activate CD4+ T cells in vitro. Most importantly, TApDC are specifically altered for cytokine production in response to TLR9 ligands in vitro while preserving unaltered response to TLR7 ligands. In vivo pDC depletion delayed tumor growth and reduced intratumoral Treg frequency, showing that TApDC provide an immunosubversive environment most likely through Treg activation favoring tumor progression.

pDC were previously shown to regulate growth of multiple myeloma (MM) cells [64] and more recently to favor bone metastasis of breast cancer cells [65].

Whereas healthy donors pDC overexpressed ICOS-L, the unique ligand of ICOS, after in vitro activation by TLR7 or TLR9 agonists, TApDC despite their activated phenotype (CD40+HLA-DR+CD86+), lacked ICOS-L expression in breast ovarian tumor dilacerates [38, and **62**]. Interestingly, in vitro ICOS-L engagement by activated ICOS+ CD4+ T cells led to its downregulation at pDC membrane and 24 h culture of tumor cell dilacerate suspensions in the presence of a blocking anti-ICOS mAb restored ICOS-L expression on TApDC [62]. These data demonstrate that ICOS/ICOS-L interaction occurs in BT during Treg/pDC contacts.

Interestingly, allogeneic reactions of [pDC + TA-CD4⁺ T cells] co-cultures led to a strong enrichment and proliferation of FoxP3⁺ Treg and enhanced IL-10 secretion. This immunosuppressive T cell response to pDC stimulation was highly dependent on ICOS as the addition of a neutralizing anti-ICOS mAb selectively inhibited both Treg proliferation and IL-10 secretion. Furthermore, myeloid DC (mDC, Lin^{neg}HLA-DR⁺CD11c⁺BDCA2^{neg}) that did not overexpress ICOS-L after activation were not associated with Treg enrichment nor strong IL-10 secretion [62]. In agreement with our observations on TATreg, proliferation in response to pDC of ICOS+ Treg issued from ovarian tumor ascites [61] or ICOS expressing natural Treg (nTreg) from thymus [66] was also dependent on ICOS/ICOS-L interaction. In addition, pDC were also reported to increase IL-10 production by CD4 T cell through ICOS/ICOSL interaction [67, 68]. Furthermore, we recently confirmed, in collaboration with D Olive team, the in vivo downregulation of ICOS-L on Follicular Lymphoma B cells and the ICOS/ICOS-Ldependent expansion of Treg in this tumor environment [69].

Importantly, neither IL-2, IL-17 nor IFN- γ was detectable in BT dilacerates in contrast to IL-10 [62]. ICOS neutralization only slightly reduced IFN- γ secretion and proliferation of Tconv and did not impact T cell response to mDC. This suggests that ICOS favors TATreg expansion and IL-10 production but does not participate in the induction of immune effectors in primary BT. Of most importance, on a retrospective cohort of BT patients, ICOS expression was mainly detected on Treg by IHC and ICOS⁺ cell infiltration correlated with reduced PFS and OS in univariate analysis [62], in agreement with results in ovarian tumors [61].

ICOS constitutes a critical regulator of humoral immune responses, mainly as it stimulates follicular helper T cell (Tfh) activation, as illustrated in ICOS-deficient mice and patients [70]. This said, a few reports also suggest that ICOS may contribute to anti-tumor cellular immunity. Indeed, in melanoma patients, an increased proportion of IFN-γ-producing CD4⁺ICOS⁺ T cells has been observed in patients responding to anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab) treatment [71], and ICOS-deficient mice bearing B16 tumors do not respond properly to anti-CTLA-4 therapy.

ICOS⁺ Treg have been described in several human and mouse tumors and our in vitro experiments demonstrated that ICOS+ TATreg are strongly dependent on ICOS for their amplification, contrary to Treg from peripheral blood [62]. ICOS dependency could reflect a particular subpopulation of Treg, either linked to a particular origin similarly to thymic ICOS⁺ nTreg [66] or to their microenvironment and/or activation status. In this context, it is not clear whether TATreg are nTreg or are induced from naïve T cells in the periphery. Deciphering whether ICOS blockade displays a differential impact between nTreg, iTreg, and TATreg could be of importance in the perspective to revert TACD4+ T cell immunosuppressive response in breast cancer patients.

Taken together, our data suggest that ICOS blockade might be a promising strategy to eradi-

cate TATreg and IL-10-producing CD4⁺ T cells in primary BT. The ICOS neutralization might need to be transient in order to abrogate Treg amplification while leaving unperturbed the restoration of effector cells potentially expressing ICOS [71].

8.2.2.1 Conclusion

Collectively our results show that BT microenvironment inhibits type-I IFN production by TApDC through TGF- β and TNF- α that confers them enhanced capacity to promote FoxP3high TATreg expansion and IL-10-secreting T cells via ICOS-ICOSL interaction in vivo. This favors the accumulation of immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells at the tumor site preventing anti-tumor immune responses (Fig. 8.4). Our observations pave the way for the development of new therapeutic strategies for breast cancer patients by (1) restoring TApDCs' IFN-a production using a combination of TLR-7/9 ligands with TGF-β and TNF- α antagonists, for the induction of a potent anti-viral-like anti-tumor immunity, or (2) neutralizing ICOS/ICOS-L interaction between pDC and Treg.



Fig. 8.4 pDC/Treg at the center of immunosuppressive networks in breast tumor environment, role of ICOS/ ICOSL. Through ICOS-L expressed on TApDC, ICOS engagement participates in Treg expansion and IL-10 secretion in BT and ICOS⁺ cells are associated with poor prognosis for patients' survival. This demonstrates that ICOS participates in T cell mediated immunosubversion and suggests ICOS neutralization on Treg as a new cancer immunotherapy strategy

8.2.3 Treg-Mediated Suppression

Treg can suppress most immune cells including CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, DC, B cells, M Φ and NK cells. In vivo and in vitro studies suggest Tregmediated suppression could be operated through multiple mechanisms and that various molecules could be secreted or expressed at cell surface and actively participate simultaneously and synergistically to their suppressive functions on these different cell subsets (Fig. 8.5).

- *IL2:* IL-2 may increase Treg suppressive function by upregulating FOXP3 expression via STAT5. Moreover, Treg could deprive local IL-2 by consumption through their high-affinity IL-2Rα receptor (CD25).
- *Cytokine secretion:* IL-10 and TGF-β contribute to nTreg and iTreg-mediated suppression.
- Granzyme-dependent cell cytolysis: Human activated Treg express perforin and granzyme A after activation and can kill activated CD4⁺



Metabolic Distruption

Fig. 8.5 Mechanisms of Treg suppression. This schematic depicts the various T_{reg} mechanisms arranged into four basic modes of action. "Inhibitory cytokines" include IL-10, IL-35, and TGF- β . "Cytolysis" includes granzyme-A- and granzyme-B-dependent and perforin-dependent killing mechanisms. "Metabolic disruption" includes high-affinity IL-2 receptor α (CD25)-dependent cytokine-deprivation-mediated apoptosis, cyclic AMP (cAMP)-mediated inhibition, and CD39- and/or CD73-generated,

adenosine-purinergic adenosine receptor (A2A)-mediated immunosuppression. "Targeting dendritic cells" include mechanisms that modulate DC maturation and/or function such as LAG3 (also known as CD223)-MHC-class-IImediated suppression of DC maturation, and CTLA4-CD80/CD86-mediated induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), which is an immunosuppressive enzyme, by DCs and CD8⁺ T cells and other cell types independently from Fas/FasL [72–74].

- Extracellular nucleotide metabolism via CD39 and CD73: CD73 cooperates with CD39 to generate adenosine (Ado) from ATP [75]. CD39 predominantly catalyzes conversion of ATP into AMP, which in turn is degraded by CD73 to produce Ado. To mediate suppression, Ado binds one of the four distinct AdoR (A1, A2A, A2B, A3). A2A and A2B receptors are coupled to Gs subunit that activates adenylate cyclase and protein kinase A (PKA) thereby increasing cAMP levels. Binding to A2B and A2A suppresses the function of both innate and adaptive immune cells (for review [76]). Indeed, through A2B receptor, Ado alters the maturation of APCs (monocytes and DC) and their secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and favors an immunosuppressive environment through induction of IL-10 secretion by monocytes [77]. Furthermore, through A2A receptor, Ado reduces cytotoxic capacity of NK cells [78], decreases IFN- γ secretion, and favors secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-4 and TGF- β) by NKT cells [79], inhibits BCR-induced NF κ B activation [80] and reduces major functionalities of effector CD4+ and CD8+T cells such as IL-2 and IFNy secretion, proliferation, and cytolytic function and alters their survival [81]. Together Ado will alter the development of an effective antitumor immune response.
 - The degradation of ATP into Ado by CD39 in tandem with CD73 represents a mechanism that is used by Treg to induce the production of peri-cellular Ado. However, whereas most studies reported CD39 and CD73 coexpression on murine Treg [82–85], our work showed that *in human* peripheral blood, lymphoid tissues or breast tumor tissues, Treg never expressed CD73 either on the membrane or in the cytoplasm (Gourdin et al. submitted). Similarly to mouse [86], in human breast tumors, Treg express high CD39 levels (Gourdin et al. submitted). Moreover, TLR-7activated pDC selectively induce the upregulation of CD39 levels on Treg (unpublished

data). However, CD73 is observed on a subset of non-Treg CD4⁺ T cells able to proliferate and secrete high IFN- γ levels upon activation. Our recent data show that CD39⁺ TATreg cooperate with CD73⁺CD4⁺ T cell effectors to mediate Ado production and their local suppressive function (Gourdin et al. submitted) highlighting CD39/CD73 axis as an important Treg-mediated suppression mechanism.

٠ Targeting DC: Interaction of CTLA-4, constitutively expressed on Treg surface with its ligands CD80 and CD86 on DC is an important pathway by which Treg could mediate their suppressive function. Indeed, Treg downregulate or prevent CD80 and CD86 upregulation on murine as well as human DC in vitro blocking their co-stimulatory function and subsequent T cell activation and function [87, 88]. Lag-3 expressed on Treg may play a role in Treg-induced suppression of DC function as Lag-3, by binding MHC class-II molecules expressed by immature DC, induces an ITAMmediated inhibitory signal that blocks their maturation and reduces their allo-stimulatory functions [89].

8.3 Therapeutic Strategies

8.3.1 Strategies to Neutralize Treg Function Based on pDC/Treg Interaction

We developed a clinically relevant murine tumor model in which the HER2/neu⁺ NEU-15 cell line growing in WT hosts escapes from immunosurveillance through pDC and Treg-mediated immunosubversion [63], thus closely mimicking our observations in human breast cancer (Fig. 8.6) [32, 33, 35, 42, 62].

8.3.1.1 TApDC Reactivation

Therapeutic strategies aimed at reactivating TApDC and inducing their IFN-I production through TLR agonists stimulation could reduce Treg expansion.

Despite their negative impact on tumor progression, TApDC could be reactivated in vivo



pDC : plasmacytoïd DC

Fig. 8.6 Therapeutic strategies through targeting pDC/ Treg crosstalk. Based on the observation of pDC-mediated Treg expansion we are proposing several complementary approaches to reactivate anti-tumor immunity. (1) pDC reactivation for type-I IFN production through TLR-7 ligands that are currently under clinical trials; (2) TGF- β neutralization to restore pDC function, several mAbs

via intratumoral injection of TLR-7L, thus mediating a Th1 signature, and subsequent tumor regression. TLR-7L induced long-term protective memory response as 100% of cured mice were protected against subsequent tumor challenge [63].

In vivo depletion of pDC abrogated the therapeutic activity of TLR-7L, demonstrating the central role for TApDC in TLR-7L-mediated anti-tumor response. Importantly, we demonstrated that this therapeutic activity is mediated by locally induced and not systemic type-I IFN. This points towards the importance of intratumoral TApDC reactivation that will lead to type-I IFN production and subsequent additional functions such as antigen cross-presentation and Treg neutralization. We indeed observed that type-I IFN neutralization led to the inhibition of the intratumoral Th1 signature. In this context, the treatment of skin cancers with Imiquimod (TLR-7L) resulted in TApDC recruitment and IFN- α production that correlate to local immune reaction and destruction of tumor lesions [90]. This anti-tumor activity of Imiquimod is depen-

against TGF- β receptor or TGF- β or TGF- β receptor kinase domain inhibitors are also under clinical trials; (*3*) ICOS neutralization though ICOS/ICOSL neutralizing mAbs to block Treg proliferation; (*4*) mAbs neutralizing CCL22/CCR4 to block Treg recruitment within the tumor, neutralizing anti-CCR4 mAbs or small inhibitors are under clinical trials and/or development

dent on direct tumor killing activity of TLR7activated TApDC mediated by granzyme B and/ or TRAIL leading to subsequent capture and antigen cross-presentation [90, 91].

Based on results of the literature, ongoing phase I/II clinical trials are currently evaluating the therapeutic potential of TLR agonists for the treatment of various types of cancer [92]. In the light of our observation that TApDC remain responsive to TLR-7L while lacking response to CpG ODN (TLR-9L), the therapeutic potential of TLR-7 agonists in human breast tumors should be considered.

8.3.1.2 TGF-β Neutralization

We detected phosphorylated Smad2 in the nuclei of BDCA2 TApDC by immunofluorescence (IF) on BT sections. These observations demonstrate that TApDC are exposed to TGF- β released in BT environment and suggest a role for Smad signaling in TGF- β -mediated TApDC inhibition, as already demonstrated for Smad3 in mice [93].

Our study identifies TGF- β as a novel target for restoring IFN-I production by TApDC. As (1) TLR-9 (CpG ODN) and TLR-7 (Imiquimod) ligands that specifically target human pDC are currently evaluated in clinical trials for immune stimulation in tumor patients [94], (2) drugs that target TGF- β or its receptors' signaling are currently in development [95], and (3) pDCs are mandatory for the anti-tumor response mediated by Imiquimod in a murine model of melanoma through IFN- α production and acquisition of cytotoxic properties [91], our results suggest that restoring TApDC-derived IFN-I using TGF- β antagonists combined to TLR7/9 activation represent a promising new therapeutic strategy in localized BT.

Furthermore, as TGF- β is one of the elements driving the development of FoxP3⁺ iTreg from naïve CD4⁺ T cells in the periphery, targeting TGF- β pathway would help in reducing Treg development.

8.3.1.3 ICOS Neutralization on Treg

ICOS is a member of the CD28 superfamily of molecules that includes CTLA-4, PD-1, or BTLA, all playing critical roles in immune regulation. Based on our observations showing Treg amplification through ICOS/ICOS-L interaction in BT and Follicular Lymphoma [62, 69], confirmed in ovarian tumors [38, 61], we are pursuing ICOS as a therapeutic target to neutralize Treg. However, it has been shown that some of the effects of anti-CTLA-4 antagonist antibodies are directly due to perturbaof ICOS-ICOS-L interactions [71]. tion Furthermore, ICOS is expressed on other T-cell subsets such as Tfh cells [96] suggesting a central role for ICOS on their biology. Tfh cells constitute a subset of helper T cells specialized in the regulation of humoral immunity by providing germinal center B cells with survival and differentiation signals within B cell follicles [97]. The importance of ICOS in Treg and Tfh biology and pathophysiology will need further exploration for considering ICOS as a potential target in immunotherapy using neutralizing anti-ICOS antibodies. Moreover, different anti-ICOS agonists mAbs (JTX-2011 (#NCT-02904226), GSK-3359609 (#NCT-

02723955)) are currently evaluated in phase I-IIa clinical trials in advanced solid tumors, alone or in combination with anti-PD-1 treatment, to reactivate immune T cell effectors.

8.3.1.4 CD39/CD73 Axis

CD73 cooperates with CD39 to generate Ado from ATP [75]. The critical role of Ado/CD73 in preventing anti-tumor immunity and promoting tumor development has been revealed by several teams using mouse tumor models [84, 85].

In particular, it was demonstrated that inhibition of CD73 using three separate techniques: (1) shRNAs, (2) a small chemical inhibitor (APCP), or (3) an anti-CD73 mAb (TY-23) blocks the growth of mammary (AT-3) and ovarian (ID8) murine tumor models though induction of an adaptive immune response [85, 98]. Responses include increased tumor-specific T cell immunity, and improved trafficking of antitumor T cells to the tumor microenvironment. It was also demonstrated in mouse tumor models that part of the immunosuppressive function mediated by Treg relies on CD73 enzymatic activity [85, 99]. In this regard, CD73-deficient Treg were less able to hinder tumor-specific immunity and promote tumor growth in mouse models of ovarian cancer and lymphoma. Moreover, Ado acts through A2A receptor to suppress endogenous tumor immunosurveillance potently as demonstrated [81] in A2A receptor-deficient mice mounting spontaneous anti-tumor T-cell responses able to induce T cell-dependent tumor rejection. Finally, constitutive (in CD73-/- mice) or transient (shRNA, antibodies, APCP) neutralization of CD73 was not associated with any overt immune disorders [100].

Altogether, these studies suggest that interfering with CD39/CD73/AdoR represents a potential strategy to reverse Treg-mediated suppression. In this regard, 2 companies (BMS, MedImmune) are currently in phase-I clinical trial with antihCD73 mAbs (BMS-986179 #NCT02754141, MEDI-9447 #NCT02503774) neutralizing the enzymatic activity in combination with anti PD-1 [101, 102].

8.3.2 Other Strategies Based on Treg Targeting/Depletion

8.3.2.1 Blockade of Treg Cell Induction and Recruitment

We contribute to show that CCL22 mediates Treg migration into human ovarian and breast tumors [31, 33, 103] and blockade of CCL22 significantly decreases Treg migration into ovarian tumors in an immune-deficient murine xenograft model, leading to immune rejection in the presence of anti-tumor effector T cells [103]. Smallmolecule chemokine receptor antagonists (AF-399) [104] or mAb (Mogalizumab) were able to block in vitro CCL22-mediated recruitment of human Treg and Th2 cells and have gone into phase I clinical trials in advanced solid cancer patients (lung, gastric, esophageal, and renal cell carcinoma) either alone [105, 106] or in combination with anti-PD-1 (#NCT02946671).

8.3.2.2 Treg Depletion

- *Chemotherapy regimen*: Metronomic doses of cyclophosphamide or paclitaxel can selectively reduce Treg numbers [107–109].
- Depletion of CD25 expressing cells: CD25 expression remains the master target for Treg depleting strategies. In murine models administration of depleting anti-CD25 mAb (PC61) allowed a strong Treg reduction in peripheral lymphoid tissue and induced regression of established tumors [110]. Several drugs targeting CD25 are in clinical trial: (1) Denileukin diftitox (Ontak®, DAB389IL-2) is a recombinant protein fusing the active domain of diphtheria toxin to human IL-2; (2) Daclizumab (zenapex[®]) and basiliximab (simulect[®]) are anti-human CD25 mAbs. However, because of the non-specific expression of CD25, the major risk of such strategy is to eradicate activated T cells present within the tumor that could help for development/initiation of T cell anti-tumor immunity.
- anti-CTLA-4 depleting mAbs: Treg targeting could be achieved with other Treg receptors. Among them, the major work has been performed with anti-CTLA-4 antagonist mAb. Two fully humanized mAbs developed by

BMS (MDX-100: ipilimumab®/yervov®) and Pfizer/Astrazeneca (CP675206: tremelimumab®) have been tested in clinical trials in cancer patients with various tumor types. Based on mouse studies [111] it is proposed that part of the therapeutic activity of the ipilimumab of IgG1 isotype (ADCC competent) is mediated through the depletion of activated Treg upon cell surface CTLA4 translocation. This has been confirmed in vitro in human melanoma patients [112].

8.3.2.3 Blockade of Treg Function

- TNFR family: Although several members of the TNFR family (OX40, GITR, CD137, etc.) have been targeted to modulate Treg function, it is unclear so far how the Treg function can be blocked without impairing T effector function. Similarly to anti-CTLA-4, ADCC-competent agonist anti-GITR mAbs may induce Treg depletion while inducing activation of T effectors through its agonist activity [113].
- Blockade of Treg suppressive function through TLR agonist stimulation: TLR-2 signaling (PAM₂CSK₄, PAM₃CSK₄, FSL-1) reduced Treg suppressive function in vitro [114] and in vivo in tumors models [115]. Tregmediated suppression can be inhibited in vitro by TLR-8-derived signals [116] and treatment of melanoma patients with CpG (TLR-9 agonist) in vivo results in a reduced frequency of Treg [117].

Conclusion

Our work highlights the importance of Treg/ pDC interaction in the breast and ovarian tumor microenvironment. Treg are recruited through CCR4 and CCL22 produced by tumor cells under inflammatory cytokine secretion following NK and macrophages activation. Recruited TATreg are then expanded by TApDC defective for their capacity to produced type IFN as a result of TGFb exposure and smad2 phosphorylation in the tumor environment. Expanded Treg expressed upregulated level of CD39 that with CD73 expressed on effectors will mediate immune suppression through Ado production. This suppressive pathway may be particularly relevant during chemotherapy treatment leading to tumor cell death and ATP release. This pathway of pDC/ Treg interaction identifies several potential targets to restore anti-tumor immunity: (1) mAbs neutralizing CCL22/CCR4 to block Treg recruitment within the tumor; (2) pDC reactivation for type-I IFN production through TLR-7 ligands; (3) TGF- β neutralization to restore pDC function; and (4) ICOS neutralization though ICOS/ICOSL neutralizing mAbs to block Treg proliferation.

Acknowledgments We wish to thank the staff of the core facilities at the Cancer Research Center of Lyon (CRCL) for their technical assistance and the BRC (Biological Resources Centre) of the CLB for providing human samples. This work was financially supported by the FP7 European TumAdoR project (602200), the SIRIC project (LYRIC, grant no. INCa_4664) and grants from INCa, ANR (ANR11-EMMA-045 VICIT-01), Fondation ARC, Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer and regional committee of the "Ligue Contre le Cancer". This work was performed within the framework of the LABEX DEVweCAN (ANR-10-LABX-0061) of the University of Lyon, within the program "Investissements d'Avenir" (ANR-11-IDEX-0007) organized by the French National Research Agency (ANR).

References

- Reizis B, Bunin A, Ghosh HS, Lewis KL, Sisirak V. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. Annu Rev Immunol. 2011;29:163–83.
- Cao W, Bover L, Cho M, Wen X, Hanabuchi S, Bao M, Rosen DB, Wang YH, Shaw JL, Du Q, et al. Regulation of TLR7/9 responses in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by BST2 and ILT7 receptor interaction. J Exp Med. 2009;206:1603–14.
- Gilliet M, Cao W, Liu YJ. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: sensing nucleic acids in viral infection and autoimmune diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:594–606.
- Tel J, Smits EL, Anguille S, Joshi RN, Figdor CG, de Vries IJ. Human plasmacytoid dendritic cells are equipped with antigen-presenting and tumoricidal capacities. Blood. 2012;120:3936–44.
- Lande R, Gregorio J, Facchinetti V, Chatterjee B, Wang YH, Homey B, Cao W, Wang YH, Su B, Nestle FO, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells sense self-DNA coupled with antimicrobial peptide. Nature. 2007;449:564–9.

- Villadangos JA, Young L. Antigen-presentation properties of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunity. 2008;29:352–61.
- Swiecki M, Colonna M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15:471–85.
- Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, Lee H, Arthur CD, White JM, Kalinke U, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1989–2003.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KC, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, Diamond S, Koebel CM, Arthur C, White JM, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. Nat Immunol. 2005;6:722–9.
- Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, Gajewski TF. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208:2005–16.
- Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:1137–46.
- Woo SR, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. The STING pathway and the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:250–6.
- Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, Li XD, Mauceri H, Beckett M, Darga T, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferon-dependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic Tumors. Immunity. 2014;41:843–52.
- 14. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, Vitale I, Goubar A, Baracco EE, Remedios C, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014;20:1301–9.
- Belardelli F, Ferrantini M, Proietti E, Kirkwood JM. Interferon-alpha in tumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13:119–34.
- Ascierto ML, Kmieciak M, Idowu MO, Manjili R, Zhao Y, Grimes M, Dumur C, Wang E, Ramakrishnan V, Wang XY, et al. A signature of immune function genes associated with recurrence-free survival in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;131:871–80.
- Bald T, Landsberg J, Lopez-Ramos D, Renn M, Glodde N, Jansen P, Gaffal E, Steitz J, Tolba R, Kalinke U, et al. Immune cell-poor melanomas benefit from PD-1 blockade after targeted type I IFN activation. Cancer Discov. 2014;4:674–87.
- 18. Snijders AM, Langley S, Mao JH, Bhatnagar S, Bjornstad KA, Rosen CJ, Lo A, Huang Y, Blakely EA, Karpen GH, et al. An interferon signature identified by RNA-sequencing of mammary tissues varies across the estrous cycle and is predictive of metastasis-free survival. Oncotarget. 2014;5:4011–25.
- Katlinski KV, Gui J, Katlinskaya YV, Ortiz A, Chakraborty R, Bhattacharya S, Carbone CJ, Beiting

DP, Girondo MA, Peck AR, et al. Inactivation of interferon receptor promotes the establishment of immune privileged tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2017;31:194–207.

- Hervas-Stubbs S, Perez-Gracia JL, Rouzaut A, Sanmamed MF, Le BA MI. Direct effects of type I interferons on cells of the immune system. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:2619–27.
- Hiroishi K, Tuting T, Lotze MT. IFN-alphaexpressing tumor cells enhance generation and promote survival of tumor-specific CTLs. J Immunol. 2000;164:567–72.
- Corrales L, SM MW, Dubensky TW Jr, Gajewski TF. The host STING pathway at the interface of cancer and immunity. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:2404–11.
- Coronella JA, Telleman P, Kingsbury GA, Truong TD, Hays S, Junghans RP. Evidence for an antigendriven humoral immune response in medullary ductal breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2001;61:7889–99.
- 24. Di MF BG, Scanlan MJ, Del BD CS, Venturo I, Botti C, Nicotra MR, Mottolese M, Natali PG, et al. Human Mena protein, a serex-defined antigen overexpressed in breast cancer eliciting both humoral and CD8+ T-cell immune response. Int J Cancer. 2004;109:909–18.
- 25. Kokowski K, Harnack U, Dorn DC, Pecher G. Quantification of the CD8+ T cell response against a mucin epitope in patients with breast cancer. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. 2008;56:141–5.
- 26. Sorensen RB, Andersen RS, Svane IM, Engell-Noerregaard L, Hadrup SR, Balslev E, Andersen MH, Straten P. CD8 T-cell responses against cyclin B1 in breast cancer patients with tumors overexpressing p53. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:1543–9.
- 27. von Mensdorff-Pouilly S, Verstraeten AA, Kenemans P, Snijdewint FG, Kok A, van Kamp GJ, Paul MA, Van Diest PJ, Meijer S, Hilgers J. Survival in early breast cancer patients is favorably influenced by a natural humoral immune response to polymorphic epithelial mucin. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:574–83.
- Baker K, Lachapelle J, Zlobec I, Bismar TA, Terracciano L, Foulkes WD. Prognostic significance of CD8+ T lymphocytes in breast cancer depends upon both oestrogen receptor status and histological grade. Histopathology. 2011;58:1107–16.
- Mahmoud SM, Paish EC, Powe DG, Macmillan RD, Grainge MJ, Lee AH, Ellis IO, Green AR. Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:1949–55.
- 30. Liu F, Lang R, Zhao J, Zhang X, Pringle GA, Fan Y, Yin D, Gu F, Yao Z, Fu L. CD8(+) cytotoxic T cell and FOXP3(+) regulatory T cell infiltration in relation to breast cancer survival and molecular sub-types. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130:645–55.
- 31. Faget J, Biota C, Bachelot T, Gobert M, Treilleux I, Goutagny N, Durand I, Leon-Goddard S, Blay JY, Caux C, et al. Early detection of tumor cells by innate immune cells leads to Treg recruitment through CCL22 production by tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2011 71:6143–52

- 32. Treilleux I, Blay JY, Bendriss-Vermare N, Ray-Coquard I, Bachelot T, Guastalla JP, Bremond A, Goddard S, Pin JJ, Barthelemy-Dubois C, et al. Dendritic cell infiltration and prognosis of early stage breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:7466–74.
- 33. Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Bachelot T, Goddard-Leon S, Arfi V, Biota C, Doffin AC, Durand I, Olive D, et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. Cancer Res. 2009;69:2000–9.
- 34. Jensen TO, Schmidt H, Moller HJ, Donskov F, Hoyer M, Sjoegren P, Christensen IJ, Steiniche T. Intratumoral neutrophils and plasmacytoid dendritic cells indicate poor prognosis and are associated with pSTAT3 expression in AJCC stage I/II melanoma. Cancer. 2011;118:2476–85.
- 35. Sisirak V, Faget J, Gobert M, Goutagny N, Vey N, Treilleux I, Renaudineau S, Poyet G, Labidi-Galy SI, Goddard-Leon S, et al. Impaired IFN-alpha production by Plasmacytoid dendritic cells Favors regulatory T-cell expansion that may contribute to breast cancer progression. Cancer Res. 2012;72:5188–97.
- 36. Ghirelli C, Reyal F, Jeanmougin M, Zollinger R, Sirven P, Michea P, Caux C, Bendriss-Vermare N, Donnadieu MH, Caly M, et al. Breast cancer cellderived GM-CSF licenses regulatory Th2 induction by Plasmacytoid Predendritic cells in aggressive disease subtypes. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2775–87.
- 37. Verronese E, Delgado A, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Garin G, Guillemaut S, Tredan O, Ray-Coquard I, Bachelot T, N'Kodia A, Bardin-Dit-Courageot C, et al. Immune cell dysfunctions in breast cancer patients detected through whole blood multiparametric flow cytometry assay. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1100791.
- 38. Labidi-Galy SI, Sisirak V, Meeus P, Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bajard A, Combes JD, Faget J, Mithieux F, Cassignol A, et al. Quantitative and functional alterations of plasmacytoid dendritic cells contribute to immune tolerance in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5423–34.
- 39. Labidi-Galy SI, Treilleux I, Goddard-Leon S, Combes JD, Blay JY, Ray-Coquard I, Caux C, Bendriss-Vermare N. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrating ovarian cancer are associated with poor prognosis. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:380–2.
- Honda K, Ohba Y, Yanai H, Negishi H, Mizutani T, Takaoka A, Taya C, Taniguchi T. Spatiotemporal regulation of MyD88-IRF-7 signalling for robust type-I interferon induction. Nature. 2005;434:1035–40.
- 41. O'Keeffe M, Grumont RJ, Hochrein H, Fuchsberger M, Gugasyan R, Vremec D, Shortman K, Gerondakis S. Distinct roles for the NF-kappaB1 and c-Rel transcription factors in the differentiation and survival of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cells activated by TLR-9 signals. Blood. 2005;106:3457–64.
- Sisirak V, Vey N, Goutagny N, Renaudineau S, Malfroy M, Thys S, Treilleux I, Labidi-Galy SI,

Bachelot T, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, et al. Breast cancer-derived transforming growth factor-beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha compromise interferonalpha production by tumor-associated plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Int J Cancer. 2013;133:771–8.

- 43. Defays A, David A, De GA, De Angelis RF, Wenger T, Camossetto V, Brousset P, Petrella T, Dalod M, Gatti E, et al. BAD-LAMP is a novel biomarker of nonactivated human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Blood. 2011;118:609–17.
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:836–48.
- Hirsch I, Caux C, Hasan U, Bendriss-Vermare N, Olive D. Impaired toll-like receptor 7 and 9 signaling: from chronic viral infections to cancer. Trends Immunol. 2010;31:391–7.
- 46. Perrot I, Blanchard D, Freymond N, Isaac S, Guibert B, Pacheco Y, Lebecque S. Dendritic cells infiltrating human non-small cell lung cancer are blocked at immature stage. J Immunol. 2007;178:2763–9.
- 47. Hartmann E, Wollenberg B, Rothenfusser S, Wagner M, Wellisch D, Mack B, Giese T, Gires O, Endres S, Hartmann G. Identification and functional analysis of tumor-infiltrating plasmacytoid dendritic cells in head and neck cancer. Cancer Res. 2003;63:6478–87.
- 48. Mohty M, Jourdan E, Mami NB, Vey N, Damaj G, Blaise D, Isnardon D, Olive D, Gaugler B. Imatinib and plasmacytoid dendritic cell function in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2004;103:4666–8.
- Menetrier-Caux C, Gobert M, Caux C. Differences in tumor regulatory T-cell localization and activation status impact patient outcome. Cancer Res. 2009;69:7895–8.
- 50. Benevides L, Cardoso CR, Tiezzi DG, Marana HR, Andrade JM, Silva JS. Enrichment of regulatory T cells in invasive breast tumor correlates with the upregulation of IL-17A expression and invasiveness of the tumor. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43:1518–28.
- Demir L, Yigit S, Ellidokuz H, Erten C, Somali I, Kucukzeybek Y, Alacacioglu A, Cokmert S, Can A, Akyol M, et al. Predictive and prognostic factors in locally advanced breast cancer: effect of intratumoral FOXP3+ Tregs. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2013;30:1047–62.
- 52. Bates GJ, Fox SB, Han C, Leek RD, Garcia JF, Harris AL, Banham AH. Quantification of regulatory T cells enables the identification of high-risk breast cancer patients and those at risk of late relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:5373–80.
- Mantovani A, Sica A. Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, diversity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22:231–7.
- 54. Tredan O, Manuel M, Clapisson G, Bachelot T, Chabaud S, Bardin-Dit-Courageot C, Rigal C, Biota C, Bajard A, Pasqual N, et al. Patients with metastatic breast cancer leading to CD4(+) T cell lymphopaenia have poor outcome. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:1673–82.

- Izcue A, Coombes JL, Powrie F. Regulatory lymphocytes and intestinal inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:313–38.
- Ralainirina N, Poli A, Michel T, Poos L, Andres E, Hentges F, Zimmer J. Control of NK cell functions by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2007;81:144–53.
- Huang X, Stone DK, Yu F, Zeng Y, Gendelman HE. Functional proteomic analysis for regulatory T cell surveillance of the HIV-1-infected macrophage. J Proteome Res. 2010;9:6759–73.
- Caux C, Ramos RN, Prendergast GC, Bendriss-Vermare N, Menetrier-Caux C. A milestone review on how macrophages affect tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2016;76:6439–42.
- 59. Pere H, Montier Y, Bayry J, Quintin-Colonna F, Merillon N, Dransart E, Badoual C, Gey A, Ravel P, Marcheteau E, et al. A CCR4 antagonist combined with vaccines induces antigen-specific CD8+ T cells and tumor immunity against self antigens. Blood. 2011;118:4853–62.
- 60. Strauss L, Bergmann C, Szczepanski MJ, Lang S, Kirkwood JM, Whiteside TL. Expression of ICOS on human melanoma-infiltrating CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T regulatory cells: implications and impact on tumor-mediated immune suppression. J Immunol. 2008;180:2967–80.
- 61. Conrad C, Gregorio J, Wang YH, Ito T, Meller S, Hanabuchi S, Anderson S, Atkinson N, Ramirez PT, Liu YJ, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells promote immunosuppression in ovarian cancer via ICOS costimulation of Foxp3(+) T-regulatory cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72:5240–9.
- 62. Faget J, Bendriss-Vermare N, Gobert M, Durand I, Olive D, Biota C, Bachelot T, Treilleux I, Goddard-Leon S, Lavergne E, et al. ICOS-ligand expression on plasmacytoid dendritic cells supports breast cancer progression by promoting the accumulation of immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2012;72:6130–41.
- 63. Le Mercier I, Goutagny N, Poujol D, Sisirak V, Gobert M, Durand I, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Marvel J, Blay JY et al Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrating mouse mammary tumors display abrogated TLR9 but conserved TLR7 responses. 2012. Cancer Res. 2013;73:4629–40.
- 64. Chauhan D, Singh AV, Brahmandam M, Carrasco R, Bandi M, Hideshima T, Bianchi G, Podar K, Tai YT, Mitsiades C, et al. Functional interaction of plasmacytoid dendritic cells with multiple myeloma cells: a therapeutic target. Cancer Cell. 2009;16:309–23.
- 65. Sawant A, Hensel JA, Chanda D, Harris BA, Siegal GP, Maheshwari A, Ponnazhagan S. Depletion of plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibits tumor growth and prevents bone metastasis of breast cancer cells. J Immunol. 2012;189:4258–65.
- 66. Ito T, Hanabuchi S, Wang YH, Park WR, Arima K, Bover L, Qin FX, Gilliet M, Liu YJ. Two functional subsets of FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells in human thymus and periphery. Immunity. 2008;28:870–80.

- 67. Ito T, Yang M, Wang YH, Lande R, Gregorio J, Perng OA, Qin XF, Liu YJ, Gilliet M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells prime IL-10-producing T regulatory cells by inducible costimulator ligand. J Exp Med. 2007;204:105–15.
- 68. Ogata M, Ito T, Shimamoto K, Nakanishi T, Satsutani N, Miyamoto R, Nomura S. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells have a cytokine-producing capacity to enhance ICOS ligand-mediated IL-10 production during T-cell priming. Int Immunol. 2013;25:171–82.
- 69. Le KS TML, Just-Landi S, Pastor S, Gondois-Rey F, Granjeaud S, Broussais F, Bouabdallah R, Colisson R, Caux C, et al. Follicular B lymphomas generate regulatory T cells via the ICOS/ICOSL pathway and are susceptible to treatment by anti-ICOS/ICOSL therapy. Cancer Res. 2016;76:4648–60.
- Grimbacher B, Hutloff A, Schlesier M, Glocker E, Warnatz K, Drager R, Eibel H, Fischer B, Schaffer AA, Mages HW, et al. Homozygous loss of ICOS is associated with adult-onset common variable immunodeficiency. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:261–8.
- Fu T, He Q, Sharma P. The ICOS/ICOSL pathway is required for optimal antitumor responses mediated by anti-CTLA-4 therapy. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5445–54.
- Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Barchet W, Colonna M, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. Immunity. 2004;21:589–601.
- 73. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, Ley TJ. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cellmediated suppression of tumor clearance. Immunity. 2007;27:635–46.
- 74. Gondek DC, Lu LF, Quezada SA, Sakaguchi S, Noelle RJ. Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism. J Immunol. 2005;174:1783–6.
- Robson SC, Sevigny J, Zimmermann H. The E-NTPDase family of ectonucleotidases: structure function relationships and pathophysiological significance. Purinergic Signal. 2006;2:409–30.
- Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Extracellular adenosine triphosphate and adenosine in cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29:5346–58.
- 77. Le MO SP, Schandene L, Marchant A, De GD, Goldman M, Deviere J. Adenosine enhances IL-10 secretion by human monocytes. J Immunol. 1996;156:4408–14.
- Priebe T, Platsoucas CD, Nelson JA. Adenosine receptors and modulation of natural killer cell activity by purine nucleosides. Cancer Res. 1990;50:4328–31.
- Nowak M, Lynch L, Yue S, Ohta A, Sitkovsky M, Balk SP, Exley MA. The A2aR adenosine receptor controls cytokine production in iNKT cells. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:682–7.
- Minguet S, Huber M, Rosenkranz L, Schamel WW, Reth M, Brummer T. Adenosine and cAMP are potent inhibitors of the NF-kappa B pathway

downstream of immunoreceptors. Eur J Immunol. 2005;35:31–41.

- 81. Ohta A, Gorelik E, Prasad SJ, Ronchese F, Lukashev D, Wong MK, Huang X, Caldwell S, Liu K, Smith P, et al. A2A adenosine receptor protects tumors from antitumor T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:13132–7.
- 82. Deaglio S, Dwyer KM, Gao W, Friedman D, Usheva A, Erat A, Chen JF, Enjyoji K, Linden J, Oukka M, et al. Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1257–65.
- Ring S, Oliver SJ, Cronstein BN, Enk AH, Mahnke K. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress contact hypersensitivity reactions through a CD39, adenosine-dependent mechanism. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009;123:1287–96.
- 84. Stagg J, Divisekera U, Duret H, Sparwasser T, Teng MW, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. CD73-deficient mice have increased antitumor immunity and are resistant to experimental metastasis. Cancer Res. 2011;71:2892–900.
- Wang L, Fan J, Thompson LF, Zhang Y, Shin T, Curiel TJ, Zhang B. CD73 has distinct roles in nonhematopoietic and hematopoietic cells to promote tumor growth in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:2371–82.
- 86. Kobie JJ, Shah PR, Yang L, Rebhahn JA, Fowell DJ, Mosmann TR. T regulatory and primed uncommitted CD4 T cells express CD73, which suppresses effector CD4 T cells by converting 5'-adenosine monophosphate to adenosine. J Immunol. 2006;177:6780–6.
- 87. Misra N, Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Cutting edge: human CD4+CD25+ T cells restrain the maturation and antigenpresenting function of dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2004;172:4676–80.
- Serra P, Amrani A, Yamanouchi J, Han B, Thiessen S, Utsugi T, Verdaguer J, Santamaria P. CD40 ligation releases immature dendritic cells from the control of regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells. Immunity. 2003;19:877–89.
- 89. Liang B, Workman C, Lee J, Chew C, Dale BM, Colonna L, Flores M, Li N, Schweighoffer E, Greenberg S, et al. Regulatory T cells inhibit dendritic cells by lymphocyte activation gene-3 engagement of MHC class II. J Immunol. 2008;180:5916–26.
- Stary G, Bangert C, Tauber M, Strohal R, Kopp T, Stingl G. Tumoricidal activity of TLR7/8-activated inflammatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1441–51.
- Drobits B, Holcmann M, Amberg N, Swiecki M, Grundtner R, Hammer M, Colonna M, Sibilia M. Imiquimod clears tumors in mice independent of adaptive immunity by converting pDCs into tumorkilling effector cells. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:575–85.
- Goutagny N, Estornes Y, Hasan U, Lebecque S, Caux C. Targeting pattern recognition receptors in cancer immunotherapy. Target Oncol. 2012;7:29–54.
- Li L, Liu S, Zhang T, Pan W, Yang X, Cao X. Splenic stromal microenvironment negatively regulates

virus-activated plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TGF-{beta}. J Immunol. 2008;180:2951–6.

- Hennessy EJ, Parker AE, O'Neill LA. Targeting tolllike receptors: emerging therapeutics? Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010;9:293–307.
- Kelly RJ, Morris JC. Transforming growth factorbeta: a target for cancer therapy. J Immunotoxicol. 2010;7:15–26.
- Crotty S. T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, roles in disease. Immunity. 2014;41:529–42.
- Vinuesa CG, Linterman MA, Goodnow CC, Randall KL. T cells and follicular dendritic cells in germinal center B-cell formation and selection. Immunol Rev. 2010;237:72–89.
- 98. Jin D, Fan J, Wang L, Thompson LF, Liu A, Daniel BJ, Shin T, Curiel TJ, Zhang B. CD73 on tumor cells impairs antitumor T-cell responses: a novel mechanism of tumor-induced immune suppression. Cancer Res. 2010;70:2245–55.
- Zhang B. CD73 promotes tumor growth and metastasis. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:67–70.
- 100. Thompson LF, Eltzschig HK, Ibla JC, Van De Wiele CJ, Resta R, Morote-Garcia JC, Colgan SP. Crucial role for ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) in vascular leakage during hypoxia. J Exp Med. 2004;200:1395–405.
- 101. Geoghegan JC, Diedrich G, Lu X, Rosenthal K, Sachsenmeier KF, Wu H, Dall'Acqua WF, Damschroder MM. Inhibition of CD73 AMP hydrolysis by a therapeutic antibody with a dual, non-competitive mechanism of action. MAbs. 2016;8:454–67.
- 102. Hay CM, Sult E, Huang Q, Mulgrew K, Fuhrmann SR, KA MG, Hammond SA, Rothstein R, Rios-Doria J, Poon E, et al. Targeting CD73 in the tumor microenvironment with MEDI9447. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1208875.
- 103. Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, Evdemon-Hogan M, Conejo-Garcia JR, Zhang L, Burow M, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10:942–9.
- 104. Bayry J, Tchilian EZ, Davies MN, Forbes EK, Draper SJ, Kaveri SV, Hill AV, Kazatchkine MD, Beverley PC, Flower DR, et al. In silico identified CCR4 antagonists target regulatory T cells and exert adjuvant activity in vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:10221–6.
- 105. Kurose K, Ohue Y, Wada H, Iida S, Ishida T, Kojima T, Doi T, Suzuki S, Isobe M, Funakoshi T, et al. Phase Ia study of FoxP3+ CD4 Treg depletion by infusion of a humanized anti-CCR4 antibody, KW-0761, in cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:4327–36.
- 106. Yamamoto K, Utsunomiya A, Tobinai K, Tsukasaki K, Uike N, Uozumi K, Yamaguchi K, Yamada Y, Hanada S, Tamura K, et al. Phase I study of KW-0761, a defucosylated humanized anti-CCR4 antibody, in relapsed patients with adult T-cell

leukemia-lymphoma and peripheral T-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1591–8.

- 107. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, Solary E, Le CA ZL, Chauffert B. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:641–8.
- 108. van der Most RG, Currie AJ, Mahendran S, Prosser A, Darabi A, Robinson BW, Nowak AK, Lake RA. Tumor eradication after cyclophosphamide depends on concurrent depletion of regulatory T cells: a role for cycling TNFR2-expressing effectorsuppressor T cells in limiting effective chemotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58:1219–28.
- 109. Zhang L, Dermawan K, Jin M, Liu R, Zheng H, Xu L, Zhang Y, Cai Y, Chu Y, Xiong S. Differential impairment of regulatory T cells rather than effector T cells by paclitaxel-based chemotherapy. Clin Immunol. 2008;129:219–29.
- 110. Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakaguchi S. Induction of tumor immunity by removing CD25+CD4+ T cells: a common basis between tumor immunity and autoimmunity. J Immunol. 1999;163:5211–8.
- 111. Selby MJ, Engelhardt JJ, Quigley M, Henning KA, Chen T, Srinivasan M, Korman AJ. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:32–42.
- 112. Romano E, Kusio-Kobialka M, Foukas PG, Baumgaertner P, Meyer C, Ballabeni P, Michielin O, Weide B, Romero P, Speiser DE. Ipilimumabdependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity of regulatory T cells ex vivo by nonclassical monocytes in melanoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:6140–5.
- 113. Mahne AE, Mauze S, Joyce-Shaikh B, Xia J, Bowman EP, Beebe AM, Cua DJ, Jain R. Dual roles for regulatory T-cell depletion and costimulatory Signaling in agonistic GITR targeting for tumor immunotherapy. Cancer Res. 2017;77:1108–18.
- 114. Oberg HH, Juricke M, Kabelitz D, Wesch D. Regulation of T cell activation by TLR ligands. Eur J Cell Biol. 2011;90:582–92.
- 115. Zhang Y, Luo F, Cai Y, Liu N, Wang L, Xu D, Chu Y. TLR1/TLR2 agonist induces tumor regression by reciprocal modulation of effector and regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2011;186:1963–9.
- 116. Peng G, Guo Z, Kiniwa Y, Voo KS, Peng W, Fu T, Wang DY, Li Y, Wang HY, Wang RF. Toll-like receptor 8-mediated reversal of CD4+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2005;309:1380–4.
- 117. Molenkamp BG, van Leeuwen PA, Meijer S, Sluijter BJ, Wijnands PG, Baars A, van den Eertwegh AJ, Scheper RJ, de Gruijl TD. Intradermal CpG-B activates both plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells in the sentinel lymph node of melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:2961–9.

Cancer Immunosurveillance by Natural Killer Cells and Other Innate Lymphoid Cells

9

Camille Guillerey and Mark J. Smyth

Contents

9.1	Introduction	163
9.2	Surface Receptors Involved in Tumor Recognition by ILCs	165
9.3	Cytokines and Soluble Factors that Activate ILCs	169
9.4	Direct Clearance of Cancer Cells by ILCs	170
9.5	Cross-Talk between ILCs and Other Immune Cells Resulting in Anti-Cancer Immunity	172
Conclusions		172
References		175

C. Guillerey • M.J. Smyth (🖂)

Immunology of Cancer and Infection Laboratory, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Herston, QLD, Australia

School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Herston, QLD, Australia e-mail: mark.smyth@qimrberghofer.edu.au

9.1 Introduction

T cells screen the body for antigens presented on Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) molecules and have gained a central position in cancer immunotherapy for their ability to mount a response specifically directed against the tumor [1]. Indeed, tumor-infiltrating cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and Th1-polarized CD4+ T cells are usually associated with better prognosis [2]. However, conventional T cells are not the sole mediators of anti-cancer immunity. Several immune cells are able to detect the earliest signs of malignant transformation despite their lack of receptors specific for antigenic peptides. Innate immune cells provide immediate protection and are therefore likely to play a crucial role in the early stages of tumorigenesis [3, 4]. Innate immune surveillance of cancers involves myeloid cells such as macrophages [5] and neutrophils [6], unconventional T cells bearing invariant or semi-invariant T cell receptors (TCR) such as Natural Killer T (NKT) cells [7] and $\gamma\delta$ T cells [8], and a growing family of lymphocytes called innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) [9].

Innate lymphoid cells are characterized by a lymphoid morphology, the lack of RAGrearranged antigen-specific receptors, and the absence of surface markers of the dendritic or myeloid lineages [10]. ILCs constitute a heterogeneous population of cells that share a common origin [11]. They have been divided between killer and helper-like ILCs [12] (Fig. 9.1). Natural



Fig. 9.1 The ILC family members and their putative role in cancer. The ILC family comprises killer bloodcirculating ILCs and helper-like tissue-resident ILCs. ILCs are further divided into three groups according their signature cytokines and their transcription factor requirement. The main characteristics of the three classes of ILCs are represented here, as well as their anti-tumor activity.

Killer (NK) cells are the best-known cytotoxic members of the ILC family. These killer ILCs may be seen as the innate equivalents of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, housing similar cytotoxic granules and contents, whereas helper-like ILCs mirror the activity of CD4+ helper T cells. Moreover, ILCs have been split into 3 categories based on their cytokine expression profiles and their specific transcription factor requirement. Group 1 ILCs are defined by their ability to produce IFN γ and depend on the Th1 cell-associated transcription factor T-bet. This group encompasses NK cells and helper-like type 1 ILCs (ILC1s). NK cells and ILC1s are developmentally distinct [15]. However, these two innate cell populations are not always easy to discriminate because they share many phenotypic markers [16]. Importantly, expression of the transcription factor Eomes is considered a hallmark of NK cells that distinguishes them from other group 1 ILCs [17], with the exception of salivary gland ILC1s [18]. Group 2 ILCs rely on the transcription factors

Question marks (?) indicate possible roles that have not been demonstrated yet. Direct killing of tumor cells is well established for NK cells but only few studies have described ILC1-mediated cytotoxicity through the lytic granule pathway [13] or through TRAIL in the case of liver ILC1s [14]. Of note, only the protective roles of ILCs against tumors are depicted here

GATA3 and ROR α for their development and function and produce type 2 cytokines, mainly IL-5 and IL-13. Finally, group 3 ILCs are defined by their ability to produce IL-17 and/or IL-22 and their dependency on the transcription factor ROR γ t for their development and function.

NK cells constitute the first ILC subset to be discovered and were initially identified for their spontaneous cytotoxic activity [19]. NK cells are often characterized as CD3 negative cells expressing CD56 in humans, NK1.1 in mice, and NKp46 in both species [20]. Of note, such phenotypic definition may include other ILC subsets. Moreover, NK cells are not a homogeneous population and can be divided into different subtypes [21]. In humans, the two main NK cell subsets are CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ NK cells which are important cytokine producers and are abundant in lymph nodes, and CD56dimCD16+ NK cells which represent the main NK cell population in the blood and are highly cytotoxic [22]. NK cell-depleting antibodies as well as mouse models displaying NK

Model	Characteristics	References
Anti-NK1.1 Abs	These Abs deplete NK cells and NKT cells in C57BL/6 mice but do not deplete NK cells in mouse strains that do not express NK1.1 such as BALB/c mice	[23]
Anti-AsialoGM1 Abs	These Abs deplete NK cells but not NKT cells. Anti-AsialoGM1 Abs may affect other cell populations and have been found to deplete basophils	[24]
Beige mice	Beige mice have a defect in granulation and exhibit severe NK cell deficiency but also display defects in other granulocytes, cytotoxic T cell responses, and antibody responses	[25]
$Rag^{-/-}\gamma_c^{-/-}$ mice	Compared with Rag ^{-/-} mice that lack T and B lymphocytes, Rag ^{-/-} $\gamma_c^{-/-}$ mice lack both innate and adaptive lymphocytes. Indeed, Rag ^{-/-} $\gamma_c^{-/-}$ mice lack the common gamma chain (γ_c or <i>Il2rg</i>) that is required for IL-7 and IL-15 signaling and thus essential for ILC development	[26]
NKDTR/EGFP transgenic mice	These mice express the diphtheria toxin receptors under the NKp46 promoter. Diphtheria toxin injection in these mice leads to NK cell depletion and may also deplete other NKp46 ⁺ ILCs	[20]
Mcl1 ^{fl/fl} Ncr1-Cre mice	These mice lack NK cells and other NKp46+ ILCs	[27]
Ncr1 ^{greenCre} Il2rg ^{fl/fl}	These mice lack all NKp46 ⁺ ILCs	[28]

 Table 9.1
 Mouse models and depleting antibodies used to investigate NK cell functions

cell deficiencies have been fundamental for the demonstration of NK cell anti-cancer activity (Table 9.1). NK cells harbor many surface receptors allowing them to distinguish malignant-transformed cells from healthy cells. Moreover, NK cells are endowed with potent cytotoxic functions and are a major source of the anti-tumor cytokine, IFN- γ . These characteristics make NK cells key protagonists of innate immunosurveillance of cancers [29]. In neat opposition to the numerous reports on NK cells in cancer, the possible pro- or anti-tumor functions of helper-like ILCs remain largely unexplored [30]. Nonetheless, recent work suggested an involvement of tissue-resident type 1-like ILCs in the immune surveillance of spontaneous tumors [13]. Furthermore, various reports described tumor-suppressive activities of ILC2s [31, 32] and ILC3s [33, 34].

In this chapter, we will review the different mechanisms by which ILCs detect malignant cells and prevent cancer development. Most of our current knowledge is restricted to NK cells which constitute the prototypical anti-cancer ILC subset. Therefore, we will predominantly focus on NK cells while introducing emerging data on helper-like ILCs. It should be noted that both proand anti-tumor activities of helper-like ILCs have been described [35] but herein we will only discuss their potential host protective functions.

9.2 Surface Receptors Involved in Tumor Recognition by ILCs

Innate cells express a fixed set of germlineencoded receptors that allow the recognition of foreign, aged and damaged cells [36]. Activating and inhibitory surface receptors are crucial for the regulation of NK cell functions and some of these receptors are also expressed on helper-like ILCs subsets (Fig. 9.2). Furthermore, interactions with accessory cells, generally monocytes or dendritic cells (DCs), also stimulate NK cells to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and potentiate their killing functions [37]. Historically, NK cells were described for their ability to kill tumor cells having down-regulated MHC class I molecules (MHC-I), a concept termed "missing-self" recognition [38]. Most cell types express selfpeptide-MHC-I complexes on their surface but partial or complete loss of MHC-I expression is a common feature of cancer cells [39]. This phenomenon is often caused by CD8+ T cellmediated immune pressure and renders tumor cells susceptible to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Conversely, MHC-I molecules expressed at the surface of healthy autologous cells bind to inhibitory NK cell receptors and deliver negative signals thereby avoiding NK cell autoreactivity.



Fig. 9.2 Cell surface receptors involved in tumor cell recognition by ILCs. NK cells express an array of activating (*green*) or inhibitory (*red*) cell surface receptors. Some receptors are only expressed on activated NK cells (*underline*). The outcome of NK cell interactions with a target cell is determined by the balance between activating and inhibitory signals. Healthy cells express MHC-I molecules that engage NK cell inhibitory receptors whereas cancer cells down-regulate MHC-I molecules and/or

express stress ligands recognized by NK cell activating receptors. An excess of activating signals over inhibitory signals leads to NK cell activation and the cytotoxicity of the target cell. Helper-like ILCs also express receptors that may regulate the sensing of tumor cells and some of these receptors have been found to regulate cytokine production by helper-like ILCs. DNAM-1 and PD-1 have recently been observed on mouse ILCs but their expression on human ILCs has not been investigated yet

Besides the "missing-self" recognition, the detection of stress-induced self-ligands expressed at the surface of damaged cells also promotes NK cell killing capacities. In fact, the outcome of NK cell interaction with a target cell is determined by the balance between inhibitory signals transmitted by NK cell receptor binding to self MHC-I and activating signals transmitted upon recognition of stress ligands at the surface of the target cell [40]. Activating NK cell receptors involved in the immunosurveillance of cancers include the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), NKG2D (also known as CD314 and KLRK1) and DNAM-1 (also known as CD226) [36]. Other receptors such as the low-affinity activating receptor Fc γ RIIIa (CD16) or the co-stimulatory molecules CD137, OX40, and GITR are promising clinical targets for their ability to mediate potent NK cell activation [41]. Nonetheless, these receptors have not been reported to play any role in the early detection of nascent tumor and therefore will not be discussed here.

There are three members of the NCR family: NKp46 (NCR1; CD335) is expressed in both mice and humans, whereas NKp44 (NCR2, CD336) and NKp30 (NCR3; CD337) are restricted to human NK cells [42]. Unlike NKp46 and NKp30, NKp44 is not detected on resting NK cells but is up-regulated after activation. NCR engagement triggers NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and secretion of IFN γ [36]. Importantly, NCR expression is not restricted to NK cells and is shared with helper ILC1s [16], a subset of human ILC2s [43] as well as a subset of ILC3s named NCR⁺ ILC3s [10]. Engagement of NKp44 by tumor cells and tumor-associated fibroblast stimulates NCR+ ILC3 to release IL-8 and TNF [33]. Similarly, NKp30-mediated recognition of human tumor cell lines induces the NF- κ B signaling pathway in ILC2s, leading to the production of IL-13 and other type 2 cytokines [43]. Whether NCRs also govern helperlike ILC1 recognition of malignant cells is yet to be demonstrated. NCR ligands on tumor cells have only been partially defined and those reported include NKp44L, HLA-B associated transcript 3 (BAT3), B7-H6, heparan sulfates, and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) [42]. Curiously, PCNA differs from other NCR ligands as it does not stimulate but rather inhibits NK cell functions [44]. Interestingly, NCR genes encode different splice variants, some of them being immunosuppressive. A recent report suggested that the cytokine-defined microenvironment may influence NKp30 and NKp44 isoform expression profile in NK cells and that alternative splicing gives rise to inhibitory isoforms that dampen NK cell functions [45]. Furthermore, in gastrointestinal stromal tumors, predominant expression of the immunosuppressive NKp30c isoform over the immunostimulatory NKp30a and NKp30b isoforms is associated with reduced survival [46]. Remarkably, mice lacking NKp46 have been useful to define NKp46 involvement in the control of initial tumor growth [47] and the prevention of tumor metastasis [48] in vivo. Unfortunately, in vivo investigation of the other NCRs in tumor immunosurveillance is limited by the lack of mouse orthologs for NKp30 and NKp44.

NKG2D is a major NK cell activating receptor also expressed by some T cell subsets [36]. NKG2D recognizes several MHC-related ligands that are poorly expressed at the surface of healthy cells but are frequently up-regulated with the process of malignant transformation [49]. For instance, in non-transformed mouse or human cells, activation of the DNA-damage response

induces the up-regulation of NKG2D ligands and enhances cellular sensitivity to NK cell killing [50]. NKG2D ligands are RAE-1 α - ϵ , MULT1 and H60a-c in mice; and MICA-B and ULBP1-6 in humans. NKG2D engagement stimulates signaling cascades leading to cell activation, killing, and cytokine production. A pioneer study demonstrated that mouse tumor cell lines engineered to express high levels of NKG2D ligands and injected subcutaneously into syngeneic mice are rapidly rejected by conventional NK cells without a requirement for T and B cells [51]. Notably, the pivotal role of NKG2D in tumor immunosurveillance has been evidenced in mouse models of de novo tumorigenesis [52] and carcinogenesis [53]. In a model where expression of the Epstein-Barr virus transforming protein LPM1 in mouse B cells led to the development of B cell lymphomas, the arising lymphoma cells expressed ligands for NKG2D and were killed in vitro by NK cells [54]. However, in this model, T cells were the major effectors of immunosurveillance. It is possible that arising lymphomas may have developed escape mechanisms to circumvent NK cell antitumor activity in vivo. In fact, tumor progression is usually associated with an immunoediting process resulting in the emergence of malignant clones that are resistant to NK cell activity [55]. This has been illustrated in multiple myeloma where the transition from a pre-malignant to a malignant stage of the disease is associated with shedding of MICA from the surface of the tumor cells [56]. In addition to reducing NKG2D ligand surface density on tumor cells, this shedding process generates soluble ligands that down-regulate NKG2D expression on immune cells and promote tumor immune evasion [57]. Actually, chronic exposure to low-affinity surface-attached NKG2D ligands also leads to NK cell desensitization to both NKG2D-dependent and -independent pathways [58]. Surprisingly, instead of blocking tumor cell recognition, shedding of the high affinity NKG2D ligand MULT1 promotes tumor rejection by boosting NK cell effector functions [59]. It was suggested that MULT1 prevents immunosuppressive interaction with lowaffinity ligands such as RAE-1 expressed in the

tumor microenvironment and restores NK cell responsiveness.

DNAM-1 is an adhesion molecule expressed on NK cells and T cells that associates with the integrin LFA-1 and participates to the stabilization of the cytolytic synapse [60]. DNAM-1 recognizes a the family of nectin and nectin-like molecules initially identified for their role in cellcell adhesion [61]. Nectin and nectin-like molecules have been involved in a wide range of biological processes and they notably regulate the immune functions of T cells, NK cells, and antigen presenting cells. In addition to enhancing NK cell adhesion and cytotoxicity, DNAM-1 promotes the secretion of IFN-y. Moreover, DNAM-1 expression distinguishes two functional NK cell subsets in mouse [62]. Compared with DNAM-1⁻ NK cells, DNAM-1⁺ NK cells have enhanced IL-15 signaling and produce higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Intriguingly, DNAM-1 is expressed at high levels on mouse liver ILC1s [17] and is also detected on early ILC precursors as well as ILC2 progenitors in the mouse bone marrow [63]. Still, the putative role of DNAM-1 in the regulation of helper-like ILC function remains to be investigated. DNAM-1 ligands, CD155 (also known as PVR) and CD112 (also known as nectin-2, PRR2, or PVRL2) are often over-expressed by solid and hematological malignancies [60]. Similarly to what has been described for NKG2D ligands, DNA-damage resulting from replication stress seems responsible for tumor cell expression of the DNAM-1 ligand CD155, and this pathway is dependent on ATM, an enzyme that senses double strand DNA breaks [64]. An interesting study performed in the Eµ-Myc mouse lymphoma model established that the DNA-damage response induces CD155 expression on early stage transformed B cells and thereby leads to spontaneous tumor regression that is partially DNAM-1-dependent [65]. Further strong evidence of DNAM-1 contribution to immunosurveillance comes from the observation of enhanced development of carcinogen-induced fibrosarcomas [66] as well as accelerated growth of spontaneous and transplantable tumors in DNAM-1-deficient mice [67, 68].

The variety of activating receptors expressed by NK cells is complemented by numerous inhibitory receptors that prevent the killing of healthy tissue. Receptors binding to self-MHC-I are responsible for the "missing-self" recognition. NK cell receptors of the KIR family in humans and of the Ly49 family in mice directly recognize MHC-Ia molecules [36]. Moreover, the CD94/NKG2A heterodimeric receptor is expressed in both species and binds to a peptide presented by the non-classical MHC molecule HLA-E in humans and Qa-1 in mice. Successful engagement of MHC-I by these receptors transmits an inhibitory signal that disrupts activating pathways. For instance, engagement of the inhibitory receptor KIR2DL2 blocks activating receptor clustering and induces actin remodeling and concomitant retraction from the target cell [69]. The importance of the missing-self recognition in NK cell-mediated immunosurveillance has been highlighted by the report of accelerated onset of carcinogen-induced sarcomas and spontaneous B cell lymphomas in mice expressing reduced levels of Ly49 inhibitory receptors [70]. So far, NK cells are considered the sole ILC subset mediator of the "missing-self" recognition. Notwithstanding, Ly49 receptors have been detected on the surface of other ILCs subsets [13, 16] but their function needs to be assessed.

Additional receptors may regulate ILC functions in the tumor microenvironment. The immune checkpoint molecules CTLA-4 and PD-1 have been found to hinder NK cell activity and constitute important clinical targets [41] but little is known about their role in innate immunosurveillance of cancer. Interestingly, mouse precursors for helper-like ILCs have been characterized by high expression levels of PD-1 [63]. Furthermore, few mature ILCs express PD-1, but they up-regulate this immune checkpoint molecule upon activation [71]. More investigation would be required to assess the role of PD-1 on ILCs within tumors. Besides, two receptors interacting with the nectin and nectin-like molecule family, TIGIT and CD96 (also known as TACTILE), have recently gained clinical interest for their potent inhibition of NK cell- and T cell-functions [72]. TIGIT and CD96 bind to CD155 and counterbalance DNAM-1-mediated

activation of NK cells [60]. TIGIT inhibits mouse and human NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity [73, 74] and CD96 was shown to reduce mouse NK cell production of IFN- γ [75]. CD96-deficient mice display robust resistance to experimental lung metastasis and carcinogenesis [75], but the role of TIGIT in NK cell-mediated surveillance of cancers remains to be established.

9.3 Cytokines and Soluble Factors that Activate ILCs

Besides cell-to-cell interactions, ILCs integrate multiple signals provided by soluble mediators such as cytokines, alarmins, lipids, or hormones produced by epithelial, stromal, or myeloid cells [76]

(Fig. 9.3). Tumor growth is likely to disturb the homeostasis of the surrounding tissue, leading to the release of cytokines and danger signals that might shape ILC-mediated immunosurveillance. Both NK cells and helper-like ILC1s are responsive to IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18, while ILC2s mainly respond to IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP; and ILC3s are activated by IL-23 and IL-1β. There is little direct evidence of the role of physiologically secreted cytokines on ILCs in cancer and most studies have rather investigated the effect of exogenous cytokine administration or used genetically manipulated tumors or mice. For example, a report described the resistance of transgenic mice over-expressing IL-15 to subcutaneously injected B16 melanoma cells lacking MHC-I [77]. In this study, the anti-tumor activity was maintained in the absence of CD4+ or



Fig. 9.3 Cytokines and membrane-bound ligands contribute to ILC activation. Cytokines such as IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 produced by DCs and macrophages prime NK cells increase their capacities upon engagement of activating receptors. IL-12 and IL-18 also stimulate IFN-γ

production by ILC1s. ILC2s respond to IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP. In addition, human ILC2s are activated upon NKp30 engagement, while human ILC3s respond to NKp44 stimulation. Moreover, ILC3s are activated by the cytokines IL-1 β and IL-23

CD8⁺ T cells, but protection was lost upon NK cell with anti-asialo-GM1 depletion antibodies. Moreover, IL-2, IL-12, and IL-18 promote NK cellmediated control of experimental metastasis in mice [78, 79] and NK cells pre-activated with IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18 display sustained effector functions and delay the growth of MHC-I-deficient tumors in mice [80]. Intriguingly, a more recent study established that the IL-12-induced suppression of subcutaneous B16 melanoma tumors was mediated by a NKp46⁺NK1.1⁻ ILC3 population identified using a fate-mapping reporter mouse strain for the transcription factor RORyt [34]. Finally, the expression of Toll-like receptors by NK cells and ILC3s [81, 82] might enable these cells to detect danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) present in the tumor microenvironment. DAMP may induce NK cell activation either directly, or indirectly through the stimulation of accessory cells [37]. Interestingly, a recent study established that NK cells from TLR3-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to cytokine stimulation, a defect that is associated with increased experimental lung metastasis in these mice upon challenge with B16F10 melanoma cells [83].

Notably, helper-like ILCs are mainly activated via soluble mediators while NK cell receptors represent a predominant pathway for NK cell activation. Nevertheless, cytokine-activated NK cells are more responsive to NK cell receptor signaling than resting NK cells. NK cell-activating cytokines are generally secreted by myeloid cells or dendritic cells (DCs) [84]. In fact, it has been suggested that naïve NK cells only acquire their full killing capacity following an interaction with DCs or macrophages termed "NK cell priming" [85], a process that is influenced by the commensal microbiota [86]. Of particular interest, similar synergy between cytokine-mediated activation and NCR signaling has recently been described for NCR⁺ ILC3s [87].

9.4 Direct Clearance of Cancer Cells by ILCs

The release of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes constitutes the main pathway by which NK cells exert their killing activity [88]. Perforin is a pore-forming protein that allows granzymes to enter into target cells, thereby triggering apoptosis [89]. Perforin protects mice against spontaneous lymphomas [90] and mouse studies have established the major contribution of perforin to NK cell-mediated rejection of tumor lacking MHC-I [91, 92], as well as NK cell-mediated control of metastasis [23] and protection against carcinogen-induced fibrosarcomas [93]. Granule-dependent cytotoxicity was originally thought to be a characteristic of NK cells distinguishing them from ILC1s [12]. However, it was recently demonstrated that a population of ILC1-like cells clearly distinct from conventional NK cells could also kill tumor cells in a perforin-dependent fashion [13]. Notably, this study used a spontaneous mouse mammary cancer model to suggest that ILC1like cells, but not conventional NK cells, contribute to reduce tumor growth.

Fas ligand (FasL or CD95L) and TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) belong to the death receptor pathway and represent alternative mechanisms by which NK cells eliminate target cells [14, 94, 95]. The binding of Fas or TRAIL to their receptors (Fas and DR5 or DR4, respectively) triggers the activation of the common death signaling molecules FADD, caspase 8, and caspase 3, and leads to apoptosis [96]. The relevance of targeting Fas- and TRAIL-death receptor pathways to bypass the refractory nature of cancer stem cells to conventional therapy has been demonstrated in mice [97]. Initially, TRAILpositive NK cells were described in the liver of naïve mice; and in vitro killing activity of hepatic but not splenic NK cells was found to be TRAILdependent [14]. Accordingly, TRAIL appears necessary for the control of experimental liver metastasis in mice [14]. Interestingly, TRAIL is largely expressed by immature NK cells in newborn mice and is required for fetal NK cell killing activity of TRAIL-sensitive targets in vitro [98]. Similarly, TRAIL is required for the in vitro killing activity of human cord blood NK cells whereas the cytotoxicity of mature human NK cells mostly relies on the perforin and FasL pathways [99]. While the origin of TRAIL⁺ fetal NK cells remains unclear, mouse liver TRAIL⁺

NKp46⁺ cells have now been assigned to the ILC1 lineage [100]. In the healthy human liver, NK cells do not express TRAIL but its expression can be induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines [101]. It was recently shown that TRAIL upregulation is confined to a specific population of human intra-hepatic NK cells that express CXCR6 and are absent from the periphery [102]. Thus, in the absence of inflammatory stimuli, TRAIL expression might be restricted to tissueresident subsets of the group 1 ILCs. As a matter of fact, in mice, TRAIL has also been detected on salivary gland ILC1s [18] and tumor-infiltrating ILC1-like cells [13]. However, the observation that cytokine stimulation induces TRAIL expression on CD3⁻NK1.1⁺ cells in the murine spleen [103] and CD3⁻CD56⁺ cells in the human blood [104] suggests that TRAIL also contributes to conventional NK cell functions under some circumstances. In fact, membrane-bound TRAIL supplements perforin-mediated killing of neuroblastoma and multiple myeloma cell lines by activated NK cells isolated from human peripheral blood [105, 106]. Additional investigation should shed light on the respective roles played by blood-circulating conventional NK cells and tissue-resident ILC1s in the TRAIL-mediated control of nascent tumors. In opposition to TRAIL, there is very limiting data supporting a role of FasL in NK cell-mediated-control of tumors in vivo [107]. Noteworthy, a recent study elegantly demonstrated that IL-18 induces a rapid expression of FasL on the surface of mouse NK cells and NK cell-mediated FasL-dependent cytotoxicity was found to control MC38 liver metastases in mice [108].

An important characteristic of group 1 ILCs is the secretion of IFN- γ and TNF [109]. These two cytokines play a major role in tumorigenesis. Not only do they modulate immune responses, but they also directly impact on tumor cell biology. Actually, enhanced in vivo growth of various mouse cell lines has been observed upon ablation of tumor-responsiveness to IFN- γ [110]. Responses to IFN- γ are induced by the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. In cancer cells, this pathway has been shown to inhibit cellular proliferation and to promote apoptosis [110]. The cen-

tral role played by endogenously produced IFN- γ in promoting the immune-mediated elimination of nascent tumor cells has been demonstrated by Schreiber and colleagues [111]. An early study indicated that the combination of perforin and IFN-y pathways fully accounts for NK cell antimetastatic activity in mice [112]. Nonetheless, since IFN-y can be produced by many different innate and adaptive immune cell types, the formal proof of ILC contribution to IFN-y-mediated immunosurveillance is still lacking. As for TNF, the role of this cytokine in cancer biology is rather ambiguous [113]. The two receptors to TNF are TNFR1, which is expressed on all cell types and TNFR2, which expression is restricted to immune and endothelial cells. Paradoxically, TNFR1 can transmit both pro-survival and proapoptosis signals. As a result, some reports described cytostatic or cytotoxic effects on tumor cells while others observed an enhancement of malignant cell proliferation (for a review, see [113]). The observation of reduced in vitro killing capacity of NK1.1⁺ splenocytes from TNFdeficient mice against YAC-1 suggested that TNF contributes to NK cell-mediated killing [114]. Furthermore, NK cell cytotoxicity against chemotherapeutic-sensitized **MC38** mouse tumors was found to be TNF-dependent [115]. But overall, to date there is no convincing evidence of a major contribution of TNF to innate cell-mediated cytotoxic activity. In fact, spleen cells from TNF-deficient mice are perfectly able to lyse MHC-I deficient RMA-S tumor cells in vitro [116]. However, defective elimination of RMA-S cells was observed following intraperitoneal injection in TNF-deficient mice [116]. This phenomenon was explained by reduced NK cell accumulation in the peritoneum in the absence of TNF. Moreover, TNF-neutralization inhibits NK cell activation and thus reduces human NK cellmediated cytotoxic activity against myeloma cells in the presence of anti-CD319 mAbs (Elotuzumab) [117]. Collectively, these data indicate that albeit not directly cytotoxic, TNF secreted by NK cells might act to regulate the tumor microenvironment.

Of note, although direct cytotoxic activity toward tumor cells is considered as a specificity of group 1 ILCs, ILC2s were recently found to induce tumor cell apoptosis via the CXCR2 pathway [32].

9.5 Cross-Talk between ILCs and Other Immune Cells Resulting in Anti-Cancer Immunity

NK cell functions expend far beyond the simple killing of cancer cells [118]. In addition to IFN- γ and TNF, activated NK cells release a broad range of cytokines, including GM-CSF, IL-6, and IL-10, and they may facilitate the recruitment of other immune cells by secreting chemokines such as MCP-1 (CCL2), MIP-1a (CCL3), MIP-1β (CCL4), RANTES (CCL5), IL-8 (CXCL8), and IP-10 (CXCL10) [119]. IFN-y production by NK cells has been shown to promote macrophage-mediated immunoediting of carcinogen-induced tumors in mice [120]. Moreover, NK cells influence the outcome of developing T cell responses in many different ways [121]. For instance, NK cells enhance the priming cytotoxic CD8+ T cell responses by eliminating myeloid-derived suppressor cells [122] and activating DCs [123, 124]. Tumor cell killing by NK cells and the subsequent release of antigen further contributes to T cell priming [125]. Besides, NK cells recruited to inflamed lymph nodes provide an early source of IFN-y necessary for Th1 polarization of CD4⁺ T cells [126]. The direct cytotoxicity of activated regulatory T cells (Tregs) represents another mechanism by which NK cell could potentiate effector T cell responses [127]. Importantly, in some mouse tumor models, NK cells were found to contribute to the priming of tumor-specific memory T cells required for the long-term control of cancer [123, 128].

Our understanding of helper-like ILC mediated-regulation of anti-tumor responses is still in its infancy. Given the important role of IFN- γ in NK cell-mediated tuning of adaptive immune responses, it is tempting to hypothesize that IFN- γ production by ILC1s would contribute in a similar manner. However, there is currently no study supporting this statement. In fact, the

evaluation of the relative contribution of NK cells and ILC1s to anti-tumor immunity is complicated by the high phenotypic resemblance of these cells. Of note, TRAIL⁺ members of the group 1 ILC might also dampen T cell responses [129]. Regarding ILC2s, the type 2 cytokines produced by these cells usually inhibit type 1 anti-tumor responses and foster tumor progression [9]. Nevertheless, in the mouse B16F10 model of experimental metastasis, IL-5 production by lung ILC2s cells has been shown to promote eosinophil recruitment and clearance of lung tumors [31]. A positive role of ILC3s in anti-tumor immunity was suggested in a study where combined treatment of chemotherapy with tumor-targeting antibodies resulted in delayed growth of B16 subcutaneous tumors [130]. In this setting, tumor clearance was found to be dependent on CD90+NK1.1-RORyt+ innate lymphocytes and was associated with increased infiltration of macrophages within the tumor tissue. Another report demonstrated that NKp46+ ILC3s suppress the growth of subcutaneously injected B16F10 tumor cells engineered to secrete IL-12 [34]. IL-12secreting tumors were still repressed in the absence of T cells or of conventional NK cells. It was suggested that NKp46+ ILC3s mediated their antitumor functions by up-regulating adhesion molecules on the tumor endothelium. Similarly, the production of soluble factors by NCR⁺ ILC3s present in human non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) tissues was found to activate mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial cells [33]. In this study, ILC3 numbers within the tumor tissue were found to correlate with the density of TLS tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) which are ectopic lymphoid organs associated with a favorable prognosis in NSCLC patients [131]. Very interestingly, lower frequencies of tumor-infiltrating NCR⁺ ILC3s were observed in advanced tumors, suggesting that NCR+ ILC3s might be associated with a better prognosis for NSCLC patients [33].

Conclusions

ILCs act as sentinels that react promptly upon disturbance of host homeostasis [76]. Their rapid and robust response allows the temporary control of the danger and alerts other immune



Fig. 9.4 Innate and adaptive lymphocytes contribute to cancer immunosurveillance. *Left panel*: ILCs directly induce tumor cell apoptosis and/or growth arrest and they also stimulate other innate cells to ensure the fast clearance of cancer cells. Group 1 ILCs exert a direct cytotoxic activity against tumor cells either via the cytotoxic granule pathway (perforin/granzymes) or the death ligand pathway (TRAIL). Of note, such cytotoxic activity has been described for both conventional NK cells and ILC1s but NK cells are currently considered more potent killers. IFN- γ production by group 1 ILCs also directly inhibits tumor growth and may stimulate macrophage tumoricidal

cells to provide long-term protection (Fig. 9.4). NK cells have long been known as the most powerful innate guardians against cancer development. However, the recent expansion of the ILC family may challenge this idea and raises the question of the relative contribution of the different ILC subsets, in particular NK cells and ILC1s. Noteworthy, despite considerable transcriptomic overlap with ILC1s, NK cells express higher transcripts encoding proteins of the cytotoxic machinery as well as cell surface receptors involved in the detection of transformed cells [100]. Moreover, helper-like ILCs are tissue-resident cells [132] that would only sense alterations of the specific organ where activity. ILC2s might directly induce the apoptosis of CXCR2-expressing tumor cells via the secretion of CXCL1 and CXCL2. ILC2s also secrete IL-5 and thereby recruit eosinophils. ILC3s may increase macrophage infiltration into the tumor. *Right panel*: ILCs stimulate T cell responses and thereby ensure long-term protection against cancer cells. NK cells activate DCs, enhance anti-tumor T cell responses, and also kill immunosuppressive cells such as Tregs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC). ILC3s activate stroma and endothelial cells and thereby facilitate immune cell infiltration into the tumor bed

they are located whereas conventional NK cells circulate in the blood and can scan the whole body for the presence of damaged cells. Thus, NK cells are probably the most efficient ILC subset in tumor clearance.

The importance of ILCs in the presence of functional adaptive immunity was recently questioned as ILC deficiency occurring in a cohort of SCID patients appeared to have no major clinical consequences [133]. This study provided a 7–39 year follow-up of 18 patients with mutation of IL2RG or JAK3 treated with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the absence of myeloablation. However, this cohort was too small to address the role of ILCs in

tumor immunosurveillance and such investigation may also require a longer follow-up. Perhaps the most convincing evidence of the importance of cytotoxic ILCs for human cancer immunosurveillance comes a prospective study demonstrating that individuals with high spontaneous cytotoxic activity of peripheral blood lymphocytes were at significantly lower risk of developing cancers [134]. In gastrointestinal sarcoma patients, NK cell infiltration correlates with the absence of metastasis at diagnosis [46] and in renal cell carcinoma, high densities of NK cells in lung metastases are associated with prolonged survival [135]. Conversely, a study in NSCLC reported no correlation between NK cell numbers and clinical outcome [136]. An absence of NK cell activity against advanced cancers may be caused by (1) tumor escape from NK-cell immunosurveillance due the selection of resistant variant clones through the immunoediting process [120] and/or (2) the exhaustion of NK cells within the tumor microenvironment where a variety of mechanisms contribute to hinder NK cell functions [55]. Adenosine and TGF-B are two examples of soluble factors proven to affect NK cell activity against tumors [137, 138]. Furthermore, poor NK cell infiltration in human cancer tissues could explain their limited impact on solid tumor progression. However, NK cells seem particularly efficient against metastatic disease [27] and hematological malignancies [139].

Evidence for helper-like ILC subsets involvement in human cancers is limited. ILC3 infiltration has been observed in human colorectal cancer [140], primary tumors of breast cancer patients [141], and NSCLC tissues [33]. Importantly, the function of helper-like ILCs in malignant diseases remains unclear and may depend on the cancer type and stage. This chapter is focused on the protective role of ILCs in the detection and elimination of nascent tumors and the reader is invited to refer to other reviews for a complete discussion of the opposing abilities of helper-like ILCs to either promote or repress tumor growth [9, 30, 35]. It is possible that the tumor microenvironment hijacks ILCs, either by dampening ILC anti-tumor activity such as IFN-y

release, or by influencing ILC plasticity. Indeed, some ILC subsets are not stable and depending on the cytokine microenvironment, NK cells can acquire an ILC1 phenotype [18], ILC2s can convert into ILC1s [142] or ILC3s [143], and ILC3s can convert into ILC1s [144]. The hypothesis that tumor may escape immunosurveillance by modulating ILCs is supported by the report that both ILC functions and subtype composition are dysregulated in the blood of acute myeloid leukemia patients [145].

ILCs represent an interesting clinical target since they react immediately to stimulation and their responses are not antigen-driven. Their production of large amounts of cytokines could shift the tumor microenvironment and awaken the anti-cancer capacities of myeloid cells and adaptive lymphocytes. However, a better understanding of helper-like ILC functions, biology, and plasticity is definitely needed before these cells could be efficiently exploited in the clinic. On the other hand, manipulation of NK cells has emerged as a very promising therapeutic option for cancer patients. The multiple strategies employed to take advantage of NK cell antitumor activity have been reviewed elsewhere [41] and are the subject of another chapter of this volume. Importantly, some strategies currently developed to target T cells or NK cells, such as anti-PD1 mAbs [146], NKG2Dbispecific engagers [147], or cytokine infusions [148] might also influence ILC functions. As our knowledge of the ILC family increases, the interest of the cancer immunotherapy field in these cells is likely to rise.

Acknowledgements The authors wish to thank past and present members of the Immunology in Cancer and Infection Laboratory.

C.G. is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NH&MRC) of Australia Early Career Fellowship (1107417) and a Project grant from Cure Cancer Australia (1122183). M. J. S. is supported by a NH&MRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship (1078671) and Project Grant (1098960).

Conflict of Interest M.J. S. has contract research agreements with Bristol Myers Squibb, Aduro Biotech, Corvus Pharmaceuticals, and Medimmune. M. J. S. is an advisory board member for Arcus Biosciences, Astrazeneca, Kymab, and F-star. C.G. declares no conflict of interest.

References

- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(2):135–46.
- Fridman WH, Galon J, Pages F, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Kroemer G. Prognostic and predictive impact of intra- and peritumoral immune infiltrates. Cancer Res. 2011;71(17):5601–5.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2011;29:235–71.
- Jaiswal S, Chao MP, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Macrophages as mediators of tumor immunosurveillance. Trends Immunol. 2010;31(6):212–9.
- Blaisdell A, Crequer A, Columbus D, Daikoku T, Mittal K, Dey SK, Erlebacher A. Neutrophils oppose uterine epithelial carcinogenesis via debridement of hypoxic tumor cells. Cancer Cell. 2015;28(6):785–99.
- Altman JB, Benavides AD, Das R, Bassiri H. Antitumor responses of invariant natural killer T cells. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015:652875.
- Girardi M. Immunosurveillance and immunoregulation by gammadelta T cells. J Invest Dermatol. 2006;126(1):25–31.
- van Beek JJP, Martens AWJ, Bakdash G, de Vries IJM. Innate lymphoid cells in tumor immunity. Biomedicine. 2016;4(7) pii E7. doi: 10.3390/ biomedicines4010007.
- Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie AN, Mebius RE, Powrie F, Vivier E. Innate lymphoid cells–a proposal for uniform nomenclature. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(2):145–9.
- 11. Zook EC, Kee BL. Development of innate lymphoid cells. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(7):775–82.
- Eberl G, Di Santo JP, Vivier E. The brave new world of innate lymphoid cells. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(1):1–5.
- Dadi S, Chhangawala S, Whitlock BM, Franklin RA, Luo CT, Oh SA, Toure A, Pritykin Y, Huse M, Leslie CS, Li MO. Cancer immunosurveillance by tissue-resident innate lymphoid cells and innate-like T cells. Cell. 2016;164(3):365–77.
- 14. Takeda K, Hayakawa Y, Smyth MJ, Kayagaki N, Yamaguchi N, Kakuta S, Iwakura Y, Yagita H, Okumura K. Involvement of tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand in surveillance of tumor metastasis by liver natural killer cells. Nat Med. 2001;7(1):94–100.
- Klose CS, Flach M, Mohle L, Rogell L, Hoyler T, Ebert K, Fabiunke C, Pfeifer D, Sexl V, Fonseca-Pereira D, Domingues RG, Veiga-Fernandes H, Arnold SJ, Busslinger M, Dunay IR, Tanriver Y,

Diefenbach A. Differentiation of type 1 ILCs from a common progenitor to all helper-like innate lymphoid cell lineages. Cell. 2014;157(2):340–56.

- Spits H, Bernink JH, Lanier L. NK cells and type 1 innate lymphoid cells: partners in host defense. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(7):758–64.
- Seillet C, Belz GT, Huntington ND. Development, homeostasis, and heterogeneity of NK cells and ILC1. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2016;395:37–61.
- Cortez VS, Cervantes-Barragan L, Robinette ML, Bando JK, Wang Y, Geiger TL, Gilfillan S, Fuchs A, Vivier E, Sun JC, Cella M, Colonna M. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling guides the differentiation of innate lymphoid cells in salivary glands. Immunity. 2016;44(5):1127–39.
- Kiessling R, Klein E, Wigzell H. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. Eur J Immunol. 1975;5(2):112–7.
- Walzer T, Blery M, Chaix J, Fuseri N, Chasson L, Robbins SH, Jaeger S, Andre P, Gauthier L, Daniel L, Chemin K, Morel Y, Dalod M, Imbert J, Pierres M, Moretta A, Romagne F, Vivier E. Identification, activation, and selective in vivo ablation of mouse NK cells via NKp46. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(9):3384–9.
- Hayakawa Y, Huntington ND, Nutt SL, Smyth MJ. Functional subsets of mouse natural killer cells. Immunol Rev. 2006;214:47–55.
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. Trends Immunol. 2001;22(11):633–40.
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Cretney E, Kelly JM, Snook MB, Forbes CA, Scalzo AA. Perforin is a major contributor to NK cell control of tumor metastasis. J Immunol. 1999;162(11):6658–62.
- Smyth MJ, Crowe NY, Godfrey DI. NK cells and NKT cells collaborate in host protection from methylcholanthrene-induced fibrosarcoma. Int Immunol. 2001;13(4):459–63.
- Talmadge JE, Meyers KM, Prieur DJ, Starkey JR. Role of NK cells in tumour growth and metastasis in beige mice. Nature. 1980;284(5757):622–4.
- 26. Vosshenrich CA, Ranson T, Samson SI, Corcuff E, Colucci F, Rosmaraki EE, Di Santo JP. Roles for common cytokine receptor gamma-chain-dependent cytokines in the generation, differentiation, and maturation of NK cell precursors and peripheral NK cells in vivo. J Immunol. 2005;174(3):1213–21.
- 27. Sathe P, Delconte RB, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Seillet C, Chopin M, Vandenberg CJ, Rankin LC, Mielke LA, Vikstrom I, Kolesnik TB, Nicholson SE, Vivier E, Smyth MJ, Nutt SL, Glaser SP, Strasser A, Belz GT, Carotta S, Huntington ND. Innate immunodeficiency following genetic ablation of Mcl1 in natural killer cells. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4539.
- Merzoug LB, Marie S, Satoh-Takayama N, Lesjean S, Albanesi M, Luche H, Fehling HJ, Di

Santo JP, Vosshenrich CA. Conditional ablation of NKp46+ cells using a novel Ncr1(greenCre) mouse strain: NK cells are essential for protection against pulmonary B16 metastases. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(11):3380–91.

- Guillerey C, Smyth MJ. NK cells and cancer immunoediting. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2016;395:115–45.
- Vallentin B, Barlogis V, Piperoglou C, Cypowyj S, Zucchini N, Chene M, Navarro F, Farnarier C, Vivier E, Vely F. Innate lymphoid cells in cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(10):1109–14.
- 31. Ikutani M, Yanagibashi T, Ogasawara M, Tsuneyama K, Yamamoto S, Hattori Y, Kouro T, Itakura A, Nagai Y, Takaki S, Takatsu K. Identification of innate IL-5-producing cells and their role in lung eosinophil regulation and antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2012;188(2):703–13.
- 32. Kim J, Kim W, Moon UJ, Kim HJ, Choi HJ, Sin JI, Park NH, Cho HR, Kwon B. Intratumorally establishing type 2 innate lymphoid cells blocks tumor growth. J Immunol. 2016;196(5):2410–23.
- 33. Carrega P, Loiacono F, Di Carlo E, Scaramuccia A, Mora M, Conte R, Benelli R, Spaggiari GM, Cantoni C, Campana S, Bonaccorsi I, Morandi B, Truini M, Mingari MC, Moretta L, Ferlazzo G. NCR(+)ILC3 concentrate in human lung cancer and associate with intratumoral lymphoid structures. Nat Commun. 2015;6:8280.
- 34. Eisenring M, Vom Berg J, Kristiansen G, Saller E, Becher B. IL-12 initiates tumor rejection via lymphoid tissue-inducer cells bearing the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp46. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(11):1030–8.
- Mattner J, Wirtz S. Friend or foe? The ambiguous role of innate lymphoid cells in cancer development. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(1):29–38.
- 36. Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, Iannello A, Ardolino M, Deng W, Wang L, Shifrin N, Raulet DH. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. Adv Immunol. 2014;122:91–128.
- Newman KC, Riley EM. Whatever turns you on: accessory-cell-dependent activation of NK cells by pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(4):279–91.
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. Immunol Today. 1990;11(7):237–44.
- Garcia-Lora A, Algarra I, Garrido F. MHC class I antigens, immune surveillance, and tumor immune escape. J Cell Physiol. 2003;195(3):346–55.
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(5):503–10.
- Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(9):1025–36.
- Kruse PH, Matta J, Ugolini S, Vivier E. Natural cytotoxicity receptors and their ligands. Immunol Cell Biol. 2014;92(3):221–9.

- 43. Salimi M, Xue L, Jolin H, Hardman C, Cousins DJ, McKenzie AN, Ogg GS. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells express functional NKp30 receptor inducing type 2 cytokine production. J Immunol. 2016;196(1):45–54.
- 44. Rosental B, Brusilovsky M, Hadad U, Oz D, Appel MY, Afergan F, Yossef R, Rosenberg LA, Aharoni A, Cerwenka A, Campbell KS, Braiman A, Porgador A. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen is a novel inhibitory ligand for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. J Immunol. 2011;187(11):5693–702.
- 45. Siewiera J, Gouilly J, Hocine HR, Cartron G, Levy C, Al-Daccak R, Jabrane-Ferrat N. Natural cytotoxicity receptor splice variants orchestrate the distinct functions of human natural killer cell subtypes. Nat Commun. 2015;6:10183.
- 46. Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, Menard C, Roux S, Lyonnet L, Paul P, Sarabi M, Chaput N, Semeraro M, Minard-Colin V, Poirier-Colame V, Chaba K, Flament C, Baud V, Authier H, Kerdine-Romer S, Pallardy M, Cremer I, Peaudecerf L, Rocha B, Valteau-Couanet D, Gutierrez JC, Nunes JA, Commo F, Bonvalot S, Ibrahim N, Terrier P, Opolon P, Bottino C, Moretta A, Tavernier J, Rihet P, Coindre JM, Blay JY, Isambert N, Emile JF, Vivier E, Lecesne A, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Nat Med. 2011;17(6):700–7.
- 47. Halfteck GG, Elboim M, Gur C, Achdout H, Ghadially H, Mandelboim O. Enhanced in vivo growth of lymphoma tumors in the absence of the NK-activating receptor NKp46/NCR1. J Immunol. 2009;182(4):2221–30.
- Glasner A, Ghadially H, Gur C, Stanietsky N, Tsukerman P, Enk J, Mandelboim O. Recognition and prevention of tumor metastasis by the NK receptor NKp46/NCR1. J Immunol. 2012;188(6):2509–15.
- Raulet DH. Roles of the NKG2D immunoreceptor and its ligands. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(10):781–90.
- Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. Nature. 2005;436(7054):1186–90.
- Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. Nature. 2001;413(6852):165–71.
- 52. Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, Knoblaugh S, Cado D, Greenberg NM, Raulet DH. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. Immunity. 2008;28(4):571–80.
- 53. Smyth MJ, Swann J, Cretney E, Zerafa N, Yokoyama WM, Hayakawa Y. NKG2D function protects the host from tumor initiation. J Exp Med. 2005;202(5):583–8.
- 54. Zhang B, Kracker S, Yasuda T, Casola S, Vanneman M, Homig-Holzel C, Wang Z, Derudder E, Li

S, Chakraborty T, Cotter SE, Koyama S, Currie T, Freeman GJ, Kutok JL, Rodig SJ, Dranoff G, Rajewsky K. Immune surveillance and therapy of lymphomas driven by Epstein-Barr virus protein LMP1 in a mouse model. Cell. 2012;148(4):739–51.

- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(6):1582–92.
- 56. Jinushi M, Vanneman M, Munshi NC, Tai YT, Prabhala RH, Ritz J, Neuberg D, Anderson KC, Carrasco DR, Dranoff G. MHC class I chain-related protein a antibodies and shedding are associated with the progression of multiple myeloma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(4):1285–90.
- Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. Nature. 2002;419(6908):734–8.
- Coudert JD, Scarpellino L, Gros F, Vivier E, Held W. Sustained NKG2D engagement induces crosstolerance of multiple distinct NK cell activation pathways. Blood. 2008;111(7):3571–8.
- 59. Deng W, Gowen BG, Zhang L, Wang L, Lau S, Iannello A, Xu J, Rovis TL, Xiong N, Raulet DH. Antitumor immunity. A shed NKG2D ligand that promotes natural killer cell activation and tumor rejection. Science. 2015;348(6230):136–9.
- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Balancing natural killer cell activation through paired receptors. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(4):243–54.
- Samanta D, Almo SC. Nectin family of celladhesion molecules: structural and molecular aspects of function and specificity. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2015;72(4):645–58.
- 62. Martinet L, Ferrari De Andrade L, Guillerey C, Lee JS, Liu J, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Hutchinson DS, Kolesnik TB, Nicholson SE, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. DNAM-1 expression marks an alternative program of NK cell maturation. Cell Rep. 2015;11(1):85–97.
- 63. Seillet C, Mielke LA, Amann-Zalcenstein DB, Su S, Gao J, Almeida FF, Shi W, Ritchie ME, Naik SH, Huntington ND, Carotta S, Belz GT. Deciphering the innate lymphoid cell transcriptional program. Cell Rep. 2016;17(2):436–47.
- Tang ML, Gasser S. ATM activation mediates anticancer immunosurveillance by natural killer and T cells. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(6):e24438.
- 65. Croxford JL, Tang ML, Pan MF, Huang CW, Kamran N, Phua CM, Chng WJ, Ng SB, Raulet DH, Gasser S. ATM-dependent spontaneous regression of early Emu-myc-induced murine B-cell leukemia depends on natural killer and T cells. Blood. 2013;121(13):2512–21.
- 66. Iguchi-Manaka A, Kai H, Yamashita Y, Shibata K, Tahara-Hanaoka S, Honda S, Yasui T, Kikutani H, Shibuya K, Shibuya A. Accelerated tumor growth in mice deficient in DNAM-1 receptor. J Exp Med. 2008;205(13):2959–64.

- 67. Gilfillan S, Chan CJ, Cella M, Haynes NM, Rapaport AS, Boles KS, Andrews DM, Smyth MJ, Colonna M. DNAM-1 promotes activation of cytotoxic lymphocytes by nonprofessional antigen-presenting cells and tumors. J Exp Med. 2008;205(13):2965–73.
- 68. Guillerey C, Ferrari de Andrade L, Vuckovic S, Miles K, Ngiow SF, Yong MC, Teng MW, Colonna M, Ritchie DS, Chesi M, Bergsagel PL, Hill GR, Smyth MJ, Martinet L. Immunosurveillance and therapy of multiple myeloma are CD226 dependent. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(5):2077–89.
- Abeyweera TP, Merino E, Huse M. Inhibitory signaling blocks activating receptor clustering and induces cytoskeletal retraction in natural killer cells. J Cell Biol. 2011;192(4):675–90.
- 70. Tu MM, Mahmoud AB, Wight A, Mottashed A, Belanger S, Rahim MM, Abou-Samra E, Makrigiannis AP. Ly49 family receptors are required for cancer immunosurveillance mediated by natural killer cells. Cancer Res. 2014;74(14):3684–94.
- Yu Y, Tsang JC, Wang C, Clare S, Wang J, Chen X, Brandt C, Kane L, Campos LS, Lu L, Belz GT, McKenzie AN, Teichmann SA, Dougan G, Liu P. Single-cell RNA-seq identifies a PD-1hi ILC progenitor and defines its development pathway. Nature. 2016;539(7627):102–6.
- Blake SJ, Dougall WC, Miles JJ, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Molecular pathways: targeting CD96 and TIGIT for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(21):5183–8.
- Stanietsky N, Rovis TL, Glasner A, Seidel E, Tsukerman P, Yamin R, Enk J, Jonjic S, Mandelboim O. Mouse TIGIT inhibits NK-cell cytotoxicity upon interaction with PVR. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(8):2138–50.
- 74. Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, Levine Z, Beiman M, Dassa L, Achdout H, Stern-Ginossar N, Tsukerman P, Jonjic S, Mandelboim O. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(42):17858–63.
- 75. Chan CJ, Martinet L, Gilfillan S, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Chow MT, Town L, Ritchie DS, Colonna M, Andrews DM, Smyth MJ. The receptors CD96 and CD226 oppose each other in the regulation of natural killer cell functions. Nat Immunol. 2014;15(5):431–8.
- Bando JK, Colonna M. Innate lymphoid cell function in the context of adaptive immunity. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(7):783–9.
- 77. Yajima T, Nishimura H, Wajjwalku W, Harada M, Kuwano H, Yoshikai Y. Overexpression of interleukin-15 in vivo enhances antitumor activity against MHC class I-negative and -positive malignant melanoma through augmented NK activity and cytotoxic T-cell response. Int J Cancer. 2002;99(4):573–8.
- Smyth MJ, Swann J, Kelly JM, Cretney E, Yokoyama WM, Diefenbach A, Sayers TJ, Hayakawa Y. NKG2D recognition and perform effector

function mediate effective cytokine immunotherapy of cancer. J Exp Med. 2004;200(10):1325–35.

- Smyth MJ, Taniguchi M, Street SE. The anti-tumor activity of IL-12: mechanisms of innate immunity that are model and dose dependent. J Immunol. 2000;165(5):2665–70.
- Ni J, Miller M, Stojanovic A, Garbi N, Cerwenka A. Sustained effector function of IL-12/15/18preactivated NK cells against established tumors. J Exp Med. 2012;209(13):2351–65.
- Crellin NK, Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Satoh-Takayama N, Di Santo JP, Spits H. Regulation of cytokine secretion in human CD127(+) LTi-like innate lymphoid cells by Toll-like receptor 2. Immunity. 2010;33(5):752–64.
- Sivori S, Carlomagno S, Pesce S, Moretta A, Vitale M, Marcenaro E. TLR/NCR/KIR: which one to use and when? Front Immunol. 2014;5:105.
- Guillerey C, Chow MT, Miles K, Olver S, Sceneay J, Takeda K, Moller A, Smyth MJ. Toll-like receptor 3 regulates NK cell responses to cytokines and controls experimental metastasis. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(9):e1027468.
- Degli-Esposti MA, Smyth MJ. Close encounters of different kinds: dendritic cells and NK cells take centre stage. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(2):112–24.
- Lucas M, Schachterle W, Oberle K, Aichele P, Diefenbach A. Dendritic cells prime natural killer cells by trans-presenting interleukin 15. Immunity. 2007;26(4):503–17.
- 86. Ganal SC, Sanos SL, Kallfass C, Oberle K, Johner C, Kirschning C, Lienenklaus S, Weiss S, Staeheli P, Aichele P, Diefenbach A. Priming of natural killer cells by nonmucosal mononuclear phagocytes requires instructive signals from commensal microbiota. Immunity. 2012;37(1):171–86.
- 87. Glatzer T, Killig M, Meisig J, Ommert I, Luetke-Eversloh M, Babic M, Paclik D, Bluthgen N, Seidl R, Seifarth C, Grone J, Lenarz M, Stolzel K, Fugmann D, Porgador A, Hauser A, Karlas A, Romagnani C. RORgammat(+) innate lymphoid cells acquire a proinflammatory program upon engagement of the activating receptor NKp44. Immunity. 2013;38(6):1223–35.
- Kagi D, Ledermann B, Burki K, Seiler P, Odermatt B, Olsen KJ, Podack ER, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. Nature. 1994;369(6475):31–7.
- Voskoboinik I, Smyth MJ, Trapani JA. Perforinmediated target-cell death and immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(12):940–52.
- 90. Street SE, Hayakawa Y, Zhan Y, Lew AM, MacGregor D, Jamieson AM, Diefenbach A, Yagita H, Godfrey DI, Smyth MJ. Innate immune surveillance of spontaneous B cell lymphomas by natural killer cells and gammadelta T cells. J Exp Med. 2004;199(6):879–84.
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, Cretney E, Trapani JA, Taniguchi M, Kawano T, Pelikan SB, Crowe NY, Godfrey DI. Differential tumor surveillance

by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. J Exp Med. 2000;191(4):661–8.

- 92. van den Broek MF, Kagi D, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. Perforin dependence of natural killer cell-mediated tumor control in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25(12):3514–6.
- van den Broek ME, Kagi D, Ossendorp F, Toes R, Vamvakas S, Lutz WK, Melief CJ, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H. Decreased tumor surveillance in perforin-deficient mice. J Exp Med. 1996;184(5):1781–90.
- 94. Screpanti V, Wallin RP, Grandien A, Ljunggren HG. Impact of FASL-induced apoptosis in the elimination of tumor cells by NK cells. Mol Immunol. 2005;42(4):495–9.
- 95. Smyth MJ, Cretney E, Takeda K, Wiltrout RH, Sedger LM, Kayagaki N, Yagita H, Okumura K. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) contributes to interferon gammadependent natural killer cell protection from tumor metastasis. J Exp Med. 2001;193(6):661–70.
- Vujanovic NL. Role of TNF superfamily ligands in innate immunity. Immunol Res. 2011;50(2–3):159–74.
- Li M, Knight DA, Smyth MJ, Stewart TJ. Sensitivity of a novel model of mammary cancer stem celllike cells to TNF-related death pathways. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(8):1255–68.
- 98. Takeda K, Cretney E, Hayakawa Y, Ota T, Akiba H, Ogasawara K, Yagita H, Kinoshita K, Okumura K, Smyth MJ. TRAIL identifies immature natural killer cells in newborn mice and adult mouse liver. Blood. 2005;105(5):2082–9.
- 99. Zamai L, Ahmad M, Bennett IM, Azzoni L, Alnemri ES, Perussia B. Natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity: differential use of TRAIL and Fas ligand by immature and mature primary human NK cells. J Exp Med. 1998;188(12):2375–80.
- 100. Robinette ML, Fuchs A, Cortez VS, Lee JS, Wang Y, Durum SK, Gilfillan S, Colonna M, Immunological Genome C. Transcriptional programs define molecular characteristics of innate lymphoid cell classes and subsets. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(3):306–17.
- 101. Dunn C, Brunetto M, Reynolds G, Christophides T, Kennedy PT, Lampertico P, Das A, Lopes AR, Borrow P, Williams K, Humphreys E, Afford S, Adams DH, Bertoletti A, Maini MK. Cytokines induced during chronic hepatitis B virus infection promote a pathway for NK cell-mediated liver damage. J Exp Med. 2007;204(3):667–80.
- 102. Stegmann KA, Robertson F, Hansi N, Gill U, Pallant C, Christophides T, Pallett LJ, Peppa D, Dunn C, Fusai G, Male V, Davidson BR, Kennedy P, Maini MK. CXCR6 marks a novel subset of T-bet(lo) Eomes(hi) natural killer cells residing in human liver. Sci Rep. 2016;6:26157.
- 103. Kayagaki N, Yamaguchi N, Nakayama M, Takeda K, Akiba H, Tsutsui H, Okamura H, Nakanishi K, Okumura K, Yagita H. Expression and function of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand on murine activated NK cells. J Immunol. 1999; 163(4):1906–13.

- 104. Johnsen AC, Haux J, Steinkjer B, Nonstad U, Egeberg K, Sundan A, Ashkenazi A, Espevik T. Regulation of APO-2 ligand/trail expression in NK cells-involvement in NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Cytokine. 1999;11(9):664–72.
- 105. Jungkunz-Stier I, Zekl M, Stuhmer T, Einsele H, Seggewiss-Bernhardt R. Modulation of natural killer cell effector functions through lenalidomide/dasatinib and their combined effects against multiple myeloma cells. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014;55(1):168–76.
- 106. Sheard MA, Asgharzadeh S, Liu Y, Lin TY, Wu HW, Ji L, Groshen S, Lee DA, Seeger RC. Membranebound TRAIL supplements natural killer cell cytotoxicity against neuroblastoma cells. J Immunother. 2013;36(5):319–29.
- 107. Screpanti V, Wallin RP, Ljunggren HG, Grandien A. A central role for death receptor-mediated apoptosis in the rejection of tumors by NK cells. J Immunol. 2001;167(4):2068–73.
- 108. Dupaul-Chicoine J, Arabzadeh A, Dagenais M, Douglas T, Champagne C, Morizot A, Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Breton V, Colpitts SL, Beauchemin N, Saleh M. The Nlrp3 Inflammasome suppresses colorectal cancer metastatic growth in the liver by promoting natural killer cell Tumoricidal activity. Immunity. 2015;43(4):751–63.
- Cortez VS, Robinette ML, Colonna M. Innate lymphoid cells: new insights into function and development. Curr Opin Immunol. 2015;32:71–7.
- Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The roles of IFN gamma in protection against tumor development and cancer immunoediting. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13(2):95–109.
- 111. Kaplan DH, Shankaran V, Dighe AS, Stockert E, Aguet M, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(13):7556–61.
- 112. Street SE, Cretney E, Smyth MJ. Perforin and interferon-gamma activities independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. Blood. 2001;97(1):192–7.
- Bertazza L, Mocellin S. The dual role of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in cancer biology. Curr Med Chem. 2010;17(29):3337–52.
- Baxevanis CN, Voutsas IF, Tsitsilonis OE, Tsiatas ML, Gritzapis AD, Papamichail M. Compromised antitumor responses in tumor necrosis factor-alpha knockout mice. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30(7):1957–66.
- 115. Nagasaki E, Takahara A, Koido S, Sagawa Y, Aiba K, Tajiri H, Yagita H, Homma S. Combined treatment with dendritic cells and 5-fluorouracil elicits augmented NK cell-mediated antitumor activity through the tumor necrosis factor-alpha pathway. J Immunother. 2010;33(5):467–74.
- 116. Smyth MJ, Kelly JM, Baxter AG, Korner H, Sedgwick JD. An essential role for tumor necrosis factor in natural killer cell-mediated tumor rejection in the peritoneum. J Exp Med. 1998;188(9):1611–9.

- 117. Balasa B, Yun R, Belmar NA, Fox M, Chao DT, Robbins MD, Starling GC, Rice AG. Elotuzumab enhances natural killer cell activation and myeloma cell killing through interleukin-2 and TNFalpha pathways. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2015;64(1):61–73.
- Andoniou CE, Coudert JD, Degli-Esposti MA. Killers and beyond: NK-cell-mediated control of immune responses. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(11):2938–42.
- 119. Fauriat C, Long EO, Ljunggren HG, Bryceson YT. Regulation of human NK-cell cytokine and chemokine production by target cell recognition. Blood. 2010;115(11):2167–76.
- 120. O'Sullivan T, Saddawi-Konefka R, Vermi W, Koebel CM, Arthur C, White JM, Uppaluri R, Andrews DM, Ngiow SF, Teng MW, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD, Bui JD. Cancer immunoediting by the innate immune system in the absence of adaptive immunity. J Exp Med. 2012;209(10):1869–82.
- 121. Crouse J, Xu HC, Lang PA, Oxenius A. NK cells regulating T cell responses: mechanisms and outcome. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(1):49–58.
- 122. Geldhof AB, van Ginderachter JA, Liu Y, Noel W, de Baetselier P. Ablation of NK cell function during tumor growth favors type 2-associated macrophages, leading to suppressed CTL generation. Clin Dev Immunol. 2003;10(2–4):71–81.
- 123. Adam C, King S, Allgeier T, Braumuller H, Luking C, Mysliwietz J, Kriegeskorte A, Busch DH, Rocken M, Mocikat R. DC-NK cell cross talk as a novel CD4+ T-cell-independent pathway for antitumor CTL induction. Blood. 2005;106(1):338–44.
- 124. Vitale M, Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Pende D, Arico M, Moretta L, Moretta A. NK-dependent DC maturation is mediated by TNFalpha and IFNgamma released upon engagement of the NKp30 triggering receptor. Blood. 2005;106(2):566–71.
- 125. Krebs P, Barnes MJ, Lampe K, Whitley K, Bahjat KS, Beutler B, Janssen E, Hoebe K. NK-cell-mediated killing of target cells triggers robust antigen-specific T-cell-mediated and humoral responses. Blood. 2009;113(26):6593–602.
- 126. Martin-Fontecha A, Thomsen LL, Brett S, Gerard C, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Induced recruitment of NK cells to lymph nodes provides IFN-gamma for T(H)1 priming. Nat Immunol. 2004;5(12):1260–5.
- 127. Roy S, Barnes PF, Garg A, Wu S, Cosman D, Vankayalapati R. NK cells lyse T regulatory cells that expand in response to an intracellular pathogen. J Immunol. 2008;180(3):1729–36.
- Kelly JM, Darcy PK, Markby JL, Godfrey DI, Takeda K, Yagita H, Smyth MJ. Induction of tumorspecific T cell memory by NK cell-mediated tumor rejection. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(1):83–90.
- Schuster IS, Coudert JD, Andoniou CE, Degli-Esposti MA. "Natural regulators": NK cells as modulators of T cell immunity. Front Immunol. 2016;7:235.
- Moskalenko M, Pan M, Fu Y, de Moll EH, Hashimoto D, Mortha A, Leboeuf M, Jayaraman P, Bernardo
S, Sikora AG, Wolchok J, Bhardwaj N, Merad M, Saenger Y. Requirement for innate immunity and CD90(+) NK1.1(-) lymphocytes to treat established melanoma with chemo-immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(3):296–304.

- 131. Dieu-Nosjean MC, Antoine M, Danel C, Heudes D, Wislez M, Poulot V, Rabbe N, Laurans L, Tartour E, de Chaisemartin L, Lebecque S, Fridman WH, Cadranel J. Long-term survival for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(27):4410–7.
- 132. Gasteiger G, Fan X, Dikiy S, Lee SY, Rudensky AY. Tissue residency of innate lymphoid cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid organs. Science. 2015;350(6263):981–5.
- 133. Vely F, Barlogis V, Vallentin B, Neven B, Piperoglou C, Ebbo M, Perchet T, Petit M, Yessaad N, Touzot F, Bruneau J, Mahlaoui N, Zucchini N, Farnarier C, Michel G, Moshous D, Blanche S, Dujardin A, Spits H, Distler JH, Ramming A, Picard C, Golub R, Fischer A, Vivier E. Evidence of innate lymphoid cell redundancy in humans. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(11):1291–9.
- 134. Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11-year follow-up study of a general population. Lancet. 2000;356(9244):1795–9.
- 135. Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, Lupo A, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Riquet M, Crozet L, Ouakrim H, Goc J, Cazes A, Flejou JF, Gibault L, Verkarre V, Regnard JF, Pages ON, Oudard S, Mlecnik B, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH, Damotte D. Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(15):4079–91.
- 136. Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Crozet L, Vieillard V, Validire P, Andre P, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Alifano M, Regnard JF, Fridman WH, Sautes-Fridman C, Cremer I. Profound coordinated alterations of intratumoral NK cell phenotype and function in lung carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2011;71(16):5412–22.
- 137. Beavis PA, Divisekera U, Paget C, Chow MT, John LB, Devaud C, Dwyer K, Stagg J, Smyth MJ, Darcy PK. Blockade of A2A receptors potently suppresses the metastasis of CD73+ tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(36):14711–6.
- 138. Viel S, Marcais A, Guimaraes FS, Loftus R, Rabilloud J, Grau M, Degouve S, Djebali S, Sanlaville A, Charrier E, Bienvenu J, Marie JC, Caux C, Marvel J, Town L, Huntington ND, Bartholin L, Finlay D, Smyth MJ, Walzer T. TGF-beta inhibits the activation and functions of NK cells by repressing the mTOR pathway. Sci Signal. 2016;9(415):ra19.
- 139. Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, Posati S, Rogaia D, Frassoni F, Aversa F, Martelli MF, Velardi A. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in

mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science. 2002;295(5562):2097–100.

- 140. Kirchberger S, Royston DJ, Boulard O, Thornton E, Franchini F, Szabady RL, Harrison O, Powrie F. Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. J Exp Med. 2013;210(5):917–31.
- 141. Irshad S, Flores-Borja F, Lawler K, Monypenny J, Evans R, Male V, Gordon P, Cheung A, Gazinska P, Noor F, Wong F, Grigoriadis A, Fruhwirth G, Barber PR, Woodman N, Patel D, Rodriguez-Justo M, Owen J, Martin SG, Pinder S, Gillett C, Poland SP, Ameer-Beg S, McCaughan F, Carlin L, Hasan U, Withers DR, Lane P, Vojnovic B, Quezada SA, Ellis P, Tutt AN, Ng T. RORgammat+ innate lymphoid cells promote lymph node metastasis of breast cancers. Cancer Res. 2017;(77):1083–96.
- 142. Bal SM, Bernink JH, Nagasawa M, Groot J, Shikhagaie MM, Golebski K, van Drunen CM, Lutter R, Jonkers RE, Hombrink P, Bruchard M, Villaudy J, Munneke JM, Fokkens W, Erjefalt JS, Spits H, Ros XR. IL-1beta, IL-4 and IL-12 control the fate of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in human airway inflammation in the lungs. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(6):636–45.
- 143. Huang Y, Guo L, Qiu J, Chen X, Hu-Li J, Siebenlist U, Williamson PR, Urban JF Jr, Paul WE. IL-25responsive, lineage-negative KLRG1(hi) cells are multipotential 'inflammatory' type 2 innate lymphoid cells. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(2):161–9.
- 144. Bernink JH, Peters CP, Munneke M, te Velde AA, Meijer SL, Weijer K, Hreggvidsdottir HS, Heinsbroek SE, Legrand N, Buskens CJ, Bemelman WA, Mjosberg JM, Spits H. Human type 1 innate lymphoid cells accumulate in inflamed mucosal tissues. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(3):221–9.
- 145. Trabanelli S, Curti A, Lecciso M, Salome B, Riether C, Ochsenbein A, Romero P, Jandus C. CD127+ innate lymphoid cells are dysregulated in treatment naive acute myeloid leukemia patients at diagnosis. Haematologica. 2015;100(7):e257–60.
- 146. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, Wolchok JD, Hersey P, Joseph RW, Weber JS, Dronca R, Gangadhar TC, Patnaik A, Zarour H, Joshua AM, Gergich K, Elassaiss-Schaap J, Algazi A, Mateus C, Boasberg P, Tumeh PC, Chmielowski B, Ebbinghaus SW, Li XN, Kang SP, Ribas A. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):134–44.
- 147. Kellner C, Hallack D, Glorius P, Staudinger M, Mohseni Nodehi S, de Weers M, van de Winkel JG, Parren PW, Stauch M, Valerius T, Repp R, Humpe A, Gramatzki M, Peipp M. Fusion proteins between ligands for NKG2D and CD20-directed single-chain variable fragments sensitize lymphoma cells for natural killer cell-mediated lysis and enhance antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Leukemia. 2012;26(4):830–4.
- 148. Romee R, Leong JW, Fehniger TA. Utilizing cytokines to function-enable human NK cells for the immunotherapy of cancer. Scientifica (Cairo). 2014;2014:205796.

Biology of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

10

Kevin Alicea-Torres and Dmitry I. Gabrilovich

Contents

10.1	Introduction	181
10.2	Characterization of MDSCs in Mouse and Humans	181
10.3	Mechanism of MDSC-Mediated Immune Suppression	183
10.4	Mechanisms Regulating MDSC Accumulation and Function	185
10.5	Relationship of MDSCs with Other Myeloid cells	188
10.6	Therapeutic Strategies to Target MDSCs in Cancer	190
Conclusions		192
References		

10.1 Introduction

Tumor progression is associated with the altered myelopoiesis. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are now established as a critical factor that modulates immune responses in cancer. MDSCs represent an expanded heterogeneous group of immature myeloid cells that are associated with poor prognosis and survival of cancer patients [1, 2]. MDSCs are characterized by potent immune-suppressive activity, which contributes to tumor growth and progression. In addition, MDSCs are also implicated in the promotion of angiogenesis and metastasis [3, 4]. It is clear that MDSCs have many roles in cancer; however, immunosuppression of T cell responses within the tumor microenvironment is their hallmark and the focus of many studies [5]. Therefore, by understanding the biology of MDSCs, therapeutic strategies can be developed in hopes of targeting these cells in cancer patients.

10.2 Characterization of MDSCs in Mouse and Humans

MDSCs were initially characterized and described in tumor-bearing mice as heterogeneous cells of myeloid origin that express both myeloid lineage differentiation markers, Gr-1 (glutathione reductase) and CD11b (α M-integrin) markers [6] (Fig. 10.1). MDSC subsets have been identified based on the intensity of GR1 expression (GR1^{low},

K. Alicea-Torres • D.I. Gabrilovich (⊠) Translational Tumor Immunology Program, The Wistar Institute, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: dgabrilovich@wistar.org



Fig. 10.1 Origin of MDSCs. In the bone marrow, hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) differentiate into common myeloid progenitor (CMP) followed by granulocytemacrophage progenitor (GMP), which give rise to immature myeloid cells mainly comprised of precursors of neutrophils and monocytes. In normal condition, immature myeloid cells differentiate into macrophages, dendritic cells, and neutrophils (*black arrows*). However, during cancer progression the tumor microenvironment produces growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines that

GR1^{int}, and GR1^{bright}) with other phenotypic markers, such as F4/F80 (marker for macrophages) or MHCII (major histocompatibility complex class II) [7]. However, GR1 consists of two epitopes, Ly6C and Ly6G, which can be detected by different antibodies. This led to the identification of two different MDSC subsets: granulocytic or polymorphonuclear PMN-MDSCs, (Gor CD11b+Ly6G+Ly6Clow) monocytic and (M-MDSC, CD11b+Ly6G-Ly6Chigh) cells; these cells are morphologically and phenotypically similar to neutrophils and monocytes, respectively [8] (Fig. 10.1). In the majority of cancer types, PMN-MDSCs are the most abundant population representing more than 70% of all MDSCs, whereas M-MDSCs represent the majority of the remaining cells [9]. In addition, within these MDSC subsets, there is a small population representing less than 5% that consists of a mixture of progenitors

altered the myelopoiesis in the bone marrow. These tumor-derived factors block the differentiation of immature myeloid cell to fully mature cells creating an accumulation of pathological activated immature monocytes and neutrophils known as M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs, respectively (*red arrows*). Besides the expansion of MDSCs during tumor progressions, these cells acquire potent immunosuppressive activity. Within the tumor microenvironment, M-MDSCs differentiate to TAMs with similar ability to suppress antitumor immune responses

and precursors that are currently under investigation. Murine MDSCs are generated in the bone marrow upon exposure to tumor-derived factors and predominantly accumulate in the peripheral blood, spleen, liver, lungs, and tumor.

In humans, MDSCs have been identified and studied primarily in the peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) fraction. However, humans do not have Gr-1 antigens, which make direct comparison between mice and human MDSCs difficult. PMN-MDSCs are defined as CD11b⁺CD14⁻CD15⁺ or CD11b⁺CD14⁻CD66b⁺, whereas M-MDSCs are defined as CD11b⁺CD14⁺HLA-DR^{-/lo}CD15⁻ [10]. There is a small population that includes a mixed group of MDSCs characterized as Lin⁻ (including CD3, CD14, CD15, CD19, and CD56) HLA-DR⁻CD33⁺ cells. This population that comprised a more immature phenotype has been defined as "early-stage MDSCs (e-MDSCs). At the moment, the minimum requirement to define and characterize human MDSCs, including PMN-MDSCs, M-MDSCs, and e-MDSCs, should follow the phenotypic criteria [10]. Using these criteria, M-MDSCs are separated from monocytes based on the expression of HLA-DR (MHC class II molecule). On the other hand, the only method to separate PMN-MDSCs from normal neutrophils is by gradient centrifugation using a standard Ficoll gradient. PMN-MDSCs are found enriched in the lowdensity fraction (PBMCs), whereas neutrophils are found within the high-density fraction [11, 12]. Recently, lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1) has been identified as a potential marker of PMN-MDSCs in humans [12]. LOX-1 expression on neutrophils could be used for direct identification of PMN-MDSCs found in blood and tumor tissue. Furthermore, LOX-1+ neutrophils isolated from the blood of cancer patients were shown to suppress T cell proliferation, whereas LOX-1- neutrophils were not suppressive.

10.3 Mechanism of MDSC-Mediated Immune Suppression

To fully identify myeloid cells as MDSCs, their functional activity needs to be tested; this is achieved usually by an in vitro suppression assay, which measures their ability to suppress the function of immune cells in tumor-bearing hosts. Activated MDSCs are implicated in the direct suppression of NK and B cells along with their primary target, T cells [13–15]. Immune suppression by MDSCs involves several mechanisms such as the increase of arginase 1 (Arg1) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) production, the increased production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and peroxynitrite, PNT), and other immune-suppressive factors. Upregulation of Arg1 in MDSCs leads to the depletion and conversion of L-arginine, an essential amino acid needed for T cell proliferation, to urea and L-ornithine [16]. Under limiting amounts of L-arginine, upregulation of iNOS in MDSCs leads to the production of nitric oxide (NO) which reacts with superoxide and generates PNT [17]. Production of PNT by MDSCs causes the nitration and nitrosylation of the T cell receptor (TCR), thus disrupting potential CD8⁺ T cell-antigen interactions leading to T cell tolerance [18]. Also, PNT reduces the binding of antigenic peptides to MHC molecules on tumor cells and blocks T cell migration by nitrating T cell-specific chemokines, such as CCL2 [19, 20]. Another mechanism for suppression of T cell responses is the production of ROS by MDSCs. It has been shown that tumor-derived factors generate MDSCs that produced high levels of ROS which contribute to the suppressive activity of these cells [21]. Although these are the major mechanisms of immunosuppression by MDSCs, there are several other factors involved including transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), interleukin-10 (IL-10), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), and many others. The main immunosuppressive cytokines produced by MDSCs are TGF- β and IL-10. Although TGF- β has shown to be produced by tumor cells, the production of this cytokine by MDSCs inhibits cytotoxic T cell responses in tumor-bearing mice [22]. MDSCs produced high amounts of IL-10 which impairs antitumor responses by inhibiting T cell activation [23]. In addition, MDSCs expressed several enzymes that are involved in the depletion of essential nutrition factors for T cell function. Upon stimulation by pro-inflammatory molecules, COX-2 is activated and induces Arg1 activity in MDSCs [16]. Other studies had implicated IDO expression in MDSCs which inhibit T cell function by depleting L-tryptophan and inducing T cell apoptosis within the tumor microenvironment [24]. MDSCs also block T cell function by depleting cysteine and impairing T cell activation in tumor [25]. In addition, MDSCs have the ability to induce the expansion of regulatory T cells (Treg) [26, 27]. Most of the mechanisms of suppression found to be implicated in MDSC function do not act simultaneously and are dependent on type of MDSC, type of tumors, and location of the cells.

Several recent studies have provided evidence that the ratio of PMN-MDSCs to M-MDSCs is really important because these cells utilize different mechanisms to suppress T cell responses [28]. For instance, M-MDSCs have the ability to suppress T cell activation in an antigen-specific and nonspecific manner. This suppression of T cell responses by M-MDSCs is associated with the

K. Alicea-Torres and D.I. Gabrilovich

increased expression of *i*NOS and production of NO [28, 29]. On the other hand, PMN-MDSCs are capable of suppressing immune responses primarily in an antigen-specific manner, which induces CD8⁺T cell tolerance in the host. Immune suppression by PMN-MDSCs is associated with the increased expression of Arg1 along with high levels of ROS and PNT [8, 18]. Although PMN-MDSCs are more abundant than M-MDSCs in a tumor-bearing host, they are less immunosuppressive than M-MDSCs when compared on a per cell basis [30]. Location was also determined to be important in dictating the strength of suppression by MDSCs. Recent years have provided ample evidence indicating that MDSCs in the tumor microenvironment are more suppressive than MDSCs in peripheral lymphoid organs and peripheral blood [31, 32]. There is clear evidence now suggesting that the increased suppressive activity of MDSCs is regulated by the low levels of oxygen (hypoxia) found in tumor tissues [33]. However, more studies are needed to better understand what other tumor-associated factors and mechanisms are implicated in the potent suppressive activity by MDSCs within the tumor microenvironment (Fig. 10.2).



Fig. 10.2 Mechanisms of immunosuppression by MDSCs in cancer. In cancer, both M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs can suppress antitumor T cell responses through different mechanisms. During tumor progression, these mechanisms are regulated by several transcription factors and enzymes and by the activation of the ER stress response. (a) In hypoxia conditions, upregulation of HIF-1 α induces the differentiation of M-MDSCs into TAMs in a STAT3-dependent manner. In the tumor microenvironment, TAMs suppress T cell responses by sequestering arginine through activation of Arg1. (b) M-MDSCs deprive T and B cells of essential amino acids including arginine and cysteine. (c) The main mechanism of immunosuppression by M-MDSCs is the expression of iNOS and release of NO. The release of NO causes the nitration or nitrosylation of T cell receptors as wells as chemokines that attract T cells. (d) Both M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs release IL-10 and TGFβ which induces the development and expansion of antigen-specific Tregs that may require CD40-CD40L interactions. Furthermore, the release of TGF β is implicated in the suppression of NK cells by MDSCs. Within the tumor microenvironment, MDSC subsets upregulate PDL-1 expression which interact with PD-1 on T cells resulting in cell death. (e) Similarly to M-MDSCs, PMN-MDSCs suppress T cell responses by depleting arginine and cysteine from the tumor microenvironment. (f, g) PMN-MDSCs are characterized by their release of reactive nitrogen or oxygen species. (f) The production of PNT by PMN-MDSCs causes the nitration or nitrosylation of the TCR chain inhibiting T cell proliferation. Another important function of peroxynitrite release by MDSCs is the modification of CCL2, chemoattractant, which affects T cell migration. (g) Also, activation of NOX is responsible for the increased production of reactive oxygen species by tumor-associated PMN-MDSCs

10.4 Mechanisms Regulating MDSC Accumulation and Function

One of the main questions in the MDSC field is how is their expansion, accumulation, and activation regulated? Several years ago we proposed a twosignal model describing that MDSC accumulation requires two distinct types of signals [34]. This model is divided into two phases: (1) the expansion phase associated with the inhibition of their terminal differentiation and (2) the activation phase that is responsible in the conversion of immature myeloid cells into immunosuppressive MDSCs. However, we assert that these two phases partially overlap but are governed by different sets of transcription factors and intermediates (Fig. 10.3).

The first phase is mostly driven by tumorderived growth factors along with STAT3, IRF8, C/EBP β , RB1, notch, adenosine receptor A2b, and NLRP3. **STAT3** Activation of signal transducer and transcription activator 3 (STAT3) in MDSCs requires myeloid-specific growth factors such as GM-CSF, G-CSF, M-CSD, IL-6, VEGF, and several other factors [35]. STAT3 plays a major role in the regulation of MDSCs. For example, tumor-bearing mice treated with different STAT3 inhibitors have shown a decrease in MDSC accumulation [36]. Interestingly, STAT3 is not only involved in the expansion of MDSCs but also in their function and differentiation; for instance, M-MDSCs are able to differentiate into tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) within the tumor microenvironment through STAT3 regulation [37, 38].

IRF8 IFN regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) has been described as a negative regulator of MDSC differentiation. In the absence of IRF8, there is an increase in MDSC accumulation in both spleen and tumor tissues; however, overexpression of IRF8



Fig. 10.3 Tumor-associated factors and molecular pathways regulating MDSC expansion and function in cancer. The tumor microenvironment produced a large number of cytokines and immune-suppressive mediators that regulate MDSC expansion and immune-suppressive activity, signals 1 and 2, respectively. Exposure of MDSCs to tumor-secreted growth factors (signal 1) and other mediators regulates several signaling pathways involved, especially STAT3, in M-MDSC or PMN-MDSC expansion

and accumulation. However, for the acquisition of immune-suppressive activity by immature myeloid cells, signal 2 is required giving rise to both M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs. These signaling pathways are important for both PMN-MDSCs and M-MDSCs (NF- κ B, STAT3, STAT6, ER stress response) or may have opposite roles in MDSC subsets (STAT1). COX-2 has been described to be more specific to M-MDSCs

resulted in a decreased accumulation of MDSCs in a spontaneous mouse tumor model [39, 40].

C/EBP β CAAT-enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBP β) is the only member of its family that has been implicated in MDSC expansion. Mice lacking C/EBP β specifically in hematopoietic cells had lower frequencies of MDSCs—especially M-MDSCs—suggesting its role in MDSC differentiation [41].

Rb1 The retinoblastoma protein 1 (Rb1) has been implicated in MDSCs found in both mice and humans [42]. In tumor-bearing mice, Rb1 was shown to regulate the differentiation of M-MDSCs to PMN-MDSCs. M-MDSCs with high levels of Rb1 mainly give rise to macrophages and DCs, whereas the vast majority of M-MDSCs with low levels of Rb1 differentiate toward PMN-MDSCs. Recently, the accumulation of Rb1¹⁰ Ly6G⁺ PMN-MDSC was confirmed in a transgenic model of breast cancer in mice [43].

Notch Pathway Another pathway involved in the accumulation and differentiation of MDSCs is notch signaling pathway. It has been shown that notch is downregulated upon activation of casein kinase 2 (CKII) in MDSCs. Therefore, tumor-bearing mice treated with CKII inhibitor showed an improvement in notch signaling and DC differentiation [44] These results suggests that the downregulation of notch signaling skewed the differentiation of the hematopoietic progenitors toward MDSCs instead of DCs. Recently, it has been shown that the inhibition of notch signaling enhances the generation of PMN-MDSCs but decreases the production of M-MDSCs [45].

Adenosine Receptor A2B In the tumor microenvironment, there is an increased level of extracellular adenosine that is associated with MDSC accumulation via engagement of the adenosine receptor A2b expressed on MDSCs [46]. Tumor-bearing mice lacking A2b had lower number of MDSCs compared to wild type, suggesting that the A2b receptor is critically involved in the expansion of MDSCs, especially PMN- MDSCs [47]. This correlates with the most recent study using a melanoma model treated with an agonist and an antagonist of A2b, in which treatment with the agonist increased both tumor growth and MDSC accumulation whereas treatment with the antagonist resulted in a decreased of tumor progression with a reduction of MDSC numbers within tumor tissues [48].

NLRP3 NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) is an intracellular sensor associated with the inflammasome, which, upon activation, induces the generation of interleukin (IL)-1 β and Tumor-associated MDSCs IL-18. express NLRP3, and Nlrp3-/- mice had lower levels of MDSCs within tumor tissues compared to wildtype mice, suggesting that NLRP3 may play a role in the expansion and accumulation of MDSCs [49]. However, more studies are needed to determine the exact role of NLRP3 in MDSC function. Clearly, these signaling pathways regulate MDSC expansion and are involved in blocking normal immature myeloid cell differentiation. However, the majority of these factors are implicated in the first phase of MDSC regulation but are not sufficient to promote their activation into immunosuppressive cells (Fig. 10.3).

As part of our two-signal model, the acquisition of the suppressive activity found in MDSCs is mediated by factors mostly produced by the tumor stroma including pro-inflammatory molecules such as IFNy, IL-1β, IL-13, toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands, and others. Each of these molecules is involved in the activation of several signaling pathways associated with many factors such as NF- κ B, STAT1, STAT6, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE_2) and cyclooxygenase (COX-2), highmobility group box 1 (HMGB1), and hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α), all of which are implicated in the suppressive activity of MDSCs. Recently, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress pathway has been linked to the suppressive activity of MDSCs found in cancer.

NF-\kappaB In MDSCs, the activation of the NF- κ B pathway is predominately mediated by the TLR ligands: IL-1 β or TNF- α —both of which have been shown to increase suppressive activity [34].

The role of TLR ligands in MDSC function is still not clear. Some studies have shown that TLR ligands drive the suppressive activity of MDSCs, whereas others suggest that these ligands inhibit their function [50–52]. During inflammation and cancer, IL-1 β produced by tumors cells leads to the activation of MDSCs through the NF-ĸB pathway resulting in the increased production of PNT [14, 19, 53, 54]. Another well-known activator of the NF-kB pathway is tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which is implicated in the maturation and function of MDSCs [55]. It was shown that the transmembrane (tm) form of TNF- α could increase the suppressive activity of MDSCs via its receptor and regulate iNOS expression in a NF-κB-dependent manner [56]. One study using an inflammatory mouse model showed that the role of TNF- α is restricted to M-MDSCs [57]. Also, activation of NF-κB through TNF- α receptor could promote survival of MDSCs [58]. At this moment, NF- κ B can be involved in MDSC expansion, but its main role is to signal activation of these cells leading to acquisition of a suppressive phenotype, especially in M-MDSCs.

STAT1 Several studies had shown that activation of STAT1 is linked to the suppressive activity of MDSCs [17, 29, 59]. STAT1 is activated upon IFNy stimulation and is involved in the upregulation of *i*NOS and Arg1 expression. Sinha et al. demonstrated that activation of STAT1 through IFNy did not regulate MDSC accumulation or function [60]. Subsequent studies focused on the role of the IFNy-STAT1 pathway in the suppressive activity of MDSC subsets. A recent study showed that STAT1 plays a major role by increasing the suppressive function of M-MDSCs [61]. However, activation of STAT1 through IFNy receptors was shown to decrease PMN-MDSC function and survival [62]. These studies suggest that the IFN_γ-STAT1 signaling pathway may have opposite roles in M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs. Indeed, this could explain why the initial study did not observe the involvement of IFN γ and/or STAT1 in the suppressive activity of MDSCs since the study of Sinha et al. analyzed the function of total MDSCs (CD11b+Gr-1+) rather than the subsets separately. It is possible that high PMN-MDSC numbers, and not M-MDSCs, compensate with the suppressive activity observed in the absence of the STAT1 signaling pathway.

STAT6 Another transcription factor involved in the function of MDSCs is STAT6. In MDSCS, the STAT6 signaling pathway is activated upon stimulation with IL-4 and IL-13 through its receptor (CD124, IL-4R α) leading to the upregulation of Arg1 expression and production of TGF- β , a potent inhibitor of T cell proliferation [22, 63, 64]. In addition, STAT6 has been shown to be involved in the survival and accumulation of MDSCs [65].

PGE2 Prostaglandins, especially PGE2, play a major role in the suppressive activity of MDSCs in cancer. Rodriguez and colleagues found that the signaling through the PGE2 receptor E-prostanoid (EP) 4, which is expressed in MDSCs, induces Arg1 expression and its activity [16]. Furthermore, expression of the main regulator of PGE2 production, COX-2, was directly correlated with the induction of Arg1 and iNOS in tumor-infiltrating MDSCs [66]. These results were confirmed by Obermajer et al. in which they described a positive feedback loop between PGE2 and COX-2 that led to the conversion of monocytes into M-MDSCs [67]. Based on this, ex vivo MDSCs were generated using PGE2 which induce the production of suppressive factors [68]. In mouse models of mesothelioma and glioma, treatment with a COX-2 inhibitor blocked the accumulation and function of MDSCs [69, 70]. Moreover, the involvement of PGE2 in MDSC function was confirmed in melanoma patients that were treated with a COX-2 inhibitor and had MDSC-like cells with less suppressive activity [71]. Primarily, PGE2 has shown a role in the regulation of immune suppression by MDSCs, but has been implicated also in their recruitment and accumulation [72].

HGMB1 HGMB1 is a DNA-binding protein that present at high levels within the tumor microenvironment [73]. HGMB1 affects MDSC via binding to TLR4 and receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE). Signaling through both receptors activates the NF-κB pathway. Parker et al. demonstrated that HGMB1 drives the accumulation and suppressive activity of MDSCs and also promotes the survival of MDSCs by inducing autophagy in cells within the tumor microenvironment [74]. Recently, Su et al. demonstrated that in vivo HGMB1 blockade with a monoclonal antibody against HGMB1 B box decreased the accumulation of M-MDSCs in both spleen and tumor tissues [75]. These studies demonstrate that HGMB1 may play a key role in the accumulation and function of MDSCs.

HIF1*α* The absence of oxygen (hypoxia) is one of the biggest differences between the tumor microenvironment and peripheral lymphoid organs. It has been shown that within the tumor microenvironment and in response to hypoxia, HIF-1*α* can regulate MDSC function and the differentiation of M-MDSCs to TAMs in a STAT3dependent manner [37, 38]. More recently, Norman et al. demonstrated that HIF-1*α* selectively upregulate programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), an immune checkpoint ligand on MDSCs [76] (Fig. 10.3).

Recent studies have suggested that ER stress responses are involved in the suppressive behavior of MDSCs in tumor-bearing hosts. The ER stress response pathway, also known as the unfolded protein response (UPR), is responsible for preserving ER homeostasis during extrinsic or intrinsic stress [77, 78]. ER stress response is comprised of three ER-localized transmembrane protein sensors: inositol-requiring enzyme 1a (IRE1 α), activating transcription factor 6α (ATF6a), and double-stranded RNA-dependent kinase (PKR)-like ER-related kinase (PERK). Activation of these ER sensors leads to the upregulation of several transcription factors including the spliced X-box protein 1 (sXBP1), CCAATenhancer-binding protein homologous protein (CHOP), and others. Both MDSCs isolated from tumor-bearing mice and cancer patients overexpress several markers of ER stress, including sXBP1 and CHOP, and display an enlarged ER—a hallmark of ER stress [79]. Tumor-bearing

mice treated with thapsigargin, an ER stress inducer, have an increased number of MDSCs with potent suppressive activity [80]. We showed that induction of ER stress with thapsigargin converts normal human neutrophils to a suppressive PMN-MDSC phenotype in an IRE1a-/XBP1dependent manner [12]. Besides the role of IRE1a/XBP1 in MDSC function, recent findings have implicated CHOP in the suppressive activity of tumor-associated MDSCs. For example, CHOP-deficient MDSCs lose their suppressive function and acquire an immune stimulatory phenotype [81, 82]. Although CHOP-deficient MDSCs did not have the ability to suppress T cells that were stimulated in an antigennonspecific manner, they retained their ability to block antigen-specific T cells [83]. At this moment, only the IRE1a/XBP1 and PERK/ CHOP signaling pathways have been implicated in the function of MDSCs. However, more studies are needed to understand the specific mechanisms of ER stress responses that regulate the suppressive activity of MDSCs.

10.5 Relationship of MDSCs with Other Myeloid cells

Over the years, our understanding of myeloid cells in cancer has shed light to their important role in tumor development, progression, and metastasis. The main three groups of terminally differentiated myeloid cells are macrophages, DCs, and PMNs. It is now clear that the tumor microenvironment alters myeloid cell differentiation by arresting these cells in an immature stage with potent immunosuppressive activity. Another myeloid cell involved in immune suppression is the tumor-associated macrophage (TAM) that arises from a tumor-infiltrating monocyte or M-MDSC within the tumor microenvironment. However, the relationship of MDSCs with other myeloid cells is still not clear. The main concern is the lack of specific markers for MDSCs making it difficult to discreetly identify these cells separate from monocytes and neutrophils. This is why in many previous studies, MDSC-like cells with suppressive activity were called monocytes and neutrophils. Recent data has provided evidence about the specific nature of MDSCs in cancer [1]. Immunosuppressive activity is an intrinsic feature of MDSCs. For instance, MDSCs could be generated in vitro from bone marrow progenitor cells in the presence of tumor-secreted factors. Unlike MDSCs, mature neutrophils or monocytes in the presence of these tumorassociated factors cannot suppress T cell responses in vitro [2]. Several studies, involving genomic, proteomic, and transcriptomic analysis, had provided evidence that supports the differences between PMN-MDSCs and neutrophils in tumor-bearing mice [84–88]. Moreover, a recent study provided information that suggests that PMN-MDSCs are different to neutrophils from healthy donors or cancer patients based on their gene profile [12]. In humans, PMN-MDSCs can be distinguished from neutrophils by LOX-1 expression. In mice the role of LOX-1 is not clear [3]. Within the hypoxic tumor microenvironment, M-MDSCs differentiate into TAMs, and this is regulated by HIF-1 α and STAT3 activation [9, 33, 37, 38]. Both myeloid cells have potent immune-suppressive function, especially within the tumor sites; however, M-MDSCs can be distinguished from TAMs by changes in monocyte-/ macrophage-associated markers. The main changes observed during M-MDSC differentiation into TAMs include an increased in F4/F80 and CD115, intermediate expression of Ly6C, and low expression of IRF8 and S100A9 protein [4, 89, 90]. MDSCs possess several biochemical features that are not observed in neutrophils or monocytes including high Arg1 and iNOS expression and activity as well as high levels of ROS and PNT production. In addition, recent studies have shown that MDSCs have an increase in the ER stress response that is linked to their suppressive function.

Among the different types of myeloid cells in cancer, there is a better understanding of the relationship between M-MDSCs and TAMs. Recent data from several groups have shown that M-MDSCs are TAM precursors within the tumor microenvironment. In addition, there are two polarized phenotypes of macrophages: the classically activated (M1 macrophages) with antitumor properties and the alternatively activated (M2 macrophages) with pro-tumor properties. The latter is more related to TAMs, but it is unclear if these two phenotypes are that of the same macrophage and what the molecular mechanism is that regulates them within the tumor microenvironment [91]. In addition, it is unknown if the polarization of macrophages is dictated by M-MDSCs before TAM differentiation. On the other hand, the nature of PMN-MDSCs and their relationship with neutrophils is a subject of discussion in different studies and an ongoing debate. Although PMN-MDSCs are widely accepted in the field, the concept of neutrophil polarization in cancer raises questions of whether these cells are pathologically similar to PMN-MDSCs [92]. Similarly to macrophages, the concept of tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) consists of neutrophils with antitumor (N1 cells) or pro-tumor (N2 cells) properties within the tumor microenvironment [93]. Studies have implicated TGF- β and type 1 interferons (IFNs) as cytokines in the regulation of TAN plasticity in cancer [93–95]. Neutrophils by definition are short-lived and terminally differentiated cells, whereas PMN-MDSCs are immature cells. For this reason, it is hard to imagine that TANs could be polarized in the tumor microenvironment. Indeed, several studies have shown that these cells have the ability to suppress T cell responses in tumor-bearing mice, which supports these cells as PMN-MDSCs [96, 97]. However, the antitumor role of TANs has been described in cancer patients. Recently, Eruslanov et al. observed that TANs from early-stage lung cancer patients were not immunosuppressive, but rather stimulate T cell responses [98]. This study provides evidence for the role of TANs during early stages of tumor initiation. Only few studies have addressed the role of MDSCs in tumor initiation and how it regulates the immune responses at early stages. For instance, Ortiz et al. showed that the exposure of mice to cigarette smoke resulted in an accumulation of non-suppressive MDSC-like cells in various organs [99]. However, when cigarette smoke was combined with a carcinogen to promote the development of lung cancer, MDSCs presented potent immunosuppressive activity. These data suggest that MDSC function

is controlled by the tumor microenvironment. Our understanding of the nature of MDSCs and their relationship with other myeloid cells during tumor development would open new therapeutic opportunities.

10.6 Therapeutic Strategies to Target MDSCs in Cancer

There is ample evidence that MDSC accumulation in peripheral lymphoid organs and tumor tissues correlates with a poor prognosis and clinical outcome in cancer patients [100]. In addition, MDSCs are implicated in resistance to anticancer therapies including the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib as well as several chemotherapeutic drugs for lung cancer and multiple myeloma [101–103]. Since these cells have the ability to suppress antitumor immune responses, the success of cancer therapies, including immu-

notherapy, would depend on the immunosuppressive effect by MDSCs. Indeed, several clinical studies had shown an association with MDSC levels and response to immune checkpoint inhibitors, ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) and nivolumab (anti-PD-1) [104–107]. Today, the increased knowledge of the molecular mechanisms responsible for accumulation and function of MDSCs in cancer has allowed for the development of therapeutic strategies targeting this cell population. Some strategies for targeting MDSCs include (a) elimination of MDSCs, (b) blocking the accumulation of MDSCs, and (c) inactivation of MDSCs [108] (Fig. 10.4). Several of these strategies have been developed and are currently being tested in the clinic.

Elimination of MDSCs has shown to enhance antitumor efficacy of cancer immunotherapy including adoptive T cell transfer [109]. Conventional anticancer agents, in addition to their direct effect on cancer cells, have demon-



Fig. 10.4 Therapeutic strategies to target MDSCs. The main strategies to target MDSCs involved the elimination, inactivation, or blocking the accumulation and inducing the differentiation of MDSCs. First, preclinical and clinical studies have shown that MDSCs can be eliminated with low doses of chemotherapeutic drugs and with TRAIL agonist resulting in MDSC cell death. Second, in vivo inactivation of MDSCs by targeting their immuno-

suppressive machinery has been demonstrated in several studies. PDE5, NO-realizing aspirin, triterpenoids, and COX-2 inhibitors had shown to inhibit MDSC function by reducing ROS, RNS, and arginase levels. Finally, MDSC accumulation can be inhibited by inducing their differentiation into terminally differentiated cells with immunos-timulatory activity

strated the depletion of MDSCs in tumor-bearing hosts. Gemcitabine was the first chemotherapy agent reported to be capable of eliminating MDSCs in tumor models [110]. This study demonstrated that elimination of MDSCs by gemcitabine improves antitumor responses and enhances the effects of immune therapy resulting in tumor regression. Other chemotherapeutic drugs showing elimination of MDSCs include 5-fluorouracil, cisplatin, doxorubicin, and others [111–113]. Another strategy to eliminate MDSCs is by targeting TNF-related apoptosis-induced ligand-receptors (TRAIL-R) [79]. It was shown that upregulation of TRAIL-R, especially DR5, regulates MDSC survival in tumor-bearing host, and by using a TRAIL-R agonist, MDSCs were selectively eliminated leading to a decrease in tumor growth in a CD8+ T cell-dependent manner. Results from a phase 1 trial showed promising data that supports the use of TRAIL-R agonist in cancer patients [114]. Recently, a novel therapeutic approach to target MDSCs was developed by genetically fusing S100A9-derived peptides with the antibody Fc portion to generate a peptibody [115]. These peptibodies successfully depleted MDSCs from blood, spleen, and tumors of mouse models. However, future studies are needed to further elucidate the mechanisms of action that leads to MDSC elimination (Fig. 10.4).

MDSCs use several mechanisms to suppress antitumor immune responses, and targeting the suppressive machinery of MDSCs has been tested in cancer patients. Increased production of ROS and NO by MDSCs plays a major role in the suppression of CD8⁺ T cell responses. Inhibitors for the production of ROS using ROS scavengers N-acetylcysteine (NAC) and catalase are commonly used to test the function of mouse and human MDSCs ex vivo. NF erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) is a transcription factor involved in the activation of the antioxidant response and in protecting cells against damage caused by ROS. Upregulation of NRF2 by a synthetic triterpenoid was able to neutralize human MDSC activity by reducing production of ROS and dampening their suppressive function ex vivo [116]. However, a recent study from Beury et al. showed that Nrf2^{-/-} MDSCs had a decrease in

MDSCs in two mouse models [117]. Scavengers of NO, such as carboxy-PTIO (C-PTIO), have been tested recently for MDSCs. Treatment with C-PTIO decreased the function of MDSCs and improved the efficacy of adoptive T cell transfer in tumor-bearing mice [118]. Besides blocking ROS and NO, another approach to inactivate MDSC function is to inhibit the catabolic enzymes upregulated by MDSCs including Arg1 and iNOS which are implicated in the suppression of T cell activation and proliferation. [63]. Inhibitors for Arg1 and iNOS have been used extensively in functional assays for MDSCs. Early studies by Rodriguez et al. demonstrated that a specific inhibitor for Arg1, N-hydroxylnor-L-Arg (nor-NOHA), could inhibit tumor growth and decrease Arg1 levels in MDSCs [63, 119]. Arg1 inhibitor, as well as *i*NOS inhibitor L-NG-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA), had shown to reduce MDSC function and improve T cell proliferation in vitro. Moreover, both Arg1 and iNOS levels in PBMCs of cancer patients have been shown to decrease in response to phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5). Several PDE5 inhibitors had been used in the clinic to treat cancer and other conditions showing a decrease in MDSC numbers [120, 121]. Recently, a clinical report indicated that head and neck cancer patients treated with the PDE5 inhibitor tadalafil had a reduction in MDSCs and the expression of both Arg1 and *i*NOS, associated with an increase of T cells [122]. A parallel study demonstrated that treatment with tadalafil decreased not only MDSCs but also Tregs in blood and tumors of patients with head and neck squamous carcinoma [123]. Also, these patients treated with PDE5 inhibitor had an increase in tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. Nitroaspirin, a NO-releasing aspirin, has been shown to induce downregulation of both Arg1 and iNOS and PNT in MDSCs from a colon carcinoma model [124]. Since nitroaspirin was poorly effective as an adjuvant for adoptive T cell transfer, Molon et al. developed AT38 ([3-(aminocarbonyl)furoxan-4-yl]methyl salicylate) to inhibit reactive nitrogen species in MDSCs [20]. In this study, AT38 was shown to inhibit Arg1, iNOS, and PNT in MDSCs as well as inhibition

their suppressive activity compared to Nrf2+/+

of CCL2 nitration leading to an increase in CD8⁺ T cells within the tumor microenvironment. Another major mechanism of immunosuppression by MDSCs is the production of PGE2 through activation of COX-2 [125]. Several COX-2 inhibitors, including celecoxib, have demonstrated a reduction in PGE2 production and inhibition of Arg1 and *i*NOS in MDSCs from different mouse models [16, 17, 125]. Selective COX-2 inhibition by celecoxib reduces MDSC numbers and production of ROS and NO and improved a dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in a mesothelioma model [69] (Fig. 10.4).

In addition to eliminating MDSCs or targeting their immunosuppressive machinery, blocking expansion and inducing differentiation of MDSCs are another therapeutic strategy with potential. It is well established that tumor-secreted factors play a critical role in preventing the differentiation of MDSCs into dendritic cells or macrophages [126, 127]. The differentiation of MDSCs into mature myeloid cell was initially shown by in vitro and in vivo treatment with all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA), a natural oxidative metabolite of vitamin A [128, 129]. Cancer patients treated with ATRA had an improvement in their myeloid/ lymphoid dendritic cell ratio and immune responses [130]. The mechanism involved in MDSC differentiation by ATRA involves the activation of ERK1/ERK2 MAPK kinase that upregulates the expression of glutathione synthase increasing the synthesis of glutathione [131]. Accumulation of glutathione in MDSCs by ATRA reduces the levels of ROS leading to MDSC differentiation into mature myeloid cells. Depletion of MDSCs by ATRA enhanced the effects of a cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung carcinoma [132]. Moreover, treatment with ATRA demonstrated a reduction of MDSC levels and function and improved chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) therapy responses in a sarcoma model [133].

Conclusions

The field of MDSC research has dramatically gained more attention over the past 10 years. MDSCs are critical for the regulation of immune responses in cancer and other pathological conditions. These cells may serve as a powerful biomarker for the selection of immunotherapies or anticancer therapies for cancer patients. In addition, eradicating MDSCs from cancer patients could improve the effects of recent and upcoming cancer immunotherapies.

References

- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:162–74.
- Solito S, Marigo I, Pinton L, Damuzzo V, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014;1319:47–65.
- Yang L, DeBusk LM, Fukuda K, Fingleton B, Green-Jarvis B, Shyr Y, Matrisian LM, Carbone DP, Lin LC. Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor gr+CD11b+ cells in tumor-bearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Cell. 2004;4:409–21.
- Condamine T, Ramachandran I, Youn JI, Gabrilovich DI. Regulation of tumor metastasis by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Annu Rev Med. 2015;66:97–110.
- Haile LA, Greten TF, Korangy F. Immune suppression: the hallmark of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Immunol Investig. 2012;41:581–94.
- Talmadge JE, Gabrilovich DI. History of myeloidderived suppressor cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13:739–52.
- Dolcetti L, Peranzoni E, Ugel S, Marigo I, Fernandez Gomez A, Mesa C, Geilich M, et al. Hierarchy of immunosuppressive strength among myeloidderived suppressor cell subsets is determined by GM-CSF. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:22–35.
- Youn JI, Nagaraj S, Collazo M, Gabrilovich DI. Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. J Immunol. 2008;181:5791–802.
- 9. Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The nature of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2016;37:208–20.
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloidderived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. Nat Commun. 2016;7(1):10.
- Dumitru CA, Moses K, Trellakis S, Lang S, Brandau S. Neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: Immunophenotyping, cell biology and clinical relevance in human oncology. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61:1155–67.

- Condamine T, Dominguez G, Youn J, Kossenkov A, Mony S, Alicea-Torres K, et al. Lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor 1 distinguishes population of human polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients. Sci Immunol. 2016;1:1–15.
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancerexpanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFβ1. J Immunol. 2009;182(1):240–9.
- Elkabets M, Ribeiro VS, Dinarello CA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Di Santo JP, Apte RN, et al. IL-1β regulates a novel myeloid-derived suppressor cell subset that impairs NK cell development and function. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(12):3347–57.
- 15. Li Y, Tu Z, Qian S, Fung JJ, Markowitz SD, Kusner LL, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as a potential therapy for experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis. J Immunol. 2014;193:2127–34.
- Rodriguez PC, Hernandez CP, Quiceno D, Dubinett SM, Zabaleta J, Ochoa JB, et al. Arginase I in myeloid suppressor cells is induced by COX-2 in lung carcinoma. J Exp Med. 2005;202(7):931–9.
- Kusmartsev S, Gabrilobivch DI. STAT1 signaling regulates tumor-associated macrophages-mediated T cell deletion. J Immunol. 2005;174(8):4880–91.
- Nagaraj S, Gupta K, Pisarev V, Kinarsky L, Sherman S, Kang L, et al. Altered recognition of antigen is a mechanism of CD8+ T cell tolerance in cancer. Nat Med. 2007;13(7):828–35.
- Lu T, Ramakrishmanm R, Altiok S, Youn JL, Cheng P, Celis E, et al. Tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells induce tumor cell resistance to cytotoxic T cells in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:4015–29.
- Molon B, Ugel S, Del Pozzo F, Soldani C, Zilio S, Avella D, et al. Chemokine nitration prevents intratumoral infiltration of antigen-specific T cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1949–62.
- Corzo CA, Cotter MJ, Cheng P, Cheng F, Kusmartsev S, Sotomayor E, et al. Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. 2009;182(9):5693–701.
- 22. Terabe M, Matsui S, Park JM, Mamura M, Noben-Trauth N, Donaldson DD, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta production and myeloid cells are an effector mechanism through which CD1d-restricted T cells block cytotoxic T lymphocyte-mediated tumor immunosurveillance: abrogation prevents tumor recurrence. J Exp Med. 2003;198:1741–52.
- 23. Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Cross-talk between myeloidderived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. J Immunol. 2007;179(2):977–83.
- 24. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;190(7):3783–97.

- 25. Srivastava MK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Rodriguez P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T cell activation by depleting Cystine and cysteine. Cancer Res. 2010;70(1):68–77.
- Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, et al. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. Cancer Res. 2006;66(2):1123–31.
- 27. Pan PY, Ma G, Weber KJ, Ozao-Choy J, Wang G, Yin B, et al. Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(1):99–108.
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):253–68.
- Movahedi K, Guilliams M, Van den Bossche J, Van den Bergh R, Gysemans C, Beschin A, et al. Identification of discrete tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations with distinct T cell-suppressive activity. Blood. 2008;111:4233–44.
- Linday D, Gielen P, Kroesen M, Wesseling P, Adema GJ. The immunosuppressive tumour network: myeloid-derived suppressor cells, regulatory T cells and natural killer T cells. Immunol. 2013;138(2):105–15.
- Haverkamp JM, Crist SA, Elzey BD, Cimen C, Ratliff TL. In vivo suppressive function of myeloidderived suppressor cells is limited to the inflammatory site. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(3):749–59.
- Maenhout SK, Van-Lint S, Emeagi PU, Thielemans K, Aerts JL. Enhanced suppressive capacity of tumor-infiltrating myeloid-derived suppressor cells compared with their peripheral counterparts. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:1077–90.
- Kumar V, Gabrilovich DI. Hypoxia-inducible factors in regulation of immune responses in tumour microenvironment. Immunol. 2014;143(4):512–9.
- Condamine T, Gabrilovich DI. Molecular mechanisms regulating myeloid-derived suppressor cell differentiation and function. Trends Immunol. 2011;32(1):19–25.
- 35. Lechner MG, Liebertz DJ, Epstein AL. Characterization of cytokine-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells from normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Immunol. 2010;185:2273–84.
- Condamine T, Mastio J, Gabrilovich DI. Transcriptional regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2015;98(6):913–22.
- 37. Corzo CA, Condamine T, Lu L, Cotter MJ, Youn JI, Cheng P, et al. HIF-1α regulates function and differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. J Exp Med. 2010;207(11):2439–53.
- Kumar V, Cheng P, Condamine T, Mony S, Languino LR, McCraffey JC, et al. CD45 phosphatase inhibits STAT3 transcription factor activity in myeloid cells and promotes tumor-associated macrophage differentiation. Immunity. 2016;44(2):303–15.

- 39. Mattei F, Schiavoni G, Sestili P, Spadaro F, Fragale A, Sistigu A, et al. IRF-8 controls melanoma progression by regulating the cross talk between cancer and immune cells within the tumor microenvironment. Neoplasia. 2012;14:1223–35.
- Waight JD, Netherby C, Hensen ML, Miller A, Hu Q, Liu S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell development is regulated by a STAT/IRF-8 axis. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:4464–78.
- Marigo I, Bosio E, Solito S, Mesa C, Fernandez A, Dolcetti L, et al. Tumor-induced tolerance and immune suppression depend on the C/EBPbeta transcription factor. Immunity. 2010;32:790–802.
- 42. Youn JI, Kumar V, Collazo M, Nefedova Y, Condamine T, Cheng P, et al. Epigenetic silencing of retinoblastoma gene regulates pathologic differentiation of myeloid cells in cancer. Nat Immunol. 2013;14:211–20.
- 43. Casbon AJ, Reynaud D, Park C, Khuc E, Gan DD, Schepers K, et al. Invasive breast cancer reprograms early myeloid differentiation in the bone marrow to generate immunosuppressive neutrophils. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:566–75.
- 44. Cheng P, Kumar V, Liu H, Youn JI, Fishman M, Sherman S, et al. Effects of notch signaling on regulation of myeloid cell differentiation in cancer. Cancer Res. 2014;74:141–52.
- 45. Wang SH, Lu QY, Guo YH, Song YY, Liu PJ, Wang YC. The blockage of notch signalling promoted the generation of polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells with lower immunosuppression. Eur J Cancer. 2016;68:90–105.
- 46. Antonioli L, Blandizzi C, Pacher P, Haskó G. Immunity, inflammation and cancer: a leading role for adenosine. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13:842–57.
- 47. Ryzhov S, Novitskiy SV, Goldstein AE, Biktasova A, Blackburn MR, Biaggioni I, et al. Adenosinergic regulation of the expansion and immunosuppressive activity of CD11b+Gr1+ cells. J Immunol. 2011;187:6120–9.
- 48. Iannone R, Miele L, Maiolino P, Pinto A, Morello S. Blockade of A2b adenosine receptor reduces tumor growth and immune suppression mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a mouse model of melanoma. Neoplasia. 2013;15:1400–9.
- 49. Van Deventer HW, Burgents JE, Wu QP, Woodford RM, Brickey WJ, Allen IC, et al. The inflammasome component NLRP3 impairs antitumor vaccine by enhancing the accumulation of tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2010;70:10161–9.
- Hong EH, Chang SY, Lee BR, Kim YS, Lee JM, Kang CY, et al. Blockade of Myd88 signaling induces antitumor effects by skewing the immunosuppressive function of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Int J Cancer. 2013;132:2839–48.
- Yang Y, Zhang R, Xia F, Zou T, Huang A, Xiong S, et al. LPS converts gr-1(+)CD115(+) myeloid-

derived suppressor cells from M2 to M1 via P38 MAPK. Exp Cell Res. 2013;319:1774–83.

- 52. Diao J, Yang X, Song X, Chen S, He Y, Wang Q, et al. Exosomal Hsp70 mediates immunosuppressive activity of the myeloid-derived suppressor cells via phosphorylation of Stat3. Med Oncol. 2015;32(35):1–10.
- 53. Tu S, Bhagat G, Cui G, Takaishi S, Kurt-Jones EA, Rickman B, et al. Overexpression of interleukinlbeta induces gastric inflammation and cancer and mobilizes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mice. Cancer Cell. 2008;14:408–19.
- Bunt SK, Clements VK, Hanson EM, Sinha P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Inflammation enhances myeloid-derived suppressor cell cross-talk by signaling through toll-like receptor 4. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;85:996–1004.
- 55. Sade-Feldman M, Kanterman J, Ish-Shalom E, Elnekave M, Horwitz E, Baniyash M. Tumor necrosis factor-α blocks differentiation and enhances suppressive activity of immature myeloid cells during chronic inflammation. Immunity. 2013;38:541–54.
- 56. Hu X, Li B, Li X, Zhao X, Wan L, Lin G, et al. Transmembrane TNF-α promotes suppressive activities of myeloid-derived suppressor cells via TNFR2. J Immunol. 2014;192:1320–31.
- Polz J, Remke A, Weber S, Schmidt D, Weber-Steffens D, Pietryga-Krieger A, et al. Myeloid suppressor cells require membrane TNFR2 expression for suppressive activity. Immun Inflamm Dis. 2014;2(2):121–30.
- Zhao X, Rong L, Zhao X, Li X, Liu X, Deng J, et al. TNF signaling drives myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:4094–104.
- 59. Gallina G, Dolcetti L, Serafini P, De Santo C, Marigo I, Colombo MP, et al. Tumors induce a subset of inflammatory monocytes with immunosuppressive activity on CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2777–90.
- Sinha P, Parker KH, Horn L, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell function is independent of IFN-γ and IL-4Rα. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42:2052–9.
- Schouppe E, Mommer C, Movahedi K, Laoui D, Morias Y, Gysemans C, et al. Tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets exert either inhibitory or stimulatory effects on distinct CD8+ T-cell activation events. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43:2930–42.
- 62. Medina-Echeverz J, Haile LA, Zhao F, Gamrekelashvili J, Ma C, Métais JY, et al. IFN-γ regulates survival and function of tumor-induced CD11b+ gr-1high myeloid derived suppressor cells by modulating the anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl2a1. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44:2457–67.
- Bronte V, Serafini P, De Santo C, Marigo I, Tosello V, Mazzoni A, et al. IL-4-induced arginase 1 suppresses alloreactive T cells in tumor-bearing mice. J Immunol. 2003;170:270–8.

- 64. Sinha P, Clements VK, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Interleukin-13-regulated M2 macrophages in combination with myeloid suppressor cells block immune surveillance against metastasis. Cancer Res. 2005;65:11743–51.
- 65. Roth F, De La Fuente AC, Vella JL, Zoso A, Inverardi L, Serafini P. Aptamer-mediated blockade of IL4Rα triggers apoptosis of MDSCs and limits tumor progression. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1373–83.
- 66. Donkor MK, Lahue E, Hoke TA, Shafer LR, Coskun U, Solheim JC, et al. Mammary tumor heterogeneity in the expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Int Immunopharmacol. 2009;9:937–48.
- 67. Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Lesnock J, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Blood. 2011;118:5498–505.
- Obermajer N, Kalinski P. Generation of myeloidderived suppressor cells using prostaglandin E2. Transplantation Res. 2012;1(15):1–6.
- 69. Veltman JD, Lambers ME, van Nimwegen M, Hendriks RW, Hoogsteden HC, Aerts JG, et al. COX-2 inhibition improves immunotherapy and is associated with decreased numbers of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mesothelioma. Celecoxib influences MDSC function. BMC Cancer. 2010;10(464):1–13.
- Fujita M, Kohanbash G, Fellows-Mayle W, Hamilton RL, Komohara Y, Decker SA, et al. COX-2 blockade suppresses gliomagenesis by inhibiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71:2664–74.
- 71. Mao Y, Poschke I, Wennerberg E, Pico de Coaña Y, Egyhazi Brage S, Schultz I, et al. Melanoma-educated CD14+ cells acquire a myeloid-derived suppressor cell phenotype through COX-2-dependent mechanisms. Cancer Res. 2013;73:3877–87.
- Obermajer N, Wong JL, Edwards RP, Odunsi K, Moysich K, Kalinski P. PGE(2)-driven induction and maintenance of cancer-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Immunol Investig. 2012;41:635–57.
- 73. Parker KH, Sinha P, Horn LA, Clements VK, Yang H, Li J, et al. HMGB1 enhances immune suppression by facilitating the differentiation and suppressive activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2014;74(20):5723–33.
- Parker KH, Horn LA, Ostrand-Rosenber S. Highmobility group box protein 1 promotes the survival of myeloid-derived suppressor cells by inducing autophagy. J Leukoc Biol. 2016;100(3):463–70.
- 75. Su Z, Ni P, She P, Liu Y, Richard SA, Xu W, et al. Bio-HMGB1 from breast cancer contributes to M-MDSC differentiation from bone marrow progenitor cells and facilitates conversion of monocytes into MDSC-like cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66:391–401.
- Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, Bronte V, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct

target of HIF-1 α , and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. J Exp Med. 2014;211(5):781–90.

- Mahadevan NR, Zanetti M. Tumor stress inside out: cell-extrinsic effects of the unfolded protein response in tumor cells modulate the immunological landscape of the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol. 2011;187(9):4403–9.
- Bettigole SE, Glimcher LH. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2015;33:107–38.
- Condamine T, Kumar V, Ramachandran IR, Youn JI, Celis E, Finnberg N, et al. ER stress regulates myeloid-derived suppressor cell fate through TRAIL-R-mediated apoptosis. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(6):2626–39.
- Lee BR, Chang SY, Hong EH, Kwon BE, Kim HM, Kim YJ, et al. Elevated endoplasmic reticulum stress reinforced immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment via myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncotarget. 2014;5(23):12331–45.
- Thevenot PT, Sierra RA, Raber PL, Al-Khami AA, Trillo-Tinoco J, Zarreii P, et al. The stress-response sensor chop regulates the function and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(3):389–401.
- Cubillos JR, Mohamed E, Rodriguez PC. Unfolding anti-tumor immunity: ER stress responses sculpt tolerogenic myeloid cells in cancer. J ImmunoTher Cancer. 2017;5(5):1–10.
- Condamine T, Gabrilovich DI. Can the suppressive activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells be "chop"ped? Immunity. 2014;41(3):341–2.
- 84. Choksawangkarn W, Graham LM, Burke M, Lee SB, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C, et al. Peptidebased systems analysis of inflammation induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells reveals diverse signaling pathways. Proteomics. 2016;16:1881–8.
- Gato M, Blanco-Luquin I, Zudaire M, de Morentin XM, Perez-Valderrama E, Zabaleta A, et al. Drafting the proteome landscape of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Proteomics. 2016;16:367–78.
- Chornoguz O, Grmai L, Sinha P, Artemenko KA, Zubarev RA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Proteomic pathway analysis reveals inflammation increases myeloid-derived suppressor cell resistance to apoptosis. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2011;10:1–9.
- 87. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Mishalian I, Singhal S, Cheng G, Kapoor V, et al. Transcriptomic analysis comparing tumor-associated neutrophils with granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells and normal neutrophils. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):1–13.
- Youn JI, Collazo M, Shalova IN, Biswas SK, Gabrilovich DI. Characterization of the nature of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;91(1):167–81.
- Ugel S, De Sanctis F, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Tumor-induced myeloid deviation: when myeloid-

derived suppressor cells meet tumor-associated macrophages. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(9):3365–76.

- Strauss L, Sangaletti S, Consonni FM, Szebeni G, Morlacchi S, Totaro MG, et al. RORC1 regulates tumor-promoting "emergency" Granulo-Monocytopoiesis. Cancer Cell. 2015;28:253–69.
- Lawrence T, Natoli G. Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:750–61.
- Coffelt SB, Wellenstein MD, de Visser KE. Neutrophils in cancer: neutral no more. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16:431–46.
- Fridlender Z, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L, et al. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype by TGF-beta: n1 versus N2 TAN. Cancer Cell. 2009;16:183–94.
- 94. Andzinski L, Kasnitz N, Stahnke S, Wu CF, Gereke M, von Köckritz-Blickwede M, et al. Type I IFNs induce anti-tumor polarization of tumor associated neutrophils in mice and human. Int J Cancer. 2016;138:1982–93.
- Moses K, Brandau S. Human neutrophils: their role in cancer and relation to myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Semin Immunol. 2016;28:187–96.
- 96. Cimen Bozkus C, Elzey BD, Crist SA, Ellies LG, Ratliff TL. Expression of cationic amino acid transporter 2 is required for myeloid-derived suppressor cell-mediated control of T cell immunity. J Immunol. 2015;195:5237–50.
- 97. Mairhofer DG, Ortner D, Tripp CH, Schaffenrath S, Fleming V, Heger L, et al. Impaired gp100specific CD8(+) T-cell responses in the presence of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a spontaneous mouse melanoma model. J Invest Dermatol. 2015;135:2785–93.
- 98. Eruslanov EB, Bhojnagarwala PS, Quatromoni JG, Stephen TL, Ranganathan A, Deshpande C, et al. tumor-associated neutrophils stimulate T cell responses in early-stage human lung cancer. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(12):5466–80.
- Ortiz M, Lu L, Ramachandran I, Gabrilovich D. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the development of lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:50–8.
- 100. Zhang S, Ma X, Zhu C, Liu L, Wang G, Yuan X. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in patients with solid tumors: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2016;11:1–11.
- 101. Finke J, Ko J, Rini B, Rayman P, Ireland J, Cohen P. MDSC as a mechanism of tumor escape from sunitinib mediated anti-angiogenic therapy. Int Immunopharmacol. 2011;11(7):856–61.
- 102. Vetsika EK, Koinins F, Gioulbasani M, Aggouraki D, Koutoulaki A, Skalidaki E, et al. A circulating subpopulation of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells as an independent prognostic/predictive factor in untreated non-small lung cancer patients. J Immunol Res. 2014;2014:1–12.
- 103. Ramachandran IR, Condamine T, Lin C, Herlihy SE, Garfall A, Vogl DT, et al. Bone marrow PMN-

MDSCs and neutrophils are functionally similar in protection of multiple myeloma from chemotherapy. Cancer Lett. 2016;371:117–24.

- 104. Meyer C, Cagnon L, Costa-Nunes CM, Baumgaertner P, Montandon N, Leyvraz L. Frequencies of circulating MDSC correlate with clinical outcome of melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63:247–57.
- 105. Tarhini AA, Edington H, Butterfield LH, Lin Y, Shuai Y, Tawbi H, et al. Immune monitoring of the circulation and the tumor microenvironment in patients with regionally advanced melanoma receiving neo-adjuvant Ipilimumab. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):1–9.
- 106. Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, Smith JP, Zhang H, Morse E, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-mediated MDSC tumor trafficking enhances anti-PD1 efficacy. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(237):1–13.
- 107. Weber J, Gibney G, Kudchadkar R, Yu B, Cheng P, Martinez AJ, et al. Phase I/II study of metastatic melanoma patients treated with Nivolumab who had progressed after Ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(4):345–53.
- Marvel D, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment: expect the unexpected. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(9):3356–64.
- 109. Ugel S, Peranzoni E, Desantis G, Chioda M, Walter S, Weinschenk T, et al. Immune tolerance to tumor antigens occurs in a specialized environment of the spleen. Cell Rep. 2012;2(3):628–39.
- 110. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumorbearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:6713–21.
- 111. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5- fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70:3052–61.
- 112. Naiditch H, Shurin MR, Shurin GV. Targeting myeloid regulatory cells in cancer by chemotherapeutic agents. Immunol Res. 2011;50(2-3):276-85.
- 113. Alizadeh D, Trad M, Hanke NT, Larmonier CB, Janikashvili N, Bonotte B, et al. Doxorubicin eliminates myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhances the efficacy of adoptive T cell transfer in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2014;74(1):104–18.
- 114. Dominguez G, Condamine T, Mony S, Hashimoto A, Wang F, Liu Q, et al. Selective targeting of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients using DS-8273a, an agonistic TRAIL-R2 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;23:2942–50.
- 115. Qin H, Lerman B, Sakamaki I, Wei G, Cha S, Rao SS, et al. Generation of a new therapeutic peptide that depletes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. Nat Med. 2014;20(6):676–81.
- 116. Nagaraj S, Youn JI, Weber H, Iclozan C, Lu L, Cotter MJ, et al. Anti-inflammatory triterpenoid blocks immune suppressive function of MDSCs and

improves immune response in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(6):1812–23.

- 117. Beury DW, Carter KA, Nelson C, Sinha P, Hanson E, Nyandjo M, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell survival and function are regulated by the transcription factor Nrf2. J Immunol. 2016;196(8):3470–8.
- 118. Hirano K, Hosoi A, Matsushita H, Iino T, Ueha S, Matsushima K, et al. The nitric oxide radical scavenger carboxy-PTIO reduces the immunosuppressive activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and potentiates the antitumor activity of adoptive cytotoxic T lymphocyte immunotherapy. OncoImmunol. 2015;4(8):1–12.
- 119. Rodriguez PC, Quiceno D, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5839–49.
- Noonan KA, Ghosh N, Rudraraju L, Bui M, Borrello I. Targeting immune suppression with PDE5 inhibition in end-stage multiple myeloma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:725–31.
- 121. Serafini P, Meckel K, Kelso M, Noonan K, Califano J, Koch W, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition augments endogenous antitumor immunity by reducing myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. J Exp Med. 2006;203(12):2691–702.
- 122. Califano JA, Khan Z, Noonan KA, Rudraraju L, Zhang Z, Wang H, et al. Tadalafil augments tumor specific immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:30–8.
- 123. Weed DT, Vella JL, Reis IM, De la Fuente AC, Gomez C, Sargi Z, et al. Tadalafil reduces myeloidderived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells and promotes tumor immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:39–48.
- 124. De Santo C, Serafini P, Marigo I, Dolcetti L, Bolla M, Del Soldato P, et al. Nitroaspirin corrects immune dysfunction in tumor-bearing hosts and promotes

tumor eradication by cancer vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:4185–90.

- 125. Sinha P, Clements VK, Fulton AM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Prostaglandin E2 promotes tumor progression by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:4507–13.
- 126. Gabrilovich D, Ishida T, Oyama T, Ran S, Kravtsov V, Nadaf S, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the development of dendritic cells and dramatically affects the differentiation of multiple hematopoietic lineages in vivo. Blood. 1998;92:4150–66.
- 127. Kusmartsev S, Gabrilovich DI. Inhibition of myeloid cell differentiation in cancer: the role of reactive oxygen species. J Leukoc Biol. 2003;74(2):186–96.
- 128. Almand B, Clark JI, Nikitina E, van Beynen J, English NR, Knight SC, et al. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol. 2001;166(1):678–89.
- 129. Kusmartsev S, Cheng F, Yu B, Nefedova Y, Sotomayor E, Lush R, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumorbearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. Cancer Res. 2003;63(15):4441–9.
- 130. Mirza N, Fishman M, Ficke I, Dunn M, Neuger AM, Frost TJ, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid improves differentiation of myeloid cells and immune response in cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2006;66:9299–307.
- 131. Nefedova Y, Fishman M, Sherman S, Wang X, Beg AA, Gabrilovich DI. Mechanism of all-trans retinoic acid effect on tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67(22):11021–8.
- 132. Iclozan C, Antonia S, Chiappori A, Chen DT, Gabrilovich DI. Therapeutic regulation of myeloidderived suppressor cells and immune response to cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;62(5):909–18.
- 133. Long AH, Highfill SL, Cui Y, Smith JP, Walker AJ, Ramakrishna S, et al. Reduction of MDSCs with all-trans retinoic acid improves CAR therapy efficacy for sarcomas. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(10):869–80.

Effect of Pharmaceutical Compounds on Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

11

Mélanie Bruchard and Francois Ghiringhelli

Contents

11.1	Introduction	199
11.2	Impact of Cytotoxic Chemotherapies on MDSCs	200
11.3	Effect of Chemotherapies on MDSCs in Human	203
11.4	Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors	203
11.5	Other FDA-Approved Molecules with Impact on MDSCs	205
11.6	Drugs in Developments	206
11.7	Combination with Checkpoint Inhibitors	208
Conclusion		209
References		

M. Bruchard INSERM UMR1231, Dijon, France

Department of Medical Oncology, Center GF Leclerc, Dijon, France

F. Ghiringhelli (⊠) GIMI Genetic and Immunology Medical Institute, Dijon, France e-mail: fghiringhelli@cgfl.fr

11.1 Introduction

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are a population of myeloid origin that exert immunosuppressive functions. MDSCs are distinct from terminally differentiated myeloid cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), or neutrophils. MDSCs are hematopoietic cells generated in the bone marrow that can be divided into two subtypes. Monocytic MDSCs come from the macrophages/DC progenitor, while polymorphonuclear (PMN) MDSCs arise from the granulocytic arm of myeloid differentiation. Both subtypes can be found in humans and mice. In humans, M-MDSCs are characterized by their expression of CD14, CD11b, and CD33 and their lack of lineage marker as well as a low expression for HLA-DR. PMN-MDSCs express CD15, CD11b, and CD33 and are negative for lineage markers and HLA-DR. PMN-MDSC could be distinguished from PMN thanks to their difference in density. Although additional markers have been studied to further identify MDSCs, none of them is yet considered as a specific MDSC marker. However, recently, Dmitry Gabrilovich's group demonstrated that the LOX1 marker could differentiate PMN-MDSC from PMN in human [1]. In mice, different molecules are used to delineate MDSCs populations. CD11b and Gr-1 expression identify both subsets of MDSC. Gr-1 is a combination of two markers, Ly6C and Ly6G. Using these, MDSC populations can be separated more accurately,

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_11

M-MDSCs being Ly6C+ and Ly6G, while PMN-MDSCs are found out to be Ly6G+ and Ly6C.

In healthy individuals, MDSCs are almost undetectable. However, under certain circumstances such as acute infection (sepsis choc), chronic infection (tuberculosis), or cancer, MDSCs accumulate. MDSC expansion involves multiple factors like GM-CSF, G-CSF, SCF, or S100A8 and S100A9 that can be secreted among others by tumor cells [2]. The uprising of MDSCs in cancer patients can be seen in the tumor bed and the secondary lymphoid organs but also in the bone marrow where accumulation of MDSCs has been observed in several studies [3, 4]. In both humans and mouse, PMN-MDSCs represent the majority of MDSCs in most type of cancer. MDSCs support tumor growth and metastasis in various ways. MDSCs help establish a microenvironment favorable to tumor growth, thanks to their production of proangiogenic mediators like VEGF, bFGF, Mmp9, or PDGF, critical molecules for the development of new vessels that are essential to maintain tumor growth. MDSCs also play an important role in the initiation of metastasis process. A study showed an increase in MDSCs in the lung of mice bearing mammary adenocarcinoma up to 2 weeks before the arrival of tumor cells [5], an increase in MDSCs that was dependent on the production of Mmp9. The proinflammatory proteins S100A8 and S100A9 whose organ expression is induced by the primary tumors can attract MDSCs to a premetastasized niche. As MDSCs accumulate in a new organ, their production of S100A8 and S100A9 can then amplify the mechanism and favor tumor cell migration and metastasis [6, 7]. Recent studies also revealed MDSC potential to enhance stemness of cancer cells, thus facilitating their epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), supporting metastasis [8].

Aside from promoting tumor cell growth and metastasis, MDSCs also support the tumor thanks to their immunosuppressive properties. MDSCs exert immunosuppression through multiple mechanisms. MDSCs can produce IL-10 and TGF-beta [9] and induce regulatory T cells [10]; they also produce reactive oxygen species like O_2^- and H_2O_2 [11] and NO [12]. MDSCs lower

TCR formation and induce T cell cycle arrest by depleting the milieu of L-arginine, thanks to their expression of Arg1 [13] or by reducing the levels of available tryptophan because of their indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) activity [14]. M-MDSCs and PMN-MDSCs do not possess exactly the same immunosuppressive mechanisms. M-MDSCs, which have a higher immunosuppressive activity than PMN-MDSCs, express Arg1 and produce IL-10, TGF-beta, and NO when PMN-MDSCs tend to produce more ROS that are short-lived molecules, explaining the lesser suppressive potential of PMN-MDSCs compared to M-MDSCs [15]. The ratio between PMN-MDSCs and M-MDSCs, in favor of PMN-MDSCs at the periphery in most cancers, has been shown to notably vary inside tumor bed depending on the type of cancer, especially in humans.

MDSCs are one of the major immunosuppressive components in tumor-bearing animals and patients. Consequently, their elimination or their differentiation into effective dendritic cells and macrophages is a major issue in immunooncology. Many data show that such a strategy can enhance antitumor immunity, allowing T cells to attack tumor cells and reduce the tumor burden. We will here focus on the various ways existing to reduce MDSCs, using chemotherapies and upcoming immunotherapies.

11.2 Impact of Cytotoxic Chemotherapies on MDSCs

Some chemotherapies have been shown to directly kill MDSCs. Gemcitabine is a chemotherapy consisting in a nucleoside analog of the cytidine that acts as an antimetabolite agent. Gemcitabine is used to treat various cancers like ovarian, pancreatic, lung, and breast cancer and cholangiocarcinoma. In 2005, Suzuki made the first demonstration that gemcitabine-based chemotherapy could specifically target MDSC [16]. Using a dose equivalent to classical dose used to treat human patients, it was shown that gemcitabine could, in the spleen of tumor-bearing mice, decrease in a selective manner the number of MDSCs without impacting number and function of CD4 cells, CD8 cells, NK cell macrophages, or B cells. The antitumor activity of CD8+ T cells and NK cells after gemcitabine was increased, and less immunosuppression could be observed in the spleen of gemcitabine-treated mice [16]. However, no major impact of gemcitabine alone was observed on the tumor growth. These results were confirmed in 2009 by another team using a different tumor model. In addition to seeing a drop in the percentage of MDSCs in the spleen, they also observed a drop in MDSC both in the bone marrow and peripheral blood. The kinetic of treatment administration is of particular importance [17]. Only an early treatment with gemcitabine could delay tumor growth, suggesting that compensatory mechanisms limit the antitumor effect of MDSC depletion in established tumors.

Docetaxel and paclitaxel are the drugs of the taxane family used in clinic for cancer treatment. These two drugs both target tubulin, preventing the depolymerization of microtubules and thereby blocking mitosis. Docetaxel is a commonly used anticancer drug and was primarily developed for use against breast cancer in the 1990s. Now taxanes are used to treat various types of cancer including lung cancer, digestive cancer, and ovarian cancer. Docetaxel was demonstrated to have an effect on MDSCs. Mice bearing the mammary tumor model 4T1 and treated with docetaxel had significantly less MDSCs in their spleen and displayed an increased CTL response [18]. The decrease in MDSCs was partly due to the cytotoxic effect of docetaxel on PMN-MDSCs, while M-MDSCs differentiated toward an M1-like phenotype. M-MDSCs were later found to be resistant to docetaxel, thanks to their expression of secretory/cytoplasmic clusterin (sCLU) which expression prevented the induction of the apoptotic cascade by taxanes [19]. The analog of docetaxel, paclitaxel, has a cytotoxic activity weaker than its analog, but this drug is also largely used for the treatment of lung, breast, and ovarian cancers. Tumor-bearing mice, treated with paclitaxel at a low dose with non-cytotoxic effect, showed a decrease of MDSCs compared with non-treated mice. This

decrease in MDSC was the consequence of their differentiation into DCs, and no MDSC cell death could be detected [20]. Using a model of spontaneous melanoma, the same team showed that low non-cytotoxic dose of paclitaxel could decrease the accumulation of MDSCs as well as their immunosuppressive activities (with less TNF-alpha and less S100A9 produced by the remaining MDSCs) [21].

Doxorubicin is a chemotherapy belonging to the anthracycline family of drugs. It interacts with DNA by intercalation and inhibits the progression of the topoisomerase II, thus blocking DNA replication. Doxorubicin is commonly used to treat sarcomas, breast cancers, leukemias, and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Doxorubicin has been shown to selectively deplete MDSCs in the spleen, blood, and tumor bed of 4T1 mammary cancer-bearing mice. The residual MDSCs showed impaired suppressive functions, with a lesser production of ROS, arginase-1, and IDO, while a higher proportion of CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes and NK cells were observed [22]. However, it was recently shown that doxorubicin could also induce the secretion of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) by cancer cells like 4T1 cells. PGE2 stimulates MDSC expansion and accumulation reestablishing a subsequent MDSC population and immunosuppression in the tumor-bearing host [23]. Such data underline that anthracyclines may have a contrasting effect on MDSCs.

Trabectedin is a cytotoxic agent that binds to the minor groove of DNA inducing a perturbation of the cell cycle. Trabectedin caused selective depletion of monocytes/macrophages in blood, spleens, and tumors, with an associated reduction of angiogenesis in different experimental models. Trabectedin activates caspase-8-dependent apoptosis selectivity in monocytic myeloid cells and not neutrophilic ones because of a differential expression of signaling and decoy TRAIL receptors. Such data underline the possibility to use trabectedin to target tumorinfiltrated M-MDSCs [24].

Local irradiation could change the tumor microenvironment and remove immunosuppressive cells. In the CT26 and MC38 mouse colon carcinoma models, high-dose radiation transformed the

M. Bruchard and F. Ghiringhelli

immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment resulting in an intense CD8(+) T cell tumor infiltrate and a loss of MDSC accumulation [25]. In a mechanistic point of view, CD8⁺ T cell production of IFN- γ , induced by radiotherapy, controlled the survival and infiltration of MDSCs in the tumor and reversed the immunosuppressive environment. Furthermore, antitumor immune CD8⁺ T cells can kill MDSCs via their production of TNF- α , IFN- γ , or expression of FasL and thereby reduce MDSC infiltration in tumor. In contrast, low dosage of radiotherapy did not positively affect MDSC number.

5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) is a thymidylate synthase inhibitor, preventing the synthesis of thymidine, a nucleoside essential for DNA replication. This antimetabolite drug is used to treat most digestive cancers and is a major drug for colon cancer. 5-FU can selectively deplete MDSCs, both PMN and monocytic, in several mouse cancer models (Fig. 11.1). MDSC depletion is due to

the triggering of apoptosis after a 5-FU treatment. 5-FU selectively kills MDSCs because of their weak expression of the target enzyme of 5-FU, the thymidylate synthase. 5-FU is a competitive inhibitor of thymidylate synthase. Cells with a low expression of thymidylate synthase are very sensitive to cell death induced by 5-FU. In tumor-bearing mice, a 5-FU treatment significantly delayed tumor growth and induced a specific CD8 T cell activation in tumor bed [26]. A closer look at the impact of 5-FU on immune populations in tumor-bearing mice showed an increase in the number of Th17 cells 10 days after a 5-FU treatment accompanied by a return of the tumor growth. This increase in Th17 cells was due to the production of IL-1beta by dying MDSCs. Indeed, 5-FU induced BAX activation and lysosome permeabilization in MDSCs. The protein cathepsin B was released from the lysosomes into the cytoplasm where it interacted with NLRP3 and triggered the formation and activation



Fig. 11.1 5-FU-dependent depletion of MDSCs. 5-FU specifically targets and depletes MDSCs, reducing the overall immunosuppression. However, 5-FU treatment also induces a permeabilization of the lysosome in MDSCs. Cathepsin B can then escape the lysosome and enter the cytoplasm where it interacts with NLRP3, induc-

ing the formation and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. The activated NLRP3 inflammasome cleaves the pro-IL-1 β into active IL-1 β that activates CD4 T cells to produce more IL-17, enhancing neoangiogenesis and tumor growth of the NLRP3 inflammasome, leading to the production of cleaved and bioactive IL-1beta. The IL-1beta would then promote Th17 polarization of CD4 T cells. In vitro stimulation of CD4 T cells with 5-FU-treated MDSC promoted their capacity to produce IL-17. In vivo, 5-FU induced accumulation of Th17 cells in tumor-bearing mice in a NLRP3-dependent manner. Interestingly IL-17 promoted angiogenesis, and this neoangiogenesis seemed to be an essential effector of the deleterious effect of 5-FU [27]. The use of IL-1RA, a soluble receptor of IL-1, along with 5-FU, could block the action of IL-1beta. Such therapy reduced the generation of Th17 cells and neoangiogenesis and dramatically improved the efficacy of 5-FU on the tumor growth.

The impact of chemotherapies on MDSCs is often a double-edged sword, tumor cells and immunosuppressive immune cells being masters at finding a loophole allowing for the return of an immunosuppressive tumor environment as seen here. We should be careful not to make any precocious conclusion before the full picture is before our eyes.

11.3 Effect of Chemotherapies on MDSCs in Human

Studies in humans on the effect of chemotherapies on MSDCs have sometimes shown contradictory data. In patients with a pancreatic cancer, 5-FU and gemcitabine were first shown to reduce MDSC percentage in about 40% of patients and in most of patients when associated with the GV101 vaccine using GM-CSF as an adjuvant. MDSC number did however come up in some patients, and this was correlated with an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines [28]. These results match with a more recent study where treatment with gemcitabine or 5-FU was associated with an upregulation of GM-CSF secreted by tumor cells inducing the differentiation of monocytes in MDSCs [29]. On the contrary, a positive effect of gemcitabine and 5-FU on MDSCs was observed when associated with an immunotherapy consisting in cytokine-induced killer cells [30]. In metastatic renal cell carcinoma and pancreatic cancer,

the use of this chemotherapy in association with an immunotherapy successfully reduced the number of MDSCs in the peripheral blood of patients and increased the survival time. Interestingly, in colorectal cancer patients, the positive or negative outcome of a 5-FU treatment is dependent on the type of combination used in association with 5-FU. Indeed, 5-FU is not used alone in colorectal cancer. The use of 5-FU with folic acid and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX) was proven beneficial with a decrease of the overall immunosuppression and MDSC percentage, whereas the association of 5-FU with folic acid and CPT11 (FOLFIRI) was detrimental and even increased the number of MDSCs in patients [31]. In another study testing the effect of FOLFOX associated with bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF-A antibody, on MDSCs in patients treated in first line of metastatic colorectal cancer, authors observed a drop of PMN-MDSCs in 15 out of 25 patients [32]. As cancer chemotherapies always associate several agents, it is crucial to study the effects of these associations.

11.4 Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors

Aside from cytotoxic chemotherapies, several other classes of anticancer agents have been studied for their capability to block MDSC proliferation or to enhance their differentiation. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are a group of molecules aiming to target tyrosine kinases in various pathways. Targeted pathways, the RAS-RAF/MAPK pathway, the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, and the EGFR pathway, are involved in the regulation of cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, migration, and angiogenesis [33, 34]. Mutations in these pathways are often found in cancer, explaining the rapid and ongoing development of TKI these past few years [35, 36]. The potential effects of TKIs on MDSCs have raised a growing interest.

Sunitinib is a TKI targeting multiple receptor tyrosine kinases including VEGF-R1 and VEGF-R2, PDGF-Rs, but also c-KIT. It was approved by the FDA for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC) in 2007 and is currently used in the frontline treatment for RCC. In RCC, sunitinib reversed MDSC accumulation by affecting their viability and proliferation. The decrease in MDSCs was linked to an increase in IFN-gamma production by CD3 cells [37]. Sunitinib decreased the number of MDSCs and Tregs as well as the production of the immunosuppressive cytokines IL-10, TGF-beta. Interestingly, the expression of the negative costimulatory molecules CTLA-4 and PD-1 on CD4 and CD8 T cells was decreased after a sunitinib treatment [38]. Sunitinib may reduce the expansion of monocytic MDSC while inducing apoptosis in the granulocytic MDSC subset [39]. However, intratumoral MDSC number and function were not affected by sunitinib, as the high quantity of GM-CSF produced in the tumor bed was protecting MDSCs in a STAT5dependent pathway [40, 41]. Sunitinib was reported to also affect other cell types than MDSCs as reduction in the percentage of neutrophils and monocytes and an increase in lymphoid cells can be observed [37] (Fig. 11.2).

A study using another VEGF pathway inhibitor, bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF-A mAb, showed that MDSCs were responsible for the refractoriness to clinical effect of anti-VEGF therapy [42], but no effect of bevacizumab on MDSC viability or differentiation was observed. This was later confirmed by another study showing that bevacizumab treatment did not decrease the percentage of MDSCs nor change their level of arginase-1 expression [43]. However, in patients with nonsmall cell lung carcinoma, three cycles of bevacizumab associated with chemotherapy regimens could reduce PMN-MDSC numbers in a bevacizumab-dependent way [44]. The impact of bevacizumab on MDSCs remains to be confirmed, and observed difference may be consequences of additional drugs used to treat cancer or due to the tumor types.

Sorafenib is an inhibitor directed against several kinases, among which are C-RAF, BRAF, and VEGF-R2 and VEGF-R3. Sorafenib was first demonstrated to have the capability to reduce Tregs and MDSCs in a murine liver cancer model, along with a slower tumor growth [45]. In addition, sorafenib was able to decrease the suppressive activity of MDSCs on CD8 T cells, while sunitinib, another inhibitor, could not [41]. Different protocols of administration with various doses were tested, and repetitive low doses of sorafenib appeared to enhance the efficacy of adoptive T cell therapy by decreasing MDSCs and Tregs but also by decreasing the expression of immunosuppressive molecules like IL-10 or TGF-beta [46]. Along with the selected dosage, the kinetic of treatment should also be considered as sorafenib could reduce the percentage of MDSC derived from monocytes but did not affect



Fig. 11.2 Sunitinib immune effects. Sunitinib, a TKI targeting VEGF-Rs and PDGF-Rs, blocks MDSC accumulation by reducing their viability and proliferation. Sunitinib

also targets Tregs and decreases IL-10 and TGF- β production while enhancing the proliferation of CD4 and CD8 T cells along with increasing the production of IFN- γ

already differentiated MDSCs. Sorafenib effects might however not be restricted to MDSCs. Indeed, sorafenib decreased STAT1 and STAT5 phosphorylation in T cells, B cells, NK cells, Tregs, and MDSCs after stimulation with IL-2 or IFN-alpha [47]. Such data suggest that sorafenib could have deleterious effect on effector cells of the adaptive immune response. We probably should keep in mind these data when using sorafenib to deplete MDSCs.

Specific for c-kit and BCR-ABL, imatinib was the first TKI approved for chronic myeloid leukemia [48]. Imatinib efficiently reduced MDSC expansion and arginase-1 expression [49]. However, various reports also mention contradictory results in regard to its effects on other immune cell populations. Imatinib was shown to impair Tregs immunosuppressive functions [50], restore plasmacytoid dendritic cell function, and suppress tumor-induced CD4+ T cell tolerance [51, 52]. On the other hand, imatinib treatment was also shown to block the expansion of antigenexperienced CD8 T cells while leaving primary T and B cell responses unaffected [53]. Dasatinib is a second-generation compound used in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia who fail to respond to imatinib. Like imatinib, dasatinib blocked MDSC expansion [41, 49] and could trigger the development of a broad repertoire of tumor-associated CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes when associated with a DC-based vaccine in a melanoma model [54]. However, in several studies dasatinib also inhibited CD4+ and CD8+ T cell activation and proliferation in a dose-dependent manner [55]. The beneficial use of imatinib and dasatinib against MDSCs is unambiguous, but the consequences of their use on the T cell compartment remain unclear.

Many other TKIs have been shown to deeply affect MDSCs, their proliferation, differentiation, as well as their suppressive functions. Vemurafenib was approved for the treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAF V600-activating mutation by the FDA in 2011. Vemurafenib could decrease the proportion and absolute number of M- and PMN-MDSCs as well as Tregs in melanoma both in mice models and human. Following a vemurafenib treatment, an increase in tumor-infiltrating CD8 T cells was observed and was correlated with a reduction in tumor size [56–58]. Approved by the FDA in 2013 to use against some B cell lymphoma, the Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibitor ibrutinib could reduce MDSC accumulation in the tumor bed and reduce the expression of IDO. These effects are likely to be a direct consequence of the inhibition of BTK in MDSCs [59, 60].

Recently a growing interest regarding the effects of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway on MDSCs has arisen. The mTOR pathway activation in both tumor cells and MDSCs seems favorable to MDSCs. Indeed, rapamycin, an inhibitor of mTOR, has been shown to significantly decrease MDSC number as well as the immunosuppressive functions of M-MDSCs in tumorbearing mice. mTOR appears to be an intrinsic factor involved in the differentiation and suppressive functions of MDSCs [61, 62]. Moreover, activation of the mTOR pathway in cancer cells could also favor the recruitment and accumulation of MDSCs in a G-CSF-dependent fashion in human breast cancer [63]. However, we have to keep in mind that mTOR activation is also essential for T cell activation and mTOR inhibitor could have some deleterious effect on CD8 antitumor immune response. So far only rapamycin derivatives are used in clinic to block the PI3K/ AKT/mTOR pathway, but other inhibitors targeting this pathway are in development. Such drugs should also be tested to address their capacity to inhibit MDSCs or reduce their number.

11.5 Other FDA-Approved Molecules with Impact on MDSCs

Molecules from different categories approved by the FDA are found to display activity against MDSCs. One of them is a phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor named tadalafil. Tadalafil inhibited MDSC immunosuppressive functions via downregulation of iNOS and Arg-1, two key immunosuppressive enzymes of MDSCs [64]. In head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, tadalafil could reduce MDSCs and Tregs in both blood and tumor bed while increasing the concentration of CD8 T cells specific for tumor antigens in the blood [65, 66]. The dose at which tadalafil is used seems of importance as an important dose triggered off-target effects on PDE11 which may affect antitumor immunity by different ways [65]. A case report on a man with end-stage multiple myeloma showed that tadalafil reduced MDSC functions (Arg-1 and iNOS expressions downregulated) and established a durable anti-myeloma immune and clinical response although not complete [67].

CTL antigen-4 (CTLA-4) is a negative immune checkpoint expressed by T cells. Ipilimumab is a human antibody directed against CTLA-4, and it has been shown that in patients with metastatic melanoma, the frequency of PMN-MDSCs significantly decreased 3 weeks after a first treatment with ipilimumab [68]. In contrast, no impact on M-MDSCs was observed. Another study on melanoma patients showed a decrease in circulating MDSCs after an ipilimumab treatment and a positive association between decreased in MDSCs and a better PFS [69]. Complementary studies are required to understand the mechanisms by which ipilimumab affects MDSCs.

ATRA, for all-trans retinoic acid, is used to treat promyelocytic acute myeloid leukemia. This drug is also capable of inducing the maturation of MDSCs into DCs, macrophages, and granulocytes. As expected, the decrease in MDSCs by ATRA treatment improved CD4 and CD8 T lymphocyte tumor-specific response first in two mouse tumor models, DA3-HA adenocarcinoma and C3 fibrosarcoma [70], and then in patients with RCC [71] and small cell lung cancer [72].

11.6 Drugs in Developments

A broad spectrum of molecules from various origins have displayed an activity against MDSCs; they can either block the immunosuppressive functions of MDSCs, inducing their differentiation in dendritic cells or in M1-like macrophages, or deplete them.

In the MC38 colon carcinoma, the Lewis lung carcinoma and the EL-4 thymoma mouse models and in patients with RCC or soft tissue sarcoma, the triterpenoid CDDO-Me did not affect the size of the MDSC population but abrogated their immunosuppressive activities and improved immune responses [73]. Nitroaspirin also reduces MDSC functions by inhibiting NOS and Arg-1 activity, resulting in increased number and functions of tumor antigen-specific T lymphocytes [74]. The inhibitor of the ubiquitin receptor RPN13/ADRM1 RA190 was recently shown to lower the level of Arg-1, iNOS, and IL-10 in MDSCs. MDSCs treated by RA190 lost their capacity to suppress CD8+ T cells, thus enhancing antitumor immune response, in an ovarian mouse model [75]. TLR9 activation of MDSCs by CpG treatment was shown to block their suppressive activity on T cells in two mouse models of cancer and to induce MDSC differentiation [76]. The impact of CpG on MDSCs was confirmed in the Renca renal mouse tumor model [77]. On the opposite side, it is interesting to note that CpG emulsified in incomplete Freund's adjuvant treatment expanded MDSCs and increased their expression of Arg-1 in aged mice free of tumor, suggesting contrasting effect of CPG on MDSCs [78].

Curcumin can differentiate MDSCs. Curcumin suppresses PMN-MDSC function and favors M-MDSC differentiation toward an M1-like phenotype [79] in a clusterin-dependent fashion [19]. Other molecules induce a depletion of MDSCs as the use of an antibody-targeting DR5, a death receptor present at the surface of MDSCs, can effectively eliminate them without affecting other myeloid populations and resulted in an enhanced antitumor immune response [80]. Beta-glucan-like curdlan can promote the differentiation of M-MDSCs into a mature CD11c+ F4/80+ population. That differentiation happens via a NF-kBdependent dectin-1 pathway. A beta-glucan treatment diminished MDSCs in the tumor bed and increased infiltrated DCs and macrophages, leading to an enhanced CD8 and CD4 T cell responses and delayed tumor growth [81]. Two cationic polymers, cationic dextran (C-dextran) and polyethyleneimine (PEI), can differentiate MDSCs into an M1-like phenotype, decreasing IL-10 and TGFbeta production as well as suppressing Arg-1 expression while increasing M1-type cytokines production. This decrease in MDSC restored antitumor immunity and slowed tumor growth in the 4T1 mouse mammary carcinoma [82].

Depletion of MDSC can be achieved, thanks to a various set of molecule ever-expanding. However, the mechanisms behind that depletion are not always yet defined. A new therapeutic peptide, developed after identification and characterization of MDSC-binding peptides, depleted both monocytic and PMN-MDSCs in the blood and spleen of EL4 or EG7 thymoma-bearing mice and successfully delayed tumor growth [83]. The S100 protein family is a candidate target for this peptide, but a more thorough study may be needed in order to fully understand the mechanism of action of this peptide (Fig. 11.3).

CSF-1, also known as M-CSF, is overexpressed in many tumors and is a growth factor for M-MDSCs and macrophages. Several CSF-1 receptor inhibitors have been developed and, when tested in tumor-bearing mice, displayed the potency to deplete M-MDSC in tumor bed and spleen. Blockade of CSF1R increases antigenspecific T cell activity at the tumor site, delaying tumor growth in B16 melanoma [84, 85], RM-1, RM-9, and Myc-CaP prostate cancer-bearing mice [86].

Contradictory data can be found about histone deacetylase (HDAC) on MDSCs. It was first published that HDAC inhibition by TSA, a naturally occurring antifungal metabolite that potently inhibits HDAC, enhanced the expansion of MDSCs in a GM-CSF-dependent manner [87]. This was confirmed by another study showing that HDAC11 is a negative regulator of MDSC expansion and function and that EL4 tumor-bearing HDAC11 KO mice possessed a more suppressive MDSC population compared to wild-type mice [88]. However, in 2016, a team demonstrated that HDAC inhibitors depleted MDSCs induced by 4T1 mammary tumor both in vitro and in vivo in the spleen, blood, and tumor bed and increased the population of CD8 T lymphocytes. Interestingly, HDAC inhibitors also increased the apoptosis of MDSC precursor in the bone marrow, GR1+ cells [89]. Our understanding of the role of HDAC on MDSCs remains to be completed. Here the difference in models and inhibitors might be responsible for the difference in results, proving the complex interplay between MDSCs and the immune system state in tumor-bearing individuals.



Fig. 11.3 Therapeutic approaches targeting MDSCs. There are three different ways to aim at MDSC. Molecules targeting MDSCs can directly kill them, like 5-FU or DR5 antibodies, or inhibit MDSC immunosuppressive func-

tions as tadalafil does or also block MDSC accumulation or induce their differentiation like ATRA or curcumin does

11.7 Combination with Checkpoint Inhibitors

CTLA-4 and PD-1 (programmed death 1) are negative immune checkpoints regulating lymphocyte functions. CTLA-4 can be found in the cytoplasm of naïve T cells and is exported to the membrane after activation. Quantities of CTLA-4 found at the surface of activated T cells increase with their activation, allowing the creation of a negative feedback loop to avoid an overactivation of lymphocytes. CTLA-4 is a CD28 homologue binding CD80 and CD86 with a greater affinity than CD28. The ratio of CTLA-4/CD28 bound to costimulatory molecules will determine if the lymphocyte is activated or inhibited. Tregs express constitutively CTLA-4 which might play a part in the Tregs immunosuppressive functions. Blocking CTLA-4 results in an enhanced immune response explaining the interest it receives in oncology.

PD-1 is found on highly activated T cells, NK cells, B cells, and monocytes. The binding of PD-1, with its ligands PD-L1 or PD-L2, found at the surface of tumor cells, and various tumorinfiltrated immune cells like MDSC and dendritic cells reduces T cell functions to avoid excessive immune responses [90]. PD-L1 plays a major role in the immunosuppression established in a tumor environment because of its expression on tumor cells and MDSCs; this is why the interaction PD-1/PD-L1 has led to the development of several antibodies aiming to block this interaction to restore potent antitumor immune responses [91]. Removing MDSC-dependent immunosuppression along with suppressing immune checkpoint blockade should induce a massive T cell response in tumor-bearing hosts. This is why several preclinical studies have tried to associate MDSC depletion or differentiation with antibody directed against negative checkpoint inhibitors (Fig. 11.4).



Fig. 11.4 Combination with checkpoint inhibitors. Tumor-induced immunosuppression is dependent on three aspects. The direct immunosuppression mediated by tumor cells expressing PD-L1 on PD-1+ T cells, the induction of MDSCs by tumor cells and MDSC-dependent immunosuppression. By associating a molecule depleting MDSCs with a checkpoint inhibitor, it is possible to restore a potent antitumor immunity. (a) Ibrutinib depletes MDSCs, while the anti-PD-L1 blocks the PD-1/PD-L1

immunosuppression. This allows T cells to proliferate and establish an antitumor immunity, preventing tumor growth. (b) Trabectedin can directly suppress MDSCs and, when associated with an anti-PD-1, restores a proper T cell-mediated antitumor immunity. (c) The action of sorafenib against MDSCs in association with an anti-CTLA-4 allows T cells to develop an antitumor immune response leading to a reduced tumor growth

Ibrutinib, an inhibitor of BTK and ITK (interleukin-2-inducible T cell kinase) known to reduce MDSC accumulation in the tumor bed [59, 60], can enhance therapeutic antitumor immunity when associated with a PD-L1 treatment in the A20 lymphoma but also the CT26 colon carcinoma and 4T1 breast carcinoma models [59]. This was later confirmed by another study where the association of an anti-PD-L1 with ibrutinib almost completely abrogated tumor growth of 4T1 breast cancer [60]. In a model of ovarian cancer, trabectedin was associated with an anti-PD-1. This association cured about half of the mice and induced a strong tumor-specific immunity from CD4 and CD8 T cells. CD8 T cells exhibited tumor antigenspecific responses, and an increase in IFN-gamma was observed along with a reduction in immunosuppressive populations. Interestingly, in vivo trabectedin might be responsible for a rise in PD-L1 expression within tumor explaining the improved efficacy of the association over single therapies [92].

High-dose ionizing irradiation (IR) results in direct tumor death and is used in many cancers. In the TUBO breast cancer and MC38 colon cancer models, IR also decreased the population of MDSCs but increased PD-L1 expression inside tumors. To overcome this issue, IR was used along with an anti-PD-L1. This association reduced MDSC population to close to zero percent in the tumor bed while enhancing cytotoxic CD8 T cells in a synergistic manner, delaying tumor growth [93]. In HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer, radiotherapy is often being associated with chemotherapy to treat patients. In a clinical trial, authors observed HPV-specific T cell responses in 13/18 patients prior to treatment. This immune response was lost in 10/13 patients within 3 months after chemoradiotherapy (CRT). CRT decreased circulating T cells and increased the MDSC population. PD-1 expression on CD4 T cells was also enhanced after CRT. The use of a PD-1 blocking antibody in ex vivo culture restored the HPV CD4 T cellspecific response, further encouraging the study of such association to help improve patient treatments [94].

As previously seen, sorafenib can effectively deplete MDSCs. It was associated with an anti-CTLA-4 in a RENCA mouse model and whereas the monotherapies did reduce tumor growth, the combination displayed a synergistic effect with the highest rate of tumor rejection and a strong increase in infiltrating CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes in the tumor bed [95]. Unfortunately, the number of MDSCs was not assessed. There is an ongoing phase I study about the combination of sorafenib and ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) in patients with advanced hepatocellular cancer with a stable disease that should give us more information.

Ipilimumab is also often associated with an anti-PD-1 named nivolumab, and this combination is now used as standard treatment of metastatic melanoma in patients. While ipilimumab could decrease MDSC number, no study thoroughly examined the impact of this association on MDSCs. However, an increase of CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes to MDSC ratio was observed in the mouse melanoma model B16 using a combination of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 [96].

Sunitinib, a multi-target TKI that affects the viability and proliferation of MDSCs and Tregs, was used associated with IL-12, an activating cytokine and 4-1BB, a positive immune checkpoint expressed by T cells. In the MCA26 colon carcinoma mouse model, the combination of sunitinib, IL-12, and 4-1BB significantly improved long-term survival and had an efficacy superior to that of IL-12 and 4-1BB in association [38].

Conclusion

Targeting immunosuppression and particularly MDSCs in the setting of cancer is a major issue to improve the efficacy of immune therapy aimed at targeting CD8 T cell response. Many preclinical and clinical data underline that some cytotoxic chemotherapies and tyrosine kinase inhibitors could eliminate or decrease immunosuppressive functions of MDSCs leading to the rational that combination of such drugs with checkpoint inhibitor could improve their efficacy. However, a careful analysis of such data must be performed before moving to clinical trial because the type of tumor and the association of drugs frequently impact their effects on MDSCs. In addition, a large analysis of immune responses must be performed on many of these drugs as their positive effect on MDSCs could be accompanied by negative impact on other components of the immune system, resulting in a null effect.

References

- Condamine T, et al. Lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor-1 distinguishes population of human polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients. Sci Immunol. 2016;1(2):aaf8943.
- Marvel D, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment: expect the unexpected. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(9):3356–64.
- Porembka MR, et al. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma induces bone marrow mobilization of myeloid-derived suppressor cells which promote primary tumor growth. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(9):1373–85.
- Capietto AH, et al. Down-regulation of PLCgamma2beta-catenin pathway promotes activation and expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. J Exp Med. 2013;210(11):2257–71.
- Yan HH, et al. Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells tip the balance of immune protection to tumor promotion in the premetastatic lung. Cancer Res. 2010;70(15):6139–49.
- Ichikawa M, et al. S100A8/A9 activate key genes and pathways in colon tumor progression. Mol Cancer Res. 2011;9(2):133–48.
- Hiratsuka S, et al. Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis. Nat Cell Biol. 2006;8(12):1369–75.
- Panni RZ, et al. Tumor-induced STAT3 activation in monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells enhances stemness and mesenchymal properties in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(5):513–28.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol. 2009;182(8):4499–506.
- Pan PY, et al. Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(1):99–108.
- Corzo CA, et al. Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. 2009;182(9):5693–701.
- Gehad AE, et al. Nitric oxide-producing myeloidderived suppressor cells inhibit vascular E-selectin expression in human squamous cell carcinomas. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(11):2642–51.

- Raber P, Ochoa AC, Rodriguez PC. Metabolism of L-arginine by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer: mechanisms of T cell suppression and therapeutic perspectives. Immunol Investig. 2012;41(6–7):614–34.
- 14. Yu J, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;190(7):3783–97.
- Haverkamp JM, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor activity is mediated by monocytic lineages maintained by continuous inhibition of extrinsic and intrinsic death pathways. Immunity. 2014;41(6):947–59.
- Suzuki E, et al. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(18):6713–21.
- Le HK, et al. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. Int Immunopharmacol. 2009;9(7–8):900–9.
- Kodumudi KN, et al. A novel chemoimmunomodulating property of docetaxel: suppression of myeloidderived suppressor cells in tumor bearers. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(18):4583–94.
- Zhou J, et al. Therapeutic targeting of myeloidderived suppressor cells involves a novel mechanism mediated by clusterin. Sci Rep. 2016;6:29521.
- Michels T, et al. Paclitaxel promotes differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells into dendritic cells in vitro in a TLR4-independent manner. J Immunotoxicol. 2012;9(3):292–300.
- Sevko A, et al. Antitumor effect of paclitaxel is mediated by inhibition of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and chronic inflammation in the spontaneous melanoma model. J Immunol. 2013;190(5):2464–71.
- Alizadeh D, et al. Doxorubicin eliminates myeloidderived suppressor cells and enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell transfer in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2014;74(1):104–18.
- Rong Y, et al. Doxorubicin resistant cancer cells activate myeloid-derived suppressor cells by releasing PGE2. Sci Rep. 2016;6:23824.
- 24. Germano G, et al. Role of macrophage targeting in the antitumor activity of trabectedin. Cancer Cell. 2013;23(2):249–62.
- 25. Filatenkov A, et al. Ablative tumor radiation can change the tumor immune cell microenvironment to induce durable complete remissions. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(16):3727–39.
- Vincent J, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumorassociated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70(8):3052–61.
- Bruchard M, et al. Chemotherapy-triggered cathepsin B release in myeloid-derived suppressor cells activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome and promotes tumor growth. Nat Med. 2013;19(1):57–64.
- Annels NE, et al. The effects of gemcitabine and capecitabine combination chemotherapy and of low-

dose adjuvant GM-CSF on the levels of myeloidderived suppressor cells in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014; 63(2):175–83.

- Takeuchi S, et al. Chemotherapy-derived inflammatory responses accelerate the formation of immunosuppressive myeloid cells in the tissue microenvironment of human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75(13):2629–40.
- Wang Z, et al. MDSC-decreasing chemotherapy increases the efficacy of cytokine-induced killer cell immunotherapy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma and pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(4):4760–9.
- Kanterman J, et al. Adverse immunoregulatory effects of 5-FU and CPT11 chemotherapy on myeloidderived suppressor cells and colorectal cancer outcomes. Cancer Res. 2014;74(21):6022–35.
- 32. Limagne E, et al. Accumulation of MDSC and Th17 cells in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer predicts the efficacy of a FOLFOXbevacizumab drug treatment regimen. Cancer Res. 2016;76(18):5241–52.
- Martinelli E, et al. Cancer resistance to therapies against the EGFR-RAS-RAF pathway: the role of MEK. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;53:61–9.
- Mundi PS, et al. AKT in cancer: new molecular insights and advances in drug development. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2016;82(4):943–56.
- Kircher SM, Nimeiri HS, Benson AB 3rd. Targeting angiogenesis in colorectal cancer: tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Cancer J. 2016;22(3):182–9.
- Bikas A, et al. Targeted therapies in thyroid cancer: an extensive review of the literature. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2016;15:1–15.
- Ko JS, et al. Sunitinib mediates reversal of myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(6):2148–57.
- Ozao-Choy J, et al. The novel role of tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the reversal of immune suppression and modulation of tumor microenvironment for immune-based cancer therapies. Cancer Res. 2009;69(6):2514–22.
- Ko JS, et al. Direct and differential suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets by sunitinib is compartmentally constrained. Cancer Res. 2010;70(9):3526–36.
- 40. van Cruijsen H, et al. Sunitinib-induced myeloid lineage redistribution in renal cell cancer patients: CD1c+ dendritic cell frequency predicts progressionfree survival. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(18):5884–92.
- 41. Heine A, et al. The induction of human myeloid derived suppressor cells through hepatic stellate cells is dose-dependently inhibited by the tyrosine kinase inhibitors nilotinib, dasatinib and Sorafenib, but not sunitinib. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(3):273–82.
- 42. Shojaei F, et al. Tumor refractoriness to anti-VEGF treatment is mediated by CD11b+Gr1+ myeloid cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25(8):911–20.
- Rodriguez PC, et al. Arginase I-producing myeloidderived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma are a

subpopulation of activated granulocytes. Cancer Res. 2009;69(4):1553–60.

- 44. Koinis F, et al. Effect of first-line treatment on myeloid-derived suppressor Cells' subpopulations in the peripheral blood of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;11(8):1263–72.
- 45. Cao M, et al. Kinase inhibitor Sorafenib modulates immunosuppressive cell populations in a murine liver cancer model. Lab Investig. 2011;91(4):598–608.
- 46. Chuang HY, et al. Serial low doses of Sorafenib enhance therapeutic efficacy of adoptive T cell therapy in a murine model by improving tumor microenvironment. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e109992.
- Martin del Campo SE, et al. The Raf kinase inhibitor Sorafenib inhibits JAK-STAT signal transduction in human immune cells. J Immunol. 2015;195(5):1995–2005.
- Giallongo C, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells in chronic myeloid leukemia. Front Oncol. 2015;5:107.
- 49. Christiansson L, et al. The tyrosine kinase inhibitors imatinib and dasatinib reduce myeloid suppressor cells and release effector lymphocyte responses. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14(5):1181–91.
- Larmonier N, et al. Imatinib mesylate inhibits CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cell activity and enhances active immunotherapy against BCR-ABL- tumors. J Immunol. 2008;181(10):6955–63.
- Mohty M, et al. Imatinib and plasmacytoid dendritic cell function in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2004;103(12):4666–8.
- Wang H, et al. Imatinib mesylate (STI-571) enhances antigen-presenting cell function and overcomes tumor-induced CD4+ T-cell tolerance. Blood. 2005;105(3):1135–43.
- Mumprecht S, et al. Imatinib mesylate selectively impairs expansion of memory cytotoxic T cells without affecting the control of primary viral infections. Blood. 2006;108(10):3406–13.
- 54. Lowe DB, et al. Dasatinib promotes the expansion of a therapeutically superior T-cell repertoire in response to dendritic cell vaccination against melanoma. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(1):e27589.
- 55. Fei F, et al. Dasatinib exerts an immunosuppressive effect on CD8+ T cells specific for viral and leukemia antigens. Exp Hematol. 2008;36(10):1297–308.
- 56. Steinberg SM, et al. BRAF inhibition alleviates immune suppression in murine autochthonous melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(11):1044–50.
- Ngiow SF, et al. Co-inhibition of colony stimulating factor-1 receptor and BRAF oncogene in mouse models of BRAFV600E melanoma. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(3):e1089381.
- Schilling B, et al. Vemurafenib reverses immunosuppression by myeloid derived suppressor cells. Int J Cancer. 2013;133(7):1653–63.
- 59. Sagiv-Barfi I, et al. Therapeutic antitumor immunity by checkpoint blockade is enhanced by ibrutinib, an inhibitor of both BTK and ITK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(9):E966–72.
- 60. Stiff A, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells express Bruton's tyrosine kinase and can be depleted

in tumor-bearing hosts by Ibrutinib treatment. Cancer Res. 2016;76(8):2125–36.

- Wu T, et al. mTOR masters monocytic myeloidderived suppressor cells in mice with allografts or tumors. Sci Rep. 2016;6:20250.
- 62. Zhao T, et al. Activation of mTOR pathway in myeloid-derived suppressor cells stimulates cancer cell proliferation and metastasis in lal(-/-) mice. Oncogene. 2015;34(15):1938–48.
- Welte T, et al. Oncogenic mTOR signalling recruits myeloid-derived suppressor cells to promote tumour initiation. Nat Cell Biol. 2016;18(6):632–44.
- 64. Serafini P, et al. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition augments endogenous antitumor immunity by reducing myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. J Exp Med. 2006;203(12):2691–702.
- 65. Weed DT, et al. Tadalafil reduces myeloid-derived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells and promotes tumor immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(1):39–48.
- 66. Califano JA, et al. Tadalafil augments tumor specific immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(1):30–8.
- Noonan KA, et al. Targeting immune suppression with PDE5 inhibition in end-stage multiple myeloma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(8):725–31.
- 68. Pico de Coana Y, et al. Ipilimumab treatment results in an early decrease in the frequency of circulating granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells as well as their Arginase1 production. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(3):158–62.
- Tarhini AA, et al. Immune monitoring of the circulation and the tumor microenvironment in patients with regionally advanced melanoma receiving neoadjuvant ipilimumab. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e87705.
- Kusmartsev S, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumor-bearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. Cancer Res. 2003;63(15):4441–9.
- Mirza N, et al. All-trans-retinoic acid improves differentiation of myeloid cells and immune response in cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2006;66(18): 9299–307.
- 72. Iclozan C, et al. Therapeutic regulation of myeloidderived suppressor cells and immune response to cancer vaccine in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62(5):909–18.
- Nagaraj S, et al. Anti-inflammatory triterpenoid blocks immune suppressive function of MDSCs and improves immune response in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(6):1812–23.
- 74. De Santo C, et al. Nitroaspirin corrects immune dysfunction in tumor-bearing hosts and promotes tumor eradication by cancer vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(11):4185–90.
- Soong RS, et al. RPN13/ADRM1 inhibitor reverses immunosuppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(42):68489–502.

- Zoglmeier C, et al. CpG blocks immunosuppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(7):1765–75.
- 77. James BR, et al. CpG-mediated modulation of MDSC contributes to the efficacy of Ad5-TRAIL therapy against renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(11):1213–27.
- Harman MF, et al. Expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells with arginase activity lasts longer in aged than in young mice after CpG-ODN plus IFA treatment. Oncotarget. 2015;6(15):13448–61.
- 79. Tu SP, et al. Curcumin induces the differentiation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and inhibits their interaction with cancer cells and related tumor growth. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2012;5(2):205–15.
- Condamine T, et al. ER stress regulates myeloid-derived suppressor cell fate through TRAIL-R-mediated apoptosis. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(6):2626–39.
- Rui K, et al. Curdlan blocks the immune suppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells and reduces tumor burden. Immunol Res. 2016;64(4):931–9.
- He W, et al. Re-polarizing myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) with cationic polymers for cancer immunotherapy. Sci Rep. 2016;6:24506.
- Qin H, et al. Generation of a new therapeutic peptide that depletes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. Nat Med. 2014;20(6):676–81.
- 84. Holmgaard RB, et al. Targeting myeloid-derived suppressor cells with colony stimulating factor-1 receptor blockade can reverse immune resistance to immunotherapy in indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing tumors. EBioMedicine. 2016;6:50–8.
- Mok S, et al. Inhibition of CSF-1 receptor improves the antitumor efficacy of adoptive cell transfer immunotherapy. Cancer Res. 2014;74(1):153–61.
- 86. Xu J, et al. CSF1R signaling blockade stanches tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells and improves the efficacy of radiotherapy in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73(9):2782–94.
- Rosborough BR, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibition facilitates GM-CSF-mediated expansion of myeloidderived suppressor cells in vitro and in vivo. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;91(5):701–9.
- Sahakian E, et al. Histone deacetylase 11: a novel epigenetic regulator of myeloid derived suppressor cell expansion and function. Mol Immunol. 2015;63(2):579–85.
- Wang HF, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors deplete myeloid-derived suppressor cells induced by 4T1 mammary tumors in vivo and in vitro. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;66(3):355–66.
- Wang RF, Wang HY. Immune targets and neoantigens for cancer immunotherapy and precision medicine. Cell Res. 2017;27(1):11–37.
- Menon S, Shin S, Dy G. Advances in cancer immunotherapy in solid tumors. Cancers (Basel). 2016;8(12):E106.
- 92. Guo Z, et al. Combined trabectedin and anti-PD1 antibody produces a synergistic antitumor effect in a murine model of ovarian cancer. J Transl Med. 2015;13:247.

213

- Deng L, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(2):687–95.
- 94. Parikh F, et al. Chemoradiotherapy-induced upregulation of PD-1 antagonizes immunity to HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer. Cancer Res. 2014;74(24):7205–16.
- 95. Motoshima T, et al. Sorafenib enhances the antitumor effects of anti-CTLA-4 antibody in a murine cancer model by inhibiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncol Rep. 2015;33(6):2947–53.
- 96. Curran MA, et al. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(9):4275–80.

Immunogenic Stress and Death of Cancer Cells in Natural and Therapy-Induced Immunosurveillance

Oliver Kepp, Jonathan Pol, Laurence Zitvogel, and Guido Kroemer

Contents

12.1	Introduction	215
12.2	Annexin A1	217
12.3	ATP	218
12.4	Calreticulin	219
12.5	HMGB1	220
12.6	Type-1 Interferons and Chemokines	221
12.7	Concluding Remarks and Perspective	222
References		224

O. Kepp (🖂) • J. Pol

Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France

INSERM, U1138, Paris, France

Equipe 11 labellisée par la Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France

Université Paris Descartes/Paris V, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

Université Pierre et Marie Curie/Paris VI, Paris, France

Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus, Villejuif, France e-mail: captain.olsen@gmail.com

L. Zitvogel Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France

12.1 Introduction

Before the renaissance of the immunosurveillance theory that accompanied the approval of immune checkpoint blockers [1], cancer was generally viewed as a cell-autonomous disease that is solely caused by genetic and epigenetic alterations of the malignant cells [2]. Therapeutic interventions hence were conceived to take advantage of the cancer cell-intrinsic vulnerabilities (making them particularly susceptible to antiproliferative and cytotoxic insults) or to tar-

G. Kroemer (⊠) Gustave Roussy Comprehensive Cancer Institute, Villejuif, France

INSERM, U1138, Paris, France

Equipe 11 labellisée par la Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Paris, France

Université Paris Descartes/Paris V, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

Université Pierre et Marie Curie/Paris VI, Paris, France

Metabolomics and Cell Biology Platforms, Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus, Villejuif, France

Pôle de Biologie, Hôpital Européen Georges Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France

Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: kroemer@orange.fr get pathways that would be specifically activated in malignant cells yet absent in their normal counterparts (much like antibiotics that affect bacterial enzymes but not those of their host). Based on this paradigm, cytotoxic and targeted therapies have been developed following a workflow in which anticancer agents were first identified on cultured human cell lines, then tested on immunodeficient mice carrying human cancers, and, finally, introduced into the clinics [2, 3]. Seemingly supporting this strategy, several successful chemotherapeutics have been developed. In particular, combination therapies involving several distinct cytotoxic agents have been highly successful in reducing the risk of relapse after adjuvant chemotherapy in breast and colorectal cancers [4–6]. Moreover, the success of the first targeted anticancer agent, imatinib mesylate, which targets several oncogenic tyrosine kinases (such as the BCR-ABL kinase activated in chronic myeloid leukemia and KIT activated in gastrointestinal stromal tumors) [7–12] apparently comforted the idea that cancer can be treated with specific agents (although it turned out later that the therapeutic efficacy of imatinib relies on NK and T lymphocytes) [13].

Our laboratory has been adhering to this cellautonomous vision of cancer therapy until 2004 when we performed a stunningly simple experiment. We subcutaneously implanted a mouse colorectal cancer cell line, CT26, either in immunocompetent BALB/c mice (the strain from which CT26 was originally derived from) or in immunodeficient nu/nu mice (which are athymic and hence lack thymus-derived T lymphocytes) and treated the emerging tumors with chemotherapy based on the anthracycline doxorubicin. To our dismay, the growth of CT26 cancers was only reduced if they evolved in an immunocompetent setting (in BALB/c mice), not if they grew on nu/ nu mice [14]. Hence, the efficacy of chemotherapy turned out to depend on a cellular immune response.

The next surprise came when we analyzed the cell death modality induced by doxorubicin in CT26 cells. At that time, only two major cell death pathways were known, namely, apoptosis and necrosis [15]. Apoptosis was conceived to

constitute a physiological pathway accounting for cellular demise in developmental cell death and adult tissue homeostasis [16]. Necrosis was conceived as a purely pathological pathway resulting in pro-inflammatory tissue reaction due to the uncontrolled spilling of the cellular content through the permeabilized plasma membrane [17]. In CT26 cells, doxorubicin induced two hallmarks of the apoptotic pathway, namely, an early loss of the mitochondrial inner transmembrane potential as well as the activation of caspases [14]. Addition of a pharmacological caspase inhibitor prevented the cells to adopt an apoptotic morphology with nuclear condensation and fragmentation and led to a more necrotic phenotype. When doxorubicin-treated apoptotic CT26 cells were injected subcutaneously into BALB/c mice, they induced an immune response that protected the mice against a subsequent challenge with live CT26 cells that were injected 1 week later into the opposite flank. In contrast, doxorubicin-treated necrotic CT26 cells (that were killed in the presence of Z-VAD-fmk) failed to stimulate such an immune response [14]. These results pleaded in favor of a novel caspasedependent modality of apoptosis that could stimulate anticancer immunosurveillance and that we dubbed "immunogenic cell death" (ICD) [14]. Later, it turned out that CT26 cells lack the expression receptor-interacting of serine/ threonine-protein kinase 3 (RIPK3), a protein required for necroptosis (which is a regulated version of necrosis) and that other mouse cancer cell lines that possess the entire molecular machinery required for necroptosis can undergo ICD in response to necroptotic stimuli [18–20] including anthracyclines. Hence, different forms of regulated cell death (apoptosis and necroptosis) can contribute to ICD.

Based on the aforementioned results that were replicated in multiple different cancer cell types and mouse strains [21–26], we have been postulating that ICD would constitute an important mechanism to convert the cell-autonomous chemotherapeutic response, leading to focal apoptosis and necroptosis within the tumor, into a systemic immune-mediated response that can amplify and prolong the anticancer effects of chemotherapy [19, 27-29]. In other words, ICD would convert cancer into its own vaccine. We also found that not all chemotherapeutic agents are equally potent in causing ICD (and hence in provoking an antitumor immune response) observing that anthracyclines and oxaliplatin are particularly efficient in doing so while many other cytotoxicants are unable to do so [27–29]. In subsequent studies, we observed that ICD inducers are able to trigger premortem stress responses such as autophagy and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress that lead to the release and exposure of DAMPs required for ICD [28, 30]. Hence, it is not only cell death as such but a constellation of stress pathways and lethal events that yields ICD. These pathways and their connection to the exposure or release of DAMPs, as well as their clinical implications, will be discussed in this chapter.

12.2 Annexin A1

Annexin A1 (ANXA1) is a relatively abundant and ubiquitously expressed cytoplasmic protein [31] that is released from dying cancer cells responding to chemotherapy with anthracyclines or oxaliplatin in vitro [32]. The exact mode of release is not known, although a relative of ANXA1, annexin A2 (ANXA2), has been shown to be secreted by an unconventional pathway [33]. Alternatively, ANXA1 may be released passively, via the permeabilized plasma membrane as cells die. Mouse cancer cell lines from which ANXA1 was removed by CRISPR/Cas9 technology failed to undergo ICD in vitro (meaning that, if they were cultured with anthracyclines and then injected in vivo, they would fail to induce a protective anticancer immune response). Cancers arising from such ANXA1-deficient cancer cell also failed to reduce their growth in vivo, in response to systemic injections of anthracyclines or oxaliplatin [32].

ANXA1 can bind to formyl peptide receptor-1 (FPR1), a seven transmembrane G proteincoupled receptor mostly expressed by myeloid cells [34]. Knockout of FPR1 in the host immune system (as well as transfer of FPR1-deficient hematopoietic stem cells into FPR1-sufficient irradiated hosts) led to the incapacity of the host to mount an anticancer immune response against dying cancer cells. Moreover, the absence of FPR1 from the immune system led to a failure to control the growth of cancers treated with anthracyclines or oxaliplatin in vivo [32]. These results underscore the importance of the interaction between ANXA1 and FPR1 for the chemotherapytriggered dialogue between cancer cells and the immune system. Mechanistically, it turned out that FPR1 guides differentiating dendritic cells within the tumor into the proximity of dying cancer cells, allowing the dendritic cell-mediated uptake of tumor-associated antigens and their subsequent presentation to T cells (Fig. 12.1) [32]. As a result, FPR1-deficient hosts are unable to mount an immune response mediated by CD8+ T cells against tumor antigens.

The aforementioned findings, which have been obtained in mice, are supported by epidemiological studies in cancer patients. A loss-of-function mutation in FPR1 (A299G), which affects the intracellular domain of the protein within its N-terminus abolishing the dimerization of the receptor required for its activation [35], had negative prognostic features in two types of cancer. Breast cancer patients bearing one loss-of-function allele of FPR1 exhibited a shorter progression-free and overall survival upon adjuvant anthracyclinebased chemotherapy than patients bearing two normal alleles of FPR1. This finding was obtained



Fig. 12.1 Annexin A1-mediated homing of dendritic cells. Annexin A1 (ANXA1) is released from cancer cells in response to certain therapeutic approaches including the anthracycline- and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapeutic induction of immunogenic cell death. Driven by chemotaxis, immature dendritic cells (iDCs) are homed in on their target in a FPR1-dependent fashion, finally leading to a close proximity of dying cancer cells and antigenpresenting cells. FPR1, formyl peptide receptor 1
for two independent cohorts of breast cancer patients [32]. Moreover, colorectal cancer patients bearing two loss-of-function alleles of FPR1 had a statistically shorter survival upon adjuvant oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy than patients bearing one or two normal alleles of FPR1 [32]. The mechanistic bases for these differences are not understood yet. In addition, it appears that mammary carcinoma cells express lower ANXA1 levels than their normal epithelial counterparts [32], perhaps reflecting immunoselection in favor of cancers that lack the DAMP ANXA1.

12.3 ATP

In response to treatment with chemotherapeutics in vitro, cancer cells release adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into the culture supernatant, an event that can be visualized by a reduction in quinacrinelabeled, ATP-containing lysosomal compartments [36]. The accompanying increase in extracellular levels of ATP can be measured by means of a firefly luciferase construct that is tethered to the cancer cell surface and that detects pericellular ATP upon addition of D-luciferin [37, 38]. This latter system is suitable for measuring extracellular ATP in vivo in tumor-bearing mice, in which the luminescence signal strongly increases 2 days post-chemotherapy [25]. The mechanism of ATP release has not been entirely elucidated yet appears to involve a lysosomal secretion mechanism that depends on at least two processes, namely, a premortem autophagy response and caspase activation. Autophagy must occur to allow ATP to redistribute from lysosomes to autolysosomes and to be secreted by a mechanism that requires the lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1), which translocates to the plasma membrane in a caspase-dependent manner. The release of ATP additionally involves the caspase-mediated activation of the Rhoassociated coiled-coil-containing protein kinase (ROCK1) resulting in myosin II-dependent membrane blebbing as well as the opening of pannexin 1 (PANX1) channels, subsequent to their cleavage by caspases. While autophagy and LAMP1 do not affect PANX1 channel opening, PANX1 is required for the ICD-associated translocation of LAMP1 to the plasma membrane [39]. Hence, apoptosis-associated ATP release is a complex process that is abolished in autophagy-deficient tumors, knowing that inactivation of autophagy occurs rather frequently, especially during early oncogenesis [25, 40-43]. Necroptotic signaling via RIPK3 and the mixed lineage kinase domain-like (MLKL) pseudokinase may also contribute to ATP release [18], although it is not known whether this process also requires *premortem* autophagy to be induced. In any case, it appears that cancer cells manipulated to suppress the autophagic process fail to undergo ICD and do not reduce their growth upon treatment with anthracyclines or oxaliplatin in vivo [25]. A similar abolition of ICD and chemotherapeutic responses can be obtained by overexpressing the ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (ENTPD1, also known as the ectoATPase CD39) on the cancer cells [25, 44].

Extracellular ATP acts on two classes of purinergic receptors, namely, the metabotropic P2Y2 and the ionotropic P2X7 receptors. P2Y2 receptors facilitate the ATP-mediated chemotaxis of myeloid cells (dendritic cell precursors, neutrophils and macrophages) into the tumor bed postchemotherapy(Fig. 12.2). Bothautophagy-deficient



Fig. 12.2 ATP-dependent recruitment and activation of dendritic cells. The autophagy-dependent lysosomal secretion of ATP from cancer cells that undergo immunogenic cell death leads to the recruitment and activation of immature dendritic cells (iDCs). Extracellular ATP acts on purinergic receptors of the metabotropic P2Y2 and the ionotropic P2X7 type. Most prominently P2Y2 receptors drive the ATP-mediated chemotaxis of myeloid cells including immature dendritic cells (iDCs) into the tumor bed post-chemotherapy. In summary, ATP release from the dying cancer cells leads to an enrichment of the tumor bed with immune cells. P2RX7, purinergic receptor P2X7; P2RY2, purinergic receptor P2Y2

and CD39-overexpressing cancers fail to accumulate myeloid cells post-chemotherapy in the tumor bed [25], and a similar effect can be obtained upon pharmacological inhibition of P2Y2 [44]. P2X7 receptors facilitate the ATP-stimulated activation of the NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome in dendritic cells, which then triggers the secretion of interleukin-1 β (IL1 β) and the IL1 β -dependent priming of tumor antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells [45]. Indeed, neutralization of P2Y2 or IL1 receptors and knockout of P2X7, NLRP3, or caspase-1 abolish the capacity of the immune system to mount a protective immune response against cancer cells that succumb to ICD [45].

The aforementioned interaction between extracellular ATP and purinergic receptors again appears clinically relevant. Indeed, in breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy, the absence of autophagy has a negative impact on the local immune response with an unfavorable ratio of CD8⁺ T lymphocytes over forkhead box P3⁺ (FOXP3⁺) regulatory T cells. Such observation correlates with poor patient survival [46]. Similarly, high expression of ATP-degrading ectoenzymes such as CD39 and the ecto-5' nucleotidase NT5E (best known as CD73) indicates poor prognosis in multiple distinct cancers including breast and ovarian cancers [47, 48]. Finally, a loss-of-function mutation in P2X7 has been linked to poor prognosis in a segment of breast cancer patients that are treated with anthracycline-based adjuvant chemotherapy [45].

Experimentally, it is possible to stimulate autophagy, ATP release, and consequent myeloid cell recruitment and anticancer immune responses by fasting or by non-immunosuppressive autophagy inducers that fall into the class of "caloric restriction mimetics" (CRMs) [49– 52]. Several CRMs including hydroxycitrate can be used in mouse models to improve anticancer immunosurveillance and to boost the anticancer immune responses elicited by ICDinducing chemotherapeutics [49]. Whether this strategy is applicable to cancer patients awaits urgent clarification.

12.4 Calreticulin

Calreticulin (CALR) is the most abundant protein in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). In the context of ICD, a fraction of CALR translocates to the surface of the plasma membrane (and it is possible that another fraction of CALR is secreted as well) [23, 26, 53, 54]. The complex mechanisms that underlie CALR exposure are linked to the apical phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor- 2α (eIF 2α) in the context of an ER stress response that culminates in the activation of an eIF2 α kinase (EIF2K) such as EIF2K2 (best known as PKR) and EIF2K3 (best known as PERK) and/or in the inhibition of the corresponding phosphatase (composed by the catalytic subunit PP1 and the regulatory subunit GADD34) [26, 55, 56]. Downstream of $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation, caspases (and in particular caspase-8, CASP8) are activated, and calreticulin is transported to the cell surface following anterograde ER-Golgi traffic and soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment receptors (SNARE)-dependent exocytosis that involves the vesicle-associated membrane protein 1 (VAMP1) and the synaptosomal-associated protein 23 (SNAP23) [55].

Once on the cell surface, CALR acts as an "eat-me" signal to facilitate the transfer of tumorassociated antigens to dendritic cells [57], which



Fig. 12.3 Calreticulin as de novo uptake signal for dendritic cells. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stressmediated exposure (or release) of the ER chaperone calreticulin (CALR) to the surface of the plasma membrane in the course of immunogenic cell death (ICD) serves as de novo uptake signal for dendritic cells. The binding of CALR to the low-density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 1 (LRP1) receptor expressed on dendritic cells (DC) serves the transfer of tumor-associated antigens to DC

express the CALR receptor low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1, best known as CD91; Fig. 12.3) [58]. CALR can be locally antagonized by CD47, which is constitutively expressed on cancer cells and can function as a "don't eat me" signal [59]. Knockdown of PERK, CASP8, CALR, or SNAP23 as well as pharmacological inhibition of caspases and anterograde ER-Golgi transport is sufficient to abolish ICD in vitro and in vivo [55]. Conversely, stimulation of eIF2 α phosphorylation by thapsigargin (which activates PERK) or inhibitors of PP1 can stimulate CALR exposure and enhance anticancer immune responses in vivo, in the context of chemotherapy [55, 60]. Coating of cancer cells that are deficient in the CALR exposure pathway with recombinant CALR protein (which binds to the plasma membrane surface, presumably via interaction between its lectin domain and the glycocalyx) can restore deficient ICD [26, 61]. Similarly, intratumoral injection of CALR can enhance the chemotherapy-elicited immune response and improve tumor growth inhibition in vivo, in mouse models [62].

There is widespread evidence that CALR expression and exposure contribute to anticancer immunosurveillance in vivo, in cancer patients. Low intracellular CALR expression levels have been correlated with a low presence of CALR on the cell surface, both in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), as well as reduced phosphorylation of $eIF2\alpha$ [59, 63, 64]. In AML, reduced expression of CALR protein has a negative impact on progression-free and overall survival postchemotherapy, correlating with poor T cellmediated immune responses against AML-associated tumor antigens [59, 64]. In NSCLC, approximately 15% of the patients have barely detectable CALR protein in cancer cells, correlating with dismal prognosis, reduced infiltration by DC-LAMP+ dendritic cells and CD8+ T lymphocytes [63]. Of note, low CALR expression supersedes in importance the TNM classification of NSCLC with respect to prognosis, meaning that patients with CALR^{low} stage 1 NSCLC exhibit a poorer survival than stage 3 and stage 4 patients bearing CALR^{high} cancers [63].

These results have been confirmed for two distinct NSCLC cohorts by detecting CALR protein with immunohistochemistry [64], as well as for an additional NSCLC cohort by measuring CALR mRNA levels and its correlations with metagenes reflecting the presence of CTL and dendritic cells [65]. Similarly, in ovarian cancer, high levels of CALR mRNA expression have a favorable impact on patient survival, if combined with the analysis of activated dendritic cells [65]. Conversely, high CD47 expression has a negative impact on the prognosis of multiple distinct cancers [66–68]. Mutations in the CALR gene have been described in myeloproliferative neoplasms [69–71], causing mislocalization of the corresponding gene product [72], although the exact impact of these mutations on tumor immunosurveillance remains elusive. Regardless, the clinical data validate the importance of the CALR exposure pathway for tumor biology.

12.5 HMGB1

High molecular group B1 protein (HMGB1) is the most abundant nonhistone chromatin-binding protein [73–75]. HMGB1 is usually found in an exclusively nuclear location yet can translocate to the cytoplasm, for instance, after inhibition of histone deacetylases [76]. Moreover, HMGB1 is usually released from cells that undergo necroptosis or secondary necrosis [77, 78]. Mouse cancer cells in which either RIPK3 or MLKL have been knocked out release lower amounts of HMGB1 in response to anthracyclines than their necroptosis-competent controls [18].

Experiments on tumors implanted in mice revealed that HMGB1 is released from cancer cells upon chemotherapy in vivo [79–83]. Cancer cells from which HMGB1 has been depleted by RNA interference are unable to undergo ICD and become resistant to chemotherapy in vivo. Similarly, injection of neutralizing anti-HMGB1 antibodies abolished the anticancer immune response elicited by ICD-inducing chemotherapy in vivo and hence compromised tumor growth reduction [81]. These results support the importance of extracellular HMGB1 as a DAMP in tumor immunology.



Fig. 12.4 HMGB1 facilitates antigen presentation by dendritic cells. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), normally secluded in the nucleus, is released at later stages of immunogenic cell death in response to treatments such as anthracycline-based chemotherapy or ionizing irradiation. Extracellular HMGB1 serves as a ligand for TLR4 on dendritic cells (DCs) and triggers a MYD88-dependent signaling that stimulates DC maturation and antigen presentation to cytotoxic T cells (CTLs). TLR4, toll-like receptor 4

Once present in the extracellular space, HMGB1 can interact with multiple additional factors including nucleic acids and bacterial polysaccharides [84-88]. HMGB1 also binds to several receptors including toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), which is expressed on multiple immune cell types including dendritic cells, in which it stimulates maturation and antigen presentation (Fig. 12.4) [81, 89, 90]. Knockout of TLR4, or that of its adaptor MYD88, from the host immune system abolishes the perception of ICD as well as tumor growth reduction by anthracyclines or oxaliplatin [22, 80, 81, 91]. This defect has been linked to a reduced antigen presentation by dendritic cells and can be partially rescued by treatment with the lysosomal inhibitor chloroquine [81].

In human breast cancer, reduced HMGB1 expression has been linked to the advancement of the disease and increased tumor size [46]. Reduced HMGB1 expression is a negative prognostic feature in breast cancer and correlates with an intratumoral infiltration by fewer CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes and more immunosuppressive populations of FOXP3⁺ regulatory T cells and CD68⁺ tumor-associated macrophages [46]. Moreover, there are at least two cancer types in which a loss-of-function allele of TLR4 compromises patient prognosis, namely, (1) breast cancer and (2) colorectal cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy based on anthracyclines and oxaliplatin, respectively [92]. These findings underscore the likely importance of the HMGB1/TLR4 interaction for the fate of cancer patients.

In the case of HMGB1-negative cancers, artificial supply of a synthetic TLR4 ligand, dendrophilin, can compensate for the HMGB1 defect and restore anticancer immune responses elicited by chemotherapy in mouse models. Whether such a strategy might also work in cancer patients bearing HMGB1-negative neoplasia remains to be investigated.

12.6 Type-1 Interferons and Chemokines

In response to chemotherapeutics, tumor cells liberate nucleic acids including DNA and double-stranded RNA that may activate intracellular or extracellular sensors for ectopic molecules of this kind. One example for such nucleic acid sensor is the toll-like receptor-3 (TLR3) [93], although other sensors including the GAS/ STING pathway might be involved as well [94]. In response to these stimuli that resemble those induced by a viral infection and hence can be referred to as "viral mimicry," cancer cells transcriptionally activate one or several type-1 interferon genes, secrete the corresponding gene products, and then stimulate their type-1 interferon receptor (IFNAR) to induce a multipronged type-1 interferon response consisting in the activation of multiple antiviral and immunostimulatory gene products (Fig. 12.5) [95]. One quintessential antiviral gene product is myxovirus resistance 1 (MX1), and one well-known immunostimulatory gene product is the C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10 (CXCL10), which acts on the C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 3 (CXCR3) to attract T lymphocytes into the tumor bed [95]. Cancer cells that lack TLR3, IFNAR, or CXCL10 are unable to elicit anticancer immune responses upon chemotherapy and hence become refractory to the treatment [95]. Local injection of recombinant type-1 interferons and CXCL10 can overcome this defect [95],



Fig. 12.5 Type I interferon-dependent chemokine release triggers T cell priming. In response to chemotherapeutics that mimic a viral infection, with regard to the liberation of nucleic acids from the dying cells, sensors for such molecules like the toll-like receptor-3 (TLR3), transcriptionally activate one or several type-1 interferon genes. Once secreted, the interferon stimulates the type-1 interferon receptor (IFNAR) to induce a multipronged type-1

underscoring the importance of the type-1 interferon response for therapeutic outcome in mouse tumor models.

At least in breast cancer patients, the aforementioned pathway seems to be therapeutically relevant. Thus, MX1 expression is induced by chemotherapy in vivo. The absence of signaling through IFNAR, indicated by the lack of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) phosphorylation [96] or low MX1 expression, constitutes a poor prognostic feature, in particular in the context of anthracycline-based adjuvant chemotherapy [95]. Moreover, a polymorphism that affects the function of TLR3 reportedly influences the fate of breast cancer patients [97]. These results have to be interpreted in the context of mounting clinical evidences that type-1 interferons can be injected into patients to stimulate anticancer immune responses in the context of renal cancer and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) [98].

12.7 Concluding Remarks and Perspective

As mentioned above, there are multiple DAMPs (such as ANXA1, ATP, CALR, HMGB1, and type-1 interferons) that function as adjuvant signals in the context of immunogenic chemotherapies

interferon response including the production of C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10 (CXCL10), which acts on the C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 3 (CXCR3) to recruit T lymphocytes into the tumor bed finally leading to a $\gamma\delta$ T cell-mediated priming of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. CXCR3, CXC-chemokine receptor 3; IFNAR1; interferon α/β -receptor subunit 1; IL, interleukin

(Fig. 12.6). It is important to note that these DAMPs do not act in a redundant fashion (in which case they would be able to replace each other) but in a non-redundant way, meaning that removal of one single DAMP (or its receptor) from the system is sufficient to undermine anticancer immunosurveillance elicited by immunogenic chemotherapies. One possibility to look at this problem is to postulate that each of the DAMPs must come into action following a defined spatiotemporary sequence, perhaps within a narrow range of intensity, following the "key-lock principle" [99]. Only if the DAMPs are expressed in the correct order, at the correct intensity, they are able to form the "key" that opens the vault that normally precludes an immune response [99]. Speculatively, this particular design of the system may reduce the probability of unwarranted autoinflammatory and autoimmune reactions in normal tissues [100]. On the other hand, this means that suppression of one single DAMP due to mutation (perhaps driven by immunoselection) or inhibition of one single DAMP receptor is sufficient to subvert anticancer immunosurveillance and to reduce the chance of cancer patients to control their disease upon chemotherapy.

Irrespective of these speculations, it is possible to measure all known DAMPs in cultured



Fig. 12.6 Mechanisms of immunogenic cell death in therapy-induced immunosurveillance. Cancer cells undergoing immunogenic cell death (ICD) in response to chemotherapeutic treatments, such as doxorubicin or oxaliplatin, exhibit or release certain danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) such as calreticulin (CALR) ATP, type I interferon (IFN), high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), and annexin A1 (ANXA1). Ligation of cog-

cells exposed to libraries of anticancer agents to identify ICD inducers. In practical terms, this is achieved by generating biosensor cell lines that express fluorescent versions of ANXA1, CALR, or HMGB1 that have been fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP) or its derivatives. ATP release can be measured upon staining with chloroquine. The activation of the type-1 interferon response can be determined by placing GFP under the control of the MX1 promoter. Using this battery of biosensors, it is hence possible to select anticancer agents that stimulate all aspects of ICD. We have successfully used this approach to identify ICD inducers that are effective in stimulating anticancer immune responses in vivo, in mouse models [101–103].

It is tempting to speculate that such an approach may become even more useful in selecting successful anticancer drugs based on their ICD-stimulatory potential. Obviously, this approach would require additional in vivo experimentations in preclinical models while carefully

nate receptors on the surface of myeloid or lymphoid cells facilitates the recruitment and activation of dendritic cells, their homing to the dying cancer cells, subsequent tumor antigen uptake, and final presentation (upon maturation of the dendritic cells). The production of immunostimulatory cytokines eventually leads to the onset of an adaptive immune response involving $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells that reestablishes cancer immunosurveillance

avoiding the use of immunodeficient mice carrying xenotransplants like it was done in the past (see Sect. 12.1). Rather, anticancer drug candidates should always be evaluated in immunocompetent rodent models, including humanized mouse models. It is tempting to predict that this kind of approach will greatly reduce the attrition rate that has been characterizing the traditional drug development pipeline.

Acknowledgments GK is supported by the French Ligue contre le Cancer (équipe labellisée); Agence National de la Recherche (ANR) – Projets blancs; ANR under the frame of E-Rare-2, the ERA-Net for Research on Rare Diseases; Association pour la recherche sur le cancer (ARC); Cancéropôle Ile-de-France; Institut National du Cancer (INCa); Institut Universitaire de France; Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale (FRM); the European Commission (ArtForce); the European Research Council (ERC); the LeDucq Foundation; the LabEx Immuno-Oncology; the SIRIC Stratified Oncology Cell DNA Repair and Tumor Immune Elimination (SOCRATE); the SIRIC Cancer Research and Personalized Medicine (CARPEM); and the Paris Alliance of Cancer Research Institutes (PACRI).

References

- Farkona S, Diamandis EP, Blasutig IM. Cancer immunotherapy: the beginning of the end of cancer? BMC Med. 2016;14:73. doi:10.1186/s12916-016-0623-5.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57–70.
- Kelland LR. Of mice and men: values and liabilities of the athymic nude mouse model in anticancer drug development. Eur J Cancer. 2004;40(6):827–36. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2003.11.028.
- Schmoll HJ, Tabernero J, Maroun J, de Braud F, Price T, Van Cutsem E, Hill M, Hoersch S, Rittweger K, Haller DG. Capecitabine plus Oxaliplatin compared with fluorouracil/Folinic acid as adjuvant therapy for stage III Colon cancer: final results of the NO16968 randomized controlled phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(32):3733–40. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2015.60.9107.
- Yothers G, O'Connell MJ, Allegra CJ, Kuebler JP, Colangelo LH, Petrelli NJ, Wolmark N. Oxaliplatin as adjuvant therapy for colon cancer: updated results of NSABP C-07 trial, including survival and subset analyses. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(28):3768–74. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.4539.
- Andre T, Boni C, Navarro M, Tabernero J, Hickish T, Topham C, Bonetti A, Clingan P, Bridgewater J, Rivera F, de Gramont A. Improved overall survival with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment in stage II or III colon cancer in the MOSAIC trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(19):3109–16. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.20.6771.
- Blanke CD, Rankin C, Demetri GD, Ryan CW, von Mehren M, Benjamin RS, Raymond AK, Bramwell VH, Baker LH, Maki RG, Tanaka M, Hecht JR, Heinrich MC, Fletcher CD, Crowley JJ, Borden EC. Phase III randomized, intergroup trial assessing imatinib mesylate at two dose levels in patients with unresectable or metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors expressing the kit receptor tyrosine kinase: S0033. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(4):626–32. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2007.13.4452.
- Blanke CD, Demetri GD, von Mehren M, Heinrich MC, Eisenberg B, Fletcher JA, Corless CL, Fletcher CD, Roberts PJ, Heinz D, Wehre E, Nikolova Z, Joensuu H. Long-term results from a randomized phase II trial of standard- versus higher-dose imatinib mesylate for patients with unresectable or metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors expressing KIT. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(4):620–5. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2007.13.4403.
- 9. Druker BJ, Guilhot F, O'Brien SG, Gathmann I, Kantarjian H, Gattermann N, Deininger MW, Silver RT, Goldman JM, Stone RM, Cervantes F, Hochhaus A, Powell BL, Gabrilove JL, Rousselot P, Reiffers J, Cornelissen JJ, Hughes T, Agis H, Fischer T, Verhoef G, Shepherd J, Saglio G, Gratwohl A, Nielsen JL, Radich JP, Simonsson B, Taylor K, Baccarani M, So C, Letvak L, Larson RA, Investigators I. Five-year follow-up of patients receiving imatinib for chronic

myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(23):2408–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa062867.

- Verweij J, Casali PG, Zalcberg J, LeCesne A, Reichardt P, Blay JY, Issels R, van Oosterom A, Hogendoorn PC, Van Glabbeke M, Bertulli R, Judson I. Progression-free survival in gastrointestinal stromal tumours with high-dose imatinib: randomised trial. Lancet. 2004;364(9440):1127–34. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17098-0.
- Demetri GD, von Mehren M, Blanke CD, Van den Abbeele AD, Eisenberg B, Roberts PJ, Heinrich MC, Tuveson DA, Singer S, Janicek M, Fletcher JA, Silverman SG, Silberman SL, Capdeville R, Kiese B, Peng B, Dimitrijevic S, Druker BJ, Corless C, Fletcher CD, Joensuu H. Efficacy and safety of imatinib mesylate in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(7):472–80. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020461.
- Druker BJ, Talpaz M, Resta DJ, Peng B, Buchdunger E, Ford JM, Lydon NB, Kantarjian H, Capdeville R, Ohno-Jones S, Sawyers CL. Efficacy and safety of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(14):1031– 7. doi:10.1056/NEJM200104053441401.
- Zitvogel L, Rusakiewicz S, Routy B, Ayyoub M, Kroemer G. Immunological off-target effects of imatinib. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(7):431–46. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.41.
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, Schmitt E, Hamai A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Obeid M, Coutant F, Metivier D, Pichard E, Aucouturier P, Pierron G, Garrido C, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. J Exp Med. 2005;202(12):1691–701. doi:10.1084/jem.20050915.
- Kanduc D, Mittelman A, Serpico R, Sinigaglia E, Sinha AA, Natale C, Santacroce R, Di Corcia MG, Lucchese A, Dini L, Pani P, Santacroce S, Simone S, Bucci R, Farber E. Cell death: apoptosis versus necrosis (review). Int J Oncol. 2002;21(1):165–70.
- Fuchs Y, Steller H. Programmed cell death in animal development and disease. Cell. 2011;147(4):742– 58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.033.
- Rello S, Stockert JC, Moreno V, Gamez A, Pacheco M, Juarranz A, Canete M, Villanueva A. Morphological criteria to distinguish cell death induced by apoptotic and necrotic treatments. Apoptosis. 2005;10(1):201–8. doi:10.1007/ s10495-005-6075-6.
- Yang H, Ma Y, Chen G, Zhou H, Yamazaki T, Klein C, Pietrocola F, Vacchelli E, Souquere S, Sauvat A, Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Contribution of RIP3 and MLKL to immunogenic cell death signaling in cancer chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(6):e1149673. doi:10.1080/21624 02X.2016.1149673.
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016; doi:10.1038/ nri.2016.107.

- Vandenabeele P, Galluzzi L, Vanden Berghe T, Kroemer G. Molecular mechanisms of necroptosis: an ordered cellular explosion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(10):700–14. doi:10.1038/nrm2970.
- Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Di Sano F, Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Synthetic induction of immunogenic cell death by genetic stimulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e28276. doi:10.4161/onci.28276.
- 22. Yamazaki T, Hannani D, Poirier-Colame V, Ladoire S, Locher C, Sistigu A, Prada N, Adjemian S, Catani JP, Freudenberg M, Galanos C, Andre F, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Defective immunogenic cell death of HMGB1-deficient tumors: compensatory therapy with TLR4 agonists. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):69–78. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.72.
- 23. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, Rubio N, Firczuk M, Mathieu C, Roebroek AJ, Annaert W, Golab J, de Witte P, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. EMBO J. 2012;31(5):1062–79. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.497.
- Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, Boucontet L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Casares N, Lasarte JJ, Matsuzaki G, Ikuta K, Ryffel B, Benlagha K, Tesniere A, Ibrahim N, Dechanet-Merville J, Chaput N, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med. 2011;208(3):491–503. doi:10.1084/ jem.20100269.
- 25. Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, Shen S, Kepp O, Scoazec M, Mignot G, Rello-Varona S, Tailler M, Menger L, Vacchelli E, Galluzzi L, Ghiringhelli F, di Virgilio F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. Science. 2011;334(6062):1573–7. doi:10.1126/science.1208347.
- 26. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, Castedo M, Mignot G, Panaretakis T, Casares N, Metivier D, Larochette N, van Endert P, Ciccosanti F, Piacentini M, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007;13(1):54–61. doi:10.1038/nm1523.
- Pol J, Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Castoldi F, Eggermont A, Cremer I, Sautes-Fridman C, Fucikova J, Galon J, Spisek R, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Trial watch: immunogenic cell death inducers for anticancer chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(4):e1008866. doi:10.108 0/2162402X.2015.1008866.
- Bezu L, Gomes-de-Silva LC, Dewitte H, Breckpot K, Fucikova J, Spisek R, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Combinatorial strategies for the induction of immunogenic cell death. Front Immunol. 2015;6:187. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00187.

- Emens LA, Middleton G. The interplay of immunotherapy and chemotherapy: harnessing potential synergies. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(5):436–43. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0064.
- Gebremeskel S, Johnston B. Concepts and mechanisms underlying chemotherapy induced immunogenic cell death: impact on clinical studies and considerations for combined therapies. Oncotarget. 2015;6(39):41600–19. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.6113.
- D'Acunto CW, Gbelcova H, Festa M, Ruml T. The complex understanding of Annexin A1 phosphorylation. Cell Signal. 2014;26(1):173–8. doi:10.1016/j. cellsig.2013.09.020.
- 32. Vacchelli E, Ma Y, Baracco EE, Sistigu A, Enot DP, Pietrocola F, Yang H, Adjemian S, Chaba K, Semeraro M, Signore M, De Ninno A, Lucarini V, Peschiaroli F, Businaro L, Gerardino A, Manic G, Ulas T, Gunther P, Schultze JL, Kepp O, Stoll G, Lefebvre C, Mulot C, Castoldi F, Rusakiewicz S, Ladoire S, Apetoh L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Lucattelli M, Delarasse C, Boige V, Ducreux M, Delaloge S, Borg C, Andre F, Schiavoni G, Vitale I, Laurent-Puig P, Mattei F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Chemotherapy-induced antitumor immunity requires formyl peptide receptor 1. Science. 2015;350(6263):972–8. doi:10.1126/science.aad0779.
- Danielsen EM, van Deurs B, Hansen GH. "Nonclassical" secretion of annexin A2 to the lumenal side of the enterocyte brush border membrane. Biochemistry. 2003;42(49):14670–6. doi:10.1021/ bi0355239.
- Gavins FN, Hickey MJ. Annexin A1 and the regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. Front Immunol. 2012;3:354. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00354.
- Wenzel-Seifert K, Seifert R. Functional differences between human formyl peptide receptor isoforms 26, 98, and G6. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 2003;367(5):509–15. doi:10.1007/ s00210-003-0714-7.
- Martins I, Tesniere A, Kepp O, Michaud M, Schlemmer F, Senovilla L, Seror C, Metivier D, Perfettini JL, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Chemotherapy induces ATP release from tumor cells. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(22):3723–8. doi:10.4161/cc.8.22.10026.
- Di Virgilio F, Pinton P, Falzoni S. Assessing extracellular ATP as danger signal in vivo: the pmeLuc system. Methods Mol Biol. 2016;1417:115–29. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-3566-6_7.
- Pellegatti P, Raffaghello L, Bianchi G, Piccardi F, Pistoia V, Di Virgilio F. Increased level of extracellular ATP at tumor sites: in vivo imaging with plasma membrane luciferase. PLoS One. 2008;3(7):e2599. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002599.
- 39. Martins I, Wang Y, Michaud M, Ma Y, Sukkurwala AQ, Shen S, Kepp O, Metivier D, Galluzzi L, Perfettini JL, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Molecular mechanisms of ATP secretion during immunogenic cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):79–91. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.75.

- 40. Ko A, Kanehisa A, Martins I, Senovilla L, Chargari C, Dugue D, Marino G, Kepp O, Michaud M, Perfettini JL, Kroemer G, Deutsch E. Autophagy inhibition radiosensitizes in vitro, yet reduces radio-responses in vivo due to deficient immunogenic signalling. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):92–9. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.124.
- 41. Martins I, Michaud M, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Shen S, Kepp O, Menger L, Vacchelli E, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Premortem autophagy determines the immunogenicity of chemotherapy-induced cancer cell death. Autophagy. 2012;8(3):413–5. doi:10.4161/auto.19009.
- 42. Takamura A, Komatsu M, Hara T, Sakamoto A, Kishi C, Waguri S, Eishi Y, Hino O, Tanaka K, Mizushima N. Autophagy-deficient mice develop multiple liver tumors. Genes Dev. 2011;25(8):795– 800. doi:10.1101/gad.2016211.
- Marino G, Salvador-Montoliu N, Fueyo A, Knecht E, Mizushima N, Lopez-Otin C. Tissue-specific autophagy alterations and increased tumorigenesis in mice deficient in Atg4C/autophagin-3. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(25):18573–83. doi:10.1074/jbc. M701194200.
- 44. Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, Park D, Woodson RI, Ostankovich M, Sharma P, Lysiak JJ, Harden TK, Leitinger N, Ravichandran KS. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. Nature. 2009;461(7261):282–6. doi:10.1038/nature08296.
- 45. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, Vermaelen K, Panaretakis T, Mignot G, Ullrich E, Perfettini JL, Schlemmer F, Tasdemir E, Uhl M, Genin P, Civas A, Ryffel B, Kanellopoulos J, Tschopp J, Andre F, Lidereau R, McLaughlin NM, Haynes NM, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Activation of the NLRP3 inflamma-some in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15(10):1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028.
- 46. Ladoire S, Enot D, Senovilla L, Ghiringhelli F, Poirier-Colame V, Chaba K, Semeraro M, Chaix M, Penault-Llorca F, Arnould L, Poillot ML, Arveux P, Delaloge S, Andre F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The presence of LC3B puncta and HMGB1 expression in malignant cells correlate with the immune infiltrate in breast cancer. Autophagy. 2016;12(5):864–75. doi :10.1080/15548627.2016.1154244.
- 47. Turcotte M, Spring K, Pommey S, Chouinard G, Cousineau I, George J, Chen GM, Gendoo DMA, Haibe-Kains B, Karn T, Rahimi K, Le Page C, Provencher D, Mes-Masson AM, Stagg J. CD73 is associated with poor prognosis in high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75(21):4494–503. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. Can-14-3569.
- 48. Loi S, Pommey S, Haibe-Kains B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ, Stagg J. CD73 promotes anthracycline resistance and poor prognosis in

triple negative breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(27):11091–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1222251110.

- 49. Pietrocola F, Pol J, Vacchelli E, Rao S, Enot DP, Baracco EE, Levesque S, Castoldi F, Jacquelot N, Yamazaki T, Senovilla L, Marino G, Aranda F, Durand S, Sica V, Chery A, Lachkar S, Sigl V, Bloy N, Buque A, Falzoni S, Ryffel B, Apetoh L, Di Virgilio F, Madeo F, Maiuri MC, Zitvogel L, Levine B, Penninger JM, Kroemer G. Caloric restriction mimetics enhance anticancer immunosurveillance. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(1):147–60. doi:10.1016/j. ccell.2016.05.016.
- 50. Di Biase S, Lee C, Brandhorst S, Manes B, Buono R, Cheng CW, Cacciottolo M, Martin-Montalvo A, de Cabo R, Wei M, Morgan TE, Longo VD. Fasting-mimicking diet reduces HO-1 to promote T cell-mediated tumor cytotoxicity. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(1):136–46. doi:10.1016/j. ccell.2016.06.005.
- Marino G, Pietrocola F, Madeo F, Kroemer G. Caloric restriction mimetics: natural/physiological pharmacological autophagy inducers. Autophagy. 2014;10(11):1879–82. doi:10.4161/auto.36413.
- Madeo F, Pietrocola F, Eisenberg T, Kroemer G. Caloric restriction mimetics: towards a molecular definition. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2014;13(10):727– 40. doi:10.1038/nrd4391.
- Golden EB, Apetoh L. Radiotherapy and immunogenic cell death. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2015;25(1):11– 7. doi:10.1016/j.semradonc.2014.07.005.
- 54. Sukkurwala AQ, Martins I, Wang Y, Schlemmer F, Ruckenstuhl C, Durchschlag M, Michaud M, Senovilla L, Sistigu A, Ma Y, Vacchelli E, Sulpice E, Gidrol X, Zitvogel L, Madeo F, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immunogenic calreticulin exposure occurs through a phylogenetically conserved stress pathway involving the chemokine CXCL8. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):59–68. doi:10.1038/ cdd.2013.73.
- 55. Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, Durchschlag M, Joza N, Pierron G, van Endert P, Yuan J, Zitvogel L, Madeo F, Williams DB, Kroemer G. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. EMBO J. 2009;28(5):578–90. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.1.
- 56. Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Giordanetto F, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Martins I, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Disruption of the PP1/GADD34 complex induces calreticulin exposure. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(23):3971–7. doi:10.4161/cc.8.23.10191.
- Lu YC, Weng WC, Lee H. Functional roles of calreticulin in cancer biology. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:526524. doi:10.1155/2015/526524.
- 58. Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, Bratton DL, Oldenborg PA, Michalak M, Henson PM. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP

on the phagocyte. Cell. 2005;123(2):321–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.032.

- 59. Chao MP, Jaiswal S, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Alizadeh AA, Gentles AJ, Volkmer J, Weiskopf K, Willingham SB, Raveh T, Park CY, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Calreticulin is the dominant pro-phagocytic signal on multiple human cancers and is counterbalanced by CD47. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(63):63ra94. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3001375.
- Martins I, Kepp O, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Tailler M, Shen S, Michaud M, Menger L, Gdoura A, Tajeddine N, Tesniere A, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Restoration of the immunogenicity of cisplatininduced cancer cell death by endoplasmic reticulum stress. Oncogene. 2011;30(10):1147–58. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.500.
- 61. Garg AD, Elsen S, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, de Witte P, Agostinis P. Resistance to anticancer vaccination effect is controlled by a cancer cellautonomous phenotype that disrupts immunogenic phagocytic removal. Oncotarget. 2015;6(29):26841– 60. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4754.
- 62. Obeid M, Tesniere A, Panaretakis T, Tufi R, Joza N, van Endert P, Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Chaput N, Flament C, Ullrich E, de Botton S, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Ecto-calreticulin in immunogenic chemotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2007;220:22–34. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00567.x.
- 63. Fucikova J, Becht E, Iribarren K, Goc J, Remark R, Damotte D, Alifano M, Devi P, Biton J, Germain C, Lupo A, Fridman WH, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Kroemer G, Sautes-Fridman C, Cremer I. Calreticulin expression in human non-small cell lung cancers correlates with increased accumulation of antitumor immune cells and Favorable prognosis. Cancer Res. 2016;76(7):1746–56. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. Can-15-1142.
- 64. Fucikova J, Truxova I, Hensler M, Becht E, Kasikova L, Moserova I, Vosahlikova S, Klouckova J, Church SE, Cremer I, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Salek C, Spisek R. Calreticulin exposure by malignant blasts correlates with robust anticancer immunity and improved clinical outcome in AML patients. Blood. 2016;128(26):3113–24. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-08-731737.
- 65. Stoll G, Iribarren K, Michels J, Leary A, Zitvogel L, Cremer I, Kroemer G. Calreticulin expression: interaction with the immune infiltrate and impact on survival in patients with ovarian and non-small cell lung cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(7):e1177692. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1177692.
- 66. Zhao H, Wang J, Kong X, Li E, Liu Y, Du X, Kang Z, Tang Y, Kuang Y, Yang Z, Zhou Y, Wang Q. CD47 promotes tumor invasion and metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer. Sci Rep. 2016;6:29719. doi:10.1038/srep29719.
- 67. Wang H, Tan M, Zhang S, Li X, Gao J, Zhang D, Hao Y, Gao S, Liu J, Lin B. Expression and significance of CD44, CD47 and c-met in ovarian clear

cell carcinoma. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(2):3391–404. doi:10.3390/ijms16023391.

- Yoshida K, Tsujimoto H, Matsumura K, Kinoshita M, Takahata R, Matsumoto Y, Hiraki S, Ono S, Seki S, Yamamoto J, Hase K. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and a therapeutic target in gastric cancer. Cancer Med. 2015;4(9):1322–33. doi:10.1002/ cam4.478.
- Malcovati L, Rumi E, Cazzola M. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms and myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasms. Haematologica. 2014;99(11):1650–2. doi:10.3324/ haematol.2014.113944.
- Lundberg P, Nienhold R, Ambrosetti A, Cervantes F, Perez-Encinas MM, Skoda RC. Somatic mutations in calreticulin can be found in pedigrees with familial predisposition to myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2014;123(17):2744–5. doi:10.1182/ blood-2014-01-550863.
- 71. Klampfl T, Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, Nivarthi H, Rumi E, Milosevic JD, Them NC, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pietra D, Chen D, Vladimer GI, Bagienski K, Milanesi C, Casetti IC, Sant'Antonio E, Ferretti V, Elena C, Schischlik F, Cleary C, Six M, Schalling M, Schonegger A, Bock C, Malcovati L, Pascutto C, Superti-Furga G, Cazzola M, Kralovics R. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(25):2379–90. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1311347.
- 72. Araki M, Yang Y, Masubuchi N, Hironaka Y, Takei H, Morishita S, Mizukami Y, Kan S, Shirane S, Edahiro Y, Sunami Y, Ohsaka A, Komatsu N. Activation of the thrombopoietin receptor by mutant calreticulin in CALR-mutant myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2016;127(10):1307–16. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-09-671172.
- Watson M, Stott K, Fischl H, Cato L, Thomas JO. Characterization of the interaction between HMGB1 and H3-a possible means of positioning HMGB1 in chromatin. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014;42(2):848–59. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt950.
- Thomas JO, Stott K. H1 and HMGB1: modulators of chromatin structure. Biochem Soc Trans. 2012;40(2):341–6. doi:10.1042/BST20120014.
- Lotze MT, Tracey KJ. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(4):331–42. doi:10.1038/nri1594.
- 76. Lu B, Antoine DJ, Kwan K, Lundback P, Wahamaa H, Schierbeck H, Robinson M, Van Zoelen MA, Yang H, Li J, Erlandsson-Harris H, Chavan SS, Wang H, Andersson U, Tracey KJ. JAK/STAT1 signaling promotes HMGB1 hyperacety-lation and nuclear translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(8):3068–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.1316925111.
- 77. Wang L, Wang T, Li H, Liu Q, Zhang Z, Xie W, Feng Y, Socorburam T, Wu G, Xia Z, Wu Q. Receptor interacting protein 3-mediated necroptosis promotes lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation and

acute respiratory distress syndrome in mice. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0155723. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0155723.

- Kaczmarek A, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV. Necroptosis: the release of damage-associated molecular patterns and its physiological relevance. Immunity. 2013;38(2):209–23. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2013.02.003.
- Guerriero JL, Ditsworth D, Fan Y, Zhao F, Crawford HC, Zong WX. Chemotherapy induces tumor clearance independent of apoptosis. Cancer Res. 2008;68(23):9595–600. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2452.
- 80. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Criollo A, Ortiz C, Lidereau R, Mariette C, Chaput N, Mira JP, Delaloge S, Andre F, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. The interaction between HMGB1 and TLR4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2007;220:47–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00573.x.
- 81. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, Andre F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13(9):1050–9. doi:10.1038/nm1622.
- 82. Dong Xda E, Ito N, Lotze MT, Demarco RA, Popovic P, Shand SH, Watkins S, Winikoff S, Brown CK, Bartlett DL, Zeh HJ 3rd. High mobility group box I (HMGB1) release from tumor cells after treatment: implications for development of targeted chemoimmunotherapy. J Immunother. 2007;30(6):596–606. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e31804efc76.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature. 2002;418(6894):191–5. doi:10.1038/nature00858.
- 84. Hreggvidsdottir HS, Ostberg T, Wahamaa H, Schierbeck H, Aveberger AC, Klevenvall L, Palmblad K, Ottosson L, Andersson U, Harris HE. The alarmin HMGB1 acts in synergy with endogenous and exogenous danger signals to promote inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;86(3):655–62. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0908548.
- Qin YH, Dai SM, Tang GS, Zhang J, Ren D, Wang ZW, Shen Q. HMGB1 enhances the proinflammatory activity of lipopolysaccharide by promoting the phosphorylation of MAPK p38 through receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Immunol. 2009;183(10):6244–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900390.
- 86. Youn JH, Oh YJ, Kim ES, Choi JE, Shin JS. High mobility group box 1 protein binding to lipopolysaccharide facilitates transfer of lipopolysaccharide to CD14 and enhances lipopolysaccharide-mediated TNF-alpha production in human monocytes. J Immunol. 2008;180(7):5067–74.

- 87. Tian J, Avalos AM, Mao SY, Chen B, Senthil K, Wu H, Parroche P, Drabic S, Golenbock D, Sirois C, Hua J, An LL, Audoly L, La Rosa G, Bierhaus A, Naworth P, Marshak-Rothstein A, Crow MK, Fitzgerald KA, Latz E, Kiener PA, Coyle AJ. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(5):487–96. doi:10.1038/ni1457.
- Ivanov S, Dragoi AM, Wang X, Dallacosta C, Louten J, Musco G, Sitia G, Yap GS, Wan Y, Biron CA, Bianchi ME, Wang H, Chu WM. A novel role for HMGB1 in TLR9-mediated inflammatory responses to CpG-DNA. Blood. 2007;110(6):1970– 81. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-09-044776.
- 89. Saenz R, Futalan D, Leutenez L, Eekhout F, Fecteau JF, Sundelius S, Sundqvist S, Larsson M, Hayashi T, Minev B, Carson D, Esener S, Messmer B, Messmer D. TLR4-dependent activation of dendritic cells by an HMGB1-derived peptide adjuvant. J Transl Med. 2014;12:211. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-211.
- 90. Dumitriu IE, Baruah P, Valentinis B, Voll RE, Herrmann M, Nawroth PP, Arnold B, Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA, Rovere-Querini P. Release of high mobility group box 1 by dendritic cells controls T cell activation via the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Immunol. 2005;174(12):7506–15.
- 91. Yang H, Hreggvidsdottir HS, Palmblad K, Wang H, Ochani M, Li J, Lu B, Chavan S, Rosas-Ballina M, Al-Abed Y, Akira S, Bierhaus A, Erlandsson-Harris H, Andersson U, Tracey KJ. A critical cysteine is required for HMGB1 binding to toll-like receptor 4 and activation of macrophage cytokine release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(26):11942–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1003893107.
- 92. Vacchelli E, Galluzzi L, Rousseau V, Rigoni A, Tesniere A, Delahaye N, Schlemmer FD, Menger L, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Martins I, Michaud M, Dunant A, Kepp O, Brambilla E, Soria JC, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Loss-of-function alleles of P2RX7 and TLR4 fail to affect the response to chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(3):271–8. doi:10.4161/onci.18684.
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(5):373–84. doi:10.1038/ ni.1863.
- Liang Y, Peng H. STING-cytosolic DNA sensing: the backbone for an effective tumor radiation therapy. Ann Transl Med. 2016;4(3):60. doi:10.3978/j. issn.2305-5839.2015.12.48.
- 95. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, Vitale I, Goubar A, Baracco EE, Remedios C, Fend L, Hannani D, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Niso-Santano M, Kepp O, Schultze JL, Tuting T, Belardelli F, Bracci L, La Sorsa V, Ziccheddu G, Sestili P, Urbani F, Delorenzi M, Lacroix-Triki M, Quidville V, Conforti R, Spano JP, Pusztai L, Poirier-Colame V, Delaloge S, Penault-Llorca F, Ladoire S, Arnould L, Cyrta J, Dessoliers MC, Eggermont A, Bianchi ME, Pittet M, Engblom C, Pfirschke C, Preville

X, Uze G, Schreiber RD, Chow MT, Smyth MJ, Proietti E, Andre F, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1301–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3708.

- 96. Legrier ME, Bieche I, Gaston J, Beurdeley A, Yvonnet V, Deas O, Thuleau A, Chateau-Joubert S, Servely JL, Vacher S, Lassalle M, Depil S, Tucker GC, Fontaine JJ, Poupon MF, Roman-Roman S, Judde JG, Decaudin D, Cairo S, Marangoni E. Activation of IFN/STAT1 signalling predicts response to chemotherapy in oestrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(2):177–87. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2015.398.
- Wang BG, Yi DH, Liu YF. TLR3 gene polymorphisms in cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Chin J Cancer. 2015;34(6):272–84. doi:10.1186/s40880-015-0020-z.
- Parker BS, Rautela J, Hertzog PJ. Antitumour actions of interferons: implications for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(3):131–44. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.14.
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy.

Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032712-100008.

- 100. Chen GY, Nunez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(12):826–37. doi:10.1038/nri2873.
- 101. Zitvogel L, Pitt JM, Daillere R, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mouse models in oncoimmunology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(12):759–73. doi:10.1038/ nrc.2016.91.
- 102. Menger L, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Martins I, Ma Y, Shen S, Yamazaki T, Sukkurwala AQ, Michaud M, Mignot G, Schlemmer F, Sulpice E, Locher C, Gidrol X, Ghiringhelli F, Modjtahedi N, Galluzzi L, Andre F, Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Cardiac glycosides exert anticancer effects by inducing immunogenic cell death. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(143):143ra199. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003807.
- 103. Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Senovilla L, Michaud M, Spaggiari S, Vacchelli E, Baracco EE, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Screening of novel immunogenic cell death inducers within the NCI mechanistic diversity set. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e28473. doi:10.4161/onci.28473.

Genetics and Immunology: Tumor-Specific Genetic Alterations as a Target for Immune Modulating Therapies

13

Anna S. Berghoff, Jakob Nikolas Kather, and Dirk Jäger

Contents

13.1	Introduction	231
13.2	Hot and Cold: How to Measure the Tumor Immunity	232
13.3	Genetic Characteristics of the Tumor Influencing the Host's Immune Response	234
13.4	Host-Specific Genetic Characteristics Determining the Tumor-Specific Immune Response	235
13.5	Tumor-Specific Genetic Alterations as a Target for Vaccination	236
13.6	Genetic Alterations of the Tumor as Predictive Biomarkers for Immune Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	238
13.7	Personalized Immunotherapy: Combination of Immune Modulation Therapies	240
References		241

A.S. Berghoff

Clinical Unit for Experimental Oncology, Thoraxklinik, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Department of Medical Oncology, National Center for Tumor Diseases, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

J.N. Kather • D. Jäger (⊠) Department of Medical Oncology, National Center for Tumor Diseases, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: Dirk.Jaeger@med.uni-heidelberg.de

13.1 Introduction

Targeting the immune system therapeutically has been a long-standing approach in oncology treatment. The interaction between the immune system and cancer was already discovered in 1863 by Virchow, who hypothesized that sites of chronic inflammation are likely to be the origin of cancer [1]. More recently, immune evasion was announced a hallmark of cancer [2]. In the early phase of tumor induction, the immune system is still able to eliminate most of the cancer-initiating cells. However, the selection pressure for cells circumventing immune responses results in an equilibrium between immune attack and the growing tumor. Eventually, the cancer cells manage to evade the immune response via several immunosuppressive and escape mechanisms [2]. Therefore, overcoming the cancer-mediated immune escape using immune modulating therapies has become an appealing therapeutic option and the focus of oncology research. Currently, a wide range of immune modulating therapies for several tumor types are clinically available. These include interleukins, interferon, vaccination, dendritic cell therapy, adoptive T cell transfer as well as recently CAR T cell therapy, and immune checkpoint inhibitors. All mentioned therapeutic approaches improve different parts of the so-called cancer-immune cycle, whose proper function is required in order to generate an effective immune response. In

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_13

more detail, an effective T cell-mediated antitumor response can only be mediated if antigens are released from the tumor and uptaken by antigen-presenting cells like dendritic cells. Next, the dendritic cells have to travel to the regional lymph nodes in order to present the antigens to naïve T cells and induce T cell activation. The affinity of the presented tumor antigens to major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs; defined by the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) haplotype) is critical in this step of immune response initiation in order to generate sufficient T cell activation. Furthermore, several regulatory T cell coreceptors have enhancing as well as suppressive regulating properties and prevent an overwhelming self-directed immune response. The activated T cells then enter circulation and travel to the tumor site, where they have to face the immunosuppressive properties of the local tumor microenvironment. Only if all steps of this cancer-immune cycle interact properly, an effective tumor-specific cytotoxic T cell immune response arises [3, 4]. Consequently, the cancer interferes with the cancer-immune cycle at several levels and thereby prevents the generation of an effective immune response. The understanding and selective targeting of improperly functioning steps in the cancerimmune cycle are therefore essential to overcome the immune escaping properties and generate a clinically meaningful response.

Interestingly, genetically similar tumors in regard to their active driver mutations and mutation signature respond very differently to immune modulating therapies. Consequently, durable responses after immune modulating therapies can be observed only in a fraction of an otherwise very homogenous patient population [5]. A deeper insight on the involved genetic alterations and their specific immunogenicity might facilitate highly personalized immunotherapy approaches. Factors such as genetic alterations like mutational load, presence of a mismatch repair deficiency, neo-antigen signatures, and mutations in certain immunological driver pathways were identified to correlate with the likelihood of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors [6–9]. However, besides their predictive potential for response to immune checkpoint inhibitors, genetic alterations can also serve as a treatment target for immune modulation therapies like mutation-specific vaccination with peptides or RNA/DNA and dendritic cells or tumor-specific adoptive T cell transfer, particularly chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy. Much less investigated in this matter, however certainly of high interest, are the genetic host characteristics like the individual immune status, the T cell receptor repertoire, or the HLA haplotype influencing the cancer-immune cycle and potentially supporting the cancer immune escape. Certainly, a deeper insight into the host genetics in addition to the specific tumor genetics is needed to formulate effective personalized immunotherapy approaches. The following chapter will concentrate on specific genetic characteristics of the tumor as well the host immune system associated with immunity and take vaccination as an example to introduce personalized immunotherapy.

13.2 Hot and Cold: How to Measure the Tumor Immunity

The immunogenicity of cancers can be measured by analyzing characteristics of the inflammatory tumor microenvironment. A very standardized approach is to conduct histological analyses of immune cell infiltration in the tumor tissue. Thereby, three typical patterns of immune response can be identified: immunologically "cold" (no active immune response) or "hot" (indicating a potential active immune response) tumors and tumors with a pronounced immune cell rim at the invasive margin but lack of infiltration in the tumor core (Fig. 13.1, I-III). These three phenotypes represent situations where the tumor has evaded the host immune system and has successfully grown to a detectable degree [2]. The theoretically fourth pattern of immune elimination of tumor cells by the host immune system is certainly never observed as only occurring in not clinically evident situations





Fig. 13.2 Methodical approaches to quantification of immune cell infiltrates. *Left*: a standard method is to delineate a "core" region and a "margin" region and to count cells separately in each of these regions. *Middle*: cells can

also be analyzed in a continuous way, enabling detailed analysis of spatial clustering. *Right*: Integrating multiple spatially aligned staining can yield information about colocalization of different immune cell subtypes

(Fig. 13.1, IV). It should be noted that these four types of immune infiltrates represent idealized situations, whereas in reality, these patterns can vary spatially and temporally in a given tumor.

Using immunohistochemistry, the cell types of these immune infiltrates can be defined: quantitatively, the most abundant immune cells are CD3+ lymphocytes (mostly composed of CD4+ T-helper cells, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells, and FOXP3+ regulatory T cells). Also, CD68+ and/or CD163+ macrophages are extremely abundant in many solid tumors. Enumeration of these cells, for example, by means of digital pathology, has proven to be effective in predicting survival, chemotherapy response, and immunotherapy response [11–13]. Additional to enumeration of cells in the invasive margin and the tumor core, other spatial analysis methods enable the definition of higher-order spatial features of immune cell infiltrates: continuous approaches for density analysis (Fig. 13.2, center) do not rely on predefined static regions, but enable a more fine-grained analysis of spatial patterns, including spatial clustering. Multivariate approaches (Fig. 13.2, right) enable the analysis of co-localization of different markers, thereby allowing to generate hypotheses about mechanistic interaction between different immune cell subtypes.

Interestingly, spatial patterns of immune infiltrates within or close to the tumor tissue only reflect one part of the host response to the tumor. It has been shown that host response can also be detected at a distance, most notably in "tertiary lymphoid structures" that emerge at a distance of up to several millimeters around solid tumors. These features are most notable in lung cancer and have also been detected in other entities such as colorectal cancer [14–16].

13.3 Genetic Characteristics of the Tumor Influencing the Host's Immune Response

Cancer is a genetic disease as the accumulation of several driver mutations eventually transforms a cell in a cancer cells. In general, the immune system identifies most cells with genetic aberrations and eliminates them in order to prevent the occurrence of malignant transformation. However, certain cancer-initiating cells manage to overcome this initial immune elimination and enter a process of equilibrium. Consequently, the selection pressure for cells able to evade the immune response rises, and eventually they escape the immune regulatory mechanisms [2]. Although these cancer cells have theoretically evaded the immune system, they remain an immunogenic target as the infiltration with immune cells in established cancer samples proofs [11, 14, 17].

Molecular cancer subgroups based on the presence of certain driver mutations were shown to correlate with characteristics of the inflammatory tumor microenvironment. Interestingly, several known targetable driver mutations, like EGFR mutation, estrogen overexpression, or presence of IDH mutation, are rather associated with a so-called "cold" inflammatory tumor microenvironment and subsequently rather low density of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and absence of programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression [18, 19]. Further, loss of PTEN was shown to enhance immune escape as increased expression of immunosuppressive cytokines results in reduced T cell-mediated tumor killing and T cell trafficking into the tumor. In line, application of a PI3Kβ Inhibitor reduced these immunosuppressive properties in preclinical models and as a consequence the efficacy of anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 treatments [20].

The genetic aberrations of a tumor are further the most important immunological target, as the immune system can detect peptides generated from aberrantly expressed genes or neo-antigens expressed as a direct consequence of somatic mutations. The resulting proteins are divergent from the germ line sequence and

therefore entirely absent in the normal human genome. Importantly, while driver mutations directing malignant transformation are similar in a given tumor histology, the specific mutation signature and consequently the (neo-)antigen composure of any particular tumor is largely distinct, resulting in highly diverse (neo-)antigen signatures in tumors of the same histology [21]. These (neo-)antigens are displayed on the major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs; defined by the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) haplotype) on the surface of malignant cells and can thereby be identified by T cells, which are able to generate a tumor-specific cytotoxic immune reaction. However, the presence of (neo-)antigens does not equal a meaningful tumor-specific Т cell reactivity [22]. Abnormalities of the MHCs in cancer cells including loss or mutations of genes encoding the MHC heavy chains as well as epigenetic modifications may impair the recognition of tumor cells by the immune system [23]. Furthermore, the presence of (neo-)antigens throughout a given tumor is not a static condition as the genomic landscape of a tumor is heterogeneous in space as well as in time. Spatial genetic heterogeneity is especially observed within a tumor bulk and at least partly explained by cell migration on a small scale [24]. In line, the immunogenicity of a tumor differs locally, resulting in a heterogeneous infiltration with immune cells as observed in various tumor entities. Immunosuppressive factors, like programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1), frequently show a heterogeneous expression throughout a given tumor [25]. PDL1 expression in only 1% of tumor cells might already substantially impact the immunogenicity and is associated with survival prognosis in entities like breast cancer and lung cancer [26, 27]. In conclusion this data suggests that the spatially heterogeneous genetic landscape of tumors shapes the also spatially heterogeneous immune response.

Besides this spatial heterogeneity, the genetic characteristics of a given tumor change over time. Here, matched primary tumor and metastatic samples revealed marked genetic differences in a process called branched evolution from the common ancestor cell to the primary tumor and the metastasis [28]. As a result, also the (neo-)antigen signature is not a static condition over time: first, due to the genetic evolution of the tumor itself and second due to immune editing as response to survival advantage of non-immunogenic cancer cell clones [2, 29].

13.4 Host-Specific Genetic Characteristics Determining the Tumor-Specific Immune Response

Importantly, besides the above outlined genetic characteristics of the tumor, also the characteristics of the host's immune system determine the efficacy of the resulting immune response. Density of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and more precisely preexisting CD8+ T cells in the invasive tumor margin are predictive markers for the response to PD1 checkpoint inhibitors as well as chemotherapy [13, 30]. However, the magnitude of T cell infiltration and the ratio of T cell subsets vary substantially between patients, despite tumor histology and location being similar. In line, identical to the genomic evolution of the tumor cells, also the T cell infiltration phenotype might underline a host-specific evolution generating the observed heterogeneity in tumor cell genotype and immune cell infiltration (Fig. 13.3).

The host factors' impact on the tumor-specific T cell response has been only partly understood

and so far less intensively investigated compared to tumor-specific characteristics. One important factor here might be T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire, which is unique in every person as the TCR- β alleles are subjected to strict allelic exclusion. The TCR repertoire expressed in tumorinfiltrating T cells determines the degree of tumor reactivity and (neo-)antigen specificity, and a further insight could potentially function as predictive signature for immune modulating therapies [31]. The TCR clonality of the host is an important predictive factor for the response to PD1 checkpoint inhibitors [32].

Furthermore, adaptive immune responses within a certain organ might impact the host's immune cell phenotype. Organs with a comparably strict immune regulation, such as the brain, might actively restrict the generation of an active immune response. In line, the density of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in primary brain tumors is rather low and matched brain metastases present with a less active inflammatory tumor micro-environment compared to their matched primary lung cancer samples [33, 34].

The HLA haplotype is a further host-specific factor determining the anticancer immune response, and it defines the binding capacity with a certain (neo-)antigen and as a consequence the resulting T cell-mediated immune response. In line, vaccination strategies using specific, single neo-antigens are frequently restricted to patients with a certain HLA haplo-type as only this certain combination has the potential to induce a specific immune response [35, 36]. A recently upcoming host factor influ-



Fig. 13.3 Immune infiltrates in solid tumors typically show a spatial and temporal heterogeneity. This heterogeneity is driven by tumor factors (e.g., genetic heterogeneity) and host factors (e.g., adaptive immune response)

encing the cancer-specific immune response is the gut microbiome, and further studies concentrate on their interference as well as the therapeutic implications [37].

Further systemic host characteristics shaping the intensity of the tumor-specific immune response are circulating inflammatory cytokines like interleukin-6 that are associated with a chronic inflammatory state in cancer patients and induce cancer-associated cachexia [38]. In line, blood markers indicating chronic inflammation like increased C-reactive protein (CRP), increased white blood cell counts, or microcytic anemia are associated with impaired survival prognosis in several cancer types [39, 40]. High concentration of tumor necrosis factor alpha, interferon gamma, as well as the chemokine ligands CCL2, CCL4, or CXCL10 in the blood circulation might be associated with an increased tumor-supporting activity of circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells [41, 42]. Liquid biomarkers like plasma level of soluble PDL1 were shown to be associated with poor prognosis and suppression of antitumor immunity in patients with advanced lung cancer [43]. In conclusion, not only specific factors of the tumor but rather the very personal interaction of a specific tumor and a specific host immune system determine the amplitude of an antitumor immune response.

13.5 Tumor-Specific Genetic Alterations as a Target for Vaccination

In contrast to more general immune activating therapies like immune checkpoint inhibitors or interferons, vaccination induces a more specifically directed immune response to distinct tumor epitopes [44]. Here, several techniques including active vaccination, meaning application of vital, active immune cells like dendritic cells, CAR T cells, or neo-epitope-specific T cells, or passive vaccination with peptides or RNA/DNA constructs either against one or multiple tumorspecific epitope(s) are applied (Table 13.1).

Active immunotherapy approaches use patient-derived cells, activate and expand them ex vivo, and transfer them back in the patient. This personalized immunotherapy requires demanding and complex methods, complicating the commercialization and conduction of large phase III clinical trials [44, 45]. Dendritic cell vaccination is an approved therapeutic approach, which has shown to be safe and generate responses, e.g., in melanoma, glioblastoma, and prostate cancer [46–48]. In brief, peripheral monocyte and dendritic precursor cells are taken from the patients and amplified ex vivo. Next, the monocytic cells are matured using an activation

Vaccination approach	Principle	Challenges
Mono neo-antigen	(Neo-)antigen vaccination of a frequently expressed peptide or RNA/DNA	Heterogeneity of antigen presence; selection pressure for cells without antigen; HLA haplotypes
Multi-neo-antigen	Vaccination of several frequently expressed (neo-)antigens	Heterogeneity of antigen presence; selection pressure for cells without antigen; HLA haplotypes
Mutanome specific	Identification of patients' specific (neo-) antigens and formulation of specific multi-neo-antigen vaccination	Identification of antigens with immunogenic properties; complex production
Dendritic cell vaccination	Ex vivo activation of patient-derived dendritic cell to increase antigen presentation	Activation with mono (neo-)antigen or tumor-specific lysate; complex production
Adoptive transfer of neo-epitope-specific T cells	Ex vivo expansion of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes specifically reactive a certain (neo-)antigen	Complex production
CAR T cells	Genetically engineering of patient- derived T cells in order to express an antigen-specific T cell receptor	Heterogeneity of (neo-antigen) presence; selection pressure for cells without (neo-) antigen; complex production

Table 13.1 Vaccination approaches

cocktail containing pro-inflammatory cytokines, CD40 ligand, or TLR agonist. The matured dendritic cells are then loaded with tumor antigen either by inoculation with peptides, proteins or known tumor neo-antigens or with patients' specific tumor lysates [44, 49]. These activated, matured dendritic cells are reinfused in the patients and can induce a specific immune response by antigen presentation to T cells as well as support of B cell memory maintenance and activation of natural killer cells [47, 49]. So far, dendritic cell vaccination therapy has only showed a survival benefit in one prospective phase III study in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer [48].

Adoptive transfer of neo-antigen-specific T cells is another immunotherapy approach currently investigated in clinical trials and was shown to generate immune response also in tumor entities that are generally not prone to immune modulating therapies, like colorectal cancer and cholangiocarcinoma [50, 51]. Here, next-generation whole genome sequencing is used to reveal non-synonymous mutations potentially functioning as neo-epitopes. Dendritic antigen-presenting cells, retrieved from the specific patient, are then loaded in vitro to present these neo-epitopes to T cells isolated from the tumor tissue (tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes). T cells responding specifically to the presented neo-antigen are then expanded ex vivo and subsequently reinfused into the patient. Here, the neoantigen-specific T cell can mount a tumor-specific immune response, resulting in the persisting presence of these antigen-specific T cells and potential tumor control [50, 51].

Another immunotherapy approach is the application of T cells with a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) [44]. To generate an antigen-specific CAR T cell type, peripheral T cells are harvested from a patient. Next, the desired antigen-specific CAR is introduced in the T cells trough viral or nonviral methods resulting in T cells with genetically engineered, antigen-specific T cell receptor. The CAR T cells are expanded ex vivo and reintroduced in the patient [52, 53]. Here, CAR T cells can target cells expressing the antigen and enhance T cell effector function in an MHC-independent manner. Therefore, the HLA haplotype potentially does not affect the efficacy of CAR T cell therapy [52]. Neo-antigens like human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), mesothelin, and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) among others are currently tested as potential targets for CAR T cells in solid cancers [53–56]. Besides the already substantial clinical efficacy in hematologic malignancies, the first case reports also indicate efficacy in solid cancers and several studies are currently recruiting [54, 56].

Besides treatment approaches using ex vivo cultured patient-specific cells, several peptide- or RNA/DNA-based vaccination approaches have been postulated in order to increase the host's immune response by increasing the availability of (neo-)antigen(s). Mono neo-epitope vaccinations encompass one specific antigen of a given tumor. The targeted epitope has to be expressed in the majority of cancer cells to ensure that the initiated T cell response is effective. Clinical trials investigated, e.g., a HER2-specific vaccination in HER2 overexpressing breast cancer or gp100 vaccination in melanoma [57, 58]. However, the mono epitope-directed immune response results in a selection pressure of the antigen-positive cancer cells and provides a survival advantage to negative cells, potentially resulting in an immune escape. Furthermore, the affinity of the peptides to the MHC varies according to the HLA haplotype, restricting the efficacy of certain peptide vaccines to patients expressing a specific HLA haplotype [59].

A multi-epitope vaccination using several frequently present epitopes of a tumor can potentially generate a broader immune response and prevent immune escape more efficiently compared to mono epitope vaccination. A set of predefined epitopes, which have been identified to be frequently expressed in a certain tumor type, are included in the vaccination [60, 61]. However, as outlined before, the specific antigen signature of a certain patient is very unique although histology and location of the given tumors might be comparable [62]. Mutanomespecific vaccination provides an even more personalized vaccination approach: specific multiple neo-epitopes can be identified in a given patient and facilitate the manufacturing of an individual vaccine [63]. These neo-epitopes can be identified either via genome sequencing and in silico antigen prediction or directly via mass spectrometry [63, 64]. Hereby, tumor heterogeneity is more adequately addressed, and clinical application is more broadly possible, as limitations like the presence of a certain antigen or HLA haplotype are reduced [64]. However, not all genetic alterations result in transcribed proteins and second in the generation of immunogenic epitopes. Only about 20-40% of (neo-)antigens are recognized by the immune system and result in the generation of a tumor-specific T cell response [64]. Therefore, a key question is how immunogenic cancer mutations of relevance can be identified and therapeutically explored in а personalized manner. Here, the numerical difference NetMHC score between the wild-type peptide and the mutated neo-antigen and the conformational stability of the MHC I and peptide interaction are essential to define the immunogenicity of a given neo-antigen [65].

Currently, several clinical trials are testing various neo-epitope vaccine approaches, either in monotherapy or combination. An important matter to discuss, as for the application for immune checkpoint inhibitors, is to identify which patients will most likely benefit from these specific vaccination approaches. Here, the extend of the disease should be taken into account. Vaccination, although generating a tumor-specific immune response, does likely not result in tumor shrinkage but rather control of existing tumor. Therefore, patients with minimal residual disease are likely to benefit most. Therefore, careful trial design is essential to identify patients benefiting most from vaccination-based treatment approaches.

13.6 Genetic Alterations of the Tumor as Predictive Biomarkers for Immune Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Besides the high response rates observed in patients treated with CTLA4 and PD1 axis targeting immune checkpoint inhibitors, a significant fraction of patients does not respond. Therefore, accurate and precise predictive biomarkers are urgently needed to adequately select patients with the highest likelihood of response (Table 13.2).

Indeed, rather the total mutational load than the presence of specific alterations was shown to correlate with an immune response and increased likelihood of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (Fig. 13.4) [7, 68]. In line, cancer types with high mutational load like melanoma or lung adenocarcinoma are more sensitive to immune modulating therapies in comparison to tumors with less frequent mutations like, e.g., breast cancer [63]. Cancer types induced by a high carcinogenic exposure like melanoma trough UV radiation or lung cancer in smokers, or virally induced cancer types such as head and neck squamous cell carcinoma present with a particularly high mutational burden [69]. Interestingly, the mutational load differs greatly between the individual cancers, although other characteristics like histology, location, and presence of driver mutations are very similar [8].

Predictive marker	Immune modulating therapy	Entity	References
Number of somatic mutations	CTLA4 and PD1 blockade	Melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer	[7, 8]
Mismatch repair deficiency	PD1 blockade	Colorectal cancer	[66]
Neo-antigen signature/load	PD1 and CTLA4 blockade	Lung adenocarcinoma, melanoma	[6, 9, 67]
Copy number loss	CTLA4 blockade	Melanoma	[32]

Table 13.2 Genetic alterations of the tumor as predictive biomarkers for immune checkpoint inhibitor based therapy



Some cancer types with a rather low mutational burden, like colorectal cancer or glioblastoma, might respond impressively in the presence of certain specific genetic subtypes like the microsatellite instability or mismatch repair deficiency [66, 70, 71]. However, also cancer types with a lower median number of somatic mutations have shown impressive and durable responses like renal cell carcinoma, arguing that besides the raw number of mutations, the immunological quality of the mutations might influence the cancer immunosurveillance. More precisely, the mutational load correlates with immunogenicity of a given tumor as each additional mutation increases the odds that a relevant patient-specific cancer neo-antigen is created.

Indeed, a high number of mutations and a high load of neo-antigens are associated with increased infiltration of CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and improved prognosis [62, 72]. This neo-antigen signature can vary in its immunogenicity depending on the affinity to the MHC complex, the difference to wild-type peptides, and the heterogeneity of the neo-antigen within the tumor. The majority of mutations found in melanoma and other tumors with a high mutational load are "passenger mutations" that are unrelated to the cellular transformation process. As such, the vast majority of potential neo-epitopes in these cancers are patient-specific. In melanoma patients responding to CTLA4 inhibitors, a specific neo-antigen signature of neoepitopes homologous to many viral and bacterial antigens was discovered [9]. Whether this particular neo-antigen signature also has predictive potential in other entities as well as the definitive cutoff values defining a tumor with high mutational load remains unknown [8, 9].

Furthermore, the burden of copy number loss was shown to correlate with likelihood of response to CTLA4 inhibition. Here, copy number loss is associated with melanoma progression and might therefore be one cause of immune escape as a correlation of copy number loss and downregulation of immune-related gene expression was found [32]. Interestingly, effects of low copy number loss and high mutational load had nonredundant effects on the clinical response, indicating that the combination of several predictive markers could potentially provide a more precise prediction of response [32]. Some truncating genetic alterations encoding the interferonreceptor-associated Janus kinases 1 (JAK1) and 2 (JAK2) were shown to correlate with acquired resistance to anti-PD1 immune checkpoint inhibitors [29].

13.7 Personalized Immunotherapy: Combination of Immune Modulation Therapies

Although encouraging response rates have been observed with immune modulating therapies, the majority of patients still will not benefit in the long term from currently available treatments. This might be due to several simultaneously active immune escaping factors of the tumor in addition to the host-specific factors. Combination of immune modulation therapies with each other or with other established treatment options can enhance the interaction of host and cancer by improving different steps of the cancer-immune cycle [4].

A lack of available antigen can be overcome by vaccination with tumor-specific antigens. Indeed, preclinical studies suggest a synergistic effect of vaccination with checkpoint inhibition, although a clinical study investigating the combination of CTLA4 inhibition and gp100 vaccination did not show a clinically meaningful additional efficacy [57, 73]. However, the recent insights on peptide vaccination therapies including the establishment of mutanome-specific vaccinations might provide a better combination partner for immune checkpoint inhibitors.

The so-called abscopal effect argues for the reasonable combination of radiotherapy and immune checkpoint inhibitors [74]. In theory, radiotherapy first increases the availability of antigens by apoptosis of tumor cells inducing tumor-specific T cell responses. In addition, radiotherapy has several local effects on the inflammatory microenvironment and induces the infiltration of the tumor with antigen-presenting cells, macrophages, and cytotoxic T cells [10, 75]. Therefore, vaccination and radiation but also

other therapies resulting in increased antigen presentation can overcome insufficient antigen transport, and presentation and combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors might be synergistically [76, 77]. However, today little is known about how to identify patients with insufficient antigen presentation, as no reliable markers to quantify efficacy of antigen presentation have been proven.

As outlined above, a tumor-specific immune response is highly regulated as several TCR coreceptors control the resulting T cell response with either enhancing or suppressive signals [78]. The PD1 and CTLA4 axis are both T cell response suppressing pathways, actually reducing the activation of T cells. In line, the inhibition results in an "unleashing" of the tumor-specific T cell response [78]. However, PD1 checkpoint inhibition results in upregulation of other immunosuppressive immune checkpoint pathways like TIM3 [59]. Therefore, combination of two checkpoint inhibitors might overcome this immune escape mechanism. The combination of CTLA4 and PD1 blockade was shown to be more clinically effective compared to either checkpoint inhibitor alone, although in light of a higher toxicity rate [79, 80]. Further, CTLA4 therapy was shown to increase TCR clonality present in the tumor and thereby enhance the likelihood of response to PD1-directed therapies [32]. Several studies are currently investigating the clinical efficacy of second-generation checkpoint inhibitors targeting, e.g., TIM3, LAG3, OX40, and others in combination with first-generation checkpoint inhibitors.

Further combinations aim to increase the intra-tumoral T cell density in addition to an immune checkpoint inhibitor. The PI3K and MEK pathways were shown to influence the density of T cell within the tumor tissue [20, 81]. Addition of MEK tyrosine kinase inhibitors to immune checkpoint inhibitors might therefore result in increased density to tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, thereby converting "cold" tumors into "hot" ones, which are then more susceptible for immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy [82].

A further promising combination is the addition of immune checkpoint inhibitors to standard chemotherapy regimes, as many standard chemotherapies have been shown to have immune modulating function [44]. The response rate as well as the progression-free survival was increased significantly by the combination of standard platinum-based chemotherapy and a PD1 inhibitor [83, 84].

Lastly, in order to generate a durable adaptive immune response, the innate immune system has to be considered as well. It has long been known that macrophages and neutrophils modulate T cell activity in a clinically relevant way [85]. Recently, it was shown that macrophage repolarization can lead to an increased lymphocyte response against the tumor in otherwise non-immunogenic tumors [86, 87]. Currently, clinical trials exploiting these regulatory axes are ongoing.

In summary, cancer immunotherapy is rapidly changing from single-agent approaches toward combination therapies addressing the patientspecific interactions between the immune system and the given cancer [88]. The combination of immune modulating therapies certainly creates another layer of complexity that has to be addressed by better preclinical understanding of the underlying biology and resulting reasonable biomarkers. Here, several genetic properties of the tumor itself as outlined above but also hostspecific factors and dynamic factors caused by the interaction of specific host and tumor have to be incorporated in potential predictive algorithms. In depth characterization of the inflammatory tumor microenvironment, genetic characteristics of the tumor and the host have to be assessed and further analyzed to develop predictive biomarker signatures. We have to get used to monitor immediate treatment effects in sequential tumor biopsies to better understand the mechanisms of response, even more important to understand the mechanisms of resistance in the individual patient. Such data will be very important to feed our prediction algorithms. Ultimately, we can envision clinical trial strategies where every patient is receiving a different drug combination that might even change in sequence. Real-time assessment of treatment effects on the tumor will help to constantly adopt and modify the treatment strategy in the individual patient.

References

- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet. 2001;357(9255):539–45. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39(1):1– 10. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012.
- Preusser M, Berghoff AS, Thallinger C, Zielinski CC. Cancer immune cycle: a video introduction to the interaction between cancer and the immune system. ESMO Open. 2016;1(3):e000056. doi:10.1136/ esmoopen-2016-000056.
- Schadendorf D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O, Patt D, Chen TT, Berman DM, Wolchok JD. Pooled analysis of long-term survival data from phase II and phase III trials of Ipilimumab in unresectable or metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(17):1889–94. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2014.56.2736.
- 6. McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, Jamal-Hanjani M, Wilson GA, Birkbak NJ, Hiley CT, Watkins TB, Shafi S, Murugaesu N, Mitter R, Akarca AU, Linares J, Marafioti T, Henry JY, Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Schadendorf D, Garraway LA, Makarov V, Rizvi NA, Snyder A, Hellmann MD, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Shukla SA, Wu CJ, Peggs KS, Chan TA, Hadrup SR, Quezada SA, Swanton C. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351(6280):1463–9. doi:10.1126/science. aaf1490.
- Nathanson T, Ahuja A, Rubinsteyn A, Aksoy BA, Hellmann MD, Miao D, Van Allen E, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Snyder A, Hammerbacher J. Somatic mutations and Neoepitope homology in melanomas treated with CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Immunol Res. 2017;5(1):84–91. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0019.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, Lee W, Yuan J, Wong P, Ho TS, Miller ML, Rekhtman N, Moreira AL, Ibrahim F, Bruggeman C, Gasmi B, Zappasodi R, Maeda Y, Sander C, Garon EB, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Schumacher TN, Chan TA. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):124–8. doi:10.1126/science.aaa1348.
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, Walsh LA, Postow MA, Wong P, Ho TS, Hollmann TJ, Bruggeman C, Kannan K, Li Y, Elipenahli C, Liu C, Harbison CT, Wang L, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Chan TA. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(23):2189–99. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1406498.

- Demaria S, Coleman CN, Formenti SC. Radiotherapy: changing the game in immunotherapy. Trends Cancer. 2016;2(6):286–94. doi:10.1016/j.trecan.2016.05.002.
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoue F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc PH, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pages F. Type, dCensity, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960–4. doi:10.1126/ science.1129139.
- 12. Halama N, Michel S, Kloor M, Zoernig I, Benner A, Spille A, Pommerencke T, von Knebel DM, Folprecht G, Luber B, Feyen N, Martens UM, Beckhove P, Gnjatic S, Schirmacher P, Herpel E, Weitz J, Grabe N, Jaeger D. Localization and density of immune cells in the invasive margin of human colorectal cancer liver metastases are prognostic for response to chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2011;71(17):5670–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0268.
- Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, Alaparthy S, Berman D, Jure-Kunkel M, Siemers NO, Jackson JR, Shahabi V. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):1019–31. doi:10.1007/ s00262-011-1172-6.
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298– 306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245.
- Goc J, Germain C, Vo-Bourgais TK, Lupo A, Klein C, Knockaert S, de Chaisemartin L, Ouakrim H, Becht E, Alifano M, Validire P, Remark R, Hammond SA, Cremer I, Damotte D, Fridman WH, Sautes-Fridman C, Dieu-Nosjean MC. Dendritic cells in tumorassociated tertiary lymphoid structures signal a Th1 cytotoxic immune contexture and license the positive prognostic value of infiltrating CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2014;74(3):705–15. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-13-1342.
- 16. Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, Lupo A, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Riquet M, Crozet L, Ouakrim H, Goc J, Cazes A, Flejou JF, Gibault L, Verkarre V, Regnard JF, Pages ON, Oudard S, Mlecnik B, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH, Damotte D. Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(15):4079–91. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3847.
- 17. Berghoff AS, Fuchs E, Ricken G, Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Spanberger T, Hackl M, Widhalm G, Dieckmann K, Prayer D, Bilocq A, Heinzl H, Zielinski C, Bartsch R, Birner P, Galon J, Preusser M. Density of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes correlates with extent of brain edema and overall survival time in patients with brain metastases. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(1):e1057388. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1057388.
- Chung YR, Kim HJ, Jang MH, Park SY. Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocyte subsets in

breast cancer depends on hormone receptor status. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;161(3):409–20. doi:10.1007/s10549-016-4072-9.

- Huynh TG, Morales-Oyarvide V, Campo MJ, Gainor JF, Bozkurtlar E, Uruga H, Zhao L, Gomez-Caraballo M, Hata AN, Mark EJ, Lanuti M, Engelman JA, Mino-Kenudson M. Programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in resected lung adenocarcinomas: association with immune microenvironment. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;11(11):1869–78. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2016.08.134.
- 20. Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT, Xu C, McKenzie JA, Zhang C, Liang X, Williams LJ, Deng W, Chen G, Mbofung R, Lazar AJ, Torres-Cabala CA, Cooper ZA, Chen PL, Tieu TN, Spranger S, Yu X, Bernatchez C, Forget MA, Haymaker C, Amaria R, McQuade JL, Glitza IC, Cascone T, Li HS, Kwong LN, Heffernan TP, Hu J, Bassett RL Jr, Bosenberg MW, Woodman SE, Overwijk WW, Lizee G, Roszik J, Gajewski TF, Wargo JA, Gershenwald JE, Radvanyi L, Davies MA, Hwu P. Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(2):202–16. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0283.
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. Science. 2013;339(6127):1546–58. doi:10.1126/science.1235122.
- 22. Spranger S, Luke JJ, Bao R, Zha Y, Hernandez KM, Li Y, Gajewski AP, Andrade J, Gajewski TF. Density of immunogenic antigens does not explain the presence or absence of the T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment in melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(48):E7759–68. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1609376113.
- Campoli M, Ferrone S. HLA antigen changes in malignant cells: epigenetic mechanisms and biologic significance. Oncogene. 2008;27(45):5869–85. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.273.
- 24. Waclaw B, Bozic I, Pittman ME, Hruban RH, Vogelstein B, Nowak MA. A spatial model predicts that dispersal and cell turnover limit intratumour heterogeneity. Nature. 2015;525(7568):261–4. doi:10.1038/nature14971.
- Mansfield AS, Murphy SJ, Peikert T, Yi ES, Vasmatzis G, Wigle DA, Aubry MC. Heterogeneity of programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in multifocal lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(9):2177–82. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2246.
- 26. Mori H, Kubo M, Yamaguchi R, Nishimura R, Osako T, Arima N, Okumura Y, Okido M, Yamada M, Kai M, Kishimoto J, Oda Y, Nakamura M. The combination of PD-L1 expression and decreased tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is associated with a poor prognosis in triple-negative breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2017; doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14698.
- 27. Tsang JY, Au WL, Lo KY, Ni YB, Hlaing T, Hu J, Chan SK, Chan KF, Cheung SY, Tse GM. PD-L1 expression and tumor infiltrating PD-1+ lymphocytes associated with outcome in HER2+ breast cancer

patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;162(1):19–30. doi:10.1007/s10549-016-4095-2.

- 28. Brastianos PK, Carter SL, Santagata S, Cahill DP, Taylor-Weiner A, Jones RT, Van Allen EM, Lawrence MS, Horowitz PM, Cibulskis K, Ligon KL, Tabernero J, Seoane J, Martinez-Saez E, Curry WT, Dunn IF, Paek SH, Park SH, McKenna A, Chevalier A, Rosenberg M, Barker FG, 2nd, Gill CM, Van Hummelen P, Thorner AR, Johnson BE, Hoang MP, Choueiri TK, Signoretti S, Sougnez C, Rabin MS, Lin NU, Winer EP, Stemmer-Rachamimov A, Meyerson M, Garraway L, Gabriel S, Lander ES, Beroukhim R, Batchelor TT, Baselga J, Louis DN, Getz G, Hahn WC. Genomic characterization of brain metastases reveals branched evolution and potential therapeutic targets. Cancer Discov. 2015;5 (11):1164–77. doi:10.1158/2159–8290.CD-15-0369.
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, Torrejon DY, Abril-Rodriguez G, Sandoval S, Barthly L, Saco J, Homet Moreno B, Mezzadra R, Chmielowski B, Ruchalski K, Shintaku IP, Sanchez PJ, Puig-Saus C, Cherry G, Seja E, Kong X, Pang J, Berent-Maoz B, Comin-Anduix B, Graeber TG, Tumeh PC, Schumacher TN, Lo RS, Ribas A. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(9):819–29. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1604958.
- 30. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, Chmielowski B, Spasic M, Henry G, Ciobanu V, West AN, Carmona M, Kivork C, Seja E, Cherry G, Gutierrez AJ, Grogan TR, Mateus C, Tomasic G, Glaspy JA, Emerson RO, Robins H, Pierce RH, Elashoff DA, Robert C, Ribas A. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954.
- Linnemann C, Mezzadra R, Schumacher TN. TCR repertoires of intratumoral T-cell subsets. Immunol Rev. 2014;257(1):72–82. doi:10.1111/imr.12140.
- 32. Roh W, Chen PL, Reuben A, Spencer CN, Prieto PA, Miller JP, Gopalakrishnan V, Wang F, Cooper ZA, Reddy SM, Gumbs C, Little L, Chang Q, Chen WS, Wani K, De Macedo MP, Chen E, Austin-Breneman JL, Jiang H, Roszik J, Tetzlaff MT, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Tawbi H, Lazar AJ, Hwu P, Hwu WJ, Diab A, Glitza IC, Patel SP, Woodman SE, Amaria RN, Prieto VG, Hu J, Sharma P, Allison JP, Chin L, Zhang J, Wargo JA, Futreal PA. Integrated molecular analysis of tumor biopsies on sequential CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade reveals markers of response and resistance. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(379) doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aah3560.
- 33. Berghoff A, Kiesel B, Widhalm G, Rajky O, Ricken G, Wöhrer A, Oberndorfer F, Dieckmann K, Filipits M, Marosi C, Höller C, Wick W, Preusser M. Role of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and PDL1 expression in glioblastoma (GBM) and brain metastases (BM): comparative analysis. In: Scientific Meeting Society for Neuro Oncol. 2014; 16(Suppl 5): v107. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4218219/.

- 34. Mansfield AS, Aubry MC, Moser JC, Harrington SM, Dronca RS, Park SS, Dong H. Temporal and spatial discordance of programmed cell death-ligand 1 expression and lymphocyte tumor infiltration between paired primary lesions and brain metastases in lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(10):1953–8. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw289.
- 35. Kreiter S, Vormehr M, van de Roemer N, Diken M, Lower M, Diekmann J, Boegel S, Schrors B, Vascotto F, Castle JC, Tadmor AD, Schoenberger SP, Huber C, Tureci O, Sahin U. Mutant MHC class II epitopes drive therapeutic immune responses to cancer. Nature. 2015;520(7549):692–6. doi:10.1038/nature14426.
- 36. Somasundaram R, Swoboda R, Caputo L, Otvos L, Weber B, Volpe P, van Belle P, Hotz S, Elder DE, Marincola FM, Schuchter L, Guerry D, Czerniecki BJ, Herlyn D. Human leukocyte antigen-A2-restricted CTL responses to mutated BRAF peptides in melanoma patients. Cancer Res. 2006;66(6):3287–93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1932.
- 37. Pitt JM, Vetizou M, Gomperts Boneca I, Lepage P, Chamaillard M, Zitvogel L. Enhancing the clinical coverage and anticancer efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade through manipulation of the gut microbiota. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(1):e1132137. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1132137.
- Zimmers TA, Fishel ML, Bonetto A. STAT3 in the systemic inflammation of cancer cachexia. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2016;54:28–41. doi:10.1016/j. semcdb.2016.02.009.
- 39. Asegaonkar SB, Asegaonkar BN, Takalkar UV, Advani S, Thorat AP. C-reactive protein and breast cancer: new insights from old molecule. International journal of breast cancer. 2015;2015:145647. doi:10.1155/2015/145647.
- Pierce BL, Ballard-Barbash R, Bernstein L, Baumgartner RN, Neuhouser ML, Wener MH, Baumgartner KB, Gilliland FD, Sorensen BE, McTiernan A, Ulrich CM. Elevated biomarkers of inflammation are associated with reduced survival among breast cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(21):3437–44. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.18.9068.
- 41. Jiang H, Gebhardt C, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Schulze TJ, Utikal J, Umansky V. Elevated chronic inflammatory factors and myeloid-derived suppressor cells indicate poor prognosis in advanced melanoma patients. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(10):2352–60. doi:10.1002/ijc.29297.
- 42. Schneider T, Sevko A, Heussel CP, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Dienemann H, Safi S, Utikal J, Hoffmann H, Umansky V. Serum inflammatory factors and circulating immunosuppressive cells are predictive markers for efficacy of radiofrequency ablation in non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Exp Immunol. 2015;180(3):467–74. doi:10.1111/cei.12596.
- 43. Okuma Y, Hosomi Y, Nakahara Y, Watanabe K, Sagawa Y, Homma S. High plasma levels of soluble programmed cell death ligand 1 are prognostic for reduced survival in advanced lung

cancer. Lung Cancer. 2017;104:1-6. doi:10.1016/j. lungcan.2016.11.023.

- 44. Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, Bloy N, Castoldi F, Abastado JP, Agostinis P, Apte RN, Aranda F, Ayyoub M, Beckhove P, Blay JY, Bracci L, Caignard A, Castelli C, Cavallo F, Celis E, Cerundolo V, Clayton A, Colombo MP, Coussens L, Dhodapkar MV, Eggermont AM, Fearon DT, Fridman WH, Fucikova J, Gabrilovich DI, Galon J, Garg A, Ghiringhelli F, Giaccone G, Gilboa E, Gnjatic S, Hoos A, Hosmalin A, Jager D, Kalinski P, Karre K, Kepp O, Kiessling R, Kirkwood JM, Klein E, Knuth A, Lewis CE, Liblau R, Lotze MT, Lugli E, Mach JP, Mattei F, Mavilio D, Melero I, Melief CJ, Mittendorf EA, Moretta L, Odunsi A, Okada H, Palucka AK, Peter ME, Pienta KJ, Porgador A, Prendergast GC, Rabinovich GA, Restifo NP, Rizvi N, Sautes-Fridman C, Schreiber H, Seliger B, Shiku H, Silva-Santos B, Smyth MJ, Speiser DE, Spisek R, Srivastava PK, Talmadge JE, Tartour E, Van Der Burg SH, Van Den Eynde BJ, Vile R, Wagner H, Weber JS, Whiteside TL, Wolchok JD, Zitvogel L, Zou W, Kroemer G. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. Oncotarget. 2014;5(24):12472-508. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2998.
- 45. Sharma P, Wagner K, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: recent successes and next steps. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(11):805–12. doi:10.1038/nrc3153.
- 46. Akasaki Y, Kikuchi T, Homma S, Koido S, Ohkusa T, Tasaki T, Hayashi K, Komita H, Watanabe N, Suzuki Y, Yamamoto Y, Mori R, Arai T, Tanaka T, Joki T, Yanagisawa T, Murayama Y. Phase I/II trial of combination of temozolomide chemotherapy and immunotherapy with fusions of dendritic and glioma cells in patients with glioblastoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(12):1499–509. doi:10.1007/s00262-016-1905-7.
- 47. Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, Ly A, Lie WR, Hildebrand WH, Mardis ER, Linette GP. Cancer immunotherapy. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigenspecific T cells. Science. 2015;348(6236):803–8. doi:10.1126/science.aaa3828.
- 48. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, Redfern CH, Ferrari AC, Dreicer R, Sims RB, Xu Y, Frohlich MW, Schellhammer PF, Investigators IS. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(5):411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294.
- 49. Gilboa E. DC-based cancer vaccines. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(5):1195–203. doi:10.1172/JCI31205.
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, Pasetto A, Zheng Z, Ray S, Groh EM, Kriley IR, Rosenberg SA. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(23):2255– 62. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1609279.
- 51. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Somerville RP, Hogan

K, Hinrichs CS, Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Rosenberg SA. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutationspecific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. Science. 2014;344(6184):641–5. doi:10.1126/ science.1251102.

- Turtle CJ, Hudecek M, Jensen MC, Riddell SR. Engineered T cells for anti-cancer therapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(5):633–9. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2012.06.004.
- 53. Zhang Q, Zhang Z, Peng M, Fu S, Xue Z, Zhang R. CAR-T cell therapy in gastrointestinal tumors and hepatic carcinoma: from bench to bedside. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(12):e1251539. doi:10.108 0/2162402X.2016.1251539.
- 54. Katz SC, Burga RA, McCormack E, Wang LJ, Mooring W, Point GR, Khare PD, Thorn M, Ma Q, Stainken BF, Assanah EO, Davies R, Espat NJ, Junghans RP. Phase I hepatic immunotherapy for metastases study of intra-arterial chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cell therapy for CEA+ liver metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(14):3149–59. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1421.
- 55. Kobold S, Steffen J, Chaloupka M, Grassmann S, Henkel J, Castoldi R, Zeng Y, Chmielewski M, Schmollinger JC, Schnurr M, Rothenfusser S, Schendel DJ, Abken H, Sustmann C, Niederfellner G, Klein C, Bourquin C, Endres S. Selective bispecific T cell recruiting antibody and antitumor activity of adoptive T cell transfer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2015;107(1):364. doi:10.1093/jnci/dju364.
- 56. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther. 2010;18(4):843–51. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24.
- 57. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Hassel JC, Akerley W, van den Eertwegh AJ, Lutzky J, Lorigan P, Vaubel JM, Linette GP, Hogg D, Ottensmeier CH, Lebbe C, Peschel C, Quirt I, Clark JI, Wolchok JD, Weber JS, Tian J, Yellin MJ, Nichol GM, Hoos A, Urba WJ. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.
- 58. Mittendorf EA, Ardavanis A, Symanowski J, Murray JL, Shumway NM, Litton JK, Hale DF, Perez SA, Anastasopoulou EA, Pistamaltzian NF, Ponniah S, Baxevanis CN, von Hofe E, Papamichail M, Peoples GE. Primary analysis of a prospective, randomized, single-blinded phase II trial evaluating the HER2 peptide AE37 vaccine in breast cancer patients to prevent recurrence. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(7):1241–8. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw150.
- 59. Shindo Y, Hazama S, Suzuki N, Iguchi H, Uesugi K, Tanaka H, Aruga A, Hatori T, Ishizaki H, Umeda Y, Fujiwara T, Ikemoto T, Shimada M, Yoshimatsu K, Takenouchi H, Matsui H, Kanekiyo S, Iida M, Koki Y, Arima H, Furukawa H, Ueno T, Yoshino S,

Fujita T, Kawakami Y, Nakamura Y, Oka M, Nagano H. Predictive biomarkers for the efficacy of peptide vaccine treatment: based on the results of a phase II study on advanced pancreatic cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2017;36(1):36. doi:10.1186/s13046-017-0509-1.

- 60. Hartmaier RJ, Charo J, Fabrizio D, Goldberg ME, Albacker LA, Pao W, Chmielecki J. Genomic analysis of 63,220 tumors reveals insights into tumor uniqueness and targeted cancer immunotherapy strategies. Genome Med. 2017;9(1):16. doi:10.1186/ s13073-017-0408-2.
- 61. Rampling R, Peoples S, Mulholland PJ, James A, Al-Salihi O, Twelves CJ, McBain C, Jefferies S, Jackson A, Stewart W, Lindner J, Kutscher S, Hilf N, McGuigan L, Peters J, Hill K, Schoor O, Singh-Jasuja H, Halford SE, Ritchie JW. A Cancer Research UK first time in human phase I trial of IMA950 (novel Multipeptide therapeutic vaccine) in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(19):4776–85. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-16-0506.
- 62. Angelova M, Charoentong P, Hackl H, Fischer ML, Snajder R, Krogsdam AM, Waldner MJ, Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Galon J, Trajanoski Z. Characterization of the immunophenotypes and antigenomes of colorectal cancers reveals distinct tumor escape mechanisms and novel targets for immunotherapy. Genome Biol. 2015;16:64. doi:10.1186/s13059-015-0620-6.
- Vormehr M, Diken M, Boegel S, Kreiter S, Tureci O, Sahin U. Mutanome directed cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;39:14–22. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2015.12.001.
- 64. Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Lower M, van de Roemer N, de Graaf J, Selmi A, Diken M, Boegel S, Paret C, Koslowski M, Kuhn AN, Britten CM, Huber C, Tureci O, Sahin U. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. Cancer Res. 2012;72(5):1081–91. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722.
- 65. Duan F, Duitama J, Al Seesi S, Ayres CM, Corcelli SA, Pawashe AP, Blanchard T, McMahon D, Sidney J, Sette A, Baker BM, Mandoiu II, Srivastava PK. Genomic and bioinformatic profiling of mutational neoepitopes reveals new rules to predict anticancer immunogenicity. J Exp Med. 2014;211(11):2231–48. doi:10.1084/ jem.20141308.
- 66. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, Skora AD, Luber BS, Azad NS, Laheru D, Biedrzycki B, Donehower RC, Zaheer A, Fisher GA, Crocenzi TS, Lee JJ, Duffy SM, Goldberg RM, de la Chapelle A, Koshiji M, Bhaijee F, Huebner T, Hruban RH, Wood LD, Cuka N, Pardoll DM, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Zhou S, Cornish TC, Taube JM, Anders RA, Eshleman JR, Vogelstein B, Diaz LA Jr. PD-1 blockade in Tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(26):2509– 20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500596.
- 67. Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, Sucker A, Hillen U, Foppen MH, Goldinger SM, Utikal J, Hassel JC, Weide B, Kaehler KC, Loquai C, Mohr P, Gutzmer R, Dummer R, Gabriel

S, Wu CJ, Schadendorf D, Garraway LA. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350(6257):207–11. doi:10.1126/science.aad0095.

- 68. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, Patnaik A, Aggarwal C, Gubens M, Horn L, Carcereny E, Ahn MJ, Felip E, Lee JS, Hellmann MD, Hamid O, Goldman JW, Soria JC, Dolled-Filhart M, Rutledge RZ, Zhang J, Lunceford JK, Rangwala R, Lubiniecki GM, Roach C, Emancipator K, Gandhi L, Investigators K. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(21):2018–28. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1501824.
- 69. Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, Xie M, Zhang Q, McMichael JF, Wyczalkowski MA, Leiserson MD, Miller CA, Welch JS, Walter MJ, Wendl MC, Ley TJ, Wilson RK, Raphael BJ, Ding L. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. Nature. 2013;502(7471):333–9. doi:10.1038/nature12634.
- Bouffet E, Larouche V, Campbell BB, Merico D, de Borja R, Aronson M, Durno C, Krueger J, Cabric V, Ramaswamy V, Zhukova N, Mason G, Farah R, Afzal S, Yalon M, Rechavi G, Magimairajan V, Walsh MF, Constantini S, Dvir R, Elhasid R, Reddy A, Osborn M, Sullivan M, Hansford J, Dodgshun A, Klauber-Demore N, Peterson L, Patel S, Lindhorst S, Atkinson J, Cohen Z, Laframboise R, Dirks P, Taylor M, Malkin D, Albrecht S, Dudley RW, Jabado N, Hawkins CE, Shlien A, Tabori U. Immune checkpoint inhibition for hypermutant glioblastoma multiforme resulting from germline biallelic mismatch repair deficiency. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(19):2206–11. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2016.66.6552.
- Xiao Y, Freeman GJ. The microsatellite instable subset of colorectal cancer is a particularly good candidate for checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2015;5(1):16–8. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-1397.
- Brown SD, Warren RL, Gibb EA, Martin SD, Spinelli JJ, Nelson BH, Holt RA. Neo-antigens predicted by tumor genome meta-analysis correlate with increased patient survival. Genome Res. 2014;24(5):743–50. doi:10.1101/gr.165985.113.
- 73. Antonios JP, Soto H, Everson RG, Moughon D, Orpilla JR, Shin NP, Sedighim S, Treger J, Odesa S, Tucker A, Yong WH, Li G, Cloughesy TF, Liau LM, Prins RM. Immunosuppressive tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells mediate adaptive immune resistance via a PD-1/PD-L1 mechanism in glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2017; doi:10.1093/neuonc/ now287.
- 74. Ishihara D, Pop L, Takeshima T, Iyengar P, Hannan R. Rationale and evidence to combine radiation therapy and immunotherapy for cancer treatment. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66(3):281–98. doi:10.1007/s00262-016-1914-6.
- 75. Weichselbaum RR, Liang H, Deng L, Fu YX. Radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a beneficial

liaison? Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017; doi:10.1038/ nrclinonc.2016.211.

- 76. Ribeiro Gomes J, Schmerling RA, Haddad CK, Racy DJ, Ferrigno R, Gil E, Zanuncio P, Buzaid AC. Analysis of the abscopal effect with anti-PD1 therapy in patients with metastatic solid tumors. J Immunother. 2016;39(9):367–72. doi:10.1097/ CJI.000000000000141.
- 77. Yuan J, Ginsberg B, Page D, Li Y, Rasalan T, Gallardo HF, Xu Y, Adams S, Bhardwaj N, Busam K, Old LJ, Allison JP, Jungbluth A, Wolchok JD. CTLA-4 blockade increases antigen-specific CD8(+) T cells in prevaccinated patients with melanoma: three cases. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(8):1137–46. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1011-9.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239.
- Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, Gettinger SN, Borghaei H, Brahmer JR, Ready NE, Gerber DE, Chow LQ, Juergens RA, Shepherd FA, Laurie SA, Geese WJ, Agrawal S, Young TC, Li X, Antonia SJ. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):31–41. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(16)30624-6.
- 80. Hodi FS, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann KF, McDermott DF, Linette GP, Meyer N, Giguere JK, Agarwala SS, Shaheen M, Ernstoff MS, Minor DR, Salama AK, Taylor MH, Ott PA, Horak C, Gagnier P, Jiang J, Wolchok JD, Postow MA. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced melanoma: 2-year overall survival outcomes in a multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(11):1558–68. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30366-7.
- Ebert PJ, Cheung J, Yang Y, McNamara E, Hong R, Moskalenko M, Gould SE, Maecker H, Irving BA, Kim JM, Belvin M, Mellman I. MAP kinase inhibition promotes T cell and anti-tumor activity in combination with PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. Immunity. 2016;44(3):609–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.024.
- Bendell J, Kim T, Goh B, Wallin J, Oh D, Han S, Lee C, Hellmann M, Desai J, Lewin J, Solomon B, Quan

Man Chow L, Miller W, Gainor J, Flaherty K, Infante J, Das-Thakur M, Foster P, Cha E, Bang J. Clinical activity and safety of cobimetinib (cobi) and atezolizumab in colorectal cancer (CRC). J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:(Suppl.);Abstr 3502.

- 83. Kanda S, Goto K, Shiraishi H, Kubo E, Tanaka A, Utsumi H, Sunami K, Kitazono S, Mizugaki H, Horinouchi H, Fujiwara Y, Nokihara H, Yamamoto N, Hozumi H, Tamura T. Safety and efficacy of nivolumab and standard chemotherapy drug combination in patients with advanced non-smallcell lung cancer: a four arms phase Ib study. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(12):2242–50. doi:10.1093/annonc/ mdw416.
- 84. Langer CJ, Gadgeel SM, Borghaei H. Papadimitrakopoulou VA, Patnaik A, Powell SF, Gentzler RD, Martins RG, Stevenson JP, Jalal SI, Panwalkar A, Yang JC, Gubens M, Sequist LV, Awad MM, Fiore J, Ge Y, Raftopoulos H, Gandhi L, KEYNOTE-021 Investigators. Carboplatin and pemetrexed with or without pembrolizumab for advanced, non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomised, phase 2 cohort of the open-label KEYNOTE-021 study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(11):1497-508. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(16)30498-3.
- Kim J, Bae JS. Tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor microenvironment. Mediat Inflamm. 2016;2016:6058147. doi:10.1155/2016/6058147.
- 86. Halama N, Zoernig I, Berthel A, Kahlert C, Klupp F, Suarez-Carmona M, Suetterlin T, Brand K, Krauss J, Lasitschka F, Lerchl T, Luckner-Minden C, Ulrich A, Koch M, Weitz J, Schneider M, Buechler MW, Zitvogel L, Herrmann T, Benner A, Kunz C, Luecke S, Springfeld C, Grabe N, Falk CS, Jaeger D. Tumoral immune cell exploitation in colorectal cancer metastases can be targeted effectively by anti-CCR5 therapy in cancer patients. Cancer Cell. 2016;29(4):587–601. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2016.03.005.
- Jager D, Halama N, Zornig I, Klug P, Krauss J, Haag GM. Immunotherapy of colorectal cancer. Oncol Res Treat. 2016;39(6):346–50. doi:10.1159/000446713.
- Melero I, Berman DM, Aznar MA, Korman AJ, Perez Gracia JL, Haanen J. Evolving synergistic combinations of targeted immunotherapies to combat cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2015;15(8):457–72. doi:10.1038/nrc3973.

Part II

Breakthrough Status

Peptide-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines

Cornelis J.M. Melief

Contents

14.1	Introduction	249
14.2	Mode of Action of Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines	250
14.3	What Makes a Good Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine?	250
14.4	T Cell Epitope-Based Vaccination	252
14.5	Short Peptides Versus Long Peptides for Cancer Vaccines	252
14.6	Alternative Vaccination Platforms	253
14.7	Efficacy of SLP Vaccination Depends on Addition of a Strong Adjuvant	253
14.8	Clinical Efficacy of SLP Vaccines in Patients with Premalignant Disease	254
14.9	Clinical Efficacy of Therapeutic SLP Vaccines in Cancer Patients Requires Combination Treatment That Overcomes the Hostility Toward	
	T Cells Within Cancers	254
14.10	Perspectives	257
References		

C.J.M. Melief

ISA Pharmaceuticals BV and Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands e-mail: melief@isa-pharma.com

14.1 Introduction

Peptides have attracted much interest as a platform for the induction of therapeutic T cell responses, ever since the discovery of MHCpresented protein fragments (peptides) as the antigenic basis for T cell recognition [1-4]. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (Tc) recognize short peptides of 8-11 amino acids in length, presented by MHC class I molecules (HLA class I in human beings), expressed on all nucleated cell types. CD4+ T helper cells (Th) recognize the combination of slightly longer peptides of 12-15 amino acids in length in the context of HLA class II molecules, expressed mainly on cells of the immune system such as dendritic cells (DC), macrophages, and B cells [5]. Since T cells recognize these antigen fragments (epitopes) only when expressed on cell surfaces by HLA molecules tethered to cell membranes, T cells are not distracted by free antigen in body fluids, but are specialized in the recognition and destruction of cells presenting abnormal (microbial, nonself) fragments by T cell receptors on T cells that have not been deleted in the thymus by central tolerance. Importantly T cell can recognize fragments of proteins expressed at any cellular location, including intracellular ones, providing an ideal surveillance system covering sampling and display from even the remotest cellular locations, such as the nucleus. As such T cells are the specific adaptive cell-mediated immunity arm to combat intracellular pathogens

and cancer cells. Because these tolerance-inducing mechanisms are not foolproof, therapeutic T cells can also be directed to antigenic fragments that are derived from overexpressed self-antigens or differentiation antigens, but blunting of the T cell repertoire for these antigens by tolerance may be a problem (reviewed in [6]).

14.2 Mode of Action of Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines

Therapeutic cancer vaccines need to induce powerful tumor-killing T cell responses, which can be achieved by subcutaneous, intradermal, or intramuscular injection of different vaccine modalities: DNA, RNA, synthetic long peptides (SLP), or recombinant viruses containing the sequences of tumor-associated antigens of choice. The vaccine antigens need to gain efficient access to DC (e.g., epidermal or dermal DC). These DC then migrate to vaccine-draining lymph nodes through afferent lymphatic vessels and settle into T cell areas of these lymph nodes to initiate T cell responses by appropriate contact with CD4 and CD8 T cells. Properly activated T cells leave the lymph nodes through efferent lymphatic vessels and eventually reach the blood stream through the thoracic duct. From the blood they may or may not infiltrate into antigen-bearing tumor sites. Usually the T cells there have to cope with a hostile microenvironment, including regulatory T cells, T cell checkpoint ligands such as PD-L1, myeloid suppressor cells, and factors released by T cells such as immunosuppressive cytokines and chemokines and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (reviewed in [6]. Together these conditions impair T cell migration, function, and proliferation (Fig. 14.1).

14.3 What Makes a Good Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine?

Recently we have reviewed the factors that determine success or failure of cancer vaccines [6, 7]. A successful cancer vaccine has to meet each of four requirements: (1) selection of the right tumor antigens, (2) choice of an efficient vaccine platform, (3) use of the proper vaccine adjuvant(s), and (4) use in combination with the proper cotreatment. The critical success factors and the corresponding choices to be made for success are listed in Table 14.1.

With respect to the choice of the right antigens, cancer-associated antigens that have not been subject to central thymic tolerance-driving mechanisms are favored, in particular the antigens encoded by cancer viruses such as human papillomavirus (HPV), Epstein-Barr virus, human T-lymphotropic virus I (HTLV-I), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), Kaposi sarcoma virus (KSV), and Merkel cell carcinoma virus. The most important antigens encoded by these viruses have been reviewed in [6]. Together cancer viruses are the cause of approximately 20% of all cancer worldwide. An emerging and very important category of antigens expressed by an even larger proportion of human cancers are neo-antigens caused by mutations in cancer cells induced by, e.g., chemical carcinogens in cigarette smoke (lung cancers, H&N squamous cell cancers, bladder cancers), UV light (melanomas and basal cell carcinomas of the skin), or DNA repair deficiencies (e.g., microsatellite instability colorectal cancers). The importance of neo-antigens as highly effective targets for cancer-specific T cells follows from the marked correlation observed between clinical efficacy of checkpoint blocking monoclonal antibodies against CTLA-4 or PD-1 and the number of mutations in cancers of individual patients [8–10]. In one patient successful therapy with anti-CTLA-4 antibody was indeed associated with the expansion of a major tumoricidal Tc population directed against a UV-induced mutation [11]. In mouse models it was possible to predict and validate mutationderived neo-antigens and vaccinate successfully with neo-antigen-containing SLP [12] [13, 14] or an RNA-based vaccine [15]. Similar efforts have been applied in a first proof of concept of immunogenicity of neo-antigens in the clinic with peptide-loaded DC [16]. Although the nonFig. 14.1 Mode of action of synthetic long peptide vaccination. The tumor-associated antigens are efficiently delivered by SLP easily obtaining access to DC in the vaccine injection area. Antigen-loaded DC migrate via afferent lymphatics to vaccinedraining lymph nodes to settle into *para*-cortical T cell areas, where antigen processing from ingested SLP continues, after which they engage in antigen presentation to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Activated T cells leave the lymph nodes via efferent lymphatic vessels ideally migrating to sites of tumor antigen expression in tumors. There a hostile environment is encountered, including hostile cellular elements such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) and Tregs as well as immunosuppressive chemokines and cytokines, expression of the enzyme IDO, and ligands for inhibitory T cell checkpoints like PD-1 and LAG-3. Together these conditions impair T cell migration, function, and expansion. (Adapted and updated from Melief et al. [6]



E.g., viral targets, neo-antigens	
Avoid (central) tolerance	
Avoid antigenic competition: concentrated , defined and quantified pure cancer antigen source (DNA, RNA, SLP)	
Avoid inefficiency and undefined nature of protein/ RNA cancer cell extracts	
Exploit excellent processing by dendritic cells in vivo: durable CD4 and CD8 responses	
Robust DC activating agents that strengthen and broaden T-cell response	
Th1 polarization	
Drive tumoricidal T cells and overcome hostile cancer micro-environment	
Chemotherapy, Checkpoint blockers, TNFR family agonists, gammaC cytokines, TGFβ antagonists	

 Table 14.1
 Critical success factors in development of therapeutic cancer vaccines

self-antigens of viruses and mutation-derived neo-epitopes are favored cancer vaccine ingredients, the T cell repertoire against many overexpressed antigens of the cancer-testis variety, against differentiation antigens, and against antigens such as survivin, Wilms tumor 1 (WT-1), wild-type or mutant p53, and mesothelin may be sufficient to induce robust T cell responses with antitumor activity (reviewed in [6, 7].

14.4 T Cell Epitope-Based Vaccination

Classical preventive vaccines consist of heatkilled or attenuated microorganisms that express properly folded proteins to induce protective antibodies against conformational antigens. Therapeutic vaccines, however, need to induce CD4 and CD8 T cell responses against defined T cell epitopes, presented by HLA class II or I molecules. The epitopes only assume the right conformation when bound to the HLA molecules. Peptide vaccines for induction of T cell responses thus consist of the exact length peptide constituting an epitope, or of a longer peptide (synthetic long peptide, SLP) that contains one or more epitopes, but needs further processing by antigenpresenting dendritic cells (DC) for proper binding of the precise epitope(s) into HLA molecules. Both exact fitting peptides (short peptides) and SLP (long peptides) have been used in therapeutic vaccines, but SLP are preferred for reasons outlined in the next paragraph. An advantage of epitope-based vaccines is that only amino acid sequences of epitope-rich regions of proteins need to be represented, and those segments of proteins that do not contain appreciable numbers of T cell epitopes can be omitted. Quite apart immunologically from containing silent sequences, proteins are also poorly processed by DC for presentation (so-called cross-presentation) to T cells, in particular CD8 T cells, whereas SLP are efficiently processed for presentation by HLA class II and class I, respectively, to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells [17]. In composing SLP vaccines, it is important to include epitopes capable of binding to the most common HLA class I and II molecules. To this end enough length of amino acid sequence needs to be represented in the peptide vaccine to harbor binding motifs for the most common HLA class I and II molecules, associated with the capacity to become efficiently processed by either the proteasome in the cytosol, followed by transport through the transporter of antigen processing (TAP) (HLA class I processing pathway) or cathepsins in the endosomes (HLA class II processing pathway) of DC [5].

14.5 Short Peptides Versus Long Peptides for Cancer Vaccines

Initial attempts with peptide vaccines involved single MHC class I binding epitopes + adjuvant in mice. Although such vaccinations showed antiviral or antitumor activity in several instances [18–20], reviewed in [21], such short peptide vaccines (<15 amino acids) are clearly suboptimal for a number of reasons. First, short peptides can directly bind exogenously to HLA class I molecules of all nucleated cells without antigen processing. Consequently, short vaccine peptides will end up at high concentrations in HLA class I molecules of nonprofessional antigen-presenting cells (APC) in the absence of co-stimulatory molecules, causing either short-lived Tc responses or even Tc tolerance [22-24]. A second disadvantage of exact class I binding short peptide vaccines is the absence of class II epitopes for CD4+ Th cell activation. Such Th cells are needed for optimal induction and maintenance of Tc effector responses ([25-29] and for generation of Tc memory cells [30-32]. Also, CD4+ T cells can themselves exert important antiviral or antitumor effector functions [26] [33]. Vaccination with short peptides formulated in incomplete Freund adjuvant (IFA) leads to weak or abortive T cell responses [22, 33–35], in part because of the previous problems, compounded by the fact that T cells elicited by short peptides in IFA travel to the vaccine site rather than to the tumor [34]. Vaccination with SLP (>20 amino acids long), but not short peptides in IFA or the related adjuvant Montanide ISA-51, in contrast, leads to sustained CD8+ T cell responses and robust antitumor immunity [22, 34, 36, 37]. Indeed vaccination with SLP in IFA or Montanide supports robust and sustained effector and memory T cell responses also in patients with premalignant lesions or cancer [38–43]. To some extent tolerance induction by short peptides can be overcome by vaccination with mature DC, loaded ex vivo with short peptides prior to injection [44, 45] or replacement of the Th signal with agonist antibody against CD40, with or without TLR3 ligand poly I:C [46, 47]. Upon subcutaneous injection of SLP, or in vitro, DC, but not other types of cells, are capable of effectively processing the SLP for effective MHC class I and II presentation [17, 48, 49]. In addition processing of SLP for MHC class I or II presentation is much more efficient than that of protein [17, 49]. SLP are capable of induction of both potent CD4+ and CD8+ responses in preclinical and clinical settings [36, 38, 39, 42, 50–52], whereas vaccination with intact proteins is associated with demonstrable CD4+ but not CD8+ responses [53, 54].

14.6 Alternative Vaccination Platforms

Delivery of concentrated antigen in a platform that allows efficient access to DC for HLA class I and class II presentation is important for any successful therapeutic vaccine aiming at an effective level of therapeutic T cells [6, 55]. Next to SLP, other powerful platforms are DNA or RNA vaccines. DNA vaccination is usually delivered with electroporation, as in two types of therapeutic vaccines against lesions caused by high-risk HPV16 [56, 57], and a successful RNA platform is delivery of tumor antigen-encoding RNA in cationic liposomes [15]. Viral vectors have also been used for therapeutic cancer vaccination. Viral vectors contain vector sequences that show antigenic competition with the inserted tumor antigens [58, 59], a problem that can be overcome to some degree by priming and boosting with two different viral vectors, the immune responses against which cross-react at the boost level against the inserted tumor antigen, but not at the vector level as in the PROSTVAC therapeutic vaccine directed against prostate-specific antigen (PSA) [60]. Interestingly, SLP can also be used to effectively boost CD4 and CD8 T cell immune responses in Rhesus macaques against conserved HIV antigens after priming with a replication competent poxvirus (NYVAC-C-KC) encoding conserved HIV antigen sequences [61].

14.7 Efficacy of SLP Vaccination Depends on Addition of a Strong Adjuvant

Although SLP enter easily into DC for processing into the HLA class I and II pathways, these DC need to be activated by a powerful adjuvant into mature DC that express not only the proper HLApeptide complexes but also the necessary co-stimulatory molecules for induction of proper effector and memory CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses [36]. Adjuvants that serve this purpose are poly I:CLC (TLR3 ligand), CpG (TLR9 ligand), incomplete Freund's adjuvant-like Montanide ISA-51, or stimulator of IFN genes (STING) agonists (reviewed in [6]). The action of SLP vaccines can be further enhanced by attaching a TLR ligand such as CpG or Pam3Cys, a TLR 1/2 ligand, to the SLP by covalent coupling [62–64].

14.8 Clinical Efficacy of SLP Vaccines in Patients with Premalignant Disease

SLP vaccination appears to be very efficient to eradicate premalignant lesions caused by highrisk human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV16). HPV16 causes approximately 50% of cervical cancers and the large majority of HPV-positive head and neck cancers. Robust CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses were induced in our studies of vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia, a premalignant disease of the vulva, caused by HPV16. In this case a vaccine containing 13 overlapping long peptides (25-35 amino acids long, together covering the entire amino acid sequence of 257 amino acids of the combined HPV16 E6 and E7 oncogenic proteins), was delivered subcutaneously as an emulsion in the mineral oil adjuvant Montanide ISA-51 at a dose of 300 µg per peptide. More than 50% of the patients benefited from partial or complete regression of lesions [38, 42]. Moreover we observed a highly significant correlation between the strength of the vaccine-induced T cell response and the clinical response [38, 42]. Recently, we reported similar results in twice the number of VIN patients [41]. Again a strong correlation between vaccineinduced T cell responses and clinical responses was observed, and those patients with histologically complete lesion regression had also lost demonstrable papillomavirus in the original skin lesions sites [41]. In patients with cervical cancer, the same vaccine was not as immunogenic, and clinical benefit could not be demonstrated in late-stage (recurrent, metastatic) cervical cancer patients [65], pointing toward an immunologically compromised situation in these patients and the need for additional combination therapy (see below).

14.9 Clinical Efficacy of Therapeutic SLP Vaccines in Cancer Patients Requires Combination Treatment That Overcomes the Hostility Toward T Cells Within Cancers

If the T cells that have responded to tumorassociated antigens do not succeed in eradicating cancer cells right away, a chronic situation may arise which has been well described by Schreiber and colleagues as an equilibrium between tumor cells and the immune system, manifesting itself as latency of tumors due to an ongoing T cell immune response [66]. Eventually tumors may escape from control by T cells through a variety of mechanisms (reviewed by [7, 66]). One of the least surprising conditions that allows tumors to escape is that the microenvironment in which tumors arise characteristically does not set the stage for robust effector T cell and memory T cell responses of the type seen in acute viral infections. Acute viruses incite a spate of immediate powerful danger signals generated by the virus, which strongly activate the innate and adaptive immune systems. Interestingly many cancers caused by oncogenic viruses start with long-term (many years!) persistent infection with a cancer virus such as human papillomavirus (HPV) or hepatitis B virus (HBV). Chronic persistent viruses employ many immune evasion and stealth mechanisms that undermine both innate and adaptive immunity to establish persistent infection (reviewed for HPV in [67]. Also the T cell host defense machinery adapts to chronic persistent infection by avoiding immunopathology through T cell checkpoint regulation [68–70] [7]. This of course has dire consequences if the persistent virus happens to have oncogenic properties. T cell immunogenic tumors with many mutations employ very similar mechanisms, also engaging in T cell checkpoint regulation and antigen loss [13, 71, 72]. Usually escape through toning down of the immune response is brought about by interaction between an ongoing T cell immune response and

the cancer cells. For example, PD-L1 expression is induced on cancer cells by interferon γ released from antigen-specific tumor-infiltrating T cells (reviewed by [73]. Some of the most dangerous escape mechanisms from T cell immunity are complete loss of HLA class I expression from cancer cells by deletion of $\beta 2$ microglobulin, an essential molecule for expression of HLA class I at the cell surface or loss of responsiveness of tumor cells to interferon γ [74]. Fortunately these instances are relatively rare. In fact in most cases countermeasures against immune escape are possible. For example, T cell-intrinsic inhibition of function can involve other mechanisms than PD-1-PD-L1 inhibition such as egr2-driven expression and inhibition by LAG3 and 4-1BB (CD137). If this is the case, rescue of tumoricidal T cell activity is possible by inhibition of LAG3 and application of agonistic antibody against 4-1 BB [75]. Also, in case of loss of an immuno-dominant neo-antigen, second in line neo-antigens in the hierarchy of immuno-dominance can take over, particularly following vaccination against these subdominant neo-antigens or following PD-1 checkpoint blocking [13]. This last example illustrates that spontaneous generation of sufficient T cells to tumor-associated neo-antigens may be lacking in many potentially immunogenic tumors that are not spontaneously rejected. Likewise an HPV16 E6/E7-positive tumor in mice does not spontaneously generate TIL that infiltrate the tumor and eradicate it, even though the viral antigens are expressed by the tumor. However a combination of cisplatin or carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy and HPV-specific SLP vaccination is able to generate tumor-infiltrating HPV-specific TIL that completely eradicate established tumors [43, 76]. The mechanisms by which this type of chemo-immunotherapy operates are manifold and include immunogenic cell death causing DC activation (reviewed in [77]), synergistic apoptosis by TNF- α , released in the cancer microenvironment from vaccineinduced TIL in combination with cisplatin [76, 78], and depletion of immunosuppressive mononuclear myeloid cells that are present in excessive numbers in the blood and probably the cancers of many late-stage cancer patients [43]. An attractive choice for combination with therapeutic vaccines is the combination with checkpoint blockers, in particular anti-PD-1. Synergy between therapeutic vaccines and anti-PD-1 checkpoint blocking has been noted in a number of preclinical models [52, 79, 80]. Vaccination with autologous DC loaded with melanomaassociated antigens may act synergistically with CTLA-4 blocker ipilimumab in mediating clinical responses in late-stage melanoma patients [81], but this observation needs to be confirmed in a randomized study. Synergy has also been reported between therapeutic vaccines and one of the following agonistic monoclonal antibodies: anti-CD27, anti-CD40, anti-CD134 (anti-OX40), or anti-CD-137 (anti4-1BB) (reviewed in [6]). In addition inhibitory monoclonal antibodies have been used against the cytokines IL-10, TGF β , and IL-6 (reviewed in [6]). An overview of the different attractive combination therapies with therapeutic vaccines is shown in Fig. 14.2.

Recently we showed in a pilot trial in patients with late-stage (recurrent or metastatic) cervical cancer that much better HPV16specific T cell responses could be induced by SLP vaccination in Montanide adjuvant by combination with standard of care chemotherapy consisting of carboplatin and paclitaxel [43]. The chemotherapy acted as an immunomodulator in the sense that T cell numbers and function were not affected by this chemotherapy combination, but the suppressive mononuclear myeloid cell levels found in all patients declined to those of healthy donors onward from 2 weeks into the second of six cycles of chemotherapy. A single vaccine dose given at that time point led to a much higher and broader T cell response against HPV16 E6/E7 [43] than observed in the previous trial without timed chemotherapy [65]. Based on these observations, we have now concluded a much larger clinical trial in 70 patients with late-stage (recurrent or metastatic) HPV16+ cervical cancer. Interestingly, in this trial the first of three vaccine doses with the HPV16 SLP vaccine,


Fig. 14.2 Vaccines synergize with immunomodulators to yield an attractive combination treatment of cancer. (a) Hostile elements for T cells in the cancer microenvironment include tumor-associated macrophages (TAM), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), and IL-10-producing granulocytes. In addition a number of immuno-suppressive cytokines and chemokines are released in this milieu. Nitric oxide and the enzyme IDO may further compound the immunosuppressive situation. (b) Vaccines will expand the low numbers of spontaneous anticancer T

called ISA101, was given again at the nadir of the mononuclear myeloid cell count in PBMC (i.e., 2 weeks after the second cycle of chemotherapy), and a highly significant correlation

cells and generate de novo T cells against new antigens, increasing the chances of success of the therapy compared to monotherapy with immunomodulators. (c) SLP vaccines can thereby turn "cold" tumors (no T cell infiltrate) into "hot" tumors (T cell infiltrate). The immunomodulators (shown in *red* in (b)) can repeal the immunosuppressive cancer microenvironment in a number of ways, according to each cancer patient's needs. Thereby vaccines and immunomodulators synergize for effective cancer therapies

was subsequently observed between the strength of the vaccine-induced HPV16-specific T cell response and overall survival of the patients (unpublished observations).

14.10 Perspectives

Cancer vaccines have only recently shown clinical efficacy for the treatment of premalignant disease [38, 41, 42, 56, 57] and prostate cancer ([82]) as monotherapy. Combination treatments with various checkpoint blocking or agonistic monoclonal antibodies are highly promising for the treatment of cancer, provided the right cancer target antigens are chosen in combination with efficient vaccine platforms and proper adjuvants. The best target antigens are clearly viral antigens on virus-induced cancers or neo-antigens on mutagen-induced cancers, such as those associated with smoking or UV light exposure. Overexpressed antigens or differentiation antigens may also be chosen, provided an appreciable repertoire of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against the antigen of choice is demonstrable. Cancer vaccines are highly attractive in patients in whom the natural T cell response has fallen short, resulting in so-called "cold" tumors, which lack spontaneous infiltration with T cells. In many of these patients, therapeutic vaccination may cause sufficient numbers of vaccine-induced tumorspecific T cells to infiltrate into the tumors and turn them into "hot" tumors. This alone is unlikely to cause robust clinical responses, but co-treatment with a number of other cancer drugs, which each by themselves are also insufficiently effective, may reap a rich harvest of more effective combination treatments with relatively few side effects. One of the most attractive of these combinations is combination of therapeutic SLP vaccination with chemotherapy or with anti-PD-1 and/or CTLA-4 checkpoint blockers. SLP vaccines are particularly attractive for vaccination against neo-antigens created by point mutations in cancers, because of the relative ease of production under GMP conditions.

References

- Falk K, Rotzschke O, Stevanovic S, Jung G, Rammensee HG. Allele-specific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules. Nature. 1991;351:290–6.
- Townsend AR, Rothbard J, Gotch FM, Bahadur G, Wraith D, Mcmichael AJ. The epitopes of influenza nucleoprotein recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes

can be defined with short synthetic peptides. Cell. 1986;44:959–68.

- Unanue ER. The regulation of lymphocyte functions by the macrophage. Immunol Rev. 1978;40:227–55.
- Zinkernagel RM, Doherty PC. Restriction of in vitro T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. Nature. 1974;248:701–2.
- Blum JS, Wearsch PA, Cresswell P. Pathways of antigen processing. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:443–73.
- Melief CJ, Van Hall T, Arens R, Ossendorp F, Van Der Burg SH. Therapeutic cancer vaccines. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:3401–12.
- Van Der Burg SH, Arens R, Ossendorp F, Van Hall T, Melief CJ. Vaccines for established cancer: overcoming the challenges posed by immune evasion. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16:219–33.
- 8. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, Skora AD, Luber BS, Azad NS, Laheru D, Biedrzycki B, Donehower RC, Zaheer A, Fisher GA, Crocenzi TS, Lee JJ, Duffy SM, Goldberg RM, De La Chapelle A, Koshiji M, Bhaijee F, Huebner T, Hruban RH, Wood LD, Cuka N, Pardoll DM, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Zhou S, Cornish TC, Taube JM, Anders RA, Eshleman JR, Vogelstein B, Diaz LA Jr. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, Lee W, Yuan J, Wong P, Ho TS, Miller ML, Rekhtman N, Moreira AL, Ibrahim F, Bruggeman C, Gasmi B, Zappasodi R, Maeda Y, Sander C, Garon EB, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Schumacher TN, Chan TA. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348:124–8.
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, Walsh LA, Postow MA, Wong P, Ho TS, Hollmann TJ, Bruggeman C, Kannan K, Li Y, Elipenahli C, Liu C, Harbison CT, Wang L, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Chan TA. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:2189–99.
- 11. Van RN, Van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, Van Dijk LJ, Behjati S, Hilkmann H, El AD, Nieuwland M, Stratton MR, Kerkhoven RM, Kesmir C, Haanen JB, Kvistborg P, Schumacher TN. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigenspecific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:e439–42.
- Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Lower M, Van De Roemer N, De GJ, Selmi A, Diken M, Boegel S, Paret C, Koslowski M, Kuhn AN, Britten CM, Huber C, Tureci O, Sahin U. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1081–91.
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, Ivanova Y, Hundal J, Arthur CD, Krebber WJ, Mulder GE, Toebes M, Vesely MD, Lam SS, Korman AJ, Allison JP, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH, Pearce EL, Schumacher TN, Aebersold R,

Rammensee HG, Melief CJ, Mardis ER, Gillanders WE, Artyomov MN, Schreiber RD. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. Nature. 2014;515:577–81.

- 14. Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, Franci C, Cheung TK, Fritsche J, Weinschenk T, Modrusan Z, Mellman I, Lill JR, Delamarre L. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. Nature. 2014;515:572–6.
- 15. Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, Kreiter S, Loquai C, Reuter KC, Meng M, Fritz D, Vascotto F, Hefesha H, Grunwitz C, Vormehr M, Husemann Y, Selmi A, Kuhn AN, Buck J, Derhovanessian E, Rae R, Attig S, Diekmann J, Jabulowsky RA, Heesch S, Hassel J, Langguth P, Grabbe S, Huber C, Tureci O, Sahin U. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. Nature. 2016;534:396–401.
- 16. Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, Ly A, Lie WR, Hildebrand WH, Mardis ER, Linette GP. Cancer immunotherapy. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigenspecific T cells. Science. 2015;348:803–8.
- 17. Rosalia RA, Quakkelaar ED, Redeker A, Khan S, Camps M, Drijfhout JW, Silva AL, Jiskoot W, Van Hall T, Van Veelen PA, Janssen G, Franken K, Cruz LJ, Tromp A, Oostendorp J, Van Der Burg SH, Ossendorp F, Melief CJ. Dendritic cells process synthetic long peptides better than whole protein, improving antigen presentation and T-cell activation. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43:2554–65.
- Feltkamp MC, Smits HL, Vierboom MP, Minnaar RP, De Jongh BM, Drijfhout JW, Ter Schegget J, Melief CJ, Kast WM. Vaccination with cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope-containing peptide protects against a tumor induced by human papillomavirus type 16-transformed cells. Eur J Immunol. 1993;23:2242–9.
- Kast WM, Roux L, Curren J, Blom HJ, Voordouw AC, Meloen RH, Kolakofsky D, Melief CJ. Protection against lethal Sendai virus infection by in vivo priming of virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes with a free synthetic peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88:2283–7.
- 20. Speiser DE, Lienard D, Rufer N, Rubio-Godoy V, Rimoldi D, Lejeune F, Krieg AM, Cerottini JC, Romero P. Rapid and strong human CD8+ T cell responses to vaccination with peptide, IFA, and CpG oligodeoxynucleotide 7909. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:739–46.
- Melero I, Gaudernack G, Gerritsen W, Huber C, Parmiani G, Scholl S, Thatcher N, Wagstaff J, Zielinski C, Faulkner I, Mellstedt H. Therapeutic vaccines for cancer: an overview of clinical trials. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11:509–24.
- Bijker MS, Van Den Eeden SJ, Franken KL, Melief CJ, Offringa R, Van Der Burg SH. CD8+ CTL prim-

ing by exact peptide epitopes in incomplete Freund's adjuvant induces a vanishing CTL response, whereas long peptides induce sustained CTL reactivity. J Immunol. 2007;179:5033–40.

- 23. Toes RE, Offringa R, Blom RJ, Brandt RM, Van Der Eb AJ, Melief CJ, Kast WM. An adenovirus type 5 early region 1B-encoded CTL epitope-mediating tumor eradication by CTL clones is downmodulated by an activated ras oncogene. J Immunol. 1995;154:3396–405.
- 24. Toes RE, Offringa R, Blom RJ, Melief CJ, Kast WM. Peptide vaccination can lead to enhanced tumor growth through specific T-cell tolerance induction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:7855–60.
- Bennett SR, Carbone FR, Karamalis F, Flavell RA, Miller JF, Heath WR. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. Nature. 1998;393:478–80.
- 26. Kast WM, Bronkhorst AM, De Waal LP, Melief CJ. Cooperation between cytotoxic and helper T lymphocytes in protection against lethal Sendai virus infection. Protection by T cells is MHC-restricted and MHC-regulated; a model for MHC-disease associations. J Exp Med. 1986;164:723–38.
- 27. Ossendorp F, Mengede E, Camps M, Filius R, Melief CJ. Specific T helper cell requirement for optimal induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against major histocompatibility complex class II negative tumors. J Exp Med. 1998;187:693–702.
- Ridge JP, Di RF, Matzinger P. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. Nature. 1998;393:474–8.
- Schoenberger SP, Toes RE, Van Der Voort EI, Offringa R, Melief CJ. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature. 1998;393:480–3.
- Janssen EM, Droin NM, Lemmens EE, Pinkoski MJ, Bensinger SJ, Ehst BD, Griffith TS, Green DR, Schoenberger SP. CD4+ T-cell help controls CD8+ T-cell memory via Trail-mediated activation-induced cell death. Nature. 2005;434:88–93.
- Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, Von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP. CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. Nature. 2003;421:852–6.
- 32. Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Restifo NP, Raffeld M, Lee CC, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Rosenberg SA. A pilot trial using lymphocytes genetically engineered with an NY-ESO-1-reactive t-cell receptor: long-term follow-up and correlates with response. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(5):1019–27.
- 33. Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, Blasberg R, Yagita H, Muranski P, Antony PA, Restifo NP, Allison JP. Tumor-reactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. J Exp Med. 2010;207:637–50.

- 34. Hailemichael Y, Dai Z, Jaffarzad N, Ye Y, Medina MA, Huang XF, Dorta-Estremera SM, Greeley NR, Nitti G, Peng W, Liu C, Lou Y, Wang Z, Ma W, Rabinovich B, Sowell RT, Schluns KS, Davis RE, Hwu P, Overwijk WW. Persistent antigen at vaccination sites induces tumor-specific CD8(+) T cell sequestration, dysfunction and deletion. Nat Med. 2013;19:465–72.
- 35. Zwaveling S, Ferreira Mota SC, Nouta J, Johnson M, Lipford GB, Offringa R, Van Der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Established human papillomavirus type 16-expressing tumors are effectively eradicated following vaccination with long peptides. J Immunol. 2002;169:350–8.
- 36. Van DS, Fransen MF, Redeker A, Wieles B, Platenburg G, Krebber WJ, Ossendorp F, Melief CJ, Arens R. Vaccine-induced effector-memory CD8+ T cell responses predict therapeutic efficacy against tumors. J Immunol. 2012;189:3397–403.
- Zwaveling S, Van Der Burg SH, Menon AG, Melief CJ, Offringa R. Immunotherapy of cancer through targeting of the p53 tumor antigen. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2002;50:297–305.
- 38. Kenter GG, Welters MJ, Valentijn AR, Lowik MJ, Berends-Van Der Meer DM, Vloon AP, Essahsah F, Fathers LM, Offringa R, Drijfhout JW, Wafelman AR, Oostendorp J, Fleuren GJ, Van Der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Vaccination against HPV-16 oncoproteins for vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:1838–47.
- 39. Sabbatini P, Tsuji T, Ferran L, Ritter E, Sedrak C, Tuballes K, Jungbluth AA, Ritter G, Aghajanian C, Bell-Mcguinn K, Hensley ML, Konner J, Tew W, Spriggs DR, Hoffman EW, Venhaus R, Pan L, Salazar AM, Diefenbach CM, Old LJ, Gnjatic S. Phase I trial of overlapping long peptides from a tumor selfantigen and poly-ICLC shows rapid induction of integrated immune response in ovarian cancer patients. *Clin.* Cancer Res. 2012;18:6497–508.
- 40. Tsuji T, Sabbatini P, Jungbluth AA, Ritter E, Pan L, Ritter G, Ferran L, Spriggs D, Salazar AM, Gnjatic S. Effect of Montanide and poly-ICLC adjuvant on human self/tumor antigen-specific CD4+ T cells in phase I overlapping long peptide vaccine trial. Cancer Immunol. Res. 2013;1:340–50.
- 41. Van Poelgeest MI, Welters MJ, Vermeij R, Stynenbosch LF, Loof NM, Berends-Van Der Meer DM, Lowik MJ, Hamming IL, Van Esch EM, Hellebrekers BW, Van Beurden M, Schreuder HW, Kagie MJ, Trimbos JB, Fathers LM, Daemen T, Hollema H, Valentijn AR, Oostendorp J, Oude Elberink JH, Fleuren GJ, Bosse T, Kenter GG, Stijnen T, Nijman HW, Melief CJ, Van Der Burg SH. Vaccination against oncoproteins of HPV16 for noninvasive vulvar/vaginal lesions: lesion clearance is related to the strength of the T-cell response. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:2342–50.
- 42. Welters MJ, Kenter GG, De Vos Van Steenwijk PJ, Lowik MJ, Berends-Van Der Meer DM, Essahsah F, Stynenbosch LF, Vloon AP, Ramwadhdoebe TH, Piersma SJ, Van Der Hulst JM, Valentijn AR,

Fathers LM, Drijfhout JW, Franken KL, Oostendorp J, Fleuren GJ, Melief CJ, Van Der Burg SH. Success or failure of vaccination for HPV16-positive vulvar lesions correlates with kinetics and phenotype of induced T-cell responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:11895–9.

- 43. Welters MJ, Van Der Sluis TC, Van Meir H, Loof NM, Van Ham VJ, Van Duikeren S, Santegoets SJ, Arens R, De Kam ML, Cohen AF, Van Poelgeest MI, Kenter GG, Kroep JR, Burggraaf J, Melief CJ, Van Der Burg SH. Vaccination during myeloid cell depletion by cancer chemotherapy fosters robust T cell responses. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:334ra52.
- 44. Figdor CG, De Vries IJ, Lesterhuis WJ, Melief CJ. Dendritic cell immunotherapy: mapping the way. Nat Med. 2004;10:475–80.
- 45. Toes RE, Van Der Voort EI, Schoenberger SP, Drijfhout JW, Van Bloois L, Storm G, Kast WM, Offringa R, Melief CJ. Enhancement of tumor outgrowth through CTL tolerization after peptide vaccination is avoided by peptide presentation on dendritic cells. J Immunol. 1998;160:4449–56.
- 46. Cho HI, Barrios K, Lee YR, Linowski AK, Celis E. BiVax: a peptide/poly-IC subunit vaccine that mimics an acute infection elicits vast and effective anti-tumor CD8 T-cell responses. Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 2013;62:787–99.
- 47. Diehl L, Den Boer AT, Schoenberger SP, Van Der Voort EI, Schumacher TN, Melief CJ, Offringa R, Toes RE. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptideinduced peripheral cytotoxic T-lymphocyte tolerance and augments anti-tumor vaccine efficacy. Nat Med. 1999;5:774–9.
- 48. Bijker MS, Van Den Eeden SJ, Franken KL, Melief CJ, Van Der Burg SH, Offringa R. Superior induction of anti-tumor CTL immunity by extended peptide vaccines involves prolonged, DC-focused antigen presentation. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38:1033–42.
- 49. Zhang H, Hong H, Li D, Ma S, Di Y, Stoten A, Haig N, Di GK, Yu Z, Xu XN, Mcmichael A, Jiang S. Comparing pooled peptides with intact protein for accessing cross-presentation pathways for protective CD8+ and CD4+ T cells. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:9184–91.
- 50. Baumgaertner P, Costa Nunes C, Cachot A, Maby-El Hajjami H, Cagnon L, Braun M, Derre L, Rivals JP, Rimoldi D, Gnjatic S, Abed Maillard S, Marcos Mondejar P, Protti MP, Romano E, Michielin O, Romero P, Speiser DE, Jandus C. Vaccination of stage III/IV melanoma patients with long NY-ESO-1 peptide and CpG-B elicits robust CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell responses with multiple specificities including a novel DR7-restricted epitope. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1216290.
- 51. Wada H, Isobe M, Kakimi K, Mizote Y, Eikawa S, Sato E, Takigawa N, Kiura K, Tsuji K, Iwatsuki K, Yamasaki M, Miyata H, Matsushita H, Udono H, Seto Y, Yamada K, Nishikawa H, Pan L, Venhaus R, Oka M, Doki Y, Nakayama E. Vaccination with

NY-ESO-1 overlapping peptides mixed with Picibanil OK-432 and montanide ISA-51 in patients with cancers expressing the NY-ESO-1 antigen. J Immunother. 2014;37:84–92.

- 52. Wada S, Jackson CM, Yoshimura K, Yen HR, Getnet D, Harris TJ, Goldberg MV, Bruno TC, Grosso JF, Durham N, Netto GJ, Pardoll DM, Drake CG. Sequencing CTLA-4 blockade with cell-based immunotherapy for prostate cancer. J Transl Med. 2013;11:89.
- 53. Kruit WH, Suciu S, Dreno B, Mortier L, Robert C, Chiarion-Sileni V, Maio M, Testori A, Dorval T, Grob JJ, Becker JC, Spatz A, Eggermont AM, Louahed J, Lehmann FF, Brichard VG, Keilholz U. Selection of immunostimulant AS15 for active immunization with MAGE-A3 protein: results of a randomized phase II study of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Melanoma Group in Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2413–20.
- 54. Vansteenkiste J, Zielinski M, Linder A, Dahabreh J, Gonzalez EE, Malinowski W, Lopez-Brea M, Vanakesa T, Jassem J, Kalofonos H, Perdeus J, Bonnet R, Basko J, Janilionis R, Passlick B, Treasure T, Gillet M, Lehmann FF, Brichard VG. Adjuvant MAGE-A3 immunotherapy in resected non-small-cell lung cancer: phase II randomized study results. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2396–403.
- 55. Melief CJ, Vasmel WL, Offringa R, Sijts EJ, Matthews EA, Peters PJ, Meloen RH, Van Der Eb AJ, Kast WM. Immunosurveillance of virus-induced tumors. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1989;54(Pt 1):597–603.
- 56. Bagarazzi ML, Yan J, Morrow MP, Shen X, Parker RL, Lee JC, Giffear M, Pankhong P, Khan AS, Broderick KE, Knott C, Lin F, Boyer JD, Draghia-Akli R, White CJ, Kim JJ, Weiner DB, Sardesai NY. Immunotherapy against HPV16/18 generates potent TH1 and cytotoxic cellular immune responses. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:155ra138.
- 57. Kim TJ, Jin HT, Hur SY, Yang HG, Seo YB, Hong SR, Lee CW, Kim S, Woo JW, Park KS, Hwang YY, Park J, Lee IH, Lim KT, Lee KH, Jeong MS, Surh CD, Suh YS, Park JS, Sung YC. Clearance of persistent HPV infection and cervical lesion by therapeutic Dna vaccine in CIN3 patients. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5317.
- Bos R, Van DS, Van HT, Lauwen MM, Parrington M, Berinstein NL, Mcneil B, Melief CJ, Verbeek JS, Van Der Burg SH, Offringa R. Characterization of antigenspecific immune responses induced by canarypox virus vaccines. J. Immunol. 2007;179:6115–22.
- Quakkelaar ED, Melief CJ. Experience with synthetic vaccines for cancer and persistent virus infections in nonhuman primates and patients. Adv Immunol. 2012;114:77–106.
- 60. Kantoff PW, Schuetz TJ, Blumenstein BA, Glode LM, Bilhartz DL, Wyand M, Manson K, Panicali DL, Laus R, Schlom J, Dahut WL, Arlen PM, Gulley JL, Godfrey WR. Overall survival analysis of a phase II randomized controlled trial of a Poxviral-

based PSA-targeted immunotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1099–105.

- 61. Mooij P, Koopman G, Drijfhout JW, Nieuwenhuis IG, Beenhakker N, Koestler J, Bogers WM, Wagner R, Esteban M, Pantaleo G, Heeney JL, Jacobs BL, Melief CJ. Synthetic long peptide booster immunization in rhesus macaques primed with replication-competent NYVAC-C-KC induces a balanced CD4/CD8 T-cell and antibody response against the conserved regions of HIV-1. J Gen Virol. 2015;96:1478–83.
- 62. Khan S, Bijker MS, Weterings JJ, Tanke HJ, Adema GJ, Van Hall T, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJ, Overkleeft HS, Van Der Marel GA, Filippov DV, Van Der Burg SH, Ossendorp F. Distinct uptake mechanisms but similar intracellular processing of two different toll-like receptor ligand-peptide conjugates in dendritic cells. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:21145–59.
- 63. Zom GG, Khan S, Britten CM, Sommandas V, Camps MG, Loof NM, Budden CF, Meeuwenoord NJ, Filippov DV, Van Der Marel GA, Overkleeft HS, Melief CJ, Ossendorp F. Efficient induction of antitumor immunity by synthetic toll-like receptor ligand-peptide conjugates. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:756–64.
- 64. Zom GG, Welters MJ, Loof NM, Goedemans R, Lougheed S, Valentijn RR, Zandvliet ML, Meeuwenoord NJ, Melief CJ, De Gruijl TD, Van Der Marel GA, Filippov DV, Ossendorp F, Van Der Burg SH. TLR2 ligand-synthetic long peptide conjugates effectively stimulate tumor-draining lymph node T cells of cervical cancer patients. Oncotarget. 2016;7:67087–100.
- 65. Van Poelgeest MI, Welters MJ, Van Esch EM, Stynenbosch LF, Kerpershoek G, El VPVM, Van Den Hende M, Lowik MJ, Dm B-VDM, Fathers LM, Valentijn AR, Oostendorp J, Fleuren GJ, Melief CJ, Kenter GG, Van Der Burg SH. HPV16 synthetic long peptide (HPV16-SLP) vaccination therapy of patients with advanced or recurrent HPV16-induced gynecological carcinoma, a phase II trial. J Transl Med. 2013;11:88.
- 66. Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:991–8.
- Ma W, Melief CJ, Van Der Burg SH. Control of immune escaped human papilloma virus is regained after therapeutic vaccination. Curr Opin Virol. 2017;23:16–22.
- Ha SJ, West EE, Araki K, Smith KA, Ahmed R. Manipulating both the inhibitory and stimulatory immune system towards the success of therapeutic vaccination against chronic viral infections. Immunol Rev. 2008;223:317–33.
- Van Der Burg SH, Arens R, Melief CJ. Immunotherapy for persistent viral infections and associated disease. Trends Immunol. 2011;32:97–103.
- 70. Youngblood B, Wherry EJ, Ahmed R. Acquired transcriptional programming in functional and exhausted

virus-specific CD8 T cells. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2012;7:50–7.

- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348:69–74.
- 72. Verdegaal EM, De Miranda NF, Visser M, Harryvan T, Van Buuren MM, Andersen RS, Hadrup SR, Van Der Minne CE, Schotte R, Spits H, Haanen JB, Kapiteijn EH, Schumacher TN, Van Der Burg SH. Neoantigen landscape dynamics during human melanoma-T cell interactions. Nature. 2016;536:91–5.
- Ok CY, Young KH. Targeting the programmed death-1 pathway in lymphoid neoplasms. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;54:99–109.
- 74. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, Torrejon DY, Abril-Rodriguez G, Sandoval S, Barthly L, Saco J, Homet Moreno B, Mezzadra R, Chmielowski B, Ruchalski K, Shintaku IP, Sanchez PJ, Puig-Saus C, Cherry G, Seja E, Kong X, Pang J, Berent-Maoz B, Comin-Anduix B, Graeber TG, Tumeh PC, Schumacher TN, Lo RS, Ribas A. Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:819–29.
- Williams JB, Horton BL, Zheng Y, Duan Y, Powell JD, Gajewski TF. The EGR2 targets LAG-3 and 4-1BB describe and regulate dysfunctional antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment. J Exp Med. 2017;214:381–400.
- 76. Van Der Sluis TC, Van DS, Huppelschoten S, Jordanova ES, Beyranvand NE, Sloots A, Boon L, Smit VT, Welters MJ, Ossendorp F, Van De Water B, Arens R, Van Der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Vaccine-

induced tumor necrosis factor-producing T cells synergize with Cisplatin to promote tumor cell death. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:781–94.

- Zitvogel L, Hannani D, Aymeric L, Kepp O, Martins I, Kroemer G. Antitumoral immunization during cancer chemotherapy. Bull Acad Natl Med. 2012;196:1075–86.
- Van Der Sluis TC, Van Der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Synergy between chemotherapy and cancer vaccination. Aging (Albany NY). 2015;7:340–1.
- Fu J, Malm IJ, Kadayakkara DK, Levitsky H, Pardoll D, Kim YJ. Preclinical evidence that PD1 blockade cooperates with cancer vaccine TEGVAX to elicit regression of established tumors. Cancer Res. 2014;74:4042–52.
- Mkrtichyan M, Chong N, Abu ER, Wallecha A, Singh R, Rothman J, Khleif SN. Anti-Pd-1 antibody significantly increases therapeutic efficacy of Listeria monocytogenes (Lm)-Llo immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2013;1:15.
- 81. Wilgenhof S, Corthals J, Heirman C, Van Baren N, Lucas S, Kvistborg P, Thielemans K, Neyns B. Phase II study of autologous monocyte-derived mRNA electroporated dendritic cells (TriMixDC-MEL) Plus Ipilimumab in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:1330–8.
- 82. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, Redfern CH, Ferrari AC, Dreicer R, Sims RB, Xu Y, Frohlich MW, Schellhammer PF. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:411–22.

Cancer Vaccines for HPV Malignancies

Maria Agarwal and Cornelia Trimble

Contents

15.1	Introduction	263
15.1.1	Biology of HPV Infection	264
15.1.2	Systemic Immune Responses in Natural	
	Infection	.265
15.1.3	Tissue-Localized Immune Responses	
	to Natural Infection	266
15.1.4	Preventive Vaccines	266
15.1.5	Therapeutic Vaccines	267
15.1.6	Adoptive T Cell Therapy	268
15.1.7	Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	270
15.1.8	Immunomodulatory Effects	
	of Conventional Cancer Treatment	
	Modalities	270
Refere	2005	271

M. Agarwal

Department of Oncology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Department of Pathology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: connie.liu.trimble@jhmi.edu

15.1 Introduction

On a global scale, approximately one in six new cancer diagnoses is attributable to a specific infectious pathogen [1, 2] (Fig. 15.1). Human papillomaviruses (HPVs) cause approximately 30% of infection-associated cancers, including cancers of the cervix, vagina, vulva, anus, and oropharynx [1, 2], and nearly 5% of all cancers worldwide. In women, the majority of HPV-induced cancers are cervical cancers; in men, most HPV-associated malignancies are oropharyngeal [3] (Fig. 15.2). Despite the availability of preventive HPV vaccines, and screening methods to detect HPV in the lower genital tract, cervical cancer is the second most common cause of cancer death in women in low-resource settings.

Exposure to HPV occurs with sexual debut and is essentially endemic [4–7]. Infections are asymptomatic, and although most are transient, resolution can take 1-2 years [8-10]. Older women take longer to clear infections, as do smokers, and women with underlying immunosuppression [8]. The clinically silent nature of these infections facilitates maintenance of a large herd burden of transmissible HPV. Moreover, rates of preventive vaccination in eligible US cohorts, young people aged 9-26, have been suboptimal. In 2015, 43% of eligible girls and 28% of eligible boys had completed all three vaccinations in the three-vaccination regimen [11]. Existing prophylactic vaccines, Gardasil[®] and Cervarix[®], are approved for prevention of

Department of Gynecology/Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

C. Trimble (\boxtimes)

Department of Gynecology/Obstetrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_15



Fig. 15.1 Global incidence of pathogen-induced human malignancies in 2012 [96]



Fig. 15.2 Number of new HPV-associated cancers in 2009 [3]

cervical, vulvar, vaginal, and anal cancers. Because HPV is the underlying cause of a subset of oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas (OSCC), which are restricted to the epithelium of the palatine tonsil and base of the tongue in mostly young, nonsmoking, and non-heavy drinking men, their usage as prevention for oropharyngeal cancers is currently being investigated [12, 13].

15.1.1 Biology of HPV Infection

HPVs are non-enveloped, double-stranded DNA viruses which are tropic for mucosal tissues. The genome consists of three functionally divided regions: (a) a noncoding regulatory region; (b) an early proteins region, which encodes for six early proteins (E1, E2, E4–E7); and (c) a late region which encodes for the viral capsid proteins L1 and L2 [14, 15]. HPVs infect basal epithelial (skin or mucosal) cells. Over 200 HPV genotypes have been identified. Oncogenic genotypes include HPVs 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, and 66 [16].

The development of squamous cervical cancer, other anogenital cancers, and head and neck cancers occurs in the setting of a persistent infection with an oncogenic HPV. Virtually all squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix (SCCx) and its precursor, high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions/cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3 (HGSIL/CIN2/CIN3), are caused by HPV, most commonly, HPV 16 (Fig. 15.3) [17]. Most cervical cancers are attributable to HPVs 16 and 18.

The development of both cervical cancer and HGSIL/CIN2/CIN3 is associated with integration of the HPV genome into the host genome and subsequent expression of two HPV early gene products, E6 and E7, which inactivate p53 and pRb, respectively [18, 19]. Viral integration







sites, although randomly distributed within the human genome [20], occur principally at sites where human DNA is prone to breakage (e.g., fragile sites) and appear to affect only the expression of the HPV genome itself. Specifically, E1 and E2 are most frequently disrupted in integration, while the E6 and E7 viral oncogenes are retained, resulting in constitutive expression. Expression of both E6 and E7 is functionally required to initiate and maintain neoplastic transformation [21, 22]. Morphologically, at the cellular level, high-grade intraepithelial lesions are characterized by a high nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio. Histologically, high-grade lesions display full thickness, lack cell maturation, and are mitotically active (Fig. 15.4).

15.1.2 Systemic Immune Responses in Natural Infection

In the setting of a natural HPV infection, both humoral and adaptive systemic endogenous immune responses to HPV antigens required for disease initiation and persistence are weak. After viral clearance, antibody titers are detectable in 50-70% of persons [23, 24]. Most memory B cells elicited by natural infection generate antibodies that have low avidity, are nonneutralizing, and do not necessarily protect against reinfection with the same HPV genotype [25, 26]. Similarly, T cell responses to viral antigens are marginal, require ex vivo stimulation to be detectable, and do not reliably distinguish persons whose lesions will regress from those whose lesions will not [27–30]. In point of fact, persistent HPV infections and preinvasive HPV lesions are limited to the squamous mucosa and are presented in a noninflammatory context without systemic viremia. Infections are anatomically restricted to the mucosal epithelium and do not elicit systemic symptoms [5, 8].

Using ex vivo stimulation, HPV 16 E7-specific cytotoxic T cells have been detected in the peripheral blood of persons who have HPV 16+CIN2/CIN3 [27, 29] and cervical cancer [31, 32]. However, to date, no clear association has been made between the magnitude of response to E7 in the blood and clinical outcomes. In contrast, peripheral blood cytotoxic T cell responses to HPV 16 E6 have been linked to clinical outcomes. In particular, a CD4+ T cell response to E6 is has been associated with better clinical outcomes [33]. Conversely, functionally impaired E6-specific CD4+ T cell responses have been associated with cervical cancers [34].

Despite the rarity of HPV-specific memory T cells in the blood, a subset of persons with CIN2/ CIN3 do mount an effective response; not all CIN2/CIN3 lesions progress to invasive cancer. We and others have reported that in a timeframe of 4-6 months, ~35% of CIN2/CIN3 lesions undergo spontaneous regression [35–37]. Similarly, in a Phase II clinical trial testing VGX-3100, a therapeutic synthetic DNA vaccine targeting HPV 16/18 E6 and E7, in persons with HPV 16 or 18+ CIN2/CIN3 prior to planned standard therapeutic resection, 30% of subjects who received placebo experienced histopathological regression [38]. Lesions resulting from monoinfection with HPV 16 were less likely to undergo regression than lesions caused by other HPV genotypes: in this timeframe, ~20-25% of HPV 16-associated CIN2/CIN3 lesions regressed [38].

15.1.3 Tissue-Localized Immune Responses to Natural Infection

The fact that neither the magnitude nor the breadth of naturally occurring T cell responses detected in the blood is robust predictors of regression of preinvasive HPV disease of the cervix raises the question of whether it is possible to identify factors in the target lesion that could predict disease outcome or characteristics of the immune response that eliminate either infection, incipient malignancy, or cancer. Tissue-based studies of HPV lesions are identifying factors associated with clinical outcomes. In CIN2/CIN3 lesions that do not regress, although CD8+ T cell infiltrates in the mucosa are robust, they are largely restricted to the stroma, failing to access the lesional epithelium [39]. The presence of intraepithelial CD8+ T cells, on the other hand, is associated with subsequent regression. Similarly, in HPV-associated cancers of the cervix and oropharynx, the presence of intra-tumoral CD8+ T cells is associated with better prognosis [31, 40, 41]. The fact that despite the presence of tumoral T cells, a persistent HPV infection can lead to progression to cancer is likely to be the result of immunological tolerance within the tumor microenvironment, caused by various factors, including the presence of regulatory T cells, expression of CTLA-4 and PD-1, or downregulation of MHC class I on the cell surface [42]. Quantitative methods, including image analysis-directed rapid immuno-laser capture microdissection, will make it possible to analyze specific cell subsets isolated from specific histologic contexts [10] and to correlate them with the clinical outcome. In the end, systemic immune responses to viral proteins required for disease are weak, and do not reliably predict clinical behavior, underscoring the need for a better understanding of the mucosal microenvironment.

15.1.4 Preventive Vaccines

Current strategies for preventing HPV disease include screening, using either cytology or HPV testing, or a combination of both. Prophylactic

Vaccine	Manufacturer	HPV specificity	Adjuvant	Immune response
Cervarix	GlaxoSmithKline	16, 18	AS04 (TLR4	Predominantly IgG1
			agonist + aluminum salt	• Cross-protection against HPVs 31, 33, 45, 51, and 52
Gardasil4	Merck	6, 11, 16, 18	Aluminum salt	• Cross-protection against HPV 31
Gardasil9	Merck	6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, 58	Aluminum salt	• Not fully tested to date

 Table 15.1
 Currently existing preventive HPV vaccines [26, 45, 97–99]

vaccines that protect against infection with oncogenic HPV genotypes are comprised of noninfective recombinant virus-like particles (VLPs) of L1, one of the two HPV capsid proteins. These VLPs do not contain viral DNA and thus are completely noninfectious and non-oncogenic. Currently, three constructs are available: Cervarix[©], which targets HPV types 16 and 18 (bHPV) and is administered with adjuvant ASO4; Gardasil4[®], which targets HPV types 6, 11, 16, and 18 (qHPV); and Gardasil9[®], which targets HPV types 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, and 58 (nHPV) (Table 15.1). All formulations are highly effective against HPV infections, not only in the cervix but also in other anatomical sites, in both sexes [43, 44]. These vaccines elicit robust antibody responses that are 1-2 logs greater than those elicited by natural infection [25]. In persons known to have been previously exposed to HPV, a single vaccination with qHPV drastically enhanced both the magnitude and the quality of the antibody response. In contrast to the nonneutralizing antibodies generated by natural infections, antibodies elicited by vaccination were neutralizing [25]. While both vaccines bHPV and qHPV have demonstrated cross-protection to other HPV types [43, 45], Cervarix[®] provided cross-protection to HPVs 31, 33, 45, 51, and 52, while Gardasil4[®] has been shown to be crossprotective only to HPV 31. The broad crossreactivity of Cervarix[®] is most likely attributable to its adjuvant, ASO4, which is a TLR4 agonist. The existing prophylactic vaccines, Gardasil[®] and Cervarix[®], have no therapeutic effect. Nevertheless, emerging evidence from the study using quadrivalent HPV vaccine suggests that vaccination with a preventive vaccine after excisional treatment of CIN2/CIN3 significantly

decreases the likelihood of disease recurrence [46, 47]. The mode of action of this protective effect is not known and is a subject of active investigation.

15.1.5 Therapeutic Vaccines

In contrast to the prophylactic vaccines, the development of new therapeutic vaccines is focused on targeting E6 and E7. Effector T cell responses to these viral, non-self-oncoproteins, which are constitutively expressed by transformed cells, are likely to play a role in mediating lesion regression. Persons with preinvasive disease present an unparalleled opportunity to determine proof of principle for immunotherapeutic strategies. These lesions are directly accessible and clinically indolent, providing an opportunity to assess the relevant tissue before and after intervention. Moreover, a subset of lesions do regress, thereby making it possible to determine either pretreatment characteristics that predict therapeutic effect or characteristics of induced immune responses that predict therapeutic benefit. Tissue studies will also afford the ability to determine mechanisms of immune suppression mediated by different stages of HPV disease.

Several vaccine platforms have been evaluated, including naked DNA administered intramuscularly (IM) [23, 48], DNA administered IM with electroporation [38, 49, 50], viral vectors including Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) virus administered subcutaneously [51], vaccinia virus (TA-HPV) administered by scarification and by IM injection [52], peptides administered subcutaneously with adjuvant [53–55], and bacterial constructs such as *Listeria monocytogenes* [56]. Despite promising data derived from preclinical models, translation to humans has been modest. To date, vaccine-induced immune responses in humans with any stage of HPV disease have been minimal. In retrospect, this apparent discrepancy may be in part a consequence of trial design. Most trials administered immunotherapeutics peripherally [23, 38, 52], and most trials were designed to evaluate conventional, relatively binary endpoints, such as the magnitude of virus-specific CD8+ T cell immune responses in the blood and lesion regression versus persistence. In fact, in a Phase I clinical trial evaluation of heterologous DNA prime, recombinant vaccinia (TA-HPV) boost vaccination in persons with HPV 16+ CIN2/CIN3, prior to planned standard therapeutic resection, in persons who did have residual dysplasia at the tissue endpoint, post-vaccination tissue resection specimens showed drastic immunologic changes in the target lesions [57]. These included robust immune cell infiltrates in both the stromal and epithelial compartments, which were restricted to residual CIN2/CIN3, and did not involve immediately adjacent normal mucosa. These infiltrates were comprised of clonally expanded populations of T cell receptors, were in many cases organized into tertiary lymphoid structures or outright germinal centers, and had a T_H-1 phenotype. This study established two critical points: that it was possible to elicit an effector response to antigens that had been present in a chronic fashion and that T cells generated by peripheral, intramuscular vaccination could traffic to the relevant immunologic target. In resections that had residual CIN2/CIN3, these lesions were heavily infiltrated with CD8+ T cells that were colocalized with apoptotic lesional squamous epithelial cells. This finding suggested that a planned resection proximate to vaccination essentially censored the tissue endpoint. By conventional measures, i.e., peripheral blood T cell responses to vaccine antigens, and complete histologic regression, this regimen was a failure. However, there was no way to conclude that vaccination had "failed," given the findings in the target tissue. This insight has informed the design of subsequent clinical trials in persons with preinvasive

HPV disease—tissue endpoints are obtained at a longer interval after therapeutic interventions. Although peripheral blood T cell responses are measured, quantitative measures in the lesion microenvironment are included.

A subsequent randomized placebo-controlled Phase II trial testing therapeutic vaccination for HPV 16 or 18+ CIN2/CIN3, using a synthetic DNA vaccine VGX-3100 administered IM followed by electroporation, reported a 49% rate of histologic regression in vaccinated subjects [38]. Although a subset of subjects who received placebo also had histologic regression, the rate of viral clearance was different; HPV became undetectable in 80% of vaccinated subjects who had histologic regression, in contrast to 30% of spontaneous regressions. The concomitant clearance of detectable virus in vaccinated subjects suggests that rates of recurrence may be lower in vaccinated subjects compared to those who received placebo; persistent HPV infection after resection of a preinvasive lesion is the most predictive risk for recurrence [58].

15.1.6 Adoptive T Cell Therapy

To date, no viable therapies have been identified for either metastatic or recurrent cancers. One approach that shows promise in patients with metastatic HPV disease involves identifying tumor-specific T cells from the endogenous response, namely, from tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). While some of the T cells in the tumor bed may be nonspecific, recruited by a chemokine gradient, in some solid tumors, many of the tumor T cells express activation markers that are upregulated when the cell is activated by engagement of the T cell receptor (TCR) with its cognate antigen. Two markers that have been investigated include PD-1 and CD137. Several groups have reported that activated T cells in the tumor microenvironment are enriched for clonally expanded populations of tumor-reactive T cells [59, 60]. The ability to isolate autologous HPV-specific TILs will provide the opportunity to assess the TCR repertoire and the functional polarization of relevant cells. A recent report of HPV-targeted TILs in persons with pretreated, metastatic cervical cancer describes tumor responses in three out of nine women, two complete responses and one partial response [61]. This outcome is significant because there are no effective therapies for either recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer or for any other metastatic HPV-attributable cancers. There is currently an ongoing clinical trial for treatment of metastatic HPV-associated cancers using tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (NCT01585428).

Another approach involves ex vivo stimulation of peripheral blood lymphocytes and infusion of antigen-specific T cells to the patient. Identification of TCRs with high avidity for tumor epitopes could pave the way to generate TCR libraries across HLA phenotypes. Analysis of the magnitude, breadth, and the quality of tissue TCRs is likely to yield insights to the successful cancer treatment modalities including adoptive T cell transfer. Autologous T cells could be genetically engineered to express HLAmatched HPV-specific TCRs and used as individualized treatment for HPV disease [60]. Currently ongoing clinical trials are investigating adoptive T cell therapies, including T cell receptor immunotherapy targeting HPV 16 E6 for HPV-associated cancers (NCT02280811) [62] and the use of HPV 16/18 E6-/E7-specific T lymphocytes, in relapsed HPV-associated cancers (NCT02379520).

15.1.6.1 Mechanisms of Immune Evasion in the Tumor Microenvironment

Like many other solid tumors, HPV-associated malignancies establish an immune-suppressive local microenvironment. The HPV life cycle is not cytolytic. Viral replication and assembly are temporally linked with cellular differentiation of squamous epithelial cells, and proinflammatory signals are absent [63]. Virus is shed in terminally differentiated squamous cells; thus, the initial exposure to HPV antigens is minimal and may not prompt robust activation of an immune response. Additionally, HPV downregulates cell surface MHC class I expression [64] and inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines [65–67].

E6 and E7 inhibit both interferon receptor signaling and activation of the interferon response genes [68]. E7 also further impairs the innate response by downregulating TLR9 transcription. Even incipient HPV disease recruits and functionally polarizes circulating monocytes, which migrate to the tumor site, where they differentiate into macrophages and dendritic cells [69].

Macrophage infiltration in both the stromal and epithelial compartments increases with the severity of HPV lesions, from HPV-infected cells to CIN2/CIN3 to squamous cancers [70, 71]. Their functional polarization to an immunesuppressive phenotype is mediated by tumorsecreted TGF- β and IL-10 [72]. As early in disease development as CIN2, the intensity of macrophage infiltrates correlates directly with the number of lymphatic vessels [71]. Epithelial expression of COX-2 increases with disease severity, which in turn inhibits dendritic cell (DC) maturation, reduces the ability of DCs to stimulate T cell proliferation, and increases production of IL-10 [73]. HPVs have also been shown to suppress maturation and function of Langerhans cells, which are epithelial-resident antigen-presenting cells [74-76]. However, this suppressive phenotype can be reversed in the presence of TLR3 agonists [77]. Finally, the tissue microenvironment induces and maintains tissue-specific gene expression and function of resident and recruited macrophages [78-80]. A growing body of evidence demonstrates functional plasticity in tissue macrophages; an induced suppressive or tolerizing phenotype can be reeducated by CD4+ T_{H1} T cells, to an activated, effector phenotype, with cell surface expression of costimulatory molecules [81].

Finally, individual cell subsets in HPVassociated malignancies, including tumor epithelium, tumor-associated macrophages, and CD8+ T cells, frequently express PD-L1, which is involved in normal immune homeostasis. Binding to its ligands, PD-1 and CD80, reduces CD8 T cell responses [82, 83]. While the presence of PD-L1 expression is associated with impaired cell-mediated immunity in HPV disease [83], tumor expression in and of itself is not a reliable biomarker for likelihood of response to PD-1 blockade [84]. The presence of a gene signature of interferon- γ -inducible genes, however, is associated with response to PD-1 blockade [85]. This finding is consistent with what has been observed in other solid tumors, namely, that clinical benefit from PD-1 blockade is more likely to occur in the setting of a preexisting host tumor-specific immune response [86]. Therefore, it is possible that an indirect measure such as Ki67, which is upregulated after activation via engagement of cognate antigen with the T cell receptor, may be more predictive of response.

15.1.7 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

One of the mechanisms by which tumors often suppress effector responses is by hijacking normal mechanisms of immune homeostasis. Under normal physiologic conditions, these mechanisms regulate the nature, quality, and duration of adaptive immune responses. Many malignancies essentially co-opt these homeostatic mechanisms to suppress effector T cell responses recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Therapies targeting ligand-receptor interactions of immune checkpoint pathways have been shown to be effective in enabling the function of immune effector responses in a subset of human cancers. One of the first immune checkpoint inhibitors tested in cancer immunotherapies was antibodies targeting CTLA-4, which is expressed on activated T cells. Blockade results in the broad enhancement of immune responses [87]. Clinical trials testing anti-CTLA-4 antibodies (ipilimumab), following standard of care chemoradiation in HPVassociated cancers, are ongoing in patients with advanced cervical cancer and head and neck cancers. The PD-1/PD-L1 pathway is another immune checkpoint that can be targeted by immunotherapeutic antibodies. PD-1 expression is upregulated on T cells after activation via recognition of cognate ligand. Expression is also upregulated by chronically stimulated T cells, in which it can reflect functional "exhaustion." It is also present on B cells and NK cells [87]. Expression of one of its ligands, PD-L1, is

induced by IFN- γ in the tumor microenvironment. Cell surface PD-L1 expression can be seen on the leading edge of tumor cells. Cytoplasmic expression has also been observed in both tumor cells and in tumor-associated macrophages [87]. Side effects associated with PD-1/PD-L1 blockade pathways have been considerably less severe than what has been observed with CTLA-4 blockade. Many anti-PD-1 (pembrolizumab and nivolumab) and anti-PD-L1 antibodies (durvalumab) are now being tested in clinical applications, either alone or in combination with conventional cancer treatment modalities, in patients with HPV-associated cancers. Similarly, interference with other immune checkpoint pathways, including OX40, 4-1BB, GITR, LAG-3, and HLA-E, is also being evaluated [62]. To date, across the board, approximately 20% of tumors respond to checkpoint blockade. The development of strategies to distinguish tumors that are likely to respond to blockade, versus tumors that are not, is an area of active investigation. Two clinical settings that are a focus of intense interest include tumors in which a preexisting antitumor response exists and tumors in which the mutational or neoantigen burden is high [42, 88].

15.1.8 Immunomodulatory Effects of Conventional Cancer Treatment Modalities

Conventional anticancer treatment modalities such as chemotherapy and radiation have immunomodulatory effects. Metronomic cyclophosphamide, for example, depletes circulating regulatory T cells (Tregs) [89]. The treatment options for inoperable primary tumors, and for recurrent and metastatic disease, include a combination of platinum-based chemotherapy and radiation, both of which are known to enhance susceptibility of cervical cancers to cytotoxic T cells, in addition to their direct cytotoxic effect [90]. Alkylating agents, including cisplatin, induce a high rate of genomic mutations [91]. Some of the immunomodulatory effects of radiation include upregulated expression of tumorassociated antigens [92] and upregulation of MHC class I expression on tumor cells. Ionizing radiation enhances epitope spreading [93]. An example of how these different attributes could be leveraged in persons with metastatic or recurrent disease might be to deplete Tregs with lowdose cyclophosphamide and prime initially with a therapeutic vaccine or infusion of tumorspecific CTL, followed by chemoradiation. In a recent report of the effect of a combination of carboplatin and paclitaxel (CarboTaxol) in patients with advanced cervical cancers, this regimen was followed by a significant decrease in the frequency of circulating myeloid cells, which reached nadir at 1–2 weeks after two cycles [94]. A second cohort then received a therapeutic vaccination 2 weeks after the last cycle of CarboTaxol. None of the patients had an endogenous, preexisting response to HPV 16. These responses were of greater magnitude than those observed in a previous trial in which patients were vaccinated 1 month after chemotherapy [95]. However, no clinical responses were reported. To date, no combinatorial immunotherapeutic trials have been carried out for cervical disease. However, in a recent report of pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody, in patients with PD-L1-positive recurrent or metastatic squamous cancers of the head and neck, persons with HPVassociated disease had a 25% response rate. The expression of PD-L1 alone did not identify tumors likely to respond to PD-1 blockade. Rather, using a composite of PD-L1 expression on tumor cells and a gene expression signature of genes induced by IFN- γ identified a significant association with good response [84]. This finding is congruent with the observation that a preexisting CTL response to tumor was associated with better response to PD-1 blockade.

In sum, although much is known about the immunobiology of HPV-associated malignancies, there is much to learn about the timing and sequence of anticancer treatment modalities. HPV-associated lesions are relatively accessible, and viral antigens provide targets for both immunotherapy and for monitoring, and so it becomes possible to dissect out mechanisms of action in the lesion microenvironment, as well as identify proof of principle of therapeutic approaches.

References

- Forman D, de Martel C, Lacey CJ, et al. Global burden of human papillomavirus and related diseases. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F12–23.
- de Martel C, Ferlay J, Franceschi S, et al. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2008: a review and synthetic analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(6):607–15.
- Jemal A, Simard EP, Dorell C, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2009, featuring the burden and trends in human papillomavirus(HPV)associated cancers and HPV vaccination coverage levels. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(3):175–201.
- Herrero R, Hildesheim A, Rodriguez AC, et al. Rationale and design of a community-based doubleblind randomized clinical trial of an HPV 16 and 18 vaccine in Guanacaste, Costa Rica. Vaccine. 2008;26(37):4795–808.
- Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Broering J, et al. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection as measured by repeated DNA testing in adolescent and young women. J Pediatr. 1998;132(2):277–84.
- Ho GY, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD. Natural history of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(7):423–8.
- Woodman CBJ, Collins S, Winter H, et al. Natural history of cervical human papillomavirus infection in young women: a longitudinal cohort study. Lancet. 2001;357(9271):1831–6.
- Moscicki AB, Schiffman M, Kjaer S, Villa LL. Updating the natural history of HPV and anogenital cancer. Vaccine. 2006;24(Suppl 3):S3/42–51.
- Steben M, Duarte-Franco E. Human papillomavirus infection: epidemiology and pathophysiology. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;107(2 Suppl 1):S2–5.
- Trimble CL. HPV infection-associated cancers: nextgeneration technology for diagnosis and treatment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(10):937–42.
- Reagan-Steiner S, Yankey D, Jeyarajah J, et al. National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13-17 years - United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65(33):850–8.
- Psyrri A, Cohen E. Oropharyngeal cancer: clinical implications of the HPV connection. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(5):997–9.
- Jones TM. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in the risk stratification of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Br J Cancer. 2014;110(2):269–70.
- Munoz N, Castellsague X, de Gonzalez AB, Gissmann L. HPV in the etiology of human cancer. Vaccine. 2006;24(Suppl 3):S3/1–10.
- 15. Burd EM. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2003;16(1):1–17.
- Parkin DM. The global health burden of infectionassociated cancers in the year 2002. Int J Cancer. 2006;118(12):3030–44.

- Insinga RP, Liaw KL, Johnson LG, Madeleine MM. A systematic review of the prevalence and attribution of human papillomavirus types among cervical, vaginal, and vulvar precancers and cancers in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2008;17(7):1611–22.
- Hudson J, Bedell M, McCance D, Laiminis L. Immortalization and altered differentiation of human keratinocytes in vitro by the E6 and E7 open reading frames of human papillomavirus type 18. J Virol. 1990;64:519–26.
- Werness BA, Parvatiyar P, Ramus SJ, et al. Ovarian carcinoma in situ with germline BRCA1 mutation and loss of heterozygosity at BRCA1 and TP53. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(13):1088–91.
- Wang SS, Hildesheim A. Viral and host factors in human papillomavirus persistence and progression. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2003;31:35–40.
- Munger K, Phelps WC, Bubb V, Howley PM, Schlegel R. The E6 and E7 genes of the human papillomavirus type 16 together are necessary and sufficient for transformation of primary human keratinocytes. J Virol. 1989;63(10):4417–21.
- Werness BA, Levine AJ, Howley PM. Association of human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 E6 proteins with p53. Science. 1990;248(4951):76–9.
- Trimble CL, Peng S, Kos F, et al. A phase I trial of a human papillomavirus DNA vaccine for HPV16+ cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(1):361–7.
- Viscidi RP, Kotloff KL, Clayman B, Russ K, Shapiro S, Shah KV. Prevalence of antibodies to human papillomavirus (HPV) type 16 virus-like particles in relation to cervical HPV infection among college women. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol. 1997;4(2):122–6.
- 25. Scherer EM, Smith RA, Gallego DF, et al. A single human papillomavirus vaccine dose improves B cell memory in previously infected subjects. EBioMedicine. 2016;10:55–64.
- 26. Scherpenisse M, Schepp RM, Mollers M, Meijer CJ, Berbers GA, van der Klis FR. Characteristics of HPV-specific antibody responses induced by infection and vaccination: cross-reactivity, neutralizing activity, avidity and IgG subclasses. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e74797.
- Bontkes HJ, de Gruijl TD, van den Muysenberg AJ, et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 E6/E7-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in women with cervical neoplasia. Int J Cancer. 2000;88(1):92–8.
- 28. Nakagawa M, Stites DP, Patel S, et al. Persistence of human papillomavirus type 16 infection is associated with lack of cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to the E6 antigens. J Infect Dis. 2000;182(2):595–8.
- Nimako M, Fiander AN, Wilkinson GW, Borysiewicz LK, Man S. Human papillomavirus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in patients with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade III. Cancer Res. 1997;57(21):4855–61.
- Trimble CL, Peng S, Thoburn C, Kos F, Wu TC. Naturally occurring systemic immune responses to HPV antigens do not predict regression of CIN2/3. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(5):799–803.

- 31. Piersma SJ, Jordanova ES, van Poelgeest MI, et al. High number of intraepithelial CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes is associated with the absence of lymph node metastases in patients with large earlystage cervical cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67(1):354–61.
- Valdespino V, Gorodezky C, Ortiz V, et al. HPV16specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses are detected in all HPV16-positive cervical cancer patients. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96(1):92–102.
- 33. Kim KH, Greenfield WW, Cannon MJ, Coleman HN, Spencer HJ, Nakagawa M. CD4+ T-cell response against human papillomavirus type 16 E6 protein is associated with a favorable clinical trend. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(1):63–70.
- 34. de Jong A, van Poelgeest MI, van der Hulst JM, et al. Human papillomavirus type 16-positive cervical cancer is associated with impaired CD4+ T-cell immunity against early antigens E2 and E6. Cancer Res. 2004;64(15):5449–55.
- 35. Trimble CL, Piantadosi S, Gravitt P, et al. Spontaneous regression of high-grade cervical dysplasia: effects of human papillomavirus type and HLA phenotype. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(13):4717–23.
- 36. Moscicki AB, Ma Y, Wibbelsman C, et al. Rate of and risks for regression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2 in adolescents and young women. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;116(6):1373–80.
- 37. Fuchs K, Weitzen S, Wu L, Phipps MG, Boardman LA. Management of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2 in adolescent and young women. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2007;20(5):269–74.
- 38. Trimble CL, Morrow MP, Kraynyak KA, et al. Safety, efficacy, and immunogenicity of VGX-3100, a therapeutic synthetic DNA vaccine targeting human papillomavirus 16 and 18 E6 and E7 proteins for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3: a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. Lancet. 2015;386(10008):2078–88.
- Trimble CL, Clark RA, Thoburn C, et al. Human papillomavirus 16-associated cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in humans excludes CD8 T cells from dysplastic epithelium. J Immunol. 2010;185(11):7107–14.
- 40. Balermpas P, Rodel F, Rodel C, et al. CD8+ tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes in relation to HPV status and clinical outcome in patients with head and neck cancer after postoperative chemoradiotherapy: a multicentre study of the German cancer consortium radiation oncology group (DKTK-ROG). Int J Cancer. 2016;138(1):171–81.
- 41. Jung AC, Guihard S, Krugell S, et al. CD8-alpha T-cell infiltration in human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal carcinoma correlates with improved patient prognosis. Int J Cancer. 2013;132(2):E26–36.
- 42. King EV, Ottensmeier CH, Thomas GJ. The immune response in HPV+ oropharyngeal cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(1):e27254.
- Schiller JT, Castellsague X, Garland SM. A review of clinical trials of human papillomavirus prophylactic vaccines. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F123–38.
- 44. McCormack PL. Quadrivalent human papillomavirus (types 6, 11, 16, 18) recombinant vaccine

(gardasil((R))): a review of its use in the prevention of premalignant anogenital lesions, cervical and anal cancers, and genital warts. Drugs. 2014;74(11):1253–83.

- Lowy DR. HPV vaccination to prevent cervical cancer and other HPV-associated disease: from basic science to effective interventions. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(1):5–11.
- Erickson BK, Landers EE, Huh WK. Update on vaccination clinical trials for HPV-related disease. Clin Ther. 2014;36(1):8–16.
- 47. Kang WD, Choi HS, Kim SM. Is vaccination with quadrivalent HPV vaccine after loop electrosurgical excision procedure effective in preventing recurrence in patients with high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN2-3)? Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130(2):264–8.
- Garcia F, Petry KU, Muderspach L, et al. ZYC101a for treatment of high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2004;103(2):317–26.
- Bagarazzi ML, Yan J, Morrow MP, et al. Immunotherapy against HPV16/18 generates potent TH1 and cytotoxic cellular immune responses. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(155):155ra38.
- Kim TJ, Jin HT, Hur SY, et al. Clearance of persistent HPV infection and cervical lesion by therapeutic DNA vaccine in CIN3 patients. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5317.
- Brun JL, Dalstein V, Leveque J, et al. Regression of high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia with TG4001 targeted immunotherapy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;204(2):169 e1–8.
- 52. Borysiewicz LK, Fiander A, Nimako M, et al. A recombinant vaccinia virus encoding human papillomavirus types 16 and 18, E6 and E7 proteins as immunotherapy for cervical cancer. Lancet. 1996;347(9014):1523–7.
- 53. Solares AM, Baladron I, Ramos T, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a human papillomavirus peptide vaccine (CIGB-228) in women with high-grade cervical intraepithelial Neoplasia: first-in-human, proof-of-concept trial. ISRN Obstet Gynecol. 2011;2011:292951.
- 54. Muderspach L, Wilczynski S, Roman L, et al. A phase I trial of a human papillomavirus (HPV) peptide vaccine for women with high-grade cervical and vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia who are HPV 16 positive. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6(9):3406–16.
- 55. van Driel WJ, Ressing ME, Kenter GG, et al. Vaccination with HPV16 peptides of patients with advanced cervical carcinoma: clinical evaluation of a phase I-II trial. Eur J Cancer. 1999;35(6):946–52.
- Cory L, Chu C. ADXS-HPV: a therapeutic listeria vaccination targeting cervical cancers expressing the HPV E7 antigen. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2014;10(11):3190–5.
- 57. Maldonado L, Teague JE, Morrow MP, et al. Intramuscular therapeutic vaccination targeting HPV16 induces T cell responses that localize in mucosal lesions. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(221):221ra13.
- 58. Vintermyr OK, Iversen O, Thoresen S, et al. Recurrent high-grade cervical lesion after primary

conization is associated with persistent human papillomavirus infection in Norway. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;133(2):159–66.

- Ye Q, Song DG, Poussin M, et al. CD137 accurately identifies and enriches for naturally occurring tumor-reactive T cells in tumor. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(1):44–55.
- 60. Draper LM, Kwong ML, Gros A, et al. Targeting of HPV-16+ epithelial cancer cells by TCR Gene engineered T cells directed against E6. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(19):4431–9.
- 61. Stevanovic S, Draper LM, Langhan MM, et al. Complete regression of metastatic cervical cancer after treatment with human papillomavirustargeted tumor-infiltrating T cells. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(14):1543–50.
- Bauml JM, Cohen RB, Aggarwal C. Immunotherapy for head and neck cancer: latest developments and clinical potential. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2016;8(3):168–75.
- Doorbar J, Egawa N, Griffin H, Kranjec C, Murakami I. Human papillomavirus molecular biology and disease association. Rev Med Virol. 2015;25(Suppl 1):2–23.
- Bontkes HJ, Walboomers JM, Meijer CJ, Helmerhorst TJ, Stern PL. Specific HLA class I down-regulation is an early event in cervical dysplasia associated with clinical progression. Lancet. 1998;351(9097):187–8.
- 65. Cho YS, Kang JW, Cho M, et al. Down modulation of IL-18 expression by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 oncogene via binding to IL-18. FEBS Lett. 2001;501(2–3):139–45.
- 66. Huang SM, McCance DJ. Down regulation of the interleukin-8 promoter by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 through effects on CREB binding protein/p300 and P/CAF. J Virol. 2002;76(17):8710–21.
- 67. Rosl F, Lengert M, Albrecht J, et al. Differential regulation of the JE gene encoding the monocyte chemoat-tractant protein (MCP-1) in cervical carcinoma cells and derived hybrids. J Virol. 1994;68(4):2142–50.
- Kanodia S, Fahey LM, Kast WM. Mechanisms used by human papillomaviruses to escape the host immune response. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2007;7(1):79–89.
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, Allavena P, Sica A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;23(11):549–55.
- Hammes LS, Tekmal RR, Naud P, et al. Macrophages, inflammation and risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) progression--clinicopathological correlation. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;105(1):157–65.
- Utrera-Barillas D, Castro-Manrreza M, Castellanos E, et al. The role of macrophages and mast cells in lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis in cervical carcinogenesis. Exp Mol Pathol. 2010;89(2):190–6.
- Alcocer-Gonzalez JM, Berumen J, Tamez-Guerra R, et al. In vivo expression of immunosuppressive cytokines in human papillomavirus-transformed cervical cancer cells. Viral Immunol. 2006;19(3):481–91.
- 73. Herfs M, Herman L, Hubert P, et al. High expression of PGE2 enzymatic pathways in cervical (pre)

neoplastic lesions and functional consequences for antigen-presenting cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(4):603–14.

- 74. Fausch SC, Da Silva DM, Rudolf MP, Kast WM. Human papillomavirus virus-like particles do not activate Langerhans cells: a possible immune escape mechanism used by human papillomaviruses. J Immunol. 2002;169(6):3242–9.
- Fausch SC, Fahey LM, Da Silva DM, Kast WM. Human papillomavirus can escape immune recognition through Langerhans cell phosphoinositide 3-kinase activation. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):7172–8.
- Woodham AW, Raff AB, Raff LM, et al. Inhibition of Langerhans cell maturation by human papillomavirus type 16: a novel role for the annexin A2 heterotetramer in immune suppression. J Immunol. 2014;192(10):4748–57.
- 77. Da Silva DM, Woodham AW, Skeate JG, et al. Langerhans cells from women with cervical precancerous lesions become functionally responsive against human papillomavirus after activation with stabilized poly-I:C. Clin Immunol. 2015;161(2):197–208.
- Lavin Y, Mortha A, Rahman A, Merad M. Regulation of macrophage development and function in peripheral tissues. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(12):731–44.
- Lawrence T, Natoli G. Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(11):750–61.
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(12):958–69.
- 81. Heusinkveld M, de Vos van Steenwijk PJ, Goedemans R, et al. M2 macrophages induced by prostaglandin E2 and IL-6 from cervical carcinoma are switched to activated M1 macrophages by CD4+ Th1 cells. J Immunol. 2011;187(3):1157–65.
- Mezache L, Paniccia B, Nyinawabera A, Nuovo GJ. Enhanced expression of PD L1 in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and cervical cancers. Mod Pathol. 2015;28(12):1594–602.
- 83. Yang W, Song Y, Lu YL, Sun JZ, Wang HW. Increased expression of programmed death (PD)-1 and its ligand PD-L1 correlates with impaired cell-mediated immunity in high-risk human papillomavirus-related cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Immunology. 2013;139(4):513–22.
- 84. Seiwert TY, Burtness B, Mehra R, et al. Safety and clinical activity of pembrolizumab for treatment of recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-012): an openlabel, multicentre, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(7):956–65.
- 85. Ayers MLJ, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Albright A, Cheng J, Kang P, Ebbinghaus S, Yearley J, Shankaran V, Seiwert T, Ribas A, McClanahan T. Relationship between immune gene signatures and clinical response to PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab

(MK-3475) in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3(Suppl 2):P80.

- Callahan MK, Postow MA, Wolchok JD. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathway blockade: combinations in the clinic. Front Oncol. 2014;4:385.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64.
- Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways: similarities, differences, and implications of their inhibition. Am J Clin Oncol. 2016;39(1):98–106.
- 89. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(5):641–8.
- Chacon JA, Schutsky K, Powell DJ. The impact of chemotherapy, radiation and epigenetic modifiers in cancer cell expression of immune inhibitory and stimulatory molecules and anti-tumor efficacy. Vaccine. 2016;4(4):43.
- Szikriszt B, Poti A, Pipek O, et al. A comprehensive survey of the mutagenic impact of common cancer cytotoxics. Genome Biol. 2016;17:99.
- 92. Sharma A, Bode B, Wenger RH, et al. Gamma-radiation promotes immunological recognition of cancer cells through increased expression of cancer-testis antigens in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e28217.
- 93. Liao YP, Wang CC, Butterfield LH, et al. Ionizing radiation affects human MART-1 melanoma antigen processing and presentation by dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2004;173(4):2462–9.
- 94. Welters MJ, van der Sluis TC, van Meir H, et al. Vaccination during myeloid cell depletion by cancer chemotherapy fosters robust T cell responses. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(334):334ra52.
- 95. van Poelgeest MI, Welters MJ, van Esch EM, et al. HPV16 synthetic long peptide (HPV16-SLP) vaccination therapy of patients with advanced or recurrent HPV16-induced gynecological carcinoma, a phase II trial. J Transl Med. 2013;11:88.
- 96. Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2016;4(9):e609–16.
- Cutts FT, Franceschi S, Goldie S, et al. Human papillomavirus and HPV vaccines: a review. Bull World Health Organ. 2007;85(9):719–26.
- Lehtinen M, Paavonen J, Wheeler CM, et al. Overall efficacy of HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against grade 3 or greater cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: 4-year end-of-study analysis of the randomised, double-blind PATRICIA trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(1):89–99.
- Angioli R, Lopez S, Aloisi A, et al. Ten years of HPV vaccines: state of art and controversies. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;102:65–72.

NK Cell-Based Therapies

16

Laura Chiossone and Eric Vivier

Contents

16.1	NK Cell Manipulations in Therapeutic	
	Approaches	276
16.1.1	Infusion of Purified Activated	
	NK Cells	277
16.1.2	Gene Modification of NK Cells	
	to Improve the Efficacy of Adoptive	
	Immunotherapy	277
16.1.3	Infusion of Cytokines	278
16.1.4	Infusion of Tumor Antigen-Specific	
	Antibodies to Induce NK Cell	
	ADCC	278
16.1.5	Infusion of Antibodies Directed Against	
	Inhibitory NK Cell Receptors	279
16.2	Immune Checkpoint	
	Inhibitors (ICI)	279
16.2.1	KIRs	280
16.2.2	NKG2A	282
16.2.3	PD1	282
16.2.4	LAG3	283
16.2.5	Tim-3	284
16.2.6	TIGIT	284

L. Chiossone

Centre d'Immunologie de Marseille-Luminy, Aix Marseille Université, Inserm, CNRS, Marseille, France

E. Vivier (\boxtimes)

Centre d'Immunologie de Marseille-Luminy, Aix Marseille Université, Inserm, CNRS, Marseille, France

Service d'Immunologie, Hôpital de la Timone, Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Marseille, Marseille, France e-mail: vivier@ciml.univ-mrs.fr

16.3	Perspectives	285
Refere	nces	285

After many years of research, recent research advances have shed new light on the role the immune system plays in advanced-stage cancer. Immunotherapies have terribly increased in numbers and in diversity. Various types of immune cells may provide useful therapeutic resources, along with chemical molecules and engineered monoclonal antibodies. Among immune effectors suitable for manipulation prior to adoptive transfer or for drug targeting in vivo, natural killer (NK) cells are of particular interest. They are a population of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) that can induce the death of allogeneic and autologous cells undergoing malignant transformation and microbial infection [1]. They represent 5-15% of the cells in the total peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) in humans, and because of their ability to recirculate between peripheral organs they contribute to tumor immunosurveillance. Early studies showing the importance of NK cells in the antitumor response were performed in mice [2, 3]. In humans, cases of selective NK cell deficiency are rare, and it is difficult to assess the role of NK cells on the incidence of cancer. However, several studies have shown a link between low NK cell activity in peripheral blood and an increased risk of cancer [4, 5]. In addition, tumor infiltration by NK cells has been shown to be a favorable prog-

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_16

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

nostic factor in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), clear cell renal cell cancer, and colorectal cancer [6–8].

NK cells express a repertoire of activating and inhibitory receptors that allow them to detect target cells while sparing normal cells. It is the integration of all these signals that will determine the activation status of the NK cells [9]. They can detect the lack of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I ("missing self") [2] thanks to the expression of **KIRs** (killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors) in humans and Ly49 receptors in mice. The KIR family has been extensively characterized, revealing the existence of different genes and alleles giving rise to distinct haplotypes. Every receptor recognizes a group of classical HLA class I allotypes sharing particular features at the al domain. KIR inhibitory receptors signal through their immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) in their cytoplasmic domain. When inhibitory KIR receptors bind to a ligand, their ITIMs are tyrosine phosphorylated, and the SHP-1 protein tyrosine phosphatase is activated, leading to the inhibition of the NK cell activation. The engagement of NK cell receptors by MHC-I molecules is required during NK cell maturation for the generation of functional effector cells adapted to the host-specific MHC-I environment [10]. A related family of receptors that recognize MHC class I molecules, termed Ig-like transcripts (ILT) or leucocyte Ig-like receptors (LIR), can be detected on subsets of NK cells. In particular, ILT2 (LIR-1) and ILT4 (LIR-2) contain cytoplasmic ITIMs that recruit SHP-1 and can also contribute to the control of NK cell activation [11]. NK cells also possess another inhibitory receptor, CD94/NKG2A, which is expressed as a heterodimer in humans and mice. It recognizes the nonclassical MHC class I molecules corresponding to HLA-E in humans and Qa-1b in mice. Unlike classical HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C molecules that bind and present self-peptides, HLA-E binds leader peptides derived from the signal sequence of certain HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-C, and HLA-G molecules. Therefore, the interaction between the CD94/NKG2A complexes and HLA-E molecules allows NK cells to indirectly monitor the expression of other MHC-I molecules [12].

During tumor transformation, often the cells decrease the expression of MHC-I molecules, and this makes them potential targets for NK cells [13]. However, NK cells must also be stimulated by activating receptors which recognize their ligands on the tumor cell membrane. These activating receptors include NKp46, NKG2D, and DNAM-1 in both humans and mice, while NKp30 and NKp44 are only expressed by human NK cells [14]. NKp30 and NKG2D detect molecules that are not present in the basal state but whose expression increases under the effect of stress or infection by a pathogen. Other triggering surface molecules including 2B4 and NKp80 appear to function as co-receptors. Indeed, they can induce natural cytotoxicity only when co-engaged with a triggering receptor. The majority of mature NK cells also express CD16 (FcyRIIIA) which is a low-affinity receptor for the Fc region of G-type immunoglobulins (IgG) and is responsible for the antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) [15].

The recognition of the target leads to NK cell activation and degranulation, which corresponds to the exocytosis of lytic granules containing perforin and granzymes. In addition to the pathway dependent on exocytosis of the granules, another pathway involving the interactions between the TNF family death receptors and their ligands (such as TRAIL and FasL) leads to apoptosis of the target cell [16]. NK cells are also capable of secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IFN γ and TNF, which have a direct antitumor effect; many chemokines, including MCP-1, MIP1- α , MIP1- β , RANTES, lymphotactin, and IL-8; and growth factors such as GM-CSF, which contribute to the orientation of the adaptive immune response [17].

16.1 NK Cell Manipulations in Therapeutic Approaches

The discovery that NK cell can recognize and lyse tumor cells translated into hope that NK cells might find a place as therapeutic tools. Many efforts have been made to exploit NK cells into clinics, and more than 200 (see on clinicaltrials.gov) therapeutic trials have been carried out with the aim of potentiating their effector capacities *in vivo* [13, 18, 19].

16.1.1 Infusion of Purified Activated NK Cells

This strategy involves their purification from a healthy donor and culture with immunestimulating cytokines (IL-2 or IL-15) before injecting them into patients (Fig. 16.1a). This approach has proven to be effective and safe [20], but its limiting factor remains the scarce ability of infused NK cells to persist and proliferate in the patient. In view of the recent knowledge on ILC complexity, in the next future, it would also be possible to design new therapeutic strategies targeting different ILC populations. For example, in patients undergoing hematopoietic cell transplantation due to hematologic malignancies, there are evidences suggesting that ILCs expressing activating NK cell receptors may have a protective effect against acute graft versus host disease (GVHD), likely through their ability to enhance tissue repair [21, 22]. These data need further confirmation, but they may open the way to ILC infusion or, more likely, administration of ILC-derived molecules (such as IL-22) involved in mucosal healing.

16.1.2 Gene Modification of NK Cells to Improve the Efficacy of Adoptive Immunotherapy

New gene therapy methods to enhance NK cell function against tumor cells have been developed and are under investigation in preclinical and clinical trials. A promising approach aims to enhance NK cell tumor specificity using chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) (Fig. 16.1b). Various preclinical



Fig. 16.1 NK cell-based therapies. (**a**). NK cells are purified from the peripheral blood of a healthy donor and activated *in vitro* with cytokines (IL-2 or IL-15) before being injected into the patient. The best responses are obtained when the donor does not express KIRs that recognize the patient's HLA molecules, so that infused NK cells do not receive inhibitory signals from cancer cells. (**b**). NK cells are purified from the peripheral blood of the patient and genetically modified to express a chimeric receptor spe-

cific for a tumor antigen (CAR) or other molecules able to direct NK cells more efficiently against their targets. (c). Immune stimulatory cytokines are administered to patients to induce the activation and expansion of autologous NK cells. The cytokine that induces the strongest antitumor response is IL-2 but also causes significant side effects, such as regulatory T-cell (Treg) expansion and tissue inflammation that make it difficult to use studies are underway to explore the use of CAR-NK cells expressing a receptor specific for CD19 or CD20 in B-cell pathologies [23, 24]. Alternatively, NK cells retrovirally transduced to express NKG2D or TRAIL revealed improved tumor recognition and killing in preclinical studies [25, 26]. Another strategy is to protect NK cells from the immunosuppressive effect of TGF- β present in the tumor microenvironment using a dominant negative receptor II for TGF- β [27] or to improve the survival of NK cells *in vivo* by forcing the expression of IL-2 or IL-15 [28–30].

16.1.3 Infusion of Cytokines

Clinical studies are currently underway to test the efficacy and side effects of cytokines such as IL-2, IL-15, and IL-12 in several types of cancer (Fig. 16.1c). In an early study by Rosenberg et al., the combination of lymphokine-activated killer cells (LAK cells) and IL-2 resulted in a 20%

response rate in patients with melanoma or metastatic renal cell carcinoma [31]. However, the major problem of this approach is the toxicity determined by an exacerbated activation of the immune system in a nonspecific way that leads to neuropathy, capillary leak syndrome, and renal failure. IL-15 represents an attractive alternative to IL-2 and has already been investigated in patients with metastatic melanoma and metastatic renal cell cancer [32].

16.1.4 Infusion of Tumor Antigen-Specific Antibodies to Induce NK Cell ADCC

A number of clinically approved therapeutic antibodies targeting tumor-associated antigens (such as rituximab or cetuximab) function at least partially by the initiation of NK-mediated ADCC [33, 34] (Fig. 16.2a). In order to improve the affinity of the activating receptor $Fc\gamma RIIIA$ for the Fc region of IgG, different approaches have

> Tumor cell lysis

> > Tumor cell

CD20

а

Infusion of tumor antigen-specific mAbs to induce NK cell-ADCC.

Rituximab

HLA

FcyRIIIA

Fig. 16.2 Infusion of NK cell-specific mAbs. (a). Monoclonal antibodies directed against tumor antigens can also bind to the FcyRIIIA receptor expressed by NK cells and induce NK-mediated ADCC. (b). Infusion of mAbs directed against inhibitory NK cell receptors blocks the interactions with their ligands and allows NK cells to efficiently kill target cells

b

NK cell

Infusion of mAbs directed against inhibitory NK cell receptors.



been tried, including insertion of mutations or glycosylation. This resulted recently in the approval of mogamulizumab [35], a low-fucose anti-CCR4 mAb for the treatment of T-cell lymphomas, and obinutuzumab [36], an anti-CD20 mAb for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL).

16.1.5 Infusion of Antibodies Directed Against Inhibitory NK Cell Receptors

The aim of this approach is to increase the reactivity of autologous NK cells by treating patients with mAbs that block the engagement of the inhibitory NK receptors (Fig. 16.2b). In the case of unmodified mAbs (such as rituximab), cytotoxicity mediated by NK cells is still under the control of inhibitory receptors [37]. By using antibodies that block the interaction of certain inhibitory receptors with their ligands, it is possible to potentiate the antitumor NK cell response in vivo. Although there is no truly specific molecule of NK cells, some surface receptors are mainly expressed by NK cells and play a major role in regulating their function [38]. These molecules activate negative signaling pathways and function as immune checkpoints in the control of cytotoxicity. In the next paragraph, we focus our

attention on this approach as it represents a real revolution in cancer therapy.

16.2 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (ICI)

The role of the immune system in cancer patients has not been appreciated for several decades because tumors effectively suppress immune responses by activating pathways that normally regulate immune homeostasis. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI), such as blocking antibodies, have been shown to be effective and to have manageable safety profiles for several cancer types (Fig. 16.3). Their use has resulted in long-term survival, for more than a decade, in some patients with cancers for which significant therapeutic advances have been made, such as metastatic melanoma and NSCLC. The identification of inhibitory pathways of immune responses has thus been a seminal series of discoveries leading to a tremendous increase in our understanding and the manipulation of immunity.

The majority of the inhibitory receptors contain one or more ITIM in their cytoplasmic domain which are phosphorylated and recruit protein tyrosine phosphatase (SHP-1/2 or SHIP). A bioinformatics research across the entire genome revealed the existence of more than 300 type I and type II integral membrane proteins that

Fig. 16.3 Receptor/ ligand inhibiting interactions at the NK/ target cell interface. Several inhibitory receptors and co-receptors cooperate in the regulation of NK cell function. Combinations of blocking mAbs, defined on the basis of patientand tumor-specific features, may allow to release the brake on NK cell activation



Lymphocyte receptor	Tumor ligand	Drug	Status
KIR2DL1/2/3	HLA-C	Lirilumab	Phase II
NKG2A	HLA-E	Monalizumab	Phase II
PD-1	PD-L1/-L2	BMS/ONO: nivolumab	Marketed (Opdivo)
		Merck: pembrolizumab	Marketed (Keytruda)
		Regeneron/Sanofi: REGN2810	Phase II
		Novartis: PDR001	Phase II
		AZN: MEDI0680	Phase I/II
		Pfizer: PF-06801591	Phase I
		Agenus/Incyte: INCSHR1210	Phase I
		Janssen: JNJ-63723283	Phase I
PD-L1	PD-1	Roche: atezolizumab	Marketed (Tecentriq)
		AZN: durvalumab	Approved (Imfinzi)
		Pfizer/Merck KGa: avelumab	Approved (Bavencio)
LAG3	HLA-II	BMS: BMS-986016	Phase II
		Novartis: LAG525	Phase I
		Anaptys/Tesaro	Preclinical
		Merck	Preclinical
		Regeneron/Sanofi	Preclinical
		Macrogenics (PD-1 bispecific)	Preclinical
		IMP321	Phase I/II
Tim-3	Gal-9	Novartis: MBG453	Phase I
	CEACAM1	Anaptys/Tesaro: TS-022	Phase I
	Phosphatidylserine	Jounce/Celgene	Preclinical
	LILRB2	Roche	Preclinical
TIGIT	CD155, CD112	Roche	Phase I
		Merck	Preclinical
		BMS	Preclinical
VISTA	Unknown	Janssen: JNJ-61610588	Phase I
		Igenica: IGN381	Preclinical
Unknown	В7-Н3	Enoblituzumab	Phase I

Table 16.1 NK cell receptor/ligand targeting drugs in clinical development

contain at least one ITIM domain [39]. Of these receptors, only a few are targeted in therapeutic approaches (Table 16.1).

16.2.1 KIRs

KIR2DL1, KIR2DL2, and KIR2DL3 are the inhibitory receptors that, upon binding to HLA-C on target cells, are involved in the control of NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine production [40]. Evidence of the role of KIR receptors in the NK cell antitumor response was formally demonstrated in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) undergoing haploidentical bone marrow transplantation [41]. Indeed, the subgroup of

patients that received KIR/HLA-C mismatched bone marrow transplant had significantly lower rate of relapse without GVHD, which translated in follow-up studies into significantly better survival [42], suggesting that donor-derived alloreactive NK cells were capable of mediating safe and durable antitumor immunity. In order to mimic this strategy with a drug, a therapeutic mAb blocking the three inhibitory KIR receptors for HLA-C was generated: 1-7F9 is a fully human IgG4 that increases NK cell cytotoxicity against HLA-C-expressing tumor cells. This was demonstrated in vitro, by using patient-derived AML blasts targeted by autologous or heterologous NK cells and confirmed in a humanized AML mouse model [43]. The efficacy of this approach was also validated in a syngeneic tumor model where the blocking of Ly49C/I (the homologous receptor for KIR in the mouse) with a specific mAb could induce NK cells to selectively reject tumor cells while sparing normal tissues [44]. This translated in the clinical development of a hybridoma-derived product, IPH2101. It was tested in several phase I clinical trials [45-48] showing that KIR blockade is safe, with minimal side effects, deserving of further clinical investigations. Then, lirilumab (IPH2102, BMS-986015), a stabilized recombinant IgG4, with the same antigen specificity, was developed to increase stability and manufacturability of the mAb. It is currently tested in multiple phase I and II trials: as maintenance monotherapy in elderly AML patients (NCT01687387) or in combination with tumor-targeting mAb elotuzumab in multiple myeloma (NCT02252263) or DNA hypomethylating agent 5-azacytidine in AML (NCT02399917) and myelodysplastic syndromes (NCT02599649) or rituximab in CLL (NCT02481297). Interestingly, in vitro and in vivo studies showed that lirilumab increases the rituximab-induced ADCC [49].

Recently, a phase II clinical study that tested the efficacy of lirilumab as monotherapy in patients with multiple myeloma was prematurely discontinued due to lack of efficacy [50]. According to the authors, this could be due to a reduction of NK responsiveness that selectively affected KIR2D⁺ cells, accompanied by a loss of KIR2D expression on the cell surface. However, this contraction has not been detected in other clinical trials, and this data needs to be confirmed. These results may suggest the requirement, at least in some malignancies, of adapted therapeutic regimens (intermittent blocking) or combined therapy in order to induce an effective antitumor response. For example, given the clinical success of anti-PD-1 blocking mAbs and their ability to induce immune-stimulating cytokines like IFNy that may boost NK cells, lirilumab is also explored in association with nivolumab in order to combine the functional restoration of both NK and T cells, in solid tumors (NCT01714739) and hematological malignancies (NCT01592370). In two phase I clinical trials in patients with

advanced solid tumors, this combination showed no additional toxicity compared to nivolumab monotherapy (Segal N.H. et al., unpublished). More recently, a phase I/II trial has shown the efficacy of the treatment with lirilumab in combination with nivolumab in patients with advanced and chemically resistant head and neck carcinoma (Leidner R. et al., unpublished). This was a single-arm study, so there was no control population, but there are well-established historical control data for head and neck cancers to judge the outcomes. The study revealed that lirilumab was well tolerated for the head and neck cancer population. Although the follow-up and maturation of the data are ongoing, what was observed from an efficacy point of view was encouraging, but the results have to be understood in the context of a single-arm, fairly small study. The overall survival was 90 and 60% at 6 and 12 months, respectively, for patients treated with the lirilumab and nivolumab combination therapy as compared to 55.6 and 36% for nivolumab alone which has been recently FDA approved for this indication. These preliminary clinical data suggest a very exciting tail of the curve for head and neck cancer patients in a way analogous to what has been reported in other cancer indications, such as melanoma treated with a PD-1 or CTLA-4 immune checkpoint inhibitors. An in-depth evaluation of the immuno-correlative biomarkers would be very useful.

The results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II clinical trial (EffiKIR) evaluating the efficacy of lirilumab as a single agent in elderly patients with AML have (NCT01687387). been recently released Although the study did not meet the primary efficacy endpoint, it confirmed the safety profile of lirilumab as a monotherapy. In more details, two arms of the trial tested single agent lirilumab at different doses and treatment intervals (0.1 mg/ kg every 3 months or 1 mg/kg every 4 weeks), whereas in the third arm, patients received placebo. There was no statistically significant difference between either lirilumab arms and the placebo arm on the leukemia-free survival (LFS) or on other efficacy endpoints. The 1 mg/kg q 1month arm of the trial was discontinued as the

objective of achieving a superior LFS in this arm compared to placebo could not be reached. There was no concern with tolerance. Data analyses are ongoing and will complete the understanding of the results of this trial.

Lirilumab is still being investigated in six trials, across a range of solid and hematological cancer indications in combination with other agents, including nivolumab (see on clinicaltrials.gov).

16.2.2 NKG2A

NKG2A is an inhibitory receptor expressed by the majority of NK cells and part of cytotoxic T lymphocytes which recognizes HLA-E molecules in humans and Qa-1 in mice. Unlike classical HLA class I molecules, HLA-E expression is retained, or even increased, in 50-80% of patients with solid tumors or leukemias/lymphomas [6, 47, 51, 52]. A study in NSCLC showed that infiltrated NK cells had low expression of activating receptors and KIRs, while the expression of NKG2A was not affected by tumor microenvironment [6]. At the same time, HLA-E was highly expressed on tumor cells and negative on surrounding epithelial cells. The expression of NKG2A on tumor-infiltrated NK and T cells has also been confirmed in breast and cervical cancer and appears to be related to IL-15 and TGF- β secreted by tumor cells [51, 53]. A study in melanoma patients demonstrated that the effector functions of tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T cells that expressed NKG2A were inhibited by this receptor [54]. Accordingly, tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells were a favorable prognostic factor in NSCLC only in patients whose tumors maintain the expression of classical HLA class I molecules and do not express HLA-E [52]. Moreover, increased HLA-E expression (documented in 20% of patients with colorectal carcinoma) was associated with a poor clinical outcome in the presence of massive CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration [55].

All of these results suggest that NKG2A is an important checkpoint to block in order to increase the antitumor immune response, acting directly on the infiltrated lymphocytes. In a preclinical trial, a humanized mAb specific for NKG2A (Z270) showed its efficacy in releasing the cytotoxicity of NK cells against leukemia and lymphoma cells, both in vitro and in vivo [56]. This antibody was then developed for its clinical use under the name monalizumab (IPH). It is currently used in phase II clinical trials as a single agent for the therapy of gynecologic malignancies (NCT02459301) and in the preoperative setting in squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity (NCT02331875) or in combination therapy with cetuximab (an anti-EGFR mAb) in head and neck cancer (NCT02643550), with ibrutinib (a BTK inhibitor) in CLL (NCT02557516), and with durvalumab (an anti-PD-L1 mAb) in various solid tumors (NCT02671435).

16.2.3 PD1

PD-1 is an inhibitory receptor that binds PD-L1 and PD-L2, its specific ligands expressed on several tumor or infected cells but also by professional antigen-presenting cells (APC) present in inflammatory foci. Initially described on T, B, and myeloid cells [57], more recent papers reported the expression of PD-1 on NK cells from patients affected by multiple myeloma and ovarian carcinoma [58–61]. Studies in vitro demonstrated that the engagement of PD-L1 expressed by tumor cells can inhibit their lysis by NK cells, while PD-1 blocking mAbs restore NK cell function and favor the migration of NK cells toward the tumor site. During the last few years, several antibodies blocking PD1/PD-L1 interactions have been developed (Table 16.1) and are currently employed for treatment of advanced solid tumors. Among them, nivolumab has been shown to induce in T lymphocytes the expression of genes typically involved in cytotoxicity and NK cell function, such as IFN_γ and granzyme B [62]. These data suggest that blocking this checkpoint can rescue the antitumor immune response by acting on the same molecular pathway in both T and NK cells. Although the blocking of PD-1 has long been known to reestablish an antitumor response in mice [63, 64], clinical trials now provide important results in cancer patients. Clinical responses to monotherapy have been observed in a wide range of solid and hematologic cancers [65, 66]. Importantly, the responses are often durable and without serious toxicity in most people. Nevertheless, only a minority of people treated with antibodies specific for PD-1 or PD-L1 have a strong response, with a rapid rate of reduction of the tumor ranging from 10 to 40%, depending on the patient [66]. In order to explain this variability, various tumor biopsies collected from patients prior to treatment were examined from a histological point of view, and their composition was related to the grade of response observed in patients. The results showed that it is possible to distinguish three immune profiles that are correlated with the efficacy of anti-PD-L1/ PD-1 therapy [65]. The first profile, the "inflamed" phenotype, is characterized by the presence in the tumor parenchyma of numerous immune cells positioned in proximity to the tumor cells. In these samples, the infiltrated immune cells may exhibit staining for PD-L1. This profile suggests the presence of a preexisting antitumor immune response, which may have been stopped by immunosuppression in the tumor. Indeed, clinical responses to anti-PD-L1/PD-1 therapy occur most often in patients with inflamed tumors. The second profile is the "immune-excluded" phenotype, which is also characterized by the presence of immune cells, but they are retained in the stroma that surrounds the tumor cells and do not penetrate the parenchyma. The third profile, the "immune-desert" phenotype, is characterized by a shortage of hematopoietic cells in either the parenchyma or the stroma of the tumor. This phenotype probably reflects the absence of preexisting antitumor immunity, and it is not surprising that these tumors rarely respond to anti-PD-L1/PD-1 therapy [67]. In contrast, not all tumors characterized by an immune-inflamed profile respond to anti-PD-L1/PD-1 treatment. In these cases, probably other immune checkpoints are responsible for inhibiting the antitumor response [68].

Lymphocyte-activation gene 3, also known as LAG3, is a cell surface molecule that belongs to immunoglobulin superfamily, expressed by activated T lymphocytes, NK cells, B cells, and plasmacytoid dendritic cells, with diverse biologic effects. LAG3 is a ligand for MHC class II molecules, to which it binds to very high affinity. It is an immune checkpoint receptor that negatively regulates cellular proliferation, activation, and homeostasis of T cells and has been reported to play a role in Treg suppressive function [69]. Early after its discovery, experiments in LAG3deficient mice have suggested that LAG3 was crucial for NK cell function [70]. But, since LAG3 was also found to be expressed on tumorinfiltrating CD8⁺ T cells and to inhibit their proliferation and IFNy production [71], thereafter, studies have been mostly focused on its role in regulating adaptive immunity. LAG3 is now the target of various drug development programs by pharmaceutical companies seeking to develop new treatments for cancer and autoimmune disorders. The predicted mechanism of action for LAG3-specific mAbs is to release the negative regulation of NK and T cells. MHC class II molecules are generally expressed only by APCs, but some cancer cells have been reported to express them as well. LAG3 interaction with MHC class II molecules expressed by melanoma cells has been shown to protect them from FAS-mediated apoptosis [72]. LAG3 also encodes an alternative splice variant that is translated to a soluble form of LAG3 (sLAG3), which exhibits immune adjuvant activity [73]. Although sLAG3 is not the intended target of clinical trials using LAG3specific mAbs, it may be informative to bear in mind its role. Interestingly, sLAG3 is thought to bind only to MHC class II molecules present in lipid raft micro-domains on a minor subset of APC. Interestingly, a clinical-grade soluble form of LAG3 protein (LAG3-Ig fusion protein, IMP321), a physiological high-affinity MHC class II binder, has been shown to induce IFNy and TNF production by NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells in short-term ex vivo assays [74]. IMP321 is currently employed as immune-stimulating drug in phase I and phase II clinical trials, as adjunctive to standard chemotherapy or in combination to anti-PD-1 therapy, respectively. BMS-986016, an anti-LAG3 mAb, is currently in phase II clinical testing. A number of additional LAG3 antibodies are in preclinical development. LAG3 may be a better checkpoint inhibitor target than PD-1 since it can both activate T and NK effector cells and inhibit Treg suppressive activity [75]. A therapy targeting LAG3 in combination with nivolumab (NCT01968109) is currently investigated in subjects with select advanced (metastatic and/or unresectable) solid tumors.

16.2.5 Tim-3

Tim-3 is a type I glycoprotein expressed by innate and adaptive immune cells. It was first identified as a molecule selectively expressed on IFNy-producing CD4+ T helper 1 (Th1) and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells. Tim-3 is also constitutively expressed by functional and mature NK cells. Upon activation, it functions as an inhibitory receptor on NK and T cells by reducing cytotoxicity and cytokine production [76, 77]. Tim-3 is also found on T cells in patients with advanced melanoma, NSCLC, and follicular B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. In these three cancers, all Tim-3⁺ T cells co-expressed PD-1 and exhibited defects in proliferation and cytokine production [78]. A recent study showed that Tim-3 expression was increased on circulating NK cells in advanced melanoma patients and that this correlated with their exhausted phenotype [79]. Accordingly, blockade of Tim-3 signaling with mAbs resulted in the increased cytotoxicity and IFNy production of peripheral NK cells from patients with lung adenocarcinoma [80]. Thus, Tim-3 expression in NK cells can function as a prognostic biomarker in human malignancies. Anti-Tim-3 blocking mAbs are now tested in phase I clinical trials, and upcoming evidences suggested their use in combination with anti-PD-1 therapy. Indeed, in the setting of anti-PD-1 therapy, treatment failure is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints (most notably Tim-3), while resistance to anti-PD-1 therapy was prevented when an anti-Tim-3 mAb was administered together with an anti-PD-1 agent [68].

16.2.6 TIGIT

(T-cell immunoglobulin and ITIM TIGIT domain) is a receptor of the Ig superfamily that is expressed on NK cells, effector and memory T cells, and Treg cells, where it functions as a coinhibitory receptor [81-83]. It binds two ligands, CD155 (PVR) and CD112 (PVRL2, nectin-2), which are expressed on APCs, T cells, and a variety of non-hematopoietic cell types including tumor cells. CD226 (DNAM-1) binds to the same ligands but with lower affinity. Importantly, TIGIT can inhibit the interaction between CD226 and CD155. Engagement of TIGIT induces its phosphorylation and the recruitment of SHIP1 (SH2 domain-containing inositol-5-phosphatase 1) and results in the inhibition of NK cell cytotoxicity, granule polarization, and cytokine secretion [82, 83]. Upon interaction with CD155 and CD112 that are highly expressed on tumor cells, TIGIT negatively regulates antitumor responses. Indeed, TIGIT-deficient mice show significantly delayed tumor growth in two different tumor models [84]. TIGIT is highly expressed on tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes across a broad range of tumors. In CD8⁺ T cells from melanoma patients, co-blockade of TIGIT with PD-1 additively improved proliferation, cytokine production, and degranulation [85]. Combined treatment resulted in complete tumor rejection in preclinical models [86]. Interestingly, TIGIT synergizes not only with PD-1 but also with Tim-3 in impairing protective antitumor responses [84]. Therefore, coblockade of either TIGIT with PD-1 or TIGIT with Tim-3 promotes antitumor immunity and induces tumor regression. A fully human anti-TIGIT mAb (MTIG7192A, RG6058) is now in phase I clinical trial in combination with anti-PD-1 therapy in various solid tumors.

16.3 Perspectives

Recent breakthroughs in treatment reflect decades of research focused on understanding the biological basis of cancer and unlocking the power of the immune system. The therapeutic targeting of immune checkpoints led to outstanding results in patients with different types of cancer. However, in spite of the clinical success of mAbs against PD-L1/PD-1 and the expectations that accompany the clinical development of antibodies blocking other immune checkpoints (Table 16.1), only a subset of patients have long-lasting responses. Moreover, the immune profile of an individual reflects the contribution of an array of factors, including the intrinsic properties of the tumor and environmental factors such as infectious agents. This suggests that a broader view of cancer immunity is required. Further studies are needed to identify all the receptors involved in the regulation of NK cell cytotoxicity, in order to develop mAbs blocking the interactions with their ligands and being hence capable to enhance the antitumor NK cell response. By histologic examinations of tumor biopsies, it will be important to identify the patients most likely to respond to treatments blocking the different receptors in order to decide a targeted tumor- and patient-specific therapy.

References

- Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate lymphoid cells--a proposal for uniform nomenclature. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(2):145–9.
- Karre K, Ljunggren HG, Piontek G, Kiessling R. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. Nature. 1986;319(6055):675–8.
- Kim S, Iizuka K, Aguila HL, Weissman IL, Yokoyama WM. In vivo natural killer cell activities revealed by natural killer cell-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(6):2731–6.
- Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11-year follow-up study of a general population. Lancet. 2000;356(9244):1795–9.

- Orange JS, Ballas ZK. Natural killer cells in human health and disease. Clin Immunol. 2006;118(1):1–10.
- Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Crozet L, Vieillard V, Validire P, et al. Profound coordinated alterations of intratumoral NK cell phenotype and function in lung carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2011;71(16):5412–22.
- Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, Riesenberg R, Siegert SI, Kammerer R, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med. 2012;90(1):55–66.
- Halama N, Braun M, Kahlert C, Spille A, Quack C, Rahbari N, et al. Natural killer cells are scarce in colorectal carcinoma tissue despite high levels of chemokines and cytokines. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(4):678–89.
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011;331(6013):44–9.
- Raulet DH, Vance RE. Self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(7):520–31.
- Colonna M, Navarro F, Bellon T, Llano M, Garcia P, Samaridis J, et al. A common inhibitory receptor for major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on human lymphoid and myelomonocytic cells. J Exp Med. 1997;186(11):1809–18.
- Lopez-Botet M, Llano M, Ortega M. Human cytomegalovirus and natural killer-mediated surveillance of HLA class I expression: a paradigm of host-pathogen adaptation. Immunol Rev. 2001;181:193–202.
- Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(9):1025–36.
- Bottino C, Moretta L, Moretta A. NK cell activating receptors and tumor recognition in humans. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2006;298:175–82.
- Wang W, Erbe AK, Hank JA, Morris ZS, Sondel PM. NK cell-mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in cancer immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2015;6:368.
- Smyth MJ, Takeda K, Hayakawa Y, Peschon JJ, van den Brink MR, Yagita H. Nature's TRAIL--on a path to cancer immunotherapy. Immunity. 2003;18(1):1–6.
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(5):503–10.
- Childs RW, Carlsten M. Therapeutic approaches to enhance natural killer cell cytotoxicity against cancer: the force awakens. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(7):487–98.
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):239–52.
- Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful

adoptive transfer and in vivo expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. Blood. 2005;105(8):3051–7.

- Munneke JM, Bjorklund AT, Mjosberg JM, Garming-Legert K, Bernink JH, Blom B, et al. Activated innate lymphoid cells are associated with a reduced susceptibility to graft-versus-host disease. Blood. 2014;124(5):812–21.
- 22. Konya V, Mjosberg J. Innate lymphoid cells in graft-versus-host disease. Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transplant Surg. 2015;15(11):2795–801.
- 23. Boissel L, Betancur-Boissel M, Lu W, Krause DS, Van Etten RA, Wels WS, et al. Retargeting NK-92 cells by means of CD19- and CD20-specific chimeric antigen receptors compares favorably with antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(10):e26527.
- 24. Shimasaki N, Fujisaki H, Cho D, Masselli M, Lockey T, Eldridge P, et al. A clinically adaptable method to enhance the cytotoxicity of natural killer cells against B-cell malignancies. Cytotherapy. 2012;14(7):830–40.
- 25. Chang YH, Connolly J, Shimasaki N, Mimura K, Kono K, Campana D. A chimeric receptor with NKG2D specificity enhances natural killer cell activation and killing of tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2013;73(6):1777–86.
- 26. Kobayashi E, Kishi H, Ozawa T, Hamana H, Nakagawa H, Jin A, et al. A chimeric antigen receptor for TRAIL-receptor 1 induces apoptosis in various types of tumor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;453(4):798–803.
- 27. Yang B, Liu H, Shi W, Wang Z, Sun S, Zhang G, et al. Blocking transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathway augments antitumor effect of adoptive NK-92 cell therapy. Int Immunopharmacol. 2013;17(2):198–204.
- 28. Lee JM, Yoon SH, Kim HS, Kim SY, Sohn HJ, Oh ST, et al. Direct and indirect antitumor effects by human peripheral blood lymphocytes expressing both chimeric immune receptor and interleukin-2 in ovarian cancer xenograft model. Cancer Gene Ther. 2010;17(10):742–50.
- Jiang W, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. hIL-15 genemodified human natural killer cells (NKL-IL15) augments the anti-human hepatocellular carcinoma effect in vivo. Immunobiology. 2014;219(7):547–53.
- Imamura M, Shook D, Kamiya T, Shimasaki N, Chai SM, Coustan-Smith E, et al. Autonomous growth and increased cytotoxicity of natural killer cells expressing membrane-bound interleukin-15. Blood. 2014;124(7):1081–8.
- 31. Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Leitman S, Chang AE, Ettinghausen SE, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokineactivated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(23):1485–92.

- 32. Conlon KC, Lugli E, Welles HC, Rosenberg SA, Fojo AT, Morris JC, et al. Redistribution, hyperproliferation, activation of natural killer cells and CD8 T cells, and cytokine production during first-in-human clinical trial of recombinant human interleukin-15 in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(1):74–82.
- 33. Dall'Ozzo S, Tartas S, Paintaud G, Cartron G, Colombat P, Bardos P, et al. Rituximab-dependent cytotoxicity by natural killer cells: influence of FCGR3A polymorphism on the concentration-effect relationship. Cancer Res. 2004;64(13):4664–9.
- 34. Kawaguchi Y, Kono K, Mimura K, Sugai H, Akaike H, Fujii H. Cetuximab induce antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity against EGFR-expressing esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2007;120(4):781–7.
- Subramaniam JM, Whiteside G, McKeage K, Croxtall JC. Mogamulizumab: first global approval. Drugs. 2012;72(9):1293–8.
- 36. Ishii T, Ishida T, Utsunomiya A, Inagaki A, Yano H, Komatsu H, et al. Defucosylated humanized anti-CCR4 monoclonal antibody KW-0761 as a novel immunotherapeutic agent for adult T-cell leukemia/ lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(5):1520–31.
- Binyamin L, Alpaugh RK, Hughes TL, Lutz CT, Campbell KS, Weiner LM. Blocking NK cell inhibitory self-recognition promotes antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in a model of anti-lymphoma therapy. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):6392–401.
- Bezman NA, Kim CC, Sun JC, Min-Oo G, Hendricks DW, Kamimura Y, et al. Molecular definition of the identity and activation of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(10):1000–9.
- Daeron M, Jaeger S, Du Pasquier L, Vivier E. Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs: a quest in the past and future. Immunol Rev. 2008;224:11–43.
- Thielens A, Vivier E, Romagne F. NK cell MHC class I specific receptors (KIR): from biology to clinical intervention. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):239–45.
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science. 2002;295(5562):2097–100.
- 42. Ruggeri L, Mancusi A, Burchielli E, Capanni M, Carotti A, Aloisi T, et al. NK cell alloreactivity and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2008;40(1):84–90.
- 43. Romagne F, Andre P, Spee P, Zahn S, Anfossi N, Gauthier L, et al. Preclinical characterization of 1-7F9, a novel human anti-KIR receptor therapeutic antibody that augments natural killer-mediated killing of tumor cells. Blood. 2009;114(13):2667–77.
- 44. Vahlne G, Lindholm K, Meier A, Wickstrom S, Lakshmikanth T, Brennan F, et al. In vivo tumor cell rejection induced by NK cell inhibitory receptor blockade: maintained tolerance to normal cells even in the presence of IL-2. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(3):813–23.

- 45. Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Zhang S, Collins SM, Liang J, Srivastava S, et al. IPH2101, a novel antiinhibitory KIR antibody, and lenalidomide combine to enhance the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect. Blood. 2011;118(24):6387–91.
- 46. Benson DM Jr, Cohen AD, Jagannath S, Munshi NC, Spitzer G, Hofmeister CC, et al. A phase I trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 and Lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(18):4055–61.
- 47. Benson DM Jr, Hofmeister CC, Padmanabhan S, Suvannasankha A, Jagannath S, Abonour R, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Blood. 2012;120(22):4324–33.
- Vey N, Bourhis JH, Boissel N, Bordessoule D, Prebet T, Charbonnier A, et al. A phase 1 trial of the antiinhibitory KIR mAb IPH2101 for AML in complete remission. Blood. 2012;120(22):4317–23.
- 49. Kohrt HE, Thielens A, Marabelle A, Sagiv-Barfi I, Sola C, Chanuc F, et al. Anti-KIR antibody enhancement of anti-lymphoma activity of natural killer cells as monotherapy and in combination with anti-CD20 antibodies. Blood. 2014;123(5):678–86.
- 50. Carlsten M, Korde N, Kotecha R, Reger R, Bor S, Kazandjian D, et al. Checkpoint inhibition of KIR2D with the monoclonal antibody IPH2101 induces contraction and Hyporesponsiveness of NK cells in patients with myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(21):5211–22.
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(9):3609–22.
- 52. Talebian Yazdi M, van Riet S, van Schadewijk A, Fiocco M, van Hall T, Taube C, et al. The positive prognostic effect of stromal CD8+ tumor-infiltrating T cells is restrained by the expression of HLA-E in non-small cell lung carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2016;7(3):3477–88.
- 53. Sheu BC, Chiou SH, Lin HH, Chow SN, Huang SC, Ho HN, et al. Up-regulation of inhibitory natural killer receptors CD94/NKG2A with suppressed intracellular perforin expression of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes in human cervical carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2005;65(7):2921–9.
- 54. Speiser DE, Pittet MJ, Valmori D, Dunbar R, Rimoldi D, Lienard D, et al. In vivo expression of natural killer cell inhibitory receptors by human melanomaspecific cytolytic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1999;190(6):775–82.
- 55. Bossard C, Bezieau S, Matysiak-Budnik T, Volteau C, Laboisse CL, Jotereau F, et al. HLA-E/beta2 microglobulin overexpression in colorectal cancer is associated with recruitment of inhibitory immune cells and tumor progression. Int J Cancer. 2012;131(4):855–63.
- Ruggeri L, Urbani E, Andre P, Mancusi A, Tosti A, Topini F, et al. Effects of anti-NKG2A antibody

administration on leukemia and normal hematopoietic cells. Haematologica. 2016;101(5):626–33.

- 57. Riley JL. PD-1 signaling in primary T cells. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):114–25.
- 58. Pesce S, Greppi M, Tabellini G, Rampinelli F, Parolini S, Olive D, et al. Identification of a subset of human natural killer cells expressing high levels of programmed death 1: a phenotypic and functional characterization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;139(1):335–46 e3.
- Della Chiesa M, Pesce S, Muccio L, Carlomagno S, Sivori S, Moretta A, et al. Features of memory-like and PD-1(+) human NK cell subsets. Front Immunol. 2016;7:351.
- Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. Oncotarget. 2016;7(45):72961–77.
- 61. Iraolagoitia XL, Spallanzani RG, Torres NI, Araya RE, Ziblat A, Domaica CI, et al. NK cells restrain spontaneous antitumor CD8+ T cell priming through PD-1/PD-L1 interactions with dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2016;197(3):953–61.
- 62. Das R, Verma R, Sznol M, Boddupalli CS, Gettinger SN, Kluger H, et al. Combination therapy with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 leads to distinct immunologic changes in vivo. J Immunol. 2015;194(3):950–9.
- 63. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(19):12293–7.
- 64. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8(8):793–800.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature. 2017;541(7637):321–30.
- 66. Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(328):328rv4.
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515(7528):563–7.
- 68. Koyama S, Akbay EA, Li YY, Herter-Sprie GS, Buczkowski KA, Richards WG, et al. Adaptive resistance to therapeutic PD-1 blockade is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints. Nat Commun. 2016;7:10501.
- Nguyen LT, Ohashi PS. Clinical blockade of PD1 and LAG3--potential mechanisms of action. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(1):45–56.
- Miyazaki T, Dierich A, Benoist C, Mathis D. Independent modes of natural killing distinguished in mice lacking Lag3. Science. 1996;272(5260): 405–8.

- Matsuzaki J, Gnjatic S, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, Beck A, Miller A, Tsuji T, et al. Tumor-infiltrating NY-ESO-1-specific CD8+ T cells are negatively regulated by LAG-3 and PD-1 in human ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(17):7875–80.
- Hemon P, Jean-Louis F, Ramgolam K, Brignone C, Viguier M, Bachelez H, et al. MHC class II engagement by its ligand LAG-3 (CD223) contributes to melanoma resistance to apoptosis. J Immunol. 2011;186(9):5173–83.
- Prigent P, El Mir S, Dreano M, Triebel F. Lymphocyte activation gene-3 induces tumor regression and antitumor immune responses. Eur J Immunol. 1999;29(12):3867–76.
- 74. Brignone C, Grygar C, Marcu M, Schakel K, Triebel F. A soluble form of lymphocyte activation gene-3 (IMP321) induces activation of a large range of human effector cytotoxic cells. J Immunol. 2007;179(6):4202–11.
- Huang CT, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21(4):503–13.
- Golden-Mason L, McMahan RH, Strong M, Reisdorph R, Mahaffey S, Palmer BE, et al. Galectin-9 functionally impairs natural killer cells in humans and mice. J Virol. 2013;87(9):4835–45.
- 77. Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore antitumor immunity. J Exp Med. 2010;207(10):2187–94.
- Anderson AC. Tim-3: an emerging target in the cancer immunotherapy landscape. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(5):393–8.
- Gallois A, Silva I, Osman I, Bhardwaj N. Reversal of natural killer cell exhaustion by TIM-3 blockade. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(12):e946365.

- 80. Xu L, Huang Y, Tan L, Yu W, Chen D, Lu C, et al. Increased Tim-3 expression in peripheral NK cells predicts a poorer prognosis and Tim-3 blockade improves NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in human lung adenocarcinoma. Int Immunopharmacol. 2015;29(2):635–41.
- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. Immunity. 2016;44(5):989–1004.
- 82. Stanietsky N, Rovis TL, Glasner A, Seidel E, Tsukerman P, Yamin R, et al. Mouse TIGIT inhibits NK-cell cytotoxicity upon interaction with PVR. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(8):2138–50.
- 83. Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, et al. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(42):17858–63.
- Kurtulus S, Sakuishi K, Ngiow SF, Joller N, Tan DJ, Teng MW, et al. TIGIT predominantly regulates the immune response via regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(11):4053–62.
- Chauvin JM, Pagliano O, Fourcade J, Sun Z, Wang H, Sander C, et al. TIGIT and PD-1 impair tumor antigen-specific CD8(+) T cells in melanoma patients. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(5):2046–58.
- Pauken KE, Wherry EJ. TIGIT and CD226: tipping the balance between costimulatory and coinhibitory molecules to augment the cancer immunotherapy toolkit. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(6):785–7.

IDO/TDO Inhibition in Cancer

17

George C. Prendergast, William J. Malachowski, Arpita Mondal, Peggy Scherle, and Alexander J. Muller

Contents

17.1	Introduction	290
17.2	IDO1 in Immune Escape from T-Cell Immunity	292
17.3	IDO1 in Inflammatory Programming: MDSC Development and Metastasis	293
17.4	IDO1 in Inflammatory Programming: Pathogenic Neovascularization and Metastasis	293
17.5	IDO2 in B-cell Inflamed States and Certain IDO1 Functions: Connections and Questions	295

17.6	Tryptophan Dioxygenase (TDO) in Inflammatory Programming: Immune Escape, Anoikis Resistance, and Metastasis	297
17.7	Lead Clinical Agents: Indoximod,	
	GDC-0919, and Epacadostat	298
17.7.1	Indoximod	298
17.7.2	GDC-0919	299
17.7.3	Epacadostat (INCB024360)	301
17.8	Other IDO/TDO Inhibitor Clinical	
	Candidates	302
Refere	nces	303

Abbreviations

G.C. Prendergast (🖂) • A.J. Muller Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA	1MT	1-Methyl-tryptophan, a racemic mixture of L,D isoforms termed IDO pathway inhibitors, the lat-
Lankenau Institute for Medical Research, 100 Lancaster Avenue, Wynnewood, PA 19096, USA e-mail: prendergast@limr.org		ter of which (D-1MT) is in phase II/III clinical development now known as indoximod
W.J. Malachowski Department of Chemistry, Bryn Mawr College,	AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (kyn- urenine receptor)
A. Mondal Lankenau Institute for Medical Research, 100 Lancaster Avenue, Wynnewood, PA 19096, USA	BID CCL-2	Myeloid attraction cytokine (also known as MCP-1) which binds to recentors CCR2 and
Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Drexel University College of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA		CCR4 and causes basophils and mast cells to release their granules
P. Scherle Incyte Corporation Inc., Wilmington, DE, USA	CR	Complete response

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_17

Progression-free survival

eIF-2α	Master regulatory eukaryotic	PFS
Gen?	Starvation-induced kinase that	PGE
Gell2	phosphorylates and suppresses	
	eIF-2α	
GLK1	A kinase that responds to amino	
	acid sufficiency by activating	PKC
	mTORC1	
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase	DD
	enzyme; in older literature refers	PR
	to the IDOI gene product; in	SD
	more recent literature may refer	TDI
	to IDO1 and IDO2 gene products	IDC
IDO1	Indolooming, 2.3 dioxygonogo	
IDOI	1 enzyme (gene nomenclature	
	I enzyme (gene nomenciature	TDO
1002	Indoleamine 2 3-dioxygenase-2	IDC
1002	enzyme (gene nomenclature	TLR
	IDO2) distinct IDO-related gene	1 121
	product (gene nomenclature	
	IDO2, located immediately	TGF
	downstream of IDO1 in the	TPA
	murine and human genomes)	
IFN-γ	Interferon- γ	
INCB024360	A lead small-molecule inhibitor	Treg
	of IDO1 enzymatic activity	
	presently in phase II/III clinical	
	development now known as	
	epacadostat	17.
Indoximod	D racemer of 1-methyl-tryptophan	
	(D-1MT), an IDO pathway inhibi-	One
	tor in clinical trials that may act at	elev
	clinical dose levels by relieving	that
	IDO1-mediated suppression of	least
	the mTORCI pathway (also	rares
MDGC	known as NLG-8189)	Thu
MDSC mTODC1	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells	cata
mTORCI	Mammanan target of rapamycin	path
	regulatory kinase)	sero
NI G910	Δ small-molecule inhibitor of	med (mc
1120/17	IDO1 enzymatic activity in	total
	clinical trials also known as	nath
	navoximod	less
		1000

NK Natural killer immune cells

ORR Overall response rate

Pro-inflammatory prostaglandin
produced by activation of
COX-2 which may rely on IDO
function for its pro-cancerous
activity
Protein kinase C variant that
phosphorylates and limits the
function of the T-cell receptor
Partial response
Stable disease
Tumor-draining lymph node
Tryptophan dioxygenase enzyme;
structurally unrelated to IDO
enzymes (gene nomenclature
TDO2)
Tryptophanase dioxygenase gene
nomenclature
Toll-like receptor (infection/
inflammation-associated PAMP
receptor)
Transforming growth factor-ß
12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-
acetate (pro-inflammatory chem-
ical also known as PMA)
T regulatory cells

17.1 Introduction

me widespread feature of advanced cancers is levated tryptophan catabolism, a phenomenon at tracks with tumor burden noticed initially at ast several decades ago [1]. Tryptophan is the rest amino acid and it is essential in the diet. hus, its levels are tightly controlled, in part by atabolism along the serotonin and kynurenine athways which handle this role in the body. The erotonin pathway is better understood and edicinally important in controlling affect nood) and gut peristalsis. However, only 5% of tal tryptophan catabolism occurs through this athway. The kynurenine pathway is relatively ess understood despite its dominant role in tryptophan catabolism. This pathway has been studied mainly in biochemistry and neurology,

in the latter case as a source of catabolites contributing to psychogenic disease [2]. Biochemically, IDO and TDO control the ratelimiting first step in tryptophan catabolism leading to generation of the key enzyme cofactor nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD). However, NAD is scavenged from the diet to satisfy metabolic needs such that the physiological need of the kynurenine pathway seemed incomplete. TDO encoded by the TDO2 gene has long been known as the predominant liver enzymemediating catabolism of dietary tryptophan. In contrast, IDO is an inducible enzyme that is more widely expressed. The IDO1 gene-encoding IDO was identified in the 1960s as the first interferon-activated gene to be described [3], but despite some study in the context of infectious disease, a fuller impact of this association was not appreciated.

A pivotal conceptual breakthrough with regard to the physiological meaning of tryptophan catabolism occurred in 1998 with the seminal work of Munn, Mellor, and their colleagues who implicated IDO in T-cell-directed immunosuppression during pregnancy [4]. Briefly, they proposed that tryptophan deprivation would impair antigen-dependent T-cell activation in microenvironments where IDO was active. Initial evidence supporting this concept was offered by studies of how immune tolerance to "foreign" paternal antigens in pregnant mice could be reversed by the IDO pathway inhibitor 1-methyl-D,L-tryptophan (1MT), the administration of which elicited MHC-restricted, T-cell-mediated rejection of allogeneic concepti [4, 5].

Several reports founded the concept of IDO as a mediator of immune tolerance in cancer. First, overexpression of IDO1 occurs commonly in human tumors [6, 7]. Normally IDO1 is under the control of the tumor suppressor Bin1 [8, 9], one of the more commonly attenuated genes in human tumors [10–14]. Thus, IDO elevation in cancer cells can be ascribed directly to disruption of a tumor suppressor function for which a powerful selection appears to exist during malignant progression [14]. In immunocompetent mouse models of cancer, 1MT doses that elicited conceptus rejection displayed some limited antitumor effect [6, 15]. However, the same doses dramatically empowered the efficacy of co-administered immunogenic chemotherapy through a mechanism relying upon CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T cells [8, 16], offering a more promising perspective on therapeutic utility. As discussed below, the D and L racemers of 1MT act by complex mechanisms of action in vivo that are in large part distinct from systemic IDO1 enzyme inhibition (especially in the case of D-1MT, taken to clinical trials with the nomenclature indoximod). Thus, the discovery of a bioactive IDO1 enzyme inhibitor by Muller, Prendergast, and colleagues that could empower chemotherapy similarly to 1MT offered the first therapeutic proof of concept [8, 17-19]. Preclinical pharmacological validation was achieved through the study of other structurally distinct bioactive IDO1 enzyme inhibitors [20-22], including most notably the phenylimidazole and hydroxyamidine chemotypes from which clinical leads NLG919/navoximod and the INCB024360/epacadostat were developed, respectively [21, 23]. Genetic studies in mice deficient in IDO1 strengthened its preclinical validation as a cancer therapeutic target [24, 25]. Overall, these efforts helped establish IDO1 as a pivotal mediator of immune escape that is a critical trait of cancer [26]. At the present time, clinical lead agents D-1MT/indoximod, INCB024360/ epacadostat, and NLG919 have advanced furthest in human trials. In this chapter, we summarize evidence supporting the concept of IDO/ enzymes as inflammatory modifiers TDO involved not only in adaptive tolerance but also in tumor neovascularization and metastasis; the discovery and development of indoximod, epacadostat, and NLG919 as lead clinical compounds in the field; and the rationale for and ongoing exploration of TDO inhibitors and mixed IDO/TDO inhibitors based on a broader rationale involving TDO and IDO2 in driving cancer progression and their potential roles in IDO1 bypass (inherent resistance) and acquired resistance to IDO1 selective inhibitors currently at the vanguard of clinical development as a unique class of immunometabolic modifiers of cancer-associated inflammation and adaptive immunity. Figure 17.1



Fig. 17.1 Sites of IDO/TDO expression and action in cancer. Expression of IDO1, IDO2, and TDO documented in various cells in the tumor microenvironment (including metastatic sites) and in tumor-draining lymph nodes (TDLN) is indicated, including in tumor, stromal, vascular, and immune cells. Both tryptophan deprivation and kynurenine production mediated by IDO1 and TDO have

been implicated in inflammatory processes and immune escape (antigenic tolerance). Effects of IDO/TDO activity on the function of T cells and MDSC are shown. *APC* antigen-presenting cell (e.g., dendritic cell), *MDSC* myeloid-derived suppressor cell, *TAM* tumor-associated macrophage, *TAN* tumor-associated neutrophil, *Teff* T effector cell, *Treg* T regulatory cell

provides a current perspective on the sites of expression and functional reach of IDO/TDO enzymes in cancer as presented below.

17.2 IDO1 in Immune Escape from T-Cell Immunity

The prevailing view among cancer biologists of the determinative importance of intrinsic tumor cell characteristics was encapsulated in a highly influential categorization of the hallmarks of cancer [27]. In this broad conceptualization, even metastasis and angiogenesis, the two recognized hallmarks with clear host dependence, were considered from a tumor-centric perspective, and no consideration was given to possibility that interactions with host immunity might also play an instrumental role in cancer outcomes. The case for including immune escape within the pantheon of critical hallmarks was first promulgated in a 2008 review on IDO1 [20] and eventually gained general acceptance as the hallmark designations were reassessed in light of recognition of the importance of host environmental factors such as immunity and inflammation [28, 29].

IDO1 induction in DC and macrophages promotes immune tolerance by suppressing effector T cells, converting naïve T cells to FoxP3⁺ Tregs, and elevating the suppressive activity of "natural" Tregs [30]. Extratumoral induction of IDO1 was reported initially in a subset of cancer patients and preclinical tumor graft models [15, 31]. In the mouse B16 melanoma model, IDO1 was not detectable directly in the tumors that formed but rather was elevated in TDLN where it was localized to a specific subset of DC characterized for T-cell suppressive activity [31]. Several different IDO1 inhibitory compounds
have since been identified that can produce highly significant B16 tumor growth suppression that relies both on intact T-cell immunity and host IDO1 function [20, 22, 32], providing pharmacological support for an extratumoral role of IDO1 in limiting antitumor immunity. In like manner, the first genetic validation of IDO1's involvement in driving autochthonous tumor development came from studies in classical twostage models of skin carcinogenesis, where there was no evidence of IDO1 expression in the developing lesions: similar to the B16 model, IDO1 expression and activity were highly elevated in DC within the TDLN [24]. In this context, where tumor initiation and promotion are distinctly separable, IDO1 was found to be elevated in the tumor-promoting inflammatory environment, even in the absence of tumor initiation, clearly indicating that extratumoral IDO1 elevation is an early event that occurs before initiation in programming a pro-tumorigenic inflammatory microenvironment [33].

17.3 IDO1 in Inflammatory Programming: MDSC Development and Metastasis

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) found to rely upon IDO1 support are another key player in the establishment of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. MDSC are an immature population of bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells functionally defined by their ability to suppress T-cell activity [34]. In response to inflammatory signals, MDSCs migrate to the lymph node, spleen, and tumor tissue to create local immune suppression. Among the mechanisms utilized by MDSC to exert their T-cell suppressive effects [35–41], there is evidence that IDO1 activity is a critical factor. This connection was first revealed by genetic studies in IDO1^{-/-} mouse models of de novo lung carcinoma and metastases [25]. IDO1^{-/-} mice resisted the outgrowth of lung tumors, and MDSC obtained from tumor-bearing animals were impaired for suppression of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. Moreover, IDO1 loss caused an attenuation of IL-6, a major driver of MDSC, and ectopic expression of IL-6 was sufficient to rescue impairment of the T-cellsuppressive activity of MDSC as well as the resistance to pulmonary metastasis in IDO1-/mice [25]. Thus, IDO1 exerted regulatory control over MDSC suppressive function by its ability to influence the inflammatory milieu. Other studies show that IDO1 is needed for MDSC recruitment to tumors [42, 43]. In light of the pivotal role of IDO1 in supporting MDSC function, it is notable that no compelling evidence exists in mouse models that IDO1 is expressed directly in MDSC. In contrast, human studies have identified populations of IDO1-expressing MDSC and associated the IDO1 expression in those cells with immunosuppressive function [41, 44]. Overall, in addition to regulating MDSC function and recruitment, IDO1 may act through additional mechanisms to support MDSC activity.

17.4 IDO1 in Inflammatory Programming: Pathogenic Neovascularization and Metastasis

The critical importance of neoangiogenesis for supporting tumor outgrowth is well established [45]. Although angiogenesis is sometimes used to refer broadly to all blood vessel development, its specific meaning is the formation of new vessels from the pre-existing vascular network in contrast to vasculogenesis, which refers to vessel formation through recruitment of new cells such as bone marrow-derived endothelial precursor cells. While vasculogenesis has been predominantly associated with embryogenesis and angiogenesis with adult vessel formation, the picture is likely to be more complex, and the distinction between the two processes may not be absolute. A combination of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis has been implicated in the vascularization of organs of both mesodermal and endodermal origin such as the lung, heart, pancreas, and liver, while for organs of ectodermal origin, such as the brain, kidney, thymus, and limb bud, angiogenesis appears to be predominant [46]. Importantly, these observations suggest that the

operative processes for forming new blood vessels may not be the same between different tissue environments, which may be a factor influencing the outgrowth of tumors and metastases at different sites in the body.

Neovascularization refers to the excessive and disorganized growth of blood vessels induced by ischemia in tissues such as the retina and lungs. Neovascularization is also a distinguishing characteristic of growing tumors. In experimental models of ischemia, immune cells have been reported to be important for pruning the excess vasculature and limiting neovascularization (Ishida, 2003) suggesting that immunity might play an important anti-neovascular role in tumors as well. In particular, the inflammatory cytokine IFNy has been shown to trigger anti-neovascular activity that results in tumor cell killing. In a series of studies, IFNy-mediated elimination of vessels was implicated as the primary mechanism for both CD4 and CD8 T-cell-dependent tumor rejection (Qin 2000, 2003). However, inflammation is a complex process that can also promote neovascularization. In particular, the inflammatory cytokine IL6 has been shown to be important for ischemia-induced neovascularization [47] and has been demonstrated to promote aberrant angiogenesis through a signaling process that does not require VEGF [48]. IL6 is also generally regarded as pro-tumorigenic as opposed to IFN γ , which is regarded as anti-tumorigenic. This raises the possibility that the cytokine balance in an inflammatory environment may influence tumor outgrowth by how it impacts neovascularization.

In this context, finding that loss of IDO1 resulted in diminished pulmonary vascularization [25] and suggested the hypothesis that the induction of IDO1 by IFN γ might be working in a negative feedback capacity to limit the antiangiogenic impact of IFN γ and that this might be an important factor accounting for the ability of IDO1 to counteract immune-based restriction of tumor outgrowth. IDO1 loss was also associated with attenuated induction of the inflammatory cytokine IL6, and it was demonstrated in a pulmonary metastasis model that ectopic expression of IL6 could overcome the resistance to meta-

static tumor outgrowth exhibited by IDO1^{-/-} mice. These findings led to the hypothesis that IDO1 acts downstream of IFN γ and upstream of IL6 from the very onset of tumor initiation to shift the inflammatory environment toward angiogenesis and tumor promotion.

As predicted by this model, pulmonary metastases that developed in IDO1-/- mice exhibited significantly reduced neovascularization relative to their WT counterparts [49]. However, since overall metastatic tumor outgrowth in IDO1^{-/-} mice was also significantly reduced, it was not clear if the reduction of blood vessel formation was a direct effect of IDO1 loss. To test the idea that IDO1 is important for supporting neovascularization outside other possible confounding effects within the tumor microenvironment, studies were conducted in a mouse OIR (oxygeninduced retinopathy) model, a well-established, reproducibly quantifiable surrogate system for studying neovascularization [50, 51]. As predicted, IDO1-/- mice exhibited a significant reduction in OIR-induced retinal neovascularization relative to their WT counterparts [49]. Loss of the related IDO2 isoform had no demonstrable effect on OIR-induced retinal neovascularization, indicating that the effect is specific to IDO1 [49]. No difference in the normal retinal vascularization that develops under normoxic conditions was observed between IDO1-/- and WT groups, and reduction of the avascular region [49], indicative of normal revascularization, was actually higher in the IDO1^{-/-} animals indicative of an improvement in normal vascular regrowth occurring in mice lacking IDO1. The reduction in OIR-induced retinal neovascularization observed in mice lacking IDO1 genetically was recapitulated by siRNA-mediated knockdown of IDO1 expression in the retina [49], demonstrating that the effect of IDO1 loss on neovascularization could be elicited both locally and acutely. Likewise, pharmacologic inhibition of IDO1 with the clinical agent epacadostat reduced OIR-induced retinal neovascularization when delivered systemically to neonates [49]. In parallel studies, epacadostat administration in the pulmonary metastasis model resulted in rapid elimination of the existing neovasculature [49], validating the potential therapeutic relevance of these findings in the cancer setting.

Having established the importance of IDO1's role in supporting neovascularization, studies were carried out to test the hypothesis that IDO1 produces this effect through its integration at the regulatory interface between the inflammatory cytokines IFNy and IL6. Consistent with the hypothesis that IDO1 supports neovascularization primarily by counteracting the antiangiogenic activity of IFNy, the concurrent elimination of IFNy in double knockout IFNG^{-/-} IDO1^{-/-} mice reverted the level of neovascularization in both the OIR and pulmonary metastasis models back to wild-type levels [49]. Conversely, IL6^{-/-} mice, as predicted, exhibited a reduction in neovascularization in both the OIR and metastasis models similar to that observed in IDO1^{-/-} mice [49]. The effect of IL6 loss on neovascularization was likewise reversed by the concomitant elimination of IFNy in double knockout IFNG^{-/-}IL6^{-/-} mice [49], consistent with the hypothesis that the upstream potentiation of the pro-angiogenic activity of IL6 may be an important contributing factor in IDO1's ability to support neovascularization. In all cases, neovascularization tracked closely with overall survival in the pulmonary metastasis model [49], indicating that the impact on tumor neovascularization may be a meaningful consequence of treatment IDO1 inhibitors that should be taken into consideration as part of the ongoing clinical development of these agents.

17.5 IDO2 in B-cell Inflamed States and Certain IDO1 Functions: Connections and Questions

Although relatively little studied as yet, IDO2 is a structural relative of IDO1 also implicated in modulating immunity through tryptophan catabolism, particularly autoimmunity [52]. The IDO2 gene is located immediately downstream of IDO1 in the mouse and human genomes, and structural studies suggest a more ancestral function for IDO2 [53]. Deletion of the IDO2 gene does not appreciably affect embryonic development, hematopoiesis, or immune character nor does it affect tryptophan or kynurenine levels in blood [54]. IDO2 enzyme activity clearly relies upon conditions that differ from IDO1, for example, in differing requirements for a physiological co-reductant system [55]. Indeed, earlier characterizations of the "weak" activity of IDO2 simply reflect nonoptimal biochemical conditions which when corrected confer demonstrable activity ([56]; L. Laury-Kleintop, J. DuHadaway and G.C. Prendergast, unpublished data). Thus, the lack of significant effects of IDO2 deletion on systemic blood levels in the mouse may reflect the far narrower normal range of IDO2 expression relative to IDO1 and TDO, which are relatively more broadly and strongly expressed.

Mouse genetic experiments establish a function for IDO2 in immunomodulation [52]. One notable feature of IDO2-deficient mice is a deficiency in their ability to support IDO1-induced T regulatory cells [54]. Parallel evidence of a similar tolerizing function for IDO2 in human dendritic cells has been reported [57]. IDO1-deficient mice have also been found to be mosaic deficient for IDO2 function, strengthening clues of IDO1-IDO2 interaction in immune control [54]. Figure 17.2 summarizes this feature of IDO2 and a model which captures its potential implications in cancer. Interestingly, in a model of autoimmune arthritis, indoximod (D-1MT) administration phenocopied the reduced disease severity associated with IDO2 deletion, and this therapeutic effect was abolished by IDO1 deletion [58], aligning with earlier evidence that indoximod can selectively disrupt IDO2 enzyme activity [59]. However, these connections may be contextual having yet to be extended in other systems (Fatokun, 2013 #4628 [60]), including humans where common genetic variations in IDO2 that reduce tryptophan catabolic activity may be relevant [59].

Recent studies of the reduced susceptibility of IDO2^{-/-} mice to autoimmune arthritis have revealed that IDO2 functions in B cells where it acts to support B-cell inflamed states [58, 61, 62]. These findings are interesting in light of evidence



Fig. 17.2 IDO2 as a contributor to IDO1-mediated immune tolerance. (a) IDO2-deficient mice are defective in a PD1-dependent mechanism of IDO1-mediated Treg induction, in support of other evidence of IDO1-IDO2 genetic interaction in the mouse [54]. (b) Model. IDO2 expression activated by kynurenine/AhR signaling in APC acts to distally propagate tolerance signals produced locally by IDO1 in tumor and tumor-stromal cells (*gray* or *pink* cells in *blue* tumor). Local IDO1 expression blunts antigen-specific T effector cells mediated by kynurenine production and tryptophan deprivation [108]. IDO2 expression is upregulated in roving APC through the IDO1-mediated production of kynurenine, which acts through its receptor AhR to drive IDO2 transcription in

that certain cancers rely upon B-cell inflamed states for their development [63, 64]. While IDO2-deficient mice are unchanged with regard to their susceptibility to inflammatory skin carcinogenesis [54], they resist the development of K-Ras-induced pancreatic cancers (G.C. Prendergast and A.J. Muller, unpublished data). IDO2 enzymology differs from IDO1 in

APC [109]. IDO2 activity is licensed by IDO1 through transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms [52]. APC are tolerized by kynurenine [110] and IDO2 is evoked as an effector in this model. IDO2 reinforces tolerance in APC by irreversible signals that differ from IDO1 signals which are reversible [59]. APC programmed by IDO2 rove to tumor-draining lymph nodes (*green* TDLN) or other metastatic sites where they reinforce IDO1-dependent Treg formation (IDO1 is also expressed in APC but not shown for clarity). This model is compatible with the latest model for IDO1 function in Treg formation [30], invoking IDO2 as a required intermediate function based on studies in IDO2-deficient mice [54]

requiring different reductant systems, especially for the human enzymes, but recent elucidation of these differences confirms that IDO2 has demonstrable tryptophan catabolic activity [56]. While small-molecule inhibitors of mouse or human IDO2 have been reported [56, 65–68], they are not bioactive or for other reasons have not been studied in vivo as yet. Interestingly, a B-cellpenetrating bioactive antibody against IDO2 has been reported recently that phenocopies the anti-arthritic effects of IDO2-genetic deficiency in the mouse [62].

In normal tissues IDO2 expression is more narrow than IDO1 or TDO, being confined mainly to liver, kidney, brain, placenta, and antigen-presenting cells (APC) including B cells. Cancers do not tend to overexpress IDO2 although it has been reported in melanoma and gastric, brain, and pancreatic tumors, in the latter case rather widely [69]. IDO2 is regulated by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) which binds kynurenine as an endogenous ligand produced by the more active IDO1 enzyme. Thus, given clues of IDO1-IDO2 interaction, it is conceivable that locoregional IDO1 activity may increase levels of IDO2 in roving antigen-presenting cells in the tumor microenvironment, perhaps contributing to a tolerized state that contributes to Treg formation in tumor-draining lymph nodes (TDLN). Figure 17.2 presents a model in which IDO2 functions on the Kyn effector pathway downstream of IDO1/TDO to positively modify decisions made in the TDLN to set tolerance to "altered-self" antigens, along the self-nonself continuum where immune challenges from autoimmunity and cancer arise [70].

17.6 Tryptophan Dioxygenase (TDO) in Inflammatory Programming: Immune Escape, Anoikis Resistance, and Metastasis

TDO expression in liver is responsible for homeostasis of tryptophan levels in the blood. Similar to IDO1, some tumors overexpress TDO as a means of immune escape [71–73]. Thus, there has been growing interest in small-molecule inhibitors of TDO as a parallel immunomodulatory strategy to attack tumors [74–79], the rationale for which has been reviewed in detail recently by pioneers in this area [72, 73]. The initial bioactive lead structure developed in the 1990s termed 680C91 [74] has been used for mouse studies, but compounds optimized for

potency and more favorable pharmacological profiles have been reported [75-78]. Deletion of the TDO-encoding gene TDO2 in the mouse causes higher concentrations of L-tryptophan to accumulate in blood, with some neurologic alterations perhaps attributable to a coordinate elevation in blood/brain levels of serotonin in these mice [80]. Interestingly, mice treated with the TDO2 inhibitor 680C91 will phenocopy TDO2-/mice in showing an increased sensitivity to endotoxin-induced shock, implicating TDO in inflammatory programming [81]. However, despite this parallel with IDO1, as in the case with IDO2, there are differences in the inflammatory characteristics that appeared to be conferred by TDO, despite the common role of these enzymes in tryptophan catabolism [82]. While enzymological differences may help explain these different roles, it would also seem likely they reflect differences in locoregional control in the production of kynurenine and its metabolite or in the relative availability or efficiency of kynurenine effector mechanisms (AhR, kynurenine pathway catabolic enzymes, etc.). With regard to TDO, while there is evidence of its contribution to tumoral immune escape established preclinically with selective bioactive inhibitors [76, 83], neither a genetic proof in mice nor an understanding of the nature or extent of its expression in tumor cells or the tumor microenvironment has been established as yet. Moreover, TDO inhibitors pose different safety concerns from IDO1 inhibitors, including in the liver and central nervous system, as carefully discussed recently elsewhere [72]. That said, the rationale for developing TDO inhibitors as well as IDO-/TDO-combined inhibitors as next-generation modalities in the field continues to strengthen.

Recent emerging evidence suggests that TDO contributes to cancer-associated inflammatory programming like IDO1. Specifically, upregulation of TDO in cancer cells has been found to contribute to tumor cell survival and metastatic prowess beyond its role in immune escape [84]. Resistance to anoikis—a type of apoptosis triggered by cell adhesion deprival—is a key step in metastatic progression [28]. In a seminal study of aggressive "triple-negative" breast cancer



Fig. 17.3 IDO/TDO inhibitors to leverage immune checkpoint therapy and chemotherapy. IDO/TDO inhibitors are effective not only in combination therapeutic regimens, acting as immunomodulators to relieve immune

(TNBC), D'Amato and colleagues showed how TDO upregulation in forced suspension culture was essential for anoikis resistance and metastatic capacity of TNBC cells [84]. Similar to its role in immune escape [83], kynurenine induction resulting from TDO upregulation was sufficient to activate the AhR signaling pathway, and pharmacological inhibition or genetic attenuation of TDO or AhR was each sufficient to restore anoikis sensitivity and reduce the invasive character of TNBC cells. Supporting these observations, tumor-bearing mice treated with the TDO inhibitor 680C91 exhibited reduced pulmonary metastasis. Lastly, elevated expression of TDO in clinical TNBC specimens was associated with increased disease grade, estrogen receptornegative status, and shorter overall survival [84]. These findings extend the concept that TDO acts like IDO1 to drive a pathogenic inflammatory program(s) in cancer that extends beyond their contributions to enabling adaptive immune toler-

escape and promote adaptive immune escape, but also to ablating or reprogramming inflammatory processes which can leverage the efficacy of chemotherapy as well as immune checkpoint therapy

ance. Figure 17.3 summarizes ways in which IDO/TDO inhibitors may be used to leverage immune checkpoint therapy and chemotherapy through their effects on inflammatory programming and adaptive antitumor immune responses.

17.7 Lead Clinical Agents: Indoximod, GDC-0919, and Epacadostat

17.7.1 Indoximod

We have published previously elsewhere a detailed discussion of the preclinical studies and rationale to embark upon clinical evaluation of this simple 1-methyl derivative of D-tryptophan [85, 86]. By far, the most commonly employed molecular probe to study IDO in the preclinical literature has been the D,L racemic mixture of 1-methyl-tryptophan (1MT). L-1MT is a weak

substrate of IDO rather than a true inhibitor ([52] #4610); D-1MT is neither a substrate nor an inhibitor of IDO, though in multiple model systems, it exhibits relatively greater antitumor properties associated with inhibition of IDOmediated tryptophan catabolism in human dendritic cells [16]. Thus, neither are selective probes. As the first compound to enter phase I trials, indoximod was found to be well tolerated as a single agent or in combination with chemotherapy in studies which defined a dose of 1200 mg/day for ongoing evaluation in multiple phase II trials [87, 88]. Among this work, three notable trials focus on breast cancer patients in combination with Taxotere (chemotherapy combination), prostate cancer patients in combination with the dendritic cell vaccine sipuleucel-T (vaccine combination), and melanoma patients in combination with anti-PD1 (immune checkpoint combination) (http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results ?term=IDO&Search=Search; Vahanian et al., AACR 2017 late-breaking abstract). While the precise mechanism of action of indoximod has not yet been established definitively, striking cell-based experiments reveal that the mTORC1 pathway interprets indoximod at clinically relevant nanomolar concentrations as a mimetic of L-tryptophan [89]. Thus, indoximod may act in part by relieving the inhibitory effects of IDO-/ TDO-mediated tryptophan deprivation on mTOR signals needed in T cells for antitumor activity. As further work reveals the precise mechanism of action, the low toxicity of indoximod as a simple D-tryptophan derivative remains an appealing feature of its clinical development, along with the opportunity it affords to leverage IDO1 and IDO/ TDO enzymatic inhibitors.

17.7.2 GDC-0919

Prior to 2005, there was little motivation to develop inhibitors of IDO1, an unremarkable tryptophan-catabolizing enzyme. This situation changed with the first preclinical evidence of a role for IDO1 in cancer and of IDO1 inhibitor efficacy when combined with chemotherapy [8, 17–19]. In 2005 the only bioactive IDO inhibitor

was 1-methyl-D,L-tryptophan (1-MT) with a reported K_i of 34 μ M [90, 91]. One of the few other reported IDO inhibitors at the time was 4-phenyl-imidazole (4-PI) identified in 1989 as a weak noncompetitive inhibitor of IDO1 by Sono and Cady [92]. Interestingly, although 4-PI showed noncompetitive inhibition kinetics through impressive spectroscopic studies, Sono and Cady showed that 4-PI was actually binding to the heme iron at the active site. Subsequently, the first crystal structure of IDO to be reported [93] confirmed this finding by showing 4-PI bound to the heme iron (Fig. 17.4a). This confirmation along with the rich crystal structure inforfacilitated the first structure-based mation



Fig. 17.4 Phenylimidazoles rooted in GDC-0919 development. (**a**) 4-PI bound to heme iron of IDO1. C129 is located above the 4-PI phenyl ring, while S167 resides in the back of the binding site. The buffer molecule CHES (*yellow*) is bound at the entrance of the active site of the IDO crystal structure. Graphics generated with PyMOL 1.0 [http://wwwpymol.org], an open-source molecular graphics system developed, supported, and maintained by DeLano Scientific LLC. http://www.delanoscientific.com. (**b**) Ring numbering of 4-phenylimidazole structures. (**c**) Structure of NLG-919. (**d**) Two possible benefits of 2'-OH substitution of 4-PI core

drug-design activities of Malachowski and colleagues, seeding work in the phenylimidazole series from which the clinical lead GDC-0919 was later derived [21].

In early foundational work [21], Malachowski and colleagues explored 4-PI analogs to probe the active site of IDO1 with structural modifications that were focused on exploiting three binding interactions within the IDO active site: (1) the active site entrance region decorated with the heme 7-propionic acid, (2) the interior of the active site, in particular interactions with C129 and S167, and (3) the *heme iron-binding group*. The enhancement of IDO inhibition of 4-PI structures through interactions at the active site entrance focused on the N-1, C-2, and N-3 positions of the imidazole ring (Fig. 17.4b). All three positions were substituted with the goal of appending groups that would occupy the active site entrance. In the crystal structure of 4-PI with IDO, this region contains an N-cyclohexyl-2aminoethanesulfonic acid (CHES) buffer molecule whose alkyl portion forms hydrophobic interactions with F163 and F226. In addition, the amino group of the CHES molecule forms an ion pair with the heme 7-propionic acid.

N-1 substituted 4-PI derivatives were completely devoid of inhibitory activity, which, not surprisingly, confirmed the binding of the N-1 nitrogen to the heme iron and, more importantly, demonstrated that the N-3 nitrogen of the imidazole cannot substitute to bind at the heme iron. However, N-3 benzyl-substituted derivatives (Fig. 17.4c1) were unexpectedly found to be roughly equipotent to 4-PI, thereby demonstrating that imidazole ring substitution was tolerable. The N-3 benzyl-substituted compound identified the correct imidazole ring location and spatial tolerance, likely occupying the active site entrance where the CHES buffer molecule sits in the IDO-4-PI crystal structure [93]. This discovery was consistent with the pharmacophore developed in studies of IDO1 inhibition by brassinin derivatives, i.e., a heme iron-binding group flanked by two large aromatic or hydrocarbon structures [94]. This proved prescient in light of subsequent development work by NewLink Genetics Inc. with regard to the backbone structure for the clinical candidate NLG-919 (Fig. 17.4c), renamed GDC-0919 after sublicense to Genentech/Roche. The NLG-919 backbone as shown extended from the same N-3 position to situate a similar hydrocarbon moiety in the active site entrance of IDO1.

Analysis of the crystal structure of 4-PI bound to IDO1 [93] indicated that S167 and C129 were in close proximity to the phenyl ring of 4-PI in the interior of the active site. Systematic evaluation of ortho, meta, and para substitutions of the phenyl ring with oxygen, sulfur, and fluorine was undertaken to ascertain if specific protein-ligand interactions could be exploited. The 2'-hydroxy (ortho substituted) modification afforded the most success generating a tenfold increase in potency relative to 4-PI (Fig. 17.4d). Two possibilities existed for this increased activity: intermolecular H-bonding with S167 or intramolecular H-bonding with N-3 to lock the phenyl and imidazole rings. The 2',6'-dihydroxy-phenyl derivative, which presents a hydroxyl group to S167 or N-3 imidazole in either rotamer, was also synthesized, and it was roughly equipotent to the 2'-hydroxy derivative, thereby demonstrating that there was no additional benefit from both events. Subsequently, NewLink Genetics introduced a hydrocarbon bridge that replicates the H-bond to the N-3 imidazole, i.e., locking the conformation of the benzene and imidazole ring into one plane.

Modification of the critical heme iron-binding imidazole ring and its effect on IDO1 inhibition was also explored by Malachowski and colleagues. To probe the effect of heterocycle binding to the heme iron, alternative aromatic rings were substituted for the imidazole of 4-PI. These changes almost universally led to less potent compounds relative to 4-PI. For instance, pyridine, thiazole, pyrazole, and furan all failed to demonstrate any inhibition. Presumably the thiazole, pyrazole, and furan fail to bind to the heme iron with the same affinity as the imidazole, a well-known iron ligand in nature, e.g., histidine. The replacement of the phenyl group of 4-PI with thiophene was permitted, although there was approximately a fivefold loss in activity. Only when the hydroxyl groups of the phenyl ring were returned was activity restored or modestly improved over 4-PI. This, again, was consistent with the hydroxyl group forming an intramolecular H-bond with the pyrazole nitrogen and locking the two rings in the same plane, as previously noted. Although these studies demonstrated that the imidazole group was optimal in terms of both iron-binding strength and shape complementarity, subsequent work illustrated that triazoles have related activity [95]. Overall, early studies yielded three critical discoveries about the phenylimidazole series leading to NLG-919/GDC-0919 development: (1) N-3 substitution was permitted and a rather large space existed in the active site to accommodate hydrocarbon moieties in this position; (2) incorporation of an orthohydroxyl group was beneficial; (3) the imidazole ring was optimal for binding to the heme iron.

Preclinical studies of GDC-0919 illustrate its potency as an IDO1 inhibitor with EC50 = 75 nMin cell-based assays and a 10- to 20-fold selectivity against TDO [96]. GDC-0919 is orally bioavailable and has a favorable pharmacokinetic and toxicity profile. Oral administration was shown to reduce plasma kynurenine levels by approximately 50% in mice. In human IDO1+ DCs in an allogeneic mixed lymphocyte reaction, GDC-0919 blocked IDO1-induced T-cell suppression and restored T-cell responses in vitro. In the B16 melanoma mouse model, coadministration of GDC-0919 with pmel-1 T cells and gp100 peptide vaccination reduced relative tumor size ~95% within 4 days of vaccination. Additionally, in the EMT6 syngeneic model, combining GDC-0919 with an anti-PD-L1 antibody improved relative antitumor efficacy [97]. The combination led to an increased CD8+ T/ Treg ratio and higher plasma levels of interferon- γ . GDC-0919 treatment also resulted in the activation of intratumoral macrophages and DC in the model.

In the clinical setting, GDC-0919 has been studied as monotherapy so far in patients with recurrent/advanced solid tumors, and the safety, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic results from the phase 1a study were reported [98]. Overall, GDC-0919 was well tolerated up to 800 mg BID on a 21-/28-day cycle. The best response observed was SD in 7/17 patients. Plasma exposures of GDC-0919 increased from 50 to 800 mg in a dose-proportional manner, and plasma kynurenine levels were ~30% decreased transiently 4 h after dosing in a manner consistent with the predicted drug half-life. It was reported that safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of GDC-0919 are being evaluated on a continuous dosing schedule (BID, 28/28 days). GDC-0919 is also being studied in combination with the anti-PD-L1 antibody atezolizumab (NCT0271846).

17.7.3 Epacadostat (INCB024360)

Epacadostat, developed under the code name INCB24360, is the lead clinical agent from a hydroxylamine series of IDO1-selective inhibitors pioneered by Incyte Corporation which is furthest in clinical development. Details regarding the chemistry effort that led to the development of epacadostat are covered in the recent publication of its identification and structure by the team at Incyte that spearheaded the project [99]. In preclinical studies, epacadostat selectively inhibited the tryptophan catabolic activity of human ID01 in cell-based assays (IC50 = 10 nM) with little activity against IDO2 and TDO2. In co-cultures of human allogeneic lymphocytes with DC or tumor cells, epacadostat promoted the growth of effector T cells and NK cells, reduced conversion of naïve T cells to Tregs, and increased the number of CD86^{high} DC [100]. Consistent with these effects, administration of epacadostat to tumor-bearing syngeneic mice inhibited kynurenine levels ~90% in both plasma and tumor and reduced tumor growth in immunocompetent but not immunocompromised mice, confirming that drug efficacy relies upon functional immunity. Further, in the B16 melanoma model, epacadostat was found to enhance the antitumor effects of anti-CTLA4 or anti-PDL1 antibodies, where increased IL-2 production and CD8⁺T-cell proliferation were suggestive of greater pronounced T-cell activity than either agent alone [101].

Clinical evaluation of epacadostat opened with a first-in-human phase I study to investigate safety and maximum-tolerated dose, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and antitumor activity [102]. In this study, epacadostat was generally well-tolerated, effectively normalized plasma kynurenine levels and was maximally inhibitory to IDO1 activity at doses of >100 mg BID. While no objective responses were detected, stable disease lasting ≥ 16 weeks was observed in 7/52 patients [102]. A study coadministering epacadostat in combination with ipilimumab was conducted in patients with advanced melanoma [103]. Doses of epacadostat at 25 mg BID and 50 mg BID were generally well tolerated. Of note was a 31% ORR by Immune-Related Response Criteria (irRC) including 3/32 patients with complete responses. While uncontrolled, the median PFS by irRC was 8.2 months in patients who had not received prior immune therapy. The efficacy endpoints compared favorably with historical controls reported previously for ipilimumab, which demonstrated 11% ORR with a median PFS of 2.86 months [104].

Epacadostat is currently being studied in a total of 14 tumor types as co-administered with anti-PD-1 antibodies (nivolumab or pembrolizumab) or anti-PD-L1 antibodies (atezolizumab and durvalumab). Early pembrolizumab combination data indicated that the combination was well tolerated with promising clinical activity [105]. Among 19 treatment-naïve advanced melanoma patients, 4 CR, 7 PR, and 3 SD were reported resulting in 58% ORR and 74% DCR, with responses in all epacadostat dose cohorts \geq 50 mg BID and at all target lesion sites including in liver, lung, and lymph nodes. All responses reported at presentation were confirmed and ongoing, and median PFS had not been reached [105]. These results compare favorably with pembrolizumab monotherapy or nivolumab-ipilimumab combination therapy in melanoma patients [106, 107]. In the epacadostat-pembrolizumab combination study, responses were observed in patients previously treated for advanced melanoma (n = 3; 1 CR, 1 SD) and in patients with NSCLC (*n* = 12; 5 PRs, 2 SDs), RCC (*n* = 11; 3 PRs, 5 SDs), endometrial adenocarcinoma (n = 7; 1) CR, 1 PR), TCC (*n* = 5; 3 PRs), TNBC (*n* = 3; 2 SDs), and SCCHN (n = 2; 1 PR, 1 SD). Based on these results, a phase III randomized doubleblind, placebo-controlled study investigating pembrolizumab in combination with epacadostat or placebo for first-line treatment of patients with advanced or metastatic melanoma was initiated in June 2016 (ECHO-301 [NCT02752074]). Additional studies in lung, renal, head and neck, and bladder cancers are expected to open in 2017.

17.8 Other IDO/TDO Inhibitor Clinical Candidates

Additional IDO1 inhibitory compounds have been reported to be entering clinical testing. PF-06840003 is a tryptophan noncompetitive, nonheme-binding IDO1 inhibitor licensed by iTeos SA to Pfizer for clinical development (Wythes et al., SITC 2016, poster 253). This compound is predicted to have favorable human PK characteristics, a prolonged human half-life that may allow single-dose daily administration and CNS penetration properties that may enable efficient access to brain metastases. In preclinical study, PF-06840003 enhanced the antitumor efficacy of anti-PD1/PDL1 axis blockade. A first-inpatient study was initiated in 2016 in malignant gliomas (NCT02764151).

BMS-986205 is an IDO1 inhibitor licensed by Flexus Inc. to Bristol-Myers Squibb for clinical development. This compound is reported to have improved potency and pharmacokinetics relative to epacadostat and GDC-0919, and in 2015 it entered a phase 1 study in solid tumors both as monotherapy and in combination with nivolumab (NCT02658890). Several other IDO1 inhibitors are reported in late preclinical stages of development with little information disclosed to date. A summary of information on all the compounds mentioned above is listed in Fig. 17.5.

	Incyte	New Link	BMS	Merck	Pfizer	Roche
Partner (Date)	Non- exclusive	None	Flexus (3/15)	IOMet (1/16)	iTeos (12/14)	Curadev (4/15)
Compound Code	INCB24360	NLG 919	BMS-986205 (F001287)	IOM2983	PF-06840003	RG-70099
Lead Structure (patent example)	Published 2015	Markush known; Patent Published	Unknown; Patent Published	Unknown; Patent Published	Published 2016	Unknown; Patent Published
Cell-based Potency (nM)	12	75	2	NA	1100	NA
TDO selectivity (fold)	>133	10-20	>100	>100	>100	Dual Inhibitor 5x
Program Phase	Phase III	Phase II	Phase I	Preclinical	Phase I	Preclinical

Fig. 17.5 Summary of IDO1 inhibitors in clinical trials or reported for near-term entry

Acknowledgments Major research grants support to G.C.P., W.J.M., and A.J.M. is acknowledged from the NIH, the US Department of Defense Breast and Lung Cancer Research Programs, Susan G. Komen for the Cure and The W.W. Smith Trust, with additional support provided by NewLink Genetics Corporation, Sharpe-Strumia Research Foundation, Dan Green Foundation, Lankenau Medical Center Foundation, and the Main Line Health System.

Conflict of Interest G.C.P., W.J.M., and A.J.M. state a conflict of interest as inventors, shareholders, grant recipients, and advisors with NewLink Genetics Corporation, licensee of IDO-related intellectual property from the Lankenau Institute of Medical Research as described in US Patents 7705022, 7714139, 8008281, 8058416, 8383613, 8389568, 8436151, 8476454, and 8586636. The other authors state no conflict of interest. P.A.S. is an employee and shareholder of Incyte Corporation.

References

- Boyland E, Williams DC. The metabolism of tryptophan. 2. The metabolism of tryptophan in patients suffering from cancer of the bladder. Biochem J. 1956;64:578–82.
- Schwarcz R, Stone TW. The kynurenine pathway and the brain: challenges, controversies and promises. Neuropharmacology. 2017;112:237–47.
- Yoshida R, Imanishi J, Oku T, Kishida T, Hayaishi O. Induction of pulmonary indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by interferon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78:129–32.
- Munn DH, Zhou M, Attwood JT, Bondarev I, Conway SJ, Marshall B, et al. Prevention of alloge-

neic fetal rejection by tryptophan catabolism. Science. 1998;281:1191–3.

- Mellor AL, Munn DH. Tryptophan catabolism and T-cell tolerance: immunosuppression by starvation? Immunol Today. 1999;20:469–73.
- Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Theate I, Stroobant V, Colau D, Parmentier N, et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Nat Med. 2003;9:1269–74.
- Theate I, van Baren N, Pilotte L, Moulin P, Larrieu P, Renauld JC, et al. Extensive profiling of the expression of the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 protein in normal and tumoral human tissues. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:161–72.
- Muller AJ, DuHadaway JB, Sutanto-Ward E, Donover PS, Prendergast GC. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, an immunomodulatory target of the tumor suppressor gene Bin1, potentiates cancer chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2005;11:312–9.
- 9. Jia Y, Wang H, Wang Y, Wang T, Wang M, Ma M, et al. Low expression of Bin1, along with high expression of IDO in tumor tissue and draining lymph nodes, are predictors of poor prognosis for esophageal squamous cell cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 2015;137:1095–106.
- Ge K, DuHadaway J, Du W, Herlyn M, Rodeck U, Prendergast GC. Mechanism for elimination of a tumor suppressor: aberrant splicing of a brainspecific exon causes loss of function of Bin1 in melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:9689–94.
- Karni R, de Stanchina E, Lowe SW, Sinha R, Mu D, Krainer AR. The gene encoding the splicing factor SF2/ASF is a proto-oncogene. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2007;14:185–93.
- 12. Xu Q, Lee C. Discovery of novel splice forms and functional analysis of cancer-specific alternative

splicing in human expressed sequences. Nucleic Acids Res. 2003;31:5635–43.

- McKenna ES, Tamayo P, Cho YJ, Tillman EJ, Mora-Blanco EL, Sansam CG, et al. Epigenetic inactivation of the tumor suppressor BIN1 drives proliferation of SNF5-deficient tumors. Cell Cycle. 2012;11:1956–65.
- Prendergast GC, Muller AJ, Ramalingam A, Chang MY. BAR the door: cancer suppression by amphiphysin-like genes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2009;1795:25–36.
- Friberg M, Jennings R, Alsarraj M, Dessureault S, Cantor A, Extermann M, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase contributes to tumor cell evasion of T cell-mediated rejection. Int J Cancer. 2002;101:151–5.
- Hou DY, Muller AJ, Sharma MD, DuHadaway J, Banerjee T, Johnson M, et al. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in dendritic cells by stereoisomers of 1-methyl-tryptophan correlates with antitumor responses. Cancer Res. 2007;67:792–801.
- Malachowski WP, Metz R, Prendergast GC, Muller AJ. A new cancer immunosuppression target: indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). A review of the IDO mechanism, inhibition, and therapeutic applications. Drugs Future. 2005;30:897–13.
- Muller AJ, Malachowski WP, Prendergast GC. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in cancer: targeting pathological immune tolerance with small-molecule inhibitors. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2005;9:831–49.
- Muller AJ, Prendergast GC. Marrying immunotherapy with chemotherapy: why say IDO? Cancer Res. 2005;65:8065–8.
- Banerjee T, DuHadaway JB, Gaspari P, Sutanto-Ward E, Munn DH, Mellor AL, et al. A key in vivo antitumor mechanism of action of natural productbased brassinins is inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Oncogene. 2008;27:2851–7.
- Kumar S, Jaller D, Patel B, LaLonde JM, DuHadaway JB, Malachowski WP, et al. Structure based development of phenylimidazole-derived inhibitors of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. J Med Chem. 2008;51:4968–77.
- 22. Kumar S, Malachowski WP, DuHadaway JB, LaLonde JM, Carroll PJ, Jaller D, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is the anticancer target for a novel series of potent naphthoquinone-based inhibitors. J Med Chem. 2008;51:1706–18.
- 23. Yue EW, Douty B, Wayland B, Bower M, Liu X, Leffet L, et al. Discovery of potent competitive inhibitors of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase with in vivo pharmacodynamic activity and efficacy in a mouse melanoma model. J Med Chem. 2009;52:7364–7.
- Muller AJ, Sharma MD, Chandler PR, DuHadaway JB, Everhart ME, Johnson BA 3rd, et al. Chronic inflammation that facilitates tumor progression creates local immune suppression by inducing indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:17073–8.

- 25. Smith C, Chang MY, Parker KH, Beury DW, DuHadaway JB, Flick HE, et al. IDO is a nodal pathogenic driver of lung cancer and metastasis development. Cancer Discov. 2012;2:722–35.
- Prendergast GC. Immune escape as a fundamental trait of cancer: focus on IDO. Oncogene. 2008;27:3889–900.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100:57–70.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144:646–74.
- Luo J, Solimini NL, Elledge SJ. Principles of cancer therapy: oncogene and non-oncogene addiction. Cell. 2009;136:823–37.
- Munn DH, Mellor AL. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and metabolic control of immune responses. Trends Immunol. 2013;34:137–43.
- 31. Munn DH, Sharma MD, Hou D, Baban B, Lee JR, Antonia SJ, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:280–90.
- 32. Metz R, DuHadaway JB, Rust S, Munn DH, Muller AJ, Mautino M, et al. Zinc protoporphyrin IX stimulates tumor immunity by disrupting the immunosuppressive enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9:1864–71.
- Muller AJ, Mandik-Nayak L, Prendergast GC. Beyond immunosuppression: reconsidering indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase as a pathogenic element of chronic inflammation. Immunotherapy. 2010;2:293–7.
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloidderived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12150.
- 35. Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5839–49.
- 36. Srivastava MK, Sinha P, Clements VK, Rodriguez P, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. Cancer Res. 2010;70:68–77.
- Nagaraj S, Gupta K, Pisarev V, Kinarsky L, Sherman S, Kang L, et al. Altered recognition of antigen is a mechanism of CD8⁺ T cell tolerance in cancer. Nat Med. 2007;13:828–35.
- Hanson EM, Clements VK, Sinha P, Ilkovitch D, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells down-regulate L-selectin expression on CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. J Immunol. 2009;183:937–44.
- Serafini P, Mgebroff S, Noonan K, Borrello I. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote crosstolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5439–49.
- Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Cross-talk between myeloidderived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts

tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. J Immunol. 2007;179:977–83.

- 41. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;190:3783–97.
- 42. Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Lesokhin A, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD. Targeting myeloid-derived suppressor cells with colony stimulating factor-1 receptor blockade can reverse immune resistance to immunotherapy in indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing tumors. EBioMedicine. 2016;6:50–8.
- Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Li Y, Gasmi B, Munn DH, Allison JP, et al. Tumor-expressed IDO recruits and activates MDSCs in a treg-dependent manner. Cell Rep. 2015;13:412–24.
- 44. Mougiakakos D, Jitschin R, von Bahr L, Poschke I, Gary R, Sundberg B, et al. Immunosuppressive CD14⁺HLA-DRlow/neg IDO⁺ myeloid cells in patients following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Leukemia. 2013;27:377–88.
- Hanahan D, Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell. 1996;86:353–64.
- Ribatti D, Vacca A, Nico B, Roncali L, Dammacco F. Postnatal vasculogenesis. Mech Dev. 2001;100:157–63.
- McClintock JY, Wagner EM. Role of IL-6 in systemic angiogenesis of the lung. J Appl Physiol. 2005;99:861–6.
- Gopinathan G, Milagre C, Pearce OM, Reynolds LE, Hodivala-Dilke K, Leinster DA, et al. Interleukin-6 stimulates defective angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 2015;75:3098–107.
- Mondal A, Smith C, DuHadaway JB, Sutanto-Ward E, Prendergast GC, Bravo-Nuevo A, et al. IDO1 is an integral mediator of inflammatory neovascularization. EBioMedicine. 2016;14:74–82.
- Palmer GM, Tiran Z, Zhou Z, Capozzi ME, Park W, Coletta C, et al. A novel angiopoietin-derived peptide displays anti-angiogenic activity and inhibits tumour-induced and retinal neovascularization. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:1891–903.
- 51. Stahl A, Joyal JS, Chen J, Sapieha P, Juan AM, Hatton CJ, et al. SOCS3 is an endogenous inhibitor of pathologic angiogenesis. Blood. 2012;120:2925–9.
- Prendergast GC, Metz R, Muller AJ, Merlo LM, Mandik-Nayak L. IDO2 in immunomodulation and autoimmune disease. Front Immunol. 2014;5:585.
- Yuasa HJ, Takubo M, Takahashi A, Hasegawa T, Noma H, Suzuki T. Evolution of vertebrate indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenases. J Mol Evol. 2007;65:705–14.
- 54. Metz R, Smith C, DuHadaway JB, Chandler P, Baban B, Merlo LM, et al. IDO2 is critical for IDO1-mediated T cell regulation and exerts a nonredundant function in inflammation. Int Immunol. 2014;26:357–67.

- 55. Eldredge HB, Denittis A, DuHadaway JB, Chernick M, Metz R, Prendergast GC. Concurrent whole brain radiotherapy and short-course chloroquine in patients with brain metastases: a pilot trial. J Radiat Oncol. 2013;2:315–21.
- 56. Li J, Li Y, Yang D, Hu N, Guo Z, Kuang C, et al. Establishment of a human indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase 2 (hIDO2) bioassay system and discovery of tryptanthrin derivatives as potent hIDO2 inhibitors. Eur J Med Chem. 2016;123:171–9.
- 57. Trabanelli S, Ocadlikova D, Ciciarello M, Salvestrini V, Lecciso M, Jandus C, et al. The SOCS3independent expression of IDO2 supports the homeostatic generation of T regulatory cells by human dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2014;192:1231–40.
- Merlo LM, Pigott E, DuHadaway JB, Grabler S, Metz R, Prendergast GC, et al. IDO2 is a critical mediator of autoantibody production and inflammatory pathogenesis in a mouse model of autoimmune arthritis. J Immunol. 2014;92:2082–90.
- 59. Metz R, DuHadaway JB, Kamasani U, Laury-Kleintop L, Muller AJ, Prendergast GC. Novel tryptophan catabolic enzyme IDO2 is the preferred biochemical target of the antitumor indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase inhibitory compound D-1-methyltryptophan. Cancer Res. 2007;67:7082–7.
- van Baren N, Van den Eynde BJ. Tryptophandegrading enzymes in tumoral immune resistance. Front Immunol. 2015;6:34.
- Merlo LM, DuHadaway JB, Grabler S, Prendergast GC, Muller AJ, Mandik-Nayak L. IDO2 modulates T cell-dependent autoimmune responses through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. J Immunol. 2016;196:4487–97.
- Merlo LM, Grabler S, DuHadaway JB, Pigott E, Manley K, Prendergast GC, et al. Therapeutic antibody targeting of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO2) inhibits autoimmune arthritis. Clin Immunol. 2017;179:8–16.
- 63. Affara NI, Ruffell B, Medler TR, Gunderson AJ, Johansson M, Bornstein S, et al. B cells regulate macrophage phenotype and response to chemotherapy in squamous carcinomas. Cancer Cell. 2014;25:809–21.
- 64. Schioppa T, Moore R, Thompson RG, Rosser EC, Kulbe H, Nedospasov S, et al. B regulatory cells and the tumor-promoting actions of TNF-alpha during squamous carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:10662–7.
- 65. Röhrig UF, Majjigapu SR, Caldelari D, Dilek N, Reichenbach P, Ascencao K, et al. 1,2,3-Triazoles as inhibitors of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 2 (IDO2). Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2016;26:4330–3.
- 66. Austin CJ, Mailu BM, Maghzal GJ, Sanchez-Perez A, Rahlfs S, Zocher K, et al. Biochemical characteristics and inhibitor selectivity of mouse indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-2. Amino Acids. 2010;39:565–78.
- Bakmiwewa SM, Fatokun AA, Tran A, Payne RJ, Hunt NH, Ball HJ. Identification of selective

inhibitors of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 2. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2012;22:7641–6.

- Pantouris G, Serys M, Yuasa HJ, Ball HJ, Mowat CG. Human indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-2 has substrate specificity and inhibition characteristics distinct from those of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1. Amino Acids. 2014;46:2155–63.
- 69. Witkiewicz AK, Costantino CL, Metz R, Muller AJ, Prendergast GC, Yeo CJ, et al. Genotyping and expression analysis of IDO2 in human pancreatic cancer: a novel, active target. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208:781–7. discussion 7-9
- Prendergast GC. A perspective on cancer as an abortive autoimmune response to altered-self. Cancer Res. 2015;75:3–4.
- Platten M, Wick W, Van den Eynde BJ. Tryptophan catabolism in cancer: beyond IDO and tryptophan depletion. Cancer Res. 2012;72:5435–40.
- Platten M, von Knebel DN, Oezen I, Wick W, Ochs K. Cancer immunotherapy by targeting IDO1/TDO and their downstream effectors. Front Immunol. 2014;5:673.
- van Baren N, Van den Eynde BJ. Tumoral immune resistance mediated by enzymes that degrade tryptophan. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:978–85.
- 74. Salter M, Hazelwood R, Pogson CI, Iyer R, Madge DJ. The effects of a novel and selective inhibitor of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase on tryptophan and sero-tonin metabolism in the rat. Biochem Pharmacol. 1995;49:1435–42.
- Dolusic E, Larrieu P, Moineaux L, Stroobant V, Pilotte L, Colau D, et al. Tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) inhibitors. 3-(2-(pyridyl)ethenyl)indoles as potential anticancer immunomodulators. J Med Chem. 2011;54:5320–34.
- 76. Pilotte L, Larrieu P, Stroobant V, Colau D, Dolusic E, Frederick R, et al. Reversal of tumoral immune resistance by inhibition of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:2497–502.
- Pantouris G, Mowat CG. Antitumour agents as inhibitors of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014;443:28–31.
- Wu JS, Lin SY, Liao FY, Hsiao WC, Lee LC, Peng YH, et al. Identification of substituted naphthotriazolediones as novel tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) inhibitors through structure-based virtual screening. J Med Chem. 2015;58:7807–19.
- Abdel-Magid AF. Targeting the inhibition of tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO-2) for cancer treatment. ACS Med Chem Lett. 2017;8:11–3.
- 80. Kanai M, Funakoshi H, Takahashi H, Hayakawa T, Mizuno S, Matsumoto K, et al. Tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase is a key modulator of physiological neurogenesis and anxiety-related behavior in mice. Mol Brain. 2009;2:8.
- Bessede A, Gargaro M, Pallotta MT, Matino D, Servillo G, Brunacci C, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of a disease tolerance defence pathway. Nature. 2014;511:184–90.

- 82. Larkin PB, Sathyasaikumar KV, Notarangelo FM, Funakoshi H, Nakamura T, Schwarcz R, et al. Tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 make separate, tissue-specific contributions to basal and inflammation-induced kynurenine pathway metabolism in mice. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016;1860:2345–54.
- Opitz CA, Litzenburger UM, Sahm F, Ott M, Tritschler I, Trump S, et al. An endogenous tumourpromoting ligand of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Nature. 2011;478:197–203.
- 84. D'Amato NC, Rogers TJ, Gordon MA, Greene LI, Cochrane DR, Spoelstra NS, et al. A TDO2-AhR signaling axis facilitates anoikis resistance and metastasis in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75:4651–64.
- 85. Prendergast GC, Smith C, Thomas S, Mandik-Nayak L, Laury-Kleintop LD, Metz R, et al. IDO in inflammatory programming and immune suppression in cancer. In: Gabrilovich DI, Hurwitz AA, editors. Tumor-induced immune suppression. New York: Springer; 2014.
- Prendergast GC, Smith C, Thomas S, Mandik-Nayak L, Laury-Kleintop L, Metz R, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase pathways of pathogenic inflammation and immune escape in cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63:721–35.
- Soliman HH, Minton SE, Han HS, Ismail-Khan R, Neuger A, Khambati F, et al. A phase I study of indoximod in patients with advanced malignancies. Oncotarget. 2016;7:22928–38.
- 88. Soliman HH, Jackson E, Neuger T, Dees EC, Harvey RD, Han H, et al. A first in man phase I trial of the oral immunomodulator, indoximod, combined with docetaxel in patients with metastatic solid tumors. Oncotarget. 2014;5:8136–46.
- 89. Prendergast GC, Metz R. A perspective on new immune adjuvant principles: Reprogramming inflammatory states to permit clearance of cancer cells and other age-associated cellular pathologies. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:924–9.
- 90. Cady SG, Sono M. 1-methyl-DL-tryptophan, beta-(3-benzofuranyl)-DL-alanine (the oxygen analog of tryptophan), and beta-[3-benzo(b)thienyl]-DLalanine (the sulfur analog of tryptophan) are competitive inhibitors for indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1991;291:326–33.
- 91. Peterson AC, Migawa MT, Martin MJ, Hamaker LK, Czerwinski KM, Zhang W, et al. Evaluation of functionalized tryptophan derivatives and related compounds as competitive inhibitors of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Med Chem Res. 1994;3:531–44.
- 92. Sono M, Cady SG. Enzyme kinetic and spectroscopic studies of inhibitor and effector interactions with indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. 1. Norharman and 4-phenylimidazole binding to the enzyme as inhibitors and heme ligands. Biochemistry. 1989;28:5392–9.

- 93. Sugimoto H, Oda S, Otsuki T, Hino T, Yoshida T, Shiro Y. Crystal structure of human indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase: catalytic mechanism of O2 incorporation by a heme-containing dioxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:2611–6.
- 94. Gaspari P, Banerjee T, Malachowski WP, Muller AJ, Prendergast GC, DuHadaway J, et al. Structure-activity study of brassinin derivatives as indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase inhibitors. J Med Chem. 2006;49:684–92.
- Rohrig UF, Majjigapu SR, Grosdidier A, Bron S, Stroobant V, Pilotte L, et al. Rational design of 4-aryl-1,2,3-triazoles for indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 inhibition. J Med Chem. 2012;55:5270–90.
- 96. Mautino MR, Jaipuri FA, Waldo J, Kumar S, Adams J, Van Allen C, et al. NLG919, a novel indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO)-pathway inhibitor drug candidate for cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 2013;73(8 Suppl):491.
- 97. Spahn J, Peng J, Lorenzana E, Kan D, Hunsaker T, Segal E, et al. Improved anti-tumor immunity and efficacy upon combination of the IDO1 inhibitor GDC-0919 with anti-PD-L1 blockade versus anti-PD-L1 alone in preclinical tumor models. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3(Suppl 2):303.
- 98. Nayak A, Hao Z, Sadek R, Dobbins R, Marshall L, Vahanian NN, et al. Phase 1a study of the safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of GDC-0919 in patients with recurrent/advanced solid tumors. In: European Cancer Conference, Vienna, Austria, 2015.
- 99. Yue EW, Sparks R, Polam P, Modi D, Douty B, Wayland B, et al. INCB24360 (epacadostat), a highly potent and selective indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1) inhibitor for immuno-oncology. ACS Med Chem Lett. 2017;8:486–91.
- 100. Liu X, Shin N, Koblish HK, Yang G, Wang Q, Wang K, et al. Selective inhibition of IDO1 effectively regulates mediators of antitumor immunity. Blood. 2010;115:3520–30.
- 101. Spranger S, Koblish HK, Horton B, Scherle PA, Newton R, Gajewski TF. Mechanism of tumor rejection with doublets of CTLA-4, PD-1/PD-L1, or IDO blockade involves restored IL-2 production and proliferation of CD8(+) T cells directly within the tumor microenvironment. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:3.

- 102. Beatty GL, O'Dwyer PJ, Clark J, Shi JG, Bowman KJ, Scherle P, et al. First-in-human phase 1 study of the oral inhibitor of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 epacadostat (INCB024360) in patients with advanced solid malignancies. Clin Cancer Res 2017
- 103. Gibney GT, Hamid O, Lutzky J, Olszanski AJ, Gangadhar TC, Gajewski TF, et al. Updated results from a Phase 1/2 study of epacadostat (INCB024360) in combination with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51:S106–7.
- 104. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- 105. Gangadhar TC, Hamid O, Smith DC, Bauer TM, Wasser JS, Olszanski AJ, et al. Epacadostat plus pembrolizumab in patients with advanced melanoma and select solid tumors: updated Phase 1 results from ECHO-202/KEYNOTE-037. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:379–400.
- 106. Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521–32.
- 107. Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, McDermott D, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2006–17.
- 108. Metz R, Rust S, DuHadaway JB, Mautino MR, Munn DH, Vahanian NN, et al. IDO inhibits a tryptophan sufficiency signal that stimulates mTOR: a novel IDO effector pathway targeted by D-1-methyltryptophan. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:1460–8.
- 109. Vogel CF, Goth SR, Dong B, Pessah IN, Matsumura F. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling mediates expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;375:331–5.
- 110. Nguyen NT, Kimura A, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates dendritic cell immunogenicity via a kynurenine-dependent mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:19961–6.

Part III

FDA-EMA Approval of I-O

Tumor-Targeted Antibodies

Aurélien Marabelle

Contents

18.1	Introduction	311
18.2	From Polyclonal to Monoclonal Antibodies	311
18.3	Monoclonal Antibodies, a Versatile Platform for Cancer Therapies	313
18.3.1	Mechanisms of Action of Tumor- Targeting Antibodies	314
18.3.2	Engineering of Tumor-Targeting Monoclonal Antibodies	315
18.4	From Tumor-Targeting to Immune- Targeting Monoclonal Antibodies (and Back)	316
18.5	Bi-specific Antibodies: Tumor and Immune Targeted	317
18.6	Challenges and Perspectives for Tumor-Targeted Antibodies	317
Refere	aces	318

A. Marabelle, MD, PhD

Département d'Innovation Thérapeutique et d'Essais Précoces, Gustave Roussy, Université Paris-Saclay, 114, rue Édouard-Vaillant, 94805 Villejuif, Cedex, France

Gustave Roussy, INSERM U1015, Villejuif 94805, France e-mail: aurelien.marabelle@gustaveroussy.fr

18.1 Introduction

At the end of the nineteenth century in 1894, Dr. Pierre-Paul Emile Roux from the Pasteur Institute in Paris demonstrated the clinical efficacy of serotherapy to treat diphtheria [1]. A century later in 1994, Prof. Ronald Levy from Stanford University, CA, USA, demonstrated that antibodies could also be used to treat cancers [2, 3]. Since then, major improvements have been made in the design and production of antibodies, and they are now part of the conventional therapies of many cancers. More recently, it has been shown that antibodies could also be used to generate adaptive antitumor immunity in patients with cancer, by targeting co-inhibitory receptors expressed at the surface of T cells. The promising results obtained with such immunomodulatory antibodies open many perspectives for synergistic combinatorial strategies between tumortargeted and immune-targeted antibodies.

18.2 From Polyclonal to Monoclonal Antibodies

Upon their differentiation into plasma cells, B cells can secrete their B-cell receptor (BCR) in a soluble form called antibodies. Antibodies are immunoglobulins made of two heavy chains and two light chains (Fig. 18.1). In humans, there are two types of light chains (κ and λ) and five types

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018 L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), *Oncoimmunology*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_18



Fig. 18.1 Molecular structure of antibodies. Antibodies of the IgA, IgD, IgE, and IgG have two antigen-binding sites. IgA antibodies can be dimeric and IgM are pentameric. Monomeric antibodies have two antigen-binding sites per molecule. Antigen-binding sites are located in the complementarity determining regions (CDRs) within the Fab portion of the antibody. The Fab part, which

of Ig heavy chains (α , δ , ϵ , γ , and μ). Immunoglobulins are grouped into five classes according to the structure of their heavy chains: IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM. Among these, IgG are the predominant class, comprising ~80% of the immunoglobulins in the human serum [4]. In humans, there are four subclasses of IgGs (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4) which have specific biological properties. Immunoglobulins have a molecular weight at around 150 kDa. These large proteins can be artificially cleaved by proteases into two fractions: the Fab domain which contains the target recognition domain of the antibody and the Fc domain which can be of different forms depending on the immunoglobulin isotype (Fig. 18.1).

The first therapeutic antibodies were obtained by immunizing large animal (e.g., horses) against the targeted antigen (e.g., diphtheria toxin), resulting in the production in the serum of large, polyclonal antibodies specifically recognizing multiple epitopes of the antigen. Then the serum of these animals was used to treat patients (e.g., diphtheria). These polyclonal antibodies were

stands for "antigen binding," is composed of domains associated with the light chain (VL, CL) and domains associated with the heavy chain (VH, CH1). The Fc portion of the antibody contains the CH2 and CH3 domains of the heavy chains. This region of the antibody can bind to a wide range of cell-associated receptors (e.g., Fc receptors)

responsible for many adverse events in patients, mainly because of their allogeneic nature that could be recognized and rejected by the host immune system.

Köhler and Milstein described in 1975 the hybridoma technique which allows to generate antigen-specific monoclonal antibodies [5]. This technique consisted in vaccinating rodents (mice, hamsters, etc.) with a specific antigen and subsequently collects the B cells from the spleen of the immunized animals. These B cells were then fused with an antibody nonproducing plasma cell cancer cell line (myeloma). These fusions between a primary B-lymphocyte and a myeloma cell are called "hybridoma." The mixture of hybridoma cells, made of multiple different primary B-cell clones, each secreting one specific antibody, could be separated into individual single cell culture wells. Those wells can then be screened to identify the ones which contain the hybridoma secreting the desired antibody. Hybridomas can be expanded in vitro in culture, and antibodies can be concentrated and purified from the culture supernatant.



Since the hybridoma technique has been described, numerous other techniques have been developed, generally with the aim of not only improving the yield of monoclonal antibodies production but also reducing the immunogenicity of monoclonal antibodies [6]. Indeed, rodentderived monoclonal antibodies can be recognized as foreign by the human immune system which can generate human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMA). Patients developing high levels of HAMAs can increase the clearance rate of the monoclonal antibody from their blood-reducing exposure/efficacy. HAMAs can also be responsible for serious anaphylactic or anaphylactoid adverse reactions. Therefore, many strategies have been developed to reduce the immunogenicity of rodent monoclonal antibodies, which have allowed to generate chimeric murine/ human monoclonal antibodies or humanized monoclonal antibodies and eventually fully human monoclonal antibodies. The degree of humanization of monoclonal antibodies is specified in their name (Fig. 18.2). Chimeric monoclonal antibodies contain the rodent heavy and light variable chains from the Fab component, thereby retaining the antigen-binding specificity of the initial rodent monoclonal antibody. These variable parts are genetically fused to the human immunoglobulin constant regions (constant Fab and constant Fc regions). This chimerization was a way of preserving the specificity and affinity of the antibody while reducing its immunogenicity immunocompetent patients. Humanized in monoclonal antibodies consist in grafting human

framework regions into the variable regions in order to only retain the murine complementaritydetermining regions (CDRs) which have the antigen-binding ability. Fully human monoclonal antibodies have been generated, thanks to transgenic mice bearing human immunoglobulin genes. These mice can therefore produce fully human monoclonal antibodies upon immunization. Fully human monoclonal antibodies have significantly reduced immunogenicity and therefore generate low levels of human antihuman antibodies (HAHAs). The low titers of HAHAs usually do not impact significantly the pharmacokinetics of the human monoclonal antibodies and generate low levels of infusion-related reactions (<5% of patients) [7].

18.3 Monoclonal Antibodies, a Versatile Platform for Cancer Therapies

In 1982, Levy et al. demonstrated for the first time that tumor responses could be obtained in patients with B-cell lymphoma after administration of an antitumor monoclonal antibody designed to target specifically the BCR of their B-cell malignancy [2]. These first therapeutic monoclonal antibodies have inaugurated the concepts of tumor-targeted therapy and personalized medicine. The limitation of this approach was that it needed the generation of a personalized anti-BCR monoclonal antibody for each patient. In order to circumvent this limitation, a monoclonal antibody was generated against CD20, an antigen commonly expressed by B cells and therefore by B-cell lymphomas. This monoclonal antibody, called rituximab, became the first monoclonal antibody to gain FDA approval for the treatment of cancer. Since then, many other tumor-targeting monoclonal antibodies have been approved in oncology and other indications (Fig. 18.3). The most prescribed tumor-targeted antibodies are directed against CD20 in B-cell malignancies (e.g., rituximab), against HER-2 (e.g., trastuzumab) in HER2-positive breast cancers, and EGFR (e.g., cetuximab) in head and neck squamous carcinomas and RAS wild-type colorectal cancers. All types of antigens could be in theory targeted by antibodies, including non-peptide ones such as gangliosides. Gangliosides are molecules composed of a glycosphingolipid (ceramide and oligosaccharide) with one or more sialic acids linked on the sugar chain. Recently, it has been demonstrated that a monoclonal antibody targeting the ganglioside GD2 could improve the survival of children with high-risk neuroblastoma [8].

18.3.1 Mechanisms of Action of Tumor-Targeting Antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies have multiple intrinsic properties which can be exploited against cancer cells. Antitumor monoclonal antibodies can have a direct cytotoxic effect on cancer cells by directly inducing tumor cell death upon ligation to the tumor-specific antigen expressed on their outer membrane. Monoclonal antibodies can also be selected for their antagonist properties on tumor growth factors, binding either the





Fig. 18.3 FDA approvals for monoclonal antibodies. Monoclonal antibodies developed for autoimmune or inflammatory disorders could be of interest for treating immune-related adverse events of immune-targeted antibodies. Molecular targets: rituximab, CD20; trastuzumab, HER2; gemtuzumab ozogamicin, CD33; alemtuzumab, CD52; ibritumomab tiuxetan, CD20; tositumomab, CD20; cetuximab, EGFR; bevacizumab, VEGFR; panitumumab, EGFR; ofatumumab, CD20; denosumab, RANKL; brentuximab vedotin, CD30; ipilimumab, CTLA4; pertuzumab, HER2; obinutuzumab, CD20; HER2; ofatumumab, CD20; ramucirumab, VEGFR2; siltuximab, IL6; pembrolizumab and nivolumab, PD-1; secukinumab, IL-17A; dinutuximab, GD2; alirocumab and evolocumab, PCSK9 (proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9) inhibitor; idarucizumab, dabigatran; daratumumab, CD38; mepolizumab, IL-5; necitumumab, EGFR; elotuzumab, SLAMF7; obiltoxaximab, bacillus anthracis; ixekizumab, IL17A; reslizumab, IL-5; atezolizumab, PD-L1; daclizumab, CD25; adalimumab, TNF; ustekinumab, IL-2 and IL-23; olaratumab, PDGFR-α; bezlotoxumab, clostridium difficile toxin B



Fig. 18.4 Mechanisms of action of tumor-targeted monoclonal antibodies. Antibodies can be designed to either block a receptor or its ligand (antagonistic), or they can have intrinsic agonistic activities by directly stimulating receptors (e.g., pro-apoptotic signal). Tumor-targeted antibodies can be bound to either radioactive or chemo-

ligands or blocking their cognate receptor (Fig. 18.4). Also, when monoclonal antibodies are opsonizing the surface of cancer cells, their distal part (the Fc domain) can trigger the destruction of the targeted cell upon engagement of the host immune effector mechanisms. First, they can activate the enzymes of the complement system which can directly attack the membrane of cancer cells or recruit immune effector cells via the complement receptor (CDC or complement-dependent cytotoxicity). Second, they may also activate cytotoxic innate immune effectors such as NK (natural killer) cells via the activation of their Fc gamma receptors (ADCC or antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity) (Fig. 18.4). Finally, upon opsonization of the targeted cells, the Fc domain of monoclonal antibodies can induce phagocytosis

therapies to deliver the cytotoxic effect directly into the tumor bed (*ADC* antibody drug conjugate). The engineering of the Fc domains of antibodies can also enhance their ability to trigger complement-derived cytotoxicity (CDC), antibody-derived cell cytotoxicity (ADCC), or antibodyderived phagocytosis (ADCP)

of cancer cells via the activation of Fc gamma receptors (Fc γ R) expressed on monocytes/mac-rophages (ADCP or antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis) [9].

18.3.2 Engineering of Tumor-Targeting Monoclonal Antibodies

The role of Fc-mediated cancer cell death has been demonstrated in retrospective clinical studies showing the prognostic value of Fc γ R polymorphisms in B-cell lymphoma patients treated with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies [10] and in children with neuroblastoma treated with anti-GD2 monoclonal antibodies [11]. Therefore, most tumor-targeted antibodies have been designed with an IgG1 isotype known to have a good affinity for Fc gamma receptors, notably CD16a (also known as FcγRIIIa), and an ability to activate natural killer cells (NK cells) to perform antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). Although the rationale for using IgG1 has been mainly built on blood NK cells, recent data suggest that IgG2 can also perform ADCC via FcγR expressing myeloid cells [12].

Within the CH2 region of antibodies Fc domain, amino acids (notably Asn297) can undergo glycosylation. The type of glycosylation of antibodies has an impact on the antibody Fc γ R affinity and its ability to trigger antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity [13]. The modification of monoclonal antibodies glycosylation status can now be engineered in order to enhance ADCC (Fig. 18.5). For example, obinutuzumab, a defucosylated anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody with enhanced ADCC potency in comparison to rituximab, has been approved by the FDA in 2013 for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia.

Thanks to their ability to target specifically cancer cells, monoclonal antibodies are now also used to deliver cytotoxic compounds directly to cancer cells and avoid off target toxicities. Indeed monoclonal antibodies can be linked to a cytotoxic molecule such as the anti-CD33 gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg*) currently developed in acute myeloid leukemia or the new anti-CD30 brentuximab vedotin (Adcetris[®]) currently approved for Hodgkin lymphoma. Monoclonal antibodies can also be used to deliver radioactive molecules in situ, such as 90Y-ibritumomab (Zevalin[®]), a modified anti-CD20 antibody developed in non-Hodgkin lymphomas.

18.4 From Tumor-Targeting to Immune-Targeting Monoclonal Antibodies (and Back)

Although tumor-targeting monoclonal antibodies have shown clinical benefit and become established therapies in several cancers, this success has not been universal. Many antitumor monoclonal antibodies have failed their clinical development, either because they could not effectively trigger the host effector mechanisms (e.g., low level of target antigen expression, low penetrance in the tumor microenvironment, etc.) or because of cancer cell escape via the downregulation of the targeted antigen (e.g., B-cell lymphoma cells becoming CD20 negative). Furthermore, like other passive therapies, tumor-targeting monoclonal antibodies last only as long as the monoclonal antibody is in the patients, and relapses can occur upon treatment discontinuation. Stimulating the adaptive immune system by targeting co-stimulatory/co-inhibitory signals expressed on T cells could potentially generate active and long-lasting antitumor immunity. Also, since tumor-specific antigens are not targeted, such immunomodulatory monoclonal antibodies are not disease specific and can potentially achieve broad, polyclonal antitumor immunity, directed against multiple tumor antigens, therefore addressing better the



heterogeneity of cancers and reducing the chances of immune escape. The first FDA-/EMA-approved immune-targeted monoclonal antibodies were targeting CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4) [14, 15], PD-1, and PD-L1 (programmed death-1 and its ligand) [16]. All (except one) anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies currently in clinical development are purely antagonistic monoclonal antibodies because they have an IgG4 isotype (nivolumab from BMS, pembrolizumab from Merck/MSD) or bear a mutated IgG1 (atezolizumab from Roche and durvalumab from AstraZeneca) in order to prevent FcyR engagement. The only exception is avelumab (from Pfizer) which is an unmodified IgG1 anti-PD-L1. Avelumab could therefore also be used as a tumortargeting monoclonal antibody against cancers with PD-L1-positive tumor cells [17]. With the same idea, ipilimumab, the first anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody approved, is an IgG1 and could, in theory, also be used to treat CTLA-4positive T-cell malignancies.

18.5 Bi-specific Antibodies: Tumor and Immune Targeted

The technical progresses in the design of monoclonal antibodies allow now to create antibodies with a dual specificity. This has led to the design of bi-specific antibodies with the aim of forcing the destruction of a target cell by a T cell. For instance, bi-specific T-cell engagers (BiTEsTM) are fusion proteins made of two single-chain variable fragments (scFvs) of different antibodies. One of the scFvs binds to and activates T cells via the CD3 receptor. The other scFv binds to a tumor cell via a tumor-specific molecule. This is the case, for instance, of the anti-CD3/anti-CD19 blinatumomab antibody developed by Micromet/Amgen and currently approved for the treatment of relapsing B-cell leukemias [18, 19] and has also shown clinical activity in patients with B-cell lymphoma [20]. Many bi-specific antibodies are currently in clinical development, including in solid tumors. Some of them are full-length antibodies with two Fabs and an Fc domain [21, 22].

18.6 Challenges and Perspectives for Tumor-Targeted Antibodies

It is now well established that the immune system plays an important role in the tumor response to conventional chemotherapies [23]. However, the successive myeloablative chemotherapy cycles received by cancer patients may eventually hamper the ability of their immune system to fight against cancer cells. The impact of the immune system in the efficacy of radiotherapy has also been well described but, besides the very rare cases of abscopal responses, seems limited to the irradiated fields and do not allow the control of distant, unirradiated, metastatic tumor sites [24]. Tumor-targeted therapies such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors and tumor-targeted monoclonal antibodies can generate systemic tumor responses in patients bearing target-positive tumors with limited hematologic/immune toxicities. However, their antitumor efficacy is often limited in time due to the emergence of mechanisms of resistance. Clinically, this limited effect in time is translated by longer median progression-free survivals, but not by significantly improved longoverall survivals. As opposed term to tumor-targeted antibodies, immune-targeted antibodies seem to be able to generate long-lasting tumor remissions and to have a significant impact in the overall survival of patients in comparison to conventional therapies. The preclinical rationale built over the last 15 years in murine syngeneic tumor models strongly suggests that the combination of tumor-targeted antibodies might synergize with immune-targeted antibodies to improve both the objective response rates in cancer patients and their long-term survival. Anti-CD137 agonistic antibodies have been shown, for instance, to enhance NK cells' antibody-derived cell cytotoxicity and CD8 T cells' responses when used in combination with CD20, HER2, or EGFR tumor-targeted antibodies [25-27]. Anti-KIR antibodies have been shown to enhance tumor-targeted antibodies by mimicking missing-self signaling on NK cells [28]. Also, anti-CD47 monoclonal antibodies have been shown to enhance tumor-targeted antibodies by triggering phagocytosis of macrophages following the disruption of this "don't eat me signal" [29]. All these immunomodulatory antibodies are currently tested in early phase clinical trials either alone or in combination, notably with tumor-targeted antibodies. This rapid clinical translation will allow to evaluate shortly the validity of these preclinical rationales.

References

- Roux E, Martin L, Chaillou A. Trois cents cas de diphtérie traités par le sérum antidiphtérique. Ann Inst Pasteur. 1894;8:640–61.
- Miller RA, Maloney DG, Warnke R, Levy R. Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody. New Engl J Med. 1982;306:517–22.
- Maloney DG, Liles TM, Czerwinski DK, Waldichuk C, Rosenberg J, Grillo-Lopez A, et al. Phase I clinical trial using escalating single-dose infusion of chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (IDEC-C2B8) in patients with recurrent B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 1994;84:2457–66.
- Wang W, Wang EQ, Balthasar JP. Monoclonal antibody pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;84:548–58.
- Köhler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature. 1975;256:495–7.
- Liu JKH. The history of monoclonal antibody development—progress, remaining challenges and future innovations. Ann Med Surg. 2014;3:113–6.
- Vacchelli E, Pol J, Bloy N, Eggermont A, Cremer I, Fridman WH, et al. Trial watch: tumor-targeting monoclonal antibodies for oncological indications. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e985940.
- Yu AL, Gilman AL, Ozkaynak MF, London WB, Kreissman SG, Chen HX, et al. Anti-GD2 antibody with GM-CSF, interleukin-2, and isotretinoin for neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:1324–34.
- Houot R, Kohrt HE, Marabelle A, Levy R. Targeting immune effector cells to promote antibody-induced cytotoxicity in cancer immunotherapy. Trends Immunol. 2011;32:510–6.
- Weng W-K, Levy R. Two immunoglobulin G fragment C receptor polymorphisms independently predict response to rituximab in patients with follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3940–7.
- Cheung N-K V, Sowers R, Vickers AJ, Cheung IY, Kushner BH, Gorlick R. FCGR2A polymorphism is correlated with clinical outcome after immunotherapy of neuroblastoma with anti-GD2 antibody and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:2885–90.

- Schneider-Merck T, van Bueren JJL, Berger S, Rossen K, van Berkel PHC, Derer S, et al. Human IgG2 antibodies against epidermal growth factor receptor effectively trigger antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity but, in contrast to IgG1, only by cells of myeloid lineage. J Immunol. 2010;184:512–20.
- Jefferis R. Glycosylation as a strategy to improve antibody-based therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;8:226–34.
- Olive D, le Thi S, Xerri L, Hirsch I, Nunès JA. The role of co-inhibitory signals driven by CTLA-4 in immune system. Med Sci. 2011;27:842–9.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008;322:271–5.
- Ghiotto M, Gauthier L, Serriari N, Pastor S, Truneh A, Nunès JA, et al. PD-L1 and PD-L2 differ in their molecular mechanisms of interaction with PD-1. Int Immunol. 2010;22:651–60.
- Boyerinas B, Jochems C, Fantini M, Heery CR, Gulley JL, Tsang KY, et al. Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity activity of a novel anti-PD-L1 antibody avelumab (MSB0010718C) on human tumor cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:1148–57.
- 18. Topp MS, Kufer P, Gökbuget N, Goebeler M, Klinger M, Neumann S, et al. Targeted therapy with the T-cell-engaging antibody blinatumomab of chemotherapy-refractory minimal residual disease in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients results in high response rate and prolonged leukemia-free survival. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2493–8.
- 19. Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Zugmaier G, Klappers P, Stelljes M, Neumann S, et al. Phase II trial of the anti-CD19 bispecific T cell-engager blinatumomab shows hematologic and molecular remissions in patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:4134–40.
- Bargou R, Leo E, Zugmaier G, Klinger M, Goebeler M, Knop S, et al. Tumor regression in cancer patients by very low doses of a T cell-engaging antibody. Science. 2008;321:974–7.
- Bacac M, Fauti T, Sam J, Colombetti S, Weinzierl T, Ouaret D, et al. A novel carcinoembryonic antigen T-cell bispecific antibody (CEA TCB) for the treatment of solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:3286–97.
- 22. Han H, Ma J, Zhang K, Li W, Liu C, Zhang Y, et al. Bispecific anti-CD3 x anti-HER2 antibody mediates T cell cytolytic activity to HER2-positive colorectal cancer in vitro and in vivo. Int J Oncol. 2014;45:2446–54.
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11:215–33.
- 24. Ma Y, Conforti R, Aymeric L, Locher C, Kepp O, Kroemer G, et al. How to improve the immunogenicity of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30:71–82.

- 25. Stagg J, Loi S, Divisekera U, Ngiow SF, Duret H, Yagita H, et al. Anti-ErbB-2 mAb therapy requires type I and II interferons and synergizes with anti-PD-1 or anti-CD137 mAb therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:7142–7.
- 26. Sagiv-Barfi I, Kohrt HE, Burckhardt L, Czerwinski DK, Levy R. Ibrutinib enhances the antitumor immune response induced by intratumoral injection of a TLR9 ligand in syngeneic mouse lymphoma model. Blood. 2015;125:2079–86.
- 27. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Goldstein MJ, Weiskopf K, Alizadeh AA, Brody J, et al. CD137 stimulation

enhances the antilymphoma activity of anti-CD20 antibodies. Blood. 2011;117:2423–32.

- Kohrt HE, Thielens A, Marabelle A, Sagiv-Barfi I, Sola C, Chanuc F, et al. Anti-KIR antibody enhancement of anti-lymphoma activity of natural killer cells as monotherapy and in combination with anti-CD20 antibodies. Blood. 2014;123:678–86.
- 29. Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, Myklebust JH, Varghese B, Gill S, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cell. 2010;142:699–713.

PD1 Checkpoint Blockade in Melanoma: From Monotherapy to Combination Therapies

19

Annette Paschen and Dirk Schadendorf

Contents

19.1	Malignant Melanoma	321
19.2	CD8+ T Cell Responses Against Melanoma	322
19.3	Checkpoint Control of T Cell Activation	323
19.4	Checkpoint Blocking Therapy	324
19.5	Approved Anti-PD1 Antibodies	325
19.6	Nivolumab	326
19.7	Pembrolizumab	326
19.8	Approved Combined Anti-PD1/ Anti-CTLA-4 Combination Therapy	327
19.9	Biomarkers Associated with Response to Anti-PD1 Therapy	327
19.10	Resistance to Therapy	328
19.11	Perspective	328
Refere	nces	329

A. Paschen • D. Schadendorf (⊠) Department of Dermatology, University Duisburg-Essen, University Hospital Essen, Hufelandstrasse 55, 45147 Essen, Germany e-mail: dirk.schadendorf@uk-essen.de

19.1 Malignant Melanoma

Malignant transformation of pigment-producing melanocytes leads to the development of melanoma in different tissues giving rise to distinct tumor subtypes (e.g., cutaneous, mucosal, uveal melanoma) each characterized by specific genetic alterations. UV light is a major risk factor for cutaneous melanoma which dominates in the Western World with an incidence of 15–25 per 100,000 individuals and a median age at diagnosis of 57 years, while mucosal melanoma is prevalent in Asia. Cutaneous melanoma is one of the most common cancers in young adults, and due to its early metastatic spread, melanoma is responsible for 75% of deaths related to skin cancer [1].

Tremendous progress has been made over the last decade in elucidating the genetic alterations involved in melanoma development and progression [2]. Notably, melanomas are characterized by the highest somatic mutation rate of all human malignancies (>10 mutations per megabase of DNA), showing a typical UV-induced mutation signature which is in line with UV radiation as a risk factor for melanoma [3, 4]. However, occurrence of melanomas in non-sunexposed skin or in the mucosa argues against its absolute UV dependency. The large majority of mutations are so-called passenger mutations which are irrelevant for disease development and progression. In contrast, mutations in the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_19

cascade (NRAS-BRAF-MEK-ERK) are major drivers of the oncogenic process. In cutaneous melanomas, NRAS (NRAS^{Q61L} or NRAS^{Q61R}) mutations are present in about 15-20%, whereas 50% harbor mutations in BRAF (BRAF^{V600E}). These mutually exclusive NRAS and BRAF mutations mediate constitutive activation of the MAPK pathway, and its inhibition induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in melanoma cells. While constitutive MAPK signaling is considered a first step in the development of melanoma, additional mutations affecting other pathways, such as PTEN loss contributing to PI3K pathway activation, are required to achieve full malignant transformation. The genes driving this process are listed elsewhere [2].

Until recently, the median survival of patients with distant metastatic melanoma (stage IV) was only 6-12 months. However, progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were strikingly prolonged due to the clinical implementation of two different types of agents: (a) inhibitors targeting the MAPK pathway at the level of BRAF(V600E) (like vemurafenib, dabrafenib) and MEK (such as trametinib or cobimetinib) [5-7] and (b) antibodies (anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA-4) unleashing antitumor T cell responses. Among those antibody-based immunotherapies, usually termed immune checkpoint blockade, the highest durable tumor response rates have been achieved with anti-PD1 and anti-PD1-based combination therapies which will be addressed in this review. To gain insight into the underlying mechanisms, we will at first give some background information on the recognition of melanoma cells by adaptive cytotoxic CD8+ T cells, which are reactivated in the course of the treatment and initiate clinical responses.

19.2 CD8⁺ T Cell Responses Against Melanoma

Melanoma is a highly immunogenic tumor. Many patients develop spontaneous adaptive antitumor CD8⁺ T cell responses prior to any treatment. Such T cells recognize melanoma cells with their T cell receptor (TCR) that binds to specific cell surface complexes consisting of peptides (epitopes) presented on HLA class I molecules. Those peptides originate from the degradation of endogenous proteins (antigens) in the tumor cells, followed by peptide loading onto HLA class I molecules for transportation and presentation at the cell surface. HLA class I-antigen peptide complexes are expressed on all nucleated cells of the body, but compared to normal cells, tumor cells show qualitative and quantitative differences in the antigen repertoire, allowing CD8+ T cells to recognize them as "altered self" [8]. Upon binding to specific antigen peptide-HLA class I complexes, CD8+ T cells release cytolytic granules onto their targets, thereby initiating apoptosis, and in addition secrete interferon- γ (IFN γ) that induces cell cycle arrest and/or death in surrounding cells [9].

Since 1991, many tumor antigens of distinct categories have been identified in melanoma [8], which are described in more detail in another chapter of this book. Among those, the category of neoantigens is of highest therapeutic interest: First, neoantigens are truly tumor-specific since they are derived from expressed somatic tumor mutations minimizing the risk of normal tissue destruction in the course of an antitumor CD8+ T cell response. Second, neoantigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells express high affinity TCRs for their cognate antigen-HLA class I complexes and have been demonstrated to be very potent antitumor effectors [10]. As indicated above, melanomas show a high mutational load that is mandatory for efficient neoantigen generation. In fact, not all somatic tumor mutations are expressed, and only a few of the expressed mutations pass the intracellular degradation machinery to end up as neoantigen peptide epitopes at the cell surface. Interestingly, recent studies suggest a correlation between melanoma mutational load and response to antibody-based immune checkpoint blockade [11].

CD8⁺ T cells specific for distinct tumor antigens, including neoantigens, have been detected in the peripheral blood and in metastatic lesions of melanoma patients [12–14]. But in general, disease progresses even in the presence of such tumor-reactive T cells. It is now well established that melanoma progression is due to a multitude of mechanisms that diminish T cell function. Among those the inhibition of T cell activity by direct tumor cell contacts seems to play a major role.

19.3 Checkpoint Control of T Cell Activation

Tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells infiltrating melanoma lesions receive activating signals via their TCR. As a consequence, IFN γ is secreted that induces expression of PD-L1 (also known as B7-H1 and CD274) on surrounding melanoma cells as shown in Fig. 19.1 [15]. PD-L1 engages the inhibitory co-receptor PD1 that is induced on CD8⁺ T cells upon TCR-dependent activation, thereby attenuating the T cell's effector function (cytolytic granule and cytokine release) as well

as their proliferation [16]. PD1 also binds to PD-L2, not that broadly detectable on melanoma cells. Under normal conditions, PD1 signaling in T cells is of importance for the maintenance of self-tolerance as indicated by development of spontaneous autoimmunity in PD1 knockout mice [17]. Thus, PD1 is a checkpoint of CD8⁺ T cell activation, and by acquisition of PD-L1 surface expression, melanoma cells acquire the capacity to directly diminish T cell activity (Fig. 19.2). PD1 expression has been demonstrated also on neoantigen-specific CD8+ T cells isolated from tumor tissue as well as from peripheral blood of melanoma patients [13, 14], providing a rationale for the development of therapeutic strategies blocking the interaction between PD1 and PD-L1 (Fig. 19.2).

Another checkpoint of T cell activation is CTLA-4, the ligands of which are CD80 and CD86 that in contrast to PD-L1 are not expressed on melanoma cells. Instead, both ligands are expressed on professional antigen-presenting



Fig. 19.1 Melanoma cells localized next to CD8⁺ T cells express PD-L1. Immunohistochemistry staining of a melanoma lymph node lesion for CD8 (*brown color*), labeling T cells, and PD-L1 (*red color*), labeling melanoma cells



Fig. 19.2 PD1-dependent inhibition of T cell activity by melanoma cells. (a) T cells infiltrating tumor lesions recognize melanoma cells with their T cell receptor (TCR) that binds to specific HLA class I-antigen surface complexes. This leads to the activation of T cells associated with the release of cytolytic granules and the secretion of

IFN γ . (b) IFN γ induces expression of PD-L1 on melanoma cells that binds to the inhibitory receptor PD1, thereby dampening T cell activation. (c) Blockade of the interaction between PD1 and its ligand PD-L1 by antibodies releases T cells from inhibitory signaling and restores their activity

cells (pAPC) such as dendritic cells (DC). DCs are equipped to sample tumor antigens in the periphery followed by their migration to draining lymph nodes, where primary T cell activation by tumor antigen-presenting DC takes place [18]. Upon TCR ligation, CTLA-4 is expressed on the surface of T cells that engages CD80/CD86 on pAPC thereby dampening T cell activation [19]. CTLA-4, like PD1, is of importance for the maintenance of self-tolerance. Mice deficient in CTLA-4 show massive lymphoproliferation and early lethality [20]. While expression of CTLA-4 is restricted to T cells, including regulatory T cells (Treg), PD1 is expressed also on natural killer (NK) cells and B cells, and the activity of these cells is most likely affected by antibodies targeting the immune checkpoints. Within this review, we cannot in detail address the complex biology of the receptors and their ligands, but one should keep in mind that PD1 and CTLA-4 can be considered as immune brakes (checkpoints) that limit the effector function of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells. Release from these brakes (checkpoints) with therapeutic antibodies blocking the receptor-ligand interactions can induce striking and long-lasting clinical responses in melanoma patients as described in the following.

19.4 Checkpoint Blocking Therapy

Before 2011, melanoma patients with advanced metastatic disease received standard palliative treatments with chemotherapeutic agents (dacarbazine, temozolomide, fotemustine). However, large randomized trials demonstrating an impact on overall survival were lacking for these drugs. In 2011, the first checkpoint blocking antibody (ipilimumab, fully human IgG1 antibody) targeting CTLA-4 was approved for therapy of advanced disease patients the US Food and by Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA), based on two randomized trials. One trial compared ipilimumab to a peptide-based vaccine in patients with previously treated unresectable advanced melanoma [21]. In the second trial, patients were treated with ipilimumab plus dacarbazine or dacarbazine plus placebo [22]. Both studies demonstrated a significant improvement for patients being treated with ipilimumab, with response rates between 10 and 15% [21, 22]. Due to the role of CTLA-4 in the maintenance of self-tolerance, its systemic blockade is also associated

with toxicity. Severe in some cases, life-threatening adverse events (AE), defined as grade 3-4, occurred in 10-15% of patients receiving ipilimumab monotherapy. The most common grade 3-4 AE were colitis, skin rash, and endocrinopathies [21]. Overall immune checkpoint blockade with ipilimumab was the first therapy with a documented improved overall benefit in a subgroup of melanoma patients. This was a milestone in melanoma immunotherapy (details on CTLA-4-based therapies are given in another chapter of this book) that was quickly followed by success stories based on antibodies targeting the PD1 immune checkpoint.

19.5 Approved Anti-PD1 Antibodies

Subsequent to ipilimumab, two antibodies targeting the checkpoint PD1 were approved for the treatment of non-resectable and metastatic melanoma. Approval by the FDA and the EMA was given for nivolumab and pembrolizumab, a fully human and a humanized IgG4 antibody, respectively. Basically, nivolumab- and pembrolizumabbased therapies show much higher durable response rates, and AE occur at a much lower frequency compared to ipilimumab therapy. In the following, we will list the results of some clinical trials relevant to the approval of the antibodies (Table 19.1).

Antibody		Trial	Patient cohort	Treatment arms	Outcome
Monotherapy Nivolumab	Nivolumab	CheckMate 066 (NCT01721772) Robert et al. NEJM 2015 [23]	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma, no prior systemic treatment, no BRAF mutation (n = 418)	Nivolumab vs. dacarbazine	1-year OSR: 72.9% vs. 42.1% Median PFS (m): 5.1 vs. 2.2 ORR: 40% vs. 13.9% AE grade 3 and 4: 11.7% vs. 17.6%
		CheckMate 037 (NCT01721746) Weber et al. Lancet Oncol. 2015 [24]	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma, after ipilimumab or after ipilimumab and BRAFi for BRAF mutants (n = 405)	Nivolumab vs. investigator's choice of chemotherapy (ICC): dacarbazine or paclitaxel + carboplatin	ORR: 31.7% vs. 10.6% AE grade 3 and 4: 5% vs. 9%
	Pembrolizumab	KEYNOTE 066 (NCT01866319) Robert et al. NEJM 2015 [28]	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma, no more than one prior systemic treatment (n = 834)	Pembrolizumab (every 2 or every 3 weeks) vs. ipilimumab	6-month PFS: 47.3%, 46.4% vs. 26.5% Estimated 12-month SR: 74.1%, 68.4% vs. 58.2% RR: 33.7%, 32.9% vs. 11.9% AE grade 3–5: 13.3%, 10.1% vs. 19.9%
Combination therapy	Nivolumab + ipilimumab	CheckMate 067 (NCT01844505) Larkin et al. NEJM 2015 [29]	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma, no prior systemic therapies (n = 945)	Nivolumab plus ipilimumab or nivolumab vs. ipilimumab	Median PFS (m): 11.5 vs. 6.9 vs. 2.9 AE grade 3 and 4: 55% vs. 16.3% vs. 27.3% OS not yet available

 Table 19.1
 Phase III trials related to the approval of PD1 checkpoint blocking therapies

OSR overall survival rate, OS overall survival, PFS progression-free survival, ORR overall response rate, SR survival rate, RR response rate, AE adverse event

19.6 Nivolumab

The FDA approved nivolumab for treatment of advanced melanoma in December 2014, followed by an EMA approval in June 2015 based on the following two studies: CheckMate 066 [23] (randomized, double blind phase III study, 418 melanoma patients included) and CheckMate 037 [24] (open-label phase III study, 405 melanoma patients included) (Table 19.1). In both studies, nivolumab was administered at a dose of 3 mg/kg body weight every 2 weeks.

In the CheckMate 066 trial, patients without prior treatment received either nivolumab or dacarbazine. The 1-year overall survival (OSR) for patients treated with nivolumab was 72.9% compared to 42.1% for dacarbazine. The median progression-free survival (PFS) was 5.1 months for nivolumab and 2.2 months for dacarbazine. The overall response rate (ORR) was 40.0% with nivolumab and 13.9% with dacarbazine, and complete response was observed in 7.6% of the patients treated with nivolumab.

In the CheckMate 037 trial, patients were treated with either nivolumab or chemotherapy (dacarbazine or carboplatin and paclitaxel [investigators choice]). Patients enrolled in this study received pretreatment with nivolumab or BRAF inhibitor (in case of BRAF(V600E) mutant melanoma). The ORR was 31.7% for the nivolumab and 10.6% for the chemotherapy group. Notably, this trial demonstrated that patients pretreated with ipilimumab can still be nivolumab responders. This activity led to accelerated FDA approval of nivolumab in December 2014.

In summary, response rates to nivolumab ranged between 30 and 40%, strikingly higher compared to those reported for ipilimumab treatment. Nivolumab is also much better tolerated. Of course side effects occur, since PD1, like CTLA-4, is also involved in the maintenance of self-tolerance. However, these are less frequent and less severe. In both the CheckMate 066 and the CheckMate 037 studies, the most common side effects in the nivolumab treatment groups were fatigue, pruritus, and nausea. Drug-related AEs of grade 3 or 4 were 11.7% (CheckMate 066) and 5% (CheckMate 037).

19.7 Pembrolizumab

The FDA approved pembrolizumab (formerly known as MK3475 or lambrolizumab) for treatment of advanced melanoma in September 2014, followed by an EMA approval in July 2015 based on the following three trials: the phase I trial KEYNOTE-001 [25, 26], the phase II trial KEYNOTE-002 [27], and the phase III trial KEYNOTE-006 [28].

In the KEYNOTE-001 trial, melanoma patients (n = 135) with or without prior systemic treatment were treated with pembrolizumab at a dose of 10 mg/kg body weight every 2 or 3 weeks or 2 mg/kg body weight every 3 weeks. Across all dose, cohorts of the ORR was 38%, and the overall median PFS was >7 months [25]. In a randomized expansion cohort, melanoma patients (n = 173) showing treatment failure to ipilimumab and BRAF inhibitors (for BRAF(V600) mutant melanoma) were treated with pembrolizumab 2 mg/kg body weight or 10 mg/kg body weight every 3 weeks. There was no significant difference in ORR, median PFS, and 1-year survival rate between both dose cohorts [26]. Notably, this trial demonstrated that patients pretreated with ipilimumab could respond to nivolumab.

In the KEYNOTE-002 randomized trial, patients (n = 540) received pembrolizumab at a dose of 2 or 10 mg/kg body weight or were treated with chemotherapy (investigator's choice). Patients enrolled in this study were pre-treated with ipilimumab and BRAF inhibitors (for BRAF(V600) mutant melanoma). Patients receiving either of the two pembrolizumab doses showed a significantly higher PFS rate after 9 months in comparison to patients treated with chemotherapy: 24 and 29% for pembrolizumab 2 and 10 mg/kg body weight, respectively, compared to 8% in the chemotherapy arm [27].

In the phase III randomized trial, KEYNOTE-006 patients (n = 834) with no more than one prior systemic therapy received either pembrolizumab or ipilimumab (Table 19.1). Pembrolizumab was administered at 10 mg/kg body weight either every 2 or every 3 weeks,

whereas ipilimumab was given in four doses of 3 mg/kg body weight every 3 weeks. The 6-month PFS was 47.3 and 46.4% for pembrolizumab administered every 2 and 3 weeks, respectively, compared to 26.5% for ipilimumab. The estimated 1-year survival rate was 74.1% and 68.4% for pembrolizumab given every 2 and 3 weeks, respectively, and 58.2% for ipilimumab. The response rates for pembrolizumab were around 33 and 12% for ipilimumab. Two interim analyses revealed an increase OS for patients treated with pembrolizumab. This led to an early stop of the study, and patients receiving ipilimumab were offered to cross over to treatment with pembrolizumab.

Regarding treatment toxicities, AE were less frequent and less severe in patients treated with pembrolizumab compared to ipilimumab (or chemotherapy). Most common AE were fatigue, diarrhea, endocrine disorders, rash, and pruritus. Drug-related AE of grade 3 or 4 developed in 10–13% of the pembrolizumab-treated patients (administered in different weekly intervals) and in 19.9% of patients receiving ipilimumab.

In summary, response rates to pembrolizumab ranged between 30 and 40%, again strikingly higher compared to those reported for ipilimumab treatment. The activity in pembrolizumab melanoma patients pretreated with ipilimumab led to an accelerated FDA approval. Since testing of different doses and schedules did not reveal significant difference, pembrolizumab received approval in a dose of 2 mg/kg body weight administered every 3 weeks.

19.8 Approved Combined Anti-PD1/Anti-CTLA-4 Combination Therapy

Since PD1 and CTLA-4 receptors bind to different ligands expressed also on distinct cell types, combination therapies were initiated to test the checkpoint blocking antibodies for their synergistic or additive effects. In the CheckMate-067 trial, melanoma patients (n = 945) without prior treatment received a combination of nivolumab

and ipilimumab or monotherapy with either ipilimumab or nivolumab (randomization 1:1:1) [29]. The combination therapy mediated a significantly higher PFS (11.5 months) and ORR (57.6%) compared to monotherapy with nivolumab (PFS, 6.9 months; ORR, 43.7%) or ipilimumab (PFS, 2.9 months; ORR, 19.0%). Of the patients treated with the nivolumab/ipilimumab combination, 11.5% developed a complete response compared to 8.9 and 2.2% of the patients receiving nivolumab and ipilimumab monotherapy, respectively. Patients treated with the combination experienced a 58% reduced risk of death or tumor progression compared to ipilimumab monotherapy. The higher response in the combination therapy arm was associated with a higher toxicity: grade 3 and 4 AE occurred in 55% of patients treated with the combination and in 16.3 and 27.3% of patients receiving nivolumab and ipilimumab, respectively. Interestingly, it turned out that in patients with PD-L1-negative tumors (defined by immunohistochemistry), the response rate to the nivolumab/ipilimumab therapy was higher compared to the nivolumab monotherapy, while this difference was not observed for patients with PD-L1-positive tumors. Based on this observation, the FDA approved the nivolumab/ipilimumab combination therapy in 2016 for advanced-stage melanoma patients with PD-L1-negative tumors, while in Europe the combination therapy received approval independently of the tumor's PD-L1 status.

Overall anti-PD1 and anti-PD1/anti-CTLA-4 therapies induce striking clinical responses in a patient subgroup. But still, a majority of patients is primary resistant to checkpoint blockade, and also acquired resistance is a relevant topic.

19.9 Biomarkers Associated with Response to Anti-PD1 Therapy

To define the patient population that will most likely benefit from anti-PD1 treatment, pretreatment biopsies have been heavily screened for predictive biomarkers that, however, have not been defined yet. Within several clinical trials, expression of PD-L1 in tumor samples has been determined by immunohistochemistry. However, different staining antibodies and different cutoff values were chosen to define PD-L1 positivity rendering results hardly comparable. It seems that response rates to PD1 checkpoint blockade are higher in patients with PD-L1-positive tumors, although patients with PD-L1-negative tumors can respond to anti-PD1 therapy [30, 31]. The presence of infiltrating lymphocytes within the tumor parenchyma but also at the margin of the lesion has been demonstrated to be associated with response to anti-PD1 therapy [31]. This is in line with the concept that CD8⁺ T cells are reactivated in the course of the treatment and initiate clinical responses. T cells specific for neoantigens might be of highest relevance in this process. According to this, melanoma mutational load determining the amount of neoantigens has been associated with response to anti-CTLA-4 therapy, but so far, this association has not been seen for anti-PD1 treatment [11, 32]. Most likely, it will be necessary to combine multiple biomarkers, some of them to be defined in future studies, in order to predict response to PD1 checkpoint blockade [33].

19.10 Resistance to Therapy

Intensive cooperations between clinicians and scientists are ongoing in order to elucidate the mechanisms that mediate resistance to PD1 immune checkpoint blockade. The studies published so far suggest that the mechanisms are multifaceted as excellently summarized in several recent reviews [34, 35]. Basically, it can be distinguished between tumor-intrinsic and tumorextrinsic factors that contribute to resistance. The latter include the activity of different immuneregulatory cells in the tumor microenvironment (regulatory T cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, neutrophils), which are addressed within different chapters of this book. Here we focus on melanoma-intrinsic factors that have been identified in the context of anti-PD1 therapy resistance, either primary or acquired resistance.

Genetic instability of melanoma, while on the one hand generating therapy-relevant neoantigens, allows resistant tumor clones to evolve under therapy. As such HLA class I-negative melanoma cells have been isolated from a progressing lesion of a patient initially responding to anti-PD1 antibody treatment [36]. These tumor cells genetically acquired a deficiency in *B2M*. Since B2M is an essential component of all HLA class I-antigen complexes, the cells developed an irreversible HLA class I-negative phenotype that could no longer be attacked by T cells, a phenomenon previously described for melanoma indicating that complete T cell resistance is a relevant topic [37, 38].

Recently, mutations abrogating IFN γ signaling in melanoma cells have been demonstrated to play a role in primary and acquired anti-PD1 therapy resistance [36, 39]. By acquisition of deficiency in JAK1 and JAK2, components of the IFN γ signaling pathway, tumor cells were no longer sensitive to the antiproliferative and proapoptotic activity of IFN γ that is released upon TCR-dependent T cell activation and essentially contributes to the efficacy of immunotherapies.

Interestingly, also non-genomic mechanisms seem to play a role in resistance to anti-PD1 therapy. It was demonstrated that a specific transcriptomic signature in melanoma cells defines a dedifferentiated tumor phenotype that is characterized by the downregulation of antigen presentation and low T cell infiltrates [32]. This suggests that melanomas can acquire a reversible state of resistance due to their phenotype plasticity. Ongoing studies will most likely identify additional mechanisms and phenotypes associated with resistance to anti-PD1 treatment.

19.11 Perspective

The approval of PD1 and PD1/CTLA-4 checkpoint blockade was a milestone that changed the landscape of melanoma therapy, inducing striking clinical responses in patients with advanced-stage disease. Follow-up data from the large clinical trials are now needed to determine the overall longterm clinical benefit achieved via these treatments.





It is expected that a remarkable fraction of patients will be long-term responders [40]. But still, a majority of patients is primary resistant to PD1 PD1/CTLA-4 checkpoint and blockade. Furthermore, the high toxicity associated with anti-PD1/anti-CTLA-4 therapy demands for alternative combinations, which are heavily screened for in ongoing clinical trials (Fig. 19.3). In this regard, the combination of BRAF/MEK inhibitors with PD1 checkpoint blockade has attracted some interest. Patients with BRAF(V600) mutant melanoma (approximately 50%) receive combination therapies of BRAF and MEK inhibitors [5–7]. Response to these inhibitors is associated with an infiltration of different immune cells including CD8⁺ T cells into the lesion, providing a rationale to combine inhibitor treatment with immune checkpoint blockade [41, 42]. First clinical trials have been initiated (https://ClinicaTrials. gov; NCT02130466). Besides PD1 and CTLA-4, activated tumor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells can express additional checkpoints including LAG3, TIM3, and TIGIT [43]. Interestingly, IFN γ has recently been demonstrated to drive expression of the different checkpoint ligands on melanoma cells [44]. Since these receptors seem to have nonredundant functions in the control of T cell activity, their combination with anti-PD1 antibodies is currently tested in clinical trials (https://ClinicaTrials.gov; NCT01968109: combination of anti-PD1 and anti-LAG3 antibodies). Another approach combines anti-PD1 treatment with the intratumoral administration of an oncolytic virus (T-VEC), in order to induce antigen release and uptake by pAPC to further enhance T cell activation [45]. In addition to this, various other strategies are followed that can be screened for at https:// ClinicaTrials.gov. First results of some trials might be available soon, but it may take much more time to optimize schedules and dosing for combination therapies. Overall, it can be expected that some of these trials will impact on melanoma therapy and provide improved treatment options for different patient's subgroups.

References

- 1. Schadendorf D, et al. Melanoma. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15003.
- Griewank KG, Scolyer RA, Thompson JF, Flaherty KT, Schadendorf D, Murali R. Genetic alterations and personalized medicine in melanoma: progress and future prospects. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106:djt435.
- Lawrence MS, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancer-associated genes. Nature. 2013;499:214–8.
- Alexandrov LB, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500:415–21.

- Larkin J, et al. Combined vemurafenib and cobimetinib in BRAF-mutated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:1867–76.
- Long GV, et al. Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAFmutant melanoma: a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;386:444–51.
- Robert C, et al. Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:30–9.
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14:135–46.
- Sanderson NS, et al. Cytotoxic immunological synapses do not restrict the action of interferon-gamma to antigenic target cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:7835–40.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348:69–74.
- Van Allen EM, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350:207–11.
- Lennerz V, et al. The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:16013–8.
- Gros A, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigenspecific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. Nat Med. 2016;22:433–8.
- Gros A, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8(+) tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:2246–59.
- Spranger S, et al. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5:200ra116.
- Fourcade J, et al. Upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1 expression is associated with tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T cell dysfunction in melanoma patients. J Exp Med. 2010;207:2175–86.
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity. 1999;11:141–51.
- Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:563–604.
- Krummel MF, Allison JP. CD28 and CTLA-4 have opposing effects on the response of T cells to stimulation. J Exp Med. 1995;182:459–65.
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity. 1995;3:541–7.

- Hodi FS, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Robert C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- Robert C, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.
- 24. Weber JS, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:375–84.
- Hamid O, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:134–44.
- Robert C, et al. Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet. 2014;384:1109–17.
- Ribas A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus investigatorchoice chemotherapy for ipilimumab-refractory melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:908–18.
- Robert C, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521–32.
- Larkin J, et al. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:23–34.
- Topalian SL, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- Tumeh PC, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515:568–71.
- Hugo W, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Cell. 2016;165:35–44.
- Teng MW, Ngiow SF, Ribas A, Smyth MJ. Classifying cancers based on T-cell infiltration and PD-L1. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2139–45.
- O'Donnell JS, Long GV, Scolyer RA, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Resistance to PD1/PDL1 checkpoint inhibition. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;52:71–81.
- Pitt JM, et al. Resistance mechanisms to immunecheckpoint blockade in cancer: tumor-intrinsic and -extrinsic factors. Immunity. 2016;44:1255–69.
- Zaretsky JM, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:819–29.
- 37. Zhao F, et al. Melanoma lesions independently acquire T-cell resistance during metastatic latency. Cancer Res. 2016;76:4347–58.
- Sucker A, et al. Genetic evolution of T-cell resistance in the course of melanoma progression. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:6593–604.
- Shin DS, et al. Primary resistance to PD-1 blockade mediated by JAK1/2 mutations. Cancer Discov. 2017;7:188–201.

- Topalian SL, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1020–30.
- Cooper ZA, Reuben A, Amaria RN, Wargo JA. Evidence of synergy with combined BRAFtargeted therapy and immune checkpoint blockade for metastatic melanoma. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e954956.
- Wilmott JS, et al. Selective BRAF inhibitors induce marked T-cell infiltration into human metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:1386–94.
- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. Immunity. 2016;44:989–1004.
- Benci JL, et al. Tumor interferon signaling regulates a multigenic resistance program to immune checkpoint blockade. Cell. 2016;167:1540–1554 e1512.
- Kohlhapp FJ, Kaufman HL. Molecular pathways: mechanism of action for talimogene laherparepvec, a new oncolytic virus immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:1048–54.
Immune Checkpoint Inhibition in Lung Cancer

Daniel Morgensztern and Roy S. Herbst

Contents

20.1	Introduction	333
20.2	Immune Checkpoint Blockade	334
20.3	Initial Studies with Single Agent Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	334
20.4	Randomized Clinical Trials in Previously Treated Patients	335
20.5	First-Line Therapy	337
20.6	Predictors for Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	339
20.7	Summary	341
Refer	ences	342

D. Morgensztern, MD

Division of Oncology, Washington University School of Medicine, 660 S Euclid Box 8056, St. Louis, MO 63110, USA e-mail: dmorgens@dom.wustl.edu

R.S. Herbst, MD, PhD (⊠) Yale Comprehensive Cancer Center, Yale School of Medicine, 333 Cedar Street, WWW221, New Haven, CT 06520-8028, USA e-mail: roy.herbst@yale.edu

20.1 Introduction

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths both in the United States and worldwide with estimates by the American Cancer Society for the year 2016 and GLOBOCAN for the year 2012 of 158,000 and 1.6 million deaths, respectively [1, 2]. Among patients with lung cancer, approximately 87% of patients have a broad group of histologies called non-small cell carcinoma (NSCLC), whereas approximately 13% have small cell lung cancer (SCLC) [3]. NSCLC may be further subdivided into adenocarcinoma (ADC), squamous cell carcinoma (SQCC), and large cell carcinoma (LC). Most patients with NSCLC present with advanced stage, which is essentially incurable and treated with palliative intent. With the exception of selected patients with activating epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations or anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) translocations, for which targeted therapy with small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors is associated with a prolonged clinical benefit [4-7], the standard of care for most patients with metastatic NSCLC is a platinumbased chemotherapy doublet [8, 9]. Monoclonal antibodies against either the vascular endothelium growth factor (VEGF) or EGFR have been approved based on a modest benefit over chemotherapy alone and are commonly used in the

absence of contraindications [10, 11]. Virtually, all patients develop tumor progression after firstline therapy, and the standard second-line option has been docetaxel, which provides an overall response rate (ORR) of less than 10%, median progression-free survival (PFS) of less than 3 months, and median overall survival (OS) of 5.7-7.9 months [12–14]. Although ramucirumab, a monoclonal antibody against the extracellular domain for VEGF receptor 2, was approved in combination with docetaxel in previously treated patients with advanced stage NSCLC, the benefit over single agent docetaxel was statistically significant but clinically modest, with increased median PFS from 3 to 4.5 months and median OS from 9.1 to 10.5 months [15]. New treatment modalities were clearly needed to improve the outcomes for patients with advanced stage NSCLC.

20.2 Immune Checkpoint Blockade

The amplitude and quality of the antigen-specific T-cell responses are regulated by a balance between co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory signals [16, 17]. Under normal physiologic conditions, the co-inhibitory molecules, also known as immune checkpoint molecules, maintain selftolerance preventing autoimmunity and limit the tissues from collateral damage during response to infections. The cancer cells, however, may co-opt these molecules to evade immune destruction. Among the key checkpoint molecules are the cytotoxic lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and the programmed death-1 (PD-1).

PD-1, also known as CD279, is a 288 amino acid type I transmembrane protein receptor composed of one immunoglobulin superfamily domain, a 20 amino acid stalk, and an intracellular domain containing an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM) tyrosine motifs [18]. Although PD-1 is not expressed on resting T cells, it may be induced, appearing within 24 h from T-cell activation and declines once the antigen is cleared



Fig. 20.1 The ligands for PD-1 are PD-L1 and PD-L2. PD-L1 and PD-L2 may also bind to B7.1 and RGMb

[19]. However, when the T cells are continually stimulated by the antigens during chronic infection or cancer, the PD-1 expression remains elevated, and the cells differentiate into a state of exhaustion. The two ligands for PD-1 are the programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) also known as CD274 or B7-H1 and the programmed death ligand-2 (PD-L2) also known as CD273 or B7-DC (Fig. 20.1). While PD-L1 is expressed in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells, PD-L2 has a more restricted expression, occurring mostly on dendritic cells, macrophages, and mast cells. Both ligands can bind another molecule in addition to PD-1, with PD-L1 binding CD80 (B7.1) on the T cells and PD-L2 binding the repulsive guidance molecule b (RGMb) [20, 21]. Binding to PD-L1 or PD-L2 leads to phosphorylation of ITIM and ITSM tyrosine motifs on PD-1 with recruitment of SHP-2 and reduced phosphorylation of the T-cell receptor (TCR) signaling molecules [22]. Signaling through PD-1 inhibits the PI3K and MAPK pathways, T-cell proliferation, production of cytokines, and cytotoxic effector molecules.

20.3 Initial Studies with Single Agent Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

In the first-in-human phase I clinical trial with nivolumab, a fully human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) against human PD-1 previously known as MDX-1106 or BMS-936558, 39 patients with advanced metastatic NSCLC, melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, colorectal carcinoma, or castrate-resistant prostate cancer were treated in four escalating single dose cohorts of 0.3, 1, 3, and 10 mg/kg [23]. All patients had progressive and refractory disease, with a median of four of prior therapies. The primary objectives were safety and tolerability of single dose therapy. Patients without tumor progression or adverse events grade 3 or higher received additional doses at weeks 12 and 16, with the option of repeated treatment at 3 months. The treatment was well tolerated, with no dose-limiting toxicities after the single dose. Twelve patients received multiple doses of nivolumab after achieving stable disease or tumor regression after the initial dose. This study was followed by a dose-expansion cohort trial in patients with the same malignancies using 1, 3, or 10 mg/Kg every 2 weeks for up to 2 years in the absence of unacceptable adverse events, complete response (CR), or progressive disease (PD) [24]. The updated report of the NSCLC cohort included 129 patients, of which 70 (54.3%) had been previously treated with three or more prior lines of systemic regimens [25]. The treatment was well tolerated, with grade 3 or 4 treatment-related adverse events (TAEs) occurring in 14% of Nevertheless, patients. there were three treatment-related deaths due to pneumonitis. The ORR was 17% across all doses, without differences between squamous and non-squamous histologies. The median PFS was 2.3 months, with 1-year and 2-year PFS of 22% and 9%, respectively. The median, 1-year, 2-year, and 3-year OS were 9.9 months, 42%, 24%, and 18%, respectively. The 0.3 mg/kg cohort was associated with the best outcomes, with ORR of 24.3%, median OS of 14.9 months, and 1-year, 2-year, and 3-year OS rates of 56%, 42%, and 27% respectively.

The Keynote-001 study assigned 495 NSCLC patients to different doses of pembrolizumab, previously known as MK-3475, a humanized IgG4 monoclonal antibody against PD-1 [26]. The treatment was well tolerated, with grade 3 or higher TAEs occurring in 47 patients (9.5%). The ORR was 19.4%, with median PFS and OS of 3.7 months and 12 months, respectively. The percentage of neoplastic cells showing membranous staining for PD-L1 by immunohistochemistry was used as a biomarker selection in the 182 patients assigned to the training group. PD-L1

expression in at least 50% of tumor cells was selected as the cutoff. The ORR, median PFS, and OS for patients PD-L1 expression of at least 50% in the validation cohort were 45.2%, 6.3 months, and not reached, respectively. There were no differences in efficacy among the regimens tested. Among the 824 patients who had samples evaluated for the study, the prevalence of PD-L1 scores of 50% or more, 1–49%, and less than 1% were 23.2%, 37.6%, and 39.1%, respectively.

In the initial study with atezolizumab, a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against PD-L1 previously known as MPDL-3280A, 277 patients with solid tumors were treated with escalating doses by intravenous infusion every 3 weeks for up to 16 cycles of 1 year [27]. Among the 53 patients with NSCLC, the ORR and 24-week PFS were 23% and 45%, respectively. There was a correlation between responses and PD-L1 expression in the pretreatment specimens, which for NSCLC reached statistical significance in the tumorinfiltrating immune cells (ICs) but not in tumor cells (TCs). Most patients with tumor progression had no PD-L1 expression in TCs or ICs, and the growing tumors had a pattern or immune ignorance with little to no tumor-infiltrating immune cells, nonfunctional immune response with immune infiltrate expressing minimal to no expression of PD-L1, or excluded immune infiltrate which was located around the outer edge of the tumor.

20.4 Randomized Clinical Trials in Previously Treated Patients

The encouraging results from single agent monoclonal antibodies against PD-1 or PD-L1 in patients with advanced stage NSCLC led to randomized clinical trials using docetaxel 75 mg/m² every 3 weeks as the control arm. All studies had OS as the primary endpoint.

In the CheckMate-017 trial, 272 patients with advanced squamous cell lung cancer with one prior line of therapy were randomized to nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks or docetaxel [28]. Nivolumab was better tolerated than docetaxel, with no new safety concerns identified. Treatment with nivolumab was associated with increased ORR (20% vs 8%, P = 0.008), median PFS (3.5 vs 2.8 months, hazard ratio [HR] 0.62, P < 0.001), and median OS (9.2 vs 6.0 months, HR 0.59, P < 0.001) compared to docetaxel. The benefit from nivolumab on both PFS and OS was independent of PD-L1 expression in TCs. The CheckMate-057 had a similar design and randomized 582 patients with advanced NSCLC to standard dose of either nivolumab or docetaxel [29]. Patients were required to have one prior line of platinum-based chemotherapy doublet, and those with known EGFR mutation or ALK translocation were allowed to have received one additional line of tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Similarly to the CheckMate-017 trial, nivolumab was better tolerated than docetaxel and associated with improved ORR (19% vs 12%, P = 0.02). The median PFS, however, was numerically superior for the docetaxel arm (2.3 vs 4.2 months; HR 0.92, P = 0.39), whereas the 1-year PFS favored nivolumab (19% vs 8%). Both the median (12.2 vs 9.4 months; HR 0.73, P = 0.002) and 1-year OS (51% vs 39%) were better with nivolumab. The results of these two studies led to the approved nivolumab in previously treated patients with cell and non-squamous squamous cell histologies.

The Keynote-010 randomized 1034 patients with previously treated NSCLC- and PD-L1positive tumors to docetaxel, pembrolizumab 2 mg/kg, or pembrolizumab 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks [30]. Pembrolizumab was better tolerated than docetaxel. There were no significant differences in OS between the two pembrolizumab arms, and the dose of 2 mg/kg was chosen for further studies. When compared to docetaxel, pembrolizumab 2 mg/kg was associated with increased ORR (18% vs 9%, P = 0.0005), similar median PFS (3.9 vs 4 months, HR 0.88, P = 0.07), and improved median OS (12.7 vs 8.5 months, HR 0.71, P = 0.0008). The benefit from pembrolizumab at the recommended dose was more pronounced in patients with PD-L1 proportion score of at least 50%, with increased ORR (30% vs 8%, P < 0.0001), median PFS (5 vs 4.1 months, HR 0.59, P = 0.0001), and median OS (14.9 vs 8.2 months, HR 0.59, P = 0.0002). On subgroup analysis, the OS favored pembrolizumab in all variables except for *EGFR*-mutant patients (HR 0.88, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.45–1.70), where a trend toward worse PFS was also found (HR 1.79, 95% CI 0.94–3.42).

The POPLAR was a randomized phase 2 trial where 287 patients with advanced stage NSCLC previously treated with one line of platinumbased chemotherapy were randomized to atezolizumab 1200 mg or docetaxel at standard dose every 3 weeks [31]. PD-L1 was scored for both TCs and ICs. Atezolizumab was well tolerated, with no new safety signals. Although atezolizumab was not associated with differences in ORR (15% vs 15%) or median PFS (2.7 vs 3 months, HR 0.94; 95% CI 0.72-1.23), the primary endpoint was met with a significant improvement in OS in the experimental arm (12.6 vs 9.7 months, HR 0.73, P = 0.04). The OS benefit for atezolizumab was observed only in patients with at least TC1 or IC1. The OAK was a phase 3 study which randomized 1125 patients with advanced NSCLC previously treated with one or two lines of chemotherapy to atezolizumab 1200 mg or docetaxel [32]. Atezolizumab was better tolerated than docetaxel with fewer grade 3 or 4 adverse events (34% vs 54%). The study showed no improvement from atezolizumab in ORR or median PFS (2.8 vs 4 months, HR 0.95; 95% CI 0.82-0.10) in the intent to treat population. Nevertheless, the median OS was significantly longer with atezolizumab (13.8 vs 9.6 months, HR 0.73. P = 0.0003). The improved OS was observed regardless of PD-L1 expression levels, including patients with TC0 and IC0 (12.6 vs 8.9 months, HR 0.75, P = 0.02), TC1-3 or IC1-3 (15.7 vs 10.3 months, HR 0.74, P = 0.01), and TC3 or IC3 (20.5 vs 8.9 months, HR 0.41, P < 0.0001). The median OS favored atezolizumab in all prespecified groups except for patients with EGFR mutation (HR 1.24; 95% CI 0.71 - 2.18).

20.5 First-Line Therapy

With the established safety and efficacy of single agent immune checkpoint inhibitors in previously treated patients, with some patient achieving an unprecedented prolonged survival, the next step was to evaluate this strategy in the first-line setting.

The CheckMate-012 is a phase I multi-cohort study evaluating the use of nivolumab alone or in combination with ipilimumab, platinum-based chemotherapy, erlotinib, or bevacizumab maintenance in patients with advanced NSCLC. In the first-line nivolumab monotherapy arm, ORR was observed in 12 out of 52 patients (23%), with 14 additional patients achieving SD for a confirmed disease control rate (DCR) of 50% [33]. The median PFS and OS were 3.6 months and 19.4 months, respectively. Although patients with PD-L1 less than 1% had lower responses compared to those with PD-L1 positive (14% vs 50%), there were no significant differences in 1-year OS (79% vs 83%). In the combined immune checkpoint study, 78 chemotherapy naïve patients with advanced NSCLC were randomized to nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks plus ipilimumab 1 mg/kg every 6 or 12 weeks [34]. Both arms had a tolerable safety profile. The ipilimumab every 12-week cohort was associated with numerically superior confirmed ORR (47% vs 38%) and median PFS (8.1 vs 3.9 months). Nevertheless, the ipilimumab every 6 weeks regimen was chosen for further development in NSCLC based on observation from studies in melanoma and small cell lung cancer where greater exposure to ipilimumab was associated with improved activity of the combination. Pooled results from both cohorts showed that there were 12 confirmed and 1 unconfirmed response among the 13 patients with PD-L1 \geq 50%. In the third cohort of CheckMate-012 reported, 56 patients with previously untreated advanced NSCLC were treated with nivolumab 10 mg/kg plus a platinum-based doublet chemotherapy every 3 weeks for four cycles followed by maintenance nivolumab monotherapy until tumor progression or unacceptable toxicity [35]. The chemotherapy regimens used were gemcitabine plus cisplatin for squamous carcinoma,

pemetrexed plus cisplatin for non-squamous carcinomas, and carboplatin plus paclitaxel for any histology. An additional arm included was nivolumab 5 mg/kg plus carboplatin and paclitaxel. There were 35 patients (95%) with TAE of any grade and 25 (45%) with grade 3 or 4 toxicity. Grade 3 or 4 pneumonitis was observed in four patients (7%). The confirmed ORR, median PFS, median OS, 1-year OS, and 2-year OS were 33-47%, 4.8-7.1 months, 11.6 to not reached, 50-87%, and 25-62%, respectively. The outcomes were considered particularly promising for the 14 patients receiving nivolumab 5 mg/kg plus carboplatin and paclitaxel, with confirmed ORR of 43%, estimated duration of response of 19.6 months, median OS not reached, 1-year OS of 86%, and 2-year OS of 62%.

In the randomized open-label phase 2 Keynote-021 trial, 123 patients with chemotherapy naïve advanced stage non-squamous NSCLC were randomized to carboplatin plus pemetrexed with or without pembrolizumab [36]. The pembrolizumab arm was associated with increased grade 3 or higher adverse effects (40% vs 26%). The primary endpoint of objective response was met with a significant increase in the ORR for the triplet therapy (55% vs 29%, P = 0.001). Although the median PFS was numerically higher for the pembrolizumab arm (13.0 vs 8.9 months), there was no difference in OS, with median not reached and estimated 6-month OS of more than 90% in both groups.

The Keynote-024 was an open-label randomized phase 3 trial comparing pembrolizumab 200 mg every 3 weeks to platinum-based chemotherapy in previously untreated patients with advanced stage NSCLC and PD-L1 expression of \geq 50% in tumor cells (Fig. 20.2) [37]. Patients with EGFR mutation or ALK translocations were excluded from the study. The chemotherapy options were cisplatin plus pemetrexed, carboplatin plus pemetrexed, cisplatin plus gemcitabine, carboplatin plus gemcitabine, and carboplatin plus paclitaxel. Among the 1934 patients screened, 1653 had samples evaluated for PD-L1, of which 500 (30.2%) had PD-L1 proportion \geq 50%. The primary endpoint was PFS. There were 305 patients eligible for the study, with 154 random-



Fig. 20.2 Design for the Keynote-024. Patients with untreated stage IV NSCLC were randomized to pembrolizumab or chemotherapy. The chemotherapy choices

included cisplatin plus pemetrexed, carboplatin plus pemetrexed, cisplatin plus gemcitabine, carboplatin plus gemcitabine, and carboplatin plus paclitaxel



Fig. 20.3 New algorithm for the treatment of advanced stage NSCLC without oncogene-driven tumors, according to PD-L1 expression

ized to pembrolizumab and 151 to chemotherapy. The most common chemotherapy used was carboplatin plus pemetrexed. Pembrolizumab was associated with decreased incidence of adverse events of any grade (73.4% vs 90%) and grade 3 or higher (26.6% vs 53.3%). There were 45 (29.2%) immune-mediated adverse events in patients treated with pembrolizumab, most commonly hypothyroidism (9.2%), hyperthyroidism (7.8%), and pneumonitis (5.8%). Adverse events leading to death were found in one patient (0.6%) treated with pembrolizumab and three patients (2%) treated with chemotherapy. ORR was higher in patients treated with pembrolizumab (44.8% vs 27.8%). The median FPS was significantly longer in the pembrolizumab group (10.3 vs 6 months, HR 0.50, P < 0.01). Although the median OS was not reached in either group, the estimated percentage of patients alive at 6 months was also higher in patients treated with pembrolizumab (80.2% vs 72.4%). The results from the Keynote-024 established a new standard of care for patients with previously untreated advanced stage NSCLC (wild type for *EGFR*-activating mutations or *ALK* translocations) and tumor PD-L1 \geq 50%, with better toxicity profile and improved ORR and PFS compared to standard chemotherapy (Fig. 20.3).

20.6 Predictors for Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Since prolonged tumor control from immune checkpoint inhibitors is achieved in only a small percentage of patients, there has been a great interest in defining the predictors for benefit.

The most studied biomarker is PD-L1, which is detected by immunohistochemistry (IHC) and is commonly upregulated on the surface of tumor cells. Multiple studies have shown an association between tumor response and PD-L1 expression, although patients with no PD-L1 expression also achieve benefit. In a meta-analysis including 1567 NSCLC patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors, the ORR was 29% for 652 PD-L1-positive tumors and 13% for PD-L1-negative tumors (relative ratio [RR] 2.08, 95% CI 1.49–2.91, *P* < 0.01) [38]. The differences in ORR were also observed for both squamous (29% vs 14%, RR 2.12; 95% CI 1.37–3.29, P < 0.01) and non-squamous histologies (32% vs 11%, RR 3.14; 95% CI 2.15-4.54, P < 0.01). Nevertheless, although the 24-week PFS was significantly higher in patients with PD-L1-positive tumors (35% vs 26%, *P* < 0.01), there were no differences in 1-year OS (28% vs 27%, P = 0.39). Similar findings were observed in an analysis of 511 NSCLC patients treated on seven studies, where the ORR was higher in patients with PD-L1-positive tumors (23.2% vs 14.5%) [39].

Direct assessment of PD-L1 expression on tumor cells represents the most logic and straightforward biomarker for prediction of benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors against PD-1 or PD-L1. However, there are several factors that should be taken into account for the proper interpretation of PD-L1 results, including the mechanisms of PD-L1 upregulation, presence of tumor-infiltrating cells (TILs), and methodology of IHC testing.

PD-L1 expression in tumor cells may be constitutive or adaptive (inducible). These mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and may coexist in the same tumor microenvironment (TME) [40]. Constitutive PD-L1 expression occurs through alterations in oncogenic pathways including amplification of 9q24 which contains the locus for PD-L1, PD-L2, and JAK-2 (PDJ amplicon), PTEN deletions, PI3K or AKT mutations, and MYC overexpression [41]. PD-L1 expression may also be induced by interferons (INFs), particularly INFy, which is produced by activated Th1 helper CD4 cells, activated CD8 cells, and natural killer (NK) cells. INFy results in PD-L1 expression in surrounding cells with interferon receptors including cancer cells and cells within the TME such as myeloid-lineage, stromal, and T cells (Fig. 20.4). Inducible expression occurs more commonly than constitutive and is characterized by patchy patterns of PD-L1 at the interface between tumor cells and TILs [42]. In contrast, constitutive PD-L1 expression is



Fig. 20.4 Adaptive immune resistance. Binding of interferon- γ to the interferon receptor (IR) leads to increased PD-L1 expression

characterized by a more homogeneous PD-L1 staining in most cells.

Tumors may be classified into four distinct groups based on the PD-L1 status and presence of TILs (Fig. 20.5) [43]. Type I tumors have TILs and are PD-L1 positive, whereas type III tumors have PD-L1 expression in the absence of TILs. Types II and IV have PD-L1 negative with TILs absent in the former and present in the latter. Type I tumors represent the adaptive mechanism from the tumor cells expressing PD-L1 in response to $INF\gamma$ secretion by the infiltrating immune cells, whereas type III tumors represent the constitutive PD-L1 expression, which is not related to the interaction with INFy secreting cells. Type II tumors with neither TILs nor PD-L1 expression may represent immune ignorance, whereas in type IV tumors, the presence of TILs without induction PD-L1 in the tumor cells may indicate the presence of immune tolerance [44].

Since there are only two small hydrophilic regions that can be used as the binding site for

antibody detection of PD-L1 by IHC, these antibodies bind to a unique site at PD-L1 compared to therapeutic anti-PD-L1 antibodies [45]. Furthermore, the use of different IHC cutoffs for the definition of positivity and availability of multiple assays without a standardized framework for comparison among the methods, makes the interpretation of the results and extrapolation of findings from individual studies difficult. The Blueprint Death Ligand 1 (PD-L1) IHC Assay Comparison Project was initiated to address the standardization of the antibody assays. In the phase 1 of the project, 38 NSCLC were stained for the four most commonly used antibodies including the Dako 28-8, Dako 22C3, Ventana SP142, and Ventana SP263, which have been used in studies with nivolumab, pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, and durvalumab, respectively [46]. Tumor sections were stained by Dako and Ventana for their antibodies with immunostained slides evaluated by three pathology experts who independently scored the slides for the percent-



Fig. 20.5 Tumor classification based on PD-L1 expression and TILs. Type I is characterized by the presence of PD-L1-positive tumor cells at the interface with TILs, representing the adaptive expression in response to cytokines secreted by the infiltrating immune cells. This type of tumor is the most likely to respond to immune checkpoint blockade. Type III represents the constitutive PD-L1

expression by the tumor cells in the absence of TILs. It is unclear whether constitutive PD-L1 expression predicts for benefit from monoclonal antibodies against PD-1 or PD-L1. Types II and IV are characterized by PD-L1negative tumors, with the former most likely caused by immune ignorance whereas the latter may be due to other immunosuppressive mechanisms age of PD-L1 in the TCs and ICs. The percentage of PD-L1 stained tumor cells was comparable for the 22C3, 28-8, and SP263, with lower overall staining with the SP142 assay. Nineteen cases (50%) had PD-L1 staining above the cutoffs for all the four assays representing positivity concordance regardless of the method used, whereas five (13%) were below the cutoff according to all four methods. Nevertheless, 14 cases (37%) had discordant levels of PD-L1 expression, leading to different PD-L1 status classification for some patients. PD-L1 expression was demonstrated by all four assays, with greater variance among the assays compared to the TC expression.

Another concern with the PD-L1 test is the tumor heterogeneity. In a study using 49 NSCLC biopsy tissue specimens evaluated for PD-L1 expression in the tumors and stroma by chromogenic IHC and automated quantitative immunofluorescence using the antibodies E1L3N and SP142, some tumors had discordant results with PD-L1 according to the biopsy site, with positive and negative areas [47]. In a study involving 109 patients with pulmonary adenocarcinoma stained with the E1L3N antibody, the expression of PD-L1 was discrepant between the primary tumor and N1 lymph nodes in 15-18% of cases and between the primary tumor and N2 lymph nodes in 9.4-38% of cases depending on the cutoff for positivity [48].

Other potential biomarkers include mutation burden and presence of driver mutations. Since the antigenicity of neopeptides is not related to their function, passenger mutations with no functional role may have a role as tumor antigens, suggesting the possibility that higher mutation load would generate more neoantigens and increase the probability of benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors [49]. In fact, tumors associated with the highest frequency of somatic mutations such as melanoma, NSCLC, and bladder cancer [50] are associated with increased probability of response to immune checkpoint inhibitors compared to those with lower mutation burden. In a study evaluating 34 patients with NSCLC, divided into discovery and validation cohorts, the mutation burden using whole exome sequencing was evaluated as a predictor for benefit from pembrolizumab [51]. In the median number of somatic nonsynonymous mutations, the 16 patients in the discovery and 18 patients in the validation cohorts were 209 and 200, respectively. In both cohorts, the probability of durable clinical benefit (DCB), defined as PR or SD lasting more than 6 months, and median PFS were significantly higher among patients with mutation burden above the median. Among patients with PD-L1-positive tumors and high nonsynonymous mutation burden, defined as above 200, the DCB was higher than in those with low mutation burden (91% vs 10%).

Patients with EGFR mutation or ALK translocations are usually never or light smokers [52, 53]. Since the average mutation frequency is ten times lower in never smokers compared to smokers [54], the former group of patients is expected to have a lower probability of benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors. In a study involving 58 patients treated with anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 inhibitors, patients with wild-type EGFR and *ALK* had higher ORR (23.3% vs 3.6%, P = 0.05) and median PFS (2.58 months vs 2.07 months (HR 0.5, P = 0.01) compared to those with EGFR mutation or ALK translocation [55]. One possible explanation is the lower rates of concurrent PD-L1 expression and CD8-positive TILs within the TME in patients with EGFR or ALK alterations. In a meta-analysis including 1903 patients from three studies comparing nivolumab, pembrolizumab, or atezolizumab to docetaxel, the outcomes were evaluated according to EGFR status [56]. Among patients with wild-type EGFR, immune checkpoint blockade with anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 inhibitors was associated with a significant improvement in OS (HR 0.66; 95% CI 0.58-0.76). In contrast, there was no significant benefit from immunotherapy among patients with EGFR mutant tumors (HR 1.05; 95% CI 0.70-1.55).

20.7 Summary

Immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting PD-1 or PD-L1 represent a major step in the therapy of patients with advanced stage NSCLC, with clear benefit over docetaxel in previously treated patients and, more recently, improved survival compared to a first-line platinum-based doublet in patients with previously untreated tumors and TC PD-L1 staining of at least 50%. In addition, randomized clinical trials showed better tolerability with anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 antibodies compared to standard chemotherapy, further increasing the enthusiasm for the use of these agents. Nevertheless, since this benefit is observed in only a small percentage of patients, there has been a great effort to identify predictors for outcomes. PD-L1 staining by IHC in TCs is an imperfect biomarker, with response rates observed in both positive and negative tumors. Several factors may account for the suboptimal role for PD-L1 staining, including the setting of PD-L1 expression in relation to TILs, methodology differences among the existing antibodies, cutoffs for positivity, and tumor heterogeneity. As an example, patients with PD-L1 positive and TILs (tumor type I) are expected to have adaptive PD-L1 expression and a higher probability of benefit from immune checkpoint blockade than those with PD-L1 positive but few or no TILs (tumor type III), for which it is unclear whether the constitute PD-L1 expression predicts for benefit from

Although patients with NSCLC and negative IHC staining for PD-L1 in TCs are expected to have lower ORR compared to those with positive staining, the results are still similar to standard chemotherapy with docetaxel, and none of the randomized clinical trials showed survival detriment from immunotherapy administration prior to chemotherapy in the second-line setting. Furthermore, there was neither benefit nor detriment in the PFS from immune checkpoint inhibitors compared to docetaxel among patients with EGFR mutation, indicating that these patients should not be prevented from receiving anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 antibodies. Patients with tumors lacking PD-L1 and TILs (type II) are unlikely to respond to single agent immune checkpoint blockade and may be the best candidates for combination therapy including vaccines, anti-CTLA-4, or other checkpoint inhibitors.

immunotherapy.

Immunotherapy with single agent monoclonal antibodies against PD-1 or PD-L1 is now an established modality for the treatment of patients with advanced stage NSCLC, with selected patients achieving an unprecedented benefit. Nevertheless, there is still room for improvement, and future studies may help define the best candidates for such therapy and optimal rationally designed combinations.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:7–30.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E359–86.
- Govindan R, Page N, Morgensztern D, et al. Changing epidemiology of small-cell lung cancer in the United States over the last 30 years: analysis of the surveillance, epidemiologic, and end results database. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:4539–44.
- Mok TS, YL W, Thongprasert S, et al. Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:947–57.
- Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, et al. Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutationpositive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:239–46.
- Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, et al. Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(27):3327–34.
- Solomon BJ, Mok T, Kim DW, et al. First-line crizotinib versus chemotherapy in ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:2167–77.
- Socinski MA, Evans T, Gettinger S, et al. Treatment of stage IV non-small cell lung cancer: diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2013;143:e341S–68S.
- Masters GA, Temin S, Azzoli CG, et al. Systemic therapy for stage IV non-small-cell lung cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:3488–515.
- Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, et al. Paclitaxelcarboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:2542–50.
- 11. Thatcher N, Hirsch FR, Luft AV, et al. Necitumumab plus gemcitabine and cisplatin versus gemcitabine and cisplatin alone as firstline therapy in patients with stage IV squamous

non-small-cell lung cancer (SQUIRE): an openlabel, randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:763–74.

- 12. Fossella FV, DeVore R, Kerr RN, et al. Randomized phase III trial of docetaxel versus vinorelbine or ifosfamide in patients with advanced non-smallcell lung cancer previously treated with platinumcontaining chemotherapy regimens. The TAX 320 non-small cell lung cancer study group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:2354–62.
- Shepherd FA, Dancey J, Ramlau R, et al. Prospective randomized trial of docetaxel versus best supportive care in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer previously treated with platinum-based chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:2095–103.
- 14. Hanna N, Shepherd FA, Fossella FV, et al. Randomized phase III trial of pemetrexed versus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer previously treated with chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:1589–97.
- 15. Garon EB, Ciuleanu TE, Arrieta O, et al. Ramucirumab plus docetaxel versus placebo plus docetaxel for second-line treatment of stage IV non-small-cell lung cancer after disease progression on platinum-based therapy (REVEL): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2014;384:665–73.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Sznol M, Chen L. Antagonist antibodies to PD-1 and B7-H1 (PD-L1) in the treatment of advanced human cancer--response. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:5542.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, et al. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:677–704.
- Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, et al. Coinhibitory pathways in immunotherapy for cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016;34:539–73.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, et al. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity. 2007;27:111–22.
- Xiao Y, Yu S, Zhu B, et al. RGMb is a novel binding partner for PD-L2 and its engagement with PD-L2 promotes respiratory tolerance. J Exp Med. 2014;211:943–59.
- Schildberg FA, Klein SR, Freeman GJ, et al. Coinhibitory pathways in the B7-CD28 ligandreceptor family. Immunity. 2016;44:955–72.
- 23. Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:3167–75.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- 25. Gettinger SN, Horn L, Gandhi L, et al. Overall survival and long-term safety of nivolumab (anti-

programmed death 1 antibody, BMS-936558, ONO-4538) in patients with previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2004–12.

- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2018–28.
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515:563–7.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:123–35.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1627–39.
- Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1540–50.
- 31. Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1837–46.
- 32. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;389:255–65.
- Gettinger S, Rizvi NA, Chow LQ, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2980–7.
- 34. Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:31–41.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Brahmer JR, et al. Nivolumab in combination with platinum-based doublet chemotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34: 2969–2979.
- 36. Langer CJ, Gadgeel SM, Borghaei H, et al. Carboplatin and pemetrexed with or without pembrolizumab for advanced, non-squamous non-smallcell lung cancer: a randomised, phase 2 cohort of the open-label KEYNOTE-021 study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1497–508.
- Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1823–33.
- Aguiar PN Jr, Santoro IL, Tadokoro H, et al. The role of PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a network metaanalysis. Immunotherapy. 2016;8:479–88.

- 39. Carbognin L, Pilotto S, Milella M, et al. Differential activity of nivolumab, pembrolizumab and MPDL3280A according to the tumor expression of programmed death-ligand-1 (PD-L1): sensitivity analysis of trials in melanoma, lung and genitourinary cancers. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0130142.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27:450–61.
- Ribas A, Hu-Lieskovan S. What does PD-L1 positive or negative mean? J Exp Med. 2016;213:2835–40.
- 42. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:127ra37.
- Teng MW, Ngiow SF, Ribas A, et al. Classifying cancers based on T-cell infiltration and PD-L1. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2139–45.
- 44. Velcheti V, Schalper KA, Carvajal DE et al. Lab Invest. 2014;94:107–116.
- Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in cancer immunotherapy. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14:847–56.
- 46. Hirsch FR, McElhinny A, Stanforth D, et al. PD-L1 immunohistochemistry assays for lung cancer: results from phase 1 of the blueprint PD-L1 IHC assay comparison project. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12:208–22.
- McLaughlin J, Han G, Schalper KA, et al. Quantitative assessment of the heterogeneity of PD-L1 expression

in non-small-cell lung cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2:46–54.

- Uruga H, Bozkurtlar E, Huynh TG, et al. Programmed cell death ligand (PD-L1) expression in stage II and III lung adenocarcinomas and nodal metastases. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12:458–66.
- Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, et al. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16:275–87.
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. Nature. 2013;499:214–8.
- 51. Rizvi NA, Hellman MD, Snyder A, et al Science 2015; 348: 124–8
- Rosell R, Moran T, Queralt C, et al. Screening for epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:958–67.
- Shaw AT, Engelman JA. ALK in lung cancer: past, present, and future. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:1105–11.
- 54. Govindan R, Ding L, Griffith M, et al. Genomic landscape of non-small cell lung cancer in smokers and never-smokers. Cell. 2012;150:1121–34.
- 55. Gainor JF, Shaw AT, Sequist LV, et al. EGFR mutations and ALK rearrangements are associated with low response rates to PD-1 pathway blockade in nonsmall cell lung cancer: a retrospective analysis. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:4585–93.
- Lee CK, Man J, Lord S, et al. Checkpoint inhibitors in metastatic EGFR-mutated non-small cell lung cancera meta-analysis. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12:403–7.

PD-1 Blockade in Renal Cell Carcinoma

Lisa Derosa and Bernard Escudier

Contents

21.1	Introduction	345
21.2	Role of PD-1 and Its Ligand in RCC	346
21.3	Anti-PD-1 Studies in RCC	347
21.3.1	Phase I	347
21.3.2	Phase II	348
21.3.3	Phase III	348
21.4	PD-L1 as Predictive Biomarker	349
21.5	Future of PD-1 Blockade in RCC	350
Conclu	sion	353
Refere	nces	353

94805 Paris, France e-mail: bernard.escudier@gustaveroussy.fr

21.1 Introduction

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) is the most common form of kidney cancer and the eighth most common cancer overall in the United States, with a peak incidence between 60 and 70 years and male predominance [1]. Metastatic renal cell cancer (mRCC) is mainly resistant to cytotoxic chemotherapy and relatively also to radiotherapy. RCC was considered an immune-responsive tumor based on several interesting observations. First of all, spontaneous regression of metastatic lung lesions was noted in some patients [2, 3]. Second, immunotherapy with immunostimulatory cytokines such as interferon α (IFN-5 α) and interleukin 2 (IL-2) has demonstrated activity in RCC and has been the standard treatment for mRCC for decades [4]. Although IL-2 was applied in low- and high-dose regimens, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved only the high-dose regimen in 1992. A retrospective analysis published following 259 mRCC patients treated with high doses of IL-2 between 1986 and 2006 reported an overall 20% objective response rate (ORR) (9% complete responses (CR) and 11% partial responses (PR)) [5]. The high rate of CR by IL-2 therapy is one reason

L. Derosa • B. Escudier (⊠) Gustave Roussy, 114 rue Edouard Vaillant,

why immunotherapy in mRCC is so attractive. Unfortunately, due to its nonspecific antitumor activity, IL-2 administration was associated with a broad range of toxicities that includes systemic inflammatory response syndrome with hepatic and renal toxicities [6]. Due to these toxic side effects, today the therapeutic use of IL-2 is limited to a selected group of young and healthy patients with minimal comorbidities. Standard medical therapy for advanced RCC includes vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor, tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI), and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors [7]. However, despite successes in improving clinical outcomes with the approval of these targeted therapies for mRCC, median overall survival (OS) for patients with newly diagnosed mRCC is 22-29 months, highlighting the need for additional therapies in this patient population [8].

21.2 Role of PD-1 and Its Ligand in RCC

RCC usually show a prominent immune cell infiltrate, consisting of a number of cell types: T-cells, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages. Despite strong lymphocyte infiltration, immune dysfunction promotes RCC tumor growth and evasion. The tumor-induced changes in DC differentiation and the induction of anergy-associated genes in T-cells can partially explain the impaired antitumor response [9]. Cytokines failed to impact on immune system anergy, but increased evidence suggests that novel immune modulating therapies can significantly enhance antitumor immunity. Generally, activated T-cells, B-cells, NK cells, DCs, and monocyte cells express PD-1 in order to restrict autoimmunity during inflammatory states such as infections. However, many tumors express the PD-L1 to take advantage of this mechanism, downregulating the T-cell response. Several studies have investigated the biological and prognostic role of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in RCC. The studies confirmed that PD-L1 is expressed in a significant

proportion of both primary and metastatic RCC specimens but not in normal kidney tissues [10-12]. The immunohistochemical (IHC) expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 was evaluated in a large series of 196 nephrectomy specimens, by Thompson and colleagues [13]. PD-1 was expressed in 56% of patients whose tumor contained mononuclear cell infiltrates, while it was not expressed on RCC tumor cells. In addition, PD-L1 expression was correlated with aggressive tumor features such as higher tumor-nodemetastasis (TNM) stage, the presence of necrosis or sarcomatoid differentiation, and increased risk of cancer-specific mortality. In addition, quantifying soluble PD-L1 by ELISA in a series of 172 RCC patients, Frigola et al. showed a significant association between higher levels of PD-L1, aggressive pathological features, and increased risk of death [14]. PD-1 and PD-L1 are both expressed on CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T-cells (Tregs), but if they influence function of this, regulatory T-cells are not completely clear. Tregs infiltration theoretically promotes the proangiogenic phenotype of RCC and is associated with stage and grade of RCC [15]. Interestingly, the percentage of tumor-infiltrating Tregs is reduced by both sunitinib and sorafenib treatment, while it is improved by everolimus, an immunosuppressor and inhibitor of the tyrosine kinase [16-18]. As observed in other tumor histologies, increased numbers of (FOXP3 + CD4 + CD25high) Tregs or tumorinfiltrating PD-1-positive lymphocytes are seen in peripheral blood and tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte populations in RCC patients and are associated with worse outcome [19, 20]. Furthermore, a high presence of NK cells among the lymphocytic infiltrate predicts a better prognosis in RCC [21]. Sorafenib and sunitinib have been shown to increase tumor cell sensitivity to NK cell killing on RCC cells [22]. Choueiri et al. in a sub-analysis from the COMPARZ study comparing sunitinib and pazopanib as first-line therapy for mRCC patients showed that increased PD-L1 tumor expression, as well as tumor CD8+ T-cell count, was associated with shorter OS in patients treated with pazopanib or sunitinib [23].

All these data support the need for prospective trials to investigate and validate PD-L1 as a potential biomarker before and after TKI therapy for RCC.

21.3 Anti-PD-1 Studies in RCC

21.3.1 Phase I

Safety and tolerability of nivolumab, a fully human monoclonal IgG4 antibody specific for PD-1, were first demonstrated in a phase I doseescalation study of 39 patients with treatment-refractory mRCC, melanoma, colorectal cancer, castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC), or non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [24]. Finally, only one patient in this study had RCC. After a dose-escalating six-patient cohort at 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg, the study enrolled 15 patients in an expansion cohort at the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) or at 10 mg/kg. Patients received one dose of nivolumab and were monitored weekly for toxicity. Radiographic restaging occurred at weeks 8 and 12. Patients who did not have either progressive disease (PD) or adverse events (AEs) of grade 3 received additional doses (at the initial dose) at weeks 12 and 16. There were no dose-limiting toxicities (DLT) in this trial, and the MTD was thus not determined. The 15-patient expanded cohort was therefore enrolled at the 10 mg/kg dose. Overall, the drug was well tolerated with the most common grade 2 or greater toxicities being decreased CD4+ lymphocyte count (35.8%), lymphopenia (25.7%), fatigue (15.4%), and musculoskeletal events (15.4%). The only grade 3 immunerelated AE was inflammatory colitis (one patient) and responded well to treatment with corticosteroids and infliximab. Overall, one patient (2.5%)had a CR, 2 (5%) had PR, and 2 (5%) had a mixed response defined as regression in some lesions with simultaneous progression in others. The unique RCC patient had a prolonged PR (more than 16 months) after receiving three doses at the 10 mg/kg. Further demonstration of safety and efficacy of nivolumab in RCC was in

an expanded phase I trial which enrolled patients with advanced RCC, NSCLC, melanoma, colorectal cancer, or CRPC [25]. Sequential dosing cohorts of 1.0, 3.0, or 10.0 mg/kg every 2 weeks in 8 week cycles were planned. There was no MTD in the study which allowed for significant cohort expansion. Two hundred ninetysix patients were ultimately enrolled, of which 34 patients had advanced RCC previously treated with nephrectomy, immunotherapy, and/or TKI. In this trial, nivolumab appeared to have an excellent safety profile: only 15 of 296 patients (5%) discontinued therapy due to AEs. In total, 70% of patients reported treatment-related AEs and 14% reported grade 3 or 4 events. The only treatment-related AEs that occurred in at least 10% of patients were fatigue (24%), rash (12%), diarrhea (11%), and pruritus (10%). No more than 1% of grade 3/4 treatment-related toxicities occurred. Severe immune-related AEs were infrequent and were observed in less than 1% of treated patients. However, three drug-related deaths secondary to pneumonitis in the NSCLC (two patients) and colorectal cancer (one patient) groups occurred. Antitumor activity was observed across all tested doses. ORR for the entire RCC cohort was 27%. Five patients who started therapy more than 1 year before data analysis and achieved an objective response had a durable response of at least 1 year. PFS at 24 weeks was 56% for the RCC cohort. Three years later the last patient enrolled on this expanded phase I study in a subsequent report; additional efficacy, survival, and long-term safety were reported for the 34-patient mRCC cohort [26]. At the time of analysis, median duration of survival follow-up was 45.2 months (range, 25.9–57.9). In total, objective responses were noted in 10 of 34 patients (29%). Median time to response was 16 weeks (range, 8-48 weeks). Forty percent of the responders achieved a response at 8 weeks (first radiographic assessment), and the majority (70%) had achieved their response by 16 weeks. Median duration of response was 12.9 months. Five of the ten responders discontinued therapy for reasons other than PD. Four of these patients were

348

ranging from 19 to 56+ weeks. In addition to the ten (29%) patients who had an objective response, nine patients (27%) had stable disease (SD) for at least 24 weeks. At the time of analysis, 19 of 34 (56%) patients had died. Median OS was 22.4 months (95% CI, 12.5–NR). The 3-year survival rate was 44%. Median PFS was 7.3 months (95% CI, 3.6–10.9) with a 2-year PFS rate of 12%. Overall, 85% (29/34) of patients reported treatment-related AEs of any grade. The most common were fatigue (41%), rash (27%), diarrhea (14%), and pruritus (14%). Grade 3 or 4 treatment-related AEs were reported in six (18%) patients but were reversible.

21.3.2 Phase II

A randomized phase II trial of nivolumab was conducted, based on the favorable toxicity data and promising efficacy from the phase I trials [27]. One hundred and sixty-eight patients were randomized to receive nivolumab every 3 weeks at three different doses: 0.3 mg/kg (60 patients), 2 mg/kg (54 patients), or 10 mg/kg (54 patients) once. Primary endpoint was a comparison of PFS across dose groups to determine whether there is a dose-response relationship. Secondary endpoints included ORR, OS, time to response, duration of response, and safety. There was no dose-response relationship in PFS with median PFS of 2.7 months (80% CI, 1.9–3.0), 4.0 months (80% CI, 2.8-4.2), and 4.2 months (80% CI, 2.8-5.5) in the 0.3, 2, and 10 mg/kg cohorts, respectively (p value 0.9). ORR was 20% in the 0.3 mg/kg, 22% in the 2 mg/kg, and 20% in the 10 mg/kg groups (p value 1.0). Time to response was similar in all groups with a median of 2.8– 3.0 months and a range of 1.3–10 months. Duration of response was not reached (NR) in the 0.3 mg/kg and 2 mg/kg groups but was 22.3 months (80% CI, 4.8-NR) in the 10 mg/kg cohort. Median OS was 18.2 months (80% CI, 16.2–24.0) in the 0.3 mg/kg group, 25.5 months (80% CI, 19.8–28.8) in the 2 mg/kg group, and 24.7 (80% CI, 15.3–26.0) in the 10 mg/kg group. At the time of analysis, 40% of the 35 patients

with objective response were still responding at least 24 months after treatment initiation. Seventy-three percent of patients reported at least one treatment-related AE, and 19 (11%) experienced a grade 3 or 4 treatment-related AE. Fatigue was the most commonly reported AE (81% of patients). In general, there was no significant difference between the incidences of treatment-related AEs across the cohorts. There were no grade 3 or 4 cases of pneumonitis. Treatment-related AEs led to drug discontinuation in 11 patients (7%). One (2%), six (11%), and four (7%) patients discontinued therapy due to treatment-related AEs in the 0.3, 2, and 10 mg/ kg cohorts, respectively. The treatment-related AEs that led to discontinuation involved cardiac, endocrine, respiratory, thoracic, or nervous system disorders. In contrast to the phase I trials, there were no treatment-related deaths. In summary, the randomized phase II trial demonstrated that heavily pretreated mRCC patients could safely tolerate nivolumab with an ORR of 20-22% and with 40% of responders having a sustained response for over 2 years. There was no dose-response relationship between the 0.3, 2, and 10 mg/kg cohorts, and the safety profile was manageable across all groups. Based on the clinical efficacy and safety of various dosing combinations in the phase I and II trials, 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks was the selected dose for additional studies.

21.3.3 Phase III

The CheckMate 025 study was a phase III randomized trial of nivolumab versus everolimus in patients with advanced RCC [28]. Eight hundred twenty-one patients with advanced RCC previously treated with at least one (72% of patients) but not more than two total prior regimens of TKI were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to receive nivolumab at 3 mg/kg in a 60-min intravenous infusion every 2 weeks versus everolimus 10 mg orally until disease progression or unacceptable toxicities. The primary objective was OS. Key secondary objectives included ORR, investigatordetermined PFS, and duration of response (DoR). The interim OS analysis was conducted when 398 deaths occurred (70% of the planned number of events for final analysis) as of the trial cutoff date of June 18, 2015. There was a statistically significant improvement in OS for patients in the nivolumab arm compared with patients in the everolimus arm, with a 5.4-month difference in median OS (from 19.6 to 25.0 months) and a HR of 0.73 (95% CI, 0.60–0.89; p value 0.0018). Per investigator assessment, PFS confirmed ORR was 21.5 and 3.9% with median response durations of 23.0 months and 13.7 months in the nivolumab and the everolimus arm, respectively. ORR was higher in the nivolumab group than in the everolimus group (25% vs 5%; odds ratio 5.98; 95% CI, 3.68–9.72; *p* value < 0.001). Of the patients in the nivolumab arm who responded, 31% had a treatment response of more than 12 months. Finally, median time to response appeared similar between the two arms. At the time of the OS analysis, PFS per investigator assessment was also examined. No statistically significant difference in PFS between the two treatment arms was observed. The median PFS was 4.6 months in the nivolumab arm and 4.4 months in the everolimus arm. The stratified HR was 0.88 (95% CI, 0.75-1.03) with a twosided log-rank p value of 0.11. Considering subgroup analyses, the benefit with nivolumab versus everolimus was noteworthy for patients with poor MSKCC risk (HR 0.48, 95% CI 0.32-0.70) [29].

The side effect profile in this study mirrored the prior experiences: 79% of patients treated with nivolumab had treatment-related AEs of any grade, and frequently they were fatigue, nausea, and pruritus. Only 19% of patients had grade 3 or 4 AEs (2% anemia and 1% fatigue, pneumonitis, and diarrhea). Study therapy was discontinued for adverse reactions in 16% of nivolumabtreated patients and 19% of everolimus-treated patients. Forty-four percent of patients receiving nivolumab had a drug delay for an adverse reaction. Rate of death on treatment or within 30 days of the last dose of study drug was 4.7% on the nivolumab arm versus 8.6% on the everolimus arm. Based on evidences shown in this study, in November 2015, nivolumab was approved by the FDA for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer after prior anti-angiogenic treatment and further approved by EMA in 2016.

21.4 PD-L1 as Predictive Biomarker

Because response rates to nivolumab are of approximately 25%, predictive biomarkers are needed to identify those patients most likely to benefit from therapy.

In metastatic melanoma and in squamous cell non-small cell lung cancer, PD-L1 expression has been associated with improved outcomes in patients treated with nivolumab or pembrolizumab [30-32]. Investigation of PD-L1 biomarker has been included into the prospective RCC clinical trials. In the phase I trial of 296 patients with a variety of tumors treated with nivolumab, PD-L1 cell-surface expression was analyzed in 42 tumors (5 RCC). Tumors were considered positive for PD-L1 expression if any cells stained positive by immunohistochemical (IHC) staining. Overall, 60% of these samples had positive PD-L1 expression, and 36% of these positive patients had an objective response. No objective response was noted in PD-L1-negative patients [25]. In RCC patients, in the randomized phase II trial of nivolumab at different doses, PD-L1 expression was determined by IHC using a rabbit antihuman monoclonal antibody. Cutoff for PD-L1 expression positivity was membranous staining of 5% of the tumor cells. Of the 107 (64%) patients whose tumors expressed any PD-L1, 29 (27%) had PD-L1 expression in 5% of the tumor cells, and 78 (73%) had membranous staining of PD-L1 in <5% of cells. There were no significant outcome differences between PD-L1positive and PD-L1-negative patients when a cutoff for PD-L1 expression of 1% was used. Expression of PD-L1 alone may be associated with improved outcomes in patients treated with anti-PD-1 therapy [27]. In the phase III trial comparing nivolumab and everolimus, 370 (90%) of the 410 patients in the nivolumab group and 386 (94%) of the 411 everolimus patients had quantifiable PD-L1 expression. In patients with PD-L1

expression of 1%, mOS was 21.8 months in the nivolumab patients and 18.8 months in the everolimus patients. However, in patients with PD-L1 expression of less than 1%, the median OS was 27.4 and 21.2 months in the nivolumab and everolimus groups, respectively. Therefore, higher PD-L1 expression is prognostic for poorer outcome in patients with mRCC, but does not appear as a predictive biomarker for response [27].

Two recent meta-analyses investigated prognostic and predictive role of PD-1 expression in RCC. The first involved 1323 cases and indicated that a higher level of PD-L1 expression has a negative prognostic impact and increases the risk of death by 53% (HR 1.53; 95% CI 1.27–1.84; *p* value <0.001), while in metastatic patients, PD-L1 expression on primary tumors retained its prognostic role (HR 1.45; 95% CI 1.08–1.93; p value 0.01) [33]. The second study did not show any difference in response according to PD-L1 expressions [34]. In summary, there is no evidence for the routine use of PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in patients with advanced RCC treated with nivolumab. Additional investigation is required using alternative antibodies to stain for PD-L1, as well as staining of additional cell populations (e.g., infiltrating immune cells) to determine the predictive value of PD-1/PD-L1 expression in RCC.

21.5 Future of PD-1 Blockade in RCC

There are an increasing number of trials investigating PD-1 blockade based on the encouraging results of single-agent nivolumab. Other checkpoint inhibitors are being actively investigated, including pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1), atezolizumab, and avelumab (two anti-PD-L1) as well as combination strategies of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors with other immune checkpoint inhibitors or with TKI.

Combination approaches have the potential to improve outcome when compared to the inhibition of PD-1/PD-L1 pathway alone [35]. There is a rationale to support combination of immunotherapy strategies to maximize clinical benefit, given the complexity of the regulation of multiple immune checkpoints.

In fact, PD-1 and CTLA-4 appear to play distinct and complementary roles when regulating adaptive immunity. CTLA-4 is upregulated early on, following T-cell activation to inhibit T-cell function, whereas PD-1 contributes to T-cell anergy and exhaustion [36]. Preclinical data indicate that the combination of PD-1 and CTLA-4 receptor blockades results in increased effector T-cell infiltration, decreased regulatory T-cell infiltration, and increased IFN-Y production, leading to more pronounced antitumor activity. The combination of nivolumab with ipilimumab, a fully humanized IgG1 antibody to CTLA-4, was evaluated in a phase I study at different doses in 44 patients with RCC (nivolumab 3 mg/ kg + ipilimumab 1 mg/kg every 3 weeks \times 4 doses versus nivolumab 1 mg/kg + ipilimumab 3 mg/kg every $3 \text{ weeks} \times 4 \text{ doses}$ followed by continuous nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks). Eighteen percent of patients discontinued therapy due to treatment-associated AEs, including pneumonitis, diarrhea, amylase/lipase, and alanine aminotransferase increase. The ORR for both treatment arms was 45%, and a high percentage of patients (80%) have ongoing responses. These encouraging results led to an ongoing phase III trial comparing this combination to sunitinib in first-line treatment for mRCC.

VEGF has been implicated in the development and regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and sunitinib has demonstrated ability to reverse tumor-induced immunosuppression via reduction of MDSCs. This reduction was associated with an improvement of effector T-cell function and T-cell interferon-gamma production and a decline in regulatory T-cell numbers [37]. Other VEGF inhibitors have shown the ability to augment the immune system by inducing autophagy and suppressing activation of tumor-associated macrophages, which correlates with tumor microvessel density and VEGF levels in renal cell carcinoma [38]. Additionally, VEGF has shown the ability to dramatically affect the functional maturation of dendritic cells, which are the most effective APCs in the induction of primary immune responses [39]. These results highlight that VEGF inhibition may not only inhibit angiogenesis but may also improve the functional potency of antigen presentation and, consequently, assist in the development of immunity against cancer cells themselves.

Given the preclinical rationale for combination of VEGF inhibition and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade, a phase I trial investigated the combination of escalating doses of nivolumab (2 mg/kg dose escalated to 5 mg/kg every 3 weeks) with sunitinib (50 mg daily 4 weeks on, 2 weeks off; 33 patients) or pazopanib (800 mg daily, 22 patients) in patients with mRCC [40]. Although the pazopanib arm was closed because of dose-limiting liver toxicity, the sunitinib combination arm was dose escalated to a higher nivolumab dose and expanded to include patients who were treatment naive. Grade 3-4 treatment-related AEs were observed in 82% of patients receiving nivolumab and sunitinib and in 70% of patients receiving nivolumab and pazopanib. Overall, 36% of patients in the sunitinib arm and 25% of patients in the pazopanib arm discontinued treatment given adverse events. The ORR was 52% in the sunitinib arm and 45% in the pazopanib arm. Although toxicity was increased, the response rates observed in this study are significantly higher than those observed with the single agent, especially considering that a discrete number of patients received prior systemic therapies. However, due to toxicities, these combinations have not been pushed further.

Additionally, atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab, a monoclonal antibody that directly inhibits VEGF, was investigated in a phase Ib study (atezolizumab 20 mg/kg and bevacizumab 15 mg/kg every 3 weeks) [41]. Ten patients with RCC were evaluable for response and the ORR was 40%. Forty percent of patients experienced SD for greater than or equal to 24 weeks. The combination was well tolerated, with 33% of patients (4 out of 12) experiencing grade 3-4 AEs. A phase II randomized trial of atezolizumab plus bevacizumab versus atezolizumab versus sunitinib (IMmotion 150 trial) was recently presented at the 2017 Genitourinary Cancers Symposium [42]. The trial enrolled 305 patients with previously untreated RCC and randomly assigned to receive intravenous atezolizumab plus bevacizumab, atezolizumab alone, or oral sunitinib alone until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. Among patients whose tumors expressed PD-L1 (164 in total), those treated with dual immunotherapy had a 36% reduction in the risk of disease progression or death compared with sunitinib alone (HR 0.64; 95% CI, 0.38–1.08; p value 0.095); median PFS was 14.7 months vs 7.8 months, respectively. No PFS advantage with atezolizumab plus bevacizumab compared with sunitinib alone was observed in the overall population (HR, 1.00; 95% CI, 0.69-1.45).

The ongoing phase III IMmotion 151 study (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02420821) is recruiting participants to evaluate atezolizumab combined with bevacizumab vs sunitinib alone in the same population.

Other VEGF and PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitor combinations are currently under investigation in several ongoing phase III clinical trials (Table 21.1).

Setting	Name	Study design	Primary endpoints	Estimated end of study
First line	CAG209-214 NCT02231749	Nivolumab + ipilimumab vs Sutent Phase III	PFS and OS	June 2019
First line	IMmotion 151 NCT02420821	Atezolizumab + bevacizumab vs Sutent Phase III	PFS and OS	June 2020
First line	Javelin Renal 101 NCT02684006	Avelumab + axitinib vs Sutent Phase III	PFS and OS	June 2018
First line	KEYNOTE-426 NCT02853331	Pembrolizumab + axitinib vs Sutent Phase III	PFS and OS	December 2019
First line	NCT02811861	Lenvatinib + pembrolizumab vs lenvatinib + everolimus vs Sutent Phase III	PFS	November 2020

Table 21.1 Ongoing phase III clinical trials in first-line setting

The combination of pembrolizumab with axitinib is being explored in a phase Ib study of patients with treatment-naive advanced RCC presented at 2016 ESMO Congress [44]. The results reported at ESMO were for 52 patients with advanced RCC who received frontline treatment with axitinib plus pembrolizumab. The ORR was 67.3% (35 patients), including 2 CR and 33 PR. This preliminary analysis indicates that this combination is well tolerated and exhibits antitumor activity in treatment-naïve patients with RCC. An ongoing phase III of this combination versus sunitinib will try to confirm these encouraging results.

Additionally, the combination of pembrolizumab and pazopanib has been investigated in an ongoing phase I/II study. Preliminary data from 20 patients enrolled on the phase I trial were presented. The combination caused significant hepatotoxicity, with 65% of patients (13 out of 20) experiencing grade 3 or higher liver dysfunction (all of whom recovered to grade 1 or lower). The confirmed ORR was 40% (8 out of 20) for the total cohort, 60% for the pazopanib 800 mg group, and 20% of the pazopanib 600 mg group. There was one CR in the pazopanib 800 mg group. New dosing schemas are currently being explored to reduce the risk of hepatotoxicity for the combination of pazopanib with pembrolizumab [45].

Axitinib was further investigated in combination with the anti-PD-L1 avelumab in a phase Ib trial in first-line advanced RCC. Confirmed PR was observed in six patients. Both pembrolizumab and avelumab were considered encouraging and are being tested in phase III trials in untreated RCC (NCT02853331 and NCT02684006).

Cabozantinib, a dual VEGF/MET inhibitor, was recently demonstrated in a randomized phase III trial after progression on first-line VEGFtargeted therapy to improve ORR and PFS in addition to OS for patients with mRCC [46]. Preclinical evidence showed that MET can promote increased survival of renal cancer cells through the regulation of PD-L1 [47]. The combination of cabozantinib plus nivolumab alone or in combination with ipilimumab in patients with genitourinary tumors is currently accruing patients (NCT02496208).

Lenvatinib is a multitarget TKI of VEGF with activity against FGFR, PDGFR, RET, and KIT. A phase II randomized, open-label study investigated lenvatinib (24 mg/day), everolimus (10 mg/ day), or the combination (lenvatinib 18 mg/day and everolimus 5 mg/day) as second-line treatment in mRCC (150 patients) [48].

Safety and efficacy of lenvatinib in combination with pembrolizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody to PD-1, are currently being explored in a phase Ib/II study (NCT02501096).

Tivozanib is a potent and selective inhibitor of all three VEGF receptors. In a phase I/II trial in combination with nivolumab in RCC, known as the TiNivo trial, the safety of tivozanib in combination with nivolumab at escalating doses of tivozanib is being evaluated, and, assuming favorable results, the trial will be followed by an expansion phase II cohort at the established combination dose (EudraCT2016002310-44).

A summary of the activity of VEGF inhibition and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in phase I trials is shown in Table 21.2.

Phase I trial	Patients, number	ORR, %	CR, %	PR, %
Nivolumab + sunitinib [40]	33	52	Not reported	Not reported
Nivolumab + pazopanib [40]	20	45	Not reported	Not reported
Avelumab + axitinib [52]	6	100	0	100
Pembrolizumab + axitinib [44]	52	71.2	5.8	65.4
Nivolumab + cabozantinib [53]	23	43	4	39
Pembrolizumab + lenvatinib [54]	13	69.2	0	69.2

Table 21.2 Activity of the combination of VEGF inhibition and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in RCC phase I trials

Conclusion

PD-1 blockade has produced encouraging response rates in RCC. Especially nivolumab has met its primary endpoint of benefit in OS compared to everolimus in the CheckMate 025 trial becoming a new standard of care. Combination of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 and other agents against RCC has demonstrated higher response rates than single agent alone for the price of higher toxicities.

Development of predictive biomarkers to determine which patients will derive clinical benefit from these treatments remains an important need and is an area of active investigation. PD-L1 expression by IHC has been extensively evaluated as a predictive biomarker. Multiple unsolved issues have confounded its use: different antibodies, variable IHC thresholds to determine positivity, adequate tissue preparation and processing, divergent expression between primary and metastatic foci, and evaluation of staining of tumor versus immune cells [49].

In spite of efficacy and toxicity profile of immune checkpoint inhibitors, a series of open questions remains.

- First, what is the role of PD-1 blockade in RCC subpopulations, such as patients with non-clear cell RCC? Non-clear cell RCC patients have largely been excluded from the trials mentioned above. Recently, PD-L1 status of patients with non-clear cell RCC was assessed and correlated with OS, suggesting that blockade of PD-1/ PD-L1 axis may show beneficial in this population [12].
- Second, are traditional measures of assessing response to therapy still predictive of the benefit of checkpoint inhibitors? In the phase III trial of nivolumab, a significant benefit in OS was observed in patients who received nivolumab compared to patients who received everolimus, without a PFS benefit [28]. This modest effect in PFS is probably the result of the pseudoprogression, which could occur due to

infiltration of tumors by activated immune cells and could mimic progression. Immune-related Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (iRECIST) have been proposed to address this phenomenon [50].

• Third, the optimal duration to continue immunotherapy is also unknown. Some trials have stopped therapy at time of progression or demonstrating intolerance. Others had proposed a predefined stopping point of 2 years of therapy. Whereas immunotherapy response patterns differ from traditional therapies, some patients may benefit from nivolumab also after RECIST progression [51].

Probably, an improved understanding of the host immune system and tumor microenvironment will better elucidate which patients take advantage from these promising agents. Complementary PD-1 pathway blockade and targeted therapy or other immunologic agents have the potential to reduce the tumor-induced immunosuppression and improve clinical outcomes for patients with mRCC. Given the encouraging clinical activity and safety profile of the current PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors, it is likely that combination approaches will become key components.

Studies exploring novel agents, combinations, as well as biomarkers of response are currently ongoing and will likely inform the future treatment landscape for patients with mRCC.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66:7–30.
- Crisci A, et al. Spontaneous regression of lung metastases from renal cell carcinoma: the importance of immunogenetic factors and a review of the literature. Minerva Urol E Nefrol Ital J Urol Nephrol. 2008;60:123–35.
- Ueda K, et al. Spontaneous regression of multiple pulmonary nodules in a patient with unclassified renal cell carcinoma following laparoscopic partial nephrectomy: a case report. Mol Clin Oncol. 2016;5:49–52.

- Negrier S, et al. Recombinant human interleukin-2, recombinant human interferon alfa-2a, or both in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. Groupe Français d'Immunothérapie. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:1272–8.
- Klapper JA, et al. High-dose interleukin-2 for the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a retrospective analysis of response and survival in patients treated in the surgery branch at the National Cancer Institute between 1986 and 2006. Cancer. 2008;113:293–301.
- Derosa L, et al. Safety of available treatment options for renal cell carcinoma. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2016;15:1097–106.
- Escudier B, et al. Renal cell carcinoma: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 2016;27:v58–68.
- Heng DYC, et al. Prognostic factors for overall survival in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated with vascular endothelial growth factor-targeted agents: results from a large. Multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(34):5794–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.21.4809.
- Noessner E, et al. Intratumoral alterations of dendritic-cell differentiation and CD8+ T-cell anergy are immune escape mechanisms of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:1451.
- Jilaveanu LB, et al. PD-L1 expression in clear cell renal cell carcinoma: an analysis of nephrectomy and sites of metastases. J Cancer. 2014;5:166.
- Callea M, et al. Differential expression of PD-L1 between primary and metastatic sites in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:1158.
- Choueiri TK, et al. Editor's choice: PD-L1 expression in nonclear-cell renal cell carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:2178.
- Thompson RH, et al. Costimulatory B7-H1 in renal cell carcinoma patients: indicator of tumor aggressiveness and potential therapeutic target. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:17174–9.
- 14. Frigola X, et al. Identification of a soluble form of B7-H1 that retains immunosuppressive activity and is associated with aggressive renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2011;17:1915.
- Ning H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells are positively correlated with angiogenic status in renal cell carcinoma. Chin Med J. 2012;125(12):2120–5.
- Desar IME, et al. Sorafenib reduces the percentage of tumour infiltrating regulatory T cells in renal cell carcinoma patients. Int J Cancer. 2011;129:507–12.
- Huijts CM, et al. Phase I-II study of everolimus and low-dose oral cyclophosphamide in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:505.
- Adotevi O, et al. A decrease of regulatory T cells correlates with overall survival after sunitinibbased antiangiogenic therapy in metastatic renal cancer patients. J Immunother Hagerstown Md. 2010;1997(33):991–8.

- Kang MJ, et al. Tumor-infiltrating PD1-positive lymphocytes and FoxP3-positive regulatory T cells predict distant metastatic relapse and survival of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Transl Oncol. 2013;6:282–9.
- Griffiths RW, et al. Frequency of regulatory T cells in renal cell carcinoma patients and investigation of correlation with survival. Cancer Immunol Immunother CII. 2007;56:1743–53.
- Eckl J, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med Berl Ger. 2012;90:55–66.
- 22. Huang Y, Wang Y, Li Y, Guo K, He Y. Role of sorafenib and sunitinib in the induction of expressions of NKG2D ligands in nasopharyngeal carcinoma with high expression of ABCG2. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2011;137:829–37.
- 23. Choueiri TK, et al. Correlation of PD-L1 tumor expression and treatment outcomes in patients with renal cell carcinoma receiving sunitinib or pazopanib: results from COMPARZ, a randomized controlled trial. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 2015;21:1071–7.
- 24. Brahmer JR, et al. Phase I study of single-agent antiprogrammed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2010;28:3167–75.
- Topalian SL, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- 26. McDermott DF, et al. Survival, durable response, and long-term safety in patients with previously treated advanced renal cell carcinoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2013–20.
- Motzer RJ, et al. Nivolumab for metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results of a randomized phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:1430–7.
- Motzer RJ, et al. Nivolumab versus everolimus in advanced renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1803–13.
- Escudier B, et al. CheckMate 025 randomized phase 3 study: outcomes by key baseline factors and prior therapy for nivolumab versus everolimus in advanced renal cell carcinoma. Eur Urol. (2017). doi:10.1016/j. eururo.2017.02.010.
- Reck M, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1823–33.
- Borghaei H, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1627–39.
- Robert C, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.
- Iacovelli R, et al. Prognostic role of PD-L1 expression in renal cell carcinoma. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Target Oncol. 2016;11:143–8.

- Gandini S, Massi D, Mandalà M. PD-L1 expression in cancer patients receiving anti PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;100:88–98.
- Vanneman M, Dranoff G. Combining immunotherapy and targeted therapies in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:237–51.
- 36. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:4275–80.
- Ko JS, et al. Sunitinib mediates reversal of myeloidderived suppressor cell accumulation in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 2009;15:2148–57.
- Lin J-C, et al. Sorafenib induces autophagy and suppresses activation of human macrophage. Int Immunopharmacol. 2013;15:333–9.
- Gabrilovich DI, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1996;2:1096–103.
- Amin A, et al. Nivolumab (anti-PD-1; BMS-936558, ONO-4538) in combination with sunitinib or pazopanib in patients (pts) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(5s):5010.
- 41. Sznol M, et al. Phase Ib evaluation of MPDL3280A (anti-PDL1) in combination with bevacizumab (bev) in patients (pts) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:410.
- 42. McDermott DF, et al. A phase II study of atezolizumab (atezo) with or without bevacizumab (bev) versus sunitinib (sun) in untreated metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) patients (pts). J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:431.
- Patnaik A, et al. Phase I study of MK-3475 (anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody) in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:4286–93.
- Pfizer Presents Promising New Immunotherapy Combination Data With INLYTA® (axitinib)

In Advanced Renal Cell Carcinoma (RCC). (2016). Available at: http://www.businesswire.com/ news/home/20161009005032/en/Pfizer-Presents-Promising-Immunotherapy-Combination-Data-INLYTA%C2%AE. Accessed 16 March 2017.

- 45. McDermott DF, et al. A phase I/II study to assess the safety and efficacy of pazopanib and MK-3475 in subjects with advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2014;5s:32.
- Choueiri TK, et al. Cabozantinib versus Everolimus in advanced renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1814–23.
- Balan M, et al. Novel roles of c-met in the survival of renal cancer cells through the regulation of HO-1 and PD-L1 expression. J Biol Chem. 2015;290:8110–20.
- Motzer RJ, et al. Lenvatinib, everolimus, and the combination in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, phase 2, open-label, multicentre trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1473–82.
- Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in cancer immunotherapy. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14:847–56.
- Seymour L, et al. iRECIST: guidelines for response criteria for use in trials testing immunotherapeutics. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:e143–52.
- 51. Escudier BJ, et al. Treatment beyond progression with nivolumab (nivo) in patients (pts) with advanced renal cell carcinoma (aRCC) in the phase III CheckMate 025 study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:4509.
- 52. Larkin J, et al. Phase 1b dose-finding study of avelumab (anti-PD-L1) + axitinib in treatment-naïve patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27
- 53. Apolo AB, et al. A phase I study of cabozantinib plus nivolumab (CaboNivo) in patients (pts) refractory metastatic urothelial carcinoma (mUC) and other genitourinary (GU) tumors. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:293.
- 54. Taylor M, et al. A phase 1b trial of lenvatinib (LEN) plus pembrolizumab (PEM) in patients with selected solid tumors. Ann Oncol. 2016;27

BCG and Anti-PDL-1 Ab in Bladder Cancers

Pernelle Lavaud and Yohann Loriot

Contents

22.1	Introduction	357
22.2	BCG	358
22.2.1	Current Indication of BCG	358
22.2.2	Mechanisms of Action	358
22.2.3	Mechanisms of Resistance to BCG	
	Therapy	359
22.3	PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors	359
22.3.1	Rationale for PD-1 and	
	PD-L1 Inhibitors	359
22.3.2	Proof of Concept Trials with	
	PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors	360
22.3.3	PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors	
	Will Change the Standard of	
	Care in Metastatic Setting	361
22.3.4	Can We Select the Patients Who Are	
	More Likely to Respond to PD-1	
	and PD-L1 Inhibitors?	363
22.3.5	How Can We Increase the Number	
	of Responders?	365
22.4	Perspective	367
Refere	nces	367

P. Lavaud, MD, MSc • Y. Loriot, MD, PhD (⊠) Department of Cancer Medicine and INSERM U981, Gustave Roussy, Cancer Campus, University of Paris-Saclay, 114 rue Edouard Vaillant, 94805 Villejuif, France e-mail: Yohann.LORIOT@gustaveroussy.fr

22.1 Introduction

Immune checkpoint inhibitors has become an exciting field in cancer research demonstrating striking antitumor activity and survival benefits across multiple tumor types, including metastatic advanced urothelial carcinoma (UC). There is actually a strong rationale for the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors in UC, which has already benefited from the use of immune-based therapies with the intravesical bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) for over four decades. Long before the recognition of immune checkpoints as cancer targets, UC was one of the original cancers to demonstrate a benefit from immunotherapy, and patients with non-muscle-invasive UC of the bladder (NMIBC) still benefit nowadays. Recent studies in metastatic UC showed that immune checkpoint blockade will represent a new backbone of advanced UC treatment with the potential to improve outcomes across all stages of the disease. While there are many other immune-based treatments such as cancer vaccines, chimeric antigen receptors are also investigated in UC; this review will focus on program cell death 1 (PD-1) and programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitors in UC introduced by a brief history of development and use of BCG in bladder cancer. The biology of PD-1 and PD-L1 axis will not be covered in the present chapter as specific chapters are focusing on the field.

22.2 BCG

22.2.1 Current Indication of BCG

Immune therapy has been established in earlystage bladder cancer for four decades with the use of intravesical BCG for NMIBC. BCG is a live attenuated vaccine derived from Mycobacterium bovis, which was initially developed as a potential vaccine to prevent tuberculosis. BCG immunotherapy administered after transurethral resection of bladder tumor (TURBT) is currently the most effective treatment of NMIBC and one of the most successful applications of immunotherapy to the treatment of cancer. The notion that BCG might have a role in cancer treatment dates back to 1929, when a study [1] reported a reduced incidence of cancer among patients with tuberculosis at autopsy. Subsequent studies [2] showed that the bladder responded to BCG with a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction seen with the skin, and a striking clinical case reported [3] the observation of a response of melanoma metastatic to the bladder treated with intralesional BCG. This success in melanoma led to the evaluation of BCG in an animal model of bladder cancer [4]. The results of that study found six weekly intravesical plus percutaneous administrations to result in a 12-fold reduction in bladder tumor recurrence [5]. Then, the first BCG controlled trial showed statistically significant reduction in tumor recurrence in 54 evaluable patients [6]. Similar results were reported in much higher risk patients in another study [7]. Since then, two meta-analyses demonstrated that BCG therapy prevents, or at least delays, the risk of tumor progression in intermediate and high-risk nonmuscle-invasive bladder cancers following TURBT [8]. BCG is currently recommended for patients with intermediate-risk tumors and patients with high-risk tumors (grade 3, carcinoma in situ [CIS], T1 stage). The current rationale for BCG use includes preventing or delaying recurrence, reducing progression, and avoiding radical cystectomy.

22.2.2 Mechanisms of Action

The mechanism by which BCG induces a favorable immune-mediated antitumor response is not fully understood. BCG attaches to bladder tumor cells as well as urothelial cells by means of specific fibronectin and integrin receptors [9] leading to the internalization of BCG. Antigens specific for BCG are expressed on the surface of tumor cells and major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II antigen expression is upregulated [10, 11]. BCG efficacy needs a competent immune system and functional T-cell subtypes among other immune cell populations (NK cells, macrophage, granulocyte, and dendritic cells in addition to various cytokines and interleukins), which are recruited to the bladder and found in large amounts in the urine following therapy [12]. BCG induces an inflammatory response within the bladder wall, which is mediated by both local and systemic immune responses. The local inflammatory response is associated with the infiltration of granulocytes followed by macrophages and lymphocytes, particularly helper T cells. Neutrophils and monocytes are the key mediators of initial response to BCG by producing chemotactic factors. Neutrophils regulate migration to the bladder wall of effector cells, such as monocytes and the CD4+ T lymphocytes. The CD4+ T lymphocytes are activated through their T-cell receptor (TCR) and induce a T helper 1 initial immune response. BCG animal studies have confirmed the requirement of both CD4+ and CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), with depletion of either resulting in loss of BCG-mediated antitumor activity. A wide range of cytokines are induced, including interleukin (IL)-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, TNF-a, interferon (IFN) g, granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule I [13]. For optimal efficacy, BCG must be given in maintenance schedule after the first induction instillations. In the EORTC-GU group meta-analysis, only patients who received maintenance BCG benefited from BCG therapy, the meta-analysis however was unable to determine

which BCG maintenance schedule was the most effective [8].

22.2.3 Mechanisms of Resistance to BCG Therapy

However, 40-50% of patients experience disease recurrence and/or progression (BCG failure). The question therefore arises as to what factors responsible for **BCG-refractory** are NMIBC. Some hypothesis have been envisioned: (1) the immune cell infiltrate is broad based, and the tumor-associated antigen-specific component is a minor component, or (2) there is an antigenspecific antitumor T-cell response, but it is impaired by PD-1/PD-L1 upregulation in response to the release of high concentrations of Th1 cytokines (i.e., IFN γ) by NK cells in the tumor microenvironment. Increasing tumor cell PD-L1 expression actually predicts localized UC stage progression, independent of tumor grade [14]. Also, PD-L1 levels are highest in CIS and within granulomata of bladder tissues of patients failing BCG therapy. PD-L1 is present in nearly 40% of CIS tumors before BCG treatment; the amount of expression by these tumor cells is relatively low (about 5% of tumor cells). By contrast, CIS cases that ultimately failed BCG therapy exhibited 15- to 20-fold higher levels of PD-L1 expression, predominantly within BCG granulomas [14]. PD-L1 expressed by bladder tumors (including CIS) may thus provide urothelial tumor cells with a molecular mechanism to impair host antitumoral immune cells and to progress toward aggressive cancer progression. Moreover, increased expression of T-cellinhibitory PD-L1 by mononuclear cells that are recruited into bladder tissues in response to BCG therapy may contribute to a decline in the effectiveness of BCG therapy over time.

An aggressive, bioluminescent orthotopic bladder cancer model, MB49 tumor cells transfected with luciferase (MB49(luc)), has been used to study the antitumor effects of avelumab, an antibody to PD-L1 [15]. MB49(luc) bladder tumors are highly positive for the expression of PD-L1, and avelumab administration induced significant antitumor effects. These antitumor effects were more dependent on the presence of CD4 than CD8 T cells, as determined by in vivo immune cell depletions. The findings suggest that in this bladder tumor model, interruption of the immune-suppressive PD-1/PD-L1 complex releases a local adaptive immune response that, in turn, reduces tumor growth.

Taken together, these data indicate that the presence of PD-L1 could conceivably play a role in impairing host immune-related responses and result in bladder cancer progression, which stress the potential biologic role for the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction as a new immunotherapeutic target in NMIBC. Several phase 1 trials are currently investigating PD-1 or PD-L1 inhibitors in BCG-refractory NMIBC (NCT02625961) or in association with BCG for BCG-naive high-risk NMIBC (NCT02792192).

22.3 PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors

22.3.1 Rationale for PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors

As discussed above, immune therapy has been established in bladder cancer for several decades with the use of intravesical BCG for NMIBC. Beyond the clinical efficacy of BCG, there are strong biological features in urothelial cancer that suggest that PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors may be effective in bladder cancers. First, the association of neoantigens, immune regulation of cancer, and clinical efficacy of PD-1 axis blockade has been shown in various types of cancers including melanoma and lung cancer. In these reports, patients with high tumor mutational load and high neoantigens are more likely to respond to either CTLA-4 inhibition [16, 17] or PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors [18]. Overall, these studies demonstrated that overall mutational load, neoantigen load, and expression of cytolytic markers in the immune microenvironment were significantly associated with clinical benefit. Like in lung cancer, cigarette smoking in bladder cancer

patient induces multiple protein-level errors resulting in a high level of malignancy-associated neoantigen presentation within the tumor microenvironment. Recent genomic studies confirmed that urothelial cancer is highly mutated with a median number of eight mutations per megabase [19–21]. When listing the cancers from highest to lowest mutational load, UC came in third on the list, and the only cancers with a higher median mutation burden were melanoma and lung cancer [19].

Second, PD-L1 expression is frequent in UC at all stages and is associated with poorer outcome for both NMIBC and MIBC. Tumor cell (TC) PD-L1 status is associated with advanced disease and decreased survival in patients undergoing radical cystectomy for non-metastatic MIBC [22]. A larger study in 302 patients has reported a similar trend of association between PD-L1 status and increased risk of death for patients with organ-confined disease after cystectomy [23]. More recently, immune cells (IC) PD-L1 expression was associated with improved survival in patients with metastatic platinumrefractory UC [24]. Another study demonstrated the correlation of PD-L1 staining by immunohistochemistry (IHC) in cisplatin-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy responders and non-responders [25]. Non-responders to neoadjuvant frequently exhibit PD-L1 expression in the tumor (40%) and suggested that these could be candidates for anti-PD-L1 therapy. Taken together, these data suggest that PD-L1 expression either on TC or IC and high mutation loads are observed in UC paving the ground to investigate immune checkpoint inhibitors in UC.

22.3.2 Proof of Concept Trials with PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors

Atezolizumab was granted the breakthrough status in UC based on the data from a phase 1 expansion trial [26]. Sixty-eight heavily pretreated metastatic UC patients were included in the trial. PD-L1 was scored as 0, 1, 2, and 3, corresponding to staining of <1%, 1–5%, 5–10%, and >10%.

Both immune cells and tumor cells were assessed. The prevalence of positive PD-L1 expression (IHC score 2 or 3 (2/3)) in tumor-infiltrating IC in the prescreened population was 27%. Patients were initially selected by PD-L1 IHC on tumorinfiltrating IC to test the hypothesis that PD-L1positive patients might specifically respond to atezolizumab. Then, the trial was subsequently expanded to treat patients regardless of PD-L1 status to determine whether PD-L1-negative patients could also respond. Overall, 205 patients were screened, of whom 23% were considered positive for PD-L1 on IC, and 4% were PD-L1 positive on the TC. Overall, 68 patients with UBC received treatment and were evaluable for safety. Sixty-seven patients were evaluable for efficacy. The majority of patients (93%) were pretreated with previous cisplatin- or carboplatinbased chemotherapy, and nearly 70% had received two or more previous systemic treatments. Objective response rates were 43% for those with IHC 2/3 tumors and 11% for those with IHC 0 or 1 (0/1) tumors. The IHC 2/3 response rate included a 7% complete response rate. Among patients with IHC 2/3 tumors, a response rate of 52% was achieved. The duration of response was pretty long in this setting (ranging from 0.1+ to 30.3+ weeks for patients with IHC 2/3 tumors and from 0.1+ to 6.0+ weeks for patients with IHC 0/1 tumors). Only 4% reported a grade 3 treatment-related AE, which included one occurrence each of asthenia, thrombocytopenia, and decreased blood phosphorus.

With extended follow-up, single-agent atezolizumab continues to be well tolerated in a heavily pretreated metastatic UC cohort of this phase 1 study. Excellent clinical benefit was observed in a heavily pretreated metastatic UC population: 2-year overall survival (OS) rate was 30% for all patients and 43% for patients with IHC 2/3 tumors which outweigh historical survival on chemotherapy [27].

These early results have generated intense research studies for testing atezolizumab in a larger international phase 2 trial (IMVIGOR 2010 study). In a single-arm, two-cohort, phase 2 trial, patients with inoperable locally advanced or metastatic UC whose disease had progressed after previous platinum-based chemotherapy were treated with atezolizumab 1200 mg given every 3 weeks [28, 29]. The co-primary endpoints were the independent review facilityassessed objective response rate according to RECIST v1.1 and the investigator-assessed objective response rate according to immunemodified RECIST, analyzed by intention to treat. In this trial, 310 patients received atezolizumab treatment. The primary analysis demonstrated that compared with a historical control overall response rate of 10% with chemotherapy, treatment with atezolizumab resulted in a significantly improved RECIST v1.1 objective response rate for each prespecified immune cell group (IC2/3: 27%; IC1/2/3: 18%) and in all patients (15%). As noted in the phase 1 study, many patients with a response demonstrated durable responses. With a median follow-up of roughly 2 years, ongoing responses were recorded in 84% of responders. Grade 3-4 immune-mediated adverse events were rare, occurring in 5% of 310 treated patients, with pneumonitis, increased aspartate aminotransferase, increased alanine aminotransferase, rash, and dyspnea being the most common.

Meanwhile, atezolizumab was investigated in earlier stage of UC in chemo-naïve metastatic patients. Around 40% of patients are not fit for cisplatin-based chemotherapy and then are treated with carboplatin-based chemotherapy or even with only supportive care. Given its excellent safety profile, atezolizumab was assessed in metastatic unfit UC with the overriding hypothesis that an earlier administration of atezolizumab could provide significant benefit to these patients. A single-arm, multicenter, phase 2 study was thus conducted in previously untreated 123 patients with locally advanced or metastatic UC who were cisplatin ineligible [30]. The primary endpoint was independently confirmed objective response rate assessed in prespecified subgroups based on PD-L1 expression and in all patients. Overall, 119 received one or more doses of atezolizumab. The objective response rate was 23%, the complete response rate was 9%, and 19 of 27 responses were ongoing at the time of analysis. Median OS was 15.9 months which was much better than the expected OS in this population of patients treated with chemotherapy (~9 months) [31]. Once again, the treatment was well tolerated with only 8% of patients experiencing an adverse event leading to treatment discontinuation and 12% patients with immune-mediated events.

Overall, these data from phase 1 and 2 studies with atezolizumab showed that PD-L1 inhibition is well tolerated in advanced UC patients and had significant activity in a subset of patients. Based on these reports, atezolizumab obtained the approval by the Food and Drug Administration in May 2016 for the treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic UC whose disease has worsened during or following platinumcontaining chemotherapy or within 12 months of receiving platinum-containing chemotherapy, either before (neoadjuvant) or after (adjuvant) surgical treatment.

Beyond atezolizumab, many immune checkpoint inhibitors are currently investigated including PD-1 inhibitors pembrolizumab [32] and nivolumab [33, 34] and PD-L1 inhibitors durvalumab [35] and avelumab. Overall, phase 1 and phase 2 trials are consistent in reporting an overall response rate of ~20-25%, early response (within the two first months) and durable response in chemo-treated metastatic UC patients (usually not reached at the time of analysis of the trials) (Table 22.1). PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors have a good safety profile with few treatment-related grade 3-4 events (<15%) and almost no treatment-related deaths. Taken together, these data outweigh the data usually observed with second-line chemotherapies which achieve a historical response rate of 10% and have a poorer safety profile.

22.3.3 PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors Will Change the Standard of Care in Metastatic Setting

Based on these data, two large phase 3 trials have been conducted to compare either atezolizumab or pembrolizumab with chemotherapy in secondline (2L) or third-line (3L) metastatic setting. The

	PCD4989g	IMVIGOR 210	Checkmate 032	Checkmate 275	Durvalumab phase 1	KEYNOTE-012
Drug	Atezolizumab	Atezolizumab	Nivolumab	Nivolumab	Durvalumab	Pembrolizumab
Target	PD-L1	PD-L1	PD-1	PD-1	PD-L1	PD-1
Phase trial	1	2	1	2	1	1b
Treated patients (n)	68	310	78	265	61	33
Median follow-up (months)		11.7	6	7.00	6.5	13
Setting		≥2 L	≥2 L	≥2 L	≥1 L	≥2 L
Biomarkers selection	On PD-L1 IC (5%) and	None	No selection	On PD-L1 TC	No selection	On PD-L1 TC or IC
	then none				PD-L1+ TC or IC	1%
				$\geq 5 \text{ vs} \geq 1 \text{ vs} < 1\%$	25%	
ORR	26.1	15	24.4	19.6	31	26
ORR PD-L1+	43.3	26	24	28.4	46.4	NA
ORR PD-L1-	11.4	NA	26.2	16.1	0	NA
Duration of response (months)	NR	NR	9.4	NR	NR	10
OS (months)	NA	9.0	9.7	8.7	NA	13
OS in PD-L1+	NA	NR	16.2	11.3	NA	NR
Biomarkers	IC PD-L1	PD-L1 IC	NR	25-gene interferon-y	PD-L1+ TC or IC	PD-L1 on TC or IC
		Luminal 2		Basal 1 subtype	25%	
		T-effector gene expression				
		CD8 expression		12-chemokine signature		
		Mutational load		CD8 expression		
% treatment-related grade 3-4	4	16	22	18	4.9	15
n treatment-related deaths	None	None	None	3	None	None
<i>IC</i> immune cells, <i>NA</i> not available tumor cells	e, NR not reached, ORR ov	erall response rate, OS overal	l survival, <i>PD-I</i> _I	programmed cell death 1	, PD-LI programmed	cell death-ligand 1, TC

 Table 22.1
 Early phase 1/2 studies of PD1 or PD-L inhibitors in metastatic UC

primary endpoint studies are both OS and progression-free survival (PFS) in total and PD-L1 positive patients. Preliminary data of KEYNOTE-045 comparing pembrolizumab to chemotherapy (vinflunine, paclitaxel, or docetaxel) in 542 patients have been reported late 2016 [36]. After a median follow-up of 14.1 months at the time of secondary interim analysis, median OS was 10.3 months (95% CI: 8–11.8) in the pembrolizumab arm versus 7.4 months (95% IC: 6.1–8.3) in the chemotherapy arm leading to a 27% reduction of risk of death (HR: 0.73, 95% CI: 0.59-0.91, p = 0.0022). The difference was better when the analysis focused on patients with a combined positive score (CPS) depicting the level of PD-L1 expression on the tumor and surrounding immune cells $\geq 10\%$ (HR: 0.57, CI 95%: 0.37–0.88, p = 0.0048). No difference was shown regarding to the progression-free survival. Once again, the response rate of pembrolizumab was nearly 20% (21.1%), which was much better than that of chemotherapy (11.4%), and the responses were durable. CPS $\geq 10\%$ was not associated with a better response rate. A grade 3-5 adverse event was observed in 15% of patients treated with pembrolizumab, and four deaths were related to pembrolizumab. KEYNOTE-045 is thus the first phase 3 trials demonstrating a benefit of PD-1/ PD-L1 inhibitors in UC. Pembrolizumab should be approved quickly in 2017. The results of the phase 3 trial comparing atezolizumab with chemotherapy in 2L or 3L are awaited in 2017.

22.3.4 Can We Select the Patients Who Are More Likely to Respond to PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors?

Even PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors are being approved in metastatic UC, only 20% of patients will respond to checkpoint blockade. The first strategy for managing the use of immunotherapies in UC is to identify patients who are more likely to respond to these agents. As with many other tumor types, there is an intense research aiming at predictive factors. Clinical factors are not consistent enough to predict the response. Tumor type (i.e., bladder cancer vs upper tract disease), sex (male vs female), and number of previous line of therapies are not associated with response. Smoking status was not either except in the KEYNOTE-045 trial which reported that current smokers are more likely to benefit from pembrolizumab as compared to never or former smokers. The sites of metastases were consistently associated with response. Patients with lymph node only experienced a higher response rate to PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitions than those with visceral disease raising the question as to whether the specific tumor site microenvironment may play a role in predicting the benefit.

The list of potential biomarkers is still growincluding microenvironment-based and ing tumor cell-based biomarkers (Table 22.2). The most advanced biomarkers of response to PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors include mutational load, tumor or immune cells expression of PD-L1, and intratumoral immune infiltration. PD-1 and PD-L1 status are not yet recognized as a robust and reproducible marker to predict response and/ or resistance to PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors. In 2L setting, there is an association of PD-L1 expression (either assessed on TC or IC) with response, but this association is not discriminant enough to recommend its current use in clinical practice. A major drawback for the use of PD-1/PD-L1 staining has been the heterogeneity of current meth-PD-L1 assessing positivity ods for on IHC. Different antibodies manufacturers have developed multiple different assays as a companion diagnostic. The antibodies used for assessing PD-L1 are different in their characteristics, which affects inter-study comparisons. There are a number of open questions regarding the use of these antibodies: first, the location of positive PD-L1 staining is generally classified as TC versus IC, and thus a standardized consensus has not been established yet. There is also no consensus on which cut-off is to be used for positivity. The majority of studies consider strong PD-L1 staining of >5% (IHC staining scored 2/3) on either TCs or IC as positive, while other studies consider 1% as a positive cut-off. Harmonizing Companion Diagnostics is now urgently needed.

Biomarker	Assay	Endpoint	Drug	Results
PD-L1 on IC	IHC dako kit (22C3 clone)	1% of cell stained	Pembrolizumab	Higher expression associated with response
	IHC Ventana (SP263)	25% of cell stained	Durvalumab	Higher expression associated with response
PD-L1 on TC	IHC dako kit (22C3 clone)	1% of cell stained	Pembrolizumab	Higher expression associated with response
	IHC dako kit (28-8)	1% vs 5% of cell stained	Nivolumab	Higher expression associated with response
	IHC Ventana (SP263)	25% of cell stained	Durvalumab	Higher expression associated with response
T CD8 infiltration	IHC		Atezolizumab	High T CD8 infiltration associated with response
CD8 expression	Gene expression	High vs low	Nivolumab	High CD8 expression associated with response
CXCL9/CXCL10 expression	Gene expression	High vs low	Nivolumab	High expression associated with response
Mutational load	Exome sequencing	Number of mutations/megabase	Atezolizumab	High CD8 expression associated with response
TCGA classification	Gene expression	Luminal vs basal	Atezolizumab	Luminal 2 associated with better response to atezolizumab
			Nivolumab	Basal 1 associated with better response to nivolumab
INF-y signature	25 gene expression	High vs low	Nivolumab	Better response to nivolumab
TCR sequencing	DNA sequencing of the CDR3 region of the TCR beta chain	Clonal dominance, clonal expansion and T-cell fraction	Atezolizumab	High T-cell infiltration and clonality in the tumor plus peripheral expansion of dominant tumor- resident TCR clones associated with response

Table 22.2 Key biomarkers currently assessed in UC to predict response to PD1 or PD-L1 blockade

IHC immunohistochemistry, TCGA the cancer genome atlas, TCR T-cell receptor

The Blueprint initiative will help build an evidence base for PD-1/PD-L1 companion diagnostic characterization in the pre-approval stage, such that once the tests are approved, the information generated can lay the groundwork for post-approval studies that will help inform patients, physicians, and pathologists on how best to use the test results to determine treatment decisions.

The burning question in UC emerged from the association of response with transcriptomic signatures according to the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) classification [20]. Recent data suggest that MIBC may be classified into four subtypes based on the expression of gene set with two luminal subtypes (luminal 1 and luminal 2) and two basal subtypes (basal 1 and basal 2) (Fig. 22.1). Exploratory analyses of IMVIGOR 210 [28, 29] showed that PD-L1 IC expression was higher in the basal subtype (60%) as compared to luminal subtype (23%). Increased PD-L1 TC expression was found only in the basal subtype (39% in basal subtype vs 4% in luminal subtype). CD8 T-effector gene expression was increased in luminal cluster II and basal subtypes but not in luminal cluster 1. Consistent with these data, a higher baseline IFN-y response gene was observed in atezolizumab responders. These data are consistent with Th1 and CTL immune response. Response to atezolizumab occurred in all TCGA subtypes but was significantly higher in the luminal cluster II subtype than in other subtype [28, 29]. Taken together, these data suggest that these subtypes have distinct tumorimmune landscapes that reflect responsiveness to atezolizumab: luminal I tumors have a low Teff



gene expression ("immune desert"), luminal II have a high T_{eff} and low stromal gene expression ("inflamed tumor"), and basal subtypes have a high T_{eff} as well as high stromal gene expression ("immune suppressed"). These preliminary data were not fully consistent with data reported in the CheckMate 275 study investigating the PD-1 inhibitor nivolumab [34]. IFN-y signature was associated with higher response rate and higher PD-L1 expression. But the strongest IFN-y signature was noted in patients with basal 1 subtype, which contained the highest proportion of responders and the highest CXCL9 or CXCL10 expression. These data need to be confirmed in the phase 3 trials investigating atezolizumab and pembrolizumab and may reflect the differential targets landscape between PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors.

22.3.5 How Can We Increase the Number of Responders?

The second burning question is how to increase the proportion of patients who benefit from PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitions. Only 20% of patients with advanced platinum-based chemotherapy respond to PD-1 axis blockade. As in other tumors such as melanoma or lung cancer, combination immunotherapy may be more efficacious than monotherapy. Combining immunotherapy agents has been shown to result in improved response rates relative to monotherapy; for example, the concurrent administration

of nivolumab and ipilimumab to patients with advanced melanoma induced higher response rate than those obtained with single-agent therapy. Importantly, responses appeared to be deep and durable [37, 38]. The rationale for evaluating the combination is that the mechanisms of CTLA-4 and PD-1 are nonredundant, suggesting that targeting both may have additive or synergistic activity [39] in both PD-L1-positive and PD-L1-negative populations. In addition, CTLA-4 antagonists have been shown to upregulate PD-1, and PD-1 has been shown to upregulate CTLA-4, further strengthening the rationale for combining tremelimumab and durvalumab [40]. Initial data from ongoing studies have demonstrated higher response rate and disease control rates in non-small-cell lung cancer patients with PD-L1-negative tumors receiving PD-1 inhibitor (nivolumab or durvalumab) + CTLA-4 inhibitor (ipilimumab or tremelimumab) combination therapy (30 and 70%, respectively) compared to durvalumab monotherapy (10 and 42%, respectively) [41, 42]. Such approaches are currently underway in UC in phase 1/2 trials [NCT02261220] [NCT01928394] [NCT02527434] [NCT02553642]. Phase 1 trials investigating the combinations of other inhibitor immune checkpoint [e.g., LAG-3, VISTA] or activator immune checkpoint [e.g., OX40, CD27] with a PD-1 inhibitor or a PD-L1 inhibitor as a backbone are currently conducted [NCT02528357] [NCT01968109] [NCT02608268]. Another strategy is to combine DNA damage agents like chemotherapy or radiotherapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors with the rationale that conventional agents may

nC
Е.
trials
\mathfrak{C}
phase
Main
22.3
ble
Ta

Study code	ClinicalTrials. gov identifier	Indication	Treatment arms	Primary endpoints	Sample size
		2L and 3L ch	iemo-treated mUC		
Keynote-045	NCT02256436	Previously treated mUC	Pembrolizumab vs chemotherapy	SO	542
IMVIGOR 211	NCT02302807	Previously treated mUC	Atezolizumab vs chemotherapy	SO	932
		IL chem	10-naive mUC		
DANUBE	NCT02516241	Previously untreated mUC	Durvalumab + tremelimumab vs durvalumab vs	OS and PFS	1005
		Cisplatinum eligible/ineligible	chemotherapy		
CheckMate 901	NCT03036098	Previously untreated mUC	Nivolumab + ipilimumab vs chemotherapy	OS and PFS in	069
		Cisplatinum eligible/ineligible		cis-ineligible patients	
KEYNOTE-3475-361	NCT02853305	Previously untreated mUC	Chemotherapy vs pembrolizumab vs	OS and PFS	066
		Cisplatinum eligible/ineligible	chemotherapy + pembrolizumab		
CheckMate 901	NCT03036098	Previously untreated mUC	Nivolumab + ipilimumab vs chemotherapy	OS and PFS in	069
		Cisplatinum eligible/ineligible		cis-ineligible patients	
IMVIGOR 130	NCT02807636	Previously untreated mUC	Chemotherapy + placebo vs atezolizumab vs	OS and PFS	1200
		Cisplatinum eligible/ineligible	chemotherapy + atezolizumab		
JAVELIN	NCT02603432	Maintenance after response or stable	Avelumab vs best supportive care	SO	668
		disease on 1L chemotherapy			
		Adjuvant in ne	on-metastatic MIBC		
IMVIGOR010	NCT02450331	High-risk MIBC after cystectomy	Atezolizumab vs observation	DFS	700
CheckMate 274	NCT02632409	High-risk MIBC after cystectomy	Nivolumab vs placebo	DFS	640
DFS disease-free surviva	l, MIBC muscle-inv	asive bladder cancer, mUC metastatic ur	othelial carcinoma, OS overall survival, PFS progres	sion-free survival	

increase the mutational load in tumor cells resulting in higher response rate.

22.4 Perspective

Early-phase trials of checkpoint blockade in the heavily pretreated UC patients have demonstrated significant response rate, durable response, and good safety profile. Recent phase 3 trial confirmed that PD-1 blockade improved the outcome of lethal metastatic UC. Given these striking data, the potential application of PD-1/ PD-L1 axis blockade to earlier disease states in chemo-naïve metastatic patients, in nonmetastatic MIBC, and even in BCG-unresponsive high-grade NMIBC will be investigated in the coming months (Table 22.3). Thus, PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors will constitute the backbone of future immune-based therapies at least in advanced stage of UC. The development of rationale immune combinations is now the next steps of PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors. The emerging question is how to improve the number of patients who may benefit from immune checkpoint blockade. Multiple phase 1 trials investigating some combinations are ongoing. Ideally, these combinations should be based on potential mechanisms of resistance. Luminal I tumors are characterized by an immune desert and FGFR2 and FGFR3 gene aberrations suggesting that educating quiescent T cells by inducing tumor cell death through treatment with chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or FGFR inhibitors may result in the release of tumor antigens for T-cell activation and in sensitivity to subsequent immune checkpoint inhibitor. An alternative approach would be to use vaccines carrying tumor-specific antigens for priming T cells before administration of immune checkpoint inhibitors, with potential to increase response rate. In basal tumors characterized by high myeloid cell infiltrations, combinations should aim at targeting immunosuppressive environment. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and high intracellular concentrations of adenosine play a key role in pathways that induce a suppressive effect on cytotoxic T-cell function, so that targeting IDO1

and adenosine A2a receptor (A2aR) are also a promising target for therapy in UC [NCT02178722], [NCT02318277], and [NCT02655822].

Going forward, research efforts should focus on identification of predictive biomarkers of response to immune-oncology agents. Identification of innovative correlative biomarkers in future studies would hopefully help identify ways to predict on the individual patient level whether a patient would likely benefit from a specific therapy or combination. One can speculate that decision about single-agent therapy vs a particular combination may be decided by specific tumor or host markers (e.g., serum, microbiota) or both which stress the highly complex interaction of tumor and immune system for inducing antitumor response.

References

- 1. Pearl R. Cancer and tuberculosis. Am J Hyg. 1929;9:97–159.
- Coe JE, Feldman JD. Extracutaneous delayed hypersensitivity, particularly in the guinea-pig bladder. Immunology. 1996;10:127–36.
- Silverstein MJ, DeKernion J, Morton DL. Malignant melanoma metastatic to the bladder. Regression following intratumor injection of BCG vaccine. JAMA. 1974;229:688.
- Lamm DL, Harris SC, Gittes RF. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin and dinitrochlorobenzene immunotherapy of chemically induced bladder tumors. Investig Urol. 1977;14:369–72.
- Morales A, Eidinger D, Bruce AW. Intracavitary bacillus Calmette-Guerin in the treatment of superficial bladder tumors. J Urol. 1976;116:180–3.
- Lamm DL, Thor DE, Harris SC, Reyna JA, Stogdill VD, Radwin HM. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy of superficial bladder cancer. J Urol. 1980;124:38–40.
- Pinsky CM, Camacho FJ, Kerr D, et al. Intravesical administration of bacillus Calmette-Guerin in patients with recurrent superficial carcinoma of the urinary bladder: report of a prospective, randomized trial. Cancer Treat Rep. 1985;69:47–53.
- Babjuk M, Böhle A, Burger M, Capoun O, Cohen D, Compérat EM, et al. EAU guidelines on non-muscleinvasive Urothelial carcinoma of the bladder: update 2016. Eur Urol. 2017;71(3):447–61.
- Ratliff TL, Kavoussi LR, Catalona WJ. Role of fibronectin in intravesical BCG therapy for superficial bladder cancer. J Urol. 1988;139:410–4.

- Lattime EC, Gomella LG, McCue PA. Murine bladder carcinoma cells present antigen to BCG-specific CD4+ T-cell. Cancer Res. 1992;52:4286–90.
- Bohle A, Gerdes J, Ulmer AJ, Hofstetter AG, Flad HD. Effects of local bacillus Calmetter-Guerin therapy in patients with bladder carcinoma on immunocompetent cells of the bladder wall. J Urol. 1990;144:53–8.
- Ratliff TL, Ritchey JK, Yuan JJ, Andriole GL, Catalona WJ. T-cell subsets required for intravesical BCG immunotherapy for bladder cancer. J Urol. 1993;150:1018–23.
- Jackson AM, Alexandroff AB, Kelly RW, et al. Changes in urinary cytokines and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in bladder cancer patients after bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) immunotherapy. Clin Exp Immunol. 1995;99:369–75.
- Inman BA, Sebo TJ, Frigola X, Dong H, Bergstralh EJ, Frank I, et al. PD-L1 (B7-H1) expression by urothelial carcinoma of the bladder and BCG-induced granulomata: associations with localized stage progression. Cancer. 2007;109(8):1499–505.
- Vandeveer AJ, Fallon JK, Tighe R, Sabzevari H, Schlom J, Greiner JW. Systemic immunotherapy of non-muscle invasive mouse bladder cancer with Avelumab, an anti-PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibitor. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(5):452–62.
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(23):2189–99.
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Science. 2015;350(6257):207–11.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):124–8.
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500(7463): 415–21.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of urothelial bladder carcinoma. Nature. 2014;507(7492):315–22.
- Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, et al. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. Nature. 2013;502(7471):333–9.
- 22. Nakanishi J, Wada Y, Matsumoto K, Azuma M, Kikuchi K, Ueda S. Overexpression of B7-H1 (PD-L1) significantly associates with tumor grade and postoperative prognosis in human urothelial cancers. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(8):1173–82.
- 23. Xylinas E, Robinson BD, Kluth LA, Volkmer BG, Hautmann R, Küfer R, et al. Association of T-cell coregulatory protein expression with clinical outcomes following radical cystectomy for urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(1):121–7.
- Bellmunt J, Mullane SA, Werner L, Fay AP, Callea M, Leow JJ, et al. Association of PD-L1 expression on tumor-infiltrating mononuclear cells and overall

survival in patients with urothelial carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(4):812–7.

- 25. Baras AAM, Guner M, Gandhi G, Liu N, Taube J, Bivalacqua J, et al. PDL1 status in muscle invasive urothelial bladder carcinoma (MIBC) in the context of neoadjuvant cisplatin based chemotherapy. J Urol. 2015;193:e703.
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature. 2014;515(7528):558–62.
- 27. Petrylak DP, Powles T, Bellmunt J, Braiteh F, Loriot Y, Morales R, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with metastatic urothelial carcinoma: a 2-year clinical update from a phase Ia Study. Genitourinary Symposium (ASCO-GU 2017) : abstract P290.
- Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, van der Heijden MS, Balar AV, Necchi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016a;387(10031):1909–20.
- 29. Rosenberg JE, Petrylak DP, Van Der Heijden MS, Necchi A, O'Donnell PH, Loriot Y, et al. PD-L1 expression, cancer genome atlas (TCGA) subtype, and mutational load as independent predictors of response to atezolizumab (atezo) in metastatic urothelial carcinoma (mUC; IMvigor210). J Clin Oncol. 2016b;34. (suppl; abstr 104).
- 30. Balar AV, Galsky MD, Rosenberg JE, Powles T, Petrylak DP, Bellmunt J, IMvigor210 Study Group, et al. Atezolizumab as first-line treatment in cisplatinineligible patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10064):67–76.
- 31. De Santis M, Bellmunt J, Mead G, Kerst JM, Leahy M, Maroto P, et al. Randomized phase II/III trial assessing gemcitabine/carboplatin and methotrex-ate/carboplatin/vinblastine in patients with advanced urothelial cancer who are unfit for cisplatin-based chemotherapy: EORTC study 30986. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(2):191–9.
- 32. Plimack ER, Bellmunt J, Gupta S, Berger R, Chow LQ, Juco J, et al. Safety and activity of pembrolizumab in patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer (KEYNOTE-012): a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(2):212–20.
- 33. Sharma P, Callahan MK, Bono P, Kim J, Spiliopoulou P, Calvo E, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy in recurrent metastatic urothelial carcinoma (CheckMate 032): a multicentre, open-label, two-stage, multi-arm, phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(11):1590–8.
- 34. Sharma P, Retz M, Siefker-Radtke A, Baron A, Necchi A, Bedke J, et al. Nivolumab in metastatic urothelial carcinoma after platinum therapy (CheckMate 275): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(3):312–22.

- 35. Massard C, Gordon MS, Sharma S, Rafii S, Wainberg ZA, Luke J, et al. Safety and efficacy of Durvalumab (MEDI4736), an anti-programmed cell death ligand-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, in patients with advanced Urothelial bladder cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(26):3119–25.
- 36. Bellmunt J, de Wit R, Vaughn DJ, Fradet Y, Lee JL, Fong L, et al. Keynote-045: open-label, phase III study of Pembrolizumab as second-line therapy for advanced urothelial carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2017;376:1015–26.
- 37. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):23–34.
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, McDermott D, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(21):2006–17.

- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- 40. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-L1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:4275–80.
- 41. Antonia S, Goldberg SB, Balmanoukian A, Chaft JE, Sanborn RE, Gupta A, et al. Safety and antitumour activity of durvalumab plus tremelimumab in nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicentre, phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(3):299–308.
- 42. Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, Gettinger SN, Borghaei H, Brahmer JR, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):31–41.
PD-L1 and Other Immunological Diagnosis Tools

Nicolas A. Giraldo and Janis M. Taube

Contents

23.1	Introduction	371
23.2	PD-1/PD-L1 Blockade and the Role	
	of PD-L1 Expression as Biomarker	372
23.2.1	Early Experience in	
	Solid Tumors	372
23.2.2	NSCLC	372
23.2.3	Urogenital Malignancies (Urothelial	
	and Renal Cell Carcinoma)	373
23.2.4	Melanoma	374
23.2.5	Virus-Associated Cancers	374
23.3	PD-L1 Assays	375
23.4	What is the Meaning of PD-L1	
	Expression in the Tumor	
	Microenvironment (TME)?	377
23.5	Other Potential Biomarkers	379
23.5.1	Mutational Loads	379
23.5.2	Molecular Subgroups	379
23.5.3	CD8 ⁺ TIL	379
23.5.4	Gene Signatures	380
23.5.5	T-Cell Repertoire	380
23.5.6	Peripheral Blood Markers	380
Conclu	sions and Future Directions	381
Referen	nces	381

N.A. Giraldo, MD, PhD • J.M. Taube, MD (⊠) The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, 600 N. Wolfe Street, Blalock 907, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: jtaube1@jhmi.edu

23.1 Introduction

As immunotherapy has joined the ranks of mainstay cancer treatment modalities, biomarkers of response and resistance have become highly sought after. Pretreatment biomarkers have the potential to facilitate rational patient selection, perhaps even for those patients who demonstrate unconventional response patterns such as a delayed response or tumor "progression" before evident regression. Immune-related adverse events, some severe, are also observed with this group of agents. Biomarkers of response could help practitioners avoid exposing patients who are unlikely to respond to these potential immunerelated side effects. Additionally, the elevated cost of the therapies is another factor driving intensive study in this area.

The most well-studied factor influencing response to treatment is PD-L1 protein expression as measured by immunohistochemistry. It has been shown to enrich the objective response rate (ORR) to treatment with both anti-PD-1 and PD-L1 monotherapy across multiple solid tumor types, and most recently to combine anti-PD-1/ CTLA-4 blockade in patients with non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). This chapter will review the utility of PD-L1 expression as a theranostic biomarker in multiple tumor types, as well as identify issues regarding its implementation in clinical practice, such as the different commercially available PD-L1 assays. Additional emerging tumor tissue-based biomarkers such as

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_23

the mutational load of the tumor, densities of CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL), T-cell clonality studies, and gene expression signatures as well as peripheral blood biomarkers will also be introduced.

23.2 PD-1/PD-L1 Blockade and the Role of PD-L1 Expression as Biomarker

23.2.1 Early Experience in Solid Tumors

The first suggestion that PD-L1 expression measured by immunohistochemistry (IHC) might be associated with response to anti-PD-1 came from the phase I study of anti-PD-1 (MDX1106, nivolumab) reported in 2010 [1]. In this study, only nine patients had available tissue for study, and yet a correlation between membranous (cell surface) PD-L1 expression and response was noted. This finding was then further assessed on the expansion study where pretreatment tumor material was available: 42 patients with multiple tumor types, including melanoma, NSCLC, RCC, prostate cancer, and colorectal cancer. When tumor cell PD-L1 expression was assessed, none (0/17) patients who were PD-L1 negative responded, while 36% (9/25) patients whose

tumors were positive by IHC for PD-L1 had an objective response (p = 0.006) [2]. Another landmark clinical trial that reported in 2014 evaluated the activity of an anti-PD-L1 antibody (atezolizumab) in different solid malignancies (NSCLC, melanoma, RCC, head and neck, breast, colorectal, among others) and also studied PD-L1 as a potential biomarker of response. However, they emphasized PD-L1 expression on immune cells rather than tumor cells. They reported a significant association between the expression of PD-L1 on immune cells and ORR (45% vs. 16% in PD-L1(+) and PD-L1(-) tumors, respectively) [3]. Subsequently, the majority of clinical trials assessing the response to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade have evaluated the protein expression of PD-L1 by the tumor and/or infiltrating immune cells in pretreatment tumor specimens and the relationship with clinical outcome. Some of these major clinical trials are summarized below, and composite response rates by PD-L1 status are shown in Fig. 23.1.

23.2.2 NSCLC

NSCLC is perhaps the most well-studied tumor type with regard to the activity of PD-1/PD-L1 blocking agents. Nine clinical trials, accounting for 1725 NSCLC-bearing patients treated with



Fig. 23.1 PD-L1 expression measured by IHC in pretreatment tumor specimens enriches objective response rates (ORR) to PD-1/L1 blockade across multiple solid tumor types. The ORR to PD-1/PD-L1 blocking agents (nivolumab, pembrolizumab, atezolizumab, or durvalumab) for 25 clinical trials on eight cancer types is summarized for each tumor type and stratified by PD-L1

status. The aggregate number of responders over the total number of patients in each category is displayed at the top of each column, and the number of clinical trials (n) is displayed underneath the name of each cancer type. *NSCLC* non-small cell lung cancer, *RCC* renal cell carcinoma, *HNSCC* head and neck cancer, *MCC* Merkel cell carcinoma

one of three different anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapies [nivolumab [4-8], pembrolizumab (human IgG4 anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody) [9, 10], and atezolizumab [3, 11]], show a collective ORR of 17%. Data pooled from all patients irrespective of whether they received the agents in the first-line or higher-order setting, or the assay used to determine PD-L1 positivity-demonstrates an ORR of 33% in patients with PD-L1(+) tumors and 11% for those with PD-L1(-) tumors. When each therapeutic was assessed individually, the relationship held constant: ORR 30% PD-L1(+) vs. 13% PD-L1(-) for nivolumab (five studies and 538 treated patients), ORR 33% PD-L1(+) vs. 11% PD-L1(-) for pembrolizumab (two studies and 1015 treated patients), and ORR 42% PD-L1(+) vs. 11% PD-L1(-) for atezolizumab (two studies and 190 treated patients).

A recent study comparing anti-PD-1 monotherapy to dual anti-PD-1/CTLA-4 blockade as first-line treatment for patients with NSCLC reported two interesting findings related to PD-L1 as a biomarker [12]. The first was the finding that increasing levels of PD-L1 in the pretreatment tumor microenvironment enriched for ORR to anti-PD-1. This finding is notable because it argues against dichotomous reporting of PD-L1 status. The second finding of note was that increasing levels of PD-L1 expression in the pretreatment tumor specimens were not only predictive of the improved response to anti-PD-1, but it was also associated with an increasing ORR in patients receiving the combinatorial regimen.

The histological subtype, underlying genetic alterations, and smoking status in patients with NSCLC have also been studied for their association with PD-L1 status and response to therapy. Subset analysis shows that the tumor histology may impact the association between PD-L1 expression and response to therapy, with PD-L1 enriching for response in non-squamous NSCLC but not in tumors displaying squamous histology [6, 9]. This may be due to the fact that PD-L1 expression in lung adenocarcinomas is associated with IFN-gamma, while PD-L1 expression in lung squamous cell carcinoma is not [13] (see below section on "What is the meaning of PD-L1

expression in the tumor microenvironment?"). Mutations in EGFR, TP53, and KRAS genes have all been associated with increased PD-L1 expression, often via activation of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway [14]. Of these, TP53 and KRAS mutations have been correlated with higher ORR [15, 16], while EGFR mutations are thought to confer partial resistance to anti-PD-1 checkpoint blockade [4, 5, 9]. Lastly, several studies have reported higher ORR [4, 7, 10] or longer PFS [5] among patients who had history of smoking. The tumor expression of PD-L1 in this latter group is not clearly increased [17].

23.2.3 Urogenital Malignancies (Urothelial and Renal Cell Carcinoma)

Urothelial carcinoma (carcinoma of the bladder, ureters, and renal pelvis) is another tumor type that has displayed a high sensitivity to PD-1/ PD-L1 blockade. Most clinical trials for this tumor type have evaluated the activity of anti-PD-L1 rather than anti-PD-1. An overall ORR of 16% has been observed in five different clinical trials, treating 752 patients [18–22]. When stratified by PD-L1 expression in the TME, patients with either PD-L1(+) tumor [18, 22] or immune cells [19–21] have an ORR of 27%, compared to an ORR of 11% in the patients with PD-L1(-)tumors. When subdivided by therapeutic agent, the association of PD-L1 expression with response is not dependent on the anti-PD-L1 agent received. For example, a 27% ORR in PD-L1(+) patients vs. 11% ORR in PD-L1(-) patients was observed in trials of atezolizumab (three studies and 695 treated patients) [19–21], and a 45% ORR in PD-L1(+) patients vs. 0% ORR for PD-L1(-) patients was noted in the one clinical trial on 42 patients [22]. Notably, the sole study focused on the efficacy of an anti-PD-1 agent (nivolumab, 67 treated patients) found similar ORR in patients with PD-L1(+) and PD-L1(-) tumors (24% vs. 26%, respectively) [18]. While differences in ORR were not observed, an improved median overall survival for patients with PD-L1(+) tumors when compared to PD-L1(-) tumors was noted. The study focused on tumor cell PD-L1 display only and used a 1% threshold for assigning a tumor as PD-L1(+), which is lower than the studies using anti-PD-L1 agents. Future studies will undoubtedly focus on whether studying a component of PD-L1 expression on immune cells will better stratify patient response to nivolumab, as was seen for atezolizumab.

Two clinical trials focused on the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) have reported information regarding PD-L1 status and association with response. One study administered nivolumab (n = 107) and the other atezolizumab (n = 55), and the overall ORR for both studies was 19% [23, 24]. There was no clear benefit to PD-L1 expression in the TME in either of these studies. A separate small study with ten patients compared the activity of atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab (humanized monoclonal anti-VEGF) between PD-L1(+) and PD-L1(-) tumors and also found no differences [25]. Like for lung SCC (discussed above), it is possible that this lack of enrichment may be due to the fact that PD-L1 expression in RCC is not associated with IFN-gamma expression, in contrast to many of the other solid tumor types [13].

23.2.4 Melanoma

Advanced melanoma has displayed one of the highest response rates to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade out of the solid tumor types studied. Four clinical trials including 871 patients with melanoma and annotated tumor PD-L1 expression demonstrated an overall ORR of 40% [26-29]. Patients with PD-L1(+) tumors (defined with a cutoff of 5% and focused on tumor cell expression in all clinical trials) showed an ORR of 53%, while those with PD-L1(-) tumors had an ORR of 34%. As some of the trials have matured, other endpoints such as progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) can be assessed, rather than just the ORR. Patients with PD-L1(+) melanomas have now been shown to have longer PFS and OS than PD-L1(-) patients [30]. Further, melanoma patients demonstrating higher levels of PD-L1

expression are more likely to respond than those demonstrating lower level of expression [31], calling into question the use of a dichotomous scoring system for what may be considered a continuous variable. An association between the BRAF^{V600E} mutation and PD-L1 expression or the patient's response to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade has not been identified [26, 32, 33]. This also has important biomarker implications, as it indicates that the BRAF^{V600E} mutation and PD-L1 expression should be considered separate biomarkers when making treatment decisions for patients with advanced melanoma.

PD-L1 expression has also been evaluated as a potential biomarker for response to dual anti-PD-1/CTLA-4 checkpoint blockade in patients with melanoma. In contrast to patients receiving anti-PD-1 monotherapy, PD-L1 status does not impact the remarkably high response rates observed with this regimen, indicating that combinatorial blockade may be able to "overcome PD-L1(-) status" [26]. It has been suggested that PD-L1 status may be used on the future for sorting patients between regimens, with PD-L1(+) patients receiving anti-PD-1 monotherapy, which is associated with a lower side effect profile and PD-L1(-) patients receiving combined anti-PD-1/CTLA-4 checkpoint blockade.

23.2.5 Virus-Associated Cancers

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), gastric carcinoma, and Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) are remarkable for their recognized association with viral infections—human papillomavirus, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), and Merkel cell polyomavirus, respectively. In each of these tumor types, virus-positive tumors have been shown to be more likely to express PD-L1 than virus-negative tumors [32, 34–36]. The presence of viral antigens is thought to contribute to an antitumor immune response, and thus immune checkpoint blocking agents were anticipated to show activity in these tumor types. Initial studies suggest that like with the other solid tumor types discussed above, patients with HSNCC show a greater likelihood of response to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 blockade if their tumors are PD-L1 positive vs. negative: ORR of 21% vs. 4% [37]. In a small study of patients with gastric cancer treated with pembrolizumab, a 22% ORR was observed. PD-L1 expression at a 1% cutoff was required for enrollment; thus, potential differential response between PD-L1(+) vs. (-) was not available, and EBV status was not assessed [38]. Patients with MCC on one study showed an impressive response to anti-PD-1, though notably, response to therapy was not significantly associated with either the presence of virus or PD-L1 expression [39]. It is possible that this is because virus-negative MCCs have very high mutational densities, a feature which is also recognized as a biomarker of response to anti-PD-1 (see Mutational Load section below). The relationship between viral status and response to immune checkpoint blockade is an area of ongoing, active investigation.

23.3 PD-L1 Assays

The initial reports of the correlating PD-L1 expression with response to anti-PD-1 were performed using a laboratory-derived IHC test [1, 2]. Four different proprietary, commercial PD-L1 assays were soon developed on two different immunostaining platforms and accompanied clinical trials of each respective company's anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agent, Table 23.1. Many of the assays used different scoring systems and different thresholds for considering a case to be PD-L1(+) vs. PD-L1(-). In addition to being confusing for pathologists and oncologists, this scenario is impractical for surgical pathology laboratories, as they are very unlikely to have the resources to support four different PD-L1 assays on two different immunostaining platforms. Most labs have a single immunostainer, and it may not necessarily be either the Dako Link 48 or Ventana BenchMark platform that is called for by the marketed assays.

The FDA recognized the potential hazard of such a "one assay/one drug" paradigm and helped support an effort to understand the comparative performance of the four different marketed PD-L1 assays. The four leading companies with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapies and the two companies that produced the PD-L1 IHC assays participated in this effort. In the resultant study, known as the "blueprint effort," 40 archival surgical pathology cases of NSCLC patients were gathered, and sequential FFPE tumor sections were stained with each of the assays. PD-L1 scoring of both tumor cell and immune cell PD-L1 expression was then assessed by three different pathologists, whose results were averaged. Importantly, it was not assessed using the companies' suggested scoring systems, but simply as a percentage of tumor cell or immune cell staining. They found that three of the assays performed very similarly (22C3, 28-8 and SP263 assays), while the SP142 assay clearly highlighted less tumor

	Bristol-Myers squibb	Merck	Genentech/Roche	AstraZeneca/ Medimmune
mAb clone	28-8	22C3	SP142	SP263
Automated	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Diagnostic partner	Dako	Dako	Ventana	Ventana
Machine	Link 48	Link 48	BenchMark ULTRA	BenchMark ULTRA
Scoring	Tumor cells (membrane)	Tumor cells (membrane)	Tumor and/or immune cells (membrane)	Tumor cells (membrane)
Positive cutoff	\geq 5% (also studied \geq 1% and \geq 10% thresholds)	≥1% for trial enrollment other analysis at ≥50%	• TC3 (≥50%) or IC3 (≥10%) • TC2/3 or IC2/3 (>5%) • TC 1/2/3 or IC 1/2/3 (>1%) • TC0 and IC0 (0%)	≥25%

Table 23.1 Four different commercially available PD-L1 immunohistochemistry assays

cell PD-L1 expression than the other three assays [40].

There are two other notable studies focused on assay comparisons. One was led by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, supported by Bristol-Myers Squibb, and involved 13 academic pathologists. This effort compared the 22C3 assay, the 28-8 assay, a laboratory-derived test (LDT) using the SP142 antibody clone designed to mimic the SP142 commercial assay, and an LDT using the E1L3N clone on 90 archival surgical pathology cases of NSCLC. In this larger and statistically powered study, the SP142 assay labeled not only less tumor cell staining of PD-L1 expression but also less immune cell expression [41]. Interestingly, in this comparison, when the scores for each case were averaged among the 13 pathologists, the 22C3 assay labeled slightly less tumor cells than the 28-8 and E1L3N assays. However, the variance of scoring between the individual pathologists was greater than the observed difference in PD-L1 labeling between the 22C3 assay vs. the 28-8 assay and E1L3N LDT; thus, in routine surgical pathology practice, this difference in assay performance would never be realized.

The third effort studied the largest number of cases—nearly 500 archival NSCLC cases which were scored for PD-L1 expression by one primary pathologist. A proportion of the cases is also scored by a second pathologist. They showed a > 90% concordance between the SP263 assay, the 28–8 assay, and the 22C3 assay at multiple cut points for tumor cell staining [42]. The SP142 assay was not commercially available at the time this study was conducted and thus was not assessed for concordance with the other three assays.

The terminology with respect to commercially available PD-L1 assays is potentially confusing because the assays themselves include the clone name. For example, the "SP142 antibody clone" is different than the "SP142 assay," the latter of which includes the former as one of the many reagents which are used in a specific order and under precise technical conditions to make an assay system. Thus, observed performance differences in PD-L1 IHC assays could be due to primary antibody concentration, antibody affinity, the epitope that the antibody targets, antigen retrieval reagent, pH of specific reagents, or amplification steps, among other things. The assay systems for the commercially marketed assays are proprietary; so very little detail is available about the extended list of components. Two different studies have been performed which hold the other assay conditions essentially constant and focus on the concordance of the anti-PD-L1 antibody clones. For both NSCLC specimens and melanoma specimens, the SP142 antibody performed as well as the 28-8, 22C3, and the SP263 clones when all other assay conditions were held constant [43, 44]. When differences were observed between antibody clones, review of the slides showed that the differences were due to the focal and heterogeneous nature of PD-L1 expression that varied from one tumor slice to the next, rather than clear differences in assay sensitivity for tumor cell or immune cell labeling. Concordance was not significantly affected by whether the antibody labeled the intracellular or extracellular domain of the PD-L1 molecule, Fig. 23.2. These studies thus suggest that it is some other component of the assay system beyond the SP142 antibody clone itself that leads to the observed differences in SP142 assay performance, when compared to the other commercially available assays.

Taken together, these collective findings suggest that in the future, a surgical pathology labo-



Fig. 23.2 Commercial PD-L1 assays contain different primary antibodies, some of which target the extracellular domain of the PD-L1 molecule (22C3 and 28-8), while others target the intracellular domain (SP142 and SP263)

ratory may be able to offer only one of the three commercial PD-L1 assays (28-8, 22C3, or SP263 assays) that show similar performance, or even an LDT with equivalent performance characteristics (including one that utilizes the SP142 clone), as long as the specific, commercially designed, and clinically tested scoring system for PD-L1 expression is paired with the appropriate anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapeutic agent. Due to the focal nature of PD-L1 expression, as well as the closely related issue of temporal and spatial heterogeneity, additional studies are required to determine the ideal type of tissue (specimen size and number of lesions, etc.) to optimize the predictive value of PD-L1 expression in the pretreatment tumor microenvironment.

23.4 What is the Meaning of PD-L1 Expression in the Tumor Microenvironment (TME)?

The PD-1/PD-L axis, composed of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and its ligands (PD-L1 and PD-L2), is one of the most important physiologic mechanisms for the maintenance of peripheral tolerance [45, 46]. It is key in controlling the magnitude of cytotoxic T-cell responses and has been described in virtually all types of inflammatory conditions, unlike many other inhibitory receptor pathways [47]. PD-1 is expressed on activated T cells and B cells [48]. PD-1 expression by T cells is induced by TCRdependent activation, though the levels of expression and the window of time where it is expressed are a function of the nature and continuity of the stimuli [49, 50]. PD-L1 and PD-L2 are typically expressed by a subset of macrophages but can be induced in a variety of both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells by a diverse array of inflammatory cytokines [47]. PD-1/PD-L1 engagement inhibits the core functions of T cells, including cytokine production, proliferation, and cytotoxic granule formation [51–53].

Tumors may exploit the PD-1/PD-L1 axis to escape T-cell-mediated attack. Four different histologic patterns of PD-L1 expression in the TME were first described in melanoma and include: (1) PD-L1(+)/TIL+, (2) PD-L1(+)/TIL-, (3) PD-L1(-) and TIL+, and (4) PD-L1(-) /TIL-[54], Fig. 23.3A. Since this original description, these patterns have been recognized in solid tumor types as diverse as NSCLC, anal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), and breast carcinoma [55–57]. Each of these patterns is thought to represent a distinct immune microenvironment, Fig. 23.3 [58].

The two PD-L1(+) patterns that are TIL- and TIL+ are thought to correlate with *innate* and adaptive immune resistance by tumor, respectively [59]. Innate immune resistance means constitutive, oncogene-driven expression of PD-L1. Histologically, this is represented by broad expression of PD-L1 on the tumor cell surface and is geographically unrelated to the presence of TIL. Genetic abnormalities that have been associated with such an increase in PD-L1 expression include PTEN deletions, PI3K-AKT mutations, and chromosome nine amplifications [14, 60, 61]. The *adaptive immune resistance* pattern of PD-L1 expression is characterized histologically by PD-L1 display on tumor cells or immune cells immediately adjacent to TIL [54]. This pattern is most often seen along the invasive margin of the tumor (where TIL are often the most dense). PD-L1 expression in this scenario is induced by interferon gamma (IFN-y) and other inflammatory cytokines secreted by activated immune cells [13, 54, 62]. Importantly, tumors may also demonstrate a mixture of these two mechanisms, whereby there is an adaptive component superimposed on constitutive PD-L1 expression [55, 57, 61].

It is likely that the different biologic mechanisms underlying PD-L1 expression have contributed to the conflicting reports in the literature regarding the prognostic impact of PD-L1 expression. When the adaptive pattern of PD-L1 expression is studied, it is a positive prognostic feature in tumor types such as melanoma, NSCLC, breast carcinoma, and laryngeal SCC [62–65]. This is consistent with the notion that adaptive PD-L1 expression represents an ongoing host immune response against tumor. Notably, constitutive PD-L1 expression in both NSCLC and melanoma



Innate immune resistance (PD-L1+ and TIL-)

Immune-neglected (PD-L1- and TIL-)

Fig. 23.3 Patterns of PD-L1 expression and TIL define distinct tumor microenvironments. In tumors demonstrating an *adaptive immune resistance* pattern of PD-L1 expression (*upper left*), activated, PD-1 expressing T cells at the host-tumor interface secrete IFN-y and other inflammatory cytokines, which in turn, induces the expression of PD-L1 by tumor cells and associated immune cells. The subsequent engagement of PD-1 on T cells by PD-L1 induces T-cell inhibition, promoting immune tolerance. For tumors demonstrating an *innate* pattern of PD-L1

has been associated with a worse prognosis [56, 66]. These findings underscore the need for understanding the geographic context of PD-L1 expression as opposed to noting whether it is simply present or absent in the TME.

The two PD-L1(–) patterns that are TIL- and TIL+ also represent different underlying biologies. The mechanisms responsible for the PD-L1(–)/TIL+ type of microenvironment are more heterogeneous and still under investigation. Potential explanations include the different functional states of TIL, i.e., the TILs are not secreting IFN- γ [54, 62], as well as alterations in the IFN- γ receptor intracellular cascade in the tumor cells [67, 68]. It is also possible that the tumor is evading the immune system by another mechanism, including potentially an immune checkpoint other than PD-1/PD-L1. The tumors from TIL patients, on the other hand, are essentially *neglected* by the immune system.

Each of these PD-L1 expression patterns also likely has therapeutic implications [69]. For

expression (*lower left*), mutations (e.g., PTEN) lead to constitutive PD-L1 expression by tumor cells that is independent of TIL. PD-L1(–)/TIL+ tumors are those with an *ineffective immune infiltrate (upper right*). Factors contributing to this phenotype include those that disrupt the adaptive immune resistance pathway—including the defective activation or function of TIL or mutations leading to the dysfunctional response to IFN- χ by tumors cells. PD-L1(–)/TIL– tumors are *immune-neglected* (*lower right*)

example, patients with an adaptive immune resistance pattern (PD-L1(+)/TIL+) are thought to be the most likely to respond to anti-PD-1/ PD-L1 monotherapy [70, 71]. Individuals with immune-neglected tumors (PD-L1(-)/TIL-) or exhibiting a pure pattern of innate immune resistance (PD-L1(+)/TIL-) might require vaccination or other treatments that promote an antitumor T-cell response in addition to PD-1/ PD-L1 checkpoint blockade [69, 72]. The sensitivity to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 of tumors demonstrating a combined adaptive and constitutive pattern is still unclear, but it is most likely related to the density and distribution of specific TIL subsets [73–75]. Finally, the approach to PD-L1(-)/TIL+ tumors will depend on additional characterization of the tumor and TIL. For example, tumors harboring mutations in JAK1 or JAK2 can interfere with the capacity of the tumor cells to upregulate PD-L1 in response to IFN-y [67, 68] and thus can confer resistance to PD-1 blockade. Tumors evading the immune system via a

different checkpoint molecule or harboring TIL subsets other than cytotoxic T cells could also show a similar pattern. Depending on the underlying cause, these tumors could require blockade of another checkpoint, combination immunotherapy, or for the case of truly IFN- γ -resistant tumors, another form of therapy beyond immunotherapy [69].

23.5 Other Potential Biomarkers

23.5.1 Mutational Loads

One of the hallmarks of tumor cells is genomic instability [76]. In fact, a tumor cell exhibits in average ~120 non-synonymous mutations, a number that can increase up to ~ 2000 [77]. Higher mutational loads have been associated with an improved prognosis in certain cancer types [13, 78, 79]. This is thought to be because the mutations serve as potential sources of immunogenic neoantigens [80]. When the mutational landscapes for a broad array of cancer types were determined, many with the highest mutational loads (melanoma, NSCLC, and bladder carcinoma) were noted to be those that were responsive to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapies in early clinical trials [81, 82], further supporting this concept.

The relationship between mutational load and response to immune checkpoint blockade has now been formally tested in a number of clinical trials. In patients with NSCLC and treated with anti-PD-1, an increased number of tumoral nonsynonymous mutations was associated with higher ORR and longest PFS [83, 84]. Similar findings have been reported for response to anti-CTLA-4 in patients with melanoma [85, 86] and to anti-PD-L1 in patients with urothelial carcinoma. [20] Perhaps the most striking example is provided by tumors that are microsatellite unstable (have defects in their DNA-repairing machinery) which exhibit much higher mutational burdens and correspondingly higher ORR to anti-PD-1 treatments than tumors from other etiologies [87]. It is currently unclear how much of this the improved survival seen after treatment is

attributable to the fact that patients with an increased mutational load may have had an improved prognosis anyway [88].

Although mutational burden is often correlated with predicted neoantigen load, a given neoantigen may not always be immunogenic [80]. There is currently intense interest in identifying specific neoantigens that are the targets of individual host, antitumor T-cell reactivity. The identification of these would allow for the development of truly personalized medicine approaches.

23.5.2 Molecular Subgroups

The analysis of whole transcriptomic data from specific tumor types, for example, by The Cancer Genome Atlas project, has led to the description of cancer type subfamilies (or *molecular subgroups*) [89]. To date, the correlation between a tumor molecular subgroup and response to checkpoint blockade has only been assessed in urothelial carcinoma. Two independent studies have described that patients with the "luminal cluster II" subtype of urothelial cancer displayed higher chances of response to treatment [19, 20]. This is an emerging area of interest that will likely be extended in the future to other cancer types.

23.5.3 CD8+ TIL

A large amount of evidence supports that the composition and distribution of the tumor immune infiltrate have an important impact on patient's clinical outcome [90]. A recent study by Becht et al. [89] reported more than 130 publications supporting a positive association between increased densities of CD8⁺ and Th1-oriented TIL and good clinical outcome in more than 20 different cancer types. A similar association between CD8⁺ TIL densities and response to anti-PD-1 has been reported in patients with melanoma and colorectal cancer treated with pembrolizumab [70, 87] and patients with melanoma, initially treated with anti-CTLA-4 followed by nivolumab, at progression [91].

Interestingly, two independent studies have reported that the degree of CD8⁺ TIL infiltration is not associated with response to anti-PD-1 in metastatic RCC [24, 62]. This could be related to the fact that in RCC—in contrast to the majority of cancer types—increasing cytotoxic CD8⁺ TILs are associated with decreased survival [13]. This may be due to the co-expression of several inhibitory receptors on TIL and a polyclonal intratumor T-cell response [92, 93].

23.5.4 Gene Signatures

Several studies testing anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents have evaluated the correlation between the abundance of a high number of immune- and nonimmune-related transcripts and clinical outcome in different cancer types. Consistent with previous evidence, the upregulation of IFN- γ signaling-related genes (e.g., IFNG, CD8A, IDO, and CX3CL1) has been associated with therapeutic response in several studies [3, 38, 94-96]. Other immune signatures correlated with clinical outcome include genes associated with TCR signaling and a cytotoxic immune response [94, 95]. As PD-L1 transcription can be induced by IFN- γ , it is reasonable to imagine that tumors exhibiting an IFN- γ -gene signature may overlap with those expressing PD-L1 protein [54], i.e., both methods could roughly identify the same group of tumors [62]. The validation of immune-related gene signatures is currently under intense investigation and commercial kits to estimate the patient's sensitivity to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents based on this method are anticipated in the near future.

Gene signatures associated with resistance to PD-1 blockade have also been reported. For instance, melanomas exhibiting resistance to pembrolizumab overexpress genes involved in mesenchymal transition (e.g., AXL and ROR2), immunosuppression (e.g., IL10 and VEGFA), and monocyte and macrophage chemoattraction (e.g., CCL2 and CCL13) when compared to melanomas that are sensitive to anti-PD-1 [88]. Nonimmune-related pathways may also contribute to the efficacy of checkpoint blockade. For example, PD-L1(+) renal cell carcinomas resistant to anti-PD-1 treatment overexpress genes involved in metabolic and solute transport functions, such as UGT1A [97].

23.5.5 T-Cell Repertoire

The mechanism of action of immune checkpoint inhibitors is most likely related to the enhancement of the in situ cytotoxic immune responses against neoantigens expressed on the tumor cells. In fact, many clinical trials have suggested that treatment with these agents facilitates an influx of CD8⁺ TIL into the tumors [1, 70, 91, 98], accompanied by an intra-tumoral and peripheral change in the T-cell repertoires [83, 99, 100]. For this reason, the T-cell clonality index (which measures both the number and abundance of unique TCR CDR3 variable sequences) has been proposed as one potential biomarker of response to checkpoint inhibitors. For patients with melanoma treated with anti-CTLA-4, an oligoclonal response, i.e., a less diverse T-cell repertoire, in the pretreatment tumor specimens or in the peripheral blood following treatment initiation is associated with response [101, 102]. Patients with melanoma who responded to anti-PD-1 also exhibited more clonal T-cell populations when compared to nonresponders [70].

23.5.6 Peripheral Blood Markers

IFN- γ -driven PD-L1 expression in the local tumor microenvironment has been shown to associate with response to anti-PD-1, as discussed above. IFN- γ -responsive elements such as Bim expression on T cells in the peripheral blood have also been observed to be expressed at high levels in patients experiencing clinical benefit with anti-PD-1 [103]. Recently, a publication evaluating the activity of atezolizumab in metastatic RCC and advanced melanoma described that the serum concentration of some cytokines and acute-phase proteins could be associated

with response to treatment [24]. Another parameter that can be assessed in the patient's serum is the circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) levels. One study reported that the levels of ctDNA correlated with clinical and radiologic outcomes in patients undergoing treatment with checkpoint blockade but its utility as biomarker of clinical response has yet to be formally tested [104]. Due to the minimally invasive nature of peripheral blood draws as well as the relatively easy potential implementation of a blood-based assay in routine clinical practice, this area is one of particularly intense scrutiny.

23.6 Conclusions and Future Directions

The majority of studies suggest a robust association between an increased in situ immune response against tumor and clinical outcome following therapeutic intervention with immune checkpoint blockade. Local PD-L1 protein expression, high mutational loads, increased infiltration with TIL, and overexpression of an IFN- γ -oriented gene signature are the biomarkers with the most experimental support. Most of the studies evaluating these parameters need further validation and extended testing in more cancer types. While most of the focus to date has been on cytotoxic T cells, other immune cell populations such as B cells and macrophages can facilitumor cell elimination. Additionally, tate populations such as regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells can dampen the antitumor immune response and promote malignant cell growth and tissue invasion [105]. New technologies such as multiplex immunofluorescence or immunohistochemistry will allow for the simultaneous identification, enumeration, and assessment of geographic relationships between numerous cellular populations, Fig. 23.4. Future studies will focus on integrating and prioritizing such spatial protein expression with genomic and transcriptomic signatures for improved patient selection, on treatment monitoring, and adaptive adjustment of therapeutic agent administration.



Fig. 23.4 Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded melanoma specimen stained and imaged using multispectral immunofluorescence. This approach facilitates the simultaneous visualization of different cellular subsets and studies of co-expression on the same slide. Shown here are cytotoxic CD8+ T cells (*blue*), FoxP3+ regulatory T cells (*red*), CD68+ macrophages (*magenta*), and Sox10+ melanoma cells (*orange*). PD-L1 (*aqua*) expression is seen on tumor cells, macrophages, and lymphocytes in close proximity to PD-1 expression by both CD8+ and FoxP3+ T cells

References

- Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:3167–75.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- Herbst RS, Soria J-C, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515:563–7.
- Gettinger S, Rizvi NA, Chow LQ, Borghaei H, Brahmer J, Ready N, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2980–7.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1627–39.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crinò L, Eberhardt WEE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:123–35.
- Gettinger SN, Horn L, Gandhi L, Spigel DR, Antonia SJ, Rizvi NA, et al. Overall survival and long-term safety of nivolumab (anti-programmed death 1 antibody, BMS-936558, ONO-4538) in patients with pre-

viously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2004–12.

- Rizvi NA, Mazières J, Planchard D, Stinchcombe TE, Dy GK, Antonia SJ, et al. Activity and safety of nivolumab, an anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, for patients with advanced, refractory squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 063): a phase 2, single-arm trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:257–65.
- Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim D-W, Felip E, Pérez-Gracia JL, Han J-Y, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet (Lond Engl). 2016;387:1540–50.
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2018–28.
- 11. Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, Kowanetz M, Vansteenkiste J, Mazieres J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. Lancet (Lond Engl). 2016;387:1837–46.
- Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, Gettinger SN, Borghaei H, Brahmer JR, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:31–41.
- Danilova L, Wang H, Sunshine J, Kaunitz GJ, Cottrell TR, Xu H, et al. Association of PD-1/PD-L axis expression with cytolytic activity, mutational load, and prognosis in melanoma and other solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E7769–77.
- Lastwika KJ, Wilson W, Li QK, Norris J, Xu H, Ghazarian SR, et al. Control of PD-L1 expression by oncogenic activation of the AKT-mTOR pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2016;76:227–38.
- 15. Tang Y, Fang W, Zhang Y, Hong S, Kang S, Yan Y, et al. The association between PD-L1 and EGFR status and the prognostic value of PD-L1 in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with EGFR-TKIs. Oncotarget. 2015;6:14209–19.
- Dong Z-Y, Zhong W, Zhang X-C, Su J, Xie Z, Liu S-Y, et al. Potential predictive value of TP53 and KRAS mutation status for response to PD-1 blockade immunotherapy in lung adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2554.
- Pan Z-K, Ye F, Wu X, An H-X, Wu J-X. Clinicopathological and prognostic significance of programmed cell death ligand1 (PD-L1) expression in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a metaanalysis. J Thorac Dis. 2015;7:462–70.
- Sharma P, Callahan MK, Bono P, Kim J, Spiliopoulou P, Calvo E, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy in recur-

rent metastatic urothelial carcinoma (CheckMate 032): a multicentre, open-label, two-stage, multiarm, phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1590–8.

- 19. Balar AV, Galsky MD, Rosenberg JE, Powles T, Petrylak DP, Bellmunt J, et al. Atezolizumab as first-line treatment in cisplatin-ineligible patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet (Lond Engl). 2016;389(10064):67–76.
- 20. Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, van der Heijden MS, Balar AV, Necchi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet (Lond Engl). 2016;387:1909–20.
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature. 2014;515:558–62.
- 22. Massard C, Gordon MS, Sharma S, Rafii S, Wainberg ZA, Luke J, et al. Safety and efficacy of durvalumab (MEDI4736), an anti-programmed cell death ligand-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, in patients with advanced urothelial bladder cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:3119–25.
- Motzer RJ, Rini BI, McDermott DF, Redman BG, Kuzel TM, Harrison MR, et al. Nivolumab for metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results of a randomized phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:1430–7.
- 24. McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Sznol M, Massard C, Gordon MS, Hamid O, et al. Atezolizumab, an antiprogrammed death-ligand 1 antibody, in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: long-term safety, clinical activity, and immune correlates from a phase ia study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:833–42.
- 25. Wallin JJ, Bendell JC, Funke R, Sznol M, Korski K, Jones S, et al. Atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab enhances antigen-specific T-cell migration in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12624.
- Larkin J, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1270–1.
- 27. Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, Hodi FS, Gutzmer R, Neyns B, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:375–84.
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.
- Weber DJ, Koroluk LD, Phillips C, Nguyen T, Proffit WR. Clinical effectiveness and efficiency of customized vs. conventional preadjusted bracket systems. J Clin Orthod (JCO). 2013;47:261–6. quiz 268
- 30. Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus

Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521–32.

- 31. Daud AI, Wolchok JD, Robert C, Hwu W-J, Weber JS, Ribas A, et al. Programmed death-ligand 1 expression and response to the anti-programmed death 1 antibody pembrolizumab in Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:4102–9.
- 32. Rodić N, Anders RA, Eshleman JR, Lin M-T, Xu H, Kim JH, et al. PD-L1 expression in melanocytic lesions does not correlate with the BRAF V600E mutation. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:110–5.
- 33. Atefi M, Avramis E, Lassen A, Wong DJL, Robert L, Foulad D, et al. Effects of MAPK and PI3K pathways on PD-L1 expression in melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:3446–57.
- Derks S, Liao X, Chiaravalli AM, Xu X, Camargo MC, Solcia E, et al. Abundant PD-L1 expression in Epstein-Barr virus-infected gastric cancers. Oncotarget. 2016;7:32925–32.
- 35. Kawazoe A, Kuwata T, Kuboki Y, Shitara K, Nagatsuma AK, Aizawa M, et al. Clinicopathological features of programmed death ligand 1 expression with tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte, mismatch repair, and Epstein-Barr virus status in a large cohort of gastric cancer patients. Gastric Cancer. 2016;20(3):407–15.
- 36. Lyford-Pike S, Peng S, Young GD, Taube JM, Westra WH, Akpeng B, et al. Evidence for a role of the PD-1:PD-L1 pathway in immune resistance of HPV-associated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2013;73:1733–41.
- 37. Chow LQM, Haddad R, Gupta S, Mahipal A, Mehra R, Tahara M, et al. Antitumor activity of pembrolizumab in biomarker-unselected patients with recurrent and/or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: results from the phase Ib KEYNOTE-012 expansion cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2016.
- 38. Muro K, Chung HC, Shankaran V, Geva R, Catenacci D, Gupta S, et al. Pembrolizumab for patients with PD-L1-positive advanced gastric cancer (KEYNOTE-012): a multicentre, open-label, phase 1b trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:717–26.
- Nghiem PT, Bhatia S, Lipson EJ, Kudchadkar RR, Miller NJ, Annamalai L, et al. PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in advanced Merkel-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;374:2542–52.
- 40. Hirsch FR, McElhinny A, Stanforth D, Ranger-Moore J, Jansson M, Kulangara K, et al. PD-L1 immunohistochemistry assays for lung cancer: results from phase 1 of the blueprint PD-L1 IHC assay comparison project. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12:208–22.
- 41. Rimm DL, Han G, Taube JM, Yi ES, Bridge JA, Flieder DB, et al. A prospective, multi-institutional, pathologist-based assessment of 4 immunohistochemistry assays for PD-L1 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2017.
- Ratcliffe MJ, Sharpe A, Midha A, Barker C, Scott M, Scorer P, et al. Agreement between programmed

cell death ligand-1 diagnostic assays across multiple protein expression cut-offs in non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2017.

- 43. Gaule P, Smithy JW, Toki M, Rehman J, Patell-Socha F, Cougot D, et al. A quantitative comparison of antibodies to programmed cell death 1 ligand 1. JAMA Oncol. 2016.
- 44. Sunshine JC, Berry S, Esandrio J, Xu H, Ogurtsova A, Cornish T, et al. Measurement of PD-L1 in melanoma: a quantitative antibody comparison. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3:P107.
- 45. Guleria I, Khosroshahi A, Ansari MJ, Habicht A, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. A critical role for the programmed death ligand 1 in fetomaternal tolerance. J Exp Med. 2005;202:231–7.
- Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2010;236:219–42.
- Boussiotis VA. Molecular and biochemical aspects of the PD-1 checkpoint pathway. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1767–78.
- 48. Agata Y, Kawasaki A, Nishimura H, Ishida Y, Tsubata T, Yagita H, et al. Expression of the PD-1 antigen on the surface of stimulated mouse T and B lymphocytes. Int Immunol. 1996;8:765–72.
- Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. Int Immunol. 2007;19:813–24.
- Legat A, Speiser DE, Pircher H, Zehn D, Fuertes Marraco SA. Inhibitory receptor expression depends more dominantly on differentiation and activation than "exhaustion" of human CD8T cells. Front Immunol. 2013;4:455.
- Sheppard K-A, Fitz LJ, Lee JM, Benander C, George JA, Wooters J, et al. PD-1 inhibits T-cell receptor induced phosphorylation of the ZAP70/CD3zeta signalosome and downstream signaling to PKCtheta. FEBS Lett. 2004;574:37–41.
- 52. Patsoukis N, Brown J, Petkova V, Liu F, Li L, Boussiotis VA. Selective effects of PD-1 on Akt and Ras pathways regulate molecular components of the cell cycle and inhibit T cell proliferation. Sci Signal. 2012;5:ra46.
- 53. Wei F, Zhong S, Ma Z, Kong H, Medvec A, Ahmed R, et al. Strength of PD-1 signaling differentially affects T-cell effector functions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:E2480–9.
- 54. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Sharma R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:127ra37.
- 55. Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16:275–87.
- 56. Parra ER, Behrens C, Rodriguez-Canales J, Lin H, Mino B, Blando J, et al. Image analysis-based assessment of PD-L1 and tumor-associated immune

cells density supports distinct intratumoral microenvironment groups in non-small cell lung carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:6278–89.

- 57. Yanik E, Kaunitz G, Cottrell T, McMiller T, Ascierto M, Jessica E, et al. The local immune response against anal squamous cell carcinoma is similar in 2 HIV-infected and uninfected patients: implications for immunotherapy. JAMA Oncol.
- Sznol M, Chen L. Antagonist antibodies to PD-1 and B7-H1 (PD-L1) in the treatment of advanced human cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:1021–34.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. Nat Med. 2007;13:84–8.
- 61. Green MR, Monti S, Rodig SJ, Juszczynski P, Currie T, O'Donnell E, et al. Integrative analysis reveals selective 9p24.1 amplification, increased PD-1 ligand expression, and further induction via JAK2 in nodular sclerosing Hodgkin lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2010;116:3268–77.
- 62. Taube JM, Young GD, McMiller TL, Chen S, Salas JT, Pritchard TS, et al. Differential expression of immune-regulatory genes associated with PD-L1 display in melanoma: implications for PD-1 pathway blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3969.
- Velcheti V, Schalper KA, Carvajal DE, Anagnostou VK, Syrigos KN, Sznol M, et al. Programmed death ligand-1 expression in non-small cell lung cancer. Lab Investig. 2014;94:107–16.
- 64. Schalper KA, Velcheti V, Carvajal D, Wimberly H, Brown J, Pusztai L, et al. In situ tumor PD-L1 mRNA expression is associated with increased TILs and better outcome in breast carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:2773–82.
- 65. Vassilakopoulou M, Avgeris M, Velcheti V, Kotoula V, Rampias T, Chatzopoulos K, et al. Evaluation of PD-L1 expression and associated tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:704–13.
- 66. Madore J, Vilain RE, Menzies AM, Kakavand H, Wilmott JS, Hyman J, et al. PD-L1 expression in melanoma shows marked heterogeneity within and between patients: implications for anti-PD-1/ PD-L1 clinical trials. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 2015;28:245–53.
- Shin DS, Zaretsky JM, Escuin-Ordinas H, Garcia-Diaz A, Hu-Lieskovan S, Kalbasi A, et al. Primary resistance to PD-1 blockade mediated by JAK1/2 mutations. Cancer Discov. 2016.
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:819–29.

- Ribas A, Hu-Lieskovan S. What does PD-L1 positive or negative mean? J Exp Med. 2016;213:2835–40.
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJM, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515:568–71.
- Ribas A. Adaptive immune resistance: how cancer protects from immune attack. Cancer Discov. 2015;5:915–9.
- Giraldo NA, Becht E, Remark R, Damotte D, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman WH. The immune contexture of primary and metastatic human tumours. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:8–15.
- Casey SC, Tong L, Li Y, Do R, Walz S, Fitzgerald KN, et al. MYC regulates the antitumor immune response through CD47 and PD-L1. Science. 2016;352:227–31.
- Dorand RD, Nthale J, Myers JT, Barkauskas DS, Avril S, Chirieleison SM, et al. Cdk5 disruption attenuates tumor PD-L1 expression and promotes antitumor immunity. Science. 2016;353:399–403.
- Kataoka K, Shiraishi Y, Takeda Y, Sakata S, Matsumoto M, Nagano S, et al. Aberrant PD-L1 expression through 3'-UTR disruption in multiple cancers. Nature. 2016;534:402–6.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144:646–74.
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. Science. 2013;339:1546–58.
- Brown SD, Warren RL, Gibb EA, Martin SD, Spinelli JJ, Nelson BH, et al. Neo-antigens predicted by tumor genome meta-analysis correlate with increased patient survival. Genome Res. 2014;24:743–50.
- Giannakis M, Mu XJ, Shukla SA, Qian ZR, Cohen O, Nishihara R, et al. Genomic correlates of immune-cell infiltrates in colorectal carcinoma. Cell Rep. 2016.
- Schumacher TN, Hacohen N. Neoantigens encoded in the cancer genome. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;41:98–103.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348:69–74.
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. Nature. 2013;499:214–8.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348:124–8.
- 84. McGranahan N, Furness AJS, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351:1463–9.

- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:2189–99.
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in Metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350:207–11.
- 87. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20.
- Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in Metastatic melanoma. Cell. 2016;165:35–44.
- Becht E, Giraldo NA, Germain C, de Reyniès A, Laurent-Puig P, Zucman-Rossi J, et al. Immune contexture, immunoscore, and malignant cell molecular subgroups for prognostic and theranostic classifications of cancers. Adv Immunol. 2016;130:95–190.
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:298–306.
- Chen P-L, Roh W, Reuben A, Cooper ZA, Spencer CN, Prieto PA, et al. Analysis of immune signatures in longitudinal tumor samples yields insight into biomarkers of response and mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint blockade. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(8):827–37.
- 92. Giraldo NA, Becht E, Pagès F, Skliris G, Verkarre V, Vano Y, et al. Orchestration and prognostic significance of immune checkpoints in the microenvironment of primary and metastatic renal cell cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3031–40.
- 93. Giraldo NA, Becht E, Vano Y, Petitprez F, Lacroix L, Validire P, et al. Tumor-infiltrating and peripheral blood T cell immunophenotypes predict early relapse in localized clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2017.
- 94. Ayers M, Lunceford J, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Albright A, et al. Relationship between immune gene signatures and clinical response to PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab (MK-3475) in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3:P80.
- 95. Seiwert TY, Burtness B, Weiss J, Eder JP, Yearley J, Murphy E, et al. Inflamed-phenotype gene expression signatures to predict benefit from the anti-PD-1 antibody pembrolizumab in PD-L1+ head and neck cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. [Internet]. 2015 [cited

2017 Jan 17];33. Available from: http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/151993-156

- 96. Ribas A, Robert C, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Joshua AM, Hwu W-J, et al. Association of response to programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1) blockade with pembrolizumab (MK-3475) with an interferon-inflammatory immune gene signature. J Clin Oncol. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jan 17];33. Available from: http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/ content/151652-156
- Ascierto ML, McMiller TL, Berger AE, Danilova L, Anders RA, Netto GJ, et al. The intratumoral balance between metabolic and immunologic gene expression is associated with anti-PD-1 response in patients with renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4:726–33.
- Ribas A, Shin DS, Zaretsky J, Frederiksen J, Cornish A, Avramis E, et al. PD-1 blockade expands intratumoral memory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4:194–203.
- Cha E, Klinger M, Hou Y, Cummings C, Ribas A, Faham M, et al. Improved survival with T cell clonotype stability after anti-CTLA-4 treatment in cancer patients. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:238ra70.
- Robert L, Tsoi J, Wang X, Emerson R, Homet B, Chodon T, et al. CTLA4 blockade broadens the peripheral T-cell receptor repertoire. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:2424–32.
- 101. Postow MA, Manuel M, Wong P, Yuan J, Dong Z, Liu C, et al. Peripheral T cell receptor diversity is associated with clinical outcomes following ipilimumab treatment in Metastatic melanoma. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3:23.
- 102. Inoue H, Park J-H, Kiyotani K, Zewde M, Miyashita A, Jinnin M, et al. Intratumoral expression levels of PD-L1, GZMA, and HLA-A along with oligoclonal T cell expansion associate with response to nivolumab in Metastatic melanoma. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1204507.
- 103. Dronca RS, Liu X, Harrington SM, Chen L, Cao S, Kottschade LA, et al. T cell Bim levels reflect responses to anti-PD-1 cancer therapy. JCI Insight. 2016;1(6):e86014.
- 104. Lipson EJ, Velculescu VE, Pritchard TS, Sausen M, Pardoll DM, Topalian SL, et al. Circulating tumor DNA analysis as a real-time method for monitoring tumor burden in melanoma patients undergoing treatment with immune checkpoint blockade. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:42.
- 105. Giraldo NA, Becht E, Vano Y, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman WH. The immune response in cancer: from immunology to pathology to immunotherapy. Virchows Arch Int J Pathol. 2015;467:127–35.

Oncolytic Viruses: T-VEC and Others

Rutika Mehta and Igor Puzanov

Contents

24.1	Background	387
24.1.1	What Are Oncolytic Viruses?	388
24.1.2	History of Oncolytic Viruses	388
24.1.3	What Are the Characteristics of This	
	Therapy?	388
24.1.4	Mechanism of Action of Oncolytic	
	Viruses	389
24.1.5	Types of Oncolytic Viruses	389
24.2	T-VEC	390
24.2.1	What Is T-VEC	390
24.2.2	Structure and Proposed	
	Mechanism of Action of T-VEC	390
24.2.3	Administration, Handling of T-VEC	391
24.2.4	Preclinical Studies Using T-VEC	392
24.2.5	Early Phase Clinical Trials	392
24.2.6	Phase III Clinical Trials	397
24.2.7	Adverse Events	397
24.2.8	Approved Use	398
24.2.9	Future of T-VEC	398
24.3	Other Oncolytic Viruses	398
24.3.1	Reovirus	398
24.3.2	Coxsackievirus	399
24.3.3	Adenovirus	399
24.3.4	Vaccinia Virus	400
24.3.5	Measles Virus	400
24.3.6	Poliovirus	400
24.3.7	Retrovirus	400
24.3.8	Parvovirus	401
Refere	nces	401

R. Mehta, MD, MPH • I. Puzanov, MD, MSCI, FACP (⊠) Department of Medicine, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, Buffalo, NY, USA e-mail: igor.puzanov@roswellpark.org

24.1 Background

Immunotherapy has become a standard for treatment of several advanced cancers such as melanoma, lung cancer, and head and neck cancer. Lymphocyte-rich tumor microenvironment is a predictor factor for response to immunotherapy [1]. Although theoretically, these tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes should be highly immunogenic, it has been shown that the tumor microenvironment by itself is immunosuppressive, and the tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) are weakly immunogenic, thus limiting spontaneous antitumor immunologic activity in most tumor types [2]. Therefore, strategies to shift the balance between tumor growth and immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment while at the same time enhancing the magnitude of antitumor immune response are highly desired. Much of the immunotherapies available currently such as ipilimumab, pembrolizumab, and nivolumab to name a few disrupt these immunoregulatory circuits such as CTLA-4 and PD-1 and enhance antitumor immunity. CTLA-4 blockade with ipilimumab and PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab or nivolumab produces response rates of 11–15% and 30-40%, respectively. Therefore, studies with combination of ipilimumab and nivolumab were sought. Although response rates are far superior, frequency of serious adverse events has also risen as a result of dual checkpoint blockade therapy. Thus, therapies with good

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_24

clinical activity at the same time less toxic are highly desired [3].

24.1.1 What Are Oncolytic Viruses?

Oncolytic viruses include both unmodified wild type and genetically engineered agents that selectively infect and replicate within tumor cells resulting in lyses of infected cells. In addition, the proinflammatory cytokines and tumor-derived antigens released as a result of tumor lysis trigger the immune system and activate antitumor immunity [4–6]. Oncolytic viruses are useful in cancer therapy because they not only have an innate tropism for cancer cells and result in tumor death but also the TAAs released serve as targets for mounting tumor-specific antitumor immunity [3].

24.1.2 History of Oncolytic Viruses

Even before oncolytic viruses were designed or used, some researchers made an observation as early in the mid-1950s that some viruses had the potency to infect and thereby result in peripheral leukemic blood cell death in vitro [3]. In addition, historically it was shown that viral syndromes due to chicken pox, measles, or hepatitis resulted in remission of advanced malignancies such as leukemia and lymphoma [7–9]. In 1949, 22 patients with Hodgkin's disease were treated with parenteral injection of human serum containing hepatitis B virus, causing infection in 13 of those treated. Seven of these had partial tumor response [10]. In 1952, 34 patients with advanced refractory tumors were treated with Egypt 101 virus, and evidence of oncotropism was noted with 4/34 showing temporary tumor regression [11]. In 1956, adenoidal-pharyngeal-conjunctival (APC) virus was used to treat 30 cervical cancer patients with tumor response seen in 26 of them [12]. Lindenmann and Klein did the sentinel studies on oncolytic viruses in 1967 and demonstrated that virotherapy using influenza virus enhances the immunogenicity of tumor cell antigens [2]. In the 1970s, Asada demonstrated antitumor response in more than 40% of patients with terminal cancers treated with nonattenuated mumps virus [7, 13]. Later in 1999, Martuza, Toda, and others showed that HSV G207, a genetically engineered oncolytic virus, induced antitumor immunity in CT26 colon cancer model [2]. Currently, multiple clinical trials with several different types of viruses are being conducted.

24.1.3 What Are the Characteristics of This Therapy?

Tumor selectivity and activation of antitumor immunity through release of TAAs in conjunction with other signals and cytokines via immunogenic cell death are characteristics of oncolytic viruses. The signals that work in conjunction with TAAs are damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) and oncolytic virus-derived pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) [2].

Since oncolytic viruses activate antitumor immune response, durable responses are possible with such therapies [4]. Given that oncolytic viruses target multiple oncogenic pathways resulting in cytotoxicity, generation of resistance is less likely [14]. Tumor selectivity results in minimal systemic toxicity unlike that seen with most immunotherapy such as checkpoint blockade inhibitors [14]. Most of these viruses are developed as intralesional therapies, although a few can be used systemically [15]. A particular challenge with oncolytic virotherapy is the inefficient delivery of these to tumor nodules and further spread to distant micrometastases, which limits its efficacy [2]. Anti-oncolytic virus antibodies that may be pre-existing as part of innate immunity in human serum or develop as a result of multiple administrations of this therapy can limit their use systemically. In addition, oncolytic viruses poorly extravasate in tumors and are sequestered by the liver [14].

Treatment efficacy of oncolytic viruses is monitored by factors such as viral shedding, intratumoral viral replication, viremia, viral genome, viral load, immune infiltrates, and circulating immune cells [16].

24.1.4 Mechanism of Action of Oncolytic Viruses

Tumor selectivity of oncolytic viruses is dependent of several factors. Firstly, there is receptormediated virus-specific cell entry naturally targeting tumor cells expressing receptors such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), folate receptor, Her2-neu, prostate-specific antigen, CD20, COX-2, and osteoclastin to name a few, or the viruses can be engineered to specifically target tumor cells with these receptors [7, 17, 18]. CD155 considered as a poliovirus receptor is present on cells of many tumor types and facilitated poliovirus entry [19]. Secondly, metabolically active cells such as tumor cells provide a good homing ground for oncolytic viruses to replicate. Tumor driver mutations can also specifically aid viral replication [16, 17, 20]. Adenovirus specifically replicates in the S phase. The wild-type virus encodes the E1A protein that facilitates S phase entry via retinoblastoma signaling. signaling Retinoblastoma mutations and enriched S phase populations are seen in many cancer types; thus, deletion of E1A gene in the oncolytic variant helps reduce its pathogenicity in normal cells [16]. Thirdly, a defective antiviral type I interferon signaling in tumor cells helps viral replication [16, 21]. Reovirus preferentially targets cells with activated Ras signaling [16, 22]. Some other altered signaling pathways that predispose cancer cells to the oncolytic effect of these viruses include RB/ E2F/p16, p53, PKR, EGFR, Ras, Wnt, antiapoptotic, hypoxia, defective IFN, and other innate immune signaling pathways [2]. This viral replication in the tumor microenvironment activates innate and tumor-specific immunity resulting in cytotoxicity of cancer and stromal cells [2] (Fig. 24.1). Other modes of cancer cell death are (1) direct oncolysis of cancer cells by the virus which could be a result of apoptosis, necrosis, pyroptosis, or autophagy mostly in combination and (2) the antiangiogenic properties of oncolytic viruses which can result in necrosis and apoptosis of uninfected cells [2].

On similar lines, the proposed resistance mechanisms to oncolytic virotherapy are the presence of neutralizing antibodies in the host and innate immune response against oncolytic viruses [16].

24.1.5 Types of Oncolytic Viruses

There are two types of oncolytic viruses: (1) viruses that preferentially replicate in cancer cells and leave nonpathogenic cells unaffected due to either dependence on oncogenic signaling pathways or heightened sensitivity to innate antiviral signaling and (2) viruses that have undergone genetic manipulation and/or been genetically engineered for insertion or deletion of genes necessary for replication in normal but not cancer cells. Autonomous parvovirus, myxoma virus (poxvirus), Newcastle disease virus (paramyxomavirus), reovirus, and Seneca Valley virus (picor-



navirus) are viruses that are specific to replication in cancer cells. On the other hand, viruses such as measles virus (paramyxomavirus), poliovirus (picornavirus), vaccinia virus (poxvirus), adenovirus, herpes simplex virus, and vesicular stomatitis virus are either genetically manipulated or engineered [14]. Several oncolytic viruses are currently being tested in clinical trials. The only oncolytic virotherapy to be USFDA approved is talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) derived from HSV-1 in the treatment of melanoma. Other therapies being developed are coxsackievirus (CVA21), adenovirus (K901, CG0070), vaccinia (JX-594,

GM-CSF RV, Pexa-Vec), and reovirus (pelareorep,

24.2 T-VEC

REOLYSIN[®]) [4, 15].

24.2.1 What Is T-VEC

Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) previously also known as OncoVEX^{GM-CSF} is a modified herpes simplex virus type 1-derived oncolytic immunotherapy that has been approved for use as intralesional therapy in melanoma [15, 23]. It is currently being developed for use in multiple solid tumors.

24.2.2 Structure and Proposed Mechanism of Action of T-VEC

This oncolytic virus is derived from HSV-1. Given that HSV-1 is well characterized and its

biology is well known, it serves as a suitable large non-integrating double vector. Its stranded DNA genome can be easily manipulated to insert large genetic inserts. The structure of T-VEC (Fig. 24.2) shows deletion of two HSV genes: ICP34.5 and ICP47. ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence to HSV-1. Thus, deletion of ICP34.5 provides selective cancer cell replication, and its replacement with two copies of the GM-CSF gene enhances local production of GM-CSF. GM-CSF is responsible for maturation and recruitment of dendritic cells and macrophages within the tumor, and these in turn allow for tumor antigen presentation leading to T-cell-mediated cytotoxic effect. Deletion of ICP47 causes an early activation of the US11 promoter which enhances viral replication and facilitates antigen presentation leading to better antitumor immune response [3, 15, 24].

Similar to other oncolytic viruses, T-VEC has been proposed to have both local and systemic effects (Fig. 24.3). Through mechanisms outlined above, T-VEC selectively replicates in tumor cells resulting in oncolysis. This in turn releases more progeny viruses and the cycle repeats itself. In conjunction with production of immunomodulatory cytokine GM-CSF, release of tumor-specific antigens induces recruitment and maturation of dendritic cells. Tumor cell antigen presentation to T cells occurs leading to activation and expansion of CD8⁺ T cells eliciting a systemic immune response [15].



Fig. 24.2 Structure of T-VEC genome. Positions of deletions of ICP34.5 and ICP47 are marked as Δ 34.5 and Δ 47, respectively. The area marked in *pink* is the insertion

site for the human *GM-CSF* gene (Reproduced from Hughes et al. (2014) Oncolytic Virotherapy 3: 11–20) [58]



Fig. 24.3 Mechanism of action of T-VEC. After intratumoral administration of T-VEC (1), the virus replicates selectively in cancer cells (2). T-VEC also expresses GM-CSF, which promotes maturation and function of dendritic cells eliciting a systemic T-cell-mediated antitumor response (3). The virus can proliferate systemically

to distant tumor sites (4). Tumor cell antigen presentation to T cells results in activation of innate immune system (5). Tumor cell lysis releases tumor-derived antigens (TDAs) (6) (Reproduced from Harrington et al. (2015) Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther 15: 1389–1403) [15]

24.2.3 Administration, Handling of T-VEC

A maximum injectable volume is determined based on the tumor dimension (Table). The volume of T-VEC administered varies by the lesion size: 0.1 ml for tumors up to 0.5 cm in longest dimension, 0.5 ml for tumors ranging from 0.5 to 1.5 cm, 1 ml for tumors ranging from 1.5 to 2.5 cm, 2 ml for tumors ranging from 2.5 to 5 cm, and 4 ml for tumors greater than 5 cm in longest dimension. The maximum volume per visit is 4 ml, and the volume to be administered is based on volume calculations for the tumor using its longest dimension. When multiple lesions are present, it is recommended that the largest lesions receive priority first followed by any lesions and then symptomatic lesions. Prior to injecting T-VEC, the area to be injected must be cleaned with alcohol swab and allowed to air-dry. If the lesion is not

superficially palpable, then ultrasound guidance should be used for deeper subcutaneous tumors. Usually a single insertion site for the needle with T-VEC is recommended, but multiple sites may be necessary for larger tumors. Premedications and local anesthetics are usually not necessary prior to administration unless there is prior history of pain at the injection site. After treatment, holding pressure for 30 s at the site of injection is recommended. This should be covered with gauze and occlusive dressing and should remain covered for 1 week after each treatment. All materials in contact with the treatment site should be disposed of using universal precautions.

T-VEC is handled as a biosafety level 1 agent, which implies that it does not consistently harm normal healthy humans. It is prepared in a sterile biosafety cabinet. It is available in two different types of vials: the yellow-green vial with a concentration of 106 PFU/ml and the blue vial with a concentration of 108 PFU/ml. These are stored at -70°C or colder and thawed at room temperature until it converts to liquid form for use. Once thawed, the vials can be refrigerated for 12 h (10⁶ PFU/ml concentration) to 48 h (10⁸ PFU/ml concentration). Once thawed, the vials cannot be refrozen. Protective personal equipment with universal precautions must be followed while handling T-VEC. In case of accidental exposure, area should be cleaned with water for 15 min. In the event of a spill, 10% bleach solution should be used with absorbent materials to clean the surface [25].

24.2.4 Preclinical Studies Using T-VEC

A murine A20 tumor model was studied. HSV-1 viral strains with and without GM-CSF gene expression were injected into single side tumors in a bilateral flank system. HSV-1 viral strains both with and without GM-CSF expression resulted in tumor regression; however, only GM-CSF expressing HSV-1 resulted in tumor regression on the contralateral side. Cytotoxic T cells primed to parental A20 cells were seen only with treatment with HSV-1 with GM-CSF expression suggesting long-term antitumor immune response generated by this strain. This laid the

foundation of further genetic modification of HSV-1 and the generation of T-VEC [3, 26].

Therapies such as T-VEC are considered ideal for melanoma treatment because (1) the presence of in-transit metastases denotes spread of melanoma cells to dermal lymphatics at the same time making surgical resection difficult and (2) metastases from melanoma preferentially spread to the skin making it optimal for targeting through intralesional therapies [24]. Therefore, much of the advancements in T-VEC therapy have been in melanoma. In keeping in line of intralesional therapies, agents such as BCG, GM-CSF, IL-2, PV-10, and IFN-alpha have been used and demonstrated responses in injected and noninjected lesions but in less than half of patients treated. Cutaneous toxicity and lack of systemic benefit have limited their use for treatment [24].

Administration of T-VEC was shown to increase local and systemic MART-1-specific CD8⁺ effector T cells, while at the same time there is decrease in both CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC). Proportion of Tregs is lower in injected sites as compared to uninjected sites [3, 27].

24.2.5 Early Phase Clinical Trials

In a Phase I trial, T-VEC was evaluated for safety, optimal dose, and schedule in 30 patients including advanced breast cancer, head and neck cancer, colorectal cancer, and melanoma with cutaneous, subcutaneous, or superficial nodal sites of disease. Out of 19 evaluable histological specimens, inflammation and necrosis were noted in 73% of biopsies from the site of injection. The necrosis stained strongly for HSV protein. specificity of T-VEC Tumor was demonstrated by no evidence of necrosis in the non-tumor cells within the tumor microenvironment. The optimum dose and schedule derived from this study were initial dose of 10⁶ PFU/ml followed by a dose of 108 PFU/ml after 3 weeks and repeated every 2 weeks until clinical response, toxicity, or disease progression. Clinical activity was similar between HSVseronegative and HSV-seropositive patients [28].

After demonstration of good biologic activity of T-VEC in the Phase I study, a Phase II study was conducted in patients with stage III and IV melanoma. Twenty-six percent of patients achieved some form of response as assessed using RECIST criteria including eight patients achieving complete response. Durable responses were seen in 92% of patients ranging from 7 months to 31 months. The survival rate at 1 year was 58% in the intention to treat population, while it was 93% in those with initial objective response [3, 29].

In a Phase Ib study [1] (NCT01740297) conducted in the USA, 19 patients received T-VEC in combination with ipilimumab. T-VEC was administered at a dose of 10⁶ PFU/ml on day 1 and second dose in 3 weeks at a dose of 10⁸ PFU/ ml repeated every 2 weeks. Ipilimumab was administered at a dose of 3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses starting on day 1 of week 6. The regimen was overall well tolerated, except in five patients in which \geq Grade 3 adverse events (AE) were reported. Nausea was a common Grade 3 adverse event. Other AEs reported were fever, fatigue, flu-like symptoms, dehydration, diarrhea, and vomiting. Overall response rate assessed using the immune-related response criteria (irRC) [30] was 56%, with four (33%) complete responses and five partial responses. This overall response rate is comparable to 56% that was seen with ipilimumab and nivolumab, except that 55% of participants had Grade 3/4 AEs [31]. Durable response rate (responses seen for \geq 6 months) was 44%. Twelve-month progressionfree survival (PFS) was 50% and overall survival (OS) 72%. Activated CD8⁺ T cells (CD3⁺, CD4⁻, HLA-DR⁺) increased 1.5-fold from baseline after treatment and correlated with response.

On similar lines a Phase Ib/III study (NCT2263508) studying the combination of T-VEC with pembrolizumab in previously untreated, unresectable stage III/IV melanoma patients is being conducted. Based on results published so far from the Phase Ib portion of the study, the confirmed overall response rate as assessed using irRC was 57.1% with CR rate of 23.8%. Participants received T-VEC at a dose of 106 PFU/ml on day 1, 108 PFU/ml on day 22 and every 2 weeks thereafter, while pembrolizumab was administered at a dose of 200 mg IV on day 36 and every 2 weeks thereafter. Grade 3/4 AEs were noted in 33% of patients, and no Grade 5 AEs were noted [32].

In another Phase I trial studying the safety of T-VEC in advanced pancreatic cancer patients, it was demonstrated that T-VEC can be administered directly to visceral lesions via endoscopic, ultrasound-guided, fine needle injection (EUS-FNI) safely. The trial was designed such that patients would receive their first dose ranging between 10⁴ PFU/ml and 10⁶ PFU/ml followed by every 2 weeks of additional two doses of T-VEC ranging 107–108 PFU/ml all administered endoscopically. Four cohorts were planned; however, the study was stopped prior to enrollment of cohort 4 for reasons other than safety. Two of four in cohort 3 showed tumor reductions greater than 30%. Most common AEs observed were ascites, dehydration, anemia, abdominal pain, constipation, nausea, and vomiting. Although two Grade 5 AEs were noted, these were not attributed to the study drug. Interestingly, 59% of participants discontinued the study before receiving the planned treatment [33].

T-VEC has also been studied in combination with radiotherapy and cisplatin in a Phase I/II study in patients with untreated stage III/IV squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. Participants received chemoradiotherapy 70 Gy in 35 fractions with cisplatin dosed at 100 mg/m² on days 1, 22, and 43. T-VEC was administered as an initial dose of 106 PFU/ml followed by two additional doses of 10⁶ PFU/ml, 10⁷ PFU/ml, or 10⁸ PFU/ml in cohorts 1, 2, and 3, respectively. The regimen was overall well tolerated with no reported DLTs. All patients underwent neck dissection after 6-10 weeks. Response rate as assessed by RECIST was 82% (four complete responses, ten partial responses), and pathological complete response was noted in 93% of patients at the time of neck dissection. At 29 months, the disease-specific survival was 82% and relapse-free survival of 76% [34].

Other selected ongoing trials are listed in Table 24.1.

Table 24.1Summary of selected ongoing trials with oncolytic viruses^a

	Estimated number of participants			150	32	100	40		30		46
	Secondary end points			PCR, OS, RFS, rate of R0 resection, overall response, safety	ORR, TTP, OS	Safety	Incidence of AEs, objective response rate, best overall response, duration of response, disease control rate, PFS, OS		Measure antiviral immune response		Safety, tolerability, objective response rate, PFS, durable response rate, 1-year OS, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, peripheral blood cytokines
	Primary end points			Efficacy	Phase I—safety and tolerability Phase II— efficacy as assessed by PCR rates	Determine MTD	Safety		Safety		Best overall response rate
	Treatment			Immediate surgical resection versus six doses of neoadjuvant T-VEC followed by surgical resection	T-VEC with concurrent preoperative external beam radiotherapy	T-VEC injected into liver tumors	T-VEC in combination with pembrolizumab		Intratumoral for localized disease or intravenous for metastatic disease of HSV 1716		Intratumoral HF10 plus intravenous ipilimumab
	Study population			Resectable stage IIIB/C and IVA melanoma	Locally advanced soft tissue sarcoma	Progressive HCC or liver metastases for solid tumors	Recurrent metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck		Refractory localized or advanced non-CNS tumors from ages 7 to 30		Unresectable or metastatic melanoma
0	Tumor type			Melanoma	Sarcoma	HCC/liver metastases	Squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck		Non-CNS solid tumors		Melanoma
-0	Phase, sponsor			Phase II, Amgen	Phase Ib/II, Amgen	Phase I, Amgen	Phase Ib/III, Amgen	REHVIR)	Phase I, Nationwide Children's Hospital		Phase II, Takara BioVex Inc.
	Trial name/ID	Herpesvirus	(A) T-VEC	NCT02211131	NCT02453191	NCT02509507	MASTERKEY 232/ KEYNOTE-137/ NCT026260000	(B) HSV 1716 (SEP.	NCT00931931	(C) HF10	NCT02272855

											intinued)
	18			6	32			48		36) (CC
	Immunologic response, viral shedding, PFS, OS, change in PS, QoL			ORR, analysis of pre- and posttreatment biopsies and blood-based immune markers to determine effects of REOLYSIN® and pembrolizumab administered together	CEA and objective response, clinical benefit rate, PFS, OS, safety, tolerability, correlative studies to identify biomarkers of response and efficacy			OS, time to response, duration of response		Viral genome analysis in tumor, viral pharmacokinetics, viral shedding, neutralizing antibodies anti-VCN-01, ORR, PFS	
	Safety and tolerability			Safety and DLTs	DLTs, pharmacokinetic parameters for irinotecan and 5FU when combined with REOLYSIN®			Objective response rate		Safety, tolerability, RP2D	
	Catheter-infused G207 with or without single dose of radiation			REOLYSIN [®] and chemotherapy (gemcitabine <i>or</i> irinotecan <i>or</i> 5FU) in combination with pembrolizumab	Intravenous REOLYSIN® in combination with FOLFIRI and bevacizumab			Intratumoral DNA-2401 followed by pembrolizumab		Intravenous VCN-01 alone or in combination with nab-paclitaxel/ gemcitabine	
	Children with progressive or recurrent supratentorial brain tumors			Patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma who has progressed after (or did not tolerate) first-line treatment	FOLFIRI naïve KRAS mutant metastatic colorectal cancer			Recurrent glioblastoma or gliosarcoma		Advanced or metastatic solid tumors or pancreatic adenocarcinoma	
	Brain tumors			Pancreatic adenocarcinoma	Colorectal cancer			CNS tumors		Solid tumors	
	Phase I, UAB			Phase I, Oncolytics Biotech	Phase I, Oncolytics Biotech			Phase II, DNAtrix, Inc.		Phase I, VCN Biosciences, SL	
(D) G207	NCT02457845	Reovirus	(A) REOLYSIN®	NCT02620423	NCT01274624	Adenovirus	(A) DNX-2401	CAPTIVE/ KEYNOTE-192/ NCT02798406	(B) VCN-01	NCT02045602	

Table 24.1 (continued)

Trial name/ID	Phase, sponsor	Tumor type	Study population	Treatment	Primary end points	Secondary end points	Estimated number of participants
(C) ONCOS-102							
NCT02879669	Phase I/II, Targovax Oy	Mesothelioma	Umresectable malignant pleural mesothelioma	Intravenous ONCOS- 102 plus cyclophosphamide in combination with pemetrexed/cisplatin versus pemetrexed/ cisplatin alone	Safety and tolerability	Determine and compare tumor-specific immunological activation. ORR, PFS, OS	30
NCT03003676	Phase I, Targovax Oy	Melanoma	Advanced or unresectable melanoma progressed after PD-1 blockade	Intravenous cyclophosphamide priming with intratumoral ONCOS-102 followed by pembrolizumab	Safety	Objective response rate, correlation of TLLs and ORR, changes in immune subsets in tumor tissue and peripheral blood before and after ONCOS-102 and pembrolizumab, PFS, clinical benefit rate	12
Vaccinia virus							
(A) Pexa-VEC (JX-5	594)						
PHOCUS/ NCT02562755	Phase III, SillaJen, Inc.	НСС	Advanced HCC not received prior systemic therapy	Pexa-Vec followed by sorafenib versus sorafenib alone	OS	TTP, PFS, ORR, DCR, AEs, time to symptomatic progression	600
(B) PROSTVAC							
NCT02649855	Phase II, NCI	Prostate cancer	Metastatic castrate- sensitive prostate cancer	Standard ADT followed by simultaneous docetaxel + PROSTVAC or sequential docetaxel and PROSTVAC	Determine if immune response induced by PROSTVAC in combination with docetaxel is greater than docetaxel alone	Immune subsets of immunologic response, antigen-specific immune response, TTP, pharmacogenomics, OS	38
<i>PCR</i> pathological cor lisease control rate, <i>i</i> <i>oS</i> performance statu	mplete response, <i>C</i> <i>AE</i> adverse event, s, <i>QoL</i> quality of	<i>DRR</i> overall respons <i>NCI</i> National Canc life, <i>DLT</i> dose-limi	e rate, OS overall survival er Institute, HCC hepatoc ting toxicity, 5FU 5-fluor	, <i>RFS</i> recurrence-free surv cellular carcinoma, <i>TILs</i> tu ouracil, <i>FOLFIRI</i> 5FU + i	ival, <i>PFS</i> progressic mor-infiltrating lym rinotecan + leucovo	m-free survival, <i>TTP</i> time to pro phocytes, <i>RP2D</i> recommended rin	ogression, <i>DCR</i> I Phase II dose,

24.2.6 Phase III Clinical Trials

In the randomized Phase III OPTiM trial [35] of 436 patients with unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma, responses were compared between intralesional T-VEC and GM-CSF administration. Durable response rate (DRR) defined as a response assessed by WHO criteria [36] and lasting for ≥ 6 months within the first 12 months of treatment initiation was the primary end point. DRR was significantly superior in the T-VEC arm compared to the GM-CSF arm (16.3% versus 2.1%; p < 0.001). Overall response rate (ORR) was also higher in the T-VEC arm compared to the GM-CSF arm (26.4% versus 5.7%), with 10.8% CR in the T-VEC arm. There was a trend for better overall survival (OS) in the T-VEC arm with median OS being 23.3 months as compared to 18.9 months in the GM-CSF arm. Exploratory analyses showed that effect of T-VEC was more pronounced on DRR and OS in patients with early-stage disease (stage IIIB, IIIC, or IVM1a) and those that were treatment naïve (Fig. 24.4).

In a separate study [37] reporting the patterns of response with T-VEC administration in the OPTiM study, Andtbacka et al. noted fair response rates even in the uninjected non-visceral and visceral lesions. ORRs were 32%, 18%, and 14% in injected lesions, uninjected non-visceral lesions, and visceral lesions, respectively, with corresponding CR rates being 15%, 6%, and 3%. Injected lesions took shorter time to response about 9.3 weeks, while uninjected sites took 12.3–12.9 weeks to respond. Sixteen percent of patients treated with T-VEC had durable response. Progression prior to response (PPR) was not a predictor of duration of DR or OS. However, almost 50% of T-VEC durable responders were shown to have PPR mostly due to development of new lesions.

24.2.7 Adverse Events

Only mild adverse events are usually encountered with T-VEC administration. In the Phase I trial by Hu et al., major side effects noted were Grade 1/2 pyrexia, which was more pronounced in the HSV-seronegative patients. Some other common side effects were fatigue, nausea, vomiting, and anorexia [3, 28]. In the Phase II study, 85% of patients with advanced melanoma experienced adverse events that were most commonly limited to Grade 1/2 flu-like symptoms. Three patients with response developed vitiligo, a known occurrence with other immune therapies such as IL-2 [3, 24, 29]. In the Phase III OPTiM study as well, T-VEC was overall well tolerated in the study population with frequent adverse events (AEs) reported as fatigue, chills, and fever. Grade 3/4 AEs were rare with the only AE reported in >2% of subjects in the T-VEC arm being cellulitis [35]. Acetaminophen or indomethacin can be used to prevent or treat pain, fever, or chills resulting after T-VEC treatment. Meperidine can be used to control rigors. Patients with adrenal insufficiency or those with hypophysitis on prednisone 10 mg daily or less can

Fig. 24.4 Kaplan– Meier curve depicting overall survival in patients with stage IIIB, IIIC, and IVA disease in the Phase III OPTiM trial (Reproduced from Andtbacka et al. (2015) J Clin Oncol 33: 2780–2788) [35]



receive T-VEC. Dose of corticosteroids can be increased if adverse events such as fever or flulike symptoms develop after the injection. Cellulitis is a known adverse event with T-VEC administration. Herpes cellulitis is usually selflimiting and clears within a maximum of 48 h. If there is fever and leukocytosis, superimposed bacterial infection must be considered. In case encephalitis or viremia is suspected, PCR testing for HSV DNA from blood and CSF is reliable. Acyclovir or similar antivirals can be considered in case of accidental exposure to T-VEC [3]. Although a theoretical concern remains that the virus may mutate and regain pathogenicity, this has not been clinically observed.

Based on some studies, T-VEC should not be offered as therapy to individuals with active herpetic infection or those taking daily antivirals such as acyclovir. Given that T-VEC is a modified live, attenuated virus, its use is not recommended in individuals with severely compromised immune status such as those with human immunodeficiency virus infection, leukemia, or lymphoma or on high-dose immunosuppressive therapy. There is not enough evidence to define the safety of T-VEC in pregnant women or children, and therefore use in this population is not recommended [3, 25].

24.2.8 Approved Use

T-VEC is the first approved oncolytic virus by the FDA in the USA for melanoma patients with cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal lesions that were recurrent after initial surgery. This approval was announced in October 2015. Shortly thereafter in December 2015, the European Medical Agency (EMA) approved its use in Europe. T-VEC received Australia's Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) regulatory approval for use in melanoma in May 2016 [3]. Approval in Europe and Australia has been limited to melanoma patients with unresectable stage III or stage IVa disease based on superior response rates in this subset of population as seen in the OPTiM study [35].

BioVex, Inc. initially developed T-VEC under the name OncoVEX^{GM-CSF}. After its acquisition by Amgen in 2011, it is now manufactured and marketed as Imlygic. Two major limitations of its use are (1) failure to improve overall survival and (2) no effect on visceral metastases. At this time, there is no defined biomarker that will help clinicians select patients suitable for T-VEC therapy. Some suggested criteria for patient selection for T-VEC therapy are patients with accessible disease, those with low burden visceral disease that can initially receive T-VEC therapy for local control of disease followed by systemic therapy such as checkpoint blockade agents, elderly or those with significant autoimmune conditions or other comorbid illnesses not considered suitable for other forms of therapy, and those that have progressed through other lines of therapy.

24.2.9 Future of T-VEC

While T-VEC shows significant effect on local disease control, systemic effects are weak which provides the rationale for combination therapy. Similar to other immunotherapies, differentiating true progression from pseudoprogression is challenging using conventional methods of assessing tumor response such as RECIST and WHO. It has now been widely discussed in the immuno-oncology community that immune-based response criteria be specifically used when assessing response with immunotherapies [37].

Further studies are necessary to determine the appropriate combination of T-VEC with other immunotherapy agents. Also, from ongoing studies we will have more information in the future about sequencing of therapy involving T-VEC. Most of the success with T-VEC has been intralesional. Further studies using alternative methods of administration are necessary to explore its therapeutic benefit for non-cutaneous malignancies.

24.3 Other Oncolytic Viruses

24.3.1 Reovirus

Pelareorep (REOLYSIN[®]) is a live type 3 Dearing (T3D) strain of reovirus that is capable of repli-

cating in tumor cells with activated Ras pathway. Protein kinase R (PKR) is a serine/threonine kinase that is involved in defense against viral infection and is not activated/phosphorylated in Ras transformed cells. Since many tumors harbor an activated Ras pathway with inactivated or non-phosphorylated status of PKR, it has been proposed that reovirus oncolytic therapy can be used for treatment in solid tumors [38].

In a Phase I study (REO 003) of intratumoral injection of reovirus in patients with recurrent malignant gliomas, no dose-limiting toxicities were noted. Of the 11 patients with evaluable disease, 10 had disease progression, and 1 had stable disease. Median survival was 21 weeks with median time to progression 4.3 weeks [39]. In a Phase IIb trial (GOG 186H) comparing REOLYSIN® plus paclitaxel to paclitaxel alone in women with recurrent or persistent ovarian, tubal, or peritoneal cancer, overall survival did not differ between the two arms with comparable toxicity profile in both arms [40]. In a randomized Phase II trial of NSCLC (both squamous and adenocarcinoma histologies) treated with docetaxel or pemetrexed with or without REOLYSIN®, PFS was significantly better in the females with adenocarcinoma treated with REOLYSIN® plus pemetrexed as compared to pemetrexed alone [41].

REOLYSIN[®] has received USFDA's orphan drug designation for malignant gliomas, pancreatic cancer, peritoneal cancer, ovarian cancer, and fallopian tube cancer.

24.3.2 Coxsackievirus

Coxsackie A21 also known as CAVATAK is a naturally occurring picornavirus that has shown to result in mild respiratory illness in humans. It has been shown to preferentially infect ICAM-1-expressing cells commonly seen in melanoma in addition to other tumor types such as prostate cancer, breast cancer, and multiple myeloma. It is a genetically unmodified virus, and preliminary results from the Phase II CALM study in unresectable stage III/IV melanoma showed promising response rates [42]. The best overall response

rate as assessed by irRC was 28% (eight complete responses, eight partial responses). The irPFS rate at 6 months was 39% and durable response rate was 21%. Twelve-month OS rate was 73%. Activity was noted both in injected sites and noninjected sites including lymph nodes, lungs, and other distant sites [43]. Another Phase I trial of CVA21 in combination with pembrolizumab is planned in advanced non-small cell lung cancer.

Another coxsackievirus that is still being tested preclinically has shown promise for treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) has shown selective tropism for NSCLC cell lines and shown to be potent and efficacious. This correlates with the expression of coxsackie and adenovirus receptors (CARs) in NSCLC. Antitumor effect has been seen in A549 adenocarcinoma xenografts that are radioresistant as well as resistant to EGFR blockade with gefitinib [7, 44].

24.3.3 Adenovirus

ONYX-015 is engineered by deleting the *E1B* gene in adenovirus to selectively replicate and destroy tumor cells that are p53 deficient. This has shown efficacy in the treatment of relapsed/refractory squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, alone or in combination with chemotherapy. It is approved for treatment of head and neck cancers in China under the name H101 [16, 45, 46].

Delta-24-RGD (DNX-2401) is an adenovirus engineered to selectively target integrin on tumor cells. Preclinically, it has shown great promise in glioblastoma models. Currently, there is a clinical trial underway testing the combination of DNX-2401 and pembrolizumab in recurrent glioblastoma [16, 47]. A chimeric adenovirus with expression of human GM-CSF (Ad5/3-D24-GMCSF) has been tested in a Phase I trial in 21 patients with advanced solid tumors. Sixty-seven percent of patients experienced objective clinical benefit as assessed using RECIST criteria. Overall, the drug was well tolerated with mostly Grade 1/2 AEs [48]. Currently a Phase I/II study of Ad5/3-D24-GMCSF with low-dose metronomic cyclophosphamide is ongoing. Another Phase I trial in early-stage NSCLC with recombinant DNA and adenovirus expressing L523S protein is ongoing [7].

24.3.4 Vaccinia Virus

Pexastimogene devacirepvec (Pexa-Vec or JX-594) is a genetically engineered Wyeth strain of vaccinia virus that expresses GM-CSF, but also has deletion of thymidine kinase gene, which aids the selective replication of this virus in cells with high levels of thymidine kinase as that seen in tumor cells with altered ras or p53 genes. In a Phase II study of advanced HCC with Pexa-Vec followed by sorafenib, a disease control rate of 62% was achieved with Pexa-Vec alone and 59% after initiation of sorafenib. Transient Grade 3/4 lymphopenia was observed. Otherwise, the regimen was well tolerated with flu-like symptoms, nausea, and abdominal pain [49].

In another Phase Ib study in treatmentrefractory colorectal cancer, intravenous administration of Pexa-Vec achieves stable disease rate of 67%, and most common AEs were Grade 1/2 pyrexia and chills [50].

PROSTVAC[®] is a prime-boost regimen for subcutaneous use that has been studied in minimally symptomatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer patients. A vaccinia virus serves as the primary immunotherapy agent followed by a series of six boosters of fowl pox virus, both engineered to express the prostate-specific antigen (PSA) and three costimulatory molecules: ICAM-1/CD54, LFA-3/CD58, and B7.1/CD80 (termed as TRIad of COstimulatory Molecules or TRICOM). In a Phase II study, participants were randomly assigned to receive PROSTVAC plus GM-CSF or control with empty vectors and saline injections. Although the two arms did not differ significantly for PFS, at 3 years, the study drug arm had 8.5 months of longer survival than the control arm with a hazard ratio of 0.56 (p = 0.0061) [51]. This has led to the conduct of the Phase III PROSPECT trial, which has completed enrollment and results are expected soon.

24.3.5 Measles Virus

MV-NIS is an engineered form of measles virus of Edmonston lineage expressing the human thyroidal NIS (sodium iron symporter). The NIS is a membrane ion channel expressed in thyroidal tissue that aids in iodine trapping a feature that has been advantageous for thyroid scanning (¹²³I or Technitium 99^m) or ablation (with ¹³¹I). This induces selective cancer cell death through syncytia formation [7]. In a Phase I study of recurrent, progressive epithelial ovarian cancer or primary peritoneal carcinoma, 16 patients treated with MV-NIS demonstrated a median OS of 26.5 months with most common AEs being Grade 1/2 abdominal pain, fever, fatigue, and neutropenia [52].

24.3.6 Poliovirus

PVSRIPO is a genetically engineered poliovirus Sabin type 1 in which the internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) is replaced by the IRES from human rhinovirus type 2. This modification abolishes the neurovirulence of poliovirus and selectively replicates in cells expressing CD155/ nectin-like molecule 5 (Necl5), which is seen across solid cancers. Preliminary results from a Phase I study of a single intratumoral injection of PVSRIPO in recurrent glioblastoma demonstrated a 1-year OS of 56% with most common Grade 3 AEs being hyperglycemia, lymphopenia, and hemiparesis [53]. In 2016, USFDA granted PVSRIPO breakthrough designation status for potential treatment of glioblastoma to promote accelerated development of this drug.

24.3.7 Retrovirus

Vocimagene amiretrorepvec or Toca 511 is a nonlytic retrovirus based on murine leukemia virus engineered to encode the cytosine deaminase transgene. Given along with a novel oral extended-release prodrug 5-fluorocytosine (Toca FC), it catalytically converts this prodrug to 5-fluorouracil. Seventeen patients with recurrent high-grade gliomas treated with Toca 511 and Toca FC showed good tolerability with only dose-limiting toxicity of Grade 3 being vasogenic edema in one participant. Viral DNA was observed in 76% of resected tumors after treatment. The regimen also had a favorable OS of 13.6 months compared to historical control of 7.1 months with external lomustine [54]. In 2015, Toca 511 and Toca FC received orphan drug designation for glioblastoma by USFDA. Now in February 2017, USFDA provided break through designation to these drugs for the glioblastoma. A Phase II/III trial (Toca 5) comparing Toca 511 and Toca FC with standard of care in recurrent gliomas undergoing surgery has completed enrollment, and results are expected in the first half of 2018.

24.3.8 Parvovirus

Parvovirus H-1 (H-1PV) is a rodent singlestranded DNA virus that is nonpathogenic in humans and known to activate caspin-mediated death pathway in cancer cells [55]. In a singlecenter Phase I/IIa trial with intratumoral or intravenous H-1PV in patients with progressive primary or recurrent glioblastoma, no doselimiting toxicities were noted. PFS 6 months or greater was noted in 33% of the participants, while 80% had an OS of 6 months or greater [56]. This trial has completed enrollment and final results are awaited. In the meantime, a Phase I/II trial is currently open with H-1PV for patients with inoperable metastatic pancreatic cancer.

References

- Puzanov I, Milhem MM, Minor D, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec in combination with ipilimumab in previously untreated, unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2619–26.
- Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. Mol Cancer. 2013;12:103.
- Rehman H, Silk AW, Kane MP, Kaufman HL. Into the clinic: talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), a first-in-class intratumoral oncolytic viral therapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:53.

- Forbes NE, Krishnan R, Diallo JS. Pharmacological modulation of anti-tumor immunity induced by oncolytic viruses. Front Oncol. 2014;4:191.
- Parato KA, Senger D, Forsyth PA, Bell JC. Recent progress in the battle between oncolytic viruses and tumours. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5:965–76.
- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;30:658–70.
- Ahmad Z, Kratzke RA. Novel oncolytic viral therapies in patients with thoracic malignancies. Oncolytic Virother. 2017;6:1–9.
- Kelly E, Russell SJ. History of oncolytic viruses: genesis to genetic engineering. Mol Ther. 2007;15:651–9.
- Sze DY, Reid TR, Rose SC. Oncolytic virotherapy. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2013;24:1115–22.
- Hoster HA, Zanes RP Jr, Von Haam E. Studies in Hodgkin's syndrome; the association of viral hepatitis and Hodgkin's disease; a preliminary report. Cancer Res. 1949;9:473–80.
- Southam CM, Moore AE. Clinical studies of viruses as antineoplastic agents with particular reference to Egypt 101 virus. Cancer. 1952;5:1025–34.
- Georgiades J, Zielinski T, Cicholska A, Jordan E. Research on the oncolytic effect of APC viruses in cancer of the cervix uteri; preliminary report. Biul Inst Med Morsk Gdansk. 1959;10:49–57.
- Asada T. Treatment of human cancer with mumps virus. Cancer. 1974;34:1907–28.
- Chiocca EA, Rabkin SD. Oncolytic viruses and their application to cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:295–300.
- Harrington KJ, Puzanov I, Hecht JR, et al. Clinical development of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC): a modified herpes simplex virus type-1-derived oncolytic immunotherapy. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2015;15:1389–403.
- Lawler SE, Speranza MC, Cho CF, Chiocca EA. Oncolytic viruses in cancer treatment: a review. JAMA Oncol. 2016;3(6):841–9.
- Cattaneo R, Miest T, Shashkova EV, Barry MA. Reprogrammed viruses as cancer therapeutics: targeted, armed and shielded. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008;6:529–40.
- Dorer DE, Nettelbeck DM. Targeting cancer by transcriptional control in cancer gene therapy and viral oncolysis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61:554–71.
- Hogle JM. Poliovirus cell entry: common structural themes in viral cell entry pathways. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2002;56:677–702.
- Aghi M, Visted T, Depinho RA, Chiocca EA. Oncolytic herpes virus with defective ICP6 specifically replicates in quiescent cells with homozygous genetic mutations in p16. Oncogene. 2008;27:4249–54.
- Stojdl DF, Lichty B, Knowles S, et al. Exploiting tumor-specific defects in the interferon pathway with a previously unknown oncolytic virus. Nat Med. 2000;6:821–5.
- 22. Coffey MC, Strong JE, Forsyth PA, Lee PW. Reovirus therapy of tumors with activated Ras pathway. Science. 1998;282:1332–4.

- U.S Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves first-of-its-kind product for the treatment of melanoma. Silver Spring, MD; 2015.
- Johnson DB, Puzanov I, Kelley MC. Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) for the treatment of advanced melanoma. Immunotherapy. 2015;7:611–9.
- Accessed February 20, 2017, at https://www. fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/ CellularGeneTherapyProducts/ApprovedProducts/ UCM469575.pdf.
- Hawkins LK, Lemoine NR, Kirn D. Oncolytic biotherapy: a novel therapeutic platform. Lancet Oncol. 2002;3:17–26.
- 27. Kaufman HL, Kim DW, DeRaffele G, Mitcham J, Coffin RS, Kim-Schulze S. Local and distant immunity induced by intralesional vaccination with an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF in patients with stage IIIc and IV melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:718–30.
- Hu JC, Coffin RS, Davis CJ, et al. A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6737–47.
- 29. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:5763–71.
- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:7412–20.
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, et al. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:23–34.
- 32. Long GV, Dummer R, Ribas A, Puzanov I, Vander Walde A, Andtbacka RHI, Michielin O, Olszanski AJ, Malvehy J, Cebon JS, Fernandez E, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski T, Gause CK, Chen L, Gorski K, Anderson A, Kaufman DR, Chou J, Hodi FS. Efficacy analysis of MASTERKEY-265 phase 1b study of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) and pembrolizumab (pembro) for unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:9568.
- Chang KJ, Senzer N, Binmoeller K, Goldsweig H, Coffin R. Phase I dose-escalation study of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) for advanced pancreatic cancer (ca). J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:e14546.
- 34. Harrington KJ, Hingorani M, Tanay MA, Hickey J, Bhide SA, Clarke PM, Renouf LC, Thway K, Sibtain A, McNeish IA, Newbold KL, Goldsweig H, Coffin R, Nutting CM. Phase I/II study of oncolytic HSV GM-CSF in combination with radiotherapy and cisplatin in untreated stage III/IV squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:4005–15.

- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2780–8.
- Miller AB, Hoogstraten B, Staquet M, Winkler A. Reporting results of cancer treatment. Cancer. 1981;47:207–14.
- 37. Andtbacka RH, Ross M, Puzanov I, et al. Patterns of clinical response with talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) in patients with melanoma treated in the OPTiM phase III clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4169–77.
- Chakrabarty R, Tran H, Selvaggi G, Hagerman A, Thompson B, Coffey M. The oncolytic virus, pelareorep, as a novel anticancer agent: a review. Investig New Drugs. 2015;33:761–74.
- 39. Forsyth P, Roldan G, George D, et al. A phase I trial of intratumoral administration of reovirus in patients with histologically confirmed recurrent malignant gliomas. Mol Ther. 2008;16:627–32.
- 40. Cohn DE, Sill M, Walker JL, O'Malley DM, Nagel CI, Rutledge T, Bradley WH, Richardson DL, Moxley K, Aghajanian C. GOG 186H: Randomized ph II evaluation of weekly paclitaxel vs weekly paclitaxel with oncolytic reovirus in the treatment of recurrent or persistent ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal cancer. Proceedings of the 47th Annual Meeting of the Society of Gynecologic Oncology. San Diego, CA; 2016.
- Biotech O. Oncolytics Biotech[®] Inc. Reports additional data from randomized phase II study of REOLYSIN[®] in non-small cell lung cancer. Calgary, Canada; 2016.
- 42. Andtbacka RHI, Curti BD, Kaufman H, Daniels GA, Nemunaitis JJ, Spitler LE, Hallmeyer S, Lutzky J, Schultz S, Whitman ED, Zhou K, Weisberg JI, Shafren D. CALM study: a phase II study of an intratumorally delivered oncolytic immunotherapeutic agent, coxsackievirus A21, in patients with stage IIIc and stage IV malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3031.
- Limited V. Updated positive data from phase 2 trial of CAVATAK in Late-Stage Melanoma. Sydney, Australia; 2014.
- 44. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, et al. Coxsackievirus B3 is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res. 2012;72:2609–21.
- 45. Khuri FR, Nemunaitis J, Ganly I, et al. A controlled trial of intratumoral ONYX-015, a selectively-replicating adenovirus, in combination with cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil in patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. Nat Med. 2000;6:879–85.
- 46. Nemunaitis J, Khuri F, Ganly I, et al. Phase II trial of intratumoral administration of ONYX-015, a replication-selective adenovirus, in patients with refractory head and neck cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:289–98.
- 47. Jiang H, Clise-Dwyer K, Ruisaard KE, et al. Delta-24-RGD oncolytic adenovirus elicits anti-glioma

immunity in an immunocompetent mouse model. PLoS One. 2014;9:e97407.

- 48. Hemminki A, Pesonen S, Koski A, Cerullo V, Escutenaire S, Haavisto E, Kangasniemi L, Simula P. Safety and efficacy of Ad5/3-D24-GMCSF, a serotype 5/3 chimeric oncolytic adenovirus expressing granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), in treatment of metastatic and refractory solid tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:e13506.
- 49. Heo J, Breitbach C, Cho M, Hwang T, Kim CW, Jeon UB, Woo HY, Yoon KT, Lee JW, Burke J, Hickman T, Longpre L, Patt RH, Kirn DH. Phase II trial of Pexa-Vec (pexastimogene devacirepvec; JX-594), an oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia virus, followed by sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:4122.
- 50. Park SH, Breitbach CJ, Lee J, et al. Phase 1b trial of biweekly intravenous Pexa-Vec (JX-594), an oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia virus in colorectal cancer. Mol Ther. 2015;23:1532–40.
- 51. Kantoff PW, Schuetz TJ, Blumenstein BA, et al. Overall survival analysis of a phase II randomized controlled trial of a Poxviral-based PSA-targeted immunotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1099–105.
- Galanis E, Atherton PJ, Maurer MJ, et al. Oncolytic measles virus expressing the sodium iodide symporter to treat drug-resistant ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75:22–30.

- 53. Desjardins A, Sampson JH, Peters KB, Vlahovic G, Randazzo D, Threatt S, Herndon JE, Boulton S, Lally-Goss D, McSherry F, Lipp ES, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, Bigner DD, Gromeier M. Oncolytic polio/rhinovirus recombinant (PVSRIPO) against recurrent glioblastoma (GBM): optimal dose determination. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2068.
- Boltz K. Toca 511 shows promise in high-grade glioma. Conference Coverage 2016 SNO Annual Meeting; 2016.
- 55. Geletneky K, Huesing J, Rommelaere J, et al. Phase I/IIa study of intratumoral/intracerebral or intravenous/intracerebral administration of parvovirus H-1 (ParvOryx) in patients with progressive primary or recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: ParvOryx01 protocol. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:99.
- Huber B. ORYX translational medicine. BIO international convention, San Francisco, CA; 2016.
- Kirn D, Martuza RL, Zwiebel J. Replication-selective virotherapy for cancer: biological principles, risk management and future directions. Nat Med. 2001;7:781–7.
- Hughes T, Coffin RS, Lilley CE, Ponce R, Kaufman HL. Critical analysis of an oncolytic herpesvirus encoding granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor for the treatment of malignant melanoma. Oncolytic Virother. 2014;3:11–20.

Part IV

Developing Fields

Innate Immune Receptors in the Regulation of Tumor Immunity

Sho Hangai, Yoshitaka Kimura, Tadatsugu Taniguchi, and Hideyuki Yanai

Contents

25.1	Introduction	407
25.1.1	Role of TLRs in the Regulation of Tumor	
	Development	408
25.1.2	Role of Cytosolic Nucleic Acid Sensors	
	in Tumor Development	412
25.1.3	Role of CLRs in Tumor Development	415
25.1.4	Role of NLRs in Tumor Development	418
25.2	Concluding Remarks	420
Referer	1ces	421

25.1 Introduction

Cancer immunosurveillance, or the process by which the immune system searches and recognizes cancerous and cancer cells in the body, has a history going back to the early twentieth century when Paul Ehrlich predicted that the immune system represses the growth of carcinomas. The concept of cancer immunosurveillance has since been elaborated and contentiously debated by immunologists over many decades. After much aspiration and frustration, experimental evidence now unequivocally shows that such immune responses are indeed critical for the host defense against cancers [1-3]. Related to this are the interesting observations that the innate and adaptive immune systems contribute to the antitumor effects of conventional chemotherapy- and radiotherapy-based cancer treatments with such effects thought to be mediated at least in part through activation of innate immunity by the exposure of tumor-derived antigens during these treatments [4]. Thus, these classical cancer therapies are intimately tied to anticancer immune responses of the host.

The development of new and effective methods that harness the power of the immune system to treat cancers has become a very attractive and intense field of research. Recent years have seen remarkable progress in cancer immunotherapies including tumor-targeting monoclonal antibody, immune cell checkpoint therapy, tumor vaccine, and chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell

S. Hangai • Y. Kimura • T. Taniguchi (⊠) • H. Yanai Department of Molecular Immunology, Institute of Industrial Science, The University of Tokyo, Komaba 4-6-1, Meguro-ku, Tokyo 153-8505, Japan

Max Planck-The University of Tokyo Center for Integrative Inflammology, Komaba 4-6-1, Meguro-ku, Tokyo 153-8505, Japan e-mail: tada@m.u-tokyo.ac.jp

therapies [5–7]. While these therapies have brought about remarkable and in some cases durable response rates across many types of malignancies, the numbers of patients that benefit are still limited. As such, new therapies and combinations of existing ones that can potentiate the host's antitumor immune responses with minimal or manageable adverse effects remain the focus in the field [8, 9].

The innate immune system employs many of the same mechanisms for the host defense against invading pathogens as it does in the eradication of cancer or cancerous cells [10, 11]. Perhaps the most well-studied cell type in these processes is the natural killer (NK) cell [12, 13]. In the context of anticancer innate responses, NK cells can directly kill virus-infected and cancerous cells. Indeed, animal models with impaired or deficient NK cells display increased incidences of various types of cancer [14]. Additional innate cell types including monocytic- and granulocytic-derived cells are known also to regulate, either positively or negatively, the antitumor adaptive immunity within and without the tumor microenvironment (TME) [15, 16]. In parallel to cellular immunity, the importance that the signal-transducing innate immune receptors play to the regulation of adaptive immune responses [17] has increased the attention on these receptors for their role in the regulation of oncogenesis [11]. Relative to the T cell receptor and B cell receptor, PRRs are a limited number of germline-encoded receptors that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or endogenous stress signals termed damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [11, 18]. As such, PRRs are not as discriminative as those for T cells and B cells [18–20].

Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) have been subdivided into (1) membrane-associated PRRs, which include toll-like receptors (TLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs); (2) cytoplasmic PRRs, which include the RNA-sensing retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptor (RLR) family and DNA-sensing receptors; and (3) soluble PRRs, which include complement receptors, collectins, pentraxin proteins, and others [18–21]. The first two PRRs classes, but not the soluble PRRs, can transmit signals to the nucleus upon engagement with their cognate ligand(s) to alter gene expression profile of the cell. Most typically, this involves the induction of type I interferon (IFN) genes and inflammatory cytokine genes for mediating antimicrobial responses [18, 20, 22]. The innate signaling also directly drives dendritic cell (DC) maturation, antigen presentation, as well as cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell functions [18–20].

There is accumulating evidence that antitumor immunity is regulated by the activation of PRRs [23]. Stimulation of PRRs by exogenously administered ligands induces robust antitumor immune responses in animal models [24-26], while excessive tumor growth has been observed in some PRR-deficient mice models [27, 28]. On the other hand, that the activation of PRRs evokes inflammatory responses raises the question of whether PRRs may actually hinder cancer immunity as the progression of some types of tumors is often associated with inflammation [29, 30]. The chronic activation of innate PRRs by endogenous ligands released from tumor cells may promote tumor progression through pro-inflammatory responses, which augments the proliferative, anti-apoptotic, and pro-fibrogenic signals within the TME [23, 29]. These seemingly contradictory reports indicate that innate immune activation by PRRs confers a dual role, i.e., an immuneenhancing role that potentiates antitumor immune responses and a tumor-promoting role through the induction of chronic inflammation.

In this review, we summarize our current understanding of innate PRRs which play a role in tumor immunosurveillance and regulation of oncogenesis. We also discuss the potential therapeutic implications of targeting tumors using modulators of the signal-transducing innate PRRs. For those interested in the broader biology of innate immune cells and PRRs, we recommend excellent reviews written by others [4, 11, 31, 32].

25.1.1 Role of TLRs in the Regulation of Tumor Development

The TLR family of receptors are by far the best understood classes of innate signaling PRRs which function as sentinels of pathogen infection [19, 20, 33]. TLRs can recognize microbial PAMPs and signal through recruitment of cognate adaptor proteins [34]. In general, TLRs commonly utilize for their signaling pathway the adaptor called myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88); however, TLR3 instead utilizes the TIR domain-containing adaptor-inducing IFN-B (TRIF, also called TICAM) signaling pathway, although there is evidence that it also utilizes the MyD88 pathway [34, 35]. TLR4 requires both MyD88 and TRIF pathway for full-blown activation of the downstream signaling cascades [34]. Upon binding to TLRs, the adaptor proteins engage additional downstream proteins that mediate the activation of transcription factors and protein kinases, such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB), IFN regulatory factors (IRFs), and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) to modify transcription of target genes such as those for type I IFNs and inflammatory cytokines [20, 34].

That TLRs are highly expressed in antigenpresenting cells and the activation of some TLRs induces antitumor mediators such as type I IFNs led to efforts to harness TLR agonists for cancer therapies. In fact, TLRs are prominent therapeutic targets for the activation of anticancer immune responses, originally highlighted by Coley toxin and bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) in association with anticancer responses [36]. On the other hand, TLR signaling also induces inflammatory responses, thereby potentially favoring tumor growth as well [37]. An emerging notion is that, in addition to PAMPs, TLRs also recognize a wide range of self-derived molecules called as DAMPs released upon cellular stress that can alter TME [37, 38]. Thus, as described below, TLRs apparently show both pro-tumor and antitumor functions [37, 39]. This may be attributed to different tumor-inducing protocols or mice facilities, which can affect developmental process of tumor and commensal microbiota.

TLR1/2/6 These TLRs are expressed on the cell surface [34]. TLR2 forms heterodimers with TLR1 or TLR6 and recognizes a variety of PAMPs including lipopeptides, peptidoglycan,

lipoteichoic acid, lipoarabinomannan, zymosan, glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored mucinlike glycoproteins from *Trypanosoma cruzi*, and hemagglutinin protein from bacteria or yeast [34]. TLR2 has also been shown to recognize endogenous ligands such as biglycan, hyaluronic acid, versican, and surfactant protein A [34]. The role of TLR2 in the regulation of oncogenesis has also been studied in animal models, with evidence that TLR2 signaling may play antitumor or pro-tumor function depending on model studied.

TLR2-deficient mice show exacerbated tumor growth in a model of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in which a single injection of N-nitrosodiethylamine (DEN) is followed by repeated administration of carbon tetrachloride (CCl_4) (hereafter called DEN/CCl₄ model) [40]. It is suggested that an attenuated antitumor immune response including impaired IFN-y expression, loss of cellular senescence, and autophagy are responsible for the expansion of tumor growth [40]. Similarly, a different study shows that TLR2-deficient mice develop more and larger intestinal tumors in the DEN/CCl₄ model [41]. Tumor development is characterized by an increase in levels of IL-6, IL-17A, and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) phosphorylation in the intestinal TME [41].

On the other hand, in a mouse gastric cancer model in which cancer cells display hyperactivation of STAT3, TLR2 deficiency results in reduced tumor burden, indicating a pro-tumor role of TLR2 [42]. This effect is independent of inflammation and is characterized by impaired proliferation and increased apoptosis of the gastric epithelial cells of the host [42]. These phenomena are explained by the suppression of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K), serinethreonine kinase 1 (AKT), extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK1/2), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and NF-kB pathways in these cells due to the TLR2 deficiency [42]. In addition, TLR2 signaling may also play a role in maintenance of "stemness" in normal stem cells as well as gastric tumor cells [42]. TLR2deficient mice also show slower metastatic growth of Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) cells as
compared to wild-type (WT) mice in a model of lung cancer [43]. Enhanced tumor growth in WT mice may be due to the activation of TLR2:TLR6 complex by LLC-derived versican, resulting in secretion of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) by myeloid cells which is known to promote tumor growth [43].

TLR3 TLR3 is localized within endosomes where it recognizes endocytosed double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), typically derived from viruses [34] as well as self-derived messenger RNA released from dead cells [34]. There is accumulating evidence to suggest that TLR3 functions to promote antitumor immunity. In an implanted transgenic adenocarcinoma model of prostate cancer, TLR3-deficient mice exhibit increased tumor growth as compared to controls [44]. In this model, TLR3-type I IFN signaling pathway enhances the activation of NK cells for antitumor responses [44]. Consistent with this, several studies have examined potential therapeutic effects of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C), a synthetic TLR3 ligand, in the treatment of cancers. The proposed mechanisms of the poly I:C-TLR3 axis are (a) induction of IRF3-dependent NK-activating molecule (INAM) on DCs [45], (b) skewing of tumor-infiltrating macrophages toward a M1 phenotype [46], and (c) activation of DCs including the production of type I IFNs for enhancing effective cytotoxic T cell immune responses [47].

On the other hand, TLR3 has also been implicated in enhancing the growth of tumors in a spontaneous lung metastasis model in which lung metastasis is suppressed in TLR3-deficient mice [48]. It is further suggested that an RNA(s) derived from tumor exosomes activates TLR3 expressed in lung epithelial cells, leading to neutrophil recruitment and development of premetastatic niche, which results in the promotion of tumor progression [48].

As mentioned above, the TLR3 agonist poly I:C has been considered a promising adjuvant for cancer immunotherapy for several decades. Although effective, this therapy has been shown to cause life-threatening side effects, such as cytokinemia [36, 49, 50]. In this context, a recent study reported a new type of synthetic RNA that was designed to selectively activate the TRIF pathway, thereby effectively activating NK cells and cytotoxic T cells in tumor-loaded mice without inducing a severe cytokine storm induced by other types of dsRNA [51].

TLR4 TLR4 is expressed on the cell surface and recognizes lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a component of gram-negative bacteria [34]. It has also been reported that TLR4 recognizes various endogenous ligands, such as high-mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1), heat shock proteins (HSPs), biglycan, hyaluronic acid fragments, and oxidized low-density lipoprotein [34].

In a mouse colon cancer model in which a single dose of azoxymethane (AOM) is combined with exposure to dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) (termed AOM/DSS model hereafter), TLR4-deficient mice show decreased tumor burden, suggesting its pro-tumor role [52, 53]. Mechanistically, it is proposed that TLR4 signaling (presumably activated by commensal bacteria) in colonic epithelial cells induces (a) immunosuppressive cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), (b) amphiregulin that activates epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling [52], and (c) TME formation by the recruitment of COX-2expressing macrophages [53]. In accordance with above results, mice carrying a transgene for a constitutively active TLR4 protein under the villin promoter in intestinal epithelial cells are more susceptible to tumor development in the same mouse model [54]. In another colon cancer model, however, TLR4 exhibits an antitumor effect. Mice harboring constitutively active TLR4 in the intestinal epithelial cells show decreased tumor burden in the APC^{min/+} mouse model of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis (APC^{min} model) [55]. Tumor cells isolated from the intestine of these mice show elevated expression of IFN- β and caspase-3 activation, which correlate with increased apoptosis in vivo [55].

In a HCC model, i.e., the DEN/CCl₄ model, diminished tumor development is observed in TLR4-deficient mice as compared to WT mice, implicating the pro-tumor function of TLR4 signaling [56]. Microbiota of the intestine and TLR4 on liver-resident cells are thought to mediate increased proliferation, preventing apoptosis in tumor cells and expression of epiregulin, a hepato-mitogen [56]. Similarly, a reduction in the development of HCC is observed in TLR4deficient mice in DEN-induced HCC model [57]. One study, however, shows that TLR4-deficient mice exhibit higher tumor burden in DENinduced HCC model [58]. This exacerbation of carcinogenesis is explained by impaired DNA repair and subsequent oxidative stress [58].

In a skin cancer model, which is induced by the combination of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) and croton oil, TLR4-deficient mice also show resistance to carcinogenesis, indicating a tumor-promoting role of TLR4 signaling [59]. Mechanistically, it is argued that HMGB1, released from dying keratinocytes, activates TLR4 and enhances inflammation, thereby promoting tumor development [59]. In addition, in a genetically engineered mouse model of melanoma, i.e., the HGF-CDK4(R24C) mice, which harbor deregulated receptor tyrosine kinase signaling of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and impaired cell cycle control by an oncogenic CDK4(R24C) mutation, TLR4 deficiency abrogates the UV-induced enhancement of lung metastasis [60]. In this experimental setting, TLR4 is activated by extracellular HMGB1 released from UV-damaged keratinocytes causing the recruitment of neutrophils that induce angiogenesis and migration of melanoma cells toward endothelial cells [60]. On the other hand, another study indicates that TLR4-deficient mice exhibit enhanced tumor burden in the DMBA skin cancer model, and this is accompanied by elevated levels of serum IL-17 and decreased level of IFN-y, suggesting impaired Th1mediated antitumor responses [61].

Reports describing roles of TLR4 in other organs are rather limited. In the pancreas, mice lacking TLR4 in hematopoietic cell compartment show reduced lesions of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia in the p48^{Cre};Kras^{G12D} pancreatic cancer model [62]. Contrary to this, TLR4 deficiency results in exacerbated tumor in the lung after injection of 3-methylcholanthrene and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) [63]. TLR4 has also been shown to be protective for both DMBA-induced mammary cancer model [64] and 4 T1-inoculated metastasis model [65]. The pro-tumor or antitumor outcome of TLR4 signaling may depend on the activation status of the MyD88 and TRIF signaling pathways which have the tendency to play pro-tumor and antitumor growth roles, respectively [50, 66].

TLR5 TLR5 is expressed on the cell surface [34] where it recognizes flagellin, a component of bacterial flagella [34]. One study reported that the ectopic expression of flagellin by tumor cells induced detectable antitumor immune response against EL4 murine lymphoma, thus utilizing flagellin as a tumor vaccine [67]. This effect is mediated by TLR5 signaling and inflammasome induced by the activation of nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD) containing-like receptor (NLR) [67]. However, a recent report demonstrated that TLR5 could enhance tumor growth. Here, TLR5-deficient mice show abrogated tumor growth in a genetically engineered mouse sarcoma model [68]. TLR5 deficiency is associated with decreased expression of IL-6, which leads to reduced recruitment of myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs), which cause $\gamma\delta$ -T cells to release galectin-1, which suppresses antitumor adaptive immune responses and accelerates tumor progression. Interestingly, TLR5dependent acceleration of the tumor growth is mediated through interactions with commensal microbiota [68].

TLR7/8 TLR7 recognizes single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), typically derived from RNA viruses, within endosomes [34]. It is highly expressed on plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and is crucial for the massive release of type I IFNs against RNA viruses that define this cell type [34]. Human TLR8 also recognizes viral ssRNA [34]. However, TLR8-deficient mouse cells show no defects in cytokine production against viral ssRNA [34]. TLR7 can also recognize self-derived ssRNA bound to autoantibodies [34].

Small molecule agonists of TLR7/8 have been proposed as antitumor immunotherapy drugs. Imiquimod has been known to activate TLR7-MyD88 signaling to exert antitumor effect [69, 70]. Several studies have elucidated detailed mechanisms of antitumor function of this compound. For example, imiquimod makes DCs produce type I IFNs and transform themselves into cells which can directly eliminate tumor cells via TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and granzyme B activities [71, 72]. In addition, immunostimulatory RNA oligonucleotides with specific sequence also induce antitumor immune response through NK cells in a TLR7-dependent manner [73].

Genetic studies, however, show an opposite role of TLR7 on tumor development. One study reveals that TLR7 deficiency in hematopoietic cells abrogates tumor development in a mouse pancreatic cancer model in which a mutated K-Ras gene is expressed [74]. Another study shows that TLR7-deficient mice are associated with less tumor burden and prolonged survival in LLC lung cancer metastasis model [75]. There is no clear explanation for the seemingly discrepant results between studies employing synthetic ligands and genetic studies in terms of effects of TLR7 signaling on tumor progression; it may depend on the magnitude and duration of TLR7 activation between synthetic and endogenous ligands, and this may also be the case for other PRRs (see below).

TLR9 TLR9 within endosomes recognizes unmethylated CpG DNA motifs, which are frequently found in viral and bacterial genome [34]. TLR9 can also recognize self DNA bound to autoantibodies in a manner similar to TLR7 [34].

The role of TLR9 signaling in antitumor immunity has been underscored by numerous reports. Most notably, a therapeutic effect of CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide (CpG-ODN), a TLR9 ligand, on tumor growth has been extensively studied [76–78]. CpG-ODN treatment induces a significant antitumor effect in C3 murine model of cervical cancer and C26 murine colon cancer model, wherein the tumor regressions and extended survival resulting from this therapy requires the participation of CD8⁺ T cells [76, 77]. CpG-ODN also has a suppressive effect on a murine neuroblastoma cell line neuro2a, which seems to be mediated by NK cells [78]. Furthermore, combination of another TLR9stimulating ODN with trastuzumab, a monoclonal antibody against human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), is efficient for the control of trastuzumab-resistant human breast cancer cells in a mouse xenograft model [79]. Interestingly, this ODN modulates the interaction of TLR9 with HER receptors at the membrane level, thereby inhibiting the HER-dependent growth signal [79].

On the other hand, TLR9 may promote tumor growth. Orthotopically implanted pancreatic cancer cells carrying mutated genes for K-Ras and p53 show delayed growth in TLR9-deficient mice as compared with WT mice [80]. This effect is specific to the pancreatic TME, as pancreatic cells implanted subcutaneously do not show reduced growth in TLR9-deficient mice [80]. Mechanistically, TLR9 activation of pancreatic stellate cells (PSCs) results in chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 11 (CCL11) production, leading to tumor cell proliferation via its receptor chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 3 (CCR3). Moreover, it is shown that PSCs can recruit regulatory T cells (Tregs) into the peritumoral site in a TLR9dependent manner, possibly through the CCL3-CCR5 axis. Additionally, TLR9 in immune cells is also responsible for MDSC recruitment to the TME, further exacerbating tumor progression [80].

25.1.2 Role of Cytosolic Nucleic Acid Sensors in Tumor Development

Cytosolic nucleic acid-sensing PRRs are expressed in almost all cell types and detect RNA and DNA or their mimetics to evoke innate immune responses [81]. The induction of type I IFNs is the hallmark of the activation of these cytosolic PRRs, and this induction underlies effective antiviral responses through the PRR's recognition of virus-derived nucleic acids [81]. Since the antitumor function of type I IFNs has been well appreciated, the role of these PRRs in antitumor immunity has also been the focus of attention [82]. RLRs RIG-I (also known as DDX58) and melanoma differentiation-associated 5 (MDA5) sense dsRNA, a replication intermediate for RNA viruses, leading to the robust production of type I IFNs in infected cells [83]. Another member of this family, laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2) acts as a negative feedback regulator of RIG-I and MDA-5 [84], but it may promote the MDA5 signaling pathway in some cases [85, 86]. Despite the overall structural similarity between these two activatory PRRs, they detect distinct viral species, because of different structural features of the virus-derived RNAs [83]. RIG-I binds specifically to ssRNA containing 5'-triphosphate such as viral RNA and in vitro-transcribed dsRNA [87, 88]. It has also been shown that RIG-I binds preferentially to short dsRNA, while MDA5 preferentially recognizes long dsRNA [89]. Both RLRs share in common signaling features. Upon recognition of dsRNA, they are recruited by the adaptor MAVS (also known as IPS-1, CARDIF, or VISA) to the outer membrane of the mitochondria leading to the activation of several transcription factors including IRF3, IRF7, and NF- κ B [81]. While IRF3 and IRF7 primarily mediate the induction of type I IFNs, NF-kB regulates the gene induction for inflammatory cytokines (for further details, see [90–92]).

That the activation of these RLRs results in the robust induction of type I IFNs prompted many investigators to assess their role in antitumor responses, as type I IFNs modulate a plethora of important cellular functions other than antiviral responses including effects on cell growth, differentiation, and antitumor immunity [82]. In humans, low RIG-I expression in HCC tissue predicts a poorer prognosis and a higher resistance to IFN- α therapy [93]. The tumorsuppressive role of RIG-I has been validated in RIG-I-deficient mice in the model of HCC [93]. It has also been reported that RIG-I activation induces the secretion of extracellular vesicles (EVs) from melanoma cells, which exhibit expression of the NKp30-ligands on their surface, thus triggering NK cell-mediated elimination of melanoma cells [94]. Since MDA5 triggers similar if not identical signaling pathways as RIG-I, there is the direct implication that MDA5 is also involved in tumor development [83]. Since LGP2 enhances the survival and activation of CD8⁺ T cells [95], it is also possible that LGP2 plays a direct regulatory role in antitumor immune responses.

The fact that the RIG-I activation also induces intrinsic apoptosis through BH3 family, which occurs independently of type I IFN signaling, led to the study of exploiting RIG-I-mediated apoptosis to selectively eliminate malignant cells [96]. As such, much effort has been devoted to the development of targeting drugs of the RLR signaling pathway for cancer therapy with the working hypothesis that the induction of type I IFN, apoptotic, or both pathways may play a crucial role(s) [97–102].

DNA Sensors Among DNA-sensing PRRs reported thus far, the cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP) synthase (cGAS) is one of the best characterized molecules for its role in antiviral immunity. Viral DNA released into the cytosol is catalyzed by cGAS and converted to cGAMP which in turn binds to stimulator of IFN genes (STING) to activate its downstream signaling pathways including type I IFNs [103]. Perhaps expectedly, some studies have implicated the involvement of cGAS in the host immune responses against tumors [104– 106]. cGAS-expressing macrophages are essential for IFN-β production in response to tumor-derived DNA [104]. Consistent with this, DCs are stimulated by irradiated tumor cells to release IFN- β , and this promotes antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell activation in cGAS-dependent manner [105]. In addition, cGAS is also required for IFN-β production triggered by the treatment with anticancer drugs, cisplatin and camptothecin [106].

As well as cGAS-mediated pathway, other DNA-sensing mechanisms are also important for the response to cytosolic nucleic acids. DNA-dependent activator of IRFs (DAI) associates with TBK1 and IRF3 and responds to cytosolic DNA for type I IFN induction [107], and its anti-tumor function has been reported [108]. Another DNA-sensing PRR, human IFN- γ -inducible protein 16 (IFI16), and its mouse ortholog p206 induce IRF3 activation and IFN- β production

upon cytosolic DNA stimulation [109], wherein recruitment of STING to IFI16 may be a critical step in the signaling pathway [109]. A similar association between STING is also observed with another PRR, DDX41 [110]. DDX41 recognizes various DNA and functions as a direct sensor for cyclic-di-GMP and cyclic-di-AMP, which are second messengers for STING activation as cGAMP [111]. The tumor-suppressive role of DDX41 has been reported in hematopoietic neoplasia caused by mutations in DDX41 gene [112]. Furthermore, it is implicated that some DNA damage-responding molecules, such as DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) and meiotic recombination 11 (MRE11), are involved in cytosolic DNA sensing [113, 114]; however, whether these DNA sensors regulate tumor development is largely unknown. Overall, as tumor-derived DNA is taken up by antigenpresenting cells in TME and activates DNAsensing PRRs, their antitumor functions have been the focus of much attention in basic and clinical cancer immunology [104].

The role of STING in antitumor immune response has been the particular focus of attention [103]. In the mice inoculated with tumor cells expressing an immunogenic peptide, STING appears to contribute to antitumor response to these cells, wherein tumor-derived DNAs, which are taken up by antigen-presenting cells in TME, stimulate STING and induce IRF3-mediated IFN-β production for the expansion of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells [104]. Similarly, STING-dependent IFN-B production and CD8⁺ T cell activation are triggered in irradiation-treated tumor [105]. It is suggested that such IFN- β upregulation is induced by dead cell-derived DNA via IRF3 activation [115]. Furthermore, STING promotes IL-18 and IL-22BP expression in tumor tissue and suppresses AOM/DSS colon carcinogenesis [116]. STING signaling, on the other hand, has been reported to downregulate the expression of proinflammatory IL-6 that activates the pro-tumor transcription factor STAT3 [117]. A study using a glioma model shows that STING ameliorates the associated cancer burden with enhanced CD8⁺ T cell activation and reduced infiltration

of immunosuppressive cells such as MDSCs and Tregs in the brain [118].

In general, the targeting of STING for its activation has been beneficial for the treatment of cancer in many mouse models. Administration of cGAMP decreases tumor growth of colon 26 cells in association with DC maturation [119]. Moreover, cGAMP also retards B16 melanoma cell growth in vivo with the activation of CD8⁺ T cells in TME through type I IFN signaling [120].

The activation of STING by a chemical compound ML RR-S2 can exert antitumor activity in several mouse models [121]. ML RR-S2 is also experimentally useful as an adjuvant for anticancer vaccine with GM-CSF-expressing dead tumor cells [103]. This therapeutic strategy, called as STINGVAX, has been shown to be effective against B16 mouse melanoma tumor that are resistant to a checkpoint therapy [103]. Related to this, it is also noteworthy in this context that some anticancer chemical drugs are also DNA adduct-forming agents that trigger cell death and release STING agonists [122]. It has been discovered that 5,6-dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA), a vascular-disrupting agent, directly binds to STING and it is now used as a STING agonist for cancer therapy [123]. DMXAA induces IFN-β production from antigen-presenting cells and shows potent therapeutic activity against in vivo growth of tumor cells through enhancement of adaptive immunity [121]. In addition, macrophages are targeted by DMXAA and polarized from an M2-type to M1-type [124, 125]. Furthermore, DMXAA treatment promotes immunologic memory against tumor [121], and mice that rejected tumors by DMXAA administration are resistant to secondary-challenged tumor. Notably, intratumoral administration of this drug inhibits the tumor growth developed at other distant site [121]. As such, the STING-activating molecules, such as cytosolic cyclic dinucleotides and chemical compounds, may pave the way(s) for the establishment of effective cancer immunotherapy.

On the other hand, there are reports showing a pro-tumor role of STING [106, 126]. DNA released into cytosol in carcinogen-damaged cells stimulates STING to induce inflammatory cytokine expression and exacerbates DMBA-induced skin carcinogenesis [106]. It has also been reported that intradermal growth and lung metastasis of LLC tumor cells are enhanced by STING in immunosuppressive host [126]. This study also shows that antitumor responses are induced against gp100-transduced LLC cells in STINGdependent manner, implicating that STINGmediated antitumor or pro-tumor response is dependent on the immunogenicity of tumor cells.

25.1.3 Role of CLRs in Tumor Development

CLR family members are primarily characterized by their detection of carbohydrates on bacteria, fungi, and viruses [127], while some CLRs can also recognize oxidized lipids and other DAMP molecules exposed by damaged cells [128, 129]. activation leads to immunoreceptor CLR tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM)/immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif (ITIM)-dependent or ITIM-independent signal transduction to induce host immune responses [129]. Some ITAM-based CLRs such as Dectin-1 and C-type lectin domain family 2 (CLEC-2) possess hemITAM motif and recruit spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) to activate NF- κ B via caspase activation and recruitment domain 9 (CARD9) [129]. Syk further transduces MAPK and nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT) pathways and induces reactive oxygen species (ROS) production which contributes to NACHT, LRR, and PYD domain-containing protein 3 (NALP3) activation [129]. Other ITAM-based CLRs, represented by Dectin-2, Mincle, and macrophage C-type lectin (MCL), associate with ITAMcontaining adaptor protein such as Fc receptor γ (FcR γ) chain, leading to Syk-dependent signal transduction [129]. ITIM-containing CLRs inhibit the activation of NF-kB and STAT5 as well as ITAM-based signaling pathway through Src-homology 2 domain-containing phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) and SHP-2 [129]. In addition to signal transduction, CLRs also drive the phagocytotic system of myeloid cells to promote the uptake of invading pathogens and abnormal selfderived molecules [130]. Through these mechanisms, CLRs play critical roles in regulating innate and adaptive immune systems.

CLR involvement in tumor development has not been intensely analyzed. Some recent studies have revealed that CLRs control tumor growth and metastasis, functioning as key innate receptors to trigger both anti- and pro-tumor host responses.

Dectin-1 Dectin-1 mainly recognizes β -glucan structures and contributes to the defense against bacterial and fungal infection [127]. Activation of Dectin-1 with such carbohydrates leads to Syk-dependent signal transduction through hemITAM motif on itself [129]. In the control of subcutaneous tumor growth and lung metastasis, Dectin-1 induces antitumor responses through the enhancement of NK cell cytotoxicity against tumor cells [27]. This antitumor mechanism is triggered by Dectin-1 recognition to N-glycan structures on tumor cells [27]. Although Dectin-1 is a β -glucan receptor, a variety of glycan structures on cancer cells likely also bind to Dectin-1 [27]. Cancer cells activate Dectin-1 signaling in myeloid cells and promote antitumor killing of NK cells in cell-to-cell contact-dependent manner [27]. Supporting this, the expression of INAM, a membrane protein to drive NK cell activation, is upregulated by Dectin-1 in the presence of cancer cells [27]. NK cell-mediated tumor killing can also be induced against liver-metastasizing cancer cells. Dectin-1 enhances cytotoxic activity against SL4 colon cancer cells by NK cells to suppress liver metastasis [28].

Dectin-1-dependent antitumor immune responses can be useful for cancer therapy. The administration of lentinan, a purified β -glucan isolated from shiitake mushroom, suppresses gastric cancer development in human study [131]. In addition, sizofiran, *Schizophyllum commune*derived β -glucan, improves the prognosis of ovarian cancer patients when combined with cisplatin, adriamycin, and cyclophosphamide [132]. The therapeutic effect of β -glucans has been also reported using murine in vivo models of tumor growth and for breast and liver metastasis [133]. The mechanisms of β -glucan-induced antitumor response have been intensely studied. Dectin-1 agonist curdlan activates DCs to elicit potent CD8⁺ T cell responses and markedly reduces lung metastasis of B16 melanoma cells [134]. Moreover, β -glucan-containing extracts from a mushroom, which promotes the expansion of NK cells and upregulates the expressions of antitumor cytokines such as IFN- γ and IL-12, decrease tumor burden of colon cancer 26 cell-inoculated mice [135].

In addition to instigating antitumor immunity, β -glucans can inhibit pro-tumor host responses. Whole β-glucan particles (WGP) from Saccharomyces cerevisiae downregulate the immunosuppressive activity of MDSCs and dampen the expansion of MDSCs and Tregs in the TME [136]. WGP also converts immunosuppressive M2-like macrophages to M1-like cells in a Dectin-1 and CARD9-dependent manner [137]. CARD9 is a signaling molecule activated by ITAM-associated CLRs like Dectin-1 that can induce antitumor responses [129]. Mice treated with mushroom-derived β -glucans also show loss of immunosuppressive TME [138].

Dectin-2 Dectin-2 binds to mannose-rich carbohydrates to transduce Syk-dependent signaling [127]. Unlike Dectin-1, Dectin-2 does not possess an ITAM motif [129]. Instead, it associates with FcRy chain which itself possesses ITAM motif to activate downstream pathways [129]. The role of Dectin-2 in tumor immunity is relatively unique as compared to other CLRs. Although Dectin-1 inhibits subcutaneous tumor growth and lung metastasis [27], Dectin-2 is not involved in these responses [28]. Notably, however, Dectin-2 contributes to the suppression of liver metastasis [28]. The underlying mechanism is unique in that Dectin-2 promotes phagocytosis of Kupffer cells, liver-residing macrophage, against cancer cells in vitro, although such Dectin-2-dependent uptake of cancer cells is not observed in bone marrow-derived macrophages and alveolar macrophages [28]. Consistent with this, tumor metastasis to liver is notably enhanced in Dectin-2-deficient mice [28]. Interestingly, the expression of IL-6 and CXCL1, which is induced when Dectin-2 is activated by fungi,

remained unaffected when Dectin-2-deficient Kupffer cells interact with cancer cells [28]. This observation suggests that antitumor Dectin-2 signaling pathway(s) in Kupffer cells is distinct from the conventional one for antimicrobial responses.

Mincle Macrophage-inducible C-type lectin (Mincle) binds mannose and trehalose-6,6'dimycolate (TDM), a mycobacterial glycolipid [129]. Mincle also recognizes endogenous ribonucleoprotein spliceosome-associated protein 130 (SAP-130), which is released from dying cells [139]. Stimulation of Mincle with its ligand induces Syk-dependent signaling pathway through ITAM-possessing FcRy chain [129]. In pancreatic oncogenesis of p48^{Cre}; Kras^{G12D} mice, Mincle establishes an immunosuppressive TME and promotes tumor development [140]. Mincle signaling enhances the production of IL-10 from T cells and the infiltration of MDSCs and M2-like macrophages in tumor [140]. This oncogenic process is associated with necroptosis and the induction of SAP-130 expression in pancreas [140]. Since SAP-130 administration into pancreas aggravates tumor growth, the ligation of Mincle with dead cell-released SAP-130 promotes oncogenic process with immunosuppression [140]. Interestingly, in spite of its relative importance in pancreatic tumor progression, Mincle doesn't control liver metastasis of SL4 colon carcinoma cells [28].

CLEC-2 CLEC-2 is a receptor for a snake venom toxin, rhodocytin [127], and stimulation with rhodocytin induces similar signaling pathways to ITAM-dependent ones [129]. CLEC-2 also recognizes podoplanin, a mucin expressed on some cancer cells [141]. Although the study of CLEC-2 in vivo is challenged by difficulties of embryonic lethality of CLEC-2-deficient mice [142], the CLEC-2-podoplanin interaction is thought to be a key event in promoting cancer metastasis [141]. Platelets expressing CLEC-2 are activated by podoplanin on cancer cells triggering their aggregation [143]. The platelet aggregation supports the evasion of cancer cells from immune

system essentially by masking their detection while also promoting metastasis by facilitating adhesion to the endothelial wall [144]. Furthermore, CLEC-2 activation induces the secretion of growth factors, chemokines, matrix proteins, and angiogenic factors, which can promote metastasis [141]. In addition, CLEC-2 also activates podoplanin signaling in cancer cells, which leads to the downregulation of E-cadherin and promotes metastasis [145, 146]. Furthermore, the interaction of podoplanin with platelet accelerates subcutaneous tumor growth of podoplanin-expressing PC-10 lung cancer cells [147]. As such, it is strongly suggested that CLEC-2 plays an important role in multiple steps of tumor development.

DC-SIGN DC-specific ICAM-3 grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) shows high affinity for mannose, fucose, N-acetylglucosamine, and Lewis antigens [127, 148]. DC-SIGN activation drives ITAM/ITIM-independent signaling through lymphocyte-specific protein 1 (LSP1) [129] and promotes cross-presentation of antigens to CD8⁺ T cells [149]. Consistent with this, DCs treated with Lewis X oligosaccharides-heparanase complex enhance CD8⁺ T cell response and possess the ability to reduce tumor growth of G422 glioblastoma cells in vivo [150].

On the other hand, DC-SIGN plays pro-tumor roles in some cases. DC-SIGN recognizes Lewis carbohydrates on carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and Mac-2-binding protein (Mac-2BP) which are mainly expressed by colon cancer cells [151–153]. Since ligation of DC-SIGN on macrophages to cancer cells induces IL-10 production [154], DC-SIGN likely helps to establish immunosuppressive TME. This notion is further supported by a report showing that DC-SIGNdeficient mice exhibits slower subcutaneous tumor growth of LLC cells compared to WT mice [155].

MGL Macrophage galactose C-type lectin (MGL) has specificities to galactose and N-acetylgalactosamine for its ligand recognition [127, 129]. MGL binding to such carbohydrate moieties on microbes promotes their uptake and

leads to antigen presentation [129]. Further, MGL recognizes carbohydrate antigens, Tn and sialyl Tn, on mucin 1 (MUC1) which are expressed on a variety of cancer cells [156, 157]. While MGL activation triggered by sialyl Tn-associated MUC1 enhances DC maturation and migration [158], anti-MGL blocking antibody inhibits the dissemination of foot padinoculated cancer cells to lymph nodes [159]. Therefore, MGL may have a pro-tumor role in lymph node metastasis.

MR Mannose receptor (MR) recognizes mannose and promotes its endocytosis [127]. It has also been known that ovalbumin (OVA) conjugated with synthetic MR ligands, 3-sulfo-Lewis A and tri-N-acetylglucosamine, primes DCs to induce antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell proliferation and Th1 polarization of CD4⁺ T cells [160]. Therefore, MR ligation with its ligand likely induces antitumor immune responses. Indeed, treatment by OVA conjugated with anti-MR antibody instigates CD8⁺ T cell responses in vivo and, together with CpG treatment, markedly reduces subcutaneous tumor growth of OVA-expressing B16 cells in MR-transgenic mice [161].

Nevertheless, MR also possesses pro-tumor activity. MR is involved in the recognition of tumor-specific mucin CA-125 and TAG-72 [162]. Stimulation of MR on tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) with these molecules induces IL-10 production and inhibits IL-12 expression [162]. Moreover, MR expressed on tumor-activated liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSECs) inhibits antitumor cytotoxicity of liver sinusoidal lymphocytes (LSLs) [163]. MR further decreases and increases IFN- γ and IL-10 production, respectively, from LSLs of tumor-bearing mice [163]. These reports evoke the notion that MR promotes cancer development.

MCL MCL is an FcR γ -associated receptor for TDM and a heterodimeric counterpart of Dectin-2 [164, 165]. Consistent with this and like Dectin-2, MCL enhances the phagocytotic activity of Kupffer cells and suppresses liver metastasis of SL4 colon carcinoma cells [28]. Interestingly,

although MCL induces Mincle expression in bone marrow-derived macrophage [166], Mincle is not involved in the control of liver metastasis, as described above [28].

Other CLRs The roles of other CLRs in cancer have been studied, albeit not extensively. Some studies indicate that DAMPs released in TME can regulate immune responses to cancer [167, 168]. Additionally, some DAMPs act as a ligand for CLRs. DC NK lectin group receptor-1 (DNGR-1) recognizes F-actin and actin complex with spectrin β and α -actinin, both of which are exposed by damaged cells [169, 170]. Furthermore, F-actin can drive Sykdependent signaling in DNGR-1-expressing cells [169], implicating its involvement of DNGR-1 in host immune responses to tumor. In addition, CLEC12A binds to uric acid crystals from dead cells and inhibits neutrophil-associated inflammation in vivo after the challenges with necrotic cells or irradiation [171]. Uric acid also contributes to DC maturation, CD8⁺ T cell priming, and Th17 differentiation [172-174]. Therefore, CLEC12A may regulate tumor development in dead cell-enriched microenvironment.

CLRs might have roles beyond sensing DAMPs in the regulation of tumor immunity. Mannose-binding lectin (MBL) recognizes Lewis antigens on SW1116 human colorectal carcinoma cells [175, 176]. Moreover, blood dendritic cell antigen 2 (BDCA-2), which is exclusively expressed on pDC and activated by asialooligosaccharides with terminal galactose to suppress type I IFN production, binds to several kinds of human cancer cells such as ovarian and colon carcinoma cells [177]. ITAM-based CLRs other than those described above, for example, SIGN-related gene 3 (SIGNR3) and myeloid DAP12-associating lectin (MDL-1), can also be involved in tumor growth, since CARD9 promotes colon tumorigenesis in males of APC^{min} mice [178]. Further analysis for the functions of these receptors in immune response to cancer promotes a better understanding of CLRmediated regulation of tumor development. In line with this, how ITIM-associated CLRs are involved in the regulation of tumor growth and metastasis, which is obscure so far, is an intriguing question to be clarified.

25.1.4 Role of NLRs in Tumor Development

The inflammasome is a multiprotein complex comprised of a PRR, the adaptor protein apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing CARD (ASC), and caspase-1 [179]. These PRRs include members of NLR and absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2)–like receptor families [179] and recognize various PAMPs and DAMPs upon infection or cellular damage, respectively, to recruit ASC and trigger caspase-1 activation [179]. Activated caspase-1 subsequently cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 into their mature forms [179]. Inflammasomes are involved in host defense against pathogens as well as in the pathogenesis of auto-inflammatory, neurodegenerative, and metabolic diseases [180-182]. Not surprisingly, there is evidence to suggest the involvement of inflammasomes in the development of cancer [183].

NLRP3 NLRP3 recognizes a variety of ligands including bacterial DNA:RNA hybrids, bee venom, ATP, uric acid crystals, aluminum hydroxide, and asbestos [179]. The NLRP3 inflammasome requires two signals for its full activation. The first signal is mediated by several receptors, of which TLRs are well known to activate NF- κ B-mediated upregulation of NLRP3 [179]. The second signal is mediated by its ligands which subsequently promote inflammasome assembly, caspase-1 activation, and release of IL-1 β and IL-18 [179].

The role of NLRP3 in tumor development seems to be context dependent and organ specific. Many studies have focused on the role of NLRP3 in colon cancer development, and these studies generally describe a role that is antitumor. In AOM/DSS colon cancer model, for example, NLRP3-deficient mice show increased tumor burden [184]. This effect is explained by attenuated levels of IL-1 β and IL-18 at the tumor site. It is also shown that NLRP3 in hematopoietic cells is responsible for that effect [184]. Another study reports that reduced level of IL-18 caused by NLRP3 deficiency leads to impaired production of IFN- γ and insufficient antitumor immunity [185]. Similarly, in the liver metastasis model of colon carcinoma cell line MC38, NLRP3deficient mice are more susceptible to metastatic tumor growth [186]. This event is attributed to impaired NK cell's tumoricidal activity due to insufficient induction of IL-18 [186]. Another report also shows that NLRP3-deficient mice develop more severe tumor in DMBA/TPA skin papilloma model than WT mice [187].

On the other hand, a report shows a role in promoting tumor growth via NLRP3. NLRP3deficient mice show reduced tumor burden in an MCA-induced fibrosarcoma model [188]. The decreased tumor development is also found in lung metastasis models of E0771 murine mammary adenocarcinoma cells, B16F10 murine melanoma cells, and RM-1 murine prostate cancer cells. Reduction of tumor burden is associated with an increased frequency of NK cells; it is suggested that NLRP3 on CD11b+Gr-1^{int} myeloid cells are responsible for the recruitment of NK cells [188].

NLRP3 has also been the focus as a key molecule determining the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy, although the results are controversial. One report shows that the anticancer chemotherapy with oxaliplatin is inefficient against EL4 murine lymphoma established in NLRP3deficient mice [189]. Mechanistically, dying tumor cells release ATP, activate NLRP3 via purinergic receptors on DCs, and successfully prime CD8⁺ T cells [189]. Conversely, another report reveals that activation of NLRP3 on MDSCs leads to the release of IL-1 β , dampening anticancer effect of chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) on EL4 lymphoma [190]. As a result, NLRP3-deficient mice show enhanced response to anticancer chemotherapy [190].

NLRC4 The flagellin and inner rod proteins of the type III secretion system of several bacterial species are the proposed ligands of NLRC4 [179]. These ligands do not interact with NLRC4

directly. Rather, they bind to several NAIP proteins, which can activate the NLRC4 inflammasome and lead to caspase-1 activation [179].

In AOM/DSS colon cancer model, NLRC4deficient mice develop more tumors, possibly due to increased proliferation and reduced apoptosis in the colonic epithelial cell [191], while no contribution of NLRC4 in colon cancer development is reported [184]. Another report demonstrates that NLRC4-deficient mice exhibit enhanced tumor growth in a B16F10 melanoma model [192]. The exacerbated tumor growth is inflammasome independent, and NLRC4 on macrophages is required for the induction of antitumor adaptive immunity [192].

NLRP6 and NLRP12 Ligands of NLRP6 and NLRP12 are still enigmatic and they can function as both activator and inhibitor of inflammation [179]. NLRP6 is protective against experimental colitis via its induction of IL-18. On the other hand, NLRP6 suppresses MAPK and NF-kB signaling in macrophages infected Listeria monocytogenes, by Salmonella typhimurium, and Escherichia coli. NLRP12 can activate caspase-1 in Yersinia pestis and Plasmodium chabaudi infection. However, it can also suppress NF-kB pathway in Salmonella *typhimurium* infection [179].

NLRP6-deficient mice are susceptible to tumorigenesis in AOM/DSS colon cancer model, suggesting its antitumor role [193]. Interestingly, this susceptibility is transmittable by cohousing of mice. These results are attributed to microbiota-induced CCL5, leading to the promotion of epithelial cell proliferation through activation of the IL-6-mediated signaling [193]. NLRP12-deficient mice also suffer from more severe tumor development due to elevated noncanonical NF-kB activation in AOM/DSS model [194]. It is suggested that NLRP12 inhibits noncanonical NF-kB pathway via regulation of NF-κB-inducing kinase (NIK) and TNF receptorassociated factor 3 (TRAF3) function [194]. Another study also reports the tumor-suppressive role of NLRP12 in the same model and the negative regulation of canonical NF-κB and ERK pathway [195].

AIM2 AIM2 recognizes double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) by its positively charged HIN-200 domain and recruits ASC for caspase-1 activation via its PYD domain [179]. AIM2-deficient mice are more susceptible to tumor development in the AOM/DSS colon cancer model, implying an antitumor role [196]. Mechanistically, AIM2 deficiency causes proliferation of tumor-initiating stem cells via aberrant Wnt signaling. Furthermore, dysbiosis of gut microbiota in AIM2-deficient mice also contributes to the enhanced tumorigenesis [196]. Another report also reveals a protective role of AIM2 in the AOM/DSS and APCmin colon cancer models [197]. Interestingly, AIM2 can interact with DNA-PKcs and interrupt activation of Akt pathway for tumor progression [197]. Of note, both studies argue that tumor-suppressive activity of AIM2 is independent of its role in inflammasome activation.

ASC ASC is a bipartite adaptor protein that forms a speck upon activation of AIM2 and most NLRs and interacts with caspase-1 via its CARD domain, resulting in the activation of caspase-1 [179]. ASC-deficient mice show increased tumorigenesis in AOM/DSS colon cancer model and develop more severe tumors than NLRP3decifient mice [184, 185], although the precise mechanism and compartment of ASC activity remain elusive. Another report reveals that susceptibility of ASC-deficient mice in the AOM/ DSS-induced colon cancer model is transmittable by cohousing, indicating the involvement of intestinal microbiota in the same manner as NLRP6-deficient mice [193].

In the DMBA/TPA skin carcinogenic model, ASC functions in cell type-specific manner [198]. ASC deficiency in myeloid cells results in decreased tumor burden, suggesting its protumor role [198]. This impaired tumor growth is accompanied by decreased production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 α , IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 [198]. Interestingly, epidermis-specific ASC-deficient mice develop more severe tumors, and ASC regulates the proliferation of keratinocytes possibly through the activation

25.2 Concluding Remarks

In this review, we focused on the role of innate immune receptors in the regulation of tumor immunity. The immune system is intrinsically a double-edged sword in that, while essential to the host's homeostasis by eliminating undesirable entities (molecules, pathogens, and cancerous cells), it also contributes to a variety of harmful events when it is dysregulated. Since the activation of innate immune receptors generally evokes inflammatory responses, which may cause either antitumor or pro-tumor response, the role of these receptors in the regulation of tumor development is variable, as described above.

Notwithstanding, the deepening of our understanding on how these innate receptors function toward antitumor direction warrants further investigation to seek improving more effective ways to treat cancers by harnessing these receptors. It may be of particular interest that type I IFN system, whose antitumor activities have been known for many decades, is being "revisited" nowadays [82]. There is evidence that type I IFNs are involved in the context of rapidly emerging cancer checkpoint therapy field [104, **199**]. In addition, the IRF7-IFN- β pathway appears to be critical for optimal antitumor activity [200]. Thus, one possibility may be the development of agonists, which selectively activate the innate receptors to induce type I IFNs.

Clearly, we can expect that further work will bring about the establishment of improved way(s) to harness the power of innate and adaptive immune systems for the treatment of cancer.

Acknowledgments This review was supported in part by Grant-In-Aid for Scientific Research (S) 15638461 from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) and Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (A-MED) 15656877. The Department of Molecular Immunology is supported by BONAC Corporation and Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd.

References

- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(11): 991–8.
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. Immunity. 2004;21(2):137–48.
- Zitvogel L, Ayyoub M, Routy B, Kroemer G. Microbiome and anticancer immunosurveillance. Cell. 2016;165(2):276–87.
- Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Kroemer G. Immunological aspects of cancer chemotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(1):59–73.
- van der Stegen SJC, Hamieh M, Sadelain M. The pharmacology of second-generation chimeric antigen receptors. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(7):499–509.
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):62–8.
- Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. Cell. 2015;161(2):205–14.
- Padmanee S, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):56–61.
- Khalil DN, Smith EL, Brentjens RJ, Wolchok JD. The future of cancer treatment: immunomodulation, CARs and combination immunotherapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(5):273–90.
- Iannello A, Thompson TW, Ardolino M, Marcus A, Raulet DH. Immunosurveillance and immunotherapy of tumors by innate immune cells. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;38:52–8.
- Woo S-R, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. Innate immune recognition of cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2015;33: 445–74.
- Lodoen MB, Lanier L. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2005;3(1):59–69.
- Vivier E, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011;331 (6013):44–9.
- Orange JS. Natural killer cell deficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2013;132(3):515–25.
- Condeelis J, Pollard JW. Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. Cell. 2006;124(2):263–6.
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu Y-X. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(10):1014–22.
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(4):343–53.
- Janeway CA, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20(2):197–216.
- Medzhitov R, Janeway C. The toll receptor family and microbial recognition. Trends Microbiol. 2000;8(10):452–6.

- Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell. 2006;124(4):783–801.
- Cotena A, et al. Complement dependent amplification of the innate response to a cognate microbial ligand by the long pentraxin PTX3. J Immunol. 2007;179:6311–7.
- Tamura T, Yanai H, Savitsky D, Taniguchi T. The IRF family transcription factors in immunity and oncogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26(1):535–84.
- Pandey S, Singh S, Anang V, Bhatt AN, Natarajan K, Dwarakanath BS. Pattern recognition receptors in cancer progression and metastasis. Cancer Growth Metastasis. 2015;8:25–34.
- Krieg AM. CpG motifs in bacterial DNA and their immune effects. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20: 709–60.
- Blander JM. A long-awaited merger of the pathways mediating host defence and programmed cell death. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(9):601–18.
- Jinushi M. The role of innate immune signals in antitumor immunity. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(2):189–94.
- Chiba S, et al. Recognition of tumor cells by Dectin-1 orchestrates innate immune cells for anti-tumor responses. Elife. 2014;3:e04177.
- Kimura Y, et al. The innate immune receptor Dectin-2 mediates the phagocytosis of cancer cells by Kupffer cells for the suppression of liver metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(49):14097–102.
- Vacchelli E, Enot DP, Pietrocola F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Impact of pattern recognition receptors on the prognosis of breast cancer patients undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2016;76(11):3122–6.
- Killeen SD, Wang JH, Andrews EJ, Redmond HP. Exploitation of the toll-like receptor system in cancer: a doubled-edged sword? Br J Cancer. 2006;95(3):247–52.
- Corrales L, Matson V, Flood B, Spranger S, Gajewski TF. Innate immune signaling and regulation in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res. 2016;27(1):96–108.
- Crusz SM, Balkwill FR. Inflammation and cancer: advances and new agents. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2015;12(10):584–96.
- Kopp E, Medzhitov R. Recognition of microbial infection by toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol. 2003;15(4):396–401.
- 34. Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(5):373–84.
- Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Flavell RA. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by toll-like receptor 3. Nature. 2001;413(6857):732–8.
- Galluzzi L, et al. Trial watch: experimental toll-like receptor agonists for cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(5):699–716.
- Pradere J-P, Dapito DH, Schwabe RF. The Yin and Yang of toll-like receptors in cancer. Oncogene. 2014;33(27):3485–95.

- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(12):860–75.
- Rakoff-Nahoum S, Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptors and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(1):57–63.
- Lin H, et al. Loss of immunity-supported senescence enhances susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinogenesis and progression in toll-like receptor 2-deficient mice. Hepatology. 2013;57(1):171–82.
- Lowe EL, et al. Toll-like receptor 2 signaling protects mice from tumor development in a mouse model of colitis-induced cancer. PLoS One. 2010;5(9):e13027.
- 42. Tye H, et al. STAT3-driven upregulation of TLR2 promotes gastric tumorigenesis independent of tumor inflammation. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(4):466–78.
- Kim S, et al. Carcinoma-produced factors activate myeloid cells through TLR2 to stimulate metastasis. Nature. 2009;457(7225):102–6.
- 44. Chin AI, et al. Toll-like receptor 3-mediated suppression of TRAMP prostate cancer shows the critical role of type I interferons in tumor immune surveillance. Cancer Res. 2010;70(7):2595–603.
- Ebihara T, et al. Identification of a polyI: C-inducible membrane protein that participates in dendritic cellmediated natural killer cell activation. J Exp Med. 2010;207(12):2675–87.
- 46. Shime H, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 signaling converts tumor-supporting myeloid cells to tumoricidal effectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109(6):2066–71.
- Forte G, et al. Polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid limits tumor outgrowth in a mouse model of metastatic lung cancer. J Immunol. 2012;188(11):5357–64.
- Liu Y, et al. Tumor exosomal RNAs promote lung pre-metastatic niche formation by activating alveolar epithelial TLR3 to recruit neutrophils. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(2):243–56.
- Talmadge JE, et al. Immunotherapeutic potential in murine tumor models of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid and poly-L-lysine solubilized by carboxymethylcellulose. Cancer Res. 1985;45(3):1066–72.
- Akazawa T, et al. Antitumor NK activation induced by the toll-like receptor 3-TICAM-1 (TRIF) pathway in myeloid dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(1):252–7.
- Matsumoto M, et al. Defined TLR3-specific adjuvant that induces NK and CTL activation without significant cytokine production in vivo. Nat Commun. 2015;6:6280.
- Fukata M, et al. Toll-like receptor-4 promotes the development of colitis-associated colorectal tumors. Gastroenterology. 2007;133(6):1869–81.
- Fukata M, et al. Innate immune signaling by toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) shapes the inflammatory microenvironment in colitis-associated tumors. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(7):997–1006.
- 54. Fukata M, et al. Constitutive activation of epithelial TLR4 augments inflammatory responses to mucosal

injury and drives colitis-associated tumorigenesis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(7):1464–73.

- 55. Li Y, et al. Constitutive TLR4 signalling in intestinal epithelium reduces tumor load by increasing apoptosis in APC(min/+) mice. Oncogene. 2014;33(3): 369–77.
- Dapito DH, et al. Promotion of hepatocellular carcinoma by the intestinal microbiota and TLR4. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(4):504–16.
- Yu LX, et al. Endotoxin accumulation prevents carcinogen-induced apoptosis and promotes liver tumorigenesis in rodents. Hepatology. 2010;52(4): 1322–33.
- 58. Wang Z, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 activity protects against hepatocellular tumorigenesis and progression by regulating expression of DNA repair protein Ku70 in mice. Hepatology. 2013;57(5):1869–81.
- Mittal D, Saccheri F, Vénéreau E, Pusterla T, Bianchi ME, Rescigno M. TLR4-mediated skin carcinogenesis is dependent on immune and radioresistant cells. EMBO J. 2010;29(13):2242–52.
- Bald T, et al. Ultraviolet-radiation-induced inflammation promotes angiotropism and metastasis in melanoma. Nature. 2014;507(7490):109–13.
- Yusuf N, et al. Protective role of TLR4 during the initiation stage of cutaneous chemical carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 2008;68(2):615–22.
- Ochi A, et al. MyD88 inhibition amplifies dendritic cell capacity to promote pancreatic carcinogenesis via Th2 cells. J Exp Med. 2012;209(9):1671–87.
- Bauer AK, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 in butylated hydroxytoluene-induced mouse pulmonary inflammation and tumorigenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(23):1778–81.
- 64. Naseemuddin M, Iqbal A, Nasti TH, Ghandhi JL, Kapadia AD, Yusuf N. Cell mediated immune responses through TLR4 prevents DMBA-induced mammary carcinogenesis in mice. Int J Cancer. 2012;130(4):765–74.
- 65. Ahmed A, Wang JH, Redmond HP. Silencing of TLR4 increases tumor progression and lung metastasis in a murine model of breast cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(Suppl 3):S389–96.
- Salcedo R, Cataisson C, Hasan U, Yuspa SH, Trinchieri G. MyD88 and its divergent toll in carcinogenesis. Trends Immunol. 2013;34(8):379–89.
- Garaude J, Kent A, van Rooijen N, Blander JM. Simultaneous targeting of toll- and nod-like receptors induces effective tumor-specific immune responses. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(120):120ra16.
- Rutkowski MR, et al. Microbially driven TLR5dependent signaling governs distal malignant progression through tumor-promoting inflammation. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(1):27–40.
- Sidky YA, Borden EC, Weeks CE, Reiter MJ, Hatcher JF, Bryan GT. Inhibition of murine tumor growth by an interferon-inducing imidazoquinolinamine. Cancer Res. 1992;52(13):3528–33.

- Hemmi H, et al. Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(2):196–200.
- Stary G, Bangert C, Tauber M, Strohal R, Kopp T, Stingl G. Tumoricidal activity of TLR7/8activated inflammatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2007;204(6):1441–51.
- Drobits B, et al. Imiquimod clears tumors in mice independent of adaptive immunity by converting pDCs into tumor-killing effector cells. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(2):575–85.
- Bourquin C, et al. Immunostimulatory RNA oligonucleotides induce an effective antitumoral NK cell response through the TLR7. J Immunol. 2009;183(10):6078–86.
- Ochi A, et al. Toll-like receptor 7 regulates pancreatic carcinogenesis in mice and humans. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(11):4118–29.
- Fabbri M, et al. MicroRNAs bind to toll-like receptors to induce prometastatic inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(31):E2110–6.
- Baines J, Celis E. Immune-mediated tumor regression induced by CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(7):2693–700.
- 77. Heckelsmiller K, et al. Peritumoral CpG DNA elicits a coordinated response of CD8 T cells and innate effectors to cure established tumors in a murine colon carcinoma model. J Immunol. 2002;169(7):3892–9.
- Carpentier AF, Chen L, Maltonti F, Delattre JY. Oligodeoxynucleotides containing CpG motifs can induce rejection of a neuroblastoma in mice. Cancer Res. 1999;59(21):5429–32.
- Damiano V, et al. A novel toll-like receptor 9 agonist cooperates with trastuzumab in trastuzumab-resistant breast tumors through multiple mechanisms of action. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(22):6921–30.
- Zambirinis CP, et al. TLR9 ligation in pancreatic stellate cells promotes tumorigenesis. J Exp Med. 2015;212(12):2077–94.
- Wu J, Chen ZJ. Innate immune sensing and signaling of cytosolic nucleic acids. Annu Rev Immunol. 2014;32:461–88.
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(7):405–14.
- Reikine S, Nguyen JB, Modis Y. Pattern recognition and signaling mechanisms of RIG-I and MDA5. Front Immunol. 2014;5:342.
- 84. Yoneyama M, et al. Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. J Immunol. 2005;175(5):2851–8.
- Venkataraman T, et al. Loss of DExD/H box RNA helicase LGP2 manifests disparate antiviral responses. J Immunol. 2007;178(10):6444–55.
- Satoh T, et al. LGP2 is a positive regulator of RIG-I- and MDA5-mediated antiviral responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(4):1512–7.

- Hornung V, et al. 5'-triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science. 2006;314(5801):994–7.
- Pichlmair A, et al. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science. 2006;314(5801):997–1001.
- Kato H, et al. Length-dependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acidinducible gene-I and melanoma differentiationassociated gene 5. J Exp Med. 2008;205(7): 1601–10.
- Perkins ND. Integrating cell-signalling pathways with NF-kappaB and IKK function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8(1):49–62.
- Schafer SL, Lin R, Moore PA, Hiscott J, Pitha PM. Regulation of type I interferon gene expression by interferon regulatory factor-3. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(5):2714–20.
- Honda K, et al. IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. Nature. 2005;434(7034):772–7.
- Hou J, et al. Hepatic RIG-I predicts survival and interferon-α therapeutic response in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(1):49–63.
- Daßler-Plenker J, et al. RIG-I activation induces the release of extracellular vesicles with antitumor activity. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(10):e1219827.
- Suthar MS, et al. The RIG-I-like receptor LGP2 controls CD8+ T cell survival and fitness. Immunity. 2012;37(2):235–48.
- 96. Besch R, et al. Proapoptotic signaling induced by RIG-I and MDA-5 results in type I interferonindependent apoptosis in human melanoma cells. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(8):2399–411.
- Poeck H, et al. 5'-triphosphate-siRNA: turning gene silencing and Rig-I activation against melanoma. Nat Med. 2008;14(11):1256–63.
- Kübler K, et al. Targeted activation of RNA helicase retinoic acid – inducible gene-I induces proimmunogenic apoptosis of human ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2010;70(13):5293–304.
- Glas M, et al. Targeting the cytosolic innate immune receptors RIG-I and MDA5 effectively counteracts cancer cell heterogeneity in glioblastoma. Stem Cells. 2013;31(6):1064–74.
- 100. McCartney S, et al. Distinct and complementary functions of MDA5 and TLR3 in poly(I:C)mediated activation of mouse NK cells. J Exp Med. 2009;206(13):2967–76.
- 101. Perrot I, et al. TLR3 and Rig-like receptor on myeloid dendritic cells and Rig-like receptor on human NK cells are both mandatory for production of IFN-gamma in response to double-stranded RNA. J Immunol. 2010;185(4):2080–8.
- 102. Miyake T, et al. Poly I:C-induced activation of NK cells by CD8 alpha+ dendritic cells via the IPS-1 and TRIF-dependent pathways. J Immunol. 2009;183(4):2522–8.
- Barber GN. STING: infection, inflammation and cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(12):760–70.

- 104. Woo SR, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(5): 830–42.
- 105. Deng L, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferon-dependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(5):543–852.
- Ahn J, Xia T, Konno H, Konno K, Ruiz P, Barber GN. Inflammation-driven carcinogenesis is mediated through STING. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5166.
- 107. Takaoka A, et al. DAI (DLM-1/ZBP1) is a cytosolic DNA sensor and an activator of innate immune response. Nature. 2007;448(7152):501–5.
- Rojas JJ, et al. Manipulating TLR signaling increases the anti-tumor T cell response induced by viral cancer therapies. Cell Rep. 2016;15(2):264–73.
- 109. Unterholzner L, et al. IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(11):997–1004.
- 110. Zhang Z, Yuan B, Bao M, Lu N, Kim T, Liu Y-J. The helicase DDX41 senses intracellular DNA mediated by the adaptor STING in dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(10):959–65.
- 111. Parvatiyar K, et al. The helicase DDX41 recognizes the bacterial secondary messengers cyclic di-GMP and cyclic di-AMP to activate a type I interferon immune response. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(12):1155–61.
- 112. Polprasert C, et al. Inherited and somatic defects in DDX41 in myeloid neoplasms. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(5):658–70.
- 113. Ferguson BJ, Mansur DS, Peters NE, Ren H, Smith GL. DNA-PK is a DNA sensor for IRF-3-dependent innate immunity. Elife. 2012;1:e00047.
- 114. Kondo T, et al. DNA damage sensor MRE11 recognizes cytosolic double-stranded DNA and induces type I interferon by regulating STING trafficking. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(8):2969–74.
- 115. Klarquist J, Hennies CM, Lehn MA, Reboulet RA, Feau S, Janssen EM. STING-mediated DNA sensing promotes antitumor and autoimmune responses to dying cells. J Immunol. 2014;193(12):6124–34.
- Ahn J, Konno H, Barber G. Diverse roles of STINGdependent signaling on the development of cancer. Oncogene. 2015;34457(41):5302–8.
- 117. Zhu Q, et al. Cutting edge: STING mediates protection against colorectal tumorigenesis by governing the magnitude of intestinal inflammation. J Immunol. 2014;193(10):4779–82.
- 118. Ohkuri T, et al. STING contributes to anti-glioma immunity via triggering type-I IFN signals in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(12):1199–208.
- 119. Li T, et al. Antitumor activity of cGAMP via stimulation of cGAS-cGAMP-STING-IRF3 mediated innate immune response. Sci Rep. 2016;6:19049.
- 120. Demaria O, et al. STING activation of tumor endothelial cells initiates spontaneous and thera-

peutic antitumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2015;112(50):15408–13.

- 121. Corrales L, et al. Direct activation of STING in the tumor microenvironment leads to potent and systemic tumor regression and immunity. Cell Rep. 2015;11(7):1018–30.
- 122. Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth M, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. Immunity. 2013;39(1):74–88.
- 123. Corrales L, McWhirter SM, Dubensky TW, Gajewski TF. The host STING pathway at the interface of cancer and immunity. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(7):2404–11.
- 124. Downey CM, Aghaei M, Schwendener RA, Jirik FR. DMXAA causes tumor site-specific vascular disruption in murine non-small cell lung cancer, and like the endogenous non-canonical cyclic dinucleotide STING agonist, 2'3'-cGAMP, induces M2 macrophage repolarization. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):10–2.
- 125. Sun J, et al. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases by 5,6-dimethylxanthenone-4acetic acid (DMXAA) plays an important role in macrophage stimulation. Biochem Pharmacol. 2011;82(9):1175–85.
- 126. Lemos H, et al. STING promotes the growth of tumors characterized by low antigenicity via IDO activation. Cancer Res. 2016;76(8):2076–81.
- 127. Geijtenbeek TBH, Gringhuis SI. Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(7):465–79.
- Dambuza IM, Brown GD. C-type lectins in immunity: recent developments. Curr Opin Immunol. 2015;32:21–7.
- 129. Sancho D, Reis e Sousa C. Signaling by myeloid C-type lectin receptors in immunity and homeostasis. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:491–529.
- Kerrigan AM, Brown GD. C-type lectins and phagocytosis. Immunobiology. 2009;214(7):562–75.
- 131. Ina K, Kataoka T, Ando T. The use of lentinan for treating gastric cancer. Anti Cancer Agents Med Chem. 2013;13(5):681–8.
- Chan GC-F, Chan WK, Sze DM-Y. The effects of beta-glucan on human immune and cancer cells. J Hematol Oncol. 2009;2:25.
- 133. Yan H, Kamiya T, Suabjakyong P, Tsuji NM. Targeting C-type lectin receptors for cancer immunity. Front Immunol. 2015;6:408.
- 134. Leibundgut-landmann S, Osorio F, Brown GD, Reis C. Stimulation of dendritic cells via the Dectin-1/ Syk pathway allows priming of cytotoxic T cell responses. Blood. 2008;112(13):4971–81.
- 135. Masuda Y, Inoue M, Miyata A, Mizuno S, Nanba H. Maitake beta-glucan enhances therapeutic effect and reduces myelosuppression and nephrotoxicity of cisplatin in mice. Int Immunopharmacol. 2009;9(5):620–6.
- 136. Tian J, et al. β-Glucan enhances antitumor immune responses by regulating differentiation and function

of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(5):1220–30.

- 137. Liu M, et al. Dectin-1 activation by a natural product β-glucan converts immunosuppressive macrophages into an M1-like phenotype. J Immunol. 2015;195(10):5055–65.
- 138. Masuda Y, Inoue H, Ohta H, Miyake A, Konishi M, Nanba H. Oral administration of soluble β-glucans extracted from Grifola frondosa induces systemic antitumor immune response and decreases immunosuppression in tumor-bearing mice. Int J Cancer. 2013;133(1):108–19.
- 139. Yamasaki S, Ishikawa E, Sakuma M, Hara H, Ogata K, Saito T. Mincle is an ITAM-coupled activating receptor that senses damaged cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(10):1179–88.
- 140. Seifert L, et al. The necrosome promotes pancreatic oncogenesis via CXCL1 and mincle-induced immune suppression. Nature. 2016;532(7598): 1–17.
- 141. Lowe KL, Navarro-Nunez L, Watson SP. PL-06 platelet CLEC-2 and podoplanin in cancer metastasis. Thromb Res. 2012;129(SUPPL. 1):S30–7.
- 142. Suzuki-Inoue K, et al. Essential in vivo roles of the C-type lectin receptor CLEC-2: embryonic/neonatal lethality of CLEC-2-deficient mice by blood/lymphatic misconnections and impaired thrombus formation of CLEC-2-deficient platelets. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(32):24494–507.
- 143. Suzuki-Inoue K, et al. Involvement of the snake toxin receptor CLEC-2, in podoplanin-mediated platelet activation, by cancer cells. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(36):25993–6001.
- 144. Gay LJ, Felding-Habermann B. Contribution of platelets to tumour metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(2):123–34.
- 145. Astarita JL, Acton SE, Turley SJ. Podoplanin: emerging functions in development, the immune system, and cancer. Front Immunol. 2012;3:283.
- 146. Martín-Villar E, Megías D, Castel S, Yurrita MM, Vilaró S, Quintanilla M. Podoplanin binds ERM proteins to activate RhoA and promote epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(21):4541–53.
- 147. Takagi S, et al. Platelets promote tumor growth and metastasis via direct interaction between Aggrus/podoplanin and CLEC-2. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):1–11.
- Garcia-Vallejo JJ, van Kooyk Y. The physiological role of DC-SIGN: a tale of mice and men. Trends Immunol. 2013;34(10):482–6.
- 149. Unger WWJ, et al. Glycan-modified liposomes boost CD4 + and CD8 + T-cell responses by targeting DC-SIGN on dendritic cells. J Control Release. 2012;160(1):88–95.
- 150. Chen H, Yuan B, Zheng Z, Liu Z, Wang S. Lewis X oligosaccharides-heparanase complex targeting to DCs enhance antitumor response in mice. Cell Immunol. 2011;269(2):144–8.

- 151. Nonaka M, et al. Glycosylation-dependent interactions of C-type lectin DC-SIGN with colorectal tumor-associated Lewis glycans impair the function and differentiation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3347–56.
- 152. Van Gisbergen KPJM, a Aarnoudse C, a Meijer G, Geijtenbeek TBH, Van Kooyk Y. Dendritic cells recognize tumor-specific glycosylation of carcinoembryonic antigen on colorectal cancer cells through dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing nonintegrin. Cancer Res. 2005;65(13):5935–44.
- 153. Nonaka M, et al. Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) recognizes a novel ligand, Mac-2-binding protein, characteristically expressed on human colorectal carcinomas. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(25):22403–13.
- 154. Domínguez-Soto A, et al. Dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3-grabbing nonintegrin expression on M2-polarized and tumor-associated macrophages is macrophage-CSF dependent and enhanced by tumor-derived IL-6 and IL-10. J Immunol. 2011;186:2192–200.
- Conde P, et al. DC-SIGN⁺ macrophages control the induction of transplantation tolerance. Immunity. 2015;42(6):1143–58.
- 156. Saeland E, et al. The C-type lectin MGL expressed by dendritic cells detects glycan changes on MUC1 in colon carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(8):1225–36.
- 157. Beatson R, et al. The breast cancer-associated glycoforms of MUC1, MUC1-Tn and sialyl-Tn, are expressed in COSMC wild-type cells and bind the C-type lectin MGL. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):1–21.
- 158. Napoletano C, et al. Targeting of macrophage galactose-type C-type lectin (MGL) induces DC signaling and activation. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42(4):936–45.
- 159. Ichii S, Imai Y, Irimura T. Initial steps in lymph node metastasis formation in an experimental system: possible involvement of recognition by macrophage C-type lectins. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2000;49(1):1–9.
- 160. Singh SK, et al. Design of neo-glycoconjugates that target the mannose receptor and enhance TLRindependent cross-presentation and Th1 polarization. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(4):916–25.
- He L-Z, et al. Antigenic targeting of the human mannose receptor induces tumor immunity. J Immunol. 2007;178(10):6259–67.
- 162. Allavena P, et al. Engagement of the mannose receptor by tumoral mucins activates an immune suppressive phenotype in human tumor-associated macrophages. Clin Dev Immunol. 2010;2010:547179.
- 163. Arteta B, Lasuen N, Lopategi A, Sveinbjörnsson B, Smedsrød B, Vidal-Vanaclocha F. Colon carcinoma cell interaction with liver sinusoidal endothelium inhibits organ-specific antitumor immunity through

interleukin-1-induced mannose receptor in mice. Hepatology. 2010;51(6):2172–82.

- 164. Miyake Y, et al. C-type lectin MCL is an FcRγcoupled receptor that mediates the adjuvanticity of mycobacterial cord factor. Immunity. 2013;38(5):1050–62.
- 165. Le Zhu L, et al. C-type lectin receptors dectin-3 and dectin-2 form a heterodimeric pattern-recognition receptor for host defense against fungal infection. Immunity. 2013;39(2):324–34.
- 166. Miyake Y, Oh-hora M, Yamasaki S. C-type lectin receptor MCL facilitates mincle expression and signaling through complex formation. J Immunol. 2015;194(11):5366–74.
- 167. Vénéreau E, Ceriotti C, Bianchi ME. DAMPs from cell death to new life. Front Immunol. 2015;6:1–11.
- Hernandez C, Huebener P, Schwabe RF. Damageassociated molecular patterns in cancer: a doubleedged sword. Oncogene. 2016;35(46):5931–41.
- 169. Ahrens S, et al. F-actin is an evolutionarily conserved damage-associated molecular pattern recognized by DNGR-1, a receptor for dead cells. Immunity. 2012;36(4):635–45.
- 170. Zhang JG, et al. The dendritic cell receptor Clec9A binds damaged cells via exposed actin filaments. Immunity. 2012;36(4):646–57.
- 171. Neumann K, et al. Clec12a is an inhibitory receptor for uric acid crystals that regulates inflammation in response to cell death. Immunity. 2014;40(3):389–99.
- 172. Liu Y, Zeng G. Cancer and innate immune system interactions: translational potentials for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother. 2012;35(4):299–308.
- 173. Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. Nature. 2003;425(6957):516–21.
- 174. Conforti-Andreoni C, et al. Uric acid-driven Th17 differentiation requires inflammasome-derived IL-1 and IL-18. J Immunol. 2011;187(11):5842–50.
- 175. Nonaka M, et al. Mannan-binding protein, a C-type serum lectin, recognizes primary colorectal carcinomas through tumor-associated Lewis Glycans. J Immunol. 2014;192(3):1294–301.
- 176. Terada M, et al. Characterization of oligosaccharide ligands expressed on SW1116 cells recognized by mannan-binding protein: a highly fucosylated polylactosamine type N-glycan. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(12):10897–913.
- 177. Riboldi E, et al. Human C-type lectin domain family 4, member C (CLEC4C/BDCA-2/CD303) is a receptor for asialo-galactosyl-oligosaccharides. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(41):35329–33.
- Leo VI, et al. CARD9 promotes sex-biased colon tumors in the APCmin mouse model. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(7):721–6.
- 179. Man SM, Kanneganti TD. Regulation of inflammasome activation. Immunol Rev. 2015;265(1):6–21.

- Zhong Z, Sanchez-Lopez E, Karin M. Autophagy, NLRP3 inflammasome and auto-inflammatory/ immune diseases. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34:12–6.
- Freeman LC, Ting JPY. The pathogenic role of the inflammasome in neurodegenerative diseases. J Neurochem. 2016;136:29–38.
- 182. Wen H, Ting JP-Y, O'Neill LAJ. A role for the NLRP3 inflammasome in metabolic diseasesdid Warburg miss inflammation? Nat Immunol. 2012;13(4):352–7.
- Petrilli V. The multifaceted roles of inflammasome proteins in cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2017;29(1):35–40.
- 184. Allen IC, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome functions as a negative regulator of tumorigenesis during colitis-associated cancer. J Exp Med. 2010;207(5):1045–56.
- 185. Zaki MH, Vogel P, Body-Malapel M, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti T. IL-18 production downstream of the Nlrp3 inflammasome confers protection against colorectal tumor formation. J Immunol. 2010;185(8):4912–20.
- 186. Dupaul-Chicoine J, et al. The Nlrp3 Inflammasome suppresses colorectal cancer metastatic growth in the liver by promoting natural killer cell tumoricidal activity. Immunity. 2015;43(4):751–63.
- 187. Chow MT, Tschopp J, Möller A, Smyth MJ. NLRP3 promotes inflammation-induced skin cancer but is dispensable for asbestos-induced mesothelioma. Immunol Cell Biol. 2012;90(10):983–6.
- 188. Chow MT, et al. NLRP3 suppresses NK cellmediated responses to carcinogen-induced tumors and metastases. Cancer Res. 2012;72(22): 5721–32.
- 189. Ghiringhelli F, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15(10):1170–8.
- 190. Bruchard M, et al. Chemotherapy-triggered cathepsin B release in myeloid-derived suppressor cells activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome and promotes tumor growth. Nat Med. 2013;19(1):57–64.
- 191. Hu B, et al. Inflammation-induced tumorigenesis in the colon is regulated by caspase-1 and NLRC4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(50): 21635–40.
- 192. Janowski AM, et al. NLRC4 suppresses melanoma tumor progression independently of inflammasome activation. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(10):3917–28.
- 193. Hu B, et al. Microbiota-induced activation of epithelial IL-6 signaling links inflammasome-driven inflammation with transmissible cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(24):9862–7.
- 194. Allen IC, et al. NLRP12 suppresses colon inflammation and tumorigenesis through the negative regulation of noncanonical NF-κB signaling. Immunity. 2012;36(5):742–54.

- 195. Zaki MH, et al. The NOD-like receptor NLRP12 attenuates colon inflammation and tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell. 2011;20(5):649–60.
- 196. Man SM, et al. Critical role for the DNA sensor AIM2 in stem cell proliferation and cancer. Cell. 2015;162(1):45–58.
- 197. Wilson JE, et al. Inflammasome-independent role of AIM2 in suppressing colon tumorigenesis via DNA-PK and Akt. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):906–13.
- 198. Drexler SK, et al. Tissue-specific opposing functions of the inflammasome adaptor ASC in the regulation

of epithelial skin carcinogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(45):18384–9.

- 199. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64.
- 200. Zhao Z, et al. Structural design of engineered costimulation determines tumor rejection kinetics and persistence of CAR T cells. Cancer Cell. 2015;28(4):415–28.

Co-stimulation Agonists via CD137, OX40, GITR, and CD27 for Immunotherapy of Cancer

26

Ignacio Melero, Elisabeth Pérez-Ruiz, Alfonso R. Sanchez-Paulete, Alvaro Teijeira, Angela Aznar, and Miguel F. Sanmamed

Contents

26.1	Immune Synapses and the Co-stimulation of Anticancer T-Cell Immune Responses	429
26.2	Preclinical and Clinical Experience with Antibody Agonists of Co-stimulatory Receptors of the TNFR Family	431
26.3	CD137 (4-1BB)	432
26.4	OX40 Co-stimulation	434
26.5	GITR	435
26.6	CD27	439
26.7	Future Perspectives	440
Refer	ences	440

26.1 Immune Synapses and the Co-stimulation of Anticancer T-Cell Immune Responses

T-cell- and NK-cell-mediated immunity are under tight control since their functions involve the elimination of cells showing signs of infection, genetic stress, and/or the promotion of tissue inflammation. Thymic selection processes ensure that the repertoire of antigen T-cell receptors (TCRs) is purged of self-reactivity and is biased to recognize foreign peptides bound to self MHC molecules [1].

Once in the periphery, T cells patrol in search of their antigen on antigen-presenting cells. If the cognate antigen is met under noninflammatory conditions, the usual outcome is apoptosis or anergy induction of the antigen-recognizing lymphocytes with the reactive lymphocytes left dysfunctional [2]. However, if the surrounding environment denotes intense tissue damage and destruction [3], infection [4], or inflammation, the professional antigen-presenting cells display, together with processed antigen epitopes, a set of activating signals which in conjunction with the TCR determine rapid cell division (clonal expansion) and acquisition of pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic functions. These accessory signals are mediated by soluble factors (cytokines or interleukins) and membrane attached receptorligand pairs (co-stimulatory molecules) [5]. The prevailing working conceptual scheme is based

I. Melero (⊠) • E. Pérez-Ruiz • A.R. Sanchez-Paulete • A. Teijeira • A. Aznar • M.F. Sanmamed CIMA and Clinica Universidad de Navarra, Pamplona, Spain e-mail: imelero@unay.es

on the distinction of three types of signals [6] in T-cell activation: signal 1 emanating from the TCR-CD3 complex, signal 2 that procures comitogenic effects and protection from apoptosis, and signal 3 that results in the enhancement of pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic functions [7]. The conceptual dichotomy between signal 2 and 3 is usually very difficult to dissect, since many of the co-stimulatory pathways share effects on these two functional properties. To make things more complicated, the effect of surface receptors very often controls cytokine secretions which can act in an autocrine or paracrine fashion, therefore confounding the attribution of the functional effects. In conclusion, while the TCR detects the antigenicity of a scanned cell [8], the co-stimulatory molecules determine immunogenicity, depending on the context of recognition. Interestingly enough, another category of surface receptors and their ligands counteract the action of co-stimulatory molecules and are conceptually grouped as co-inhibitory molecules [9].

There are co-stimulatory molecules that are constitutively expressed on resting antigen-naïve T cells such as CD28 and CD27. Other surface co-stimulatory receptors are only present on the membrane once the lymphocyte is antigenprimed or raise their intensities of expression from very low baseline levels. Such is the case of ICOS, CD137, OX40, and GITR, among others. This is an important distinction for immunotherapy, since some co-stimulatory receptors are conceivably able to operate during priming, while other co-stimulatory functions can only take place on recently primed T cells.

It is important to keep in mind that these receptor-ligand interactions usually take place in the context of cell-to-cell contacts termed immune synapses that are well organized by the action of adhesion molecules (integrins and their ligands) [10, 11]. The floating cholesterol-rich domains of the plasma membranes play a role in these structures, as well as the tubulin and actin cytoskeletons [12]. Vesicles and secretion granuli are directionally reorganized toward the contacting region by the centrosome and the tubulin cytoskeleton [13]. It is in this subcellular context that both the TCR and the co-stimulatory mole-

cules engage and signal. Other activating systems at the synapse level are mediated by cytokines that are directionally secreted. Five of these soluble proteins are best known for their functions: IL-2, IL-12, IFN α/β , IFN γ , and IL-15. In the case of IL-15, it acts more like a membrane-bound costimulatory molecule, since it is anchored to the plasma membrane by IL-15R α to be transpresented to the contacting lymphocytes [14].

Co-inhibitory systems are also receptor-ligand pairs that operate at the level of the immune synapse but whose function is to mitigate or suppress the activation signals [5]. The action of such receptors is important to keep autoimmunity at bay and to prevent collateral damage of healthy cells in a tissue infected by an intracellular pathogen [15]. Often these co-inhibitory ligands and receptors are termed checkpoints, and these are extensively described in accompanying chapters in this book. A critical functional aspect to be kept in mind to understand the balance between co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory receptors is that such receptors control the stability and duration of the integrin-dependent cell-to-cell contact [16] and thus of the antigen presentation processes taking place in the immune synapse.

Co-stimulatory molecules lack any intrinsic enzymatic activity, and their functions are therefore dependent on dynamic recruitment of signaling adaptors. Dissection of intracellular signaling by co-stimulatory receptors is a difficult task because these receptors signal in the context of potent TCR-CD3 stimulation. In many instances it is found that the overall effect is mainly amplification or potentiation of TCR-dependent signals [17] with little evidence for exclusively elicited biochemical second messenger effects. The main biochemical events occurring immediately downstream of this type of co-stimulatory receptors are either tyrosine and serine/threonine phosphorylations [18] or polyubiquitination of proteins [19, 20]. Both mechanisms result in the formation of transient protein docking sites and multiprotein complexes that are usually followed by the activation of transcription factors.

Signaling is usually triggered by a natural ligand but can be also promoted by cross-linking of the receptors with bivalent antibodies or



Fig. 26.1 Constitutive and activation-induced costimulatory members of the TNF and TNFR families expressed on T cells, NK cells, and antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Schematic representation of an immune synapse between effector T cells (Teff), regulatory T cells

(Treg), and NK cells with an APC. TRAF adaptor usage and reference to the agonist monoclonal antibodies under clinical development are provided for each TNFR co-stimulatory molecule

recombinant forms of multimerized natural ligands, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) [21], or other moieties such as nucleotide aptamers [22]. Signaling normally occurs in the immune synapses in a compartmental fashion and with the receptors frequently being internalized upon ligation.

The TNFR family encompasses two types of molecules: those that have an intracytoplasmic death domain, involved in eliciting apoptosis, and those that do not contain it [23]. In the immune system, this family of receptors and ligands regulates many functions such as apoptosis induction, inflammation, and lymphocyte activation [24]. In tumor immunotherapy the most important targeted receptors do not have death domains, which would recruit the caspase-activating machinery. TNFRs lack any intrinsic enzymatic activity and rely for signal transduction on adaptor proteins of the TRAF family and others [25, 26]. Figure 26.1 shows a schematic representation of the main

TNFR members and their ligands as they would act in an immune synapse. The agonist antibodies under clinical development are also presented (Fig. 26.1).

26.2 Preclinical and Clinical Experience with Antibody Agonists of Co-stimulatory Receptors of the TNFR Family

To invigorate or reinvigorate at will an immune response in an antigen-specific fashion has been a long-term elusive goal in pharmacology. The objectives behind vaccination have been only successful in a prophylactic setting when able to elicit neutralizing antibodies to the infectious agents or their toxins prior to exposure but largely unsuccessful when the goal is to induce a protective cellular immune response. In cancer we often find the situation in which there is already an ongoing baseline immune response [27, 28]. Such immune response is often too weak as to cause the eradication of the malignancy, but multiple lines of evidence in mouse and human indicate that it is actively controlling its progression [29]. In a way there is an ongoing equilibrium [30] of immunity and cancer that mainly manifests itself in the tumor microenvironment and potentially in the tumor-draining lymph nodes. In light of these concepts, it is conceivable to pharmacologically act on receptors of immune cells present in this microenvironment scenario to decisively potentiate the ongoing baseline immune responses, empowering them to impact the malignancy. Immunology research during the late 1990s found in a serendipitous way that costimulation via TNFR members could lead to tumor eradication in mouse models [31, 32]. We will review knowledge on the targeting of the main receptor of this family whose effects are under clinical investigation.

26.3 CD137 (4-1BB)

CD137 (4-1BB or TNFSR9) was originally discovered on activated T lymphocytes and found to favor proliferation and IL-2 production by T cells [33, 34]. Indeed, its presence is readily detected on CD8- and CD4-activated T cells (including Tregs) following antigen-mediated activation [35]. Its expression has also been reported on activated NK cells [36], B cells, and myeloid cells [37]. Experiments in knockout mice indicate that this molecule is important for optimal antiviral and alloreactive CTL responses [38, 39] and for the induction of long-lived memory T cells as demonstrated following virus infections [40, 41].

Only one transmembrane ligand (CD137L) has been identified, and this belongs to the TNF family [42]. The ligand is termed 4-1BBL, CD137L, or TNFSF9. The system is quite conserved in mouse and human. Ligand binding induces CD137 to productively signal using TRAF2 and TRAF1 as its main adaptors [43, 44]. The extracellular domain has been found to be kept to some extent pre-cross-linked by galectin-

9 bound to its carbohydrates [45]. The resulting conformational features of such lectin-CD137 complex are likely important for signaling [46].

Early signaling by CD137 involves K-63 polyubiquitination reactions dependent on TRAF2 functions that ultimately result in activation of the NF-kB and MAP kinase pathways [47]. Preliminary evidence suggests that these pathways are actively regulated by specific de-ubiquitinases. The biochemical effects of TRAF1 in these complexes are far less clear [48], but a recent involvement of TRAF1 that has been discovered in the regulation of linear ubiquitin has been proposed in the contexts of other TNF family receptors [49]. It has been reported that CD8 T cells primed in the presence of CD137 agonists become favorably poised for future encounters with antigen. This is probably explained by epigenetic changes in miRNA expression and chromatin configuration (Angela Aznar, Submitted).

Agonist anti-CD137 mAb and the trimerized natural ligand have been reported to exert antitumor effects in mouse models [31]. The therapeutic effects elicited by agonist mAbs are mediated by a strong CTL response that more efficiently destroys the malignant tissue. A requirement for NK cells in some models has been reported [36]. The functional effects of CD137 ligation on Treg cells are controversial [50].

It is remarkable that multiple mouse tumor models are amenable to treatment with agonist anti-CD137 mAb [51]. In the resistant tumors, it is easy to find combination strategies with other therapies that ultimately result in synergistic, often curative, effects. These include combinations with vaccines [52], cytokines [53], and other immune-stimulatory mAbs [54, 55]. In addition, radiotherapy and chemotherapy have also been reported to be synergistic with anti-CD137 mAb [56, 57]. Agonist anti-CD137 single-chain mAb expressed on the plasma membrane of tumor cells results in powerful localized CTL- and NK-mediated antitumor immunity [58, 59]. Recent evidence suggests that the transcription factor eomesodermin partially explains this robust CTL phenotype [60].

In the case of other TNFR family members such as CD40, cross-linking of the receptor by the agonist antibodies is dependent on CD32 Fc receptors on neighboring cells [61, 62]. However, in our hands this is not the case with CD137 as the antitumor effects are intact in Cd32 ($FcR\gamma II$)–/– mice possibly because of the baseline pre-cross-linking by galectin-9.

Bivalent 4-1BB agonistic aptamers also induce antitumor effects in tumor-bearing mice [63]. This strategy has also been used in combination with a novel approach that was described to enhance tumor antigenicity, in which tumor cell nonsense mRNA-mediated decay (NMD) was inhibited with aptamer-siRNA chimeras targeted to tumor cells. The combination of 4-1BB agonistic aptamer and targeted inhibition of NMD showed a synergistic antitumor effect [64].

The cytoplasmic tail of CD137 has been used to construct chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) encompassing a single-chain antibody CD3ζ and the CD137 cytoplasmatic tail. In these constructs, the CD137 part is critical to support the persistence and expansion of the transfected T lymphocytes [65, 66]. In fact, the anti-CD19 CARs encompassing CD137 have produced the best clinical results against leukemias with long-term engraftment of the transduced T cells [67, 68].

Another intriguing aspect of CD137 costimulation is its largely unexplained interplay with the TCR signaling machinery on T cells and how it behaves in immune synapses [69]. Recent evidence indicates that it can rapidly internalize following ligation but that it seems to keep signaling from endosomal compartments [47].

It is a yet unsatisfactorily explained paradox that the very same anti-CD137 antibodies, which successfully treat cancer in mouse models, also ameliorate mouse autoimmune disease mediated by CD4 T cells such as EAE, lupus, and collageninduced arthritis [70, 71]. This effect seems to depend on an overactivation of CD4 lymphocytes that ultimately die off [50]. In contrast, treatment of mice with these antibodies results in mild liver inflammation composed of periportal polyclonal infiltrates dominated by CD8 T lymphocytes [72]. Liver inflammation is dependent on CD137 (absent in CD137 KO mice), IFN γ , and TNF α . Interestingly, anti-CD137 monoclonal antibodies inhibit humoral (antibody-mediated) immunity in mice [73]. This activity is due to actions on follicular T helper cells that in human are the main CD137 baseline expressing lymphocytes in healthy volunteers [74]. Abrogation or attenuation of neutralizing antibody responses has been exploited in mouse models to permit repeated administration of tumor virotherapy together with anti-CD137 mAb [53].

On human and mouse NK cells, CD137 becomes expressed following exposure to IgG-coated target cells subjected to antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity [75]. This function is mediated by the CD16 Fc γ receptor. Once expressing CD137, the agonist anti-CD137 mAb strongly upregulates ADCC function capabilities for subsequent encounters. Indeed, this powerful effect produces synergistic antitumor cytotoxicity with antibodies such as anti-CD20 [75], trastuzumab [76], or cetuximab [77]. Upregulation of CD137 on NK cells infiltrating human head and neck cancer has been seen in patients treated with cetuximab [78].

Two anti-CD137 mAb antibodies are currently undergoing clinical trials. Urelumab (IgG4), developed by BMS, showed an excellent preclinical safety profile including results in cynomolgus macaques. Phase I studies of urelumab demonstrated a tolerable safety profile for doses escalated to 15 mg/kg. However, in subsequent phase II studies, several patients developed liver inflammation that resulted in a temporary halt in development and led to two fatalities [79, 80]. New phase I trials were started that identified safe doses at 0.1 mg/kg (a flat dose of 8 mg/kg every 2 or 4 weeks), and the antibody is currently undergoing further clinical evaluation in combination regimens with rituximab (NCT01775631), cetuximab (NCT02110082), elotuzumab (NCT02252263), and nivolumab (SITC meeting 2016). Urelumab monotherapy produced signs of clinical activity including objective responses in melanoma (ASCO 2014), renal cell carcinoma, and lymphoma (SITC meeting 2016), but its value is mainly foreseen to be in combination regimens.

PFZ-05082566 (utomilumab) is an IgG2 anti-CD137 and also under development after showing bioactivity in vitro assays and safety in nonhuman primates [81]. A phase I clinical trial and its expansion are ongoing with escalating doses in combination with rituximab (NCT01307267) and pembrolizumab (NCT02179918). In the phase I trial, a number of patients with virally induced Merkel carcinomas are being treated with evidence of objective clinical activity, and no signs of hepatotoxicity have been observed in the dose levels reported thus far [82, 83]. Clinical responses suggest some degrees of at least additive clinical efficacy with pembrolizumab (ASCO 2016) that warrant expansions to explore combined immunotherapy strategies.

26.4 OX40 Co-stimulation

OX40 (also known as CD134 or TNFRSF4) is a type 1 transmembrane protein that belongs to the TNFR family and was first discovered in 1987 on the surface of activated CD4⁺ T cells in rats [84]. The original publication showed that an anti-OX40 antibody (MRC OX40) could increase T-cell proliferation [84], and subsequent studies demonstrated that OX40 is expressed on CD4⁺ and also on CD8⁺ T cells (albeit at lower levels) 24-72 h following TCR engagement [85, 86]. Treg cells constitutively express OX40 in mice [87], but in human Treg cells, OX40 expression is upregulated upon activation [86]. Other cells belonging to the innate immune system such as NK, NKT cells, or neutrophils can express OX40 as well [88]. Stimulation in these cells via OX40 has shown a pro-inflammatory and pro-survival effect, suggesting that OX40 modulation contributes not only to adaptive but also to innate immune responses [88, 89].

OX40 ligand (OX40L, CD252) is predominantly expressed on activated APCs, but other hematopoietic (NK, mast, and activated T cells) and non-hematopoietic cells (smooth muscle, vascular endothelial cells) can express OX40L as well [90, 91]. OX40 ligation is known to recruit TRAF2 and TRAF3 to the intracellular domain of OX40, leading to activation of both the canonical and noncanonical NF- $\kappa\beta$ pathways which ultimately induce the expression of pro-survival molecules and increase cytokine production associated with enhanced T-cell expansion, differentiation, and the generation of long-lived memory cells [92, 93]. The importance of noncanonical pathway needs further studies, comparing OX40 co-stimulation properties with other TNFR members.

The co-stimulatory nature of OX40 has been confirmed in autoimmune mouse models where blocking OX40/OX40L interactions diminishes the clinical signs of autoimmunity [94]. By contrast, overexpression of the OX40L in transgenic mice leads to increased signs of autoimmunity [95]. Additionally, in patients, OX40L expression is upregulated in hosts with autoimmune diseases, and the majority of OX40L expression appears to be confined to the lesions, suggesting that OX40L expression is the limiting factor in regard to OX40 signaling in T cells [96]. Based on these findings, and preclinical evidence that OX40 engagement can expand T-cell populations and increase effector functions, OX40 agonists (mAbs and soluble forms of OX40L) have been investigated for cancer immunotherapy.

In preclinical tumor models, OX40 monotherapy with agonist mAbs was shown to be effective in eradicating primarily immunogenic tumors including MC303 sarcoma, CT26 colon carcinoma, SM1 breast cancer, and small B16 melanoma, among others [97–99]. However, OX40 failed to provide adequate antitumor immunity in poorly immunogenic tumors [96]. Therefore, different combinatorial strategies have been explored to increase OX40 agonist antitumor efficacy. In line with this, combinations with cytokines such as interleukin 12 (IL-12) or IL-2 have been successfully tested with or without vaccination [100, 101]. Furthermore, based on the experience that stimuli signaling through Toll-like receptors (TLR) induce OX40L expression on APCs, combination of TLR agonists with OX40 co-stimulation-based strategies has demonstrated synergistic effects [102, 103]. In addition, anti-OX40 antibodies have been combined with other immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies to treat lymphomas, sarcomas, hepatic colon metastasis, and spontaneous hepatocellular carcinoma [55, 104–106]. Combining OX40 agonist with cancer vaccines, chemotherapy or radiation has also demonstrated an improvement in control of established tumors [107, 108] and enhanced expansion and prolonged survival of tumor-specific T cells [109].

It is believed that one of the main advantages of targeting OX40 is the abrogation of Tregmediated immunosuppression by inhibition of the activity of Treg cells [110] or by direct depletion of these immunosuppressor cells [87, 111, 112]. Thus, combination of anti-OX40 mAbs with cyclophosphamide (chemotherapy that is capable of partially depleting Treg cells) showed a synergistic effect in a poorly immunogenic B16 murine melanoma tumor and was associated with a reduction of Treg at the tumor site [107]. Another mechanism reported to be associated with OX40 stimulation is the ability of OX40 engagement to trigger cytolytic activity in CD4⁺ T cells. Data in preclinical models show that anti-OX40 mAb is synergistic in combination with anti-CD137 [113] or in combination with cyclophosphamide and adoptive T-cell therapy [114], resulting in an increase in cytotoxic activity and in a preferential Th1 polarization.

Clinical development of OX40 agonists started in 2006 with a murine antihuman OX40 (antihOX40) mAb. This murine antibody was first tested in nonhuman primates [115], and subsequently 30 patients with solid tumors received three doses (days 1, 3, and 5) from 0.1 to 2 mg/kg in the first-in-human clinical trial [116]. The treatment was very well tolerated, and no maximum tolerated dose was identified. Even though slight tumor size reductions were observed in some patients, none of the patients showed an objective response by RECIST criteria. Elevated levels of neutralizing human anti-mouse immunoglobulin antibodies were considered the most important limitation in this clinical trial. Nonetheless, combinations of the murine anti-hOX40 with chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy in clinical trials are currently ongoing in different solid tumors (Table 26.1). The obvious next step was the development of fully human OX40 agonists to allow repeated dosing in cancer patients. Human Fc:OX40L has demonstrated promising results in preclinical development [117], and clinical testing may begin in the near future. Two humanized antiOX40 mAbs, MEDI6383 (AgonOx, AstraZeneca) and MOXR0916 (Genentech, Roche), are now undergoing clinical development (Table 26.1) as single agents and in combination with PD-1 and PD-L1 blocking agents.

26.5 GITR

Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR, TNFSFR18, CD357) belongs to the TNFR family. It was originally discovered in murine T-cell hybridomas treated with dexamethasone [118] thus explaining its name. Further studies concluded that glucocorticoid treatment has no effect on GITR expression in humans (and is not necessary in mice). In contrast, its expression is induced after TCR engagement in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [119, 120]. GITR is expressed at low levels on resting CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, and it is upregulated 24-72 h after TCR engagement and remains expressed on the lymphocyte surface for several days. In contrast, Treg cells constitutively and brightly express GITR [121], where it is thought that GITR exerts an inhibitory activity on Treg suppressive functions [122]. Additionally, GITR expression has been found on NK cells, eosinophils, basophils, macrophages, and B cells, particularly upon activation [123].

GITR ligand (GITRL), as was the case with OX40L, is highly expressed on activated APC and endothelial cells. Upon ligation, GITR downstream signaling is exerted through a complex consisting of a single TRAF5 and two TRAF2 proteins, leading to NF- $\kappa\beta$ and MAPK pathway activation [124]. GITR-mediated co-stimulation ultimately enhances T-cell proliferation and effector functions in part because of upregulation of IL-2Ra, IL-2, and IFNY [120, 125]. GITR ligation protects T cells from activation-induced cell death (AICD), leading to an increase in memory T cells. Initial studies demonstrated that GITR ligation could potentially overcome tolerance to self- and tumor-antigens, making it an attractive target for the development of cancer immunotherapies [126]. Subsequently, an antitumor effect of GITR stimulation has been demonstrated in different tumor models with an agonist anti-mGITR antibody

-
ൎ
N
e
9
_ , C

Cincle continuition	Monotherapy	With chemotherapy	Monotherapy	With chemoradiation	With ipilimumab	With nivolumab and ACT ^a	Monotherapy or combination with anti-PD-1	With rituximab	With rituximab	With nivolumab	With cetuximab	With elotuzumab	With avelumab/rituximab/azacitidine	Monotherapy (solid tumors) and with rituximab (lymphomas)	With pembrolizumab
Dioneo	Metastatic or locally advanced solid malignancies	Advanced solid malignancies	Stage III–IV melanoma (2° line)	Non-small cell lung cancer	Unresectable stage III-IV melanoma	Metastatic melanoma	Recurrent glioblastoma	B-cell malignancies	Relapsed, refractory, or high-risk untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Small lymphocytic lymphoma	Patients with cisplatin- ineligible muscle-invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder	Colorectal cancer and head and neck cancer	Multiple myeloma	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma	Advanced solid tumor/ lymphoma	Advanced solid tumor
Dhore	II-I	I	Π	Ι	Ι	Pilot clinical	Ι	Ι	П	Π	Ι	Ι	III/qI	Ι	Ι
Clinical trials.gov	NCT00309023	NCT00351325	NCT00612664	NCT00461110	NCT00803374	NCT02652455	NCT02658981	NCT01775631	NCT02420938	NCT02845323	NCT02110082	NCT02252263	NCT02951156	NCT01307267	NCT02179918
Name/alternative names	(company) Urelumab/BMS-663513 (Bristol-Myers) Utomilumab/PF-050825666 (Pfizer)														
Towat	CD137														

Target	Name/alternative names (company)	Clinical trials.gov identifier	Phase	Disease	Single agent/combination
OX-40	MEDI6469 (MedImmune)	NCT01644968	Ι	Advanced cancer	Combination with KLH ^b or tetanus vaccine
		NCT01303705	Ib	Progressive or metastatic prostate cancer after systemic therapy	With cyclophosphamide and radiation
		NCT01689870	IVI	Unresectable or metastatic melanoma	With ipilimumab
		NCT01416844	Π	Metastatic melanoma	Monotherapy
		NCT02274155	Ib	Locoregionally advanced, oral head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	Monotherapy
		NCT02559024	I/IB	Metastatic colorectal cancer	With surgery/RFA ^c of metastases
		NCT01862900	IVI	Progressive metastatic breast cancer	With stereotactic body radiation therapy
		NCT02205333	II/qI	Selected advanced solid tumors or aggressive B-cell lymphomas	Monotherapy or combined with durvalumab, tremelimumab, or rituximab
	MEDI6383 (AstraZeneca)	NCT02221960	I	Selected locally advanced or metastatic carcinomas	Alone and in combination with MEDI4736
	MOXR0916 (Roche)	NCT02410512	Ib	Metastatic or locally advanced solid malignancies	Atezolizumab with or without bevacizumab
	PF-04518600 (Pfizer)	NCT02315066	I	Selected locally advanced or metastatic carcinomas	Alone and in combination with utomilumab
	INCAGN01949 (Agenus)	NCT02923349	IVI	Advanced or metastatic solid tumors	Monotherapy
	GSK3174998 (GlaxoSmithKline)	NCT02528357	I	Selected advanced solid tumors	Monotherapy or with pembrolizumab
	MEDI0562 (MedImmune LLC)	NCT02705482	I	Selected advanced solid tumors	Combination with tremelimumab or durvalumab
					(continued)

Table 26.1 (continued)

Single agent/combination	Monotherapy	Monotherapy	Monotherapy or combination with anti-PD-1	Monotherapy	With nivolumab	Monotherapy	With ONT-10	With nivolumab	Combination with ipilimumab and CDX-1401	Combination with sunitinib	IMA950 vaccine plus poly-ICLC
Disease	Unresectable stage III or stage IV malignant melanoma or other solid tumor malignancies	Selected advanced solid tumors	Advanced solid tumors and lymphomas	Advanced or metastatic solid tumors	Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, ovarian carcinoma, colorectal cancer, renal cell carcinoma, glioblastoma	Selected refractory or relapsed hematologic malignancies or solid tumors	Advanced ovarian cancer or breast cancer	Relapsed or refractory aggressive B-cell lymphomas	Patients with unresectable stage III or stage IV melanoma	Metastatic clear cell renal carcinoma	WHO grade II low-grade glioma
Phase	Ι	I	I/Ib	IVI	III	Ι	Ib	Π	IM	IVI	Pilot study
Clinical trials.gov identifier	NCT01239134	NCT02583165	NCT02740270	NCT02697591	NCT02335918	NCT01460134	NCT02270372	NCT03038672	NCT02413827	NCT02386111	NCT02924038
Name/alternative names company)	TRX518/Anti-TNFRSF18 (Tolerx)	MEDI1873 (MedImmune LLC)	GWN323 (Novartis)	INCAGN01876 (Agenus)	Varlilumab/CDX-1127 (Celldex Ther.)						
Target (GITR		J		CD27						

^aACT adoptive cell therapy ^bKLH keyhole-limpet hemocyanin ^cRFA radiofrequency ablation ^dONT-10 a liposomal synthetic glycopolypeptide MUC1 targeted antigen formulated with PET lipid A adjuvant

(rat monoclonal DTA-1) or GITRL manipulation. DTA-1 has been shown to be effective in treating 8-day established Meth-A sarcomas [127], CT26 [128], and small-established B16 tumors [129]. Additionally, GITR agonists have demonstrated a synergistic antitumor effect when combined with vaccines [129, 130], TLR agonists [131], and other immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies such as anti-CTLA-4 [132]. Recombinant forms of GITRL have also been successfully employed by means of DCs engineered to secrete a soluble GITRL fusion protein [133].

Different mechanisms might contribute to the antitumor effects of GITR modulation. Perhaps the best defined is the action of GITR agonists in the abrogation of Teff cell suppression by Treg cells. Some reports have shown that GITR agonists increase Teff function in the tumor microenvironment by directly targeting Treg cells impairing Treg expression of FoxP3 and consequently abrogating Treg suppressive function [129] or by targeting antigen-specific CD8⁺T, augmenting its resistance to Treg suppression [134, 135]. More recently it has also been reported that anti-GITR mAb (DTA-1) might directly deplete intratumor Tregs by activating myeloid cells through FcyRs as part of its mechanism [136]. In support of this hypothesis, most of the studies find increases in Teff/Treg ratios at the tumor site after treatment with DTA-1 that correlate with therapeutic benefit [129, 134, 135].

Several humanized agonist antihuman GITR mAbs are in clinical development (Table 26.1). TRX518 has been developed by Tolerx Inc. (now GITR Inc.), and a dose-escalation phase I clinical trial is ongoing this mAb at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center and other centers. More antibodies on the same specificity have also started clinical trials INCAGN01876 (Incyte) and MEDI1873 (Medimmune), and results are eagerly awaited (Table 26.1).

26.6 CD27

This molecule belongs to the TNFR family. A unique feature of CD27 among TNFR family members is its constitutive expression at significant levels on the majority of T cells (chiefly including naive T cells) [137, 138]. CD27 is also expressed on plasma cells, for which it is broadly accepted as a marker [139]. Due to the constitutive expression pattern of CD27, the expression of its only known ligand, CD70, has to be tightly regulated. In fact, CD70 is only transiently expressed on activated APC, T cells, and NK cells under physiological conditions [40, 140]. However, constitutive expression of CD70 has been documented during chronic inflammation [141].

The use of CD27 as a target in cancer immunotherapy is compromised by the inhibitory and co-stimulatory mechanisms related to the CD27-CD70 pathway in the different immune contexts. CD27 ligation by CD70 recruits TRAF2 and TRAF5 to the intracellular domain of CD27, activating the NF- $\kappa\beta$ and c-Jun pathways, and, as a consequence, promotes cell survival, enhances T and B cell expansion, and increases effector functions [142]. By contrast, CD27 signaling has also been reported to lead to T-cell dysfunction in a context of a CD70 continuous expression, which can happen in the context of a chronic infection such as in the LCMV chronic infection model, in which blocking of the CD70/CD27 interaction has been shown to help to eradicate the infection [141].

Constitutive expression of CD70 has been documented in cancer [143]. It has been observed that constitutive CD70 expression on tumors or APCs improves antitumor immunity in murine lymphoma models, enhancing NK-mediated rejection [144]. In line with this observation, the administration of an agonistic anti-CD27 antibody has been shown to protect against intravenous injection of two different lymphoma cell lines [145] and to delay the growth of B16 subcutaneous melanoma [146]. However, intact CD27/ CD70 signaling has been associated with decreased antitumor immune response and an increase in intratumoral Treg cells [147].

All in all, it seems that the effects of CD27 may depend on both the tissue context in which CD70 is expressed and also the duration of CD27-CD70 ligation. Clinical development of CD27-related agents will require a precise triggering of certain molecules in selected environments to avoid exaggerating tumor-induced immunosuppression. A fully human agonist anti-CD27 monoclonal antibody, CDX-1127 (Celldex Therapeutics, Inc., Needham, MA, USA), is being evaluated in clinical trials in selected hematological and solid tumors (Table 26.1).

26.7 Future Perspectives

The clinical success of ipilimumab [148], anti-PD1 [149, 150], and anti-PD-L1 [150–152] mAbs has validated the principle that modulation of the immune response can overcome immune evasion mechanisms of tumors and produce objective antitumor responses. However, different mechanisms to evade immune attack can be developed by each patient's tumor, and now the challenge is to determine which mechanism is dominant and which is the most suitable individualized immunotherapy. Clinical experience has revealed that not all patients are sensitive to the CTLA-4 blockade or PD-1/PD-L1 pathway blockade. Elucidating the mechanisms that explain this primary resistance [153] and achieving a better understanding of the heterogeneity among patients' tumor immune infiltration are essential if we are to implement personalized medicine and establish logical rationales for combination in the cancer immunotherapy arena.

Combination of blocking co-inhibitory molecules (so called checkpoint blockade) and costimulatory mAbs seems to be the next most promising approach following CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 combinations [154]. In line with this, clinical trials combining anti-PD-1 and anti-CD137 have been conducted (NCT02253992 and NCT02179918). Because CD137 is expressed on activated NK cells through FcyRs-Fc binding, the combination of anti-CD137 mAbs with anti-EGFR, anti-CD20, or anti-HER-2 mAbs has been successfully tested in mouse tumor models, and phase I clinical trials in lymphoma, head and neck, and colorectal cancer patients are ongoing (NCT01307267, NCT01775631). Combinations of different TNFRSF members have been successfully tested in preclinical models [55, 113], but concerns exist regarding translation of this approach to the clinical setting due to the toxicity profile of agonist immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies (ISMAB) [155]. Thus, different strategies focusing on more specific delivery of the antibodies to the tumor site or intratumoral administration in accessible lesions [156–159] are being proposed to overcome this limitation. Agonist monoclonal antibodies targeting costimulatory receptors of T and NK cells are definitively part of the new wave of immunotherapies, which are currently changing treatment of cancer paradigms.

References

- Jenkins MK, Chu HH, McLachlan JB, Moon JJ. On the composition of the preimmune repertoire of T cells specific for peptide–major histocompatibility complex ligands. Annu Rev Immunol. 2010;28(1):275–94.
- Apetoh L, Smyth MJ, Drake CG, Abastado J-P, Apte RN, Ayyoub M, et al. Consensus nomenclature for CD8+T cell phenotypes in cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(4):e998538.
- 3. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science. 2002;296(5566):301–5.
- 4. Medzhitov R, Janeway CA. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. Science. 2002;296(5566):298–300.
- Chen L, Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(4):227–42.
- Lafferty KJ, Cunningham AJ. A new analysis of allogeneic interactions. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci. 1975;53:27–42.
- Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22(3):333–40.
- Zhu Y, Yao S, Chen L. Cell surface signaling molecules in the control of immune responses: a tide model. Immunity. 2011;34(4):466–78.
- Chen L. Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7–CD28 family in the control of T-cell immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(5):336–47.
- Dustin ML. The immunological synapse. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(11):1023–33.
- Fooksman DR, Vardhana S, Vasiliver-Shamis G, Liese J, Blair DA, Waite J, et al. Functional anatomy of T cell activation and synapse formation. Annu Rev Immunol. 2010;28(1):79–105.
- Dustin ML. What counts in the immunological synapse? Mol Cell. 2014;54(2):255–62.

- Choudhuri K, Llodrá J, Roth EW, Tsai J, Gordo S, Wucherpfennig KW, et al. Polarized release of T-cell-receptor-enriched microvesicles at the immunological synapse. Nature. 2014;507(7490): 118–23.
- Muller JR, Waldmann TA, Kruhlak MJ, Dubois S. Paracrine and transpresentation functions of IL-15 are mediated by diverse splice versions of IL-15R in human monocytes and dendritic cells. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(48):40328–38.
- Penaloza-MacMaster P, Kamphorst AO, Wieland A, Araki K, Iyer SS, West EE, et al. Interplay between regulatory T cells and PD-1 in modulating T cell exhaustion and viral control during chronic LCMV infection. J Exp Med. 2014;211(9):1905–18.
- 16. Yokosuka T, Takamatsu M, Kobayashi-Imanishi W, Hashimoto-Tane A, Azuma M, Saito T. Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. J Exp Med. 2012;209(6):1201–17.
- Acuto O, Michel F. CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(12):939–51.
- Dodson LF, Boomer JS, Deppong CM, Shah DD, Sim J, Bricker TL, et al. Targeted knock-in mice expressing mutations of CD28 reveal an essential pathway for costimulation. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29(13):3710–21.
- Martinez-Forero I, Rouzaut A, Palazon A, Dubrot J, Melero I. Lysine 63 polyubiquitination in immunotherapy and in cancer-promoting inflammation. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(22):6751–7.
- Bhoj VG, Chen ZJ. Ubiquitylation in innate and adaptive immunity. Nature. 2009;458(7237):430–7.
- Melero I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Glennie M, Pardoll DM, Chen L. Immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7(2):95–106.
- Soldevilla MM, Villanueva H, Pastor F. Aptamers: a feasible technology in cancer immunotherapy. J Immunol Res. 2016;2016:1–12.
- Melero I, Hirschhorn-Cymerman D, Morales-Kastresana A, Sanmamed MF, Wolchok JD. Agonist antibodies to TNFR molecules that costimulate T and NK cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(5):1044–53.
- Croft M, Duan W, Choi H, Eun S-Y, Madireddi S, Mehta A. TNF superfamily in inflammatory disease: translating basic insights. Trends Immunol. 2012;33(3):144–52.
- Joseph R, Arron MCW, Choi Y. TRAF-mediated TNFR-family signaling. Curr Protoc Immunol. 2002.
- So T, Croft M. Regulation of PI-3-kinase and Akt signaling in T lymphocytes and other cells by TNFR family molecules. Front Immunol. 2013;4.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13.

- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012; 12(4):298–306.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024): 1565–70.
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2011;29(1):235–71.
- Melero I, Shuford WW, Newby SA, Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Hellstrom KE, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against the 4-1BB T-cell activation molecule eradicate established tumors. Nat Med. 1997;3(6):682–5.
- Lynch DH. The promise of 4-1BB (CD137)mediated immunomodulation and the immunotherapy of cancer. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:277–86.
- Kwon BS, Weissman SM. cDNA sequences of two inducible T-cell genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1989;86:1963–7.
- Pollok KE, Kim YJ, Zhou Z, Hurtado J, Kim KK, Pickard RT, et al. Inducible T-cell antigen 4-1bb analysis of expression and function. J Immunol. 1993;150(3):771–81.
- Melero I, Murillo O, Dubrot J, Hervás-Stubbs S, Perez-Gracia JL. Multi-layered action mechanisms of CD137 (4-1BB)-targeted immunotherapies. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2008;29(8):383–90.
- 36. Melero I, Johnston JV, Shufford WW, Mittler RS, Chen LP. NK1.1 cells express 4-1BB (CDw137) costimulatory molecule and are required for tumor immunity elicited by anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibodies. Cell Immunol. 1998;190(2):167–72.
- Vinay DS, Kwon BS. 4-1BB signaling beyond T cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2011;8(4):281–4.
- 38. DeBenedette MA, Wen T, Bachmann MF, Ohashi PS, Barber BH, Stocking KL, Peschon JJ, Watts TH. Analysis of 4 1-BB ligand (4 1-BBL) deficient mice and of mice lacking both 4 1-BBL and CD28 reveals a role for 4 1-BBL in skin allograft rejection and in the cytotoxic T cell response. J Immunol. 1999;163:4833–41.
- 39. Vinay DS, Choi BK, Bae JS, Kim WY, Gebhardt BM, Kwon BS. CD137-deficient mice have reduced NK/NKT cell numbers and function, are resistant to lipopolysaccharide-induced shock syndromes, and have lower IL-4 responses. J Immunol. 2004;173(6):4218–29.
- Borst J, Hendriks J, Xiao Y. CD27 and CD70 in T cell and B cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2005;17:275–81.
- 41. Willoughby JE, Kerr JP, Rogel A, Taraban VY, Buchan SL, Johnson PWM, et al. Differential impact of CD27 and 4-1BB costimulation on effector and memory CD8 T cell generation following peptide immunization. J Immunol. 2014;193(1):244–51.
- Alderson MR, Smith CA, Tough TW, Davis-Smith T, Armitage RJ, Falk B, et al. Molecular and biologi-

cal characterization of human 4-1BB and its ligand. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24(9):2219–27.

- 43. Sabbagh L, Pulle G, Liu Y, Tsitsikov EN, Watts TH. ERK-dependent Bim modulation downstream of the 4-1BB-TRAF1 signaling axis is a critical mediator of CD8 T cell survival in vivo. J Immunol. 2008;180(12):8093–101.
- 44. Saoulli K, Lee SY, Cannons JL, Yeh WC, Santana A, Goldstein MD, et al. CD28-independent, TRAF2dependent costimulation of resting T cells by 4-1BB ligand. J Exp Med. 1998;187(11):1849–62.
- Madireddi S, Eun S-Y, Lee S-W, Nemčovičová I, Mehta AK, Zajonc DM, et al. Galectin-9 controls the therapeutic activity of 4-1BB–targeting antibodies. J Exp Med. 2014;211(7):1433–48.
- 46. Sanchez-Paulete AR, Labiano S, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Azpilikueta A, Etxeberria I, Bolaños E, et al. Deciphering CD137 (4-1BB) signaling in T-cell costimulation for translation into successful cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46(3):513–22.
- 47. Martinez-Forero I, Azpilikueta A, Bolanos-Mateo E, Nistal-Villan E, Palazon A, Teijeira A, et al. T cell costimulation with anti-CD137 monoclonal antibodies is mediated by K63-polyubiquitindependent signals from endosomes. J Immunol. 2013;190(12):6694–706.
- McPherson AJ, Snell LM, Mak TW, Watts TH. Opposing roles for TRAF1 in the alternative versus classical NF-κB pathway in T cells. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(27):23010–9.
- 49. Abdul-Sater AA, Edilova MI, Clouthier DL, Mbanwi A, Kremmer E, Watts TH. The signaling adaptor TRAF1 negatively regulates Toll-like receptor signaling and this underlies its role in rheumatic disease. Nat Immunol. 2016;18(1):26–35.
- Myers L, Vella A. Interfacing T-cell effector and regulatory function through CD137 (4-1BB) costimulation. Trends Immunol. 2005;26(8):440–6.
- Vinay DS, Kwon BS. Immunotherapy of cancer with 4-1BB. Mol Cancer Ther. 2012;11(5):1062–70.
- 52. Wilcox RA, Flies DB, Zhu G, Johnson AJ, Tamada K, Chapoval AI, et al. Provision of antigen and CD137 signaling breaks immunological ignorance, promoting regression of poorly immunogenic tumors. J Clin Investig. 2002;109(5):651–9.
- 53. Quetglas JI, Dubrot J, Bezunartea J, Sanmamed MF, Hervas-Stubbs S, Smerdou C, et al. Immunotherapeutic synergy between anti-CD137 mAb and intratumoral administration of a cytopathic semliki forest virus encoding IL-12. Mol Ther. 2012;20(9):1664–75.
- 54. Wang C, Kang SG, HogenEsch H, Love PE, Kim CH. Retinoic acid determines the precise tissue tropism of inflammatory Th17 cells in the intestine. J Immunol. 2010;184(10):5519–26.
- 55. Morales-Kastresana A, Sanmamed MF, Rodriguez I, Palazon A, Martinez-Forero I, Labiano S, et al. Combined immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies extend survival in an aggressive transgenic hepa-

tocellular carcinoma mouse model. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(22):6151–62.

- 56. Shi WY, Siemann DW. Augmented antitumor effects of radiation therapy by 4-1BB antibody (BMS-469492) treatment. Anticancer Res. 2006;26(5A):3445–53.
- 57. Ju S-A, Cheon S-H, Park S-M, Tam NQ, Kim YM, An WG, et al. Eradication of established renal cell carcinoma by a combination of 5-fluorouracil and anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody in mice. Int J Cancer. 2008;122(12):2784–90.
- Ye ZM, Hellstrom I, Hayden-Ledbetter M, Dahlin A, Ledbetter JA, Hellstrom KE. Gene therapy for cancer using single-chain Fv fragments specific for 4-1BB. Nat Med. 2002;8(4):343–8.
- 59. Yang Y, Yang S, Ye Z, Jaffar J, Zhou Y, Cutter E, et al. Tumor cells expressing anti-CD137 scFv induce a tumor-destructive environment. Cancer Res. 2007;67(5):2339–44.
- 60. Curran MA, Geiger TL, Montalvo W, Kim M, Reiner SL, Al-Shamkhani A, et al. Systemic 4-1BB activation induces a novel T cell phenotype driven by high expression of eomesodermin. J Exp Med. 2013;210(4):743–55.
- White AL, Dou L, Chan HTC, Field VL, Mockridge CI, Moss K, et al. Fcγ receptor dependency of agonistic CD40 antibody in lymphoma therapy can be overcome through antibody multimerization. J Immunol. 2014;193(4):1828–35.
- Li F, Ravetch JV. Antitumor activities of agonistic anti-TNFR antibodies require differential Fc RIIB coengagement in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2013;110(48):19501–6.
- 63. McNamara JO, Kolonias D, Pastor F, Mittler RS, Chen L, Giangrande PH, et al. Multivalent 4-1BB binding aptamers costimulate CD8+ T cells and inhibit tumor growth in mice. J Clin Investig. 2008;118(1):376–86.
- Pastor F, Kolonias D, Giangrande PH, Gilboa E. Induction of tumour immunity by targeted inhibition of nonsense-mediated mRNA decay. Nature. 2010;465(7295):227–30.
- 65. Carpenito C, Milone MC, Hassan R, Simonet JC, Lakhal M, Suhoski MM, et al. Control of large, established tumor xenografts with genetically retargeted human T cells containing CD28 and CD137 domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009;106(9): 3360–5.
- 66. Long AH, Haso WM, Shern JF, Wanhainen KM, Murgai M, Ingaramo M, et al. 4-1BB costimulation ameliorates T cell exhaustion induced by tonic signaling of chimeric antigen receptors. Nat Med. 2015;21(6):581–90.
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):725–33.
- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells

for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(16):1507–17.

- 69. Nam KO, Kang H, Shin SM, Cho KH, Kwon B, Kwon BS, et al. Cross-linking of 4-1BB activates TCR-signaling pathways in CD8+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2005;174(4):1898–905.
- Seo SK, Choi JH, Kim YH, Kang WJ, Park HY, Suh JH, et al. 4-1BB-mediated immunotherapy of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Med. 2004;10(10): 1088–94.
- Sun Y, Chen HM, Subudhi SK, Chen J, Koka R, Chen L, et al. Costimulatory molecule-targeted antibody therapy of a spontaneous autoimmune disease. Nat Med. 2002;8(12):1405–13.
- Dubrot J, Milheiro F, Alfaro C, Palazón A, Martinez-Forero I, Perez-Gracia JL, et al. Treatment with anti-CD137 mAbs causes intense accumulations of liver T cells without selective antitumor immunotherapeutic effects in this organ. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(8):1223–33.
- Mittler RS, Bailey TS, Klussman K, Trailsmith MD, Hoffmann MK. Anti–4-1BB monoclonal antibodies abrogate T cell–dependent humoral immune responses in vivo through the induction of helper T cell anergy. J Exp Med. 1999;15:1535–40.
- 74. Alfaro C, Echeveste JI, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Solorzano JL, Perez-Gracia JL, Idoate MA, et al. Functional expression of CD137 (4-1BB) on T helper follicular cells. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(12):e1054597.
- Kohrt HE, Houot R, Goldstein MJ, Weiskopf K, Alizadeh AA, Brody J, et al. CD137 stimulation enhances the antilymphoma activity of anti-CD20 antibodies. Blood. 2011;117(8):2423–32.
- 76. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Weiskopf K, Goldstein MJ, Scheeren F, Czerwinski D, et al. Stimulation of natural killer cells with a CD137-specific antibody enhances trastuzumab efficacy in xenotransplant models of breast cancer. J Clin Investig. 2012;122(3):1066–75.
- Kohrt HE, Colevas AD, Houot R, Weiskopf K, Goldstein MJ, Lund P, et al. Targeting CD137 enhances the efficacy of cetuximab. J Clin Investig. 2014;124(6):2668–82.
- Srivastava RM, Trivedi S, Concha-Benavente F, Gibson SP, Reeder C, Ferrone S, et al. CD137 stimulation enhances Cetuximab-induced natural killer: dendritic cell priming of antitumor T-cell immunity in patients with head and neck cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(3):707–16.
- Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Sznol M, Fu Y-X, Melero I. Clinical experiences with anti-CD137 and anti-PD1 therapeutic antibodies. Semin Oncol. 2010;37(5):508–16.
- Segal NH, Logan TF, Hodi FS, McDermott D, Melero I, Hamid O, et al. Results from an integrated safety analysis of Urelumab, an agonist anti-CD137 monoclonal antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;23(8):1929–36.

- Fisher TS, Kamperschroer C, Oliphant T, Love VA, Lira PD, Doyonnas R, et al. Targeting of 4-1BB by monoclonal antibody PF-05082566 enhances T-cell function and promotes anti-tumor activity. Cancer Immunol Immunther. 2012;61(10):1721–33.
- Segal NH, Gopal AK, Bhatia S, et al. A phase 1 study of PF-05082566 (anti-4-1BB) in patients with advanced cancer. ASCO Meeting Abstracts. 2014.
- Segal NH, Gopal AK, Bhatia S, et al. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:5s.
- Paterson DJ, Jefferies WA, Green JR, et al. Antigens of activated rat T lymphocytes including a molecule of 50,000 Mr detected only on CD4 positive T blasts. Mol Immunol. 1987;24:1281–90.
- Mallett S, Fossum S, Barclay AN. Characterization of the Mrc Ox40 antigen of activated Cd4 positive lymphocytes-T - a molecule related to nerve growthfactor receptor. EMBO J. 1990;9(4):1063–8.
- Croft M. Control of immunity by the TNFR-related molecule OX40 (CD134). Annu Rev Immunol. 2010;28(1):57–78.
- 87. Valzasina B, Guiducci C, Dislich H, Killeen N, Weinberg AD, Colombo MP. Triggering of OX40 (CD134) on CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells blocks their inhibitory activity: a novel regulatory role for OX40 and its comparison with GITR. Blood. 2005;105(7):2845–51.
- Baumann R, Yousefi S, Simon D, Russmann S, Mueller C, Simon H-U. Functional expression of CD134 by neutrophils. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34(8):2268–75.
- Karulf M, Kelly A, Weinberg AD, Gold JA. OX40 ligand regulates inflammation and mortality in the innate immune response to sepsis. J Immunol. 2010;185(8):4856–62.
- Baum PR, Gayle RB, Ramsdell F, Srinivasan S, Sorensen RA, Watson ML, et al. Molecular characterization of murine and human Ox40/Ox40 ligand systems - Identification of a human Ox40 ligand as the Htlv-1-regulated protein Gp34. EMBO J. 1994;13(17):3992–4001.
- Godfrey WR, Fagnoni FF, Harara MA, Buck D, Engleman EG. Identification of a human Ox-40 ligand, a Costimulator of Cd4+ T-cells with homology to tumor-necrosis-factor. J Exp Med. 1994;180(2):757–62.
- Rogers PR, Song JX, Gramaglia I, Killeen N, Croft M. OX40 promotes Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 expression and is essential for long-term survival of CD4 T cells. Immunity. 2001;15(3):445–55.
- Song J, So T, Cheng M, Tang X, Croft M. Sustained survivin expression from OX40 costimulatory signals drives T cell clonal expansion. Immunity. 2005;22(5):621–31.
- Redmond WL, Weinberg AD. Targeting OX40 and OX40L for the treatment of autoimmunity and cancer. Crit Rev Immunol. 2007;27:415–36.
- Murata K, Nose M, Ndhlovu LC, Sato T, Sugamura K, Ishii N. Constitutive OX40/OX40 ligand interac-

tion induces autoimmune-like diseases. J Immunol. 2002;169(8):4628–36.

- Weinberg AD, Morris NP, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Urba WJ, Curti BD. Science gone translational: the OX40 agonist story. Immunol Rev. 2011;244(1):218–31.
- Weinberg AD, Rivera MM, Prell R, Morris A, Ramstad T, Vetto JT, et al. Engagement of the OX-40 receptor in vivo enhances antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2000;164(4):2160–9.
- 98. Kjaergaard J, Tanaka J, Kim JA, Rothchild K, Weinberg A, Shu SY. Therapeutic efficacy of OX-40 receptor antibody depends on tumor immunogenicity and anatomic site of tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2000;60(19):5514–21.
- 99. Redmond WL, Gough MJ, Weinberg AD. Ligation of the OX40 co-stimulatory receptor reverses self-Ag and tumor-induced CD8 T-cell anergy in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(8):2184–94.
- 100. Ruby CE, Montler R, Zheng R, Shu S, Weinberg AD. IL-12 is required for anti-OX40-mediated CD4 T cell survival. J Immunol. 2008;180(4):2140–8.
- 101. Shoukry NH, Redmond WL, Triplett T, Floyd K, Weinberg AD. Dual anti-OX40/IL-2 therapy augments tumor immunotherapy via IL-2R-mediated regulation of OX40 expression. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e34467.
- 102. Levy R, Houot R. T-cell modulation combined with intratumoral CpG cures lymphoma in a mouse model without the need for chemotherapy. Blood. 2009;113:3546–52.
- 103. Voo KS, Foglietta M, Percivalle E, Chu F, Nattamai D, Harline M, et al. Selective targeting of Tolllike receptors and OX40 inhibit regulatory T-cell function in follicular lymphoma. Int J Cancer. 2014;135(12):2834–46.
- 104. Lee SJ, Myers L, Muralimohan G, Dai J, Qiao Y, Li Z, et al. 4-1BB and OX40 dual costimulation synergistically stimulate primary specific CD8 T cells for robust effector function. J Immunol. 2004;173(5):3002–12.
- 105. Pan P-Y, Zang Y, Weber K, Meseck ML, Chen S-H. OX40 ligation enhances primary and memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in an immunotherapy for hepatic Colon metastases. Mol Ther. 2002;6(4):528–36.
- 106. Redmond WL, Linch SN, Kasiewicz MJ. Combined targeting of costimulatory (OX40) and coinhibitory (CTLA-4) pathways elicits potent effector T cells capable of driving robust antitumor immunity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;2(2):142–53.
- 107. Hirschhorn-Cymerman D, Rizzuto GA, Merghoub T, Cohen AD, Avogadri F, Lesokhin AM, et al. OX40 engagement and chemotherapy combination provides potent antitumor immunity with concomitant regulatory T cell apoptosis. J Exp Med. 2009;206(5):1103–16.
- Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Sarff M, Pang P, Seung SK, Vetto JT, et al. Adjuvant therapy with agonistic

antibodies to CD134 (OX40) increases local control after surgical or radiation therapy of cancer in mice. J Immunother. 2010;33(8):798–809.

- 109. Murata S, Ladle BH, Kim PS, Lutz ER, Wolpoe ME, Ivie SE, et al. OX40 costimulation synergizes with GM-CSF whole-cell vaccination to overcome established CD8+ T cell tolerance to an endogenous tumor antigen. J Immunol. 2006;176(2):974–83.
- 110. Piconese S, Valzasina B, Colombo MP. OX40 triggering blocks suppression by regulatory T cells and facilitates tumor rejection. J Exp Med. 2008;205(4):825–39.
- 111. Burocchi A, Pittoni P, Gorzanelli A, Colombo MP, Piconese S. Intratumor OX40 stimulation inhibits IRF1 expression and IL-10 production by Treg cells while enhancing CD40L expression by effector memory T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41: 3615–26.
- 112. Bulliard Y, Jolicoeur R, Zhang J, Dranoff G, Wilson NS, Brogdon JL. OX40 engagement depletes intratumoral Tregs via activating FcγRs, leading to antitumor efficacy. Immunol Cell Biol. 2014;92(6):475–80.
- 113. Qui HZ, Hagymasi AT, Bandyopadhyay S, St. Rose MC, Ramanarasimhaiah R, Menoret A, et al. CD134 plus CD137 Dual costimulation induces eomesodermin in CD4 T cells to program cytotoxic Th1 differentiation. J Immunol. 2011;187(7):3555–64.
- 114. Hirschhorn-Cymerman D, Budhu S, Kitano S, Liu C, Zhao F, Zhong H, et al. Induction of tumoricidal function in CD4+T cells is associated with concomitant memory and terminally differentiated phenotype. J Exp Med. 2012;209(11):2113–26.
- 115. Weinberg AD, Thalhofer C, Morris N, Walker JM, Seiss D, Wong S, et al. Anti-OX40 (CD134) administration to nonhuman primates: immunostimulatory effects and toxicokinetic study. J Immunother. 2006;29(6):575–85.
- 116. Curti BD, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Morris N, Walker E, Chisholm L, Floyd K, et al. OX40 is a potent immune-stimulating target in late-stage cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2013;73(24):7189–98.
- 117. Morris NP, Peters C, Montler R, Hu HM, Curti BD, Urba WJ, et al. Development and characterization of recombinant human Fc: OX40L fusion protein linked via a coiled-coil trimerization domain. Mol Immunol. 2007;44(12):3112–21.
- 118. Nocentini G, Giunchi L, Ronchetti S, Krausz LT, Bartoli A, Moraca R, Riccardi A. A new member of the tumor necrosis factor/nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1997;94(12):6216–21.
- 119. Gurney AL, Marsters SA, Huang A, Pitti RM, Mark M, Baldwin DT, et al. Identification of a new member of the tumor necrosis factor family and its receptor, a human ortholog of mouse GITR. Curr Biol. 1999;9(4):215–8.
- 120. Ronchetti S, Zollo O, Bruscoli S, Agostini M, Bianchini R, Nocentini G, et al. Frontline: GITR, a member of the TNF receptor superfamily, is costim-

ulatory to mouse T lymphocyte subpopulations. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34(3):613–22.

- 121. Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Takahashi T, Ishida Y, Sakaguchi S. Stimulation of CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(2):135–42.
- 122. McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Piccirillo CA, Young DA, Shevach EM, Collins M, et al. CD4(+) CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. Immunity. 2002;16(2):311–23.
- 123. Schaer DA, Murphy JT, Wolchok JD. Modulation of GITR for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):217–24.
- 124. Snell LM, McPherson AJ, Lin GHY, Sakaguchi S, Pandolfi PP, Riccardi C, et al. CD8 T cell-intrinsic GITR is required for T cell clonal expansion and mouse survival following severe influenza infection. J Immunol. 2010;185(12):7223–34.
- 125. Snell LM, GH L, McPherson AJ, Moraes TJ, Watts TH. T-cell intrinsic effects of GITR and 4-1-BB during viral infection and cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2011;244:197–217.
- 126. Turk MJ, Guevara-Patiño JA, Rizzuto GA, Engelhorn ME, Houghton AN. Concomitant tumor immunity to a poorly immunogenic melanoma is prevented by regulatory T cells. J Exp Med. 2004;200(6): 771–82.
- 127. Ko K, Yamazaki S, Nakamura K, Nishioka T, Hirota K, Yamaguchi T, et al. Treatment of advanced tumors with agonistic anti-GITR mAb and its effects on tumor-infiltrating Foxp3+CD25+CD4+regulatory T cells. J Exp Med. 2005;202(7):885–91.
- 128. Zhou P, L'Italien L, Hodges D, Schebye XM. Pivotal roles of CD4+ effector T cells in mediating agonistic anti-GITR mAb-induced-immune activation and tumor immunity in CT26 tumors. J Immunol. 2007;179(11):7365–75.
- 129. Cohen AD, Diab A, Perales MA, Wolchok JD, Rizzuto G, Merghoub T, et al. Agonist anti-GITR antibody enhances vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell responses and tumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66(9):4904–12.
- 130. Hoffmann C, Stanke J, Kaufmann AM, Loddenkemper C, Schneider A, Cichon G. Combining T-cell vaccination and application of agonistic anti-GITR mAb (DTA-1) induces complete eradication of HPV oncogene expressing tumors in mice. J Immunother. 2010;33(2):136–45.
- 131. Houot R, Levy R. T-cell modulation combined with intratumoral CpG cures lymphoma in a mouse model without the need for chemotherapy. Blood. 2008;113(15):3546–52.
- 132. Mitsui J, Nishikawa H, Muraoka D, Wang L, Noguchi T, Sato E, et al. Two distinct mechanisms of augmented antitumor activity by modulation of immunostimulatory/inhibitory signals. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(10):2781–91.

- 133. Pruitt SK, Boczkowski D, de Rosa N, Haley NR, Morse MA, Tyler DS, et al. Enhancement of anti-tumor immunity through local modulation of CTLA-4 and GITR by dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(12):3553–63.
- 134. Stephens GL, McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Young DA, Luxenberg D, Carreno BM, et al. Engagement of glucocorticoid-induced TNFR family-related receptor on effector T cells by its ligand mediates resistance to suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;173(8):5008–20.
- 135. Nishikawa H, Kato T, Hirayama M, Orito Y, Sato E, Harada N, et al. Regulatory T cell-resistant CD8+ T cells induced by glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor signaling. Cancer Res. 2008;68(14):5948–54.
- 136. Coe D, Begom S, Addey C, White M, Dyson J, Chai J-G. Depletion of regulatory T cells by anti-GITR mAb as a novel mechanism for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(9):1367–77.
- 137. Vanlier RAW, Borst J, Vroom TM, Klein H, Vanmourik P, Zeijlemaker WP, et al. Tissue distribution and biochemical and functional-properties of Tp55 (Cd27), a novel T-cell differentiation antigen. J Immunol. 1987;139(5):1589–96.
- Riether C, Schürch C, Ochsenbein AF. Modulating CD27 signaling to treat cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2014;1(9):1604–6.
- 139. Jung J, Choe J, Li L, Choi YS. Regulation of CD27 expression in the course of germinal center B cell differentiation the pivotal role of IL10. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30.
- 140. Oshima H, Nakano H, Nohara C, Kobata T, Nakajima A, Jenkins NA, et al. Characterization of murine CD70 by molecular cloning and mAb. Int Immunol. 1998;10(4):517–26.
- 141. Matter M, Odermatt B, Yagita H, Nuoffer J-M, Ochsenbein AF. Elimination of chronic viral infection by blocking CD27 signaling. J Exp Med. 2006;203(9):2145–55.
- 142. Akiba H, Nakano H, Nishinaka S, Shindo M, Kobata T, Atsuta M, et al. CD27, a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, activates NF-KB and stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase via TRAF2, TRAF5, and NF-KB-inducing kinase. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(21):13353–8.
- 143. Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. CD70+ non-Hodgkin lymphoma B cells induce Foxp3 expression and regulatory function in intratumoral CD4+CD25 T cells. Blood. 2007;110(7):2537–44.
- 144. Kelly JM, Darcy PK, Markby JL, Godfrey DI, Takeda K, Yagita H, et al. Induction of tumor-specific T cell memory by NK cell-mediated tumor rejection. Nat Immunol. 2001;3(1):83–90.
- 145. French RR, Taraban VY, Crowther GR, Rowley TF, Gray JC, Johnson PW, et al. Eradication of lymphoma by CD8 T cells following anti-CD40 mono-

clonal antibody therapy is critically dependent on CD27 costimulation. Blood. 2007;109(11):4810–5.

- 146. Roberts DJ, Franklin NA, Kingeter LM, Yagita H, Tutt AL, Glennie MJ, et al. Control of established melanoma by CD27 stimulation is associated with enhanced effector function and persistence, and reduced PD-1 expression of tumor infiltrating CD8+ T cells. J Immunother. 2010;33(8):769–79.
- 147. Claus C, Riether C, Schurch C, Matter MS, Hilmenyuk T, Ochsenbein AF. CD27 signaling increases the frequency of regulatory T cells and promotes tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2012;72(14): 3664–76.
- 148. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with Ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.
- 149. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu W-J, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with Lambrolizumab (anti–PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):134–44.
- 150. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54.
- 151. Herbst RS, Soria J-C, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515(7528):563–7.
- 152. Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment

leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature. 2014;515(7528):558–62.

- 153. Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. Cell. 2017;168(4):707–23.
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):122–33.
- 155. Sznol MF, Hodi FS, Margolin K, et al. Phase I study of BMS-663513, a fully human anti-CD137 agonist monoclonal antibody, in patients (pts) with advanced cancer (CA). ASCO Meeting Abstracts. 2007.
- 156. Palazón A, Martínez-Forero I, Teijeira A, Morales-Kastresana A, Alfaro C, Sanmamed MF, et al. The HIF-1α hypoxia response in tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes induces functional CD137 (4-1BB) for immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2012;2(7):608–23.
- 157. Fransen MF, Sluijter M, Morreau H, Arens R, Melief CJM. Local activation of CD8 T cells and systemic tumor eradication without toxicity via slow release and local delivery of agonistic CD40 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(8):2270–80.
- Marabelle A, Kohrt H, Levy R. Intratumoral anti-CTLA-4 therapy: enhancing efficacy while avoiding toxicity. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(19):5261–3.
- 159. Aznar MA, Tinari N, Rullán AJ, Sánchez-Paulete AR, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Melero I. Intratumoral delivery of immunotherapy—act locally, think globally. J Immunol. 2016;198(1):31–9.
The Impact of the Intestinal Microbiota in Therapeutic Responses Against Cancer

27

Mélodie Bonvalet, Romain Daillère, Maria P. Roberti, Conrad Rauber, and Laurence Zitvogel

Contents

	27.1	Introduction	447
	27.2	Evaluating Gut Dysbiosis in Cancer Bearers	448
	27.3	Microbiome and Cancer Incidence	449
	27.4	Radiotherapy and Microbiota	450
	27.5	Cyclophosphamide and Gut Microbiota	450
	27.6	Platinum Salts and Gut Microbiota	452
	27.7	Gut Bacteria and the Efficacy of Immuno-oncological Compounds	452
	27.8	Role of Intestinal Microbes in Graft- Versus-Host Disease (GVHD)	454
	27.9	Bacteria for Therapy of Cancer: Probiotics and Others	455
2	27.10	Genetically Modified Bacteria	457

University Paris XI-Saclay, Orsay cedex, France

Gustave Roussy, Villejuif-Grand Paris, Villejuif, France

INSERM U1015, Villejuif, France

Center of Clinical Investigations CBT507, Paris, France

Equipe labelisée Ligue contre le cancer, Paris, France

Course of Excellence in Oncology – Fondation Philanthropia, Genève, Switzerland e-mail: laurence.zitvogel@orange.fr

27.11	Microbial Products with Cancer- Modulating Properties	457
27.12	Future Prospects	458
References		458

27.1 Introduction

Only recently, the scientific community gained insights on the importance of the intestinal resident microflora for the host's health and pathophysiology [1-3].

The gut microflora exerts a variety of different fundamental functions, such as the degradation of nutrients to provide energy source, the elimination of xenobiotics, the education of the immune system, the growth and differentiation of epithelial cells of the barrier, the intestinal peristaltism, and the production of antimicrobial peptides to eradicate pathogens and ensure colonization resistance [4]. The intestine represents the largest compartment of the immune system. It is exposed to food and commensal antigens that our body needs to tolerate and is the portal of entry for many pathogens. The numbers of bacteria increase going down the gastrointestinal tract, with up to 10^{12} per ml in the colon. Aerobic species are prevalent in the upper small intestine, whereas anaerobic bacteria dominate in the colon. Firmicutes. Bacteroidetes. Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria are the most prevalent, together with members of the Archaea kingdom [4].

M. Bonvalet • R. Daillère • M.P. Roberti • C. Rauber L. Zitvogel (⊠)

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_27

Gut microbiota plays a crucial role in modulating innate and acquired immune responses and thus interferes with the delicate balance between inflammation and tolerance. Recent advances in sequencing technologies allowed the deep characterization of the human microbiota, thus greatly improving our knowledge on the role of the microbiome in human health and disease. Human microbiome project consortium studies (MetaHIT and HMP) demonstrated that healthy individuals have not only a high degree of bacterial diversity, dependent on their habitat (intestine, oral cavity, skin, or vagina), but that there is also a remarkable interindividual variability at the level of species [5, 6]. Despite the species diversity found at various locations, there is a certain constancy that preserves both the function and the bacterial gene profiling associated to specific tissue sites. Hence, the anaerobic Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes spp. dominate the intestine, whereas Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria spp. are highly abundant in the skin [7]. Defining the "normal microbiome" is a difficult task, considering that the same microbe may behave as commensal or as pathogen depending on the dietary components, the nutritional milieu, the genetic background of its host, and a potential coinfection. Nonetheless, "commensal" bacteria are expected to contribute to immune homeostasis, whereas "pathobionts" are associated with immune reactivities against themselves [8]. Perhaps paradoxically, it is possible to find in serum of healthy subjects antibodies specific to commensals as well as circulating T cells able to react against nonpathogenic bacteria [9–11].

Gut colonization at birth is indispensable to trigger the maturation of the mucosal immune system. At this phase, the intestinal microbiota plays a crucial role in setting up innate and acquired immune responses "imprinted" for life, interfering in the balance between inflammation, infection, and tolerance. Germ-free mice have hypoplastic Peyer's patches, lack isolated lymphoid follicles in the intestine, and have low levels of IgM natural antibodies in the serum, this phenotype being reverted by gut colonization [12]. Undoubtedly, colonization of the distal small intestine by segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB) is crucial for the development of resident lamina propria dendritic cells secreting IL-6 and IL-22 and the concomitant differentiation of Th17-T regulatory (Treg) cells in the newborn gut [13]. The discovery of a link between defined members of the microbiota (such as Bacteroides fragilis and TLR2) and the induction of Treg cells by Clostridiaceae generated a huge interest. However, the homeostasis of the colonic Treg compartment relies more on the synergistic effect of different bacterial strains and an interkingdom ecosystem creating a balanced microenvironment able to sustain the generation and maintenance of the anti-inflammatory milieu [14-16].

27.2 Evaluating Gut Dysbiosis in Cancer Bearers

Our knowledge of the genetic and functional diversity in gut microbes is far from being complete. Old methods consisting in qPCR or FISH analyses were neither comprehensive, specific, nor sensitive enough. The burst of recent knowledge emerged from the targeted 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing followed by metagenomic shotgun sequencing, a costly method with heavy data mining. The catalog of reference genes in the human gut microbiome was reported, gathering data from MetaHIT, Human Microbiome Project (HMP), and a large Chinese diabetes study, as well as >500 sequenced genomes of gut-related bacteria and archaea. This nonredundant reference catalog of 9,879,896 genes is freely accessible through the website (http://meta.genomics. cn), and the data are deposited in the GigaScience Database. We may have reached saturated coverage of core gene content and functions. Of note, the number of genes present in more than 50% of the subjects remained below 300,000, pointing out the dominance of individual-specific genes. The individual-specific genes are enriched in the categories cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis and DNA replication, recombination, and repair. The common genes are enriched in functions such as signal transduction mechanism,

energy production, carbohydrate transport and metabolism, and amino acid transport and metabolism [17].

Several groups investigated the gut microbiota in healthy individuals and in cancer bearers to establish microbe-cancer relationships. For example, Goedert et al. analyzed gut microbiota using 16S rRNA sequencing in postmenopausal women. The authors observed a lower alpha diversity (number of different taxa) and altered beta diversity (between-subject community composition) in subjects suffering from a breast cancer, when compared to healthy individuals.

Dejea et al. analyzed colorectal mucosa from subjects bearing or not colorectal cancer (CRC), using FISH and 16S rRNA sequencing. They demonstrated that bacterial biofilm presence, but no consistent bacterial genus, was associated with colorectal cancers [18]. Other studies, using 16S rRNA or metagenomic sequencing, revealed case-control discrepancies in the gut microbiota composition, showing that feces from CRC subjects display higher prevalence and levels of Fusobacterium and Porphyromonas compared to controls [19, 20]. However, across studies many differences were observed in taxa that diverged between cases and controls. This could be related to characteristics of the population studied (diet, medication) as well as to setting parameters (experimental methods or case-control matching). Furthermore, in complex ecosystems, current metagenomic studies are unable to detect bacteria at concentrations below 10⁵ bacteria/ gram. Moreover, only 15% of identified species were concomitantly detected by the culturomics and the metagenomics, highlighting the complementarity between culture-dependent and culture-independent methods. The diversification of culture conditions coupled with the identification of the bacterial repertoire by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry [MALDI-TOF MS] enabled significant progresses in taxonogenomics. These efforts will help defining "cancer-associated gut fingerprints" in the near future in different cohorts of cancer types to establish the impact of cancer topography on gut dysbiosis.

27.3 Microbiome and Cancer Incidence

Commensal microbial communities inhabiting the intestine, as well as other places in the body, appear to play an unappreciated role in intestinal and extraintestinal carcinogenesis by providing yet to be characterized environmental signals [21]. Pioneering studies performed in germfree, gnotobiotic, or antibiotic-treated rodents revealed an unsuspected role for commensals in tumorigenesis-irrespective of the role of inflammation. In the genesis of colon cancer or hepatocarcinoma, microbes can be direct transforming agents [22, 23] by providing a toxic metabolite, an oncogenic product, or by inducing an inflammatory milieu which will culminate in genomic instability and/or DNA damage response and/or immune escape [24–26]. Commensals can also form cooperative biofilms that facilitate crossfeeding or cross-metabolism, redefining the cancer landscape [18, 27]. Recently, the development of extraintestinal (breast and ovarian) neoplasia was linked to TLR5-mediated, IL-6- or IL-17-driven systemic inflammation provoked by intestinal microbes [28]. In contrast, other observations support a beneficial role for bacteria in combatting cancer. Prolonged antibiotic treatment with a combination of metronidazole and ciprofloxacine subsequently tripled breast cancer (BC) incidence in proto-oncogene HER2/neudriven transgenic mice [29]. In humans, epidemiological studies suggested a dose-dependent association between antibiotic use and risk of BC [30]. Antibiotic use disrupted the intestinal microfloral metabolism of estrogens [31, 32]. Knekt et al. first reported an epidemiologic study on the association of antibiotic uptake and BC incidence. Women <50 who self-reported previous and/or present antibiotic use for urinary tract infections but did not harbor a bacteriuria had an elevated risk of breast cancer, compared with women without this usage [33].

By extension, associations between antibiotic exposure and cancer risk were reported in various cancers [34–36]. In contrast, the use of antivirals or antifungals did not affect the cancer risk [37]. Multiple studies reported an association between

an altered composition of local microbiomes at portals of entree and cancer occurrence (such as oral in head and neck cancers [38], bronchial in NSCLC [39], intestinal and colorectal malignancies [40] and vaginal in cancer of the cervix [41]).

These studies are often flawed or biased by (a) the lack of rigorous methodologies (old methods of PCR versus 16S pyrosequencing analyses versus deep sequencing (metagenomics) versus culturomics), (b) overlooking lifestyle factors (such as social milieu, sedentary way of life, malnutrition, alcoholic or smoking behavior, etc.) that may modify the microbiome and increase cancer risk independently from each other, (c) the lack of a validation cohort (according to the REMARK criteria), and (d) the lack of cause-effect relationship between microbial dominance and the underlying pathophysiology. The current momentum for the impact of the gut microbiome in cancer will reinvigorate clinicians to launch prospective studies evaluating the impact of ATB uptake, as well as nutrition, genetic, and environmental factors in driving or influencing the course of oncogenesis processes.

27.4 Radiotherapy and Microbiota

The effects of radiotherapy on the microbiome and cancer immunotherapy have not been studied extensively. Most studies to date address radiation-induced bowel injury and its modulation by the host microbiome.

Crawford et al. reported first that the intestinal microbiome is an important modifier of radiation-induced intestinal injury, showing that germ-free animals are more resistant to radiation enteritis [42]. Microbial composition in mice was significantly altered by radiation. Modulation of the intestinal microbiome by fecal microbial transplantation (FMT) after whole-body irradiation increased survival and partly restored intestinal epithelial integrity through stimulation of angiogenesis [43, 44]. TLR signaling may play an important role in intestinal radioprotection. Ciorba et al. showed that *Lactobacillus* administration in a preclinical model of radiationinduced intestinal injury exerted protective effects through TLR2 and migration of Cox2expressing mesenchymal stem cells [45]. Several clinical studies reported the modification of the intestinal microbiota post-radiation-induced intestinal injury [46–48]. Wang et al. showed that pelvic irradiation induced the release of inflammatory markers in the intestine of patients, associated with asthenia. Low microbial intestinal diversity also predicted radiation-induced colitis development [49]. Demers et al. showed that the administration of *Bifidobacterium/ Lactobacillus* significantly lowered diarrhea [50]. However, no single bacterial strain was consistently shown to be beneficial in radiationinduced intestinal injury.

The beneficial role of the microbiome in the efficacy of radiotherapy remains to be demonstrated. There is good rationale to believe that disruption of the mucosal barrier facilitating the translocation of mucosal microbiota may activate the innate arm of immunity [51]. This was first reported by Paulos et al. showing that total body irradiation promoted a LPS-TLR4-dependent activation of antigen-presenting cells facilitating the efficacy of adoptive T cell transfer [52]. Radiation-induced intestinal injuries promoted the translocation of commensals and the release of LPS resulting in the priming of dendritic cells and activation of adoptively transferred T cells. This was correlated with the treatment efficacy and with the long-term cure of mice harboring melanoma B16F10 tumors. Thereby, modulating the homeostatic balance between the gut microbiota and the immune system could enhance cell-based tumor immunotherapy. Conversely, a subsequent study by Espinosa-Carrasco showed that LPS translocation only partly accounts for the effect seen by Paulos et al. [53]. To date, there is no data supporting the role of microbiome components as response modifiers in radio-immunotherapy.

27.5 Cyclophosphamide and Gut Microbiota

It is well known that chemotherapy can induce mucositis as well as neutropenia, two major side effects that could lead to the use of antibiotics and result in dysbiosis [54, 55]. The question of the impact of the gut microbiota on the efficacy on chemotherapeutic agents, and especially those capable of affecting the intestinal homeostasis, was addressed [56, 57]. The efficacy of cyclophosphamide (CTX), a DNA-alkylating agent belonging to the family of nitrogen with immunomodulatory and anti-angiogenesis properties currently used in clinics for the treatment of breast cancer, sarcoma, and pediatric malignancies [58], depends on its ability to induce the translocation of selective Gram-positive bacteria niching in the small intestine such as *Enterococcus* hirae or Lactobacillus johnsonii into secondary lymphoid organs. Indeed, CTX is responsible for disrupting the gut barrier integrity as well as intestinal homeostasis (both epithelial and immune compartments). Patients treated with CTX have a weaker intestinal barrier which breaks the tolerance toward the intestinal microbiota and leads to its immunization against some

bacterial strains. This immunization is composed of CD4+ effector lymphocytes called "pathogenic Th17" producing IFNy and IL-17, which helps tumor-infiltrating Th1 lymphocytes to control the tumor growth in mice. Interestingly, broadspectrum antibiotics as well as vancomycin (which mainly kills Gram-positive bacteria) and colistin (which mainly eliminates Gram-negative bacteria) all compromised the polarization of pTh17 in the spleen and the full-blown anticancer activity of CTX in vivo in P815 mastocytomaand MCA205 sarcoma-bearing mice, supporting the notion that the efficacy of cyclophosphamide was microbiota related [59]. Further study showed that among the translocating Grampositive bacteria, E. hirae induces Th17 and Th1 CD4+ T lymphocytes and stimulates tumorspecific CD8⁺ T cells, as it reduces immunosuppressive intratumoral Tregs and IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Fig. 27.1). Mono-association of antibiotic-treated mice with E. hirae greatly



Fig. 27.1 The immunogenicity of *E. hirae*. *E. hirae* resides in the jejunum and colon in about 25% individuals. It is very dominant in mouse guts at Gustave Roussy Villejuif. This *Enterococcus* is not pathogenic and benefits from cyclophosphamide-mediated increased gut permeability to translocate in secondary lymphoid organs, prime specific pathogenic CXCR3 + CCR3+ T cells that traffic to tumor lesions, and reprogram the tumor microenvironment, i.e., decreasing regulatory T cells and $\gamma \delta T17$

cells and enhancing cancer-specific CTL responses. *E. hirae* also acts on the intestinal epithelial cells, modulating apoptosis and IL-18 secretion in a NOD2-dependent manner. *E. hirae* is recognized by bone marrow dendritic cells to induce IL-12 and IL-27 production in a NOD2dependent fashion. All these properties participate to its adjuvant effects to boost cyclophosphamide-mediated immunostimulatory capacities and anticancer efficacy improved tumor growth reduction by CTX, and this effect was blocked by antibodies depleting CD8⁺ T cells or neutralizing IFNy, indicating that it requires an anticancer immune response. In parallel, we have demonstrated that the antitumor efficacy of CTX was greatly ameliorated in mice presenting a defect in NOD2 expression in intestinal epithelial cells, demonstrating the role of NOD2 as a gatekeeper and a gut immune checkpoint restricting the immunogenicity of *E. hirae*. The characterization of the gut microbiota in NOD2 animals highlighted that Gram-negative bacteria, from the Porphyromonadaceae family, dominated the colon, genus Barnesiella. Mice that were mono-associated with Barnesiella intestinihominis developed high numbers of polyfunctional CD4⁺, CD8⁺, or γδT cells, in the spleen and the tumor bed. B. intestinihominis-fed mice contained more abundant IFNy-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells at the expense of immunosuppressive IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells compared with nonfed (or E. hirae-fed) animals. Moreover, CTX combined with B. intestinihominis reduced the growth of transplantable cancers (RET melanoma, MCA205 sarcoma, MC38 colon cancers) in mice through a pathway requiring CD8⁺ T cells and IFNy, but not IL-17. Finally, E. hirae and B. intestinihominis-specific memory Th1 cell immune responses selectively predicted longer progression-free survival in advanced lung and ovarian cancer patients treated with chemoimmunotherapy. At present, it is not known whether E. hirae can synergize with B. intestinihominis with respect to its tumor growth-blocking

Therefore, part of the immunomodulatory effects of the most well-known immunomodulator (CTX) require a functional microbiome, at least a Gram-positive small intestine residing *Enterococcus* and a colon residing *Barnesiella*.

27.6 Platinum Salts and Gut Microbiota

activity [60].

The demonstration of the importance of the gut microbiota on the efficacy of anticancer agents was also reported by the Dr. Giorgio Trinchieri's

group. Iida et al. demonstrated that bacteria accounted for the ROS-mediated antitumor effects of tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells during platinum-based anticancer therapies [61]. Indeed, the authors showed that the efficacy of platinum salts (oxaliplatin, cisplatin) relied on the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by intratumoral myeloid cells (myeloid suppressor cells, monocytic and immature dendritic cells) through a mechanism involving MyD88. ROS induce DNA damage culminating in DNA adduct formation and apoptosis of tumor cells and account for part of the tumoricidal activity of oxaliplatin against MC38 or EL4 tumorbearing mice. Interestingly, the efficacy of chemotherapy was abrogated in germ-free or ATB-treated mice compared to SPF animals. Next, the authors investigated the impact of ATB treatment on oxaliplatin-mediated ROS production. The expression of Cybb encoding reactive oxygen species (ROS)-generating nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase (NOX2) was attenuated by the ATBs [61]. Furthermore, microbial compensation of ATB-treated mice with Lactobacillus acidophilus restored efficacy of cisplatin-based chemotherapy and reestablished inflammatory gene expression related to cisplatin functions [62]. Altogether, these results support the notion that the gut microbiota impacts on the redox equilibrium of the tumor microenvironment, affecting the therapeutic effects of platinum salts currently used in clinic.

27.7 Gut Bacteria and the Efficacy of Immuno-oncological Compounds

Oncologists no longer consider to treat cancer by only targeting tumor cell clones but also by mobilizing the immune system and eliciting long-term memory T cell responses protecting against the minimal residual disease. Immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) became the backbone of cancer treatment modalities, but primary resistance to ICB concerns about 70% of all comers, suggesting that T cell responses culminating in T cell infiltration of tumor lesions required for tumoricidal effects are quite a rare event. The immunity of a person is influenced by a complex set of factors, i.e., host, tumor, and environmental cues as well as prior histories of distinct therapies, that govern the threshold and timing of anticancer immune responses. Several lines of evidence point out to the critical role of the microbiome in dictating the "cancer immune set point" of a person, i.e., the threshold beyond which an immune response will ensure. Several groups indeed highlighted the role of distinct commensals in determining the antitumoral efficacy of various types of immunotherapeutics.

After administration of anti-interleukin-10 receptor (IL-10R) plus cytosine-phosphate-guanosine oligodeoxynucleotides (CpG-ODN) TLR9 agonists, *Alistipes shahii* was found overrepresented in the feces of colon cancer-bearing mice. Upon mono-association of previously sterilized mice with *A. shahii*, the immunotherapeutic response of subcutaneous colon cancers was improved, as compared to sterile mice. In this model, *A. shahii* led to an increase of TNF α production by intratumoral myeloid cells, and neutralization of TNF α abolished the therapeutic effect. Thus, *A. shahii* impact innate immune effectors of the myeloid lineage, reshaping the tumor microenvironment to improve the outcome of immunotherapy [61].

Other studies showed that the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockers (ICB), aimed at reactivating tumor-infiltrating T cells, is also dependent on the gut microbiota. Ipilimumab, a monoclonal antibody against cytotoxic-Tlymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTL4-4), induced considerable improvement in the overall survival of patients with metastatic melanoma with up to 18% long-term control of the disease [63, 64]. The antitumoral efficacy of ipilimumab was abrogated in ATB-treated SPF mice or in germ-free animals bearing many types of transplantable tumors. Vétizou et al. showed that non-enterotoxin-producing strains of B. fragilis have anticancer properties in the context of immunotherapy with CTLA4 blockade. After neutralization of this immune checkpoint with specific monoclonal antibodies, Bacteroidales representation in the ileums and feces was

affected, and B. fragilis spp. could take over, associated with DC migration and activation in the mesenteric lymph nodes and class II-restricted T cell memory responses against B. fragilis antigens. B. fragilis-mediated immune responses post-CTLA4 blockade were IL-12 dependent. The defect in preclinical response of GF tumor-bearing mice to anti-CTLA4 Ab was overcome by mono-association with B. fragilis as well as by adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells that were previously primed with B. fragilispulsed dendritic cells (DCs) that contributed to the antitumor immune rejection. Interestingly, mice that were mono-associated with B. fragilis exhibited a more mature DC phenotype in tumor beds than controls with respect to the expression of MHC class II as well as the co-stimulatory CD80 and CD86 molecules. It has been documented that B. fragilis cell walls contain the immunostimulatory polysaccharide A (PSA) that can act on DCs. However, it remains to be determined whether PSA alone would be as efficient as live B. fragilis with respect to its antineoplastic activity. Finally, we were able to confirm that these findings were of clinical relevance by analyzing the gut microbiota of metastatic melanoma patients before and after ipilimumab. The 16S pyrosequencing analyses of feces contents in 25 stage IV melanoma patients revealed three major enterotypes based on the abundance or relative representativity of distinct spp. of Bacteroides and Prevotella genera. By performing fecal microbial transplantation (FMT) of feces representative of each enterotype into tumor-bearing GF mice subsequently treated with anti-CTLA4 Ab, we demonstrated that the microbial composition of enterotype C, enriched in immunogenic Bacteroides species, was able to allow the niching or colonization of B. fragilis (but not Bacteroides uniformis, vulgatus, or distasonis) and to restore the efficacy of anti-CTLA4 Ab, otherwise lost in GF mice, while clusters A and B failed to do both [65]. Of note, melanoma patients tended to exhibit an enterotype C while being treated with ipilimumab.

In parallel, Gajewski's group showed that the antitumor efficacy of anti-PD-L1

Ab was influenced by the colon content in Bifidobacterium species (Bifidobacterium breve and Bifidobacterium longum). In this study, Sivan and colleagues compared relative antitumor CTL responses against a candidate tumor antigen in genetically similar C57BL/6 tumor bearers derived from two different mouse facilities (bought from two distinct vendors) differing in terms of microbiome composition. Contrasting mice from the Jackson Laboratory and from Taconic Farms, they revealed significant differences in the growth kinetics of subcutaneously implanted melanomas, with more aggressive tumors in Taconic Farms derived- mice attributable to lower dendritic cell maturation and IFN signatures associated with poor intratumoral cancer antigen-specific TIL accumulation. Interestingly, the tumor growth in Taconic Farms mice was reduced following FMT from mice originating from the Jackson Laboratory or cohoused with these littermates. Pyrosequencing of gene amplicons of Jackson and Taconic mice feces revealed a high content in Bifidobacteriales spp. in the colony that exhibited reduced growth of transplantable melanomas and improved CTLmediated immunosurveillance [4]. Selective transfer of B. breve or B. longum into mice that are normally devoid of these strains was sufficient to reduce melanoma growth and restored anti-melanoma CTL responses. B. breve and B. longum stimulated the maturation of DC both in vitro and in vivo. As a consequence, the frequency of tumor-specific CTL accumulating in melanomas increased in mice carrying B. breve or B. longum, and such CTL-infiltrated tumors responded more vigorously to immunotherapy with an antibody targeting PD-L1 than did melanomas evolving on sterile mice or mice bearing a gut microbiome devoid of immunostimulatory *Bifidobacteriales* [66].

Hence, various strains of commensals were associated with the immunostimulatory effects of distinct I-O strategies. The future will tell us whether most of these commensals would mediate their bioactivity on innate or cognate immune responses regardless of the therapeutic compound or whether they would act within the mode of action and scope of the defined compound.

27.8 Role of Intestinal Microbes in Graft-Versus-Host Disease (GVHD)

Graft-versus-host disease occurs after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) and often limits the success of the therapy. GVHD results from the attack of the host cells by the transplanted donor immune cells. Numerous studies demonstrated that GVHD depends on several factors such as age, conditioning regimen, graft source, etc. Moreover, increasing evidences indicate that the gut microbiota plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of GVHD and could be associated to the relapse of hematologic malignancies after allo-HSCT. Previous studies performed in mice showed that the severity of GVHD is attenuated in GF mice or mice treated with antibiotics [67, 68] or in humans [69]. Characterization of the gut microbiota of GVHD patients revealed a significant decrease of diversity which was associated with an increase of Lactobacillales and decrease of Clostridiales, which in turn can modulate intestinal inflammation [70]. In a later study, Jenq et al. anticorrelated the abundance of Blautia, belonging to the Clostridia class, with GVDH-related mortality [71]. While bacterial species known for their health-promoting properties such as Faecalibacterium or Ruminococcus were deeply decreased, the abundance of Enterococci was markedly enhanced in GVHD patients, compared with patients without GVHD [72]. Indeed, an increase of *Enterococci* after transplantation in adult patients with severe GVHD was noticed. This was also observed in ten pediatric patients undergoing allo-HSCT. Interestingly, patients undergoing GVHD displayed lower amounts of Bacteroides and Parabacteroides, whose abundance positively correlated with the levels of SCFAs, especially propionate, before allo-HSCT [73]. Lately, Simms-Waldrip et al. demonstrated that the use of antibiotics targeting anaerobic bacteria in the course of allo-HSCT correlated with a significant decline of anti-inflammatory Clostridia and the development of GVHD [74]. As a result, manipulating the gut microbiota through the use

of probiotics or prebiotics could be considered as a therapeutic approach aiming at decreasing the risk of GVHD. Preliminary data indicated that administration of Lactobacillus rhamnosus before and after allo-HSCT promoted less severe GVHD and improved survival of mice [75]. Other studies observed that administration of Lactobacillus johnsonii reduced GVHD severity through prevention of Enterococci accumulation post allo-HSCT [76]. Moreover, FMT was used in a clinical pilot study to treat GVHD of the gut occurring after allo-HSCT [77]. The abundance of Lactobacilli increased post-FMT in most of the patients, and the gut microbiota shifted toward an anti-inflammatory state. Other studies showed that FMT was efficient in treating Clostridium difficile infection post allo-HSCT [78, 79]. Butyrate-producing Clostridia strains reduced GVHD of the gut that is induced by allogeneic BMT. This effect was correlated with improved junctional integrity and reduced apoptosis of intestinal epithelial cells [80].

In a recent study, Peled et al. reported that intestinal abundance of *Eubacterium limosum* was associated with a reduced risk of relapse/progression of hematologic malignancies after allo-HSCT. Interestingly, the strongest association between *E. limosum* and a lower risk of disease relapse was observed in patients receiving T cell replete grafts. Donor cell-mediated graft-versustumor (GVT) effect was virtually higher in these patients, when compared to T cell-depleted graft recipients, suggesting that gut microbiota might play a role in GVT activity [81].

Altogether, these studies highlighted the dominant role of gut microbiota in dictating the efficacy and toxicity of allo-HSCT and open up new avenues of interventions on GVHD/GVT by harnessing the gut microbiome.

27.9 Bacteria for Therapy of Cancer: Probiotics and Others

The development of anticancer agents based on live microbial agents traditionally focused on local or systemic parenteral routes. William Coley was the first who partially succeeded in obtaining anticancer effect using microbes, by injecting intratumorally а mixture of Streptococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens [82]. Many efforts were then made to develop microbial-based anticancer treatment. Mycobacterium bovis Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) was approved by FDA and EMA in 1990 for superficial bladder cancer treatment. BCG efficacy relies on the induction of a local immune response against residual cancer cells, reducing the probability of relapse [83, 84]. Since then, no other bacteria obtained marketing authorization despite Phase I clinical trials utilizing various strategies outlined in Table 27.1.

Investigators recently raised an alternative approach that consists in administering live bacteria (probiotics) per os to colonize the gut and consequently obtain anticancer activities.

Probiotics are defined as "live microorganisms which, when administered in adequate amounts, confer health benefits on the host" [85]. They are known to reinforce natural defenses, protect against gastrointestinal disorders and pathogens, and modulate innate and/or adaptive immunity.

Lactobacilli are substantial probiotics, which belong to the group of lactic acid bacteria. Many studies demonstrated that various isolates of Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG, and/or L. acidophilus mediate anticancer effects through different mechanisms, including activation of NK cells, maturation of DCs, or release of probioticderived ferrichrome [86–95].

Prohep, a probiotic mixture of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG (LGG), *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917, and heat-inactivated VSL#3, delivered orally to mice bearing subcutaneous hepatocellular carcinoma, prevented tumor progression, and shifted the gut microbial community toward *Prevotella* and *Oscillibacter*. These later are known to produce anti-inflammatory metabolites, which in turn decrease the Th17 polarization and enhance the differentiation of anti-inflammatory Treg/Tr1 cells in the gut [96].

Whereas these probiotics taken individually may elicit antitumor activities, it is not

Bacterial species	Cancer	Clinical benefit	Refs
Streptococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens	Osteosarcoma	Coley's toxins: Injection of Streptococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens in sarcoma patients leading to tumor regression	[82]
Mycobacterium bovis BCG	Superficial bladder cancers	Intravesical administration of a live attenuated form of <i>Mycobacterium bovis</i> leading to decreased risk of local recurrence	[97]
L. Casei Shirota (found in the fermented milk Yakult)	Superficial bladder cancer	NK and macrophage stimulation leading to decreased tumor recurrence	[98–100]
<i>IMM-101 (heat-killed</i> <i>Mycobacterium obuense</i> ; NCTC 13365) with gemcitabine	Melanoma Advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma	Increased survival in metastatic disease in a randomized Phase II study	[101, 102]
Live-attenuated Listeria monocytogenes expressing mesothelin (CRS-207) with GVAX-cyclophosphamide	Advanced pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma	Increased overall survival associated with mesothelin- specific CD8 Tc1 responses	[103]
IL-13-PE: Recombinant cytotoxin consisting of human interleukin-13 (IL-13) and a truncated form of <i>Pseudomonas</i> exotoxin A (PE)	Adrenocortical carcinoma Phase I	Feasibility and neutralizing antibody responses	[104]
IL4-PE: Chimeric fusion protein composed of IL-4 and <i>Pseudomonas</i> exotoxin	Astrocytoma Phase I	No toxicity, median survival of 8.2 months and evidence of necrosis on MRI in several patients	[105]
Attenuated strain of Salmonella typhimurium, VNP20009	Metastatic melanoma Refractory solid tumors Phase I	Evidence of bacterial tumor colonization but objective response	[106, 107]
TAPET-CD: An attenuated <i>Salmonella bacterium</i> expressing the <i>E. coli</i> cytosine deaminase gene	Three patients (one head and neck squamous cell and two adenocarcinoma of the esophagus). Intratumoral injection	Evidence of bacterial colonization and conversion of 5-fluorocytosine (5-FC) to 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) in 2/3 tumors	[108]
Tf-CRM107 is a conjugate of transferrin and a point mutation in the diphtheria toxin	15 patients with malignant brain tumor	MRI regression of tumor volume in 9/15 patients with no evidence of severe local and systemic complications at low dose	[109]

BCG Bacille Calmette-Guérin, NK natural killer cells, MRI magnetic resonance imaging

established if when optimally combined they can create an ecosystem with extensive antitumor properties.

As mentioned previously, some intestinal commensals modulate the antitumor immune responses generated by anticancer compounds as well as the efficacy of the treatment (CTX and *E. hirae/B. intestinihominis* [60], CpG-

ODN + anti-IL10 and *Alistipes shahii* [61], anti-PDL1 and *Bifidobacterium longum* and *breve* [66], anti-CTLA4 and *B. fragilis/Burkholderia cepacia* [65]).

The mechanisms of action of the microorganisms described above are not fully deciphered at the molecular level. The identification of bacterial structures directly involved in anticancer

Table 27.1 Clinical trials utilizing live bacteria

activity or immunosurveillance promotion will raise favorable circumstances to (a) improve antitumor effect via probiotic engineering or (b) to develop compounds that mimic their pharmacological activity.

27.10 Genetically Modified Bacteria

Din et al. demonstrated that synthetic engineering of bacteria improved the antitumor effects of the antimetabolite 5-FU in a mice model of liver metastases of colorectal cancers. Pulsatile delivery cycles of 5-FU by the bacteria were allowed via a synchronized lysis cycle of E. coli based on quorum sensing feedback loops [110]. In necrotic tumor characterized by low vascularization, chemotherapy has limited efficacy due to restricted accessibility. This can be partially restored using anaerobic bacteria as tumor-targeting vectors. Bacteria engineering increased 5-FU efficacy in liver metastasis, but this strategy was fully successful when combined with I-O or other anticancer drugs [110]. This unique way to deliver compounds in avascular tumors needs to be further assessed in patients resistant to traditional therapies.

27.11 Microbial Products with Cancer-Modulating Properties

Microbial agents can synthetize a wide range of molecules that affect either antitumor immunosurveillance or growth/survival of cancer cells. One distinguishes (a) toxins, (b) ligands of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), and (c) metabolites (short-chain fatty acids, polyamines, vitamins, secondary bile products, AhR ligands). While toxins display direct cytotoxic properties, activation of PRRs stimulates immune response, and metabolites affect the host metabolism. However, certain metabolites can also behave as PRR ligands, as it was shown for N-acetylglucosamine (a sugar subunit of bacterial peptidoglycan) acting on hexokinase to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome [111] or for tryptophan derivatives acting on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) [112]. These approaches have been detailed in a previous report [113]. We will only recapitulate the most prominent ones that can be harnessed for oncological purposes.

Bacterial toxins are usually peptides with amphipathic alpha-helices containing cationic charges that cause the lysis of non-protected bacterial membranes. Structural analogs of toxins were developed in order to kill cancer cells. LTX-315, a synthetic peptide developed for intratumoral therapy, targets mitochondria. It also triggers necrotic cell death with immunogenic properties. This means its direct tumoricidal effects are prolonged as a consequence of danger signal emission that activates specific antineoplastic immune responses [114].

Several PRR ligands are FDA and EMA approved. Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), a derivative of *Salmonella minnesota* LPS, is used as an adjuvant in a peptide-based vaccine for the prevention of cervical carcinoma-associated strains of human papillomavirus [115]. Imiquimod, a synthetic agonist of TLR7, is topically delivered for the treatment of actinic keratosis.

Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) such as acetate, butyrate, and propionate are synthetized from dietary fibers and polysaccharides by the clostridial clusters IV and XIVa of Firmicutes. While acetate supports the expansion of various human cancer types [116-118], propionate and butyrate may have anticancer properties through distinct mechanisms. Propionate and butyrate could repair gut dysfunction, by promoting regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation and/or accumulation and mediating anti-inflammatory activities [119-121] or inhibiting histone deacetylases (HDACs), conferring to these metabolites anticancer properties. Butyrate also induced apoptosis in colorectal cancer and lymphoma cells, suggesting direct tumoricidal activities [122, 123]. As a result, a way to prevent or treat cancer would consist in developing dietary regimen that increases intestinal butyrate over acetate production.

27.12 Future Prospects

Over the past decade, microbiome raised a major interest, since it appears that these commensal communities influence the development and outcome of a wide range of disease, including cancer. Microbiota might affect tumor formation and progression. It may also determine anticancer treatment responses. Either indirect effects such as immunosurveillance or direct effects of microbial compounds (i.e., carcinogens, cytotoxic agents, and metabolites) may affect tumor cells via diverse processes (mutagenesis, epigenetic modulation, stimulation of receptors on host cells, effect on anabolic and catabolic pathways).

Given that the cancer immune set point may be largely controlled by the health of our gut microbiome, diagnosis tools to evaluate a patient's gut dysbiosis are urgently needed to be able to guide the indications of specific therapies and anticancer probiotics. Technologies based on culturomics, metagenomics, or PCR or mass spectrometry will lead to diagnosis tools for cancer-associated dysbiosis and predictors of primary resistance to ICB.

Increasing knowledge of the functional exploration of patient-derived microbiomes, coupled with relevant preclinical models, will allow the development of four alternative anticancer interventions: (a) orally administrable microorganisms (probiotics), (b) specific dietary or drug-based interventions that favor the expansion of beneficial microorganisms, (c) drugs that specifically target microbial enzymes that generate harmful toxins and metabolites, and (d) microbial products with anticancer properties. Each of these therapies could be used alone or in combination with conventional anticancer treatment. However, live microbes, especially when genetically modified, raise safety concerns with regard to their escape into the environment, their potential pathogenicity, and the acquisition of antibiotic or enzymatic chemoresistance. Hence, live microbial agents are subjected to regulatory and intellectual property-related unsolved issues. An alternative to eventually overcome such limitations would be the development of small molecules or chemically defined macromolecules that influence the natural gut microbiome in a favorable fashion or mediate beneficial effects on their own.

References

- de Vos WM, de Vos EA. Role of the intestinal microbiome in health and disease: from correlation to causation. Nutr Rev. 2012;70:S45–56.
- Karlsson FH, et al. Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control. Nature. 2013;498:99–103.
- Le Chatelier E, et al. Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. Nature. 2013;500:541–6.
- Mowat AM, Agace WW. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14:667–85.
- Arumugam M, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2011;473:174–80.
- Cotillard A, et al. Dietary intervention impact on gut microbial gene richness. Nature. 2013;500:585–8.
- Segre JA. MICROBIOME. Microbial growth dynamics and human disease. Science. 2015;349: 1058–9.
- Hornef M. Pathogens, commensal symbionts, and pathobionts: discovery and functional effects on the host. ILAR J. 2015;56:159–62.
- Ergin A, et al. Impaired peripheral Th1 CD4+ T cell response to Escherichia coli proteins in patients with Crohn's disease and ankylosing spondylitis. J Clin Immunol. 2011;31:998–1009.
- Macpherson A, Khoo UY, Forgacs I, Philpott-Howard J, Bjarnason I. Mucosal antibodies in inflammatory bowel disease are directed against intestinal bacteria. Gut. 1996;38:365–75.
- Palm NW, et al. Immunoglobulin A coating identifies colitogenic bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. Cell. 2014;158:1000–10.
- Rhee K-J, Sethupathi P, Driks A, Lanning DK, Knight KL. Role of commensal bacteria in development of gut-associated lymphoid tissues and preimmune antibody repertoire. J Immunol. 2004;172:1118–24.
- Ivanov II, et al. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. Cell. 2009; 139:485–98.
- Faith JJ, Ahern PP, Ridaura VK, Cheng J, Gordon JI. Identifying gut microbe-host phenotype relationships using combinatorial communities in gnotobiotic mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:220ra11.
- Atarashi K, et al. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. Science. 2011;331:337–41.
- Atarashi K, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. Nature. 2013;500:232–6.

- Qin J, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature. 2010;464:59–65.
- Dejea CM, et al. Microbiota organization is a distinct feature of proximal colorectal cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2014;111:18321–6.
- Zackular JP, Rogers MAM, Ruffin MT, Schloss PD. The human gut microbiome as a screening tool for colorectal cancer. Cancer Prev Res Phila. 2014;7:1112–21.
- Zeller G, et al. Potential of fecal microbiota for earlystage detection of colorectal cancer. Mol Syst Biol. 2014;10:766.
- 21. Zitvogel L, et al. Cancer and the gut microbiota: an unexpected link. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:271ps1.
- Abreu MT, Peek RM. Gastrointestinal malignancy and the microbiome. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:1534– 1546.e3.
- Sears CL, Garrett WS. Microbes, microbiota, and colon cancer. Cell Host Microbe. 2014;15: 317–28.
- 24. Garrett WS. Cancer and the microbiota. Science. 2015;348:80–6.
- Gur C, et al. Binding of the Fap 2 protein of Fusobacterium nucleatum to human inhibitory receptor TIGIT protects tumors from immune cell attack. Immunity. 2015;42:344–55.
- Louis P, Hold GL, Flint HJ. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2014;12:661–72.
- Bongers G, et al. Interplay of host microbiota, genetic perturbations, and inflammation promotes local development of intestinal neoplasms in mice. J Exp Med. 2014;211:457–72.
- Rutkowski MR, et al. Microbially driven TLR5dependent signaling governs distal malignant progression through tumor-promoting inflammation. Cancer Cell. 2015;27:27–40.
- Rossini A, et al. Influence of antibiotic treatment on breast carcinoma development in proto-neu transgenic mice. Cancer Res. 2006;66:6219–24.
- Blaser M. Antibiotic overuse: stop the killing of beneficial bacteria. Nature. 2011;476:393–4.
- Tikkanen MJ, Adlercreutz H, Pulkkinen MO. Effects of antibiotics on oestrogen metabolism. Br Med J. 1973;2:369.
- Adlercreutz H, et al. Intestinal metabolism of estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1976;43:497–505.
- Knekt P, et al. Does antibacterial treatment for urinary tract infection contribute to the risk of breast cancer? Br J Cancer. 2000;82:1107–10.
- Kilkkinen A, et al. Antibiotic use predicts an increased risk of cancer. Int J Cancer. 2008;123:2152–5.
- Zhang H, García Rodríguez LA, Hernández-Díaz S. Antibiotic use and the risk of lung cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2008;17:1308–15.
- Tamim HM, Hajeer AH, Boivin J-F, Collet J-P. Association between antibiotic use and risk of prostate cancer. Int J Cancer. 2010;127(4):952–60. doi:10.1002/ijc.25139.

- Boursi B, Mamtani R, Haynes K, Yang Y-X. Recurrent antibiotic exposure may promote cancer formation – another step in understanding the role of the human microbiota? Eur J Cancer. 2015;51:2655–64.
- Shiga K, et al. Presence of Streptococcus infection in extra-oropharyngeal head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and its implication in carcinogenesis. Oncol Rep. 2001;8:245–8.
- Yu G, et al. Characterizing human lung tissue microbiota and its relationship to epidemiological and clinical features. Genome Biol. 2016;17:163.
- 40. Warren RL, et al. Co-occurrence of anaerobic bacteria in colorectal carcinomas. Microbiome. 2013;1:16.
- Chase D, Goulder A, Zenhausern F, Monk B, Herbst-Kralovetz M. The vaginal and gastrointestinal microbiomes in gynecologic cancers: a review of applications in etiology, symptoms and treatment. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;138:190–200.
- Crawford PA, Gordon JI. Microbial regulation of intestinal radiosensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:13254–9.
- Cui M, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation protects against radiation-induced toxicity. EMBO Mol Med. 2017;9(4):448–61. doi:10.15252/emmm. 201606932.
- 44. Nam Y-D, Kim HJ, Seo J-G, Kang SW, Bae J-W. Impact of pelvic radiotherapy on gut microbiota of gynecological cancer patients revealed by massive pyrosequencing. PLoS One. 2013;8:e82659.
- Ciorba MA, et al. Lactobacillus probiotic protects intestinal epithelium from radiation injury in a TLR-2/cyclo-oxygenase-2-dependent manner. Gut. 2012;61:829–38.
- Salminen E, Elomaa I, Minkkinen J, Vapaatalo H, Salminen S. Preservation of intestinal integrity during radiotherapy using live Lactobacillus acidophilus cultures. Clin Radiol. 1988;39:435–7.
- Delia P, et al. Use of probiotics for prevention of radiation-induced diarrhea. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13:912–5.
- Chitapanarux I, et al. Randomized controlled trial of live lactobacillus acidophilus plus bifidobacterium bifidum in prophylaxis of diarrhea during radiotherapy in cervical cancer patients. Radiat Oncol. 2010;5:31.
- 49. Wang A, et al. Gut microbial dysbiosis may predict diarrhea and fatigue in patients undergoing pelvic cancer radiotherapy: a pilot study. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0126312.
- Ciorba MA, Hallemeier CL, Stenson WF, Parikh PJ. Probiotics to prevent gastrointestinal toxicity from cancer therapy: an interpretive review and call to action. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2015;9:157–62.
- 51. Nejdfors P, Ekelund M, Weström BR, Willén R, Jeppsson B. Intestinal permeability in humans is increased after radiation therapy. Dis Colon Rectum. 2000;43:1582–1587.; discussion 1587–1588.
- 52. Paulos CM, et al. Microbial translocation augments the function of adoptively transferred self/tumor-

specific CD8+ T cells via TLR4 signaling. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:2197–204.

- 53. Espinosa-Carrasco G, et al. Systemic LPS translocation activates cross-presenting dendritic cells but is dispensable for the breakdown of CD8+ T cell peripheral tolerance in irradiated mice. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0130041.
- Ubeda C, et al. Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus domination of intestinal microbiota is enabled by antibiotic treatment in mice and precedes bloodstream invasion in humans. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:4332–41.
- van Vliet MJ, Harmsen HJM, de Bont ESJM, Tissing WJE. The role of intestinal microbiota in the development and severity of chemotherapy-induced mucositis. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6:e1000879.
- Stringer AM, et al. Irinotecan-induced mucositis manifesting as diarrhoea corresponds with an amended intestinal flora and mucin profile. Int J Exp Pathol. 2009;90:489–99.
- Yang J, Liu K, Qu J, Wang X. The changes induced by cyclophosphamide in intestinal barrier and microflora in mice. Eur J Pharmacol. 2013;714:120–4.
- Sistigu A, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of cyclophosphamide and implementations for vaccine design. Semin Immunopathol. 2011;33:369–83.
- Viaud S, et al. The intestinal microbiota modulates the anticancer immune effects of cyclophosphamide. Science. 2013;342:971–6.
- Daillère R, et al. Enterococcus hirae and Barnesiella intestinihominis facilitate cyclophosphamide-induced therapeutic immunomodulatory effects. Immunity. 2016;45:931–43.
- Iida N, et al. Commensal bacteria control cancer response to therapy by modulating the tumor microenvironment. Science. 2013;342:967–70.
- Gui Q-F, Lu H-F, Zhang C-X, Xu Z-R, Yang Y-H. Well-balanced commensal microbiota contributes to anti-cancer response in a lung cancer mouse model. Genet Mol Res. 2015;14:5642–51.
- Hodi FS, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Robert C, Mateus C. Anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody: a major step in the treatment of metastatic melanoma. Med Sci. 2011;27:850–8.
- Vétizou M, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science. 2015;350:1079–84.
- 66. Sivan A, et al. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science. 2015;350:1084–9.
- Jones JM, Wilson R, Bealmear PM. Mortality and gross pathology of secondary disease in germfree mouse radiation chimeras. Radiat Res. 1971;45:577.
- van Bekkum DW, Roodenburg J, Heidt PJ, van der Waaij D. Mitigation of secondary disease of allogeneic mouse radiation chimeras by modification of the intestinal microflora. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1974;52:401–4.
- 69. Vossen JM, et al. Complete suppression of the gut microbiome prevents acute graft-versus-host disease

following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. PLoS One. 2014;9:e105706.

- Taur Y, et al. The effects of intestinal tract bacterial diversity on mortality following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2014;124:1174–82.
- Jenq RR, et al. Intestinal Blautia is associated with reduced death from graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21:1373–83.
- 72. Holler E, et al. Metagenomic analysis of the stool microbiome in patients receiving allogeneic stem cell transplantation: loss of diversity is associated with use of systemic antibiotics and more pronounced in gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2014;20:640–5.
- Biagi E, et al. Gut microbiota trajectory in pediatric patients undergoing hematopoietic SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50:992–8.
- 74. Simms-Waldrip TR, et al. Antibiotic-induced depletion of anti-inflammatory Clostridia is associated with the development of graft-versus-host disease in pediatric stem cell transplantation patients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(5):820–9. doi:10.1016/j. bbmt.2017.02.004.
- Gerbitz A, et al. Probiotic effects on experimental graft-versus-host disease: let them eat yogurt. Blood. 2004;103:4365–7.
- Jenq RR, et al. Regulation of intestinal inflammation by microbiota following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Exp Med. 2012;209:903–11.
- 77. Kakihana K, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation for patients with steroid-resistant acute graft-versushost disease of the gut. Blood. 2016;128:2083–8.
- Neemann K, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation for fulminant *Clostridium difficile* infection in an allogeneic stem cell transplant patient. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14:E161–5.
- de Castro CG, Ganc AJ, Ganc RL, Petrolli MS, Hamerschlack N. Fecal microbiota transplant after hematopoietic SCT: report of a successful case. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50:145.
- Mathewson ND, et al. Gut microbiome-derived metabolites modulate intestinal epithelial cell damage and mitigate graft-versus-host disease. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:505–13.
- Peled JU, et al. Intestinal microbiota and relapse after hematopoietic-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2017;35(15):1650–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.70.3348.
- Nauts HC, Swift WE, Coley BL. The treatment of malignant tumors by bacterial toxins as developed by the late William B. Coley, M.D., reviewed in the light of modern research. Cancer Res. 1946;6:205–16.
- Böhle A, Brandau S. Immune mechanisms in bacillus Calmette-Guerin immunotherapy for superficial bladder cancer. J Urol. 2003;170:964–9.
- 84. Zbar B, Bernstein I, Tanaka T, Rapp HJ. Tumor immunity produced by the intradermal inoculation of living tumor cells and living Mycobacterium bovis (strain BCG). Science. 1970;170:1217–8.

- Morelli L, Capurso L. FAO/WHO guidelines on probiotics: 10 years later. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;46(Suppl):S1–2.
- 86. Aragón F, Carino S, Perdigón G, de Moreno de LeBlanc A. Inhibition of growth and metastasis of breast cancer in mice by milk fermented with lactobacillus casei CRL 431. J Immunother. 2015;1997(38):185–96.
- Hu J, et al. Anti-tumour immune effect of oral administration of Lactobacillus plantarum to CT26 tumourbearing mice. J Biosci. 2015;40:269–79.
- Kato I, Endo K, Yokokura T. Effects of oral administration of Lactobacillus casei on antitumor responses induced by tumor resection in mice. Int J Immunopharmacol. 1994;16:29–36.
- Cai S, et al. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG activation of dendritic cells and neutrophils depends on the dose and time of exposure. J Immunol Res. 2016;2016:7402760.
- Khazaie K, et al. Abating colon cancer polyposis by Lactobacillus acidophilus deficient in lipoteichoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109: 10462–7.
- Lenoir M, et al. Lactobacillus casei BL23 regulates Treg and Th17 T-cell populations and reduces DMH-associated colorectal cancer. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51:862–73.
- 92. Lee J-W, et al. Immunomodulatory and antitumor effects in vivo by the cytoplasmic fraction of Lactobacillus casei and Bifidobacterium longum. J Vet Sci. 2004;5:41–8.
- Baldwin C, et al. Probiotic Lactobacillus acidophilus and L. casei mix sensitize colorectal tumoral cells to 5-fluorouracil-induced apoptosis. Nutr Cancer. 2010;62:371–8.
- Konishi H, et al. Probiotic-derived ferrichrome inhibits colon cancer progression via JNK-mediated apoptosis. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12365.
- 95. Takagi A, et al. Relationship between the in vitro response of dendritic cells to Lactobacillus and prevention of tumorigenesis in the mouse. J Gastroenterol. 2008;43:661–9.
- 96. Li J, et al. Probiotics modulated gut microbiota suppresses hepatocellular carcinoma growth in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2016;113:E1306–15.
- Martínez-Piñeiro JA, et al. Bacillus Calmette-Guerin versus doxorubicin versus thiotepa: a randomized prospective study in 202 patients with superficial bladder cancer. J Urol. 1990;143:502–6.
- Aso Y, Akazan H. Prophylactic effect of a Lactobacillus casei preparation on the recurrence of superficial bladder cancer BLP study group. Urol Int. 1992;49:125–9.
- Ohashi Y, et al. Habitual intake of lactic acid bacteria and risk reduction of bladder cancer. Urol Int. 2002;68:273–80.
- Hoesl CE, Altwein JE. The probiotic approach: an alternative treatment option in urology. Eur Urol. 2005;47:288–96.
- 101. Stebbing J, et al. An intra-patient placebo-controlled phase I trial to evaluate the safety and tolerability

of intradermal IMM-101 in melanoma. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:1314–9.

- 102. Dalgleish AG, et al. Randomised, open-label, phase II study of gemcitabine with and without IMM-101 for advanced pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer. 2016;115:789–96.
- 103. Le DT, et al. Safety and survival with GVAX pancreas prime and Listeria monocytogenes-expressing mesothelin (CRS-207) boost vaccines for metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2015;33:1325–33.
- 104. Liu-Chittenden Y, et al. Phase I trial of systemic intravenous infusion of interleukin-13-Pseudomonas exotoxin in patients with metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. Cancer Med. 2015;4:1060–8.
- 105. Weber F, et al. Safety, tolerability, and tumor response of IL4-Pseudomonas exotoxin (NBI-3001) in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. J Neuro-Oncol. 2003;64:125–37.
- 106. Toso JF, et al. Phase I study of the intravenous administration of attenuated Salmonella typhimurium to patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2002;20:142–52.
- 107. Heimann DM, Rosenberg SA. Continuous intravenous administration of live genetically modified salmonella typhimurium in patients with metastatic melanoma. J. Immunother. 2003; 1997(26):179–80.
- 108. Nemunaitis J, et al. Pilot trial of genetically modified, attenuated Salmonella expressing the E. coli cytosine deaminase gene in refractory cancer patients. Cancer Gene Ther. 2003;10:737–44.
- 109. Laske DW, Youle RJ, Oldfield EH. Tumor regression with regional distribution of the targeted toxin TF-CRM107 in patients with malignant brain tumors. Nat Med. 1997;3:1362–8.
- Din MO, et al. Synchronized cycles of bacterial lysis for in vivo delivery. Nature. 2016;536:81–5.
- Wolf AJ, et al. Hexokinase is an innate immune receptor for the detection of bacterial peptidoglycan. Cell. 2016;166:624–36.
- 112. Moura-Alves P, et al. AhR sensing of bacterial pigments regulates antibacterial defence. Nature. 2014;512:387–92.
- Zitvogel L, et al. Anticancer effects of the microbiome and its products. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017; 15:465–78.
- Ellerby HM, et al. Anti-cancer activity of targeted pro-apoptotic peptides. Nat Med. 1999;5:1032–8.
- 115. Paavonen J, et al. Efficacy of human papillomavirus (HPV)-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against cervical infection and precancer caused by oncogenic HPV types (PATRICIA): final analysis of a doubleblind, randomised study in young women. Lancet. 2009;374:301–14.
- 116. Comerford SA, et al. Acetate dependence of tumors. Cell. 2014;159:1591–602.
- 117. Mashimo T, et al. Acetate is a bioenergetic substrate for human glioblastoma and brain metastases. Cell. 2014;159:1603–14.

- 118. Schug ZT, et al. Acetyl-CoA synthetase 2 promotes acetate utilization and maintains cancer cell growth under metabolic stress. Cancer Cell. 2015;27:57–71.
- Arpaia N, et al. Metabolites produced by commensal bacteria promote peripheral regulatory T-cell generation. Nature. 2013;504:451–5.
- Furusawa Y, et al. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature. 2013;504:446–50.
- 121. Smith PM, et al. The microbial metabolites, shortchain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. Science. 2013;341:569–73.
- 122. Jan G, et al. Propionibacteria induce apoptosis of colorectal carcinoma cells via short-chain fatty acids acting on mitochondria. Cell Death Differ. 2002;9:179–88.
- 123. Wei W, Sun W, Yu S, Yang Y, Ai L. Butyrate production from high-fiber diet protects against lymphoma tumor. Leuk Lymphoma. 2016;57:2401–8.

Local Immunotherapies of Cancer

Thomas U. Marron, Linda Hammerich, and Joshua Brody

Contents

28.1	Introduction	463
28.2	Immunogenic Cell Death	464
28.3	Recruitment of Immune Infiltrate	466
28.4	Activation of Dendritic Cells	468
28.5	Modulating Immunosuppressive Cellular Compartment	472
Conclusion		474
References		474

28.1 Introduction

The use of immune stimuli to eradicate cancer is not a novel concept; in the mid-nineteenth century, the German physician W. Busch noted a dramatic regression of a patient's cancer following a severe case of erysipelas in a patient infected with Streptococcus pyogenes [1]. This published observation was the impetus behind William Coley's injecting Streptococcus pyogenes extracts into cancer patients, later called "Coley's toxin," with which Dr. Coley and others had varying success [2]. Though this treatment fell out of favor with the introduction of radiation, more recent experiments based on these findings used endotoxin to induce a significant immune response; in early phase trials, some clinical responses were seen; however, the toxicity was predictably high and the approach was deferred [3–5]. Regardless, the responses demonstrated the possibility to activate an antitumor immune response with strong pro-inflammatory stimuli.

Cancer immunotherapy has progressed at a rapid pace in the past decade, with approval for multiple monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) targeting the CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoints, with small molecules and mAbs targeting numerous other immune checkpoints advancing rapidly through clinical trials. These approaches rely on reactivation of pre-existing antitumor immunity that has been silenced by immunosuppressive mechanisms within the tumor microenvironment. It is therefore unsurprising that most

T.U. Marron, MD, PhD • L. Hammerich, PhD J. Brody, MD (\boxtimes)

Department of Medicine, Division of Hematology and Oncology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, 1 Gustave L Levy Place, Box 1185, New York, NY 10029, USA e-mail: Joshua.brody@mountsinai.org

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_28

impressive clinical responses have been seen in either highly immunogenic tumors with the largest mutation burden and a number of possible neoantigens-e.g., melanoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in smokers-or in tumors which have an inherent immune infiltrate that is checked by high expression of PD-L1 on tumor cells, as is the case for Hodgkin's lymphoma and some subsets of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) [6–9]. Still, for the majority of patients with solid cancers for which checkpoint inhibitors have been approved for clinical use (lung, bladder, and renal cell carcinoma and melanoma), there is either too strong immunosuppressive microenvironment or too weak immune response to result in a systemic immune response and significant tumor regression. In support of this theory, the degree to which many solid tumors have an "inflamed" phenotype with significant immune cell infiltration predicts response to immunotherapy [10, 11]. These findings suggest that combinatorial approaches in which inhibitory checkpoints are abrogated while inflammation is induced within the tumor microenvironment would potentiate the immune response to tumor antigens and improve clinical response rates.

The efficacy of CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade, particularly when used in combination, clearly demonstrates the potential for success; however, these doublet therapies carry significant toxicity and still only achieve response rates approaching 50% in highly immunogenic tumors [12–14]. A large number of alternative combinatorial approaches are now under investigation to increase the efficacy: toxicity ratio. One category that offers promise is vaccination, which, similar to classical vaccines, introduces immune adjuvants alongside tumor-associated antigens (TAA) to focus the immune response on cancer-specific targets. Many ex vivo approaches have shown efficacy relying either on in vitro differentiation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) with specific TAAs or whole tumor lysate or in vitro expansion of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes which are responsive to TAAs. Though small studies of these in vitro methods have demonstrated potent clinical responses, these are resource-intensive and thus difficult to optimize and scale up.

One alternative is in situ vaccination (ISV), in which a "vaccine" is created within the tumor to achieve the same goals as have been achieved with in vitro techniques; specifically these therapies aim to induce damage to cancer cells, followed by uptake and processing of released tumor antigen and stimulatory "damage"-associated molecules, and finally antigen presentation-and cross-presentation-to CD4 and CD8 T cells (Fig. 28.1). There have been multiple approaches to ISV, but the general principles are the same, specifically (1) inducing immunogenic cell death; (2) recruitment of leukocyte infiltration, inducing the "inflamed" phenotype responsive to immunotherapy; (3) activation of APCs resulting in activation of innate lymphocytes and presentation of TAA to antigen-specific effector cells; and finally (4) modulation/abrogation of the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Here we review some approaches to achieve these four aims.

28.2 Immunogenic Cell Death

Immunogenic cell death results in release of tumor antigens from dying cells into the microenvironment along with cell-stress signals and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) capable of activating receptors on and in APCs. As opposed to apoptosis, a comparatively tolerogenic form of cell death, immunogenic cell death, not only provides the antigen but also provides inflammatory stimuli, and as such, agents inducing this form of toxicity are occasionally able to elicit a vaccinal response on their own [15].

While immunotherapy is generally described as mechanistically distinct, in reality there may have been an immunostimulatory component to many of the cytotoxic therapies that have been employed over the last century. An early observation of the role of the immune system in cancer was the abscopal effect, in which localized radiation given to a patient resulted in distant regression of disease outside of the radiation field [16]. While rare, this abscopal effect offers a proof of principle that can be further optimized. Radiation has been used in a variety of



Fig. 28.1 The central tenants of induction of an in situ immune response to tumor antigen. First is a stimulus causing immunogenic cell death, which leads for resident or recruited APCs to take up antigen and become activated

due to pro-inflammatory signals, which are both an innate immune response and antigen processing and presentation/cross-presentation to achieve an adaptive immune response

vaccine/immunotherapy regimens given its ability to induce immunogenic cell death. Radiation stimulates translocation of calreticulin to the cell surface and release of a multitude of DAMPs, including free DNA, high-motility group box 1 (HMBG1), and ATP; these signals stimulate proinflammatory receptors on dendritic cells (DCs), activating the inflammasome and Toll-like receptor (TLR) pathways among other pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) [17–21]. Upon uptake of dead or dying tumor cells by phagocytes, cellfree DNA is also capable of activating the stimulator of interferon (IFN) gene (STING) pathway, inducing IFN production and potentiating activation of a strong effector T-cell priming [22]. In parallel, radiation further induces expression of key chemokines that are critical for recruitment of effector CD8⁺ T cells to the irradiated tumor, including CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL16 [23, 24]. At the same time, radiation has also been shown to suppress the immune response through recruitment and differentiation of regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) to the tumor microenvironment, leading to secretion of cytokines such as TGF- β and conversion of immunogenic ATP into adenosine by CD39 and CD73, which suppresses T effector cell activation and survival via the A2a adenosine receptor [25–27].

Our group and others have demonstrated a significant upregulation of PD-1 and PD-L1 on intratumoral T cells and tumor cells, respectively, in response to ionizing radiation [28, 29]. Though these and other inhibitory ligands are also markers of T-cell activation, T cells upregulate these ligands and receptors upon activation as a physiologic check on the immune system to avoid autoimmunity—possibly explaining the rarity of clinically relevant abscopal effects and may offer rational targets for combinatorial approaches using radiation therapy. Numerous preclinical studies demonstrate that RT is synergistic with checkpoint-blocking therapies [30], though clinical success has been limited [31]. So far, most published studies have targeted CTLA-4, but there are encouraging preclinical studies combining radiation with blockade of PD-1 and other key checkpoints and immunosuppressive pathways (reviewed extensively by Kang et al. [32]).

Finally, radiation is highly lymphotoxic, hence its continued use in some stem cell transplantconditioning regimens for lymphoid leukemias. Thus, depending on dose and the scope of the treatment field, RT risks eliminating the very T cells the treatment aims to activate. This supports the use of limited field and hypo-fractionated dosing in order to achieve the optimal vaccinal effect; preclinical models have supported the benefit of hypo-fractionated dosing in optimizing antitumor immune responses [33]. A comprehensive review of radiation as an adjuvant to emerging immunotherapies is provided in this series by Professors Formenti and Demaria, leaders in this field.

Though radiation and chemotherapy are both typically considered lymphotoxic, chemotherapy can also serve multiple roles as an adjuvant to immune therapy. Like radiation, chemotherapy causes immunogenic tumor cell death resulting in the release of both immunogenic ligands and tumor antigen that can be taken up by intratumoral APCs as well as those in the surrounding tissue and draining lymphatics, extensively reviewed by Kepp et al. [34]. Aside from tumor cytotoxicity, lymphotoxic chemotherapies such as cyclophosphamide have been found to preferentially deplete regulatory T cells (Tregs), with a milder effect on T effector cells [35].

The role of chemotherapy in inciting the initial step of priming an immune response, as well as the role of old and new cytotoxic chemotherapies in combination with emerging immunotherapies, is reviewed elsewhere in this series by Professor Kroemer, an authority on immunogenic cell death.

28.3 Recruitment of Immune Infiltrate

Though immunogenic cell death is likely necessary to initiate and potentiate a tumor-specific immune response, the rarity with which the abscopal effect is observed, and the paucity of studies demonstrating that radiation or chemotherapy increases tumor-specific T cells, suggests that additional signals are needed to potentiate the anti-TAA immune response. To promote antigen uptake, one extensively used approach has been the addition of growth factors inducing APC differentiation and recruitment into tumor tissue. In contrast to systemic cytokine administration, direct intratumoral injection of cytokines and growth factors has also been tried and showed promise in augmenting the response to immune-based therapies, including granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulation factor (GM-CSF) and FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L).

Preclinical studies have assessed the immunostimulatory capabilities of multiple cytokines and growth factors by transducing tumors with the corresponding genes in a murine melanoma model. These studies looked at a panel of genes including IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IFNy, IL1-RA, ICAM, CD2, TNF- α , and GM-CSF; GM-CSF achieved the most profound tumor rejection and induction of tumor-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells which protected mice from rechallenge with non-transduced melanoma cells [37]. GM-CSF is a hematopoietic growth factor, and outside the marrow compartment, GM-CSF can be produced by lymphocytes and myeloid lineage cells, as well as non-hematopoietic cell types within the tumor microenvironment including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and epithelial cells; GM-CSF is capable of activating both innate and adaptive immune response, and expression is typically promoted by inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α , while immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 decrease its expression [38-42]. Clinically, autologous tumor cells from 21 melanoma patients were transduced with GM-CSF, and subsequent tumor biopsies revealed greater T-cell infiltration, as well as tumor necrosis, fibrosis, and edema, in the majority of patients [43]. Comparable immune responses were seen in a subset of patients treated in similar trials of autologous GM-CSF-transduced tumor cells from patients with melanoma, as well as lung and prostate cancer [44–46]. Combinations of GM-CSF with treatments that promote immunogenic cell death have also demonstrated induction of antitumor immunity. One ISV trial in follicular lymphoma combined local radiotherapy and intratumoral rituximab with intratumoral injection of immature autologous dendritic cells and GM-CSF; this permutation resulted in an overall response rate (ORR) of 36%, and those in whom there was a measurable tumor-directed CD8⁺ response had the most profound and durable clinical responses [47].

Though attraction and maturation of DCs lead to a pro-inflammatory immunogenic signal, intratumoral GM-CSF has also been found to be a chemoattractant to neutrophils and other myeloid lineage cells capable of promoting angiogenesis and suppressing CD8+ T-cell priming. GM-CSF furthermore directly promotes the growth of some tumors by enhancing expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) instrumental to growth and migration and metastases [48]. Some human and murine cancers have been shown to constitutively express GM-CSF, or in some cases G-CSF, as well as the respective receptor, leading to autocrine promotion of proliferation [49–55]. Some propose that the role of GM-CSF may differ based on the tissue involved, such that in some cancers, its use may be an immune adjuvant, and in others it may promote tumor growth and suppress the immune response. A large cohort of gene arrays of human colorectal cancers demonstrate that over a third of cancers produce GM-CSF, and colorectal cancer patients with an increased level of GM-CSF in serum have been shown to have a worse prognosis [55, 56]. In head and neck cancer, GM-CSF and other growth factors in the serum were associated with worse invasion and prognosis overall [57, 58]; similarly, invasive bladder cancers occasionally secrete GM-CSF, and some patients' cancer cells also express the GM-CSF receptor, and both these findings correlate with worse prognosis [53, 59]. Leukocytosis and elevated GM-CSF levels in blood or in tumor samples are seen in a variety of other cancers as well, including lung and glioblastoma multiform, some of which are the targets in immunotherapy trials incorporating GM-CSF [54, 60, 61]. These data prompt consideration of alternate growth factors capable of differentiating or recruiting APCs to the tumor site.

Flt3L is a hematopoietic growth factor crucial to the mobilization and differentiation of stem cells and progenitors [62]. Flt3L has been shown to facilitate the differentiation of both DCs and NK cells from hematopoietic stem cell precursors [63–66]. Specifically, Flt3L directly induces the differentiation of a proportion of CD34⁺ CD45RA-early progenitor cells into a DC precursor and results in increased numbers of plasmacytoid DC (pDC) and CD141⁺ and CD1c⁺ (cDCs) [63, 67]. These DC subsets, particularly the CD141⁺ subset, are especially capable of cross-presentation of tumor antigen to CD8⁺ T cells, and their intratumoral presence correlates strongly with clinical outcomes [68, 69].

Numerous preclinical studies have demonstrated the ability of Flt3L to mobilize immune cell subsets, DCs predominant among these [67, 69–73], including models showing antitumor effect of Flt3L administration in melanoma, lymphoma, leukemia, and breast, colon, prostate, lung, and hepatocellular carcinoma [74–82]. Other models have demonstrated that singleagent Flt3L is ineffective, rather the optimal antitumor immune response requires combinatorial approaches which induce antigen release and stimulation of APCs; for instance, in a murine model of breast adenocarcinoma, Flt3L priming potentiated the abscopal effect elicited by lowdose radiation and eliminated systemic tumor burden in a T-cell-dependent fashion, while Flt3L alone had no effect without radiotherapy [83].

Clinically, a phase I study evaluated the use of autologous DCs that first were expanded in vivo with Flt3L, loaded ex vivo with carcinoembryonic antigen peptide, and reinfused; treatment was well tolerated and demonstrated that Flt3L expanded DCs 20-fold; 2 of 12 patients experienced dramatic tumor regression [84]. Clinical response correlated with the expansion of CD8⁺ CEA tetramer⁺ T cells, confirming the role of CD8⁺ T cells in this treatment strategy. Similar robust increases in intratumoral and systemic DCs were seen in patients in additional early phase trials with peritoneal carcinomatosis, mesothelioma, and prostate cancer, all with limited toxicity [85, 86]. These early phase trials suggested that Flt3L is able to significantly increase the presence and activity of intratumoral APCs and that-similar to GM-CSF-it appears that combinatorial approaches are necessary to prime clinical remissions. Indeed, while Flt3L administration promotes DC production systemically and intratumoral infiltration, these DCs are immature DCs, which lack costimulatory molecules needed to activate effector cells. This both limits their ability to promote an effector T-cell response and actually promotes tolerogenic pathways keeping tumor-specific T cells quiescent [73]. As such, though Flt3L appears to augment the number of intratumoral DCs, additional pro-inflammatory stimuli are necessary to activate these APCs upon arrival.

28.4 Activation of Dendritic Cells

Single-agent studies of GM-CSF and Flt3L have demonstrated low toxicity but also low efficacy, confirming what we know about the physiological role of DCs in priming and homeostasis; it is not enough to promote the ingress of APCs into a tumor; an activation signal is needed. While this can come from DAMPs released by immunogenic cell death, arguably the strongest innate immune responses can also be elicited by introduction of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). TLRs are evolutionarily conserved innate immune receptors capable of recognizing PAMPs, as well as some DAMPs, and likewise TLR ligands, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), free single- or double-stranded RNA (ssRNA or dsRNA), and hypomethylated DNA motifs found in pathogens, are able not only to bind and activate canonical TLR pathways but also other cytoplasmic inflammatory pathways [87]. The sum stimulus of these pathways results in a maturation signal potentiating DC antigen presentation and cross-presentation and subsequent T-cell activation.

TLRs are resident either on the cell surface (as is the case for TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6) or in the endosome (TLRs 3, 7, 8, and 9), and their distribution is key to the PAMP and DAMP ligands

they recognize. TLR7 classically recognizes free ssRNA, and agonists for this TLR were the first PAMP analog to be FDA approved for clinic use in the form of imiquimod. TLR7 is highly expressed on multiple myeloid lineages, with highest expression on plasmacytoid DCs that play a key antiviral role through induction of type I IFNs (IFN α/β). Imiquimod is an imidazoquinoline derivative capable of activating TLR7 and induces a strong antiviral immune response; it was first approved for the treatment of genital warts caused by a cutaneous viral infection and subsequently for the treatment of basal cell carcinoma and actinic keratosis, with off-label indications for cutaneous viral infections such as molluscum contagiosum [88–90].

Preclinical studies have also investigated the use of imiquimod in other cancers that are not virally derived. In a murine model of cutaneous breast cancer, topical application of imiquimod combined with local radiotherapy resulted in complete regression of locally treated tumors with abscopal responses at distal sites suggesting induction of T-cell-mediated antitumor immunity [91]. In this model, response is associated with increase in T-cell infiltration into tumor lesions, and the abscopal effect was dependent on CD8+ T cells. Similar trials have been performed in small series or case reports in patients with cutaneous involvement of metastatic melanoma or breast cancer; topical application of imiquimod induces a pro-inflammatory tumor microenvironment and some tumor regressions [92–94]. There are also many series or case reports of antitumor effects of imiquimod in cutaneous T-cell lymphomas [95–103] and B-cell lymphomas [104–107], now a common off-label use of this adjuvant.

In a combinatorial approach using imiquimod and a human cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO-1 peptide vaccine in melanoma, patients were pretreated with Flt3L, and imiquimod was applied to the vaccine sites [108]. Unfortunately, clinical response rates to this vaccine triplet regimen were suboptimal, and only 12 of 27 patients were evaluable, a minority of whom were treated with imiquimod, and only one patient experienced a partial response.

Systemic treatment with imiquimod has been assessed in preclinical models, with oral treatment leading to significant IFN induction and tumor growth inhibition in colorectal, sarcoma, and lung cancer models [109]. In a model of lymphoma, intravenous delivery of R848, a guanosine derivative which acts as an agonist for both TLR7 and TLR8 (another endosomal TLR which recognizes ssRNA), combined with local tumor irradiation induced durable CD8+ T-cell antitumor immune responses, clearance of systemic disease, and protection from tumor rechallenge [110]. A novel imidazoquinoline, 3 M-052 or MEDI9197, which is also a TLR7 and TLR8 ligand formulated with a lipid tail to allow tissue retention, was shown in preclinical models to suppress tumor growth following intratumoral injection both at target and distal lesions [111]. This antitumor effect was enhanced by PD-L1 and CTLA-4 blockade, even in models in which checkpoint blockade alone was ineffective. A phase I basket trial of intratumoral MEDI9197 injections in metastatic disease is underway, with recent cohorts combining MEDI9197 with anti-PDL1 therapy, hoping to reproduce the preclinical synergistic activation of antitumor immune responses [112].

There has been extensive study of the role of type I IFNs in the control of tumor growth, and these IFNs appear integral to mount an immune response to tumors [113, 114]. Preclinical studies suggest that this is due not to the role of IFNs in stimulating the cytotoxic T cells but also the role IFNs has in inducing maturation of DCs, particularly BATF3⁺ CD8 α^+ DCs in mice (the corollary of CD141⁺ DCs in humans which also express the BATF3 and IRF8 characteristic transcription factors) which are the most capable of cross-presenting tumor antigen to CD8⁺ T cells [115, 116].

TLRs are potent stimuli of IFNs; however, there are also cytoplasmic PRRs capable of inducing immune responses. One of these keys to the induction of the IFNs is the STING receptor, a receptor for cGAMP, a degradation product from cytoplasmic DNA [117]; STING activation has been shown to strongly activate type I IFN transcription [118]. Preclinical studies of intratumoral injection of a STING agonist DMXAA (also known as ASA404) into murine B16 melanoma were sufficient to achieve priming of tumor-specific CD8⁺ cells and achieve immune rejection of the tumor [119, 120]. DMXAA was tried in conjunction with chemotherapy in a large phase III trial of NSCLC in humans with no appreciable activity, though that was later determined to be due to poor binding to human STING [121]. ADU-S100 is a novel cyclic dinucleotide that binds and activates both human and mouse STING [122], and this is currently being used intratumorally in early phase trials.

It has also been noted that cancer cells may downregulate the STING pathway in order to avoid induction of IFN in response to DNA damage commonly present in rapidly dividing cancer cells [123]. This has been exploited by the field of oncolytic viruses using either pathogenic viruses that have been engineered to decrease virulence in normal tissue (such as herpes simplex virus, HSV, and vaccinia) [123, 124] or viruses that are typically not virulent in human cells but are able to infect and propagate in cancer cells in which the IFN pathway has been silenced (such as Newcastle disease virus, NDV) [125]. Oncolytic viruses are not only capable of inducing tumor lysis and antigen release; the viral components can activate innate PRRs. Initial limited clinical efficacy of these viruses alone made it evident that an additional immune stimulus such as a growth factor or cytokine could potentiate the immunity induced by viral infection. JX-594, a vaccinia virus, was engineered to express GM-CSF in infected cells, has been shown to selectively replicate in tumor cells, and demonstrated antitumor immunity in preclinical models and early phase clinical studies after either intratumoral or systemic inoculation with virus [124]. These studies revealed increased infiltration of T cells into the tumor and disruption of tumor-associated vasculature in mice and humans, leading to reduced blood flow and rapid necrosis of tumor cells [126–128]. This effect is tumor-specific due to loss of normal IFN response, as endothelial cells of normal blood vessels are not affected. Clinical trials in liver cancer and melanoma have found JX-594 is well tolerated and response rates have

been encouraging [129–133]. Similarly, HSV, engineered to not express genes that block antigen presentation on MHC molecules and other genes key to viral replication in normal cells, demonstrated significantly enhanced immunogenicity by inserting GM-CSF into the viral genome [134]. Clinical trials of this construct referred to as talimogene laherparepvec or T-VEC (previously OncoVEX GM-CSF) have shown potent induction of necrosis in treated tumors and inflammation of distal tumors and significant response rates including complete responses to single-agent therapy in patients with melanoma, head and neck cancer, and breast and other metastatic malignancies [135–138]. A phase III study of T-VEC in patients with advanced melanoma demonstrated superior response rates compared to GM-CSF alone and a trend toward improvement in overall survival (p = 0.051), which led to approval of T-VEC for clinical use [139]. Combinations of oncolytic virus with immunomodulators such as checkpoint-blocking antibodies offer great promise; these trials (e.g., NCT03069378, NCT02965716) and the field of oncolytic viruses in general are reviewed elsewhere in this series by Professor Puzanov.

While STING is a cytoplasmic PRR recognizing free DNA, endosomal TLR9 is another PRR capable of sensing free DNA, specifically DNA containing hypomethylated CG-enriched oligonucleotide (CpG) islands commonly seen in the prokaryotic genome. TLR9 is expressed by pDCs and other DC subtypes to varying degrees and is also expressed on B cells, which can also be effective APCs. Interestingly, B-cell lymphomas are derived from mature B cells expressing high levels of TLR9, and CpG containing ligands can activate lymphoma B cells, just as they can with nonmalignant B cells, to increase expression of costimulatory molecules [140–142]. In a lymphoma model, CpG ligands inhibited proliferation of malignant B cells, and when combined with systemic chemotherapy capable of inducing immunogenic cell death, intratumoral CpG induced antitumor response and disease regression at site of injection as well as distal lesions in a CD8⁺ T-cell-dependent fashion, suggesting CpG was potentiating priming of tumorreactive T cells [142]. While tumor-resident DCs

may also respond to TLR9 ligands, in this model, this effect was seen in mice with somatic TLR9 deficiency, carrying TLR9-expressing tumors, suggesting that antigen presentation by tumor cells, not host APC, may be sufficient to induce potent immune responses. The TLR9 agonist agatolimod (PF-3512676) has been used in clinical trials in humans, including three trials using a combination of local irradiation and intratumoral agatolimod administration which achieved clinical responses, including some complete responses, among the 45 patients with indolent B-cell lymphoma and 15 patients with mycosis fungoides that were treated [143–145].

CpG has been shown to also elicit tumor regression in non-B-cell malignancies; in a murine glioma model, intratumoral CpG increased T-cell infiltration, eliminated tumors, and protected from rechallenge [146], and similar antitumor T-cellmediated responses are primed with CpG injection in murine models of mesothelioma, breast cancer, and melanoma [147-149]. In humans, another TLR9 agonist, litenimod (CpG-28), was given as an intratumoral injection into 34 patients with recurrent glioblastoma multiforme, achieving some partial responses [150]. The above CpG molecules are classified as CpG type B (CpG-B) in that they optimally activate B cells, whereas a CpG-C molecule SD-101-designed to comparably activate B cells and pDC-has shown promising preclinical and clinical results upon intratumoral administration and is currently being studied in lymphomas and solid tumors including combination studies with anti-PD1 antibodies (NCT02521870, NCT02731742, NCT02927964, NCT03007732).

As noted above, the importance of CD141⁺ DCs in the tumor relates to their potent ability to cross-present antigen and prime a potent CD8⁺ T-cell response to tumor antigen. It is noteworthy that these cells express very low levels of TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9; however, they express high levels of TLR3, another PRR located in the endosome which responds to dsRNA [151]. Polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid stabilized with polylysine and carboxymethyl cellulose (poly-ICLC, also known as hiltonol) is a stabilized double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) "host-targeted" therapeutic viral mimic that exhibits broad innate and adaptive immuneenhancing effects and was shown to be a promising vaccine adjuvant due to its strong induction of type I IFNs [152, 153]. As such, it was first used as an IFN inducer at high doses in cancer trials, with predictably high toxicity [154], while at lower doses, it achieved a broader host defense stimulation, potent adjuvant effect, and antiproliferative and antiviral effects [155–157].

The possible antitumor and antiviral activity of poly-ICLC is thought to be dependent on its stimulation of both TLRs and MDA5 (another cytoplasmic PRR [158]) and its concomitant induction of IFNs and other cytokines and its induction of MHC molecules. Likewise, dsRNA induction of various costimulatory factors such as B7-H2, CD40, and OX40 may help overcome evasions in the tumor itself [159].

Administration of poly-ICLC has been demonstrated to prolong survival in multiple murine

tumor models. In a murine lymphoma model, IP administration of poly-ICLC significantly prolonged survival and correlated with peritoneal macrophage tumoricidal activity [160]. Poly-ICLC also prolonged survival in rodent models of gliomas, melanoma, and fibrosarcoma [161, 162]. Poly-ICLC incorporated into peptidebased vaccine for gliomas showed ability to induce tumor lymphocyte infiltration and induction of an IFN signature [163–165], and poly-ICLC used as an adjuvant with the E7 HPV tumor antigen in a murine model of cervical cancer demonstrated expansion of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells as well as tumor regression [166]. While single-agent poly-ICLC can induce tumor responses, our group has developed a combined approach ISV in the murine lymphoma A20 model in which poly-ICLC is used to activate intratumoral DCs after treatment with low-dose radiation and intratumoral Flt3L (Fig. 28.2 is the



Fig. 28.2 Novel ISV protocol. Intratumoral Flt3L (1) induces recruitment of DCs to the tumor, which subsequently take up antigen after low-dose radiation (2), and DCs are activated by intratumoral injection of PAMPs such as poly-ICLC (3), inducing activation of antigenloaded DCs, which then migrate to the draining lymph nodes (4) where they interface with tumor antigen-specific

T cells (5). Activation threshold of senescent or exhausted tumor-specific T cells can be overcome through addition of checkpoint blockade (6), and activated T effector cells then travel to tumor sites throughout the body (7) to exert systemic antitumor effect and promote tumor-specific memory

human correlate). While this approach does induce tumor regression and cure in approximately one-third of animals, we have shown that addition of checkpoint blockade with an anti-PD-1 mAb results in regression of nearly all tumors, further supporting the importance of both inducing intratumoral inflammation *and* modulating the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment to achieve the optimal antitumor immune response [167].

Poly-ICLC has been used in dozens of clinical trials in multiple solid malignancies and lymphoma which have been reported, and many more ongoing clinical trials in combination with chemotherapies, radiation, and/or other immune adjuvants, with varying clinical success, but with promising data, demonstrated the ability to elicit immune response to tumor antigen [165, 168-178]. Based on these and other studies in humans, poly-ICLC is thus emerging as a particularly potent immunogenic core for multiple cancer and HIV vaccines, given its adjuvant role in potentiating antigen uptake, cross-presentation, and skewing of immune response to tumor antigens toward Th1 phenotype [176]. A trial of 22 patients with recurrent malignant gliomas used autologous DCs loaded ex vivo with synthetic TAA peptides, administered with concurrent intramuscular poly-ICLC, resulting in potent antigen-specific T-cell responses, and a suggestion of prolonged survival [179]. A similar peptide-based vaccine trial in patients with advanced ovarian cancer used a vaccine that combined overlapping long peptides from NY-ESO-1 in conjunction with poly-ICLC; while the peptide alone induced no immune response, the investigators saw significantly higher induction of NY-ESO-1-specific antibodies as well as antigen-specific T-cell responses in 10 of 11 patients that received the poly-ICLC [174]. Another vaccine in multiple tumor types expressing NY-ESO-1 attached full-length NY-ESO-1 protein to DCs by conjugating the tumor antigen to an antibody for DEC-205 expressed on DCs; this antibody-peptide conjugate was administered in conjunction with poly-ICLC, again this adjuvant was found to be well tolerated, and a small minority had robust clinical regression of metastatic disease [180]. Another study of the cancer testes antigen MAGE-A3 similarly treated patients with whole peptide and poly-ICLC, followed by autologous stem cell transplant and adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded T cells, and found that over three quarters of the 25 patients treated developed cellular and humoral antigenspecific responses [173].

Intratumoral injection of poly-ICLC to achieve an in situ vaccination is currently being studied as well, alone and in combination. In an ongoing trial of single-agent intratumoral poly-ICLC used in patients with metastatic malignancies, a patient with advanced facial rhabdomyosarcoma had significant intratumoral inflammation and necrosis followed by marked tumor regression [175]. In an ongoing study aimed at potentiating the abscopal response, intratumoral injection of recombinant Flt3L and poly-ICLC is administered in combination with low-dose radiotherapy; early reports demonstrate increased intratumoral DCs and regression of both treated tumors and systemic disease in some patients with advanced-stage follicular lymphoma [181, 182]. Given recent preclinical results demonstrating the potency of this approach in combination with checkpoint blockade, the upcoming iteration of this (intratumoral) ISV will study the combination along with (systemic) anti-PD1 mAb (Fig. 28.2).

28.5 Modulating Immunosuppressive Cellular Compartment

While most of the monotherapy and combinatorial approaches we have covered thus far are able to induce tumor-specific T cells and responses in a subset of patients, many patients remain refractory to these therapies. This is likely due to the T-cell response working in opposition to other driving immune force within the tumor microenvironment, e.g., subsets of myeloid and lymphoid cells exerting a strong immunosuppressive effect. Through secretion of immunosuppressive chemokines and cytokines as well as direct cell contact, malignant cells promote the development and recruitment of immunosuppressive Tregs, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and MDSCs [183–186]. Along with immunosuppressive costimulatory ligands and cytokines expressed by tumor cells, these leukocytes act in concert to limit immune reactivity to tumor cells; to effectively induce an immune response against tumor antigen, this immunosuppressive milieu will likely need to be disrupted (Fig. 28.3).

A critical cell responsible for modulating effector T-cell responsiveness is the Treg, and there is extensive literature demonstrating that malignant cells secrete chemokines recruiting intratumoral Tregs, which act to impair proliferation of T effector cells and impair their degranulation and cytotoxic activity [187, 188]. As mentioned previously, in addition to their cytotoxic effect on cancer cells, certain chemotherapies such as cyclophosphamide, anthracyclines, and platinum agents have been shown to exert preferential cytotoxicity to Tregs over effector T cells [15, 189]. In patients treated with chemoimmunotherapy, one study demonstrated a rapid reconstitution of the CD8+ and NK cell number and function, while the CD4+ compartmentparticularly Tregs-remained depleted for up to a year [190]. While chemotherapy could play a role in conditioning before vaccination, most of the agents may also impede optimum lymphocyte responses, so to deplete Tregs in a more targeted manner, some vaccine trials have incorporated daclizumab, a humanized anti-CD25 antibody which depletes Tregs [191–193]. While the ultimate clinical effect in these early phase trials was negligible, the treatment effectively depleted Tregs in the circulation and could be considered for use in conjunction with other combinatorial immunotherapy-vaccine approaches.

Similar to tumor cells, TAMs and MDSCs express high levels of suppressive surface antigens including PD-L1 and through cytokines and direct modulation promote senescence of intratumoral T cells or skew the phenotype away from optimal cytotoxic effector functions; their presence and prevalence are unsurprisingly associated with a poor prognosis [194, 195]. While there is a paucity of antigen-specific surface markers on MDSCs and TAMs that would allow for targeting, Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) is expressed in MDSCs, and treatment of mouse and human MDSCs with the Tec-kinase inhibitor ibrutinib significantly impaired cell migration



Fig. 28.3 Modulating the stimulatory/inhibitory components of the tumor microenvironment. The interface between the T cell and APC (*right panel*), which in many ways mirrors the ligand-receptor interactions seen between the T cell and the tumor cell, offers a multitude of targetable costimulatory and inhibitory ligands.

Furthermore, tumor cells and recruited immunosuppressive cells such as Tregs, TAMs, and MDSCs promote immune evasion through release of cytokines skewing the effector response and through conversion of activating DAMPs such as ATP into inhibitory adenosine and production of immunosuppressive cytokines [196, 197]. Though developed to target BTK, ibrutinib acts on other Tec-family kinases such as the IL-2-inducible T-cell kinase (ITK), which can also skew T-cell maturation toward an effector phenotype, further countering the immunosuppressive microenvironment [198]. This blockade of immunosuppressive pathways was further shown in a recent preclinical study of CpG-based ISV with adjuvant ibrutinib that demonstrated enhanced antitumor response [199]. Ibrutinib is now being used in combination with a variety of immunomodulatory compounds including checkpoint-blocking antibodies, with promising clinical responses.

There are also promising clinical and preclinical studies of other immunomodulatory compounds such as lenalidomide that suggest a possible adjuvant role in vaccine protocols. One preclinical trial looking at direct immunosuppressive activity of cancer cells found that tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) developed impaired immune synapse formation with lymphoma cells upon incubation with malignant cells, blocking cytotoxic activity of the T cells, and that this defect in synapse formation was reversed after treatment with lenalidomide [200]. Recent studies of lenalidomide combined with rituximab in the treatment of lymphoma found increased ADCC-mediated killing by NK cells [201], and trials in multiple myeloma demonstrated improved efficacy of PD-1 blockade when given concomitantly with lenalidomide [202]. Clinical trials using lenalidomide with a variety of immunotherapies within and outside the hematological compartment are ongoing.

Conclusion

The field of cancer immunotherapy is rapidly evolving, with many new checkpoint-blocking and agonistic antibodies in the clinical trial pipeline. While these offer great promise, we know from studies of CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade that inflamed tumors are most responsive to immune-mediated therapies. As such, local immunotherapies, such as ISV approaches that focus on homing APCs to a tumor, and stimulating immunogenic cell death and inflammatory pathways alongside checkpoint agonist/ antagonist mAbs, tyrosine kinase inhibitors, or other immunomodulatory drugs will likely yield the rational combination therapies that allow us to achieve better clinical response rates and more durable immune memory.

References

- Busch W. Aus der Sitzung der medicinischen section vom 13 November 1867. Berl Klin Wochenschr. 1868;5:b99.
- Coley WB. The treatment of malignant tumours by repeated inoculations of erysipelas with a report of ten original cases. Am J Med Sci. 1893;105:487.
- Otto F, et al. Phase II trial of intravenous endotoxin in patients with colorectal and non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Cancer. 1996;32A:1712–8.
- Goto S, et al. Intradermal administration of lipopolysaccharide in treatment of human cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1996;42:255–61.
- Engelhardt R, Mackensen A, Galanos C. Phase I trial of intravenously administered endotoxin (Salmonella abortus equi) in cancer patients. Cancer Res. 1991;51:2524–30.
- Ansell SM, et al. Phase I study of ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody, in patients with relapsed and refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6446–53. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1339.
- Ansell SM, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:311–9. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1411087.
- Armand P, et al. Programmed death-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in patients with classical hodgkin lymphoma after brentuximab vedotin failure. J Clin Oncol. 2016; doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.67.3467.
- Zinzani PL, et al. Phase 1b study of PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in patients with relapsed/refractory primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma (PMBCL). Blood. 2015;126:3986.
- Spranger S, et al. Density of immunogenic antigens does not explain the presence or absence of the T-cell– inflamed tumor microenvironment in melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2016;113:E7759–68. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1609376113.
- Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:328rv324. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7118.
- Hellmann MD, Gettinger SN, Goldman JW, Brahmer JR, Borghaei H, Chow LQ, Ready N, Gerber DE, Juergens RA, Shepherd FA, Laurie SA, Zhou Y, Geese WJ, Agrawal S, Li X, Antonia SJ. CheckMate 012: safety and efficacy of first-line (1L) nivolumab (nivo; N) and ipilimumab (ipi; I) in advanced (adv) NSCLC. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15):3001.

- 13. Sharma, P. in Society for the Immunotherapy of Cancer.
- Wolchok JD, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369: 122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369.
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72. doi:10.1146/annurevimmunol-032712-100008.
- Mole RH. Whole body irradiation; radiobiology or medicine? Br J Radiol. 1953;26:234–41. doi:10.1259/0007-1285-26-305-234.
- Apetoh L, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13:1050–9. doi:10.1038/nm1622.
- Ghiringhelli F, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1betadependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15:1170–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2028.
- Obeid M, et al. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of gamma-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 2007;14:1848–50. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402201.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature. 2002;418:191–5. doi:10.1038/ nature00858.
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Decoding cell death signals in inflammation and immunity. Cell. 2010;140:798–804. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.015.
- Deng L, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferondependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41:843–52. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.10.019.
- Matsumura S, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:3099–107.
- Lugade AA, et al. Radiation-induced IFN-gamma production within the tumor microenvironment influences antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2008;180: 3132–9.
- Cekic C, Linden J. Adenosine A2A receptors intrinsically regulate CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Res. 2014;74:7239–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3581.
- Barcellos-Hoff MH, Derynck R, Tsang ML, Weatherbee JA. Transforming growth factor-beta activation in irradiated murine mammary gland. J Clin Invest. 1994;93:892–9. doi:10.1172/JCI117045.
- Vanpouille-Box C, et al. TGFbeta is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2232–42. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3511.
- Deng L, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:687–95. doi:10.1172/ JCI67313.
- 29. Dovedi SJ, et al. Acquired resistance to fractionated radiotherapy can be overcome by concurrent

PD-L1 blockade. Cancer Res. 2014;74:5458–68. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1258.

- Demaria S, et al. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:728–34.
- 31. Kwon ED, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:700–12. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70189-5.
- Kang J, Demaria S, Formenti S. Current clinical trials testing the combination of immunotherapy with radiotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:51. doi:10.1186/s40425-016-0156-7.
- 33. Dewan MZ, et al. Fractionated but not singledose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5379–88. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-0265.
- Kepp O, et al. Molecular determinants of immunogenic cell death elicited by anticancer chemotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30:61–9. doi:10.1007/ s10555-011-9273-4.
- 35. Ghiringhelli F, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive to cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34:336–44. doi:10.1002/eji.200324181.
- Turtle CJ, et al. CD19 CAR-T cells of defined CD4+:CD8+ composition in adult B cell all patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:2123–38. doi:10.1172/ JCI85309.
- 37. Dranoff G, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:3539–43.
- Huleihel M, Douvdevani A, Segal S, Apte RN. Different regulatory levels are involved in the generation of hemopoietic cytokines (CSFs and IL-6) in fibroblasts stimulated by inflammatory products. Cytokine. 1993;5:47–56.
- Griffin JD, et al. The biology of GM-CSF: regulation of production and interaction with its receptor. Int J Cell Cloning. 1990;8(Suppl 1):35–44; discussion 44-35. doi:10.1002/stem.5530080705.
- Becher B, Tugues S, Greter M. GM-CSF: from growth factor to central mediator of tissue inflammation. Immunity. 2016;45:963–73. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2016.10.026.
- Mach N, et al. Differences in dendritic cells stimulated in vivo by tumors engineered to secrete granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor or Flt3-ligand. Cancer Res. 2000;60:3239–46.
- 42. Spitler LE, et al. Adjuvant therapy of stage III and IV malignant melanoma using granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:1614–21. doi:10.1200/jco.2000.18.8.1614.

- 43. Soiffer R, et al. Vaccination with irradiated autologous melanoma cells engineered to secrete human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor generates potent antitumor immunity in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:13141–6.
- 44. Salgia R, et al. Vaccination with irradiated autologous tumor cells engineered to secrete granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor augments antitumor immunity in some patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:624–30. doi:10.1200/JCO.2003.03.091.
- 45. Simons JW, et al. Induction of immunity to prostate cancer antigens: results of a clinical trial of vaccination with irradiated autologous prostate tumor cells engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor using ex vivo gene transfer. Cancer Res. 1999;59:5160–8.
- 46. Soiffer R, et al. Vaccination with irradiated, autologous melanoma cells engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by adenoviral-mediated gene transfer augments antitumor immunity in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3343–50. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2003.07.005.
- Kolstad A, et al. Sequential intranodal immunotherapy induces antitumor immunity and correlated regression of disseminated follicular lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125:82–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-07-592162.
- Gutschalk CM, et al. GM-CSF enhances tumor invasion by elevated MMP-2, -9, and -26 expression. Cancer Med. 2013;2:117–29. doi:10.1002/cam4.20.
- Baldwin GC, et al. Nonhematopoietic tumor cells express functional GM-CSF receptors. Blood. 1989; 73:1033–7.
- Braun B, Lange M, Oeckler R, Mueller MM. Expression of G-CSF and GM-CSF in human meningiomas correlates with increased tumor proliferation and vascularization. J Neuro-Oncol. 2004;68:131–40.
- Mueller MM, Fusenig NE. Constitutive expression of G-CSF and GM-CSF in human skin carcinoma cells with functional consequence for tumor progression. Int J Cancer. 1999;83:780–9.
- 52. Mueller MM, et al. Tumor progression of skin carcinoma cells in vivo promoted by clonal selection, mutagenesis, and autocrine growth regulation by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Am J Pathol. 2001;159:1567–79. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62541-2.
- Perez FA, Fligner CL, Yu EY. Rapid clinical deterioration and leukemoid reaction after treatment of urothelial carcinoma of the bladder: possible effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:e215–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.22.4931.
- Revoltella RP, Menicagli M, Campani D. Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor as an autocrine survival-growth factor in human gliomas. Cytokine. 2012;57:347–59. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2011.11.016.
- 55. Urdinguio RG, et al. Immune-dependent and independent antitumor activity of GM-CSF aberrantly expressed by mouse and human colorectal tumors.

Cancer Res. 2013;73:395–405. doi:10.1158/0008-1078 5472.CAN-12-0806.

- Ardekani TFM, et al. Evaluation of pre-treatment serum levels of IL-7 and GM-CSF in colorectal cancer patients. Int J Mol Cell Med. 2014;3:27–34.
- 57. Montag M, et al. Angiogenic growth factors in tissue homogenates of HNSCC: expression pattern, prognostic relevance, and interrelationships. Cancer Sci. 2009;100:1210–8. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01158.x.
- Ninck S, et al. Expression profiles of angiogenic growth factors in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. Int J Cancer. 2003;106:34–44. doi:10.1002/ijc.11188.
- Wetzler M, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor as a cause of paraneoplastic leukaemoid reaction in advanced transitional cell carcinoma. J Intern Med. 1993;234:417–20.
- Levina V, Marrangoni AM, DeMarco R, Gorelik E, Lokshin AE. Drug-selected human lung cancer stem cells: cytokine network, tumorigenic and metastatic properties. PLoS One. 2008;3:e3077. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0003077.
- Wang J, et al. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor promotes proliferation, migration and invasion in glioma cells. Cancer Biol Ther. 2012;13:389–400. doi:10.4161/cbt.19237.
- Lyman SD, Jacobsen SE. C-kit ligand and Flt3 ligand: stem/progenitor cell factors with overlapping yet distinct activities. Blood. 1998;91:1101–34.
- Blom B, Ho S, Antonenko S, Liu YJ. Generation of interferon alpha-producing predendritic cell (pre-DC)2 from human CD34(+) hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1785–96.
- 64. Chen W, et al. FLT3 ligand administration after hematopoietic cell transplantation increases circulating dendritic cell precursors that can be activated by CpG oligodeoxynucleotides to enhance T-cell and natural killer cell function. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2005;11:23–34. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2004.08.004.
- 65. Gilliet M, et al. The development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors is differentially regulated by FLT3-ligand and granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor. J Exp Med. 2002;195:953–8.
- 66. Miller JS, McCullar V, Punzel M, Lemischka IR, Moore KA. Single adult human CD34(+)/Lin-/ CD38(-) progenitors give rise to natural killer cells, B-lineage cells, dendritic cells, and myeloid cells. Blood. 1999;93:96–106.
- Breton G, et al. Human dendritic cells (DCs) are derived from distinct circulating precursors that are precommitted to become CD1c+ or CD141+ DCs. J Exp Med. 2016;213(13):2861–70. doi:10.1084/ jem.20161135.
- Broz ML, et al. Dissecting the tumor myeloid compartment reveals rare activating antigen-presenting cells critical for T cell immunity. Cancer Cell. 2014;26:638–52. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.007.
- 69. Salmon H, et al. Expansion and activation of CD103+ DC progenitors at the tumor site promote T cell accumulation in melanoma lesions and transform clinical

response to BRAF and PD-L1 blockade. Immunity. 2015, (in press).

- 70. Brasel K, et al. Hematologic effects of flt3 ligand in vivo in mice. Blood. 1996;88:2004–12.
- 71. Fernandez N, et al. Active specific T-cell-based immunotherapy for cancer: nucleic acids, peptides, whole native proteins, recombinant viruses, with dendritic cell adjuvants or whole tumor cell-based vaccines. Principles and future prospects. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther. 1998;4:53–65.
- Kutzler MA, Weiner DB. Developing DNA vaccines that call to dendritic cells. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:1241–4. doi:10.1172/JCI23467.
- Miller G, Pillarisetty VG, Shah AB, Lahrs S, DeMatteo RP. Murine Flt3 ligand expands distinct dendritic cells with both tolerogenic and immunogenic properties. J Immunol. 2003;170:3554–64.
- Averbook BJ, Schuh JL, Papay R, Maliszewski C. Antitumor effects of Flt3 ligand in transplanted murine tumor models. J Immunother. 2002;25:27–35.
- Chen K, et al. Antitumor activity and immunotherapeutic properties of Flt3-ligand in a murine breast cancer model. Cancer Res. 1997;57:3511–6.
- Ciavarra RP, et al. Flt3-ligand induces transient tumor regression in an ectopic treatment model of major histocompatibility complex-negative prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2000;60:2081–4.
- Drexler HG, Meyer C, Quentmeier H. Effects of FLT3 ligand on proliferation and survival of myeloid leukemia cells. Leuk Lymphoma. 1999;33:83–91. doi:10.3109/10428199909093728.
- Esche C, Subbotin VM, Maliszewski C, Lotze MT, Shurin MR. FLT3 ligand administration inhibits tumor growth in murine melanoma and lymphoma. Cancer Res. 1998;58:380–3.
- Hou S, et al. Eradication of hepatoma and colon cancer in mice with Flt3L gene therapy in combination with 5-FU. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:1605–13. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0306-3.
- Peron JM, et al. FLT3-ligand administration inhibits liver metastases: role of NK cells. J Immunol. 1998;161:6164–70.
- Wang A, Braun SE, Sonpavde G, Cornetta K. Antileukemic activity of Flt3 ligand in murine leukemia. Cancer Res. 2000;60:1895–900.
- Chakravarty PK, et al. Flt3-ligand administration after radiation therapy prolongs survival in a murine model of metastatic lung cancer. Cancer Res. 1999;59:6028–32.
- Demaria S, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;58:862–70. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2003.09.012.
- 84. Fong L, et al. Altered peptide ligand vaccination with Flt3 ligand expanded dendritic cells for tumor immunotherapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:8809– 14. doi:10.1073/pnas.141226398.
- 85. Freedman RS, et al. Pilot study of Flt3 ligand comparing intraperitoneal with subcutaneous routes on hematologic and immunologic responses in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis and mesotheliomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9:5228–37.

- Higano CS, et al. Safety and biological activity of repeated doses of recombinant human Flt3 ligand in patients with bone scan-negative hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10: 1219–25.
- Brubaker SW, Bonham KS, Zanoni I, Kagan JC. Innate immune pattern recognition: a cell biological perspective. Annu Rev Immunol. 2015;33:257–90. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112240.
- 88. Syed TA, Goswami J, Ahmadpour OA, Ahmad SA. Treatment of molluscum contagiosum in males with an analog of imiquimod 1% in cream: a placebo-controlled, double-blind study. J Dermatol. 1998;25:309–13.
- Grillo-Ardila CF, et al. Imiquimod for anogenital warts in non-immunocompromised adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;11:CD010389. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010389.pub2.
- 90. Geisse J, et al. Imiquimod 5% cream for the treatment of superficial basal cell carcinoma: results from two phase III, randomized, vehicle-controlled studies. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2004;50:722–33. doi:10.1016/j. jaad.2003.11.066.
- 91. Dewan MZ, et al. Synergy of topical toll-like receptor 7 agonist with radiation and low-dose cyclophosphamide in a mouse model of cutaneous breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:6668–78. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0984.
- 92. Adams S, et al. Topical TLR7 agonist imiquimod can induce immune-mediated rejection of skin metastases in patients with breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:6748–57. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-1149.
- Henriques L, et al. Imiquimod in the treatment of breast cancer skin metastasis. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:e22–5. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.46.4883.
- Smyth EC, et al. Treatment of locally recurrent mucosal melanoma with topical imiquimod. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:e809–11. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.8829.
- 95. Calista D, Riccioni L, Bagli L, Valenzano F. Longterm remission of primary cutaneous neutrophilrich CD30+ anaplastic large cell lymphoma treated with topical imiquimod. A case report. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2015;30(5):899–901. doi:10.1111/jdv.13070.
- 96. Didona B, et al. Primary cutaneous CD30+ T-cell lymphoma responsive to topical imiquimod (Aldara). Br J Dermatol. 2004;150:1198–201. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2133.2004.05993.x.
- Ehst BD, Dreno B, Vonderheid EC. Primary cutaneous CD30+ anaplastic large cell lymphoma responds to imiquimod cream. Eur J Dermatol. 2008;18:467–8. doi:10.1684/ejd.2008.0450.
- Ariffin N, Khorshid M. Treatment of mycosis fungoides with imiquimod 5% cream. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2006;31:822–3. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2230. 2006.02208.x.
- Dummer R, Urosevic M, Kempf W, Kazakov D, Burg G. Imiquimod induces complete clearance of a PUVAresistant plaque in mycosis fungoides. Dermatology. 2003;207:116–118. doi:70962 70962 [pii].

- 100. Suchin KR, Junkins-Hopkins JM, Rook AH. Treatment of stage IA cutaneous T-cell lymphoma with topical application of the immune response modifier imiquimod. Arch Dermatol. 2002;138:1137–1139. doi:dce20018.
- 101. Chong A, Loo WJ, Banney L, Grant JW, Norris PG. Imiquimod 5% cream in the treatment of mycosis fungoides—a pilot study. J Dermatolog Treat. 2004;15:118–9. doi:10.1080/09546630310019373. 59HC05A57N4CA00X [pii].
- 102. Deeths MJ, Chapman JT, Dellavalle RP, Zeng C, Aeling JL. Treatment of patch and plaque stage mycosis fungoides with imiquimod 5% cream. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2005;52:275–80. doi:10.1016/j. jaad.2004.04.049.
- Ardigo M, Cota C, Berardesca E. Unilesional mycosis fungoides successfully treated with imiquimod. Eur J Dermatol. 2006;16:446.
- 104. Richmond HM, Lozano A, Jones D, Duvic M. Primary cutaneous follicle center lymphoma associated with alopecia areata. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2008;8:121–4. doi:10.3816/ CLM.2008.n.015.
- 105. Stavrakoglou A, Brown VL, Coutts I. Successful treatment of primary cutaneous follicle centre lymphoma with topical 5% imiquimod. Br J Dermatol. 2007;157:620–2. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2007. 07976.x.
- 106. Coors EA, Schuler G, Von Den Driesch P. Topical imiquimod as treatment for different kinds of cutaneous lymphoma. Eur J Dermatol. 2006;16:391–3.
- 107. Spaner DE, et al. Regression of lymphomatous skin deposits in a chronic lymphocytic leukemia patient treated with the toll-like receptor-7/8 agonist, imiquimod. Leuk Lymphoma. 2005;46:935–9. doi:10.1080/10428190500054426.
- 108. Shackleton M, et al. The impact of imiquimod, a toll-like receptor-7 ligand (TLR7L), on the immunogenicity of melanoma peptide vaccination with adjuvant Flt3 ligand. Cancer Immun. 2004;4:9.
- 109. Sidky YA, et al. Inhibition of murine tumor growth by an interferon-inducing imidazoquinolinamine. Cancer Res. 1992;52:3528–33.
- 110. Dovedi SJ, et al. Systemic delivery of a TLR7 agonist in combination with radiation primes durable antitumor immune responses in mouse models of lymphoma. Blood. 2013;121:251–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2012-05-432393.
- 111. Singh M, et al. Effective innate and adaptive antimelanoma immunity through localized TLR7/8 activation. J Immunol. 2014;193:4722–31. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1401160.
- 112. Mullins S, et al. Abstract 1475: local immune activation resulting in tumor growth inhibition with MEDI9197 - an intratumorally administered TLR7/8 agonist. Cancer Res. 2016;76:1475. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.am2016-1475.
- 113. Gresser I, Belardelli F, Maury C, Maunoury MT, Tovey MG. Injection of mice with antibody to inter-

feron enhances the growth of transplantable murine tumors. J Exp Med. 1983;158:2095–107.

- 114. Affabris E, et al. Molecular mechanisms of action of interferons in the friend virus-induced leukemia cell system. Haematologica. 1987;72:76–8.
- 115. Diamond MS, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1989–2003. doi:10.1084/jem.20101158.
- 116. Robbins SH, et al. Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. Genome Biol. 2008;9:R17. doi:10.1186/ gb-2008-9-1-r17.
- 117. Zhang X, et al. Cyclic GMP-AMP containing mixed phosphodiester linkages is an endogenous high-affinity ligand for STING. Mol Cell. 2013;51:226–35. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2013.05.022.
- 118. Liu S, et al. Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation. Science. 2015;347:aaa2630. doi:10.1126/ science.aaa2630.
- 119. Gao P, et al. Structure-function analysis of STING activation by c[G(2',5')pA(3',5')p] and targeting by antiviral DMXAA. Cell. 2013;154:748–62. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.023.
- 120. Kim S, et al. Anticancer flavonoids are mouseselective STING agonists. ACS Chem Biol. 2013;8:1396–401. doi:10.1021/cb400264n.
- 121. Lara PN Jr, et al. Randomized phase III placebocontrolled trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without the vascular disrupting agent vadimezan (ASA404) in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2965–71. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2011.35.0660.
- 122. Corrales L, et al. Direct activation of STING in the tumor microenvironment leads to potent and systemic tumor regression and immunity. Cell Rep. 2015;11:1018–30. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015. 04.031.
- 123. Xia T, Konno H, Barber GN. Recurrent loss of STING signaling in melanoma correlates with susceptibility to viral oncolysis. Cancer Res. 2016;76(22):6747– 59. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1404.
- 124. Parato KA, et al. The oncolytic poxvirus JX-594 selectively replicates in and destroys cancer cells driven by genetic pathways commonly activated in cancers. Mol Ther. 2012;20:749–58. doi:10.1038/ mt.2011.276.
- 125. Tayeb S, Zakay-Rones Z, Panet A. Therapeutic potential of oncolytic Newcastle disease virus: a critical review. Oncolytic Virother. 2015;4:49–62. doi:10.2147/OV.S78600.
- 126. Kim JH, et al. Systemic armed oncolytic and immunologic therapy for cancer with JX-594, a targeted poxvirus expressing GM-CSF. Mol Ther. 2006;14:361–70. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.05.008.
- 127. Breitbach CJ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multimechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in

humans. Nature. 2011;477:99–102. doi:10.1038/ nature10358.

- Breitbach CJ, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumor-associated vasculature in humans. Cancer Res. 2013;73:1265–75. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-2687.
- 129. Heo J, et al. Randomized dose-finding clinical trial of oncolytic immunotherapeutic vaccinia JX-594 in liver cancer. Nat Med. 2013;19:329–36. doi:10.1038/ nm.3089.
- 130. Park BH, et al. Use of a targeted oncolytic poxvirus, JX-594, in patients with refractory primary or metastatic liver cancer: a phase I trial. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9:533–42. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(08)70107-4.
- 131. Hwang TH, et al. A mechanistic proof-of-concept clinical trial with JX-594, a targeted multimechanistic oncolytic poxvirus, in patients with metastatic melanoma. Mol Ther. 2011;19:1913–22. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.132.
- 132. Breitbach CJ, Moon A, Burke J, Hwang TH, Kirn DH. A phase 2, open-label, randomized study of Pexa-Vec (JX-594) administered by intratumoral injection in patients with unresectable primary hepatocellular carcinoma. Methods Mol Biol. 2015;1317:343–357. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2727-2_19.
- 133. Cripe TP, et al. Phase 1 study of intratumoral Pexa-Vec (JX-594), an oncolytic and immunotherapeutic vaccinia virus, in pediatric cancer patients. Mol Ther. 2015;23:602–8. doi:10.1038/mt.2014.243.
- 134. Liu BL, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. Gene Ther. 2003;10:292– 303. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3301885.
- 135. Harrington KJ, et al. Phase I/II study of oncolytic HSV GM-CSF in combination with radiotherapy and cisplatin in untreated stage III/IV squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:4005– 15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0196.
- 136. Hu JC, et al. A phase I study of OncoVEXGM-CSF, a second-generation oncolytic herpes simplex virus expressing granulocyte macrophage colonystimulating factor. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6737– 47. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0759.
- 137. Senzer NN, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factorencoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:5763–71. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2009.24.3675.
- 138. Kaufman HL, et al. Local and distant immunity induced by intralesional vaccination with an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF in patients with stage IIIc and IV melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:718–30. doi:10.1245/s10434-009-0809-6.
- 139. Andtbacka RH, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(25): 2780–8. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.58.3377.

- 140. Bourke E, Bosisio D, Golay J, Polentarutti N, Mantovani A. The toll-like receptor repertoire of human B lymphocytes: inducible and selective expression of TLR9 and TLR10 in normal and transformed cells. Blood. 2003;102:956–63. doi:10.1182/ blood-2002-11-3355.
- 141. Jahrsdörfer B, et al. CpG DNA increases primary malignant B cell expression of costimulatory molecules and target antigens. J Leukoc Biol. 2001;69:81–8.
- 142. Li J, et al. Lymphoma immunotherapy with CpG oligodeoxynucleotides requires TLR9 either in the host or in the tumor itself. J Immunol. 2007;179:2493–500.
- 143. Brody JD, et al. In situ vaccination with a TLR9 agonist induces systemic lymphoma regression: a phase I/II study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4324–32. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.9793.
- 144. Kim YH, et al. In situ vaccination against mycosis fungoides by intratumoral injection of a TLR9 agonist combined with radiation: a phase 1/2 study. Blood. 2012;119:355–63. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-355222.
- 145. Kohrt HE, et al. Dose-escalated, intratumoral TLR9 agonist and low-dose radiation induce abscopal effects in follicular lymphoma. Blood. 2014;124(21):3092.
- 146. Grauer OM, et al. TLR ligands in the local treatment of established intracerebral murine gliomas. J Immunol. 2008;181:6720–9.
- 147. Stone GW, et al. Regression of established AB1 murine mesothelioma induced by peritumoral injections of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide either alone or in combination with poly(I:C) and CD40 ligand plasmid DNA. J Thorac Oncol. 2009;4:802–8.
- 148. Sharma S, Dominguez AL, Hoelzinger DB, Lustgarten J. CpG-ODN but not other TLR-ligands restore the antitumor responses in old mice: the implications for vaccinations in the aged. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57:549–61.
- 149. Furumoto K, Soares L, Engleman EG, Merad M. Induction of potent antitumor immunity by in situ targeting of intratumoral DCs. J Clin Invest. 2004;113:774–83.
- 150. Carpentier A, et al. Intracerebral administration of CpG oligonucleotide for patients with recurrent glioblastoma: a phase II study. Neuro-Oncology. 2010;12:401–8. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nop047.
- 151. Hemont C, Neel A, Heslan M, Braudeau C, Josien R. Human blood mDC subsets exhibit distinct TLR repertoire and responsiveness. J Leukoc Biol. 2013;93:599–609. doi:10.1189/jlb.0912452.
- 152. Salem ML, Kadima AN, Cole DJ, Gillanders WE. Defining the antigen-specific T-cell response to vaccination and poly(I:C)/TLR3 signaling: evidence of enhanced primary and memory CD8 T-cell responses and antitumor immunity. J Immunother. 2005;28:220–8.
- 153. Salem ML, El-Naggar SA, Kadima A, Gillanders WE, Cole DJ. The adjuvant effects of the toll-like

receptor 3 ligand polyinosinic-cytidylic acid poly (I:C) on antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses are partially dependent on NK cells with the induction of a beneficial cytokine milieu. Vaccine. 2006;24:5119–32. doi:10.3201/eid1204.050599.

- 154. Levy H, S. A. ed Copenhaver D, Baron S, Dianzaniet F (eds) Galveston, U. Texas Medical Branch, (1992).
- 155. Levy H, Salazar A. Interferon inducers. In: Baron S, Copenhaver D, Dianzaniet F, editors. Interferon: principles and medical applications. Galveston, TX: University of Texas Medical Branch; 1992.
- 156. Levy HB, et al. Immune modulating effects of poly ICLC. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1980;350:33–41.
- 157. Talmadge JE, Hartmann D. Optimization of an immunotherapeutic protocol with poly(I,C)-LC. J Biol Response Mod. 1985;4:484–9.
- Reikine S, Nguyen JB, Modis Y. Pattern recognition and signaling mechanisms of RIG-I and MDA5. Front Immunol. 2014;5:342. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00342.
- 159. Kurosawa S, et al. Expression of the costimulatory molecule B7-H2 (inducible costimulator ligand) by human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2003;28:563–73. doi:10.1165/ rcmb.2002-0199OC.
- 160. Black PL, et al. Effect of tumor burden and route of administration on the immunotherapeutic properties of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized with poly-L-lysine in carboxymethyl cellulose [poly(I,C)-LC]. Int J Immunopharmacol. 1992;14:1341–53.
- Machida H, et al. Interferon induction and therapy of brain tumors in rats by poly(ICLC). Microbiol Immunol. 1982;26:353–8.
- 162. Talmadge JE, et al. Immunotherapeutic potential in murine tumor models of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid and poly-L-lysine solubilized by carboxymethylcellulose. Cancer Res. 1985;45:1066–72.
- 163. Zhu X, et al. Toll like receptor-3 ligand poly-ICLC promotes the efficacy of peripheral vaccinations with tumor antigen-derived peptide epitopes in murine CNS tumor models. J Transl Med. 2007;5:10. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-5-10.
- 164. Zhu X, et al. Poly-ICLC promotes the infiltration of effector T cells into intracranial gliomas via induction of CXCL10 in IFN-alpha and IFN-gamma dependent manners. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59:1401–9. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0876-3.
- 165. Rosenfeld MR, et al. A multi-institution phase II study of poly-ICLC and radiotherapy with concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide in adults with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2010;12:1071–7. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq071.
- 166. Wu CY, Monie A, Pang X, Hung CF, Wu TC. Improving therapeutic HPV peptide-based vaccine potency by enhancing CD4+ T help and dendritic cell activation. J Biomed Sci. 2010;17:88. doi:10.1186/1423-0127-17-88.
- 167. Hammerich L, Davis TA, Keler T, Salazar AM, Brody J. Combining *In Situ* vaccination with immune

checkpoint blockade induces long-term regression of lymphoma tumors. Blood. 2016;128:465.

- Bever CT Jr, et al. Preliminary trial of poly ICLC in chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 1986;36:494–8.
- 169. Butowski N, et al. A phase II clinical trial of poly-ICLC with radiation for adult patients with newly diagnosed supratentorial glioblastoma: a north American brain tumor consortium (NABTC01-05). J Neuro-Oncol. 2009;91:175–82. doi:10.1007/ s11060-008-9693-3.
- 170. Butowski N, et al. A north American brain tumor consortium phase II study of poly-ICLC for adult patients with recurrent anaplastic gliomas. J Neuro-Oncol. 2009;91:183–9. doi:10.1007/ s11060-008-9705-3.
- 171. Hartman LL, et al. Pediatric phase II trials of poly-ICLC in the management of newly diagnosed and recurrent brain tumors. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2014;36:451–7. doi:10.1097/ MPH.000000000000047.
- 172. Okada H, et al. Induction of robust type-I CD8+ T-cell responses in WHO grade 2 low-grade glioma patients receiving peptide-based vaccines in combination with poly-ICLC. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:286–94. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-14-1790.
- 173. Rapoport AP, et al. Combination immunotherapy after ASCT for multiple myeloma using MAGE-A3/ poly-ICLC immunizations followed by adoptive transfer of vaccine-primed and costimulated autologous T cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:1355–65. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2817.
- 174. Sabbatini P, et al. Phase I trial of overlapping long peptides from a tumor self-antigen and poly-ICLC shows rapid induction of integrated immune response in ovarian cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:6497–508. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-2189.
- 175. Salazar AM, Erlich RB, Mark A, Bhardwaj N, Herberman RB. Therapeutic in situ autovaccination against solid cancers with intratumoral poly-ICLC: case report, hypothesis, and clinical trial. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:720–4. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0024.
- 176. Tsuji T, et al. Effect of montanide and poly-ICLC adjuvant on human self/tumor antigen-specific CD4+ T cells in phase I overlapping long peptide vaccine trial. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:340–50. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0089.
- 177. De La Torre N, et al. Use of low-dose cyclophosphaminde followed by low-dose tumoral radiation, intratumoral poly-ICLC combined with local-regional therapy, followed by systemic immune boosting with intramuscular poly-ICLC in patients with cancers of the liver. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(3):327.
- 178. Giantonio BJ, et al. Toxicity and response evaluation of the interferon inducer poly ICLC administered at low dose in advanced renal carcinoma and relapsed

or refractory lymphoma: a report of two clinical trials of the eastern cooperative Oncology group. Investig New Drugs. 2001;19:89–92.

- 179. Okada H, et al. Induction of CD8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with {alpha}type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:330–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7744.
- 180. Dhodapkar MV, et al. Induction of antigen-specific immunity with a vaccine targeting NY-ESO-1 to the dendritic cell receptor DEC-205. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:232ra251. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3008068.
- 181. Bhardwaj N, et al. Converting tumors into vaccine manufacturing factories: DC recruitment, activation and clinical responses with a flt3L-primed in situ vaccine for low-grade lymphoma [nct01976585]. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2(Suppl 3):45. doi: 10.1186/2051-1426-2-S3-P45.
- Marron T, et al. Turning a tumor into a vaccine factory: in situ vaccination for low-grade lymphoma. Blood. 2014;124:5473.
- 183. Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. CD70+ non-Hodgkin lymphoma B cells induce Foxp3 expression and regulatory function in intratumoral CD4+CD25 T cells. Blood. 2007;110:2537– 44. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-082578.
- 184. Ai WZ, et al. Follicular lymphoma B cells induce the conversion of conventional CD4+ T cells to T-regulatory cells. Int J Cancer. 2009;124:239–44. doi:10.1002/ijc.23881.
- 185. Tiemessen MM, et al. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce alternative activation of human monocytes/macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:19446–51. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0706832104.
- 186. Lin Y, et al. Immunosuppressive CD14+HLA-DR(low)/– monocytes in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2011;117:872–81. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-05-283820.
- 187. Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. Attenuation of CD8(+) T-cell function by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cancer Res. 2006;66: 10145–52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1822.
- 188. Rawal S, et al. Cross talk between follicular Th cells and tumor cells in human follicular lymphoma promotes immune evasion in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol. 2013;190:6681–93. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1201363.
- 189. Michaud M, et al. Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. Science. 2011;334:1573–7. doi:10.1126/science.1208347.
- 190. Cox MC, et al. Phenotypically and functionally altered T cell compartment in DLBCL patients at

diagnosis and its long-term modification upon chemoimmunotherapy regimen. Blood. 2015;126:1529.

- 191. Rech AJ, et al. CD25 blockade depletes and selectively reprograms regulatory T cells in concert with immunotherapy in cancer patients. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:134ra162. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3003330.
- 192. Jacobs JF, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in combination with anti-CD25 monoclonal antibody treatment: a phase I/II study in metastatic melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:5067–78. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1757.
- 193. Sampson JH, et al. A pilot study of IL-2Ralpha blockade during lymphopenia depletes regulatory T-cells and correlates with enhanced immunity in patients with glioblastoma. PLoS One. 2012;7:e31046. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031046.
- 194. Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937.
- 195. Farinha P, et al. Analysis of multiple biomarkers shows that lymphoma-associated macrophage (LAM) content is an independent predictor of survival in follicular lymphoma (FL). Blood. 2005;106:2169–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-04-1565.
- 196. Stiff A, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells express Bruton's tyrosine kinase and can be depleted in tumor bearing hosts by ibrutinib treatment. Cancer Res. 2016;76(8):2125–36. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-15-1490.
- 197. Gunderson AJ, et al. Bruton tyrosine kinasedependent immune cell cross-talk drives pancreas cancer. Cancer Discov. 2016;6:270–85. doi:10.1158/ 2159-8290.CD-15-0827.
- 198. Dubovsky JA, et al. Ibrutinib is an irreversible molecular inhibitor of ITK driving a Th1-selective pressure in T lymphocytes. Blood. 2013;122: 2539–49. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-06-507947.
- 199. Sagiv-Barfi I, Kohrt HE, Burckhardt L, Czerwinski DK, Levy R. Ibrutinib enhances the antitumor immune response induced by intratumoral injection of a TLR9 ligand in mouse lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125:2079–86. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-08-593137.
- 200. Ramsay AG, et al. Follicular lymphoma cells induce T-cell immunologic synapse dysfunction that can be repaired with lenalidomide: implications for the tumor microenvironment and immunotherapy. Blood. 2009;114:4713–20. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-04-217687.
- 201. Lockmer S, et al. Sequential immune cell modulation in nordic follicular lymphoma patients in the SAKK 35/10 randomized trial with rituximab and lenalidomide. Blood. 2015;126:1535.
- 202. Gorgun G, et al. Lenalidomide enhances immune checkpoint blockade-induced immune response in multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:4607– 18. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0200.

Strategies to Reduce Intratumoral Regulatory T Cells

C. Maherzi, F. Onodi, E. Tartour, M. Terme, and C. Tanchot

Contents

29.1	Introduction	484
29.1.1	Treg Characterization, in Mouse	
	and Human	484
29.1.2	Basic Treg Immunosuppressive	
	Activities	485
29.1.3	Prognostic Value of Treg Presence	
	in Peripheral Blood and Tumor	
	Microenvironment in Human Cancers	485
29.1.4	Treg Recruitment into Tumor	
	Microenvironment	485
29.1.5	Treg-Targeting Approaches in Cancer	
	Therapy	485
29.2	Treg Depletion by Low Dose	
	of Chemotherapy	486

C. Maherzi • M. Terme • C. Tanchot (⊠) INSERM U970, PARCC (Paris-Cardiovascular Research Center), 56 Rue Leblanc., Paris, France

Faculté de Médecine, Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France e-mail: corinne.tanchot@inserm.fr

F. Onodi

INSERM U970, PARCC (Paris-Cardiovascular Research Center), 56 Rue Leblanc., Paris, France

E. Tartour

INSERM U970, PARCC (Paris-Cardiovascular Research Center), 56 Rue Leblanc., Paris, France

Faculté de Médecine, Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

Service d'immunologie biologique, Hôpital Européen Georges Pompidou, AP-HP, Paris, France

29.3	IL-2 Receptor (IL-2R)-Induced Treg	407
29.3.1	Anti-CD25 Antibodies (e.g., Daclizumab and Basiliximab)	487
29.3.2	Denileukin Diftitox (ONTAK [®])	489
29.3.3	Anti-CD25 Immunotoxin Antibodies	490
29.3.4	Emerging New Anti-CD25 Antibody	
	Therapies	490
29.4	Blocking Treg Cell Trafficking into	
	Tumors	491
29.4.1	CCL22–CCR4 Pathway Blockade	491
29.4.2	CXCR4–CXCL12 Pathway Blockade	492
29.5	Anti-angiogenic Therapies Targeting Regulatory T Cells	493
29.6	Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy (Anti-CTLA-4 Antibodies)	494
29.7	Agonist Antibodies Affecting Treg	
	Immunosuppressive Activity	495
29.7.1	Agonist Anti-GITR Antibody	496
29.7.2	OX40/OX40L Agonist Agents	496
29.8	CD39–CD73–A2aR Pathway Blockade: An Emergent Therapy	409
	Targeung Tregs	498
Conclusion		500
References		

Abbreviations

A2aR	Adenosine 2a receptor	
A2bR	Adenosine 2b receptor	
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated	
	cytotoxicity	
ADCP	Antibody-dependent cellular	
	phagocytosis	
APC	Antigen-presenting cell	NK
---------------	-----------------------------------	--------------
ATLL	Adult T-cell	OS
	leukemia–lymphoma	OX40
BCG	Bacille Calmette–Guérin	OX40L
Bevacizumab	Anti-VEGF mAb	PD-1
CCR4	C-C motif chemokine receptor 4	PF-050825
CCL22	C-C motif chemokine ligand 22	Pembrolizu
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen	PTCL
CTCL	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	PTX
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte	RCC
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte	Rituximab
	antigen-4	SDF-1
CTX	Cyclophosphamide	Tconv
CXCL12	CXC chemokine ligand 12	Teff
CTL	Cytotoxic CD8 ⁺ T cell	TI
CDC	Complement-dependent	TIL
	cytotoxicity	
DC	Dendritic cell	TME
DD	Denileukin diftitox	TNF
DgA	Deglycosylated ricin A	Treg
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor	Tremelimu
	receptor	VEGF-A
eTreg	Effector Tregs	
FDA	Food and Drug Administration	
FDB	Fludarabine	
FcγR	Fcy receptor	29.1 In
FoxP3	Forkhead box P3	
GITR	Glucocorticoid-induced	29.1.1 T
	TNF-related protein	in
GITRL	GITR ligand	
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell	Regulatory
	carcinoma	subsets of
ICOS	Inducible costimulator	a critical
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase	homeostas
IL-2	Interleukin-2	capacities,
IL-2R	IL-2 receptor	responses t
LAG-3	Lymphocyte activation gene-3	fore enhan
mAb	Monoclonal antibody	Tregs a
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant	forkhead b
	protein-1	their devel
mCRPC	Metastatic castration-resistant	mouse Tre
	prostate cancer	human Tre
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cell	activated h
MEDI4736/		transiently
atezolizumab/		[4]. That is
durvalumab	Anti-PD-L1 mAbs	cation of
mRCC	Metastatic renal cell cancer	involves m
NIR	Near-infrared	in human

	Natural killer cell
	Overall survival
)	CD134
L	OX40 ligand
	Programmed death-1
082566	4-1BB agonist mAb
rolizumab	Anti- PD-1 mAb
	Peripheral T-cell lymphoma
	Paclitaxel
	Renal cell carcinoma
imab	Anti-CD20 mAb
1	Stromal cell-derived factor-1
7	Conventional T cells
	Effector T cell
	Tumor-infiltrating
	Tumor-infiltrating
	lymphocyte
	Tumor microenvironment
	Tumor necrosis factor
	Regulatory T cell
elimumab	Anti-CTLA-4 mAb
F-A	Vascular endothelial growth
	factor-A

29.1 Introduction

29.1.1 Treg Characterization, in Mouse and Human

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) include diverse subsets of immunosuppressive cells that play a critical role in self-tolerance and immune homeostasis. Due to their immunosuppressive capacities, Tregs are able to suppress antitumoral responses through several mechanisms and therefore enhance tumor escape and progression [1].

Tregs are characterized by the expression of forkhead box P3 (**FoxP3**), which is essential for their development and function [2, 3]. While mouse Tregs express constitutively FoxP3 [2], human Tregs do not necessarily do. Moreover, activated human conventional T cells (Tconv) transiently express intermediate levels of FoxP3 [4]. That is why the characterization and identification of human Tregs is more complex and involves more combined markers [5]. Currently, in human studies, Tregs are identified by flow cytometry as CD3⁺ CD4⁺ CD25^{high} CD127^{low} cells [5, 6].

Furthermore, in both mouse and human, Tregs are described to express high levels of inhibitory receptors (e.g., the cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (**CTLA-4**) [7, 8], the programmed death-1 (**PD-1**) [9], and the lymphocyte activation gene-3 (**LAG-3**) [10]), costimulatory receptors (e.g., the glucocorticoid-induced TNF-related protein (**GITR**) [11, 12] and **OX40**, also known as CD134 [13]), and other important surface markers such as the inducible costimulator (**ICOS**) [14] and the ectonucleotidases **CD39** [15] and **CD79** [16].

29.1.2 Basic Treg Immunosuppressive Activities

Treg immunosuppressive functions can be summarized as four well-known mechanisms:

- Release of cytokines known as immunosuppressive mediators such as IL-10 [17], TGFβ [18], and IL-35 [19]
- 2. Direct cytolytic activity through granzyme A, granzyme B, and perform secretion [20]
- Disruption of T-cell metabolism through their CD25 receptor, CD39 [21], and CD73 ectonucleotidases [16]
- Inhibition and modulation of dendritic cells (DC) through co-inhibitory receptors such as LAG-3 [10] or CTLA-4 [22, 23]

29.1.3 Prognostic Value of Treg Presence in Peripheral Blood and Tumor Microenvironment in Human Cancers

Tregs play a crucial role in the maintenance of self-tolerance, preventing autoimmunity and chronic inflammatory diseases in healthy individuals [24]. However, in cancer patients, the effect exerted by Tregs on tumor progression seems to vary according to the tumor type.

The presence of Tregs in peripheral blood and tumor sites has been extensively studied, and Tregs have been associated with a bad prognosis in many human cancer types including pancreatic [25], liver [26], lung [27], breast [25], and ovarian cancer patients [27, 28]. On the opposite, Tregs may exert a beneficial role in follicular lymphoma [29] and in head and neck carcinoma [30]. Finally, they seem to have no effect on survival in anal squamous cell carcinoma [31].

29.1.4 Treg Recruitment into Tumor Microenvironment

Tregs are recruited into the tumor in response to chemokines secreted by malignant cells and innate immune cells. Key chemokine–chemokine receptor pathways include CCL17/CCL22–CCR4 [14, 32] and CXCL12–CXCR4 [33]. Moreover, tumor-infiltrating (TI) Tregs exhibit enhanced suppressive capacity compared to Tregs from peripheral blood or healthy tissues, probably due to an activation by the tumor micro-environment (TME) [34–38].

29.1.5 Treg-Targeting Approaches in Cancer Therapy

As they mostly promote tumor progression and immune escape, Tregs offer promising targets for novel therapeutic strategies for cancer. A number of approaches have already been approved by the medicine agencies and many others exploring Treg depletion, or impairment of their suppressive functionality is currently under development [35, 39, 40].

The first strategies developed for Treg-targeting used CD25-specific antibody and certain chemotherapeutic drugs at metronomic doses. The disadvantage of these treatments is that they also target activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, as these cells share many phenotypic markers with Tregs. Today, several approaches have been developed with the aim to inhibit Tregs by either suppressing their function through targeting their immunosuppressive activities listed above or limiting their migration to the TME through targeting the chemokine–chemokine receptor pathways involved in Treg trafficking to tumor sites. Moreover, other drugs originally developed for other therapeutic indications such as anti-angiogenic molecules and tyrosine kinase inhibitors, have recently been assessed for Treg inhibition.

In this chapter, all these approaches used in mouse tumor models and in human clinical trials will be developed in more details.

29.2 Treg Depletion by Low Dose of Chemotherapy

Anticancer chemotherapies used at their conventional and clinically effective dose have been historically thought to exert their antitumoral activity only through direct killing of tumor cells and to be generally immunosuppressive. However, recent data showed that chemotherapies could induce immune-mediated anticancer responses.

In the early 2000s, a metronomic regimen (a low and minimally toxic dose administration, over a long period of time) of certain conventional chemotherapeutic drugs, including **cyclophosphamide** (CTX), **paclitaxel** (PTX), and **fludarabine** (FDB), has first been used in patients with advanced chemotherapy-resistant cancers, to reduce tumor angiogenesis with minimal toxicity [41, 42].

In rodent and human studies, this approach was reported to have an additional immunomodulatory action through Treg depletion within the TME and peripheral blood, as well as by leading to functional impairment of these immunosuppressive cells [43, 44] (Fig. 29.1a). Therefore,

Treg depletion mediated by low dose chemotherapy and IL-2-targeting drugs



Fig. 29.1 Treg depletion mediated by low-dose chemotherapy and IL-2-/IL-2R-targeting drugs. (a) Low-dose oral metronomic chemotherapeutic agents including cyclophosphamide (CTX), paclitaxel (PTX), and fludarabine (FDB) induce a profound and selective decrease on Treg number. (b) IL-2/IL-2 receptor blockade agents: daclizumab and basiliximab, two anti-CD25 antibodies (radiolabeled or not), can invoke cell death (apoptosis) by mediating ADCC or CDC. Two CD25-directed immunotoxin antibodies are being tested in human cancers: IMITOX-25 (RFT5-dgA), a CD25 antibody RFT5 linked to deglycosylated ricin A, and LMB-2, a fusion protein composed of the Fv portion of CD25 antibody attached to a fragment of *Pseudomonas* exotoxin A. Due to its IL-2 component, denileukin diftitox/ONTAK is capable of binding to CD25 (high-affinity IL-2 receptor) causing its rapid endocytosis and resulting in Treg cell apoptosis

metronomic chemotherapies resulted in a restoration of tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) antitumoral functions [45].

Ghiringhelli and colleagues were the first to demonstrate that a single dose of CTX (30 mg/ kg, i.p.) can deplete Tregs from tumor-bearing rats compared with nontreated animals [46]. These preclinical results were further confirmed by the same group in patients with advanced solid tumors [43]. They showed a strong and selective decrease of peripheral immunosuppressive Tregs, improving the control of tumor progression. Moreover, these authors described metronomic CTX as a potent treatment for reducing tumor-induced immune tolerance before anticancer immunotherapy.

Furthermore, Yingzi Ge et al. monitored in treatment-refractory and metastatic-advanced breast cancer patients the immunological effect of metronomic CTX (50 mg/day per OS during 3 months) on circulating Treg number and function, as well as on the induction of tumor-specific T-cell responses. The authors measured a transient Treg depletion with a stable breast tumor-reactive T-cell response, which was correlated with good clinical outcomes in these patients [47].

Treg depletion by low-dose chemotherapy prior to vaccination showed a significant enhanced overall survival (OS) in patients and elicited an effective antitumor immune response, as reported in many murine tumor models and in different human cancers. For example, in a randomized phase II study using a peptide-based vaccine for renal cancer treatment, it has been shown that a single dose of CTX reduced the number of Tregs and induced specific immune responses, associated with longer OS [48].

In a recent phase I/II clinical trial, metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC) patients received a long-term administration of a DC-based vaccine combined with chemotherapy drugs (metronomic CTX, docetaxel, and prednisone). A significant decrease in Tregs in the peripheral blood was observed. The long-term administration of the vaccine led to the induction and maintenance of tumor-specific T cells, but no immunological parameter was significantly correlated with better OS [49].

In contrast to these clinical outcomes, in a phase I clinical trial, 49 metastatic cancer patients (breast, lung, kidney, stomach, bladder, and prostate cancers) received a bacille Calmette–Guérin (BCG) vaccine plus CTX, to induce Treg depletion. Surprisingly, the number of peripheral Tregs was significantly increased upon treatment [50]. One possible explanation for the opposite effect of CTX in this study could be the difference between the routes of administration. In fact, in the clinical studies mentioned above, CTX was orally administrated, whereas in the latter example, patients received a single intravenous infusion of CTX.

However, other reports supported that metronomic drugs, even administrated orally, induced an increase of Treg number and suppressive activity. Koumarianou and colleagues showed not only an increase of Treg number in the peripheral blood of cancer patients but also an increase of Treg/effector T-cell (Teff) ratio and of the immunosuppressive activity of Tregs. They also found that these effects were more profound in metronomic than in standard chemotherapeutic approaches [51].

In a phase II trial, Elleback et al. also showed that despite using metronomic CTX in combination with a COX-2 inhibitor and a DC-based vaccine, Tregs did not decrease after the treatment in melanoma patients [52].

To date, the reasons for the contradictory effects of metronomic chemotherapy on Tregs are not clear [53]. The doses and the schedule of drug administration, the type and stage of cancer, the mode of action of the chemotherapeutic drugs, the basal status of the immune system of patients before treatment, and the choice of combinations should be taken into particular account by clinicians in the design of experimental approaches including metronomic chemotherapy drugs.

29.3 IL-2 Receptor (IL-2R)-Induced Treg Depletion

Tregs are characterized by the expression of IL-2R α chain or CD25, which is critical to their expansion [54]. IL-2R on Tregs also acts as a

Treatment

LMB-2 an anti-Tac(Fv)-PE38

regulatory mechanism. High-affinity IL-2R on Tregs limits the amount of IL-2 available for Tconv, hindering their expansion and activation [1]. This is the reason why some Treg-depleting strategies use the IL-2/IL-2R axis to deplete Tregs in cancer and, therefore, restore antitumoral immunity.

29.3.1 Anti-CD25 Antibodies (e.g., Daclizumab and Basiliximab)

Daclizumab is a humanized IgG1- κ monoclonal antibody (mAb) targeting human CD25. It is well tolerated when administered and causes no severe secondary effects [55]. Initially approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1997 for the prevention of renal allograft rejection, it is now been tested for the depletion of Tregs (Fig. 29.1b) in several cancer clinical trials [56] (Table 29.1).

The first group to investigate the effect of daclizumab on Treg depletion in cancer used a single low dose of 0.5 mg/kg, prior to a DC vaccination on metastatic melanoma patients [57]. They reported that daclizumab depleted CD4⁺ CD25^{high} FoxP3⁺ T cells from patients' peripheral blood but measured a clearance of daclizumab associated with the reappearance of Tregs approximately 30 days after. However, the functional T-cell-specific response to the vaccine was less effective on patients pretreated with daclizumab, compared to the group who received only the vaccine.

Trial phase Start date-status NCT ID

12/2005

Phase II

 Table 29.1
 CD25-targeting agents in cancer clinical trials

recombinant immunotoxin + peptide- based vaccine		melanoma		(completed)	
IMTOX-25 (RFT5-dgA) anti-CD25 immunotoxin	41	Metastatic melanoma	Phase II	04/2006 (completed)	NCT00314093
Basiliximab (Simulect [®]) antihuman CD25 chimeric antibody + DC-based vaccine	18	Glioblastoma multiforme	Phase I	03/2007 (active, not recruiting)	NCT00626483
Daclizumab + peptide-based vaccine + Prevnar	11	Metastatic breast cancer	Phase I	11/2007 (completed)	NCT00573495
IMTOX-25	29	Advanced cutaneous T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma	Phase II	07/2008 (completed)	NCT00667017
LMB-2 + fludarabine + CTX	18	Adult T-cell leukemia	Phase II	10/2008 (active, not recruiting)	NCT00924170
Daclizumab + tumor lysate-loaded DC-based vaccine or + bevacizumab	67	Recurrent ovarian, primary peritoneal, or fallopian tube cancer	Phase I	05/2010 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01132014
Yttrium-90-labeled daclizumab + chemotherapy + auto- stem cell transplant	6	Advanced Hodgkin lymphoma	Phase I/II	10/2011 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01468311
Yttrium Y 90 basiliximab + chemotherapy (before autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation)	24	Mature T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma	Phase I	06/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02342782
In view of the significant number of carbon structure list of recent clinical trials (ancer clin	ical trials involving	CD25-target	ting agents, we pro	pose here a nor

Cohort Indication

Metastatic

26

In view of the significant number of cancer clinical trials involving CD25-targeting agents, we propose here a nonexhaustive list of recent clinical trials (since 2005) monitoring anti-CD25 mAbs and immunotoxin Abs. The choice of the samples was made based on the cancer indication and the combinatory therapies, providing an overall view of the current clinical applications of CD25-targeting agents. All clinical trials can be found in https://clinicaltrials.gov/

NCT00295958

In another trial, Rech et al. investigated the effect of daclizumab on metastatic breast cancer patients in association with a peptide-based vaccine [58]. The authors observed that daclizumab permitted both a marked and durable depletion of Tregs in peripheral blood and an effective boosting of vaccine-induced specific T-cell responses.

Those studies demonstrated that antihuman CD25 daclizumab is capable of inducing Treg depletion in cancer patients. Treg depletion can lead to CD25⁻ T-cell activation, and the remaining antibody in the system would likely be deleterious to newly activated T cells expressing CD25 [59]. In fact, daclizumab in vivo half-life is over 4 weeks, which could explain the lower rate of T-cell-specific response after vaccination observed in Jacobs et al. study.

Basiliximab, a chimeric antibody, is another antihuman CD25 mAb, which is assessed in cancer clinical trial for Treg depletion (Fig. 29.1b). It is currently being tested in different phase I clinical trials in glioblastoma, acute myeloid leukemia, and Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma cancer patients (Table 29.1).

29.3.2 Denileukin Diftitox (ONTAK[®])

Denileukin diftitox (DD)/ONTAK is a genetically engineered recombinant fusion protein composed of diphtheria toxin catalytic domain and the full-length human interleukin-2 (IL-2). Due to its IL-2 component, DD is capable of binding to high-affinity IL-2R causing its rapid endocytosis [60] and resulting in cell apoptosis within 40–72 h [61] (Fig. 29.1b). ONTAK has been approved by the FDA since 1999 for the treatment of patient with persistent or recurrent cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL), whose malignant cells express IL-2R α chain CD25 [62]. Since then, ONTAK has also been investigated in CD25⁻ cancers, to deplete CD25⁺ Treg populations. So far, ONTAK has been used in numerous clinical trials for Treg depletion in different cancers, dosages, and regimen, all with various outcomes (Table 29.2).

Several studies have been using ONTAK at a single dose of 18 μ g/kg, in combination with

DC or peptide vaccination. These trials include the treatment of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)-positive malignancies [63], metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) [64], and metastatic melanoma [65]. Among those three studies, two reported no changes in the number of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FoxP3⁺ at this dose [63, 65]. On the other hand, the RCC trial observed a transient depletion of CD4⁺ CD25^{high} Tregs, with no apparent impact on other cell populations, including CD25^{low} T cells [64].

Among the different trials about Treg depletion with ONTAK, four studies were published about metastatic melanoma. Taken together, ONTAK showed its efficacy to transiently deplete Tregs in metastatic melanoma patients at 12 μ g/ kg/day for 4 consecutive days [66, 67], at 5 and 18 μ g/kg/day for 3 consecutive days [68], but not at the dose of 18 μ g/kg for a single injection [65] nor at 9 and 18 μ g/kg/day for 5 consecutive days [59]. Those results show that appropriate dosage of ONTAK is important to effectively deplete Tregs in melanoma patients as well as in other type of cancers [63, 69].

Despite the depletion of Treg populations observed in some studies, ONTAK clinical benefits have not been as strong as expected, leading to no or very limited beneficial outcomes for patients. This leads to the question: What if ONTAK has other undiscovered effects on patients' immune system explaining its lack of efficacy? In a clinical trial, melanoma patients were treated with ONTAK to deplete Tregs before a DC-based vaccination. Interestingly, ONTAK pretreatment failed to induce tumor antigenspecific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells after numerous DC vaccinations, leading to no clinical benefits for the patients [60]. The authors demonstrated that ONTAK treatment acts not only as a Tregdepleting agent but also as a strong immunomodulator, leading to a tolerogenic DC phenotype [70, 71]. ONTAK also failed to induce apoptosis on resting Tregs, which showed increased survival [60].

Very recently, a phase III trial was launched to evaluate the safety and efficacy of E7777 (improved purity ONTAK) in persistent or recurrent CTCL (NCT01871727).

Treatment	Cohort	Indication	Trial phase	Start date-status	NCT ID
ONTAK denileukin diftitox + aldesleukin	20	Kidney cancer	Early phase I	04/2005 (completed)	NCT00278369
ONTAK denileukin diftitox	17	Adult T-cell leukemia	Phase II	07/2005 (completed)	NCT00117845
ONTAK denileukin diftitox	15	Advanced breast cancer	Phase I/II	09/2005 (active, not recruiting)	NCT00425672
ONTAK denileukin diftitox + autologous DC-based vaccine	24	Adult solid tumor	Phase I	09/2005 (completed)	NCT00128622
ONTAK denileukin diftitox	69	Stage IV melanoma	Phase II	03/2006 (completed)	NCT00299689
ONTAK denileukin diftitox	19	Epithelial ovarian cancer, extraovarian peritoneal cancer, and fallopian tube carcinoma	Phase II	02/2007 (completed)	NCT00880360
ONTAK denileukin diftitox + rituximab	24	Advanced non- Hodgkin lymphoma	Phase II	04/2008 (completed)	NCT00460109
ONTAK denileukin diftitox	90	Advanced melanoma	Phase II	06/2010 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01127451
ONTAK + allogeneic NK cells + rituximab + chemotherapy	32	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia	Phase II	08/2010 (completed)	NCT01181258
E7777 (Eisai Inc.) improved purity ONTAK	90	Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	Phase III	05/2016 (recruiting)	NCT01871727

Table 29.2 ONTAK (denileukin diftitox) in cancer clinical trials

A non-exhaustive list of recent clinical trials (since 2005) monitoring ONTAK effect on Treg depletion. The choice of the samples was made as described in Table 29.1. All clinical trials can be found in https://clinicaltrials.gov/

29.3.3 Anti-CD25 Immunotoxin Antibodies

Two CD25-directed immunotoxin antibodies. IMITOX-25 (RFT5-dgA), a CD25 antibody RFT5 linked to deglycosylated ricin A (after internalization, dgA induces a cell death via protein synthesis inhibition), and LMB-2, a fusion protein composed of the Fv portion of CD25 antibody attached to a fragment of Pseudomonas exotoxin A (this immunotoxin is known to induce caspase-mediated apoptosis) (Fig. 29.1b), have been developed to reduce anti-CD25 in vivo halflife (<4 h) and have been tested in clinical trials [72–74] (Table 29.1). Also, a transient depletion of CD25⁺ Tregs among the patients were noted, the CD25⁻ Treg subset survived, and the depletion of CD25⁺ Tregs was not sufficient to increase the immune response to peptide vaccination.

In summary, daclizumab, ONTAK, and other CD25⁺ cell-depleting agents have shown, in some

cases, great potential to deplete CD25⁺ Tregs in cancer patients. However, the ability of these agents to target all CD25⁺ cells could explain why in some trials, those molecules failed to increase vaccine-induced specific response, as CD25 marker is not specific for Tregs [75]. The persistence of CD25^{int/} ^{low} Tregs in those studies also shows the need to develop more Treg-specific therapies or to combine them with other Treg-depleting agents to target a larger population of Tregs.

29.3.4 Emerging New Anti-CD25 Antibody Therapies

Another pitfall of anti-CD25 targeting is the systemic depletion of Tregs leading to profound disruption of peripheral homeostasis and severe side effects. An exciting new generation of anti-CD25 antibodies aims to selectively deplete intratumoral Tregs.

Recently, Sato et al. associated an anti-CD25-F(ab')2 with a photoactivable silicon phthalocyanine dye (IRDye 700DX) to selectively deplete TI Tregs on tumor-bearing mice [76]. After injection of the photoactivable antibody, local exposure of near-infrared (NIR) light on the tumor leads to the activation of the IRDye 700DX, and therefore induces the depletion of Tregs within the TME, without damaging adjacent cells nor NIR-unexposed CD25⁺ systemic Tregs. After intravenous injection of the labeled antibody and exposure to NIR light, they reported a depletion of 85% of CD4+ CD25+ Tregs at the tumor site within 30 min. They also reported a rapid CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells, as well as antigenpresenting cells activation after NIR treatment. This local Treg depletion was followed by tumor regression and prolonged survival of the mouse after only one treatment.

FDA-approved human CD25 antibodies such as daclizumab and basiliximab reduce the barrier of translating this new treatment into clinical trial. Moreover, a phase I human study using the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) conjugated with the IRDye 700DX is currently being evaluated for inoperable head and neck cancer (NCT02422679), making these NIR photoimmunotherapy strategies suitable for the treatment of cancer patient in clinical trial.

29.4 Blocking Treg Cell Trafficking into Tumors

29.4.1 CCL22–CCR4 Pathway Blockade

The C-C motif chemokine receptor 4 and C-C motif chemokine ligand 22 (CCR4–CCL22) pathway represent a dominant mechanism responsible for intratumoral Treg recruitment, as described in multiple tumor types [28]. Indeed, Treg trafficking and infiltration into different tumor types appear to be dependent on the expression of CCR4 ligands (CCL17 and CCL22) produced by tumor cells or infiltrating macrophages [32] (Fig. 29.2a). Furthermore, CCR4 is highly expressed by FoxP3^{high} CD25^{high}

CD45RA⁻ cells, designated as effector Tregs (eTregs) [77], which are predominant among TI FoxP3⁺ T cells [78].

In a CTCL mouse model, Ito et al. used an anti-CCR4 antagonist mAb and showed a significant depletion of TI Tregs mediated by NK-induced antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) [79]. Our group has also shown that inhibition of the CCR4 expressing Treg population by means of a CCR4 antagonist was sufficient to break immune tolerance to spontaneous mammary tumors, suggesting a major role for CCR4 in the immunosuppressive activity of Tregs [80]. All together, these observations provide a rationale for the development in clinical trials of CCR4 and CCL22 antagonists in order to block Treg cell trafficking into tumors.

So far, CCR4 antagonists have been mainly evaluated in patients with T-cell lymphoma (adult T-cell leukemia–lymphoma (ATLL), peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL), and CTCL, whose tumor cells also express CCR4 at their surface) [81, 82] (Table 29.3).

Mogamulizumab (KW-0761) is a defucosylated, humanized IgG1 mAb targeting CCR4 (Fig. 29.2a), engineered to exert potent ADCC. It showed promising therapeutic potential in phase I and II clinical trials in treating CTCL which is associated with poor prognosis [81, 83, 84].

The initial phase I/II multicenter study evaluated the efficacy of mogamulizumab (dose escalation study) as a monotherapy, in pretreated patients with PTCL or CTCL. The anti-CCR4 mAb depleted efficiently the circulating CCR4⁺ eTregs, even at the lowest dose of 0.1 mg/kg, and restored antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses [85, 86]. Recently, the same group launched a phase III trial, comparing the progression-free survival of mogamulizumab versus vorinostat (histone deacetylases inhibitor) in the treatment of CTCL (NCT01728805).

Sun et al. showed that monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), an endogenous CCR4binding ligand, was specifically upregulated in the head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients, compared to the other CCR4binding ligands. Using a CCR4 antagonist that

Blocking Treg-cell recruitment into tumors

- A. CCR4/CCL22 pathway blockade
- B. CXCR4/CXCL12 pathway blockade



Fig. 29.2 Blocking Treg cell recruitment into tumors. Tregs are recruited into the tumor in response to chemokines secreted by malignant cells and innate immune cells (e.g., macrophages). CCL17/CCL22–CCR4 (a) and CXCL12–CXCR4 (b) are two key chemokine–chemo-

blocks eTreg cell recruitment induced through MCP-1/CCR4 signaling, the authors observed an inhibition of tumor growth and prolonged survival [78].

Since 2014, the mogamulizumab efficacy is evaluated in advanced or metastatic solid cancer patients. Most of these trials are using mogamulizumab in combination with other immunotherapies including anti-PD-1, anti-PD-L1 and anti-CTLA-4, anti-4-1BB antibodies, and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) inhibitor (Table 29.3).

29.4.2 CXCR4–CXCL12 Pathway Blockade

The CXC chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12), also called stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1),

kine receptor pathways, targeted by specific antagonist monoclonal antibodies and chemokine inhibitors and analogs (which competitively binds to the chemokine receptor). Blocking this axis may impede tumoral homing of Tregs and promote tumor growth regression

secreted by bone marrow, lymph node, and inflammatory cells is another chemokine responsible for the trafficking of Tregs expressing CXCR4, the receptor of CXCL12 [33, 87].

The CXCL12–CXCR4 pathway is known to be widely involved in tumor cell progression, angiogenesis, and metastasis in a number of human cancers [88, 89] including melanoma [90], ovarian [91], breast [33], small cell lung [92, 93], and gastric [94] cancers. Therefore, this axis is associated with metastasis induction [95, 96] and poor clinical outcome [33, 97], making it an attractive target for therapeutics that can block the CXCL12/CXCR4 interaction or inhibit downstream intracellular signaling.

Multiple agents are currently being developed to target the CXCL12 pathway in cancer, including AMD3100, a highly specific CXCR4

Treatment (company)	Cohort	Indication	Trial phase	Start	NCT ID
Mogamulizumab (Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co.) KW-0761 a defucosylated humanized anti- CCR4 antibody	16	Adult T-cell leukemia and lymphoma (ATL), adult peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL)	Phase I	02/2007 (completed)	NCT00355472
Mogamulizumab	42	PTCL or cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL)	Phase I/II	05/2009 (completed)	NCT00888927
Mogamulizumab vs. vorinostat	372	Previously treated CTCL	Phase III	11/2012 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01728805
Mogamulizumab	72	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I/II	10/2014 (recruiting)	NCT02281409
Mogamulizumab ± MEDI4736 ± tremelimumab	108	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	11/2014 (recruiting)	NCT02301130
Mogamulizumab + docetaxel	13	Previously treated non-small cell lung cancer	Phase I	01/2015 (completed)	NCT02358473
Mogamulizumab + PF-05082566	70	Advanced solid tumors	Phase Ib	05/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02444793
Mogamulizumab + nivolumab	188	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I/II	12/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02705105
KHK2455 IDO-1 inhibitor ± mogamulizumab	50	Solid tumors	Phase I	08/2016 (recruiting)	NCT02867007

Table 29.3	CCR4-targeting	antibody	in clinic
-------------------	----------------	----------	-----------

A non-exhaustive list of recent clinical trials monitoring anti-CCR4 mAb in cancer patients. The choice of the samples was made based as described in Table 29.1. All clinical trials can be found in https://clinicaltrials.gov/

antagonist [98], also known as plerixafor; CTCE-9908, a CXCL12 analog which competitively binds to CXCR4; and a CXCL12 inhibitor, Spiegelmer/NOX-A12 (Fig. 29.2b). Among these drugs, AMD3100 and CTCE-9908 are approved for clinical use in patients with leukemias and osteosarcoma, respectively [99].

Recent studies have demonstrated the potential involvement of CXCL12–CXCR4 pathway activation in tumor resistance to conventional chemotherapies [100–102] and anti-angiogenic treatments [103]. Therefore, emergent combinatory approaches involving CXCL12 pathway blockade are being developed in order to face these drug resistance [103].

However, the impact of CXCL12–CXCR4 pathway blockade on Treg cell populations has not been fully investigated in human and requires further investigations.

29.5 Anti-angiogenic Therapies Targeting Regulatory T Cells

Vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) has a central role in tumor-induced immunosuppression, especially in the accumulation of Tregs [104]. VEGF-A can block DC maturation [105] or enhance myeloid-derived suppressor cell proportion in tumor-bearing hosts [106]. These two cell types can be involved in the proliferation of Tregs or the conversion of Tconv to Tregs. Moreover VEGF-R2, a VEGF-A receptor, is expressed on Tregs in tumor-bearing mice [107] and in human tumors [108] suggesting a direct role of VEGF-A on Tregs. Indeed, tumor-derived VEGF-A was shown to directly induce the proliferation of Tregs in tumor-bearing mice and in metastatic cancer patients [107].

Anti-angiogenic molecules targeting the VEGF-A/VEGF-R2 pathway are routinely used to treat many cancer patients (e.g., metastatic colorectal cancer, metastatic renal cell cancer, advanced non-small cell lung cancer, ovarian cancer). The administration of **sunitinib**, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets VEGF-R, PDGFR, c-kit, and Flt3, decreases the proportion of Tregs in metastatic renal cell cancer (mRCC) patients [109]. This decrease has been associated with a better OS in another cohort of mRCC [110].

The negative impact of anti-angiogenic molecules on Tregs has been confirmed with another multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitor which is **sorafenib** (VEGF-R, PDGFR, c-kit, Raf kinase, RET inhibitor) in mRCC patients and in hepatocellular cancer patients [111].

Bevacizumab, a humanized anti-VEGF-A mAb, also decreases the proportion and number of Tregs in tumor-bearing mice and in metastatic colorectal cancer patients [107]. Thus, VEGF-A/VEGF-R2 blockade can restore steady-state Treg proportion but can also modulate other escape mechanisms induced by the tumor (myeloid-derived suppressor cell (MDSC) induction, expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8⁺ T cells, etc.).

Based on these properties, we have shown that VEGF-A antibody can synergize with immunotherapy and especially with checkpoint inhibitors in a mouse model of colorectal cancer [112].

The association of anti-angiogenic molecules with immunotherapies is currently evaluated in different cancer locations (metastatic melanoma NCT02400385, renal cell carcinoma NCT02348008, non-small cell lung cancer NCT02039674).

29.6 Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy (Anti-CTLA-4 Antibodies)

CTLA-4, a co-inhibitory receptor, is transiently expressed on activated cytotoxic T lymphocytes and acts as an inhibitory molecule to reduce immune response, IL-2 production, and cell cycle [113, 114]. This negative feedback prevents lymphoproliferative and autoimmune responses in different mouse models [115–118].

In cancer, CTLA-4 expression on Teff induces hyporesponsiveness or anergy against malignant cells [119]. This characteristic of CTLA-4 has led to the development of numerous clinical trials using anti-CTLA-4 antibodies such as **ipilimumab** (IgG1) and **tremelimumab** (IgG2), two full human mAbs [120, 121]. Ipilimumab was approved by the FDA in 2011 and is currently a first-line treatment option for patients with advanced melanoma. Tremelimumab was approved by the FDA in 2015 for patients with malignant mesothelioma.

However CTLA-4 is also constitutively expressed by Tregs, which plays an important role in their regulatory function [122]. This feature led the scientific community to investigate potential effects of this therapy on Tregs, both in preclinical and clinical studies.

Kavanagh and colleagues investigated the effect of different dosage of ipilimumab on metastatic prostate cancer [113]. They observed that low dose of 1.5 mg/kg or more induced a dosedependent increase of peripheral CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ functional Tregs. Similar results were also found by others, showing that anti-CTLA-4 therapies can induce Treg proliferation in periphery [123– 125]. However, the immune profile of the peripheral blood does not necessarily reflect what occurs in the TME.

Indeed, two preclinical studies have shown that anti-CTLA-4 mAbs induce a reduction of TI Tregs, associated with tumor regression. This CTLA-4-mediated Treg depletion was dependent on the anti-CTLA-4 isotype [126] and the Fc γ receptor (Fc γ R) expressing cells, present in the TME [127]. Similar results were found in human studies, where ipilimumab was able to mediate, through NK cells, an ADCC of CTLA-4⁺ TI Tregs (Fig. 29.3a) isolated from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients [128]. In melanoma patients also, ipilimumab induced ADCC mediated by Fc γ RIII⁺ nonclassical monocytes [129].

Tremelimumab, an IgG2 mAb, is not likely to do ADCC and induce subsequent TI Treg



Fig. 29.3 Antibodies targeting immunomodulatory receptors on Tregs. (**a**) Anti-CTLA-4 mAbs may induce a reduction of TI Tregs, associated with tumor regression. Engagement of ipilimumab, an IgG1 mAb, with CTLA-4 on Tregs is able to mediate an ADCC of CTLA-4⁺ TI Tregs, while CTLA-4 blockade by tremelimumab, an IgG2 mAb, inhibits Treg suppressive functions and induces Teff resistance to Treg suppression. (**b**)

depletion. In phase I and II studies, tremelimumab showed some clinical outcomes in metastatic melanoma patients [130]. However, in a phase III study (NCT00257205), tremelimumab failed to obtain statistically significant survival advantage compared to conventional chemotherapy in first-line treatment of metastatic melanoma patients. Based on these results, the clinical trial has been halted in April 2008 [131].

On the other hand, Ménard et al. showed in advanced melanoma patients that tremelimumab was able to restore circulating effector memory T-cell proliferation and that this population became transiently resistant to Treg immunosuppressive function [119] (Fig. 29.3a).

In summary, although CTLA-4 mAbs have shown promising results in clinical trials, little is known about their effects on Treg cell popula-

Engagement of costimulatory receptors (GITR and OX40) expressed on Tregs by agonist antibodies or by their respective ligand fusion protein bearing an IgG1 Fc antibody that can also bind to activating Fc gamma receptor (on NK cells, neutrophils, and macrophages) leads to Treg depletion via ADCC or ADCP. Anti-GITR antibodies can also induce loss of Treg stability through FoxP3 destabilization

tions. A better understanding of their mechanisms of action would be of great interest to develop even more potent therapies and maybe limit severe immune-related adverse events observed in various trials [120, 130, 132, 133].

29.7 Agonist Antibodies Affecting Treg Immunosuppressive Activity

Another alternative therapeutic strategy to boost antitumoral immunity is targeting costimulatory molecules involved in Treg cell modulation. We will address here two major costimulatory tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily members: GITR and OX40.

29.7.1 Agonist Anti-GITR Antibody

GITR, a cell surface costimulatory receptor, is highly and constitutively expressed by Tregs [11, 12], whereas naive and memory Tconv express it at low levels [134]. However, on conventional CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, GITR expression is also enhanced following activation and then declines 1–3 days later [135]. Thus, GITR signaling and function are context and cell type dependent [136].

Under suboptimal TCR stimulation, the activation of GITR has opposite effect on Tregs and conventional CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. The use of agonist anti-GITR antibodies such as **DTA-1** [12], recombinant GITR ligand (GITRL), or GITRL transfectants (Fig. 29.3b) abrogates Treg cell-mediated suppression exerted on Teff cells, while it enhances the expansion and the cytokine production of CD8⁺ T cells [137]. This observation has been shown both in vitro [138] and in vivo in murine tumor models [139–144]. In these preclinical studies, GITR stimulation has been reported to increase Teff-to-Treg ratio [145], leading to a beneficial antitumoral effect and tumor regression in tumor-bearing mice.

Moreover, Coe et al. showed in mice that DTA-1-mediated Treg depletion was more marked in tumors than in tumor-draining lymph nodes [140], as TI Tregs express much higher levels of GITR than circulating Tregs [146]. This means that GITR could be used as a target for selective depletion or inhibition of CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ GITR^{high} Tregs without interfering with systemic maintenance of self-tolerance.

The in vivo activity of GITR-targeting agents is complex and may rely on several suggested mechanisms (Fig. 29.3b), including (1) Fc γ Rmediated depletion of Tregs [139], (2) activationinduced apoptosis through Fas–FasL signaling [147], (3) inhibition of Treg suppressive functions and induction of Teff resistance to Treg suppression [148], and (4) loss of Treg stability through FoxP3 destabilization [149].

Very recently, a novel hexameric GITRL, **MEDI1873**, based on a fusion protein bearing a human IgG1 Fc domain, has been developed by

MedImmune. The assessment of MEDI1873 in vitro and in a CT26 tumor model (a murine colorectal cancer model) revealed an increased binding to Fc γ Rs resulting in the depletion of TI Tregs, likely through Fc-mediated effector functions [150]. MEDI1873 is currently assessed in a phase I clinical study (NCT02583165) in patients with solid tumors.

In light of the preclinical results, a number of drugs, including traditional GITR-targeting antibodies and the GITRL protein fusion, have already entered [136] or have been selected for clinical trials that should be launched soon (Table 29.4).

29.7.2 OX40/OX40L Agonist Agents

OX40 (CD134) and its ligand OX40L (CD252) are members of the TNFR/TNF superfamily and provide a costimulatory signal upon primary activated effector and memory CD8⁺ lymphocytes [151]; CD4⁺ T helper cell subtypes including Th1, Th2 [152], and Th17 [153]; as well as CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ Tregs [154]. OX40L is likely expressed on activated antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and in particular DCs [155, 156].

Interestingly, it has been shown that TILs, isolated from murine [157] or human tumor biopsies [158, 159], express higher level of OX40 than their peripheral counterparts, where it increases T-cell activation, proliferation, and survival.

The mechanisms by which OX40 regulates Treg functions are still poorly understood, and data surrounding this question are contradictory [160, 161]. However, the majority of mouse and human studies revealed that OX40 engagement with agonist OX40 antibody alters the differentiation and suppressive activity of Tregs [161–163] and can also indirectly act by making Teff cells resistant to suppression by Tregs [163].

In a recent murine study, agonist antibody targeting OX40 has been reported to be able to selectively deplete TI Tregs that constitutively express OX40 [164]. This depletion seems to be likely mediated by ADCC, which relies on the

			Trial	Start	
Treatment (company)	Cohort	Indication	phase	date-status	NCT ID
TRX518 (GITR, Inc.) humanized nondepleting mAb	40	Malignant melanoma	Phase I	10/2010 (recruiting)	NCT01239134
MK-4166 (Merck) humanized mAb ± pembrolizumab	94	Solid tumors	Phase I	06/2014 (recruiting)	NCT02132754
BMS-986156 (Bristol–Myers Squibb) ± nivolumab	260	Solid tumors	Phase I/ IIa	10/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02598960
MK-1248 (Merck) ± pembrolizumab	96	Solid tumors	Phase I	11/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02553499
MEDI1873 (MedImmune LLC) hexameric GITRL protein/human IgG1	47	Solid tumors	Phase I	11/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02583165
TRX518	44	Solid tumors	Phase I	12/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02628574
INCAGN01876 (Incyte/Agenus) humanized IgG1 mAb	146	Solid tumors	Phase I/ II	04/2016 (recruiting)	NCT02697591
GWN323 (Novartis Pharma) humanized IgG1 mAb ± PDR001	264	Solid tumors	Phase I/ Ia	07/2016 (recruiting)	NCT02740270

 Table 29.4
 GITR-targeting drugs in ongoing trial

A non-exhaustive list of ongoing clinical trials monitoring GITR-targeting drugs in cancer patients. The choice of the samples was made as described in Table 29.1. All clinical trials can be found in https://clinicaltrials.gov/

activation of $Fc\gamma R$ expressed by myeloid and NK cells [165].

Together, these findings made the OX40/ OX40-L axis-targeting an interesting approach for anticancer immunotherapy [166–169].

In many preclinical mouse tumor models, OX40/OX40L targeting agents including **anti-OX40 mAbs** and **OX40L-Fc fusion proteins** (Fig. 29.3b), when used as a monotherapy, gave promising results with a protective antitumor immunity and an improved tumor-free survival [157, 170–174].

Moreover, in several murine studies, the antitumoral effect of anti-OX40 agents has been further improved by combination with other immunomodulatory antibodies, such as immune checkpoint inhibitor antibodies [164, 175] and therapeutic cancer vaccines [171, 176, 177].

Currently, there are at least six anti-OX40 agonist mAbs and one OX40L-Fc which have been developed by numerous companies, undergoing early phase clinical trials testing for the treatment of advanced solid malignancies (Table 29.5).

9B12, a murine agonist antihuman OX40 mAb, was the first antibody to enter the clinic in

2003 and has been tested in a phase I trial in patients with advanced solid cancer (melanoma, renal cancer, urethral cancer, prostate cancer, and cholangiocarcinoma) refractory to conventional therapy (NCT01644968). The anti-OX40 mAb was well tolerated, and in 12 of 30 patients, Curti and colleagues reported a regression of at least one metastatic lesion following just one cycle [178]. Furthermore, the authors reported that TI Tregs expressed more OX40 (50% of TI Tregs) than peripheral Tregs, confirming the observation in mouse studies that the anti-OX40 antibody may modulate Treg function in the tumor. However, they did not report a decrease in the number of Tregs within tumors.

MEDI6469 (a murine agonist antihuman OX40 mAb), MEDI0562 (developed through humanization of MEDI6469), MOXR0916 and GSK3174998 (two humanized IgG1 agonist anti-OX40 mAbs), PF-04518600 (a fully human IgG2 agonist anti-OX40 mAb), and INCAGN01949 (a fully human IgG1 agonist anti-OX40 mAb) are currently involved in clinical trials (Table 29.5). They are being tested in several cancer types, including advanced or metastatic prostate, breast, and colorectal cancers, as

				Start	
Treatment (company)	Cohort	Indication	Trial phase	date-status	NCT ID
MEDI6469 (Providence Health & Services/MedImmune LLC) murine antihuman OX40 mAb + radiation + CTX	10	Advanced prostate cancer	Phase I/II	10/2010 (active, not recruiting)	NCT01303705
MEDI6469 + radiotherapy	40	Advanced breast cancer	Phase I/II	02/2013 (recruiting)	NCT01862900
MOXR0916 (Genentech, Inc.) humanized mAb	400	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	08/2014 (recruiting)	NCT02219724
MEDI6469 (MedImmune LLC) ± rituximab ± MEDI4736	58	Solid tumors, B-cell lymphomas	Phase Ib/II	08/2014 (completed)	NCT02205333
MEDI6383 (MedImmune LLC) human OX40 ligand fusion protein ± MEDI4736	39	Recurrent or metastatic solid tumors	Phase I	09/2014 (active, not recruiting)	NCT02221960
MEDI6469 (prior to definitive surgical resection)	55	Advanced oral head and neck cancer	Phase Ia	10/2014 (recruiting)	NCT02274155
MEDI0562 (MedImmune LLC) humanized mAb	196	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	03/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02318394
MOXR0916 + atezolizumab ± bevacizumab	762	Advanced solid tumors	Phase Ib	04/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02410512
PF-04518600 (Pfizer) fully human IgG2 ± PF-05082566	190	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	04/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02315066
MEDI6469	44	Metastatic colorectal cancer	Phase I/Ib	09/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02559024
MEDI0562 ± tremelimumab ± durvalumab	182	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	03/2016 (recruiting)	NCT02705482
GSK3174998 (GSK) humanized IgG1 ± pembrolizumab	264	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I	09/2015 (recruiting)	NCT02528357
INCAGN01949 (Incyte Europe Sàrl/ Agenus Inc.) fully human IgG1	157	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I/II	10/2016 (recruiting)	NCT02923349

 Table 29.5
 OX40-modulating agents in ongoing clinical trials

A non-exhaustive list of recent and ongoing clinical trials monitoring OX40-modulating agents in cancer patients. The choice of the samples was made as described in Table 29.1. All clinical trials can be found in https://clinicaltrials.gov/

well as HNSCC and aggressive B lymphomas. These different anti-OX40 mAbs are being assessed as a monotherapy or in combination with other therapies (radiotherapy \pm CTX, rituximab (anti-CD20), MEDI4736/atezolizumab/ durvalumab (anti-PD-L1), pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1), tremelimumab (anti-CTLA-4), PF-05082566 (4-1BB agonist), and bevacizumab different (anti-VEGF)) in cancer types (Table 29.5).

More recently, in 2014, MedImmune LLC developed a human OX40 ligand fusion protein, **MEDI6383**, that is being tested in recurrent or metastatic solid tumors, either alone or in combination with another immune checkpoint blockade antibody: durvalumab (anti-PD-L1).

29.8 CD39–CD73–A2aR Pathway Blockade: An Emergent Therapy Targeting Tregs

ATP and its metabolites (ADP, AMP, and adenosine), released into the extracellular space in response to tissue damage and cellular stress, play an important role in immune homeostasis. However, to evade the immunosurveillance, tumors can divert the physiological feedbacknegative control exerted by these molecules for their own profit, in order to suppress antitumor T-cell responses.

The ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 are responsible for the catabolism of extracellular ATP to AMP and AMP to adenosine (Fig. 29.4), respectively, and are co-expressed on both murine and human Tregs [179–181]. Furthermore, T lymphocytes, including Tregs, mainly express the high-affinity adenosine 2a receptor (A2aR) and the low-affinity adenosine 2b receptor (A2bR) [182]. As a consequence, the activation of A2a and A2b receptors on immune cells induces strong immunosuppressive effects [183].

A2aR engagement on Tregs increases their CTLA-4 and PD-1 expression (shown in vitro) [184, 185], favors their differentiation from naïve T cell, and enhances their immunosuppressive activities [186].

In several types of cancer, adenosine is abundantly released within the tumor site (Fig. 29.4), as a consequence of the hypoxia-induced overexpression of the ectonucleotidase enzymes CD73 and CD39 [187–189]. Moreover, it has been shown that the pro-tumoral effect of adenosine is mediated by (1) inhibiting the antitumoral Th1 CD4⁺ and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells through the A2aR, (2) enhancing the proliferation of the immunosuppressive cells (e.g., Tregs and granulocytic MDSCs), and (3) induction of tolerogenic DCs and type 2 macrophages (Fig. 29.4).

These observations in cancer settings led the researchers to investigate the potential of targeting the adenosine CD73–CD39 pathway to overcome adenosine-mediated immunosuppression, in murine studies and in human patients [186].



Fig. 29.4 CD39–CD73–A2AR pathway blockade, an emergent therapy targeting Tregs. Immunogenic cell death of tumor cells leads to the release of extracellular ATP and its metabolites (ADP, AMP, and adenosine) into the TME. As a consequence of the hypoxia, the ectonucleotidase enzymes that convert ATP into adenosine (CD73 and CD39), and the receptors that bind adenosine, are overexpressed on tumor and immune cells. Ligation of adenosine to its receptor mediates Th1 CD4⁺

and CTL inhibition, proliferation of the immunosuppressive cells (e.g., Tregs and granulocytic MDSCs), and induction of tolerogenic DCs and type 2 macrophages. Adenosine plays also a role in survival of cancer cells promoting tumor growth. Antagonists of the adenosine A2aR and monoclonal antibodies targeting the adenosine–CD73–CD39 pathway are currently tested in ongoing clinical trials to overcome adenosine-mediated immunosuppression Recently, two orally administered antagonists of the adenosine A2aR (Fig. 29.4) have entered the clinic for cancer treatment: (1) **CPI-444** (Corvus Pharmaceuticals and Genentech), tested in various solid tumors alone or combined with an anti-PD-L1 mAb (NCT02655822), and (2) **PBF-509** (Novartis/Palobiofarma) tested as a single agent or in combination with an anti-PD-1 mAb, in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NCT02403193).

In July 2016, a first-in-human phase I trial started to evaluate the safety and antitumor activity of **MEDI9447** (MedImmune LLC), a human IgG1 mAb targeting CD73 (Fig. 29.4), alone and in combination with MEDI4736 (anti-PD-L1), in advanced solid cancer patients [190] (NCT02503774).

To date, there is no CD39-targeting antibody tested in clinic.

Conclusion

The immunosuppressive activity of intratumoral Tregs represents a major hurdle for effective antitumor immunity, highlighting their potential as an immunotherapeutic target. However, prognostic/predictive significance of tumor infiltration by Tregs remains a matter of debate. Indeed, high levels of intratumoral Tregs have been associated with poor disease outcome in cohorts of patients affected by multiple, but not all, tumor types.

Various subpopulations of TI Tregs have been identified so far and shown to exert relatively distinct functions and hence to be associated with different clinical significance. It has recently been shown that TI Tregs express some molecules (e.g., IL-1R2 and CCR8) not expressed in Tregs from normal tissues which could lead to specific depletion of TI Tregs avoiding risk of autoimmunity [191].Therefore, a more refined phenotypic and functional definition of the Treg subsets as well as a better understanding of their role in the regulation of immune responses remains a major challenge for future Treg-targeting therapies.

Moreover, there is considerable interest in the possible synergistic opportunities of com-

bining Treg-targeted therapies, in addition to currently available therapies, with other modalities such as immune checkpoint blockade or immune agonist therapies. However, the role of costimulatory and co-inhibitory molecules in modulating Treg function and survival remains unclear and warrants further investigation and clarification. Finally, as systemic targeting of Tregs may severely impact peripheral immune homeostasis, there is a clear need to develop more selective approaches to limit intratumoral Treg cell immunosuppression.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR), the Ligue contre le cancer, the Association des Gastroentérologues Oncologues, SIRIC CARPEM, Labex Onco-Immunology, and INCA.

References

- Tanaka A, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res. 2016;27(1):109–18. doi:10.1038/cr.2016.151.
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:330–6.
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:531–62.
- Pillai V, Ortega SB, Wang CK, Karandikar NJ. Transient regulatory T-cells: a state attained by all activated human T-cells. Clin Immunol. 2007;123: 18–29.
- Rodríguez-Perea AL, Arcia ED, Rueda CM, Velilla PA. Phenotypical characterization of regulatory T cells in humans and rodents. Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;185:281–91.
- Liu W, et al. CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1701–11.
- Lages CS, et al. Functional regulatory T cells accumulate in aged hosts and promote chronic infectious disease reactivation. J Immunol. 2008;1950(181): 1835–48.
- Tang AL, et al. CTLA4 expression is an indicator and regulator of steady-state CD4+ FoxP3+ T cell homeostasis. J Immunol. 2008;1950(181):1806–13.
- Raimondi G, Shufesky WJ, Tokita D, Morelli AE, Thomson AW. Regulated compartmentalization of programmed cell death-1 discriminates CD4+CD25+

resting regulatory T cells from activated T cells. J Immunol. 2006;1950(176):2808–16.

- Huang C-T, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21:503–13.
- McHugh RS, et al. CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. Immunity. 2002;16:311–23.
- Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Takahashi T, Ishida Y, Sakaguchi S. Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological selftolerance. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:135–42.
- Takeda I, et al. Distinct roles for the OX40-OX40 ligand interaction in regulatory and nonregulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2004;1950(172):3580–9.
- Gobert M, et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. Cancer Res. 2009;69:2000–9.
- Borsellino G, et al. Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3+ Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. Blood. 2007;110:1225–32.
- Kobie JJ, et al. T regulatory and primed uncommitted CD4 T cells express CD73, which suppresses effector CD4 T cells by converting 5'-adenosine monophosphate to adenosine. J Immunol. 2006;1950(177): 6780–6.
- Asseman C, Mauze S, Leach MW, Coffman RL, Powrie F. An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. 1999;190:995–1004.
- Joetham A, et al. Naturally occurring lung CD4(+) CD25(+) T cell regulation of airway allergic responses depends on IL-10 induction of TGF-beta. J Immunol. 2007;1950(178):1433–42.
- Collison LW, et al. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. Nature. 2007;450:566–9.
- Grossman WJ, et al. Human T regulatory cells can use the perforin pathway to cause autologous target cell death. Immunity. 2004;21:589–601.
- Mandapathil M, Lang S, Gorelik E, Whiteside TL. Isolation of functional human regulatory T cells (Treg) from the peripheral blood based on the CD39 expression. J Immunol Methods. 2009;346:55–63.
- 22. Read S, Malmström V, Powrie F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:295–302.
- Yan Z, Garg SK, Banerjee R. Regulatory T cells interfere with glutathione metabolism in dendritic cells and T cells. J Biol Chem. 2010;285: 41525–32.
- Wing K, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells exert checks and balances on self tolerance and autoimmunity. Nat Immunol. 2010;11:7–13.

- Liyanage UK, et al. Prevalence of regulatory T cells is increased in peripheral blood and tumor microenvironment of patients with pancreas or breast adenocarcinoma. J Immunol. 2002;169:2756–61.
- Kobayashi N, et al. FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells affect the development and progression of hepatocarcinogenesis. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:902–11.
- Woo EY, et al. Regulatory CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells in tumors from patients with early-stage non-small cell lung cancer and late-stage ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2001;61:4766–72.
- Curiel TJ, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10:942–9.
- Carreras J, et al. High numbers of tumor-infiltrating FOXP3-positive regulatory T cells are associated with improved overall survival in follicular lymphoma. Blood. 2006;108:2957–64.
- Badoual C, et al. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating CD4(+) T-cell subpopulations in head and neck cancers. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:465–72.
- Grabenbauer GG, Lahmer G, Distel L, Niedobitek G. Tumor-infiltrating cytotoxic T cells but not regulatory T cells predict outcome in anal squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:3355–60.
- 32. Faget J, et al. Early detection of tumor cells by innate immune cells leads to T-reg recruitment through CCL22 production by tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71:6143–52.
- 33. Yan M, et al. Recruitment of regulatory T cells is correlated with hypoxia-induced CXCR4 expression, and is associated with poor prognosis in basal-like breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res. 2011;13:R47.
- 34. Bu M, et al. Ovarian carcinoma-infiltrating regulatory T cells were more potent suppressors of CD8(+) T cell inflammation than their peripheral counterparts, a function dependent on TIM3 expression. Tumour Biol. 2016;37:3949–56.
- Chaudhary B, Elkord E. Regulatory T cells in the tumor microenvironment and cancer progression: role and therapeutic targeting. Vaccine. 2016;4(3):28.
- 36. Jie H-B, et al. Intratumoral regulatory T cells upregulate immunosuppressive molecules in head and neck cancer patients. Br J Cancer. 2013;109:2629–35.
- Pedroza-Gonzalez A, et al. Activated tumorinfiltrating CD4+ regulatory T cells restrain antitumor immunity in patients with primary or metastatic liver cancer. Hepatology. 2013;57:183–94.
- 38. Strauss L, et al. A unique subset of CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T cells secreting interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:4345–54.
- Pere H, et al. Comprehensive analysis of current approaches to inhibit regulatory T cells in cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:326–33.
- Whiteside TL. The role of regulatory T cells in cancer immunology. ImmunoTargets Ther. 2015;4:159–71.

- 41. Colleoni M, et al. Low-dose oral methotrexate and cyclophosphamide in metastatic breast cancer: antitumor activity and correlation with vascular endothelial growth factor levels. Ann Oncol. 2002;13:73–80.
- El-ArabLRE, Swellam M, El Mahdy MM. Metronomic chemotherapy in metastatic breast cancer: impact on VEGF. J Egypt Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;24: 15–22.
- 43. Ghiringhelli F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:641–8.
- Lutsiak MEC, et al. Inhibition of CD4(+)25+ T regulatory cell function implicated in enhanced immune response by low-dose cyclophosphamide. Blood. 2005;105:2862–8.
- Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11:215–33.
- 46. Ghiringhelli F, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive to cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34:336–44.
- 47. Ge Y, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide treatment in metastasized breast cancer patients: immunological effects and clinical outcome. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61:353–62.
- Walter S, et al. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after single-dose cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. Nat Med. 2012;18:1254–61.
- Podrazil M, et al. Phase I/II clinical trial of dendriticcell based immunotherapy (DCVAC/PCa) combined with chemotherapy in patients with metastatic, castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6:18192–205.
- 50. Audia S, et al. Increase of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with metastatic carcinoma: a phase I clinical trial using cyclophosphamide and immunotherapy to eliminate CD4+ CD25+ T lymphocytes. Clin Exp Immunol. 2007;150:523–30.
- Koumarianou A, et al. The effect of metronomic versus standard chemotherapy on the regulatory to effector T-cell equilibrium in cancer patients. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2014;3:3.
- 52. Ellebaek E, et al. Metastatic melanoma patients treated with dendritic cell vaccination, interleukin-2 and metronomic cyclophosphamide: results from a phase II trial. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61: 1791–804.
- Romiti A, et al. Metronomic chemotherapy for cancer treatment: a decade of clinical studies. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2013;72:13–33.
- von Boehmer H, Daniel C. Therapeutic opportunities for manipulating T(Reg) cells in autoimmunity and cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12:51–63.

- 55. Rech AJ, Vonderheide RH. Clinical use of anti-CD25 antibody daclizumab to enhance immune responses to tumor antigen vaccination by targeting regulatory T cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1174:99–106.
- 56. Waldmann TA. Anti-Tac (daclizumab, Zenapax) in the treatment of leukemia, autoimmune diseases, and in the prevention of allograft rejection: a 25-year personal odyssey. J Clin Immunol. 2007;27:1–18.
- 57. Jacobs JFM, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in combination with anti-CD25 monoclonal antibody treatment: a phase I/II study in metastatic melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:5067–78.
- Rech AJ, et al. CD25 blockade depletes and selectively reprograms regulatory T cells in concert with immunotherapy in cancer patients. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:134ra62.
- 59. Attia P, Maker AV, Haworth LR, Rogers-Freezer L, Rosenberg SA. Inability of a fusion protein of IL-2 and diphtheria toxin (Denileukin Diffitox, DAB389IL-2, ONTAK) to eliminate regulatory T lymphocytes in patients with melanoma. J Immunother. 2005;1997(28):582–92.
- Baur AS, et al. Denileukin diffutox (ONTAK) induces a tolerogenic phenotype in dendritic cells and stimulates survival of resting Treg. Blood. 2013;122:2185–94.
- Duvic M, Talpur R. Optimizing denileukin diftitox (Ontak) therapy. Future Oncol. 2008;4:457–69.
- Foss FM. DAB(389)IL-2 (ONTAK): a novel fusion toxin therapy for lymphoma. Clin Lymphoma. 2000;1:110–116.; discussion 117.
- Morse MA, et al. Depletion of human regulatory T cells specifically enhances antigen-specific immune responses to cancer vaccines. Blood. 2008;112: 610–8.
- Dannull J, et al. Enhancement of vaccine-mediated antitumor immunity in cancer patients after depletion of regulatory T cells. J Clin Investig. 2005;115: 3623–33.
- 65. Luke JJ, Zha Y, Matijevich K, Gajewski TF. Single dose denileukin diftitox does not enhance vaccineinduced T cell responses or effectively deplete Tregs in advanced melanoma: immune monitoring and clinical results of a randomized phase II trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:35.
- 66. Rasku MA, et al. Transient T cell depletion causes regression of melanoma metastases. J Transl Med. 2008;6:12.
- Telang S, et al. Phase II trial of the regulatory T celldepleting agent, denileukin diftitox, in patients with unresectable stage IV melanoma. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:515.
- Mahnke K, et al. Depletion of CD4+CD25+ human regulatory T cells in vivo: kinetics of Treg depletion and alterations in immune functions in vivo and in vitro. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2723–33.
- 69. Atchison E, et al. A pilot study of denileukin diftitox (DD) in combination with high-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) for patients with metastatic renal cell

carcinoma (RCC). J Immunother. 2010;1997(33): 716–22.

- Melillo JA, et al. Dendritic cell (DC)-specific targeting reveals Stat3 as a negative regulator of DC function. J Immunol. 2010;1950(184):2638–45.
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:685–711.
- Kreitman RJ, et al. Phase I trial of recombinant immunotoxin anti-Tac(Fv)-PE38 (LMB-2) in patients with hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2000;18:1622–36.
- Powell DJ, et al. Administration of a CD25directed immunotoxin, LMB-2, to patients with metastatic melanoma induces a selective partial reduction in regulatory T cells in vivo. J Immunol. 2007;1950(179):4919–28.
- Powell DJ, et al. Partial reduction of human FOXP3+ CD4 T cells in vivo after CD25-directed recombinant immunotoxin administration. J Immunother. 2008;1997(31):189–98.
- Corthay A. How do regulatory T cells work? Scand J Immunol. 2009;70:326–36.
- Sato K, et al. Spatially selective depletion of tumorassociated regulatory T cells with near-infrared photoimmunotherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:352ra110.
- 77. Miyara M, et al. Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. Immunity. 2009;30:899–911.
- Sun W, et al. Blockade of MCP-1/CCR4 signalinginduced recruitment of activated regulatory cells evokes an antitumor immune response in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2016;7: 37714–27.
- 79. Ito A, et al. Defucosylated anti-CCR4 monoclonal antibody exercises potent ADCC-mediated antitumor effect in the novel tumor-bearing humanized NOD/ Shi-scid, IL-2Rgamma(null) mouse model. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58:1195–206.
- Pere H, et al. A CCR4 antagonist combined with vaccines induces antigen-specific CD8+ T cells and tumor immunity against self antigens. Blood. 2011;118:4853–62.
- Duvic M, Evans M, Wang C. Mogamulizumab for the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma: recent advances and clinical potential. Ther Adv Hematol. 2016;7:171–4.
- Sugaya M, et al. CCR4 is expressed on infiltrating cells in lesional skin of early mycosis fungoides and atopic dermatitis. J Dermatol. 2015;42:613–5.
- 83. Ogura M, et al. Multicenter phase II study of mogamulizumab (KW-0761), a defucosylated anti-cc chemokine receptor 4 antibody, in patients with relapsed peripheral T-cell lymphoma and cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1157–63.
- Vidulich KA, Talpur R, Bassett RL, Duvic M. Overall survival in erythrodermic cutaneous T-cell lym-

phoma: an analysis of prognostic factors in a cohort of patients with erythrodermic cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Int J Dermatol. 2009;48:243–52.

- Duvic M, et al. Phase 1/2 study of mogamulizumab, a defucosylated anti-CCR4 antibody, in previously treated patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125:1883–9.
- 86. Ni X, et al. Reduction of regulatory T cells by Mogamulizumab, a defucosylated anti-CC chemokine receptor 4 antibody, in patients with aggressive/ refractory mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:274–85.
- Wei S, Kryczek I, Zou W. Regulatory T-cell compartmentalization and trafficking. Blood. 2006;108:426–31.
- Balkwill F. Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:540–50.
- Teicher BA, Fricker SP. CXCL12 (SDF-1)/CXCR4 pathway in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:2927–31.
- McConnell AT, et al. The prognostic significance and impact of the CXCR4-CXCR7-CXCL12 axis in primary cutaneous melanoma. Br J Dermatol. 2016;175:1210–20.
- 91. Xue B, et al. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) enhances cells invasion by ανβ6 integrin-mediated signaling in ovarian cancer. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013;380:177–84.
- Hartmann TN, Burger JA, Glodek A, Fujii N, Burger M. CXCR4 chemokine receptor and integrin signaling co-operate in mediating adhesion and chemoresistance in small cell lung cancer (SCLC) cells. Oncogene. 2005;24:4462–71.
- Li Y, et al. Co-expression of uPAR and CXCR4 promotes tumor growth and metastasis in small cell lung cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2014;7:3771–80.
- Yasumoto K, et al. Role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66:2181–7.
- Phillips RJ, et al. The stromal derived factor-1/ CXCL12-CXC chemokine receptor 4 biological axis in non-small cell lung cancer metastases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:1676–86.
- 96. Zhang L, Yeger H, Das B, Irwin MS, Baruchel S. Tissue microenvironment modulates CXCR4 expression and tumor metastasis in neuroblastoma. Neoplasia. 2007;9:36–46.
- 97. Yu S, Wang X, Liu G, Zhu X, Chen Y. High level of CXCR4 in triple-negative breast cancer specimens associated with a poor clinical outcome. Acta Med Okayama. 2013;67:369–75.
- 98. Devine SM, et al. Rapid mobilization of CD34+ cells following administration of the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 to patients with multiple myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2004;22:1095–102.
- Duda DG, et al. CXCL12 (SDF1alpha)-CXCR4/ CXCR7 pathway inhibition: an emerging sensitizer for anticancer therapies? Clin. Cancer Res. 2011;17:2074–80.

- 100. Hassan S, et al. CXCR4 peptide antagonist inhibits primary breast tumor growth, metastasis and enhances the efficacy of anti-VEGF treatment or docetaxel in a transgenic mouse model. Int J Cancer. 2011;129:225–32.
- 101. Shaked Y, et al. Rapid chemotherapy-induced acute endothelial progenitor cell mobilization: implications for antiangiogenic drugs as chemosensitizing agents. Cancer Cell. 2008;14:263–73.
- 102. Singh S, Srivastava SK, Bhardwaj A, Owen LB, Singh AP. CXCL12–CXCR4 signalling axis confers gemcitabine resistance to pancreatic cancer cells: a novel target for therapy. Br J Cancer. 2010;103:1671–9.
- 103. Chen Y, et al. CXCR4 inhibition in tumor microenvironment facilitates anti-programmed death receptor-1 immunotherapy in sorafenib-treated hepatocellular carcinoma in mice. Hepatology. 2015;61:1591–602.
- Voron T, et al. Control of the immune response by pro-angiogenic factors. Front Oncol. 2014;4:70.
- 105. Gabrilovich DI, et al. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1996;2:1096–103.
- 106. Huang Y, et al. Distinct roles of VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 in the aberrant hematopoiesis associated with elevated levels of VEGF. Blood. 2007;110:624–31.
- 107. Terme M, et al. VEGFA-VEGFR pathway blockade inhibits tumor-induced regulatory T-cell proliferation in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73:539–49.
- Suzuki H, et al. VEGFR2 is selectively expressed by FOXP3high CD4+ Treg. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:197–203.
- 109. Jaini R, Rayman P, Cohen PA, Finke JH, Tuohy VK. Combination of sunitinib with anti-tumor vaccination inhibits T cell priming and requires careful scheduling to achieve productive immunotherapy. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:1695–705.
- 110. Adotevi O, et al. A decrease of regulatory T cells correlates with overall survival after sunitinib-based antiangiogenic therapy in metastatic renal cancer patients. J Immunother. 2010;1997(33):991–8.
- 111. Nagai H, et al. Sorafenib prevents escape from host immunity in liver cirrhosis patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:1–8.
- 112. Voron T, et al. VEGF-A modulates expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. J Exp Med. 2015;212:139–48.
- 113. Kavanagh B, et al. CTLA4 blockade expands FoxP3+ regulatory and activated effector CD4+ T cells in a dose-dependent fashion. Blood. 2008;112:1175–83.
- 114. Walker LSK. Treg and CTLA-4: two intertwining pathways to immune tolerance. J Autoimmun. 2013;45:49–57.
- 115. Tivol EA, et al. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue

destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity. 1995;3:541–7.

- Waterhouse P, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270:985–8.
- 117. Cross AH, et al. Long-term inhibition of murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis using CTLA-4-fc supports a key role for CD28 costimulation. J Clin Investig. 1995;95:2783–9.
- 118. Lühder F, Höglund P, Allison JP, Benoist C, Mathis D. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) regulates the unfolding of autoimmune diabetes. J Exp Med. 1998;187:427–32.
- 119. Ménard C, et al. Ctla-4 blockade confers lymphocyte resistance to regulatory T-cells in advanced melanoma: surrogate marker of efficacy of tremelimumab? Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:5242–9.
- 120. Phan GQ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100: 8372–7.
- 121. Hodi FS, et al. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:4712–7.
- 122. Takahashi T, et al. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4. J Exp Med. 2000;192:303–10.
- 123. Weber JS, et al. Ipilimumab increases activated T cells and enhances humoral immunity in patients with advanced melanoma. J. Immunother. 2012;1997(35):89–97.
- 124. Tarhini AA, et al. Immune monitoring of the circulation and the tumor microenvironment in patients with regionally advanced melanoma receiving neoadjuvant ipilimumab. PLoS One. 2014;9:e87705.
- 125. Maker AV, Attia P, Rosenberg SA. Analysis of the cellular mechanism of antitumor responses and autoimmunity in patients treated with CTLA-4 blockade. J. Immunol. 2005;1950(175):7746–54.
- 126. Selby MJ, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:32–42.
- 127. Simpson TR, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumorinfiltrating regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. J Exp Med. 2013;210:1695–710.
- 128. Jie H-B, et al. CTLA-4⁺ regulatory T cells increased in Cetuximab-treated head and neck cancer patients suppress NK cell cytotoxicity and correlate with poor prognosis. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2200–10.
- 129. Romano E, et al. Ipilimumab-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity of regulatory T cells ex vivo by nonclassical monocytes in melanoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:6140–5.

- 130. Reuben JM, et al. Biologic and immunomodulatory events after CTLA-4 blockade with ticilimumab in patients with advanced malignant melanoma. Cancer. 2006;106:2437–44.
- 131. Ribas A, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing tremelimumab with standard-of-care chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2013;31:616–22.
- 132. Ribas A, et al. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anticytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2005;23:8968–77.
- 133. Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Principles and use of anti-CTLA4 antibody in human cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2006;18:206–13.
- 134. Krausz LT, et al. GITR-GITRL system, a novel player in shock and inflammation. Sci World J. 2007;7:533–66.
- Kanamaru F, et al. Costimulation via glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor in both conventional and CD25+ regulatory CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;1950(172):7306–14.
- 136. Knee DA, Hewes B, Brogdon JL. Rationale for anti-GITR cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer. 2016;1990(67):1–10.
- 137. Côté AL, et al. Stimulation of the glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor family-related receptor on CD8 T cells induces protective and high-avidity T cell responses to tumor-specific antigens. J Immunol. 2011;186:275–83.
- Ji H, et al. Cutting edge: the natural ligand for glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor-related protein abrogates regulatory T cell suppression. J Immunol. 2004;1950(172):5823–7.
- Bulliard Y, et al. Activating Fc γ receptors contribute to the antitumor activities of immunoregulatory receptor-targeting antibodies. J Exp Med. 2013;210:1685–93.
- 140. Coe D, et al. Depletion of regulatory T cells by anti-GITR mAb as a novel mechanism for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59:1367–77.
- 141. Hu P, et al. Construction and preclinical characterization of Fc-mGITRL for the immunotherapy of cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:579–88.
- 142. Kim I-K, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor-related protein co-stimulation facilitates tumor regression by inducing IL-9producing helper T cells. Nat Med. 2015;21:1010–7.
- 143. Schaer DA, et al. GITR pathway activation abrogates tumor immune suppression through loss of regulatory T-cell lineage stability. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:320–31.
- 144. Turk MJ, et al. Concomitant tumor immunity to a poorly immunogenic melanoma is prevented by regulatory T cells. J Exp Med. 2004;200:771–82.

- 145. Cohen AD, et al. Agonist anti-GITR antibody enhances vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell responses and tumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66:4904–12.
- 146. Lutsiak MEC, Tagaya Y, Adams AJ, Schlom J, Sabzevari H. Tumor-induced impairment of TCR signaling results in compromised functionality of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2008;180:5871–81.
- 147. Ronchetti S, et al. GITR, a member of the TNF receptor superfamily, is costimulatory to mouse T lymphocyte subpopulations. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34:613–22.
- 148. Stephens GL, et al. Engagement of glucocorticoidinduced TNFR family-related receptor on effector T cells by its ligand mediates resistance to suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;173:5008–20.
- 149. Cohen AD, et al. Agonist anti-GITR monoclonal antibody induces melanoma tumor immunity in mice by altering regulatory T cell stability and intratumor accumulation. PLoS One. 2010;5:e10436.
- 150. Stewart RA, et al. Abstract 561: MEDI1873: a novel hexameric GITRL fusion protein with potent agonsitic and immunomodulatory activities in preclinical systems. Cancer Res. 2016;76:561.
- 151. Serghides L, et al. Evaluation of OX40 ligand as a costimulator of human antiviral memory CD8 T cell responses: comparison with B7.1 and 4-1BBL. J Immunol. 2005;175:6368–77.
- 152. Ito T, et al. TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J Exp Med. 2005;202:1213–23.
- 153. Zhang Z, et al. Activation of OX40 augments Th17 cytokine expression and antigen-specific uveitis. Am J Pathol. 2010;177:2912–20.
- 154. Ishii N, Takahashi T, Soroosh P, Sugamura K. OX40-OX40 ligand interaction in T-cell-mediated immunity and immunopathology. Adv Immunol. 2010;105:63–98.
- 155. Murata K, et al. Impairment of antigen-presenting cell function in mice lacking expression of OX40 ligand. J Exp Med. 2000;191:365–74.
- 156. Ohshima Y, et al. Expression and function of OX40 ligand on human dendritic cells. J Immunol. 1997;159:3838–48.
- 157. Morris A, et al. Induction of anti-mammary cancer immunity by engaging the OX-40 receptor in vivo. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2001;67:71–80.
- Montler R, et al. OX40, PD-1 and CTLA-4 are selectively expressed on tumor-infiltrating T cells in head and neck cancer. Clin Transl Immunol. 2016;5:e70.
- 159. Vetto JT, et al. Presence of the T-cell activation marker OX-40 on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and draining lymph node cells from patients with melanoma and head and neck cancers. Am J Surg. 1997;174:258–65.
- 160. Linch SN, McNamara MJ, Redmond WL. OX40 agonists and combination immunotherapy: putting the pedal to the metal. Front Oncol. 2015;5:34.

- Willoughby J, Griffiths J, Tews I, Cragg MS. OX40: structure and function - what questions remain? Mol Immunol. 2017;83:13–22.
- 162. Croft M. Control of immunity by the TNFR-related molecule OX40 (CD134). Annu Rev Immunol. 2010;28:57–78.
- 163. Voo KS, et al. Antibodies targeting human OX40 expand effector T cells and block inducible and natural regulatory T cell function. J Immunol. 2013;191:3641–50.
- 164. Marabelle A, et al. Depleting tumor-specific Tregs at a single site eradicates disseminated tumors. J Clin Investig. 2013;123:2447–63.
- 165. Bulliard Y, et al. OX40 engagement depletes intratumoral Tregs via activating FcγRs, leading to antitumor efficacy. Immunol Cell Biol. 2014;92:475–80.
- 166. Aspeslagh S, et al. Rationale for anti-OX40 cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer. 2016;52:50–66.
- 167. Bansal-Pakala P, Jember AG, Croft M. Signaling through OX40 (CD134) breaks peripheral T-cell tolerance. Nat Med. 2001;7:907–12.
- Jensen SM, et al. Signaling through OX40 enhances antitumor immunity. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:524–32.
- Redmond WL, Weinberg AD. Targeting OX40 and OX40L for the treatment of autoimmunity and cancer. Crit Rev Immunol. 2007;27:415–36.
- 170. Kjaergaard J, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of OX-40 receptor antibody depends on tumor immunogenicity and anatomic site of tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2000;60:5514–21.
- 171. Murphy KA, et al. An in vivo immunotherapy screen of costimulatory molecules identifies Fc-OX40L as a potent reagent for the treatment of establishedmurinegliomas.ClinCancerRes.2012;18: 4657–68.
- 172. Piconese S, Valzasina B, Colombo MP. OX40 triggering blocks suppression by regulatory T cells and facilitates tumor rejection. J Exp Med. 2008;205:825–39.
- 173. Redmond WL, Ruby CE, Weinberg AD. The role of OX40-mediated co-stimulation in T-cell activation and survival. Crit Rev Immunol. 2009;29:187–201.
- 174. Sadun RE, et al. Fc-mOX40L fusion protein produces complete remission and enhanced survival in 2 murine tumor models. J Immunother. 2008;1997(31):235–45.
- 175. Guo Z, et al. PD-1 blockade and OX40 triggering synergistically protects against tumor growth in a murine model of ovarian cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9:e89350.
- 176. Kitamura N, et al. OX40 costimulation can abrogate Foxp3+ regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of antitumor immunity. Int J Cancer. 2009;125:630–8.

- 177. Qian J, et al. Active vaccination with Dickkopf-1 induces protective and therapeutic antitumor immunity in murine multiple myeloma. Blood. 2012;119:161–9.
- 178. Curti BD, et al. OX40 is a potent immune-stimulating target in late-stage cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2013;73:7189–98.
- 179. Deaglio S, et al. Adenosine generation catalyzed by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1257–65.
- 180. Heine P, et al. The C-terminal cysteine-rich region dictates specific catalytic properties in chimeras of the ectonucleotidases NTPDase1 and NTPDase2. Eur J Biochem. 2001;268:364–73.
- 181. Hunsucker SA, Mitchell BS, Spychala J. The 5'-nucleotidases as regulators of nucleotide and drug metabolism. Pharmacol Ther. 2005;107:1–30.
- 182. Thiel M, Caldwell CC, Sitkovsky MV. The critical role of adenosine A2A receptors in downregulation of inflammation and immunity in the pathogenesis of infectious diseases. Microbes Infect. 2003;5:515–26.
- Milne GR, Palmer TM. Anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of the A2A adenosine receptor. Sci World J. 2011;11:320–39.
- Kinsey GR, et al. Autocrine adenosine signaling promotes regulatory T cell-mediated renal protection. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23:1528–37.
- 185. Ohta A, et al. The development and immunosuppressive functions of CD4(+) CD25(+) FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells are under influence of the adenosine-A2A adenosine receptor pathway. Front Immunol. 2012;3:190.
- Allard B, Beavis PA, Darcy PK, Stagg J. Immunosuppressive activities of adenosine in cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2016;29:7–16.
- 187. Pulte D, et al. CD39 expression on T lymphocytes correlates with severity of disease in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:367–72.
- Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Extracellular adenosine triphosphate and adenosine in cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29:5346–58.
- 189. Young A, Mittal D, Stagg J, Smyth MJ. Targeting cancer-derived adenosine: new therapeutic approaches. Cancer Discov. 2014;4:879–88.
- Hay CM, et al. Targeting CD73 in the tumor microenvironment with MEDI9447. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1208875.
- 191. De Simone M, et al. Transcriptional landscape of human tissue lymphocytes unveils uniqueness of tumor-infiltrating T regulatory cells. Immunity. 2016;45:1135–47.

Synergy Between Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy

30

Sandra Demaria, Sophia Bornstein, and Silvia C. Formenti

Contents

30.1	Introduction	507
30.2	Radiation: Current Clinical Use and Local Effects	508
30.3	From Local to Abscopal: Radiotherapy and Systemic Tumor Control	509
30.4	Augmenting Local Control: Radiotherapy Effects that Promote the Effector Phase of the Antitumor Immune Response	510
30.5	Inducing Abscopal Effects: Radiotherapy Effects that Promote Priming of Antitumor T Cells	512
30.6	A Balancing Act: Negative Regulators of Antitumor Immunity Elicited by Radiation in the Tumor Microenvironment	514
30.7	Revisiting Current Treatment Protocols: Lymphopenia Induced by Local Radiotherapy	514
30.8	Exploiting Radiation Effects to Improve Responses to Immunotherapy	515
30.9	Clinical Translation of Combinations of Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy: A Work in Progress	517

S. Demaria • S. Bornstein • S.C. Formenti (⊠) Department of Radiation Oncology, Weill Cornell Medicine, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY, USA e-mail: formenti@med.cornell.edu

30.1 Introduction

Radiotherapy has been used for over 50 years as an effective modality to kill cancer cells. Much of the efforts to improve its efficacy have been focused on improving dose delivery to the tumor while sparing as much as possible normal tissue around it. This task has inspired generations of biologists and clinical investigators to study the mechanisms of radiation damage and repair of different tissues. A century of preclinical and clinical research has established the basic principle of dose fractionation, with well-established protocols to safely deliver a cytocidal dose to the tumor while enabling recovery of normal tissue often with daily regimens delivered over several weeks [1]. More recently, technological progress has resulted in linear accelerators that very precisely target of the tumor and its movement during dose delivery, enabling safety of regimens with fewer, larger doses of radiation [2]. Noticeably, this approach has demonstrated not only to be more convenient for the patients but often to achieve better results in tumor control. Since hypofractionated radiation has often resulted in

outcomes comparable to those of surgery, it has gained the naming of "ablative radiotherapy."

In this the new era of immuno-oncology, with the unequivocal demonstration that the immune system is a critical barrier to tumor progression that can be unleashed therapeutically to treat cancer [3], radiation is taking on a new role, that of an "adjuvant" that can increase the response of cancer patients to immunotherapy [4].

In this chapter we will provide an overview of current standard of care in radiotherapy and discuss examples of unexpected effects outside the radiation field (abscopal effects) observed in patients that were concurrently receiving an immunotherapy. The immunological mechanisms underlying abscopal effects will be presented, and the evidence that radiation can synergize with immune checkpoint inhibitors and other immunotherapies will be reviewed. Finally, we will highlight some of the existing barriers and opportunities in developing this new field of immune-radiation oncology.

30.2 Radiation: Current Clinical Use and Local Effects

Historically, the field of radiation oncology developed on tenants of radiobiology related to dose and fractionation schemes required to eradicate tumor cells, taking advantage of their reduced capacity to repair DNA damage. Tumor treatment models were largely based on in vitro modeling, i.e., cell survival curves. In addition, traditional preclinical models and clinical experience provided guidance on how best to protect neighboring critical structures. This led to the widespread use of 1.8-2.0 Gray (Gy) fraction sizes given daily to minimize toxicity, allowing for normal tissues sufficient time to repair DNA damage between doses. Because of the relatively low doses per day, traditional courses require 5–7 weeks to deliver a sufficient cumulative dose to eradicate tumor cells. Most radiation schemes retaining this protracted course remain standard of care for a curative treatment in breast, prostate, rectal, pancreatic, primary brain, and head and neck cancers.

Efforts to delineate patterns of spread for each disease site often inspired from the patterns of recurrence after radiotherapy or surgery gave rise to the idea of "clinical target volumes" or CTVs, which include not only the visible tumor (gross tumor volume or GTV) but also subclinical tridimensional margin around the tumor including regional draining lymph nodes (Fig. 30.1). Treating these larger volumes has the goal of eradicating all tumor cells in the locoregional area, to prevent recurrence and, possibly, reduce distant spread. Typically a second margin is added to the CTV that further increases the treated volume to the "planning target volume" or PTV. The latter margin takes into account potential differences in the daily reproducibility of the patient position. With older imaging techniques, the combined total field as described often includes significantly large anatomic areas and, despite the low dose per day, can result in significant side effects. Moreover, excessive reduction of daily doses compromises tumor control. With the advent and rapid adoption of intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), higher gradients of dose can be reliably delivered allowing better protection of neighboring normal tissue. In parallel, image-guided radiation therapy (IGRT), including daily on-treatment computed tomography (CT) imaging, has led to a



Fig. 30.1 Margins used in radiation treatment. *GTV* gross tumor volume, *CTV* clinical target volume, *PTV* planning target volume

more precise definition of the target and reduction in size of the volume of normal tissue treated, with decreased side effects. While PTVs can be reduced, CTVs generally have not significantly changed but are often better targeted with modern equipment that better controls for physiological movements of the CTV between and during dose delivery.

One rapidly evolving area is in the treatment of patients with metastatic disease. Radiation is commonly delivered to palliate symptoms such as pain, bleeding, or neurological symptoms from mechanical compression of growing tumors. In this setting, shorter regimens have shown similar efficacy with the endpoint of symptom control. For example, the landmark palliative study RTOG 97-14 randomized breast and prostate cancer patients with painful bony metastases to 30 Gy in 10 fractions compared to 8 Gy given in a single fraction and showed equivalent pain relief [5]. This has led the American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) to recommend this single-fraction treatment in appropriately selected patients for pain relief [6].

In addition to shortening treatment schemes, reduction or elimination of CTV margins is implemented when treating metastases. Improved immobilization and imaging techniques assure adequate coverage of the target with a precision that matches that of surgery and enables much less normal tissue in the field. Safe delivery of doses in the range of 6-30 Gy or higher, over 1-5 fractions, can be achieved, defined as stereotactic radiation treatments (stereotactic radiosurgery or SRS, stereotactic body radiotherapy or SBRT, stereotactic ablative radiotherapy or SABR). For each dose erogation, the patient is immobilized and imaged in the treatment position to ensure the target is treated accurately. Stereotactic treatments are a promising way to deliver a higher dose per fraction with low toxicity rates compared to traditional fields: they are commonly used to treat metastases to the adrenal gland, spine, liver, lung, and brain in appropriately selected patients. One of the most standard applications of this newer technique is treating metastases to the brain, where spearing normal tissue is of particular importance. Prior to stereotactic

treatments, patients with brain metastases were treated with radiation to the whole brain, generally with 30 Gy over 10 fractions. Whole brain radiation is associated with significant acute and chronic toxicity, including nausea, vomiting, hair loss, confusion, and cognitive decline. Stereotactic treatments that treat brain metastases result in minimal cognitive decline by sparing the normal brain. They are becoming the standard of care for an increasing number of patients, depending on the number and type of metastatic lesions and life expectancy. Supporting this trend, a recent individual patient data meta-analysis showed that for patients less than 50 years old, stereotactic treatment alone (without the addition of whole brain radiotherapy) was associated with improved survival [7].

The use of a single-fraction dose for stereotactic treatments to brain metastases was studied in RTOG 90-05, a trial of single-fraction dose escalation based on the size of brain metastasis [8]. While higher doses had minimal toxicity for small lesions (less than 2 cm), treatment of larger lesions was associated with neurotoxicity including radionecrosis (necrosis of brain tissue as a result of radiation). Thus, caution needs to be employed when delivering high doses in a single fraction, and many centers split the single dose into 3–5 fractions to reduce toxicity particularly for larger tumors.

30.3 From Local to Abscopal: Radiotherapy and Systemic Tumor Control

While the cytotoxic effects of radiotherapy are exquisitely local, occasional distant tumor regression outside of the irradiated field has been observed and defined by Mole in 1953 as abscopal effect (ab scopus, outside the target) [9]. Abscopal effects have been reported in a number of different malignancies but are rarely seen with radiation alone [10]. Interestingly, abscopal responses have been seen with increased frequency when radiotherapy was used in melanoma patients progressing during treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors [11–14]. These

clinical observations, together with accumulated experimental evidence that the abscopal effect is mediated by T cells [15, 16], have raised a lot of interest in the possibility of using radiation to increase responses to immunotherapy. As detailed in the following sections, many clinical trials are exploring combinations of radiotherapy with various immunomodulators.

It remains to be established if the ability of radiation to exert an abscopal effect is dependent on the intrinsic immunogenicity of a tumor. Dramatic abscopal effects have been observed in combination with ipilimumab in melanoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [13, 17], two malignancies with a high mutational burden and a higher likelihood of expressing neoantigens recognized by T cells [18, 19]. On the other hand, abscopal responses elicited by radiation alone have also been reported in patients with renal cell carcinoma, a tumor type with low mutational burden but a propensity to respond to immunotherapy [20, 21]. Moreover, abscopal responses elicited by radiation alone or in combination with different immunomodulators have been seen in a variety of other malignancies [22– 30]. Overall, these data suggest that abscopal effects can be elicited by radiation across several tumor types. However, it is presently unknown if some degree of pre-existing antitumor immunity is required.

It has also been suggested that the location of the irradiated metastatic site determines the likelihood of achieving abscopal effects [31]. While it is conceivable that, due to tumor heterogeneity and organ-specific features, different metastases generate a more or less immunosuppressive microenvironment, there is currently no evidence to guide the choice of site to be irradiated to achieve abscopal responses [32].

Overall, extensive work in preclinical tumor models has demonstrated that radiation can elicit antitumor T cells that contribute to control of the irradiated tumor [33–35]. However, abscopal effects have been more difficult to achieve, probably because they require a broader and more robust antitumor T cell response, capable of recognizing multiple antigens to account for possible tumor heterogeneity and overcoming the

barriers present within the microenvironment of nonirradiated metastases. For a given tumor, it is likely that the strength of the immune response induced by radiotherapy is determined by the immunotherapy agent and radiation regimen used. Experimental evidence in mouse models of breast and colorectal carcinoma unresponsive to immune checkpoint inhibitors showed abscopal responses only when radiation was added and suggested that the radiation regimen is critical: with antibody targeting cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated protein 4 (CTLA-4), a single dose of 20 Gy was ineffective, while 6 Gy X 5 and 8 Gy X 3, given in consecutive days, achieved complete and partial abscopal responses [16]. While in the clinic the best radiation regimen to be used in combination with immunotherapy remains undefined, it is intriguing that, at least in combination with anti-CTLA-4, abscopal responses were achieved with the use of radiation regimens similar to the ones effective in mice [13, 17, 36].

30.4 Augmenting Local Control: Radiotherapy Effects that Promote the Effector Phase of the Antitumor Immune Response

The observation that in mice lacking a normal T cell compartment, higher radiation doses were required to achieve cure of irradiated tumors when compared to immunocompetent mice first implicated T cells in the local response to radiation [33]. This early finding was confirmed experimentally three decades later with the use of mouse tumors bearing model antigens [34, 35]. It remains to be determined to which degree T cells contribute to local radiotherapy responses in patients. Model antigens like ovalbumin are convenient for proof-of-principle studies, but their high immunogenicity and levels of expression fail to mimic the reality of cancer patients, with tumors that have gradually evolved to escape the immune system.

In addition, radiotherapy also evokes immunosuppressive signaling. For instance, when two poorly immunogenic mouse carcinomas were treated with radiotherapy, CD8⁺ T cell responses to three endogenous antigens were seen only upon neutralization of TGF β , a strongly immunosuppressive cytokine that is activated by radiation [37]. In patients, evidence of priming of tumorspecific T cells following standard-of-care radiotherapy alone is scant [38]. Thus, it is possible that the priming of T cell by radiation occurs only when radiation is combined with immunotherapy. Noticeably, in patients with a pre-existing antitumor T cell response [39], radiation can reactivate a stalled immune response by countering two key immune escape mechanisms at the effector phase of antitumor immunity: T cell exclusion from the tumor microenvironment and reduced cancer cells antigenicity due to downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) antigen-presenting molecules on cancer cells [40, 41] (Fig. 30.2).

Radiation-induced changes that counter T cell exclusion include release of chemokines that attract effector T cell to the tumor [42, 43] and increased expression of adhesion molecules on the vascular endothelium that facilitate T cell infiltration, as demonstrated in mouse breast and melanoma models [34]. In addition, reprogramming of tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) by radiation has been shown to cooperate with adoptive T cell transfer to allow rejection of pancreatic tumors by promoting vascular normalization [44]. Interestingly, increased infiltration of irradiated tumors by T cells activated by peripheral vaccination was also seen in an orthotopic mouse model of brain glioma, suggesting that it can occur in a variety of solid tumor types growing in different anatomical locations [45].

Upregulation of MHC-I expression by radiation has been shown in multiple mouse and human cancer cells in vitro and in vivo [45–48]. In vitro, increased MHC-I improved lysis of the irradiated cancer cells by CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (CTL), and in vivo it improved tumor rejection mediated by adoptively transferred and vaccineactivated T cells [45–47]. In addition to increasing the antigenicity of cancer cells, radiation has also been shown to increase the expression of stress-induced ligands that bind to the NK group 2, member D (NKG2D) receptor expressed by CTL and natural killer (NK) cells and promote killing of the cancer cells by these effectors



Fig. 30.2 Radiotherapy effects that promote the effector phase of the antitumor immune response. *Left*, cytotoxic T cells (CTL) are present but unable to enter the tumor due to the vascular barrier, which is promoted by pro-angiogenic tumor-associated macrophages (*TAM*). In addition, downregulation of MHC-I on the cancer cells

precludes their recognition by CTL. *Right*, radiation reprograms the macrophages leading to vascular normalization, which allows tumor infiltration by CTLs. In addition, radiation upregulates MHC-I, NKD2D ligands, and Fas on the cancer cells, making them good targets for recognition and elimination by CTLs

[49–52]. Another way that radiation increases killing of cancer cells by T cells is by inducing the expression of death receptor Fas/CD95 [53].

Thus, multiple effects of radiation on the cancer cells and tumor microenvironment cooperate to enhance immune-mediated tumor rejection. Adaptive immunity may contribute to local tumor control achieved by radiotherapy if patients have pre-existing antitumor T cells [39]. In addition, tumor-targeted radiotherapy can sensitize resistant metastases to adoptively transferred T cells, as shown in preclinical studies [47, 53]. Radiation may also recover tumor responses to other immunotherapies that activate endogenous antitumor T cells. Downregulation of MHC-I in tumors is one of the mechanisms of resistance to multiple immunotherapies [54] including programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) blockade [55], and recent work in a mouse model of PD-1 resistant lung cancer suggests that at least in some cases, radiation-induced upregulation of MHC-I molecules on the cancer cells overcame resistance to anti-PD-1 treatment [56].

30.5 Inducing Abscopal Effects: Radiotherapy Effects that Promote Priming of Antitumor T Cells

Generating antitumor T cells in patients lacking such natural responses remains one of the major challenges in cancer immunotherapy. While presumably all cancers are recognized by the immune system during the course of their development, a majority of tumors that become clinically detectable escape by editing out the antigens recognized by T cells [57]. However, the genetic instability intrinsic to neoplasia fuels the generation of more mutations that can be antigenic and be targets of strong antitumor responses [58]. Rather a major barrier to development of antitumor T cells is exclusion and dysfunction of dendritic cells [59–61].

Radiation has the ability to overcome, at least in part, this major barrier to the priming of antitumor T cells (Fig. 30.3). There is evidence in experimental models that radiation increases

the recruitment of DCs to the tumor and their activation, mediated by danger signals that are released during immunogenic cell death (ICD) induced by radiation [62–65]. Wellcharacterized danger signals released during ICD include calreticulin translocation to the surface of the dying cells that promotes their uptake by DCs, release of high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB-1) that binds to Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on DCs, and ATP that activates the inflammasome in the DCs downstream to P2XR7 receptor [63, 66, 67]. In addition, when DNA from the irradiated cancer cells finds its way to the cytosol of DCs, it activates the production of interferon type I (IFN-I) via the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway providing another signal that acts in autocrine fashion to activate DCs [68].

Generation of the above signals depends on stress response pathways activated, while cancer cells are dying, including the unfolded protein response and autophagy [69]. Cell death after irradiation of cancer cells occurs in a variety of ways, depending on which survival/apoptosis pathways are activated, as well as the type of tumor microenvironment treated and the radiation dose and fractionation used [70]. Importantly, the availability of DCs limits the magnitude of antitumor T cell responses primed by radiation, and the activation of immunosuppressive mechanisms hinders the process [37, 71]. Thus, while radiation can convert the tumor into an immunogenic hub, it tends to provide a suboptimal vaccination. In the clinic most established cancers are poorly immunogenic. To successfully achieve priming of robust antitumor T cell responses, they require immunotherapies that block suppressive pathways or enhance immune stimulation [72]. Successful combinations have been achieved in preclinical studies with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting CTLA-4, PD-1, and PDL-1, as well as agonistic antibodies to costimulatory receptor CD137 and TLR agonists [73–79].

The issue of whether radiotherapy induces neoantigens remains unsettled. In most studies, priming of T cell responses by radiation used alone or in combination with immunotherapy has



513

Fig. 30.3 Radiotherapy effects that promote priming of antitumor T cells. *Right*, danger signals generated by irradiated cancer cells drive dendritic cell (DC) recruitment to the tumor, where they uptake dying cancer cells and become activated. Activated DCs carry the antigens to the tumor-draining lymph node (TDLN) where they cross-

prime tumor-specific T cells. Primed T cells become cytotoxic T cells (CTL) that go to both the irradiated tumor (*right*) and nonirradiated metastases (*left*) mediating the complete regression of the irradiated tumor and abscopal responses

been measured for a single antigenic epitope, often an immunodominant endogenous antigen or an exogenous reporter antigen introduced into the cancer cells (e.g., ovalbumin, OVA). To obtain a broader view of CD8+ T cell responses elicited by radiation, we have analyzed responses to four distinct epitopes derived from three antigens that are overexpressed in cancer cells, the antiapoptotic protein survivin, the epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) transcription factor Twist, and the envelope of an endogenous retrovirus gp70. Responses to all four epitopes were coordinately elicited by radiation of the poorly immunogenic mouse 4T1 mammary carcinoma when inhibition of radiation-induced DC activation was prevented by TGF^β neutralization [37]. Thus, removal of critical immunosuppressive blocks unleashes the potential of radiation to elicit a broad T cell response. Work is ongoing to comprehensively evaluate the repertoire of T cell clones primed following radiation.

In addition to antigenic specificity, the number and persistence of the antitumor T cells

primed by radiation are likely to be critical for abscopal responses. In fact, abscopal responses are rarely seen despite the fact that the irradiated tumor is successfully rejected and represent a more stringent test of effective in situ vaccination by radiation [80]. As mentioned above in Sect. 30.3, the dose of radiation and its fractionation seem to be critical determinants of the ability of radiation to induce abscopal responses in combination with anti-CTLA-4. Doses of 6-8 Gy repeated three to five times achieved abscopal responses but not a single higher radiation dose of 20 Gy [16]. Recent data indicate that the difference between effective and ineffective radiation regimens is due to their differential ability to induce cancer cell-intrinsic activation of IFN-I pathway (Vanpouille-Box, Formenti, and Demaria, manuscript submitted). Overall, the optimal radiation regimens when radiotherapy is harnessed as an adjuvant for immunotherapy may be distinct from those employed in the practice of radiation oncology, an issue of paramount importance for clinical translation [4].

30.6 A Balancing Act: Negative Regulators of Antitumor Immunity Elicited by Radiation in the Tumor Microenvironment

Tumor escape from immune-mediated control that allows tumor progression involves multiple immunosuppressive pathways which are variably utilized by each given tumor [81]. While radiation, as discussed above, can mitigate or counter some of them, it also exacerbates others [82]. Acute activation of latent TGFβ by radiation is due to its dissociation from the latency-associated peptide mediated by a ROS-induced conformational change of the latter [83, 84]. TGF β is a strongly immunosuppressive cytokine with effects on multiple immune cells [85]. For instance, activation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells in the presence of TGF_β facilitates their conversion into regulatory T cells [86, 87]. It remains unclear if radiationinduced TGF^β activation contributes to the radiation-induced increase in regulatory T cells that has been reported in some studies [88, 89]. On the other hand, as discussed above, inhibition of DC activation by TGF_β is a clear barrier to radiation-induced priming of antitumor T cells [37].

Increased recruitment of myeloid cells to the tumor has been shown to be driven by radiationinduced upregulation of colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF1) in prostate cancer [90] and by C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2) in pancreatic adenocarcinoma [91]. The recruited myeloid cells differentiated into immunosuppressive TAMs to orchestrate a tissue repair program promoting angiogenesis and tumor progression, a functional polarization fostered by hypoxia, which is exacerbated after extensive endothelial cell death caused by high-dose (>10Gy) radiation [92, 93]. Interestingly, while vascular death has been implicated in cures by high-dose radiation [94], recent work using an elegant spontaneous carcinogenesis model with selective deletion of ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) in either endothelial or sarcoma cells demonstrated that the increased death of ATM-deficient endothelial cells failed to improve tumor eradication by SBRT [95]. While the role of the immune system in tumor eradication was not evaluated in this study, it is intriguing to consider if TAMmediated immunosuppression played a role in precluding tumor eradication.

Radiation also upregulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF1- α), a key transcription factor that, in addition to promoting angiogenesis [96], induces PD-L1 expression on both tumor cells and myeloid cells in the tumor microenvironment, inhibiting T cell-mediated tumor rejection [97, 98].

Thus, the effects of radiation are complex and dependent on several variables, including the tumor type, the pre-existing tumor microenvironment, and the radiation dose used. Improved understanding of treatment protocols and combinations that strike the right balance of immuneactivating versus immunosuppressive signals is critical for the optimal use of radiotherapy to generate an in situ tumor vaccine.

30.7 Revisiting Current Treatment Protocols: Lymphopenia Induced by Local Radiotherapy

An important practical consideration for the use of radiation in combination with immunotherapy is the volume of tissue that is irradiated or "field size." As discussed in the beginning of the chapter, traditional techniques use large fields and often include draining lymph nodes and adjacent bones, with hematopoietic marrow. Despite these efforts to include and treat microscopic disease at the margins of a tumor, in many cases such as advanced head and neck cancer, locoregional recurrence rates remain ~40%, even with high total doses, large CTV, and significant short- and long-term toxicity. Traditional radiobiological paradigms explain these failures as inadequacy of radiation dose or the margins. However, with the emerging role of radiation in activating the immune system to control cancer cells, this

paradigm is being reevaluated. One key adverse effect of large field radiation is killing of lymphocytes that reside or are circulating (and exposed when the beam is on, during radiation delivery) within the irradiated region. Since lymphocytes are very radiosensitive, their exposure reduces the availability of cells that might participate in tumor rejection.

Radiation-induced lymphopenia has been modeled in glioblastoma multiforme [99], which also often incorporates large fields to the brain, an organ highly perfused. Severe and persistent treatment-related lymphopenia occurs in 40% of patients undergoing standard treatment. Importantly, lymphopenia predicted for decreased survival: hazard ratio for death attributable to 2-month CD4 count below 200 = 1.66(p = 0.03) [100].

In a modeling effort to predict this effect on blood, the mean radiation dose to circulating lymphocytes was calculated to be 2.2 Gy, and after 30 fractions, 99% of circulating blood had received ≥ 0.5 Gy, which was dependent on the margins used [99]. To examine the impact of margins on lymphopenia in the setting of locally advanced pancreatic cancer, total lymphocyte counts were recently compared between stereotactic and standard tridimensional fields of treatment [101]. At 2 months, 46% compared to 13.6% of patients were severely lymphopenic with standard compared to stereotactic treatment. Again, higher total lymphocyte counts posttreatment were associated with improved overall survival, further indicating the detrimental effects of large treatment fields.

Irradiation of circulating T cells may have significant effects on maintenance of immunological memory, which requires continuous homeostatic turnover [102]. In addition, functional impairments in the T cell compartment have been reported. T cells harvested during radiotherapy from peripheral blood of patients and restimulated in vitro showed reduced proliferation, with impairment still detectable 4 weeks after completion of radiotherapy [103]. Persistent lymphopenia post-radiotherapy has been linked to a persistent failure of homeostatic cytokine responses [104]. Thus, considerations for the volume of tissue irradiated and the number of fractions used are likely to be critical for successful combinations of radiotherapy and immunotherapy. Preliminary evidence suggests that classical regimens of fractionated radiotherapy protracted over 4–8 weeks of daily fractionation to large target volumes should be avoided.

30.8 Exploiting Radiation Effects to Improve Responses to Immunotherapy

The priming and effector phases of the antitumor immune response are modulated by multiple checkpoints that need to be countered to generate a clinically effective tumor rejection. Immunotherapies currently approved or under investigation target one or a few of the blocks but in many cases have failed to achieve detectable clinical responses [105]. The ability of radiation to affect many processes at both the priming and effector phase makes it an especially attractive partner in combination with different immunotherapies. Examples of preclinical combination studies are listed in Table 30.1. While Table 30.1 is not exhaustive of the large available literature, the data illustrated provides strong support for the hypothesis that radiation can work in concert with different strategies to improve tumor control. Interestingly, the radiation doses tested in different studies vary widely, but in only few studies, different doses and fractionation schema have been tested side by side, precluding in most cases any conclusion about the most effective dose. Moreover, only a few studies carefully examine the effects of the combinations on abscopal tumors. While in-field control is a necessary condition for abscopal responses, enhanced in-field responses don't necessarily translate to abscopal effects. Thus, preclinical data should be used with caution to infer which radiation dose(s) should be tested in clinical studies [4].

Main step of antitumor immune response targeted	Agent	Main effect	Radiotherapy tested	Reference(s)
Tumor antigen presentation	Flt3-ligand	Growth factor for DCs, increased systemic availability of DCs	60 Gy X 1 2 Gy and 6 Gy X1	[106] [15]
	Exogenous DC s.c., i.v. Exogenous DC s.c., i.t.	Increase local and systemic availability of DCs Increased availability of DCs in irradiated tumor	10 Gy X 3–5 8.5 Gy X 5 15 Gy X 1	[62] [107] [108]
	CpG s.c. peri- tumorally and i.t.	TLR9 agonist, DCs activation	10–55 Gy X 1	[109]
	Imiquimod, topical R848, i.v.	TLR7 agonist, local DCs activation TLR7 agonist, systemic DCs activation	8 Gy X 3 10 Gy X 1	[78] [110]
	ECI301 (CCL3 variant) i.v. 2'3'-cGAMP, i.t. Vaccinia and avipox recombinants expressing CEA and T cell costimulatory molecules Autologous tumor cell vaccine expressing GM-CSF	Recruitment of DCs, T cells, NK cells STING agonist, IFN-I production Generation of tumor antigen- specific T cells	6 Gy X 1 20 Gy X 1 8 Gy X 1 4 Gy X 2	[111] [68] [46] [45]
T cell priming and activation	Anti-CTLA-4 antibody, i.p.	Immune checkpoint inhibitor	12 Gy X 1–2 6 Gy X 5, 8 Gy X 3, 20 Gy x 1	[73] [16]
	Anti-CD137 antibody, i.v or i.p.	Costimulatory receptor agonist	5 Gy X 1, 10 Gy X 1, 15 Gy X 1 4 Gy X 2	[112] [76]
	Anti-OX40 antibody, i.p. IL-2, i.t. NHS-IL-2 (fusion of antibody to necrotic DNA with modified IL-2), i.v. TGFβ neutralizing antibody, i.p.	Costimulatory receptor agonist T cell growth factor Modified T cell growth factor, targeted to tumor Blocks TGFβ immunosuppressive effects on DC and T cells	20 Gy X 3 2 Gy X 10 3.6 Gy X 5 6 Gy X 5	[113] [114] [115] [37]
Killing of cancer cells	Anti-PD-1 antibody, i.p. Anti-PDL-1 antibody, i.p. Adoptively transferred T cells	Immune checkpoint inhibitor Blocks PD-1 ligand on tumor cells/infiltrating myeloid cells Activated tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells	12 Gy X 1 10 Gy X 1 12 Gy X 1, 20 Gy X 1 2 Gy X 5 8 Gy X 1 10 Gy X 1 2 Gy X 1	[77] [116] [74] [75] [53] [47] [44]
	CSF1R inhibitor	Reduced post-RT recruitment of MDSC and TAM	3 Gy X 5 5 Gy X 1	[90] [117]

 Table 30.1
 Radiotherapy improves responses to multiple immunotherapies in preclinical tumor models

CEA carcinoembryonic antigen, *CpG* C-G enriched, synthetic oligodeoxynucleotide, *CTLA-4* T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4, *DC* dendritic cells, *GM-CSF* granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, *i.p.* intraperitoneally, *i.t.* intratumorally, *i.v.* intravenously, *MDSC* myeloid-derived suppressor cells, *MHC* major histocompatibility complex, *NK* natural killer cells, *PD-1* programmed death-1, *s.c.* subcutaneously, *TAM* tumor-associated macrophages, *TLR* Toll-like receptor

30.9 Clinical Translation of Combinations of Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy: A Work in Progress

Some of the combinations of radiation and immunotherapy that were shown to have additive or synergistic effects in preclinical models have been tested in the clinic. Pioneering studies tested strategies to increase antigen-presenting cell function and/or activation with the use of growth factors (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, GM-CSF) or TLR agonists (CpG) achieving close to 30% abscopal responses in solid tumors and lymphoma, respectively [27, 30].

Recent groundbreaking success of checkpoint inhibitors targeting CTLA-4 and PD-1 signaling has led to rapid FDA approval of multiple agents (nivolumab, pembrolizumab, ipilimumab, and atezolizumab) for metastatic melanoma, lung cancer, renal cell carcinoma, urothelial cancer, head and neck cancer, and Hodgkin lymphoma. However, the response rates of single-agent checkpoint inhibitors remain ~15-30%, depending on the disease, and resistance develops in the majority of cases [118]. Thus, radiation is being investigated in combination with these agents for the ability to overcome resistance and potential to generate a more robust and prolonged response in close to a hundred trials [119]. Most of these studies are in the phase I/II setting; however the combination of radiation and PD1 inhibition is currently being tested in phase III studies in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NCT02768558), head and neck cancer (NCT03040999), and glioblastoma (NCT02617589).

A few studies have reported results. In a phase III trial, 799 patients with castrate-resistant metastatic prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel treatment were randomized to receive a single 8 Gy radiation dose to a bone lesion followed by ipilimumab (10 mg/kg) or placebo every 3 weeks for up to 4 doses. The endpoint of improved survival in ipilimumab versus placebo group was not achieved [120]. However, within the group of patients with better prognostic characteristics and no visceral metastases, ipilimumab improved median survival, suggesting that selection of patients with less advanced disease and possibly a better immune function may be important [121].

Results of two phase I trials testing radiotherapy and ipilimumab in metastatic melanoma have been reported, both enrolling 22 patients. In both studies, the toxicities were similar to what is expected with ipilimumab alone. In the first study, 18% of patients had partial response (best outcome), and 18% showed stable disease in nonirradiated lesions [122], an outcome not significantly different from what would be expected with ipilimumab alone [123]. In the second study, 27.3% of patients had objective responses, including three patients with complete response and three with partial response, and 22.7% had stable disease [124]. Complete responses are rarely seen in melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab alone, suggesting that the addition of radiation can indeed enhance responses. Interestingly, the two studies differed in the sequencing of radiation and ipilimumab: ipilimumab was given 3-5 days after radiation in the first study and within 5 days before radiation in the second study, suggesting the possibility that sequencing is critical. Administration of immune checkpoint inhibitors before or during radiation was also shown to be more effective than administration after radiation in preclinical studies [75, 125].

Results have also been reported for the phase I of a phase I/II trial (NCT02239900) testing SBRT with ipilimumab in advanced solid tumors, including NSCLC (n = 8), colorectal carcinoma (n = 4), sarcoma (n = 3), and renal cell carcinoma (n = 3), with a total of 31 patients evaluable for abscopal responses. SBRT was given at 12.5 Gy X 4 fractions or 6 Gy X 10 fractions to a metastasis in either the liver or the lungs concurrently with ipilimumab or sequentially (1 week after the second dose). Clinical benefit (partial response or stable disease lasting 6 months or longer in nonirradiated lesions) was seen in 23% of patients. This result is encouraging in tumors known to be largely unresponsive to ipilimumab alone but too early to determine whether the radiation dose, site of irradiation, or sequencing with ipilimumab make a difference [126]. Increased peripheral blood CD8⁺ T cells and CD8/CD4 T cell ratio was associated with clinical benefit. Interestingly, greater expression of some T cell activation markers was seen in patients receiving radiation to the liver than lung, but this remains to be validated.

Very encouraging results of a phase II clinical trial (NCT02221739) testing radiation and ipilimumab in chemotherapy-refractory metastatic NSCLC were reported by our group at the ASTRO meeting [36]. Of 21 patients that received radiation (either as 6 Gy X 5 or 9.5 Gy X3), with first dose of ipilimumab given during radiation, and completed four cycles of ipilimumab, 33% showed partial or complete abscopal responses. Follow-up for survival is ongoing, but data in this small study indicate that radiation stimulates responses to ipilimumab in a disease refractory to ipilimumab alone and suggest that it may be more effective in combination with ipilimumab than chemotherapy [127].

Blocking other immunosuppressive pathways in combination with radiation has also yielded promising results. TGF_β, in addition to suppressing antitumor immune responses, is also an attractive target due to its role in radiationinduced fibrosis. Clinical trials are evaluating antibody neutralizing TGF^β as well as small molecule inhibitors of TGF^β receptor in combination with radiation in metastatic breast cancer (NCT01401062, closed to accrual), non-small cell lung cancer (NCT02581787), rectal cancer (NCT02688712), and glioma patients (NCT01220271, closed to accrual).

TLR agonists have also been utilized with success to overcome the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. For example, the TLR7 agonist imiquimod enhances DC maturation and antigen presentation and promotes T-helper (TH1) skewing and increased homing of T cells. Preclinical data in a mouse model of breast cancer skin metastasis showed that topical imiquimod combined with hypo-fractionated radiation inhibited tumor growth in a CD8-dependent fashion and when combined with cyclophosphamideinduced immunologic memory [78]. This provided the basis of a phase II study for breast cancer patients with chest wall recurrence or skin metastases (NCT01421017).

Building on prior encouraging data with the use of a TLR9 agonist with tumor-targeted radiation in lymphoma [30], a new study aims at improving responses in low-grade B cell lymphoma by adding Flt3L and changing the Tolllike receptor (TLR) agonist to poly-ICLC, an optimal TLR agonist for the DCs recruited by Flt3L (NCT01976585).

High-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) expands T cells and increases their function and was the first immunotherapy to be approved for the treatment of metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma [128]. A pilot study examined SBRT followed by high-dose IL-2 in patients with metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma. An impressive 8 out of 12 patients achieved a complete or partial response in this small study, a significantly higher percentage than the ~15% responders usually seen with IL-2 alone [129]. There are now multiple phase II trials investigating high-dose IL-2 or a recombinant fusion protein of IL-2 with L19 human vascular-targeting antibody (Darleukin, L19-IL2) with SBRT in metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma [119].

30.10 Toward the Use of Radiation to Induce a Personalized Tumor Vaccine

Mutations in the tumor genome can encode proteins that are immunogenic but largely unique to each given tumor (neoantigens) [130]. While neoantigens are an attractive target because the immune system is not tolerized to them and their selective expression by the tumor avoids the risk of autoimmunity, eliciting responses to neoantigens requires a very personalized approach [131]. In this context, radiotherapy may provide a quicker and more affordable strategy to generate a personalized tumor vaccine than deep sequencing and bioinformatics in silico predictions [4, 58]. However, many outstanding questions remain concerning the best way to use radiation to prime effective tumor-specific T cell responses [4]. The role of histology, radiation dose and fractionation, site irradiated, sequencing of therapy, and immunotherapy agent used are under active investigation. In addition to these factors, patient-specific characteristics like underlying genetic background and polymorphisms in immunologically relevant genes [132], tumorspecific genetic, epigenetic, and posttranslational pathways, and environmental factors including temperature, metabolism, and microbiome are likely to influence the ability of radiation to generate an in situ tumor vaccine [133, 134].

Identification of predictive biomarkers is urgently needed to help patient selection and treatment tailoring. Currently, the only widely used clinical test to predict response to immunotherapy with pembrolizumab in NSCLC is immunostaining for PD-L1 [135]. Emerging biomarkers include the "immunoscore," i.e., the comprehensive profile of infiltrating immune cells in a tumor specimen prior to treatment [39, 136] that reflects the overall immunogenicity of the tumor microenvironment and also may inform on which immune cells to best target (e.g., tumor suppressive macrophages versus regulatory T cells). In addition to microenvironmental indices, the genomic landscape of tumor cells measured by mutational burden or neoantigen burden has shown predictive value. For example, in NSCLC, mutational and neoantigen burden both predicted response to anti-PD1 immunotherapy [19]. In this vein, tumors with DNA repair defects such as mismatch repair deficiency are also more likely to respond to anti-PD1 immunotherapy [137]. Lastly, a role for single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), or minor germline genetic differences between patients independent of tumor mutations, is emerging. For example, SNPs in PD-L1 have shown to be predictive in the context of chemotherapy [138].

While efforts at understanding the immune and genetic landscape of a patient's cancer at diagnosis are important, it is already clear that even if there is initial response to immunotherapy, most patients progress. Consequently, understanding immune escape mechanism is critical [139]. Lastly, while initial biopsy and blood testing hold the promise to inform the appropriate therapy, given the genetic evolution of tumors in response to immune pressure or "immunoediting," sampling tumor and immune cells at each step of cancer progression is likely necessary to inform intervention. To this end "liquid biopsies" or the use of peripheral blood samples as a surrogate of tumor populations offers the promise of a minimally invasive strategy to monitor patients over time.

In summary, exceptional responses to the combination of radiotherapy and immunotherapy, like our patient with advanced chemotherapy-refractory metastatic NSCLC who remains tumor-free more than 4 years after non-ablative irradiation of one metastasis combined with 4 doses of ipilimumab [17], have generated considerable enthusiasm. However, such responses remain relatively rare. We are only beginning to understand how to best deliver and combine radiation with immunotherapy and address the many factors that should be considered in preclinical and clinical trial design. Ultimately, patient-specific factors will guide therapy delivery.

References

- Willers H, Held KD. Introduction to clinical radiation biology. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2006;20:1–24.
- Timmerman RD, Herman J, Cho LC. Emergence of stereotactic body radiation therapy and its impact on current and future clinical practice. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:2847–54.
- Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. Cell. 2015;161:205–14.
- Demaria S, Coleman CN, Formenti SC. Radiotherapy: changing the game in immunotherapy. Trends Cancer. 2016;2:286–94.
- Hartsell WF, Scott CB, Bruner DW, Scarantino CW, Ivker RA, Roach M 3rd, et al. Randomized trial of short- versus long-course radiotherapy for palliation of painful bone metastases. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:798–804.
- Lutz S, Balboni T, Jones J, Lo S, Petit J, Rich SE, et al. Palliative radiation therapy for bone metastases: update of an ASTRO evidence-based guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2017;7:4–12.
- Sahgal A, Aoyama H, Kocher M, Neupane B, Collette S, Tago M, et al. Phase 3 trials of stereotactic radiosurgery with or without whole-brain radiation therapy for 1 to 4 brain metastases: individual patient data metaanalysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91:710–7.
- Shaw E, Scott C, Souhami L, Dinapoli R, Kline R, Loeffler J, et al. Single dose radiosurgical treatment of recurrent previously irradiated primary brain tumors and brain metastases: final report of RTOG protocol 90-05. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;47:291–8.
- 9. Mole RJ. Whole body irradiation radiology or medicine? Br J Radiol. 1953;26:234–41.
- Abuodeh Y, Venkat P, Kim S. Systematic review of case reports on the abscopal effect. Curr Probl Cancer. 2016;40:25–37.
- 11. Grimaldi AM, Simeone E, Giannarelli D, Muto P, Falivene S, Borzillo V, et al. Abscopal effects of radiotherapy on advanced melanoma patients who progressed after ipilimumab immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e28780.
- Chandra RA, Wilhite TJ, Balboni TA, Alexander BM, Spektor A, Ott PA, et al. A systematic evaluation of abscopal responses following radiotherapy in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with ipilimumab. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e1046028.
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- Stamell EF, Wolchok JD, Gnjatic S, Lee NY, Brownell I. The abscopal effect associated with a systemic anti-melanoma immune response. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;85:293–5.
- Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt M-L, Babb JS, Kawashima N, Liebes L, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2004;58:862–70.
- Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert JK, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5379–88.
- Golden EB, Demaria S, Schiff PB, Chachoua A, Formenti SC. An abscopal response to radiation and ipilimumab in a patient with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:365–72.
- Snyder Charen A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Walsh L, Yuan J, Miller M, et al. The neoantigen landscape underlying clinical response to ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(5s:suppl):3003.
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348:124–8.
- Wersall PJ, Blomgren H, Pisa P, Lax I, Kalkner KM, Svedman C. Regression of non-irradiated metastases after extracranial stereotactic radiotherapy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Acta Oncol. 2006;45:493–7.

- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500:415–21.
- 22. Takaya M, Niibe Y, Tsunoda S, Jobo T, Imai M, Kotani S, et al. Abscopal effect of radiation on toruliform para-aortic lymph node metastases of advanced uterine cervical carcinoma--a case report. Anticancer Res. 2007;27:499–503.
- Robin HI, AuBuchon J, Varanasi VR, Weinstein AB. The abscopal effect: demonstration in lymphomatous involvement of kidneys. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1981;9:473–6.
- Sham RL. The abscopal effect and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Am J Med. 1995;98:307–8.
- Rees GJ, Ross CM. Abscopal regression following radiotherapy for adenocarcinoma. Br J Radiol. 1983;56:63–6.
- Ohba K, Omagari K, Nakamura T, Ikuno N, Saeki S, Matsuo I, et al. Abscopal regression of hepatocellular carcinoma after radiotherapy for bone metastasis. Gut. 1998;43:575–7.
- 27. Golden EB, Chhabra A, Chachoua A, Adams S, Donach M, Fenton-Kerimian M, et al. Local radiotherapy and GM-CSF in patients with metastatic solid tumors: a proof of principle trial to generate abscopal responses. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:795–803.
- Ehlers G, Fridman M. Abscopal effect of radiation in papillary adenocarcinoma. Br J Radiol. 1973;46:220–2.
- Antoniades J, Brady LW, Lightfoot DA. Lymphangiographic demonstration of the abscopal effect in patients with malignant lymphomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1977;2:141–7.
- Brody JD, Ai WZ, Czerwinski DK, Torchia JA, Levy M, Advani RH, et al. In situ vaccination with a TLR9 agonist induces systemic lymphoma regression: a phase I/II study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4324–32.
- Poleszczuk JT, Luddy KA, Prokopiou S, Robertson-Tessi M, Moros EG, Fishman M, et al. Abscopal benefits of localized radiotherapy depend on activated T-cell trafficking and distribution between metastatic lesions. Cancer Res. 2016;76:1009–18.
- 32. Demaria S, Formenti SC. Can abscopal effects of local radiotherapy be predicted by modeling T cell trafficking? J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:29.
- Stone HB, Peters LJ, Milas L. Effect of host immune capability on radiocurability and subsequent transplantability of a murine fibrosarcoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1979;63:1229–35.
- 34. Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, Rose RC, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol. 2005;174:7516–23.
- Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114:589–95.

- 36. Golden EB, Chachoua A, Fenton-Kerimian MB, Demaria S, Formenti SC. Abscopal responses in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients treated on a phase 2 study of combined radiation therapy and ipilimumab: evidence for the in situ vaccination hypothesis of radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;93:S66–7.
- Vanpouille-Box C, Diamond JM, Pilones KA, Zavadil J, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. TGFbeta is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2232–42.
- Schaue D, Comin-Anduix B, Ribas A, Zhang L, Goodglick L, Sayre JW, et al. T-cell responses to survivin in cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:4883–90.
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:298–306.
- Marincola FM, Jaffee EM, Hicklin DJ, Ferrone S. Escape of human solid tumors from T-cell recognition: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. Adv Immunol. 2000;74:181–273.
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. Science. 2015;348:74–80.
- Matsumura S, Demaria S. Up-regulation of the proinflammatory chemokine CXCL16 is a common response of tumor cells to ionizing radiation. Radiat Res. 2010;173:418–25.
- Lugade AA, Sorensen EW, Gerber SA, Moran JP, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Radiation-induced IFNgamma production within the tumor microenvironment influences antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2008;180:3132–9.
- 44. Klug F, Prakash H, Huber PE, Seibel T, Bender C, Halama N, et al. Low-dose irradiation programs macrophage differentiation to an iNOS⁺/M1 phenotype that orchestrates effective T cell immunotherapy. Cancer Cell. 2013;24:589–602.
- 45. Newcomb EW, Demaria S, Lukyanov Y, Shao Y, Schnee T, Kawashima N, et al. The combination of ionizing radiation and peripheral vaccination produces long-term survival of mice bearing established invasive GL261 gliomas. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:4730–7.
- 46. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Coleman CN, Camphausen K, Schlom J, Hodge JW. External beam radiation of tumors alters phenotype of tumor cells to render them susceptible to vaccine-mediated T-cell killing. Cancer Res. 2004;64:4328–37.
- 47. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1259–71.
- Garnett CT, Palena C, Chakraborty M, Tsang KY, Schlom J, Hodge JW. Sublethal irradiation of human tumor cells modulates phenotype resulting

in enhanced killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Cancer Res. 2004;64:7985–94.

- 49. Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. Nature. 2005;436:1186–90.
- Markiewicz MA, Carayannopoulos LN, Naidenko OV, Matsui K, Burack WR, Wise EL, et al. Costimulation through NKG2D enhances murine CD8+ CTL function: similarities and differences between NKG2D and CD28 costimulation. J Immunol. 2005;175:2825–33.
- Yang KL, Wang YS, Chang CC, Huang SC, Huang YC, Chi MS, et al. Reciprocal complementation of the tumoricidal effects of radiation and natural killer cells. PLoS One. 2013;8:e61797.
- Ruocco MG, Pilones KA, Kawashima N, Cammer M, Huang J, Babb JS, et al. Suppressing T cell motility induced by anti-CTLA-4 monotherapy improves antitumor effects. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:3718–30.
- 53. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Camphausen K, Liu K, Scott T, Coleman CN, et al. Irradiation of tumor cells up-regulates Fas and enhances CTL lytic activity and CTL adoptive immunotherapy. J Immunol. 2003;170:6338–47.
- 54. Carretero R, Wang E, Rodriguez AI, Reinboth J, Ascierto ML, Engle AM, et al. Regression of melanoma metastases after immunotherapy is associated with activation of antigen presentation and interferon-mediated rejection genes. Int J Cancer. 2012;131:387–95.
- 55. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:819–29.
- 56. Wang X, Schoenhals JE, Li A, Valdecanas DR, Ye H, Zang F, et al. Suppression of type I IFN signaling in tumors mediates resistance to anti-PD-1 treatment that can be overcome by radiotherapy. Cancer Res. 2017;77:839–50.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565–70.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348:69–74.
- Aspord C, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Gallegos M, Tindle S, Burton EC, Su D, et al. Breast cancer instructs dendritic cells to prime interleukin 13-secreting CD4+ T cells that facilitate tumor development. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1037–47.
- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanomaintrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523:231–5.
- Chae CS, Teran-Cabanillas E, Cubillos-Ruiz JR. Dendritic cell rehab: new strategies to unleash therapeutic immunity in ovarian cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00262-017-1958-2.
- Nikitina EY, Gabrilovich DI. Combination of gamma-irradiation and dendritic cell administration

induces a potent antitumor response in tumor-bearing mice: approach to treatment of advanced stage cancer. Int J Cancer. 2001;94:825–33.

- 63. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13:1050–9.
- 64. Ma Y, Kepp O, Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Aymeric L, Locher C, et al. Chemotherapy and radiotherapy: cryptic anticancer vaccines. Semin Immunol. 2010;22:113–24.
- Golden EB, Frances D, Pellicciotta I, Demaria S, Helen Barcellos-Hoff M, Formenti SC. Radiation fosters dose-dependent and chemotherapy-induced immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e28518.
- 66. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15:1170–8.
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007;13:54–61.
- 68. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferondependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41:843–52.
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- Golden EB, Pellicciotta I, Demaria S, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Formenti SC. The convergence of radiation and immunogenic cell death signaling pathways. Front Oncol. 2012;2:88.
- Pilones KA, Aryankalayil J, Babb JS, Demaria S. Invariant natural killer T cells regulate anti-tumor immunity by controlling the population of dendritic cells in tumor and draining lymph nodes. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:37.
- Formenti SC, Demaria S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer immunotherapy: a paradigm shift. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105:256–65.
- 73. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt M-L, Babb JS, Allison JP, et al. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases following treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:728–34.
- 74. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti-PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:687–95.
- Dovedi SJ, Adlard AL, Lipowska-Bhalla G, McKenna C, Jones S, Cheadle EJ, et al. Acquired resistance to fractionated radiotherapy can be overcome by concurrent PD-L1 blockade. Cancer Res. 2014;74:5458–68.

- Newcomb EW, Lukyanov Y, Kawashima N, Alonso-Basanta M, Wang S-C, Liu M, et al. Radiotherapy enhances antitumor effect of anti-CD137 therapy in a mouse Glioma model. Radiat Res. 2010;173:426–32.
- 77. Verbrugge I, Hagekyriakou J, Sharp LL, Galli M, West A, McLaughlin NM, et al. Radiotherapy increases the permissiveness of established mammary tumors to rejection by immunomodulatory antibodies. Cancer Res. 2012;72:3163–74.
- 78. Dewan MZ, Vanpouille-Box C, Kawashima N, DiNapoli S, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. Synergy of topical toll-like receptor 7 agonist with radiation and low-dose cyclophosphamide in a mouse model of cutaneous breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:6668–78.
- 79. Zhang H, Liu L, Yu D, Kandimalla ER, Sun HB, Agrawal S, et al. An in situ autologous tumor vaccination with combined radiation therapy and TLR9 agonist therapy. PLoS One. 2012;7:e38111.
- Formenti SC, Demaria S. Radiotherapy to convert the tumor into an in situ vaccine. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;84:879–80.
- Vanpouille-Box C, Alard A, Aryankalayil MJ, Sarfraz Y, Diamond JM, Schneider RJ, et al. DNA exonuclease Trex1 regulates radiotherapy-induced tumour immunogenicity. Nat Commun. 2017;8:15618. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15618.
- Smyth MJ, Dunn GP, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting: the roles of immunity in suppressing tumor development and shaping tumor immunogenicity. Adv Immunol. 2006;90:1–50.
- Wennerberg E, Lhuillier C, Vanpouille-Box C, Pilones KA, García-Martínez E, Rudqvist N-P, et al. Barriers to radiation-induced in situ tumor vaccination. Front Immunol. 2017;8:229.
- Barcellos-Hoff MH, Derynck R, Tsang ML, Weatherbee JA. Transforming growth factor-beta activation in irradiated murine mammary gland. J Clin Invest. 1994;93:892–9.
- Barcellos-Hoff MH. Radiation-induced transforming growth factor beta and subsequent extracellular matrix reorganization in murine mammary gland. Cancer Res. 1993;53:3880–6.
- Wrzesinski SH, Wan YY, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta and the immune response: implications for anticancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:5262–70.
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGFbeta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med. 2003;198:1875–86.
- Yamagiwa S, Gray JD, Hashimoto S, Horwitz DA. A role for TGF-beta in the generation and expansion of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells from human peripheral blood. J Immunol. 2001;166:7282–9.
- Kachikwu EL, Iwamoto KS, Liao YP, DeMarco JJ, Agazaryan N, Economou JS, et al. Radiation enhances regulatory T cell representation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011;81:1128–35.

- Schaue D, Xie MW, Ratikan JA, McBride WH. Regulatory T cells in radiotherapeutic responses. Front Oncol. 2012;2:90.
- Xu J, Escamilla J, Mok S, David J, Priceman S, West B, et al. CSF1R signaling blockade stanches tumorinfiltrating myeloid cells and improves the efficacy of radiotherapy in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73:2782–94.
- Kalbasi A, Komar C, Tooker GM, Liu M, Lee JW, Gladney WL, et al. Tumor-derived CCL2 mediates resistance to radiotherapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23:137–48.
- 93. Tsai CS, Chen FH, Wang CC, Huang HL, Jung SM, Wu CJ, et al. Macrophages from irradiated tumors express higher levels of iNOS, arginase-I and COX-2, and promote tumor growth. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68:499–507.
- 94. Park HJ, Griffin RJ, Hui S, Levitt SH, Song CW. Radiation-induced vascular damage in tumors: implications of vascular damage in ablative hypofractionated radiotherapy (SBRT and SRS). Radiat Res. 2012;177:311–27.
- 95. Truman JP, Garcia-Barros M, Kaag M, Hambardzumyan D, Stancevic B, Chan M, et al. Endothelial membrane remodeling is obligate for anti-angiogenic radiosensitization during tumor radiosurgery. PLoS One. 2010;5:e12310.
- 96. Moding EJ, Castle KD, Perez BA, Oh P, Min HD, Norris H, et al. Tumor cells, but not endothelial cells, mediate eradication of primary sarcomas by stereotactic body radiation therapy. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:278ra34.
- Moeller BJ, Cao Y, Li CY, Dewhirst MW. Radiation activates HIF-1 to regulate vascular radiosensitivity in tumors: role of reoxygenation, free radicals, and stress granules. Cancer Cell. 2004;5:429–41.
- Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1alpha, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. J Exp Med. 2014;211:781–90.
- 99. Barsoum IB, Smallwood CA, Siemens DR, Graham CH. A mechanism of hypoxia-mediated escape from adaptive immunity in cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2014;74:665–74.
- 100. Yovino S, Kleinberg L, Grossman SA, Narayanan M, Ford E. The etiology of treatment-related lymphopenia in patients with malignant gliomas: modeling radiation dose to circulating lymphocytes explains clinical observations and suggests methods of modifying the impact of radiation on immune cells. Cancer Investig. 2013;31:140–4.
- 101. Grossman SA, Ye X, Lesser G, Sloan A, Carraway H, Desideri S, et al. Immunosuppression in patients with high-grade gliomas treated with radiation and temozolomide. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:5473–80.
- 102. Wild AT, Herman JM, Dholakia AS, Moningi S, Lu Y, Rosati LM, et al. Lymphocyte-sparing effect of stereotactic body radiation therapy in patients with

unresectable pancreatic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;94:571–9.

- Farber DL, Yudanin NA, Restifo NP. Human memory T cells: generation, compartmentalization and homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14:24–35.
- 104. Tabi Z, Spary LK, Coleman S, Clayton A, Mason MD, Staffurth J. Resistance of CD45RA-T cells to apoptosis and functional impairment, and activation of tumor-antigen specific T cells during radiation therapy of prostate cancer. J Immunol. 2010;185:1330–9.
- 105. Ellsworth S, Balmanoukian A, Kos F, Nirschl CJ, Nirschl TR, Grossman SA, et al. Sustained CD4+ T cell-driven lymphopenia without a compensatory IL-7/IL-15 response among high-grade glioma patients treated with radiation and temozolomide. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e27357.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39:1–10.
- 107. Chakravarty PK, Alfieri A, Thomas EK, Beri V, Tanaka KE, Vikram B, et al. Flt3-ligand administration after radiation therapy prolongs survival in a murine model of metastatic lung cancer. Cancer Res. 1999;59:6028–32.
- Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Li Q, Rynkiewicz S, Ito F, Davis MA, McGinn CJ, et al. Radiotherapy potentiates the therapeutic efficacy of intratumoral dendritic cell administration. Cancer Res. 2003;63:8466–75.
- 109. Kim KW, Kim SH, Shin JG, Kim GS, Son YO, Park SW, et al. Direct injection of immature dendritic cells into irradiated tumor induces efficient antitumor immunity. Int J Cancer. 2004;109:685–90.
- 110. Milas L, Mason KA, Ariga H, Hunter N, Neal R, Valdecanas D, et al. CpG oligodeoxynucleotide enhances tumor response to radiation. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5074–7.
- 111. Dovedi SJ, Melis MH, Wilkinson RW, Adlard AL, Stratford IJ, Honeychurch J, et al. Systemic delivery of a TLR7 agonist in combination with radiation primes durable antitumor immune responses in mouse models of lymphoma. Blood. 2013;121:251–9.
- 112. Shiraishi K, Ishiwata Y, Nakagawa K, Yokochi S, Taruki C, Akuta T, et al. Enhancement of antitumor radiation efficacy and consistent induction of the abscopal effect in mice by ECI301, an active variant of macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:1159–66.
- 113. Shi W, Siemann DW. Augmented antitumor effects of radiation therapy by 4-1BB antibody (BMS-469492) treatment. Anticancer Res. 2006;26:3445–53.
- 114. Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Sarff M, Pang P, Seung SK, Vetto JT, et al. Adjuvant therapy with agonistic antibodies to CD134 (OX40) increases local control after surgical or radiation therapy of cancer in mice. J Immunother. 2010;33:798–809.
- Yasuda K, Nirei T, Tsuno NH, Nagawa H, Kitayama J. Intratumoral injection of interleukin-2 augments

the local and abscopal effects of radiotherapy in murine rectal cancer. Cancer Sci. 2011;102:1257–63.

- 116. van den Heuvel MM, Verheij M, Boshuizen R, Belderbos J, Dingemans AM, De Ruysscher D, et al. NHS-IL2 combined with radiotherapy: preclinical rationale and phase Ib trial results in metastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer following first-line chemotherapy. J Transl Med. 2015;13:32.
- 117. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86:343–9.
- 118. Shiao SL, Ruffell B, DeNardo DG, Faddegon BA, Park CC, Coussens LM. TH2-polarized CD4(+) T cells and macrophages limit efficacy of radiotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:518–25.
- O'Donnell JS, Long GV, Scolyer RA, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Resistance to PD1/PDL1 checkpoint inhibition. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;52:71–81.
- Kang J, Demaria S, Formenti S. Current clinical trials testing the combination of immunotherapy with radiotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:51.
- 121. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, Fizazi K, Bossi A, van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:700–12.
- 122. Golden EB, Formenti SC. Radiation therapy and immunotherapy: growing pains. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;91:252–4.
- 123. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. Nature. 2015;520:373–7.
- 124. Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- 125. Hiniker SM, Reddy SA, Maecker HT, Subrahmanyam PB, Rosenberg-Hasson Y, Swetter SM, et al. A prospective clinical trial combining radiation therapy with systemic immunotherapy in metastatic melanoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2016;96:578–88.
- 126. Young KH, Baird JR, Savage T, Cottam B, Friedman D, Bambina S, et al. Optimizing timing of immunotherapy improves control of tumors by hypofractionated radiation therapy. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0157164.
- 127. Tang C, Welsh JW, de Groot P, Massarelli E, Chang JY, Hess KR, et al. Ipilimumab with stereotactic ablative radiation therapy: phase I results and immunologic correlates from peripheral T cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;23(6):1388–96.

- 128. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowski P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2046–54.
- Rosenberg SA. IL-2: the first effective immunotherapy for human cancer. J Immunol. 2014;192:5451–8.
- 130. Seung SK, Curti BD, Crittenden M, Walker E, Coffey T, Siebert JC, et al. Phase 1 study of stereotactic body radiotherapy and interleukin-2--tumor and immunological responses. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:137ra74.
- 131. Yarchoan M, Johnson BA 3rd, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17(4):209–22.
- 132. Hartmaier RJ, Charo J, Fabrizio D, Goldberg ME, Albacker LA, Pao W, et al. Genomic analysis of 63,220 tumors reveals insights into tumor uniqueness and targeted cancer immunotherapy strategies. Genome Med. 2017;9:16.
- 133. Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Locher C, Delahaye NF, et al. Integration of host-related signatures with cancer cell-derived predictors for the optimal management of anticancer chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2010;70:9538–43.
- 134. Vetizou M, Pitt JM, Daillere R, Lepage P, Waldschmitt N, Flament C, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science. 2015;350:1079–84.
- 135. Evans SS, Repasky EA, Fisher DT. Fever and the thermal regulation of immunity: the immune system feels the heat. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15:335–49.
- 136. Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1823–33.
- 137. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313:1960–4.
- 138. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20.
- 139. Lee SY, Jung DK, Choi JE, Jin CC, Hong MJ, Do SK, et al. PD-L1 polymorphism can predict clinical outcomes of non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with first-line paclitaxel-cisplatin chemotherapy. Sci Rep. 2016;6:25952.
- 140. Pitt JM, Vetizou M, Daillere R, Roberti MP, Yamazaki T, Routy B, et al. Resistance mechanisms to immune-checkpoint blockade in cancer: tumor-intrinsic and -extrinsic factors. Immunity. 2016;44:1255–69.

Predictors of Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade

Miles C. Andrews and Jennifer A. Wargo

Contents

31.1	Introduction	525
31.2	Hallmarks of Response to Immune	
	Checkpoint Blockade	526
31.2.1	Tumor and Microenvironment	527
31.2.2	Immunity	528
31.2.3	Environment	529
31.3	Current and Emerging Predictors	
	of Response, Resistance, and Toxicity	530
31.3.1	Clinical Predictors of Response	530
31.3.2	Tissue-Based Predictors of Response	531
31.3.3	Blood-Based Predictors of Response	532
31.3.4	Noninvasive Predictors of Response	533
31.3.5	The Gut Microbiome as a Predictive	
	Biomarker	534
31.3.6	Predictors of Toxicity	534
31.4	Static Versus Dynamic Assessment	
	of Systemic and Antitumor	
	Immunity	535

M.C. Andrews

Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1400 Pressler Street, Unit Number 1484, 1515 Holcombe Blvd, Houston, TX 77030, USA

J.A. Wargo (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1400 Pressler Street, Unit Number 1484, 1515 Holcombe Blvd, Houston, TX 77030, USA

Department of Genomic Medicine, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1400 Pressler Street, Unit Number 1484, 1515 Holcombe Blvd, Houston, TX 77030, USA e-mail: jwargo@mdanderson.org

31.5	Building Predictors into Clinical Trials and Standard of Care Therapy	537
31.6	Summary and Conclusions	538
References		538

31.1 Introduction

The face of cancer treatment has changed markedly over the last decade, undergoing first a molecular revolution with the establishment of the personalized medicine era and now shifting again with the rise of effective medical immunotherapeutic strategies. Not only does the current immuno-oncology revolution challenge notions of patient fitness, treatment expectation, and toxicity management, but the unique mechanism of action of agents targeting immunoregulatory checkpoints mandates accordingly unique methods of disease assessment, monitoring, and harmonization with other—more traditional treatment modalities.

Central to efforts to optimize the way in which immune checkpoint inhibitor agents are used is the search for appropriate biomarkers of response and toxicity. While the clinical imperative to maximize treatment options drives continued drug development in the field, concerted efforts are being made to understand the basic immunobiology of cancer in order to prevent a widening gap between our understanding of what novel agents do and how they achieve this. A deep understanding of the complex interactions between tumor

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_31

cells, the broader tumor microenvironment, the immune system, and even influences from further afield is essential to the discovery of clinically useful predictors of immunotherapeutic efficacy. Importantly, a greater appreciation is developing for how inter-connected the new (immuno-oncology) and the old (molecular carcinogenesis) truly are, as reflected by the addition of immune evasion to the (emerging) hallmarks of cancer by Hanahan and Weinberg in 2011 [1].

In this chapter, we will describe the molecular and cellular processes that form the hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade, building upon extensive and seminal work delineating the network of dynamic interactions that constitutes the cancer-immunity interface. Additionally, we discuss the current and emerging factors that may be of predictive value for patients receiving immune checkpoint blockade therapies and which are mechanistically expected also to apply to novel immunotherapy agents acting as agonists of immune stimulatory molecular targets. Consideration is given to the necessary symbioses that will arise in future biomarker-driven immunotherapy clinical trial designs, driven by the common aim of integrating immunotherapy into the domain of truly personalized medicine.

31.2 Hallmarks of Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade

In order to understand how best to monitor and predict responses to immune checkpoint blockade, one must have a fundamental understanding of the mechanisms driving carcinogenesis and disease progression, as well as a working knowledge of systemic and antitumor immune responses. These factors, along with external influences from the broader environment, are critical in shaping therapeutic responses and provide the context for the hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade (Fig. 31.1).



Fig. 31.1 Hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade. Identification of predictors of response to immune checkpoint hinges on an understanding of the influence of numerous factors on cancer development and antitumor immunity, with "concentric spheres of influence" from the tumor itself, the tumor microenvironment, local immunity (such as in the peri-tumoral environment and draining lymph nodes), systemic immunity, and the local and extended environment. Forces affecting each of these areas are listed and are highly interrelated and interdependent. Ultimate responses to immune checkpoint blockade are the result of a complex tally of these positive and negative interactions; thus, all must be taken into account when considering predictive biomarkers for use in these therapies

31.2.1 Tumor and Microenvironment

31.2.1.1 Tumor Genomics and Epigenomics

Significant inroads have been made in the understanding of carcinogenesis and cancer progression through the use of next-generation sequencing techniques, which are now integrated into the fabric of clinical care. Targeted sequencing panels are being used worldwide across multiple cancer types and are helping to inform therapeutic decision-making—particularly to guide treatment with molecularly targeted therapy. However, genomic profiling is also highly relevant when considering responses to immune checkpoint blockade, as there is a growing list of molecular alterations implicated in antitumor immune responses [2–6].

The genomic characterization of tumors through efforts such as The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), has delivered tremendous insight into the types and burden of mutations across different cancer types [7-10]. With regard to genomic mutations, both quality and quantity "matter" and may influence antitumor immunity and subsequent responses to immune checkpoint blockade. Perhaps one of the best illustrations of this is the concept that total mutational load may influence response to immune checkpoint inhibitors; in general, cancers with a higher mutation rate or with defects in DNA mismatch repair genes are much more likely to respond to immune checkpoint blockade [2, 11, 12]. This is likely due to an associated higher burden of neoantigens, defined as tumor-associated antigens arising from somatic mutational events; as these are not expressed by other "normal" tissues, they may be much more immunogenic due to the presence of neoantigen-reactive T cells that have likely not been tolerized. However it is important to note that a relatively small percentage of neoantigens that are predicted using conventional algorithms are actually expressed, and even fewer are likely to be capable of eliciting a meaningful antitumor immune response [13].

Mutations can be a "double-edged sword," as they may also contribute to therapeutic resistance. There is a growing list of examples of genomic

mutations and other genomic or epigenomic alterations that weaken responses to immune checkpoint blockade. Aberrant antigen processing and presentation machinery resulting from mutations, copy number alterations, or altered expression patterns of such molecules as HLA and β-2 microglobulin have been described [3, 14, 15]. It is also important to consider that oncogenic genomic or epigenomic alterations may be associated with downregulation of tumor-specific antigens, and therapeutic targeting of these alterations may result in enhanced antigen expression. This is exemplified by the effects of kinase inhibitors targeting V600-mutated BRAF in the case of melanoma [16, 17] and is also seen in the setting of epigenetic regulation of cancer testis antigen expression across cancer types [18, 19].

Other mutations or alterations associated with oncogenic progression may be associated with immunoregulatory effects of relevance to immune checkpoint blockade, for example, increased expression of programmed death receptor ligand-1 (PD-L1) driven by AKT-mTOR [20] or EGFR [21] pathway activation in lung cancers or induction of an immunosuppressive cytokine milieu by functional insufficiency of the tumor suppressor gene PTEN [4], resulting in impaired responses to immune checkpoint blockade. Defects in interferon signaling within tumors may also confer resistance to immune checkpoint blockade [3, 22].

31.2.1.2 Tumor Microenvironment

In addition to considering molecular alterations in tumors, one must consider the tumor microenvironment in modulating responses to therapy. Indeed tumors are complex ecosystems, consisting not only of tumor cells but also blood vessels, tumor-infiltrating immune cells, cytokines, and numerous other stromal components including fibroblasts, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, extracellular matrix, and other cellular entities. Together, these components contribute to carcinogenesis and may ultimately contribute to therapeutic response and resistance to immune checkpoint blockade.

A strong foundation delineating the diverse roles played by distinct functional elements of the tumor microenvironment arises from the seminal work of Hanahan and Weinberg as well as that of Schreiber, who described the "hallmarks of cancer" [1] and principles of immunoediting [23], respectively. Together, these describe mechanisms by which tumors grow and metastasize, as well as the intimate and dynamic interactions between tumor and immune cells, leading to tumor elimination, equilibrium, or escape [23].

This foundation was subsequently built upon by other investigators, who described the "cancerimmunity cycle" [24], the "cancer-immune set point" [25], and the "cancer immunogram" [26]. Recently, these concepts have been explored in the setting of checkpoint inhibitor therapy, and "hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade" have also been described [27]. Each of these acknowledges the complex relationship between tumor cells and cells within the microenvironment as well as external influences and strives to demonstrate the influence of these on therapeutic responses. These are outstanding models, though our incomplete understanding of the complex processes is certainly acknowledged-and these and other models will be revised using an iterative approach as more data emerges.

A key feature in governing responses to immune checkpoint blockade is the ability (or inability) to exclude T cells from the tumor microenvironment itself. The presence of a T cell infiltrate within tumors has been known to correlate positively with prognosis across multiple tumor types for several years [28], and more recent studies have evaluated the relationship between the density and distribution of CD8+ T cells, including location at the tumor center or invasive margin, and response to immune checkpoint blockade [29]. Additional assessment of the tumor microenvironment using both architecture and gene expression profiling has helped classify tumors into several different phenotypes including "inflamed vs non-inflamed" [30], with later refinement of these phenotypes to "immunedesert, immune-excluded, or inflamed" [25]. Mechanisms of immune exclusion have been described and may originate in tumor cells themselves such as defects in Wnt/β-catenin pathways [5] or MAPK hyperactivation [31, 32]. Alternatively, immune exclusion may arise from other cellular components in the tumor microenvironment, such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) [33], or from secreted factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [34–36], interleukin-1 (IL-1), and interleukin-6 (IL-6) [37-39]. An appreciation of the contributions from each of these factors is paramount to designing adequate immune monitoring strategies in the setting of treatment with immune checkpoint blockade and is also important in the rational design of strategies to overcome therapeutic resistance.

31.2.2 Immunity

In addition to the tumor and microenvironment, overall host immunity plays a key role in modulating tumor growth, spread, and response to therapy. Immune responses are dynamic and are shaped by exposure to antigenic stimuli but are also influenced by factors within and outside the host (Fig. 31.1). Debris from dying tumor cells are taken up by host antigen-presenting cells (such as dendritic cells), processed and presented to CD4+ (helper) and CD8+ (cytotoxic) T lymphocytes, but additional signals (co-stimulatory versus co-inhibitory) and secreted factors are critical to determining the fate of this T cellantigen interaction, resulting in either T cell stimulation and generation of an antitumor immune response or T cell anergy. T cell recognition of presented antigen is, however, only the first of many steps in the process, and immunoregulatory influences at any stage (priming, trafficking, tumor infiltration, T cell-tumor cell engagement), arising locally or from distant sites, may impair an otherwise effective immune response (Fig. 31.2).

It has long been appreciated that overall host immunity may influence cancer development and progression, from reports of spontaneous regressions of cancer [40] to the concept of inducing immune responses against cancer by administering microbial products (Coley's toxins) to patients beginning in the late 1800s [41, 42]. This



Fig. 31.2 Current and novel predictors of immune checkpoint blockade. Existing predictors of response to immune checkpoint blockade are predominantly focused on tumor-based assessments (*gray*) documenting tumor mutational and associated neoantigen burden, tumor cell-intrinsic immune suppression and evasion mechanisms, and microenvironmental factors, principally the presence or absence of an activated CD8+T cell infiltrate. Emerging

predictors extend upon these factors but are gradually broadening in scope to include historical factors as well as biomarkers sourced from other biocompartments; these include radiographic assessments (*green*), clinical factors (*blue*), blood biomarkers (*red*), and environmental influences, currently dominated by the effect of the gut microbiome (*brown*)

is also substantiated by findings that patients with immunosuppression are at increased risk of developing several forms of cancer. These and other concepts are embodied in the seminal work of Schreiber in which the "three E's" of immunoediting were described [23], highlighting the tight interaction between host immunity and tumor, albeit largely at the level of the tumor microenvironment.

There is now a growing appreciation of the influence of overall systemic immunity on tumor rejection and response to immunotherapy. Recent reports have helped to delineate the complex role of numerous cell types in multiple compartments of the body in generating an antitumor immune response, demonstrating that immune activation in the periphery is required and is heavily dependent on CD4+ T cells and that PD-L1 expression in the periphery is a major driver of immune escape [43]. Additionally, expression of 4-1BB

[44] or PD-1 [45] is known to enrich for tumorreactive T cells within both tumor and circulating lymphocytes, hinting at an as yet poorly understood immune circulation that may be relevant to the establishment and maintenance of the tumorreactive T cell population. Given these findings, it is critically important to consider more general measures of host immunity when contemplating predictors of response to immune checkpoint blockade. However, ideal monitoring strategies for overall systemic immunity remain elusive and will require extensive development.

31.2.3 Environment

In addition to considering internal features such as the tumor, microenvironment, and general immunity, one must consider the influence of the wider environment in the setting of cancer development, progression, and treatment. These factors act in parallel with the local, or host immune parameters described above, and include physical influences from the extended environment such as ultraviolet radiation and carcinogen exposures (e.g., tobacco smoke), biological influences from the diet and microbiome, and neurophysiological influences from stress.

Environmental factors can have a significant impact on all domains affecting response to immune checkpoint blockade. One of the strongest examples of this is the influence of carcinogens on mutational load and response to immune checkpoint blockade, with patients suffering damage from UV exposure and smoking noted to have typically higher mutational load and enhanced responses to immune checkpoint blockade [46]. Environmental carcinogens are not the only example, as other factors of potential impact on antitumor immunity and response to immune checkpoint blockade are slowly being identified, including diet, stress [47], and the gastrointestinal microbiome [48, 49]. These have important implications not only for monitoring responses but also have significant potential therapeutic implications. This is highlighted by recent literature demonstrating that modulation of the gut microbiome can actually enhance therapeutic responses [48, 49] with clinical trials now being designed to capitalize on these insights.

31.3 Current and Emerging Predictors of Response, Resistance, and Toxicity

Based on an understanding of the complex influences on antitumor immunity, biomarkers have been and are being developed to predict response, resistance, and potentially even toxicity to therapy. It should be noted that there is currently a paucity of approved highly validated biomarkers at present, with the exception of PD-L1 and CD8 though each of these has limitations on its own. Nonetheless there is a large and growing list of putative predictors of response to immune checkpoint blockade that are currently being explored and tested, and these will be discussed herein.

31.3.1 Clinical Predictors of Response

Early clinical experience with checkpoint inhibitor agents raised concern that higher pretreatment burden of disease and more rapidly progressive disease were associated with a lower likelihood of response and poorer survival outcomes, due in part to the sometimes delayed onset of objective responses and low overall objective response rate observed in the setting of treatment with ipilimumab-the first checkpoint inhibitor to be approved in cancer therapy. This has not been recapitulated in the setting of treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors targeting the PD-1 pathway or with combined CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade-where response rates are higher and onset of response more brisk [50]. Nevertheless, disease burden clearly still plays a role, as baseline burden of disease (determined by radiologically assessable lesions), was independently prognostic of poorer overall survival in patients treated with the PD-1 inhibitor pembrolizumab [51], and was strongly inversely associated with survival in a small cohort of patients treated with ipilimumab in combination with bevacizumab [52]. These findings essentially confirm the adverse prognosis conferred by a larger burden of disease prior to checkpoint blockade without specifically identifying a predictive role. Furthermore, patients achieving a response by either RECIST or irRC criteria clearly have superior long-term outcomes to objective non-responders [53]; however, the prognostic and/or predictive value of additional imaging-based metrics such as densityand texture-based features remains to be determined and may ultimately require complex assessment criteria unique to distinct tumor types and sites of disease.

Prior durable response to ipilimumab appears to predict for benefit from subsequent treatment with pembrolizumab [54], but increasing evidence confirms that patients refractory to prior immune checkpoint blockade targeting CTLA-4 may still respond to subsequent challenge with anti-PD-1-based therapy and vice versa [55, 56]. Larger cohort data is required to determine the effects of confounding factors such as the interval between separate checkpoint blockade agents, the significance of sequential therapy without clear evidence of resistance to the first agent, post-progression fitness and disease burden, as well as subtle differences in toxicity profile arising from treatment sequence [56]. In general, it appears that prior treatment per se may not be predictive of immune checkpoint blockade response, but instead correlates with (and is confounded by) independently prognostic variables such as disease stage and performance status.

31.3.2 Tissue-Based Predictors of Response

The majority of research aiming to identify predictors of checkpoint blockade efficacy has focused on analysis of the tumor itself. Tumorintrinsic factors that lead to immunogenicity are well described, arising ultimately from the genomic instability characteristic to all cancers and resultant somatic mutational events which may produce altered peptides, protein expression patterns, peptide processing/display machinery, and responses to immune attack.

Conceptually, predicting the antigenicity of a tumor is difficult to assess in the context of checkpoint blockade, given that the underlying T cell repertoire being targeted by therapy, and the antigens to which these T cells may be reactive, is unknown. Furthermore, the T cell repertoire is highly diverse and partially redundant, comprised of innumerable unrelated TCR sequences, many of which may be reactive to the same peptide epitope. Computational methods to predict protein targets from TCR sequence data alone are lacking and additionally hampered by the largely private T cell repertoires between patients. However, given the relationship between neoantigen burden and inherent antigenicity of a tumor, the underlying somatic mutational burden of a tumor has been found to correlate with response to both CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade. Despite this, profiling of the mutational landscape in large cohorts of tumors reveals that consistently, a large range of mutational burden exists across tumor types [10], and somatic mutational load lacks sufficient negative predictive value as a biomarker of immune checkpoint response.

Unsurprisingly, the most heavily investigated biomarker for PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors is PD-L1 expression on the tumor itself. In advanced melanoma, positive PD-L1 expression is clearly predictive of improved response to PD-(L)1 targeted therapy; however, low or absent PD-L1 expression does not entirely preclude therapeutic response, leading to significant reticence toward its widespread strict application as a treatment selection tool [57, 58]. Elements of specific tumor biology likely also impact on the utility of direct target biomarkers like PD-L1. For example, in non-small cell lung cancer, tumoral expression of PD-L1 demonstrated a continuous predictive association with response and survival following nivolumab treatment in non-squamous patients [59] but appeared to lack either prognostic or predictive value in a large cohort of squamous NSCLC patients treated with the same agent [60]. Precise mechanisms for this stark contrast remain to be defined but may reflect etiological differences (e.g., smoking history) and both burden and type of cumulative mutational load.

Direct assessment of the intratumoral immune landscape has also been employed as a biomarker discovery strategy. In anti-CTLA-4-treated patients, higher baseline expression of FOXP3 and IDO was associated with clinical response, as was an increase in TIL from baseline to 3 weeks after treatment initiation. Exploratory gene expression profiling found increases in expression of genes associated with immune response, and decreased cancer-associated genes, consistent with expectation [61]. Multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of TIL from fresh melanoma samples demonstrated that the frequency of PD-1+ CTLA-4+ CD8+ T cells prior to initiation of anti-PD-1 therapy was highly predictive of response and progression-free survival; this was associated with accumulation of an activated, and relief of an exhausted, CD8+ T cell phenotype in TIL populations during treatment [62].

The use of baseline predictors of response is increasingly being supplemented with the use of early on-treatment markers in light of data demonstrating the superior utility of longitudinal tumor assessment in tumor [14]. In a study of baseline and longitudinal tumor biopsy samples from melanoma patients, pretreatment T cell enrichment in TIL was associated with response to PD-1 inhibitor treatment regardless of prior CTLA-4 inhibitor therapy; however, early ontreatment biopsies displaying enrichment of T cell infiltrate, immunomodulatory marker expression (PD-1, PD-L1, LAG3), and, particularly, FOXP3 and granzyme B expression were highly associated with likelihood of response [14].

Importantly, the tumor-immune interaction likely evolves in parallel with the process of cellular transformation, and as such, a substantial degree of adaptation and evolution has already occurred long before the clinical diagnosis, or scientific interrogation, of a tumor. Implicit in this is the notion that the mechanisms which may lead to failure of any immunotherapy strategy, including checkpoint inhibition, may be selectively driven by that therapy but may also have spontaneously arisen prior to therapy, in response to preexisting immune pressure. Thus, much can be considered directly transferrable from our knowledge of immune checkpoint blockade resistance mechanisms into the treatment-naïve setting and thus used as predictive factors.

The central role of interferon signaling in shaping the tumor-immune interface is well described, with IFN- γ critically important for the establishment of a suitably inflamed tumor microenvironment but equally important for the emergence of immune checkpoint-driven adaptive resistance. Due to the presence of this highlevel negative feedback mechanism, it is not surprising that the role of IFN in antitumor immunity can be confusing, promoting aspects of both tumor cell destruction and survival. Mutations in IFN signaling pathway components have been identified as molecular mechanisms of checkpoint blockade resistance in melanoma; JAK1 and JAK2 mutations not identified in pretreatment samples of patients who initially responded, but subsequently progressed while receiving anti-PD-1 therapy, have been shown to directly facilitate tumor cell resistance to IFN-

mediated growth suppression and apoptosis [3]. Similar mutations were subsequently demonstrated to result in lack of response in patients previously untreated with anti-PD-1 therapy [63].

General immune exclusion may also predict for a lack of immune checkpoint inhibitor response, in keeping with the necessity of immune effector cells (principally tumor-specific T cells) to physically engage with or enter the tumor in order to facilitate tumor killing. Several mechanisms of tumoral immune exclusion have been identified including tumor cell expression of β -catenin [5]; however, firm evidence of specific molecular mechanisms predicting success or failure of immune checkpoint inhibition in patient samples is lacking.

31.3.3 Blood-Based Predictors of Response

Significant interest is emerging in the use of cell-free circulating DNA as a noninvasive marker that can be used to monitor the response to treatment, typically by quantitating mutated DNA originating uniquely from tumor cells (circulating tumor DNA, ctDNA). In melanoma and colorectal cancer, ctDNA has been shown to vary in accordance with disease burden measured by more conventional means (e.g., radiologically) with the distinct advantage of potentially identifying changes in response status (either response or progression) significantly earlier than clinico-radiological assessment [64–67]. Whether this can be exploited as an early clinical decision-making trigger to improve long-term treatment outcomes is not yet known. Additionally, although preliminary evidence suggests at least a correlation between dynamic ctDNA alterations early during therapy and eventual treatment outcome [64], the potential clinical use of ctDNA as a predictive marker for immunotherapy has not been defined. As highly recurrent tumor mutations are found in a minority of cancer patients overall, future interest lies in the identification of personalized, sequence-independent tumor markers such as aberrantly methylated ctDNA as a means of noninvasive monitoring. Given the increasingly apparent role of epigenetic changes in modulating the response to immune checkpoint blockade, it will be of significant interest to see whether methylation-specific ctDNA assessment of molecular targets known to influence immunotherapeutic outcomes can be devised as predictive assays in this setting. Other serological markers specifically predictive of checkpoint blockade response have not yet been identified. In one study, independent and clearly clinically useful markers were not identified other than LDH, which is itself more prognostic than predictive [68].

Similarly to tumor biopsy-based analyses, circulating immune markers have been studied prior to and early after initiation of immune checkpoint blockade. In several retrospective studies, pretreatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) has been shown to be an independent predictive factor of ipilimumab benefit (lower NLR predictive of improved PFS and OS) although this would be a difficult metric to apply to patients requiring steroids, and no consistent optimal NLR cutoff to stratify patients into "good" or "bad" responders has yet been agreed upon [69-71]. PD-1 expression on CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood is negatively prognostic in NSCLC and correlated inversely with response to anti-PD-L1 therapy in a small cohort of patients [72]. Conversely, elevated circulating regulatory T cell numbers during treatment are associated with non-response to PD-1 inhibitor treatment [55], while baseline levels of the chemokine CXCL11 and-less robustly-soluble MHC class I-related chain A (sMICA) may be predictive of poor survival in anti-CTLA-4treated patients [73]. Also of predictive value early after starting therapy, an increased frequency of inducible T cell co-stimulatory (ICOS)-expressing CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood has been shown to be a reproducible biomarker of anti-CTLA-4 therapy efficacy after as few as one or two doses [74]. Early on-treatment elevation in absolute lymphocyte count and eosinophil count may also be predictive of improved overall survival in patients treated with ipilimumab [75].

31.3.4 Noninvasive Predictors of Response

Efforts are underway to establish novel imaging techniques to help predict responses to immunotherapy; however, the use of noninvasive imaging has thus far been limited in routine clinical practice to staging investigations performed at baseline and throughout treatment. Notwithstanding the prognostic and potentially predictive value of imaging-based assessments of burden of disease prior to treatment initiation, standard radiologic assessments based on the response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST), while extensively validated across tumor types and treatment modalities, were found to be misleading in a small proportion (3-15%) of patients treated with immunotherapy due to the unique mechanism of action and response kinetics inherent to this treatment type [53, 76]. The phenomenon of pseudoprogression, in which therapy-related tumoral inflammation may temporarily lead to an increase in size of evident lesions and appearance of apparently new lesions at sites of previously occult micrometastatic disease, belies the potential for subsequent response in and/or disappearance of these lesions once the antitumor immune response progresses and ultimately subsides. To account for these "atypical" patterns of response, a new set of imaging-based assessment criteria were proposed, dubbed the "immunerelated response criteria" (irRC), being also applicable to other forms of immunotherapy based on a common tumoral inflammation mechanism of action [76].

The necessity to derive new criteria in the form of irRC suggests that radiologic assessment is inherently a flawed monitor and worse predictor of response in checkpoint blockade-treated cancers. It must be noted, however, that atypical radiological patterns of response are uncommon. In standard clinical settings, radiologic response is commonly obtained only 10–12 weeks after the initiation of immune checkpoint blockade therapy, and any response at that time may be unreliable until confirmed upon repeat scanning at least 4 weeks later. Indeed, cases of profoundly delayed responses occurring with an onset of 6–9 months after the initiation of therapy have been noted.

However, novel imaging-based metrics are under development which may afford clinically useful insights for diagnosis and for therapy, either prior to treatment commencement or at early on-treatment time points, potentially facilitating prompt changes in management in patients who appear destined not to respond to their current treatment regimen [77]. In a cohort of patients treated with ipilimumab and the antiangiogenic agent bevacizumab, tumoral density features were incorporated into radiologic assessment using the Choi criteria; unfortunately changes in tumor density during treatment were not predictive of response [52]. In a modest cohort of patients treated with pembrolizumab on the KEYNOTE-001 protocol, both tumor size and density, or combined metrics (e.g., Choi or modified Choi criteria) were associated with overall survival [78]. Notably, density features suggest yet more complex patterns of response than can be assessed by either RECIST or irRC, thus opening the door wide to future development of radiomic-/texture-based features as putative prognostic or predictive features in the setting of immune checkpoint blockade.

31.3.5 The Gut Microbiome as a Predictive Biomarker

An emerging field of major significance to cancer immunotherapy is the study of commensal microbiota and their influence on checkpoint inhibitor responses, principally driven by the gut microbiome. In a seminal translational study of the gut microbiota using animal models and fecal microbial transplants from CTLA-4 inhibitor-treated patients, three key observations were made: firstly, response to therapy was clearly linked to the abundance of specific Bacteroides species in the gut; secondly, CTLA-4 inhibitor treatment in patients altered the gut microbial composition; and thirdly, CTLA-4 inhibitor efficacy was dependent on the presence of microbe-specific T cell responses [49]. In another study, intestinal Bifidobacterium was associated with stronger spontaneous antitumor responses in mice, and specific microbial "supplementation" independently phenocopied—or synergized with— PD-L1 checkpoint blockade [48]. Similarly, differences in gut microbial composition and diversity were identified between responders and nonresponders to PD-1 inhibitor therapy [79]. Although the gut microbiome presents a clear interface between environment, diet, host immunity, and antitumor immunity, the precise mechanisms by which this interaction acts to modulate immune checkpoint inhibitor response are yet to be fully elucidated and will likely prove to be complex.

31.3.6 Predictors of Toxicity

Based on the imperfect tumor specificity of immune checkpoint blockade therapies, off-target immune stimulation leading to immune-related toxicities (immune-related adverse events, irAEs) is common. Anecdotally, the occurrence of irAEs has frequently been seen as a surrogate for the likelihood of antitumor immune stimulation; however, reported data regarding a putative association between irAE occurrence and antitumor clinical benefit in the setting of CTLA-4-and PD-1-directed therapy are conflicting across tumor types [80–83].

Given the potential severity of many irAEs, identification of reliable predictors of toxicity is equally as important as predictors of response; however, none have been identified thus far. Mechanistically, it is thought that preexisting autoreactive T cell clones, present at likely low frequencies, are subject to checkpoint blockadeinduced reactivation leading to autoimmune toxicities. Low pretreatment prevalence of such clones, combined with the current lack of any technology able to reliably predict the antigen target of a given T cell receptor based on sequence information alone (other than a very limited number of previously described sequence-target relationships), makes the prospective identification of autoreactive T cell populations effectively impossible. Furthermore, it is not yet known why some of these preexisting but suppressed/tolerized clones are induced to reactivate, while presumably more numerous other clones do not. In a study of whole blood gene expression profiling in CTLA-4 inhibitor-treated patients, potential predictive signatures of GI toxicity were identified, primarily in on-treatment samples; however, independently predictive genes were not [84].

31.4 Static Versus Dynamic Assessment of Systemic and Antitumor Immunity

Conventional analysis of biomarkers of response to cancer therapy has traditionally hinged on analysis of static time points in tissue or blood samples typically taken just before the start of therapy. However, limitations with this approach exist, as analyzed samples may be archived for a significant period of time—thus biomarkers may not necessarily be accurate if measured in temporally distant samples due to evolution of genomic and immune profiles over time. This, together with spatial heterogeneity and sampling error, may account for some of the modest predictive value of pretreatment biomarkers such as PD-L1. Additionally, static assessment of a pretreatment sample does not provide a complete picture given the dynamic nature of the antitumor immune response.

As evidence regarding predictive biomarkers of response to immune checkpoint blockade grows, it is becoming evident that analysis of adaptive immune signatures in early on-treatment samples (or changes from pre- to on-therapy) may be far superior in their predictive power, reflective of the dynamic state of the tumor microenvironment (Fig. 31.3). This is exemplified in several recent studies, including one dem-



Fig. 31.3 (a) Importance of dynamic and static markers for checkpoint inhibitor blockade. In conventional cancer therapy, diagnosis of a primary tumor is followed by an evaluation of the tumor via histologic diagnosis with limited molecular and immune profiling in tumor +/blood. Non-personalized primary therapy is then chosen empirically, with patients followed clinically and potentially with radiographic follow-up. In this scenario, a significant proportion of patients experience disease relapse, and a secondary form of non-personalized therapy is initiated—again with minimal to no biomarker assessment. Again, few patients respond and the majority experience therapeutic escape with poor outcomes overall. (b) In innovative approaches to cancer therapy, histologic diagnosis of a primary tumor is augmented via molecular and immune profiling at baseline. Personalized primary therapy is chosen based on insights gained, and a higher proportion of patients achieve long-term disease control. Disease relapse occurs in a smaller proportion of patients, and iterative approaches to personalized secondary therapy are utilized incorporating molecular and immune profiling of the tumor at relapse as well as ontreatment profiling of tumor and blood. Fewer patients experience disease escape, and when this does occur, responses to additional personalized approaches are higher based on a more customized treatment strategy. With this approach, far fewer patients experience poor outcomes to therapy onstrating that immune profiling via immunohistochemistry and gene expression profiling in early on-treatment samples revealed robust biomarkers of response, whereas few biomarkers were evident on analysis of pretreatment samples alone [14]. Similar dynamic findings have been noted in several other studies investigating both tissue-based and blood-based profiling [29, 62, 85]. Together, these studies suggest that consideration should be made for a new paradigm in immune monitoring, with routine assessment of early on-treatment responses to help guide therapeutic strategies—at least until better pretreatment biomarkers are identified (Fig. 31.3). Importantly, such analyses should be incorporated into contemporary clinical trial design—and ultimately may even be incorporated into standard of care therapy (Fig. 31.4).



Fig. 31.4 Incorporating biomarkers into clinical trial designs for immuno-oncology. Existing biomarkers may be used to guide patient selection and/or enrolment into clinical trials, with validated biomarkers providing predictive information to inform treatment assignment. Alternatively, prognostic and predictive markers may be used to stratify subject enrolment in order to optimize translational and clinical outcomes. Intentional enrolment of heterogeneous populations may be desirable in order to remain essentially therapeutically "agnostic" and identify biomarkers of response that are independent of tumor histology. Patients being treated on clinical trials may undergo biospecimen collection procedures prior to and during therapy, with significant emphasis on longitudinal sampling to provide vital information about dynamic

changes while on therapy, including the development of resistance. Adaptive designs incorporating "on-the-fly" biomarker monitoring may facilitate early, biomarkerdirected, therapy changes in patients who appear unlikely to respond. Alternatively, achievement of a relevant clinical endpoint may trigger correlative analysis of clinical and biomarker outcomes, leading to critical decisions regarding acceptance or rejection of the biomarker, the treatment regimen, or both. In discordant cases, the biomarker may be found to be predictive of treatment failure and could be subsequently validated as an *inverse* treatment assignment biomarker. In patients failing to achieve clinical benefit, secondary or subsequent regimens may be chosen ad hoc or adaptively in light of biomarker information

31.5 Building Predictors into Clinical Trials and Standard of Care Therapy

The continued success of immune checkpoint blockade strategies will be realized through the maximization of efficacy and minimization of immune-related toxicity, both of which will require careful focus on biomarker discovery. Due to the current lack of robust or universal predictors of non-response, "real-world" clinical practice is as yet unable to function in the same way that clinical trials do, with their typically "responder-enriched" populations. Substantial efforts are required to ensure that the reach of immunotherapy is extended by ongoing clinical trial research, rather than increasingly focused on patient populations already known to have greater likelihood of benefit.

Numerous novel checkpoint inhibitor molecules are in active preclinical and clinical development, targeting both inhibitory checkpoints-such as LAG3, TIM3, and TIGIT-and activating ("costimulatory") checkpoints such as OX40, 4-1BB, and GITR. Adding further to the complexity of future immunotherapy regimens, numerous combination strategies are being studied, including multi-immunotherapy combinations, as well as cross modality combinations of checkpoint and molecularly targeted therapy. Integrating biomarker discovery into clinical trials of these regimens requires attention to several factors: (1) the types of biospecimens obtained, which must reflect the biological compartments affected by treatment; (2) the timing and frequency of repeated specimen sampling, with attention to the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the treatments employed and the different tissue compartments into which these agents must penetrate; (3) the feasibility and patient acceptability of biospecimen collection; and (4) the potential for reciprocal integration of biomarker results into design and adaptation of treatment regimens (Fig. 31.4).

Current biomarker-driven clinical trial designs such as the TITAN-RCC trial in renal cell cancer

(NCT02917772) incorporate dynamic clinical outcomes into decisions regarding subsequent per-protocol treatment changes, with associated tissue/blood assessments aiming to identify correlates of response at each therapeutic branch point. Alternatively, molecular tumor signatures hypothesized to predict response to immune or targeted therapy modalities may be used for initial treatment assignment (e.g., BIONIKK renal cell cancer study, NCT02960906). The FRACTION-Lung trial (NCT02750514) considers prior therapy and tumor PD-L1 expression when assigning patients to initial treatment arms, melded with an adaptive trial design to facilitate movement to novel combination treatment arms upon progression for non-small cell lung cancer patients [86]. Two clinical trials aim to identify biomarkers of response to combination ipilimumab and nivolumab therapy through treatment and study of patients with a broad range of rare cancers otherwise unfeasible to study in isolated cohorts (NCT02834013, NCT02923934).

The neoadjuvant setting is well suited to exploratory biomarker studies and is increasingly being employed in immune checkpoint blockade. Trials of this type are currently recruiting in melanoma (NCT02519322, NCT02736123, NCT02977052), colorectal cancer (NCT03026140), glioblastoma (NCT02550249), renal cell cancer (NCT02446860), non-small cell lung cancer (NCT02818920), and others, both to address areas of clinical need and for parallel biomarker discovery.

While the goal will ultimately be to identify robust, pretreatment predictive biomarkers accessible via a noninvasive route, the unique mechanism of action of immune checkpoint blockade suggests that at least for now, biomarker discovery necessitates comparative sampling of tumor (typically invasive) with noninvasive biospecimens. Successful identification of predictors of response will thus hinge upon increased "acceptability" of biopsy procedures to patients already generously donating their involvement in clinical trials; methods to improve this will likely differ according to regional practice and custom.

31.6 Summary and Conclusions

The age of cancer immunotherapy is upon us, and advances continue based on a deep understanding of antitumor and systemic immune responses, genomic and epigenetic alterations in tumors, influences of the tumor microenvironment, as well as the extended environment even outside the host. A working knowledge of this provides the basis for hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade and also provides a framework for current and emerging predictors of response to immune checkpoint blockade. However, complexities exist as perfectly predictive biomarkers in pretreatment biopsies have not been identified, and it is becoming increasingly clear that integrative approaches and predictive models will be needed to optimally guide therapy, as will measurement of adaptive responses to therapy in longitudinal tumor and blood samples. These concepts must be embraced in clinical trials and should also be strongly considered in the setting of treatment with standard of care therapy. It is through such an approach that we will realize optimal therapeutic and monitoring approaches in the setting of treatment with immune checkpoint blockade.

Disclosures JAW has honoraria from speakers' bureau of Dava Oncology, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Illumina and is an advisory board member for GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis, and Roche/Genentech. MCA reports no relevant conflicts of interest or financial disclosures.

References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2011.02.013. PubMed PMID: 21376230.
- Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, Berent-Maoz B, Pang J, Chmielowski B, Cherry G, Seja E, Lomeli S, Kong X, Kelley MC, Sosman JA, Johnson DB, Ribas A, Lo RS. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. Cell. 2016;165(1):35–44. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065. PubMed PMID: 26997480; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4808437.
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, Torrejon DY, Abril-Rodriguez G, Sandoval S, Barthly L, Saco J, Homet

Moreno B, Mezzadra R, Chmielowski B, Ruchalski K, Shintaku IP, Sanchez PJ, Puig-Saus C, Cherry G, Seja E, Kong X, Pang J, Berent-Maoz B, Comin-Anduix B, Graeber TG, Tumeh PC, Schumacher TN, Lo RS, Ribas A. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(9):819–29. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1604958. PubMed PMID: 27433843; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5007206.

- Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT, Xu C, JA MK, Zhang C, Liang X, Williams LJ, Deng W, Chen G, Mbofung R, Lazar AJ, Torres-Cabala CA, Cooper ZA, Chen PL, Tieu TN, Spranger S, Yu X, Bernatchez C, Forget MA, Haymaker C, Amaria R, JL MQ, Glitza IC, Cascone T, Li HS, Kwong LN, Heffernan TP, Hu J, Bassett RL Jr, Bosenberg MW, Woodman SE, Overwijk WW, Lizee G, Roszik J, Gajewski TF, Wargo JA, Gershenwald JE, Radvanyi L, Davies MA, Hwu P. Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(2):202–16. doi:10.1158/2159-8290. CD-15-0283. PubMed PMID: 26645196; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4744499.
- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523(7559):231–5. doi:10.1038/ nature14404. PubMed PMID: 25970248.
- Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. Cell. 2017;168(4):707–23. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2017.01.017. PubMed PMID: 28187290.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive molecular profiling of lung adenocarcinoma. Nature. 2014;511(7511):543–50. doi:10.1038/ nature13385. PubMed PMID: 25079552; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4231481.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell. 2015;161(7):1681– 96. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044. PubMed PMID: 26091043;PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4580370.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature. 2012;487(7407):330–7. doi:10.1038/ nature11252. PubMed PMID: 22810696; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3401966.
- 10. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, Bignell GR, Bolli N, Borg A, Borresen-Dale AL, Boyault S, Burkhardt B, Butler AP, Caldas C, Davies HR, Desmedt C, Eils R, Eyfjord JE, Foekens JA, Greaves M, Hosoda F, Hutter B, Ilicic T, Imbeaud S, Imielinski M, Jager N, Jones DT, Jones D, Knappskog S, Kool M, Lakhani SR, Lopez-Otin C, Martin S, Munshi NC, Nakamura H, Northcott PA, Pajic M, Papaemmanuil E, Paradiso A, Pearson JV, Puente XS, Raine K, Ramakrishna M, Richardson AL, Richter J, Rosenstiel P, Schlesner M, Schumacher TN, Span PN, Teague JW, Totoki Y, Tutt AN, Valdes-Mas R, van Buuren MM, van't Veer L, Vincent-Salomon A, Waddell N, Yates LR, Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome I, Consortium

IBC, Consortium IM-S, PedBrain I, Zucman-Rossi J, Futreal PA, McDermott U, Lichter P, Meyerson M, Grimmond SM, Siebert R, Campo E, Shibata T, Pfister SM, Campbell PJ, Stratton MR. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013;500(7463):415–21. doi:10.1038/nature12477. PubMed PMID: 23945592; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3776390.

- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, Walsh LA, Postow MA, Wong P, Ho TS, Hollmann TJ, Bruggeman C, Kannan K, Li Y, Elipenahli C, Liu C, Harbison CT, Wang L, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Chan TA. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(23):2189–99. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1406498. PubMed PMID: 25409260; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4315319.
- McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, Jamal-Hanjani M, Wilson GA, Birkbak NJ, Hiley CT, Watkins TB, Shafi S, Murugaesu N, Mitter R, Akarca AU, Linares J, Marafioti T, Henry JY, Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Schadendorf D, Garraway LA, Makarov V, Rizvi NA, Snyder A, Hellmann MD, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD, Shukla SA, Wu CJ, Peggs KS, Chan TA, Hadrup SR, Quezada SA, Swanton C. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351(6280):1463–9. doi:10.1126/science. aaf1490. PubMed PMID: 26940869; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4984254.
- Karasaki T, Nagayama K, Kuwano H, Nitadori JI, Sato M, Anraku M, Hosoi A, Matsushita H, Takazawa M, Ohara O, Nakajima J, Kakimi K. Prediction and prioritization of neoantigens: integration of RNA sequencing data with whole-exome sequencing. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(2):170–7. doi:10.1111/cas.13131. PubMed PMID: 27960040.
- 14. Chen PL, Roh W, Reuben A, Cooper ZA, Spencer CN, Prieto PA, Miller JP, Bassett RL, Gopalakrishnan V, Wani K, De Macedo MP, Austin-Breneman JL, Jiang H, Chang Q, Reddy SM, Chen WS, Tetzlaff MT, Broaddus RJ, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Haydu L, Lazar AJ, Patel SP, Hwu P, Hwu WJ, Diab A, Glitza IC, Woodman SE, Vence LM, Wistuba ARN II, Kwong LN, Prieto V, Davis RE, Ma W, Overwijk WW, Sharpe AH, Hu J, Futreal PA, Blando J, Sharma P, Allison JP, Chin L, Wargo JA. Analysis of immune signatures in longitudinal tumor samples yields insight into biomarkers of response and mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint blockade. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(8):827-37. doi:10.1158/2159-8290. CD-15-1545. PubMed PMID: 27301722; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5082984.
- D'Urso CM, Wang ZG, Cao Y, Tatake R, Zeff RA, Ferrone S. Lack of HLA class I antigen expression by cultured melanoma cells FO-1 due to a defect in B2m gene expression. J Clin Invest. 1991;87(1):284–92. doi:10.1172/JCI114984. PubMed PMID: 1898655; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC295046.

- Boni A, Cogdill AP, Dang P, Udayakumar D, Njauw CN, Sloss CM, Ferrone CR, Flaherty KT, Lawrence DP, Fisher DE, Tsao H, Wargo JA. Selective BRAFV600E inhibition enhances T-cell recognition of melanoma without affecting lymphocyte function. Cancer Res. 2010;70(13):5213–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0118. PubMed PMID: 20551059.
- Frederick DT, Piris A, Cogdill AP, Cooper ZA, Lezcano C, Ferrone CR, Mitra D, Boni A, Newton LP, Liu C, Peng W, Sullivan RJ, Lawrence DP, Hodi FS, Overwijk WW, Lizee G, Murphy GF, Hwu P, Flaherty KT, Fisher DE, Wargo JA. BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(5):1225–31. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1630. PubMed PMID: 23307859; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3752683.
- Sigalotti L, Fratta E, Coral S, Tanzarella S, Danielli R, Colizzi F, Fonsatti E, Traversari C, Altomonte M, Maio M. Intratumor heterogeneity of cancer/ testis antigens expression in human cutaneous melanoma is methylation-regulated and functionally reverted by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Cancer Res. 2004;64(24):9167–71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1442. PubMed PMID: 15604288.
- Wargo JA, Robbins PF, Li Y, Zhao Y, El-Gamil M, Caragacianu D, Zheng Z, Hong JA, Downey S, Schrump DS, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Recognition of NY-ESO-1+ tumor cells by engineered lymphocytes is enhanced by improved vector design and epigenetic modulation of tumor antigen expression. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(3):383–94. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0562-x. PubMed PMID: 18677478; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2684457.
- 20. Lastwika KJ, Wilson W 3rd, Li QK, Norris J, Xu H, Ghazarian SR, Kitagawa H, Kawabata S, Taube JM, Yao S, Liu LN, Gills JJ, Dennis PA. Control of PD-L1 expression by oncogenic activation of the AKTmTOR pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2016;76(2):227–38. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-3362. PubMed PMID: 26637667.
- Akbay EA, Koyama S, Carretero J, Altabef A, Tchaicha JH, Christensen CL, Mikse OR, Cherniack AD, Beauchamp EM, Pugh TJ, Wilkerson MD, Fecci PE, Butaney M, Reibel JB, Soucheray M, Cohoon TJ, Janne PA, Meyerson M, Hayes DN, Shapiro GI, Shimamura T, Sholl LM, Rodig SJ, Freeman GJ, Hammerman PS, Dranoff G, Wong KK. Activation of the PD-1 pathway contributes to immune escape in EGFR-driven lung tumors. Cancer Discov. 2013;3(12):1355–63. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0310. PubMed PMID: 24078774; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3864135.
- 22. Gao J, Shi LZ, Zhao H, Chen J, Xiong L, He Q, Chen T, Roszik J, Bernatchez C, Woodman SE, Chen PL, Hwu P, Allison JP, Futreal A, Wargo JA, Sharma P. Loss of IFN-gamma pathway genes in tumor cells as a mechanism of resistance to anti-CTLA-4 therapy. Cell. 2016;167(2):397–404 e9. doi:10.1016/j.

cell.2016.08.069. PubMed PMID: 27667683; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5088716.

- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486. PubMed PMID: 21436444.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39(1):1– 10. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012. PubMed PMID: 23890059.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature. 2017;541(7637):321–30. doi:10.1038/nature21349. PubMed PMID: 28102259.
- Blank CU, Haanen JB, Ribas A, Schumacher TN. Cancer immunology. The "cancer immunogram". Science. 2016;352(6286):658–60. doi:10.1126/science.aaf2834. PubMed PMID: 27151852.
- Cogdill AP, Andrews MC, Wargo JA. Hallmarks of response to immune checkpoint blockade. Br J Cancer. 2017:27;117(1):1–7. doi:10.1038/bjc.2017.136. Epub 2017 May 18.
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoue F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc PH, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pages F. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960–4. doi:10.1126/science.1129139. PubMed PMID: 17008531.
- 29. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, Chmielowski B, Spasic M, Henry G, Ciobanu V, West AN, Carmona M, Kivork C, Seja E, Cherry G, Gutierrez AJ, Grogan TR, Mateus C, Tomasic G, Glaspy JA, Emerson RO, Robins H, Pierce RH, Elashoff DA, Robert C, Ribas A. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954. PubMed PMID: 25428505; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4246418.
- 30. Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, Gajewski TF. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(200):200ra116. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3006504. PubMed PMID: 23986400; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4136707.
- 31. Liu C, Peng W, Xu C, Lou Y, Zhang M, Wargo JA, Chen JQ, Li HS, Watowich SS, Yang Y, Tompers Frederick D, Cooper ZA, Mbofung RM, Whittington M, Flaherty KT, Woodman SE, Davies MA, Radvanyi LG, Overwijk WW, Lizee G, Hwu P. BRAF inhibition increases tumor infiltration by T cells and enhances the antitumor activity of adoptive immunotherapy in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(2):393–403. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1626. PubMed PMID: 23204132; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4120472.

- 32. Sumimoto H, Imabayashi F, Iwata T, Kawakami Y. The BRAF-MAPK signaling pathway is essential for cancer-immune evasion in human melanoma cells. J Exp Med. 2006;203(7):1651–6. doi:10.1084/jem.20051848. PubMed PMID: 16801397; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2118331.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(3):162–74. doi:10.1038/nri2506. PubMed PMID: 19197294; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2828349.
- 34. Osada T, Chong G, Tansik R, Hong T, Spector N, Kumar R, Hurwitz HI, Dev I, Nixon AB, Lyerly HK, Clay T, Morse MA. The effect of anti-VEGF therapy on immature myeloid cell and dendritic cells in cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(8):1115–24. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0441-x. PubMed PMID: 18193223; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4110970.
- 35. Wu X, Giobbie-Hurder A, Liao X, Lawrence D, McDermott D, Zhou J, Rodig S, Hodi FS. VEGF neutralization plus CTLA-4 blockade alters soluble and cellular factors associated with enhancing lymphocyte infiltration and humoral recognition in melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(10):858–68. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0084. PubMed PMID: 27549123; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5050160.
- 36. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(15):6171–80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0153. PubMed PMID: 20631075; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2912959.
- 37. Khalili JS, Liu S, Rodriguez-Cruz TG, Whittington M, Wardell S, Liu C, Zhang M, Cooper ZA, Frederick DT, Li Y, Zhang M, Joseph RW, Bernatchez C, Ekmekcioglu S, Grimm E, Radvanyi LG, Davis RE, Davies MA, Wargo JA, Hwu P, Lizee G. Oncogenic BRAF(V600E) promotes stromal cell-mediated immunosuppression via induction of interleukin-1 in melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(19):5329–40. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1632. PubMed PMID: 22850568; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3463754.
- Elinav E, Nowarski R, Thaiss CA, Hu B, Jin C, Flavell RA. Inflammation-induced cancer: crosstalk between tumours, immune cells and microorganisms. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(11):759–71. doi:10.1038/nrc3611. PubMed PMID: 24154716.
- Menetrier-Caux C, Montmain G, Dieu MC, Bain C, Favrot MC, Caux C, Blay JY. Inhibition of the differentiation of dendritic cells from CD34(+) progenitors by tumor cells: role of interleukin-6 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Blood. 1998;92(12):4778– 91. PubMed PMID: 9845545.
- 40. Wang E, Selleri S, Sabatino M, Monaco A, Pos Z, Worschech A, Stroncek DF, Marincola

FM. Spontaneous and treatment-induced cancer rejection in humans. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8(3):337–49. doi:10.1517/14712598.8.3.337. PubMed PMID: 18294104.

- 41. Starnes CO. Coley's toxins in perspective. Nature. 1992;357(6373):11–2. doi:10.1038/357011a0. PubMed PMID: 1574121.
- 42. Coley WB. The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas. With a report of ten original cases. 1893. Am J Med Sci. 1893;105(5):487–511.
- 43. Spitzer MH, Carmi Y, Reticker-Flynn NE, Kwek SS, Madhireddy D, Martins MM, Gherardini PF, Prestwood TR, Chabon J, Bendall SC, Fong L, Nolan GP, Engleman EG. Systemic immunity is required for effective cancer immunotherapy. Cell. 2017;168(3):487–502 e15. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016. 12.022. PubMed PMID: 28111070.
- 44. Ye Q, Song DG, Poussin M, Yamamoto T, Best A, Li C, Coukos G, Powell DJ Jr. CD137 accurately identifies and enriches for naturally occurring tumor-reactive T cells in tumor. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(1):44–55. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0945. PubMed PMID: 24045181; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3947326.
- 45. Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Crystal JS, Roberts IM, Trebska-McGowan K, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Rosenberg SA. Prospective identification of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. Nat Med. 2016;22(4):433–8. doi:10.1038/nm.4051. PubMed PMID: 26901407.
- 46. Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(5):275–87. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.36. PubMed PMID: 27079802.
- 47. Kokolus KM, Capitano ML, Lee CT, Eng JW, Waight JD, Hylander BL, Sexton S, Hong CC, Gordon CJ, Abrams SI, Repasky EA. Baseline tumor growth and immune control in laboratory mice are significantly influenced by subthermoneutral housing temperature. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(50):20176–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.1304291110. PubMed PMID: 24248371; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3864348.
- 48. Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, Williams JB, Aquino-Michaels K, Earley ZM, Benyamin FW, Lei YM, Jabri B, Alegre ML, Chang EB, Gajewski TF. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science. 2015;350(6264):1084–9. doi:10.1126/science.aac4255. PubMed PMID: 26541606; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4873287.
- 49. Vetizou M, Pitt JM, Daillere R, Lepage P, Waldschmitt N, Flament C, Rusakiewicz S, Routy B, Roberti MP, Duong CP, Poirier-Colame V, Roux A, Becharef S, Formenti S, Golden E, Cording S, Eberl G, Schlitzer A, Ginhoux F, Mani S, Yamazaki T, Jacquelot N,

Enot DP, Berard M, Nigou J, Opolon P, Eggermont A, Woerther PL, Chachaty E, Chaput N, Robert C, Mateus C, Kroemer G, Raoult D, Boneca IG, Carbonnel F, Chamaillard M, Zitvogel L. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade relies on the gut microbiota. Science. 2015;350(6264):1079–84. doi:10.1126/science.aad1329. PubMed PMID: 26541610; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4721659.

- 50. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, Schadendorf D, Dummer R, Smylie M, Rutkowski P, Ferrucci PF, Hill A, Wagstaff J, Carlino MS, Haanen JB, Maio M, Marquez-Rodas I, GA MA, Ascierto PA, Long GV, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Grossmann K, Sznol M, Dreno B, Bastholt L, Yang A, Rollin LM, Horak C, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):23–34. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504030. PubMed PMID: 26027431.
- 51. Joseph RW, Elassaiss-Schaap J, Wolchok JD, Joshua AM, Ribas A, Hodi FS, Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hwu W-J, Kefford R, Hersey P, Weber JS, Patnaik A, De Alwis DP, Perrone AM, Kang SP, Ebbinghaus S, Anderson KM, Gangadhar TC. Baseline tumor size as an independent prognostic factor for overall survival in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with the anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody MK-3475. ASCO Annual Meeting 2014. Chicago: Journal of Clinical Oncology 32, no. 15_suppl (May 2014) 3015–3015. DOI:10.1200/jco.2014.32.15_suppl.3015
- 52. Nishino M, Giobbie-Hurder A, Ramaiya NH, Hodi FS. Response assessment in metastatic melanoma treated with ipilimumab and bevacizumab: CT tumor size and density as markers for response and outcome. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2(1):40. doi:10.1186/ s40425-014-0040-2. PubMed PMID: 25411640; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4236430.
- 53. Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, Weber JS, Daud A, Hamid O, Patnaik A, Ribas A, Robert C, Gangadhar TC, Joshua AM, Hersey P, Dronca R, Joseph R, Hille D, Xue D, Li XN, Kang SP, Ebbinghaus S, Perrone A, Wolchok JD. Evaluation of immune-related response criteria and RECIST v1.1 in patients with advanced melanoma treated with pembrolizumab. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(13):1510–7. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2015.64.0391. PubMed PMID: 26951310; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5070547.
- Shreders A, Joseph R, Peng C, Ye F, Zhao S, Puzanov I, Sosman JA, Johnson DB. Prolonged benefit from ipilimumab correlates with improved outcomes from subsequent pembrolizumab. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(7):569–73. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0281. PubMed PMID: 27197063; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4940026.
- 55. Weber JS, Kudchadkar RR, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, Zhao X, Martinez AJ, Wang W, Gibney G, Kroeger J, Eysmans C, Sarnaik AA, Chen YA. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumab-refractory or -naive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(34):4311–8. doi:10.1200/

JCO.2013.51.4802. PubMed PMID: 24145345; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3837092.

- 56. Bowyer S, Prithviraj P, Lorigan P, Larkin J, McArthur G, Atkinson V, Millward M, Khou M, Diem S, Ramanujam S, Kong B, Liniker E, Guminski A, Parente P, Andrews MC, Parakh S, Cebon J, Long GV, Carlino MS, Klein O. Efficacy and toxicity of treatment with the anti-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma after prior anti-PD-1 therapy. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(10):1084–9. doi:10.1038/bjc.2016.107. PubMed PMID: 27124339; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4865968.
- 57. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, DF MD, Powderly JD, Carvajal RD, Sosman JA, Atkins MB, Leming PD, Spigel DR, Antonia SJ, Horn L, Drake CG, Pardoll DM, Chen L, Sharfman WH, Anders RA, Taube JM, McMiller TL, Xu H, Korman AJ, Jure-Kunkel M, Agrawal S, McDonald D, Kollia GD, Gupta A, Wigginton JM, Sznol M. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1200690. PubMed PMID: 22658127; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3544539.
- 58. Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, Hassel JC, Rutkowski P, McNeil C, Kalinka-Warzocha E, Savage KJ, Hernberg MM, Lebbe C, Charles J, Mihalcioiu C, Chiarion-Sileni V, Mauch C, Cognetti F, Arance A, Schmidt H, Schadendorf D, Gogas H, Lundgren-Eriksson L, Horak C, Sharkey B, Waxman IM, Atkinson V, Ascierto PA. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):320–30. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412082. PubMed PMID: 25399552.
- 59. Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, Chow LQ, Vokes EE, Felip E, Holgado E, Barlesi F, Kohlhaufl M, Arrieta O, Burgio MA, Fayette J, Lena H, Poddubskaya E, Gerber DE, Gettinger SN, Rudin CM, Rizvi N, Crino L, Blumenschein GR Jr, Antonia SJ, Dorange C, Harbison CT, Graf Finckenstein F, Brahmer JR. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(17):1627–39. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1507643. PubMed PMID: 26412456.
- 60. Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crino L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, Antonia S, Pluzanski A, Vokes EE, Holgado E, Waterhouse D, Ready N, Gainor J, Aren Frontera O, Havel L, Steins M, Garassino MC, Aerts JG, Domine M, Paz-Ares L, Reck M, Baudelet C, Harbison CT, Lestini B, Spigel DR. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(2):123–35. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504627. PubMed PMID: 26028407; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4681400.
- 61. Hamid O, Schmidt H, Nissan A, Ridolfi L, Aamdal S, Hansson J, Guida M, Hyams DM, Gomez H,

Bastholt L, Chasalow SD, Berman D. A prospective phase II trial exploring the association between tumor microenvironment biomarkers and clinical activity of ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. J Transl Med. 2011;9:204. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-204. PubMed PMID: 22123319; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3239318.

- Daud AI, Loo K, Pauli ML, Sanchez-Rodriguez R, Sandoval PM, Taravati K, Tsai K, Nosrati A, Nardo L, Alvarado MD, Algazi AP, Pampaloni MH, Lobach IV, Hwang J, Pierce RH, Gratz IK, Krummel MF, Rosenblum MD. Tumor immune profiling predicts response to anti-PD-1 therapy in human melanoma. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(9):3447–52. doi:10.1172/ JCI87324. PubMed PMID: 27525433; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5004965.
- 63. Shin DS, Zaretsky JM, Escuin-Ordinas H, Garcia-Diaz A, Hu-Lieskovan S, Kalbasi A, Grasso CS, Hugo W, Sandoval S, Torrejon DY, Palaskas N, Rodriguez GA, Parisi G, Azhdam A, Chmielowski B, Cherry G, Seja E, Berent-Maoz B, Shintaku IP, Le DT PDM, Diaz LA Jr, Tumeh PC, Graeber TG, Lo RS, Comin-Anduix B, Ribas A. Primary resistance to PD-1 blockade mediated by JAK1/2 mutations. Cancer Discov. 2017;7(2):188–201. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1223. PubMed PMID: 27903500; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5296316.
- 64. Lipson EJ, Velculescu VE, Pritchard TS, Sausen M, Pardoll DM, Topalian SL, Diaz LA Jr. Circulating tumor DNA analysis as a real-time method for monitoring tumor burden in melanoma patients undergoing treatment with immune checkpoint blockade. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2(1):42. doi:10.1186/ s40425-014-0042-0. PubMed PMID: 25516806; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4267741.
- 65. Santiago-Walker A, Gagnon R, Mazumdar J, Casey M, Long GV, Schadendorf D, Flaherty K, Kefford R, Hauschild A, Hwu P, Haney P, O'Hagan A, Carver J, Goodman V, Legos J, Martin AM. Correlation of BRAF mutation status in circulating-free DNA and tumor and association with clinical outcome across four BRAFi and MEKi clinical trials. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(3):567–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-15-0321. PubMed PMID: 26446943.
- 66. Tie J, Kinde I, Wang Y, Wong HL, Roebert J, Christie M, Tacey M, Wong R, Singh M, Karapetis CS, Desai J, Tran B, Strausberg RL, Diaz LA Jr, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Gibbs P. Circulating tumor DNA as an early marker of therapeutic response in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(8):1715–22. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdv177. PubMed PMID: 25851626; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4511218.
- 67. Tsao SC, Weiss J, Hudson C, Christophi C, Cebon J, Behren A, Dobrovic A. Monitoring response to therapy in melanoma by quantifying circulating tumour DNA with droplet digital PCR for BRAF and NRAS mutations. Sci Rep. 2015;5:11198. doi:10.1038/ srep11198. PubMed PMID: 26095797; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4476039.

- 68. Felix J, Cassinat B, Porcher R, Schlageter MH, Maubec E, Pages C, Baroudjian B, Homyrda L, Boukouaci W, Tamouza R, Bagot M, Caignard A, Toubert A, Lebbe C, Moins-Teisserenc H. Relevance of serum biomarkers associated with melanoma during follow-up of anti-CTLA-4 immunotherapy. Int Immunopharmacol. 2016;40:466–73. doi:10.1016/j. intimp.2016.09.030. PubMed PMID: 27728898.
- 69. Ferrucci PF, Gandini S, Battaglia A, Alfieri S, Di Giacomo AM, Giannarelli D, Cappellini GC, De Galitiis F, Marchetti P, Amato G, Lazzeri A, Pala L, Cocorocchio E, Martinoli C. Baseline neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio is associated with outcome of ipilimumab-treated metastatic melanoma patients. Br J Cancer. 2015;112(12):1904–10. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2015.180. PubMed PMID: 26010413; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4580390.
- Zaragoza J, Caille A, Beneton N, Bens G, Christiann F, Maillard H, Machet L. High neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio measured before starting ipilimumab treatment is associated with reduced overall survival in patients with melanoma. Br J Dermatol. 2016;174(1):146–51. doi:10.1111/bjd.14155. PubMed PMID: 26343230.
- 71. Ferrucci PF, Ascierto PA, Pigozzo J, Del Vecchio M, Maio M, Antonini Cappellini GC, Guidoboni M, Queirolo P, Savoia P, Mandala M, Simeone E, Valpione S, Altomonte M, Spagnolo F, Cocorocchio E, Gandini S, Giannarelli D, Martinoli C. Baseline neutrophils and derived neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio: prognostic relevance in metastatic melanoma patients receiving ipilimumab. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(4):732–8. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw016. PubMed PMID: 26802161.
- 72. Zheng H, Liu X, Zhang J, Rice SJ, Wagman M, Kong Y, Zhu L, Zhu J, Joshi M, Belani CP. Expression of PD-1 on CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood associates with poor clinical outcome in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(35):56233–40. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.9316. PubMed PMID: 27191652.
- Koguchi Y, Hoen HM, Bambina SA, Rynning MD, Fuerstenberg RK, Curti BD, Urba WJ, Milburn C, Bahjat FR, Korman AJ, Bahjat KS. Serum immunoregulatory proteins as predictors of overall survival of metastatic melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. Cancer Res. 2015;75(23):5084–92. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2303. PubMed PMID: 26627641.
- 74. Ng Tang D, Shen Y, Sun J, Wen S, Wolchok JD, Yuan J, Allison JP, Sharma P. Increased frequency of ICOS+ CD4 T cells as a pharmacodynamic biomarker for anti-CTLA-4 therapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(4):229–34. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0020. PubMed PMID: 24777852; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4636341.
- 75. Delyon J, Mateus C, Lefeuvre D, Lanoy E, Zitvogel L, Chaput N, Roy S, Eggermont AM, Routier E, Robert C. Experience in daily practice with ipilimumab for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: an early increase in lymphocyte and eosinophil counts is associated with improved survival. Ann Oncol.

2013;24(6):1697–703. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt027. PubMed PMID: 23439861.

- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, Weber JS, Hamid O, Lebbe C, Maio M, Binder M, Bohnsack O, Nichol G, Humphrey R, Hodi FS. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(23):7412–20. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1624. PubMed PMID: 19934295.
- 77. Larue RT, Defraene G, De Ruysscher D, Lambin P, van Elmpt W. Quantitative radiomics studies for tissue characterization: a review of technology and methodological procedures. Br J Radiol. 2017;90(1070):20160665. doi:10.1259/bjr.20160665. PubMed PMID: 27936886.
- Khoja L, Kibiro M, Metser U, Gedye C, Hogg D, Butler MO, Atenafu EG, Joshua AM. Patterns of response to anti-PD-1 treatment: an exploratory comparison of four radiological response criteria and associations with overall survival in metastatic melanoma patients. Br J Cancer. 2016;115(10):1186–92. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2016.308. PubMed PMID: 27701388; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5104887.
- 79. Gopalakrishnan V, Spencer C, Reuben A, Karpinets TV, Hutchinson D, Hoffman K, Prieto P, Tetzlaff M, Lazar A, Davies MA, Gershenwald J, Jenq R, Hwu W-J, Sharma P, Allison JP, Futreal A, Ajami N, Petrosino J, Daniel-MacDougall C, Wargo JA. Diversity and composition of the gut microbiome are associated with differential responses to PD-1 based therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma. 2017 ASCO-SITC Clinical Immuno-Oncology Symposium, 2017, Orlando, FL.
- Bertrand A, Kostine M, Barnetche T, Truchetet ME, Schaeverbeke T. Immune related adverse events associated with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Med. 2015;13:211. doi:10.1186/s12916-015-0455-8. PubMed PMID: 26337719; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4559965.
- 81. Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Sileni VC, Pigozzo J, Maio M, Altomonte M, Del Vecchio M, Di Guardo L, Marchetti P, Ridolfi R, Cognetti F, Testori A, Bernengo MG, Guida M, Marconcini R, Mandala M, Cimminiello C, Rinaldi G, Aglietta M, Queirolo P. Clinical experience with ipilimumab 3 mg/kg: real-world efficacy and safety data from an expanded access programme cohort. J Transl Med. 2014;12:116. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-116. PubMed PMID: 24885479; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4030525.
- 82. Horvat TZ, Adel NG, Dang TO, Momtaz P, Postow MA, Callahan MK, Carvajal RD, Dickson MA, D'Angelo SP, Woo KM, Panageas KS, Wolchok JD, Chapman PB. Immune-related adverse events, need for systemic immunosuppression, and effects on survival and time to treatment failure in patients with melanoma treated with ipilimumab at memorial Sloan Kettering cancer center. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(28):3193–8. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2015.60.8448. PubMed PMID: 26282644; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5087335.

- 83. Judd J, Zibelman M, Handorf E, O'Neill J, Ramamurthy C, Bentota S, Doyle J, Uzzo RG, Bauman J, Borghaei H, Plimack ER, Mehra R, Geynisman DM. Immune-related adverse events as a biomarker in non-melanoma patients treated with programmed cell death 1 inhibitors. Oncologist. 2017 Jun 26. pii: theoncologist. 2017–0133. doi:10.1634/ theoncologist. 2017-0133. [Epub ahead of print].
- 84. Shahabi V, Berman D, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Tsuchihashi Z, Hu B, Panting L, Jure-Kunkel M, Ji RR. Gene expression profiling of whole blood in ipilimumab-treated patients for identification of potential biomarkers of immune-related gastrointestinal adverse events. J Transl Med. 2013;11:75. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-75. PubMed PMID: 23521917; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3637501.
- 85. Roh W, Chen P-L, Reuben A, Spencer CN, Prieto PA, Miller JP, Gopalakrishnan V, Wang F, Cooper ZA, Reddy SM, Gumbs C, Little L, Chang Q, Chen W-S, Wani K, De Macedo MP, Chen E,

Austin-Breneman JL, Jiang H, Roszik J, Tetzlaff MT, Davies MA, Gershenwald JE, Tawbi H, Lazar AJ, Hwu P, Hwu W-J, Diab A, Glitza IC, Patel SP, Woodman SE, Amaria RN, Prieto VG, Hu J, Sharma P, Allison JP, Chin L, Zhang J, Wargo JA, Futreal PA. Integrated molecular analysis of tumor biopsies on sequential CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade reveals markers of response and resistance. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(379). pii: eaah3560. doi:10.1126/scitrans-Imed.aah3560. Erratum in: Sci Transl Med. 2017 Apr 12;9(385). PMID: 28251903.

86. Fracasso PM, Freeman DJ, Simonsen K, Shen Y, Gupta M, Comprelli A, Gainor JF, Hellmann M, Chow LQ, Forde PM, Govindan R, Reilly TP, Cassidy J. A phase 2, fast real-time assessment of combination therapies in immuno-oncology trial in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (FRACTIONlung). 41st ESMO Congress. Copenhagen, Denmark: Ann Oncol (2016) 27 (suppl_6): 1295TiP. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw383.95.

Part V

Changes in Clinical Practice

Immune Therapies in Phase 1 Trials

Sophie Postel-Vinay and Jean-Charles Soria

Contents

32.1	Introduction	547
32.2	Antibodies Targeting Immune	
	Checkpoints	548
32.2.1	Dose-Limiting Toxicities and MTD	
	Definition	548
32.2.2	Safety Profile and Toxicity	
	Management	551
32.2.3	Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic	
	Assessments	552
32.2.4	Patient Eligibility	553
32.2.5	Patient Selection and Personalized	
	Immune Therapy	554
32.2.6	Response and Efficacy	
	Assessment	555
32.2.7	Trial Design: The "Phase 1 Registration"	
	Trials	557
32.3	Other Immune Therapies and Their	
	Specificities: Selected Examples	557
32.3.1	Blinatumomab	557
32.3.2	Talimogene Laherparepvec (T-VEC)	558
32.3.3	CAR-T Cell Therapy	559
32.4	Combinations	559
32.5	Conclusion and Practical	
	Considerations	560
References		

32.1 Introduction

Oncologists working in drug development have been facing a revolution in the molecular landscape of agents evaluated in phase 1 over the last few years. If therapies targeting the immune system did represent a minimal fraction of drugs until 2010, the success of immune checkpoint blockers in multiple solid tumor types has led to an exponential development of therapies targeting the immune system, both as monotherapy and combination. Concomitantly, traditional phase 1 trial designs have been deeply challenged, leading to innovative and unprecedented drug development strategies. Although the need to expedite drug development has never been as high, it is critical to ensure that patient's safety remains the highest priority while optimizing early phase trial designs.

This chapter will highlight specificities of phase 1 trials in the era of immune therapies with a particular focus on antibodies targeting immune checkpoints—for which most data are available—and provide practical considerations for early drug development.

Gustave Roussy, Villejuif 94800, France

S. Postel-Vinay • J.-C. Soria (🖂)

e-mail: jean-charles.soria@gustaveroussy.fr

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_32

32.2 Antibodies Targeting Immune Checkpoints

32.2.1 Dose-Limiting Toxicities and MTD Definition

Historically, drug development methods and phase 1 designs have been established following the "the more the better" rule, assuming that higher doses of anticancer agents provide better efficacy, even if at the cost of higher toxicities (Fig. 32.1). Therefore, dose-escalation schemes have been established in order to: (1) limit the number of patients treated at low (suspected inefficacious) doses, (2) allow rapid dose-escalation to limit the duration of the trial, and (3) maximize the probability of detecting early severe toxicities that may become harmful for the patients and invert the benefit-risk balance of receiving the anticancer agent. Such intolerable toxicities are also called "dose-limiting toxicities" (DLTs), as they limit the dose-escalation when occurring in more than a pre-specified number of patients. DLTs usually constitute of severe (Grade 3 or above) toxicities according to the National

Cancer Institute—Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (NCI-CTCAE v4.0) that occur during the first cycle of therapy, i.e., the first three to four treatment weeks. The traditional 3 + 3 dose-escalation design aims at targeting a dose-limiting toxicity rate between 17 and 33% (one or less than one out of six patients presenting a DLT), corresponding to the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) [1]. In this context, immune therapies challenge this historical drug development method in several ways (reviewed in [2]).

32.2.1.1 Safety and MTD Definition

Toxicities of immune therapies differ in several ways from toxicities observed with cytotoxic therapies or targeted agents. If a dose-toxicity relationship has been observed with anti-CTLA-4 agents, no correlation between dose and safety profile has been observed in phase 1 trials evaluating anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 agents as monotherapy—which was confirmed in later phase studies. For example, nivolumab (Opdivo[®], Bristol-Myers Squibb) efficacy and safety profile appears relatively constant at doses ranging between 2 and 20 mg/kg either Q2W or Q3W [3–5]. Also, when



Fig. 32.1 Dose-toxicity and dose-efficacy relationships with immune checkpoint blockers. Contrary to cytotoxic agents (*left panel*), immune checkpoint blockers (*right panel*) do not display any linear dose-toxicity or doseefficacy relationship. Rare, but severe and sometimes lifethreatening, immune-related adverse events (irAEs) can be observed at all dose levels; biological activity is independent of the dose above a certain threshold required for triggering the immune response. The therapeutic index of these therapies is consequently wider than the one of traditional cytotoxic agents. Color code: mild, moderate, and severe toxicities are represented respectively with green, orange, and red lines; red dots represent the potential for severe irAEs on a backbone of dose-independent mild AEs with immune therapies; activity is depicted in yellow. DL dose level, MAD minimum active dose, MFD maximum feasible dose, MTD maximum tolerated dose, RP2D recommended phase 2 dose, Ther Index therapeutic index considering the 13 main phase 1 trials evaluating anti-CTLA-4, anti-PD-1, or anti-PD-L1 agents as monotherapy, only one trial identified some perprotocol-defined DLTs, and no MTD could be determined in almost all trials. Therefore, the recommended phase 2 dose (RP2D) was most frequently established as the maximum feasible dose (MFD)-rather than being based on safety data. Interestingly, the nivolumab recommended dose was established based on an integrated analysis of pharmacokinetic (PK, reflecting drug exposure), pharmacodynamic (PD), and safety and efficacy data of a large phase 1b study [3, 6]. Similarly to targeted therapies, most immune checkpoint blockers are eventually administered at fixed doses, which are neither adjusted on body weight, body surface area, nor any patient-specific parameter (Fig. 32.1).

Does this absence of dose-limiting toxicities or MTD mean that these therapies are not toxic? If the number of severe toxicities observed with immune checkpoint blockers is indeed generally lower than with cytotoxic therapies or targeted therapies, this absence of DLTs is mainly due to a difference in kinetics of toxicity appearance. DLTs are traditionally assessed during the first cycle of therapy only, which is relevant for toxicities that are directly resulting from an acute effect of the drug on healthy cells. By contrast, toxicities resulting from immune therapies are mostly indirect: they are caused by an inadequate response of the immune system to the drugwhich can be inadequate in nature or in quantity-and inappropriate reprograming of immune cells. This has led to the distinction between adverse events (AEs) and immune-related adverse events (irAEs)-including infusion reactions. A latency period, which duration varies according to the nature of the drug (e.g., 8–10 weeks for ipilimumab [7]), is necessary before irAEs can occur. Therefore, a DLT period limited to the first cycle only does not appropriately capture such drug-related toxicities, and these are not taken into account in the doseescalation process. If the latter is completely acceptable, considering the frequent absence of dose-toxicity relationship as well as necessity to complete phase 1 trials in a timely manner, such late toxicities should however be carefully reported in phase 1 manuscripts together with their cycle of occurrence. Alternatively, some phase 1 trials assessing anti-PD-L1 agents, such as trials evaluating BMS-936559 [8] and MEDI4736 (durvalumab, AstraZeneca) [9], have made the choice to lengthen the DLT period to two cycles, in order to better take immune-related toxicities into account.

Dose-limiting toxicities may also not be limited to severe (NCI-CTCAE Grade 3) toxicities in phase 1 trials evaluating immune therapies. Indeed, irAEs require rapid and specific management-based mostly on immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory agents such as steroids, anti-TNF, or anti-IL-6 agents in more severe cases. Therefore, most trials now recommend discontinuing drug administration as soon as moderate (Grade 2) irAEs are observed and starting rapid therapeutic intervention according to dedicated guidelines [10]. Even if some uncertainties remain regarding the pharmacokinetics of elimination of immune checkpoint blockers from their target, drug interruptions are likely leading to decreased drug exposure and should therefore score as DLTs according to the most recent recommendations [11]. Most importantly, such delayed toxicities should deserve specific attention and should be taken into account in the doserecommendation process as well as in the establishment of guidelines for toxicity management [12].

32.2.1.2 Dosing Schedule

In most cases, immune therapies do not present a clear and linear dose-response relationship (Fig. 32.1). For example, the activity has consistently been observed at all dose levels in the phase 1 trial evaluating several doses of nivolumab [3]; similarly, higher doses of the anti-CTLA-4 agents ipilimumab and tremelimumab did not result into higher response rates in melanoma patients. For example, the dose-response suggested in the phase 2 trial comparing three doses of ipilimumab in metastatic melanoma [13] was not confirmed in subsequent larger phase 3 trials [14–16]. Therefore, aiming at administering the highest tolerable dose might not be

relevant for these agents, and their potential for efficacy at lower dose levels should be explored. In this context, innovative designs, allowing to dose-escalate rapidly (accelerated titration designs or modified toxicity probability interval designs [17]) and to expand at low dose levels as soon as satisfactory pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters have been obtained, should systematically be considered (Fig. 32.2).

Beyond the question of the dose, the optimal schedule of administration also remains debated. If most monoclonal antibodies are currently administered every 2 or 3 weeks, no consistent pattern can be found according to the antibody isotype, and there are still several unknown parameters—such as antibody clearance from its target—which require further exploration. Phase 1 trials should endeavor to best explore such questions, as detailed below (see pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters section). The total duration of treatment is also the matter of intense debate. For example, if anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 agents are currently administered following a continuous schedule as monotherapy, the anti-CTLA-4 agent ipilimumab is currently approved at 3 mg/kg Q3W for a total of four doses, and some studies evaluated the potential for maintenance therapy with dosing at lower



Fig. 32.2 Novel phase 1 designs in the era of immunooncology. The traditional drug development process (top panel) includes three separate phase 1, 2, and 3 studies prior to reaching drug approval (depicted by "A" in the sun shape). Classical phase 1 associates a dose-escalation phase followed by a single-cohort dose-expansion phase primarily looking for safety and confirmation of the recommended phase 2 dose. This approximately 3-year-long phase 1 is, in case of data supporting preliminary activity, followed by subsequent phase 2 and 3 trial, for a total drug development duration of more than 10 years. Novel drug development designs include "drug registration phase 1 trials," in which expansion cohorts do not only look for safety but also activity in disease-specific cohorts that are adequately powered to do so. Further, multiple combination cohorts can be launched as a part of the original phase 1 trial (pending appropriate protocol amendment), to assess safety and preliminary efficacy of various drug associations. These multiple parallel cohorts can include several hundreds of patients and lead to breakthrough designation, conditional, or accelerated approval, thereby significantly shortening the drug development process. Patient-specific cohorts may also be open, in order to allow assessing the drug's safety in patients presenting certain comorbidities. Additional patients could also be enrolled in the dose-escalation phase at dose levels which have proven to be safe and are above the minimum active dose; this allows enriching for safety, PK, PD, and efficacy data at several dose levels while increasing the number of patients who will potentially benefit from the drug, without any delay in doseescalation. MAD minimum active dose, MFD maximum feasible dose, MTD maximum tolerated dose, RP2D recommended phase 2 dose

frequency [18]. The potential for effective reinduction therapy for patients who present sustained tumor response off-treatment but ultimately relapse should also systematically be considered [19]. However, if phase 1 trials are the place for testing the feasibility and safety of such schedules, the formal comparison of their efficacy requires on-purpose adequately powered later phase trials in dedicated tumor types.

32.2.2 Safety Profile and Toxicity Management

A full chapter of this book being dedicated to side effects of I-Os, only key notions and historical developments of interest for phase 1 trials are presented here.

There are several specificities of immune toxicities (immune-related adverse events, irAEs) that need to be considered in phase 1 trials (Fig. 32.3). First, irAEs can affect any organ, even if initial trials with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents mostly focused on colitis and pneumonitis [10, 20]. Any irAE semiology should therefore be carefully and exhaustively described in the medical records. Second, their potential for rapid worsening and life-threatening consequences contrasts with their low incidence. Therefore, patients should be systematically taught to promptly report any symptom without delay and avoid self-management. Third, as irAEs require specific management, phase 1 protocols should implement clear toxicity management guidelines, and patients should be referred to the local organ specialist as soon as irAE reaches Grade 2 [10]. Phase 1 units should ideally set up a collaborative network with organ specialists in order to optimally explore and manage irAEs. Beyond optimizing treatment, this would allow collecting tissue or blood samples early-while the patient still experiences the toxicity and before any immunosuppressive agent has been administered-in order to study its physiopathology.

If antibodies targeting immune checkpoints are currently seen as "safe nontoxic" drugs, early developments have proven to be sometimes hectic. The most famous example resides in the story of the CD28 superagonist TGN1412, developed in 2006 by TeGenero [21]. All six healthy volunteers who received the first drug injection developed life-threatening cytokine release syndromes requiring transfer to intensive care units within a few hours of the drug administration. Although all six survived, this event put the development of



therapies targeting the immune synapse in the shade for several years. The causes of such severe toxicities were eventually deciphered [22] and included the inadequate choice of the starting dose-which should have been based on the minimum biological effect level (MABEL) instead of the traditional non-observed adverse effect level (NOAEL), as well as differences between the immune systems of humans and animals which had been passed over (including differences in memory T cells in mice and macaques). This example, associated to others that will be discussed below with vaccines and CAR-T cell therapies, illustrates how toxicities of I-O agents are unpredictable and, even if rare, are often severe and require prompt and specific management in specialized units. Therefore, phase 1 trials of immune therapies should, at least for first-inclass or first-in-human drugs, solely be performed in large experienced phase 1 centers with immediate access to intensive care unit and efficient immunosuppressive agents (including anti-TNF and anti-IL-6 agents).

32.2.3 Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Assessments

32.2.3.1 Pharmacokinetics

Considering the mechanism of action of immune therapies and the variety of agents currently assessed in phase 1 trials, pharmacokinetic evaluation is becoming increasingly complex. Mechanism of absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination is highly variable according to the type of agent [23]. For example, if most immune checkpoint blockers have a common IgG backbone-which accounts for a dosedependent C_{max} and a median half-life of approximately 15 days—differences exist according to the isotype. IgG1 and IgG3 can cause NK cell-mediated antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), whereas IgG4 rather activates the alternative complement pathway. Other factors, such as a concentrationdependent half-life, the ability of the Fc region

to bind to the salvage receptor (FcRn) [24], or the presence of circulating soluble forms of the ligand, introduce further variability and complexity in the assessment of pharmacokinetic characteristics of these agents. By contrast, bispecific antibodies lacking an Fc region traditionally have a very short half-life, which can be of interest notably for the management of drugrelated adverse events, such as cytokine release syndrome or appearance of anti-drug antibodies (ADAs), either human anti-human antibodies (HAHAs) or human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMAs) [25, 26]. The bi-specific T-cell engaging (BiTE®) antibody anti-CD19xanti-CD3 blinatumomab (Blincyto®), for example, has a half-life of approximately 2 h [27]. Finally, novel routes of administration, such as intra-tumor administration, lead to novel challenges, with a maximum administrable volume or the requirement to-ideally-assess the drug's pharmacokinetics not only in the peripheral blood but also locally. The optimization of the drug formulation is therefore increasingly important.

32.2.3.2 Pharmacodynamics

The difficulty in designing appropriate pharmacodynamic assays for immune checkpoint blockers resides in their highly variable level and pattern of expression. For example, PD-1 is mostly expressed on T-cell surface, while CTLA-4 only displays transient expression, and biomarker expression can both be constitutive or inducible [28]. Thus, flow cytometry methods assessing receptor occupancy on circulating T cells are feasible and relevant only for a fraction of molecules. Such technique could successfully be used for the phase 1 trial evaluating nivolumab [29], where receptor occupancy appeared to be dose-independent and prolonged (with a decay in occupancy being observed only 3 months after the last drug administration). Importantly, which degree and duration of target modulation should be achieved to trigger the optimal immune modulation, and whether findings observed in circulating lymphocytes reflect what is happening in the tumor bed, remains unknown. Further, data have highlighted the critical role of the interaction of the Fc portion of monoclonal antibodies with Fc γ Rs expressed on innate immune effector cells in therapeutic activity. Patients displaying activating Fc γ R alleles (resulting in higher affinity) respond better to therapy, and polymorphisms in the *Fc\gammaRIII\alpha* were associated with response to rituximab in patients with follicular lymphoma [30, 31]. Therefore, strategies have been developed to limit or abrogate the binding of the antibody Fc to cellular Fc γ Rs, which may introduce further variability in drug efficacy and pharmacodynamic parameters [32].

The ability to perform immunomonitoring studies, i.e., assessing the levels of circulating cytokines, chemokines, as well as phenotyping immune cell populations in peripheral blood, represents an attractive pharmacodynamic biomarker for immune therapies. For example, the phase 1 trial assessing the 9B12 anti-OX40 monoclonal antibody evidenced that, following drug infusion, patients displayed a non-Treg (FoxP3^{neg}) CD4⁺ T cell expansion associated with an increase of CD8⁺ lymphocytes expressing the CD38 and HLA-DR activation markers, together with a transient decrease of follicular helper CD4⁺ T cells in the peripheral blood [33]. The comparison of OX40 surface expression on Treg from the peripheral blood and on tumor infiltrating Tregs in three patients for which tumor tissue was available revealed that less than 20% of circulating Treg expressed this marker, whereas more than 50% of infiltrating Tregs were OX40 positive. By contrast, anti-CTLA-4 has been reported to increase both FoxP3+ and FoxP3-CD4+ T cells in a dose-dependent manner.

Such extensive and comprehensive pharmacodynamic studies are essential as early as phase 1 trials, even if such studies are not powered to show any statistically significant differences in biomarkers. Indeed, phase 1 trials are the only situation where the effect of the dose schedule and drug exposure on PD parameters will be evaluable. Further, this will allow orientating biomarkers that should be evaluated as a priority in later phase trials that will enroll a larger number of patients, thereby limiting the cost of such analyses.

32.2.4 Patient Eligibility

Considering the peculiar physiopathology of the immune therapy-associated toxicities, and the "phase 1 efficacy and registration trial" development strategy currently chosen by most drug companies (Fig. 32.2), one can wonder whether the traditional phase 1 eligibility criteria should be unwound. Patients included in phase 1 trials are usually required to have (1) life expectancy above 18 weeks and (2) no major baseline organ dysfunction. Life expectancy has traditionally been assessed using objective scores developed on chemotherapy-treated patients, such as the Royal Marsden score based on LDH, albumin, and number of metastatic sites [34]. Recent data have revalidated the relevance of such scores on immune therapy-treated patients and highlighted the potential for adding lymphocyte count in the scoring [35]. Regarding the criteria excluding patients with any baseline organ dysfunction, phase 1 trials evaluating immune therapies represent a major paradox. Indeed, recent data of antibodies targeting immune checkpoints tend to support that immune-related toxicities might be much rarer and varied than chemotherapy- or targeted agent-associated toxicities [10]. However, inclusion criteria of phase 1 trials have become more restrictive. Logically, patients with history of autoimmune disease (psoriasis, type 1 diabetes, inflammatory bowel disease, etc.), chronic viral infection (hepatitis B, hepatitis C, HIV), or history of severe allergic, anaphylactic, or hypersensitivity reactions have been excluded from such trials. However, if such narrowing of the inclusion criteria is legitimate at the very first development steps of a novel drug, i.e., during the dose-escalation phase or for first-in-class/ first-in-human compounds, it further decreases the representativeness of phase 1 patients of the all-comer populations. This is contra-intuitive in a context where drug companies aim at obtaining accelerated approval for some compounds based on phase 1 trials results. Responses and clinical benefit have been observed in patients with elevated LDH receiving tremelimumab [36], in patients with performance status of two treated with BMS-936559 [8], or in patients with brain metastases [37, 38] with no additional toxicity. Provisions should therefore be made to open dedicated cohorts of patients with poorer prognosis in the dose-expansion phase, after unwinding of selected eligibility criteria, chosen based on the drug safety profile that has been observed in the dose-escalation phase and safety dose-expansion cohort. Also, evaluating such "more at risk" patients within the initial phase 1 trial would allow that physicians looking after them are already familiar with the drug, which is ethical and clinically sound. Together with the removal of some limitations put on the number of previous treatment lines, this would allow speeding up recruitment and expediting drug development, while obtaining additional safety information on the evaluated compound. Finally, most phase 1 trials currently require patients being immune therapy-naïve. With the exponential development of immune therapies, this becomes no longer feasible as most patients will have received at least one prior line with an immune modulator. Unless there is a strong rationale and fear of interaction that would put the patient's safety at risk, such criteria should be removed.

32.2.5 Patient Selection and Personalized Immune Therapy

Immune therapies have brought an additional level of complexity in the patient selection and personalized medicine era. Biomarkers are not anymore located only on cancer cells (or molecules released by cancer cells), but immune cells and tumor microenvironment need to be taken into account [39]. Further, some biomarkerssuch as PD-1 or PD-L1-have a dynamic expression profile and can be induced under specific circumstances only [28]. The challenges of choosing the best biomarker for predicting efficacy to immune therapies-including checkpoint expression, neoantigen/mutational load, immunoscore, etc.-have been discussed in a previous chapter of this book, but several phase 1 specificities need to be highlighted. First, phase 1 trials

need to remain limited in time and able to enroll patients efficiently. Therefore, no molecular selection should be performed in the doseescalation phase, where the primary objective must remain the determination of the doselimiting toxicities and maximum tolerated dose. Molecular enrichment could then be performed in the dose-expansion phase in dedicated "companion biomarker" cohorts. The successful development and approval of the 22C3 IHC PD-L1 PharmDx test, together with pembrolizumab, nicely illustrates this concept [40]. Second, none of the current biomarkers used to predict response to immune therapies, notably immune checkpoint blockers, is sufficiently specific or sensitive to exclude patients from receiving such therapies. For example, responses to anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 agents have consistently been observed in PD-L1negative populations [41, 42] or in tumor types with virtually no mutations and a very low neoantigen load—such as Hodgkin lymphomas [43]. Such observations would have been missed if a too stringent preselection had been applied as early as phase 1 trials. Third, "surprise" responders can allow to learn more on the drug's mechanism of action and target population than a well-selected homogeneous cohort of patients. Phase 1 trials are the only place where eligibility criteria can be flexible enough to enroll a variety of patients, and dedicated cohorts for rare tumor types or unselected patients should therefore be systematically added in the dose-expansion phase. Also, exceptional responders (or resistant patients) should be extensively sampled and studied, both in the tumor and peripheral blood—as well as lymph nodes if relevant-as such patients can be extremely informative. Of note, it is somehow worrying to observe how much the number of companies following the same targets has been increasing over the last 3 years (from 26 to 36%), while the number of targets pursued by only one company has been reduced from 42 to 26% [44]. Although no specific data is currently available for immune therapies in oncology, most immunooncology drug companies are currently following the same route and do not only develop agents directed against the same molecules but also target the same patient populations. Beyond making recruitment more difficult for phase 1 units, secondary to competing trials, this "herd mentality" also constantly reduces accessibility to novel drugs for the same patient populations (such as sarcoma, brain tumors, or rare diseases) and harms real and original innovation.

32.2.6 Response and Efficacy Assessment

Considering their mechanism of action, immune therapies can have unusual profiles of responses, including dissociated responses, delayed responses, hyperprogressions, and pseudoprogressions (initial increase in tumor size followed by tumor shrinkage) [45]. These correspond mostly to the fact that immune activation can take time, leading to a delay in onset of clinical effect, and that immune cells recruited to the tumor bed may cause an increase in tumor volume before it effectively shrinks [46]. Therefore, traditional World Health Organization (WHO) and Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors version 1.1 (RECIST v1.1) criteria do not appropriately apprehend responses observed with immune therapies. Novel criteria, named immune-related response criteria (irRC), have therefore been developed [46] and added to the traditional RECIST criteria in most of the recent phase 1 trials evaluating immune checkpoint blockers. These better allow taking into account the different patterns of atypical responses observed with immune checkpoint blockers, including the potential for appearance of new nontarget lesions, growth of existing lesions preceding tumor shrinkage, and prolonged stable disease-sometimes ultimately followed by delayed response, even after treatment cessation. For example, 7.3% (24/327) of the melanoma patients treated with the anti-PD-L1 agent pembrolizumab in the Keynote-001 study presented atypical responses, including 4.6% (15/327) early pseudoprogressions and 2.8% (9/327) delayed pseudoprogressions [47]. Further, 14% (84/592) of the patients experienced progressive disease per RECIST v1.1 but nonprogressive disease per irRC. Also, the 2-year overall survival rates were 78% in

patients with nonprogressive disease per both criteria, 37% in patients with progressive disease per RECIST v1.1 only, and 17% in patients with progressive disease per both criteria. This suggests that, at least in this population, using RECIST v1.1 may cause premature treatment interruption and lead to underestimation of the immune checkpoint blockers' benefit. Although atypical patterns of response appear to be more frequent in melanoma patients and the benefit of using irRC criteria has been poorly validated outside this population, most phase 1 protocols evaluating immune therapies now recommend using (1) RECIST v1.1 criteria for response assessment and (2) irRC for treatment cessation. This means that confirmation of the progression is required by a second imaging assessment 4 weeks after the initial progression has been diagnosed, prior to taking a patient off-study. iRECIST criteria, which should become available soon, aim at merging irRC and RECIST v1.1 criteria in order to offer a widely implementable classification that better takes into account these atypical response profiles. Finally, provisions should be made to allow pursuing treatment beyond confirmed progression in case of clinical benefit (pending written approval from the study promotor, from the patient, and based on a consensus among all co-investigators). In line with these considerations, non-progression rate or clinical benefit rate might represent potential relevant alternatives to assess immune therapy efficacy in phase 1 (Fig. 32.4).

Overall, it is likely that current criteria—either RECIST, irRC, or iRECIST—will be insufficient to recapitulate all peculiar patterns of response observed with immune therapies. Therefore, alternative strategies should be systematically envisioned and implemented in phase 1 trials. These include dynamic assessments (such as tumor growth rate), metabolic imaging, and also peripheral immunomonitoring—which could also be an indicator of response. Finally, whether overall survival should be systematically recorded in phase 1 trials of immune therapies is a current question. This endpoint has traditionally not been registered in early phase trials, as these primarily aim at assessing safety. Preliminary efficacy data,



Fig. 32.4 The evolving landscape of phase 1 trials from cytotoxics to the immuno-oncology era (adapted from Postel-Vinay et al., with permission of the Editorial Office from Annals of Oncology). Striking changes have been observed in the landscape of phase 1 trials since the era of cytotoxic chemotherapy. Trials have moved from smallsized trials enrolling molecularly unselected patients to large-scale studies of several hundreds of molecularlyor phenotypically-selected patients enrolled in parallel expansion cohorts. Novel routes of administration have been developed as well as novel methods for dose recommendation, as the MTD is inconstantly reached. Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic parameters play an increasingly important role, notably in helping determining the recommended dose for later phase trials. Whether, by analogy with the optimal biological dose of

a secondary endpoint, was mostly assessed by the response rate or progression-free survival (PFS). Considering the effect of immune therapies on "raising the tail of the curve," overall survival is a relevant endpoint to assess their efficacy. However, phase 1 trials, even within their current transformation to "phase 1 registration trials," are not the place to assess overall survival, because: (1) phase 1 trials do not contain any control arm;

targeted agents, an optimal immunological dose based on PK and PD data of immunological monitoring could be used for immune stimulatory agents, which warrants further exploration. Early phase trial designs have evolved in parallel (also see Fig. 32.2), in order to maintain a rapid dose-escalation phase and assess efficacy in large selected cohorts. Consequently, the traditional phase 1-phase 2phase 3 drug development strategy is being replaced by large phase 1/3 trials, which bypass the traditional phase 2 studies. All these evolutions have allowed dramatically reducing the drug development time, for patients' benefit. #: number, IV intra-venous, MAD maximum administered dose, MTD maximum tolerated dose, OBD optimal biological dose, OID optimal immunological dose, P1 phase 1, P2 phase 2, P3 phase 3, PD pharmacodynamics, PK pharmacokinetics

(2) patients are likely to receive many lines of therapy thereafter, which will represent as many confusion factors; (3) this uselessly increases the workload associated with phase 1 trials, especially as phase 1 patients are often referred from external centers and go back to their hospital of origin after trial completion; and (4) as phase 1 studies arrive more and more early in the patient's treatment lines, this data will very likely only be
available once trial results have already been reported and published and therefore will virtually never be communicated.

32.2.7 Trial Design: The "Phase 1 Registration" Trials

A striking evolution has been observed over the last 5 years in phase 1 trial design (Figs. 32.2 and 32.4). Whereas early phase trials traditionally enrolled approximately 30-60 patients (e.g., the ipilimumab phase 1 study), recent phase 1 studies of immune therapies have included more than 1000 patients in several expansion cohorts, thanks to modular designs and consecutive amendments. The development of the anti-PD-1 pembrolizumab nicely illustrates this paradigm shift in the multiple corresponding Keynote studies [40]. Considering the high level of activity observed in the initial first-in-human phase 1 study in patients with melanoma and NSCLC, dedicated cohorts were added for these tumor types, not only to confirm the safety profile and PK characteristics of the investigational drug but also to confirm efficacy-a traditional phase 2 trial endpoint [48]. After treatment of several hundreds of patients in each of these cohorts, the confirmation of clinical efficacy led to accelerated approval of pembrolizumab for unresectable or metastatic melanoma in September 2013 [49] and, for metastatic PD-L1-positive NSCLC in October 2015 [14], only 3 and 5 years after the first patient had been treated with the drug, respectively. Of note, the immunohistochemistry companion diagnostic 22C3 PharmDx test was approved concomitantly, reinforcing the successfulness of this drug development model [40]. Such adaptive designs are currently almost systematically used in phase 1 trials of immune checkpoint blockers, not only to expand in selected histotypes but also to test in parallel multiple combinations with a common immune therapy backbone (Fig. 32.2). This is fully laudable, as this allows prompt and efficient drug development. The current MASTERKEY-265 phase 1/3 trial evaluating the association of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) with pembrolizumab is another example of this "phase 1 registration trial" evolution [50].

However, it should be remembered that the primary objective of phase 1 trials is to define the optimal dose that needs to be administered safely in later phase trials; once determined, this dose will almost never be reevaluated. Therefore, this objective should not be overlooked too rapidly by opening cohorts designed to look for efficacy, as this may unethically expose a high number of patients to suboptimal doses of an experimental agent. Further, such expansion cohorts should have clear pre-specified stopping rules for nonefficacy once the number of enrolled patients exceeds the one required for obtaining satisfactory safety, PK, and PD data. Finally, results from these cohorts should be optimally exploited to best prepare for drug registration and later phase large randomized trials [2].

32.3 Other Immune Therapies and Their Specificities: Selected Examples

The variety of immune therapies, with more than 1500 phase 1 trials currently open, precludes from drawing a complete landscape of their individual specificities (Fig. 32.5). Here, we therefore highlight three examples of immune therapies—two of which have recently been approved—whose development displays significant particularities and differs from what has been described above regarding antibodies targeting immune checkpoints.

32.3.1 Blinatumomab

Blinatumomab (Blincyto[®], Amgen) is a bispecific antibody that was granted accelerated approval from the Food and Drug Administration in December 2014 for the treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-negative relapsed or refractory B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blinatumomab is a bi-specific CD19-directed CD3 T-cell engager that activates endogenous T cells when bound to the CD19-expressing target



Fig. 32.5 Phase 1 trials of I-O therapies (clinicaltrial. gov, accessed January 10, 2017). Search was performed for phase 1 trials recruiting only, with keywords "antican-

cer class" and "cancer," where "anticancer class" corresponds to each of the category detailed in this figure

cell. In line with its specific formulation, the efficacy and safety profile of this drug significantly differs from what has been described above with monoclonal antibodies targeting immune checkpoints [51]. First, this drug was associated with frequent severe irAEs resulting from the activation of the immune system, including life-threatening cytokine release syndrome in 11% of the patients at its time of approval. Further, a specific form of central neurological toxicity, which included disorientation, convulsions, tremors, and speech disorders, was observed in half of the patients-all these symptoms proved to be reversible shortly after treatment discontinuation. Therefore, a boxed warning regarding cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicities was provided in the product labeling, and the drug was approved with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS) (i.e., a communication plan to inform healthcare providers about the serious risks and the potential for preparation and administration errors). Second, mild but frequent irAEs (pyrexia, leukopenia, chills, and CRP increase) were observed during the first weeks of treatment and usually lowered during further treatment [52]. Third, a clear relationship between dose level and antitumor activity was observed [51].

32.3.2 Talimogene Laherparepvec (T-VEC)

The genetically modified oncolytic viral therapy T-VEC (Imlygic[®], Amgen) was approved by the FDA in October 2015 for the local treatment of unresectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal lesions in patients with recurrent melanoma. In the initial phase 1 study [53], OncoVEXGM-CSF was administered at increasing doses, and the local reaction to injection was dose limiting at 10⁷ plaque-forming units (pfu)/mL in seronegative patients treated with a single dose. However, this dose could eventually be increased to 10⁸ pfu/ mL in patients treated with multiple doses, after seroconversion of seronegative patients with 10⁶ pfu/mL. In this multidosing group, no MTD could be determined. Apart from injection site reactions, the most frequent adverse events observed with T-VEC (fatigue, pyrexia, chills, and flu-like symptoms) generally occur during the first 3 months of treatment and are classically mild or moderate and resolve within 3–4 days. This particular example illustrates the need to incorporate severe local toxicities in the DLT definition of immune therapies that are designed to be administered in situ, as these can prove to be dose limiting in the absence of systemic toxicities.

32.3.3 CAR-T Cell Therapy

Chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cell therapy is a dramatically active cancer immune therapy but has been associated with peculiar safety challenges. Their potential to cause lifethreatening cytokine release syndromes, associated with specific toxicities such as macrophage activation syndrome and hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis, has led to the development of recommendations from immunology experts [54]. These included the use of nonspecific immunosuppressive agents (such as corticosteroids) as well as the anti-IL-6R antibody tocilizumab (Actemra®, Genentech). Further, some clinical trials performed at the Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) in New York were put temporarily on hold in March 2014 after occurrence of several infusion-related patient deaths [55]. Although experts postulated that toxicity was needed to get maximal effects of the drug, this latter seemed to be more related to some patient parameters (e.g., tumor burden) than to the drug itself. The protocol was therefore modified to reduce the dose in patients with large tumor burden and exclude patients with preexisting comorbidities that would preclude from aggressive supportive care management in case of severe CRS. Other issues, such as off-target effects due to cross-reactivity with normal antigen on healthy tissues, have been reported to be sometimes fatal with CAR-T cell therapy. For example, an affinity-enhanced T-cell receptor for melanoma-associated antigen 3 (MAGE-3) caused deadly cardiogenic shock in the first two treated patients following cross-reactivity with titin, an unrelated peptide on striated muscle [56].

32.4 Combinations

Combination therapy will unavoidably be needed to overcome primary or acquired resistance to immune therapies or increase duration of response. Excellent recent literature exists on this topic [57–60], and we will therefore focus here on key notions for optimizing the development of I-Os in combination.

The immune system being a tightly regulated balance, some "fine-tuning" will be needed to allow efficiently activating the immune system and avoid over-boosting it and eventually causing either chronic autoimmune diseases or deadly acute complications. Therefore, the drug development strategy needs to take into account the nature of agents that are being combined. Combining an immune agent with a nonimmune drug-including cytotoxic agents, targeted therapies, or anti-angiogenic agents-seems intuitively to be feasible at full dose of both agents, as limited overlapping toxicity or PK interaction is anticipated. Maximum caution should however be applied. Indeed, if some combinations have proven to be feasible with acceptable increase in toxicity at full doses of cytotoxic agents [61], small molecules [62] or antibodies targeting angiogenesis [63], others have proven to be intolerable. For example, the phase 1 trial evaluating the combination of vemurafenib plus ipilimumab in melanoma was terminated early owing to hepatotoxicity [64]. By contrast, durvalumab could be safely combined with trametinib and/or dabrafenib at full doses in patients with BRAFmutant and wild-type melanoma.

The combination of two immune therapies is anticipated to face several toxicity and tolerability challenges—as exemplified by the high rate of severe toxicities observed when combining ipilimumab and nivolumab [65, 66]. However, increased efficacy could be achieved at the cost of lower toxicities using specific routes of administration, including notably in situ immunization strategies [67].

Overall, there are infinite possibilities for combining immune therapies with other immunooncology drugs, and several hundreds of combinations are currently tested in early phase trials



Fig. 32.6 Examples of ongoing phase 1 trials evaluating combinations with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapies. The main target classes that are currently being evaluated in association with some anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 agents are depicted, with targeted therapies in *green*, epigenetic modifiers in *orange*, conventional cytotoxic chemotherapies in *purple*, DNA repair inhibitors in *blue*, immune

therapies in *light blue*, and antiantiogenic agents in *red. Dotted lines* represent associations of three different therapeutic classes, on the anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapy backbone. Only some trials are depicted here, but others may exist. Based on clinicaltrials.gov, accessed 14 January 2017, with phase 1 trials currently recruiting only

(Fig. 32.6). The diversity of such combinations does not only reside in the number of targets that could be modulated but also in the variety of doses, routes of administration, and combination schedules. For example, epigenetic drugs could be used at nontoxic doses to act as immunomodulatory agents [68–70].

32.5 Conclusion and Practical Considerations

The advent of I-O therapies has led to a paradigm shift in drug development. It has become increasingly clear that traditional phase 1 modalities are not well-suited for such agents. Accordingly, early phase trial designs need to adapt and be constantly rethought in order to best target the specific challenges addressed by these therapies. Such challenges include not only traditional phase 1 endpoints-safety, toxicity evaluation and management, dose recommendation, PK/PD characteristics, and preliminary activity-but also companion biomarker development, efficacy assessment, and potentially drug registration. These rapid changes in clinical and scientific aspects of early phase trials are associated with practical challenges that should also be anticipated. Considering the increase in the number of participating centers, optimal communication between all the investigators, medical monitors, and scientists involved in the development of the agent should be ensured, so that relevant safety information is broadly shared in a timely manner.

Further, considering the specific safety profile of I-Os, clear algorithms should be implemented in phase 1 protocols regarding toxicity management, and the quality of the reporting of irAEs should be maximized. This is even more important because some investigators might not be fully familiar with these toxicities-as the wide implementation of I-Os in the therapeutic armamentarium is still recent and has been increasing at an unprecedented speed. Finally, any protocol modification should be supported by robust clinical data or scientific hypotheses. A very exciting time has now started in early drug development in immuno-oncology, and the highest level of clinical, scientific, and ethical rigor will be instrumental in successfully optimizing and expediting drug development.

References

- Le Tourneau C, Lee JJ, Siu LL. Dose escalation methods in phase I cancer clinical trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101:708–20. doi:10.1093/jnci/djp079.
- Postel-Vinay S, et al. Challenges of phase 1 clinical trials evaluating immune checkpoint-targeted antibodies. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:214–24. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdv550.
- Topalian SL, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690.
- Topalian SL, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1020–30. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105.
- Robert C, et al. Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:30–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412690.
- Agrawal S, Feng Y, Roy A, Kollia G, Lestini B. Nivolumab dose selection: challenges, opportunities, and lessons learned for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:72. doi:10.1186/ s40425-016-0177-2.
- Weber JS, Kahler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2691–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.41.6750.
- Brahmer JR, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1200694.
- Lutzky J, et al. A phase 1 study of MEDI4736, an anti–PD-L1 antibody, in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15_suppl):3001.

- Champiat S, et al. Management of immune checkpoint blockade dysimmune toxicities: a collaborative position paper. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:559–74. doi:10.1093/ annonc/mdv623.
- 11. Postel-Vinay S, et al. Towards new methods for the determination of dose limiting toxicities and the assessment of the recommended dose for further studies of molecularly targeted agents - dose-limiting toxicity and toxicity assessment recommendation group for early trials of targeted therapies, an European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer-led study. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(12):2040–9. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2014.04.031.
- Fecher LA, Agarwala SS, Hodi FS, Weber JS. Ipilimumab and its toxicities: a multidisciplinary approach. Oncologist. 2013;18:733–43. doi:10.1634/ theoncologist.2012-0483.
- Wolchok JD, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, doseranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:155–64. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70334-1.
- Hodi FS, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.
- Robert C, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521– 32. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1503093.
- Robert C, et al. Efficacy and safety of retreatment with ipilimumab in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma who progressed after initially achieving disease control. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:2232–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3080.
- Ji Y, Wang SJ. Modified toxicity probability interval design: a safer and more reliable method than the 3 + 3 design for practical phase I trials. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:1785–91. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.45.7903.
- Robert C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1104621.
- Lipson EJ, et al. Durable cancer regression offtreatment and effective reinduction therapy with an anti-PD-1 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:462–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2625.
- Michot JM, et al. Immune-related adverse events with immune checkpoint blockade: a comprehensive review. Eur J Cancer. 2016;54:139–48. doi:10.1016/j. ejca.2015.11.016.
- Suntharalingam G, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:1018–28. doi:10.1056/ NEJM0a063842.
- Hunig T. The storm has cleared: lessons from the CD28 superagonist TGN1412 trial. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:317–8. doi:10.1038/nri3192.
- Wang W, Wang EQ, Balthasar JP. Monoclonal antibody pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;84:548–58. doi:10.1038/ clpt.2008.170.

- Roopenian DC, Akilesh S. FcRn: the neonatal Fc receptor comes of age. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:715–25. doi:10.1038/nri2155.
- Spiess C, Zhai Q, Carter PJ. Alternative molecular formats and therapeutic applications for bispecific antibodies. Mol Immunol. 2015;67:95–106. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2015.01.003.
- Kontermann RE, Brinkmann U. Bispecific antibodies. Drug Discov Today. 2015;20:838–47. doi:10.1016/j. drudis.2015.02.008.
- Portell CA, Wenzell CM, Advani AS. Clinical and pharmacologic aspects of blinatumomab in the treatment of B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Pharmacol. 2013;5:5–11. doi:10.2147/CPAA.S42689.
- Lesterhuis WJ, et al. Dynamic versus static biomarkers in cancer immune checkpoint blockade: unravelling complexity. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2017;16(4):264– 72. doi:10.1038/nrd.2016.233.
- Brahmer JR, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:3167–75. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.26.7609.
- Cartron G, et al. Therapeutic activity of humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and polymorphism in IgG Fc receptor FcgammaRIIIa gene. Blood. 2002;99:754–8.
- Weng WK, Negrin RS, Lavori P, Horning SJ. Immunoglobulin G Fc receptor FcgammaRIIIa 158 V/F polymorphism correlates with rituximabinduced neutropenia after autologous transplantation in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:279–84. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2009.25.0274.
- Lux A, Yu X, Scanlan CN, Nimmerjahn F. Impact of immune complex size and glycosylation on IgG binding to human FcgammaRs. J Immunol. 2013;190:4315–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200501.
- Curti BD, et al. OX40 is a potent immune-stimulating target in late-stage cancer patients. Cancer Res. 2013;73:7189–98. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-4174.
- Arkenau HT, et al. Prospective validation of a prognostic score to improve patient selection for oncology phase I trials. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:2692–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.5081.
- Bigot L, et al. Identification of new prognostic factors in phase I patients treated by immunotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(suppl):114–35.
- Camacho LH, et al. Phase I/II trial of tremelimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1075–81. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.2435.
- Hodi FS, et al. CTLA-4 blockade with ipilimumab induces significant clinical benefit in a female with melanoma metastases to the CNS. Nat Clin Pract Oncol. 2008;5:557–61. doi:10.1038/ncponc1183.
- Margolin K, et al. Ipilimumab in patients with melanoma and brain metastases: an open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:459–65. doi:10.1016/ \$1470-2045(12)70090-6.

- Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev. 2016;16:275–87. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.36.
- Garon EB, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1501824.
- Marabelle A, Routy B, Michels J, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Prime time for immune-checkpoint targeted therapy at ASCO 2015. Oncoimmunology. 2015;5(3):e1068494.
- Brahmer J, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:123–35. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1504627.
- Armand P. Immune checkpoint blockade in hematologic malignancies. Blood. 2015;125:3393–400. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-02-567453.
- 44. Lafferty-Whyte K, Mormeneo D, Del Fresno Marimon M. Trial watch: opportunities and challenges of the 2016 target landscape. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2017;16:10–1. doi:10.1038/nrd.2016.263.
- Champiat S, et al. Hyperprogressive disease (HPD) is a new pattern of progression in cancer patients treated by anti-PD-1/PD-L1. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;23(8):1920– 8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1741.
- Wolchok JD, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:7412–20. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1624.
- Hodi FS, et al. Evaluation of immune-related response criteria and RECIST v1.1 in patients with advanced melanoma treated with pembrolizumab. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:1510–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2015.64.0391.
- Hamid O, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:134–44. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305133.
- Robert C, et al. Anti-programmed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet. 2014;384:1109–17. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60958-2.
- 50. Long GV, et al. A phase I/III, multicenter, open-label trial of talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) in combination with pembrolizumab for the treatment of unresected, stage IIIb-IV melanoma (MASTERKEY-265). J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3(Suppl 2):181.
- Bargou R, et al. Tumor regression in cancer patients by very low doses of a T cell-engaging antibody. Science (New York, NY)). 2008;321:974–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1158545.
- 52. Topp MS, et al. Targeted therapy with the T-cellengaging antibody blinatumomab of chemotherapyrefractory minimal residual disease in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients results in high response rate and prolonged leukemia-free survival. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2493–8. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2010.32.7270.
- 53. Hu JC, et al. A novel HSV-1 virus, JS1/34.5-/47-, purges contaminating breast cancer cells from

bone marrow. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6853–62. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1228.

- 54. Lee SK, Kim YS. Current concepts and occurrence of epithelial odontogenic tumors: II. Calcifying epithelial odontogenic tumor versus ghost cell odontogenic tumors derived from calcifying odontogenic cyst. Kor J Pathol. 2014;48:175–87. doi:10.4132/ KoreanJPathol.2014.48.3.175.
- DeFrancesco L. CAR-T cell therapy seeks strategies to harness cytokine storm. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;32:604. doi:10.1038/nbt0714-604.
- Linette GP, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinity-enhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. Blood. 2013;122:863–71. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565.
- Melero I, et al. Evolving synergistic combinations of targeted immunotherapies to combat cancer. Nat Rev. 2015;15:457–72. doi:10.1038/nrc3973.
- Hoos A. Development of immuno-oncology drugs from CTLA4 to PD1 to the next generations. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2016;15:235–47. doi:10.1038/ nrd.2015.35.
- Mahoney KM, Rennert PD, Freeman GJ. Combination cancer immunotherapy and new immunomodulatory targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14:561–84. doi:10.1038/nrd4591.
- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science (New York, NY)). 2015;348:56–61. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8172.
- Rizvi NA, et al. Nivolumab in combination with platinum-based doublet chemotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2969–79. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2016.66.9861.

- Amin A, et al. Nivolumab (anti-PD-1; BMS-936558, ONO-4538) in combination with sunitinib or pazopanib in patients (pts) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15_suppl):5010.
- 63. Sznol M, et al. Phase Ib evaluation of MPDL3280A (anti-PDL1) in combination with bevacizumab (bev) in patients (pts) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(suppl 7):410.
- Ribas A, Hodi FS, Callahan M, Konto C, Wolchok J. Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1365–6. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1302338.
- Larkin J, et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or Monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:23–34. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504030.
- 66. Postow MA, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2006–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1414428.
- Marabelle A, Kohrt H, Caux C, Levy R. Intratumoral immunization: a new paradigm for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:1747–56. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2116.
- Maio M, et al. Molecular pathways: at the crossroads of cancer epigenetics and immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:4040–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-14-2914.
- Peng D, et al. Epigenetic silencing of TH1-type chemokines shapes tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nature. 2015;527:249–53. doi:10.1038/nature15520.
- Zhu H, et al. BET bromodomain inhibition promotes anti-tumor immunity by suppressing PD-L1 expression. Cell Rep. 2016;16:2829–37. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2016.08.032.

Side Effects of Cancer Immunotherapy with Checkpoint Inhibitors



Lucia Festino and Paolo A. Ascierto

Contents

33.1	Introduction	565
33.2	Incidence of Immune-Related Adverse Events	567
33.3	Timing of Immune-Related Adverse Event Onset	567
33.4	General Considerations	567
33.5	Organ-Specific Immune-Related Adverse Events	568
33.5.1	Cutaneous Toxicity	568
33.5.2	Gastrointestinal Toxicity	570
33.5.3	Endocrine Toxicity	570
33.5.4	Hepatic Toxicity	571
33.5.5	Pulmonary Toxicity	572
33.5.6	Renal Toxicity	572
33.5.7	Neurological Toxicity	573
33.5.8	Rheumatological Toxicity	573
33.5.9	Cardiotoxicity	574
33.5.10	Pancreatic Toxicity	574
33.5.11	Ocular Toxicity	574
33.5.12	Hematological Toxicity	574
33.6	Pre-Existing Autoimmunity	574
33.7	Immunologic Biomarkers	575
Conclusions		575
References		575

33.1 Introduction

Immune checkpoint inhibitors are immunomodulatory monoclonal antibodies that block inhibitory immune pathways that tumor cells use to evade immune suppression. The main targets are the cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen (CTLA)-4 receptor on T lymphocytes and the programmed cell death (PD)-1 receptor and its PD-1 ligand (PD-L1). The first checkpoint inhibitor to be approved for treating cancer patients was ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Ipilimumab resulted in significant improvements in overall survival (OS) when compared with standard chemotherapy in phase III studies and is now approved as frontline therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma [1, 2]. However, another anti-CTLA-4 antibody, tremelimumab, did not show any OS benefit over standard chemotherapy in first-line treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma [3] but is being investigated in combination regimens in other tumor types.

The second class of inhibitors are directed against PD-1 and its PD-L1 ligand, and several antibodies have been developed for the treatment of advanced melanoma as well as other tumors, including non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), renal, bladder, head and neck cancers, and Hodgkin's lymphoma [4, 5]. The PD-1 inhibitors, nivolumab and pembrolizumab, are the most advanced in terms of clinical development and have been approved in several indications.

L. Festino • P.A. Ascierto (🖂)

Melanoma, Cancer Immunotherapy and Innovative Therapy Unit, Istituto Nazionale Tumori Fondazione G. Pascale, Via Mariano Semmola, 80131 Napoli, Italy e-mail: p.ascierto@istitutotumori.na.it; paolo.ascierto@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_33

Among anti-PD-L1 agents, atezolizumab has been approved by the FDA for the treatment of metastatic NSCLC and advanced urothelial cancer [6], avelumab has been approved for metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma, and durvalumab is undergoing approval for advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma.

The use of these immunomodulatory drugs is associated with a spectrum of immune-related adverse events (irAEs) associated with hyperactivation of the immune system consequent to the reduction in immune response inhibition (Fig. 33.1). These include a range of mainly dermatological, gastrointestinal (GI), endocrine and hepatic toxicities, as well as several other less common inflammatory events. All of these toxicities have variable times of onset and require careful monitoring, follow-up, and management. They are usually reversible with appropriate and timely intervention but can become severe and even life-threatening if not recognized early enough. Guidelines for the management of irAEs associated with ipilimumab, which were developed based on clinical experience gained in clinical development studies, have been approved by the FDA [7].



Fig. 33.1 Tissues of the body affected by immune-related adverse events

33.2 Incidence of Immune-Related Adverse Events

Among patients receiving ipilimumab, the most commonly reported adverse events include diarrhea, colitis, fatigue, pruritus, rash, and endocrinopathies [8], while for patients treated with PD-1 inhibitors, common adverse events include fatigue, rash, diarrhea, pruritus, arthralgia, and constipation [9–11]. The incidence of any grade irAE is reported to range from 15–90% [1, 12] in single-agent trials, while the rate of severe irAEs requiring immunosuppression and withdrawal of immunotherapy is estimated to be 0.5-13% [1, 3, 4, 13].

With combined anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 therapy, grade 3–4 drug-related adverse events occurred in 54% of patients, with the most common being colitis (17%), diarrhea (11%), and elevated alanine aminotransferase levels (11%). Immunosuppressive medications for the management of irAEs, including topical agents for dermatologic adverse events, were used in a higher percentage of patients receiving combination compared with ipilimumab alone (89% vs 59%) [12, 14, 15].

The risk of severe grade adverse events increased from 7 to 25% with an increase in the dose of ipilimumab from 3 to 10 mg/kg, largely due to an increase in the number of episodes of diarrhea. However, this pattern was not observed when nivolumab dosing was increased from 0.3 to 10 mg/kg. Similarly, occurrence of severe grade toxicities with pembrolizumab did not significantly increase with dose, occurring in 20% of patients treated with 2 mg/kg and 25% of patients treated with 10 mg/kg [16, 17]. As such, it appears that toxicities due to anti-CTLA-4 antibodies are dose dependent, whereas toxicities with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies are independent of dose.

33.3 Timing of Immune-Related Adverse Event Onset

The onset and outcome of irAEs with ipilimumab seem to vary according to the organs involved, and although most occur within the first 3 months of treatment, some specific toxicities are reported months after completion of therapy. The majority of toxicities appear temporally, with skin manifestations the earliest to appear at 2–3 weeks after the first dose of ipilimumab. Immune-mediated colitis and hepatitis appear at approximately 5–10 and 12–16 weeks, after the second and third doses, respectively. Endocrine dysfunctions present from the ninth week onwards following the fourth dose [1] and can take time to resolve or may even be irreversible, as is the case for most occurrences of hypophysitis. Immune-mediated pneumonitis is seen 8–14 weeks after treatment initiation [1], and immune-mediated nephritis appears later, after 14–42 weeks on immunotherapy [18].

33.4 General Considerations

Guidelines for the management of irAEs associated with ipilimumab were approved by the FDA as part of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy. Anti-PD-1 antibodies, in particular nivolumab and pembrolizumab, seem to be better tolerated than ipilimumab, but adverse events related to these drugs require the same types of treatment. The guidelines provide a specific toxicity approach, depending on the organ or system involved but, in general, involve cessation of immunotherapy and initiation of steroid therapy for immunosuppression, with dosages and timing depending on the severity and type of toxicity.

For grade 1 toxicity, only symptomatic therapy should be used. For grade 2 toxicity, immunotherapy should be interrupted and treatment with oral steroids (prednisone 0.5-1 mg/kg/day or equivalent) should be started within 1 week after onset of symptoms if these persist. Immunotherapy may be resumed only if symptoms and signs of toxicity fall to grade 1 or resolve completely. For grade 3-4 toxicities, high doses of glucocorticoids (prednisone 1-2 mg/kg/ day or equivalent) should be given. Doses should be gradually tapered when symptoms subside to grade 1 or less. Treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors should be permanently discontinued. Finally, in cases of severe toxicity not responsive to high-dose corticosteroid therapy,

administration of infliximab (5 mg/kg), a chimeric monoclonal tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α inhibitor, should be considered. This may be repeated about 2 weeks after the first dose if symptoms fail to resolve. The use of an anti-TNF agent is based on its use in autoimmune diseases such as Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Histological studies of ipilimumab-induced immune-related colitis demonstrate the colonic mucosa infiltrated with both lymphocytes and neutrophils, similar to idiopathic ulcerative colitis. The early use of these agents allows for a quick resolution of adverse events and a reduction in the use of corticosteroids [19].

The use of corticosteroids for the treatment of irAEs does not seem to affect the efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors. Data derived from a large case series of patients (n = 298) receiving treatment with ipilimumab (3 mg/kg) at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center outwith of clinical trials between April 2011 and July 2013 report the use of corticosteroids for the treatment of irAEs in 103 patients (35%) and treatment with anti-TNF in 29 patients (10%) who did not respond promptly to steroid therapy [20]. The OS and time to treatment failure were not affected by treatment with immunosuppressive therapy. There are less data on the effect of immunosuppressive agents on the efficacy of anti-PD-1 treatment, but based on what is currently known, there does not seem to be a reduction in the efficacy of anti-PD-1 therapy due to the use of immunosuppressive therapy for irAEs [21].

The association between irAEs and the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors is controversial [22]. Data from early clinical trials of ipilimumab showed an association between increased irAEs and greater clinical benefit [23]. A pooled analysis of three phase II studies reported that patients with no or grade 1 irAEs achieved a disease control rate (DCR) of 20–24%, while a DCR of 34–43% was observed in patient with irAEs of at least grade 2. The OS in the two groups of patients was 8.2 months compared with 14.8 months [24]. In addition, in two trials of adjuvant ipilimumab in patients with high-risk melanoma, a significant association was found between relapse-free survival and irAEs [25]. In contrast, a retrospective study of 135 non-melanoma patients who received anti-PD-1 treatment found no significant correlation between ORR or OS and incidence of any irAE (p = 0.21) or the use of steroids (p = 0.27) [26]. The mechanism of action of infliximab is to block the ability of TNF to recruit neutrophils to the site of inflammation, which is unlikely to affect the antitumoral activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors.

33.5 Organ-Specific Immune-Related Adverse Events

33.5.1 Cutaneous Toxicity

Skin manifestations including rash/pruritus and mucositis are the most frequent irAEs associated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Approximately 47–68% of patients treated with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies [23] and 30–40% of patients treated with anti-PD-1/anti-PD-L1 antibodies [27] experience skin toxicities of any grade.

The typical rash is reticular, maculopapular, and slightly erythematosus, especially developed on the trunk and extremities, and may be pruritic (Fig. 33.2). The majority of immunorelated rashes can be treated with topical creams based on corticosteroids. Itching, if persistent, can be treated with oral antihistamines. Grade 2 rash, especially if pre-existing, requires treatment with oral steroids. Grade 3–4 requires discontinuation of treatment and therapy with intravenous (IV) corticosteroids. A consultation with a dermatologist is recommended, as is a skin biopsy if possible.

Stevens-Johnson syndrome is a fairly rare occurrence that can be fatal (Fig. 33.3). In these patients, IV treatment with corticosteroids is always recommended. If there is no improvement in symptoms, the use of immunosuppressive agents in combination with corticosteroids should be considered [28]. Vitiligo is a common



Fig. 33.2 Cutaneous rash in a patient treated with ipilimumab

manifestation and generally occurs late following treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors. It is characterized by a perivascular lymphocytic infiltrate in the deep dermis layer in proximity to melanocytes and is considered as a marker of response to treatment [29]. Oral mucositis is more common with anti-PD1 antibodies than with ipilimumab and usually requires treatment with topical corticosteroids and lidocaine, to be used after excluding the presence of candidiasis (Fig. 33.4).



Fig. 33.4 Mucositis induced by anti-PD-1 treatment



Fig. 33.3 Stevens-Johnson syndrome

33.5.2 Gastrointestinal Toxicity

Diarrhea is one of the most common toxicities in patients receiving immunotherapy and must be diagnosed and treated in an adequate and timely manner to prevent it from developing into a serious adverse event. Generally, diarrhea appears after about 6 weeks of treatment [13] and is more often related to treatment with anti-CTLA-4 than with anti-PD-1 agents. Diarrhea has been reported in about 30% of patients with melanoma treated with ipilimumab, being grade 3–4 in less than 10% [30]. In a phase II study, the rate of severe diarrhea was higher in patients treated with ipilimumab 10 mg/kg than with 3 mg/kg (10% vs 1%) [31]. Similarly, in a phase III trial comparing ipilimumab 3 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg in patients with metastatic melanoma, GI toxicity was higher with the 10 mg/kg dose, with diarrhea reported in 79% of patients treated with 10 mg/kg versus 64% of patients in the 3 mg/kg arm. Grade 3-4 diarrhea was almost twice as common with ipilimumab 10 mg/kg compared with 3 mg/kg (34% vs 18%) [32]. Grade 3-4 diarrhea only occurs in 1-2% of patients treated with anti-PD-1 agents. GI toxicity is the main irAE with the combination of nivolumab plus ipilimumab, with an incidence of about 40%, including 9% of patients experiencing severe diarrhea and colitis [9, 10].

Enteritis, in some cases without diarrhea, can cause obstruction of the small intestine [33]. On biopsy, histology shows an edematous mucosa with rich infiltrate of neutrophils and/or lymphocytes [29, 30]. To date, there are no effective treatments to prevent the development of diarrhea and/or colitis. The use of budesonide to treat enteritis has been assessed but did not show any significant benefit [34].

In cases of diarrhea, the right level of hydration is critical, and the presence of other possible causes of diarrhea (e.g., *Clostridium difficile* infection) must be excluded. For grade 1 diarrhea, symptomatic treatment with loperamide is usually sufficient. For grade 2 diarrhea, suspension of immunotherapy and treatment with oral corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone 0.5–1 mg/kg/ day or equivalent) are indicated. Treatment can be resumed in cases which resolve, but cases which do not resolve within 3–5 days should be treated similar to grade 3–4 events, which involves high-dose IV corticosteroids (e.g., methylprednisolone 1–2 mg/kg/day) and prophylactic antibiotic therapy. Treatment with anti-CTLA-4 and/or anti-PD-1 should be permanently discontinued. The patient should be clinically monitored because of the high risk for bowel perforation. In patients not responding to treatment with high-dose corticosteroids after about 3–5 days, treatment with infliximab 5 mg/kg is recommended and should be repeated after 2 weeks if incomplete resolution of symptoms.

33.5.3 Endocrine Toxicity

About 10% of patients treated with anti-CTLA-4 experience clinically significant endocrinopathy [35], while the incidence of endocrine disorders in patients treated with nivolumab is 14%, with 2% of events grade 3-4 in severity [4]. Less than 5% of patients experienced grade 3-4 endocrine toxicity with combination treatment [32]. The main types of endocrine toxicity derive from inflammation of the thyroid, pituitary, or adrenal glands and are often difficult to identify because typically present with non-specific they symptoms, such as fatigue, nausea, headache, and visual changes.

33.5.3.1 Thyroid Toxicity

Thyroid toxicity may involve both hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism. In patients treated with anti-PD-1, the main toxicity is hyperthyroidism (high values of free thyroid fractions associated with suppressed thyroid-stimulating hormone [TSH]) which frequently occurs with mild symptoms and is diagnosed based on laboratory test results. After subacute onset, the disease can often evolve into Hashimoto's thyroiditis with hypothyroidism. In patients treated with anti-CTLA-4s, the onset of Hashimoto's thyroiditis without preceding hyperthyroidism is more frequent. The disease typically has a slow progression with gradual onset of symptoms; however, cases of acute onset with myxedema crisis have been reported [36]. Laboratory results show increased values of TSH, free thyroid-reducing fractions, and thyroid autoimmunity (antithyroid peroxidase positivity of autoantibodies and antithyroglobulin). Treatment is based on the use of levothyroxine (L-thyroxine), as a thyroid hormone replacement.

33.5.3.2 Hypophysitis

Hypophysistis has been reported to occur with different frequencies, ranging from 0-25% (average 4%), and is most commonly encountered in men. It occurs almost exclusively in patients treated with anti-CTLA-4 rather than anti-PD-1, possibly because of different distributions of CTLA-4 and PD-1 in the tissue. It has been hypothesized that anti-CTLA-4 antibodies may cause pituitary toxicity if bound to CTLA-4 antigen expressed "ectopically" on pituitary endocrine cells. Typically, it occurs after 6-8 weeks of treatment. The initial symptoms often consist of fatigue and hypotension and in overt forms can present as mass effect-related symptoms (e.g., headache, decreased visual acuity, diplopia, etc.) associated with failure of the pituitary axes (hypocortisolism, hypothyroidism, hypogonadism, panhypopituitarism).

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may show a pituitary gland uniformly increased in volume with intense and homogeneous contrast enhancement. A very serious complication is the advent of an adrenal crisis which can lead to serious negative outcomes including death if not promptly recognized and controlled. Even in these cases, symptoms can be non-specific, e.g., fatigue, asthenia, anorexia, weight loss, nausea, vomiting, and hypotension. Laboratory tests typically show a reduction in circulating cortisol and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) values and reduced daily urinary excretion of cortisol, often associated with reductions in follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), and TSH, with central hypothyroidism.

High doses of glucocorticoids are reserved for patients who have serious mass effect-related symptoms, such as severe headache, visual field disturbance, or simultaneously present with other irAEs. Physiological replacement doses should be considered for patients with corticotropic deficiency since pharmacological glucocorticoid therapy is not clearly associated with improved outcomes in such patients [37]. In case of grade 3–4 toxicity, treatment should be discontinuated.

Type I diabetes has been highlighted with both anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4, with an incidence of 8% in patients treated with combination therapy. Treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors should be deferred in patients with grade 3 hyperglycemia, while treatment should be permanently discontinued with grade 4 toxicity. Corticosteroids are not indicated.

33.5.4 Hepatic Toxicity

Liver toxicity typically occurs in less than 10% of patients [29]. Among patients receiving ipilimumab 3 mg/kg, severe, life-threatening, or fatal hepatotoxicity occurred in 2%, while the incidence of all grade hepatitis was 2.3% with nivolumab monotherapy. However, occurrence was higher (13%) in patients treated with ipilimumab plus nivolumab in combination. Very often, patients are asymptomatic and the only indicator of toxicity is increased transaminases. A worsening of total bilirubin is less often found and usually occurs late. Generally, liver toxicity begins after about 8–12 weeks of treatment.

Although clinical trials have excluded patients with a history of hepatitis B and C, these patients have been treated in clinical practice. Although data are limited, the presence of previous viral hepatitis does not seem to increase the risk of hepatotoxicity [38, 39]. Before starting treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors, it is mandatory to assess liver function and markers for hepatitis B or C virus. In all patients with HBsAg positivity, early antiviral treatment may be needed in high viral load (HBV DNA).

In patients with grade 1 toxicity (i.e., asymptomatic increases in transaminases and hyperbilirubinemia), treatment can be continued, and liver function tests should be monitored until resolution. Grade 2 events require the interruption of immunotherapy until resolution. Oral prednisone 1 mg/kg/day should be administered. In patients with grade 3–4 events, treatment should be permanently discontinued; high-dose IV gluco-corticoids (methylprednisolone 2 mg/kg/day) are recommended. Mycophenolate 500 mg every 12 h should be considered if liver enzymes are still elevated after 48 h of treatment. If no improvement occurs in the following 5–7 days, tacrolimus at the dosage of 0.10–0.15 mg/kg/day is recommended. Infliximab is not recommended because of its hepatotoxicity.

33.5.5 Pulmonary Toxicity

Grade 3 or higher pneumonitis has been reported in 5-7% of patients with NSCLC treated with nivolumab or pembrolizumab [40]. However, the incidence of symptomatic pneumonitis is only 1% with ipilimumab [41]. About 7% of patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab had pneumonitis, with only 1% of grade 3-4 severity [32]. A recent systematic review and metaanalysis suggest that the overall incidence of pneumonitis during PD-1 inhibitor monotherapy was 2.7% (95% CI: 1.9-3.6%) for all grades and 0.8% (95% CI: 0.4-1.2%) for grade 3 or higher pneumonitis. The incidence was higher in patients with NSCLC compared with melanoma for pneumonitis of all grades (4.1% vs 1.6%; p = 0.002) and grade 3 or higher (1.8% vs 0.2%; p < 0.001). The incidence of pneumonitis was more frequent during combination therapy than monotherapy for all grades (6.6% vs 1.6%; p < 0.001) and grade 3 or higher (1.5% vs 0.2%; p = 0.001) pneumonitis [42, 43]. Several factors, such as pre-existing lung damage due to tumor burden, smoking, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pulmonary fibrosis, and variable expression of PD-L1 on normal lung tissues, may play a role in this although the exact cause of this difference is still unknown.

Pulmonary toxicity should be considered whenever patients present with symptoms of a respiratory infection, new-onset cough, or wheezing. In symptomatic patients, a chest CT scan and a pulmonary consultation are recommended, as is initiation of oral or IV corticosteroids. In patients with moderate or severe symptoms, a diagnostic bronchoscopy that can assess whether there is widespread lymphocytic infiltration is advised. If the toxicity is grade 1 with only asymptomatic radiological signs, treatment suspension of 2–4 weeks until resolution of radiographic findings should be considered. If grade 2, suspension of treatment is mandatory and treatment with oral corticosteroids should be initiated. In severe or recurrent cases, IV treatment with methylprednisolone 2 mg/kg or equivalent may be appropriate, and immune treatment should be permanently discontinued.

Although rare, there have been documented cases of pulmonary sarcoidosis in patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors [44].

33.5.6 Renal Toxicity

Renal failure has been reported in patients treated with ipilimumab, anti-PD-1s, and combination therapy. Immune checkpoint inhibitors can cause acute kidney injury that presents similar to other drug-induced tubulointerstitial nephritis. Cortazar et al. analyzed data from published phase II and III trials enrolling 3695 patients and reported an overall incidence of acute kidney failure of 2.2%, with 0.6% grade 3-4 events. The median duration until the appearance of kidney injury was 13 weeks [45]. Acute kidney failure occurred more frequently in patients treated with nivolumab plus ipilimumab (4.9%) than in patients treated with anti-PD-1 monotherapy. The most common signal of acute kidney failure was an increase in serum creatinine, which occurred in all affected patients. Pyuria (68%) and hematuria (16%) were also frequently noted in patients with renal impairment. In patients with suspected immune-related renal failure, a renal consultation should be sought early and a biopsy performed if possible. In patients with grade 2-3 renal toxicity, treatment should be suspended and steroids are recommended. Treatment can be resumed if symptoms improve to grade 1 severity. High doses of corticosteroids and treatment discontinuation are recommended for grade 4 toxicity.

33.5.7 Neurological Toxicity

Based on data in prospective studies, the overall incidence of any grade of neurotoxicity is 3.8% with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, 6.1% with anti-PD-1 antibodies, and 12.0% with combination therapy [46]. However, most of these neurological adverse events are grades 1-2 and consist of non-specific symptoms such as headache (55%), dysgeusia (13%), or dizziness (10%). The incidence of grade 3-4 events was 1% across all treatments. On the basis of the nervous system area involved, neurotoxicity can be classified as encephalopathy, myelopathy, pure meningitis, meningoradiculitis, Guillain-Barre-like syndrome, peripheral neuropathy, or myasthenic syndrome. The spectrum of neurological symptoms appears to be highly heterogeneous, including headache, fever, tiredness or weakness, confusion, memory problems, sleepiness, hallucinations, seizures, and stiff neck. In the literature, several cases of serious toxicity have been reported, such as reversible posterior encephalitis syndrome [47], Guillain-Barre syndrome [48], myasthenia gravis, transverse myelitis [49], and demyelinating polyneuropathy [50].

All serious neurological irAEs should be treated with high-dose corticosteroids, and a neurologist should be consulted for differential diagnosis and additional therapy.

33.5.8 Rheumatological Toxicity

Arthralgia and arthritis are the most commonly reported rheumatic and musculoskeletal irAEs associated with immune checkpoint treatment. The incidence of arthralgia secondary to nivolumab in phase III trials ranges from 5 to 16% [51], and similar rates have been reported with ipilimumab monotherapy [52]. With combination therapy, incidence of arthralgia was about 10% [32]. Thus, although arthritis is a very common manifestation of autoimmune disease, it has not been reported as frequently as an adverse event in clinical trials of checkpoint inhibitors as might have been expected. One reason for this could be that there are several mutually exclusive ways to code musculoskeletal adverse events in the current system. For example, arthralgia, arthritis, joint effusion, and musculoskeletal pain are all potential options for coding the same event. Furthermore, its incidence could be underrepresented because most clinical trials report only grade 3-4 toxicity and arthritis is often considered to be less severe than other adverse events [53]. No observational studies that monitored patients for inflammatory arthritis with confirmation by a rheumatologist have been reported. However, in a case series of nine patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors and who developed inflammatory arthritis, clinical presentation was variable and involved large and small joints, with or without systemic involvement (colitis, urethritis) and autoantibody detection. Patients were treated with corticosteroids and some also required methotrexate and/or anti-TNF treatment [54]. The same series also reported on four patients who developed sicca syndrome while receiving checkpoint inhibition therapy. Symptoms of dry mouth were more severe than dry eyes in all four patients. Three had positive anti-nuclear antibodies. One patient was positive for La/SS-B antibodies and had parotitis treated with 6 weeks of prednisone that resulted in complete resolution of symptoms. All patients were negative for Ro antibodies [54].

Vasculitis is a rare irAE. Two cases of giant cell arteritis after ipilimumab confirmed by temporal artery biopsies and treated with oral corticosteroids were described in one report [55]. Single-organ vasculitis from immune checkpoint inhibitors has also been described, occurring as retinal vasculitis with pembrolizumab [56] and uterine vasculitis with ipilimumab [57].

Myalgia and muscle weakness have been reported as adverse events in clinical trials. Myalgia was seen in 2-18% of participants in trials of nivolumab [58] and ipilimumab [59], whereas muscle weakness was reported in 1-12% of patients.

Cases of inflammatory myositis have been reported. In one patient, this was more consistent with dermatomyositis, with proximal muscle weakness, a heliotrope rash and V-neck sign, and an elevated creatine kinase (CK) level of 1854 U/L [60]. The other case occurred after nivolumab therapy and involved respiratory muscle along with proximal muscle weakness and an elevated CK of 2812 U/L [61]. Both patients received corticosteroid treatment with complete resolution of the event.

A single case of lupus nephritis after treatment with ipilimumab has also been reported.

33.5.9 Cardiotoxicity

Cardiotoxicity is rarely observed as an irAE in clinical trials with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Nevertheless, several cases have been reported, involving different manifestations of immunerelated cardiac syndromes. A recent published case series of 12 patients treated with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 documented occurrences of cardiac fibrosis, autoimmune myocarditis, cardiomyopathy, heart failure, and cardiac arrest. Treatment with corticosteroids improved symptoms for all patients, most of whom had a previous history of heart disease. Although rare, it seems a reasonable precaution to closely monitor the heart function of patients with pre-existing cardiac disease even if asymptomatic. Patients with suspected immunemediated cardiotoxicity should be promptly treated with corticosteroids [62].

33.5.10 Pancreatic Toxicity

Clinical trials of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 frequently reported asymptomatic increases in serum amylase and lipase. However, treatment is not indicated unless there are symptoms or signs of pancreatitis.

33.5.11 Ocular Toxicity

Eye toxicity, including conjunctivitis, episcleritis, and uveitis, is rare (<1%) and usually responds well to topical steroid treatment, generally with no long-term sequelae. Oral corticosteroids are reserved for severe events. All patients with ocular irAEs should be referred to an ophthalmologist [63].

33.5.12 Hematological Toxicity

Aplasia, neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and acquired hemophilia have all been reported with ipilimumab. Corticosteroid therapy is the standard approach, with the addition of other immunosuppressive agents if symptoms do not improve [64–66].

33.6 Pre-Existing Autoimmunity

Checkpoint inhibition leading to potentiation of T cell activity could conceivably exacerbate inflammation and autoimmunity in patients with preexisting autoimmune disease. An increasing body of evidence supports the role of immune checkpoint regulation, involving both CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways, in the pathogenesis of inflammatory and autoimmune disorders. For example, in humans, some CTLA-4 alleles and PD-1 polymorphisms are associated with various autoimmune diseases. However, only sporadic case reports of patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors with pre-existing autoimmune disease have been reported. A recent multicenter retrospective case series reported on 30 patients with melanoma and prior autoimmune disease treated with ipilimumab. Outcomes varied, ranging from no toxicity (35.3%) to exacerbation of the pre-existing autoimmune disease (25.5%) or de novo irAEs (29.4%), fatal in one patient with psoriasis who developed grade V colitis [67]. Approximately 10% of patients had both disease exacerbation and de novo events. There were two treatment-related deaths, but most adverse events were controlled with glucocorticoids, and few required treatment with infliximab. In more than 50% of patients, adverse events did not require treatment discontinuation. In a report of eight patients with melanoma and preexisting rheumatoid arthritis who received ipilimumab, only two required corticosteroids. Discontinuation was required for the appearance of other more severe irAEs such as colitis [68]. In another report, the safety of pembrolizumab and nivolumab was evaluated in 119 patients with advanced melanoma who either had a pre-existing autoimmune

disease or had experienced severe irAEs with ipilimumab therapy [69]. Exacerbation of the underlying autoimmune disease was reported in 38% of patients while 29% reported other irAEs. Thirty percent of patients did not report exacerbations or irAEs, and there were no treatment-related deaths. Due to the limited data, there are no clear recommendations for patients with cancer and pre-existing autoimmune disease, and the benefits and risks of immunotherapy should be carefully considered before starting treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Data from the CheckMate 172 study, which enrolled patients with a known history of grade 3-4 irAEs during or after anti-CTLA-4 to investigate if pre-existing autoimmunity increased the risk of new immune-mediated toxicities, should be available in the near future.

33.7 Immunologic Biomarkers

Several studies have proposed biomarkers that may predict side effects of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy, such as eosinophilia, IL-17, or gene profiling, but results have been inconclusive.

An attractive hypothesis that has received attention in recent years is that gut microbiota might be involved in the modulation of the immune response and may also affect the response and toxicity to treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors. In humans, trillions of bacteria are distributed in complex and site-specific communities on the skin and at mucosal surfaces, and the largest community is found in the distal gut. Crosstalk between an organism and its gut commensal microbiota has both potentiating and detrimental effects on the immune response [70]. In a prospective study of patients with metastatic melanoma undergoing ipilimumab treatment, the of bacteria belonging presence to the Bacteroidetes phylum was correlated with resistance to the development of checkpoint blockadeinduced colitis limiting inflammation by stimulating T-regulatory cells [71, 72]. Further studies are needed to assess the possibility of assessing the potential toxicity of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy through a preliminary assessment of individual microbiota.

Conclusions

Immune checkpoint inhibitors are associated with a range of toxicities related to potentiation of the immune response. The most frequent are dermatological, GI, endocrine, and hepatic adverse events, but other less frequent events can also occur. Anti-PD-1 antibodies are associated with a comparable range of adverse events to ipilimumab, with the addition of pneumonitis, and seem to be better tolerated with a lower incidence of grade 3–4 irAEs. The combination of ipilimumab plus an anti-PD-1 has a higher incidence of grade 3–4 irAEs than either treatment alone but is not associated with novel immune-related safety signals.

IrAEs have variable times of onset and require careful monitoring, follow-up, and management. Most are reversible with appropriate and timely intervention but can be severe and even life-threatening if not adequately recognized and treated. Management depends on the organ or system involved and the severity but, in general, involves cessation of immunotherapy and initiation of oral or IV steroid therapy for immunosuppression. Additional immunosuppressive therapy, e.g., infliximab, may also be recommended for severe nonresponsive toxicity. Given the increasing use of various immunomodulatory antibodies across different tumor types, it is important that clinicians are aware of the need for timely diagnosis of irAEs and are familiar with guidelines to manage these toxicities.

References

- 1. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing tremelimumab with standard-of-care chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:616–22.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.

- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2455–6.
- Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1909–20.
- Yervoy[®]. Immune-mediated adverse reactions management guide. Available online: https://www. hcp.yervoy.com/pdf/rems-management-guide.pdf [Accessed Mar. 2017].
- Ibrahim RA, Berman DB, de Pril V, et al. Ipilimumab safety profile: summary of findings from completed trials in advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:8583.
- Villadolid J, Amin A. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in clinical practice: update on management of immunerelated toxicities. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 2015;4:560–75.
- Keytruda[®] [package insert]. Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA: Merck & Co., Inc., 2015. Available online: http://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo. [Accessed Mar. 2017].
- Opdivo[®] [package insert]. Princeton, NJ, USA: Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, 2015. Available online: http://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo. [Accessed Mar. 2017].
- Ferris RL, Blumenschein G Jr, Fayette J, et al. Nivolumab for recurrent squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1856–7.
- Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:155–64.
- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2006–17.
- Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott D, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and longterm safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1020–30.
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.
- Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim D, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1540–50.
- Ribas A, Puzanov I, Dummer R, et al. Pembrolizumab versus investigator-choice chemotherapy for ipilimumab-refractory melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:908–18.
- Izzedine H, Gueutin V, Gharbi C, et al. Kidney injuries related to ipilimumab. Investig New Drugs. 2014;32:769.

- Merrill SP, Reynolds P, Kalra A, et al. Early administration of infliximab for severe ipilimumab-related diarrhea in a critically ill patient. Ann Pharmacother. 2014;48:806–10.
- 21. Horvat T, Adel N, Dang T, et al. Immune-related adverse events, need for systemic immunosuppression, and effects on survival and time to treatment failure in patients with melanoma treated with ipilimumab at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:3193–8.
- Weber J, Antonia S, Topalian S, et al. Safety profile of nivolumab (NIVO) in patients (pts) with advanced melanoma (MEL): a pooled analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(suppl):9018.
- Attia P, Phan GQ, Maker AV, et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6043–53.
- Weber JS, K\u00e4hler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2691–7.
- 25. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:8372–7.
- 26. Sarnaik AA, Yu B, Yu D, et al. Extended dose ipilimumab with a peptide vaccine: immune correlates associated with clinical benefit in patients with resected high-risk stage IIIc/IV melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:896–906.
- Judd J, Zibelman MR, Handorf E, et al. Immune related adverse events as a biomarker in non-melanoma patients treated with programmed death 1 inhibitors (PD-1s). J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(suppl):3069.
- Weber JS, Postow M, Lao CD, Schadendorf D. Management of adverse events following treatment with anti-programmed death-1 agents. Oncologist. 2016;21:1230–40.
- Nayar N, Briscoe K, Fernandez Penas P. Toxic epidermal necrolysis-like reaction with severe satellite cell necrosis associated with nivolumab in a patient with ipilimumab refractory metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2016;39:149–52.
- 30. Quaglino P, Marenco F, Osella-Abate S, et al. Vitiligo is an independent favourable prognostic factor in stage III and IV metastatic melanoma patients: results from a singleinstitution hospital-based observational cohort study. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:409–14.
- 31. Berman D, Parker S, Siegel J, et al. Blockade of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 by ipilimumab results in dysregulation of gastrointestinal immunity in patients with advanced melanoma. Cancer Immun. 2010;10:11.
- 32. Maker AV, Phan GQ, Attia P, et al. Tumor regression and autoimmunity in patients treated with cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade and interleukin 2: a phase I/II study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:1005–16.

- 33. Ascierto PA, Del Vecchio M, Robert C, et al. Overall survival (OS) and safety results from a phase 3 trial of ipilimumab (IPI) at 3 mg/kg vs 10 mg/kg in patients with metastatic melanoma. Paper presented at: European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) 2016 Congress; Oct. 7–11, 2016; Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Oble DA, Mino-Kenudson M, Goldsmith J, et al. Alpha-CTLA-4 mAb-associated panenteritis: a histologic and immunohistochemical analysis. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:1130–7.
- 35. Weber J, Thompson JA, Hamid O, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II study comparing the tolerability and efficacy of ipilimumab administered with or without prophylactic budesonide in patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5591–8.
- 36. Ryder M, Callahan M, Postow MA, et al. Endocrinerelated adverse events following ipilimumab in patients with advanced melanoma: a comprehensive retrospective review from a single institution. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2014;21:371–81.
- Khan U, Rizvi H, Sano D, et al. Nivolumab induced myxedema crisis. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5:13.
- Albarel F, Gaudy C, Castinetti F, et al. Long-term follow-up of ipilimumab-induced hypophysitis, a common adverse event of the anti-CTLA-4 antibody in melanoma. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;172:195–204.
- 39. Ravi S, Spencer K, Ruisi M, et al. Ipilimumab administration for advanced melanoma in patients with pre-existing hepatitis B or C infection: a multicenter, retrospective case series. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:33.
- Davar D, Wilson M, Pruckner C, Kirkwood JM. PD-1 blockade in advanced melanoma in patients with hepatitis C and/or HIV. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2015;2015:737389.
- Abdel-Rahman O, Fouad M. Risk of pneumonitis in cancer patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: a meta-analysis. Ther Adv Respir Dis. 2016;10:183–93.
- Barjaktarevic IZ, Qadir N, Suri A, et al. Organizing pneumonia as a side effect of ipilimumab treatment of melanoma. Chest. 2013;143:858–61.
- 43. Nishino M, Giobbie-Hurder A, Hatabu H, et al. Incidence of programmed cell death 1 inhibitorrelated pneumonitis in patients with advanced cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2:1607–16.
- 44. Li H, Ma W, Yoneda KY, et al. Severe nivolumabinduced pneumonitis preceding durable clinical remission in a patient with refractory, metastatic lung squamous cell cancer: a case report. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:64.
- Berthod G, Lazor R, Letovanec I, et al. Pulmonary sarcoid-like granulomatosis induced by ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:e156–9.
- 46. Cortazar FB, Marrone KA, Troxell ML, et al. Clinicopathological features of acute kidney injury associated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Kidney Int. 2016;90:638–47.

- Cuzzubbo S, Javeri F, Tissier M, et al. Neurological adverse events associated with immune checkpoint inhibitors: review of the literature. Eur J Cancer. 2017;73:1–8.
- Maur M, Tomasello C, Frassoldati A, et al. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome during ipilimumab therapy for malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:e76–8.
- Wilgenhof S, Neyns B. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodyinduced Guillain-Barré syndrome in a melanoma patient. Ann Oncol. 2011;22:991–3.
- Liao B, Shroff S, Kamiya-Matsuoka C, Tummala S. Atypical neurological complications of ipilimumab therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2014;16:589–93.
- de Maleissye MF, Nicolas G, Saiag P. Pembrolizumabinduced demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:296–7.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:123–35.
- 53. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, doubleblind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:700–12.
- Cappelli LC, Shah AA, Bingham CO. Immunerelated adverse effects of cancer immunotherapy – implications for rheumatology. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 2017;43:65–78.
- Cappelli LC, Gutierrez AK, Baer AN, et al. Inflammatory arthritis and sicca syndrome induced by nivolumab and ipilimumab. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:43–50.
- Goldstein BL, Gedmintas L, Todd DJ. Drug-associated polymyalgia rheumatica/giant cell arteritis occurring in two patients after treatment with ipilimumab, an antagonist of CTLA-4. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66:768–9.
- 57. Manusow JS, Khoja L, Pesin N, et al. Retinal vasculitis and ocular vitreous metastasis following complete response to PD-1 inhibition in a patient with metastatic cutaneous melanoma. J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:41.
- Minor DR, Bunker SR, Doyle J. Lymphocytic vasculitis of the uterus in a patient with melanoma receiving ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:e356.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:1627–39.
- Hodi FS, Lee S, McDermott DF, et al. Ipilimumab plus sargramostim vs ipilimumab alone for treatment of metastatic melanoma: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;312:1744–53.
- 61. Sheik Ali S, Goddard AL, Luke JJ, et al. Drugassociated dermatomyositis following ipilimumab therapy: a novel immune-mediated adverse event associated with cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 blockade. JAMA Dermatol. 2015;151:195–9.
- 62. Yoshioka M, Kambe N, Yamamoto Y, et al. Case of respiratory discomfort due to myositis after

administration of nivolumab. J. Dermatol. 2015;42: 1008-9.

- Heinzerling L, Ott PA, Hodi FS, et al. Cardiotoxicity associated with CTLA4 and PD1 blocking immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:50.
- 64. Papavasileiou E, Prasad S, Freitag SK, et al. Ipilimumab induced ocular and orbital inflammation – a case series and review of the literature. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2016;24:140–6.
- Gordon IO, Wade T, Chin K, et al. Immune-mediated red cell aplasia after anti-CTLA-4 immunotherapy for metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58:1351–3.
- Delyon J, Mateus C, Lambert T. Hemophilia A induced by ipilimumab. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1747–8.
- Simeone E, Grimaldi AM, Esposito A, et al. Serious haematological toxicity during and after ipilimumab treatment: a case series. J Med Case Rep. 2014;8:240.

- Johnson DB, Sullivan RJ, Ott PA, et al. Ipilimumab therapy in patients with advanced melanoma and preexisting autoimmune disorders. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2:234–40.
- 69. Lee B, Wong A, Kee D, et al. The use of ipilimumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and metastatic melanoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:1174–7.
- Menzies AM, Johnson DB, Ramanujam S, et al. Anti-PD-1 therapy in patients with advanced melanoma and preexisting autoimmune disorders (AD) or major toxicity with ipilimumab (IPI). J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:15.
- 71. Goldszmid RS, Trinchieri G. The price of immunity. Nature Immunol. 2012;13:932–8.
- Dubin K, Callahan MK, Ren B, et al. Intestinal microbiome analyses identify melanoma patients at risk for checkpoint-blockade-induced colitis. Nat Commun. 2016;7:10391.

Melanoma: Immunotherapy in Advanced Melanoma and in the Adjuvant Setting

Alexander M.M. Eggermont and Caroline Robert

Contents

34.1	Cytokines in Melanoma	579
34.1.1	Interferon-Alpha	579
34.1.2	Interleukin-2	579
34.1.3	Tumor Necrosis Factor: Alpha (TNF)	580
34.1.4	Breaking Tolerance with Immune	
	Checkpoint Inhibitors	580
34.2	Anti-CTLA4	581
34.2.1	Results in Advanced Melanoma Patients	581
34.2.2	Biomarker	581
34.2.3	Adjuvant Therapy in Melanoma	
	and the Recent Approval of Ipilimumab	581
34.2.4	Highest Benefit in Ulcerated Melanoma	582
34.3	Combination Therapies with Ipilimumab	583
34.4	Chemotherapy	583
34.5	Antiangiogenic Agents	583
34.6	Cytokines (IL2, IFN-Alpha, GM-CSF)	584
34.7	Vaccines	584
34.8	BRAF and MEK Inhibitors	585
34.9	Anti-PD1 and Anti-PDL1	585
34.10	Nivolumab in adjuvant setting for melanoma resected stage IIIB/C-IV	586
34.11	Anti-PD1 Plus Anti-CTLA4 Combination Therapy	586
34.12	Other Combination Therapies: Anti-PD1 Will Be the Backbone	587
References		587

A.M.M. Eggermont (⊠) • C. Robert Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus Grand Paris, University Paris-Sud, 114 Rue Edouard Vaillant, 94805 Villejuif, France e-mail: alexander.eggermont@gustaveroussy.fr

34.1 Cytokines in Melanoma

34.1.1 Interferon-Alpha

Interferon-alpha was the first FDA-approved cytokine for treatment of melanoma. However this was not for advanced melanoma, where randomized controlled trials failed to demonstrate that its use or addition to chemotherapy resulted in improved survival [1]. In 1996 though, interferon-alpha (IFN) was approved as adjuvant therapy for resected high-risk stage IIB–III melanoma [2]. IFN will be discussed further in section on adjuvant immunotherapy of melanoma.

34.1.2 Interleukin-2

Rosenberg and co-workers initiated the development of interleukin-2 alone or in combination with lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells [3] and later in combination with IL-2-cultured tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) [4]. After confirmatory studies by the Cytokine Working Group and the evidence of long-lasting CRs in 7% of patients that could be considered cured, it leads to the approval in 1998 of interleukin-2 as the first approved immunotherapy for advanced melanoma [5]. Rosenberg and colleagues continued an evolutionary program in adoptive cell therapy to treat cancer, melanoma in particular, that has demonstrated significant progress in insights and results over the years [6]. In highly selected patient

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_34

populations, the combination of lymphodepletion by chemotherapy with or without total body irradiation followed by adoptive transfer of tumorderived T-cell clones and IL-2 treatment result in 50–70% response rates with CR rates of 10–20% [7]. Current promising approaches use autologous cells genetically engineered to express T-cell receptors [8]. These technologies however are still restricted to a few expert centers.

34.1.3 Tumor Necrosis Factor: Alpha (TNF)

The development of systemic therapy with the cytokine TNF is stranded because of dose-limiting toxicities, in particular hypotension, already at ineffective relatively low doses. Only in the setting of an isolated limb perfusion (ILP), effective concentrations are reached in the clinical setting [9, 10]. In the ILP setting highly significant synergistic activity in combination with melphalan has been observed in melanoma patients with multiple in-transit metastases [11, 12]. For limb threatening soft tissue sarcomas to achieve limb salvage,

TNF was approved by EMA in 1998 [13] and is mostly used for STS and multiple in-transit melanoma metastases in some 50 referral centers for limb salvage programs around the world with excellent long-term results [14].

34.1.4 Breaking Tolerance with Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Advances in melanoma therapies are at present mainly in the field of immunotherapy and mutation-driven drug development [1]. Breaking tolerance represents a major paradigm shift, and we have entered a new era as the impact of the first checkpoint inhibitors, i.e., anti-CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4) and anti-PD1/anti-PDL1 (programmed death-1 receptor and its ligand PD-L1), is unprecedented [1, 15]. In only 5 years advanced melanoma has been transformed from an incurable disease into a curable disease [16, 17], and we are only at the beginning of discovering its transversal impact throughout solid tumor oncology (Table 34.1).

Advanced melanoma	Outcome	Publication (Ref)
gp100 vs ipilimumab vs ipilimumab + gp100	Ipilimumab 3 mg/kg approved OS benefit	Hodi et al. [18]
DTIC vs DTIC + ipilimumab	Ipilimumab 10 mg not approved	Robert et al. [19]
Ipilimumab 3 mg vs ipilimumab 10 mg	Ipilimumab 10 mg OS benefit	Ascierto et al. [20]
DTIC vs nivolumab	Nivolumab approved OS benefit	Robert et al. [21]
Ipilimumab vs pembrolizumab	Pembrolizumab approved OS benefit	Robert et al. [22]
Ipilimumab vs ipilimumab + nivolumab	Ipilimumab + nivolumab approved	Hodi et al. [23]
Ipilimumab vs nivolumab vs ipilimumab + nivolumab	Ipilimumab + nivolumab approved PFS benefit in PD-L1 negative tumors	Larkin et al. [24]
Pembrolizumab vs pembrolizumab + epcadostat	Ongoing	
Adjuvant therapy		
Interferon alfa-2b (IFN)	High-dose IFN approved RFS and OS benefit	Kirkwood et al. [2]
Pegylated interferon alfa-2b	Pegylated IFN approved RFS benefit	Eggermont et al. [25, 26]
Ipilimumab 10 mg vs placebo	Ipilimumab 10 mg/kg approved RFS, DMFS, and OS benefit	Eggermont et al. [27, 28]
Ipilimumab 10 mg vs 3 mg vs HD-IFN	Ongoing	
Pembrolizumab vs placebo	Ongoing	
Ipilimumab vs nivolumab	Ongoing	

 Table 34.1
 Key phase III immunotherapy trials with interferons, ipilimumab, nivolumab, and pembrolizumab

34.2 Anti-CTLA4

34.2.1 Results in Advanced Melanoma Patients

Monoclonal antibody blocking of cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA4) leads to breaking immune tolerance and can induce tumor regressions. The fully humanized monoclonal anti-CTLA4 antibody ipilimumab was approved in 2011 in the USA in first and second line for patients with advanced melanoma and in second line in Europe at a dose of 3 mg/kg based on randomized controlled trial (RCT) results that showed that the drug either alone or combined with a peptide vaccination provided a significant survival benefit of about 33% compared to vaccination alone [18]. In first-line ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg combined with dacarbazine provided only a small, albeit statistically significant, benefit, and there seems no reason to advocate the use of the combination [19]. This was confirmed by long-term follow-up data demonstrating a plateau ≥5-year survival rate for the combination of dacarbazine and ipilimumab to be around 20% just like what is observed in large data sets with ipilimumab alone in thousands of patients [29, 30]. Of note, also long-term survival with tremelimumab monotherapy was reported to be 20% [31]. Also the efficacy in patients with brain metastases has been established and reported [32]. Since responses can occur after initial tumor progression or appearance of new lesions, immune-related response criteria (irRC) have been developed to avoid premature treatment cessation [33, 34].

At 3 mg/kg adverse events (AE) occur in 40% of patients and are mostly immune-related (irAE), such as skin rashes, colitis, hepatitis, and hypophysitis. Grades 3–4 adverse events occur in about 20% of patients and can, in rare cases, be fatal. Usually they resolve spontaneously or after steroid therapy, except endocrine failure that usually requires permanent hormonal substitution. High-dose steroids are indicated for severe irAEs, but other immunosuppressive agents, like anti-TNF-alpha antibodies, may also be needed [35].

Regarding dose efficacy for ipilimumab, a randomized phase II trial comparing 0.3, 3, and

10 mg/kg suggested 10 mg/kg to be the more effective dose, but associated with more toxicity [36]. In 2016 the results of the randomized phase III trial have clearly demonstrated that the 10 mg/ kg dose is more efficacious in patients with advanced melanoma than the 3 mg/kg dose [20]. A significant overall survival benefit was demonstrated (HR, 0.84; p < 0.04) with an absolute difference in survival at 3 years of 8% (31% vs 23%). These results come at a price. The 10 mg/ kg dose is associated with significantly higher toxicity (grade 3-5 events in 34% vs 19% and irAEs grade 3-5 in 30% vs 14%). The value of four 3 weekly administrations (induction) compared to induction followed by further administrations (maintenance) has not been established.

34.2.2 Biomarker

Good biomarkers for response to ipilimumab therapy still remain to be established. Immunerelated adverse events, an increase in lymphocyte counts, an increase in eosinophil counts, the presence of NY-ESO-1 antigen, and the resistance in vitro to T-regulatory cell functions seem to be associated with higher response rates [37– 40]. Recently the high levels of soluble CD25 in the serum, especially in the combination with high levels of LDH, were demonstrated to be a very strong prognostic factor for poor outcome [41]. By and large we have only prognostic biomarkers and not clinically important predictive biomarkers.

34.2.3 Adjuvant Therapy in Melanoma and the Recent Approval of Ipilimumab

Approved drugs for adjuvant therapy for stage III melanoma are interferon alfa-2b (USA and EU), based on trial ECOG 1684 [2], and pegylated interferon alfa-2b (USA), based on trial EORTC 18991 [25, 26]. In meta-analyses of adjuvant interferon trials, no dose-effect or duration of treatment effect could be demonstrated, and only a marginal impact on survival of about 3% was

observed. Therefore adjuvant therapy with interferon is not widely accepted or used as standard of care [1].

34.2.3.1 Prolonged Relapse Free and Overall Survival with Ipilimumab

In the EORTC 18071 trial, 951 stage III melanoma patients, after full regional lymph node dissection, were randomized to receive either an intravenous infusion of ipilimumab 10 mg/kg or placebo every 3 weeks for four doses (induction), then every 3 months for up to 3 years (maintenance), or until disease recurrence or unacceptable toxicity. Primary end point was RFS. A significant improvement of RFS by adjuvant ipilimumab (hazard ratio 0.75, p = 0.0013) was already reported in 2015 and led to FDA approval. Now in 2016, at a median follow-up of 5.3 years, ipilimumab compared with placebo significantly improved overall survival (hazard ratio for death, 0.72; 95.1% CI, 0.58–0.88; P = 0.001) and distant metastasis-free survival (hazard ratio for death or distant metastasis, 0.76; 95.8% CI, 0.64-0.92; P = 0.002). Five-year OS rates were 65.4% in the ipilimumab arm and 54.4% in the placebo arm. The 5-year DMFS rates were 48.3% in the ipilimumab arm and 38.9% in the placebo arm. The recurrence-free survival benefit observed previously was maintained (hazard ratio for death or recurrence, 0.76; 95% CI, 0.64–0.89; P < 0.001). Treatment benefits were by and large consistent across subgroups with stage IIIC seeming to derive more benefit than stage IIIB and more than stage IIIA, which was the only subgroup that did not seem to benefit (HR 0.98) [27, 28].

34.2.4 Highest Benefit in Ulcerated Melanoma

Post hoc analyses demonstrated a significant impact both in patients with sentinel nodepositive disease and palpable node-positive disease. Like in EORTC adjuvant trials 18,952 and 18,991 with IFN and pegylated IFN, patients with sentinel-positive disease derived a greater benefit [25, 26, 42–44]. Patients with an ulcerated primary tumor derived the greatest benefit like in the meta-analysis of the IFN trials 18,952 and 18,991, indicating that ulcerated melanoma is a separate biologic entity [33, 34]. In contrast however to the experience in the adjuvant IFN trials EORTC 18,952 and 18,991, also patients with non-ulcerated melanomas derived a benefit in the adjuvant ipilimumab setting [27, 28]. This is in contrast to the total lack of benefit in IFN trials, which has recently also been confirmed in the IPD meta-analysis of all adjuvant IFN vs observation trials [45].

34.2.4.1 Toxicity and Quality of Life

Global health quality of life scores in the adjuvant ipilimumab trial EORTC 18071 was not significantly different between treatment arms [46]. This is somewhat surprising in the light of significant adverse event rates that resulted in only 42% of patients to receive more than four doses of ipilimumab and only 28.9% of patients to go beyond 1 year of treatment [27]. Grade 3-4 immune-related adverse events (irAEs) occurred in 41.6% of ipilimumab and in 2.7% of placebo-treated patients. The most important grade 3-4 irAEs were diarrhea/colitis in 17.2%, hepatitis in 15.2% and endocrinopathies in 7.8% with hypophysitis in 4.4%, and neurologic events in 1.1%. Five patients died because of drugrelated causes, three with colitis, one with myocarditis, and one with a Guillain-Barre syndrome leading eventually to multiple organ failure. The great majority of grade 3-4 irAEs occurred during the induction phase. Median time to resolution after stopping ipilimumab and corticosteroid medication was 6 weeks, except for endocrinopathies (31 weeks). In conclusion, one can state that adjuvant ipilimumab therapy provides consistent improvements in terms of RFS, DMFS, and OS, but that it comes at a price in terms of irAEs that needs expertise and experience to be recognized early and handled with established treatment algorithms. This treatment should be handled by centers with sufficient experience.

Moreover, the trial does not provide evidence that maintenance therapy beyond the four administrations of the induction phase is indicated. The absence of a significant impact in stage IIIA patients, which have a relatively low risk of recurrence, questions the use of ipilimumab at this dose and with this associated toxicity [47, 48].

34.3 Combination Therapies with Ipilimumab

Various combinations of ipilimumab with other immune modulating, antiangiogenic or chemotherapeutic, or targeted agents have been reported or are ongoing. Guiding principles for combination treatment designs could be to use drugs that lead to immunogenic cell death [49–51]. Since radiotherapy can also induce immunogenic cell death, the reported observations of abscopal antitumor effects after radiotherapy and ipilimumab have led to a number of clinical studies to further investigate this phenomenon [52, 53].

34.4 Chemotherapy

Three studies regarding the combination of chemotherapy with ipilimumab in melanoma patients have been published thus far:

- Dacarbazine (DTIC): A phase III trial comparing DTIC versus DTIC plus ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg in first line in patients with advanced melanoma showed a survival benefit for the patients treated with the combination [19, 29]. The median benefit of only 2.1 months was however disappointing, and the combination is not believed to bring a benefit over ipilimumab alone. Long-term survival in the dacarbazine plus ipilimumab arm was 20% indicating that the combination is not any better than ipilimumab alone, and the combination of this non-immunogenic chemotherapy with ipilimumab is not used in clinical practice [1, 29].
- Fotemustine: In an open-label, single-arm phase II trial, 86 patients with advanced melanoma, 20 of them with asymptomatic brain metastases, received induction treatment of 10 mg/kg intravenous ipilimumab every 3 weeks to a total of four doses, and 100 mg/

 m^2 intravenous fotemustine, a cytostatic nitrosuree weekly for 3 weeks, and then every 3 weeks from week 9 to 24 [54, 55]. Patients with a confirmed clinical response were eligible for maintenance treatment from week 24, with ipilimumab every 12 weeks and fotemustine every 3 weeks. Forty patients (46.5%) in the study population achieved disease control, as did ten patients with brain metastases (50%). Toxicity was considerable with 47 patients (55%) having grade 3 or 4 treatmentrelated adverse events. This combination therapy is rarely used because of the arrival of anti-PD1.

3. Carboplatin/Taxol: Preliminary results of a randomized phase II trial comparing concurrent carboplatin plus paclitaxel and ipilimumab (4 doses at 3 mg/kg) with sequential treatment of these agents have been reported [56]. Patients with cutaneous melanoma (n = 24), mucosal melanoma [2], ocular melanoma [3], and unknown primary melanoma [1] had entered the study. Response rates (RR) and disease control rates (DCR) for 14 evaluable patients at 24 weeks were 35.7 and 64.3% by irRC, respectively, with grade 3–4 AEs in 63% of patients. No further reports on this study have been published. Overall chemo-immunotherapy combinations have been abandoned in melanoma because of the efficacy of anti-PD1 monotherapy and the efficacy of the combination therapy with anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1.

34.5 Antiangiogenic Agents

Bevacizumab In a phase II study, 46 patients with metastatic melanoma were treated in four dosing cohorts of ipilimumab (3 or 10 mg/kg) with four doses at 3-week intervals and then every 12 weeks and bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody (7.5 or 15 mg/kg), every 3 weeks [57]. Best overall response included eight partial responses, 22 instances of stable disease, and a disease control rate of 67.4%. Median survival was 25.1 months. irAEs included giant cell arteritis (n = 1), hepatitis (n = 2), and uveitis

(n = 2). Extensive CD8(+) and macrophage cell infiltration were observed in on-treatment tumor biopsies. From this initial experience, it appears that the combination of bevacizumab and ipilimumab can be safely administered, and it indicates that VEGF-A blockade influences inflammation, lymphocyte trafficking, and immune regulation that should be explored and understood further.

34.6 Cytokines (IL2, IFN-Alpha, GM-CSF)

Interleukin-2 (IL-2) The most mature data on the combination of IL-2 and ipilimumab are on a 36 patients cohort treated at the NCI Surgery Branch [58]. There were six complete responders (17%) which were higher than the 6% CR rate in 56 patients treated with ipilimumab alone and the 7% CR rate among 85 patients who received ipilimumab by an intra-patient dose-escalation schedule in combination with gp100 peptide vaccination. All CRs except one were ongoing at 54+ to 99+ months at the time of the report. The combination with IL-2 did not seem to increase toxicity and should be explored further.

Interferon-Alpha (IFN) The first phase II trial regards the combination of high dose IFN (HDI) with the anti-CTLA4 drug tremelimumab [59]. In this study 37 stage IV melanoma patients were enrolled to receive tremelimumab 15 mg/kg/course (three cycles [one cycle = 4 weeks]) intravenously every 12 weeks with the concurrent administration of HDI. From course 2 onward, HDI maintenance was administered subcutaneously. Response data in 35 evaluable patients: overall response rate is 24% (4 CRs and 5 PRs). Fourteen patients (38%) had stable disease with a median progression-free survival of 6.4 months and median overall survival was 21 months. These results suggest additive antitumor activity of this combination.

The second phase II trial regards the combination of pegylated IFN and ipilimumab [60]. In this study in 31 patients, ipilimumab was administered at 3 mg/kg for four doses along with concurrent peginterferon alfa-2b at 1–3 mcg/kg weekly for up to 156 weeks. Among 27 evaluable patients, there were 4 CRs, 8 PRs, 4 SDs, and 13 PDs. Peginterferon alfa-2b added to ipilimumab resulted in a response rate of 40% and was associated with a grade 3 toxicities rate of 45%. With the arrival of anti-PD1, this combination will probably be replaced by exploring additive effects with anti-PD1.

GM-CSF The observation that CTLA-4 blockade and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF)-secreting tumor vaccine combinations demonstrate therapeutic synergy in some preclinical models evoked the question whether systemic GM-CSF (sargramostim) enhances CTLA-4 blockade. This question was addressed in a randomized phase II trial, conducted by ECOG in 245 patients with unresectable stage III or stage IV melanoma, comparing ipilimumab plus sargramostim treatment with ipilimumab alone [61]. Patients were randomized to receive ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg, intravenously on day 1 plus sargramostim, 250 µg subcutaneously, on days 1-14 of a 21-day cycle vs ipilimumab alone. Ipilimumab treatment included induction for 4 cycles followed by maintenance every fourth cycle. The primary end point of the study was overall survival, with secondary end points progression-free survival, safety, and tolerability. At a rather short median follow-up of 13.3 months, overall survival was superior for the combination treatment (17.5 months versus 12.7 months), and the 1-year survival rates were 68.9% versus 52.9%. Surprisingly no differences for PFS were observed (median PFS of 3.1 months for both treatment arms). Strikingly, and poorly understood, was the observation that the combination treatment was associated with less toxicity. Clearly further studies need to be conducted to elucidate these observations. Which can be said about all cytokines mentioned in this section and various trials are on the way [62].

34.7 Vaccines

gp100 Vaccines Theoretically a combination of a vaccine with anti-CTLA4 is very attractive [63]. Yet the results from the randomized phase

III trial comparing ipilimumab versus ipilimumab plus gp100 vaccine versus gp100 vaccination alone did not show a benefit for the combination of ipilimumab plus the vaccine compared to ipilimumab alone [18]. A similar observation was made in the publication of the mature results of the NCI Surgery Branch experience [58].

TalimogeneLaherparepvec(T-VEC) Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) is a herpes simplex virus type 1-derived oncolytic immunotherapy designed to selectively replicate within tumors and produce granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) to enhance systemic antitumor immune responses. Intratumoral administration of T-VEC was compared with GM-CSF in patients with unresected stage IIIB to IV melanoma in a randomized phase III trial [63]. The primary end point was durable response rate (DRR; objective response lasting continuously ≥ 6 months), with overall survival (OS) as one of the secondary end points. Among 436 patients randomly assigned, DRR was significantly higher with T-VEC (16.3) than GM-CSF (2.1%). Overall response rate was also higher in the T-VEC arm (26.4%) versus 5.7%. Median OS was 23.3 months with T-VEC and 18.9 months with GM-CSF (hazard ratio, 0.79; P = 0.051). T-VEC efficacy was most pronounced in patients with stage IIIB, IIIC, or IVM1a disease and in treatment-naïve patients. Treatment was very well tolerated with grade 3-4 events in <2% of patients.

Laherparepvec with Ipilimumab In a phase Ib trial, T-VEC in combination with ipilimumab has been evaluated [64]. Intratumoral administration of T-VEC in week 1, 4, and thereafter every 2 weeks was combined with intravenous administration of ipilimumab (3 mg/kg) every 3 weeks for four infusions, beginning in week 6. The primary end point was incidence of dose-limiting toxicities. Secondary end points were objective response rate by immune-related response criteria and safety. In 19 evaluable patients, grade 3–4 AEs events were observed. The objective response rate was 50%, with 44% of patients having a durable response, indicating that the combination may be better that either agent alone.

34.8 BRAF and MEK Inhibitors

Combinations of BRAF inhibitors and MEK inhibitors with immune checkpoint inhibitors such as anti-CTLA are theoretically attractive, but have in practice proven to be not so simple to develop.

Vemurafenib A phase I trial combining vemurafenib and ipilimumab was stopped early, after only 11 patients, because of several cases of grade 3–4 hepatitis [65].

Dabrafenib + Trametenib A phase I trial with dabrafenib and ipilimumab did not reveal a repeat experience of the phase I vemurafenib plus ipilimumab trial. This phase I study was reported at the 2014 ASCO annual meeting, and no high rate of severe hepatitis cases was reported [66]. An extension cohort study in 30 patients was ongoing. However the combination of dabrafenib plus trametenib with ipilimumab was stopped early, after seven patients, because of severe colitis in three patients. Therefore no extension cohort was planned. Regarding the combination of dabrafenib and trametenib with anti-PD1 experimental data suggests upregulation of PDL-1 expression and potential synergy of this approach [67].

34.9 Anti-PD1 and Anti-PDL1

The PD1 protein is another immune checkpoint expressed in many tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in response to inflammation. It has two ligands, PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-L2 (B7-DC). The engagement of PD1 on the lymphocyte surface by PD-L1 on melanoma cells and PDL1 expressing dendritic cells and other components of the tumor infiltrate delivers inhibitory signals downregulating T-cell function [15]. This neutralization of the executive phase of T cells at the tumor site is very powerful, and avoiding this by the use of anti-PD-1 and anti-PDL-1 antibodies has been remarkably successful, both in terms of response rates (30–45% in melanoma and 20–30% in various other tumor types) and in terms of a very favorable toxicity profile in comparison to anti-CTLA4 antibodies (15-17). Immune-related adverse events (irAEs) are rare and less severe than with anti-CTLA4, especially cumbersome events such as colitis and hypophysitis. In only a few years, phase I trial results launched phase III trials leading to rapid approval of nivolumab and pembrolizumab for advanced melanoma [21, 22, 68–75]. Both pembrolizumab and nivolumab have been reported to induce response rates around 30-45% in advanced melanoma patients, even in patients that previously failed to respond to ipilimumab. Responses tend to be very durable, up to 2-3 years. PDL-1 expression in the tumor is a good biomarker for response to monotherapy with either agent, but even in PDL-1-negative patients, it is more effective than chemotherapy or ipilimumab [76]. Anti-PD1 has been shown in all melanoma patients to be superior to chemotherapy or ipilimumab and to be effective in ipilimumab failures and in patients that have failed targeted therapies. Anti-PD1 is the drug of choice in first line for all metastatic melanoma patients, with the exception of bulky rapidly progressive BRAF-mutant melanoma patients [77]. Now that anti-PD1 is positioned in first line for most melanoma patients, it is an interesting observation that ipilimumab administered after progression on anti-PD1 therapy seems to be more effective than anti-PD1 therapy following ipilimumab failure [78]. The role of combination therapy with anti-PD1 and anti-CTLA4 agents will be discussed later.

Regarding side effects and quality of life outcomes, it is a clear observation from the randomized trials that both nivolumab and pembrolizumab have fewer and less severe side effects and irAEs than ipilimumab and that QoL is superior with these drugs than with various chemotherapies or with ipilimumab [79–83]. In particular lower colities, hepatitis, and hypophysitis rates are associated with anti-PD1 treatment than with ipilimumab. Yet a wide variety of irAEs can be seen at low frequencies. Excellent overview articles deal with diagnosis and treatment of these toxicities [84, 85].

Overall the incredible impact of anti-PD1 and anti-PDL1 monoclonal antibodies lies in its broad transversal impact in oncology with now activity demonstrated against a wide panel of neoplasms other than melanoma, including lung cancer, renal cell cancer, bladder cancer, stomach cancer, head and neck cancer, Merkel cell cancer, Hodgkin lymphoma, and many other to come [86].

34.10 Nivolumab in adjuvant setting for melanoma resected stage IIIB/C-IV

In July 2017 a press release by BMS declared that an interim analysis of the randomized trial Checkmate-238 had demonstrated superiority regarding the primary endpoint (RFS) in this trial. Patient who had received nivolumab (3mg/Kg every 2 weeks) had demonstrated a significant prolongation of RFS compared to the patients who had received ipilimumab (10mg/Kg). [86]

34.11 Anti-PD1 Plus Anti-CTLA4 Combination Therapy

The rational to combine these two checkpoint inhibitors is that they have different mechanisms of action, with anti-CTLA4 mainly acting at the central level in the lymph node compartment by perpetuating and/or restoring the induction and proliferation of activated T cells and with anti-PD1 mainly acting at the peripheral level at the tumor site by preventing the neutralization of cytotoxic T cells by PDL1 expressing tumor cells and PDL2 expressing plasmacytoid dendritic cells in the tumor infiltrate. The first report in 2013 already indicated that the combination is associated with clearly increased response rates up to 50-60%, with an increased CR rate of around 20% and a clear increase in near-complete responses [87].

A randomized phase II trial, nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus ipilimumab (2:1), was conducted, and the results were recently reported in 2016 [23]. One hundred forty-two patients were randomized, assigning 95 patients to nivolumab plus ipilimumab and 47 to ipilimumab alone. At a median follow-up of 24.5 months, the 2-year overall survival was 63.8% for the combination therapy and 53.6 for those assigned to ipilimumab alone. Treatment-related grade 3-4 adverse events were reported in 51 (54%) of 94 patients who received nivolumab plus ipilimumab compared with 9 (20%) of 46 patients who received ipilimumab alone. Serious grade 3-4 treatmentrelated adverse events were reported in 36% of patients who received nivolumab plus ipilimumab compared with 9% of patients who received ipilimumab alone [23]. A randomized phase III trial in 945 treatment-naïve patients, ipilimumab versus nivolumab versus ipi + nivo (1:1:1), was also launched, and the first results on the PFS end point were reported in 2015 [24]. Median PFS was superior for ipi + nivo (11.5 months) versus nivolumab alone (6.9 months) versus ipilimumab alone (2.9 months) (p < 0.001). PD-L1 expression (\geq 5%) played a very important role in this trial in the sense that in patients with tumors positive for PD-L1, the median PFS was the same (14 months) for patients treated with nivolumab alone or with the combination. But in patients with PD-L1-negative tumors, PFS was longer for ipi + nivo (11.2 months) vs nivolumab alone (5.3 months). Combination therapy was the most toxic with grade 3 or 4 occurred in 55% versus 16.3% for nivolumab versus 27.3% for ipilimumab. Overall results are expected to be reported in 2017. It seems highly unlikely that the combination ipi + nivo will be superior to nivolumab alone in patients with PD-L1 positive tumors. It is not excluded that in patients with PD-L1negative tumors, the combination will outperform nivolumab monotherapy.

34.12 Other Combination Therapies: Anti-PD1 Will Be the Backbone

Immunotherapy combinations in general are expected to be perhaps the most dynamic drug development field for years to come. Once breaking tolerance is achieved, or even further improved with candidate molecules such as anti-LAG3 and others, the door seems wide open to combine with agonists such as OX40, CD137, and others. Strategies that primarily address addi-

tional immunosuppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment, such as indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) inhibition, TGF- β blockade, regulatory T-cell (Treg) depletion, and angiogenesis inhibition, may be particularly effective to enhance or rescue tumor responses achieved with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 monotherapy. Based on preclinical evidence, several IDO inhibitors are currently in clinical investigation as monotherapies and in combination with CTLA-4 and PD-1 inhibition. Promising response rates in NSCLC and melanoma with pembrolizumab plus the IDO inhibitor epacadostat were recently reported, leading to exploration of this combination in a phase III trial in melanoma (NCT02752074) and a recently announced expansion of this phase III program into NSCLC, renal, bladder, and head and neck cancer [88]. Currently a large number of combination trials are ongoing. It is early times and the next winner has as of yet not been identified.

References

- Eggermont AM, Spatz A, Robert C. Cutaneous melanoma. Lancet. 2014;383(9919):816–27.
- Kirkwood JM, Strawderman MH, Ernstoff MS, Smith TJ, Borden EC, Blum RH. Interferon alfa-2b adjuvant therapy of high-risk resected cutaneous melanoma: the eastern cooperative oncology group trial EST 1684. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14:7–17.
- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, et al. A progress report on the treatment of 157 patients with advanced cancer using lymphokine activated killer cells and interleukin-2 or high dose interleukin-2 alone. N Engl J Med. 1987;316:889–97.
- Rosenberg SA, Packard BS, Aebersold PM, et al. Use of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin-2 in the immunotherapy of patients with metastatic melanoma. A preliminary report. N Engl J Med. 1988;319:1676–80.
- Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, et al. Highdose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:2105–16.
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP, Yang JC, Morgan RA, Dudley ME. Adoptive cell transfer: a clinical path to effective cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8:299–308.
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:269–81.

- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. Science. 2015;348:62–8.
- Eggermont AM, de Wilt JH, ten Hagen TL. Current uses of isolated limb perfusion in the clinic and a model system for new strategies. Lancet Oncol. 2003;4(7):429–37.
- van Horssen R, Ten Hagen TL, Eggermont AM. TNFalpha in cancer treatment: molecular insights, antitumor effects, and clinical utility. Oncologist. 2006;11(4):397–408. Review
- Liénard D, Ewalenko P, Delmotte JJ, Renard N, Lejeune FJ. High-dose recombinant tumor necrosis factor alpha in combination with interferon gamma and melphalan in isolation perfusion of the limbs for melanoma and sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 1992;10(1):52–60.
- 12. Grünhagen DJ, Brunstein F, Graveland WJ, et al. One hundred consecutive isolated limb perfusions with TNF-alpha and melphalan in melanoma patients with multiple in-transit metastases. Ann Surg. 2004;240:939–47. discussion 947-938
- Eggermont AM, Schraffordt Koops H, Klausner JM, et al. Isolated limb perfusion with tumor necrosis factor and melphalan for limb salvage in 186 patients with locally advanced soft tissue extremity sarcomas. The cumulative multicenter European experience. Ann Surg. 1996;224:756–64. discussion 764-755
- Deroose JP, Grünhagen DJ, van Geel AN, et al. Longterm outcome of isolated limb perfusion with tumour necrosis factor-alpha for patients with melanoma intransit metastases. Br J Surg. 2011;98:1573–80.
- Pardoll D. The blockade of immune checkpoints in immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64.
- Eggermont AM, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Immunotherapy and the concept of a clinical cure. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(14):2965–7.
- Robert C, Soria JC, Eggermont AM. Drug of the year: programmed death-1 receptor/programmed death-1 ligand-1 receptor monoclonal antibodies. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(14):2968–71.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- 20. Ascierto PA, Del Vecchio M, Robert C, Mackiewicz A, Chiarion-Sileni V, Arance A, Lebbé C, Bastholt L, Hamid O, Rutkowski P, McNeil C, Garbe C, Loquai C, Dreno B, Thomas L, Grob JJ, Liszkay G, Nyakas M, Gutzmer R, Pikiel J, Grange F, Hoeller C, Ferraresi V, Smylie M, Schadendorf D, Mortier L, Svane IM, Hennicken D, Qureshi A, Maio M. Ipilimumab 10 mg/kg versus ipilimumab 3 mg/kg in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2017, 18(5):611–622. pii: S1470-2045 (17)30231-0.
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, Hassel JC, Rutkowski P, McNeil C, Kalinka-

Warzocha E, Savage KJ, Hernberg MM, Lebbé C, Charles J, Mihalcioiu C, Chiarion-Sileni V, Mauch C, Cognetti F, Arance A, Schmidt H, Schadendorf D, Gogas H, Lundgren-Eriksson L, Horak C, Sharkey B, Waxman IM, Atkinson V, Ascierto PA. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):320–30.

- 22. Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, Daud A, Carlino MS, McNeil C, Lotem M, Larkin J, Lorigan P, Neyns B, Blank CU, Hamid O, Mateus C, Shapira-Frommer R, Kosh M, Zhou H, Ibrahim N, Ebbinghaus S. Ribas A; KEYNOTE-006 investigators. Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(26):2521–32.
- 23. Hodi FS, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann KF, McDermott DF, Linette GP, Meyer N, Giguere JK, Agarwala SS, Shaheen M, Ernstoff MS, Minor DR, Salama AK, Taylor MH, Ott PA, Horak C, Gagnier P, Jiang J, Wolchok JD, Postow MA. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced melanoma: 2-year overall survival outcomes in a multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(11):1558–68.
- 24. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, Schadendort D, Dummer R, Smylie M, Rutkowski P, Ferrucci PF, Hill A, Wagstaff J, Carlino MS, Haanen JB, Maio M, Marquez-Rodas I, McArthur GA, Ascierto PA, Long GV, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Grossmann K, Sznol M, Dreno B, Bastholt L, Yang A, Rollin LM, Horak C, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):23–34.
- 25. Eggermont AMM, Suciu S, Santinami M, et al. Adjuvant therapy with pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus observation alone in resected stage III melanoma: final results of EORTC 18991, a randomised phase III trial. Lancet. 2008;372:117–26.
- 26. Eggermont AM, Suciu S, Testori A, et al. Long term results of the randomized phase III trial EORTC 18991 of adjuvant therapy with pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus observation in resected stage III melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:3810–8.
- 27. Eggermont AM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H, Hamid O, Robert C, Ascierto PA, Richards JM, Lebbé C, Ferraresi V, Smylie M, Weber JS, Maio M, Konto C, Hoos A, de Pril V, Gurunath RK, de Schaetzen G, Suciu S, Testori A. Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(5):522–30.
- 28. Eggermont AM, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H, Hamid O, Robert C, Ascierto PA, Richards JM, Lebbé C, Ferraresi V, Smylie M, Weber JS, Maio M, Bastholt L, Mortier L, Thomas L, Tahir S, Hauschild A, Hassel JC, Hodi FS, Taitt C, de Pril V, de Schaetzen G, Suciu S,

Testori A. Prolonged survival in stage III melanoma with ipilimumab adjuvant therapy. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(19):1845–55.

- 29. Maio M, Grob JJ, Aamdal S, Bondarenko I, Robert C, Thomas L, Garbe C, Chiarion-Sileni V, Testori A, Chen TT, Tschaika M, Wolchok JD. Five-year survival rates for treatment-naive patients with advanced melanoma who received ipilimumab plus dacarbazine in a phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(10):1191–6.
- 30. Schadendof D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O, Patt D, Chen TT, Berman DM, Wolchok JD. Pooled analysis of long-term survival data from phase II and phase III trials of ipilimumab in unresectable or metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(17):1889–94.
- 31. Eroglu Z, Kim DW, Wang X, Camacho LH, Chmielowski B, Seja E, Villanueva A, Ruchalski K, Glaspy JA, Kim KB, Hwu WJ, Ribas A. Long term survival with cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade using tremelimumab. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(17):2689–97.
- Margolin K, Ernstoff MS, Hamid O, et al. Ipilimumab in patients with melanoma and brain metastases: an open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:459–65.
- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:7412–20.
- Hoos A, Eggermont AMM, Janetzki S, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1388–97.
- Weber JS, Kaehler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2691–7.
- 36. Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:155–64.
- AttiaP, Phan GQ, Maker AV, et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6043–53.
- 38. Ku GY, Yuan J, Page DB, et al. Single-institution experience with ipilimumab in advanced melanoma patients in the compassionate use setting: lymphocyte count after 2 doses correlates with survival. Cancer. 2010;116:1767–75.
- 39. Delyon J, Mateus C, Lefevres D, et al. Experience in daily practice with ipilimumab for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: an early increase in lymphocytes and eosinophils is associated with improved survival. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1697–703.
- Ménard C, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, et al. Ctla-4 blockade confers lymphocyte resistance to regulatory T-cells in advanced melanoma: surrogate marker of efficacy of tremelimumab? Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:5242–9.

- Hannani D, Vetizou M, Enoti D, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA4 blockade: obligatory contribution of IL-2 receptors and negative prognostic impact of soluble CD25. Cell Res. 2015;25(2):208–24.
- 42. Eggermont AMM, Suciu S, MacKie R, et al. Postsurgery adjuvant therapy with intermediate doses of interferon alfa 2b versus observation in patients with stage IIb/III melanoma (EORTC 18952): randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;366:1189–96.
- 43. Eggermont AMM, Suciu S, Testori A, et al. Ulceration and stage are predictive of interferon efficacy in melanoma: results of the phase III adjuvant trials EORTC 18952 and EORTC 18991. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:218–25.
- 44. Eggermont AM, Suciu S, Rutkowski P, Kruit WH, Punt CJ, Dummer R, Salès F, Keilholz U, de Schaetzen G, Testori A, EORTC Melanoma Group. Long term follow up of the EORTC 18952 trial of adjuvant therapy in resected stage IIB-III cutaneous melanoma patients comparing intermediate doses of interferon-alpha-2b (IFN) with observation: ulceration of primary is key determinant for IFN-sensitivity. Eur J Cancer. 2016;55:111–21.
- 45. Suciu S, Ives N, Eggermont AM, et al. Predictive importance of ulceration on the efficacy of adjuvant interferon-a (IFN): an individual patient data (IPD) meta-analysis of 15 randomized trials in more than 7,500 melanoma patients (pts). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(5s):9067.
- 46. Coens C, Suciu S, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H, Hamid O, Robert C, Ascierto PA, Richards JM, Lebbé C, Ferraresi V, Smylie M, Weber JS, Maio M, Bottomley A, Kotapati S, de Pril V, Testori A, Eggermont AM. Healthrelated quality of life with adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): secondary outcomes of a multinational, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(3):393–403.
- Eggermont AM. Adjuvant ipilimumab in stage III melanoma: new landscape, new questions. Eur J Cancer. 2016;69:39–42.
- Eggermont AMM, Suciu S, Testori A. Ipilimumab adjuvant therapy in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(4):399.
- Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunological effects of conventional chemotherapy and targeted anticancer agents. Cancer Cell. 2015;28(6):690–714.
- 50. Pfirschke C, Engblom C, Rickelt S, Cortez-Retamozo V, Garris C, Pucci F, Yamazaki T, Poirier-Colame V, Newton A, Redouane Y, Lin YJ, Wojtkiewicz G, Iwamoto Y, Mino-Kenudson M, Huynh TG, Hynes RO, Freeman GJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L, Weissleder R, Pittet MJ. Immunogenic chemotherapy sensitizes tumors to checkpoint blockade therapy. Immunity. 2016;44(2):343–54.
- Pol J, Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Castoldi F, Eggermont A, Cremer I, Sautès-Fridman C, Fucikova J, Galon J, Spisek R, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi

L. Trial watch: immunogenic cell death inducers for anticancer chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(4):e1008866.

- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- 53. Vacchelli E, Bloy N, Aranda F, Buqué A, Cremer I, Demaria S, Eggermont A, Formenti SC, Fridman WH, Fucikova J, Galon J, Spisek R, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Trial watch: immunotherapy plus radiation therapy for oncological indications. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5(9):e1214790.
- 54. Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Pilla L, Santinami M, Ferrucci PF, Giannarelli D, Marasco A, Rivoltini L, Simeone E, Nicoletti SV, Fonsatti E, Annesi D, Queirolo P, Testori A, Ridolfi R, Parmiani G, Maio M. Ipilimumab and fotemustine in patients with advanced melanoma (NIBIT-M1): an open-label, single-arm phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(9):879–86.
- 55. Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Queirolo P, Pilla L, Ridolfi R, Santinami M, Testori A, Simeone E, Guidoboni M, Maurichi A, Orgiano L, Spadola G, Del Vecchio M, Danielli R, Calabrò L, Annesi D, Giannarelli D, Maccalli C, Fonsatti E, Parmiani G, Maio M. Three-year follow-up of advanced melanoma patients who received ipilimumab plus fotemustine in the Italian network for tumor biotherapy (NIBIT)-M1 phase II study. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(4):798–803.
- 56. Jamal R, Belanger K, Friedmann JE, et al. A randomized phase II study of ipilimumab (IPI) with carboplatin and paclitaxel (CP) in patients with unresectable stage III or IV metastatic melanoma (MM). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(5s):9066.
- Hodi FS, Lawrence D, Lezcano C, et al. Bevacizumab plus ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:632–42.
- Prieto PA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. CTLA-4 blockade with ipilimumab: long-term follow-up of 177 patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:2039–47.
- 59. Tarhini AA, Cherian J, Moschos SJ, et al. Safety and efficacy of combination immunotherapy with interferon alfa-2b and tremelimumab in patients with stage IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(3):322–8.
- 60. Brohl AS, Khushalani NI, Eroglu Z, Markowitz J, Thapa R, Chen YA, Kudchadkar R, Weber JS. A phase IB study of ipilimumab with peginterferon alfa-2b in patients with unresectable melanoma. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:85.
- Hodi FS, Lee S, McDermott DF, et al. Ipilimumab plus sargramostim vs ipilimumab alone for treatment of metastatic melanoma: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;312:1744–53.
- Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Obrist F, Eggermont A, Galon J, Cremer I, et al. Trial watch: Immunostimulatory cytokines in cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e29030.

- 63. Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, Delman KA, Spitler LE, Puzanov I, Agarwala SS, Milhem M, Cranmer L, Curti B, Lewis K, Ross M, Guthrie T, Linette GP, Daniels GA, Harrington K, Middleton MR, Miller WH Jr, Zager JS, Ye Y, Yao B, Li A, Doleman S, Vander Walde A, Gansert J, Coffin RS. Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(25):2780–8.
- 64. Puzanov I, Milhem MM, Minor D, Hamid O, Li A, Chen L, Chastain M, Gorski KS, Anderson A, Chou J, Kaufman HL, Andtbacka RH. Talimogene laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab in previously untreated, unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(22):2619–26.
- Ribas A, Hodi FS, Callahan M, Konto C, Wolchok J. Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1365–6.
- 66. Puzanov I, Callahan ML, Linette GP, et al. Phase 1 study of the BRAF inhibitor dabrafenib (D) with or without the MEK inhibitor trametinib (T) in combination with ipilimumab (Ipi) for V600E/K mutation– positive unresectable or metastatic melanoma (MM). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(Suppl):2511.
- 67. Hu-Lieskovan S, Mok S, Homet Moreno B, Tsoi J, Robert L, Goedert L, Pinheiro EM, Koya RC, Graeber TG, Comin-Anduix B, Ribas A. Improved antitumor activity of immunotherapy with BRAF and MEK inhibitors in BRAF(V600E) melanoma. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(279):279ra41.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQM, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2455–65.
- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):134–44.
- Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott DF, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1020–30.
- 72. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation.
- Robert C, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, et al. Antiprogrammed-death-receptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: a randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet. 2014;384:1109–16.
- 74. Ribas A, Puzanov I, Dummer R, Schadendorf D, Hamid O, Robert C, Hodi FS, Schachter J, Pavlick AC, Lewis KD, Cranmer LD, Blank CU, O'Day SJ, Ascierto PA, Salama AK, Margolin KA, Loquai C, Eigentler TK, Gangadhar TC, Carlino MS, Agarwala SS, Moschos SJ, Sosman JA, Goldinger SM, Shapira-Frommer R, Gonzalez R, Kirkwood JM, Wolchok JD, Eggermont A, Li XN, Zhou W, Zernhelt AM, Lis J,

Ebbinghaus S, Kang SP, Daud A. Pembrolizumab versus investigator-choice chemotherapy for ipilimumab-refractory melanoma (KEYNOTE-002): a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(8):908–18.

- 75. Ribas A, Hamid O, Daud A, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Kefford R, Joshua AM, Patnaik A, Hwu WJ, Weber JS, Gangadhar TC, Hersey P, Dronca R, Joseph RW, Zarour H, Chmielowski B, Lawrence DP, Algazi A, Rizvi NA, Hoffner B, Mateus C, Gergich K, Lindia JA, Giannotti M, Li XN, Ebbinghaus S, Kang SP, Robert C. Association of pembrolizumab with tumor response and survival among patients with advanced melanoma. JAMA. 2016;315(15):1600–9.
- 76. Daud AI, Wolchok JD, Robert C, Hwu WJ, Weber JS, Ribas A, Hodi FS, Joshua AM, Kefford R, Hersey P, Joseph R, Gangadhar TC, Dronca R, Patnaik A, Zarour H, Roach C, Toland G, Lunceford JK, Li XN, Emancipator K, Dolled-Filhart M, Kang SP, Ebbinghaus S, Hamid O. Programmed death-ligand 1 expression and response to the anti-programmed death 1 antibody pembrolizumab in melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(34):4102–9.
- 77. Weber JS, Gibney G, Sullivan RJ, Sosman JA, Slingluff CL Jr, Lawrence DP, Logan TF, Schuchter LM, Nair S, Fecher L, Buchbinder EI, Berghorn E, Ruisi M, Kong G, Jiang J, Horak C, Hodi FS. Sequential administration of nivolumab and ipilimumab with a planned switch in patients with advanced melanoma (CheckMate 064): an open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(7):943–55.
- Garbe C, Peris K, Hauschild A, Saiag P, Middleton M, Bastholt L, Grob JJ, Malvehy J, Newton-Bishop J, Stratigos AJ, Pehamberger H, Eggermont AM, European Dermatology Forum (EDF); European Association of Dermato-Oncology (EADO); European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC). Diagnosis and treatment of melanoma. European consensus-based interdisciplinary guideline – update 2016. Eur J Cancer. 2016;63:201–17.
- 79. Hofmann L, Forschner A, Loquai C, Goldinger SM, Zimmer L, Ugurel S, Schmidgen MI, Gutzmer R, Utikal JS, Göppner D, Hassel JC, Meier F, Tietze JK, Thomas I, Weishaupt C, Leverkus M, Wahl R, Dietrich U, Garbe C, Kirchberger MC, Eigentler T, Berking C, Gesierich A, Krackhardt AM, Schadendorf D, Schuler G, Dummer R, Heinzerling LM. Cutaneous, gastrointestinal, hepatic, endocrine, and renal side-effects of anti-PD-1 therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2016;60:190–209.
- Zimmer L, Goldinger SM, Hofmann L, Loquai C, Ugurel S, Thomas I, Schmidgen MI, Gutzmer R, Utikal JS, Göppner D, Hassel JC, Meier F, Tietze JK, Forschner A, Weishaupt C, Leverkus M, Wahl

R, Dietrich U, Garbe C, Kirchberger MC, Eigentler T, Berking C, Gesierich A, Krackhardt AM, Schadendorf D, Schuler G, Dummer R, Heinzerling LM. Neurological, respiratory, musculoskeletal, cardiac and ocular side-effects of anti-PD-1 therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2016;60:210–25.

- 81. Weber JS, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Topalian SL, Schadendorf D, Larkin J, Sznol M, Long GV, Li H, Waxman IM, Jiang J, Robert C. Safety profile of nivolumab monotherapy: a pooled analysis of patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(7):785–92.
- 82. Schadendorf D, Dummer R, Hauschild A, Robert C, Hamid O, Daud A, van den Eertwegh A, Cranmer L, O'Day S, Puzanov I, Schachter J, Blank C, Salama A, Loquai C, Mehnert JM, Hille D, Ebbinghaus S, Kang SP, Zhou W, Ribas A. Health-related quality of life in the randomised KEYNOTE-002 study of pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy in patients with ipilimumab-refractory melanoma. Eur J Cancer. 2016;67:46–54.
- 83. Long GV, Atkinson V, Ascierto PA, Robert C, Hassel JC, Rutkowski P, Savage KJ, Taylor F, Coon C, Gilloteau I, Dastani HB, Waxman IM. Abernethy AP Effect of nivolumab on health-related quality of life in patients with treatment-naïve advanced melanoma: results from the phase III CheckMate 066 study. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(10):1940–6.
- 84. Champiat S, Lambotte O, Barreau E, Belkhir R, Berdelou A, Carbonnel F, Cauquil C, Chanson P, Collins M, Durrbach A, Ederhy S, Feuillet S, François H, Lazarovici J, Le Pavec J, De Martin E, Mateus C, Michot JM, Samuel D, Soria JC, Robert C, Eggermont A, Marabelle A. Management of immune checkpoint blockade dysimmune toxicities: a collaborative position paper. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(4):559–74.
- 85. Boutros C, Tarhini A, Routier E, Lambotte O, Ladurie FL, Carbonnel F, Izzeddine H, Marabelle A, Champiat S, Berdelou A, Lanoy E, Texier M, Libenciuc C, Eggermont AM, Soria JC, Mateus C, Robert C. Safety profiles of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies alone and in combination. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(8):473–86.
- Eggermont AM, Maio M, Robert C. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in melanoma provide the cornerstones for curative therapies. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(3):429–35.
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:122–33.
- Incyte. Incyte and Merck to advance clinical development program investigating the combination of epacadostat with KEYTRUDA® (pembrolizumab). January 9, 2017. http://www.incyte.com/media/recentnews.aspx.

Immunotherapy for Prostate Cancer: An Evolving Landscape

35

Wendy Mao and Charles G. Drake

Contents

35.1	Introduction	594
35.2	Immune Checkpoint Blockade	595
35.3	Cancer Vaccines	599
35.4	Adoptive Cellular Therapy	602
35.5	Antitumor Antibodies	602
35.6	Summary	603
References		604

This chapter discusses the basic principles behind agents aimed at treating prostate tumors with immunotherapy, including a discussion of ongoing clinical trials.

W. Mao • C.G. Drake (⊠) Herbert Irving Comprehensive Cancer Center, Columbia University, 177 Fort Washington Avenue, Milstein 4GN-435, New York, NY 10032, USA e-mail: cgd2139@cumc.columbia.edu

Abbreviations

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated
	cytotoxicity
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
BiTE	Bispecific T cell engager
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated
	protein 4
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP)
	synthase
DART	Dual-affinity retargeting
DC	Dendritic cell
FcγRIII	Fc gamma receptor III
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-
	stimulating factor
IMPACT	Immunotherapy for prostate adeno-
	carcinoma treatment
LLO	Listeria lysin O
Lm	Listeria monocytogenes
mCRPC	Metastatic castration-resistant pros-
	tate cancer
MMR	Mismatch repair
MSI	Microsatellite instability
NK	Natural killer
OS	Overall survival
PAP	Prostatic acid phosphatase
PSMA	Prostate-specific membrane antigen
PSA	Prostate-specific antigen
PARP	Poly-ADP-ribose polymerase
PD-L1	Programmed death-ligand 1
PD-1	Programmed Cell Death Protein 1
PFS	Progression-free survival

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_35

RT	Radiotherapy
TCR	T cell receptor
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophage
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TLR9	Toll-like receptor 9
Treg	T regulatory (cell)

35.1 Introduction

Worldwide, prostate cancer is the second most common cancer in males, with approximately 1.1 million diagnoses and 307,000 deaths in 2012 [1]. The disease occurs mostly in older men, i.e., those past the age of 65. For clinically localized disease, standard treatment regimens include radical prostatectomy and/or radiation therapy. Androgen ablation, including bilateral orchiectomy or the administration of either LHRH agonists or antiandrogens, decreases tumor burden and improves median progression-free survival by 12-18 months. Despite its initial efficacy in controlling disease, most patients on hormonal therapy will eventually progress to castrationresistant prostate cancer (CRPC) (Fig. 35.1), and about 70% of patients will develop metastases,

which are localized to the bone in 80–90% of cases [2]. To date, there is no curative treatment for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), although a number of treatments prolong survival and provide palliative benefit. First-line treatments for mCRPC include the antiandrogens enzalutamide and abiraterone acetate, as well as chemotherapeutic agents such as docetaxel. The prognosis for patients with mCRPC is variable, with median overall survival (OS) ranging from approximately 16–34 months [3–5] (Fig. 35.1).

In the past several years, immunotherapy has emerged as a promising part of the treatment armamentarium for a variety of solid tumors. In 2010, anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Princeton, NJ) was approved by the US FDA for the treatment of late-stage melanoma after a pivotal randomized phase III trial showed that CTLA-4 blockade increased overall survival [6]. Anti-CTLA-4 treatment also showed activity in renal cell and non-small cell lung carcinoma, but it is not approved by regulatory agencies for either of those indications. More recently, agents that block the PD-1/PD-L1 axis were shown to prolong survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma, kidney



Fig. 35.1 Disease progression of prostate cancer from initial diagnosis until death. Local therapies such as surgery and radiation can control initial disease, and hormone-naïve tumors see clinical benefit from antiandrogen therapy. However, prognosis for advanced metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer is poor, and few options exist for treatment
cancer, head and neck cancer, and others-leading to a barrage of regulatory approvals [7]. Across multiple tumor types, objective responses from PD-1/PD-L1 blockade appear to be more durable than those associated with chemotherapy [8]. Additionally, there is one vaccine that is approved for use in a treatment setting for mCRPC—the active cellular therapy Sipuleucel-T (Dendreon, Seattle, WA) [9]. Another notable immunotherapy strategy in late-stage development is adoptive cellular therapy, most notably CAR T cells, which have shown remarkable activity in certain leukemias and lymphomas [10, 11]. T cells engineered to express tumor-specific T cell receptors (TCR) have shown clear activity in melanoma patients [12], although adoptive cellular therapy still faces many challenges in the field of solid tumors [13].

Despite these successes, immunotherapy for advanced prostate cancer still has many challenges to overcome, including lack of tumor immunogenicity as well as the major obstacle that prostate cancer is poorly infiltrated as compared to some of the more responsive tumor types for which agents have been approved (Fig. 35.2). These daunting properties of the prostate cancer tumor microenvironment (TME) may make it a difficult tumor to treat with immunotherapy, and

treatments that show activity in other tumor types fail to elicit responses in mCRPC. In terms of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 directed therapies, one hypothesis for this lack of objective response in the clinic is the relative paucity of PD-L1 expression on prostate tumors [14], which may explain why blocking antibodies are generally ineffective as a monotherapy. One potential exception to this lack of immunogenicity is in the context of tumors with microsatellite instability (MSI). Across a wide variety of diseases, tumors with MSI exhibit a more robust response to immunotherapy [15]. Unfortunately, true MSI in mCRPC is quite rare, occurring in less than 5% of patients [16]. Combination immunotherapy with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 is active in several tumor types [17, 18], and combination treatment was recently approved by the US FDA for the treatment of melanoma [19].

35.2 Immune Checkpoint Blockade

As highlighted above, immune checkpoint blockade showed impressive activity in several types of solid tumors. During a typical immune response, activated cytotoxic T cells upregulate PD-1, which binds to ligands such as PD-L1 and PD-L2



Prostate Tumors Are Sparsely Infiltrated

Prostatic Adenocarcinoma

Head & Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma

Fig. 35.2 CD8+ T cell infiltration patterns in prostate cancer tissue versus head and neck cancer. IHC staining for CD8 shows poor infiltration of prostate tumor by cytotoxic T Cells as compared to head and neck tumor

(Fig. 35.2) to inhibit T cell proliferation and effector function. This mechanism likely evolved to prevent uncontrolled systemic responses, which could lead to autoimmunity. However, many tumors have coopted this pathway to evade immune recognition by upregulating immune checkpoint ligands, such as PD-L1 either on the tumor cells themselves or on the myeloid cells that infiltrate the tumor microenvironment. So, interfering with the PD-1/ PD-L1 interaction can potentially enhance an antitumor response. One further consequence of this mechanism is that PD-L1 expression on tumor cells or on the immune cells infiltrating tumors could serve as a possible biomarker for tumors that would be more sensitive to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. Extensive evaluation of this hypothesis across a number of trials resulted in sometimes conflicting results. For example, in the pivotal trial of PD-1 blockade in kidney cancer, the PD-L1 status of the tumor showed no association with response [20]. By contrast, the anti-PD-1 agent pembrolizumab (Merck, Kenilworth, NJ) is only US FDA approved for first-line therapy in non-small cell lung cancer but only in patients with PD-L1-positive tumors [21]. With a few exceptions [22], staining of mCRPC specimens has shown them to be mostly negative for PD-L1 [14, 23]. During the second (phase Ib) trial of anti-PD-1 (nivolumab, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Princeton, NJ), none of the 17 mCRPC patients enrolled showed an objective response, and neither of the two tumor specimens taken from that group was PD-L1 positive [23]. This is not particularly surprising, as prostate cancer is typically characterized by low levels of inflammation (Fig. 35.2), a lack of PD-L1 expression, and low mutational burden [24, 25], all of which may make it difficult to target with immunotherapy.

Similar to PD-1, CTLA-4 is another immune checkpoint molecule expressed by T cells upon activation, whose engagement inhibits proliferation and activity. It binds to its ligands, CD80/ B7-1 and CD86/B7-2 (Fig. 35.3), with higher affinity than the T cell costimulatory molecule CD28 and thus is able to outcompete CD28 for binding. It is important for maintaining immune tolerance, as CTLA-4 knockout mice quickly succumb to lethal lymphocytic inflammation [26]. However, it also plays a role in immune evasion by tumors, and in early studies, tumorbearing mice treated with anti-CTLA-4 showed a significant antitumor effect [27]. Two separate clinical trials in late-stage melanoma also showed positive results, with an increased median overall survival [28]. Interestingly, emerging data show that CTLA-4 is likely more highly expressed on tumor-infiltrating Treg than on CD8 T cells, suggesting the possibility that blockade exerts its antitumor effect through inhibiting the function of tumor-infiltrating T regulatory (Treg) [29], which serve to inhibit T cell responses.



Fig. 35.3 Activating and inhibitory processes compete to mediate tumor response. Antigen-presenting cells can activate CD8 T cells and provide additional costimulation.

Tumor cells upregulate inhibitory molecules to dampen CD8 activation and cytotoxic response. Chronic exposure to inhibitory ligands leads to CD8 exhaustion

Early studies of anti-CTLA-4 in mCRPC suggested some degree of activity, with approximately 10-15% of patients experiencing a drop in PSA, and a few objective responses [30]. These data, as well as the fact that few other therapies for advanced mCRPC were available at the time, provided enthusiasm for definitively testing anti-CTLA-4 in men with mCRPC. Two trials were launched, the first of which compared low-dose radiotherapy (RT) plus anti-CTLA-4 to placebo in men who progressed on or after docetaxel chemotherapy [31]. Although the trial failed to meet its primary endpoint of overall survival, there was a small increased in progression-free survival in the treatment arm. This trial was unique among prostate cancer immunotherapy trials, in that it did not exclude men with visceral metastases. This is important, because such patients have a poor overall prognosis [32]. Hypothesisgenerating, retrospective analyses showed that patients with visceral metastases appeared to derive no benefit from immunotherapy, whereas men with no visceral metastases treated with anti-CTLA-4 approximately had an OS 4.1 months lower than those in the placebo arm (14.4 vs. 10.3 months) [31]. As above, visceral metastases have been correlated with a worse disease prognosis in mCRPC [32], although secondline hormonal therapies such as abiraterone are active in men with and without visceral metastases [33]. It is possible that metastasis to niches such as the liver fundamentally changes the antiapoptotic, angiogenic, and immunogenic properties of cells which make them more resistant to immunotherapies [33]. A second phase III trial enrolled men with earlier-stage mCRPC (prechemotherapy) and specifically excluded those with visceral metastases. Unfortunately, that trial also failed to reach its OS endpoint [34]. Taken together, the lack of responses in the late phase IB trial of anti-PD-1 and the two failed phase III trials of anti-CTLA-4 provides evidence that metastatic prostate cancer is a relatively nonimmunogenic tumor type and that either combination approaches or other agents may be required.

Two pieces of data suggest that later-stage mCRPC that progresses on enzalutamide might have unique immunological properties. The first of these was a case report of a patient progressing enzalutamide on who was treated with Sipuleucel-T and experienced an unusual complete response [35]. Perhaps more relevant are recent data showing that enzalutamide-resistant prostate cancer cell lines appear to upregulate PD-L1, suggesting that enzalutamide-resistant prostate cancer patients might respond to PD-1/ PD-L1 blockade [36]. Based on those data, Graff et al. launched an interesting trial (NCT02312557) in which men with mCRPC who initially responded to enzalutamide and subsequently progressed were treated by adding the anti-PD-1 antibody pembrolizumab to ongoing enzalutamide. Early data on this trial were recently published and showed that three of the first ten patients had objective responses to pembrolizumab [37]. Additional observations included one patient with progression-free survival at up to 55 weeks, resolution of cancer-related pain, and serum PSA levels falling to <0.1 ng/ mL. Interestingly, one of the responders also had microsatellite instability positive disease, an indication of defects in DNA mismatch repair (MMR). Previous findings showed that PD-1 blockade has widespread activity in patients with MMR deficiencies [38], possibly because of increased expression of neoantigens serving as targets for a wider repertoire of lymphocytes. Although the incidence of mismatch repair defects in prostate cancer is thought to be relatively low, one study found that in advanced prostate cancer cases, 7 out of 60 men had tumors with MMR defects and microsatellite instability [16]. Specifically, mutations in DNA repair genes MSH2 and MSH6 were found to be prevalent, possibly arising from gene rearrangements generated by androgen receptor itself [16]. Future clinical trials and treatment regimens will take into account the mutational status and nature of mutation of the patient's tumor, with the notion that this could possibly serve as a predictive biomarker for PD-1/PD-L1 blockade-based immunotherapy.

Several phase II and III clinical trials of immune checkpoint blockade, either alone or in combinations, are currently underway (Table 35.1). One particularly notable trial is a phase III trial of the

Checkpoint inhibitor	Setting	In combination with	Phase	NCT ID
Pembrolizumab	Enzalutamide progressors		Phase II	NCT02312557
Pembrolizumab	Previous chemotherapy		Phase II	NCT02787005
Pembrolizumab	Previous docetaxel, enzalutamide, or abiraterone	Olaparib, docetaxel + prednisone, or enzalutamide	Phase III	NCT02861573
Pembrolizumab	mCRPC	Cryosurgery	Phase II	NCT02489357
Pembrolizumab	mCRPC	ADXS31-142 (listeria-PSA)	Phase II	NCT02325557
Pembrolizumab	mCRPC	MVI-816 (PAP DNA Vac)	Phase II	NCT02499835
Pembrolizumab	Radiation and ADT	SD-101 (TLR9 agonist)	Phase II	NCT03007732
Atezolizumab	Androgen pathway inhibitor progressor	R-223-D	Phase I	NCT02814669
Atezolizumab	Docetaxel/cabazitaxel naïve	Sipuleucel-T	Phase I	NCT03024216
Atezolizumab	Abiraterone progressors, taxane ineligibility/ progressors	Enzalutamide	Phase III	NCT03016312
Nivolumab	Mismatch repair-deficient tumors		Phase II	NCT03040791
Nivolumab	AR-V7-expressing tumors	Ipilimumab	Phase II	NCT02601014
Nivolumab	mCRPC	Ipilimumab	Phase II	NCT02985957
Nivolumab	mCRPC	Prostvac and/or ipilimumab	Phase I/II	NCT02933255
Ipilimumab	Localized PC	Prostvac	Phase II	NCT02506114

Table 35.1 Immune checkpoint blockade trials in prostate cancer

anti-PD-L1 antibody atezolizumab (Genentech, San Francisco, CA). In this trial, men progressing on first-line abiraterone acetate will be randomized 1:1 to treatment with the second-generation antiandrogen enzalutamide either alone or in combination with atezolizumab. The primary endpoint is overall survival. A second trial of note is a fairly large single-armed phase II trial of anti-PD-1 (pembrolizumab) in mCRPC patients previously treated with chemotherapy (Table 35.1), with a primary endpoint of safety and objective response rate. In a more exploratory approach, anti-PD-1 (pembrolizumab) is currently being combined with cryosurgery to induce the release of possible tumor antigens and activate a greater spectrum of CD8+ T cells in a phase II trial (Table 35.1).

As highlighted above, recent studies suggested the possibility that PD-1 and CTLA-4 might be expressed on different cell types in the tumor microenvironment, with CTLA-4 being predominantly expressed on Tregs and PD-1 being strongly expressed on CD8 T cells [39, 40]. Blockade of CTLA-4 inhibits suppressive tumorinfiltrating Treg function [41], while PD-1 blockade enhances CD8 functionality and may also

prevent the induction of a tolerogenic program during antigen encounter [42]. These data support the concept that combined blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 could show synergistic efficacy in a tumor setting, as was the case in animal models [43, 44]. Clinical data on combined PD-1/ CTLA-4 blockade were first reported in advanced melanoma [45] with 65% of patients exhibiting evidence of clinical activity, including a number of responses that occurred quite rapidly, i.e., within the first 8 weeks of treatment. The combination was eventually US FDA approved for melanoma and is currently being evaluated in the first-line setting in NSCLC [18] and in kidney cancer [46]. Interestingly, the phase III trial in melanoma showed that the combination therapy was effective even in patients with PD-L1negative tumors [19], which is of particular interest in the context of prostate cancer, which typically expresses low levels of PD-L1 [14]. Based on these encouraging results, the Hopkins group recently completed enrollment of a small study of the combination in men with mCRPC who were biomarker selected for resistance to antiandrogens (Table 35.1). The primary endpoint of this trial is safety and tolerability, as well as the rate of objective responses. Additionally, checkpoint blockade can be combined with nonimmune agents. Some prostate tumors, especially those with mutations in BRCA1/BRCA2, show a dependence on poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) [47], and a phase I study is underway combining an anti-PD-L1 antibody (durvalumab, MedImmune, Gaithersburg, MD) with olaparib (AstraZeneca, Wilmington, DE), a PARP inhibitor (Table 35.1).

35.3 Cancer Vaccines

Unlike immune checkpoint blockade, which functions by down-modulating inhibitory immune signaling to augment an existing tumor response, vaccines seek to prime and induce an antitumor immune response. Vaccines function at the level of antigen-presenting cells, i.e., dendritic cells (DCs), which uptake and process antigens before presenting them to cytotoxic CD8 T cells along with costimulatory molecules that enhance the CD8 response. These T cell antigens are small peptide fragments presented in the context of MHC molecules, and when recognized by a cognate T cell receptor (TCR) on a CD8 T cell, activates the T cell. Activated CD8 T cells proliferate, traffic widely, and are capable of specifically lysing targets that express their cognate peptide/ MHC ligand. Dendritic cells are the most potent antigen-presenting cells (APC) due to their ability not only to prime naïve T cells but also due to their ability to respond to innate immune signaling and thus orchestrate an immune response. So, in general a cancer vaccine consists of an adjuvant, designed to activate dendritic cells and prime them for presenting antigen and costimulation to T cells, as well as a tumor-specific peptide/ protein against which the immune response is mounted [6]. Prostate cancer is an especially good candidate for vaccines due to its expression of fairly specific tumor antigens such as PAP, prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA), and prostate-specific antigen (PSA), all of which are expressed relatively more commonly in the prostate [48]. This restricted expression theoretically

lowers the risk for unintended targeting of other tissues if T cells are robustly activated via vaccination. In addition, men with metastatic disease typically have undergone primary treatment with either radiation therapy or with surgery; thus the only source of prostate antigens in such men is likely to be the tumor itself.

The only US FDA-approved vaccine for the treatment of a solid tumor is Sipuleucel-T, a dendritic cell vaccine generated from patient-derived cells. To prepare this product, patient monocytes are isolated and co-cultured with a fusion protein consisting of PAP and GM-CSF, which induces the maturation of monocytes to dendritic cells, activates the dendritic cells, and provides PAP as a target antigen [49]. Upon reinfusion of these primed DCs into the patient, the antigen is presented on MHC I and II in order to potentially induce a cytotoxic response as well as aid in the development of a significant humoral effect. The Immunotherapy for Prostate Adenocarcinoma (IMPACT) study showed Treatment that Sipuleucel-T-treated patients derived a 4.1 month average OS benefit, with an OS of 25.8 months for treated patients versus 21.7 months for those receiving placebo. However, only 2.6% of treated patients had a PSA decrease of more than 50% [9]. In these patients, not only was there a significant increase in serum antibodies against the primary antigen, PAP, but also antibodies against "secondary antigens" such as LGALS3 and ECE1 which are known to be expressed in prostate tumors [50]. This phenomenon, known as "antigen spread," likely occurs when immunemediated attack of cancer cells leads to the release of additional antigens in a proimmunogenic context [51].

Although Sipuleucel-T was efficacious in phase III trials, the only other vaccine to complete phase III testing in prostate cancer was less encouraging. This reagent, GVAX prostate, is a whole-cell vaccine which consists of two tumor cell lines—PC3 and LnCaP—transduced with a recombinant viral vector to secrete GM-CSF. A randomized phase III trial, comparing GVAX prostate to chemotherapy in men with mCPRC, completed enrollment of approximately 600 patients in 2006. It should be noted that this trial,

unlike the trials of Sipuleucel-T or the ongoing phase III trial of Prostvac-VF (see below), used an active comparator arm—docetaxel chemotherapy—which has clear clinical benefit in mCRPC [52]. The phase III trial for GVAX prostate in mCRPC was terminated early due to a futility analysis showing less than a 30% chance that the target endpoint would be met [53]. Nonetheless, GVAX is now being tested in combination with other treatments, including in a neoadjuvant setting in combination with hormonal therapy in phase II (Table 35.2).

Another vaccine being developed for prostate cancer is Prostvac-VF (Bavarian Nordic, Morrisville, NC), a two-part viral vaccine consisting of a prime (Prostvac-V) and boost antigen (Prostvac-F), targeting the PSA (Table 35.2). In addition, the vaccine includes TRICOMTM, which is a triad of costimulatory molecules (B7.1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3), designed to increase APC presentation of the target antigen. A phase II trial with Prostvac-VF did not meet the prespecified study endpoint of enhancing progression-free survival (PFS), but a post hoc analysis showed that the vaccine appeared to improve overall survival by 8.5 months, from 16.6 to 25.1 months, at a 3-year follow-up [54]. A phase III trial of Prostvac with GM-CSF in mCRPC patients is currently underway (Table 35.2). This survival trial randomized 1200 men with chemotherapy-naïve mCRPC 1:1:1 to either placebo, Prostvac-VF plus intradermal GM-CSF, Prostvac-VF or plus placebo (NCT01322490). Patients with visceral disease were excluded. Enrollment has completed, but final results are not yet available. A number of trials combining Prostvac with anti-CTLA-4 (as well as other agents) are currently ongoing, and preliminary results indicate a decline in PSA levels in 14 out of 30 patients [55].

DNA vaccines are another technology undergoing phase I and II testing in prostate cancer. In general, these reagents consist of a bacterial plasmid encoding target antigens; when administered intramuscularly to a patient, encoded proteins are expressed using host cell transcriptional machinery. These antigens are then processed and presented by dendritic cells, potentially leading to the mobilization and activation of lymphocytes. Additionally, the hypomethylated CpG motifs on the bacterial plasmid may activate innate sensors of pathogens, such as TLR9 and cGAS, on multiple immune cell types including DCs, B cells, and natural killer (NK) cells [56]. Signaling cascades downstream of these sensors lead to pro-inflammatory effects, including production of GM-CSF to induce maturation of monocytes, as well as type I interferons which enhance B and T cell activation.

As discussed above, prostate cancer cells express a shared set of tumor antigens, so they are reasonable candidates for DNA vaccines. Several vaccines of this type have already been developed for prostate cancer and are in various stages of clinical trials. The furthest along of these, MVI-816 (Madison Vaccines Incorporated, Madison, WI), is a DNA vaccine encoding PAP, which is undergoing testing in a phase II trial. In this trial, men with nonmetastatic prostate cancer are being randomized to receive either MVI-816 plus GM-CSF or GM-CSF alone, with the primary endpoint being metastasis-free survival (NCT01341652). Since the subset of tumorspecific T cells in patients with advanced cancer may express high levels of PD-1, DNA vaccines alone may not be as effective in activating these exhausted cells. Thus, MVI-816 is also being tested in combination with pembrolizumab in a phase I trial for men with mCRPC (Table 35.1), with primary endpoints of objective response rate, progression-free survival rate, adverse event incidence, time to radiographic progression, and PSA response rate.

A second DNA vaccine approach of note targets PSMA and PSA. This vaccine approach is unique in that it doesn't encode native proteins—rather, it encodes slightly modified versions which are more xenogeneic in nature, in an effort to increase immunity to the natural antigen. This DNA vaccine, INO-5150 (Inovio, Plymouth Meeting, PA), is in a phase I clinical trial either as a monotherapy or in conjunction with their cytokine adjuvant IL-12 plasmid INO-9012 with primary outcomes of safety and antigen-specific response (Table 35.2). The trial targets early-stage patients, i.e., those with a rising PSA postprimary surgery or radiation therapy.

Name	Туре	Antigen target(s)	Phase	NCT ID
Sipuleucel-T	Cell-based	PAP	FDA approved	
Sipuleucel-T + radium-223	Cell-based	PAP	Phase II	NCT02463799
Sipuleucel-T + early/late ipilimumab	Cell-based	PAP and CTLA-4	Phase II	NCT01804465
GVAX prostate + cyclophosphamide	Cell-based	PC3 and LNCaP antigens	Phase II	NCT01696877
Prostvac	Viral	PSA	Phase III	NCT02649439
Prostvac + enzalutamide	Viral	PSA	Phase II	NCT01867333
ChAdOx1.5T4-MVA.5T4	Viral/protein	5T4	Phase I	NCT02390063
MVI-816	DNA	PAP	Phase II	NCT00849121
MVI-118	DNA	Androgen receptor (AR)	Phase I	NCT02411786
INO-5150	DNA	PSA + PSMA	Phase I	NCT02514213
ProstAtak	Viral	Oncolytic adenovirus	Phase III	NCT01436968
CureVac	mRNA	PSA, PSMA, PSCA, and STEAP	Phase II	NCT00831467
ADU-741	Bacterial	PSMA, PAP, NKX3.1, and SSX-2	Phase I	NCT02625857
ADXS-PSA	Bacterial	PSA	Phase I/II	NCT02325557

Table 35.2 Selected prostate cancer vaccines in clinical trials

Enrollment has been completed, and immune monitoring data are awaited.

One more direct approach to vaccination involves intratumoral injection of an immunogenic construct to increase immunogenicity of in situ tumors. One such vaccine, ProstAtak (Advantagene Inc., Auburndale, MA), is in latestage (phase III) development for prostate cancer (Table 35.2). This is a viral vaccine consisting of an attenuated adenovirus which introduces a herpes-derived thymidine kinase (tk) gene injected intratumorally, leading to its expression. This renders the cells vulnerable to valacyclovir (GlaxoSmithKline, Middlesex, UK), a standard antiviral drug. Drug administration results in the death of infected cells with accompanying release of tumor antigens. Although there is one intratumoral vaccine that is FDA approved for melanoma, repeated intratumoral injection into the prostate gland does add a level of complexity not present with other approaches.

Another vaccine method involves inactivating tumor cells with high hydrostatic pressure (HHP), which preserves their antigenicity. When dendritic cells were exposed to these HHP-inactivated cells in a mouse model, production of IL-12 and expression of maturation markers increased as compared to DCs exposed to irradiationinactivated tumor cells [57]. Additionally, when combined with docetaxel in the poorly immunogenic mouse TRAMP-C2 tumor setting, the combinatorial treatment slowed tumor growth and increased survival [58]. An mRNA-based vaccine, CV9104 (CureVac, Tübingen, Germany), complexes immunostimulatory protamine with mRNA encoding PSA, PSMA, PSCA, and STEAP (Table 35.2). mRNA vaccines reduce the risk of genomic integration of constructs into the host genome, which is a concern with the use of DNA vaccines. Although initial phase I and IIa results were promising, the phase IIb trial failed to improve overall survival and did not improve progression-free survival versus placebo [59].

Inoculation with inactivated bacteria is among the most ancient forms of vaccination and has also been harnessed in the context of antitumor immunity. One especially interesting vaccine vector is the positive bacterium *Listeria monocytogenes* (Lm). Lm infects antigen-presenting cells directly, leading to the expression of encoded antigens and presentation on class I MHC. Thus, Lm-based vaccines can induce a strong innate and adaptive response [60]. Recombinant strains of Lm can be constructed to express foreign antigens, including tumor antigens. It should be noted that while unmodified Lm is toxic, the vaccines in the clinic include disparate methodologies to attenuate pathogenicity. One method involves the genetic knockout of the ActA and internalin B (InlB) genes, which facilitate cell-to-cell spread and liver homing, respectively [61]. Strains knocked out for ActA and InIB are approximately four logs less lethal, allowing increased dose levels with accompanying increases in antigenicity [62]. That approach has entered phase I testing in prostate cancer, with a live-attenuated double-deleted (LADD) vaccine strain ADU-741, (Aduro Biotech, Berkeley, CA) (Table 35.2). This vaccine strain is unique in that it encodes a total of four prostateassociated antigens-PSMA, PAP, the cancer testis antigen SSX2, and the prostate-associated transcription factor NKX3.1.

A second attenuation approach involves knockout of the listeria lysin O (LLO) gene, which prevents Lm from entering the host cell cytoplasm [63]. That approach (Advaxis, Princeton, NJ) has also entered the clinic in the form of a phase I/II trial in combination with the anti-PD-1 antibody pembrolizumab. Administration of Lm-based vaccines has been shown to decrease the number of regulatory T cells in the tumor environment [64], which impair T cell responses through immunosuppressive cytokines and inhibiting APC function. Additionally, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) also contribute to a highly suppressive tumor environment through production of similar anti-inflammatory cytokines; their numbers and suppressive capabilities were also reduced in models of Lm-based antitumor vaccines [65]. The natural immunostimulatory properties of listeria, along with its ability to be genetically manipulated, show much promise for the development of vaccines for advanced tumors with an established microenvironment, such as mCRPC.

35.4 Adoptive Cellular Therapy

Generalized antitumor treatments may not necessarily be effective in an individual patient, so efforts are underway to develop personalized treatments specific for each patient's tumor. Adoptive cellular therapy (ACT) is a technique in which patient cells, usually lymphocytes, are isolated and genetically manipulated before reinfusion into the patient. Genetic manipulations can involve transducing T cell receptor genes specific for a tumor antigen or introducing chimeric antibody receptors (CARs). CAR T cells express an antibody heavy and light chain linked to downstream activating complexes such as CD3- ζ , allowing them to become activated outside the context of the major histocompatibility complex while retaining specificity [66]. An ongoing phase I trial is examining the effects of CAR T cells with specific for PSMA in mCRPC patients, with safety and tolerability as the primary outcome (NCT01140373). In a relevant recent phase I/II trial, multiple myeloma patients were treated with NY-ESO-1-specific TCR-engineered T cells, with 70% of patients achieving near complete responses or complete responses [67]. This is important, because NY-ESO-1 is a common cancer testis antigen expressed in multiple tumor types [68], including prostate.

35.5 Antitumor Antibodies

Adoptive cellular therapy has the potential downside of providing cells that are relatively long lived, which present certain challenges in terms of long-term toxicity. Antibody-based therapies may offer the same specificity against tumor antigens but with the added benefit of a shorter half-life. The antitumor antibody with the greatest experience in prostate cancer is J591, an anti-PSMA antibody [69]. As a human IgG1 antibody [70], naked or unmodified J591 was hoped to induce antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), a cellular process whereby cytotoxic cells, such as macrophages and NK cells, are activated through an interac-

tion between the Fc portion of an antibody and the Fc receptor expressed on their cell surface. In humans, this usually occurs via antibodies of the IgG1 subtype via the interaction with Fc gamma receptor III (FcyRIII) on the surface of NK cells. An uncontrolled (single-armed) phase II trial of J591 and IL-2 in patients with recurrent prostate cancer showed the agent to be well tolerated and found that the survival of the treated cohort exceeded the Halabi-predicted survival, suggestive of a possible long-term survival benefit [71]. Additionally, J591 has also been tested in conjugation with a radioisotope in order to target radiotherapy to prostate tumor cells. A phase II trial of 177Lu-J591 found that eight patients experienced stable disease, with one patient experiencing a partial radiographic response. Additionally, longer survival correlated with higher doses of treatment [72]. Beyond its potential utility as a therapeutic reagent, the ability to conjugate radioisotopes to J591 also offers the ability to image tumors with excellent sensitivity and specificity [73].

A second antitumor antibody in development for prostate cancer targets B7-H3, which is highly expressed on primary tumors and which is markedly associated with a worse prognosis post-surgery [74]. A naked anti-B7-H3 antibody (MGA271, MacroGenics, Gaithersburg, MD) is in phase I development, either alone or in combination with pembrolizumab or ipilimumab. Preclinical studies of this reagent showed interesting responses, fueling enthusiasm for these trials [75].

One interesting approach to immunotherapy involves the use of engineered antibodies to target T cells to tumors. One class of agents like this includes a tumor-specific antibody portion (Fab) and a second portion that is specific for T cells (usually the Fab of anti-CD3). Mechanistically, these reagents are thought to function when the tumor-binding portion binds to its target and the anti-CD3 portion captures passing T cells in a TCR non-specific manner and localizes them to the tumor (Fig. 35.4). Engagement of the CD3 cell surface molecule by antibody may lead to T cell activation and downstream tumor cell death. In the case of prostate cancer, a dual-affinity Bispecific T-cell Engager (BiTE[™]) Antibodies



Fig. 35.4 Activation of T cells through BiTETM antibodies. Engagement of CD3 on T cell by a BiTETM or DARTTM antibody leads activation and cytotoxic activity of the T cell against tumor cell expressing antigen such as PAP, regardless of T cell TCR specificity. A BiTETM consists of a single polypeptide chain linker, whereas a DARTTM has two polypeptide chains and an interchain disulfide bond

retargeting (DARTTM) antibody (MGD009, MacroGenics, Rockville, MD) is in development. This agent targets B7-H3 and CD3, allowing it to traffic to tumor cells expressing B7-H3 and recruit T cells to the site and activate them regardless of antigen specificity (Fig. 35.4). A similar concept using a bispecific T cell engaging (BiTETM) antibody against PSMA and CD3, BAY2010112 (Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany), is also in phase I (NCT01723475) with primary outcomes of maximum tolerated dose and number of adverse events. Antibodies targeting other populations of immune cells also exist, such as AAT-007 (AskAt Inc., Nagoya, Japan), which is an EP4 antagonist in phase II for solid tumors (NCT02538432). EP4 blockade abrogates several suppressive functions of MDSCs, which normally diminish antitumor responses [76].

35.6 Summary

mCPRC is a deadly disease which is poorly infiltrated by immune cells and for which immunotherapy efforts have generally yielded mixed results. Therapies that are effective in other solid tumor types, such as the immune checkpoint inhibitors anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1, do not seem to be widely active as a monotherapy in advanced prostate cancer. While low expression of checkpoint ligands on prostate tumors may play an important role in mediating this lack of effectiveness, tumor-intrinsic factors such as a low mutational burden also play a likely role. Conversely, the notion that prostate cancer expresses several key tumor antigens restricted to the organ itself, including PSMA and PSA, may make it a good target for vaccines, which could potentially turn "cold" tumors "hot," and thus susceptible to immune checkpoint blockade.

The suppressive tumor microenvironment in mCRPC poses significant challenges for immunotherapy. Combinatorial treatments, which not only release the "brakes" of immune checkpoints but also improve antigen processing and presentation, may be required. In particular, it may prove necessary to harness the iate immune system through vaccines that toggle pathogensensing machinery to create a more inflammatory environment for enhancing activation and function of adaptive immunity. Antibodies can also block interactions required for sustaining the anti-inflammatory tumor environment, including suppressing the function and survival of MDSCs and TAMs. Taken together, these agents may induce a broad spectrum of activation and mobilization of the immune system against prostate tumors. In general, it seems increasingly likely that combinatorial regimens will be required to induce sufficient activity to be clinically meaningful in prostate cancer.

References

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC cancerbase No. 11 [internet]. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2013. http://globocan.iarc.fr. Accessed 02 Feb 2017.
- Bubendorf L, Schopfer A, Wagner U, Sauter G, Moch H, Willi N, Gasser TC, Mihatsch MJ. Metastatic

patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. Hum Pathol. 2000;31:578–83.

- Tenenholz TC, Shields C, Ramesh VR, Tercilla O, Hagan MP. Survival benefit for early hormone ablation in biochemically recurrent prostate cancer. Urol Oncol. 2007;25:101–9.
- 4. Ray ME, Thames HD, Levy LB, Horwitz EM, Kupelian PA, Martinez AA, Michalski JM, Pisansky TM, Shipley WU, Zelefsky MJ, Zietman AL, Kuban DA. PSA nadir predicts biochemical and distant failures after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a multi-institutional analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;64:1140–50.
- Amling CL. Biochemical recurrence after localized treatment. Urol Clin North Am. 2006;33:147–59.
- Drake CG, Lipson EJ, Brahmer JR. Breathing new life into immunotherapy: review of melanoma, lung and kidney cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11(1): 24–37.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(4):450–61.
- Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Targeting PD-1/PD-L1 interactions for cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(8):1223–5.
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(5):411–22.
- Hillerdal V, Essand M. Chimeric antigen receptorengineered T cells for the treatment of metastatic prostate cancer. BioDrugs. 2015;29(2):75–89.
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):725–33.
- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314(5796):126–9.
- Fousek K, Ahmed N. The evolution of T-cell therapies for solid malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(15):3384–92.
- Martin AM, Nirschl TR, Nirschl CJ, et al. Paucity of PD-L1 expression in prostate cancer: innate and adaptive immune resistance. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2015;18(4):325–32.
- Dudley JC, Lin MT, Le DT, Eshleman JR. Microsatellite instability as a biomarker for PD-1 blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(4):813–20.
- Pritchard CC, Morrissey C, Kumar A, et al. Complex MSH2 and MSH6 mutations in hypermutated microsatellite unstable advanced prostate cancer. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4988.
- Hammers H, Plimack E, Infante J, Ernstoff M, Rini B, McDermott D, et al. Phase I study of nivolumab in combination with ipilimumab in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(Suppl. 15):4504.
- Hellmann MD, Rizvi NA, Goldman JW, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate

012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):31–41.

- Larkin J, Chiarion-sileni V, Gonzalez R, et al. Combined nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):23–34.
- Motzer RJ, Escudier B, Mcdermott DF, et al. Nivolumab versus everolimus in advanced renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(19):1803–13.
- Pagès C, Baroudjian B, Lebbé C. Bull Cancer 2016;103(Suppl 1):S132–S137. http://www.fda. gov/Drugs/InformationOnDrugs/ApprovedDrugs/ ucm526430.htm. Accessed 02 Feb 2017.
- Gevensleben H, Dietrich D, Golletz C, et al. The immune checkpoint regulator PD-L1 is highly expressed in aggressive primary prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(8):1969–77.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54.
- Chang MT, Asthana S, Gao SP, et al. Identifying recurrent mutations in cancer reveals widespread lineage diversity and mutational specificity. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34(2):155–63.
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. Nature. 2013;499(7457):214–8.
- 26. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity. 1995;3(5): 541–7.
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science. 1996;271(5256):1734–6.
- Lipson EJ, Drake CG. Ipilimumab: an anti-CTLA-4 antibody for metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(22):6958–62.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-martin P, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008;322(5899):271–5.
- 30. Slovin SF, Higano CS, Hamid O, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(7):1813–21.
- 31. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, doubleblind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(7):700–12.
- 32. Halabi S, Kelly WK, Ma H, et al. Meta-analysis evaluating the impact of site of metastasis on overall survival in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(14):1652–9.
- Drake CG. Visceral metastases and prostate cancer treatment: 'die hard,' 'tough neighborhoods,' or 'evil humors'? Oncology. 2014;28(11):974–80.

- 34. Beer TM, Kwon ED, Drake CG, et al. Randomized, double-blind, phase III trial of ipilimumab versus placebo in asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic patients with metastatic chemotherapy-naive castrationresistant prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(1):40–7.
- 35. Graff JN, Drake CG, Beer TM. Complete biochemical (prostate-specific antigen) response to sipuleucel-T with enzalutamide in castration-resistant prostate cancer: a case report with implications for future research. Urology. 2013;81(2):381–3.
- Bishop JL, Sio A, Angeles A, et al. PD-L1 is highly expressed in Enzalutamide resistant prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(1):234–42.
- Graff JN, Alumkal JJ, Drake CG, et al. Early evidence of anti-PD-1 activity in enzalutamide-resistant prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(33):52810–7.
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(26):2509–20.
- 39. Penaloza-macmaster P, Kamphorst AO, Wieland A, et al. Interplay between regulatory T cells and PD-1 in modulating T cell exhaustion and viral control during chronic LCMV infection. J Exp Med. 2014;211(9):1905–18.
- Plitas G, et al. Regulatory T cells exhibit distinct features in human breast cancer. Immunity. 2016;45:1122–34.
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. J Exp Med. 2009;206(8):1717–25.
- 42. Goldberg MV, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, et al. Role of PD-1 and its ligand, B7-H1, in early fate decisions of CD8 T cells. Blood. 2007;110(1):186–92.
- 43. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(9):4275–80.
- 44. Korman A, Chen B, Wang C, Wu L, Cardarelli P, Selby M. Activity of anti-PD-1 in murine tumor models: role of "host" PD-L1 and synergistic effect of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4. J Immunol. 2007; 178:S82.
- 45. Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):122–33.
- CUAJ Editorial. Metastatic renal cell cancer: summary from ASCO 2015. Can Urol Assoc J. 2015;9(7–8):S158–61.
- Mateo J, Carreira S, Sandhu S, et al. DNA-repair defects and olaparib in metastatic prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(18):1697–708.
- Kong HY, Byun J. Emerging roles of human prostatic Acid phosphatase. Biomol Ther. 2013;21(1):10–20.
- Van de Laar L, Coffer PJ, Woltman AM. Regulation of dendritic cell development by GM-CSF: molecular control and implications for immune homeostasis and therapy. Blood. 2012;119(15):3383–93.

- 50. Guhathakurta D, Sheikh NA, Fan LQ, et al. Humoral immune response against nontargeted tumor antigens after treatment with sipuleucel-T and its association with improved clinical outcome. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(16):3619–30.
- 51. Drake CG, Fan LQ, Guha Thakurta DG, et al. Antigen spread and survival with sipuleucel-T in patients with advanced prostate cancer [ASCO GU abstract 88]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(suppl 4):88.
- 52. Tannock IF, De Wit R, Berry WR, et al. Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(15):1502–12.
- Cell Genesys announces termination of VITAL-1 phase 3 trial of GVAX immunotherapy for prostate cancer [press release] South San Francisco, CA: Cell Genesys, Inc.; 2008.
- Singh P, Pal SK, Alex A, Agarwal N. Development of PROSTVAC immunotherapy in prostate cancer. Future Oncol. 2015;11(15):2137–48.
- Madan RA, Arlen PM, Mohebtash M, Hodge JW, Gulley JL. Prostvac-VF: a vector-based vaccine targeting PSA in prostate cancer. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2009;18(7):1001–11.
- 56. Zhou H, Luo Y, Lo JF, et al. DNA-based vaccines activate innate and adaptive antitumor immunity by engaging the NKG2D receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(31):10846–51.
- Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, et al. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. Int J Cancer. 2014;135(5):1165–77.
- 58. Mikyšková R, Štěpánek I, Indrová M, et al. Dendritic cells pulsed with tumor cells killed by high hydrostatic pressure induce strong immune responses and display therapeutic effects both in murine TC-1 and TRAMP-C2 tumors when combined with docetaxel chemotherapy. Int J Oncol. 2016;48(3):953–64.
- CureVac Provides Clinical Update at 35th Annual J.P. Morgan Healthcare Conference [press release] San Francisco, CA: CureVac; 2017.
- Paterson Y, Maciag PC. Listeria-based vaccines for cancer treatment. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2005;7(5):454–60.
- Vázquez-boland JA, Kuhn M, Berche P, et al. Listeria pathogenesis and molecular virulence determinants. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2001;14(3):584–640.
- Brockstedt DG, Giedlin MA, Leong ML, et al. Listeria-based cancer vaccines that segregate immunogenicity from toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(38):13832–7.
- Dramsi S, Cossart P. Listeriolysin O: a genuine cytolysin optimized for an intracellular parasite. J Cell Biol. 2002;156(6):943–6.
- 64. Yang Y, Hou J, Lin Z, et al. Attenuated Listeria monocytogenes as a cancer vaccine vector for the delivery of CD24, a biomarker for hepatic cancer stem cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2014;11(2):184–96.

- 65. Wallecha A, Singh R, Malinina I. Listeria monocytogenes (Lm)-LLO immunotherapies reduce the immunosuppressive activity of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunother. 2013;36(9):468–76.
- 66. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(95):95ra73.
- Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-scholl GK, et al. NY-ESO-1-specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):914–21.
- Scanlan MJ, Gure AO, Jungbluth AA, Old LJ, Chen YT. Cancer/testis antigens: an expanding family of targets for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2002;188:22–32.
- 69. Liu H, Moy P, Kim S, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to the extracellular domain of prostate-specific membrane antigen also react with tumor vascular endothelium. Cancer Res. 1997;57(17):3629–34.
- Chang SS, Reuter VE, Heston WD, Bander NH, Grauer LS, Gaudin PB. Five different anti-prostatespecific membrane antigen (PSMA) antibodies confirm PSMA expression in tumor-associated neovasculature. Cancer Res. 1999;59(13):3192–8.
- 71. Jeske SJ, Milowsky MI, Smith CR, Smith KA, Bander NH, Nanus DM. Phase II trial of the anti-prostate specific membrane antigen (PSMA) monoclonal antibody (mAb) J591 plus low-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) in patients with recurrent prostate cancer (PC). J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(18S):abstract no. 15558.
- 72. Tagawa ST, Milowsky MI, Morris MJ, et al. Phase II study of lutetium-177 labeled antiprostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) monoclonal antibody J591 for metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(18): 5182–291.
- 73. Tagawa ST, Osborne J, Christos PJ, et al. A randomized phase II trial of 177Lu radiolabeled monoclonal antibody J591 (177Lu-J591) and ketoconazole in patients with high-risk castrate biochemically relapsed prostate cancer after local therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15s):abstract TPS248.
- 74. Benzon B, Zhao SG, Haffner MC, et al. Correlation of B7-H3 with androgen receptor, immune pathways and poor outcome in prostate cancer: an expressionbased analysis. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2017;20(1):28–35.
- Chavin G, Sheinin Y, Crispen PL, et al. Expression of immunosuppresive B7-H3 ligand by hormone-treated prostate cancer tumors and metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(6):2174–80.
- Obermajer N, Kalinski P. Key role of the positive feedback between PGE(2) and COX2 in the biology of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(5):762–4.

Challenges of Oncoimmunology for Ovarian and Breast Cancers

36

Mathilde Saint-Ghislain, Marie Bretagne, Marie-Paule Sablin, and Emanuela Romano

Contents

36.1	Tumor Microenvironment	
	and Therapeutic Targets of Ovarian	
	and Breast Cancers	607
36.1.1	Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes	608
36.1.2	Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts	609
36.1.3	Tumor-Associated Macrophages	609
36.2	Oncoimmunology Challenges	
	in Ovarian Cancer	610
36.2.1	Therapeutic Approaches to Enhance	
	Tumor Antigen Recognition	611
36.2.2	Therapeutic Approaches that Enhance	
	T Cell Activation	612
36.2.3	Therapeutic Approaches that Block	
	Other Axes of Immune Inhibition	614
36.2.4	Monoclonal Antibodies	614
36.3	Oncoimmunology Challenges in Breast	
	Cancer	614
36.3.1	Vaccines	615
36.3.2	Immune Checkpoints	615
Conclu	sions	617
Refere	nces	617

M. Saint-Ghislain • M. Bretagne • M.-P. Sablin Department of Oncology, Institut Curie,
26, rue d'Ulm, Office 2A-5, 75005 Paris, France

E. Romano ()
Department of Oncology, Institut Curie,
26, rue d'Ulm, Office 2A-5, 75005 Paris, France

Center of Cancer Immunotherapy, INSERM U932, Institut Curie, 26, rue d'Ulm, Office 2A-5, 75005 Paris, France e-mail: emanuela.romano@curie.fr

36.1 Tumor Microenvironment and Therapeutic Targets of Ovarian and Breast Cancers

The tumor microenvironment (TME) plays an important role in cancer progression and metastasis. Hanahan and colleagues [1] highlighted the contribution of different stromal cells in tumor development and progression, for which metastatic niche formation, metabolic stimulation, stimulation of tumor cell migration, immune modulation, angiogenesis, and matrix remodeling represent major steps in favor of tumor development and maintenance [2]. The TME contains stromal cells, extracellular matrix, and protein factors [3]. The cellular compartment is composed of adipocytes, fibroblasts, and immune and endothelial cells [3]. The extracellular matrix includes hyaluronic acid, proteoglycans, and fibrous proteins (collagen, fibronectin, and laminin) [3]. The protein factors include growth factors, immunoglobulins, cytokines, and chemokines [3]. In breast and ovarian cancer, tumorassociated stromal cells include different subtypes as tumor-associated fibroblasts, adipocytes, endothelial cells, and tumor-associated immune cells (including tumor-associated macrophages) [3]. Here we describe the main cell subtypes that have been characterized in the TME of ovarian and breast cancers (Fig. 36.1).



Fig. 36.1 Cellular infiltrates within the tumor microenvironment. Established cancers consist of a wide array of immune cells that contribute to the tumor stroma of a growing malignancy. Tumors possess infiltrating cells of both innate and acquired immunity, such as tumorassociated macrophages (TAM), dendritic cells (DCs), NK cells, lymphocytes, mast cells, eosinophils, and neutrophils. These cells coordinately form a complex regulatory network that fosters tumor growth by creating an environment that enables cancers to evade immune surveillance and destruction. Cell–cell interactions, soluble

36.1.1 Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes

Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) are frequently found in tumors, suggesting that tumors trigger an immune response in the host. TILs are generally segregated into those that penetrate the tumor islet (intraepithelial) and those that reside in the peritumoral space (stromal) [4]. The immune system, in particular the intraepithelial TIL, is thought to play an extensive role in the control of tumor growth in virtually all solid tumors, and ovarian and breast cancers are no exception. Several reviews have reported the prognostic value of TILs and immune gene signatures in breast cancer. Salgado and colleagues proposed a standardized method of enumerating TILs [5]. In triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) that does not express the genes for estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, or HER2/neu,

factors, or enzymes with immunosuppressive properties: *G-CSF* granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, *GM-CSF* granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor, *NO* nitric oxide, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *PEG2* prostaglandine E2, *IDO* indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, IL-10, TGF, *PD-L1* programmed death 1/programmed death ligand 1, *CTLA-4* cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. Examples of tumor-associated antigens: HER2/ neu, CA-125, folate receptor alpha (FR α) that can be the target of different immunotherapies, including monoclonal antibodies (moAb)

TILs have both a prognostic and a predictive value. In the adjuvant setting, TILs are associated with a better survival regardless of the adjuvant treatment [6, 7]. Several neoadjuvant studies have reported higher pathologic response (pCR) rates among immune-rich breast cancers compared with immune-poor counterparts [8, 9]. Interestingly, each 18% increase in TIL count is associated with an 18% reduction of risk of distant recurrence for patients treated by adjuvant chemotherapy [10, 11]. In HER2-positive breast cancer, TILs are also associated with better prognosis, but results are less concordant regarding their predictive value [12, 13]. The level of immune infiltration is less studied in luminal breast cancers, but the few data available suggest that it may predict for better prognosis in luminal B, highly proliferative subtypes.

The survival benefits of TILs in ovarian cancer have been documented since 1991 [14].

A recent meta-analysis by Hwang et al. sought to evaluate the prognostic value of TILs in ovarian cancer and investigate other factors on prognosis including tumor histology [15]. Using either CD3 or CD8 as identifiable TIL markers, they found ten suitable studies to include in their meta-analysis, which included 1815 subjects. The results demonstrated that lack of intraepithelial TILs is significantly associated with a worse survival among patients (pooled HR: 2.24, 95% CI; 1.71–2.91). Therefore intraepithelial CD8+ TILs appear to be a robust predictor of outcome in ovarian cancer.

36.1.2 Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) have emerged as important players in tumor progression and drug resistance [16]. CAFs help the tumor initiation, growth, angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis. Their pro-tumoral effect is related to the secretion of various extracellular matrix factors such as cytokines, proteases, growth factors, and hormones [17]. CAFs are defined as activated fibroblasts. The difference with normal fibroblasts is on the expression of some molecular markers as α -smooth muscle actin (\alpha-SMA), fibroblast activation protein (FAP), fibroblast-specific protein, and plateletderived growth factor receptor [18]. CAFs have five different origins in tumor stroma: from normal stromal fibroblast activation, mesenchymal stem cells, pericytes, mammary or ovarian epithelial cells (via the epithelial to mesenchymal transition), or endothelial cells (via the endothelial to mesenchymal transition) [19].

Different therapeutic possibilities have been explored in preclinical studies to decrease CAF number in the TME [20]. Targeting FAP is evaluated in some preclinical and clinical studies. Preclinical studies evaluating FAP blocking alone or in combination with chemotherapy showed decrease in the mice tumor growth in different tumor types [21]. A phase I clinical trial assesses RO6874813, a FAP antibody, in patients with advanced and/or metastatic solid tumors. A phase I study is testing RO6874281 in patients with advanced and/or metastatic solid tumor. RO6874281 is an immunocytokine consisting of anti-FAP/interleukin-2 fusion protein directed against CAF activation. Targeting CAF-derived factors is evaluated in several preclinical and clinical studies. CAFs secrete higher levels of stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) than normal fibroblasts. SDF-1 is an important factor in breast tumor progression by binding to its CXCR4 receptor expressed by carcinoma cells. Preclinical studies demonstrated that inhibitors of CXCR4 attenuate breast tumor growth in vivo and in vitro. A phase Ia/Ib study assesses the LY2510924, a CXCR4 peptide antagonist, in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. LY2510924 is administered in combination with durvalumab, an anti-PD-L1 antibody.

36.1.3 Tumor-Associated Macrophages

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) have emerged as players of tumor progression and metastasis [22]. Human TAMs are broadly divided into two main types: pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages and immunosuppressive M2 macrophages. Breast and ovarian cancer-associated macrophages are mostly infiltrated with the M2 macrophage population [23, 24]. Several studies suggest that circulating monocytes differentiate into M2 macrophages, thanks to different growth factors: colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1/M-CSF), granulocyte-macrophage CSF (GM-CSF/ CSF-2), macrophage-stimulating protein (MSP), transforming growth factor-β1 (TGF-β1), chemokines [19], and proangiogenic factors. In addition the pro-tumorigenic effect of TAMs results from their secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines that results in the downregulation of T cell effector functions [24, 25].

Targeting CSF1/CSF1 receptor has been evaluated in preclinical and clinical studies. Pharmacological or genetic deletion of CSF1 or CSF1R inhibits the mammary tumor growth in mice models [26, 27]. In fact, CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by the attenuation of TAMs turnover and enhanced infiltration of CD8 T cells. CSF1 inhibition by CSF1/CSF1R blockade or its pathway inhibition allowed to decrease macrophage infiltration of the TME associated with increased CD8 T cell numbers and decreased mammary tumor growth in a mouse model [27]. In several mouse models, CSF1R inhibition in combination with paclitaxel leads to increased survival and to decreased risk of metastases [28].

Therefore, CSF1/CSF1R blocking has been tested in clinical studies. In a clinical phase I study [29], in patients with various advanced solid tumors, inhibition of CSF1R dimerization with RO5509554 decreased macrophage infiltration and induced CD8/CD4 ratio increase with an acceptable safety profile. This humanized antihuCSF1R IgG1 monoclonal antibody blocks ligand-dependent and ligand-independent receptor activation. Three open clinical phase I trials assess the safety, pharmacokinetics, and activity of RO5509554 in patients with advanced solid tumors. RO5509554 is given as monotherapy and in combination with paclitaxel or atezolizumab, a monoclonal antibody blocking PD-L1. Three clinical phase I trials are open with LY3022855, another CSF1R inhibitor, alone or in association with different molecules. LY3022855 is a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody designed to target the CSF1R. Two studies assess LY3022855 alone in patients with advanced, refractory breast cancer or with advanced solid tumors. One study evaluates LY3022855 in combination with durvalumab or tremelimumab in patients with advanced solid tumors. One phase II study is open, with a humanized monoclonal antibody target CSF-1(MCS110). This randomized study assesses the efficacy of MCS110 given with carboplatin and gemcitabine in advanced triple-negative breast cancer. Another phase Ib/II study assesses MCS110 in combination with PDR001, an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody, in patients with advanced malignancies.

In addition, several studies are focusing on CSF1R kinase inhibitors. Two phase I studies assess pexidartinib alone or in combination with paclitaxel in patients with advanced solid tumors. Pexidartinib is an oral, potent multi-targeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor of CSF1R, Kit, and Flt3. A phase I study evaluates BLZ945 alone or in combination with PDR001 in adult patients with advanced solid tumors. BLZ945 is an orally active, potent, and selective CSF1R inhibitor.

36.2 Oncoimmunology Challenges in Ovarian Cancer

Each year almost 90,000 women in the United States are diagnosed with gynecologic malignancies, and over 28,000 will die from their disease [30]. Many women with early-stage disease are cured with a combination of surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy. However, especially in the case of ovarian cancer, the disease is often diagnosed at advanced stage, and many patients relapse despite appropriate management. Even with improved cytoreductive surgery associated with platinum-/taxane-based chemotherapy, the prognosis remains poor with a 5-year survival rate of 38%.

Active therapeutic targets in recurrent ovarian cancer include DNA damage repair and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and VEGF receptor (VEGFR) signaling pathways. Bevacizumab, a humanized anti-VEGF monoclonal IgG1 antibody, showed improved progression-free survival in adjuvant setting [31]. Emerging data indicate that the VEGF and VEGFR pathways modulate immune response by increasing DNA damage and tumor mutational load [32, 33]. Mutational load, leading to increased potential neoantigen expression, has been associated with clinical response to immune checkpoint inhibitors in colorectal cancer and melanoma [34, 35]. Approximately 50% of high-grade epithelial ovarian cancers have acquired or inherited dysfunction in homologous recombination, high-fidelity DNA double-strand break repair [36]. All high-grade epithelial ovarian cancers have genomic instability that is partially associated with loss of normal p53 function. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) 1 has many roles in DNA damage repair,

including repair of single-strand DNA breaks via the base excision repair pathway [37]. Olaparib, a PARP inhibitor, improved survival of women with BRCA-muted tumors [38]. Preclinical studies have shown that PARP inhibitors promote local antigen release, resulting in systemic antitumor response after tumor exposure to radiation or DNA-damaging agents or secondary to spontaneous or heritable defects in DNA [39]. Increased DNA damage resulting from PARP inhibitors or exposure to other DNA repair inhibitors would thus yield greater mutational burden and expand neoantigen diversity.

PARP inhibitors are also associated with immunomodulation. Huang et al. reported that talazoparib (BMN 673) increased the number of peritoneal CD8+ T cells and natural killer cells and increased production of interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in a BRCA1mutated ovarian cancer xenograft model [40]. These data suggest that PARP inhibitors may be complementary to immune checkpoint modulation in yielding clinical benefit in recurrent ovarian cancer. Currently, a phase I/II study of the programmed death (PD) ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitor MEDI4736 (durvalumab) in combination with olaparib is being conducted in patients with solid tumors and recurrent ovarian cancer (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02484404). Angiogenesis pathways interact with both immune response and DNA repair mechanisms. Tumor hypoxia induces downregulation and decreased expression of genes and proteins involved in DNA damage repair, leading to further DNA damage, genomic instability, and cell death [41]. VEGF has been shown to reduce the antitumor immune response in preclinical and clinical models, including suppression of dendritic cell maturation, inhibition of T cell responses, and an increase in regulatory T cell proliferation and accumulation of myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) [42]. In addition, PD-L1 expression was upregulated under hypoxic conditions in a panel of mouse and human tumor cell lines, as well as in splenic MDSCs, through a hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α dependent mechanism. Angiogenesis inhibitors are active in gynecologic cancers; bevacizumab [43] and the oral VEGFR 1–3 tyrosine kinase inhibitor cediranib [44] have been associated with improved progression-free survival.

While it was originally felt that epithelial ovarian cancer would not respond well to immunotherapy, research has, in fact, demonstrated a key role for the immune system in the control of epithelial ovarian cancer cell growth. This is supported by the observation that increased levels of TILs in ovarian cancer were associated with improved prognosis, with a 5-year survival of 38% in patients whose tumors contained T cells and 4.5% in those whose tumors did not contain T cells [45]. In a separate study focusing on the subtypes of T cells in ovarian cancer, a higher frequency of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes and increased ratios of CD8+ lymphocytes to regulatory T cells (Tregs) were also found to be associated with improved survival [46]. In addition, tumor-reactive antibodies and T cells have been isolated from the peripheral blood of patients with epithelial ovarian cancer, suggesting a spontaneous antitumor immune response [47]. In addition, tumor antigens as CA-125, folate receptor alpha (FRalpha), NY-ESO-1, and MAGE-A3 are overexpressed in ovarian cancer and can be exploited to elicit an adaptive immune response. These studies have provided the rationale for exploring different immunotherapeutic strategies in epithelial ovarian cancer.

36.2.1 Therapeutic Approaches to Enhance Tumor Antigen Recognition

Strategies that aim to enhance tumor recognition by the immune system can be collectively grouped into vaccines and innate immune activators; included in the second group are TLR agonists, type I interferon (IFN), and oncolytic viruses.

36.2.1.1 Vaccines

The identification of unique tissue differentiation antigens expressed in epithelial ovarian cancer has led to the exploration of various vaccination approaches, including simple vaccine preparations consisting of specific peptides and proteins, as well as more complex strategies, such as engineered, cell-based vaccines, DC vaccines, virusvectored vaccines, and oncolytic viruses. The majority of studies have explored the cancer-testis antigens (e.g., NY-ESO-1) and proteins known to be overexpressed in epithelial ovarian cancer (e.g., p53, survivin, HER-2, and MUC1). For instance, it has been shown that 43% of advanced ovarian cancer expresses NY-ESO-1. One phase II study published in 2014 evaluated vaccination of 22 patients with epithelial ovarian cancer (82% serous histology and NY-ESO-1 positive) with a HLA-A*0201-restricted NY-ESO-1b peptide after standard treatment (debulking surgery and platinum-based chemotherapy). The median overall survival was 48 months, and the median time of disease progression was 21 months (95% CI, 16–29 months) [48]. Although many studies have demonstrated induction of an immune response to the vaccines, very few have demonstrated clinical benefit. It is likely that these strategies are insufficient to overcome immune tolerance to self-antigens and to result in efficient activation of antigen-specific T cells, although they may prove to be valuable in combination with other therapies.

36.2.1.2 Innate Immune Activators

Another strategy for enhancing tumor antigen presentation by APCs involves agents that target the innate immune response. Antigen processing and presentation by APCs require activation signals, which are provided via activation of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as the toll-like receptors (TLRs) [49]. TLRs recognize signature molecules that are broadly shared by various pathogens and, in addition, sense "danger signals" in the tumor microenvironment, which consist of endogenous molecules produced by dying cells. A phase I study of VTX-2337 (motolimod), a small-molecule agonist of TLR8, in combination with liposomal doxorubicin in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer, demonstrated safety and evidence of immune activation and clinical benefit. Several phase II studies evaluating motolimod in combination with other immunotherapies or liposomal doxorubicin (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT02431559, NCT01666444) are ongoing.

Activated APCs produce type I IFN, which plays a role in the antiviral immune response; it has also been demonstrated to be necessary for tumor antigen presentation by APCs [50]. Although type I IFN has been evaluated in various cancer types and is approved for use as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected melanoma, in a study by Alberts et al., systemic or intraperitoneal administration of IFN α had limited activity in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer and was associated with frequent toxicities [51].

Oncolytic viruses have intrinsic properties that allow them to replicate in cancer cells, while sparing normal tissues. While serving as tumordebulking agents, oncolytic viruses also activate the innate immune response on multiple levels through the release of tumor antigens, PRR ligands, and danger signals, and via production of type I IFN. Several trials using oncolytic viruses in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer have demonstrated safety and durable clinical benefit in some patients [52]. Overall, strategies to enhance tumor antigen presentation by the innate immune system have been demonstrated to be safe, but to date, their efficacy has been marginal. The future of drugs that enhance tumor antigen presentation in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer probably will rely on combination therapies, in which the T cell response primed with a vaccine or an innate immune activator is further strengthened by therapies targeting T cell activation and adaptive immune responses.

36.2.2 Therapeutic Approaches that Enhance T Cell Activation

The survival, proliferation, and activation of T cells are controlled by a variety of factors, including cytokines and a range of immunostimulatory and inhibitory receptors. Several studies have explored agents targeting T cells as immunotherapy in epithelial ovarian cancer, including drugs that target pathways of T cell activation, as well as adoptive T cell strategies.

36.2.2.1 Cytokines

The cytokines interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-12 are potent activators of T cell proliferation and cytotoxicity. Their use as anticancer agents has been explored in multiple types of cancer, including ovarian. The use of both agents, administered systemically, is limited by toxicity. A phase I/II study of intraperitoneal IL-2 in patients with persistent or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer showed an overall response rate of 25.7%, although the regimen was associated with significant toxicity [53]. A different strategy for delivery of IL-12-the use of IL-12-expressing plasmids-has been explored. In a recent study, 22 patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer who received intraperitoneal EGEN-001, an IL-12 plasmid formulated with lipopolymer, demonstrated a 35% stable disease rate [54].

36.2.2.2 Immune Checkpoint Blockade

Identification of the costimulatory and coinhibitory receptors that regulate T cell activation led to the development of antibodies that target these receptors [55]. In particular, antibodies targeting the inhibitory receptors cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA-4), programmed death 1 (PD-1), and PD-1 ligand (PD-L1) are in advanced clinical development, with the CTLA-4-targeting agent ipilimumab approved in metastatic melanoma and the PD-1-targeting agents nivolumab and pembrolizumab approved in metastatic tumors of multiple histologies.

Based on these findings, therapy with immune checkpoint blockade has been evaluated in trials in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Despite its activity in metastatic melanoma, the efficacy of the CTLA-4-targeting antibody in epithelial ovarian cancer as a single agent has so far been limited. In 11 patients with epithelial ovarian cancer who received GVAX, an autologous tumor cell vaccine expressing granulocyte–macrophage colonystimulating factor, treatment with ipilimumab led to an objective response in one patient that was durable for over 4 years [56]. In contrast, emerging clinical data indicate that targeting of PD-1 and PD-L1 may be a promising strategy in epithelial ovarian cancer. Hamanishi and colleagues published a phase II study of the anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab in 20 evaluable patients with heavily pretreated, advanced, platinum-resistant, epithelial ovarian cancer [57]. Histology was serous carcinoma in 75%, endometrioid in 15%, and clear cell in 10% of cases. Patients received a dose of 1 or 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks (constituting two ten-patient cohorts). Patients received up to six cycles (four doses per cycle) of nivolumab or until disease progression. Grade 3 or 4 treatmentrelated adverse events occurred in eight (40%) patients. The best overall response was 15%, which included two patients who had a durable complete response (in the 3-mg/kg cohort). The disease control rate was 45%. The median progression-free survival time was 3.5 months (95%) CI, 1.7-3.9 months), and the median overall survival time was 20 months (95% CI, 7.0 months to not reached) at study termination. Similar activity was reported for the PD-L1-blocking antibodies avelumab and pembrolizumab, with response rates ranging from 11 to 17% and disease control rates of up to 65%. Larger studies using these agents are currently underway.

The combination of CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade has been associated with additive and even synergistic activity in animal models. A recent phase III study evaluating combined CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade (with ipilimumab and nivolumab, respectively) in patients with melanoma demonstrated enhanced response rate and progressionfree survival compared with either agent alone, leading to recent US Food and Drug Administration approval of the combination for the treatment of melanoma [58], although the regimen did result in high rates of grade 3 toxicity. An ongoing NRG Oncology Group randomized phase II study (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02498600) is comparing the combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab vs nivolumab alone to determine whether the combination is also active and safe in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer who have relapsed.

36.2.2.3 Adoptive T Cell Therapies

Adoptive cell therapies (ACTs) rely on the infusion of large numbers of autologous tumor-reactive T cells that have been isolated from tumors and expanded in vitro. Early studies reported significant efficacy for this approach in epithelial ovarian cancer [59], although these studies were necessarily biased by the selection of patients from whom a sufficient quantity of TILs could be isolated. Additional studies using ACT in epithelial ovarian cancer are ongoing (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT02482090, NCT01883297). As an alternative strategy, engineered T cell technologies avoid the need for isolation of TILs. Using this strategy, peripheral blood autologous lymphocytes are transduced either with a T cell receptor that recognizes a specific tumor antigen MHC peptide or with a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) that recognizes a tumor-associated surface antigen. The efficacy of such approaches has been demonstrated in preclinical studies, in which engineered T cells expressing a MUC16-specific CAR were associated with complete eradication of orthotopic ovarian xenografts [60]. A phase I study using this strategy is currently in development (ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT02498912). Several phase I and II trials of adoptive T cell transfer techniques are currently under way targeting other ovarian cancer-associated proteins-such as folate receptor alpha, mesothelin (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01583686), MAGE-A3 (ClinicalTrials. gov identifiers: NCT02111850, NCT01567891), and NY-ESO-1 (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT01967823, NCT01697527, NCT02457650).

36.2.3 Therapeutic Approaches that Block Other Axes of Immune Inhibition

Despite provocative early clinical data, it is becoming increasingly apparent that the benefit of immune checkpoint blockade in epithelial ovarian cancer is not universal and that development of predictive biomarkers and combination therapies will be necessary. To this end, combination strategies using PD-1- and PD-L1blocking antibodies together with antibodies targeting other mechanisms of T cell activation (e.g., glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor-related protein [GITR], OX40, 4-1BB), as well as antibodies targeting other immune checkpoints (e.g., lymphocyte-activation gene [LAG3] and T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing-3 [TIM3] [61]), are already entering clinical trials in multiple tumor types. In addition, several immune inhibitory mechanisms have been associated with poor prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer, including tumor-infiltrating Tregs, TAMs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and the expression of IDO by the tumor or stromal cells [62] (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT02327078). There is thus a strong rationale for targeting these mechanisms in combination with PD-1/ PD-L1 blockade. Epacadostat, an orally available hydroxyamidine and inhibitor of IDO1, is being currently tested in phase I/II clinical studies in advanced ovarian and triple-negative breast cancer in monotherapy or in combination with checkpoint inhibitors.

36.2.4 Monoclonal Antibodies

Several antigens related to ovarian cancer have been isolated that could be potential target of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs); therefore, different mAbs are emerging as new potential treatments for this disease. Among others, mAbs targeting CA-125 (farletuzumab, ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT02289950), folate receptor alpha (mirvetuximab soravtansine, ClinicalTrials. gov identifiers: NCT02631876, NCT02606305), and delta-like ligand 4 (DLL4) (demcizumab, ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01952249) are in clinical development.

36.3 Oncoimmunology Challenges in Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in women worldwide. During the last decade, we have observed significant progress in its management following the introduction of novel agents such as chemotherapy (eribulin), anti-HER2 compounds (TDM-1, pertuzumab), or cell cycle inhibitors (palbociclib). However, advanced and metastatic breast cancer remain incurable and a leading cause of cancer deaths with approximately 11,800 deaths in 2012, a median overall survival of 2-3 years, and a 5-year survival of only 25%. There is therefore a real unmet need of new therapeutics. Interest in evaluating immunotherapy in breast cancer has historically been limited based on the belief that breast tumors were nonimmunogenic. However, recent data have shown that breast cancers, particularly HER2-positive and triple-negative tumors, are in fact immunogenic and that the extent of the immune response correlates with prognosis. We will discuss emerging results from clinical trials evaluating immunotherapeutic agents, including vaccines, immune checkpoint agents, and TME-targeting agents, in breast cancer that have shown promise in this disease.

36.3.1 Vaccines

During the last decade, several experimental cancer vaccines have been tested in metastatic solid tumors, but this approach appeared to be ineffective in advanced breast cancer. A paradigm shift has emerged in the recent years, and cancer vaccines are more commonly tested in the adjuvant setting or in the early stages of carcinogenesis [63]. Peptide-based vaccines are the most extensively studied, and they target overexpressed, amplified, or mutated proteins such as HER2, MUC1, CEA, p53, mammaglobin A, and cancer-testis antigens. HER2-derived vaccines have been widely investigated and, in particular, E75 (nelipepimut-S, NeuVaxTM) consisting of a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2/A3-restricted immunogenic peptide derived from the extracellular domain of HER2 protein is in advanced development. In the adjuvant setting, a phase I/II trial enrolled 195 HER2 positive patients. The 5-year disease-free survival for the vaccinated patients was 89.7% compared to 80.2% for the control group with mild local and systemic toxicities [64]. Based on these encouraging data, the PRESENT study, a phase III in early-stage breast cancer, has been launched (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT 01479244); however, the trial was discontinued

due to futility in accordance with the recommendation from the Independent Data Monitoring Committee in June 2016.

36.3.2 Immune Checkpoints

Preliminary results from the first immune therapy clinical trials suggested that some breast cancers are indeed responsive to immunotherapy with immune checkpoint blockade (Table 36.1).

36.3.2.1 Luminal Breast Cancers

In a phase I, tremelimumab has been evaluated in association with exemestane, an aromatase inhibitor in 26 patients. No objective responses were observed, but interestingly 42% of the patients experienced a disease stability for at least 6 weeks (Vonderheide et al. 2010). In the multicohort phase I trial Keynote-028, 25 patients with PD-L1-positive luminal breast cancer were treated by pembrolizumab, an anti-PD1. The overall response rate was 12% and a clinical benefit rate of 20% was observed in this heavily treated population (SABC 2015 [65]). In the JAVELIN study, patients were treated with avelumab, an anti-PDL-1, irrespectively of their PDL-1 status. In the luminal cohort, only 2.8% of overall response rate (ORR) was observed (SABC 2015 [66]).

36.3.2.2 Triple-Negative Breast Cancer

The Keynote-012 is the first trial to report clinical outcome of anti-PD1 in metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. It is a phase Ib evaluating pembrolizumab in 27 pretreated patients with a PDL-1-positive disease. Pembrolizumab was associated with an overall response rate (ORR) of 18.5% and a progression free survival (PFS) of 23% at 6 months [67]. Atezolizumab has also been evaluated in this population and similar a degree of benefit has been observed in monotherapy. In a PDL-1-positive population, the ORR was 24% and the PFS at 6 months 27% (AACR 2015, Emens et al., #2859). In the JAVELIN study, in a non-selected population, an ORR of 8.6% has been reported with avelumab.

Torrat	Duic	Trial	Cubtume	DD I 1 etatue		Evaluable	Daculto	Dafarances
Iaiget	DIUG	11141	auntype	rd-L1 status	ru-ri+	paucins	Nesults	Verei elices
PD-1	Pembrolizumab	Keynote-012	NT	PD-L1+	59%	27	ORR: 18.5%	Nanda, JCO (2016)
		Keynote-028	ER+/HER2-	PD-L1+	19%	25	SD: 26% ORR: 12%	Rugo, SABCS (2015)
	Pembrolizumab + eribulin	I	NL	Indifferent	44%	39	ORR: 33% SD: 28%	Tolaney, SABCS (2016)
PD-L1	Atezolizumab	I	IN	PD-L1+	%69	21	ORR: 24%	Emens, AACR 2015
	Atezolizumab + nab-paclitaxel	I	NL	Indifferent	I	24	ORR: 42% SD: 21%	AdamsS, ASCO (2016)
	Avelumab	Javelin	TN ER+, HER2+	Indifferent	I	58 72 26	ORR: 8.6% ORR: 2.8% ORR: 3.8%	Dirix LY, SABCS (2015
CTLA-4	Tremelimumab + exemestane	Ι	ER+/HER2-	Indifferent	Ι	26	BOR: 42%	Vonderheide, CCR (201
TN triple neg:	ttive, ER endocrine receptor, ORR	? overall response	rate, SD stable disea	ise, BOR best overa	all response	ć,		

 Table 36.1
 Main results of immune checkpoints inhibitors in breast cancer

()

Combinations of checkpoint inhibitors with chemotherapy are currently explored. In a phase I trial of atezolizumab in association with nabpaclitaxel, a 38% ORR was observed, irrespectively of the PD-L1 status. It is interesting to note that more than 80% of the population was treated with taxane. Given these encouraging data, IMpassion130, a phase III comparing nabpaclitaxel plus atezolizumab versus nab-paclitaxel plus placebo, is currently ongoing in first line (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT0242891).

In 2016 during the San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium (SABCS), Tolaney et al. reported also encouraging results of the association of pembrolizumab with eribulin. In a phase Ib/II, the combination demonstrated 33.3% ORR in pretreated patients. Moreover, in the first line setting, the ORR was 41%, irrespective of PD-L1 status (SABC 2016 [66]). Taken together, these response rates are potentially better than one might expect for a population with very heavily pretreated, chemotherapy-resistant triple-negative disease. Of further note, when responses occurred, they were often durable-occasionally lasting beyond 1 year-a phenomenon that is well described with these strategies in other settings, but would not typically be expected with chemotherapy in a heavily pretreated population.

36.3.2.3 Future Directions in Breast Cancer

It is anticipated that the interest in identifying immunotherapeutic approaches to treat breast cancer will continue to grow and that numerous trials evaluating immunotherapeutic approaches, including monoclonal antibodies, vaccines, and checkpoint blockade, as well as adoptive T cell therapy with genetically engineered T cells or immunomodulatory agents such as cytokines or toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists, will become available for patients with breast cancer. The success of immunotherapy in breast cancer likely will depend on identifying the appropriate immunotherapeutic strategy for the particular disease type and stage. For example, the microenvironment of metastatic lesions is quite hostile to the immune system. Immunosuppressive cytokines and cells inhibit an effective antitumor immune response. To this point, it should be noted that although breast tumors have been shown to be immunogenic, the immune response is not always robust, with one study reporting that the median percentage of stromal area infiltrated with TILs is only 10% in hormone receptor-positive breast cancer, 15% in HER2-positive breast cancer, and 20% in TNBC [10]. Given the lack of immune infiltrate, it is possible that checkpoint blockade may not work as monotherapy. A strategy, therefore, in which an agent such as a vaccine or perhaps a toll-like receptor agonist is given to stimulate an immune response that can be potentiated and maintained with checkpoint blockade prove more may efficacious.

Conclusions

Recent years have seen many advances in immunotherapeutic approaches to various cancer types, and breast and gynecologic malignancies are no exception. Promising early data reported with immune checkpoint inhibitors make it likely that these agents will eventually become part of the treatment arsenal for these cancers. These data also point out, however, that checkpoint inhibitors are not universally effective as single agents, indicating a need for rationally designed treatment combinations. The optimal activation of the antitumor immunity will involve targeting different components of the immune response, which are likely not to be universal, since mechanisms of immune evasion differ from patient to patient. Clinical trials incorporating appropriate biomarkers to identify new immunotherapeutic modalities will allow us to select treatments for the appropriate patients and will inform the development and use of combination therapies that may help overcome current limitations.

References

1. Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(3):309–22.

- Nienhuis HH, et al. Targeting breast cancer through its microenvironment: current status of preclinical and clinical research in finding relevant targets. Pharmacol Ther. 2015;147:63–79.
- Bussard KM, Mutkus L, Stumpf K, Gomez-Manzano C, Marini FC. Tumor-associated stromal cells as key contributors to the tumor microenvironment. Breast Cancer Res. 2016;18(1):84.
- Coventry BJ, Weightman MJ, Bradley J, Skinner JM. Immune profiling in human breast cancer using high-sensitivity detection and analysis techniques. JRSM Open. 2015;6(9):2054270415603909.
- Salgado R, et al. The evaluation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer: recommendations by an international TILs working group 2014. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(2):259–71.
- Rody A, et al. A clinically relevant gene signature in triple-negative and basal-like breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2011;13(5):R97.
- Iwamoto T, et al. First generation prognostic gene signatures for breast cancer predict both survival and chemotherapy sensitivity and identify overlapping patient populations. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130(1):155–64.
- Denkert C, et al. Strategies for developing Ki67 as a useful biomarker in breast cancer. Breast. 2015;24(Suppl 2):S67–72.
- Denkert C, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy with or without carboplatin in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive and triple-negative primary breast cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(9):983–91.
- Loi S, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in a phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trial in node-positive breast cancer comparing the addition of docetaxel to doxorubicin with doxorubicin-based chemotherapy: BIG 02-98. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(7):860–7.
- Adams S, et al. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers from two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials: ECOG 2197 and ECOG 1199. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(27):2959–66.
- 12. Salgado R, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and associations with pathological complete response and event-free survival in HER2-positive early-stage breast cancer treated with lapatinib and trastuzumab: a secondary analysis of the NeoALTTO trial. JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(4):448–54.
- Bianchini G, et al. Immune modulation of pathologic complete response after neoadjuvant HER2directed therapies in the NeoSphere trial. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(12):2429–36.
- Ma D, Gu MJ. Immune effect of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and its relation to the survival rate of patients with ovarian malignancies. J Tongji Med Univ. 1991;11(4):235–9.
- Hwang WT, Adams SF, Tahirovic E, Hagemann IS, Coukos G. Prognostic significance of tumorinfiltrating T cells in ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;124(2):192–8.

- Paraiso KH, Smalley KS. Fibroblast-mediated drug resistance in cancer. Biochem Pharmacol. 2013;85(8):1033–41.
- Liotta LA, Kohn EC. The microenvironment of the tumor-host interface. Nature. 2001;411(6835):375–9.
- Kalluri R, Zeisberg M. Fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6(5):392–401.
- Xouri G, Christian S. Origin and function of tumor stroma fibroblasts. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2010;21(1):40–6.
- Ibe S, Qin Z, Schuler T, Preiss S, Blankenstein T. Tumor rejection by disturbing tumor stroma cell interactions. J Exp Med. 2001;194(11):1549–59.
- Lee J, Fassnacht M, Nair S, Boczkowski D, Gilboa E. Tumor immunotherapy targeting fibroblast activation protein, a product expressed in tumor-associated fibroblasts. Cancer Res. 2005;65(23):11156–63.
- 22. Pollard JW. Tumor-educated macrophages promote tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(1):71–8.
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, Allavena P, Sica A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;23(11):549–55.
- DeNardo DG, et al. CD4(+) T cells regulate pulmonary metastasis of mammary carcinomas by enhancing protumor properties of macrophages. Cancer Cell. 2009;16(2):91–102.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(10):889–96.
- Lin EY, et al. Macrophages regulate the angiogenic switch in a mouse model of breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66(23):11238–46.
- 27. Strachan DC, et al. CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by attenuating the turnover of tumor-associated macrophages and enhancing infiltration by CD8+ T cells. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(12):e26968.
- DeNardo DG, et al. Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2011;1(1):54–67.
- Ries CH, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with anti-CSF-1R antibody reveals a strategy for cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(6):846–59.
- 30. Aghajanian C, et al. Final overall survival and safety analysis of OCEANS, a phase 3 trial of chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;139(1):10–6.
- 31. Oza AM, et al. Standard chemotherapy with or without bevacizumab for women with newly diagnosed ovarian cancer (ICON7): overall survival results of a phase 3 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(8):928–36.
- Patch AM, et al. Whole-genome characterization of chemoresistant ovarian cancer. Nature. 2015; 521(7553):489–94.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):69–74.
- Le DT, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. NEngl J Med. 2015;372(26):2509–20.

- Snyder A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(23):2189–99.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature. 2011;474(7353):609–15.
- Lee JM, Ledermann JA, Kohn EC. PARP inhibitors for BRCA1/2 mutation-associated and BRCA-like malignancies. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(1):32–40.
- 38. Ledermann J, et al. Olaparib maintenance therapy in patients with platinum-sensitive relapsed serous ovarian cancer: a preplanned retrospective analysis of outcomes by BRCA status in a randomised phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(8):852–61.
- Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- Huang J, et al. The PARP1 inhibitor BMN 673 exhibits immunoregulatory effects in a Brca1(-/-) murine model of ovarian cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;463(4):551–6.
- Lu Y, Chu A, Turker MS, Glazer PM. Hypoxia-induced epigenetic regulation and silencing of the BRCA1 promoter. Mol Cell Biol. 2011;31(16):3339–50.
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumors. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):253–68.
- 43. Pujade-Lauraine E, et al. Bevacizumab combined with chemotherapy for platinum-resistant recurrent ovarian cancer: the AURELIA open-label randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(13):1302–8.
- 44. Ledermann JA, et al. Cediranib in patients with relapsed platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer (ICON6): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10023):1066–74.
- Zhang L, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13.
- 46. Sato E, et al. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(51):18538–43.
- Goodell V, et al. Antibody immunity to the p53 oncogenic protein is a prognostic indicator in ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(5):762–8.
- Odunsi K, et al. Efficacy of vaccination with recombinant vaccinia and fowlpox vectors expressing NY-ESO-1 antigen in ovarian cancer and melanoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(15):5797–802.
- Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell. 2010;140(6):805–20.
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(7):405–14.
- 51. Alberts DS, et al. Randomized trial of adjuvant intraperitoneal alpha-interferon in stage III ovarian cancer patients who have no evidence of disease after primary surgery and chemotherapy: an intergroup study. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;100(1):133–8.
- 52. Kim KH, et al. A phase I clinical trial of Ad5/3-Delta24, a novel serotype-chimeric, infectivityenhanced, conditionally-replicative adenovirus

(CRAd), in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130(3):518–24.

- Edwards RP, et al. Comparison of toxicity and survival following intraperitoneal recombinant interleukin-2 for persistent ovarian cancer after platinum: twenty-four-hour versus 7-day infusion. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15(11):3399–407.
- 54. Alvarez RD, et al. A phase II trial of intraperitoneal EGEN-001, an IL-12 plasmid formulated with PEG-PEI-cholesterol lipopolymer in the treatment of persistent or recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;133(3):433–8.
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39(1):1–10.
- 56. Hodi FS, et al. Immunologic and clinical effects of antibody blockade of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 in previously vaccinated cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(8):3005–10.
- Hamanishi J, et al. Safety and antitumor activity of anti-PD-1 antibody, nivolumab, in patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(34):4015–22.
- Larkin J, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(13):1270–1.
- Fujita K, et al. Prolonged disease-free period in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer after adoptive transfer of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. Clin Cancer Res. 1995;1(5):501–7.
- 60. Chekmasova AA, et al. Successful eradication of established peritoneal ovarian tumors in SCID-beige mice following adoptive transfer of T cells genetically targeted to the MUC16 antigen. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(14):3594–606.
- Kelemen LE, et al. Consortium analysis of gene and gene-folate interactions in purine and pyrimidine metabolism pathways with ovarian carcinoma risk. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014;58(10):2023–35.
- Inaba T, et al. Role of the immunosuppressive enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in the progression of ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;115(2):185–92.
- Gray JC, et al. Optimising anti-tumor CD8 T-cell responses using combinations of immunomodulatory antibodies. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(9):2499–511.
- 64. Mittendorf EA, et al. Final report of the phase I/ II clinical trial of the E75 (nelipepimut-S) vaccine with booster inoculations to prevent disease recurrence in high-risk breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(9):1735–42.
- 65. Rugo HS S Publication Number: S5-07 Preliminary efficacy and safety of pembrolizumab (MK-3475) in patients with PD-L1–positive, estrogen receptorpositive(ER+)/HER2-negative advanced breast cancer enrolled in KEYNOTE-028. 2015 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium doi:10.1158/1538-7445. SABCS15-S5-07.
- S Tolaney, C Savulsky, G Aktan, D Xing, A Almonte, V Karantza and S Diab Cancer Res. 2017;77 (4):P5-15-02– P5-15-02. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.SABCS16-P5-15-02.
- Nanda R, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with advanced triple-negative breast cancer: phase Ib KEYNOTE-012 study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(21):2460–7.

Challenges in Colorectal Cancer: From Vaccines to Macrophage Repolarization

Niels Halama

Contents

37.1	The Immune System in the Colon and in Colorectal Cancer	622
37.2	Immune Cells in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Factors for Prognosis and Therapy	623
37.3	Measuring the Microenvironment: Quantification of Immune Cells in Tissues	625
37.4	Immune Cells in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Prognostic and Predictive Implications	626
37.5	Primary Tumor and Metastases: Two Different Worlds	626
37.6	Immune Cells and Therapy: Immunogenic Cell Death and Beyond	627
37.7	Myeloid Immune Cells in the Microenvironment: Plasticity and Immunosuppression	627
37.8	Checkpoint Inhibition and Other Signaling Cascades	628
37.9	Cytokines and Chemokines in the Microenvironment	628
37.10	Clinical Strategies for Immunotherapy of Colorectal Cancer	629

N. Halama

Department of Medical Oncology and Internal Medicine VI, National Center for Tumor Diseases, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Institute for Immunology, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: niels.halama@nct-heidelberg.de

37.11	Vaccination and Dendritic Cell Therapy	:
	Retargeting the Immune System	629
37.12	Therapeutic Use of Cytokines	630
37.13	Adoptive T Cell Therapy and Geneticall Modified T Cell Therapy	y 631
37.14	Checkpoint Inhibition in Colorectal Cancer	632
37.15	Modulation of the Innate Immune System	633
37.16	Summary	634
37.17	Outlook and Future Directions	634
Reference	ces	635

The human body in its entirety as an organism is perceived as the "self," a unit of cells that is functionally connected to each other. The key differentiation between "self" and "nonself" is essentially made by the immune system. This fundamental role in the interaction with other cells and foreign substances is especially important at the interfaces of the body: skin, lung, and intestine. The two central regulatory systems within the immune system are the innate and the acquired immune system. From a developmental standpoint, the innate immune system is the first system with which multicellular organisms defend themselves against influences from outside. The acquired (or adaptive) immune system is evolutionarily younger and offers the advantage of greater flexibility andquite importantly-of the immunological memory.

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_37

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Together these two interlocking systems form the functional immune system. The following paragraphs will present the current view on the local immunological microenvironment and the association between the microenvironment and the course of the disease (see Fig. 37.1 for an overview). Then, clinical data will be discussed together with the prospects of immunotherapy for colorectal cancer.

37.1 The Immune System in the Colon and in Colorectal Cancer

The delicate balance between innate and adaptive immune system is of great importance in areas, where there is a continuous challenge of the immune system. This especially holds true for



Immunobiology of the colon and colorectal cancer



Prognostic and predictive aspects of the immunological microenvironment for individual patients

the intestinal tract. As an organ of food intake and resorption, there is a continuous influx of bacteria, viruses, foreign materials of all kinds, and noxious substances. This constant challenge of the immune system requires a finely regulated protection system, in particular on immunological level. Within such a fine tuned and balanced microenvironment, the occurrence of an intestinal tumor is a disaster on various levels. Both the innate and the adaptive immune system can recognize tumor cells as "nonself" and seek out to destroy these. So beyond protection against pathogens, this task is therefore of fundamental importance for our organism, as the detection of malignant cells-or cells that are transformedis essential for the conservation of the cooperative integrity of the organism. In the event of tumor growth, this function is disturbed and the immune system is not able to fully contain the



Immunobiology of colorectal cancer (liver) metastases



Clinical strategies for immunotherapy of colorectal cancer

outgrowth of the tumor. In case of the intestine, the distinction between "nonself" and "self" is a highly complex challenge. The intestine as a niche for a huge number of bacteria that are necessary for the homeostasis of the human organism is essential. This leads to the obvious task of the intestinal immune system to keep this microcosm in balance without going to the extreme of an endless process of inflammation or-on the other side of the spectrum-infections. Inflammation is a well-known factor contributing to the neoplastic process. Chronic inflammatory bowel disease induces fundamental alterations in the complex balance in the local microenvironment. This is also reflected in the bacterial species that can be found within the intestines. The occurrence of specific invasive bacterial species [1] or the loss of protective species [2] is frequently observed. This is coupled with a significant dysregulation of the local immune system [3, 4]. It is striking that the resulting inflammatory microenvironment can be ameliorated by stool transplantation [5]. In the event of sustained inflammation, it is not unexpected to see a higher rate of tumor incidence. The precise mechanisms behind the maintenance of the delicate balance and the complexity of specific changes that lead to tumor promotion are hidden behind a complex network of (immune) cells and signaling molecules. Part of these complex networks are, e.g., dietary and lifestyle factors as well as regulatory cytokine networks within the mucosa. On the basis of large epidemiological and scientific studies, evidence suggests that the risk of colorectal cancer is increased by processed and unprocessed meat consumption but suppressed by diets rich in fiber. Moreover food composition affects colonic health and cancer risk via its modulation of colonic microbial metabolism. Gut microbiota can ferment complex dietary residues that are resistant to digestion by enteric enzymes. In this process, the release of short-chain fatty acids (including butyrate) is utilized for the metabolic needs of the colon and the body in its entirety. On a more detailed level, butyrate has a distinct effect of colonic health-promoting and antineoplastic properties. It can promote maintained mucosal integrity, and it suppresses inflammation and carcinogenesis through effects on immunity [6], gene expression, and epigenetic modulation.

Only with new integrative analyses do we begin to understand the multitude of interlocking networks [7, 8]. For example, we now begin to understand, why increased iron intake can lead to tumor promotion. But beyond the parameters that influence malignant transformation and tumor initiation, the question of the role of the immune system in the tumor progression and metastatic cascade has many facets.

37.2 Immune Cells in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Factors for Prognosis and Therapy

This especially relates from an immunological view the invasion of tumor cells in surrounding tissues, lymph nodes and other organs. In these steps there are numerous interrogations of cellular immunologic interactions between tumor cells and the specific immune cells resident in the respective tissues. The precise interactions and the signals involved are still poorly understood. While passing through radically different immunological microenvironments, tumor cells on their way from the tumor can invade the pericolic fat, pass through the lymph vessels, travel the peripheral blood, and spread to organs like the liver and the lungs. Starting with the primary tumor (see Fig. 37.2), one of the important immunological questions is: what immune cells are implicated in colorectal cancer? The most prominent subgroup of immune cells in colorectal carcinoma are lymphocytes. One of the first descriptions related to immunological processes in colorectal cancer can be attributed to pathologists observing the presence of lymphoid structures in the vicinity of colorectal cancer primary tumors [9]. This finding was observed in addition to the known presence of Peyer's plaques (and other lymphoid structures) in the intestine. Only with the availability of specific staining procedures to better characterize the immunological infiltrate, pathologists, and immunologists began to systematically investigate the presence of immune cells in and around colorectal cancer [10, 11]. Not only was the presence of effector T cells confirmed by multiple groups but also the association between the composition of the local microenvironment and the clinical course of the



Fig. 37.2 The immunological context of the local microenvironment (from patient to microenvironment and back)

disease across all stages of the primary tumor [11, 12]. Even for the adjuvant situation in stage III colorectal cancer, the relation of T cell density and improved overall survival was shown [13]. The analyses of the primary colorectal tumor showed especially the prognostic role of effector T cell quantities, as characterized by CD3 and CD8 surface markers. These markers, together with granzyme B, have been shown to be of relevance by independent groups and also in other cancer entities [14–22].

37.3 Measuring the Microenvironment: Quantification of Immune Cells in Tissues

So with the step from evaluation of lymphocytic infiltration on H&E sections to automated quantification of specifically stained lymphocyte subsets, the question of the selection of the best markers appeared. This paragraph discusses the general aspects of immune cell quantification as well as two examples that highlight ambiguities and uncertainties in this field. Classical surface markers of effector T cells are CD3, CD4, and CD8, CD3 as a pan-T cell marker and CD4 as a marker for the T-helper cells. Yet there is another T cell marker that has produced conflicting results: FOXP3. This nuclear transcription factor is found mainly in regulatory T cells, a subset of lymphocytic T cells that have inhibitory functions. Initially it was believed that their presence indicates an unfavorable microenvironment with an abrogated immune response. However, the systematic analyses in colorectal cancer revealed a different picture: they showed a positive prognostic relevance not only for CD3, CD8, granzyme B, and CD45R0 positive cells but also for FOXP3-positive lymphocytes [23]. This indicates, that in contrast to the assumptions, a higher density of FOXP3-positive lymphocytes is related to a better prognosis [24]. The explanation for this phenomenon has two components that have been clarified in the meantime. First, the immune response needs a certain level of focusing, a focusing that is driven by regulatory T cells. So a loss of regulatory and focusing immune cells leads to an abrogation of an effective immune response [25]. Second, the further analysis of FOXP3-positive lymphocyte populations revealed relevant functionally diverse subsets. So the use of FOXP3 to identify a functionally inhibitory and for the patient detrimental lymphocyte subset is not specific enough [26, 27]. In addition to the questions around ideal surface markers for quantification, the spatial distribution of these immune cells is another important parameter. The localization of immune cells is not random within the tumor tissue, but the vast majority of lymphocytes is localized within the stromal compartment [15]. Only a minor fraction of these lymphocytes is in direct contact with the tumor epithelium. One of the implications of this observation is that an antitumor effect probably is induced by the cytokines of T cells [28]. Recent data however shows that with a highresolution analysis of the localization of T cells, the T cells directly in contact with tumor cells are the largest contributors to the prognostic benefit of increased T cell densities [29]. Looking at lymphocytes at the level of the tissue microenvironment, another important group of lymphocytes is natural killer (NK) cells. These innate immune cells with their excellent tumor killing properties were thought to have also an important role in the protection against tumor progression. NK cells have, in contrast to the T cells, a decisive advantage: tumor cell killing is antigen independent. NK cells are capable of activation if inactivating ligands are not present on the surface of target cells [30]. Particularly in the case of colorectal cancer cells, the destruction of tumor cells with loss of HLA class I molecules by NK cells has been very effective in in vitro experiments. Therefore the hypothesis was for NK cells to be contributors to a good prognosis in tumor tissue. Systematic analyses of colorectal cancer specimens with specific identification of localization and density of NK cells within the tissue revealed a different picture [31]. Already at a very early stage, in adenomas the numbers of NK cells in the tumor are massively decreased. This stands in stark contrast to the presence of chemokines and adhesion molecules that would support

the presence and activation of NK cells. This surprising observation was found in all stages from adenoma to colorectal cancer liver metastases. Similar data could also be obtained from breast cancer [32–34]. Another group of lymphocytes that has not been openly implicated in tumor progression in colorectal cancers: B cells. However, antibody responses against tumor-associated antigens have been reported also in colorectal cancer patients [35–40]. B cells and plasma cells are typically found in the microenvironment, and systematic analysis has identified a possible beneficial role [41–43]. It remains to be seen whether and how these cells influence tumor growth.

37.4 Immune Cells in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: Prognostic and Predictive Implications

With the comparison of lymphocytes across different stages of colorectal cancer, the metastatic stage is tightly linked to chemotherapy and salivatory resection of liver metastases. Prognosis is dire for patients with irresectable metastatic colorectal cancer, and survival rates are showing median 28 months [44]. Again for resected metastases, the quantity of T cells was prognostic for the clinical course after resection [45]. Chemotherapy is the only therapeutic option for patients with irresectable disease. Whole slide imaging quantification of colorectal cancer liver metastases revealed the association between effector T cell density specifically at the invasive margin and response to chemotherapy [46]. This finding was later independently validated by another research team [47]. An interesting aspect of these observations is that this relationship is not limited to irinotecan or oxaliplatinum-based chemotherapy and is not influenced by concomitant antibody therapy. While infiltrate densities could predict chemotherapy responses, from the clinical perspective the robustness of cell infiltration within the tissue is paramount. Heterogeneity of infiltrate density was analyzed with an automated immune cell quantification across complete sections with necrotic areas and artifacts being removed beforehand. In microsatellite stable colorectal cancer, primary tumors showed significant heterogeneity which was also seen in metastatic lesions [46, 48]. Interestingly, systematic analyses in a small number of recurrent metastatic lesions showed that even under prolonged periods of intercurrent chemotherapy, infiltrate densities can remain stable. On the other hand, a recurring lesion after radiofrequency ablation of another liver metastasis showed enhanced immune cell infiltration, suggesting the possibility to convert poorly infiltrated lesions into highly infiltrated lesions [49].

37.5 Primary Tumor and Metastases: Two Different Worlds

Another important aspect is whether the primary tumor situation is reflected in the metastatic situation as well. Little data is available from systematic analyses of colorectal cancer metastases in different metastatic sites (lung versus liver). It is clear however from the available data, that there are organ-specific differences on multiple levels [50]. Data from colorectal and renal cell cancer shows a major prognostic value of the immune pattern of CD8 positive to DC-LAMP positive (for antigen-presenting cells) cell densities in colorectal carcinoma and RCC that was reproducible from primary to metastatic lesions in the lung. The clinical impact was however quite opposite between colorectal and renal cell cancer, which shows the complexities in this area [51]. But is the immune cell infiltration pattern preserved between primary and metastatic sites? In a set of primary colorectal cancer and corresponding liver metastases samples, a ~70% concordance was found for the presence of a "good" or "poor" prognostic immunological signature in the primary and in the metastatic lesion [52]. The factors that drive the heterogeneity in immunologic infiltration in primary and in metastatic lesions have not been elucidated so far and research in this direction is ongoing. Another pressing question is how a tumor lesion of a patient with no or little immune infiltration can be turned into a highly infiltrated lesion.

37.6 Immune Cells and Therapy: Immunogenic Cell Death and Beyond

But even further: what is the mode of action of these T cells in the primary tumor and in the liver metastasis that leads to an improved clinical course of patients? Especially for the effects in the context of chemotherapy, multiple explanations are possible. Activating effects of chemotherapeutic drugs on immune cells with improved antigen presentation and activation of effector T cells is one of the explanations. This could also result in an additional effect of chemotherapy with reduction of the immunosuppressive microenvironment in the tumor. On the other hand, another elegant concept is showing "immunological cell death" induced by selected chemotherapeutic agents. Chemotherapeutic agents such as oxaliplatin are able to stimulate the immune system by inducing a more antigenic and activating tumor cell death [53, 54]. This activation involves the creation of particularly favorable epitopes for antigen presentation on the relevant cells (e.g., dendritic cells), which in turn renders chemotherapy particularly effective [55]. Chemotherapy has also other effects, which are now investigated on a more translational scale. Several groups have shown independently the relationship between the intestinal microbiome and the success of chemotherapy and immunotherapy [56–61]. The mouse model data shows that chemotherapy induces a translocation of bacteria from the intestine across the mucosa and into the lymph nodes where these lead to an enhanced immune stimulation and recognition of the tumor cells. The composition of the bacteria has a decisive role in this process: certain species are relevant as they either enforce an improved immune response or lead to an inhibition. So the composition or the presence of particularly activating

bacterial species in the intestine plays an important role for therapy response [62]. Currently, translation into an interventional trial is ongoing. "Oncomicrobiomics" is the concept of [63–66] microbiome modulation to enhance and optimize therapy response.

37.7 Myeloid Immune Cells in the Microenvironment: Plasticity and Immunosuppression

From a quantitative perspective, myeloid cells are the largest immune cell subgroup present in colorectal cancer, especially in metastatic lesions. Macrophages are a versatile and highly complex subgroup of innate immune cells, and their multiple functions are reflected in their enormous plasticity. Besides tissue-resident macrophages, recruited monocytes differentiate into macrophages within the tissue. It is unclear today, whether tumor cell-associated macrophages are arising from tissue-resident or recruited macrophages. Functionally, macrophages with their phagocytic, immunosuppressive (e.g., arginase and iNOS production), and antitumoral (reactive oxygen species formation) capabilities were initially grouped into tumor-promoting M2 and antitumoral M1 categories [65-67]. This however was soon revised, and the complexity of phenotypes of human myeloid cells is not only different from animal models but also highly diversified [66, 68–70]. Nevertheless, interventional strategies with the aim of ablating or modulating macrophages have reached translation into clinical trials [71, 72]. Another important group are the myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). This population is typically defined as an immature myeloid cell from the bone marrow with suppressive effects on the adaptive immune response and modulation of other myeloid cells like macrophages [70]. Another important functional effect of MDSCs is the depletion of Larginine from the microenvironment. Arginase that is produced by MDSCs is degrading Larginine to L-ornithine and urea and subsequently leads to T cell inactivation. In this continuum of functions, precise separations between different cellular myeloid subclasses and the transient functional states that can be found are not yet possible.

37.8 Checkpoint Inhibition and Other Signaling Cascades

Closely related to these cells are the presence and absence of specific signaling molecules. Molecules of the "programmed death" family with the receptors PD-1 and PD-2 and the ligand PD-L1 (B7-H1) are a part of an increasing family of signaling molecules that shape the functional behavior of all classes of immune cells in the microenvironment. PD-1 is a protein (55 kD) with an extracellular domain showing 23% identity to cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), another prominent inhibitory receptor on activated T cells. PD-1 plays a complex role in the selection of T cells in the thymus and in the peripheral blood. Expression levels of PD-1 on naive T and B cells are low, and only with activation an increased expression level on the surface appears. Data from mouse models suggests a protective role of PD-1 against autoreactivity. Interaction of PD-1 with its ligands leads to reduced levels of cytokines of T-helper cells and subsequent suppression of T cell proliferation [73]. This is apparently an important mechanism in viral infections, where a focusing role of PD-1 was also noted. Looking into cancer, the complexity of the presence of these signaling molecules in the local microenvironment is far from being understood. Following the initial descriptions of the functions of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis as a response to interferon [74], still up to date the complexity and regulation of the expression of PD-L1 on a multitude of immune cells are not fully understood [72, 75, 76]. In colorectal cancer liver metastases, practically all lymphocytes are PD-1 positive; tumor cells are negative for PD-L1 with a specific myeloid cell at the invasive margin being positive for PD-L1 [72]. Clinically,

inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis in colorectal cancer has not shown promising results [77]. But there are also other modulatory molecules present (sometimes specifically at the invasive margin): V-domain immunoglobulin (Ig)-containing suppressor of T cell activation (VISTA) [78], cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) [79], tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 4 (TNFRSF4, also known as CD134 and OX40) [80], T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing 3 (TIM3) [81], lymphocyte activation gene 3 protein (LAG3), and others. The modulation of immune responses for the adaptive immune system has been elucidated [82] for the majority of those receptor-ligand pairs. But there are still plenty of uncertainties, whether there are other receptors/ligands involved and how the coordination in the local microenvironment shapes the actual immunological outcome, especially in human patients. The most prominent question currently is how combination therapies can improve clinical responses and what combinations are most likely successful in a clinical setting.

37.9 Cytokines and Chemokines in the Microenvironment

Beyond the quantitative presence of immune cells and modulatory signals, the role of cytokines and chemokines within the microenvironment holds another potential for therapeutic intervention. The composition of the immune cells or cells at all in the local tumor environment is to a large share affected by these specific molecules. In addition to the classical molecules like interferon-gamma and interleukin-2, there is a wide range of proteins altering the behavior of the immune system, and these have subsequent dramatic effects on tumor cells. In this situation there are many complex relationships still completely unclear, and the pioneering work of the research group of Wolf H. Fridman has elucidated clearly: the immunological context is the decisive factor [83]. A particularly interesting example in this context

is the role of IL-10, in particular the work that lead to the discovery of interleukin-10, but also the large number of subsequent publications on the importance of IL-10 for tumor diseases. For a long time, IL-10 was almost uniformly attributed with immunosuppressive and thus tumorpromoting effects. Thus, IL-10 became one of the main target molecules for inhibitory strategies to generate an antitumor activity by the immune system. Several publications recently showed very clear: IL-10 has not only immunosuppressive, but also immune stimulating and focusing functions. A complete absence of IL-10 leads to enhanced metastatic spreading and other pro-tumorigenic effects [84]. This shows not only a high context dependency but also that there is a function of inflammatory cytokines that is also dose-dependent. This dose-dependent functionality in context of other cytokine is difficult to study but shows the urgent need for more integrated analyses. These analyses have to incorporate spatial localization and gradients of chemokines and cytokines together with tumor heterogeneity in terms of tumor cell heterogeneity and immunological heterogeneity as these complex functional relationships allow to dissect the differential effects of the underlying patterns [85, 86]. From a functional perspective, cytokines and chemokines can be grouped into patterns that reflect specific immune activation. This includes the TH1, the TH2, and the TH17 group of cytokines. While the TH1 cytokines indicate an activation of effector T cells favor (with elevated levels of IL-2, etc.), a TH2 environment leads, e.g., to the induction of antibodyproducing B cells. The TH17 milieu is typically attributed to autoimmunity and gamma-delta T cell activation. In these different contexts, different groups of cells produce clusters of inflammatory cytokines with differential effects on subsets of immune cells. Cytokines, such as macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), can have wide-ranging pleiotropic effects on multiple different systems (i.e., angiogenesis, cell cycle, etc.) and escape simple classification in one of the above systems.

37.10 Clinical Strategies for Immunotherapy of Colorectal Cancer

The understanding of the immunological mechanisms and the interaction between immune cells, tumor cells, and other cells within the microenvironment has dramatically improved, and the complexity of this interaction has been investigated from many sides [87, 88]. The clinical advances in immunotherapy are doubtless revolutionizing oncology. But has this scientific momentum also affected the clinical development of immunotherapies for colorectal cancer? There is no easy answer, as there are clear benefits for the subgroup of microsatellite instable colorectal cancers [89]. But otherwise, in light of the attempts to utilize immunological interventions, one has to concede that colorectal cancer is a challenging entity for immunotherapy [77]. However, there are promising reports that show clinical effects for advanced stage metastatic colorectal cancer patients, regardless of microsatellite stability or BRAF mutation status.

37.11 Vaccination and Dendritic Cell Therapy: Retargeting the Immune System

From a historical perspective, vaccination has been extensively tried for various cancer entities (see Fig. 37.3). In the year 2006 the summary for vaccination strategies in colorectal cancer looked quite sobering. The review by Nagorsen and Thiel [90] comes to the conclusion that the analysis of 527 patients across a broad variety of specific active immunization strategies showed an overall response rate of 0.9%. Humoral immune responses and cellular responses were seen in approximately half of the patients. Other concepts have been tried, using chemoimmunotherapy in combination with vaccination [91]. This approach resulted in clinical effects, but it was not clarified which effect is contributed by chemoimmunotherapy and which by the vaccination approach.



Fig. 37.3 Vaccination strategies for colorectal cancer

Modulation of the immune system with quickly matured dendritic cell vaccines for carcinoembryonic antigen showed no clinical effects [92]. Adjuvant immunization was tried utilizing Newcastle disease modified tumor cells following the resection of the liver metastases in 50 patients [93], but again no clear clinical benefit was identified. An anti-idiotype monoclonal antibody vaccine was also applied to 50 patients following curative resection in the Cancer and Leukemia Group B Study 89,903 [94]. At 2 years, the evaluation showed no benefit for the vaccinated group. A more promising result was seen in a randomized phase II trial, using immunization with dendritic cells modified with poxvectors encoding CEA and MUC1 compared with the same regimen plus GM-CSF in resected metastatic colorectal cancer. Both the dendritic cell and poxvector vaccines showed longer survival for vaccinated patients. A subsequent randomized trial was proposed but no data is available. Interest in vaccination approaches for colorectal cancer has not subsided, and more variations in adjuvants are tried to increase immune cell activation (Garbitsch et al. JCO 32:5 s 2014, Abstract 3093). Given the richness and diversity of approaches in colorectal cancer patients, in summary only for the adjuvant situation, some tangible effects could be observed, no large trials were performed, and for advanced disease the results were disappointing. The Stimuvax trial in colorectal cancer [95] is still ongoing with the trials for lung cancer showing no clinical effects. In 2018 the results for colorectal cancer are expected. In contrast to these "off-the-shelf" vaccines, individualized vaccines seem to be a much more promising new development, and clinical trials are expected to start soon [96].

37.12 Therapeutic Use of Cytokines

Immunomodulation with cytokines has shown interesting results in colorectal cancer. The combination of chemoimmunotherapy with gemcitabine plus FOLFOX-4 followed by subcutaneous GM-CSF and IL-2 (GOLFIG) showed activity in clinical trials. Unfortunately, problems in recruitment for the last trial (for the control arm) led to inconclusive data. Overall, data from this trial series suggests activity of this regimen with objective responses [97, 98]. This combinatorial approach was evaluated with concomitant vaccination [99], utilizing a polyepitope-peptide vaccine to thymidylate synthase (TSPP). Adverse events consisted of swelling/ erythema at injection sites (17 cases), grade I–II hematological alterations (16 cases), and gastrointestinal events (12). Of note, this regimen induced fever, rhinitis, conjunctivitis, polyarthralgia, and a rise in autoantibodies [ANA, ENA, c-ANCA, p-ANCA]. Further clinical evaluations are planned.

37.13 Adoptive T Cell Therapy and Genetically Modified T Cell Therapy

Adoptive T cell therapy is another field of interest for colorectal cancer. In malignant melanoma, spectacular results could be achieved. The principles of the procedure are shown in Fig. 37.4. For colorectal cancer however, adoptive T cell therapy was largely unsuccessful. An adjuvant trial with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes plus IL-2 after radical resection of liver metastases showed disappointing results in the 5-year follow-up analysis [100]. This approach has been largely abandoned.

Another concept is modification of T cell receptors for immunotherapy. The exceptional successes in hematologic malignancies have not been replicated in solid tumors and especially not in colorectal cancer. The genetic modification of T cells to implant a T cell receptor specificity is an elegant method, but apparently these modified T cells succumb to other evasion mechanisms in the microenvironment. Another problem for colorectal cancer seems to be the specificity of the available targets. CEA is also expressed on a variety of other cells, which produces a plethora



Fig. 37.4 Schematic illustration of adoptive immunotherapy
of unwanted and severe side effects. Severe transient colitis is one of the dominating side effects [101]. The objective regression of metastatic colorectal cancer was followed by unacceptable toxicities. Finding suitable targets and better mechanisms for controlling modified chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells will here allow new opportunities.

37.14 Checkpoint Inhibition in Colorectal Cancer

Immunomodulation with checkpoint inhibition has been very successful for microsatellite instable (MSI) colorectal cancer, but for the vast majority of patients with microsatellite stable disease (MSS), checkpoint inhibition has been unsuccessful. While data for MSI tumors in general show a favorable situation with good responses across different cancer entities, for MSS colorectal cancers, checkpoint inhibition with anti-PD-1, anti-PD-L1 [102], or anti-CTLA-4 has not shown efficacy. The checkmate 142 trial combines anti-PD-1 (nivolumab) with anti-CTLA4 (ipilimumab) inhibition in colorectal cancer patients. Sure enough, patients with MSI tumors showed responses whereas the patients with MSS tumors did not benefit.

Combination of anti-PD-L1 with small molecule inhibition (MEK inhibitor) from an early phase I trial showed promising results (see Fig. 37.5). From the reported 23 CRC patients (22 KRAS mutant, 1 WT), the most common treatment-related side effects included diarrhea (69.6%), fatigue (52.2%), acneiform dermatitis (43.5%), rash (34.8%), maculopapular rash



Fig. 37.5 Effects of combined MEK inhibition and anti-PD-L1 therapy in the microenvironment

(26.1%), pruritus (26.1%), and nausea (26.1%). The incidence of treatment-related grade III and IV adverse events was 34.8%, more than two patients developed severe diarrhea (8.7%). However, no grade V adverse events were reported. The ORR was 17% with four partial remissions and five stable diseases. Interestingly, three responses were reported to be still ongoing (range, 4.0–7.7 months at time of data cutoff). As the trial was aiming at microsatellite stable patients, three responders were mismatch repair proficient, and in one patient the status was unknown. In contrast to expectations, response was not associated with baseline PD-L1 expression. To obtain a better image of the effects of therapy on the microenvironment, serial biopsies were taken and showed enhanced PD-L1 upregulation, CD8 T cell infiltration, and enhanced MHC class I expression. This finding is in line with the previous report of the unexpected observation that potent suppression of T cell receptor (TCR) function by MEK inhibition can be largely overcome in the presence of blockade of the inhibitory PD-L1/PD-1 pathway in T cells in vivo. Enhanced antitumor activity was observed combining MEK inhibition with PD-L1 blockade in in vitro experiments, which was likely potentiated by upregulation of tumor MHC class I expression through inhibition of MEK [103]. This therapeutical concept is currently evaluated in a phase III trial (NCT02788279).

37.15 Modulation of the Innate Immune System

In contrast to immunotherapies that aim to activate the adaptive immune system, a new form of immunotherapy aims at immunomodulation of innate immune cells: modulation of macrophage (MOMA) therapy. This modulation is contrasting to depleting approaches like bisphosphonates or depleting antibodies (anti-CSF-1R) [71] and utilizes the innate arm of the immune system against the tumor [104].

A possible therapeutic pathway in this field is the inhibition of the CD47-SIRPalpha interaction. CD47 is a "do not eat me" signal on tumor cells and interacts with SIRPalpha on macrophages to inhibit phagocytosis [105–107]. The initial observation revealed promising effects for hematologic malignancies, but also for solid tumors. Subsequently multiple trials have been initiated that are now evaluating these concepts in the clinical context (NCT02367196, NCT02678338, NCT02890368); results are pending [108].

An alternative way has been uncovered and was already successfully translated into the clinic, based on the analysis of the microenvironment in metastatic colorectal cancer. The role of the CCL5-CCR5 axis in metastatic colorectal cancer liver lesions was investigated (see Fig. 37.6), and the clinically available CCR5 inhibitor maraviroc was used in a phase I trial (NCT01736813). CCR5 inhibition led to antitumoral activation of the innate arm of the immune system, i.e., macrophage repolarization, with little side effects and showed synergism with chemotherapy in a small number of patients (14 patients evaluated) [72]. Patients from the trial had BRAF mutations (7.14%) or KRAS mutations (57.14%), with up to six lines of previous therapy. Patients with previous therapy with regorafenib were included (28.57%). Side effects were generally limited, with a majority of grades I and II adverse events (89.33%). The grade III and IV events were few (10.77%) and in the vast majority consisted of lab value deviations, e.g., gamma-glutamyltransferase elevation. Clinical observations included increased necrosis of metastatic lesions on imaging analyses, which were confirmed by histological analyses from biopsies. Serial biopsies showed stable T cell infiltration at the invasive margin of liver metastases under therapy [109]. Patients from the trial were allowed to subsequently combine the CCR5 inhibitor with a previously (unsuccessful) chemotherapy. The rationale was the assumption that interferon production by myeloid cells would enhance chemotherapy effects [54]. Objective responses to this combination therapy were observed in three out of five patients (one patient not evaluable), and a tumor control rate of 80% was reached. Therefore it was concluded that combination of the activation of the innate arm



Fig. 37.6 Schematic illustration of the effects on macrophages and tumor cells induced by CCR5 inhibition in colorectal cancer

with other immunomodulatory approaches is promising and this concept is currently being investigated in further trials.

37.16 Summary

Immunotherapy for colorectal cancer has been challenging, and results have largely shown little or no effect until recently. The prospects for patients with microsatellite instable tumors are especially promising, as these tumors show very good response rates to checkpoint blockade. Combinatorial checkpoint inhibition is currently being tested for this selected subgroup of patients, but the effects are very encouraging. The situation for the large group of patients with microsatellite stable tumors is also changing. The hopes for KRAS, BRAF, PI3K mutation-independent and therapy options are high, and immunotherapy has still to deliver here significant response rates. While for checkpoint inhibition the data is unconvincing so far, the efforts to alter the microenvironment in order to utilize the innate immune system together with the adaptive immune system seem to be promising signs of new therapeutic options.

37.17 Outlook and Future Directions

For the challenges of immunotherapy of colorectal cancer, the following topics need to be addressed in the future. Sequences and combinations of chemotherapy, radiation, and immunotherapy with the optimal activation of the immune system are important for the medical decision making and patient selection. Biomarkers for this selection process are not fully developed, and their identification and validation are clear aims for future developments. For patients with colorectal cancer, the selection of individually effective immuno-therapeutical strategies is one of the most difficult but also most promising possibilities of the near future. The success of checkpoint inhibition in microsatellite instable (MSI-H) colorectal cancer seems now also extendable to the large group of microsatellite stable (MSS) colorectal cancer patients. The role of combinatorial approaches for these questions is clear, and new strategies have to be envisioned for these patients. These strategies will also help in the identification of effective regimens in adjuvant therapy or after curative resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases.

References

- Rolhion N, Darfeuille-Michaud A. Adherentinvasive Escherichia coli in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007;13:1277–83. doi:10.1002/ibd.20176.
- Sokol H, Seksik P, Furet JP, et al. Low counts of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii in colitis microbiota. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15:1183–9. doi:10.1002/ ibd.20903.
- Palm NW, de Zoete MR, Cullen TW, et al. Immunoglobulin A coating identifies colitogenic bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. Cell. 2014;158:1000–10. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.006.
- Hand TW, Vujkovic-Cvijin I, Ridaura VK, Belkaid Y. Linking the microbiota, chronic disease, and the immune system. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2016;27:831–43. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2016.08.003.
- Moayyedi P, Surette MG, Kim PT, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation induces remission in patients with active ulcerative colitis in a randomized controlled trial. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:102–9. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.001.
- O'Keefe SJ. Diet, microorganisms and their metabolites, and colon cancer. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;13:691–706. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2016.165.
- Lasry A, Zinger A, Ben-Neriah Y. Inflammatory networks underlying colorectal cancer. Nat Immunol. 2016;17:230–40. doi:10.1038/ni.3384.
- Xue X, Ramakrishnan SK, Weisz K, et al. Iron uptake via DMT1 integrates cell cycle with JAK-STAT3 signaling to promote colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell Metab. 2016;24:447–61. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2016.07.015.
- Ohtani H. Focus on TILs: prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in human colorectal cancer. Cancer Immun. 2007;7:4.
- Prall F, Duhrkop T, Weirich V, Ostwald C, Lenz P, Nizze H, Barten M. Prognostic role of CD8+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in stage III colorectal cancer with and without microsatellite instability. Hum Pathol. 2004;35:808–16.
- 11. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human

colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313:1960–4.

- Pages F, Berger A, Camus M, et al. Effector memory T cells, early metastasis, and survival in colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:2654–66.
- Morris M, Platell C, Iacopetta B. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and perforation in colon cancer predict positive response to 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:1413–7.
- Fridman WH, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Cremer I, Fisson S, Damotte D, Pages F, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C. Immune infiltration in human cancer: prognostic significance and disease control. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2011;344:1–24. doi:10.1007/82_2010_46.
- 15. Halama N, Michel S, Kloor M, et al. The localization and density of immune cells in primary tumors of human metastatic colorectal cancer shows an association with response to chemotherapy. Cancer Immun. 2009;9:1.
- Fridman WH, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Pages F, Cremer I, Damotte D, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune microenvironment of human tumors: general significance and clinical impact. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6:117–22. doi:10.1007/s12307-012-0124-9.
- Berghoff AS, Fuchs E, Ricken G, et al. Density of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes correlates with extent of brain edema and overall survival time in patients with brain metastases. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1057388. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1057388.
- Shen Z, Zhou S, Wang Y, Li RL, Zhong C, Liang C, Sun Y. Higher intratumoral infiltrated Foxp3+ Treg numbers and Foxp3+/CD8+ ratio are associated with adverse prognosis in resectable gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2010;136:1585–95.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:203–13.
- Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, et al. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/ regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:18538–43.
- Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH. TLS in tumors: what lies within. Trends Immunol. 2016;37:1–2. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.12.001.
- Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Antoine M, Danel C, et al. Long-term survival for patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with intratumoral lymphoid structures. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:4410–7.
- Salama P, Phillips M, Grieu F, Morris M, Zeps N, Joseph D, Platell C, Iacopetta B. Tumor-infiltrating FOXP3+ T regulatory cells show strong prognostic significance in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:186–92.
- Camus M, Tosolini M, Mlecnik B, et al. Coordination of intratumoral immune reaction and human colorectal cancer recurrence. Cancer Res. 2009;69:2685– 93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2654.

- Li MO, Flavell RA. Contextual regulation of inflammation: a duet by transforming growth factor-beta and interleukin-10. Immunity. 2008;28:468–76. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.003.
- Morikawa H, Sakaguchi S. Genetic and epigenetic basis of Treg cell development and function: from a FoxP3-centered view to an epigenome-defined view of natural Treg cells. Immunol Rev. 2014;259:192– 205. doi:10.1111/imr.12174.
- Ohkura N, Hamaguchi M, Morikawa H, et al. T cell receptor stimulation-induced epigenetic changes and Foxp3 expression are independent and complementary events required for Treg cell development. Immunity. 2012;37:785–99. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.09.010.
- Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Charoentong P, et al. Biomolecular network reconstruction identifies T-cell homing factors associated with survival in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology. 2010;138:1429– 40. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2009.10.057.
- Berthel A, et al. Detailed resolution analysis reveals spatial T cell heterogeneity in the invasive margin of colorectal cancer liver metastases associated with improved survival. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6:e1286436.
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:239–52.
- Halama N, Braun M, Kahlert C, et al. Natural killer cells are scarce in colorectal carcinoma tissue despite high levels of chemokines and cytokines. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:678–89.
- Mamessier E, Bourgin C, Olive D. When breast cancer cells start to fend the educational process of NK cells off. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2:e26688. doi:10.4161/onci.26688.
- 33. Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Bertucci F, et al. Human breast tumor cells induce self-tolerance mechanisms to avoid NKG2D-mediated and DNAM-mediated NK cell recognition. Cancer Res. 2011;71:6621–32. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0792.
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:3609–22. doi:10.1172/JCI45816.
- Gnjatic S, Ritter E, Buchler MW, et al. Seromic profiling of ovarian and pancreatic cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:5088–93.
- 36. Chen H, Werner S, Butt J, et al. Prospective evaluation of 64 serum autoantibodies as biomarkers for early detection of colorectal cancer in a true screening setting. Oncotarget. 2016;7:16420–32. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7500.
- 37. Chen H, Werner S, Tao S, Zornig I, Brenner H. Blood autoantibodies against tumor-associated antigens as biomarkers in early detection of colorectal cancer. Cancer Lett. 2014;346:178–87. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2014.01.007.
- Babel I, Barderas R, Diaz-Uriarte R, Martinez-Torrecuadrada JL, Sanchez-Carbayo M, Casal

JI. Identification of tumor-associated autoantigens for the diagnosis of colorectal cancer in serum using high density protein microarrays. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2009;8:2382–95.

- Soussi T. p53 Antibodies in the sera of patients with various types of cancer: a review. Cancer Res. 2000;60:1777–88.
- 40. Scanlan MJ, Chen YT, Williamson B, et al. Characterization of human colon cancer antigens recognized by autologous antibodies. Int J Cancer. 1998;76:652–8.
- Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, et al. Integrative analyses of colorectal cancer show immunoscore is a stronger predictor of patient survival than microsatellite instability. Immunity. 2016;44:698–711. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.025.
- Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Kirilovsky A, et al. The tumor microenvironment and Immunoscore are critical determinants of dissemination to distant metastasis. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:327ra26. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad6352.
- 43. Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, et al. Functional network pipeline reveals genetic determinants associated with in situ lymphocyte proliferation and survival of cancer patients. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:228ra37. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3007240.
- 44. Heinemann V, Rivera F, O'Neil BH, Stintzing S, Koukakis R, Terwey JH, Douillard JY. A study-level meta-analysis of efficacy data from head-to-head first-line trials of epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors versus bevacizumab in patients with RAS wild-type metastatic colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2016;67:11–20. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2016.07.019.
- 45. Katz SC, Pillarisetty V, Bamboat ZM, et al. T cell infiltrate predicts long-term survival following resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:2524–30. doi:10.1245/ s10434-009-0585-3.
- 46. Halama N, Michel S, Kloor M, et al. Localization and density of immune cells in the invasive margin of human colorectal cancer liver metastases are prognostic for response to chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5670–7.
- 47. Tanis E, Julie C, Emile JF, et al. Prognostic impact of immune response in resectable colorectal liver metastases treated by surgery alone or surgery with perioperative FOLFOX in the randomised EORTC study 40983. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51:2708–17. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2015.08.014.
- Halama N, Zoernig I, Spille A, et al. Quantification of prognostic immune cell markers in colorectal cancer using whole slide imaging tumor maps. Anal Quant Cytol Histol. 2010;32:333–40.
- 49. Keim S, Zoernig I, Spille A, Lahrmann B, Brand K, Herpel E, Grabe N, Jager D, Halama N. Sequential metastases of colorectal cancer: Immunophenotypes and spatial distributions of infiltrating immune cells in relation to time and treatments. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:593–9.

- Kahlert C, Pecqueux M, Halama N, et al. Tumoursite-dependent expression profile of angiogenic factors in tumour-associated stroma of primary colorectal cancer and metastases. Br J Cancer. 2014;110:441–9. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.745.
- Remark R, Alifano M, Cremer I, et al. Characteristics and clinical impacts of the immune environments in colorectal and renal cell carcinoma lung metastases: influence of tumor origin. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:4079–91. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-3847.
- 52. Halama N, Spille A, Lerchl T, et al. Hepatic metastases of colorectal cancer are rather homogeneous but differ from primary lesions in terms of immune cell infiltration. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2:e24116. doi:10.4161/onci.24116.
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immune parameters affecting the efficacy of chemotherapeutic regimens. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8:151–60.
- 54. Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Andre F, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. The anticancer immune response: indispensable for therapeutic success? J Clin Invest. 2008;118:1991–2001.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:265–77.
- 56. Dzutsev A, Goldszmid RS, Viaud S, Zitvogel L, Trinchieri G. The role of the microbiota in inflammation, carcinogenesis, and cancer therapy. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45:17–31. doi:10.1002/ eji.201444972.
- 57. Viaud S, Daillere R, Boneca IG, et al. Gut microbiome and anticancer immune response: really hot sh*t! Cell Death Differ. 2015;22:199–214. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.56.
- Viaud S, Daillere R, Boneca IG, Lepage P, Pittet MJ, Ghiringhelli F, Trinchieri G, Goldszmid R, Zitvogel L. Harnessing the intestinal microbiome for optimal therapeutic immunomodulation. Cancer Res. 2014;74:4217–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-0987.
- Viaud S, Daillere R, Yamazaki T, Lepage P, Boneca I, Goldszmid R, Trinchieri G, Zitvogel L. Why should we need the gut microbiota to respond to cancer therapies? Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e27574. doi:10.4161/onci.27574.
- Viaud S, Saccheri F, Mignot G, et al. The intestinal microbiota modulates the anticancer immune effects of cyclophosphamide. Science. 2013;342:971–6. doi:10.1126/science.1240537.
- Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, et al. Commensal bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. Science. 2015;350:1084–9. doi:10.1126/science.aac4255.
- Daillere R, Vetizou M, Waldschmitt N, et al. Enterococcus hirae and Barnesiella intestinihominis facilitate cyclophosphamide-induced therapeutic immunomodulatory effects. Immunity. 2016;45:931– 43. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.09.009.
- 63. Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and dis-

ease. Nature. 2013;496:445–55. doi:10.1038/ nature12034.

- 64. Qian BZ, Pollard JW. New tricks for metastasisassociated macrophages. Breast Cancer Res. 2012;14:316. doi:10.1186/bcr3143.
- Bonavita E, Galdiero MR, Jaillon S, Mantovani A. Phagocytes as corrupted policemen in cancer-related inflammation. Adv Cancer Res. 2015;128:141–71. doi:10.1016/bs.acr.2015.04.013.
- 66. Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, et al. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. Immunity. 2014;41:14–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P. The interaction of anticancer therapies with tumor-associated macrophages. J Exp Med. 2015;212:435–45. doi:10.1084/ jem.20150295.
- Schlitzer A, Schultze JL. Tissue-resident macrophages—how to humanize our knowledge. Immunol Cell Biol. 2016;95:173–7. doi:10.1038/icb.2016.82.
- Schultze JL, Schmidt SV. Molecular features of macrophage activation. Semin Immunol. 2015;27:416– 23. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2016.03.009.
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:253–68.
- Ries CH, Cannarile MA, Hoves S, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with anti-CSF-1R antibody reveals a strategy for cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2014;25:846–59. doi:10.1016/j. ccr.2014.05.016.
- 72. Halama N, Zoernig I, Berthel A, et al. Tumoral immune cell exploitation in colorectal cancer metastases can be targeted effectively by anti-CCR5 therapy in cancer patients. Cancer Cell. 2016;29:587–601. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2016.03.005.
- Sunshine J, Taube JM. PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2015;23:32–8. doi:10.1016/j. coph.2015.05.011.
- 74. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8:793–800. doi:10.1038/nm730.
- Taube JM, Young GD, McMiller TL, et al. differential expression of immune-regulatory genes associated with PD-L1 display in Melanoma: implications for PD-1 pathway blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3969–76. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-15-0244.
- 76. Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:5064– 74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3271.
- 77. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Zitvogel L, Fridman WH. Colorectal cancer: the first neoplasia found to be under immunosurveillance and the last one to respond to immunotherapy? Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e1058597. doi:10.108 0/2162402X.2015.1058597.

- Lines JL, Sempere LF, Broughton T, Wang L, Noelle R. VISTA is a novel broad-spectrum negative checkpoint regulator for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:510–7. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0072.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Gough MJ, Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Dhungel B, Brown A, Weinberg AD. OX40 agonist therapy enhances CD8 infiltration and decreases immune suppression in the tumor. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5206–15.
- Monney L, Sabatos CA, Gaglia JL, et al. Th1-specific cell surface protein Tim-3 regulates macrophage activation and severity of an autoimmune disease. Nature. 2002;415:536–41. doi:10.1038/415536a.
- Baksh K, Weber J. Immune checkpoint protein inhibition for cancer: preclinical justification for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade and new combinations. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:363–77. doi:10.1053/j. seminoncol.2015.02.015.
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:298–306.
- Tanikawa T, Wilke CM, Kryczek I, Chen GY, Kao J, Nunez G, Zou W. Interleukin-10 ablation promotes tumor development, growth, and metastasis. Cancer Res. 2012;72:420–9.
- Tape CJ. Systems biology analysis of heterocellular signaling. Trends Biotechnol. 2016;34:627–37. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.02.016.
- Tape CJ, Ling S, Dimitriadi M, et al. Oncogenic KRAS regulates tumor cell signaling via stromal reciprocation. Cell. 2016;165:1818. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.05.079.
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature. 2007;450:903–7.
- Coussens LM, Zitvogel L, Palucka AK. Neutralizing tumor-promoting chronic inflammation: a magic bullet? Science. 2013;339:286–91.
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1500596.
- Nagorsen D, Thiel E. Clinical and immunologic responses to active specific cancer vaccines in human colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:3064–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2788.
- Weihrauch MR, Ansen S, Jurkiewicz E, et al. Phase I/II combined chemoimmunotherapy with carcinoembryonic antigen-derived HLA-A2-restricted CAP-1 peptide and irinotecan, 5-fluorouracil, and leucovorin in patients with primary metastatic colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:5993– 6001. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0018.

- 92. Sakakibara M, Kanto T, Hayakawa M, et al. Comprehensive immunological analyses of colorectal cancer patients in the phase I/II study of quickly matured dendritic cell vaccine pulsed with carcinoembryonic antigen peptide. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60:1565–75. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1051-1.
- 93. Schulze T, Kemmner W, Weitz J, Wernecke KD, Schirrmacher V, Schlag PM. Efficiency of adjuvant active specific immunization with Newcastle disease virus modified tumor cells in colorectal cancer patients following resection of liver metastases: results of a prospective randomized trial. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58:61–9. doi:10.1007/ s00262-008-0526-1.
- 94. Posner MC, Niedzwiecki D, Venook AP, Hollis DR, Kindler HL, Martin EW, Schilsky RL, Goldberg RM, Mayer RJ. A phase II prospective multiinstitutional trial of adjuvant active specific immunotherapy following curative resection of colorectal cancer hepatic metastases: cancer and leukemia group B study 89903. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:158– 64. doi:10.1245/s10434-007-9654-7.
- Moehler M, Delic M, Goepfert K, et al. Immunotherapy in gastrointestinal cancer: recent results, current studies and future perspectives. Eur J Cancer. 2016;59:160–70. doi:10.1016/j. ejca.2016.02.020.
- Schumacher T, Bunse L, Pusch S, et al. A vaccine targeting mutant IDH1 induces antitumour immunity. Nature. 2014;512:324–7. doi:10.1038/ nature13387.
- 97. Correale P, Tagliaferri P, Fioravanti A, et al. Immunity feedback and clinical outcome in colon cancer patients undergoing chemoimmunotherapy with gemcitabine + FOLFOX followed by subcutaneous granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor and aldesleukin (GOLFIG-1 Trial). Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:4192–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5278.
- Correale P, Botta C, Rotundo MS, et al. Gemcitabine, oxaliplatin, levofolinate, 5-fluorouracil, granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor, and interleukin-2 (GOLFIG) versus FOLFOX chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients: the GOLFIG-2 multicentric open-label randomized phase III trial. J Immunother. 2014;37:26–35. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0000000000000004.
- 99. Correale P, Botta C, Martino EC, et al. Phase Ib study of poly-epitope peptide vaccination to thymidylate synthase (TSPP) and GOLFIG chemoimmunotherapy for treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer patients. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1101205. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1101205.
- 100. Gardini A, Ercolani G, Riccobon A, et al. Adjuvant, adoptive immunotherapy with tumor infiltrating lymphocytes plus interleukin-2 after radical hepatic resection for colorectal liver metastases: 5-year analysis. J Surg Oncol. 2004;87:46–52. doi:10.1002/ jso.20066.

- 101. Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Langan RC, et al. T cells targeting carcinoembryonic antigen can mediate regression of metastatic colorectal cancer but induce severe transient colitis. Mol Ther. 2011;19:620–6. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.272.
- 102. McCallahan F, et al. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:5s.
- 103. Ebert PJ, Cheung J, Yang Y, et al. MAP kinase inhibition promotes T cell and anti-tumor activity in combination with PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. Immunity. 2016;44:609–21. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2016.01.024.
- 104. Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.217.
- 105. Willingham SB, Volkmer JP, Gentles AJ, et al. The CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic target for human solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:6662–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1121623109.

- 106. Tseng D, Volkmer JP, Willingham SB, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody-mediated phagocytosis of cancer by macrophages primes an effective antitumor T-cell response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:11103–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1305569110.
- 107. Sockolosky JT, Dougan M, Ingram JR, Ho CC, Kauke MJ, Almo SC, Ploegh HL, Garcia KC. Durable antitumor responses to CD47 blockade require adaptive immune stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E2646–54. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1604268113.
- Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cell. 2010;142:699–713. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.044.
- 109. Halama N, Michel S, Kloor M, et al. Localization and density of immune cells in the invasive margin of human colorectal cancer liver metastases are prognostic for response to chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5670– 7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0268.

Current Status of Immuno-Oncology in Hematologic Cancers

38

Bertrand Routy and David Ghez

Contents

38.1	Introduction	641
38.2	Direct Targeting of Cellular Surface	
	Antigens	642
38.2.1	The Famous CD20 Story	642
38.2.2	Targeting Molecules Other than CD20	643
38.2.3	Newer Target of Interest	644
38.3	Blinatumomab: A New Hope	
	in Relapsed/Refractory ALL	647
38.4	BiTe for Non-ALL Hematological	
	Malignancies	648
38.5	Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (or	
	Activators)	648
38.6	Checkpoint Blockade in Other	
	Hematological Malignancies	650
38.6.1	Non-Hodgkin Lymphomas (NHL)	650
38.6.2	Multiple Myeloma	651
38.6.3	Myeloid Malignancies	651
38.7	Future Directions	651
References		

B. Routy • D. Ghez (🖂)

Gustave Roussy Cancer Campus (GRCC), Villejuif, France

Institut National de la Santé Et de la Recherche Medicale (INSERM) U1015, Villejuif, France

Equipe Labellisée—Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer, Villejuif, France

Univ. Paris-Sud, Université Paris-Saclay, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France e-mail: bertrand.routy@gustaveroussy.fr; david.ghez@gustaveroussy.fr

38.1 Introduction

Harnessing the immune system in order to eliminate malignant cells has been a long-standing dream for all hematologists and oncologists. Hematologists paved the way with allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), which was the first successful demonstration of the potential of immunotherapy in cancer, when the benefit of graft versus leukemia was clearly demonstrated. Though allogeneic HSCT is now routinely used in the clinic, major limitations include short- and long-term toxicities, the difficulty to obtain a stem cell graft, and the limited number of hematological cancers that can benefit from this therapy. It took several decades of intensive research to develop and validate other strategies that could expand the field of immunotherapies. Targeting cellular antigens expressed at the surface of malignant cells was the first step, as illustrated by the quintessential example of the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (mAb) rituximab. New generations of mAbs targeting novel receptors, bispecific antibodies (BsAbs) that direct cytotoxic T cells toward tumor cells, and genetically modified T cells and the development of immune checkpoint blockers (ICB) recently demonstrated very promising activity in several clinical trials and are expected to be at the forefront of cancer therapy. These new treatments have the capacity to shift the "cancer-immune set point" barrier and overcome cancer-induced immune escape

[1]. In this chapter, we shall review the most recent clinical trials investigating the impact of immuno-oncology in hematology in the hope to stimulate further exciting work in this field to significantly improve the life of patients living with cancer.

38.2 Direct Targeting of Cellular Surface Antigens

The potential antitumor activity of humoral immunity has been recognized for a long time in hematological malignancies and has led to the development of mAb targeting surface molecules expressed by malignant cells. The mechanisms of action of mAbs include direct induction of cell death, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity/phagocytosis (ADCC/ADCP) through engagement of Fc receptor on immune cells, and complement-dependent cytotoxicity. Cytotoxicity may be enhanced by the coupling of a cytotoxic or toxin which triggers cell death after internalization. The engineering and development of rituximab, the first therapeutic anti-CD20 mAb, constitute a success story in hematology. For more than a decade thereafter, most attempts to target other cellular antigens using mAbs failed to demonstrate potent efficacy and favorable safety profile [2]. Following a better understanding of

immunoediting and engineering mAbs, things are starting to change as several mAbs have recently demonstrated extremely interesting activity in several clinical trials (Fig. 38.1).

38.2.1 The Famous CD20 Story

Overcoming the barriers of xenogeneic immunogenicity through humanization of murine antibodies led to the development of rituximab, the first humanized mAb directed against CD20, which showed unprecedented clinical activity in relapsed CD20 diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [3–5]. In the landmark randomized clinical trial published in 2002, the French GELA group demonstrated that the addition of rituximab to the standard CHOP regimen was able to increase the response rate and prolong event-free and overall survival (OS) up to 10 years (44% vs 28%, respectively) in elderly patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [6]. Since that pivotal trial, rituximab has proven its efficacy in nearly all types of CD20-positive B-cell malignancies and now represents the standard of care in indolent and aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) as well as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). Recently, the results of two large randomized clinical trials demonstrated the superiority of rituximab-based strategies in Burkitt's lymphoma



Fig. 38.1 Key time points in the discovery and development of immuno-oncology drugs for the treatment of hematologic cancers

and B-lineage adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) [7, 8].

Second-generation mAb against CD20, obinutuzumab (GA101), is a glycoengineered type II humanized mAb that was designed to have a stronger affinity to the FcyRIII on immune cells and potentially being superior to rituximab in vitro. As compared to rituximab, obinutuzumab demonstrated more direct cell death and enhanced ADCC/ADCP but lower CDC. In addition, obinutuzumab, which binds to a single CD20 tetramer, is believed to get less internalized than rituximab, which might increase ADCC/ADCP. Obinutuzumab was approved for the treatment of CLL in elderly or unfit patients following the results of a large randomized trial that demonstrated the superiority of chlorambucil and obinutuzumab over chlorambucil and rituximab in terms of response rate and complete response [9]. It should be noted that obinutuzumab plus chlorambucil was associated with more toxicities. In CLL, a combination of obinutuzumab with novel agents such as the bcl-2 antagonist venetoclax and the btk inhibitor ibrutinib is being evaluated. Promising preliminary results presented in conferences make it likely that obinutuzumab will be widely used in CLL in the near future.

Furthermore, obinutuzumab has been recently approved in relapsed follicular lymphoma in combination with bendamustine based on longer progression-free survival (PFS) when compared to bendamustine monotherapy in the GADOLIN phase 3 clinical trial [10]. Similarly, the primary results of the GALLIUM study showed that obinutuzumab-based induction and maintenance increased PFS in patients with previously untreated follicular lymphoma [11]. However, the success observed in follicular lymphoma and CLL might not be valid in more aggressive lymphomas. Indeed, the GOYA study, a large randomized phase III trial that compared head-to-head rituximab or obinutuzumab plus CHOP in 1418 patients with untreated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, failed to meet its primary endpoint (investigatorassessed PFS) [12].

38.2.2 Targeting Molecules Other than CD20

38.2.2.1 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a mAb directed against CD52, a cell surface antigen expressed by B cells, T cells, and monocytes. It was originally approved as a single agent for the treatment of fludarabinerefractory and del17p CLL [13]. Although alemtuzumab appeared effective in one-third of patients with fludarabine-refractory disease, its broad immunosuppressive activity was associated with severe and lethal opportunistic infections [14]. In CLL and other subtypes of lymphomas, the results of most clinical trials evaluating the association of alemtuzumab with chemotherapy failed to demonstrate a clear advantage over standard therapy, with some studies being prematurely interrupted because of an alarmingly higher death rate related to infections. For the same reason, its use in conditioning regimen in non-myeloablative allogeneic HSCT has been limited by an increased risk of lifethreatening infectious complications and a higher rate of disease relapse [15]. Commercialization of alemtuzumab for hematological malignancies was interrupted in 2012, because the manufacturer wished to rebrand the product under a different name for multiple sclerosis. It remains accessible through specific distribution program for CLL in different countries.

38.2.2.2 Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin

Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (GO) is a humanized mAb directed against the CD33 surface antigen coupled to calicheamicin, a potent antitumor anthracycline antibiotic. In AML, CD33 represents an interesting target because it is expressed by the majority of AML cells. Following its approval by the FDA after the promising phase 2 data in relapsed older adults with AML, GO has been the subject of controversies and was even withdrawn following the results of a large randomized trial (recently reviewed by Rowe and Lowenberg) [16, 17]. However, aggregated data from four randomized trials have renewed the interest of using GO in newly diagnosed AML, particularly in patients with more favorable cytogenetic. In addition, GO seems particularly active in newly diagnosed and relapsed acute promyelocytic leukemia, which expresses high level of CD33 [18]. Given the absence of novel effective agents in AML over the last three decades, the use of GO should probably be reappraised in the light of these results.

38.2.3 Newer Target of Interest

38.2.3.1 Brentuximab Vedotin

Brentuximab vedotin (BV) is an antibody drug conjugate consisting in a mAb directed against CD30 conjugated to the microtubule-disrupting agent MMAE via a protease-cleavable linker. CD30 is a cell surface molecule belonging to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily that is mainly expressed by subpopulations of B and T cells upon activation [19]. The expression of CD30 has been reported in various hematologic and solid cancers. In hematology, the principal malignancies expressing CD30 are classical Hodgkin lymphoma (cHL), anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL) anaplastic large cell lymphoma, primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma, T-cell lymphomas, and EBV-induced posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders.

BV demonstrated clinical activity in relapsed/ refractory CD30-positive lymphomas [20] and is approved as a single agent for this condition and in ALCL. In HL, administered in monotherapy, BV induces an overall response rate (ORR) of 75% and is associated with durable responses in nearly half the patients relapsing after autologous SCT [21–23]. A phase 2 trial evaluating frontline BV as a monotherapy in older patients unfit for conventional chemotherapy showed a 92% overall response rate including 73% of complete remission [24].

Combination of BV with chemotherapy and radiotherapy was feasible and well tolerated in numerous phase I and phase II trials. A word of caution: BV should not be used in combination with bleomycin-containing regimen because of a high rate of pulmonary complications [25]. In a phase II pilot study evaluating BV and AVD followed by involved-site radiotherapy in early-stage unfavorable risk HL, 90% (26/29) and 93% (27/29) of patients achieved a negative PET scan after two and four cycles, respectively. A large phase III trial is currently evaluating BV plus AVD versus ABVD in advanced classical HL (NCT01712490). The AETHERA study examined the potential of BV administered as consolidation therapy post-autologous SCT in relapsed HL [26]. Median PFS was 42.9 months for patients in the brentuximab vedotin group compared with 24.1 months for those in the placebo group, supporting its efficacy in the posttransplant setting. Updated data confirm the superiority of the BV arm in the AETHERA study [27]. A limited number of studies have shown BV to control disease before [28] or in patients relapsing after allogeneic HSCT [29-31]. Altogether, BV has demonstrated a very promising activity in HL. The results of several ongoing phase III randomized trials, which are evaluating BV in addition with chemotherapy in either untreated or relapsed HL, might lead to the incorporation of BV in standard-of-care regimen for cHL.

BV has been prescribed for other CD30positive lymphoid malignancies in small trials or case reports; therefore, data are less robust than with cHL. BV induced an 85% ORR with a median duration of 12.6 months in 58 patients with relapsed or refractory systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma [32]. A phase I/II study of frontline BV in combination with chemotherapy in CD30-positive primary mediastinal B-cell lymphomas (PMBCL), diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (DLBCL), and gray-zone lymphomas is recruiting patients (NCT01994850). Further studies are needed to define its efficacy, especially in T-cell lymphomas where improvement is eagerly awaited given their usual resistance to standard chemotherapy.

38.2.3.2 Daratumumab

Daratumumab is a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody that targets CD38, a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed by a large array of cell types including T cells, B cells, monocytes, and NK and NK/T cells. CD38 is ubiquitously expressed on multiple myeloma (MM) cells, which makes it an interesting therapeutic target. Recent experimental evidence suggests that the biological effect of daratumumab expands beyond the classical properties of therapeutic mAbs and may involve immunomodulation [33]. Daratumumab can deplete regulatory immune cells like myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), regulatory B cells, and a newly identified subset of CD38hi regulatory T cells, which allows expansion of CD4+ Th cells and CD8+ cytotoxic T cells and increased IFN- γ . Daratumumab as a single agent demonstrated very promising activity in two clinical studies in heavily pretreated patients with relapsed/ refractory MM [34, 35]. Daratumumab induced remarkable response rates, including stringent complete responses, and prolonged clinical responses. These results led to its approval in MM with ≥ 3 lines of treatment including a proteasome inhibitor and an IMID or refractory to both.

Early data from the CASTOR and POLLUX trials, which evaluated the association of daratumumab with bortezomib and dexamethasone or lenalidomide and dexamethasone, respectively, in previously treated MM patients, have been published [36, 37]. Although the results of these studies are somehow limited by their short follow-up (7.5 and 13.5 months), both already showed a significant improvement in terms of response and PFS. The 12-month rates of PFS were 60.7% in the daratumumab group versus 26.9% in the control group (CASTOR) and 83.2% in the daratumumab group, as compared with 60.1% in the control group (POLLUX). Daratumumab has been rapidly moved to the frontline and is being evaluated in combination with other anti-myeloma agents. In HSCTeligible MM patients, the large randomized phase III CASSIOPEA trial from the IFM is comparing the standard-of-care regimen VTD (bortezomib, thalidomide, and dexamethasone) to daratumumab plus VTD (NCT02252172). In older patients, VMP (bortezomib, melphalan, and prednisone) is challenged against daratumumab plus VMP (NCT02195479). If the results of these studies confirm its efficacy in MM, daratumumab might well become "the rituximab of myeloma."

Besides MM, there is a rationale to try daratumumab in other hematological malignancies that express CD38. Preclinical data support evaluating daratumumab in high-risk CLL, in which the malignant B-cell population frequently expresses CD38 [38]. Recently, daratumumab was used with success in a case of refractory CD38+NK/Tcell lymphoma [39].

38.2.3.3 Elotuzumab

Elotuzumab is another mAb directed against CS1/SLAMF7 receptor. SLAMF7 is uniformly expressed at a high level by both normal and malignant plasma cells, whereas other cell types to the exception of NK cells do not express it. Elotuzumab's mechanism of action is different than other mAbs like daratumumab. Elotuzumab binds to SLAMF7 expressed by NK cells leading to their activation. Activated NK cells then kill elotuzumab-tagged plasma cells through engagement of CD16 with its Fc region.

Elotuzumab has little or no effect as a single agent in patients with relapsed/refractory MM [40]. However, it demonstrated activity in combination with other anti-myeloma drugs in phase I trials [35, 41]. In a randomized open-label phase 2 study, the addition of elotuzumab to bortezomib slightly increased the PFS in 150 previously treated MM patients [42]. The 1-year PFS rate was 39% vs 33% in the control arm, and in the updated analysis, the 2-year PFS rate was 18% vs 11%. The large randomized multicenter phase III ELOQUENT-2 trial compared the efficacy and safety of lenalidomide and dexamethasone with or without elotuzumab in 646 relapsed/ refractory MM patients after ≤ 3 lines of treatment [43]. The ORR was 79% vs 66% in the control group, and median PFS was 19.4 months vs 14.9 months in the elotuzumab group and the control group, respectively. These results led to its FDA approval in 2015. In conclusion, elotuzumab in combination with lenalidomide has demonstrated clinical activity in MM, although its efficacy appears less impressive than daratumumab. Further studies are needed to clearly define the place of elotuzumab in the armamentarium against MM, in particular what should be the optimal combination.

38.2.3.4 Bispecific T-Cell Engagers

The previous sections revealed that compared to standard chemotherapy, mAbs offer a more selective and less toxic therapeutic approach. However, the major drawback of mAbs is the inability to recruit cytotoxic T lymphocytes to the tumor bed and transform non-inflamed tumor to inflamed one. Several lines of evidence have demonstrated that the number of tumor-infiltrating T cells directly correlates with the clinical outcome in different cancers [44]. It took more than one decade from the development of rituximab to envision methods capable of directly increasing and priming specific CTL within the tumor microenvironment. Two distinct strategies that illustrate this paradigm shift and successfully translate into the clinic are:

- Unleashing the priming and effector phase of T lymphocyte-mediated immune responses by suppressing the interaction of inhibition receptors and ligands with ICBs such as PD-1 and CTLA-4 blockades.
- 2. Bypassing the exhausted T cells with chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR T cells): adop-

tive injection of transduced autologous T cells with a specific antigen-binding domain coupled to intracellular receptor on T cell thereby redirects cytotoxic T lymphocytes to specifically recognize cancer cells.

To overcome the cost, complexity, and delay of manufacturing personalized CAR T cells for each patient in a good manufacturing practice (GMP) facility, a different approach to redirect T cells was needed. From this perspective, the development of BsAbs represents a strategy of paramount interest. BsAbs also called dual-targeting antibodies have the capability to bind two different targets bringing two cells in contact. This technology allows engaging a patient's own cytotoxic T cells to cancer cells and promotes a sustained tumor lysis. Following the clinical benefit in ALL, BsAbs represent one of the fastest-growing class of anticancer therapeutics, and more than 50 BsAbs are currently in clinical development [45, 46].

Bispecific T-cell engagers (BiTe) like blinatumomab consists in two scFv separated by a flexible and short linker (Fig. 38.2). The N-terminal



Fig. 38.2 Blinatumomab architecture and mechanism of action

scFv recognizes the tumor-associated antigens (TAA), and the C-terminal scFv binds to invariant CD3 ϵ monoclonal antibody. The two arms are connected by a non-immunological linker and provide a remarkable flexibility. This therapeutic architecture is independent from TCR specificity and from peptide antigen presentation. Therefore, by bypassing the MHC I TCR axis on CTL, polyclonal T cells can be recruited to the tumor microenvironment and overcome the downregulation of MHC molecules that is often found on cancer cells. In vitro experiments revealed that BsAb like blinatumomab (CD3/ CD19) coculture triggers immunological synapse between effector T and leukemic cells. These synapses allow the release of perforin and granzyme (pore-forming protein) by T cells further contributing to the cell nuclear condensation and membrane blebbing. The immunological synapses also lead to the upregulation of surrogate immune-activating receptors like CD25 and CD69 and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-2, IFN- γ , and IL-6. Importantly, neither CD4+ nor CD8+ T-cell subset proliferation and activation post-blinatumomab require exogenous IL-2 administration.

38.3 Blinatumomab: A New Hope in Relapsed/Refractory ALL

Despite the remarkable advances in the treatment of pediatric ALL over the last three decades, standard therapy still fails in 10–20% of the cases. In adult ALL, only half of the patients remain tumor-free at 5 years, and prognosis postrelapse remains grim. B-ALL leukemic cells express several surface antigens amenable to mAb such as CD19, CD20, and CD22. Despite being expressed on normal B-cell lineage from the late pro-B-cell stage to plasma cell differentiation, these receptors are absent on hematopoietic stem cells. Furthermore, we learned from rituximab that CD20 inhibition was associated with only transient B-cell depletion and rare immunosuppressive complications.

The initial BsAbs clinical trial using standard mAb infusion schedule was negative and poorly

tolerated. Interestingly, for the clinical development of these molecules, the initial in vivo proof of concept in macaques revealed a unique pharmacokinetics. BsAbs have an extremely short half-life of 2 h, which is in stark contrast to a 21-day half-life of a mAb like rituximab [47]. Based on these preclinical pharmacokinetics data, blinatumomab was subsequently administered in continuous infusion over 28 days using a mini pump to maintain a steady drug concentration.

In adults with relapsed/refractory ALL, two phase II trials led to the FDA approval of blinatumomab in December 2014 and EMA in November 2015. In the MT103-206 trial, 36 patients received continuous blinatumomab and 69% achieved CR or CR with partial hematological recovery [48]. Of note, as reported in prior phase 1 trial, CNS adverse events appeared to be the most relevant complication and required discontinuation of the treatment. These unprecedented results in a heavily pretreated population led to a larger confirmatory phase II trial with 189 patients [49]. CR or CRh occurred in similar proportion of patients without previous (42%) or post (45%)-allogeneic HSCT. It is important to mention that 32 out of the 52 patients who achieved CR or CRh proceeded to allogeneic HSCT.

More recently, the phase 3 TOWER trial confirmed the superiority of blinatumomab to standard care in adult patients with relapsed/ refractory ALL. Of the 405 patients included, the median OS was 7.7 months in the blinatumomab group compared to 4.0 months in the chemotherapy group. Treatment with the BiTe also resulted in higher complete remission (34% vs 16% p = 0.01). With respect to toxicity, the investigators reported equal incidence of grade 3 adverse event in both arms [50].

In pediatric relapse/refractory ALL, Arend von Stackelberg published a phase I/II study including more than 90 children. Among the 70 patients who received the optimal dose, 39% achieved complete response, and 52% of them achieved complete minimal residual response. Based on 2-year follow-up, the median OS was 7.5 months and more than 20% were still alive [51].

Safety Profile

Despite the very potent anticancer effect of blinatumomab, unique adverse events have been reported in the majority of clinical trials. From a hematological perspective, thrombocytopenia, neutropenia, and hypogammaglobulinemia were relatively common. Cytokine release syndrome (CRS) was anticipated from the published CAR-T trials. CRS is caused by a transient release of inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 and IL-2 and IFN-y from T cells after being engaged to tumor cells. Fever, chills, hypotension, and respiratory distress are characteristic. Life-threatening CRS was reported during the first trials of CAR-T, and IL-6 inhibitor tocilizumab was required [52]. To prevent severe CRS, premedication with dexamethasone was recommended especially for patients with high blast count over 15×10^{9} /L. Neurological events were the most challenging and unexpected toxicity reported for blinatumomab. These included seizure, absence, and confusion. The underlying mechanism is still unclear but might be secondary to a transient neuroinflammatory irritation of the CNS. Activated T cells can cross the blood-brain barrier and trigger toxic inflammation. Guidelines were published in order to adequately prevent and treat neurological toxicity with dexamethasone prophylaxis and dose adjustment.

38.4 BiTe for Non-ALL Hematological Malignancies

The proof of concept on the efficacy of BiTe has been demonstrated in ALL. Similar compounds are being tested for other indications:

- AMG330 targeting CD3/CD33 is a promising antibody. Preclinical studies demonstrated that targeting CD33 in AML led to T-cell recruitment and expansion [53]. Phase 1 trials are currently being conducted (NCT02520427).
- 2. Blinatumomab appeared to be effective in 21 heavily pretreated DLBCL patients. After 1 cycle, the overall response rate was 43% and

19 were in CR [54]. More studies are being conducted.

 Multiple myeloma—multiple epitopes specific to malignant cells are being tested in preclinical studies in phase I. These include BCMA transmembrane activator and calcium modulator exclusively expressed on B-cell lineage or Wue-1 [55].

Blinatumumab are emerging as immunomodulating drugs with significant therapeutic value. However, despite the promising results for patients with ALL relapsed/refractory disease, many patients only experience transient benefit, and the drugs remaine often a bridge to allogeneic HSCT. Clinical trials are already underway to administer BsAbs in less heavily treated patients and in combination with other immunotherapeutic drugs. These approaches might increase the anticancer effects and the cure rate and potentially change the way we treat hematological malignancies.

38.5 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (or Activators)

Defective immune response caused by T-cell exhaustion is a common feature of immune escape for many types of cancers and will be extendedly reviewed in this book. The unprecedented positive clinical trials in solid tumors demonstrated the therapeutic potential of blocking the inhibitory receptors CTLA-4 and PD-1. In this section, we will review the most important clinical trials of ICB in hematological malignancies.

Anti-PD-1 Blockade as a Proof of Concept in cHL cHL was one of the first hematological malignancies in which immune checkpoint blockade was attempted as it represented an interesting model for therapeutic inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis. Recurrent amplification of the chromosome 9p24.1 locus which includes PD-L1, PD-L2, and JAK2 or infection with EBV all led to hyperexpression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 at the surface of Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells [56]. The pivotal phase 1 trial with nivolumab, a fully human IgG4 directed against PD-1, in 23 patients with relapsed/refractory cHL was a clinical success that led to its approval in 2016 [57] (Table 38.1). With an acceptable safety profile, nivolumab demonstrated impressive clinical activity in heavily pretreated patients, with an objective response rate of 87% (20/23), including 17% with a complete response and 70% with a partial response, and a 24-week PFS rate of 86%. These results have been confirmed in a published phase II trial that enrolled 80 patients after failure

	Study	Patients	Molecule/dosing	Outcome	Toxicity
Hodgkin lymphoma	Ansell et al. [57] Phase I	23 patients relapse/ refractory cHL (78%— Brentuximab), (78%—autologous HSCT)	Nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks	Overall and complete response rates were 87 and 17%	2 patients discontinued the drug
	Younes et al. [58] Phase II	80 patients who failed to respond to autologous stem-cell transplantation	Nivolumab 3 mg/kg every 2 weeks	Overall and complete response rate 66 and 9%	Grade 3 or 4 adverse events were neutropenia 5% patients) increased lipase concentrations 5%
	Armand et al. [59] Phase Ib	31 patients: disease progressed on or after treatment with brentuximab vedotin	Pembrolizumab, 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks	PFS at 1 year 46%	No grade 4 toxicity or death related to immune side effects
	Herbaux et al. [60] Retrospective	20 patients who relapsed after allogeneic transplantation	3 mg/kg every 2 weeks	Overall response rate 95%	GVHD occurred in 6 patients and 2 died—all of them had prior history of aGVHD
Other hematological malignancies	Ansell et al. [63] Phase I	18 patients refractory follicular, DLBCL, Mantle	Ipilimumab 3 mg/kg and then monthly at 1 mg/kg × 3 & 3 mg/kg monthly × 4 months	2 patients had clinical response (CR & PR)	Colitis grade 3 in 56% but no grade 4 toxicity
	Lesokhin et al. [66] Phase I	Follicular, $n = 10$; DLBCL, $n = 11$; other B-cell lymphomas, $n = 10$; mycosis fungoides, n = 13; T lymphoma n = 10; multiple myeloma, $n = 27$	Nivolumab 1 or 3 mg/ kg every 2 weeks	ORR 40%— Follicular 36%— DLBCL and 40%— Peripheral T cell No objective response in MM	Mostly grade 1–2 toxicity
	Westin et al. [65] Phase II	32 patients with follicular lymphoma	Pidilizumab 3 mg/kg every 4 weeks for 4 infusion + Rituximab 375 mg/m ² weekly for 4 weeks	ORR 66%, CR 52%	Absence of grade 3–4 toxicity

 Table 38.1
 Clinical trials of Immune checkpoint inhibitors in hematological malignancies

of both autologous SCT and BV [58]. The phase Ib KEYNOTE-013 trial with pembrolizumab, another anti-PD-1 mAb, demonstrated similar efficacy though the ORR (65%) was slightly lower than with nivolumab [59]. Nivolumab was tried in cHL after failure of allogeneic SCT with some efficacy despite a risk of triggering acute GVHD [60, 61]. The occurrence in patients who received nivolumab prior to allogeneic SCT of a higher-than-expected rate of early severe transplant-related complications, including several fatal cases of acute GVHD, warrants further scrutiny [62]. To date, PD-1 inhibitors are prescribed continuously for as long as they remain beneficial. In melanoma, some patients were on PD-1 inhibitors for 2 years. The duration of PD-1 treatment in responders remains an open question. Indeed, recent clinical observations suggest that a shorter course or intermittent prescriptions of PD-1 might be as potent as continuous injections. Several investigators are now assessing different PD-1 injection schedule and earlier discontinuation for selected patients.

38.6 Checkpoint Blockade in Other Hematological Malignancies

Can we expect the success obtained in cHL with anti-PD-1 to other types of hematologic malignancies? The first results of early-phase clinical trials indicated that single-agent blockade of PD-1 or CTLA-4 was less active, and the underlying reasons remain unknown.

38.6.1 Non-Hodgkin Lymphomas (NHL)

The first study on checkpoint blockade in NHL was a phase I trial with the anti-CTLA-4 mAb ipilimumab [63]. The ORR rate was a disappointing 11%. However, the fact that one patient with DLBCL had complete response >31 months and one with follicular lymphoma a partial response lasting 19 months suggested that checkpoint

blockade might have therapeutic relevance even in aggressive diseases.

Following the results of a phase I study [64], pidilizumab, a humanized anti-PD-1 IgG1 mAb, was tried after autologous SCT in 66 very highrisk DLBCL or PMBCL patients to test the hypothesis that PD-1 blockade could help eradicate residual disease and improve PFS. PFS was 72% at 16 months meeting the primary endpoint. Interestingly, pidilizumab led to apparent CR in 34% of patients with a measurable disease after transplant. Furthermore, the 16-month PFS was 70% in patients with a posttransplant positive PET scan, which compared favorably with the results observed in this very high-risk subgroup. Pidilizumab in combination with rituximab in relapsing rituximab-sensitive follicular lymphoma (FL) was associated with an ORR and CR rate of 60% and 52%, respectively [65] (Table 38.1). Although these figures seem higher than one could expect from rituximab alone in this population, the use of combination therapy makes interpretation of these results challenging. Nivolumab also demonstrated antitumor activity in various types of NHL when given in monotherapy, providing an ORR of 40% and 36% in follicular lymphoma and DLBCL, respectively, which lasted for >12 months in some patients who reached CR [66].

In conclusion, NHL seems to be less sensitive to PD-1 or CTLA-4 inhibition than HL, but more patients are currently being enrolled in trials combining different ICBs. One exception might be the PMBCL subtype. PMBCL shares common biological features with cHL including frequent overexpression of PD-L1 due to either amplification of the 9p24.1 locus or other mechanisms, which suggests that PD-1/PD-L1 blockade might also be effective. Owing to the rarity of the disease, clinical data are scarce. Two patients with PMBCL enrolled in a phase Ib trial had clinical responses to nivolumab [66]. Preliminary results in the PMBCL independent cohort of the KEYNOTE-013 trial reported an intent-to-treat ORR of 40% in heavily pretreated patients [66]. Results of pembrolizumab in patients with relapsed PMBCL (NCT02576990) will clarify whether PMBCL are comparable to cHL in terms of response to PD-1 blockade.

38.6.2 Multiple Myeloma

Though PD-L1 is harbored by plasma cells, preliminary results with nivolumab in multiple myeloma (MM) were disappointing with no patient achieving objective responses, though stabilization of the disease was observed in 63% of cases [66]. The one patient with MM enrolled in a phase I trial with pembrolizumab had a stable disease that lasted more than a year. Thus, solely blocking the PD-1 axis may not be effective in MM. There is a growing interest in PD-L1 that is expressed by plasma cells and on plasmacytoid DCs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) which play a role in MM pathogenesis. Several trials are currently evaluating the anti-PD-L1 mAb atezolizumab and durvalumab alone or in combination. Furthermore, promising combinations of pembrolizumab with Revlimid and dexamethasone or pomalidomide are currently being investigated. Phase 1 trials already demonstrated that these combinations were well tolerated.

38.6.3 Myeloid Malignancies

Preclinical data suggest that myelodysplastic syndrome or acute myeloid leukemia may be sensitive to inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 or CTLA-4 pathways [67]. Interestingly, several lines of evidence demonstrated that exposure to the hypomethylating agent decitabine resulted in dose-dependent upregulation of PD-L1 and PD-L2. PD-1 inhibition demonstrated limited activity in AML [64]. Data from clinical trials have been published mainly in abstract forms in conferences. Results are still immature to draw conclusions, but preliminary results suggest some activity, at least in some patients. In a phase I/Ib trial after allogeneic SCT, ipilimumab yielded objective responses, including CR in four patients with extramedullary AML and one patient with secondary AML following MDS [68]. As with NHL, it is unlikely that immune checkpoint inhibition will demonstrate major efficacy in myeloid malignancies when used as a single agent. This provides a rationale for trying combination therapy in order to enhance the antitumor and immunogenic effects of PD-1 or other immune checkpoint inhibitors.

38.7 Future Directions

Immune-based therapies have been at the forefront of hematology for more than 30 years with the pioneer works describing the anticancer activity of graft versus leukemia (GVL) effect and consequently the development of allogeneic transplantation (HSCT). However, graft-versushost disease (GVHD) still remains the principle hurdle in HSCT for favorable patient outcome. Subsequently, rituximab confirmed the proof of concept that mAb alone or in combination with standard chemotherapy provided unparalleled clinical response and revolutionized our approach to treat cancer. Despite this success story, the role of the immune system in cancer remained underestimated for many decades. It is only, recently, after unveiling that tumors have the unique ability to downregulate infiltrating T cells by activating negative regulatory pathways that the field of immuno-oncology has led to an unprecedented approval of immune-modifier drugs.

Despite numerous positive trials, the field of immune checkpoint modulation is still in its infancy. Although the results obtained with anti-PD-1 mAb were a breakthrough in the treatment of relapsed/refractory cHL, it should be kept in mind that ICBs only offer a prolonged disease control. Therefore, in order to continue to improve patients' outcome, it is of upmost importance to determine the optimal timing for anti-PD-1 therapy in cHL and whether combinations with chemotherapy of BV can increase its potency. In this sense, clinical trials are now evaluating the benefits of PD-1 blockade in association with chemotherapy in the first line or, similarly to the AETHERA trial, the KEYNOTE-204 study comparing a maintenance treatment with either pembrolizumab or BV in relapsing cHL (NCT02684292) after autologous HSCT. For now, less impressive than in cHL, the activity of PD-1 or CTLA-4 blockade observed in some patients with other hematological diseases justifies further evaluations, in particular in combinations. Furthermore, preclinical data suggest that novel agents such as immunomodulatory drugs (IMIDs) or small-molecule inhibitors, which have an impact on the immune system homeostasis, might augment their therapeutic efficacy [69]. A combination of either IMIDs or ibrutinib and PD-1 blockade is the subject of several clinical trials in MM and NHL.

Experimental data provides a rationale for combining 5-azacitidine and PD-1 blockade [67]. Finally, new mAbs are being developed against other inhibitory receptors such as Lag-3, TIGIT, Tim-3, or OX40.

In addition, for more powerful and targeted engagement of cancer and cytotoxic T cells, bispecific antibodies linking CD3/CD19 were developed, and blinatumomab was the first BiTE approved by the FDA for relapse/refractory ALL. The development of highly active compound in these heavily pretreated patients is an expanding field, and preclinical data also support the combination of BiTE antibodies and blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis in leukemia [70].

For all immuno-oncology compounds being developed, two challenging questions remain to be answered to improve their potency: what may be the optimal sequence/timing and what robust biomarkers may be used to predict efficacy. Multiple clinical trials are now enrolling patients to move these molecules into frontline regimens, and scientists are testing new biomarkers (immunohistology, genetic mutations, and gut microbiota) to better predict response and toxicity.

References

- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature. 2017;541(7637):321–30.
- Smith MR. Rituximab (monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody): mechanisms of action and resistance. Oncogene. 2003;22(47):7359–68.
- Maloney DG, Grillo-López AJ, White CA, Bodkin D, Schilder RJ, Neidhart JA, et al. IDEC-C2B8 (rituximab) anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy in patients with relapsed low-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Blood. 1997;90(6):2188–95.
- Maloney DG, Grillo-López AJ, Bodkin DJ, White CA, Liles TM, Royston I, et al. IDEC-C2B8: results of a phase I multiple-dose trial in patients with

relapsed non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15(10):3266-74.

- Davis TA, White CA, Grillo-López AJ, Velásquez WS, Link B, Maloney DG, et al. Single-agent monoclonal antibody efficacy in bulky non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: results of a phase II trial of rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(6):1851–7.
- Coiffier B, Lepage E, Briere J, Herbrecht R, Tilly H, Bouabdallah R, et al. CHOP chemotherapy plus rituximab compared with CHOP alone in elderly patients with diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(4):235–42.
- Ribrag V, Koscielny S, Bosq J, Leguay T, Casasnovas O, Fornecker L-M, et al. Rituximab and dose-dense chemotherapy for adults with Burkitt's lymphoma: a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2016;387(10036):2402–11.
- Maury S, Chevret S, Thomas X, Heim D, Leguay T, Huguet F, et al. Rituximab in B-lineage adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(11):1044–53.
- Goede V, Fischer K, Busch R, Engelke A, Eichhorst B, Wendtner CM, et al. Obinutuzumab plus chlorambucil in patients with CLL and coexisting conditions. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(12):1101–10.
- Sehn LH, Chua N, Mayer J, Dueck G, Trněný M, Bouabdallah K, et al. Obinutuzumab plus bendamustine versus bendamustine monotherapy in patients with rituximab-refractory indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma (GADOLIN): a randomised, controlled, open-label, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1081–93.
- 11. Paper: Obinutuzumab-based induction and maintenance prolongs progression-free survival (PFS) in patients with previously untreated follicular lymphoma: primary results of the randomized phase 3 GALLIUM study [Internet]. [cited 2017 Mar 28]. Available from: https://ash.confex.com/ash/2016/ webprogram/Paper94744.html
- 12. Paper: obinutuzumab or rituximab plus CHOP in patients with previously untreated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: final results from an open-label, randomized phase 3 study (GOYA) [Internet]. [cited 2017 Mar 28] Available from: https://ash.confex.com/ ash/2016/webprogram/Paper96159.html
- Lozanski G, Heerema NA, Flinn IW, Smith L, Harbison J, Webb J, et al. Alemtuzumab is an effective therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia with p53 mutations and deletions. Blood. 2004;103(9):3278–81.
- 14. Parikh SA, Keating MJ, O'Brien S, Wang X, Ferrajoli A, Faderl S, et al. Frontline chemoimmunotherapy with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, alemtuzumab, and rituximab for high-risk chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2011;118(8):2062–8.
- Mead AJ, Thomson KJ, Morris EC, Mohamedbhai S, Denovan S, Orti G, et al. HLA-mismatched unrelated donors are a viable alternate graft source for allogeneic transplantation following alemtuzumabbased reduced-intensity conditioning. Blood. 2010;115(25):5147–53.

- Rowe JM, Löwenberg B. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute myeloid leukemia: a remarkable saga about an active drug. Blood. 2013;121(24):4838–41.
- Petersdorf SH, Kopecky KJ, Slovak M, Willman C, Nevill T, Brandwein J, et al. A phase 3 study of gemtuzumab ozogamicin during induction and postconsolidation therapy in younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(24):4854–60.
- Gorczyca W, Sun Z-Y, Cronin W, Li X, Mau S, Tugulea S. Immunophenotypic pattern of myeloid populations by flow cytometry analysis. Methods Cell Biol. 2011;103:221–66.
- Younes A, Yasothan U, Kirkpatrick P. Brentuximab vedotin. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11(1):19–20.
- Younes A, Bartlett NL, Leonard JP, Kennedy DA, Lynch CM, Sievers EL, et al. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) for relapsed CD30-positive lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(19):1812–21.
- 21. Younes A, Gopal AK, Smith SE, Ansell SM, Rosenblatt JD, Savage KJ, et al. Results of a pivotal phase II study of brentuximab vedotin for patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(18):2183–9.
- 22. Gopal AK, Chen R, Smith SE, Ansell SM, Rosenblatt JD, Savage KJ, et al. Durable remissions in a pivotal phase 2 study of brentuximab vedotin in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125(8):1236–43.
- Chen R, Gopal AK, Smith SE, Ansell SM, Rosenblatt JD, Savage KJ, et al. Five-year survival and durability results of brentuximab vedotin in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2016;128(12):1562–6.
- 24. Forero-Torres A, Holkova B, Goldschmidt J, Chen R, Olsen G, Boccia RV, et al. Phase 2 study of frontline brentuximab vedotin monotherapy in Hodgkin lymphoma patients aged 60 years and older. Blood. 2015;126(26):2798–804.
- 25. Younes A, Connors JM, Park SI, Fanale M, O'Meara MM, Hunder NN, et al. Brentuximab vedotin combined with ABVD or AVD for patients with newly diagnosed Hodgkin's lymphoma: a phase 1, open-label, dose-escalation study. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(13):1348–56.
- 26. Moskowitz CH, Nademanee A, Masszi T, Agura E, Holowiecki J, Abidi MH, et al. Brentuximab vedotin as consolidation therapy after autologous stem-cell transplantation in patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma at risk of relapse or progression (AETHERA): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2015;385(9980):1853–62.
- 27. Updated efficacy and safety data from the AETHERA trial of consolidation with brentuximab vedotin after autologous stem cell transplant (ASCT) in Hodgkin lymphoma patients at high risk of relapse. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2016;14(2 Suppl 1):17–8.
- Chen R, Palmer JM, Thomas SH, Tsai N-C, Farol L, Nademanee A, et al. Brentuximab vedotin enables successful reduced-intensity allogeneic

hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2012;119(26):6379–81.

- Gopal AK, Ramchandren R, O'Connor OA, Berryman RB, Advani RH, Chen R, et al. Safety and efficacy of brentuximab vedotin for Hodgkin lymphoma recurring after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2012;120(3):560–8.
- 30. Carlo-Stella C, Ricci F, Dalto S, Mazza R, Malagola M, Patriarca F, et al. Brentuximab vedotin in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma and a failed allogeneic stem cell transplantation: results from a named patient program at four Italian centers. Oncologist. 2015;20(3):323–8.
- 31. Tsirigotis P, Danylesko I, Gkirkas K, Shem-Tov N, Yerushalmi R, Stamouli M, et al. Brentuximab vedotin in combination with or without donor lymphocyte infusion for patients with Hodgkin lymphoma after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51(10):1313–7.
- 32. Pro B, Advani R, Brice P, Bartlett NL, Rosenblatt JD, Illidge T, et al. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) in patients with relapsed or refractory systemic anaplastic large-cell lymphoma: results of a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(18):2190–6.
- 33. Krejcik J, Casneuf T, Nijhof IS, Verbist B, Bald J, Plesner T, et al. Daratumumab depletes CD38+ immune regulatory cells, promotes T-cell expansion, and skews T-cell repertoire in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2016;128(3):384–94.
- 34. Lokhorst HM, Plesner T, Laubach JP, Nahi H, Gimsing P, Hansson M, et al. Targeting CD38 with daratumumab monotherapy in multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(13):1207–19.
- 35. Lonial S, Weiss BM, Usmani SZ, Singhal S, Chari A, Bahlis NJ, et al. Daratumumab monotherapy in patients with treatment-refractory multiple myeloma (SIRIUS): an open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2016;387(10027):1551–60.
- Palumbo A, Chanan-Khan A, Weisel K, Nooka AK, Masszi T, Beksac M, et al. Daratumumab, Bortezomib, and dexamethasone for multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):754–66.
- Dimopoulos MA, Oriol A, Nahi H, San-Miguel J, Bahlis NJ, Usmani SZ, et al. Daratumumab, Lenalidomide, and dexamethasone for multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(14):1319–31.
- 38. Matas-Céspedes A, Vidal-Crespo A, Rodriguez V, Villamor N, Delgado J, Giné E, et al. The human CD38 monoclonal antibody daratumumab shows antitumor activity and hampers leukemia-microenvironment interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(6):1493–505.
- Hari P, Raj RV, Olteanu H. Targeting CD38 in refractory extranodal natural killer cell-T-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(15):1501–2.
- 40. Zonder JA, Mohrbacher AF, Singhal S, van Rhee F, Bensinger WI, Ding H, et al. A phase 1, multicenter, open-label, dose escalation study of elotuzumab in

patients with advanced multiple myeloma. Blood. 2012;120(3):552–9.

- 41. Jakubowiak AJ, Benson DM, Bensinger W, Siegel DSD, Zimmerman TM, Mohrbacher A, et al. Phase I trial of anti-CS1 monoclonal antibody elotuzumab in combination with bortezomib in the treatment of relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(16):1960–5.
- 42. Jakubowiak A, Offidani M, Pégourie B, De La Rubia J, Garderet L, Laribi K, et al. Randomized phase 2 study: elotuzumab plus bortezomib/dexamethasone vs bortezomib/dexamethasone for relapsed/refractory MM. Blood. 2016;127(23):2833–40.
- Lonial S, Dimopoulos M, Palumbo A, White D, Grosicki S, Spicka I, et al. Elotuzumab therapy for relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(7):621–31.
- 44. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960–4.
- 45. Byrne H, Conroy PJ, Whisstock JC, O'Kennedy RJ. A tale of two specificities: bispecific antibodies for therapeutic and diagnostic applications. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31(11):621–32.
- 46. Lameris R, de Bruin RCG, Schneiders FL. Van Bergen en Henegouwen PMP, Verheul HMW, de Gruijl TD, et al. Bispecific antibody platforms for cancer immunotherapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2014;92(3):153–65.
- 47. Schlereth B, Quadt C, Dreier T, Kufer P, Lorenczewski G, Prang N, et al. T-cell activation and B-cell depletion in chimpanzees treated with a bispecific anti-CD19/anti-CD3 single-chain antibody construct. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(5):503–14.
- 48. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Zugmaier G, Klappers P, Stelljes M, Neumann S, et al. Phase II trial of the anti-CD19 bispecific T cell-engager blinatumomab shows hematologic and molecular remissions in patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(36):4134–40.
- 49. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57–66.
- Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gökbuget N, Fielding AK, Schuh AC, Ribera J-M, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- 51. von Stackelberg A, Locatelli F, Zugmaier G, Handgretinger R, Trippett TM, Rizzari C, et al. Phase I/phase II study of Blinatumomab in pediatric patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(36):4381–9.
- 52. Maude SL, Barrett D, Teachey DT, Grupp SA. Managing cytokine release syndrome associ-

ated with novel T cell-engaging therapies. Cancer J Sudbury Mass. 2014;20(2):119–22.

- 53. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, Zugmaier G, Bögeholz J, Köhnke T, et al. CD33 target validation and sustained depletion of AML blasts in long-term cultures by the bispecific T-cell-engaging antibody AMG 330. Blood. 2014;123(3):356–65.
- 54. Viardot A, Goebeler M-E, Hess G, Neumann S, Pfreundschuh M, Adrian N, et al. Phase 2 study of the bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody blinatumomab in relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2016;127(11):1410–6.
- Tai Y-T, Anderson KC. Targeting B-cell maturation antigen in multiple myeloma. Immunotherapy. 2015;7(11):1187–99.
- 56. Green MR, Monti S, Rodig SJ, Juszczynski P, Currie T, O'Donnell E, et al. Integrative analysis reveals selective 9p24.1 amplification, increased PD-1 ligand expression, and further induction via JAK2 in nodular sclerosing Hodgkin lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2010;116(17):3268–77.
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):311–9.
- 58. Younes A, Santoro A, Shipp M, Zinzani PL, Timmerman JM, Ansell S, et al. Nivolumab for classical Hodgkin's lymphoma after failure of both autologous stem-cell transplantation and brentuximab vedotin: a multicentre, multicohort, single-arm phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(9):1283–94.
- 59. Armand P, Shipp MA, Ribrag V, Michot J-M, Zinzani PL, Kuruvilla J, et al. Programmed death-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in patients with classical Hodgkin lymphoma after brentuximab vedotin failure. J Clin Oncol. 2016:pii: JCO673467.
- 60. Herbaux C, Gauthier J, Brice P, Drumez E, Ysebaert L, Doyen H, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of nivolumab after allogeneic transplantation for relapsed Hodgkin's lymphoma. Blood. 2017;129(18):2471–8.
- Angenendt L, Schliemann C, Lutz M, Rebber E, Schulze AB, Weckesser M, et al. Nivolumab in a patient with refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51(3):443–5.
- 62. Merryman RW, Kim HT, Zinzani PL, Carlo-Stella C, Ansell SM, Perales M-A, et al. Safety and efficacy of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant after PD-1 blockade in relapsed/refractory lymphoma. Blood. 2017;129(10):1380–8.
- 63. Ansell SM, Hurvitz SA, Koenig PA, LaPlant BR, Kabat BF, Fernando D, et al. Phase I study of ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody, in patients with relapsed and refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(20):6446–53.
- 64. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody

interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(10):3044–51.

- 65. Westin JR, Chu F, Zhang M, Fayad LE, Kwak LW, Fowler N, et al. Safety and activity of PD1 blockade by pidilizumab in combination with rituximab in patients with relapsed follicular lymphoma: a single group, openlabel, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):69–77.
- 66. Lesokhin AM, Ansell SM, Armand P, Scott EC, Halwani A, Gutierrez M, et al. Nivolumab in patients with relapsed or refractory hematologic malignancy: preliminary results of a phase Ib study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(23):2698–704.
- 67. Yang H, Bueso-Ramos C, DiNardo C, Estecio MR, Davanlou M, Geng Q-R, et al. Expression of PD-L1, PD-L2, PD-1 and CTLA4 in myelodysplastic syndromes is enhanced by treatment with

hypomethylating agents. Leukemia. 2014;28(6): 1280-8.

- Davids MS, Kim HT, Bachireddy P, Costello C, Liguori R, Savell A, et al. Ipilimumab for patients with relapse after allogeneic transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(2):143–53.
- 69. Sagiv-Barfi I, Kohrt HEK, Czerwinski DK, Ng PP, Chang BY, Levy R. Therapeutic antitumor immunity by checkpoint blockade is enhanced by ibrutinib, an inhibitor of both BTK and ITK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(9):E966–72.
- Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, Zugmaier G, Lichtenegger FS, Köhnke T, et al. Blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis augments lysis of AML cells by the CD33/CD3 BiTE antibody construct AMG 330: reversing a T-cell-induced immune escape mechanism. Leukemia. 2016;30(2):484–91.

Immunotherapy of Gliomas

Michael Platten

Contents

39.1	Introduction	657
39.2	Defining Appropriate Antigens	658
39.3	Neoepitopes in Gliomas	659
39.4	Checkpoint Inhibitors in Glioma	660
39.5	T Cell Therapy	661
39.6	Targeting the Immune Microenvironment in Gliomas	662
References		662

M. Platten

Department of Neurology, University Hospital Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany e-mail: m.platten@dkfz.de

39.1 Introduction

Gliomas are intrinsic incurable brain tumors with diffusely infiltrative growth and resistance to genotoxic treatments. Despite this, standard therapy consists of surgery radiotherapy and alkylating chemotherapy. Gliomas are among the molecularly best characterized tumors, yet numerous clinical trials aiming at treating this challenging disease using targeted agents have been unsuccessful, which may not be solely attributed to poor blood-brain barrier penetrance of many targeted compounds. Thus, there is a profound medical need for the development of innovative therapies. The dogma that the central nervous system (CNS) is an immune-privileged site inaccessible for peripheral immune responses has been largely refuted. The CNS is constantly surveyed by antigen-specific T cells preventing opportunistic infections such as progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) caused by a CNS-specific activation of the JC virus in immunocompromised individuals [1]. In addition, devastating autoimmune diseases of the CNS such as multiple sclerosis (MS) are initiated by peripheral activation of CNS antigen-specific immune responses infiltrating the CNS. Finally, the recent proof of lymphatic drainage of the CNS supports the notion that there is intense immunological communication between the CNS and the peripheral immune system [2, 3]. Thus, there is renewed interest in glioma immunotherapy, but many concepts and opportunities

DKTK Clinical Cooperation Unit Neuroimmunology and Brain Tumor Immunology, German Cancer Research Center [DKFZ], Im Neuenheimer Feld 280, 69120, Heidelberg, Germany

of immunooncology such as checkpoint inhibition are readily applied to gliomas often without taking into account the particular immunological challenges associated with this disease. These challenges are (1) the definition of appropriate target antigens, (2) the translation of an effective immune response through the CNS barrier into the tumor microenvironment, and (3) the prevention of immune deactivation by the glioma immune microenvironment [4]. Conceptually, addressing these challenges requires innovative early clinical trial concepts assessing intratumoral immune responses, which is particularly challenging in gliomas. In the following sections, the current status of glioma immunotherapy will be discussed with a particular focus on these challenges and innovative trial concepts.

39.2 Defining Appropriate Antigens

Targets for vaccines in glioma immunotherapy are in the transition from classic **self-antigens** to private neoepitopes. Melanoma antigens such as AGE-A1/3, TRP-2, or gp100 are also expressed in gliomas albeit at variable levels and are used for vaccination protocols in low- and high-grade gliomas [5]. Recent efforts have focused on antigens expressed by glioma stem cells [6]. ICT-107 a dendritic cell vaccine encompassing antigens believed to be enriched in glioma stem cells: HER2, TRP-2, gp100, MAGE-1, IL13Rα2, and AIM-2 [7]. A randomized, double-blind phase 2 clinical trial indicated a survival advantage in the ICT-107-treated group compared to the control group and also showed an association between immune response and survival, especially in HLA-A2-positive (HLA-A2+) patients. In HLA-A2+ patients, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 registrational trial of ICT-107 encompassing 500 HLA-A2+ patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma is underway (EORTC1587, NCT02546102). This trial as other multipeptide vaccine trial will not be able to address the relevant glioma antigen in a given patient nor provide evidence that an effective intratumoral immune response is generated. In

principle, however, self-antigens may be a meaningful target in gliomas. A recent report on a patient with a disseminated glioma demonstrated an objective response after intracranial infusion of IL13R α 2-targeted CAR T cells without overt toxicity [8, 9].

There are two major determinants for the induction of an effective antitumor immune response targeting self-antigens in general. First, many self-antigens are expressed in the thymus, resulting in central T cell tolerance and the development of antigen-specific suppressive T-regulatory cells [10]. Thymic tolerance to tumor-associated antigens in an individual patient, however, is not generally tested. Second, the suitability of patients for vaccination against tumor-associated antigens of tumor antigens is usually assessed based on the expression profile, and the HLA type predicted to present the respective epitope with high affinity. Methods to test the presentation of antigens in tumor tissue, however, have only recently been developed and subsequently implemented into clinical trial designs. IMA950 is a multipeptide self-antigen peptide cocktail vaccine for HLA-A2+ glioma patients encompassing tumor-associated peptides (TUMAP) extracted from an HLA ligandome by mass spectroscopy evaluation of peptides eluted from HLA-A2 in glioma tissue [11]. IMA950 has been investigated in a first-in-man study (NCT01222221) in 45 patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. Of 40 evaluable patients, 36 were TUMAP responders and 20 were multi-TUMAP responders. PFS rates were 74% at 6 months and 31% at 9 months. More recently, this approach has been extended to discover the presentation of mutated antigens [12]. The multicenter Glioma Actively Personalized Vaccine Consortium (GAPVAC) trial aims at assessing the safety and feasibility of a personalized vaccine in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma (GAPVAC-101, NCT02149225). Here, the selection and production of the personalized peptide vaccine are based not only on whole exome sequencing (WES) but also on HLA ligandome analyses providing additional information of the actual presentation of the relevant epitopes on HLA molecules in the tumor tissue. Another

method to analyze antigen presentation in tumor tissue comprises the adaptation of an in situ proximity ligation assay (PLA). Two prerequisites have to be fulfilled for this method to be applied to detection of antigen presentation: (1) a neoepitope-specific antibody has to be available, and (2) this antibody must recognize the neoepitope in the context of MHC. This method has been developed to assess the presentation of the glioma neoepitope IDH1R132H in situ in paraffin-embedded glioma tissue [13]. Here, proximity of the IDH1R132H neoepitope and MHC class II was detected in 10/20 patients with IDH1R132H-mutant gliomas and 0/19 patients with IDH1 wild-type gliomas indicating high specificity of the assay. The advantage of this assay in contrast to HLA ligandome analyses is the low amount of tissue necessary, the applicability to archival paraffin-embedded tissue, and the cellular resolution, which allows for differentiation of the cell type presenting the antigen by applying co-immunostainings. In gliomas, the neoepitope may be presented by MHC class II-positive glioma cells [13].

39.3 Neoepitopes in Gliomas

As in other tumor diseases, most neoepitopes (mutated or variant epitopes) in gliomas are private epitopes. There are few examples of shared neoepitopes. The variant III of the epidermal growth factor receptor [EGFR] is a tumorspecific antigen generated by alternative splicing of exons two through seven and fusion of exon 1 with exon 8 generating a novel amino acid sequence. EGFRvIII is detectable at varying mRNA expression levels in about 25% of glioblastoma. Following preclinical studies in syngeneic mouse models, a peptide vaccine using the neoepitope sequence conjugated to the adjuvant keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) was developed. This vaccine induces anti-EGFRvIII antibody responses in humans, whereas robust T cell responses have not been described [14]. In phase I/II studies (NCT01920191, NCT01222221), the vaccine was safe and resulted in a survival benefit compared with historic controls. Initial studies also suggested proof of biological efficacy based on the observation that in the majority of patients with recurrence EGFRvIII was no longer detectable [15]. Subsequently, EGFRvIII Pep-KLH (Rindopepimut®) was tested in a placebocontrolled, double-blind, multicenter phase III registrational trial in patients with newly diagnosed EGFRvIII-positive glioblastoma as an adjunct to combined radiochemotherapy with temozolomide (ACT-IV, NCT01480479). This trial has missed the primary endpoint and failed to demonstrate efficacy of the vaccine with an OS of 20.4 months in the Rindopepimut[®] group compared with an OS of 21.1 months in the control group. Potential explanations of this negative result include (1) an insufficient immune response due to simultaneous chemotherapy, (2) the potential lack of EGFRvIII-specific T cell response, and (3) immune escape through antigen loss. This antigen loss is rather due to primary clonal heterogeneity and subsequent selection of neoepitope-negative clones than due to secondary antigen loss as a result of an effective neoepitope-specific immune response. Indeed, on a single-cell level, EGFRvIII is expressed in newly diagnosed glioblastomas only in a fraction of tumor cells and generally co-expressed with wild-type EGFR.

These observations lead to an important topic in immunooncology, which is the clonal representation of neoepitopes. Conceptually, a vaccine targeting a subclonal neoepitope will be ineffective unless the initial neoepitope-specific immune response is potent enough to induce antigen spreading. Hence, an ideal neoepitope should not only be strongly expressed and presented with high affinity and generate a neoepitope-specific immune response but also be present in all tumor cells, thus representing a driver mutation. Targeting a true driver mutation will circumvent heterogeneity-driven immune escape. In gliomas one such driver mutation is **IDH1R132H**, a point mutation in the gene for isocitrate dehydrogenase type 1 (IDH1), which occurs in 70-80% of diffuse and anaplastic gliomas. It is the earliest mutation known in these tumors and affects all tumor cells even during malignant progression [16, 17]. The amino acid exchange at position

132 (Arg to His) affects the catalytic center of the enzyme and results in a neomorphic enzyme function leading to the production of the oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate in excess amounts [18]. This, in turn, results in genetic instability via epigenetic modifications and hence tumorigenicity [19]. The presence of IDH1R132H is confirmed in routine diagnostic of gliomas using a mutation-specific antibody [20]. Patients with IDH1R132H-mutated gliomas may harbor spontaneous mutation-specific CD4+ T helper cells and antibodies [21, 22]. IDH1R132H is presented on MHC class II and vaccination of MHC-humanized mice, but also C57BL6 wildtype mice with a mutant IDH1 peptide result in a mutation-specific CD4 immune response effective in controlling IDH1R132H-expressing tumors [22, 23]. A multicenter phase I trial has completed accrual (NCT02454634) after enrolling a planned population of 30 evaluable patients with newly diagnosed grade 3 or grade 4 astrocytomas at eight German sites. Patients receive eight vaccines of a 20-mer peptide emulsified in Montanide-ISA51[®] integrated into the primary therapy. Primary endpoints are safety and immunogenicity as evidenced by T cell and antibody responses. Important points to be addressed for further development include the mechanism of action of CD4+ IDH1R132H-specific T cells, the degree (if any) of antigen spreading to CD8 epitopes, and the phenotype of intratumoral T cells in the immunosuppressive microenvironment.

IDH1R132H, H3.3K27M, and EGFRvIII are examples of recurrent or shared neoepitopes in gliomas. Also in glioma, most neoepitopes are private. Therefore, personalized approaches with the aim of individually targeting patientspecific neoantigens are implemented in glioma. Based on a computational pipeline predicting HLA binding of mutated epitopes [24], a phase I study testing a personalized peptide vaccine (NeoVax) encompassing neoepitopes relevant for the individual patient in patients with newly diagnosed MGMT-unmethylated glioblastoma is currently conducted (NCT02287428). Based on WES and HLA ligandome analyses, the European Glioma Actively Personalized Vaccine Consortium (GAPVAC) currently conducts a

multicenter phase I clinical trial in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma (GAPVAC-101, NCT02149225). This effort increases the complexity of epitope discovery but maintains a turnaround time for vaccine production sufficient for integration of the vaccine into primary therapy. These personalized concepts are a regulatory challenge necessitating approval of a personalized integrated molecular pathology (IMP) prior to its discovery based on the proposed workflow.

39.4 Checkpoint Inhibitors in Glioma

Preclinical studies demonstrate the efficacy of monotherapy or combination therapy with checkpoint blockers in eradicating established orthotopic syngeneic chemically induced gliomas [25]. So in principle, the CNS is not an unsurmountable barrier for a peripherally induced antitumor T cell response. More than 20 phase I-III trials employ checkpoint inhibitors in patients with glioma worldwide [6]. While available data indicate an acceptable toxicity profile not considerably different from other tumor entities, efficacy data is largely lacking. Anti-CTLA4 as a single agent has been deprioritized, and most clinical studies employ anti-PD1 or anti-PD-L1 antibodies. CheckMate 143 (NCT02017717), a phase III study comparing the efficacy of the PD1 antibody nivolumab to bevacizumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma, has not shown efficacy of nivolumab in this patient population. Safety and efficacy of the anti-PD1 antibody pembrolizumab are tested in an 80-patient, randomized, phase II trial in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Patient accrual has completed for the randomized phase II trial (NCT02337491) which will compare the pembrolizumab/bevacizumab combination versus bevacizumab monotherapy. The ongoing CheckMate 498 (NCT02617589) and 548 (NCT02667587) analyze the efficacy of nivolumab in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma added to standard therapy (radiotherapy or radiochemotherapy with TMZ) in phase II and III designs, respectively. The PD-L1 antibody durvalumab is tested in a randomized phase II clinical trial in patients with recurrent glioblastoma.

While it is too early to assess the efficacy of these approaches in glioma, the main argument against the effectiveness of checkpoint inhibitor monotherapy in unselected glioma patients is the comparatively low mutational load. Gliomas—on average—contain 40–80 non-synonymous mutations, which is an order of magnitude lower than in melanoma or small-cell lung cancer. The therapeutic efficacy, in turn, in preclinical animal models can thus be attributed to the comparatively high mutational load in chemically induced experimental murine gliomas, such as the GL261 model.

These observations argue against further trials with checkpoint inhibition alone in unselected glioma patients. Rather, efforts should be focused on patients with hypermutation either as a consequence of germ line mismatch-repair deficiency or of prolonged alkylating chemotherapy [26, 27]. Here, case series in patients with hypermutated gliomas demonstrate remarkable efficacy of checkpoint blockade with partial remission of large lesions [28, 29]. In any case, whether checkpoint inhibitors are combined with irradiation, virotherapy, or specific vaccines, future clinical trials ought to be performed in carefully selected patient populations and backed by a meaningful translational program for hypothesis testing. This translational approach will require posttreatment tumor tissue to analyze intratumoral immune responses, which is a particular challenge in gliomas. Here, innovative neoadjuvant trial concepts may circumvent in part the dilemma of challenging biopsy-treat-biopsy concept feasible in other tumor entities such as melanoma or gastrointestinal cancer.

The type of checkpoint inhibitor to be chosen for glioma therapy will depend on the compartment of target cells. PD-L1 inhibitors may not necessarily require brain penetrance either, as PD-L1 is expressed not only in the tumor microenvironment of gliomas [30] but also elevated in circulating antigen-presenting cells (APC) in glioma patients [31]. As in other tumor entities, intratumoral or peripheral PD-L1 expression may serve as a biomarker predicting response. These measures will hopefully result in proof-ofconcept evidence for therapeutic efficacy in glioma. A premature rush into randomized phase III studies in unselected patients may prove to be a disservice for the therapeutic concepts as seen in efforts with antiangiogenic treatments in gliomas, which are largely terminated after negative phase III studies also in unselected glioblastoma patients.

39.5 T Cell Therapy

As with other solid tumors, T cell therapy is still at an experimental stage in gliomas. Early studies have employed unspecifically activated lymphocytes (termed lymphokine-activated killer cells, LAK) isolated from the peripheral circulation and applied locally in the resection cavity with limited success. With the recent discovery of immunogenic (neo)epitopes in gliomas and following similar approaches in lymphomas and solid tumors, the focus has shifted toward adoptive transfer of TCR-transgenic T cells. CAR T cells targeting EGFRvIII [32] are being studied in patients with glioblastoma, but the success is questionable based on the negative results of the EGFRvIII vaccine trial. More recently local adoptive transfer of T cells transduced with a modified CAR-containing 4-1BB and a mutant IgG4-Fc linker recognizing the tumor-associated antigen interleukin-13 receptor alpha 2 (IL13Ra2, NCT02208362; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00730613; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: Identifier: NCT01082926) ClinicalTrials.gov was associated with a durable partial remission of distant CNS manifestations after local delivery in a patient with recurrent glioblastoma and leptomeningeal and CSF spread. Eventually, there was tumor progression suggesting immune escape possibly related to antigen loss [8]. In principle, this report illustrates that (a) targeting tumorassociated antigens is relevant and that (b) local (i.e., CSF) delivery is sufficient to deliver therapeutically active antigen-specific T cells to gliomas. Whether systemic delivery is equally effective or whether local delivery is necessary to overcome the BBB or blood-CSF barrier remains to be proven.



39.6 Targeting the Immune Microenvironment in Gliomas

Once an effective antitumor T cell response has been translated into the glioma microenvironment, its immunosuppressive nature represents the ultimate challenge. Here, physical parameters such as low pH and hypoxia are prevalent particularly in necrotic and perinecrotic areas of glioblastomas. These factors can only be meaningfully met by removal of large necrotic tumors prior to immunotherapy. Chemotherapy-induced cell death does not play a relevant role in inducing immunogenicity in gliomas largely due to the resistance toward agents, which induce immunogenic cell death. Other measures to increase the immunogenicity are radiation therapy and virotherapy. Mechanistically these approaches may increase the portfolio of immunogenic antigens by enhancing antigen presentation, inducing epitope spread, and/or exploiting antiviral immune responses. Other factors shaping the immunosuppressive microenvironment include cytokines such as IL-10, growth factors such as TGF-beta, and metabolites such as kynurenines [33]. Inhibitors of these immunosuppressive factors are available or in development and unlikely to be active as monotherapies. Here, appropriate combinatorial trials in carefully selected patient populations are mandatory (Fig. 39.1).

References

- 1. Ousman SS, Kubes P. Immune surveillance in the central nervous system. Nat Neurosci. 2012;15:1096-101.
- 2. Aspelund A, Antila S, Proulx ST, Karlsen TV, Karaman S, Detmar M, Wiig H, Alitalo K. A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. J Exp Med. 2015;212:991-9.
- 3. Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, Derecki NC, Castle D, Mandell JW, Lee KS, Harris TH, Kipnis J. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. Nature. 2015;523:337-41.
- 4. Platten M, Bunse L, Wick W, Bunse T. Concepts in glioma immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016:65:1269-75.
- 5. Okada H, Butterfield LH, Hamilton RL, Hoji A, Sakaki M, Ahn BJ, Kohanbash G, Drappatz J, Engh J, Amankulor N, Lively MO, Chan MD, Salazar AM, Shaw EG, Potter DM, Lieberman FS. Induction of robust type-I CD8+ T-cell responses in WHO grade 2 low-grade glioma patients receiving peptide-based vaccines in combination with poly-ICLC. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:286-94.
- 6. Dutoit V, Migliorini D, Dietrich PY, Walker PR. Immunotherapy of malignant tumors in the brain: how different from other sites? Front Oncol. 2016:6:256.
- 7. Phuphanich S, Wheeler CJ, Rudnick JD, Mazer M, Wang H, Nuno MA, Richardson JE, Fan X, Ji J, Chu RM, Bender JG, Hawkins ES, Patil CG, Black KL, JS Y. Phase I trial of a multi-epitope-pulsed dendritic cell vaccine for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62:125-35.
- 8. Brown CE, Alizadeh D, Starr R, Weng L, Wagner JR, Naranjo A, Ostberg JR, Blanchard MS, Kilpatrick J, Simpson J, Kurien A, Priceman SJ, Wang X,

immunotherapy discovery and combinatorial treatment approaches in

Harshbarger TL, D'Apuzzo M, Ressler JA, Jensen MC, Barish ME, Chen M, Portnow J, Forman SJ, Badie B. Regression of Glioblastoma after chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:2561–9.

- Keu KV, Witney TH, Yaghoubi S, Rosenberg J, Kurien A, Magnusson R, Williams J, Habte F, Wagner JR, Forman S, Brown C, Allen-Auerbach M, Czernin J, Tang W, Jensen MC, Badie B, Gambhir SS. Reporter gene imaging of targeted T cell immunotherapy in recurrent glioma. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9
- Platten M, Offringa R. Cancer immunotherapy: exploiting neoepitopes. Cell Res. 2015;25:887–8.
- 11. Dutoit V, Herold-Mende C, Hilf N, Schoor O, Beckhove P, Bucher J, Dorsch K, Flohr S, Fritsche J, Lewandrowski P, Lohr J, Rammensee HG, Stevanovic S, Trautwein C, Vass V, Walter S, Walker PR, Weinschenk T, Singh-Jasuja H, Dietrich PY. Exploiting the glioblastoma peptidome to discover novel tumour-associated antigens for immunotherapy. Brain. 2012;135:1042–54.
- 12. Rampling R, Peoples S, Mulholland PJ, James A, Al-Salihi O, Twelves CJ, McBain C, Jefferies S, Jackson A, Stewart W, Lindner J, Kutscher S, Hilf N, McGuigan L, Peters J, Hill K, Schoor O, Singh-Jasuja H, Halford SE, Ritchie JW. A Cancer Research UK first time in human phase I trial of IMA950 (novel Multipeptide therapeutic vaccine) in patients with newly diagnosed Glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:4776–85.
- Bunse L, Schumacher T, Sahm F, Pusch S, Oezen I, Rauschenbach K, Gonzalez M, Solecki G, Osswald M, Capper D, Wiestler B, Winkler F, Herold-Mende C, von Deimling A, Wick W, Platten M. Proximity ligation assay evaluates IDH1R132H presentation in gliomas. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:593–606.
- 14. Sampson JH, Heimberger AB, Archer GE, Aldape KD, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, Gilbert MR, Herndon JE II, McLendon RE, Mitchell DA, Reardon DA, Sawaya R, Schmittling RJ, Shi W, Vredenburgh JJ, Bigner DD. Immunologic escape after prolonged progression-free survival with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III peptide vaccination in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4722–9.
- Schuster J, Lai RK, Recht LD, Reardon DA, Paleologos NA, Groves MD, Mrugala MM, Jensen R, Baehring JM, Sloan A, Archer GE, Bigner DD, Cruickshank S, Green JA, Keler T, Davis TA, Heimberger AB, Sampson JH. A phase II, multicenter trial of rindopepimut (CDX-110) in newly diagnosed glioblastoma: the ACT III study. Neuro Oncol. 2015;17(6):854–61.
- 16. Hartmann C, Meyer J, Balss J, Capper D, Mueller W, Christians A, Felsberg J, Wolter M, Mawrin C, Wick W, Weller M, Herold-Mende C, Unterberg A, Jeuken JW, Wesseling P, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A. Type and frequency of IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are related to astrocytic and oligodendroglial differentiation and age: a study of 1,010 diffuse gliomas. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;118:469–74.

- 17. Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, Kos I, Batinic-Haberle I, Jones S, Riggins GJ, Friedman H, Friedman A, Reardon D, Herndon J, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE, Vogelstein B, Bigner DD. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:765–73.
- 18. Turcan S, Rohle D, Goenka A, Walsh LA, Fang F, Yilmaz E, Campos C, Fabius AW, Lu C, Ward PS, Thompson CB, Kaufman A, Guryanova O, Levine R, Heguy A, Viale A, Morris LG, Huse JT, Mellinghoff IK, Chan TA. IDH1 mutation is sufficient to establish the glioma hypermethylator phenotype. Nature. 2012;483:479–83.
- Cairns RA, Mak TW. Oncogenic isocitrate dehydrogenase mutations: mechanisms, models, and clinical opportunities. Cancer Discov. 2013;3:730–41.
- Capper D, Zentgraf H, Balss J, Hartmann C, von Deimling A. Monoclonal antibody specific for IDH1 R132H mutation. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;118(5):599–601.
- Melief CJ. Mutation-specific T cells for immunotherapy of gliomas. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1956–8.
- 22. Schumacher T, Bunse L, Pusch S, Sahm F, Wiestler B, Quandt J, Menn O, Osswald M, Oezen I, Ott M, Keil M, Balss J, Rauschenbach K, Grabowska AK, Vogler I, Diekmann J, Trautwein N, Eichmuller SB, Okun J, Stevanovic S, Riemer AB, Sahin U, Friese MA, Beckhove P, von Deimling A, Wick W, Platten M. A vaccine targeting mutant IDH1 induces antitumour immunity. Nature. 2014;512:324–7.
- Pellegatta S, Valletta L, Corbetta C, Patane M, Zucca I, Riccardi Sirtori F, Bruzzone MG, Fogliatto G, Isacchi A, Pollo B, Finocchiaro G. Effective immunotargeting of the IDH1 mutation R132H in a murine model of intracranial glioma. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2015;3:4.
- 24. Rajasagi M, Shukla SA, Fritsch EF, Keskin DB, DeLuca D, Carmona E, Zhang W, Sougnez C, Cibulskis K, Sidney J, Stevenson K, Ritz J, Neuberg D, Brusic V, Gabriel S, Lander ES, Getz G, Hacohen N, CJ W. Systematic identification of personal tumorspecific neoantigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2014;124:453–62.
- 25. Reardon DA, Gokhale PC, Klein SR, Ligon KL, Rodig SJ, Ramkissoon SH, Jones KL, Conway AS, Liao X, Zhou J, Wen PY, Van Den Abbeele AD, Hodi FS, Qin L, Kohl NE, Sharpe AH, Dranoff G, Freeman GJ. Glioblastoma eradication following immune checkpoint blockade in an Orthotopic, Immunocompetent model. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4:124–35.
- 26. Johnson BE, Mazor T, Hong C, Barnes M, Aihara K, McLean CY, Fouse SD, Yamamoto S, Ueda H, Tatsuno K, Asthana S, Jalbert LE, Nelson SJ, Bollen AW, Gustafson WC, Charron E, Weiss WA, Smirnov IV, Song JS, Olshen AB, Cha S, Zhao Y, Moore RA, Mungall AJ, Jones SJ, Hirst M, Marra MA, Saito N, Aburatani H, Mukasa A, Berger MS, Chang SM, Taylor BS, Costello JF. Mutational analysis reveals the origin and therapy-driven evolution of recurrent glioma. Science. 2014;343:189–93.

- 27. van Thuijl HF, Mazor T, Johnson BE, Fouse SD, Aihara K, Hong C, Malmstrom A, Hallbeck M, Heimans JJ, Kloezeman JJ, Stenmark-Askmalm M, Lamfers ML, Saito N, Aburatani H, Mukasa A, Berger MS, Soderkvist P, Taylor BS, Molinaro AM, Wesseling P, Reijneveld JC, Chang SM, Ylstra B, Costello JF. Evolution of DNA repair defects during malignant progression of low-grade gliomas after temozolomide treatment. Acta Neuropathol. 2015;129:597–607.
- Bouffet E, Larouche V, Campbell BB, Merico D, de Borja R, Aronson M, Durno C, Krueger J, Cabric V, Ramaswamy V, Zhukova N, Mason G, Farah R, Afzal S, Yalon M, Rechavi G, Magimairajan V, Walsh MF, Constantini S, Dvir R, Elhasid R, Reddy A, Osborn M, Sullivan M, Hansford J, Dodgshun A, Klauber-Demore N, Peterson L, Patel S, Lindhorst S, Atkinson J, Cohen Z, Laframboise R, Dirks P, Taylor M, Malkin D, Albrecht S, Dudley RW, Jabado N, Hawkins CE, Shlien A, Tabori U. Immune checkpoint inhibition for Hypermutant Glioblastoma Multiforme resulting from Germline Biallelic mismatch repair deficiency. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2206–11.
- 29. Johanns TM, Miller CA, Dorward IG, Tsien C, Chang E, Perry A, Uppaluri R, Ferguson C, Schmidt RE, Dahiya S, Ansstas G, Mardis ER, Dunn GP. Immunogenomics of Hypermutated Glioblastoma: a patient with Germline POLE defi-

ciency treated with checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2016;6:1230–6.

- 30. Berghoff AS, Kiesel B, Widhalm G, Rajky O, Ricken G, Wohrer A, Dieckmann K, Filipits M, Brandstetter A, Weller M, Kurscheid S, Hegi ME, Zielinski CC, Marosi C, Hainfellner JA, Preusser M, Wick W. Programmed death ligand 1 expression and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2015;17:1064–75.
- Bloch O, Crane CA, Kaur R, Safaee M, Rutkowski MJ, Parsa AT. Gliomas promote immunosuppression through induction of B7-H1 expression in tumor-associated macrophages. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:3165–75.
- 32. Johnson LA, Scholler J, Ohkuri T, Kosaka A, Patel PR, McGettigan SE, Nace AK, Dentchev T, Thekkat P, Loew A, Boesteanu AC, Cogdill AP, Chen T, Fraietta JA, Kloss CC, Posey AD, Jr., Engels B, Singh R, Ezell T, Idamakanti N, Ramones MH, Li N, Zhou L, Plesa G, Seykora JT, Okada H, June CH, Brogdon JL, Maus MV. Rational development and characterization of humanized anti-EGFR variant III chimeric antigen receptor T cells for glioblastoma. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:275ra22.
- Platten M, Ochs K, Lemke D, Opitz C, Wick W. Microenvironmental clues for glioma immunotherapy. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2014;14:440.

Assessing T Cell Receptor Affinity and Avidity Against Tumor Antigens

Mathilde Allard, Michael Hebeisen, and Nathalie Rufer

Contents

40.1	T Cell-Based Therapies Against Malignant Disease	665
40.2	Defining T Cell Functional Avidity and TCR Binding Affinity and Avidity	666
40.3	Tumor-Specific T Cell Responses Are Mediated by TCRs of Low Binding Affinity/Avidity	667
40.4	Optimization of TCR-pMHC Binding Affinity/Avidity Against Cancer Cells	668
40.5	TCR-pMHC Binding and Kinetic Measurements	671
40.6	Relationship Between TCR-pMHC Binding Parameters and CD8 T Cell Potency	674
40.7	Conclusive Remarks	675
References		675

Abbreviations

pMHC	Peptide-major histocompatibility
	complex
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance
TCR	T cell receptors

40.1 T Cell-Based Therapies Against Malignant Disease

Cytotoxic CD8 T cells mediate immune protection against a large number of infectious diseases, and recent developments in oncology indicate that they are also able to eliminate tumor cells. Immune responses against cancer rely mostly on T cells characterized by the expression of tumorspecific T cell receptors (TCRs) that allow them to specifically recognize and destroy malignant cells. Immunotherapy aims at mobilizing the body's immune cells to fight against tumor cells in a highly specific manner. During recent years, this approach has become clinically successful for cancer patients with several strategies now capable of exploiting the therapeutic potential of T cells [1]. Firstly, active immunization (or therapeutic vaccination) aims at generating and/or boosting immune responses to destroy tumor cells and preventing tumor progression. This method relies on the knowledge of tumorassociated antigens expressed by a particular type of cancer and is commonly delivered as peptide and protein vaccines or via viral and DNA-

M. Allard • M. Hebeisen • N. Rufer (🖂) Department of Oncology, Lausanne University Hospital Center (CHUV) and University of Lausanne, Biopôle 3 – 02DB92, chemin des Boveresses 155, CH-1066 Epalinges, Switzerland e-mail: Nathalie.Rufer@unil.ch

based vectors. Secondly, passive immunization (or adoptive cell transfer) uses autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) isolated from cancer patients, which are then expanded in vitro, selected for tumor reactivity, and infused back into the patient [2]. Genetic modification of T cells before adoptive cell transfer may increase the clinical efficacy, such as inserting TCRs [3] or chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) [4]. Finally, immune modulation can be achieved by therapeutically targeting co-receptors known to inhibit T cell functions [5]. For instance, ipilimumab (Yervoy®), a monoclonal antibody blocking the inhibitory receptor CTLA-4 expressed on T cells, was shown to significantly improve the clinical outcome of metastatic melanoma patients [6]. More recently, remarkable benefit for patients with melanoma, kidney, and lung cancer was demonstrated following treatment with antibodies against the inhibitory receptor PD-1 [7] or its ligand PD-L1 [8], alone or combined with ipilimumab [9, 10]. Together, these recent advancements have shown that T cells are essential players in generating protective and durable immune responses against malignant cells. At present, it is becoming important to determine which T cell properties are essential to achieve clinical benefit. In this chapter, we will specifi-



Fig. 40.1 Definition and assessment of T cell functional avidity and TCR-pMHC binding affinity/avidity. (**a**) T cell functional avidity is a biological readout that reflects T cell responsiveness upon antigen-specific stimulation and is assessed by quantifying T cell responses (i.e., cytotoxic activity, IFN- γ production or proliferation) when exposed to titrated doses of antigenic peptide. EC₅₀,

cally focus on TCR-pMHC binding interactions, which are key parameters for protective T cellmediated immunity, and review the different technologies used to assess such interactions, enabling to identify the most functionally relevant T cells.

40.2 Defining T Cell Functional Avidity and TCR Binding Affinity and Avidity

T cell functional avidity has been repeatedly associated with T cell protection and is a biological measure that describes how well T cells sense their cognate antigens. It is determined in vitro by the quantitative assessment of a given T cell functional response (such as cytotoxic activity, IFN- γ production or proliferation) upon exposure to increasing doses of antigenic peptide and is quantified by the peptide concentration needed to induce half of the maximal responses (i.e., EC_{50}) (Fig. 40.1a). Pioneering the field more than 20 years ago, Speiser and colleagues demonstrated that low T cell functional avidity is sufficient for in vitro proliferation or cytotoxicity but not for in vivo efficacy in responses to viral infections [11]. Meanwhile, there is a general consensus that CD8 T cell responses with increased



defined as the peptide concentration producing halfmaximal response. (b) TCR-pMHC binding affinity and avidity are biophysical readouts that describe the strength of monomeric/multimeric binding interaction(s) between the TCRs and their antigens and are typically measured using surface plasmon resonance (SPR) and pMHC multimers, respectively. Adapted from [31]

functional avidity provide a better control of viral replication [12–17] and tumor growth [18–22] than T cells of lower avidities (reviewed in [23]). However, the ex vivo assessment of T cell functional avidity remains technically laborious and time consuming. It is also not well suitable for standardization because of the inherent variability of biological/functional metrics. Hence, the ex vivo appraisal of T cell functionality is still mostly limited to assays performed with fixed stimulation doses and to the lack of universal standards of T cell assessment (reviewed in [24, 25]). Based on these considerations, there is a strong need to improve our knowledge regarding the contribution of the different aspects of T cell function to clinical efficacy and to identify additional T cell-based parameters that overcome the major limitations associated to functional assays.

CD8 T cell functional avidity is predominantly guided by the strength of TCR binding and kinetic interactions to antigenic peptides presented by MHC class I molecules (i.e., pMHC). Importantly, the binding and kinetic attributes of this interaction are determinant parameters that influence almost every aspect of T cell biology, including thymic selection (reviewed in [26]), differentiation into effector and/or memory T cells ([27], reviewed in [28]), and functional efficacy (reviewed in [29-31]), and may offer superior metrics to evaluate the quality of T cell responses. However, due to technical limitations, the assessment of TCR-pMHC binding avidity or kinetics is still infrequently determined in research or patient immunomonitoring or in the selection of tumor-infiltrating T cells used for adoptive cell therapy. TCR-pMHC binding interactions can be measured in terms of affinity or avidity (Fig. 40.1b), both of which can directly impact the overall functional T cell response. The TCR binding affinity refers to the physical strength by which a single TCR binds to a single pMHC complex and is typically measured by surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Conversely, the TCR avidity describes the binding strength of TCR-pMHC interactions when assessed in the cellular context, includes the contribution of the co-receptors (e.g., CD8), and has often been estimated using recombinant soluble pMHC multimers. TCR-pMHC binding affinity/avidity is inversely proportional to the dissociation equilibrium constant K_{D} defined as the ratio of the dissociation rate (i.e., k_{off}) and association rate (i.e., k_{on}) under equilibrium conditions (reviewed in [29–31]).

40.3 Tumor-Specific T Cell Responses Are Mediated by TCRs of Low Binding Affinity/Avidity

Peripheral T cell repertoire diversity is achieved through random somatic gene segment rearrangements of the TCR alpha and beta chains during thymic development. The TCR repertoire is then shaped by positive intrathymic selection events allowing generating a peripheral T cell pool that can interact with the host pMHC complexes. However, to limit the development and/or activation of potentially harmful self-reactive T cells, the ones displaying TCRs of relative high affinity/avidity toward selfpMHC are deleted or anergized by mechanisms of central (also defined as negative thymic selection) and/or peripheral tolerance (reviewed in [32, 33]). As such it is now commonly accepted that the peripheral T cell repertoires targeting self versus nonself antigens may vary dramatically in terms of TCR-pMHC binding affinity/ avidity (Fig. 40.2).

Many tumor-associated antigens that are shared among cancer patients, such as overexpressed (e.g., Her2/neu, WT1, or telomerase), differentiation (e.g., Melan-A/MART-1, gp100 or tyrosinase), cancer-testis (e.g., NY-ESO-1 or MAGEs), or oncofetal (e.g., AFP or CEA) antigens, are not truly cancer specific but are also expressed by healthy tissues (reviewed in [34, 35]). As a consequence, the natural T cell repertoire targeting self/tumor antigens is thought to express TCRs of relative low affinity/avidity, whereas high-avidity T cells are very rare since they are eliminated through mechanisms of central and/or peripheral tolerance. Aleksic and colleagues [36] demonstrated that the $K_{\rm D}$ values of these interactions are typically in the



Fig. 40.2 Model integrating the relationship between T cell function, TCR affinity, and positive/negative regulators modulating cell responsiveness. A panel of CD8 T lymphocytes engineered to express antitumoral TCRs with incremental affinities toward the HLA-A2/NY-ESO-1 epitope (*x*-axis) was assessed for functional capacity (*y*-axis). An optimal window of TCR-pMHC affinity can be detected in the upper natural range (K_D from 5 to 1 µM), corresponding to the range where most peripheral nonself-/virus-specific T cells can be detected [36]. We recently described how positive regulators of T

range of 200 μ M to 10 μ M (with the mean around 100 μ M), while virus-specific TCRs interact with K_D ranging down to 1 μ M (with the mean value around 10 μ M). Nonetheless, these tolerance mechanisms spare T cells that can react to self/tumor antigens with relative low TCRpMHC binding affinity/avidity [37–40]. Thus, although cancer patients may have many self-/ tumor-specific T cells, their TCR affinity/avidity remains relatively low and in fact eventually too low to mediate an effective antitumor immunity. Therefore, increasing the TCR-pMHC affinity and/or avidity of tumor-specific T cells is of particular interest in the context of cancer immunotherapies. cell function including CD28 and TNFR cofactors are enriched in T cells lying within the optimal affinity window and how the inhibitory receptor PD-1 and SHP-1 phosphatase are involved in restricting T cell activation and responsiveness in TCR-engineered CD8 T cells of very high supraphysiological affinities [47]. On-target toxicity is known to follow the functional and activatory signatures of CD8 T cells, while off-target responsiveness and toxicity are described to increase along TCR-pMHC affinity, within the supranatural affinity range (reviewed in [58]). Adapted from [48]

40.4 Optimization of TCR-pMHC Binding Affinity/Avidity Against Cancer Cells

Adoptive transfer of TCR-engineered T cells is a recent type of immunotherapy, which aims to establish and boost immune reactivity toward poorly immunogenic tumors. This strategy relies on the optimization of the TCR sequence to increase its affinity/avidity for cognate tumor antigens with the aim to adoptively transfer them back to patients. Indeed, adoptive cell transfer of engineered T cells augments the functional and protective capacity of tumor-antigen reactive CD8 T cells [41, 42]. During recent years, we establish

lished a unique panel of human CD8 T cells engineered with TCRs of progressive increasing affinities against the tumor antigen NY-ESO-1 presented in the context of the HLA-A2, obtained through structure-based rational predictions [43, 44]. We observed that T cells expressing TCRs with affinities in the upper natural range (K_D from 5 to 1 μ M) displayed greater biological responses when compared to those expressing intermediate affinity wild-type TCR (K_D at 21.4 μ M) or very low affinity ($K_D > 100 \ \mu$ M) ([45, 46]; Fig. 40.2). Strikingly, further increase within the supraphysiological TCR affinity range ($K_D < 1 \mu M$) led to drastic functional decline, with impairment in global gene expression, signaling, and surface expression of activatory/costimulatory receptors [46, 47]. Major findings revealed that maximal T cell effectiveness was limited by at least two mechanisms (Fig. 40.2). First, we observed the preferential expression of the inhibitory receptor PD-1 within T cells expressing very high TCR affinities, and this correlated in those cells with functional recovery upon PD-1 ligand 1 (PD-L1) blockade [47]. Second, contrasting to PD-1 expression, we observed a gradual up-regulation of SHP-1 phosphatase in CD8 T cells with increasing TCR affinities. Consequently, pharmacological inhibition allowed further incremental gaining of cell function in all engineered T cells, according to their TCR-binding affinities [47]. Our observations fit nicely with other studies performed both in mice and human models (reviewed in [48]) and provide strong evidence that T cell activation and signaling can be increased up to a given affinity threshold for the TCR-pMHC interaction and that above this threshold, T cells may not develop productive functions.

The importance of TCR-pMHC binding parameters has also been demonstrated in several clinical trials (reviewed in [49–52]) (Table 40.1). Initial reports have shown that in contrast to T cells of low avidity, high-avidity tumor-specific T cell responses were often associated with auto-immunity [53–55]. On-target reactivity was more recently observed in a clinical trial whereby melanoma patients received autologous blood mono-nuclear cells transduced with affinity-optimized TCRs against the differentiation tumor antigen

Melan-A/MART-1 ([41]; Table 40.1). Compared to the native low TCR avidity (referred as DMF4), the DMF5 TCR of higher binding avidity toward HLA-A2/Melan-A showed improved clinical efficacy. Importantly, T lymphocytes expressing increased avidity self-/tumor-specific TCRs also targeted normal tissues expressing the cognate antigen (e.g., melanocytes in the skin, eye, and ear for both Melan-A and gp-100-specific T cells), thus mounting harmful cytotoxic immune responses in vivo [41]. Similar on-target reactivity was observed when using a TCR engineered against the human carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) in patients with refractory metastatic colon carcinoma [56]. Whereas all three patients experienced decline in serum CEA levels, severe transient inflammatory colitis was further reported in those patients [56]. Interestingly, studies based on the A*0201/NY-ESO-1 cancer-testis antigen model showed that genetically optimized T cells were those displaying maximal functionality, leading to objective clinical responses, but without in vivo cross-reactivity or major adverse events [42, 57]. These apparently contradictory results could be explained by the differences in tissue distribution of NY-ESO-1 antigen being only expressed in testis cells when compared to Melan-A or CEA antigens, both widely found in normal melanocytes or epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal tract, respectively. Consequently, the choice of antigen specificity for adoptive cell transfer of affinity-improved T cells is of crucial importance (reviewed in [52]).

Another parameter to be considered is the risk of increased cross-reactivity to structurally related self-peptides, resulting in off-target toxicities (reviewed in [58]; Table 40.1). Using experimental models, it has been demonstrated that T cells, whose TCR binds to pMHC complexes with very high avidities ($K_D < 1$ nM) lose antigen specificity and can become cross-reactive [59–61]. Similarly, critical results from recent clinical trials revealed that affinity-enhanced TCRs engineered above a certain threshold could lead to severe off-target side effects in patients (reviewed in [62]). Patients treated with TCRs engineered for enhanced affinity toward the cancer-testis HLA-A1/MAGE-A3 tumor antigen
Type of cancer	Targeted antigen	TCR origin (name)	$OR^{a,b}$	$CR^{b,c}$	On-/off-tar	get toxicity (%) ^b	Reference
Melanoma	A*0201/ Melan-A	Human (DMF5)	6/20 (30)	0/20 (0)	8/20 (40)	On-target: vitiligo, uveitis, and hearing loss	[41]
Melanoma	A*0201/ gp100	Mouse (154)	3/16 (19)	0/16 (0)	1/16 (6)	On-target: vitiligo, uveitis, and hearing loss	[41]
Colorectal carcinoma	A*0201/ CEA	Mouse	1/3 (33)	0/3 (33)	3/3 (100)	On-target: colitis	[56]
Melanoma and synovial sarcoma	A*0201/ NY-ESO-1	Human (1G4)	22/38 (58)	5/38 (13)	0/38 (0)	NA ^d	[42, 57]
Melanoma and multiple myeloma	A*01/ MAGE-A3	Human (3A3)	0/2 (0)	0/2 (0)	2/2 (100) 2 deaths	Off-target: cardiogenic shock	[63, 64]
Melanoma, synovial sarcoma, and esophageal cancer	A*0201/ MAGE-A3	Mouse (118AT)	5/9 (55)	1/9 (11)	4/9 (44) 2 deaths	Off-target: mental status changes, seizure, and coma	[65]
Melanoma	A*0201/ Melan-A	Human (DMF5)	0/14 (0)	0/14 (0)	2/14 (14)	AE ^e	[105]
Multiple myeloma	A*0201/ NY-ESO-1	Human (NY-ESO ^{c259})	16/20 (80)	14/20 (70)	0/20 (0)	NA ^d	[106]

Table 40.1 Clinical trials performed with T cells of optimized TCR binding affinity/avidity

^aOR, objective response (partial or complete responses), according to Response Evaluation Criteria for Solid Tumors (RECIST) or the International Uniform Response Criteria for myeloma assessment

^bNumber of patients with responses/total number of patients; (percentage of responses)

^cCR, complete response or near complete response, according to the Response Evaluation Criteria for Solid Tumors (RECIST) or to the uniform response criteria for multiple myeloma of the International Myeloma Working Group (IMWG)

^dNA, not applicable

eAdverse events that were not related to the on-/off-target toxicity of the infused T cells

developed off-target recognition toward a similar but not identical peptide from the cardiac musclespecific protein titin [63], resulting in a serious adverse effect (SAE) and fatal toxicity against cardiac tissue [64]. Moreover, two patients infused with autologous anti-HLA-A2/MAGE-A3 TCR-engineered T cells experienced mental changes, leading to neurologic toxicities and death, possibly due to cross-reactivity toward the MAGE-A12 self-antigen expressed in the human brain [65].

These results demonstrate not only the functional potency of affinity-improved TCRs with substantial antitumor effector functions in vivo but also highlight the potential safety concerns for those TCR-engineered T cells (reviewed in [49–52, 58, 62]) (Table 40.1). Altogether, we and others propose that the rational design of improved self-specific TCRs for adoptive T cell therapy may not need to be optimized beyond the natural TCR affinity range to achieve optimal T cell function and avoidance of unpredictable risk of cross-reactivity (reviewed in [48, 66]; Fig. 40.2). Thus, there is an urgent need to withstand for better preclinical evaluations allowing assessing for precise antigen specificity of the engineered TCRs and identifying the best suitable tumor antigens for adoptive cell transfer with affinity-improved TCRs. Importantly, TCR optimization through affinity alteration must include the evaluation of optimal T cell responsiveness and lack of on-target and off-target side effects due to self-reactivity to ensure the safety of TCR-engineered T cells in future clinical trials (reviewed in [49–52, 58, 62]). In that regard, new strategies are required, allowing for the identification and selection of those naturally occurring but rare self/tumor antigen-specific T lymphocytes of highest TCR binding avidities and functional capacities within the physiological TCR affinity range, and will be further described thereafter.

40.5 TCR-pMHC Binding and Kinetic Measurements

Several technologies have been employed to characterize in great detail the TCR-pMHC binding affinity/avidity and to dissect the kinetic contributions of association k_{on} and dissociation k_{off} rates to such molecular interactions. In this section, we will summarize the different methods currently used, focusing on their respective advantages and disadvantages.

Early comparative crystallography analysis revealed a lack of correlation between TCRpMHC structure and T cell function, suggesting that T cell activation must rely on dynamic processes [67]. Quantitative measurements of the kinetic and binding parameters of TCR-pMHC interactions were thus undertaken, mostly using SPR biosensors. This technology allows for the simultaneous detection of association and dissociation kinetic rates as well as the molecular affinity $(1/K_D)$, providing the so-called "3D affinity" parameters, since one of the two molecules is flowed in solution across a sensor chip, on which the potential interacting target is attached (Fig. 40.1b). Data collected from SPR studies revealed that natural human TCR-pMHC binding interactions were of relative weak affinities (K_D ranging from 500 μ M to 1 μ M) compared to other biomolecular interactions, with rapid off- and slow on-rates [68–70]. Yet, an inherent caveat of the SPR technology is that it requires the laborious and time-consuming production of soluble TCR and pMHC molecules and ignores the binding contribution of CD8 coreceptors and/or other membrane molecules to the overall TCR-pMHC interaction. Recently, new generations of imaging technologies, coupling microscopy to SPR affinity measurements [71, 72], as well as quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) biosensors [73, 74] have been engineered to allow label-free detection of real-time interactions and kinetics between membrane proteins directly at the surface of living cells. These new technologies could potentially be exploited in the context of low affinity TCR-pMHC interactions at the surface of living self/tumor antigenspecific T cells.

Besides SPR, other technologies based on mechanical or fluorescent assays have also been recently developed that enable the deduction of k_{on} and k_{off} kinetics directly at the interface between a living T cell and a surrogate APC, or between a T cell and a supported planar lipid bilayer. As such, these surface-based membrane interactions are designed as "2D interactions" [75–77]. 2D analyses showed good correlations with T cell activation and function, but revealed faster k_{on} and k_{off} kinetics than those found with 3D SPR technology [78-80]. Although 2D approaches allow for the measurements of TCR-pMHC binding parameters in a more physiological way than the 3D technology, both approaches should be viewed as highly complementary. Indeed, 2D analyses require specialized equipment and are time consuming, precluding for the rapid and high-throughput screen of living antigen-specific T cells that could be useful for adoptive cell immunotherapy (reviewed in [81, 82]). It should be noted that a very recent study revealed the successful measurement of single-cell 2D TCR affinity and subsequent TCR sequencing directly from human primary CD8 T cells [83], opening the way to the rapid selection of individual therapeutic TCRs for adoptive cell transfer immunotherapy.

Alternative technologies based on the direct detection and rapid analysis of live antigenspecific CD8 T cells led in the early 1990s to the development of soluble pMHC monomers [84]. However, the low affinity characterizing TCR binding to pMHC precluded any direct detection of antigen-specific CD8 T cells by flow cytometry and/or microscopy using these soluble pMHC monomers [85]. Increasing the molecular valency and binding avidity of pMHC monomers through controlled multimerization (e.g., dimers, tetramers, decamers) was then performed, enabling direct binding of multimers on live antigenspecific T cells [86] and initiating a whole new area of T cell detection and analysis [81, 87]. Yet, multivalency favors TCR-pMHC clustering and augments the likelihood that a dissociating pMHC rapidly rebinds to another juxtaposed TCR. As such, evaluation of TCR-pMHC affinity using multimer-based saturation binding experiments, as well as association and dissociation kinetic assays, generated biased results, which often did not correlate to the monomeric SPRbased affinity and kinetic data [88]. Consequently, the brightness of multimer staining to cell membrane of TCRs (i.e., the mean fluorescence intensity or MFI), which reflects the total binding capacity of the multimeric molecules at equilibrium, failed to consistently correlate with in vitro functional activity or in vivo protection [20, 89-91].

A major technological improvement was achieved with the development of reversible multimers (reviewed in [31]). Reversible multimers are structurally similar to multimers, but they are engineered in such a way that pMHC monomers can be disrupted from the multimeric scaffold upon addition of a stimulus. Reversible Streptamers consist of a fluorescent scaffold molecule (StrepTactin) coupled to several pMHC monomers carrying a streptag, a linear peptide optimized to bind to StrepTactin [92]. D-biotin binds StrepTactin with higher affinity than streptag and is therefore able to compete for the same binding site, disrupting the multimeric complex and releasing the pMHC monomers at the cell surface. Since pMHC monomers do not stably bind to TCRs, they rapidly dissociate from the TCRs, allowing for the identification and isolation of practically "untouched" antigen-specific CD8 T cells, while preserving their phenotypical and functional status [93]. Based on the same principle, the reversible multimers called NTAmers are made of His-tagged pMHC linked to fluorescent streptavidin carrying an engineered nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA) linker [94] (Fig. 40.3a). Upon addition of imidazole at low and nontoxic

concentration, the NTA complexes rapidly decay into pMHC monomers allowing FACS sorting of antigen-specific CD8 T cells without inducing adverse effects on the cell integrity such as activation-induced cell death [81, 94].

Thanks to the fluorescent labeling of the individual pMHC monomers contained in the reversible multimeric complexes, it has recently become possible to monitor and quantify the monomeric dissociation of pMHC from the TCRs directly at the surface of antigen-specific T cells [95–98]. Reversible two-color Streptamers successfully allowed determining monomeric dissociation kinetics of nonself, virus-specific TCRs on human and mouse T cells using a real-time microscopic-based strategy [95]. Specifically, Nauerth and coworkers [95] reported that virusspecific CD8 T cells with longer half-lives (low $k_{\rm off}$) exhibited increased functional avidity and better in vivo protective capacity than T cells of shorter half-lives (high k_{off}). Moreover, the Streptamer technology allowed for the simultaneous measurement of k_{off} on hundreds of antigenspecific CD8 T cells, which represents a great advantage since it is not limited to the generation of clonal T cell populations. However, the significant lag time required for the Streptamer to decay into monomeric pMHC molecules (around 60 s) as well as the photobleaching effect associated with the microscopic assay prevented the detection of rapid TCR-pMHC off-rates, which are typically found within the self-/tumor-specific CD8 T cell repertoires of lower TCR affinities. Recently, the Streptamer-based experimental settings were further optimized for k_{off} measurements of ex vivo unsorted, polyclonal antigenspecific CD8 T cells using a conventional flow cytometer and may now become suited for highthroughput applications [98].

In parallel, our group used a two-color version of the reversible NTAmers [94] to assess TCRpMHC dissociation kinetics directly on living CD8 T cells by flow cytometer [96] (Fig. 40.3a, b). The accuracy of the NTAmer approach was validated by finding strong correlations between NTAmer-based monomeric dissociation rates and those obtained by SPR measurements [96]. In contrast to the *Streptamer* technology, the rapid



Fig. 40.3 NTAmer-based monomeric dissociation assay allows the identification of antitumor T cells of higher TCR-pMHC avidity and functional potency. (a) Schematic representation of the NTAmer-based monomeric dissociation assay. CD8 T cells are stably stained with multimeric NTAmers composed of streptavidin-PE (green)-NTA₄ (gray) and peptide-MHC (brown) monomers containing Cy5-labeled \(\beta2m\) (red). Upon addition of imidazole, NTAmers rapidly decay in Cy5-labeled pMHC monomers (middle panel). Cy5-labeled pMHC monomers subsequently dissociate from cell-associated TCRs (black) and CD8 (blue) according to the intrinsic TCR/CD8-pMHC dissociation rate (k_{off}) (*right panel*). Adapted from [31]. (b) Representative NTAmer-dissociation staining (left panels) and corresponding fitting curves (right panels) obtained from CD8 T cell clones defined as slow or fast TCR-pMHC dissociation rate (k_{off}). Imidazole is added

after 1 min of baseline recording (white gap), and dissociation curves are followed over time within the Cy5 (pMHC monomers) and PE (NTA₄ scaffold) channels by flow cytometry. The corresponding monomeric dissociation rates (k_{off}) are analyzed in Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc.). (c) Relationship between TCR-pMHC binding avidity and T cell functional avidity. Representative NTAmerbased monomeric dissociation curves (first panel from the *left*) and CD107a-based titration curves (second panel) obtained for HLA-A2/Melan-A-specific CD8 T cell clones isolated from a melanoma patient (LAU618) and arbitrarily separated into rapid (white circle) and slow (black squares) dissociation rates (k_{off}) . Correlations (Spearman coefficient r and P value) obtained between TCR-pMHC avidity (monomeric TCR-pMHC k_{off}) and functional avidity (CD107a degranulation EC50, third panel, and IL-2 production EC50, fourth panel)

decay of the NTAmer scaffold into its pMHC monomeric constituents (2-3 s) made it possible to precisely analyze the dissociation kinetics of a wide spectrum of TCR affinities, with a special emphasis for self-/tumor-specific CD8 T cells, which are known to be of low affinities and rapid k_{off} [96, 97] (Fig. 40.3c). Collectively, the two-color reversible multimer technology (i.e., Streptamer and NTAmer) enables the real-time quantification of monomeric TCR-pMHC dissociation kinetics directly at the surface of living primary CD8 T cells within large numbers of nonself/virus and self/tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cell clones. For the time being, no monomeric-based pMHC assays have emerged, that would allow the precise quantification of the k_{on} association kinetics or the $K_{\rm D}$ affinity directly on living T cells.

40.6 Relationship Between TCRpMHC Binding Parameters and CD8 T Cell Potency

Productive interactions between TCRs and their antigens are key for the successful initiation and development of potent adaptive immune responses. However, large-scale assessment of endogenous TCR-pMHC binding parameters has remained technically challenging up to now, limiting the available information on the overall impact and clinical relevance of TCR-pMHC affinity/avidity in the context of natural self-/ tumor-specific CD8 T cell responses. Specifically, the questions whether T cells of high TCRpMHC affinity/avidity can be found in the endogenous tumor-specific repertoire of cancer patients and whether the TCR-pMHC affinity/avidity parameter represents a determining factor contributing to a robust antitumor T cell response still remain open.

Many studies conducted within the past two decades have used experimental variations of the TCR-pMHC affinity (i.e., using panels of altered peptide ligands or affinity-optimized TCR variants) to address the mechanisms that relate TCR-pMHC binding parameters to CD8 T cell functions. As such, these reports demonstrated that within the range of physiological interactions $(K_{\rm D} 200 \,\mu\text{M}-1 \,\mu\text{M})$, the TCR-pMHC affinity (as determined by SPR) strongly correlates with T cell functional avidity [36, 45-47, 60, 99-104]. Functional readouts included T cell potency for target cell conjugation, phosphorylation of downstream molecules of the TCR-signaling complex, intracellular Ca2+ mobilization, lytic granule polarization, target cell killing, cytokine production, cell proliferation, polyfunctionality, and in vivo tumor infiltration and protection/survival (reviewed in [31]). Collectively, those investigations provided strong evidence that the functional potency of tumor-specific T cells can be tailored according to the TCR-pMHC binding parameters. However, these artificial models may bypass numerous other molecular and cellular parameters that dampen the impact of the TCR-pMHC affinity/avidity on the overall T cell functionality. Thus, it remains to be proven whether the TCR/ pMHC affinity/avidity represents a determining factor when considering natural antitumor CD8 T cell responses.

Taking advantage of the novel NTAmer technology, our group recently dissected the impact of the TCR-pMHC binding parameters (i.e., k_{off} or off-rates) within spontaneous or therapeutically induced tumor-specific T cell responses in cancer patients [96, 97]. Using large panels of Melan-A- and NY-ESO-1-specific CD8 T cell clones that were isolated prospectively from melanoma patients, we showed that TCR-pMHC dissociation rates strongly correlated with functional avidity, with tumor-specific T cell clones having long half-lives (slow k_{off}) exhibiting increased target cell killing [96]. Importantly, these correlations were observed independently of the functional readout used, including production of Th1/Th2-related cytokine, polyfunctionality, or proliferation, indicating that the TCR-ligand k_{off} rate is a reliable predictor of CD8 T cell potency (own unpublished observations [107]; Fig. 40.3c). Furthermore, our results show that NTAmers are effective tools to isolate those rare CD8 T cells of higher antitumor potency within the endogenous repertoire of cancer patients for use in adoptive cell therapies (reviewed in [31]; own unpublished observations [107]).

Finally, using the novel NTAmer-based technology, we could also quantify the potency of an immunotherapy intervention in melanoma patients [97]. Indeed, we confirmed that the type of peptide used for vaccination of cancer patients profoundly influenced the TCR-pMHC binding avidity of tumor-specific T cells, which in turn correlated with T cell functions. Patients vaccinated repetitively with the natural Melan-A₂₆₋₃₅ peptide generated tumor-specific CD8 T cells with increased TCR-pMHC binding avidities and killing potency as compared to vaccinations with the analog Melan-A₂₆₋₃₅ A27L peptide, even if the latter binds more strongly and stably to MHC as compared to the natural peptide. Thus, vaccination with peptides with weak/natural MHC binding favors an enrichment of T cells with higher functional competence [97]. Consequently, the assessment of the TCR-pMHC binding avidity enabled to address which therapeutic vaccine protocol triggered the most potent tumor-specific T cell responses within comparative experimental cohorts, providing precious insights into the choice of peptide to be employed for future cancer vaccines.

40.7 Conclusive Remarks

Cancer immunotherapy has made significant progress with the recent introduction of novel therapeutic reagents such as anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 antibodies. Yet, we still need robust techniques allowing the fast identification and isolation of self/tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells with highest TCR-pMHC avidities within the natural repertoires of cancer patients. Ongoing efforts are currently made to design novel technologies that would enable the rapid and highthroughput assessment of TCR-pMHC binding affinities and kinetic rates directly at the single cell level. Ideally, such technics should retrieve the living cell for further amplification and functional characterization and/or parallel cloning of the TCR alpha and beta chains for subsequent therapeutic usage in adoptive T cell transfer. Optimization of flow cytometry approaches that would allow single cell sorting based on kinetic

or affinity parameters as well as novel microscopic, microbalance, and plasmon resonance devices with possibilities to recover the tested cells will hopefully enable such advances in a near future. Understanding the correlates of immune protection together with the development of novel technologies allowing selecting for the best (i.e., high-avidity and high functional potency) tumor-specific CD8 T cells should support the progress of T cell-based therapies against cancer.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge P. Baumgaertner, B. Couturaud, L. Carretero-Iglesias, M-N. Duong, P. Gannon, I. Luescher, J. Schmidt, D.E. Speiser, and P. Romero for their collaboration and helpful discussions. The authors apologize to all colleagues whose work could not be referred in this review.

Competing Interests The authors declare no conflicts of interest in regard to this work.

References

- 1. Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2013;342(6165): 1432–3.
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):269–81.
- Rosenberg SA. Cell transfer immunotherapy for metastatic solid cancer--what clinicians need to know. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8(10):577–85.
- Gill S, Porter DL. CAR-modified anti-CD19 T cells for the treatment of B-cell malignancies: rules of the road. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2014;14(1):37–49.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252–64.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Hassel JC, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, Powderly JD, Carvajal RD, Sosman JA, Atkins MB, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54.
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, Drake CG, Camacho LH, Kauh J, Odunsi K, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2455–65.

- Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, Wolchok JD, Hersey P, Joseph RW, Weber JS, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):134–44.
- Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Weber JS, Allison JP, Urba WJ, Robert C, O'Day SJ, Hoos A, Humphrey R, Berman DM, et al. Development of ipilimumab: a novel immunotherapeutic approach for the treatment of advanced melanoma. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2013;1291:1–13.
- 11. Speiser DE, Kyburz D, Stubi U, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM. Discrepancy between in vitro measurable and in vivo virus neutralizing cytotoxic T cell reactivities. Low T cell receptor specificity and avidity sufficient for in vitro proliferation or cytotoxicity to peptide-coated target cells but not for in vivo protection. J Immunol. 1992;149(3):972–80.
- Alexander-Miller MA, Leggatt GR, Berzofsky JA. Selective expansion of high- or low-avidity cytotoxic T lymphocytes and efficacy for adoptive immunotherapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(9):4102–7.
- Gallimore A, Dumrese T, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Rammensee HG. Protective immunity does not correlate with the hierarchy of virus-specific cytotoxic T cell responses to naturally processed peptides. J Exp Med. 1998;187(10):1647–57.
- 14. Almeida JR, Price DA, Papagno L, Arkoub ZA, Sauce D, Bornstein E, Asher TE, Samri A, Schnuriger A, Theodorou I, et al. Superior control of HIV-1 replication by CD8+ T cells is reflected by their avidity, polyfunctionality, and clonal turnover. J Exp Med. 2007;204(10):2473–85.
- Berger CT, Frahm N, Price DA, Mothe B, Ghebremichael M, Hartman KL, Henry LM, Brenchley JM, Ruff LE, Venturi V, et al. Highfunctional-avidity cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to HLA-B-restricted gag-derived epitopes associated with relative HIV control. J Virol. 2011;85(18): 9334–45.
- 16. Yerly D, Heckerman D, Allen TM, Chisholm JV III, Faircloth K, Linde CH, Frahm N, Timm J, Pichler WJ, Cerny A, et al. Increased cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope variant cross-recognition and functional avidity are associated with hepatitis C virus clearance. J Virol. 2008;82(6):3147–53.
- Neveu B, Debeaupuis E, Echasserieau K, le Moullac-Vaidye B, Gassin M, Jegou L, Decalf J, Albert M, Ferry N, Gournay J, et al. Selection of high-avidity CD8 T cells correlates with control of hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology. 2008;48(3):713–22.
- Zeh HJ III, Perry-Lalley D, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA, Yang JC. High avidity CTLs for two selfantigens demonstrate superior in vitro and in vivo antitumor efficacy. J Immunol. 1999;162(2):989–94.
- Dudley ME, Nishimura MI, Holt AK, Rosenberg SA. Antitumor immunization with a minimal peptide epitope (G9-209-2M) leads to a function-

ally heterogeneous CTL response. J Immunother. 1999;22(4):288–98.

- Bullock TN, Mullins DW, Colella TA, Engelhard VH. Manipulation of avidity to improve effectiveness of adoptively transferred CD8(+) T cells for melanoma immunotherapy in human MHC class I-transgenic mice. J Immunol. 2001;167(10): 5824–31.
- Dutoit V, Rubio-Godoy V, Dietrich PY, Quiqueres AL, Schnuriger V, Rimoldi D, Lienard D, Speiser D, Guillaume P, Batard P, et al. Heterogeneous T-cell response to MAGE-A10(254-262): high avidityspecific cytolytic T lymphocytes show superior antitumor activity. Cancer Res. 2001;61(15):5850–6.
- 22. Speiser DE, Baumgaertner P, Barbey C, Rubio-Godoy V, Moulin A, Corthesy P, Devevre E, Dietrich PY, Rimoldi D, Lienard D, et al. A novel approach to characterize clonality and differentiation of human melanoma-specific T cell responses: spontaneous priming and efficient boosting by vaccination. J Immunol. 2006;177(2):1338–48.
- Vigano S, Utzschneider DT, Perreau M, Pantaleo G, Zehn D, Harari A. Functional avidity: a measure to predict the efficacy of effector T cells? Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:153863.
- Clay TM, Hobeika AC, Mosca PJ, Lyerly HK, Morse MA. Assays for monitoring cellular immune responses to active immunotherapy of cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(5):1127–35.
- Keilholz U, Martus P, Scheibenbogen C. Immune monitoring of T-cell responses in cancer vaccine development. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(7 Pt 2):2346s–52s.
- Moran AE, Hogquist KA. T-cell receptor affinity in thymic development. Immunology. 2012;135(4): 261–7.
- 27. Ozga AJ, Moalli F, Abe J, Swoger J, Sharpe J, Zehn D, Kreutzfeldt M, Merkler D, Ripoll J, Stein JV. pMHC affinity controls duration of CD8+ T cell-DC interactions and imprints timing of effector differentiation versus expansion. J Exp Med. 2016;213(12):2811–29.
- Zehn D, King C, Bevan MJ, Palmer E. TCR signaling requirements for activating T cells and for generating memory. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2012;69(10):1565–75.
- Stone JD, Chervin AS, Kranz DM. T-cell receptor binding affinities and kinetics: impact on T-cell activity and specificity. Immunology. 2009;126(2):165–76.
- Corse E, Gottschalk RA, Allison JP. Strength of TCR-peptide/MHC interactions and in vivo T cell responses. J Immunol. 2011;186(9):5039–45.
- Hebeisen M, Allard M, Gannon PO, Schmidt J, Speiser DE, Rufer N. Identifying individual T cell receptors of optimal avidity for tumor antigens. Front Immunol. 2015;6:582.
- Nikolich-Zugich J, Slifka MK, Messaoudi I. The many important facets of T-cell repertoire diversity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(2):123–32.

- 33. Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(6):377–91.
- Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol. 2006;24:571–606.
- 35. Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(2):135–46.
- 36. Aleksic M, Dushek O, Zhang H, Shenderov E, Chen JL, Cerundolo V, Coombs D, van der Merwe PA. Dependence of T cell antigen recognition on T cell receptor-peptide MHC confinement time. Immunity. 2010;32(2):163–74.
- McMahan RH, Slansky JE. Mobilizing the lowavidity T cell repertoire to kill tumors. Semin Cancer Biol. 2007;17(4):317–29.
- Turner MJ, Jellison ER, Lingenheld EG, Puddington L, Lefrancois L. Avidity maturation of memory CD8 T cells is limited by self-antigen expression. J Exp Med. 2008;205(8):1859–68.
- Zehn D, Bevan MJ. T cells with low avidity for a tissue-restricted antigen routinely evade central and peripheral tolerance and cause autoimmunity. Immunity. 2006;25(2):261–70.
- Zehn D, Lee SY, Bevan MJ. Complete but curtailed T-cell response to very low-affinity antigen. Nature. 2009;458(7235):211–4.
- 41. Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, Kammula US, Royal RE, Sherry RM, Wunderlich JR, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. Blood. 2009;114(3):535–46.
- 42. Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Nahvi AV, Helman LJ, Mackall CL, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):917–24.
- Zoete V, Irving MB, Michielin O. MM-GBSA binding free energy decomposition and T cell receptor engineering. J Mol Recognit. 2010;23(2):142–52.
- Zoete V, Irving M, Ferber M, Cuendet MA, Michielin O. Structure-based, rational design of T cell receptors. Front Immunol. 2013;4:268.
- 45. Schmid DA, Irving MB, Posevitz V, Hebeisen M, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Sarria JC, Gomez-Eerland R, Thome M, Schumacher TN, Romero P, et al. Evidence for a TCR affinity threshold delimiting maximal CD8 T cell function. J Immunol. 2010;184(9):4936–46.
- 46. Irving M, Zoete V, Hebeisen M, Schmid D, Baumgartner P, Guillaume P, Romero P, Speiser D, Luescher I, Rufer N, et al. Interplay between T cell receptor binding kinetics and the level of cognate peptide presented by major histocompatibility com-

plexes governs CD8+ T cell responsiveness. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(27):23068–78.

- Hebeisen M, Baitsch L, Presotto D, Baumgaertner P, Romero P, Michielin O, Speiser DE, Rufer N. SHP-1 phosphatase activity counteracts increased T cell receptor affinity. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(3):1044–56.
- Hebeisen M, Oberle SG, Presotto D, Speiser DE, Zehn D, Rufer N. Molecular insights for optimizing T cell receptor specificity against cancer. Front Immunol. 2013;4:154.
- Tey SK. Adoptive T-cell therapy: adverse events and safety switches. Clin Transl Immunology. 2014;3(6):e17.
- Debets R, Donnadieu E, Chouaib S, Coukos G. TCRengineered T cells to treat tumors: seeing but not touching? Semin Immunol. 2016;28(1):10–21.
- Johnson LA, June CH. Driving gene-engineered T cell immunotherapy of cancer. Cell Res. 2017;27(1):38–58.
- 52. Kunert A, Straetemans T, Govers C, Lamers C, Mathijssen R, Sleijfer S, Debets R. TCR-engineered T cells meet new challenges to treat solid tumors: choice of antigen, T cell fitness, and sensitization of tumor milieu. Front Immunol. 2013;4:363.
- 53. Yee C, Thompson JA, Roche P, Byrd DR, Lee PP, Piepkorn M, Kenyon K, Davis MM, Riddell SR, Greenberg PD. Melanocyte destruction after antigen-specific immunotherapy of melanoma: direct evidence of t cell-mediated vitiligo. J Exp Med. 2000;192(11):1637–44.
- 54. Yeh S, Karne NK, Kerkar SP, Heller CK, Palmer DC, Johnson LA, Li Z, Bishop RJ, Wong WT, Sherry RM, et al. Ocular and systemic autoimmunity after successful tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte immunotherapy for recurrent, metastatic melanoma. Ophthalmology. 2009;116(5):981–9. e1
- 55. Overwijk WW, Theoret MR, Finkelstein SE, Surman DR, de Jong LA, Vyth-Dreese FA, Dellemijn TA, Antony PA, Spiess PJ, Palmer DC, et al. Tumor regression and autoimmunity after reversal of a functionally tolerant state of self-reactive CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med. 2003;198(4):569–80.
- 56. Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Langan RC, Dudley ME, Nathan DA, Feldman SA, Davis JL, Morgan RA, Merino MJ, Sherry RM, et al. T cells targeting carcinoembryonic antigen can mediate regression of metastatic colorectal cancer but induce severe transient colitis. Mol Ther. 2011;19(3):620–6.
- 57. Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Sherry RM, et al. A pilot trial using lymphocytes genetically engineered with an NY-ESO-1-reactive T-cell receptor: long-term follow-up and correlates with response. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(5):1019–27.
- Stone JD, Harris DT, Kranz DM. TCR affinity for p/MHC formed by tumor antigens that are selfproteins: impact on efficacy and toxicity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2015;33:16–22.

- Holler PD, Chlewicki LK, Kranz DM. TCRs with high affinity for foreign pMHC show self-reactivity. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(1):55–62.
- 60. Zhao Y, Bennett AD, Zheng Z, Wang QJ, Robbins PF, Yu LY, Li Y, Molloy PE, Dunn SM, Jakobsen BK, et al. High-affinity TCRs generated by phage display provide CD4+ T cells with the ability to recognize and kill tumor cell lines. J Immunol. 2007;179(9):5845–54.
- 61. Li Y, Moysey R, Molloy PE, Vuidepot AL, Mahon T, Baston E, Dunn S, Liddy N, Jacob J, Jakobsen BK, et al. Directed evolution of human T-cell receptors with picomolar affinities by phage display. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(3):349–54.
- June CH, Maus MV, Plesa G, Johnson LA, Zhao Y, Levine BL, Grupp SA, Porter DL. Engineered T cells for cancer therapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(9):969–75.
- 63. Cameron BJ, Gerry AB, Dukes J, Harper JV, Kannan V, Bianchi FC, Grand F, Brewer JE, Gupta M, Plesa G, et al. Identification of a Titin-derived HLA-A1-presented peptide as a cross-reactive target for engineered MAGE A3-directed T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(197):197ra03.
- 64. Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, Litzky L, Bagg A, Carreno BM, Cimino PJ, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinity-enhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. Blood. 2013;122(6):863–71.
- 65. Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression and neurological toxicity following anti-MAGE-A3 TCR gene therapy. J Immunother. 2013;36(2):133–51.
- 66. Slansky JE, Jordan KR. The Goldilocks model for TCR-too much attraction might not be best for vaccine design. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(9):e1000482.
- Rudolph MG, Luz JG, Wilson IA. Structural and thermodynamic correlates of T cell signaling. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct. 2002;31:121–49.
- Bridgeman JS, Sewell AK, Miles JJ, Price DA, Cole DK. Structural and biophysical determinants of alphabeta T-cell antigen recognition. Immunology. 2012;135(1):9–18.
- 69. Corr M, Slanetz AE, Boyd LF, Jelonek MT, Khilko S, al-Ramadi BK, Kim YS, Maher SE, Bothwell AL, Margulies DH. T cell receptor-MHC class I peptide interactions: affinity, kinetics, and specificity. Science. 1994;265(5174):946–9.
- Davis MM, Boniface JJ, Reich Z, Lyons D, Hampl J, Arden B, Chien Y. Ligand recognition by alpha beta T cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol. 1998;16:523–44.
- Wang W, Yang Y, Wang S, Nagaraj VJ, Liu Q, Wu J, Tao N. Label-free measuring and mapping of binding kinetics of membrane proteins in single living cells. Nat Chem. 2012;4(10):846–53.
- Hill RT. Plasmonic biosensors. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2015;7(2):152–68.
- 73. Li X, Song S, Shuai Q, Pei Y, Aastrup T, Pei Y, Pei Z. Real-time and label-free analysis of binding ther-

modynamics of carbohydrate-protein interactions on unfixed cancer cell surfaces using a QCM biosensor. Sci Rep. 2015;5:14066.

- 74. Clausen TM, Pereira MA, Oo HZ, Resende M, Gustavson T, Mao Y, Sugiura N, Liew J, Fazli L, Theander TG, et al. Real-time and label free determination of ligand binding-kinetics to primary cancer tissue specimens; a novel tool for the assessment of biomarker targeting. Sens Biosensing Res. 2016;9:23–30.
- Edwards LJ, Zarnitsyna VI, Hood JD, Evavold BD, Zhu C. Insights into T cell recognition of antigen: significance of two-dimensional kinetic parameters. Front Immunol. 2012;3:86.
- Huang J, Zarnitsyna VI, Liu B, Edwards LJ, Jiang N, Evavold BD, Zhu C. The kinetics of two-dimensional TCR and pMHC interactions determine T-cell responsiveness. Nature. 2010;464(7290):932–6.
- 77. Huppa JB, Axmann M, Mortelmaier MA, Lillemeier BF, Newell EW, Brameshuber M, Klein LO, Schutz GJ, Davis MM. TCR-peptide-MHC interactions in situ show accelerated kinetics and increased affinity. Nature. 2010;463(7283):963–7.
- Liu B, Zhong S, Malecek K, Johnson LA, Rosenberg SA, Zhu C, Krogsgaard M. 2D TCRpMHC-CD8 kinetics determines T-cell responses in a self-antigen-specific TCR system. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(1):239–50.
- Pryshchep S, Zarnitsyna VI, Hong J, Evavold BD, Zhu C. Accumulation of serial forces on TCR and CD8 frequently applied by agonist antigenic peptides embedded in MHC molecules triggers calcium in T cells. J Immunol. 2014;193(1):68–76.
- Hong J, Persaud SP, Horvath S, Allen PM, Evavold BD, Zhu C. Force-regulated in situ TCR-peptidebound MHC class II kinetics determine functions of CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 2015;195(8):3557–64.
- Schmidt J, Dojcinovic D, Guillaume P, Luescher I. Analysis, isolation, and activation of antigenspecific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells by soluble MHC-peptide complexes. Front Immunol. 2013;4:218.
- Zhu C, Jiang N, Huang J, Zarnitsyna VI, Evavold BD. Insights from in situ analysis of TCR-pMHC recognition: response of an interaction network. Immunol Rev. 2013;251(1):49–64.
- 83. Zhang SQ, Parker P, Ma KY, He C, Shi Q, Cui Z, Williams CM, Wendel BS, Meriwether AI, Salazar MA, et al. Direct measurement of T cell receptor affinity and sequence from naive antiviral T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(341):341ra77.
- 84. Garboczi DN, Hung DT, Wiley DC. HLA-A2peptide complexes: refolding and crystallization of molecules expressed in Escherichia coli and complexed with single antigenic peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(8):3429–33.
- Boniface JJ, Rabinowitz JD, Wulfing C, Hampl J, Reich Z, Altman JD, Kantor RM, Beeson C, McConnell HM, Davis MM. Initiation of signal transduction through the T cell receptor requires the multivalent engagement of peptide/MHC ligands [corrected]. Immunity. 1998;9(4):459–66.

- Altman JD, Moss PA, Goulder PJ, Barouch DH, McHeyzer-Williams MG, Bell JI, McMichael AJ, Davis MM. Phenotypic analysis of antigen-specific T lymphocytes. Science. 1996;274(5284):94–6.
- Abastado JP, Lone YC, Casrouge A, Boulot G, Kourilsky P. Dimerization of soluble major histocompatibility complex-peptide complexes is sufficient for activation of T cell hybridoma and induction of unresponsiveness. J Exp Med. 1995;182(2):439–47.
- Wang XL, Altman JD. Caveats in the design of MHC class I tetramer/antigen-specific T lymphocytes dissociation assays. J Immunol Methods. 2003;280(1–2):25–35.
- 89. Hombrink P, Raz Y, Kester MG, de Boer R, Weissbrich B, von dem Borne PA, Busch DH, Schumacher TN, Falkenburg JH, Heemskerk MH. Mixed functional characteristics correlating with TCR-ligand koff-rate of MHC-tetramer reactive T cells within the naive T-cell repertoire. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(11):3038–50.
- Wilde S, Sommermeyer D, Leisegang M, Frankenberger B, Mosetter B, Uckert W, Schendel DJ. Human antitumor CD8+ T cells producing Th1 polycytokines show superior antigen sensitivity and tumor recognition. J Immunol. 2012;189(2):598–605.
- Sommermeyer D, Conrad H, Kronig H, Gelfort H, Bernhard H, Uckert W. NY-ESO-1 antigen-reactive T cell receptors exhibit diverse therapeutic capability. Int J Cancer. 2013;132(6):1360–7.
- 92. Knabel M, Franz TJ, Schiemann M, Wulf A, Villmow B, Schmidt B, Bernhard H, Wagner H, Busch DH. Reversible MHC multimer staining for functional isolation of T-cell populations and effective adoptive transfer. Nat Med. 2002;8(6):631–7.
- 93. Neudorfer J, Schmidt B, Huster KM, Anderl F, Schiemann M, Holzapfel G, Schmidt T, Germeroth L, Wagner H, Peschel C, et al. Reversible HLA multimers (Streptamers) for the isolation of human cytotoxic T lymphocytes functionally active against tumor- and virus-derived antigens. J Immunol Methods. 2007;320(1–2):119–31.
- 94. Schmidt J, Guillaume P, Irving M, Baumgaertner P, Speiser D, Luescher IF. Reversible major histocompatibility complex I-peptide multimers containing Ni(2+)-nitrilotriacetic acid peptides and histidine tags improve analysis and sorting of CD8(+) T cells. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(48):41723–35.
- 95. Nauerth M, Weissbrich B, Knall R, Franz T, Dossinger G, Bet J, Paszkiewicz PJ, Pfeifer L, Bunse M, Uckert W, et al. TCR-ligand koff rate correlates with the protective capacity of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells for adoptive transfer. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(192):192ra87.
- Hebeisen M, Schmidt J, Guillaume P, Baumgaertner P, Speiser DE, Luescher I, Rufer N. Identification of rare high-avidity, tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells by monomeric TCR-ligand off-rates measurements on living cells. Cancer Res. 2015;75(10):1983–91.
- 97. Gannon PO, Wieckowski S, Baumgaertner P, Hebeisen M, Allard M, Speiser DE, Rufer

N. Quantitative TCR:pMHC dissociation rate assessment by NTAmers reveals antimelanoma T cell repertoires enriched for high functional competence. J Immunol. 2015;195(1):356–66.

- Nauerth M, Stemberger C, Mohr F, Weissbrich B, Schiemann M, Germeroth L, Busch DH. Flow cytometry-based TCR-ligand Koff-rate assay for fast avidity screening of even very small antigenspecific T cell populations ex vivo. Cytometry A. 2016;89(9):816–25.
- 99. Chen JL, Morgan AJ, Stewart-Jones G, Shepherd D, Bossi G, Wooldridge L, Hutchinson SL, Sewell AK, Griffiths GM, van der Merwe PA, et al. Ca2+ release from the endoplasmic reticulum of NY-ESO-1specific T cells is modulated by the affinity of TCR and by the use of the CD8 coreceptor. J Immunol. 2010;184(4):1829–39.
- 100. McMahan RH, McWilliams JA, Jordan KR, Dow SW, Wilson DB, Slansky JE. Relating TCR-peptide-MHC affinity to immunogenicity for the design of tumor vaccines. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(9): 2543–51.
- 101. Riquelme E, Carreno LJ, Gonzalez PA, Kalergis AM. The duration of TCR/pMHC interactions regulates CTL effector function and tumor-killing capacity. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(8):2259–69.
- 102. Robbins PF, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Zhao Y, Wargo JA, Zheng Z, Xu H, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Johnson LA, et al. Single and dual amino acid substitutions in TCR CDRs can enhance antigen-specific T cell functions. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):6116–31.
- 103. Tan MP, Gerry AB, Brewer JE, Melchiori L, Bridgeman JS, Bennett AD, Pumphrey NJ, Jakobsen BK, Price DA, Ladell K, et al. T cell receptor binding affinity governs the functional profile of cancer-specific CD8+ T cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 2015;180(2):255–70.
- 104. Zhong S, Malecek K, Johnson LA, Yu Z. Vega-Saenz de Miera E, Darvishian F, McGary K, Huang K, Boyer J, Corse E, et al. T-cell receptor affinity and avidity defines antitumor response and autoimmunity in T-cell immunotherapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(17):6973–8.
- 105. Chodon T, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Koya RC, Wu Z, Auerbach M, Ng C, Avramis E, Seja E, Villanueva A, et al. Adoptive transfer of MART-1 T-cell receptor transgenic lymphocytes and dendritic cell vaccination in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(9):2457–65.
- 106. Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, Badros AZ, Garfall A, Weiss B, Finklestein J, et al. NY-ESO-1specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):914–21.
- 107. Allard M, Couturaud B, Carretero-Iglesia L, Duong MN, Schmidt J, Monnot GC, Romero P, Speiser DE, Hebeisen M, and Rufer N. TCR-ligand dissociation rate is a robust and stable biomarker of CD8+ T cell potency. JCI Insight. 2017 Jul 20;2(14). pii: 92570. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.92570. [Epub ahead of print]

Immune Monitoring of Blood and Tumor Microenvironment

Petra Baumgaertner, Kalliopi Ioannidou, and Daniel E. Speiser

Contents

41.1	Introduction	681
41.2	Flow Cytometry and Protein	
	Expression Analysis	682
41.2.1	Flow Cytometry	682
41.2.2	Protein Arrays	685
41.2.3	Cytokine Analysis	685
41.2.4	Bioinformatics Support for	
	Data Analysis	686
41.3	Further Assays to Monitor T Cell	
	Functions	686
41.3.1	Analyzing Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity	686
41.3.2	The ELISpot Technique for Assaying	
	Cytokine- and Interferon-Producing	
	Cells	686
41.3.3	Intracellular Cytokine Staining	688
41.4	Multiplexed Immunohistochemistry	
	(IHC) Assays	688
41.5	High-Throughput Techniques	689
41.6	Validation of Assays, Biomarkers	
	for Clinical Use, and Integration of Big	
	Data	690
Conclu	sions	691
References		

41.1 Introduction

Immune responses in cancer patients involve immune cells and soluble factors that can be measured by an increasing number of laboratory techniques, often combined with bioinformatics data processing and interpretation. This is called "immune monitoring." The results often allow to follow disease evolution and therapy effects more directly and more rapidly than the standard clinical assessment tools and outcome measures (which are nevertheless fully exploited in order to maximally monitor cancer patients and provide them with the best clinical care). Immune monitoring methods take advantage of a variety of techniques (e.g., cellular and molecular biology, biochemistry, micro-imaging) based on sophisticated technology and engineering, allowing increasing resolution and precision. The vast majority of approaches, however, are not (yet) used for standardized routine patient analysis. Rather, they are subject of regular optimization and refinement and used in research and to some degree in the context of clinical trials. Extended validation for broad clinical use is ongoing for a small number of methods, particularly those that appear promising for eventual future routine application. The aim is to establish biomarkers, i.e., laboratory benchmarks useful for disease prognosis or predicting treatment outcome, thereby contributing to tomorrows "precision medicine." Figure 41.1 illustrates various techniques that are applied for the analysis of patients'

P. Baumgaertner • K. Ioannidou • D.E. Speiser (⊠) Department of Oncology, Clinical Tumor Biology and Immunotherapy Program, University of Lausanne, Biopole 3 – 02DB92, Ch. des Boveresses 155, CH-1066 Epalinges, Switzerland e-mail: doc@dspeiser.ch

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_41



Fig. 41.1 Schematic representation of analyses of patients' blood and tissue specimens. Various methods are used to analyze blood, other body fluids, or solid specimens obtained by surgery or biopsy procedures

blood and tissue specimens. The subsequent paragraphs of this chapter are structured accordingly. By following the journey of cancer patients through diagnosis, treatment and follow-up, researchers carefully investigate the dynamic nature of malignant diseases, providing overwhelming insights into the biology of human cancers.

41.2 Flow Cytometry and Protein Expression Analysis

During the last two decades, characterization of immune cells has gained importance, providing key information in research and clinical studies. A variety of techniques is used to study the patient's T cells (Fig. 41.2). The enormous technical progress during the last years in the field helped to build reliable instruments and to standardize technology and methods for analyzing cells and liquids from different origins, e.g., blood, other body fluids, and various tissues including tumors and lymphoid structures. The big variety and diversity of human samples, and the multiplicity of different cells, factors, cytokines, and chemokines, makes an imperative need for different techniques and dedicated procedures, in order to obtain maximum information from a limited amount of biological material.

The profiling and monitoring of immune responses are key elements in the development of new therapies against cancer and the evaluation of their efficacy. To monitor and quantify an immune response against tumors, it is important to use procedures and techniques (Fig. 41.2) that can reliably detect and characterize tumor antigen-specific T cells, provide information about their phenotype, their specificity, and their proliferation, as well as directly measure their various functions [1].

41.2.1 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry is one of the most broadly used technologies for the analysis of cells from blood and the tumor microenvironment (TME). This technology is used since about 30 years and is now widely adopted. Combinations of highly specific, fluorescent-labeled antibodies are used to identify various different cell types such as T, B, and NK cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and monocytes from a few microliters of blood



Fig. 41.2 Overview of the T cell assays. The illustrated techniques allow to profile and monitor T cell responses, providing information about phenotype, specificity, proliferation, and functionality of tumor-specific T cells. From the left to the right, flow cytometry enables rapid analysis of physical properties (e.g., size) and multiple molecular characteristics of individual cells, isolated from patient's blood or the tumor microenvironment (TME). Antibodies conjugated to fluorescent dyes are used to label specific proteins on the cell membranes or inside cells. Antigen-specific T cells can be visualized using fluorescently labeled tetrameric peptide-MHC (pMHC) complexes that bind specific T cell receptors (TCRs). Besides determining the frequency of T cells, they can also be phenotypically characterized when combining tetramers with various antibodies. Novel approaches also allow the direct and precise quantification of TCR:pMHC

[2]. The technique allows to enumerate the frequencies of the different cell types. Besides, one can determine many different qualities, for example, the cell's activation and differentiation stages [3], or expression of various receptors by highly defined cell subsets [4]. It has been published that the two surface receptors CCR7 and CD45RA are differentially expressed in human T cells, depending on whether they are naïve cells (CD45RA+ CCR7+), memory cells (CD45RA– CCR7+), or effector cells (CD45RA–/+ CCR7–) [5]. Fluorescent labeling of additional markers such as the co-stimulatory receptors CD27 and CD28 allows to further classify T cells into disdissociation rates (k_{off}) on living CD8 T cells by real-time flow cytometry (using NTAmers) and/or microscopy (using Streptamers). Fluorescent CSFE labeling is used to assess T cell proliferation in vitro. Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) is a very useful and widely used flow cytometry-based assay which detects the production and accumulation of intracellular cytokines after cell stimulation, as well as the frequency of the cytokine-producing T cells. Important non-cytometry-based assays are depicted to the right of the immune monitoring "Parthenon." The IFN-γ ELISpot assay, a highly sensitive immunoassay, reveals the frequency of tumor-specific lymphocytes by forming one spot per cell upon antigen stimulation. Cytotoxicity and lytic capacity of lymphocytes is measured by the killer assay, whereby radioactive 51Cr is released from labeled target cells killed by cytotoxic T cells

tinct differentiation stages (Fig. 41.3). Modern flow cytometers have multiple (usually 12–18) fluorescent channels, allowing to simultaneously detect many further parameters such as the expression of activatory and inhibitory receptors, cytokines and chemokines, and (cytotoxic) proteases (Fig. 41.3).

Most practical is the analysis of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) which are obtained by gradient centrifugation of freshly obtained venous blood. This technique eliminates red blood cells and granulocytes, giving the advantage to analyze a purified cell population that can also be frozen in aliquots and thawed



Fig. 41.3 Phenotypic associations within CD8 T cell subsets in humans and relationship with functional attributes. Five distinct subsets of circulating CD8 T cells are defined according to the expression of CD27, CD28, CCR7, and CD45RA. Relative telomere length and expression of a variety of cell surface receptors and intracellular molecules (related to T cell activation, costimulation, regulation, homeostasis, homing potential, and functional capacities) are illustrated in these subsets in a "resting" state according to data from the literature. The

common phenotypic distribution of virus-specific CD8 T cells is also depicted, after clearance of the virus (Flu) or in latent infection stages (for HCV, EBV, HIV, and CMV). *Flu* influenza, *HCV* hepatitis C virus, *EBV* Epstein-Barr virus, *HIV* human immunodeficiency virus, *CMV* cytomegalovirus. The figure is taken from the paper by V. Appay et al. [3], *Phenotype and function of human T lymphocyte subsets: consensus and issues.* Cytometry A, 2008 vol 73 (11):975

later on for further investigation. But researchers become more and more aware of the fact that this strategy not only leads to the loss of potentially important cell types but also introduces small artifacts, meaning that some cell populations change their characteristics and thus give rise to misleading results. Therefore, many cell types should rather be analyzed using fresh whole blood, as, for example, shown for myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) [6].

Huge efforts have been made in developing new technologies to increase the information, particularly when patients' specimens are small and/or rare. One strategy is flow cytometry with mass spectrometry where antibodies are labeled with heavy metal ion tags, rather than fluorochromes. Here the readout is done by time-of-flight mass spectrometry (Cytof/Fluidigm) [7]. Another strategy is to combine flow cytometry with microscopy. The Image Stream machine (Amnis) is one example of an instrument where fluorescent-labeled cells can be analyzed and identified by their fluorescent molecules like with flow cytometry at the cell surface, and at the same time, a camera is taking pictures of the cells. This allows determining whether the distribution of the fluorescent-labeled molecules is homogeneously distributed over the surface of the cells or polarized in distinct areas or compartments of the cells. The fact that the cells pass with a lower speed through the instrument allows even to observe when cells are in contact to each other and to identify eventual exchange of molecules in their contact zones [8].

Furthermore, new live imaging systems like, e.g., IncuCyte (Essen BioScience), CytoSMART (Lonza), and Operetta (Perkin Elmer), allow to observe cells and their activity in vitro under "online" in culture conditions. In these technologies cameras are placed in incubators and take photos at defined time points over several days under optimal conditions. This allows, for example, observing movements of cells in presence of target cells, e.g., tumor cells or chemotaxis movements of cells due to external stimulation [9]. One of the latest technical developments is the Chip-Cytometer (ZellkraftWerk). This technique allows fluorescent microscope analysis on cells in suspension and on tissues fixed on microscope devices which can be re-stained multiple times with different markers on different cells or on the same cells [10]. The technique still requires optimization but could eventually replace cell consuming flow cytometry with time-consuming immunohistochemistry (IHC). The advantage of this technology is the analysis of rare material/cells for different cell surface and intracellular molecules with the strength of fluorescence detection well known from fluorescent analysis by flow cytometry.

41.2.2 Protein Arrays

Another possibility to obtain information about the differential states of cells and to compare samples from healthy donors with those from patients at different time points is to perform protein arrays, which can be done of bulk material or of distinct cell types previously sorted by flow cytometry or magnetic beads. This technology allows qualitative protein profiling and can also characterize protein phosphorylation revealing intracellular signaling activities. The technique is promising for screening for key factors and eventually identifies candidate biomarkers [11].

41.2.3 Cytokine Analysis

T cells have the capacity to secrete one or even multiple cytokines. The detection of soluble molecules secreted by different cell types from in vitro experiments or directly from the serum of blood samples is possible by standard ELISA assays. This technique is simple and efficient but has a relatively low sensitivity and can only analyze one specific molecule at the time. New sophisticated technologies have been developed for very sensitive detection of multiple cytokines, chemokines, or other molecules, based on either bead capture assays with liquid-based systems (Flow cytometry, Luminex) or on imaging systems, where the secreted molecules are captured on specifically coated membranes, e.g., MSD (Meso Scale Discovery). These techniques also have the advantage that they can detect multiple molecules simultaneously from a small amount of sample [12].

41.2.4 Bioinformatics Support for Data Analysis

Conclusive analysis of huge datasets coming from one or even multiple analytical approaches is challenging. Analyzing data from flow cytometry is tainted even when respecting commonly established and firm rules. For example, subjective gating decisions can strongly influence the results and their interpretation. A more objective way to analyze such data is by using novel dedicated software programs. Mathematic algorithms are capable to analyze and compare datasets in an unbiased way. By combining all different parameters, deep analysis of datasets is possible. Typically, cell populations can be rapidly identified, and even unconventional cells are found that might have been ignored with conventional cell gating.

41.3 Further Assays to Monitor T Cell Functions

Besides flow cytometry, there are various other techniques to analyze T cell functions. Several standard functional T cell assays exist for determining cytotoxicity [13], cytokine production, and proliferation [14], as overviewed in Fig. 41.2. Moreover, assays that can simultaneously detect T cell frequency and function, such as the interferon- γ (IFN- γ) enzyme-linked immunospot assay (ELISpot), have gained increasing popularity for monitoring T cell responses in clinical trials and in basic research.

41.3.1 Analyzing Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity

T cell-mediated cytotoxicity represents a key mechanism in the immune response to tumors. Therefore, monitoring methods for the appropriate assessment of cytotoxic immune reactivity is thought to be crucial [15]. A classical and popular assay for evaluating cell-mediated cytotoxicity by T lymphocytes (CTLs) and by natural killer cells is the [51]Chromium (⁵¹Cr) release assay or cytotoxicity assay, schematically depicted in Fig. 41.2. First developed in 1968 by Brunner et al. [16], it continues to be widely used for testing killing activity in immune monitoring laboratories. It is based on the passive internalization and binding of the soluble radioactive chromium from sodium chromate by target cells in singlecell suspensions. Subsequent lysis of the target cells by added effector lymphocytes results in ⁵¹Cr release into the cell culture supernatant, which is then detected by a gamma counter. Although several modified alternatives have been introduced [17], this assay remains a "gold standard" to measure cell-mediated cytotoxicity [18].

However, there are several disadvantages that create a need for more accurate methods: this assay has a relatively low level of sensitivity, often one needs to stimulate cytotoxic lymphocytes several times before they reach detectable levels of lytic activity, which unfortunately alters the composition and activity of the original T cell populations, and it does not provide direct information about the in vivo function and the behavior of single effector cells. Furthermore, there is evidence that the killing activity may largely differ between individual T cells and that "super killers" may dominate in cytotoxicity assays [19], meaning that many other T cells do not contribute significantly to target cell killing. Some target cells label poorly with ⁵¹Cr, and other target cells show high spontaneous ⁵¹Cr release. Since autologous tumor cells are difficult to obtain, surrogate targets must be used, but they may not reveal the actual ability of lymphocytes to lyse autologous tumor cells in vivo. Finally, the inter-assay variability is considerable, and there are biohazard and disposal problems associated with radioisotope usage.

41.3.2 The ELISpot Technique for Assaying Cytokineand Interferon-Producing Cells

The IFN- γ ELISpot assay is a highly sensitive immunoassay that reveals tumor-specific lymphocytes by forming one spot per cell provided that it secretes IFN- γ in response to antigen stimulation [15]. This assay is well suited to determine the frequency of functional cells. Versteegen et al. [20] were the first to use the ELISpot to detect human cells secreting IFN- γ . Subsequently, an important modification of the ELISpot assay was made by employing nitrocellulose membranes and specific monoclonal antibodies, increasing reproducibility and sensitivity of the assay [21]. With the recommendation of the 13th International AIDS Congress in the year 2000 to use the ELISpot technique due to its performance for immune monitoring purposes, it became one of the most important direct ex vivo methods in cellular immunology [22, 23].

Clinical trials and immune monitoring require comparability and reproducibility of results. The ELISpot assay is well suited, because it is a relatively simple procedure and accurate for testing any T cell, including those directly withdrawn from patients without any in vitro amplification or modification, thus best reflecting their in vivo state. Therefore, the ELISpot assay has become a standardized and validated method. The first steps to harmonize the process for widespread applications included standardization of protocols, materials, and reagents [24], for instance, by using pre-coated 96-well plates [25]. Consequently, the inter-assay and intra-assay variability was minimized, and precision and reproducibility were increased.

Schematic illustration of the principle of the ELISpot assay is summarized in Fig. 41.2. Each spot corresponds to an individual cytokinesecreting cell. The spots are counted by an ELISpot Bioreader, allowing to calculate the frequency of functional T cells. The ELISpot assay captures the presence of cytokines of interest, immediately after secretion from the "spotting" cells, in contrast to measurements that are skewed by receptor binding or protease degradation. The assay is considered as one of the most sensitive T cellular function assays available. The limit of detection typically achieved can be 1 in 100,000 cells with standard ELISpot assays and with an average of less than 1 in 200,000 PBMC in modified assays [26]. The assay is particularly useful when only small cell numbers are available.

Classically, this assay is performed with a single (high) peptide dose, usually at the concentration of 1 micromolar. Alternatively, or in addition, one can use titrated amounts of peptide to generate a characteristic sigmoid dose response curve (Fig. 41.4), used to determine the functional avidity of T cells. The mean "functional



Fig. 41.4 Examples of ELISpot titration curves from two individual CD8 T cell clones and polyclonal T cell populations from two patients. Each microculture was prepared with 300 antigen (Melan-A)-specific T cell clones or polyclonal T cell populations that contained 300 antigen-specific cells. The percentages of antigen-specific T cells in the polyclonal populations were previously determined with fluorescent tetramers by flow cytometry, allowing to calculate how many cells had to be plated to

have 300 antigen-specific T cells per microculture. For stimulation, all microcultures were supplemented with 20,000 T2 cells and the indicated concentration of antigenic (Melan-A) peptide. Ten concentrations of peptide were tested, each in triplicates, thus requiring 30 micro-cultures (in 96-well plates). Spots per well were counted with the ELISpot Bioreader 5000, and *curves* were plotted using Prism software

avidity" corresponds to the peptide concentration that confers 50% maximal activity (EC₅₀), i.e., the amount of antigenic peptide required for halfmaximal IFN-y ELIspots. Because antigen is often rate limiting in vivo, the functional avidity is a parameter that is particularly important for evaluating the functional potency of antitumor T cells. The functional avidity depends on TCRpeptide-MHC interactions on the T cell surface, where the TCR clustering, the involvement of the CD8 co-receptor, the local concentration of adhesion molecules, and the involvement of coactivating and co-inhibitory receptors are all important parameters that modulate the strength of the intercellular interaction and thus T cell activity [27-29]. The functional avidity refers to the accumulated "dynamic strength" of multiple affinities of individual non-covalent binding interactions [30]. An additional parameter is the functional avidity heterogeneity, revealed by the slope of the curve (Ioannidou K, Baumgaertner P, Gannon PO, Speiser MF, Allard M, Hebeisen M, Rufer N, Speiser DE. Heterogeneity assessment of functional T cell avidity. Scientific Reports. 2017 Mar 13;7:44320. doi: 10.1038/srep44320).

41.3.3 Intracellular Cytokine Staining

Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) revealed by flow cytometry is one of the most popular assays in the immunologists' toolbox, designed to assess complex T cell responses. One of the specific advantages of ICS is that it enables the simultaneous assessment of multiple phenotypic, differentiation, and functional parameters, including the expression of multiple cytokines [31]. ICS is used in combination with other flow cytometry protocols for immunophenotyping using fluorescent antibodies specific for cell surface markers and/or with fluorescent MHC multimers to detect antigen-specific T cells, making it an extremely flexible and versatile method. The main experimental steps of ICS are that the cells of interest are activated using either a specific peptide or non-antigen-specific activation by, e.g., anti-CD3 antibody or a mitogen. In the next step, an inhibitor of protein transport (e.g. brefeldin A) is added to retain the cytokines within the cells. After washing, the antibodies specific for cellular markers are added. The cells are then fixed (e.g., with paraformaldehyde) and permeabilized, and the anti-cytokine antibodies are added. Finally, the cells are analyzed by flow cytometry (Fig. 41.2). Many technical advances have been achieved, e.g., the polychromatic assays, designed to detect five or more separate functions of T lymphocytes (e.g., the production of cytokines and chemokines and the detection of degranulation as surrogate for cytotoxicity) while simultaneously identifying multiple surface markers [32].

41.4 Multiplexed Immunohistochemistry (IHC) Assays

Histology and IHC are excellent methods to approach the great complexity of biological processes in various tissues. For cancer patients, major challenges are to understand the disease driving biological mechanisms in the TME. Microscopebased tissue analysis allows the identification of structural and functional molecules and their intraor extracellular localization. Analyses can be done with freshly frozen (FF) or formalin-fixed paraffinembedded (FFPE) tissue samples. Their appropriate and timely handling is critical [33, 34] in order to avoid unnecessary protein and nucleic acid damage. Careful measures must be taken in order to optimally handle tissues such that the integrity of biomolecules is maintained, and detailed knowledge is obtained about eventual procedural artifacts. Also, reference tissues are required for quality control, including the verification whether the staining is capable to reveal the targeted markers.

IHC techniques use antibodies for specific labeling and staining of molecules in tissue sections. Antibody binding can be detected with an enzymatic reaction that induces chromogenic precipitation (to stain for maximally three to four markers on a single tissue section), or by fluorescent dyes (up to about eight markers). Dedicated signal amplification techniques are used to covalently link antibodies with dyes, minimizing cross-reactions upon the required subsequent rounds of staining with additional antibodies [35]. The markers can be identified with a multispectral camera. Considerably, larger numbers of markers (possibly >100) can be applied with novel techniques based on successive cycles of staining, scanning, and then removal (or bleaching) of the fluorophore, which however also requires specific software that can subsequently overlay the serial images [36, 37].

IHC is usually done on slices carrying conventional tissue sections. An elegant alternative technique is the so-called tissue microarray, which consists of punching out cylinders (of 0.6–2 mm diameter) of tissue paraffin blocks of microscopic regions of special/specific interest, customized according to hypothesis and experimental design. A large number of tissue cylinders are then used to produce a new paraffin block, in which these tissues from up to >100 patients are placed. Slices of such tissue microarray blocks enable to stain and analyze large numbers of tissues much more efficiently, favoring large-scale quantitative investigations [38, 39].

Traditionally, analysis and interpretation of histological images are evaluated qualitatively and semiquantitatively with the microscope by the eyes of a trained pathologist. Novel automated image analysis software is increasingly used to automate and accelerate this process, enabling the evaluation of large tissue regions in a fully quantitative manner [40]. However, this still requires the supervision by pathologists, as the interpretation of tissue complexity must always be quality controlled.

Overall, the use of efficient and precise methods for the investigation of tissues represents a central pillar for both research and patient assessment. For example, this is needed for the quantification of tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes (TILs), which are often of high prognostic and predictive value and can even be more important than the traditional TNM (tumor, node, metastasis) classification of tumors. These techniques allow quantifications in defined areas, e.g., in tumor cell nests, invasive margins, or peritumoral regions, each of which may have different causes and consequences [41, 42].

41.5 High-Throughput Techniques

Several techniques can determine thousands of parameters and are therefore called highthroughput techniques (Fig. 41.5), particularly



Patient groups with distinct prognosis and therapy responses

Fig. 41.5 High-throughput approaches to characterize cancer cells and their microenvironments for improving patient diagnosis and treatment, toward precision medicine. An increasing number of techniques allow comprehensive characterization of the various tissues and cells

from cancer patients, enabling detailed characterization of tumor biology and immune parameters in primary and metastatic cancers. *TME* tumor microenvironment, *WES* whole exome sequencing, *RNA-seq* RNA-sequencing, *IHC* immunohistochemistry the approaches that are sequencing based. Whole exome sequencing (WES) can be used to identify gene abnormalities in tumor cells, revealing specific mutations and overall mutational load. A comprehensive overview of gene alterations in tumor cells is obtained when WES is combined with DNA copy number profiling [43], revealing gain and loss of function alterations. In addition, an increasingly important technique is RNA sequencing (RNA-seq), enabling quantitative assessment of the expression of mRNA or microRNA. RNA-seq can be used for very many different purposes, for example, for gene signature studies, or the characterization of chemokines, cytokines, and other immune factors [43–48]. Furthermore, DNA methylation profiling is used to study epigenetic mechanisms that regulate immune gene expression, or cell lineage-specific epigenetic modifications, also permitting estimations of the percentages of the different cell populations present in the microenvironment [49-51].

Due to the large data amounts, data storing, processing, statistical analysis, and interpretations of results have become very demanding and must be supported by bioinformatics tools, requiring powerful hardware and expert knowledge. DNA microarray data can, for example, be analyzed by BRB-Array Tools, a software providing extensive tools for predictive classifier development and cross validation [52]. Dedicated software is also used to study epigenetic programming. These tools must implement mathematical and statistical rules, for example, for multiple testing [49], respecting general principles for the analysis, and statistical assessments of mass data.

Most biological specimens contain multiple different cell types in various compositions. For example, mRNA-Seq data from heterogeneous tissues are confounded by unknown relative proportions of cell types. Therefore, several algorithms have been developed for computational decomposition ("deconvolution"), with the aim to estimate the percentages of distinct cell populations present in the analyzed tissues [53, 54]. Finally, tumor antigens with somatic mutations ("neoantigens") can be predicted with various software tools that attempt foreseeing various factors such as antigen processing and MHC binding [46, 47, 55]. Neoantigens may be recognized by tumor-specific T cells with superior efficacy as compared to self-antigens associated with immune tolerance. However, great caution must be taken knowing that the majority of predicted antigens are irrelevant, because they may not (sufficiently) be presented to T cells or corresponding T cells may not exist. For these and many more reasons, bioinformatics results should always be complemented with wet-bench data, preferable at large scale beyond proof of principles.

41.6 Validation of Assays, Biomarkers for Clinical Use, and Integration of Big Data

Since the very beginning of laboratory medicine, it has become clear that great care must be given to avoid errors and mis- and overinterpretation. Today, this notion is increasingly important, in view of the enormous developments in biomedical laboratories and the massive data production. Considerable efforts are required to reach satisfactory levels of precision and standardization. Importantly, results must be meaningful for the patient's well-being, which is only the case for a small fraction of data, since most have minimal significant relevance to diagnostic or treatment decisions. Numerous experts and a broad literature provide extended basis for responsible development of laboratory approaches, illustrated, for example, in a two-volume paper focusing on validation of biomarkers to predict response to immunotherapy in cancer, published in in the Journal of Immunotherapy of Cancer [34, 56, 57]. All procedures, assays, and results must be validated pre-clinically and clinically, and routine clinical use must be approved by regulatory agencies. So far this is only the case for three assays, all quantifying PD-L1 expression (further outlined below).

Quality criteria apply to all steps, beginning with the withdrawal and handling of blood and tissue specimens. For example, time delays and unfavorable storage conditions can alter and reduce their quality. Furthermore, modern laboratory methods have large numbers of variables which all need to be defined and standardized, in order to reach high reproducibility of results obtained in different institutions. Also, the distribution of reference samples is important for assay development and subsequent regular proficiency testing. Finally, clinical studies are required to determine clinical relevance, preferably in randomized prospective trials, rather than only retrospectively.

A few prospective studies have been performed, particularly for the assessment of PD-L1 expression in patient's tumors, with the aim to predict outcome of "checkpoint blockade" treatment with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 antibodies [58–61]. Also, great efforts of international multicenter standardization of TILs' quantification by IHC are being made for patients with colon cancer [41, 42], likely forming the basis for future routine histological assessments of increasing numbers of cancer types. This will hopefully soon lead to the integration of immune parameters in disease stage and treatment assignment. But this must be based on continued efforts to standardize methodology for evaluating and implementing parameters that are likely important in many clinical situations, beyond the initial and essential steps of quantifying TILs and PD-L1 expression.

In addition to the analytical complexity of experiments producing large amounts of data, there is the great challenge to integrate all meaningful laboratory results with all clinical information from each patient, to assure optimal clinical decisions. In order to reach this goal of big data integration, computational technologies are rapidly advancing, as, for example, the IBM Watson system [62, 63]. A version customized for cancer medicine (Watson Oncology) is currently being developed. Such systems have high potential, but their implementation depends on intense multidisciplinary collaboration to assure that patients are managed not only to the best of novel approaches but also by taking into account all the current knowledge and quality criteria.

Conclusions

Immune monitoring can be done in many laboratories, but the challenge remains to develop and apply established and standardized methods for the analysis of samples. Working with cellular material is delicate and needs personnel with defined training. Small deviations from a standard workflow can strongly affect the quality of the material and can influence the results of the different techniques. The characterization and comparison of immune responses in different clinical trials are facilitated by guidelines that standardize both methodologies and the reporting of results. The Minimum Information for Biological and Biomedical Investigations (MIBBI) program [64] has been used as basis, to which several projects have been added, including minimum information about a flow cytometry experiment (MIFlowCyt), minimum information about a cellular assay (MIACA), and minimum information about a T cell assay (MIATA) [65, 66]. Many of the suggestions are based on the NCI's REMARK (REporting recommendations for tumor MARKer prognostic studies) criteria [67] and the projects mentioned above. Immune monitoring of multiinstitutional trials may be done by a central laboratory and large-scale banking of clinical specimens allowing future analysis of sera, viable cells, RNA, and DNA. Clinical and laboratory personnel must do their best to implement the existing recommendations and establish even better principles, with the aim to capitalize on clinical trials and support the development of more effective therapies.

Acknowledgments We thank the members of our group and N. Rufer, A. Wilson, S. Winkler, G. Verdeil, I. Luescher, J. Schmidt, N. Wald, J. Schaller, E. Danenberg, L. Nguyen, P. Ohashi, P. Romero, M. Matter, M. Michielin, G. Coukos, L. Kandalaft, K. Ellefsen, A. Harari, and P. Foukas for collaboration and discussion. We apologize that we could not mention all the great works of numerous contributing scientists because of space limitations.

Competing Interests The authors declare no conflicts of interest in regard to this work.

References

- Macchia I, Urbani F, Proietti E. Immune monitoring in cancer vaccine clinical trials: critical issues of functional flow cytometry-based assays. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:726239. doi:10.1155/2013/726239.
- Hensley-McBain T, Heit A, De Rosa SC, McElrath MJ, Andersen-Nissen E. Optimization of a whole blood phenotyping assay for enumeration of peripheral blood leukocyte populations in multicenter clinical trials. J Immunol Methods. 2014;411:23–36. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2014.06.002.
- Appay V, van Lier RA, Sallusto F, Roederer M. Phenotype and function of human T lymphocyte subsets: consensus and issues. Cytometry A. 2008;73:975–83. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.20643.
- Baitsch L, et al. Extended co-expression of inhibitory receptors by human CD8 T-cells depending on differentiation, antigen-specificity and anatomical localization. PLoS One. 2012;7:e30852. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0030852.
- Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature. 1999;401:708–12. doi:10.1038/44385.
- Kotsakis A, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell measurements in fresh and cryopreserved blood samples. J Immunol Methods. 2012;381:14–22. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2012.04.004.
- Bendall SC, Nolan GP, Roederer M, Chattopadhyay PK. A deep profiler's guide to cytometry. Trends Immunol. 2012;33:323–32. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012. 02.010.
- Zuba-Surma EK, et al. The Image Stream system: a key step to a new era in imaging. Folia Histochem Cytobiol. 2007;45:279–90.
- McCormack E, et al. Bi-specific TCR-anti CD3 redirected T-cell targeting of NY-ESO-1- and LAGE-1-positive tumors. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62:773–85. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1384-4.
- Happle C, et al. Pulmonary transplantation of macrophage progenitors as effective and long-lasting therapy for hereditary pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:250ra113.
- Tanase C, Albulescu R, Neagu M. Proteomic approaches for biomarker panels in cancer. J Immunoassay Immunochem. 2016;37:1–15. doi:10. 1080/15321819.2015.1116009.
- McKay HS, et al. Multiplex assay reliability and longterm intra-individual variation of serologic inflammatory biomarkers. Cytokine. 2016;90:185–92. doi:10. 1016/j.cyto.2016.09.018.
- Nagorsen D, Marincola FM, editors. Analyzing T cell responses. 1st ed. Dordrecht: Springer; 2005. p. 107– 10. ISBN: 978-1-4020-3622-4.
- Tesfa L, Volk HD, Kern F. Comparison of proliferation and rapid cytokine induction assays for flow cytometric T-cell epitope mapping. Cytometry A. 2003;52:36–45. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.10023.

- Malyguine AM, Strobl S, Dunham K, Shurin MR, Sayers TJ. ELISPOT assay for monitoring cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) activity in cancer vaccine clinical trials. Cell. 2012;1:111–26. doi:10.3390/ cells1020111.
- Brunner KT, Mauel J, Cerottini JC, Chapuis B. Quantitative assay of the lytic action of immune lymphoid cells on 51-Cr-labelled allogeneic target cells in vitro; inhibition by isoantibody and by drugs. Immunology. 1968;14:181–96.
- Zaritskaya L, Shurin MR, Sayers TJ, Malyguine AM. New flow cytometric assays for monitoring cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2010;9:601–16. doi:10.1586/erv.10.49.
- Karimi MA, et al. Measuring cytotoxicity by bioluminescence imaging outperforms the standard chromium-51 release assay. PLoS One. 2014;9:e89357. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089357.
- Vasconcelos Z, et al. Individual human cytotoxic T lymphocytes exhibit Intraclonal heterogeneity during sustained killing. Cell Rep. 2015;11:1474–85. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.05.002.
- Versteegen JM, Logtenberg T, Ballieux RE. Enumeration of IFN-gamma-producing human lymphocytes by spot-ELISA. A method to detect lymphokine-producing lymphocytes at the single-cell level. J Immunol Methods. 1988;111:25–9.
- Czerkinsky C, et al. Reverse ELISPOT assay for clonal analysis of cytokine production. I. Enumeration of gamma-interferon-secreting cells. J Immunol Methods. 1988;110:29–36.
- Janetzki S, et al. Evaluation of Elispot assays: influence of method and operator on variability of results. J Immunol Methods. 2004;291:175–83. doi:10.1016/j. jim.2004.06.008.
- Neubauer JC, et al. Towards standardized automated immunomonitoring: an automated ELISpot assay for safe and parallelized functionality analysis of immune cells. Cytotechnology. 2016;69:57–74. doi:10.1007/ s10616-016-0037-4.
- 24. Britten CM, Janetzki S, van der Burg SH, Gouttefangeas C, Hoos A. Toward the harmonization of immune monitoring in clinical trials: quo vadis? Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57:285–8. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0379-z.
- Cox JH, Ferrari G, Janetzki S. Measurement of cytokine release at the single cell level using the ELISPOT assay. Methods. 2006;38:274–82. doi:10.1016/j. ymeth.2005.11.006.
- McCutcheon M, et al. A sensitive ELISPOT assay to detect low-frequency human T lymphocytes. J Immunol Methods. 1997;210:149–66.
- Chervin AS, et al. The impact of TCR-binding properties and antigen presentation format on T cell responsiveness. J Immunol. 2009;183:1166–78. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900054.
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:24–37. doi:10.1038/ nrc1782.

- Stuge TB, et al. Diversity and recognition efficiency of T cell responses to cancer. PLoS Med. 2004;1:e28. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0010028.
- Hesse MD, Karulin AY, Boehm BO, Lehmann PV, Tary-Lehmann MA. T cell clone's avidity is a function of its activation state. J Immunol. 2001;167:1353–61.
- Smith SG, et al. Intracellular cytokine staining and flow Cytometry: considerations for application in clinical trials of novel tuberculosis vaccines. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0138042. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0138042.
- Lamoreaux L, Roederer M, Koup R. Intracellular cytokine optimization and standard operating procedure. Nat Protoc. 2006;1:1507–16. doi:10.1038/ nprot.2006.268.
- Cree IA, et al. Guidance for laboratories performing molecular pathology for cancer patients. J Clin Pathol. 2014;67:923–31. doi:10.1136/ jclinpath-2014-202404.
- Masucci GV, et al. Validation of biomarkers to predict response to immunotherapy in cancer: volume I - preanalytical and analytical validation. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:76. doi:10.1186/s40425-016-0178-1.
- 35. Stack EC, Wang C, Roman KA, Hoyt CC. Multiplexed immunohistochemistry, imaging, and quantitation: a review, with an assessment of Tyramide signal amplification, multispectral imaging and multiplex analysis. Methods. 2014;70:46–58. doi:10.1016/j. ymeth.2014.08.016.
- Gerdes MJ, et al. Highly multiplexed single-cell analysis of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded cancer tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:11982–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300136110.
- Schubert W. Systematic, spatial imaging of large multimolecular assemblies and the emerging principles of supramolecular order in biological systems. J Mol Recognit. 2014;27:3–18. doi:10.1002/jmr.2326.
- Camp RL, Chung GG, Rimm DL. Automated subcellular localization and quantification of protein expression in tissue microarrays. Nat Med. 2002;8:1323–7. doi:10.1038/nm791.
- 39. Zlobec I, Koelzer VH, Dawson H, Perren A, Lugli A. Next-generation tissue microarray (ngTMA) increases the quality of biomarker studies: an example using CD3, CD8, and CD45RO in the tumor microenvironment of six different solid tumor types. J Transl Med. 2013;11:104. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-104.
- Rubin MA, et al. Quantitative determination of expression of the prostate cancer protein alpha-methylacyl-CoA racemase using automated quantitative analysis (AQUA): a novel paradigm for automated and continuous biomarker measurements. Am J Pathol. 2004;164:831–40.
- Galon J, et al. Towards the introduction of the 'Immunoscore' in the classification of malignant tumours. J Pathol. 2014;232:199–209. doi:10.1002/ path.4287.
- 42. Mlecnik B, et al. Integrative analyses of colorectal cancer show Immunoscore is a stronger predictor of patient survival than microsatellite insta-

bility. Immunity. 2016;44:698–711. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2016.02.025.

- Cancer Genome Atlas N. Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell. 2015;161:1681–96. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044.
- 44. Le DT, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500596.
- 45. Rizvi NA, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348:124–8. doi:10.1126/science.aaa1348.
- Snyder A, Chan TA. Immunogenic peptide discovery in cancer genomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2015;30:7– 16. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2014.12.003.
- van Buuren MM, Calis JJ, Schumacher TN. High sensitivity of cancer exome-based CD8 T cell neo-antigen identification. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e28836. doi:10.4161/onci.28836.
- Ulloa-Montoya F, et al. Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2388–95. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2012.44.3762.
- Schildknecht K, Olek S, Dickhaus T. Simultaneous statistical inference for epigenetic data. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0125587. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0125587.
- Steinfelder S, et al. Epigenetic modification of the human CCR6 gene is associated with stable CCR6 expression in T cells. Blood. 2011;117:2839–46. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-293027.
- Wieczorek G, et al. Quantitative DNA methylation analysis of FOXP3 as a new method for counting regulatory T cells in peripheral blood and solid tissue. Cancer Res. 2009;69:599–608. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2361.
- Simon R, et al. Analysis of gene expression data using BRB-ArrayTools. Cancer Inform. 2007;3:11–7.
- Gaujoux R, Seoighe C. CellMix: a comprehensive toolbox for gene expression deconvolution. Bioinformatics. 2013;29:2211–2. doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/btt351.
- Gong T, Szustakowski JD. DeconRNASeq: a statistical framework for deconvolution of heterogeneous tissue samples based on mRNA-Seq data. Bioinformatics. 2013;29:1083–5. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btt090.
- 55. Duan F, et al. Genomic and bioinformatic profiling of mutational neoepitopes reveals new rules to predict anticancer immunogenicity. J Exp Med. 2014;211:2231–48. doi:10.1084/jem.20141308.
- Cummings J, Raynaud F, Jones L, Sugar R, Dive C. Fit-for-purpose biomarker method validation for application in clinical trials of anticancer drugs. Br J Cancer. 2010;103:1313–7. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjc.6605910.
- Dobbin KK, et al. Validation of biomarkers to predict response to immunotherapy in cancer: volume II - clinical validation and regulatory considerations. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:77. doi:10.1186/ s40425-016-0179-0.

- Llosa NJ, et al. The vigorous immune microenvironment of microsatellite instable colon cancer is balanced by multiple counter-inhibitory checkpoints. Cancer Discov. 2015;5:43–51. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0863.
- Mittendorf EA, et al. PD-L1 expression in triplenegative breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:361–70. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0127.
- Tumeh PC, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515:568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954.
- Yuan J, et al. Novel technologies and emerging biomarkers for personalized cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:3. doi:10.1186/ s40425-016-0107-3.
- Hoyt RE, Snider D, Thompson C, Mantravadi S. IBM Watson analytics: automating visualization, descriptive, and predictive statistics. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2016;2:e157. doi:10.2196/publichealth.5810.

- 63. Chen Y, Elenee Argentinis JD, Weber G. IBM Watson: how cognitive computing can be applied to big data challenges in life sciences research. Clin Ther. 2016;38:688–701. doi:10.1016/j. clinthera.2015.12.001.
- 64. Taylor CF, et al. Promoting coherent minimum reporting guidelines for biological and biomedical investigations: the MIBBI project. Nat Biotechnol. 2008;26:889–96. doi:10.1038/nbt.1411.
- Britten CM, et al. T cell assays and MIATA: the essential minimum for maximum impact. Immunity. 2012;37:1–2. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.07.010.
- 66. Hoos A, Janetzki S, Britten CM. Advancing the field of cancer immunotherapy. OncoImmunologie. 2012;1:1457–9. doi:10.4161/onci.22308.
- McShane LM, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W. Identification of clinically useful cancer prognostic factors: what are we missing? J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:1023–5. doi:10.1093/jnci/dji193.

Toward Engineered Cells as Transformational and Broadly Available Medicines for the Treatment of Cancer



Cedrik M. Britten, Laura A. Johnson, Alfonso Quintás-Cardama, Neil C. Sheppard, and Axel Hoos

Contents

42.1	Vision for and History of CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines	695
42.2	Sources for TCRs/CARs	697
42.3	The Challenge of Identifying Suitable Targets for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Approaches	698
42.4	Nonclinical Development	701
42.5	Gene-Engineered T Cell Therapy: Clinical Development	704
42.5.1 42.5.2	Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapy T Cell Receptor-Transduced T Cells	704 706
42.6	Clinical Safety Considerations	709
42.7	The Challenge to Maximize Safety and Efficacy for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines	710
42.8	The Challenge of Achieving Maximum Access for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines	712
42.9	Conclusions and Future Perspective	713
Refere	nces	713

C.M. Britten (🖂)

R&D Oncology, GlaxoSmithKline, Stevenage, UK e-mail: cedrik.x.britten@gsk.com

L.A. Johnson • A. Quintás-Cardama • N.C. Sheppard
• A. Hoos
R&D Oncology, GlaxoSmithKline,
Collegeville, PA, USA

42.1 Vision for and History of CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines

The authors of this book chapter share the common vision to establish engineered cells as broadly available and transformational medicines for patients suffering from multiple hematological and solid cancers. The first examples of the enormous clinical potential of engineered cells for patients have recently been described. In the rare disease field, 2016 saw the first ever marketing authorization for an engineered stem cell gene therapy product, Strimvelis®, to treat the rare monogenetic disease ADA-SCID ("bubble boy" disease), following unparalleled efficacy in clinical trials [1]. Meanwhile in the oncology field, unprecedented clinical benefit has been reported from clinical trials in which patients with B cell malignancies such as acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL), and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) received engineered T cell targeting CD19 [2–4] using viral transfer of chimeric antigen receptors (CARs). Novartis has submitted a biological license application (BLA) for CTL019 for the treatment of pediatric ALL in March 2017, and Kite Pharma Inc. has recently presented interim efficacy data from their ZUMA-1 trial with 6-month follow-up in DLBCL making highly likely that a filing in

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_42

this indication may soon follow. There has also been progress with an alternative approach to engineer T cells to selectively recognize and kill tumor cells via the introduction of T cell receptors (TCR). With this approach, the most promising clinical data has been reported from smaller cohorts of patients with multiple myeloma [5] or the solid tumors melanoma and sarcoma [6] expressing the cancer germline antigens NY-ESO-1 and LAGE-1a. The main characteristic for both engineered stem cells and immune receptor-engineered T cells is that a one off treatment bears the potential to lead to pharmacological activity that may persist and may therefore potentially lead to long-term disease control or even prove curative. While these initial successes provide reasons to believe in the potential of engineered cells to become broadly available and game-changing treatments for various diseases, there are still major challenges that inhibit full exploitation of the potential for a broad number of patients, namely, (1) the challenge to supply these medicines cost-efficiently to maximize access, (2) to overcome efficacy limitations that may prohibit transformational benefits in many solid cancers where most of the medical need exists, and (3) the challenge to identify novel targets that are suitable for cell therapy approaches. This chapter will address these three key challenges and describe a strategy to open a path for broad success of engineered cells beyond rare diseases and B cell malignancies.

Before we address the open challenges for engineered cell therapies in oncology, we would like to revisit the history for CAR- and TCRengineered T cells, which goes back more than 25 years. The first molecules to redirect T cells to cancer antigens, called T-bodies at that time, were developed in 1989 [7]. These first engineered T cells expressed simple "first-generation" constructs that were composed of a single-chain variable fragment of IgG (scFv) for binding to a cognate antigen, a transmembrane domain, and a CD3ζ chain to activate the receptor-bearing lymphocyte. The first generation of CAR-engineered T lymphocytes in oncology was introduced to clinical trials more than 15 years ago and targeted folate receptor in patients with ovarian cancer [8], carbonic anhydrase IX (CAIX) in patients with renal cancer [9], and CD171/L1-CAM in pediatric patients with neuroblastoma [10]. The antitumor activity for engineered cell products expressing these first-generation CARs was limited, and the CAR T cells did not persist long term in the patients. The advent of "second-generation" CAR constructs that included co-stimulatory domains such as CD28 or 4-1BB and their use in ALL and CLL showed transformational efficacy [3, 11] changing the dynamics of the field and igniting a massive increase in R&D efforts in both academia and industry. This has included expansion to numerous targets and the development of additional generations of CAR designs, though it is yet to be determined which CAR designs will prove optimal. Reflecting this expansion, at this stage more than 40 commercial entities are developing CAR T-cell products and more than 100 engineered cell products are in nonclinical or clinical development.

Engineered T cells expressing recombinant TCR for human malignancies and chronic viral diseases were pioneered at the University of Washington in Seattle [12]. Their use in oncology was explored following pioneering clinical trials at the NIH in the USA and Niigata University School of Medicine in Japan that showed promising objective response rates when tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) were expanded ex vivo and then reinfused to patients with malignant melanoma [13, 14] or epithelial ovarian cancer [15]. With refinements to the cell process and patient management, the objective response rate in patients with melanoma treated with TILs at the NIH reached 72% [16]. These trials delivered the proof of concept that the pharmacological activity of this treatment was mainly conferred via endogenous TCRs recognizing tumor-associated antigens (TAAs). It took only a few years to move from the process of extracting TILs from tumor samples to an approach making use of recombinant TCRs with successful pioneering studies utilizing MART-1 TCR alpha and beta chains [17]. While TCR T cell approaches lag a bit behind the CAR T cell approach, we have recently witnessed a steep increase both in academic and industry-sponsored clinical trials with TCR T cell products.

At this stage, it is too early to predict whether it will be CARs or TCRs that prove optimal to direct T cells to cancer in the most efficient, safe, effective, and sustainable fashion. Each approach has distinct pros and cons, and therefore they might ultimately coexist serving different cancer types or populations. The key pro of the TCR approach versus the CAR approach is that all proteins are processed and presented via MHC to T cells; thus, all potential antigens are in scope for TCRs, whereas for CARs, only antigens expressed on the cell surface are available for binding. This represents no more than 10% of potential targets even before factors such as surface accessibility are considered. The key pro for the CAR approach is that antigen recognition is direct and does not require MHC; thus, a single CAR is suitable across the patient population, whereas TCRs recognize target peptide only in complex with a specific MHC molecule. Since MHC are highly polymorphic, the MHC dependence of TCRs limits the treatable population to only those who express a given MHC molecule. Moreover, immune escape by loss or downregulation of the antigen processing pathway or MHC is an issue for TCRs but not for CARs.

42.2 Sources for TCRs/CARs

Thus far, the vast majority of CARs have utilized scFv binders as their antigen-targeting fragment, with many of these coming from the repurposing of monoclonal antibodies considered as therapeutics either alone or as antibody-drug conjugates. However, any binding element suitable for use in a modular CAR construct that has a sufficiently high affinity and specificity for the target antigen could be considered. Indeed, when targeting a receptor, ligands may be utilized, as in the case of the IL-13 "zetakine" CAR, which incorporates a recombinant IL-13 mutated to improve affinity for tumor-associated IL13Rα2 and reduce binding to the more widely expressed IL13R α 1 [18]. The use of murine-derived scFv in CARs may limit their persistence due to formation of human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMA) and occasionally may pose a safety risk if HAMA

of the IgE isotype develop, which can result in anaphylactic shock [19]. Humanized or fully human binders reduce the risks of HAMA and might be preferred in some contexts [20, 21].

There are multiple sources from which TCRs have been derived. Initial TCR gene-engineered immunotherapy utilized TCR from naturally occurring patient or donor T cells. In the case of melanoma antigen recognized by T cells 1 (MART-1) TCRs used clinically to treat patients with metastatic melanoma, both the DMF4 TCR [17, 22] and the higher-affinity DMF5 TCR [23, 24] were obtained from patients who experienced objective clinical response to their TIL therapy. In theory, because of the extensive coverage provided by natural TCR recombination, any individual can have T cells with TCR capable of recognizing virtually any antigen on their MHC. However, TCR with high affinity to normal self-proteins are deleted from the repertoire by negative thymic selection [25, 26] making it difficult to find naturally occurring TCR with sufficient affinity to eliminate antigens shared between normal tissues and tumor, such as so-called developmental antigens including carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) or differentiation antigens like glycoprotein 100 (gp100) or other tumor-associated antigens including overexpressed growth factor receptors including the ERB/HER antigens. In general, these "self" TCRs are in the high μ M binding affinity range, in comparison with mAbs, which tend to fall in the nM to pM range [27]. While occasionally a high-affinity TCR can be isolated from "elite responder" patients whose TIL elicited an effective response against shared tumor antigens, such as MART-1, most of the time these TCRs provide an initial framework from which the specific antigen-binding regions can be affinity matured ex vivo by stepwise amino acid replacement and empirical testing against target antigen [28, 29]. One such example is the c259 TCR which recognizes the NY-ESO-1 (157–165) SLLMWITQC peptide presented by HLA-A*02 [30]. TCR T cells expressing this TCR have achieved 50 and 80% objective response rates in patients with malignant melanoma and spindlecell sarcoma, respectively [6, 31].

When a sufficiently high-affinity TCR cannot be generated from normal human T cells, higheraffinity variants can be obtained from HLA-A*02 transgenic or HLA-A*02/human TCR chromosomal double transgenic mice [32]. For this method to succeed, the target antigen must not match the murine homolog, to produce an MHCpeptide complex that is considered "nonself" in mouse. This way, high-affinity TCRs binding the target peptide-MHC complex can be generated without being deleted from the repertoire during thymic selection. Transgenic mice can be immunized with the desired protein or peptide, and then T lymphocytes are isolated from lymphoid organs and restimulated in vitro to expand the antigen-positive T cells [24, 33].

42.3 The Challenge of Identifying Suitable Targets for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Approaches

The challenge of identifying suitable targets for CAR T cell and TCR T cell products has proven a significant one. Indeed, even antigens that were widely explored by cancer vaccine researchers or as targets for monoclonal antibodies and antibody-drug conjugate therapy such as MAGE-A3 and Her2neu, respectively, have shown new challenges in the context of CARs or TCRs. This is likely due to the potency of directly activating T cells via the numerous antigen receptors present on each cell and unexpected crossreactivity patterns that had been introduced by the synthetic immune receptors [34–36]. The work to identify suitable antigens has been further complicated by the fact that animal models have proven particularly poorly suited for safety screening of CAR and TCR approaches. This is because the antigens are frequently not shared between mice and humans, the MHC context is completely different, and even when a similar or analogous antigen can be identified or a humanized mouse model utilized, the expression profile of the antigen and cross-reactivity profile of the analogous CAR/TCR poorly reflect the human situation. Indeed, the emergence of neurotoxicity

and severe cytokine release syndrome and a host of other toxicities observed in human trials (see below) were not predicted by mouse studies.

The first wave of successful CAR T cell therapies has avoided the challenges inherent in identifying tumor-specific antigens by targeting the CD19 antigen, which is common to an entire lineage of cells enabling transformational efficacy in late-phase trials in a number of B cell malignancies. This efficacy is enabled by the fact that B cell aplasia, even when prolonged, need not result in profound immunodeficiency since humoral immunity can be replaced by infusion of intravenous immunoglobulin purified from the plasma of healthy donors. The next wave of CAR T cell therapies follows this paradigm by targeting additional antigens restricted to the B cell lineage (e.g., BCMA, CD20, CD22, and kappa light chain) to provide additional coverage of B cell malignancies. Unfortunately, no such equivalent has yet been found for non-B cell hematological malignancies or for solid cancers. Indeed, experience with the melanocyte differentiation antigens MART-1 and gp100 serves as a cautionary tale. These antigens are often highly overexpressed in melanoma and are well-characterized tumorrejection antigens. Indeed, a high proportion of TILs in melanoma patients recognize these antigens [37, 38]. However, TCR T cell approaches targeting these antigens have resulted in lower objective response rates and greater toxicities than observed with autologous TILs [16, 24, 39].

Thus far, the TCR T cell field has borrowed heavily from the cancer vaccine field for target antigens. Table 42.1 summarizes the antigens targeted by TCR T cells that have entered clinical trials, while Fig. 42.1 summarizes the number of distinct assets and their phase of development. It is evident that three classes of antigen have dominated thus far: cancer germline antigens, viral antigens, and differentiation antigens that are overexpressed in tumors but also present on essential normal tissues. While viral antigens ought to be among the safest targets, the indications are limited to those cancers driven by viral infections, i.e., HPV- or HBV-related cancers. EBV- and CMV-specific CTL have been used to prevent posttransplant lymphoproliferative dis-

Antigen	Antigen class	Phase	Comment
Alpha fetoprotein (aFP)	Differentiation	Preclinical	
Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)	Differentiation	Ph1	Terminated—poor accrual
Glycoprotein 100 (Gp100)	Differentiation	Ph2	
Hepatitis B virus (HBV) antigen	Viral antigen	Ph1	
Human papilloma virus (HPV) early protein 6 (E6)	Viral antigen	Ph1	
HPV E7	Viral antigen	Ph1	
Melanoma-associated antigen (MAGE) A3	CGA	Ph1	TCR assets in development cover multiple HLA types: HLA-A*01, A*02, A*24, and DP4. Different TCRs have varying degrees of cross-reactivity to MAGE A6, A9, and A12. One candidate caused patient deaths due to cross-reactivity to MAGE A12 in the brain. Another asset caused patient deaths due to cross-reactivity with titin in heart
MAGE A4	CGA	Ph1	TCR assets in development cover two HLA types: HLA-A*02 and A*24
MAGE A10	CGA	Ph1/2	
Melanoma antigen recognized by T cells (MART)-1/melan-A	Differentiation	Ph2	
New York esophageal antigen-1 (NY-ESO-1)	CGA	Ph1/2	
Preferentially expressed antigen in melanoma (PRAME)	CGA	Preclinical	
p53	Overexpressed mutant form acts as an oncogene	Ph2	
Thyroglobulin	Differentiation	Ph1	Suspended
Tyrosinase	Differentiation	Ph1	
Wilms tumor 1 (WT-1)	Oncogene/TAA	Ph1/2	

 Table 42.1
 Antigens targeted thus far by TCR T cells in clinical trials

Sources: Pharmaprojects[®] | Pharma Intelligence, 2017, and clinicaltrials.gov

All target peptides have been in the context of HLA-A*02 except where noted. "Phase" denotes the furthest a target has reached in clinical trials to date. The development of some TCR assets/targets has been stopped thus not all are currently progressing

CGA cancer germline antigen, TAA tumor-associated antigen

eases, but these cell therapies involve expansion of natural CTL rather than gene transfer with a TCR. The cancer germline antigens are potentially promising targets since their expression is typically limited to fetal development and to germ cells which lack HLA class I expression and thus cannot present antigen to T cells. However, across this class of antigens, there are some examples (e.g., PRAME) that show low to modest expression in healthy tissues [40]. In addition, in some cases, cancer germline antigenspecific TCR T cells have caused fatalities in the



CAR and TCR Assets in Clinical Development

Fig. 42.1 The pipeline of CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies. Thus far the CAR T cell pipeline is both broader and more mature than the TCR T cell pipeline. Following the success of CD19, other B cell lineage antigens (BCMA, CD20, CD22, and immunoglobulin kappa chain) dominate, and CD30, while strictly a TAA, is being used

to target the B cell malignancies Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. The cancer germline antigens dominate the TCR T cell pipeline. *PR* to *L* pre-registration to launch. Sources: clinicaltrials.gov and Pharmaprojects[®] | Pharma Intelligence, 2017

clinic due to cross-reactivity with related [35] and unrelated proteins [41]. The third big group of antigens includes differentiation antigens, which display tumor-associated overexpression compared to the healthy tissues from which the tumors originate. The most heavily studied antigens from this class include gene products that are overexpressed in NSCLC (e.g., EGFR), breast cancer (e.g., HER2neu), prostate cancer (e.g., PSMA and PSCA), or in malignant melanoma (e.g., gp100 and melan-A/MART-1). For the latter two, expression in the healthy skin has led to considerable toxicity indicating that the window of expression between healthy and tumor tissues will not always be wide enough to allow safe targeting with current technologies.

Looking beyond the classes of antigen that have been exploited for TCR T cell therapies, thus far, there are a couple of potential target classes that seem especially promising: patientspecific neoepitopes, including aberrant tumorassociated posttranslational modifications, and T cell epitopes associated with impaired peptide processing (TEIPP).

With the evolution of deep sequencing, mass spec, and bioinformatic technologies, it is becoming feasible to identify the neoepitopes unique to a given patient's tumor and to expand autologous T cells recognizing these private tumor mutations from patient blood [42–44]. This may result in an effective method to implement a polyclonal TILlike approach and/or identify some neoepitopes that are shared with larger groups of patients for a TCR T cell approach. While many neoepitopes result from amino acid substitutions, frameshifts, or alternate/cryptic open reading frames, altered posttranslational modification resulting in phosphopeptides and arginine (di)methylated peptides have been recently identified as promising target classes [42, 45, 46] and should be shared across a greater proportion of patients as they are not reliant on specific mutations but upon altered posttranslational modifications, which frequently occur in tumors. Indeed, aberrant protein phosphorylation is a hallmark of tumor cells and creates numerous phosphopeptide antigens that can be recognized as distinct from their nonphosphorylated counterparts by conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells.

Under selective pressure from TILs or therapeutic TCR T cells, tumor variants that have lost or downregulated antigen presentation by epigenetic or genetic mutations may prevail. While HLA deletion renders tumors refractory to T cell therapy, it may make them more vulnerable to NK cells. Downregulation or loss of antigen processing pathway components other than MHC is frequently observed and may represent a means to escape both T and NK cells. However, in the setting of MHC expression without antigen processing, tumors may present a unique and broadly shared set of target peptides-the TEIPP [47]. So far suitable epitopes have only been identified in mice, where it has been shown that cells defective for the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) present low levels of MHC class I molecules complexed with a peptide from the TRH4 protein. In the presence of TAP, the binding of the TRH4 peptide to the MHC class I molecule D^b is easily outcompeted by numerous more suitable peptides from the proteome of the cell, but without TAP to transport these peptides into the ER, sufficient TRH4-D^b peptide complexes are displayed on the cell surface where they can activate high avidity T cell clones. Such clones exist because they escaped negative thymic selection due to inability of TAP-replete cells to present such peptide-MHC complexes [48].

While the CAR T cell field has pursued a number of the antigens shared with the cancer vaccine field, a key limitation has been that only cell surface targets are tractable for CARs. As described above, lineage-restricted targets have been exploited to target B cell malignancies. There is intense competition around relatively few targets that have attractive efficacy and acceptable safety profiles for B cell malignancies (Fig. 42.1). Beyond these, there are numerous tumor-associated antigens and differentiation antigens that are being explored with more clini-

cal data becoming available in the coming years (summarized in Table 42.2 and Fig. 42.1).

In summary, a couple of suitable targets have already been identified in clinical trials; current nonclinical and clinical work is actively addressing a significantly expanded target space, and there are still areas or untapped potential that come from new and less studies target classes as well as from the potential to utilize mutated neoantigens in the future. This makes us confident that an increasing number of suitable targets covering multiple cancers will become available over the next years and enable fill and flow of future drug development pipelines. Before we revisit the next two key challenges that limit broad use of engineered T cells in oncology, we would like to highlight the key characteristics of the nonclinical and clinical development of CAR T cell and TCR T cell approaches.

42.4 Nonclinical Development

Preclinical development of gene-engineered CAR- and TCR-modified T cells is truly a "first in class" living medicine. Traditional evaluations applied to pharmacologic small molecule inhibitors or even biologics including vaccines and mAb therapies do not apply. Neither do usual evaluations of cellular therapies such as blood transfusions or bone marrow transplants. A third class of medicines that have fairly recently made an impact include gene therapies, generally used to treat single-gene defects in patients with rare diseases. Immunotherapy with CAR and TCR T cells involves aspects of all of these, brought together for the first time. Biologic pharmaceuticals provide the mAb binding region, while gene engineering borrows the use of transforming vectors such as gamma-retro or lentivirus to combine targeting receptor with functional genes. All of these come together to engineer patient T lymphocytes ex vivo to generate a new "living drug" that relies upon millennia of built-in evolution to combat disease inside the patient, in this case, cancer.

There are several steps in common to developing any preclinical CAR or TCR therapy. First

	-		
Antigon	Antigon along	Phase of	Commont
	Diffe di di	development	Comment
B cell maturation antigen (BCMA)	Differentiation	Ph2	
Carbonic anhydrase IX (CAIX)	TAA	Ph1	
CEA	Differentiation	Ph1	
CD7	TAA	Ph1/2	
CD19	Lineage-specific antigen	Ph3-launch	
CD20	Lineage-specific antigen	Ph2	
CD22	Lineage-specific antigen	Ph1	
CD30	TAA	Ph1/2	
CD33	TAA	Ph1/2	
CD70	TAA	Ph1/2	
CD123	TAA	Ph1	Expression on pluripotent stem cells poses risks
CD171 (L1-cam)	TAA	Ph1	
c-MET (tyrosine protein kinase MET)	TAA	Ph1	
Disialoganglioside (GD)2	TAA	Ph1	
Epidermal growth factor receptor (EFGR)	TAA	Ph1	
EGFR variant III (EGFRvIII)	Neoepitope	Ph1/2	
Ephrin type-A receptor 2 (EphA2)	TAA	Ph1	
Fibroblast activation protein (FAP)	TAA	Ph1	Expressed by fibroblasts in tumor microenvironment rather than tumor cells
Folate receptor alpha (FRA)	TAA	Ph1	
Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (Her2Neu)	TAA	Ph1/2	One asset terminated due to patient death
Glypican 3 (GCP3)	TAA	Ph1/2	
Interleukin 13 receptor $\alpha 2$	TAA	Ph1	
Kappa immunoglobulin	TAA	Ph1	
Mesothelin	TAA	Ph1	
Mucin (Muc) 1	Glycoantigen	Ph1/2	
Prostate stem cell antigen (PSCS)	Differentiation	Ph1	
Prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA)	Differentiation	Ph1	
Receptor tyrosine kinase orphan receptor (ROR) 1R	TAA	Ph1	
Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) 2	TAA	Ph1/2	

Table 42.2 Antigens targeted thus far by CAR T cells in clinical trials

Sources: Pharmaprojects[®] | Pharma Intelligence, 2017, and clinicaltrials.gov *TAA* tumor-associated antigen

consideration is the target. Engineered T cell targets should be expressed on a reasonable proportion of tumors and should not be expressed on critical normal tissues. This became frankly apparent in the first-in-human treatment of a 39-year-old woman with metastatic melanoma who received a high number (10¹⁰) of autologous HER2 CAR T cells [36]. Although to date, over 400,000 women with breast cancer have received trastuzumab anti-HER2 mAb in the adjuvant setting, with minimal side effects, the first patient to receive the same HER2 mAb-redirected CAR T cells succumbed to severe respiratory distress, followed by multiple organ failure starting 15 minutes after infusion [36]. This is a clear demonstration of the difference in impact of a naked antibody compared with an antibody tied to the signaling region of a T cell. While there may be mitigating circumstances, whereby utilizing a limited route of administration [49], lowering the affinity of a CAR receptor may allow for selective destruction of high-antigen expressing tumors while sparing low-antigen bearing normal tissues [50, 51], the safest approach is to target truly tumor-specific antigens.

Several methods have been employed to identify preclinical targets on tumors. Initially, many institutions had to rely on their own available tumor banks for antigen detection by immunohistochemical (IHC) or RT-PCR for gene expression. More recently, however, numerous in silico bioinformatic resources have become widely accessible, in particular evaluation through publicly available Human Protein Atlas (proteinatlas. org) or via The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (cancergenome.nih.gov).

Upon selecting a target, a binder is required, usually in the form of the scFv of a mAb. Once selected, the binder/scFv is engineered into a DNA construct including a linker, hinge/transmembrane domain (typically derived from CD4, CD8, or an IgG), and followed by a co-stimulatory molecule and CD3 ζ at minimum, though new additions are continually being produced. The difference between a CAR and a TCR is that a TCR requires expression of a matching fulllength CD3 α and β chain comprising the constant and variable regions of each. Only upon appropriate α/β pairing is antigen recognition conferred, implementing the induction of the full CD3 signaling mechanism.

In vitro, recombinant TCR or CAR are expressed in donor T cells, and upon confirming surface expression, these cells undergo specificity recognition and functional testing. At minimum, known antigen-positive and antigennegative target cells are needed, though in practice, often several panels of different tumor types are assessed for targeting. While there are many variations of experimental methods to determine

function, they fall in one of two forms: (1) effector T cell stimulation or (2) target cell destruction. Once they have passed this initial specificity test, they must be evaluated for safety. Two types of safety predominate, specifically (1) on-target, off-tumor, whereby the antigen being targeted is also expressed on normal tissues, or (2) off-target toxicity, in this case the receptor recognizes something other than the specific target. Each type of safety testing poses its own set of challenges, including the need to profile each cell/ tissue type with regard to gene expression. In the case of "on-target, off-tumor," essentially a screening panel of live normal human cell types and tissues are needed for use as experimental targets for the CAR in question. Some groups have utilized human-derived primary cell lines for this [52]; while others have obtained direct primary cell and tissue grafts from donors for this purpose [20, 53].

Off-target toxicity is more difficult to predict and has been observed more for TCRs than for CARs. Part of the reason for this may be (1) the potential for more than one gene/protein to share sequences that can be presented in the context of MHC in a similar conformation to tumor-derived epitopes and (2) the act of "affinity tuning" TCR toward higher affinity for a specific peptide-MHC complex which may introduce unforeseen crossreactive binding to peptide-MHC complexes from other proteins expressed in normal tissues that would otherwise have been screened out biologically during thymic selection. One such example of this was observed in the affinity maturation of a TCR to a MAGE-A3 peptide-HLAcomplex [41]. Subsequent analyses A*01 suggested that the fatalities were likely resulted from recognition of an off-target peptide from the muscle protein titin, highly expressed in cardiac muscle [34]. New methods to predict crossreactivity profiles for new TCRs such as the regular use of 3D culture models for toxicity-relevant tissues and systematic scans of permutated peptides and use of in silico predictions to predict cross-reactivity profiles for novel TCRs have now become a standard requirement of preclinical development programs. While normal cell/ tissue toxicity detection methods still continue to

evolve, the progress in developing new models and safety technologies for this type of predictive evaluation will prevent unforeseen adverse events in patients in the future.

In vivo models have some, albeit limited, benefit for translation of CAR and TCR therapies, in that immune-compromised inbred mouse models such as the NOD-SCID-common gamma chain k/o (NSG) or NOG mouse can engraft both human tumors and human TCR or CAR T cells. These animals act as tiny incubators complete with functioning cardio-vasculature and an extensive network of blood vessels to transport the T cells to the tumors. Generally, however, these models are limited to showing antitumor efficacy and homing to tumor sites, and most recently have shown some promise in modeling T cell exhaustion and checkpoint blockade at the tumor site. Unfortunately, few tumor target epitopes are shared between mouse and human, making it difficult to determine information on safety or potential normal tissue toxicity [54]. Syngeneic mouse models with congenic tumors may provide a unique ability to evaluate both scientific questions about the efficacy of CAR therapy, and the specific mechanism of action of downstream cancer "cures," in the context of an animal model with an intact immune system and physiologic expression of tumor antigen in both tumors and normal tissues, if present [55–58]. However, these models are far from perfect: (1) they need separate binders that likely have different affinity for target than human counterparts; (2) they require completely different vector constructs encoding murine genes for CD3ζ, 4-1BB, and CD28 in place of their human orthologs; and last but not least, (3) mice are not people. There has been much divergent evolution in the development of their immunity and physiology, so results in a mouse model are by no means a guarantee of what will work for patients. To date the use of nonhuman primates (NHP) has been of minimal/ negligible benefit in determining safety or toxicity to this field, primarily due to the lack of similarity of action and reagent comparability between human and NHP and also due to the lack of any NHP tumor models. Intriguingly, according to the US Food and Drug Administration (oncology), they currently do not require any animal modeling to support CAR or TCR first time in human phase I clinical trials.

42.5 Gene-Engineered T Cell Therapy: Clinical Development

42.5.1 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapy

The most basic first-generation CARs that were introduced to clinical trials more than 15 years ago comprised a scFv fused to the intracellular CD3^{\zet} TCR signaling chain via a short transmembrane domain. CAR T cells built that way exhibited cytotoxic activity upon antigen recognition but lacked persistence. CARs currently being tested in clinical trials are second-generation constructs that result from the addition of a costimulatory signal to the constructs. The vast majority of current clinical trials are assessing the activity of second-generation CARs bearing either 4-1BB or CD28 motifs. Third-generation CARs, including more than one co-stimulatory domain, and fourth-generation CARs, including additional choices of co-stimulatory domain such as OX40 or CD27, are beginning to be tested in clinical trials, though it is too soon to know whether they will show any real benefits over the second-generation designs.

CD19 is expressed on the surface of most B cell leukemias and lymphomas and has emerged as the most attractive for adoptive T cell strategies as it is expressed in normal B cells but no other normal tissues. A number of academic centers are developing CD19-directed CAR T cell clinical programs. Exciting preliminary results have resulted in multiple academic/pharmaceutical industry partnerships that have facilitated the launching of registration studies (Table 42.3).

The striking clinical activity of CD19 targeted CAR T-cells containing 4-1BB costimulation (CTL019) was first shown in three patients with heavily pretreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) by investigators at the University of Pennsylvania [11]. Long-term follow-up study

Company	Novartis	Juno	Juno	Kite
Academic partner	University of Pennsylvania	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center	Fred Hutchinson and Seattle Children's Hospital	National Cancer Institute
CD19-targeted CAR	CTL019	JCAR015	JCAR017	KTE-C19
Vector platform	Lentivirus	Retrovirus	Lentivirus	Retrovirus
Anti-CD19 scFv	FMC63	SJ25C1	FMC63	FMC63
Hinge/transmembrane domain	CD8-CD8	CD28	IgG4-CD28	CD28
Co-stimulatory motif	4-1BB	CD28	4-1BB or CD28	CD28
T cell source	Autologous	Autologous	Autologous	Autologous
Suicide capability	None	None	EGFRt	None

Table 42.3 Selection of the most clinically advanced CD19-directed CAR T cell programs

EGFRt truncated epidermal growth factor receptor

showed that 8 of 14 patients responded (overall response rate [ORR] 57%), including 4 patients with complete response (CR) with no evidence of minimal residual disease (MRD), and that CAR T cells persisted for years [4]. In this study, no patient in CR has yet relapsed, hinting at the curative potential of this cell therapy approach. More than 45 patients with relapsed or refractory CLL have been treated at the University of Pennsylvania, with an ORR of 45% [59]. Other groups have shown similar activity in CLL in smaller patient cohorts [60–62].

Several groups using different CAR T cell designs have reported very high CR rates in both pediatric and adult patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia and the University of Pennsylvania have reported on 30 patients (25 pediatric and 5 adult) with ALL treated with CTL019 [3]. CR was achieved by 27 (90%) patients, and the probability of survival at 6 months was 78%. Durable remissions up to 24 months were observed and correlated with persistent CAR T cells. The National Cancer Institute treated 45 children and young adults with 19-28z CAR T cells, reporting a CR rate of 60% [63]. At the time of the analysis, all patients remained alive and 89% remained disease-free (range 5-28 months). The Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center group has reported on 45 adult patients with relapsed ALL treated with JCAR015, a CD19-targeted CAR containing the co-stimulatory molecule CD28. A CR was achieved by 82% of patients, although CAR persistence was limited to a few months [64]. At Fred Hutchinson Research Cancer Center, 27 of 29 (93%) patients with relapsed ALL achieved CR after infusion of 4-1BB containing CAR T cells given at a 1:1 ratio of CD8⁺:CD4⁺, and 25 of them (86%) had no evidence of MRD [65].

CD19-directed CAR T cell therapy is also active in heavily pretreated patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL). At the National Cancer Institute, the ORR among nine patients with relapsed/refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL) was 67% [61], whereas at the University of Pennsylvania, it was 47% among 15 patients with DLBCL and 73% among eight evaluable patients with relapsed/refractory follicular lymphoma [66]. In the latter study, no patient achieving CR has yet relapsed.

Results from the pivotal study ZUMA-1, a multicenter pivotal study sponsored by Kite, testing the CD28 containing CAR T cell KTE-C19 (axicabtagene ciloleucel, Axi-cel), have been reported [67]. A total of 101 patients with aggressive NHL (77 with DLBCL and 24 with primary mediastinal B cell lymphoma or transformed follicular lymphoma) received lymphodepletion with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide followed by Axi-cel at 2×10^6 cells/kg. The ORR was 82%, including a CR rate of 54%, with an OS rate at 6 months of 80%. At the time of data cutoff, 44% of patients remained in remission [67]. The ZUMA-1 findings have been submitted to the FDA to support a biologics license application for Axi-cel for the treatment of transplant-ineligible patients with relapsed or refractory aggressive NHL.

Collectively, these results demonstrate the successful application of CAR T cell therapy in CD19+ B cell malignancies but also raise a red flag regarding potential life-threatening toxicities. Nonetheless, the risk/benefit ratio greatly favors the use of CAR T cells in malignancies such as relapsed/refractory ALL or DLBCL for which effective therapies are desperately needed. Likely, the available clinical trial results with CD19-directed CAR T cells will lead to the first regulatory approval of a gene-engineered adoptively transferred T cell therapy in patients with ALL and DLBCL in 2017.

A series of preclinical and early clinical results suggest that CARs targeting B cell maturation antigen (BCMA), which is expressed in multiple myeloma, may emerge as the next successful clinical application of CAR T cell technology. Several groups, both academic and in the pharmaceutical industry, are developing BCMAtargeted CAR T cells, including the Nanjing Legend Biotech NCI, Kite, bluebird, and Novartis. Similarly, multiple antigens expressed by solid cancers are currently being targeted by CAR T cell approaches (Table 42.2 and Fig. 42.1). Early results from first-in-human studies targeting mesothelin (mesothelioma, pancreatic cancer, ovarian cancer) or EGFRvIII (glioblastoma) expressing malignancies have shown the safety of this approach. While available clinical efficacy results are far from those observed in B cell malignancies, the limited number of patients treated so far at the predicted clinically efficacious doses precludes drawing conclusions regarding the potential of CAR T cell therapies in solid tumors.

42.5.2 T Cell Receptor-Transduced T Cells

As mentioned earlier, investigators at the National Cancer Institute (NCI) demonstrated more than a decade ago that the adoptive transfer of in vitro expanded melanoma-reactive tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) extracted from autologous

fresh tumor samples induced tumor regression in 49-72% of patients with metastatic melanoma [16, 68]. However, this approach was only applicable to half of the patients with melanoma from whom TILs could be generated, with very limited success in other malignancies. This realization prompted the development of cell transfer studies in which T cells were genetically engineered to express TCRs specific against antigens expressed in a variety of human cancers. Early evidence that TCR-based gene therapy could induce significantly deep and durable responses in cancer was first provided by a clinical trial in which 2 of 13 patients experienced tumor regression upon adoptive transfer of autologous T cells engineered to express a MART-1-reactive TCR [17]. A follow-up study utilizing a higher avidity MART-1 TCR reported objective responses in 6 of 20 (30%) and in 3 of 16 (19%) patients treated with a murine-derived high-affinity TCR against human gp100 [24]. Unfortunately, severe ontarget off-tumor toxicity, mostly affecting normal melanocytes in the skin, eye, and ear, highlighted the need to target antigens (nearly) absent in critical normal tissues. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, the adoptive transfer of T cells transduced with a MAGE-A3-reactive TCR led to the deaths due to unexpected of target cross-reactivity for two different TCRs and improved in vitro and in silico methods to predict cross-reactivity profiles for novel TCR lead structures are now available and will increase patient safety for novel TCR-engineered products. Thus far, only a limited number of studies exploring TCR T cell technology have shown consistent clinical activity. The most promising data have been generated by studies using TCR-engineered peripheral T cells targeting the cancer antigen New York squamous cell esophageal carcinoma (NY-ESO-1). These trials therefore require special consideration.

42.5.2.1 Targeting NY-ESO-1

NY-ESO-1 is a CGA expressed in multiple tumors including in 10–50% of metastatic melanomas, lung, breast, and ovarian cancer as well as in 70–80% of synovial cell sarcomas [69, 70]. The first clinical study, using *Gammaretrovirus*
to deliver a high-affinity TCR directed against an HLA-A*02-restricted NY-ESO-1 nonapeptide (residues 157-165) to autologous T cells, was published by investigators at the NCI in 2011 [6, 31]. Seventeen patients (6 with synovial cell sarcoma and 11 with melanoma) bearing tumors that stained strongly for NY-ESO-1 antigen expression (2 to 4+, >50% cells) were treated. Treatment consisted of lymphodepleting chemotherapy consisting of cyclophosphamide (60 mg/kg/d for 2 days) and fludarabine (25 mg/m²/d for 5 days) followed by NY-ESO-1 TCR-transduced T cells (median 5×10^{10} ; range, 1.6 to 130×10^{9}) and systemic IL-2. Nine patients responded, including two with melanoma that achieved a CR durable beyond 1 year and one with synovial sarcoma achieving a partial response (PR) that lasted 18 months. A recent update of this study provided data on additional 21 patients (12 with synovial sarcoma and 9 with melanoma) [6]. The ORR was 61% in synovial sarcoma, with estimated 3- and 5-year survival rates of 38% and 14%, respectively. In melanoma, the ORR was 55%, and the estimated 3- and 5-year survival rates were both 33% [6]. Overall, the toxicities observed in the trial were those expected from the lymphodepleting regimen and IL-2 therapy. These results validate NY-ESO-1 as an interesting cancer antigen for adoptively transferred T cell immunotherapy. Adaptimmune Therapeutics, a biotechnology company utilizing a proprietary SPEAR® (Specific Peptide Engineered Affinity Receptor) T cell engineering platform, has launched six clinical studies in HLA-A*02-positive patients with NY-ESO-1 expressing tumors. Fifty-three patients have been treated with NY-ESO-1c259SPEAR® as of January 2016, including 27 with multiple myeloma and 26 with a variety of solid tumors, including synovial sarcoma, melanoma, ovarian cancer, and NSCLC [71].

Of the trials in solid tumors, thus far, the most data is available from synovial sarcoma. Cohort 1 in the synovial study has completed accrual. Of the 12 patients with unresectable, metastatic, or recurrent synovial sarcoma, 6 achieved an objective response (ORR 50%). In the ovarian cancer and melanoma studies, six and four patients have been treated, respectively, but no objectives have been observed to date. It is worth noting that lymphodepletion in both these latter indications consisted exclusively of cyclophosphamide (i.e., no fludarabine), which might have contributed at least in part to the lack of objective responses. Both trials will continue treating patients using standardized NY-ESO-1 screening and fludarabine containing lymphodepleting regimens. Notably, NY-ESO-1^{c259} SPEARTM T cells are able to persist over time, being detectable beyond 3 years post-infusion [71].

The TCR NY-ESO-1 paradigm was extended to multiple myeloma by investigators at the University of Pennsylvania using a lentivirus platform to force the expression on T cells of a TCR recognizing NY-ESO-1 [5]. Twenty patients with NY-ESO-1 expressing multiple myeloma received genetically engineered T cells 2 days after having undergone autologous stem cell transplant (SCT). NY-ESO-1 TCR-engineered T cells were safe, consistently trafficked to the bone marrow, and displayed extended persistence that correlated with clinical activity against multiple myeloma. The median progression-free survival (PFS) was 19.1 months, which suggests a potential role of this approach in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Moving forward, it will be important to determine the exact activity of NY-ESO-1 TCR T cells without the confounding effect of autologous SCT.

A recent publication reported that NY-ESO-1engineered T cells show efficacy against disseminated neuroblastoma in xenograft mouse studies [72]. These nonclinical supportive data sets suggest that NY-ESO-1 may be a target with suitability beyond synovial sarcoma, malignant melanoma, and multiple myeloma.

Other Clinical TCR Targets

The activity of TCR T cell therapies beyond tumors expressing NY-ESO-1 has been infrequent and hampered by the limited persistence of TCR T cells, which may preclude the achievement of meaningful sustained responses, and fundamentally by tissue liabilities leading to untoward toxicity. Multiple cancer-associated antigens expressed at low levels in normal tissues such as CG antigens, CEA, and Her2 are currently being targeted by TCR-engineered T cells (Table 42.1). More clinical data from a next wave of TCR-engineered T cells targeting a variety of different antigens will become available in the next 2–3 years and contribute much to our understanding about the best targets and TCRs for the treatment of patients with cancer (Table 42.4).

TCR target ^a (notes)	Tumor histology	NCT #	Sponsor
NY-ESO-1	Myxoid/round cell liposarcoma	NCT02992743	Adaptimmune
	Synovial cell sarcoma	NCT01343043	Adaptimmune
	Metastatic melanoma	NCT01350401	Adaptimmune
	Multiple myeloma	NCT01892293	Adaptimmune
	Non-small cell lung cancer	NCT02588612	Adaptimmune
	Ovarian	NCT01567891	Adaptimmune
NY-ESO-1 (armed with dominant negative TGF-β receptor II)	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	NCT02650986	Roswell Park Cancer Institute
NY-ESO-1 (aldesleukin + dendritic cell vaccine + ipilimumab)	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	NCT02070406	Jonsson Cancer Center
NY-ESO-1 (+ vaccine)	Malignant neoplasm	NCT01697527	Jonsson Cancer Center
NY-ESO-1	Bladder/breast/esophagus/lung/other solid tumors	NCT02457650	Shenzhen Second People's Hospital (China)
NY-ESO-1 (murine TCR)	Metastatic non-melanoma cancers	NCT01967823	NCI
NY-ESO-1	Solid tumors	NCT02366546	Mie University (Japan)
MAGE-A3 (HLA-DP4)	Esophageal/melanoma/urothelial/cervical/ other solid tumors	NCT02111850	NCI
MAGE-A3	Esophageal/melanoma/urothelial/cervical/	NCT02153905	NCI
(HLA-A*01)	other solid tumors		
MAGE-A4 (HLA-A*24)	Solid tumors	NCT02096614	Japan
MAGE-A10	Urothelial, melanoma, head, and neck	NCT02989064	Adaptimmune
MAGE-A10	Non-small cell lung cancer	NCT02592577	Adaptimmune
p53.IL2	Bladder	NCT01625260	Altor Bioscience
HBV (HLA allele not disclosed)	Recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma posttransplant	NCT02719782	Sun Yat-Sen University (China)
HPV E6	Vaginal/cervical/anal/penile/ oropharyngeal	NCT02280811	NCI
MART-1	Metastatic melanoma	NCT02654821	Netherlands NKI
MART-1 (dendritic cell vaccine + IL-2)	Metastatic melanoma	NCT00910650	Jonsson Cancer Center
Thyroglobulin	Metastatic thyroid	NCT02390739	NCI
Tyrosinase	Metastatic melanoma	NCT01586403	Loyola University
WT1	Mesothelioma/non-small cell lung cancer	NCT02408016	Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center
WT1	Acute myeloid leukemia	NCT02550535	Cell Therapy Catapult (UK)
WT1	Acute myeloid leukemia/chronic myeloid leukemia	NCT01621724	Cell Therapy Catapult (UK)

Table 42.4	TCR T cell	product in	the clinic
------------	------------	------------	------------

Source: clinicaltrials.gov

Non-comprehensive selection of ongoing TCR T cell clinical trials ^aHLA-A*02 restricted unless otherwise stated

42.6 Clinical Safety Considerations

The most frequent and important toxicities derived from the clinical application of geneengineered T cell therapies are those derived from on-target off-tumor T cell-mediated destruction of normal tissues, cytokine release syndrome (CRS), and neurologic toxic events.

B cell aplasia: The induction of B cell aplasia that results from the recognition of CD19 on the surface of normal B cells by the CAR T cells is an expected and unavoidable on-target off-tumor toxicity of CD19-specific CAR-modified T cells [11, 73, 74]. B cell aplasia has been used as pharmacodynamic marker of CAR T cell function and persistence. In clinical trials, B cell aplasia is customarily managed by intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIg) supplementation [3], as a means to ameliorate the risk of infectious complications associated with B cell depletion. However, available data are insufficient to determine whether this increased risk is clinically significant or whether IVIg replacement therapy is absolutely necessary to prevent infectious complications in patients with CAR T cell-induced B cell aplasia.

Cytokine release syndrome: CRS is a frequent complication associated with both CAR and TCR T cell therapy. Patients with CRS typically present with high fever, hypotension, and hypoxia, which may result in end-organ failure. CRS onset ranges from a few hours to, more frequently, several days post-T cell infusion. CRS results from the secretion of multiple proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, TNFα, and IFNγ, secondary to antigen-mediated activation of CAR T cells [3]. In severe cases, CRS may progress to macrophage activation syndrome, which presents with hemophagocytosis, hyperferritinemia, pancytopenia, liver insufficiency, coagulopathy, and neurologic symptoms [75]. Most cases of CRS can be managed with supportive measures. In cases of severe CRS, the administration of the anti-IL-6R monoclonal antibody tocilizumab results in the rapid resolution of the symptoms associated with CRS [75]. The administration of corticosteroids is usually employed after cytokine blockade in the management of severe CRS due to their lymphocytic activity [11]. CRS frequency and severity appear to correlate with tumor burden at the time of CAR T cell infusion, as shown in patients with ALL [3, 76]. This association suggests that effective debulking of patients prior to CAR T cell infusion or the treatment of patients with MRD might reduce significantly the risk of severe CRS.

Neurologic toxicity: Neurologic toxicity, including seizures, obtundation, delirium, and dysphasia, has been reported in up to 29% of patients in some studies treating patients with CD19-directed CAR T cells [3, 61, 63, 77]. The pathogenesis of this toxicity remains unclear as CAR T cells infiltrate the cerebrospinal fluid, but there is no evidence of CD19 expression in brain tissue. Neurologic symptoms are generally short-lived and usually reversible with supportive measures. Some patients with ALL have been reported as having self-limited encephalopathy after resolution of CRS, which frequently does not respond to tocilizumab [3]. Recently, Juno Therapeutics has stopped the development of JCAR015, a CD19-directed CAR T cell program being developed in adult patients with adult B cell ALL in the phase II Rocket trial. In that study, five patients died due to cerebral edema, which appeared to be treatment related. Fludarabine was removed from the lymphodepleting regimen after the first two deaths in an attempt to ameliorate therapyrelated toxicity in the early post-infusion period. However, three more patients died of the same complication after lymphodepletion involving exclusively cyclophosphamide. Further, there is evidence indicating that the addition of fludarabine to the lymphodepletion regimen improves CAR T cell expansion, persistence, and longterm clinical outcomes [65, 78].

These severe toxic events emphasize the need for a careful selection and qualification of highly specialized centers to conduct adoptive T cell therapy studies and highlight the importance of close monitoring by medical personnel with expertise in cell therapies and the early institution of corticosteroid and/or IL-6 blocking therapy in patients experiencing CRS and/or neurologic toxicity. While the toxicity profile observed in clinical trials of TCR T cell therapies is similar to that observed in CD19-directed CAR T cell therapy trials, the rates and severity of the most important adverse events (i.e., CRS and neurotoxicity) have been much lower. A recent analysis of 53 patients treated with NY-ESO-1^{c259} SPEAR® in Adaptimmune-sponsored studies in synovial sarcoma, melanoma, ovarian cancer, and multiple myeloma have shown that the most common adverse events were rash (49%), diarrhea (40%), fatigue and pyrexia (36% each), nausea (26%), anemia and lymphopenia (25% each), and neutropenia (23%) [71]. Most of these toxicities are likely related to the fludarabine/cyclophosphamide lymphodepleting regimen. Related serious (grades 3-4) adverse events were relatively infrequent, with CRS, neutropenia, and pyrexia occurring only in 8% of patients each, graft versus host disease in 6% (observed only in patients with multiple myeloma posttransplantation), and death related to bone marrow failure in one patient with synovial sarcoma. No grades 3-4 neurotoxicity events have been observed to date. Importantly, CRS rates are different depending on indication, with no cases of severe observed in patients receiving NY-ESO-1c259 SPEAR® T cells post-autologous SCT, despite high IL-6 levels [5].

Gene-engineered T cell therapies show impressive results in patients with cancers against which effective therapies are lacking. However, in order for these therapies to realize their full potential, physicians need to understand the risks associated with them and their management. Important inroads have been made in our understanding of the pathophysiology of CRS, which has allowed the development of efficacious treatment strategies. However, more work is needed to better understand the pathophysiology of the neurotoxic events arising in some patients after CAR T cell infusion, which seem to be distinct from CRS. Future work will assess the effectiveness of CRS prophylaxis with cytokine blockade prophylaxis and better patient selection as well as the role of molecular safety switches to ameliorate CRS-related toxicity of patients receiving CAR or TCR T cell therapy.

42.7 The Challenge to Maximize Safety and Efficacy for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines

Given the potency of T cells, it is vital to control their activity as far as possible to prevent ontarget, on-target off-tumor, and off-tumor toxicities, including those that could result from the endogenous TCR alone or mispaired with an introduced TCR and those that result from excessive activation and cytokine production.

As introduced previously, there are a number of technologies at the concept stage or in development that aim to improve the safety window of CAR T cell or TCR T cell therapies:

- 1. The immune receptor can be fine-tuned in terms of specificity and affinity for its target to differentiate between healthy and tumor tissues.
- Activity or suicide switches or specific markers can be introduced into the therapeutic cell to enable activation or elimination of the therapeutic cell by a small molecule drug or monoclonal antibody.
- The immune receptor can be introduced into the endogenous TCR locus, or the endogenous TCR can be shut off by RNA interference mechanisms to limit the T cell specificity only to that of the tumor-specific immune receptor.
- 4. The immune receptor can be provided in an inactivated state requiring activation by conditions (e.g., proteolytic activity) present in the tumor microenvironment.
- Logic gated receptors could be developed that require the integration or multiple signals including negative signals to differentiate healthy from tumor tissue.
- 6. The cell might be engineered using novel notch-based technologies to precisely control the gene expression program following recognition of the target antigen. This concept enables therapeutic T cells sensing one tumorassociated antigen to induce expression of a receptor for a second tumor-associated antigen, thereby limiting expression of a CAR or TCR to only the therapeutic T cells that have entered the tumor microenvironment, and/or

to express only a precisely defined set of cytokines, chemokines, and other effectors.

It will also be vital to optimize the efficacy of CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies such that they can realize their potential as single infusion therapies that can offer long-term disease control or even cure. While CAR T cell therapies have shown promise against hematological malignancies, response rates have been disappointing in solid tumors. Evidence from TCR T cell therapies and TILs demonstrate that high levels of efficacy are achievable, but the cell product will still need to overcome the highly suppressive tumor microenvironment, either through design or combination with suitable immunotherapies. Currently, a very large number of potential approaches to enhance the efficacy of CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies are being tested in preclinical or clinical studies [79], as shown in Fig. 42.2. Such plethora of approaches reflects the novelty of the field and the numerous contexts where CAR T cell or TCR T cell therapies are being attempted. Nevertheless, it is anticipated that this research efforts will result in a much smaller number of

optimal approaches which will then be widely adopted. Since the PD-1-PD-L1 axis has been clinically validated in several malignancies and tumors often upregulate PD-L1 in response to IFN-γ from T cells, it is likely that approaches to tackle this axis will prove useful for CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies. In addition, there may also be immune suppressive pathways such as TGF-β for which no approved systemic inhibitory therapy exists, which would benefit from highly localized therapeutic cell-specific inhibition by gene engineering, due to the essential role of TGF-β in normal tissue homeostasis.

In summary, the technological progress that has brought so many different innovations to enhance the safety and efficacy of CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies has not yet reached the level of maturity necessary to test in the shortterm solutions to safely confer long-term disease control to a broad cancer patient population beyond CD19+ hematological malignancies. It is inevitable that the field will learn how to make the best use of the new technologies that have now become available and deliver increased benefit to a larger number of patients in the future.



Fig. 42.2 Enhancing the efficacy of CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies. Selected strategies to enhance the efficacy of CAR T cell and TCR Tcell therapies fall into three categories: enhancements to the quality or nature of

the cell carrier, additional gene engineering steps to "arm" the therapeutic T cell to resist the tumor microenvironment, or the use of combination therapies

42.8 The Challenge of Achieving Maximum Access for CAR T Cell and TCR T Cell Medicines

While this book chapter focuses on the biology of engineered T cells, it is worth touching upon the critical aspects of virus and drug supply for autologous cell products. The high costs to supply engineered T cells to patients are one remaining key obstacle for broader patient access of such therapies. The two major cost drivers are those associated with the production of vectors to introduce the immune receptor into the T cells as well as the costs incurred during manufacturing of the engineered cells. The number of facilities that can manufacture GMP-grade vector and cell products is still limited, and the capacity of the existing facilities is so far not tailored to support supply of larger batches and markets. Most clinical trials to date utilize lentiviral vectors that are difficult to manufacture as they require packaging cell lines expressing multiple gene products leading to transduction-competent and replicationdeficient viral vectors. A few specialized CMOs and pharmaceutical companies have now begun to develop more scalable processes overcoming current limitations that may allow much higher yields and manufacturing much larger scale that will lead to significant decrease of costs over the next 3-5 years. A couple of emerging virus-free gene transfer systems based on DNA transposonbased approaches [80, 81] might enable further reduction of manufacturing costs. However, it is still too early to define whether or not plasmid-based systems will replace lentiviral gene transfer.

The biggest cost driver is the cell transduction process which requires T cell activation, gene transduction, and subsequent expansion over a period of 7–12 days. The current state-of-the-art stipulates the need for one class B clean room with a class A laminar flow for the manufacturing of one product for a single patient. Multiple technology providers are now developing alternative solutions that allow introducing automation for some or all steps of the cell manufacturing process using closed bag systems. The first clinical trials in which patients will receive a product using a wholly automated tabletop-sized commercial cell processing device have recently been initiated. The biggest opportunity arises from the ability to place and run several of those "gene therapy in a box" devices into one ballroom suit that may have a lower clean room class. A recent manuscript from A. Kaiser described the advantageous of automation and introduces yet another concept that may ultimately lead to a further manufacturing cost reduction which lends support to the concept of pushing manufacturing away from central industrial facilities and closer to if not at the point of care [82].

Novel nuclease technologies that allow multigene editing of CAR and TCR T cells [83-85] or the use of homology-directed recombination (HDR) that can be used to couple delivery of a therapeutic gene cassette with targeted genomic modifications to generate engineered human T cells with therapeutic activity [86] may be a game-changer as it allows to generate off-the-shelf products from single donors that can be administered to multiple patients as they lack expression of potentially alloreactive endogenous TCRs. Multiple nuclease technologies exists such as zinc-finger nucleases, TALEN nucleases, meganucleases, or CRISPR/ Cas9. Recently, universal CAR19 T cells were generated by lentiviral transduction of nonhuman leukocyte antigen-matched donor cells and simultaneous TALEN-mediated gene editing of T cell receptor α chain and CD52 gene loci and used to treat to children with ALL [87]. The gene-edited universal CAR T cells induced molecular remissions within about 4 weeks and persisted until conditioning prior to allogeneic stem cell transplantation. While this bridge-totransplantation strategy demonstrates the therapeutic potential of gene-editing technology, longer-term data is required to understand the extent to which universal CAR T cells will be able to replace autologous cell products that will show a longer persistence in vivo.

An even more disruptive approach may be the future use of surface-engineered viral vectors that may very efficiently target a particular subset of resting T cells. Such an approach may lead to significant decrease of manufacturing costs due to shortened process times or even enable gene modification of T cells directly in vivo [88]. At this stage, it is unclear when such in vivo approaches will become available for clinical testing in patients the future.

In summary, we believe the cost of goods for CAR and TCR T cell therapy will fall substantially in the coming period due to considerable investments into GMP-grade processes to scale viral vectors for gene delivery or their replacement by cheaper alternative gene delivery platforms and the advent of automation technology that will enable innovative supply chain solutions. Such investments are being made by multiple players in the field and will ultimately lead to stepwise reduction of the cost of goods for engineered cell products. It will probably take another 4-5 years until the fully fledged technology solutions will become more broadly available to enable clinical trials and subsequently to fuel future market supply for larger patient populations. Further in the future, the field may potentially switch to in vivo CAR/TCR gene delivery approaches for at least a fraction of the products, leading to yet another significant decrease in the cost of goods.

42.9 Conclusions and Future Perspective

We conclude that lymphocytes engineered to express CARs or TCRs bear an enormous clinical potential for patients suffering from cancer. We described three key obstacles that inhibit the full exploitation of the clinical and commercial potential of engineered cells and provide solutions. Novel enabling technologies have now become available that bear the potential to develop best medicines with increased safety and efficacy that can deliver transformational benefit to patients beyond CD19 as a target. Innovative supply chain solutions will become available that tackle the major cost drivers for autologous cell products and support enhanced access for these new medicines to larger populations with high unmet medical need. Once patient benefit has been maximized and costs have been minimized through development of

key enabling technologies, the field will be able to transfer the added value to larger pipelines of CAR and TCR T cell medicines targeting multiple shared and unique personalized antigens expressed in tumors. Initial CAR T cell products using simple CAR constructs that were lacking additional co-stimulatory domains were assessed in patients between 1998 and 2008. These pioneering clinical trials did not deliver strong antitumor activity in patients. The picture radically changed when second-generation CAR constructs became available that led to unprecedented clinical activity in patients with ALL, DLBCL, and CLL. These results ignited a whole new industry around cell therapies, and the expectation is that the first CAR T cell products may receive marketing authorization in 2017. While B cell malignancies compose a relatively small market opportunity in oncology and while costs for supplying engineered lymphocytes are still very high, we expect continued technological progress to drive further success of cell therapies. It is difficult to predict what will happen in the future, but at the current speed of technology progress, it seems inevitable that the field will see more CAR T cell and TCR T cell therapies successfully reaching an increasing number of patients.

References

- Aiuti A, Cattaneo F, Galimberti S, Benninghoff U, Cassani B, Callegaro L, Scaramuzza S, Andolfi G, Mirolo M, Brigida I, et al. Gene therapy for immunodeficiency due to adenosine deaminase deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:447–58.
- Locke FL, Neelapu SS, Bartlett NL, Siddiqi T, Chavez JC, Hosing CM, Ghobadi A, Budde LE, Bot A, Rossi JM, et al. Phase 1 results of ZUMA-1: a multicenter study of KTE-C19 anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy in refractory aggressive lymphoma. Mol Ther. 2017;25:285–95.
- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, Chew A, Gonzalez VE, Zheng Z, Lacey SF, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:1507–17.
- Porter DL, Hwang WT, Frey NV, Lacey SF, Shaw PA, Loren AW, Bagg A, Marcucci KT, Shen A, Gonzalez V, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells persist and induce sustained remissions in relapsed refrac-

tory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:303ra139.

- Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, Badros AZ, Garfall A, Weiss B, Finklestein J, et al. NY-ESO-1-specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigenspecific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21:914–21.
- Robbins PF, Kassim SH, Tran TL, Crystal JS, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Sherry RM, et al. A pilot trial using lymphocytes genetically engineered with an NY-ESO-1-reactive T-cell receptor: long-term followup and correlates with response. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:1019–27.
- Gross G, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:10024–8.
- Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Parker LL, Wang G, Eshhar Z, Mavroukakis SA, White DE, Wunderlich JR, Canevari S, Rogers-Freezer L, et al. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using genemodified T cells for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6106–15.
- Lamers CH, Sleijfer S, Vulto AG, Kruit WH, Kliffen M, Debets R, Gratama JW, Stoter G, Oosterwijk E. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous T-lymphocytes genetically retargeted against carbonic anhydrase IX: first clinical experience. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:e20–2.
- Park JR, Digiusto DL, Slovak M, Wright C, Naranjo A, Wagner J, Meechoovet HB, Bautista C, Chang WC, Ostberg JR, et al. Adoptive transfer of chimeric antigen receptor re-directed cytolytic T lymphocyte clones in patients with neuroblastoma. Mol Ther. 2007;15:825–33.
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:725–33.
- 12. Greenberg PD, Finch RJ, Gavin MA, Kalos M, Lewinsohn DA, Lonergan M, Lord JD, Nelson BH, Ohlen C, Sing AP, et al. Genetic modification of T-cell clones for therapy of human viral and malignant diseases. Cancer J Sci Am. 1998;4(Suppl 1):S100–5.
- Aebersold P, Hyatt C, Johnson S, Hines K, Korcak L, Sanders M, Lotze M, Topalian S, Yang J, Rosenberg SA. Lysis of autologous melanoma cells by tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes: association with clinical response. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1991;83:932–7.
- 14. Fisher B, Packard BS, Read EJ, Carrasquillo JA, Carter CS, Topalian SL, Yang JC, Yolles P, Larson SM, Rosenberg SA. Tumor localization of adoptively transferred indium-111 labeled tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 1989;7:250–61.
- Aoki Y, Takakuwa K, Kodama S, Tanaka K, Takahashi M, Tokunaga A, Takahashi T. Use of adoptive transfer

of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes alone or in combination with cisplatin-containing chemotherapy in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 1991;51:1934–9.

- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, Citrin DE, Restifo NP, Robbins PF, Wunderlich JR, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:4550–7.
- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Royal RE, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Restifo NP, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314:126–9.
- Kahlon KS, Brown C, Cooper LJ, Raubitschek A, Forman SJ, Jensen MC. Specific recognition and killing of glioblastoma multiforme by interleukin 13-zetakine redirected cytolytic T cells. Cancer Res. 2004;64:9160–6.
- Maus MV, Haas AR, Beatty GL, Albelda SM, Levine BL, Liu X, Zhao Y, Kalos M, June CH. T cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors can cause anaphylaxis in humans. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:26–31.
- 20. Johnson LA, Scholler J, Ohkuri T, Kosaka A, Patel PR, McGettigan SE, Nace AK, Dentchev T, Thekkat P, Loew A, et al. Rational development and characterization of humanized anti-EGFR variant III chimeric antigen receptor T cells for glioblastoma. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:275ra222.
- 21. Lanitis E, Poussin M, Hagemann IS, Coukos G, Sandaltzopoulos R, Scholler N, Powell DJ Jr. Redirected antitumor activity of primary human lymphocytes transduced with a fully human anti-mesothelin chimeric receptor. Mol Ther. 2012;20:633–43.
- 22. Hughes MS, Yu YY, Dudley ME, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Li Y, Wunderlich J, Hawley RG, Moayeri M, Rosenberg SA, et al. Transfer of a TCR gene derived from a patient with a marked antitumor response conveys highly active T-cell effector functions. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16:457–72.
- 23. Johnson LA, Heemskerk B, Powell DJ Jr, Cohen CJ, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. Gene transfer of tumor-reactive TCR confers both high avidity and tumor reactivity to nonreactive peripheral blood mononuclear cells and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2006;177:6548–59.
- 24. Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, Kammula US, Royal RE, Sherry RM, Wunderlich JR, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. Blood. 2009;114:535–46.
- Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14:377–91.

- Viret C, Janeway CA Jr. MHC and T cell development. Rev Immunogenet. 1999;1:91–104.
- Harris DT, Kranz DM. Adoptive T cell therapies: a comparison of T cell receptors and chimeric antigen receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2016;37:220–30.
- Parkhurst MR, Joo J, Riley JP, Yu Z, Li Y, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. Characterization of genetically modified T-cell receptors that recognize the CEA:691-699 peptide in the context of HLA-A2.1 on human colorectal cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:169–80.
- 29. Robbins PF, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Zhao Y, Wargo JA, Zheng Z, Xu H, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Johnson LA, et al. Single and dual amino acid substitutions in TCR CDRs can enhance antigen-specific T cell functions. J Immunol. 2008;180:6116–31.
- Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Khong HT, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Primary human lymphocytes transduced with NY-ESO-1 antigen-specific TCR genes recognize and kill diverse human tumor cell lines. J Immunol. 2005;174:4415–23.
- 31. Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Nahvi AV, Helman LJ, Mackall CL, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:917–24.
- Li LP, Lampert JC, Chen X, Leitao C, Popovic J, Muller W, Blankenstein T. Transgenic mice with a diverse human T cell antigen receptor repertoire. Nat Med. 2010;16:1029–34.
- 33. Rosati SF, Parkhurst MR, Hong Y, Zheng Z, Feldman SA, Rao M, Abate-Daga D, Beard RE, Xu H, Black MA, et al. A novel murine T-cell receptor targeting NY-ESO-1. J Immunother. 2014;37:135–46.
- 34. Cameron BJ, Gerry AB, Dukes J, Harper JV, Kannan V, Bianchi FC, Grand F, Brewer JE, Gupta M, Plesa G, et al. Identification of a Titin-derived HLA-A1-presented peptide as a cross-reactive target for engineered MAGE A3-directed T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5:197ra103.
- 35. Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression and neurological toxicity following anti-MAGE-A3 TCR gene therapy. J Immunother. 2013;36:133–51.
- Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther. 2010;18:843–51.
- 37. Andersen RS, Thrue CA, Junker N, Lyngaa R, Donia M, Ellebaek E, Svane IM, Schumacher TN, Thor Straten P, Hadrup SR. Dissection of T-cell antigen specificity in human melanoma. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1642–50.
- Kawakami Y, Dang N, Wang X, Tupesis J, Robbins PF, Wang RF, Wunderlich JR, Yannelli JR, Rosenberg SA. Recognition of shared melanoma antigens in

association with major HLA-A alleles by tumor infiltrating T lymphocytes from 123 patients with melanoma. J Immunother. 2000;23:17–27.

- 39. van den Berg JH, Gomez-Eerland R, van de Wiel B, Hulshoff L, van den Broek D, Bins A, Tan HL, Harper JV, Hassan NJ, Jakobsen BK, et al. Case report of a fatal serious adverse event upon administration of T cells transduced with a MART-1-specific T-cell receptor. Mol Ther. 2015;23:1541–50.
- 40. Ikeda H, Lethe B, Lehmann F, van Baren N, Baurain JF, de Smet C, Chambost H, Vitale M, Moretta A, Boon T, et al. Characterization of an antigen that is recognized on a melanoma showing partial HLA loss by CTL expressing an NK inhibitory receptor. Immunity. 1997;6:199–208.
- 41. Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, Litzky L, Bagg A, Carreno BM, Cimino PJ, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinity-enhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. Blood. 2013;122:863–71.
- 42. Bassani-Sternberg M, Braunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, Straub M, Weber J, Slotta-Huspenina J, Specht K, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13404.
- 43. Cohen CJ, Gartner JJ, Horovitz-Fried M, Shamalov K, Trebska-McGowan K, Bliskovsky VV, Parkhurst MR, Ankri C, Prickett TD, Crystal JS, et al. Isolation of neoantigen-specific T cells from tumor and peripheral lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:3981–91.
- 44. Kalaora S, Barnea E, Merhavi-Shoham E, Qutob N, Teer JK, Shimony N, Schachter J, Rosenberg SA, Besser MJ, Admon A, et al. Use of HLA peptidomics and whole exome sequencing to identify human immunogenic neo-antigens. Oncotarget. 2016;7:5110–7.
- 45. Alpizar A, Marino F, Ramos-Fernandez A, Lombardia M, Jeko A, Pazos F, Paradela A, Santiago C, Heck AJ, Marcilla M. A molecular basis for the presentation of phosphorylated peptides by HLA-B antigens. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2017;16:181–93.
- 46. Marino F, Mommen GP, Jeko A, Meiring HD, van Gaans-van den Brink JA, Scheltema RA, van Els CA, Heck AJ. Arginine (di)methylated human leukocyte antigen class I peptides are favorably presented by HLA-B*07. J Proteome Res. 2017;16:34–44.
- 47. van Hall T, Wolpert EZ, van Veelen P, Laban S, van der Veer M, Roseboom M, Bres S, Grufman P, de Ru A, Meiring H, et al. Selective cytotoxic T-lymphocyte targeting of tumor immune escape variants. Nat Med. 2006;12:417–24.
- Doorduijn EM, Sluijter M, Querido BJ, Oliveira CC, Achour A, Ossendorp F, van der Burg SH, van Hall T. TAP-independent self-peptides enhance T cell recognition of immune-escaped tumors. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:784–94.
- Brown CE, Alizadeh D, Starr R, Weng L, Wagner JR, Naranjo A, Ostberg JR, Blanchard MS, Kilpatrick J,

Simpson J, et al. Regression of Glioblastoma after chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:2561–9.

- 50. Caruso HG, Hurton LV, Najjar A, Rushworth D, Ang S, Olivares S, Mi T, Switzer K, Singh H, Huls H, et al. Tuning sensitivity of CAR to EGFR density limits recognition of normal tissue while maintaining potent antitumor activity. Cancer Res. 2015;75:3505–18.
- 51. Liu X, Jiang S, Fang C, Yang S, Olalere D, Pequignot EC, Cogdill AP, Li N, Ramones M, Granda B, et al. Affinity-tuned ErbB2 or EGFR chimeric antigen receptor T cells exhibit an increased therapeutic index against tumors in mice. Cancer Res. 2015;75:3596–607.
- 52. Morgan RA, Johnson LA, Davis JL, Zheng Z, Woolard KD, Reap EA, Feldman SA, Chinnasamy N, Kuan CT, Song H, et al. Recognition of glioma stem cells by genetically modified T cells targeting EGFRvIII and development of adoptive cell therapy for glioma. Hum Gene Ther. 2012;23:1043–53.
- 53. Posey AD Jr, Schwab RD, Boesteanu AC, Steentoft C, Mandel U, Engels B, Stone JD, Madsen TD, Schreiber K, Haines KM, et al. Engineered CAR T cells targeting the cancer-associated Tn-Glycoform of the membrane Mucin MUC1 control adenocarcinoma. Immunity. 2016;44:1444–54.
- 54. Zhao Y, Wang QJ, Yang S, Kochenderfer JN, Zheng Z, Zhong X, Sadelain M, Eshhar Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. A herceptin-based chimeric antigen receptor with modified signaling domains leads to enhanced survival of transduced T lymphocytes and antitumor activity. J Immunol. 2009;183:5563–74.
- 55. Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Kerkar SP, Zhang L, Morgan RA, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Local delivery of interleukin-12 using T cells targeting VEGF receptor-2 eradicates multiple vascularized tumors in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:1672–83.
- 56. Sampson JH, Choi BD, Sanchez-Perez L, Suryadevara CM, Snyder DJ, Flores CT, Schmittling RJ, Nair SK, Reap EA, Norberg PK, et al. EGFRvIII mCARmodified T-cell therapy cures mice with established intracerebral glioma and generates host immunity against tumor-antigen loss. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:972–84.
- 57. Santos EB, Yeh R, Lee J, Nikhamin Y, Punzalan B, Punzalan B, La Perle K, Larson SM, Sadelain M, Brentjens RJ. Sensitive in vivo imaging of T cells using a membrane-bound Gaussia princeps luciferase. Nat Med. 2009;15:338–44.
- 58. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70:6171–80.
- Maude SL, Teachey DT, Porter DL, Grupp SA. CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;125:4017–23.
- 60. Brentjens RJ, Riviere I, Park JH, Davila ML, Wang X, Stefanski J, Taylor C, Yeh R, Bartido S, Borquez-Ojeda O, et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively

transferred autologous CD19-targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. Blood. 2011;118:4817–28.

- 61. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Kassim SH, Somerville RP, Carpenter RO, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yang JC, Phan GQ, Hughes MS, Sherry RM, et al. Chemotherapy-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and indolent B-cell malignancies can be effectively treated with autologous T cells expressing an anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:540–9.
- 62. Turtle C, Sommermeyer D, Berger C, Hudecek M, Shank D, Steevens NN, Budiarto TM, Karimi M, Chaney CN, DeVito AM, Heimfeld S, Jensen MC, Riddell SR, Maloney DG. Anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cell therapy for B cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia: fludarabine and cyclophosphamide lymphodepletion improves in vivo expansion and persistence of CAR-T cells and clinical outcomes. Blood. 2015;126. (abstract 184)
- 63. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, Fry TJ, Orentas R, Sabatino M, Shah NN, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet. 2015;385:517–28.
- 64. Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, Chung SS, Stefanski J, Borquez-Ojeda O, Olszewska M, et al. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:224ra225.
- 65. Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, Sommermeyer D, Melville K, Pender B, Budiarto TM, et al. CD19 CAR-T cells of defined CD4+: CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(6):2123–38.
- 66. Schuster S, Svoboda J, Nasta SD, et al. Sustained remissions following chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells directed against CD19 (CTL019) in patients with relapsed or refractory CD19+ lymphomas. Blood. 2015;126. (Abstract 183)
- 67. Locke FL, Neelapu S, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos D, Jacobson CA, Braunschweig I, Oluwole O, Siddiqi T, Lin Y, Timmerman J, Friedberg JW, Bot A, Rossi J, Navale L, Jiang Y, Aycock J, Elias M, Wiezorek J, Go WY. (2017). Primary results from ZUMA-1: a pivotal trial of axicabtagene ciloleucel (Axi-cel; KTE-C19) in patients with refractory aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). AACR Annual Meeting (abstract CT019).
- 68. Dudley ME, Yang JC, Sherry R, Hughes MS, Royal R, Kammula U, Robbins PF, Huang J, Citrin DE, Leitman SF, et al. Adoptive cell therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: evaluation of intensive myeloablative chemoradiation preparative regimens. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5233–9.
- 69. Jungbluth AA, Chen YT, Stockert E, Busam KJ, Kolb D, Iversen K, Coplan K, Williamson B, Altorki N, Old LJ. Immunohistochemical analysis of NY-ESO-1 antigen expression in normal and malignant human tissues. Int J Cancer. 2001;92:856–60.

- Scanlan MJ, Gure AO, Jungbluth AA, Old LJ, Chen YT. Cancer/testis antigens: an expanding family of targets for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2002;188:22–32.
- 71. Mackall C, D.A.S., Grupp S, Odunsi A, Cristea M, Linette G, Kluger H, Kari G, Ramachandran I, Trivedi T, Holdich T, Norry E, Chagin K, Pandite L, Binder-Scholl G, Amado R (2016). Genetically engineered NY-ESO-1 specific T-cells in HLA-A:0201 positive patients with advanced tumors. J Clin Oncol 33.
- 72. Singh N, Kulikovskaya I, Barrett DM, Binder-Scholl G, Jakobsen B, Martinez D, Pawel B, June CH, Kalos MD, Grupp SA. T cells targeting NY-ESO-1 demonstrate efficacy against disseminated neuroblastoma. Oncoimmunology. 2016;5:e1040216.
- 73. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, June CH. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3:95ra73.
- 74. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, Stetler-Stevenson M, Phan GQ, Hughes MS, Sherry RM, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokineassociated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptor-transduced T cells. Blood. 2012;119:2709–20.
- 75. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, Teachey DT, Chew A, Hauck B, Wright JF, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1509–18.
- 76. Lee D, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Fry TJ, Shah NN, Delbrook C, Yates B, Zhang H, Zhang L, Kochenderfer JN, Rosenberg SH, Stroncek D, Mackall CL. Safety and response of incorporating CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in typical salvage regimens for children and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;126. (abstract 684)
- 77. Davila ML, Bouhassira DC, Park JH, Curran KJ, Smith EL, Pegram HJ, Brentjens R. Chimeric antigen receptors for the adoptive T cell therapy of hematologic malignancies. Int J Hematol. 2014;99:361–71.
- 78. Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Hudecek M, Pender B, Robinson E, Hawkins R, Chaney C, Cherian S, Chen X, et al. Immunotherapy of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma with a defined ratio of CD8+ and CD4+ CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:355ra116.

- Klebanoff CA, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Prospects for gene-engineered T cell immunotherapy for solid cancers. Nat Med. 2016;22:26–36.
- Hackett PB Jr, Aronovich EL, Hunter D, Urness M, Bell JB, Kass SJ, Cooper LJ, McIvor S. Efficacy and safety of sleeping beauty transposon-mediated gene transfer in preclinical animal studies. Curr Gene Ther. 2011;11:341–9.
- Hudecek M, Izsvak Z, Johnen S, Renner M, Thumann G, Ivics Z. Going non-viral: the sleeping beauty transposon system breaks on through to the clinical side. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;52:355–80.
- 82. Kaiser AD, Assenmacher M, Schroder B, Meyer M, Orentas R, Bethke U, Dropulic B. Towards a commercial process for the manufacture of genetically modified T cells for therapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2015;22:72–8.
- 83. MacLeod DT, Antony J, Martin AJ, Moser RJ, Hekele A, Wetzel KJ, Brown AE, Triggiano MA, Hux JA, Pham CD, et al. Integration of a CD19 CAR into the TCR alpha chain locus streamlines production of allogeneic Gene-edited CAR T cells. Mol Ther. 2017;25:949–61.
- 84. Poirot L, Philip B, Schiffer-Mannioui C, Le Clerre D, Chion-Sotinel I, Derniame S, Potrel P, Bas C, Lemaire L, Galetto R, et al. Multiplex genomeedited T-cell manufacturing platform for "off-theshelf" adoptive T-cell immunotherapies. Cancer Res. 2015;75:3853–64.
- Urnov FD, Miller JC, Lee YL, Beausejour CM, Rock JM, Augustus S, Jamieson AC, Porteus MH, Gregory PD, Holmes MC. Highly efficient endogenous human gene correction using designed zinc-finger nucleases. Nature. 2005;435:646–51.
- 86. Hale M, Lee B, Honaker Y, Leung WH, Grier AE, Jacobs HM, Sommer K, Sahni J, Jackson SW, Scharenberg AM, et al. Homology-directed recombination for enhanced engineering of chimeric antigen receptor T cells. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev. 2017;4:192–203.
- 87. Qasim W, Zhan H, Samarasinghe S, Adams S, Amrolia P, Stafford S, Butler K, Rivat C, Wright G, Somana K, et al. Molecular remission of infant B-ALL after infusion of universal TALEN gene-edited CAR T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9
- Funke S, Maisner A, Muhlebach MD, Koehl U, Grez M, Cattaneo R, Cichutek K, Buchholz CJ. Targeted cell entry of lentiviral vectors. Mol Ther. 2008;16:1427–36.

Part VI

Concluding Remarks

Concluding Remarks

43

Pedro Romero and Wolf H. Fridman

In the 1890s, a surgeon working at what today is known as the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center in New York had the momentous insight that the regression of a relapsing sarcoma observed in a patient undergoing erysipelas, as a complication of surgery, could have been a case of tumor rejection triggered by the body defenses that had been activated against the infection. W. Coley, as was his name, decided to test the validity of this idea by inoculating laboratorygrown bacteria, the state of the art in microbiology in those days, directly into the tumors and, to his amazement, observed complete tumor responses in some of the treated patients. These results ignited a new field of research known as tumor immunology. It took 120 years for this branch of immunology to, together with cancer biology and clinical oncology, fully come of age. The scientific and oncology communities have driven a renaissance of the field in the last 10 years. The major successes of immune checkpoint blockade during the last 5 years have reignited the field in a major way. To date, immunotherapy is becoming the fourth pillar of cancer treatment joining surgery and chemo- and radiotherapy. Monoclonal antibodies blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 axis have emerged as the back-

Ludwig Cancer Research Center at University of Lausanne, Switzerland and Cordeliers Research Center, Paris, France e-mail: herve.fridman@crc.jussieu.fr bone of immunotherapy in various tumor types including melanoma, lung, renal, bladder, and Hodgkin's lymphoma.

What have we learned? We now know that the immune system often recognizes tumors early during carcinogenesis up, in some cases, to the metastatic state. Strong supports for this statement are the favorable prognostic impact of Th1oriented and cytotoxic T cell infiltration and the identification of T cells specific for mutated tumor antigens in the tumor microenvironment. The interactions between evolving and developing tumors and the immune system are dynamic and lead to a reciprocal and progressive sculpting. Tumor variants selected upon immune pressure evolve resistance to the main mechanisms of antitumor immunity, such as IFN_γ or cytolytic lymphocytes. Conversely, various components of innate and adaptive immunity may be co-opted by tumors to provide niches favorable to their growth, migration, invasion, and seeding at distant sites. In clinically manifest tumors, a significant fraction of them are "T cell inflamed." The proportion of tumors that are infiltrated by T cells is variable from one tumor type to the other and within patients bearing cancers with similar histology. Many reasons may explain this variability. The intrinsic immunogenicity of tumors may play a significant role including tumors with a high load of somatic mutations, such as melanoma or lung cancer, which are likely to display a high density of neoantigens to T cells. However, an intact dendritic cell compartment, in particular

P. Romero • W.H. Fridman (🖂)

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

L. Zitvogel, G. Kroemer (eds.), Oncoimmunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62431-0_43

cross-presenting BATF3+ dendritic cells, is required for neoantigens to be "visible" to the host's immune system. Moreover, in addition to the intrinsic tumor immunogenicity and the antigen processing and presentation arm, the access to tumors by migrating T cells is critical. The endothelial cells lining the neovessels are a barrier which primed T cells need to cross in order to infiltrate tumors. They go across the endothelial cell walls by a well-regulated set of mechano-cell biological processes involving sequential rolling along the vessel wall, tethering, stopping, and crawling across the endothelial cell junctions until reaching the tissue space beyond tumor blood vessels. Extravasated T cells then need to migrate into the tumor parenchyma. In short, variable and relatively high proportions of cancers are so-called immune deserts owing to the many steps in the immune cell infiltration process that may be disrupted in the advanced tumors.

The "T cell inflamed" tumors are likely to be sensitive to immunotherapy in general and to, more specifically, immune checkpoint blockade therapy. We have also learned that there are possibly countless mechanisms that impinge on the antitumor T cell activity in situ. Several categories of such immunosuppressive mechanisms have been established. These include the tumorintrinsic loss of antigen in the immune escape variants and the selection of tumors able to secrete large amounts of immunosuppressive factors notably IL-10 and TGF-β. Moreover, tumor extrinsic mechanisms involve the recruitment of various immune/inflammatory cell types that may contribute to establish an immunosuppressive milieu.

A wealth of results has been streaming from the increasing number of large phase III clinical trials of immune checkpoint blockade. They confirm that around 30% in average of cancer patients may respond to these new agents, with the exception of Hodgkin's lymphomas with overall response rates equal or higher to 70%, although with low mutation rates. In the face of this still limited number of patients that may benefit from immune checkpoint blockade, there is a need for biomarkers allowing the precise identification of patients sensitive to immunotherapy. Some predictive biomarkers have gained credence. In particular, the expression of PD-L1 in the tumor as assessed by immunohistochemistry has proven useful at predicting response to the PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapy. However, it is still far from a perfect biomarker as variable proportions of cancer patients with PD-L1+ tumors do not respond, while there can be patients responding to treatment whose tumors are negative for this marker. One of the complexities of such a biomarker is the fact that IFNy is efficiently inducing its expression, an event likely to occur as patients respond to treatment. Thus, this is a dynamic marker whose expression depends for a good part on the status of the antitumor immune response. Systems biology approaches may in the future provide gene signatures or immune response phenotypic marker combinations with enough predictive power. So far, some leads such as polygene signatures or neoantigen load are showing some promise and may be examined in the future in appropriate clinical trials.

It is possible that the large and variable fractions of tumors that are poorly infiltrated by immune cells, particularly by T cells, may be rendered responsive to immune checkpoint blockade therapy by vaccination and/or adoptive T cell transfer. The goal of these two therapy modalities is to achieve significant tumor infiltration by tumor reactive T cells with powerful effector function and able to last for prolonged periods of time. However, current cancer vaccines have modest clinical efficacy, and adoptive T cell transfer therapy has shown promise in some hematological malignancies but remains difficult to apply to solid tumors. Basic research is needed to advance our understanding of the biology of antigen specific T cells and gain insights into efficient pharmacological means to modulate their differentiation and ability to remain functional in the immunosuppressive microenvironment. T cell memory induction by vaccination also needs much more mechanistic preclinical studies before being able to translate to adequate cancer vaccine formulations.

Concerning therapeutic vaccines, these may be suboptimal in various respects. The antigens targeted by vaccination may not be strong tumor rejection antigens, and the T cell repertoire available to tumor-associated antigens is of low affinity and largely ineffective. The adjuvants available for vaccination may also lack potency, and progress in the understanding of the signals leading to innate immune activation should provide newer and more potent compounds to include in next-generation vaccines. Effective vaccines aiming at inducing T lymphocyte responses need to achieve not only high T cell numbers but also selectively favor the expansion of the highest affinity tumor antigen-specific T cells with robust polyfunctional differentiation and, at the same time, induce long-lived memory T cell responses. These constitute major challenges. Addressing them necessitates, on the one hand, progress in basic immunology research and, on the other hand, innovative early phase clinical trials with adaptive design that allow to rapidly test a relatively large number of variables coupled to accurate immunomonitoring of vaccine-specific immune cell responses.

A next set of challenges in the development of effective immunotherapies is the need to face the development of resistance to immune mechanisms. The first cases of adaptive resistance in melanoma have been recently reported. In addition to the now approved immune checkpoint blocking agents, anti-PD-1, and anti-CTLA-4, the tumor immunology community continues active efforts to mine the rich trove of welldefined immunosuppressive mechanisms operating in the tumor microenvironment. These include additional immune checkpoints such as LAG-3, VISTA, or TIGIT on effector T cells. Moreover, a new class of immune checkpoints may be represented by ectoenzymes degrading nucleotides/nucleosides to generate adenosine, an inhibitor of immune function in T cells. Notably, CD39 expressed on Tregs and especially CD73, the critical enzyme irreversibly converting AMP into adenosine, expressed in various immune cells, including T cells and also in tumors. Two CD73-blocking monoclonal antibodies are in early phase clinical trials testing dose and safety. A complementary immunotherapeutic strategy is based on the use of agonistic

monoclonal antibodies engaging costimulatory receptors. While CD28 had to be excluded of the target selection early on after the realization of its serious toxicity (Tegenero) several years ago, other receptors showing some promise are CD137, OX40, GITR, and CD40. The earlyphase clinical trials have already been performed, and their development proceeds with varying degrees of success.

An additional class of targets includes a handful of enzymes overexpressed by various cell types in the tumor microenvironment. Arginase and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) are major mediators of the suppressive capacity of immature myeloid cells infiltrating tumors; indoleamine oxidases (IDO) 1 and 2 are induced by IFNy in antigen presenting cells and overexpressed in various tumors as can be cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2). In the case of IDO, its ability to deplete tryptophan is deleterious for effector functions of T cells. The kynurenines generated by the degradation of tryptophan are agonists of the AH receptor on Th17 cells leading to inflammatory cytokines that may promote tumor growth and dissemination. The use of specific inhibitors of these enzymes has shown significant antitumor effects in preclinical models, and several IDO inhibitors are well advanced in clinical development. It is likely that combinations of IDO inhibitors with immune checkpoint blockade will become approved new combination immunotherapies in the near future.

Finally, the reprogramming of tumorassociated macrophages and/or myeloid-derived suppressor cells is another approach to enhance antitumor immune responses. Indeed, it has been shown that monoclonal antibodies blocking the CSF-1R have antitumor effects in vivo associated with a shift in the functional profile of TAM from a protumoral activity (M2) to a tumor immune protective effect (M1) rather than their depletion as originally thought.

The field has reached a high degree of sophistication. As detailed throughout the book and above in these concluding remarks, we have now reached a deep understanding of the cross talk between the many cellular types, both inflammatory and stromal, in the tumor bed and their client tumor cells. The molecular underpinnings of protumor and antitumor inflammatory and immune responses have yielded, and continue to provide, a rich palette of actionable targets which are now at various degrees of clinical development. To date, there is a growing consensus that a solid immunotherapy backbone is treatment with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents with future algorithms guiding the choice of combinations with other compounds targeting specific immune suppressive loops that would provide additive clinical efficacy. The field is now moving its focus from signaling pathways to two major promising horizons. One is the understanding of the metabolic states underlying tumor evolution and antitumor immune responses. This has already prompted a revision of the understanding of the Warburg effect, and inflammatory cells and tumor cells are viewed as avid competitors for nutrients, particularly glucose, that adapt their metabolic rates to the relative supply of oxygen and nutrients available in their extracellular neighborhoods. Systems biology has now embraced metabolomics approaches that provide large-scale profiles of the metabolic states at the multicellular level and efforts are underway to increase the resolution to ever fewer cells in a given spot within tumors. The other horizon is that of gene expression. In addition to the spectacular progress in single cell transcriptomics, there is now strong interest in understanding epigenetic programs of regulation of gene expression again at the systems level. Future advances will provide single cell level atlases of the tumor microenvironment so that we will reach unprecedented levels of understanding and will have the opportunity to integrate all this knowledge into dynamic mathematical models with the help of computational biology. Future translational scientists will more and more depend on accurate models to figure out appropriate immunotherapeutic algorithms as well as to develop more strongly predictive immune biomarkers to guide treatment decision trees. Complexity will grow and provide at the same time models that may allow much needed simplification in the day-to-day decisions in the clinic. Combinatorial immunotherapies as well as combinations of immunotherapies with standard therapies will grow at a steady pace in the years to come.